



Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft @

200h 24/-

LECTURES

ON

METAPHYSICS AND LOGIC

ON FARTH, THERE IS NOTHING GREAT BUT MAN; IN MAN, THERE IS NOTHING GREAT BUT MIND.

LECTURES

ON

METAPHYSICS AND LOGIC

BY

SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, BART.,

PROFFSSOR OF LOGIC AND METAPHYSICS IN THE UNIVERSITY OF EDINBURGH;

Advocate, A.M. (Oxon.) &c.; Corresponding Member of the Institute of France; Honorary Member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences; and of the Latin Society of Jena, &c.

EDITED BY THE

REV. H. L. MANSEL, B.D., LL.D., DEAN OF ST PAUL'S;

AND

JOHN VEITCH, M.A., PROFESSOR OF LOGIC AND EMETORIC IN THE UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW.

IN FOUR VOLUMES.

VOL. I.

WILLIAM BLACKWOOD AND SONS, EDINBURGH AND LONDON. MDCCCLXX.

LECTURES

ON

METAPHYSICS

BY

SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, BART.

EDITED BY THE

REV. H. L. MANSEL, B.D., LL.D., DEAN OF BY PAIL 78;

AND

JOHN VEITCH, M.A., PROFESSION OF LOGIC AND REMEMBER IN THE UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW.

VOL. I.

FIFTH EDITION.

WILLIAM BLACKWOOD AND SONS, EDINBURGH AND LONDON. MDCCCLXX.

Digitized for Microsoft Corporation by the Internet Archive in 2007. From University of California Libraries. May be used for non-commercial, personal, research, or educational purposes, or any fair use. May not be indexed in a commercial service.

THE following Lectures on Metaphysics constitute the first portion of the Biennial Course which the lamented Author was in the habit of delivering during the period of his occupation of the Chair of Logic and Metaphysics in the University of Edinburgh.

In giving these Lectures to the world, it is due, both to the Author and to his readers, to acknowledge that they do not appear in that state of completeness which might have been expected, had they been prepared for publication by the Author himself. As Lectures on Metaphysics,—whether that term be taken in its wider or its stricter sense,—they are confessedly imperfect. The Author himself, adopting the Kantian division of the mental faculties into those of Knowledge, Feeling, and Conation, considers the Philosophy of Mind as comprehending, in relation to each of these, the three great subdivisions of Psychology, or the Science of its Laws; and Ontology, or the Science of Results and Inferences.^a

a See below, Lecture vii., p. 121 et seq.

The term Metaphysics, in its strictest sense, is synonymous with the last of these subdivisions; while, in its widest sense, it may be regarded as including the first also,-the second being, in practice at least, if not in scientific accuracy, usually distributed among other departments of Philosophy. The following Lectures cannot be considered as embracing the whole province of Metaphysics in either of the above senses. Among the Phænomena of Mind, the Cognitive Faculties are discussed fully and satisfactorily; those of Feeling are treated with less detail; those of Conation receive scarcely any special consideration; while the questions of Ontology, or Metaphysics proper, are touched upon only incidentally. The omission of any special discussion of this last branch may perhaps be justified by its abstruse character, and unsuitableness for a course of elementary instruction; but it is especially to be regretted, both on account of the general neglect of this branch of study by the entire school of Scottish philosophers, and also on account of the eminent qualifications which the Author possessed for supplying this acknowledged deficiency. A treatise on Ontology from the pen of Sir William Hamilton, embodying the final results of the Philosophy of the Conditioned, would have been a boon to the philosophical world such as probably no writer now living is capable of conferring.

The circumstances under which these Lectures were written must also be taken into account in estimating their character, both as a specimen of the Author's powers, and as a contribution to philosophical literature.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

viii

Sir William Hamilton was elected to the Chair of Logic and Metaphysics in July 1836. In the interval between his appointment and the commencement of the College Session (November of the same year), the Author was assiduously occupied in making preparation for discharging the duties of his office. The principal part of those duties consisted, according to the practice of the University, in the delivery of a Course of Lectures on the subjects assigned to the chair. On his appointment to the Professorship, Sir William Hamilton experienced considerable difficulty in deciding on the character of the course of Lectures on Philosophy, which, while doing justice to the subject, would at the same time meet the wants of his auditors, who were ordinarily composed of comparatively young students in the second year of their university curriculum. The Author of the articles on Cousin's Philosophy,^a on Perception,^{β} and on Logic, γ had already given ample proof of those speculative accomplishments, and that profound philosophical learning, which, in Britain at least, were conjoined in an equal degree by no other man of his time. But those very qualities which placed him in the front rank of speculative thinkers, joined to his love of precision and system, and his lofty ideal of philosophical composition, served but to make him the more keenly alive to the requirements of his subject, and to the difficulties that lay in the way of combining elementary instruction in Philosophy with the adequate discussion of its topics. Hence,

a Edinburgh Review, 1829. B Ibid., 1830. Y Ibid., 1833.

although even at this period his methodised stores of learning were ample and pertinent, the opening of the College Session found him still reading and reflecting, and unsatisfied with even the small portion of matter which he had been able to commit to writing. His first Course of Lectures (Metaphysical) thus fell to be written during the currency of the Session (1836-7). The Author was in the habit of delivering three Lectures each week; and each Lecture was usually written on the day, or, more properly, on the evening and night, preceding its delivery. The Course of Metaphysics, as it is now given to the world, is the result of this nightly toil, unremittingly sustained for a period of five months. These Lectures were thus designed solely for a temporary purpose,---the use of the Author's own classes; they were, moreover, always regarded by the Author himself as defective as a complete Course of Metaphysics; and they were never revised by him with any view to publication, and this chiefly for the reason that he intended to make use of various portions of them which had not been incorporated in his other writings, in the promised Supplementary Dissertations to Reid's Works, -a design which his failing health did not permit him to complete.

The Lectures on Logic were not composed until the following Session (1837-8). This Course was also, in great part, written during the currency of the Session.

These circumstances will account for the repetition, in some places, of portions of the Author's previously published writings, and for the numerous and extensive quotations from other writers which are interspersed throughout the present Course. Most of these have been ascertained by references furnished by the Author himself, either in the manuscript of the present Lectures, or in his Commonplace-Book. These quotations, while they detract in some degree from the originality of the work, can, however, hardly be considered as lessening its value. Many of the authors quoted are but little known in this country; and the extracts from their writings will, to the majority of readers, have all the novelty of original remarks. They also exhibit, in a remarkable degree, the Author's singular power of appreciating and making use of every available hint scattered through those obscurer regions of thought through which his extensive reading conducted him. No part of Sir William Hamilton's writings more completely verifies the remark of his American critic, Mr Tyler: "There seems to be not even a random thought of any value, which has been dropped along any, even obscure, path of mental activity, in any age or country, that his diligence has not recovered, his sagacity appreciated, and his judgment husbanded in the stores of his knowledge."^a Very frequently, indeed, the thought which the Author selects and makes his own, acquires its value and significance in the very process of selection; and the contribution is more enriched than the adopter;

a Princeton Review, October 1855. on the Progress of Philosophy in the This article has since been republished Past and in the Future. Philadelphia, with the Author's name, in his Essay 1858.

for what, in another, is but a passing reflection, seen in a faint light, isolated and fruitless, often rises, in the hands of Sir William Hamilton, to the rank of a great, permanent, and luminous principle, receives its appropriate place in the order of truths to which it belongs, and proves, in many instances, a centre of radiation over a wide expanse of the field of human knowledge.

The present volumes may also appear to some disadvantage on account of the length of time which has elapsed between their composition and their publication. Other writings, particularly the Dissertations appended to Reid's Works,^{α} and part of the new matter in the Discussions, though earlier in point of publication, contain later and more mature phases of the Author's thought, on some of the questions discussed in the following pages. Much that would have been new to English readers twenty years ago, has, subsequently, in a great measure by the instrumentality of the Author himself, become well known; and the familiar expositions designed for the oral instruction of beginners in philosophy, have been eclipsed by those profounder reflections which have been published for the deliberate study of the philosophical world at large.

But, when all these deductions have been made, the work before us will still remain a noble monument of the Author's philosophical genius and learning. In many respects, indeed, it is qualified to become more popular

a The footnotes to Reid were for temporaneously with the present Lecthe most part written nearly eon- tures.

than any of his other publications. The very necessity which the Author was under, of adapting his observations, in some degree, to the needs and attainments of his hearers, has also fitted them for the instruction and gratification of a wide circle of general readers, who would have less relish for the severer style in which some of his later thoughts are conveyed. The present Lectures, if in depth and exactness of thought they are, for the most part, not equal to the *Dissertations* on Reid, or to some portions of the *Discussions*, possess attractions of their own, which will probably recommend them to a more numerous class of admirers; while they retain, in no small degree, the ample learning and philosophical acumen which are identified with the Author's previous reputation.

Apart, however, from considerations of their intrinsic value, these Lectures possess a high academical and historical interest. For twenty years,—from 1836 to 1856,—the Courses of Logic and Metaphysics were the means through which Sir William Hamilton sought to discipline and imbue with his philosophical opinions, the numerous youth who gathered from Scotland and other countries to his class-room; and while, by these prelections, the Author supplemented, developed, and moulded the National Philosophy,—leaving thereon the ineffaceable impress of his genius and learning,—he, at the same time and by the same means, exercised over the intellects and feelings of his pupils an influence which, for depth, intensity, and elevation, was certainly never surpassed by

that of any philosophical instructor. Among his pupils there are not a few who, having lived for a season under the constraining power of his intellect, and been led to reflect on those great questions regarding the character, origin, and bounds of human knowledge, which his teachings stirred and quickened, bear the memory of their beloved and revered Instructor inseparably blended with what is highest in their present intellectual life, as well as in their practical aims and aspirations.

The Editors, in offering these Lectures to the public, are, therefore, encouraged to express their belief, that they will not be found unworthy of the illustrious name which they bear. In the discharge of their own duties as annotators, the Editors have thought it due to the fame of the Author, to leave his opinions to be judged entirely by their own merits, without the accompaniment of criticisms, concurrent or dissentient. For the same reason, they have abstained from noticing such criticisms as have appeared on those portions of the work which have already been published in other forms. Their own annotations are, for the most part, confined to occasional explanations and verifications of the numerous references and allusions scattered through the text. The notes fall, as will be observed, into three classes :---

I. Original; notes printed from the manuscript of the present Lectures. These appear without any distinctive mark. Mere Jottings or Memoranda by the Author made on the manuscript, are generally marked as such.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

xiv

To these are also added a few Oral Interpolations of the Author, made in the course of reading the Lectures, which have been recovered from the note-books of students.

II. Supplied; notes extracted or compiled by the Editors from the Author's Commonplace-Book and fragmentary papers. These are enclosed in square brackets, and are without signature.

III. Editorial; notes added by the Editors. These always bear the signature "ED." When added as supplementary to the original or supplied notes, they are generally enclosed in square brackets, besides having the usual signature.

The Editors have been at pains to trace and examine the notes of the first and second classes with much care; and have succeeded in discovering the authorities referred to, with very few and insignificant exceptions. The Editors trust that the Original and Supplied Notes may prove of service to students of Philosophy, as indications of sources of philosophical opinions, which, in many cases, are but little, if at all, known in this country.

The Appendix embraces a few papers, chiefly fragmentary, which appeared to the Editors to be deserving of publication. Several of these are fragments of discussions which the Author had written with a view to the Memoir of Mr Dugald Stewart, on the editorship of whose works he was engaged at the period of his

death. They thus possess the melancholy interest which attaches to the latest of his compositions. To these philosophical fragments have been added a few papers on physiological subjects. These consist of an extract from the Author's Lectures on Phrenology, and communications made by him to various medical publications. Apart from the value of their results, these physiological investigations serve to exhibit, in a department of inquiry foreign to the class of subjects with which the mind of the Author was ordinarily occupied, that habit of careful, accurate, and unsparing research, by which Sir William Hamilton was so eminently characterised.

xvi

CONTENTS OF VOL. I.

LECTURE I.
PHILOSOPHY ITS ABSOLUTE UTILITY
(A) SUBJECTIVE,
LECTURE II.
PHILOSOPHY ITS ABSOLUTE UTILITY
(B) OBJECTIVE,
LECTURE III.
PHILOSOPHY-ITS NATURE AND COMPREHENSION, 43
LECTURE IV.
PHILOSOPHY—ITS CAUSES, 65
LECTURE V.
PHILOSOPHY-THE DISPOSITIONS WITH WHICH IT OUGHT
TO BE STUDIED,
LECTURE VI.

PHILOSOPHY-ITS · METHOD,		•	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	1020	96
VOL. I.				Ь	

xviii

CONTENTS.

LECTURE VII.

PHILOSOPHY-ITS	DIVISIONS,			•	•			110
----------------	------------	--	--	---	---	--	--	-----

PAGE

LECTURE VIII.

PSYCHOLOGY-ITS DEFINITION-EXPLICATION OF TERMS, . 129

LECTURE IX.

LECTURE X.

EXPLICATION	OF	TERMS,								-168
-------------	----	--------	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	------

LECTURE XI.

OUTLINE	OF	DISTRIB	UTION	OF	MENTAL I	PHÆNON	MENA	C(DN-	
SCIOU	ISNE	SS-1TS	SPECI	\mathbf{AL}	CONDITION	NS,				182

LECTURE XII.

CONSCIOUSNESS	S-ITS S	SPECIAI	L CONDITIC)NS	-RELA	FION	TO	
COGNITIVE	FACULT	IES IN	GENERAL,					206

LECTURE XIII.

CONSCIOUSNESS-ITS	SPECIAL	CONDITION	NS-RE	LATION	то	
COGNITIVE FACUI	TIES IN	GENERAL,				222

LECTURE XIV.

CONSCIOUSNESS-ATTENTIO	N IN	GENERAL,				246
------------------------	------	----------	--	--	--	-----

CONTENTS.

LECTURE XV.

CONSCIOUSNESS-ITS EVIDENCE AND AUTHORITY,	264
LECTURE XVI.	
CONSCIOUSNESS-VIOLATIONS OF ITS AUTHORITY,	285
LECTURE XVII.	
CONSCIOUSNESS-GENERAL PHÆNOMENA-ARE WE ALWAYS	
CONSCIOUSLY ACTIVE?	310
LECTURE XVIII.	
CONSCIOUSNESS-GENERAL PHÆNOMENA-IS THE MIND EVER	
UNCONSCIOUSLY MODIFIED ?	338
LECTURE XIX.	
CONSCIOUSNESS-GENERAL PHÆNOMENA-DIFFICULTIES AND	
FACILITIES OF PSYCHOLOGICAL STUDY,	364
APPENDIX.	

(B) THE SCOTTISH PHILOSOPHY-FRAGMENTS.

PORTION OF INTRODU	ICTORY LECT	URE (1836)	, .	•	392
M. JOUFFROY'S CRITI	CISM OF THI	E SCOTTISH	SCHOOL,	•	399
GENERAL CHARACTER	ISTICS OF TI	HE SCOTTIS	I SCHOOL,		400
KANT AND REID, .	• •	• • 1		•	401
KANT'S DOCTRINE OF	SPACE AND	TIME,		•	402
	PORTION OF INTRODU M. JOUFFROY'S CRITH GENERAL CHARACTER KANT AND REID, . KANT'S DOCTRINE OF	FORTION OF INTRODUCTORY LECT M. JOUFFROY'S CRITICISM OF THI GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF TH KANT AND REID, KANT'S DOCTRINE OF SPACE AND	FORTION OF INTRODUCTORY LECTURE (1836). M. JOUFFROY'S CRITICISM OF THE SCOTTISH GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SCOTTISH KANT AND REID, KANT'S DOCTRINE OF SPACE AND TIME,	FORTION OF INTRODUCTORY LECTURE (1836), . M. JOUFFROY'S CRITICISM OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL, GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL, KANT AND REID, KANT'S DOCTRINE OF SPACE AND TIME,	FORTION OF INTRODUCTORY LECTURE (1836), M. JOUFFROY'S CRITICISM OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL, . GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL, . KANT AND REID,

II .--- PHYSIOLOGICAL.

(a)	PHRENOLOGY,	•	•	+	•	•	•	•	•	404
(<i>b</i>)	EXPERIMENTS ON	THE	WEIG	IT OF	THE	BRA	IN,	•		418
(c)	REMARKS ON DR	MORTO	on's	TABLE	з,	•	•	•	•	421
(d)	ON THE FRONTAI	SINUS	3,			•				424

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

xix

PAGE

1.4

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECTURE I.

PHILOSOPHY-ITS ABSOLUTE UTILITY.

(A) SUBJECTIVE.

GENTLEMEN-In the commencement of a course of LECT. instruction in any department of knowledge, it is $\frac{I}{Philosophy}$; usual, before entering on the regular consideration of $\frac{Philosophy}{Philosophy}$; the subject, to premise a general survey of the more ures. important advantages which it affords; and this with the view of animating the student to a higher assiduity, by holding up to him, in prospect, some at least of those benefits and pleasures which he may promise to himself in reward of his exertions.

And, if such a preparation be found expedient for The exhibi-other branches of study, it is, I think, peculiarly requi- why pecusite in Philosophy,-Philosophy Proper,-the Science site. of Mind. For, in the first place, the most important advantages to be derived from the cultivation of philosophy, are not, in themselves, direct, palpable, obtrusive: they are, therefore, of their own nature, peculiarly liable to be overlooked or disparaged by the world at large; because to estimate them at their proper value requires in the judge more than a vulgar complement of information and intelligence. But, in VOL. I.

LECT.

the second place, the many are not simply by negative incompetence disqualified for an opinion; they are, moreover, by positive error, at once rendered incapable of judging right; and yet, by positive error, encouraged to a decision. For there are at present afloat, and in very general acceptation, certain superficial misconceptions in regard to the end and objects of education, which render the popular opinion of the comparative importance of its different branches, not merely false, but precisely the reverse of truth; the studies which, in reality, are of the highest value as a mean of intellectual development, being those which, on the vulgar standard of utility, are at the very bottom of the scale; while those which, in the nomenclature of the multitude, are emphatically,-distinctively denominated the Useful, are precisely those which, in relation to the great ends of liberal education. possess the least, and least general, utility.

Utility of a kinds-Ab-solute and Relative.

In considering the utility of a branch of knowledge, branch of knowledge, it behoves us, in the first place, to estimate its value as of two grand viewed simply in itself; and, in the second, its value as viewed in relation to other branches. Considered in itself, a science is valuable in proportion as its cultivation is immediately conducive to the mental improvement of the cultivator. This may be called its Absolute utility. In relation to others, a science is valuable in proportion as its study is necessary for the prosecution of other branches of knowledge. This may be called its Relative utility. In this latter point of view, that is, as relatively useful, I cannot at present enter upon the value of Philosophy,-I cannot attempt to show how it supplies either the materials or the rules to all the sciences; and how, in particular, its study is of importance to the Lawyer, the Physi-

cian, and, above all, to the Theologian. All this I LECT. must for the present pass by.

In the former point of view, that is, considered Absolute absolutely, or in itself, the philosophy of mind com- two kinds-prises two several utilities, according as it, 1°, Culti- and Objectvates the mind or knowing subject, by calling its faculties into exercise; and, 2°, Furnishes the mind with a certain complement of truths or objects of knowledge. The former of these constitutes its Subjective, the latter its Objective utility. These utilities are not the same, nor do they even stand to each other in any necessary proportion. As the special consideration of both is more than I can compass in the present Lecture, I am constrained to limit myself to one alone; and as the subjective utility is that which has usually been overlooked, though not assuredly of the two the less important, while at the same time its exposition affords in part the rationale of the method of instruction which I have adopted, I shall at present only attempt an illustration of the advantages afforded by the Philosophy of Mind, regarded as the study which, of all others, best cultivates the mind or subject of knowledge, by supplying to its higher faculties the occasions of their most vigorous, and therefore their most improving, exercise.

There are few, I believe, disposed to question the Practical utility of speculative dignity of mental science; but its practi-Philosophy. cal utility is not unfrequently denied. To what, it is asked, is the science of mind conducive? What are its uses ?

I am not one of those who think that the importance of a study is sufficiently established when its dignity is admitted; for, holding that knowledge is for the sake of man, and not man for the sake of knowledge,

it is necessary, in order to vindicate its value, that LECT. every science should be able to show what are the advantages which it promises to confer upon its student. I, therefore, profess myself a utilitarian; and it is only on the special ground of its utility that I would claim for the philosophy of mind, what I regard as its peculiar and pre-eminent importance. But what is a The Useful utilitarian ? Simply one who prefers the Useful to the Useless-and who does not? But what is the useful? That which is prized, not on its own account, but as conducive to the acquisition of something else,-the useful is, in short, only another word for a mean towards an end; for every mean is useful, and whatever is useful is a mean. Now the value of a mean is always in proportion to the value of its end; and the useful being a mean, it follows that, of two utilities, the one which conduces to the more valuable end will be itself the more valuable utility.

> So far there is no difference of opinion. All agree that the useful is a mean towards an end; and that, *cæteris paribus*, a mean towards a higher end constitutes a higher utility than a mean towards a lower. The only dispute that has arisen, or can possibly arise, in regard to the utility of means (supposing always their relative efficiency), is founded on the various views that may be entertained in regard to the existence and comparative importance of ends.

Two errors in the popular estimate of the comparative utility of human sciences,

Now the various opinions which prevail concerning the comparative utility of human sciences and studies have all arisen from two errors.^{α}

The first of these consists in viewing man, not as

 α With the following observations in his article on the study of mathematy be compared the author's rematics, *Edinburgh Review*, vol. lxii. marks on the distinction between a professional education p. 263.—ED.

an end unto himself, but merely as a mean organised LECT. for the sake of something out of himself; and, under _______. this partial view of human destination, those branches of knowledge obtain exclusively the name of *useful*, which tend to qualify a human being to act the lowly part of a dexterous instrument.

The second, and the more dangerous of these errors, consists in regarding the cultivation of our faculties as subordinate to the acquisition of knowledge, instead of regarding the possession of knowledge as subordinate to the cultivation of our faculties; and, in consequence of this error, those sciences which afford a greater number of more certain facts, have been deemed superior in utility to those which bestow a higher cultivation on the higher faculties of the mind.

As to the first of these errors, the fallacy is so pal-Man an pable, that we may well wonder at its prevalence. It himself. is manifest, indeed, that man, in so far as he is a mean for the glory of God, must be an end unto himself, for it is only in the accomplishment of his own perfection, that, as a creature, he can manifest the glory of his Creator. Though therefore man, by relation to God, be but a mean, - for that very reason, in relation to all else, is he an end. Wherefore, now speaking of him exclusively in his natural capacity and temporal relations, I say it is manifest that man is by nature necessarily an end to himself,-that his perfection and happiness constitute the goal of his activity, to which he tends, and ought to tend, when not diverted from this, his general and native destination, by peculiar and accidental circumstances. But it is equally evident, that, under the condition of society, individual men are, for the most part, to a greater or less degree, actually so diverted. To

LECT. live, the individual must have the means of living; and these means, (unless he already possess them), he must procure, — he must purchase. But purchase with what? With his services, — *i.e.* he must reduce himself to an instrument, — an instrument of utility to others, and the services of this instrument he must barter for those means of subsistence of which he is in want. In other words, he must exercise some trade, calling, or profession.

> Thus, in the actualities of social life, each man, instead of being solely an end to himself,—instead of being able to make everything subordinate to that full and harmonious development of his individual faculties, in which his full perfection and his true happiness consist,—is, in general, compelled to degrade himself into the mean or instrument towards the accomplishment of some end, external to himself, and for the benefit of others.

Liberal and professional education.

Now the perfection of man as an end, and the perfection of man as a mean or instrument, are not only not the same, they are, in reality, generally opposed. And as these two perfections are different, so the training requisite for their acquisition is not identical, and has, accordingly, been distinguished by different names. The one is styled Liberal, the other Professional education,—the branches of knowledge cultivated for these purposes being called respectively liberal and professional, or liberal and lucrative sciences. By the Germans, the latter are usually distinguished as the *Brodwissenschaften*, which we may translate, *The Bread* and Butter sciences.^a A few of the professions, indeed, as requiring a higher development of the higher facul-

a Schelling, Vorlesungen über die p. 67.-ED. Methode des Academischen Studium,

ties, and involving, therefore, a greater or less amount of liberal education, have obtained the name of liberal professions. We must, however, recollect that this is only an accidental and a very partial exception. But though the full and harmonious development of our faculties be the high and natural destination of all, while the cultivation of any professional dexterity is only a contingency, though a contingency incumbent upon most, it has, however, happened that the paramount and universal end of man,-of man absolutely, -has been often ignorantly lost sight of, and the term useful appropriated exclusively to those acquirements which have a value only to man considered in his relative, lower, and accidental character of an instru-But, because some have thus been led to ment. appropriate the name of useful to those studies and objects of knowledge, which are conducive to the Misappli-cation of the inferior end, it assuredly does not follow that those term useful. conducive to the higher have not a far preferable title to the name thus euriously denied to them. Even admitting, therefore, that the study of mind is of no immediate advantage in preparing the student for many of the subordinate parts in the mechanism of society, its utility cannot, on that account, be ealled in question, unless it be asserted that man "liveth by bread alone," and has no higher destination than that of the calling by which he earns his subsistence.

The second error to which I have adverted, reverses Knowledge the relative subordination of knowledge and of intellectual cultivation. In refutation of this, I shall ^{livation}. attempt briefly to show, firstly, that knowledge and intellectual cultivation are not identical; secondly, that knowledge is itself principally valuable as a

LECT.

7

LECT. mean of intellectual cultivation; and, lastly, that intellectual cultivation is more directly and effectually accomplished by the study of mind than by any other of our rational pursuits.

> But to prevent misapprehension, I may premise what I mean by knowledge, and what by intellectual cultivation. By knowledge is understood the mere possession of truths; by intellectual cultivation, or intellectual development, the power acquired through exercise by the higher faculties, of a more varied, vigorous, and protracted activity.

Not identical. In the first place, then, it will be requisite, I conceive, to say but little to show that knowledge and intellectual development are not only not the same, but stand in no necessary proportion to each other. This is manifest if we consider the very different conditions under which these two qualities are acquired. The one condition under which all powers, and consequently the intellectual faculties, are developed, is exercise. The more intense and continuous the exercise, the more vigorously developed will be the power.

But a certain quantity of knowledge,—in other words, a certain amount of possessed truths,—does not suppose, as its condition, a corresponding sum of intellectual exercise. One truth requires much, another truth requires little, effort in acquisition; and, while the original discovery of a truth evolves perhaps a maximum of the highest quality of energy, the subsequent learning of that truth elicits probably but a minimum of the very lowest.

Is truth or mental excrcise the superior end? But, as it is evident that the possession of truths, and the development of the mind in which they are deposited, are not identical, I proceed, in the second place, to show that, considered as ends, and in relation

to each other, the knowledge of truths is not supreme, LECT. but subordinate to the cultivation of the knowing . mind. The question-Is Truth, or is the Mental Exercise in the pursuit of truth, the superior end ?---this is perhaps the most curious theoretical, and certainly the most important practical, problem in the whole compass of philosophy. For, according to the solution at which we arrive, must we accord the higher or the lower rank to certain great departments of study; and, what is of more importance, the character of its solution, as it determines the aim, regulates from first to last the method, which an enlightened science of education must adopt.

But, however curious and important, this question Popular so-lution of this has never, in so far as I am aware, been regularly question. discussed. Nay, what is still more remarkable, the erroneous alternative has been very generally assumed as true. The consequence of this has been, that sciences of far inferior, have been clevated above sciences of far superior, utility; while education has been systematically distorted, - though truth and nature have occasionally burst the shackles which a perverse theory had imposed. The reason of this is sufficiently obvious. At first sight, it seems even absurd to doubt that truth is more valuable than its pursuit; for is this not to say that the end is less important than the mean ?---and on this superficial view is the prevalent misapprehension founded. A slight consideration will, however, expose the fallacy.

Knowledge is either practical or speculative. In Practical practical knowledge it is evident that truth is not its end. the ultimate end; for, in that case, knowledge is, ex hypothesi, for the sake of application. The knowledge

9

LECT.

of a moral, of a political, of a religious truth, is of - value only as it affords the preliminary or condition of its exercise.

The end of speculative

In speculative knowledge, on the other hand, there speculative may indeed, at first sight, seem greater difficulty; but further reflection will prove that speculative truth is only pursued, and is only held of value, for the sake of intellectual activity. "Sordet cognita veritas" is a shrewd aphorism of Seneca. A truth, once known, falls into comparative insignificance. It is now prized, less on its own account than as opening up new ways to new activity, new suspense, new hopes, new discoveries, new self-gratulation. Every votary of science is wilfully ignorant of a thousand established facts,-of a thousand which he might make his own more easily than he could attempt the discovery of even one. But it is not knowledge,---it is not truth, -that he principally seeks; he seeks the exercise of his faculties and feelings; and, as in following after the one he exerts a greater amount of pleasurable energy than in taking formal possession of the thousand, he disdains the certainty of the many, and prefers the chances of the one. Accordingly, the sciences always studied with keenest interest are those in a state of progress and uncertainty : absolute certainty and absolute completion would be the paralysis of any study; and the last worst calamity that could befall man, as he is at present constituted, would be that full and final possession of speculative truth, which he now vainly anticipates as the consummation of his intellectual happiness.

"Quæsivit cœlo lucem, ingemuitque reperta." a

a Virgil, *En.*, iv. 692.-ED. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

But what is true of science is true, indeed, of all LECT. human activity. "In life," as the great Pascal observes, -"we always believe that we are seeking repose, while, in reality, all that we ever seek is agitation." " When Pyrrhus proposed to subdue a part of the world, and then to enjoy rest among his friends, he believed that what he sought was possession, not pursuit; and Alexander assuredly did not foresee that the conquest of one world would only leave him to weep for another world to conquer. It is ever the contest that pleases us, and not the victory. Thus it is in play; thus it is in hunting; thus it is in the search of truth;^{β} thus it is in life. The past does not interest, the present does not satisfy, the future alone is the object which engages us.

> "[Nullo votorum fine beati] Victuros agimus semper, nec vivimus unquam." y " Man never is, but always to be blest." &

The question, I said, has never been regularly dis-How re-solved by cussed, — probably because it lay in too narrow a philosocompass; but no philosopher appears to have ever phers. seriously proposed it to himself, who did not resolve it in contradiction to the ordinary opinion. A contradiction of this opinion is even involved in the very term Philosophy; and the man who first declared that he was not a σοφός, or possessor, but a φιλόσοφος.

a Pensées, partie i. art. vii. § 1, (vol. ii. p. 34, ed. Faugère): "Ils croient chercher sincèrement le repos, et ne cherchent en effet que l'agitation." "Le conseil qu'on donnait à Pyrrhus, de prendre le repos qu'il allait chercher par tant de fatigues, recevait bien des difficultés."-ED.

 β "Rien ne nous plait que le combat, mais non pas la victoire. . . . Ainsi dans le jeu, ainsi dans la recherche de la vérité. On aime à voir dans les disputes le combat des opinions; mais de contempler la vérité trouvée, point du tout. . . . Nous ne cherchons jamais les choses, mais la recherche des choses."-Pascal, Pensées, vol. i. p. 205, ed. Faugère.-ED. γ Manilius, Astronomicon, lib. iv. 4.-ED.

δ Pope, Essay on Man, i. 96.-ED.

e Pythagoras, according to the ordinary account; see Cicero, Tusc. Quast., v. 3. Sir W. Hamilton, however, probably meant Socrates. See Lecture III., p. 47.-ED.

or seeker of truth, at once enounced the true end of human speculation, and embodied it in a significant name. Under the same conviction Plato defines man "the hunter of truth," ^a for science is a chase, and in a chase the pursuit is always of greater value than the game.

> "Our hopes, like towering falcons, aim At objects in an airy height; But all the pleasure of the game Is afar off to view the flight." β

"The intellect," says Aristotle, in one passage, "is perfected, not by knowledge but by activity;" γ and in another, "The arts and sciences are powers, but every power exists only for the sake of action; the end of philosophy, therefore, is not knowledge, but the energy conversant about knowledge." ⁸ Descending to the schoolmen: "The intellect," says Aquinas, "commences in operation, and in operation it ends;"[¢] and Scotus even declares that a man's knowledge is measured by the amount of his mental activity— "tantum scit homo, quantum operatur."[¢] The profoundest thinkers of modern times have emphatically

a This definition is not to be found in the Platonic Dialogues; a passage something like it occurs in the Euclydemus, p. 290. Cf. Diog. Laert., lib. viii. Pythagoras, $\S 8: E\nu \tau \hat{\varphi} \beta(\varphi, oi$ $\mu \hat{\nu} \lambda \hat{v} \delta \rho \pi n \delta \Delta \hat{\epsilon} is \phi i \nu \tau ai$, $\delta \delta \hat{\epsilon} n s \kappa al$ $\pi \lambda \epsilon ov \epsilon \hat{\epsilon} las \delta n \rho a \tau ai oi \delta \hat{\epsilon} \phi i \lambda \delta \sigma o \phi oi, \tau \hat{n} s$ $\dot{a} \lambda \eta \delta \epsilon i a s. -ED.$

β Prior, Lines to the Hon. C. Montague; British Poets, vol. vii. p. 393, (Anderson's ed.)—ED.

γ Said of moral knowledge, Eth. Nic., i. 3: Τέλος οὐ γνῶσις, ἀλλὰ πρᾶξις. Cf. ibid., i. 7, 13; i. 8, 9; ix. 7, 4; xi. 9, 7; x. 7, 1. Met., xi. 7: 'Η νοῦ ἐνέργεια ζωή.—ED.

δ This sentence seems to be made up from two separate passages in the Metaphysics. Lib. viii. c. 2: Πάσαι al τέχναι και αι ποιητικαι και επιςτήμαι δυνάμεις είσίν. Lib. viii. c. 8 : Τέλος δ' ή ἐνένγεια, και τούτου χάριν ή δύναμις λαμβάνεται . . . και τήν θεωρητικήν (έχουσιν) Ίνα θεωρῶσιν ἀλλ' οὐ θεωροῦσιν ἵνα θεωρητικήν ἕχωσιν.—ΕD.

ε This is perhaps the substance of Summa, Pars i., Q. lxxix., art. ii. and iii.—ED.

ζ These words contain the substance of the doctrine of Scotus regarding science, given in his Quæstiones in Aristotelis Logicam, p. 318— Super Lib. Post., Q. i. "Scire in actu," says the subtle doctor, "est quum aliquis cognoscit majorem et minorem, et, simul cum hoc, applicat præmissas ad conclusionem. Sic igitur patet quad actualitas scientiæ est ex appli-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.
testified to the same great principle. "If," says Malebranche, "I held truth captive in my hand, I should open my hand and let it fly, in order that I might again pursue and capture it." " " Did the Almighty," says Lessing, "holding in his right hand Truth, and in his left Search after Truth, deign to tender me the one I might prefer,-in all humility, but without hesitation, I should request Search after Truth."^{β} "Truth," says Von Müller, " is the property of God, the pursuit of truth is what belongs to man; " γ and Jean Paul Richter: "It is not the goal, but the course, which makes us happy."⁸ But there would be no end of similar quotations.[¢]

But if speculative truth itself be only valuable as philosophy a mean of intellectual activity, those studies which to the apdetermine the faculties to a more vigorous exertion, useful. will, in every liberal sense, be better entitled, absolutely, to the name of useful, than those which, with a greater complement of more certain facts, awaken them to a less intense, and consequently to a less improving exercise. On this ground I would rest one of the pre-eminent utilities of mental philosophy. That it comprehends all the sublimest objects of our theoretical and moral interest; that every (natural) conclusion concerning God, the soul, the present worth and the future destiny of man, is exclusively deduced from the philosophy of mind, will be at once admitted.

catione causæ ad effectum." Compare Quæst. ii.,--"An acquisitio scientiæ sit nobis per doctrinam?"-for his view of the end and means of education.-ED.

a [" Malebranche disait avec une ingénieuse exagération, 'Si je tenais la vérité captive dans ma main, j'ouvrirais la main afin de poursuivre encore la vérité.'"-Mazure, Cours de Philosophie, tom. i. p. 20.]

B Eine Duplik, § 1; Schriften, edit. Lachmann, x. p. 49.-ED.

γ["Die Wahrheit ist in Gott, uns bleibt das Forschen."]

δ Leben, drittes Heft, § 257. See Scheidler's Psychologie, p. 45.-ED. e Compare Discussions, p. 40.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. I. But I do not at present found the importance on the paramount dignity of the pursuit. It is as the best gymnastic of the mind,—as a mean, principally, and almost exclusively, conducive to the highest education of our noblest powers, - that I would vindicate to these speculations the necessity which has too frequently been denied them. By no other intellectual application is the mind thus reflected on itself, and its faculties aroused to such independent, vigorous, unwonted, and continued energy;-by none, therefore, are its best capacities so variously and intensely evolved. "By turning," says Burke, "the soul inward on itself, its forces are concentred, and are fitted for greater and stronger flights of science; and in this pursuit, whether we take or whether we lose our game, the chase is certainly of service." ^a

Application of the foregoing principles to the conduct of a class of philosophy.

These principles being established, I have only now to offer a few observations in regard to their application, that is, in regard to the mode in which I conceive that this class ought to be conducted. From what has already been said, my views on this subject may be easily anticipated. Holding that the paramount end of liberal study is the development of the student's mind, and that knowledge is principally useful as a mean of determining the faculties to that exercise, through which this development is accomplished,---it follows that I must regard the main duty of a Professor to consist not simply in communicating information, but in doing this in such a manner, and with such an accompaniment of subsidiary means. that the information he conveys may be the occasion of awakening his pupils to a vigorous and varied exertion of their faculties. Self-activity is the indis-

a On the Sublime and Beautiful, Preface, p. 8.-ED.

pensable condition of improvement; and education is education,—that is, accomplishes its purpose, only by affording objects and supplying incitements to this spontaneous exertion. Strictly speaking, every one must educate himself.

But as the end of education is thus something more Universi-ties; their than the mere communication of knowledge, the com- main end. munication of knowledge ought not to be all that academical education should attempt. Before printing was invented, Universities were of primary importance as organs of publication, and as centres of literary confluence : but since that invention, their utility as media of communication is superseded; consequently, to justify the continuance of their existence and privileges, they must accomplish something that cannot be accomplished by books. But it is a remarkable circumstance that, before the invention of printing, universities viewed the activity of the pupil as the great mean of cultivation, and the communication of knowledge as only of subordinate importance; whereas, since that invention, universities, in general, have gradually allowed to fall into disuse the powerful means which they possess of rousing the pupil to exertion, and have been too often content to act as mere oral instruments of information, forgetful, it would almost seem, that Fust and Coster ever lived. It is acknowledged, indeed, that this is neither the principal nor the proper purpose of a university. Every writer on academical education from every corner of Europe proclaims the abuse, and, in this and other universities, much has been done by individual effort to correct it.ª

But though the common duty of all academical

a Compare Discussions, p. 772.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT T.

of liberal education.

The conditions of instruction in intellectual philosophy.

instructors be the cultivation of the student, through the awakened exercise of his faculties, this is more The true end especially incumbent on those to whom is intrusted the department of liberal education; for, in this department, the pupil is trained, not to any mere professional knowledge, but to the command and employment of his faculties in general. But, moreover, the same obligation is specially imposed upon a professor of intellectual philosophy, by the peculiar nature of his subject, and the conditions under which alone it can be taught. The phænomena of the external world are so palpable and so easily described, that the experience of one observer suffices to render the facts he has witnessed intelligible and probable to The phænomena of the internal world, on the all. contrary, are not capable of being thus described : all that the prior observer can do, is to enable others to repeat his experience. In the science of mind, we can neither understand nor be convinced of anything at second hand. Here testimony can impose no belief; and instruction is only instruction as it enables us to teach ourselves. A fact of consciousness, however accurately observed, however clearly described, and however great may be our confidence in the observer, is for us as zero, until we have observed and recognised it ourselves. Till that be done, we cannot realise its possibility, far less admit its truth. Thus it is that, in the philosophy of mind, instruction can do little more than point out the position in which the pupil ought to place himself, in order to verify, by his own experience, the facts which his instructor proposes to him as true. The instructor, therefore, proclaims, où $\phi_i \lambda_0 \sigma_0 \phi_i a$, $\dot{a} \lambda \lambda \dot{a} \phi_i \lambda_0 \sigma_0 \phi_i \nu$; he does not profess to teach philosophy, but to philosophise.

It is this condition imposed upon the student of LECT. doing everything himself, that renders the study of $\frac{I}{U_{se and}}$ the mental sciences the most improving exercise of importance intellect. But everything depends upon the condition nations in being fulfilled; and, therefore, the primary duty of a Philosophy. teacher of philosophy is to take care that the student does actually perform for himself the necessary process. In the first place, he must discover, by examination, whether his instructions have been effective,whether they have enabled the pupil to go through the intellectual operation; and, if not, it behoves him to supply what is wanting,-to clear up what has been misunderstood. In this view, examinations are of high importance to a Professor; for without such a medium between the teacher and the taught, he can never adequately accommodate the character of his instruction to the capacity of his pupils.

But, in the second place, besides placing his pupil The intelin a condition to perform the necessary process, the structor instructor ought to do what in him lies to determine to influence the pupil's will to the performance. But how is this to his pupils. be effected ? Only by rendering the effort more pleasurable than its omission. But every effort is at first difficult,-consequently irksome. The ultimate benefit it promises is dim and remote, while the pupil is often of an age at which present pleasure is more persuasive than future good. The pain of the exertion must, therefore, be overcome by associating with it a still higher pleasure. This can only be effected by enlisting some passion in the cause of improvement. We must awaken emulation, and allow its gratification only through a course of vigorous exertion. Some rigorists, I am aware, would proscribe, on moral and religious grounds, the employment of the passions in education;

VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

17

of examia class of

LECT. I.

The place of the passions in education.

but such a view is at once false and dangerous. The affections are the work of God; they are not radically evil; they are given us for useful purposes, and are, therefore, not superfluous. It is their abuse that is alone reprehensible. In truth, however, there is no alternative. In youth, passion is preponderant. There is then a redundant amount of energy which must be expended; and this, if it find not an outlet through one affection, is sure to find it through another. The aim of education is thus to employ for good those impulses which would otherwise be turned to evil. The passions are never neutral; they are either the best allies, or the worst opponents, of improvement. "Man's nature," says Bacon, "runs either to herbs or weeds; therefore let him seasonably water the one and destroy the other."^a Without the stimulus of emulation, what can education accomplish? The love of abstract knowledge, and the habit of application, are still unformed, and if emulation intervene not, the course by which these are acquired is, from a strenuous and cheerful energy, reduced to an inanimate and dreary effort; and this too at an age when pleasure is all-powerful, and impulse predominant over reason. The result is manifest.

These views have determined my plan of practical instruction. Regarding the communication of knowledge as a high, but not the highest, aim of academical instruction, I shall not content myself with the delivery of Lectures. By all the means in my power I shall endeavour to rouse you, Gentlemen, to the free and vigorous exercise of your faculties; and shall deem my task accomplished, not by teaching Logic and Philosophy, but by teaching to reason and philosophise.^{β}

a Essay xxxviii.—" Of Nature in Men,"—Works, ed. Montagu, vol. i. p. 133.—Ed. β For Fragment containing the Author's views on the subject of Academical Honours, see Appendix I.—Ed.

LECTURE IL^a

PHILOSOPHY-ITS ABSOLUTE UTILITY.

(B) OBJECTIVE.

In the perverse estimate which is often made of the LECT. ends and objects of education, it is impossible that the -Science of Mind,-Philosophy Proper,-the Queen of of a study. Sciences, as it was denominated of old, should not be degraded in common opinion from its pre-eminence, as the highest branch of general education; and, therefore, before attempting to point out to you what constitutes the value of Philosophy, it becomes necessary to clear the way by establishing a correct notion of what the value of a study is.

Some things are valuable, finally, or for themselves, Ends and means. -these are ends; other things are valuable, not on their own account, but as conducive towards certain ulterior ends,-these are means. The value of ends is absolute,-the value of means is relative. Absolute value is properly called a good,-relative value is properly called a *utility*.^{β} Of goods, or absolute ends,

Lectures here printed as First and Second, were not uniformly delivered by the Author in that order. The one or other was, however, usually given as the Introductory Lecture of c. 7, § 1.]

a It is to be observed, that the the Course. This circumstance ac. counts for the repetition of the principal doctrines of Lecture I. in the opening of Lecture II.-ED.

B [Cf. Aristotle, Eth. Nic., lib. i.

LECT. there are for man but two,—perfection and happiness. By perfection is meant the full and harmonious development of all our faculties, corporeal and mental, intellectual and moral; by happiness, the complement of all the pleasures of which we are susceptible.

Human perfection and happiness coincide. Now, I may state, though I cannot at present attempt to prove, and I am afraid many will not even understand the statement, that human perfection and human happiness coincide, and thus constitute, in reality, but a single end. For as, on the one hand, the perfection or full development of a power is in proportion to its capacity of free, vigorous, and continued action, so, on the other, all pleasure is the concomitant of activity; its degree being in proportion as that activity is spontaneously intense, its prolongation in proportion as that activity is spontaneously continued; whereas, pain arises either from a faculty being restrained in its spontaneous tendency to action, or from being urged to a degree, or to a continuance, of energy beyond the limit to which it of itself freely tends.

To promote our perfection is thus to promote our happiness; for to cultivate fully and harmoniously our various faculties, is simply to enable them by exercise to energise longer and stronger without painful effort; that is, to afford us a larger amount of a higher quality of enjoyment.

Criterion of the utility of a study. Perfection (comprising happiness) being thus the one end of our existence, in so far as man is considered either as an end unto himself, or as a mean to the glory of his Creator; it is evident that, absolutely speaking, that is, without reference to special circumstances and relations, studies and sciences must, in common with all other pursuits, be judged useful as they contribute, and only as they contribute, to the

perfection of our humanity,-that is, to our perfection simply as men. It is manifest that in this relation . alone can anything distinctively, emphatically, and without qualification, be denominated useful; for as our perfection as men is the paramount and universal end proposed to the species, whatever we may style useful in any other relation, ought, as conducive only to a subordinate and special end, to be so called, not simply, but with qualifying limitation. Propriety has, however, in this case been reversed in common usage. For the term Useful has been exclusively bestowed, in ordinary language, on those branches of instruction which, without reference to his general cultivation as a man or a gentleman, qualify an individual to earn his livelihood by a special knowledge or dexterity in some lucrative calling or profession; and it is easy to see how, after the word had been thus appropriated to what, following the Germans, we may call the Bread and Butter sciences, those which more proximately and obtrusively contribute to the intellectual and moral dignity of man, should, as not having been styled the useful, come, in popular opinion, to be regarded as the useless branches of instruction.

As it is proper to have different names for different General and things, we may call the higher utility, or that conducive Utility. to the perfection of a man viewed as an end in himself, by the name of Absolute or General; the inferior utility, or that conducive to the skill of an individual viewed as an instrument for some end out of himself. by the name of Special or Particular.

Now, it is evident, that in estimating the utility of any branch of education, we ought to measure it both by the one kind of utility and by the other; but it is also evident that a neglect of the former standard will

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. II. lead us further wrong in appreciating the value of any branch of common or general instruction, than a neglect of the latter.

It has been the tendency of different ages, of different countries, of different ranks and conditions of society, to measure the utility of studies rather by one of these standards than by both. Thus it was the bias of antiquity, when the moral and intellectual cultivation of the citizen was viewed as the great end of all political institutions, to appreciate all knowledge principally by the higher standard; on the contrary, it is unfortunately the bias of our modern civilisation, since the accumulation, (and not to the distribution), of riches in a country, has become the grand problem of the statesman, to appreciate it rather by the lower.

In considering, therefore, the utility of philosophy, we have, first, to determine its Absolute, and, in the second place, its Special utility—I say its special utility, for, though not itself one of the professional studies, it is mediately more or less conducive to them all.

In the present Lecture I must, of course, limit myself to one branch of this division; and even a part of the first or Absolute utility will more than occupy our hour.

Philosophy: its Absolute utility.

Limiting myself, therefore, to the utility of philosophy as estimated by the higher standard alone, it is further to be observed that, on this standard, a science or study is useful in two different ways, and, as these are not identical,—this pursuit being more useful in the one way, that pursuit more useful in the other, these in reality constitute two several standards of utility, by which each branch of knowledge ought to be separately measured.

The cultivation, the intellectual perfection, of a man, Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® may be estimated by the amount of two different elements: it may be estimated by the mere sum of truths which he has learned, or it may be estimated by the Absolute utility of a greater development of his faculties, as determined by science of two kinds— their greater exercise in the pursuit and contemplation Objective and Subjective For, though this may appear a paradox, tive. of truth. these elements are not merely not convertible, but are, in fact, very loosely connected with each other; and as an individual may possess an ample magazine of knowledge, and still be little better than an intellectual barbarian, so the utility of one science may be principally seen in affording a greater number of higher and more indisputable truths,-the utility of another in determining the faculties to a higher energy, and consequently to a higher cultivation. The former of these utilities we may call the Objective, as it regards the object-matter about which our cognitive faculties are occupied; the other the Subjective, inasmuch as it regards our cognitive faculties themselves as the subject in which knowledge is inherent.

I shall not at present enter on the discussion which of these utilities is the higher. In the opening Lecture of last year, I endeavoured to show that all knowledge is only for the sake of energy, and that even merely speculative truth is valuable only as it determines a greater quantity of higher power into activity. In Philosophy: that lecture, I also endeavoured to show that, on the tive utility. standard of subjective utility, philosophy is of all our studies the most useful; inasmuch as more than any other it exercises, and consequently develops, to a higher degree and in a more varied manner, our noblest faculties. At present, on the contrary, I shall confine myself to certain views of the importance of philosophy, estimated by the standard of its Objective

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. II.

utility. The discussion, I am aware, will be found LECT. somewhat disproportioned to the age and average capacity of my hearers; but, on this occasion, and before this audience, I hope to be excused if I venture for once on matters which, to be adequately understood, require development and illustration from the matured intelligence of those to whom they are presented.

The human mind the noblest object of speculation.

II.

Considered in itself, a knowledge of the human mind, whether we regard its speculative or its practical importance, is confessedly of all studies the highest and the most interesting. "On earth," says an ancient philosopher, "there is nothing great but man; in man, there is nothing great but mind." " No other study fills and satisfies the soul like the study of itself. No other science presents an object to be compared in dignity, in absolute or in relative value, to that which human consciousness furnishes to its own contemplation. What is of all things the best ? asked Chilon of the Oracle. "To know thyself," was the response. This is, in fact, the only science in which all are always interested, for, while each individual may have his favourite occupation, it still remains true of the species that

"The proper study of mankind is man." B

Sir Thomas Browne quoted.

"Now for my life," says Sir Thomas Browne, "it is a miracle of thirty years, which to relate were not a history, but a piece of poetry, and would sound to common ears like a fable.

"For the world, I count it not an inn, but an hospital; and a place not to live but to die in. The

a [Phavorinus, quoted by Joannes Picus Mirandulanus, In Astrologiam, lib. iii. p. 351, Basil. ed.] For notice of Phavorinus, see Vossius, De Hist. Græc., lib. ii. c. 10.-ED.

β Pope, Essay on Man, ii. 2.-ED. [Cf. Charron, De la Sagesse, liv. i. chap. i. "Le vray estude de l'homme est l'homme."]

world that I regard is myself; it is the microcosm of LECT. my own frame that I cast mine eye on : for the other, I use it but like my globe, and turn it round sometimes for my recreation. Men that look upon my outside, perusing only my condition and fortunes, do err in my altitude: for I am above Atlas his shoulders. The earth is a point not only in respect of the heavens above us, but of that heavenly and celestial part within us. That mass of flesh that circumscribes me, limits not my mind. That surface that tells the heavens it hath an end, cannot persuade me I have any. I take my circle to be above three hundred and sixty. Though the number of the ark do measure my body, it comprehendeth not my mind. Whilst I study to find how I am a microcosm, or little world, I find myself something more than the great. There is surely a piece of divinity in us: something that was before the elements, and owes no homage unto the sun. Nature tells me, I am the image of God, as well as Scripture. He that understands not thus much hath not his introduction or first lesson, and is yet to begin the alphabet of man."^a

But, though mind, considered in itself, be the noblest Relation of Psychology object of speculation which the created universe pre-to Theology. sents to the curiosity of man, it is under a certain relation that I would now attempt to illustrate its utility; for mind rises to its highest dignity when viewed as the object through which, and through which alone, our unassisted reason can ascend to the knowledge of a God. The Deity is not an object of immediate contemplation; as existing and in himself, he is beyond our reach; we can know him only mediately through his works, and are only warranted in assuming his existence as a certain kind of cause necessary to account

a Browne's Religio Medici, part ii. § 11. Discussions, p. 311.-ED.

LECT. II.

Existence of Deity an inference from a special class of effects.

for a certain state of things, of whose reality our faculties are supposed to inform us. The affirmation of a God being thus a regressive inference, from the existence of a special class of effects to the existence of a special character of cause, it is evident, that the whole argument hinges on the fact,—Does a state of things really exist such as is only possible through the agency of a Divine Cause? For if it can be shown that such a state of things does not really exist, then, our inference to the kind of cause requisite to account for it, is necessarily null.

These afforded exclusively by the phænomena of mind.

This being understood, I now proceed to show you that the class of phænomena which requires that kind of cause we denominate a Deity, is exclusively given in the phænomena of mind,—that the phænomena of matter, taken by themselves, (you will observe the qualification, taken by themselves), so far from warranting any inference to the existence of a God, would, on the contrary, ground even an argument to his negation,—that the study of the external world taken with, and in subordination to, that of the internal, not only loses its atheistic tendency, but, under such subservience, may be rendered conducive to the great conclusion, from which, if left to itself, it would dissuade us.

We must first of all then consider what kind of cause it is which constitutes a Deity, and what kind of effects they are which allow us to infer that a Deity must be.

The notion of a Godwhat. The notion of a God is not contained in the notion of a mere First Cause; for in the admission of a first cause, Atheist and Theist are at one. Neither is this notion completed by adding to a first cause the attribute of Omnipotence, for the atheist who holds mat-

ter or necessity to be the original principle of all that is, does not convert his blind force into a God, by . merely affirming it to be all-powerful. It is not until the two great attributes of Intelligence and Virtue (and be it observed that virtue involves Liberty)-I say, it is not until the two attributes of intelligence and virtue or holiness, are brought in, that the belief in a primary and omnipotent cause becomes the belief . in a veritable Divinity. But these latter attributes are not more essential to the divine nature than are the former. For as original and infinite power does not of itself constitute a God, neither is a God constituted by intelligence and virtue, unless intelligence and goodness be themselves conjoined with this original and infinite power. For even a creator, intelligent and good and powerful, would be no God, were he dependent for his intelligence and goodness and power on any higher principle. On this supposition, the perfections of the creator are viewed as limited and derived. He is himself, therefore, only a dependency,-only a creature; and if a God there be, he must be sought for in that higher principle, from which this subordinate principle derives its attributes. Now is this highest principle, (ex hypothesi all-powerful), also intelligent and moral,-then it is itself alone the veritable Deity; on the other hand is it, though the author of intelligence and goodness in another, itself unintelligent,-then is a blind Fate constituted the first and universal cause, and atheism is asserted.

The peculiar attributes which distinguish a Deity conditions from the original omnipotence or blind fate of the of the exatheist, being thus those of intelligence and holiness God. of will,-and the assertion of theism being only the assertion that the universe is created by intelligence

LECT.

27

and governed not only by physical but by moral laws, LECT. we have next to consider how we are warranted in these two affirmations, 1°, That intelligence stands first in the absolute order of existence,-in other words, that final preceded efficient causes; and, 2°, That the universe is governed by moral laws.

1. Is intelligence first in the order of existence? 2. 1s the universe governed by moral laws?

II.

The proof of these two propositions is the proof of a God ; and it establishes its foundation exclusively on the phænomena of mind. I shall endeavour, Gentlemen, to show you this, in regard to both these propositions ; but, before considering how far the phænomena of mind and of matter do and do not allow us to infer the one position or the other, I must solicit your attention to the characteristic contrasts which these two classes of phænomena in themselves exhibit.

Contrasts of the phænomena of matter and mind.

In the compass of our experience, we distinguish two series of facts,-the facts of the external or material world, and the facts of the internal world or world of intelligence. These concomitant series of phænomena are not like streams which merely run parallel to each other; they do not, like the Alpheus and Arethusa, flow on side by side without a commingling of their waters. They cross, they combine, they are interlaced; but notwithstanding their intimate connection, their mutual action and reaction, we are able to discriminate them without difficulty, because they are marked out by characteristic differences.

The phænomena of the material world are subjected to immutable laws, are produced and reproduced in the same invariable succession, and manifest only the blind force of a mechanical necessity.

The phænomena of man are, in part, subjected to the laws of the external universe. As dependent

upon a bodily organisation, as actuated by sensual propensities and animal wants, he belongs to matter. and in this respect he is the slave of necessity. But what man holds of matter does not make up his personality. They are his, not he; man is not an organism,—he is an intelligence served by organs.^a For in man there are tendencies,-there is a law,-which continually urge him to prove that he is more powerful than the nature by which he is surrounded and penetrated. He is conscious to himself of faculties not comprised in the chain of physical necessity, his intelligence reveals prescriptive principles of action, absolute and universal, in the Law of Duty, and a liberty capable of carrying that law into effect, in opposition to the solicitations, the impulsions of his material nature. From the coexistence of these opposing forces in man there results a ceaseless struggle between physical necessity and moral liberty; in the language of Revelation, between the Flesh and the Spirit; and this struggle constitutes at once the distinctive character of humanity, and the essential condition of human development and virtue.

In the facts of intelligence, we thus become aware of an order of existence diametrically in contrast to that displayed to us in the facts of the material universe. There is made known to us an order of things, in which intelligence, by recognising the unconditional law of duty and an absolute obligation to fulfil it, recognises its own possession of a liberty incompatible with a dependence upon fate, and of a power capable of resisting and conquering the counteraction of our animal nature.

a [" Mens cujusque, is est quis- Scipionis, c. 8-after Plato.] Cf. que; non ea figura, quæ digito de- Plato, Alc. Prim., p. 130, and infra, monstrari potest."-Cicero, Somnium p. 164.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. II.

Consciousdom, and of a law of duty, the conditions

Now, it is only as man is a free intelligence, a moral power, that he is created after the image of God, and Conscious-ness of free- it is only as a spark of divinity glows as the life of our life in us, that we can rationally believe in an Intelligent Creator and Moral Governor of the universe. of Theology. For, let us suppose, that in man intelligence is the product of organisation, that our consciousness of moral liberty is itself only an illusion, in short, that acts of volition are results of the same iron necessity which determines the phænomena of matter ;---on this supposition, I say, the foundations of all religion, natural and revealed, are subverted."

> The truth of this will be best seen by applying the supposition of the two positions of theism previously stated—viz. that the notion of God necessarily supposes, 1°, That in the absolute order of existence intelligence should be first, that is, not itself the product of an unintelligent antecedent; and, 2°. That the universe should be governed not only by physical but by moral laws.

First condition of the proof of a Deity, drawn from Psychology.

tween our experience and the abof existence.

Now, in regard to the former, how can we attempt to prove that the universe is the creation of a free original intelligence, against the counter-position of the atheist, that liberty is an illusion, and intelligence, or the adaptation of means to ends, only the product Analogy be- of a blind fate? As we know nothing of the absolute order of existence in itself, we can only attempt to and the ab-solute order infer its character from that of the particular order within the sphere of our experience, and as we can affirm naught of intelligence and its conditions, except what we may discover from the observation of our own minds, it is evident that we can only analogically carry out into the order of the universe, the relation

a See Discussions, p. 623.-ED.

in which we find intelligence to stand in the order of LECT. II. the human constitution. If in man, intelligence be a free power,-in so far as its liberty extends, intelligence must be independent of necessity and matter; and a power independent of matter necessarily implies the existence of an immaterial subject,-that is, a spirit. If then the original independence of intelligence on matter in the human constitution, in other words, if the spirituality of mind in man be supposed a datum of observation, in this datum is also given both the condition and the proof of a God. For we have only to infer, what analogy entitles us to do, that intelligence holds the same relative supremacy in the universe which it holds in us, and the first positive condition of a Deity is established, in the establishment of the absolute priority of a free creative intelligence. absolute priority of a free creative intelligence. On Psychologi-the other hand, let us suppose the result of our study rialism: its of man to be, that intelligence is only a product of matter, only a reflex of organisation, such a doctrine would not only afford no basis on which to rest any argument for a God, but, on the contrary, would positively warrant the atheist in denying his existence. For if, as the materialist maintains, the only intelligence of which we have any experience be a consequent of matter,-on this hypothesis, he not only cannot assume this order to be reversed in the relations of an intelligence beyond his observation, but, if he argue logically, he must positively conclude, that, as in man, so in the universe, the phænomena of intelligence or design are only in their last analysis the products of a brute necessity. Psychological materialism, if carried out fully and fairly to its conclusions, thus inevitably results in theological atheism; as it has been well expressed by Dr Henry More,

LECT. Nullus in microcosmo spiritus, nullus in macrocosmo II. Deus.^a I do not of course mean to assert that all materialists deny, or actually disbelieve, a God. For, in very many cases, this would be at once an unmerited compliment to their reasoning, and an unmerited reproach to their faith.

Second condition of the proof of a Deity, drawn from Psychology.

Such is the manifest dependence of our theology on our psychology in reference to the first condition of a Deity,—the absolute priority of a free intelligence. But this is perhaps even more conspicuous in relation to the second, that the universe is governed not merely by physical but by moral laws, for God is only God inasmuch as he is the Moral Governor of a Moral World.

Our interest also in its establishment is incomparably greater, for while a proof that the universe is the work of an omnipotent intelligence, gratifies only our speculative curiosity,—a proof that there is a holy legislator by whom goodness and felicity will be ultimately brought into accordance, is necessary to satisfy both our intellect and our heart. A God is, indeed, to us only of practical interest, inasmuch as he is the condition of our immortality.

Now, it is self-evident, in the first place, that if there be no moral world, there can be no moral governor of such a world; and, in the second, that we have, and can have, no ground on which to believe in the reality of a moral world, except in so far as we ourselves are moral agents. This being undeniable, it is further evident, that, should we ever be convinced that we are not moral agents, we should likewise be convinced that there exists no moral order in the universe, and no supreme intelligence by which that moral order is established, sustained, and regulated.

a Cf. Antidotus adversus Atheis- vol. ii. p. 143, Londini, 1679); and the mum, lib. iii. c. 16, (Opera Omnia, Author's Discussions, p. 788.-ED. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Theology is thus again wholly dependent on Psycho- LECT. logy; for, with the proof of the moral nature of man, stands or falls the proof of the existence of a Deity.

But in what does the character of man as a moral Wherein agent consist? Man is a moral agent only as he is agency of man conaccountable for his actions, -in other words, as he is sists. the object of praise or blame; and this he is, only inasmuch as he has prescribed to him a rule of duty, and as he is able to act, or not to act, in conformity with its precepts. The possibility of morality thus depends on the possibility of liberty; for if man be not a free agent, he is not the author of his actions, and has, therefore, no responsibility,-no moral personality at all.

Now the study of Philosophy, or mental science, Philosophy operates in three ways to establish that assurance of three ways, human liberty, which is necessary for a rational belief ing assurin our own moral nature, in a moral world, and in a human liberty. moral ruler of that world.

In the first place, an attentive consideration of the phænomena of mind is requisite in order to a luminous and distinct apprehension of liberty as a fact or datum of intelligence. For though, without philosophy, a natural conviction of free agency lives and works in the recesses of every human mind, it requires a process of philosophical thought to bring this conviction to clear consciousness and scientific certainty.

In the second place, a profound philosophy is necessary to obviate the difficulties which meet us when we attempt to explain the possibility of this fact, and to prove that the datum of liberty is not a mere illusion. For though an unconquerable feeling compels us to recognise ourselves as accountable, and therefore free, agents, still, when we attempt to

VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® operates in ance of

33

LECT. realise in thought how the fact of our liberty can be, we soon find that this altogether transcends our understanding, and that every effort to bring the fact of liberty within the compass of our conceptions, only results in the substitution in its place of some more or less disguised form of necessity. For,---if I may be allowed to use expressions which many of you cannot be supposed at present to understand,-we are only able to conceive a thing, inasmuch as we conceive it under conditions; while the possibility of a free act supposes it to be an act which is not conditioned or determined. The tendency of a superficial philosophy is, therefore, to deny the fact of liberty, on the principle that what cannot be conceived is impossible. A deeper and more comprehensive study of the facts of mind, overturns this conclusion, and disproves its foundation. It shows that, ---so far from the principle being true, that what is inconceivable is impossible,-on the contrary, all that is conceivable is a mean between two contradictory extremes, both of which are inconceivable, but of which, as mutually repugnant, the one or the other must be true. Thus philosophy, in demonstrating that the limits of thought are not to be assumed as the limits of possibility, while it admits the weakness of our discursive intellect, re-establishes the authority of consciousness, and vindicates the veracity of our primitive convictions. It proves to us, from the very laws of mind, that while we can never understand how any original datum of intelligence is possible, we have no reason from this inability to doubt that it is true. A learned ignorance is thus the end of philosophy, as it is the beginning of theology."

a See Discussions, p. 634.-ED.

An exclusive devotion to physical pursuits, exerts Twofold an evil influence in two ways. In the first place, it exclusive diverts from all notice of the phænomena of moral study. liberty, which are revealed to us in the recesses of the human mind alone; and it disqualifies from appreciating the import of these phænomena, even if presented, by leaving uncultivated the finer power of psychological reflection, in the exclusive exercise of the faculties employed in the easier and more amusing observation of the external world. In the second place, by exhibiting merely the phænomena of matter and extension, it habituates us only to the contemplation of an order in which everything is determined by the laws of a blind or mechanical necessity. Now, what is the inevitable tendency of this one-sided and exclusive study? That the student becomes a materialist, if he speculate at all. For, in the first place, he is familiar with the obtrusive facts of necessity, and is unaccustomed to develop into consciousness the more recondite facts of liberty : he is, therefore, disposed to disbelieve in the existence of phænomena whose reality he may deny, and whose possibility he cannot under-At the same time, the love of unity, and the stand. philosophical presumption against the multiplication of essences, determine him to reject the assumption of a second, and that an hypothetical, substance,-ignorant as he is of the reasons by which that assumption

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. II.

Physical study in its infancy not materialising. is legitimated. In the infancy of science, this tendency of physical study was not experienced. When men first turned their attention on the phænomena of nature, every event was viewed as a miracle, for every effect was considered as the operation of an intelligence. God was not exiled from the universe of matter; on the contrary, he was multiplied in proportion to its phænomena. As science advanced, the deities were gradually driven out; and long after the sublunary world had been disenchanted, they were left for a season in possession of the starry heavens. The movement of the celestial bodies, in which Kepler still saw the agency of a free intelligence, was at length by Newton resolved into a few mechanical principles : and at last even the irregularities which Newton was compelled to leave for the miraculous correction of the Deity, have been proved to require no supernatural interposition; for La Place has shown that all contingencies, past and future, in the heavens, find their explanation in the one fundamental law of gravitation.

But the very contemplation of an order and adaptation so astonishing, joined to the knowledge that this order and adaptation are the necessary results of a brute mechanism,—when acting upon minds which have not looked into themselves for the light of which the world without can only afford them the reflection,—far from elevating them more than any other aspect of external creation to that inscrutable Being who reigns beyond and above the universe of nature, tends, on the contrary, to impress on them, with peculiar force, the conviction, that as the mechanism of nature can explain so much, the mechanism of nature can explain all.

"Wonder," says Aristotle, "is the first cause of LECT. philosophy:"^a but in the discovery that all existence is but mechanism, the consummation of science would ^{If all exist-but mechanism, the consummation of science would ^{ence be but}} be an extinction of the very interest from which it mechanism, originally sprang. "Even the gorgeous majesty of extinguishthe heavens," says a great religious philosopher, " the object of a kneeling adoration to an infant world, subdues no more the mind of him who comprehends the one mechanical law by which the planetary systems move, maintain their motion, and even originally form themselves. He no longer wonders at the object, infinite as it always is, but at the human intellect alone which in a Copernicus, Kepler, Gassendi, Newton, and La Place, was able to transcend the object, by science to terminate the miracle, to reave the heaven of its divinities, and to exorcise the universe. But even this, the only admiration of which our intelligent faculties are now capable, would vanish, were a future Hartley, Darwin, Condillac, or Bonnet, to succeed in displaying to us a mechanical system of the human mind as comprehensive, intelligible, and satisfactory as the Newtonian mechanism of the heavens." β

To this testimony I may add that, should Physiology ever succeed in reducing the facts of intelligence to Phænomena of matter, Philosophy would be subverted in the subversion of its three great objects, -God, Free-Will, and Immortality. True wisdom would then consist, not in speculation, but in repressing thought during our brief transit from nothingness to nothingness. For why? Philosophy would have become a meditation, not merely of death, but of an-

B Jacobi, Werke, vol. ii. p. 52-54. a Metaph., i. 2, 9. Compare Plato. Quoted in Discussions, p. 312 .- ED. Theatetus, p. 155.-ED.

ed.

LECT. nihilation; the precept, *Know thyself*, would have been ______ replaced by the terrific oracle to Œdipus—

"May'st thou ne'er know the truth of what thou art ;"

and the final recompense of our scientific curiosity would be wailing, deeper than Cassandra's, for the ignorance that saved us from despair.

Coineidence of the views here given with those of previous philosophers.

The views which I have now taken of the respective influence of the sciences of mind and of matter in relation to our religious belief, are those which have been deliberately adopted by the profoundest thinkers. ancient and modern. Were I to quote to you the testimonies that crowd on my recollection to the effect that ignorance of Self is ignorance of God, I should make no end, for this is a truth proclaimed by Jew and Gentile, Christian and Mahommedan." T shall content myself with adducing three passages from three philosophers, which I select, both as articulately confirming all that I have now advanced, and because there are not, in the whole history of speculation, three authorities on the point in question more entitled to respect.

Plato.

The first quotation is from Plato, and it corroborates the doctrine I have maintained in regard to the conditions of a God, and of our knowledge of his existence. "The cause," he says, "of all impiety and irreligion among men is, that reversing in themselves the relative subordination of mind and body, they have, in like manner, in the universe, made that to be first which is second, and that to be second which is first; for while, in the generation of all things, intelligence and final causes precede matter and efficient causes, they, on the contrary, have viewed matter and

 α On Self-Knowledge, as the condition of knowing God, see *Discus*there cited.—ED.

material things as absolutely prior, in the order of LECT. existence, to intelligence and design; and thus departing from an original error in relation to themselves, they have ended in the subversion of the Godhead."^a

The second quotation is from Kant; it finely illus- Kant. trates the influences of material and mental studies by contrasting them in reference to the very noblest object of either, and the passage is worthy of your attention, not only for the soundness of its doctrine, but for the natural and unsought-for sublimity of its expression. "Two things there are, which, the oftener and the more steadfastly we consider them, fill the mind with an ever new, an ever rising admiration and reverence ;--the STARRY HEAVEN above, the MORAL LAW within. Of neither am I compelled to seek out the reality, as veiled in darkness, or only to conjecture the possibility, as beyond the hemisphere of my knowledge. Both I contemplate lying clear before me, and connect both immediately with my consciousness of existence. The one departs from the place I occupy in the outer world of sense; expands, beyond the bounds of imagination, this connection of my body with worlds rising beyond worlds, and systems blending into systems; and protends it also into the illimitable times of their periodic movement - to its commencement and perpetuity. The other departs from my invisible self, from my personality; and represents me in a world, truly infinite indeed, but whose infinity can be tracked out only by the intellect, with which also my connection, unlike the fortuitous relation I stand in to all worlds of sense, I am compelled to recognise as universal and neces-

a De Legibus, lib. x. pp. 888, 889. sect. iv. (p. 435 et seq. of vol. iii. Lond. Quoted in Discussions, p. 312. Compare Cudworth, Intell. System, c. v. rality, book iv. c. vi. § 6, seq. -ED.

LECT.

sary. In the former, the first view of a countless multitude of worlds annihilates, as it were, my importance as an animal product, which, after a brief and that incomprehensible endowment with the powers of life, is compelled to refund its constituent matter to the planet-itself an atom in the universe-on which it grew. The other, on the contrary, elevates my worth as an *intelligence* even without limit; and this through my personality, in which the moral law reveals a faculty of life independent of my animal nature, nay, of the whole material world :---at least if it be permitted to infer as much from the regulation of my being, which a conformity with that law exacts; proposing, as it does, my moral worth for the absolute end of my activity, conceding no compromise of its imperative to a necessitation of nature, and spurning, in its infinity, the conditions and boundaries of my present transitory life." "

Jacobi.

The third quotation is from the pious and profound Jacobi, and it states the truth boldly and without disguise in regard to the relation of Physics and Metaphysics to Religion. "But is it unreasonable to confess, that we believe in God, not by reason of the nature $^{\beta}$ which conceals him, but by reason of the supernatural in man, which alone reveals and proves him to exist?

"Nature conceals God: for through her whole domain Nature reveals only fate, only an indissoluble chain of mere efficient causes without beginning and without end, excluding, with equal necessity, both

of Greek or Latin derivation, are, in general, expressive of the world of Matter, in contrast to the world of Intelligence.]—*Oral Interpolation*, supplied from *Reid's Works*, p. 216.—ED.

a Kritik der praktischen Vernunft, Beschluss. Quoted in Discussions, p. 310.-ED.

 $[\]beta$ [In the philosophy of Germany, Natur, and its correlatives, whether

providence and chance. An independent agency, a LECT. free original commencement within her sphere and proceeding from her powers, is absolutely impossible. Working without will, she takes counsel neither of the good nor of the beautiful; creating nothing, she casts up from her dark abyss only eternal transformations of herself, unconsciously and without an end; furthering with the same ceaseless industry decline and increase, death and life,-never producing what alone is of God and what supposes liberty,-the virtuous, the immortal.

"Man reveals God: for Man by his intelligence rises above nature, and in virtue of this intelligence is conscious of himself as a power not only independent of, but opposed to, nature, and capable of resisting, conquering, and controlling her. As man has a living faith in this power, superior to nature, which dwells in him; so has he a belief in God, a feeling, an experience of his existence. As he does not believe in this power, so does he not believe in God; he sees, he experiences naught in existence but nature,-necessity.-fate." a

Such is the comparative importance of the sciences These uses of mind and of matter in relation to the interests of logy not religion. But it may be said, how great soever be the by the value of philosophy in this respect, were man left Christian revelation. to rise to the divinity by the unaided exercise of his faculties, this value is superseded under the Christian dispensation, the Gospel now assuring us of all and more than all philosophy could ever warrant us in surmising. It is true, indeed, that in Revelation there is contained a great complement of truths of which natural reason could afford us no knowledge or assur-

a Von den Göttlichen Dingen. Werke, iii. p. 424-6.-ED.

LECT.

ance, but still the importance of mental science to theology has not become superfluous in Christianity; for whereas anterior to Revelation, religion rises out of psychology as a result, subsequently to revelation, it supposes a genuine philosophy of mind as the condition of its truth. This is at once manifest. Revelation is a revelation to man and concerning man; and man is only the object of revelation, inasmuch as he is a moral, a free, a responsible being. The Scriptures are replete with testimonies to our natural liberty; and it is the doctrine of every Christian church that man was originally created with a will capable equally of good as of evil, though this will, subsequently to the Fall, has lost much of its primitive liberty. Christianity thus, by universal confession, supposes as a condition the moral nature of its object; and if some individual theologians be found who have denied to man a higher liberty than a machine, this is only another example of the truth, that there is no opinion which has been unable to find not only its champions but its martyrs. The differences which divide the Christian churches on this question, regard only the liberty of man in certain particular relations, for fatalism, or a negation of human responsibility in general, is equally hostile to the tenets of the Calvinist and Arminian.

In these circumstances it is evident, that he who disbelieves the moral agency of man must, in consistency with that opinion, disbelieve Christianity. And therefore inasmuch as Philosophy,—the Philosophy of Mind,—scientifically establishes the proof of human liberty, philosophy, in this, as in many other relations not now to be considered, is the true preparative and best aid of an enlightened Christian Theology.

LECTURE III.

THE NATURE AND COMPREHENSION OF PHILOSOPHY.

I HAVE been in the custom of delivering sometimes together, more frequently in alternate years, two systematic courses of lectures,-the one on PSYCHOLOGY, that is, the science which is conversant about the phænomena of mind in general,-the other on Logic, that is, the science of the laws regulating the manifestation and legitimacy of the highest faculty of Cognition, -Thought, strictly so denominated-the faculty of Relations,-the Understanding proper. As first, or initiative, courses of philosophy,-each has its peculiar advantages; and I know not, in truth, which I should recommend a student to commence with. What, however, I find it expedient to premise to each is an Introduction, in which the nature and general relations of philosophy are explained, and a summary view taken of the faculties, (particularly the Cognitive faculties), of mind.

In the ensuing course, we shall be occupied with the General Philosophy of Mind.

You are, then, about to commence a course of phil- what Phiosophical discipline,—for Psychology is pre-eminently a philosophical science. It is therefore proper, before proceeding to a consideration of the special objects of our course, that you should obtain at least a general notion of what philosophy is. But in affording you this

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

43

LECT.

LECT.

information, it is evident that there lie considerable difficulties in the way. For the definition and the divisions of philosophy are the results of a lofty generalisation from particulars, of which particulars you are, or must be presumed to be, still ignorant. You cannot, therefore, it is manifest, be made adequately to comprehend, in the commencement of your philosophical studies, notions which these studies themselves are intended to enable you to understand. But although you cannot at once obtain a full knowledge of the nature of philosophy, it is desirable that you should be enabled to form at least some vague conception of the road you are about to travel, and of the point to which it will conduct you. I must, therefore, beg that you will, for the present, hypothetically believe, --- believe upon authority, --- what you may not now adequately understand; but this only to the end that you may not hereafter be under the necessity of taking any conclusion upon trust. Nor is this temporary exaction of credit peculiar to philosophical education. In the order of nature, belief always precedes knowledge,---it is the condition of instruction. The child (as observed by Aristotle) must believe, in order that he may learn;^a and even the primary facts of intelligence,-the facts which precede, as they afford the conditions of, all knowledge,-would not be original were they revealed to us under any other form than that of natural or necessary beliefs. Without further preamble, therefore, I shall now endeavour to afford you some general notion of what philosophy is.^{β}

In doing this, there are two questions to be an-

a Soph. Elench., c. 2.—ED. β On comprehension of Philosophy der Philosophie, &c., vol. i. § 6, p. 7, seq.

swered :—1st, What is the meaning of the name? LECT. and, 2d, What is the meaning of the thing? An answer to the former question is afforded in a nominal $\frac{1}{1}$ Two quesdefinition of the term *philosophy*, and in a history of $\frac{1}{1}$ sophy. its employment and application.

In regard to the etymological signification of the Philosophy -the name. word, you are of course aware that Philosophy is a term of Greek origin—that it is a compound of $\phi i \lambda o_s$, a lover or friend, and $\sigma o \phi ia$, wisdom-speculative wisdom. Philosophy is thus, literally, a love of wisdom. But if the grammatical meaning of the word be unambiguous, the history of its application is, I think, involved in considerable doubt. According to commonly the commonly received account, the designation of Pythagoras. philosopher (lover or suitor of wisdom) was first assumed and applied by Pythagoras; whilst of the occasion and circumstances of its assumption, we have a story by Cicero,^{β} on the authority of Heraclides Ponticus;^{γ} and by Diogenes Laertius, in one place,^{δ} on the authority of Heraclides, and in another,[¢] on that of Sosicrates,-although it be doubtful whether the word Sosicrates be not in the second passage a corrupted lection for Heraclides;⁵ in which case the

 ξετι βουλεύσασθαι. From the long commentary of Eustratius, the following extract will be sufficient : 'Αλλά τό τέλος τοῦ σοφοῦ, ἡ θεωρία τῆς ἀληθείας ἐστὶ, καὶ ἡ τοῦ ὅντος κατάληψις· οὐχὶ δέ τι πρακτὸν ἀγαθόν. Πρακτὸν γἀρ ἐστὶν ἀγαθόν τὸ διὰ πράξεως ἐατόρθού. μενον, θεωρία δὲ πράξεως ἐτέρα.—ΕD.

B Tusc. Quast., lib. v. c. 3.

 γ Heraclides Ponticus — scholar both of Plato and of Aristotle.

δ Lib. i. 12.

ζ See Menage, Commentary on Laertius, viii. 8.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

45

e Lib. viii. 8.

LECT. 111.

The interview of Pythagoras and Leon. whole probability of the story will depend upon the trustworthiness of Heraelides alone, for the comparatively recent testimony of Iamblichus, in his Life of Pythagoras, must go for nothing. As told by Cicero, it is as follows :- Pythagoras, once upon a time (says the Roman orator), having come to Phlius, a city of Peloponnesus, displayed in a conversation which he had with Leon, who then governed that city, a range of knowledge so extensive, that the prince, admiring his eloquence and ability, inquired to what art he had principally devoted himself. Pythagoras answered, that he professed no art, and was simply a philosopher. Leon, struck by the novelty of the name, again inquired who were the philosophers, and in what they differed from other men. Pythagoras replied, that human life seemed to resemble the great fair, held on occasion of those solemn games which all Greece met to celebrate. For some, exercised in athletic contests, resorted thither in quest of glory and the crown of victory; while a greater number flocked to them in order to buy and sell, attracted by the love of gain. There were a few, however,-and they were those distinguished by their liberality and intelligence,-who came from no motive of glory or of gain, but simply to look about them, and to take note of what was done, and in what manner. So likewise, continued Pythagoras, we men all make our entrance into this life on our departure from another. Some are here occupied in the pursuit of honours, others in the search of riches; a few there are who, indifferent to all else, devote themselves to an inquiry into the nature of These, then, are they whom I call students things. of wisdom, for such is meant by philosopher.

Pythagoras was a native of Samos, and flourished

about 560 years before the advent of Christ,"-about 130 years before the birth of Plato. Heraclides and Sosicrates, the two vouchers of this story,---if Sosicrates doubtful be indeed a voucher,-lived long subsequently to the authority. age of Pythagoras; and the former is, moreover, confessed to have been an egregious fabulist. From the principal eircumstances of his life, mentioned by Laertius after older authors, and from the fragments we possess of the works of Heraclides,---in short, from all opinions, ancient and modern, we learn that he was at once credulous and deceitful,-a dupe and an impostor.^{β} The anecdote, therefore, rests on very slender authority. It is probable, I think, that Socrates Socrates was the first who adopted, or, at least, the first who the first to familiarised, the expression.^{γ} It was natural that the term. he should be anxious to contradistinguish himself from the Sophists, (oi σοφοί, oi σοφισταί, sophistæ), literally, the wise men; δ and no term could more appropriately ridicule the arrogance of these pretenders, or afford a happier contrast to their haughty designation, than that of philosopher (i.e. the lover of wisdom); and, at the same time, it is certain that the substantives bilogodía and bilógodos, first ap-

a The exact dates of the birth and death of Pythagoras are uncertain. Nearly all authorities, however, are agreed that he "flourished" B.C. 540-510, in the times of Polycrates and Tarquinius Superbus (Clinton, F. H., 510). His birth is usually placed in the 49th Olympiad (B.C. 584). See Brandis, Gesch. der Phil., vol. i. p. 422; Zeller, Phil. der Griechen., vol. i. p. 217, 2d ed.-ED.

β Compare Meiners, Geschichte der Wissenschaften in Griechenland und Rom, vol. i. p. 118; and Krug, Lexikon, vol. iii. p. 211.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

γ There is, however, the inτρds φιλόσοφοs iσόθεοs of Hippoerates. But this occurs in one of the Hippocratic writings which is manifestly spurious, and of date subsequent to the father of medicine. Hippocrates was an early contemporary of Socrates. [The expression occurs in the Hepl Eugyμοσύνης, Opera-Quarta Classis, p. 41, ed. Venice, 1588.-ED.]

δ Perhaps rather, "the Professors of Wisdom." See an able paper by Mr Cope in the Journal of Classical and Sacred Philology, vol. i. p. 182. -ED.

Rests on

III. Φιλοσοφείν found in Herodotus.

LECT.

pear in the writings of the Socratic school.^a It is true, indeed, that the verb $\phi_{i\lambda}$ or $\phi_{\epsilon i\nu}$ is found in Herodotus, in the address by Crœsus to Solon; $^{\beta}$ and that too in a participal form, to designate the latter as a man who had travelled abroad for the purpose of acquiring knowledge, ($\omega_s \phi_i \lambda_0 \sigma_0 \phi_{\epsilon \omega \nu} \gamma_{\eta \nu} \pi_0 \lambda_{\eta \nu} \theta_{\epsilon \omega}$ ρίης είνεκεν έπελήλυθας). It is, therefore, not impossible that, before the time of Socrates, those who devoted themselves to the pursuit of the higher branches of knowledge, were occasionally designated philosophers: but it is far more probable that Socrates and his school first appropriated the term as a distinctive appellation; and that the word philosophy, in consequence of this appropriation, came to be employed for the complement of all higher knowledge, and, more especially, to denote the science conversant about the principles or causes of existence. The term philosophy, I may notice, which was originally assumed in modesty, soon lost its Socratic and etymological signification, and returned to the meaning of $\sigma o \phi i a$, or wisdom. Quintillian^{γ} calls it nomen insolentissimum; Seneca,⁸ nomen invidiosum; Epictetus^e counsels his scholars not to call themselves "Philosophers;" and proud is one of the most ordinary epithets with which philosophy is now associated. Thus Campbell, in his Address to the Rainbow, says :

> "I ask not proud philosophy To tell me what thou art."

Philosophy -the thing tions.

So much for the name signifying; we proceed now -the thing -its defini- to the thing signified. Were I to detail to you the

> a See especially Plato, Phædrus, p. 278: Τδ μέν σοφόν, δ Φαίδρε, καλείν έμοιγε μέγα είναι δοκεί και θεώ μόνω πρέπειν. το δέ ή φιλόσοφον ή τοιοῦτόν τι μαλλόν τε αν αυτφ άρμόττοι και έμμελεστέρως έχοι. Compare also the description of the philosopher in the Schweigh. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Symposium, p. 204, as μεταξύ σοφοῦ καὶ ἀμαθοῦς.—ED.

ß Lib. i. 30.

y Inst. Orat., Procem.

δ Epist., v.

e Ench., c. 68, ed. Wolf; 46, ed.
various definitions^a of philosophy which philosophers have promulgated—far more, were I to explain the grounds on which the author of each maintains the exclusive adequacy of his peculiar definition-I should, in the present stage of your progress, only perplex and confuse you. Philosophy, for example,-and I select only a few specimens of the more illustrious definitions,—philosophy has been defined :—The science of things divine and human, and of the causes in which they are contained ;^{β}—The science of effects by their causes; γ —The science of sufficient reasons; δ — The science of things possible, inasmuch as they are possible; --- The science of things, evidently deduced from first principles;⁵—The science of truths, sensible and abstract;"-The application of reason to its legitimate objects; $^{\theta}$ —The science of the relations of all knowledge to the necessary ends of human reason;'---

a Vide Gassendi, i. p. 1, seq.; Denzinger, Instit. Log., i. p. 40; Scheidler's Encyclop., pp. 56, 75; Weiss, Log., p. S; Scheiblerus, Op. Log., i. p. 1, seq.

β Cicero, De Officiis, ii. 2: "Nec quidquam aliud est philosophia, si interpretari velis, quam studium sapientiæ. Sapientia autem est, (ut a veteribus philosophis definitum est), rerum divinarum et humanarum, causarumque quibus hæ res continentur, scientia." Cf. Tusc. Quæst., iv. 26, v. 3. De Fin., ii. 12; Seneca, Epist. 89; Pseudo-Plutarch, De Plac. Philos., Proæm.: Ol μèν οὐν Στωϊκοί ἕφασαν τὴν μèν σοφίαν είναι θείων τε καὶ ἀνθρωπίνων ἐπιστήμην· τὴν δὲ ψιλοσοφίαν, ἄσκησιν τέχνης ἐπιστβείου. Cf. Plato, Phædrus, p. 259; Rep., vi. p. 486.—Ep.

 γ Hobbes, Computatio sive Logica, c. 1: "Philosophia est effectuum sive Phænomenøn ex conceptis eorum causis seu generationibus, et rursus generationum quæ esse possunt, ex cognitis effectibus per rectam ratio-

cinationem acquisita cognitio." Cf. Arist. Metaph., i. 1: Τὴν ὀνομαζομένην σοφίαν περί τὰ πρῶτα αἴτια καὶ τὰs ἀρχὰs ὑπολαμβάνουσι πάντες.—ΕD.

δ Leibnitz, quoted by Mazure, Cours de Philosophie, tom. i. p. 2; see also Wenzel, Elementa Philosophiæ, tom. i. § 7. Cf. Leibnitz, Lettres entre Leibnitz et Clarke,— Opera, p. 778, (ed. Erd.)—ED.

e Wolf, Philosophia Rationalis, § 29.-ED.

ζDescartes, Principia, Epistola Authoris. Cf. Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 33.-ED.

η Condillac, L'Art de Raisonner, Cours, tom. iii. p. 3, (ed. 1780). Cf. Clemens Alex., Strom., viii. 8, p. 782: 'Η δὲ τῶν φιλοσόφων πραγματεία περί τε τὰ νοήματα και τὰ ὑποκείμενα καταγίνεται.—ED.

 θ Compare Tennemann, Geschichte der Philosophie, Einleitung, § 13.-ED.

. Kant, Kritik der reinen Vernunft, Methodenlehre, c. 3; Krug, Philosophisches Lexikon, iii. p. 213.-ED.

VOL. I.

^{1.} Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. III.

The science of the original form of the ego or mental self;^{*a*}—The science of science;^{*β*}—The science of the absolute; γ —The science of the absolute indifference of the ideal and real δ —or, The identity of identity and non-identity, &c. &c. All such definitions are (if not positively erroneous), either so vague that they afford no precise knowledge of their object; or they are so partial, that they exclude what they ought to comprehend; or they are of such a nature that they supply no preliminary information, and are only to be understood, (if ever), after a knowledge has been acquired of that which they profess to explain. It is, indeed, perhaps impossible, adequately to define philosophy. For what is to be defined comprises what cannot be included in a single definition. For philosophy is not regarded from a single point of view,it is sometimes considered as theoretical,---that is, in relation to man as a thinking and cognitive intelligence; sometimes as practical,-that is, in relation to man as a moral agent; and sometimes, as comprehending both theory and practice. Again, philosophy may either be regarded objectively,-that is, as a complement of truths known; or subjectively,-that is, as a habit or quality of the mind knowing. In these circumstances, I shall not attempt a definition of philosophy, but shall endeavour to accomplish the end which every definition proposes,-make you understand, as precisely as the unprecise nature of the object-matter

a Krug, Philosophisches Lexikon, iii. p. 213. The definition is substantially Fichte's. See his Grundlage der Gesammten Wissenchaftslehre (Werke, i. p. 283); and his Zweite Einleitung in die Wissenschaftslehre (Werke, i. p. 515.)—ED.

β Fichte, Über den Begriff der Wissenschaftslehre, §1 (Werke, i. 45).--ED. γ Schelling, Vom Ich als Princip der Philosophie, §§ 6, 9; Krug, Lexikon, iii. p. 213.—ED.

δ Schelling, Bruno, p. 205 (2d ed.) Cf. Philosophie der Natur, Einleitung, p. 64, and Zusatz sur Einleitung, p. 65-88 (2d ed.)—ED.

e Hegel, Logik (Werke, iii. p. 64). --ED.

permits, what is meant by philosophy, and what are the sciences it properly comprehends within its sphere.

As a matter of history I may here, however, paren-Definitions thetically mention, that in Greek antiquity there were antiquity. in all six definitions of philosophy which obtained celebrity. On these collectively there are extant various treatises. Among the commentators of Aristotle, that of Ammonius Hermiæ^a is the oldest; and the fullest is one by an anonymous author, lately published by Dr Cramer in the fourth volume of his Anecdota Græca Parisiensia.^{β} Of the six, the first and second define philosophy from its object-matter,-that which it is about ; the third and fourth, from its end,-that for the sake of which it is; the fifth, from its relative pre-eminence; and the sixth, from its etymology.

The first of these definitions of philosophy is,-"the knowledge of things existent, as existent," (yváois τών όντων ή όντα).

The second is-"the knowledge of things divine and human," (γνώσις θείων και άνθρωπίνων πραγμά- $\tau \omega \nu$).^{δ} These are both from the object-matter; and both were referred to Pythagoras.

The third and fourth, the two definitions of philosophy from its end, are, again, both taken from Plato. Of these the third is,—" philosophy is a meditation of death," ($\mu\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\tau\eta$ $\thetaa\nu\alpha\tau\sigma\upsilon$); the fourth,—" philosophy

a Ammonii in quinque voces Porphyrii Commentarius, p. 1 (ed. Ald.) Given in part by Brandis, Scholia in Aristotelem, p. 9.-ED.

β P. 389. Extracted also in part by Brandis, Scholia in Aristotelem, p. 6. This commentary is conjectured by Val. Rose (De Aristotelis Librorum Ordine et Auctoritate, p. 243) to be the work of Olympiodorus. The definitions quoted in the text are given by Tzetzes, Chiliads, x. 600.-ED.

γ Cf. Arist. Metaph., iii. 1.-ED.

δ See ante, p. 49, note β.-ED.

ε Phædo, p. 80 : Τοῦτο δὲ οὐδὲν ἄλλο έστιν ή όρθως φιλοσοφοίσα και τῷ ύντι τεθνάναι μελετώσα βαδίως ή οὐ τοῦτ' ἁν είη μελέτη θανάτου; Cf. Cicero, Tusc. Quast., i. 30, with the relative commentary by Davis; Macrobius, In Som. Scipionis, i. 13; Damascenus, Dialectica, c. 3.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

in Greek

is a resembling of the Deity in so far as that is LECT. competent to man," (δμοίωσις θεώ κατά το δυνατον $\dot{a}\nu\theta\rho\dot{\omega}\pi\omega$).^a

> The fifth, that from its pre-eminence, was borrowed from Aristotle, and defined philosophy "the art of arts, and science of sciences," (τέχνη τεχνών και ἐπιστήμη ἐπιστημών).β

> Finally, the sixth, that from the etymology, was. like the first and second, carried up to Pythagorasit defined philosophy "the love of wisdom," (φιλία $\sigma o \phi (as).^{\gamma}$

> To these a seventh and even an eighth were sometimes added,—but the seventh was that by the physicians, who defined medicine the philosophy of bodies. (ἰατρική ἐστι φιλοσοφία σωμάτων); and philosophy, the medicine of souls, $(\phi \iota \lambda \sigma \sigma \phi i a \epsilon \sigma \tau i \nu i a \tau \rho \iota \kappa \eta \psi \nu \chi \hat{\omega} \nu)$. This was derided by the philosophers; as, to speak with Homer, being an exchange of brass for gold, and of gold for brass, $(\chi \rho \dot{\nu} \sigma \epsilon a \chi a \lambda \kappa \epsilon i \omega \nu)$; and as defining the more known by the less known.

> The eighth is from an expression of Plato, who, in the Theætetus, calls philosophy "the greatest music," (μεγίστη μουσική), meaning thereby the harmony of

a Theætetus, p. 176: Διδ καλ πειρασθαι χρη ένθένδε έκεισε φεύγειν ότι τάχιστα· φυγή δε δμοίωσις θεφ κατά τδ δυνατόν.-ΕD.

B The anonymous commentator quotes this as a passage from the Metaphysics. It does not occur literally, but the sense is substantially that expressed in Book i. c. 2: 'Aκριβέσταται δέ των έπιστημών αι μάλιστα των πρώτων είσίν . . . 'Αλλά μήν και διδασκαλική γε ή των αλτιών θεωρητική μάλλον... ούτε της τοιαύτης άλλην χρη νομίζειν τιμιωτέραν ή γαρ θειοτάτη καλ τιμιωτάτη. Cf. Eth. Nic., vi. 7: Δηλον ότι ή ακριβεστάτη αν των επιστημών $\epsilon i\eta \dot{\eta} \sigma o\phi ia$. The nearest approach to a definition of Philosophy in the Metaphysics is in A minor, c. 1: 'Oρθώs δ' έχει και το καλείσθαι την φιλοσοφίαν έπιστήμην της άληθείας.- ED.

γ See ante, p. 45.-ED.

δ Anon. apud Cramer, Anecdota, iv.

p. 398; Brandis, Scholia, p. 7.-ED. So quoted by the commentator; but the passage occurs in the Phædo, p. 61: Kal έμοι ούτω το ένύπνιον δπερ έπραττον, τοῦτο ἐπικελεύειν, μουσικήν ποιείν, ώς φιλοσοφίας μενούσης μεγίστης μουσικήs.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

52

III.

the rational, irascible, and appetent, parts of the soul, (λόγος, θυμός, ἐπιθυμία).

But to return : All philosophy is knowledge, but all Philosophiknowledge is not philosophy. Philosophy is, therefore, prical knowledge. a kind of knowledge. What, then, is philosophical knowledge, and how is it discriminated from knowledge in general? We are endowed by our Creator with certain faculties of observation, which enable us to become aware of certain appearances or phænomena. These faculties may be stated as two,-Sense, or External Perception, and Self-Consciousness, or Internal Perception; and these faculties severally afford us the knowledge of a different series of phænomena. Through our senses, we apprehend what exists, or what occurs, in the external or material world; by our self-consciousness,^a we apprehend what is, or what occurs, in the internal world, or world of thought. What is the extent, and what the certainty, of the knowledge acquired through sense and self-consciousness, we do not at present consider. It is now sufficient that the simple fact be admitted, that we do actually thus know; and that fact is so manifest, that it requires, I presume, at my hands, neither proof nor illustration.

The information which we thus receive, - that cer- Empirical tain phænomena are, or have been, is called Historical, _what, or Empirical knowledge.^{β} It is called historical, because, in this knowledge, we know only the fact, only that the phænomenon is; for history is properly only the narration of a consecutive series of phænomena in time, or the description of a coexistent series of phænomena

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

cal and em-

Brandis, Geschichte der Philosoa On the place and sphere of Consciousness, see Discussions, p. 47 .- phie, vol. i. p. 2. [Cf. Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 3.-ED.] ED.

in space. Civil history is an example of the one;

LECT. III.

of the term empirical.

natural history of the other. It is called empirical or experiential, if we might use that term, because it is given us by experience or observation, and not obtained By-meaning as the result of inference or reasoning. I may notice, by parenthesis, that you must discharge from your minds the by-meaning accidentally associated with the word empiric or empirical, in common English. This term is with us more familiarly used in reference to medicine, and from its fortuitous employment in that science, in a certain sense, the word empirical has unfortunately acquired, in our language, a one-sided and an unfavourable meaning. Of the origin of this meaning many of you may not be aware. You are aware, however, that $\epsilon_{\mu\pi\epsilon\nu\rhoia}$ is the Greek term for experience, and $\epsilon_{\mu\pi\epsilon\iota\rho\iota\kappa\dot{o}s}$ an epithet applied to one who uses experience. Now, among the Greek physicians, there arose a sect who, professing to employ experience alone to the exclusion of generalisation, analogy, and reasoning, denominated themselves distinctively of $\dot{\epsilon}\mu\pi\epsilon_{i}\rho_{i}\kappa_{i}\kappa_{i}$ the Empirics. The opposite extreme was adopted by another sect, who, rejecting observation, founded their doctrine exclusively on reasoning and theory ;---and these called themselves οι μεθοδικοί--or Methodists. A third school, of whom Galen was the head, opposed equally to the two extreme sects of the Empirics and of the Methodists, and, availing themselves both of experience and reasoning, were styled οί δογματικοί --- the Dogmatists, or rational physicians." A keen controversy arose; the Empirics

> a See Galen, De Sectis, c. i., and the Definitiones Medicæ and Introductio seu Medicus, ascribed to the same author; Celsus, De Re Medica, Præf.;

Dan. Le Clerc, Histoire de la Médecine, part ii., liv. ii., ch. 1-liv. iv., ch. 1.-ED.

were defeated; they gradually died out; and their doctrine, of which nothing is known to us, except through the writings of their adversaries," has probably been painted in blacker colours than it deserved. Re this, however, as it may, the word was first naturalised in English, at a time when the Galenic works were of paramount authority in medicine, as a term of medical import-of medical reproach; and the collateral meaning, which it had accidentally obtained in that science, was associated with an unfavourable signification, so that an Empiric, in common English, has been long a synonym for a charlatan or quack-doctor, and, by a very natural extension, in general, for any ignorant pretender in science. In philosophical language, the term empirical means simply what belongs to or is the product of, experience or observation, and, in contrast to another term afterwards to be explained, is now technically in general use through every other country of Europe. Were there any other word to be found of a corresponding signification in English, it would perhaps, in consequence of the by-meaning attached to empirical, be expedient not to employ this latter. But there is not. Experiential is not in common use, and experimental only designates a certain kind of experience-viz. that in which the fact observed has been brought about by a certain intentional pre-arrangement of its coefficients. But this by the way.

Returning, then, from our digression: Historical or empirical knowledge is simply the knowledge that something is. Were we to use the expression, the knowledge that, it would sound awkward and unusual in our modern languages. In Greek, the most philosophical of all tongues, its parallel however, was famil-

a Le Clerc, Histoire de la Médecine, part ii., liv. ii., ch. 1.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. III. iarly employed, more especially in the Aristotelic philosophy,^a in contrast to another knowledge of which we are about to speak. It was called $\tau \delta$ $\delta \tau \iota$, that is, $\eta \gamma \nu \omega \sigma \iota s \delta \tau \iota \epsilon \sigma \tau \iota \nu$.^{β} I should notice, that with us the knowledge that, is commonly called the knowledge of the fact.^{γ} As examples of empirical knowledge, take the facts, whether known on our own experience or on the testified experience of others,—that a stone falls,—that smoke ascends,—that the leaves bud in spring and fall in autumn,—that such a book contains such a passage,—that such a passage contains such an opinion,—that Cæsar, that Charlemagne, that Napoleon, existed.^{δ}

Philosophical knowledge what. But things do not exist, events do not occur, isolated, —apart—by themselves; they exist, they occur, and are by us conceived, only in connection. Our observation affords us no example of a phænomenon which is not an effect; nay, our thought cannot even realise to itself the possibility of a phænomenon without a cause. We do not at present inquire into the nature

a See Anal. Post., ii. 1: Tà $\langle \eta \tau o \dot{\iota} + \mu \epsilon \nu \dot{\epsilon} \delta \tau i \nu \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau \partial \nu \dot{a} \rho i \theta \mu \partial \nu \ddot{b} \sigma a \pi \epsilon \rho \dot{\epsilon} \pi i \sigma \tau \dot{d} \mu \epsilon \theta a.$ Z $\eta \tau o \ddot{\iota} \mu \epsilon \nu \delta \dot{\epsilon} \tau \epsilon \tau \tau a \rho a, \tau \delta \ddot{b} \tau i, \tau \delta \dot{\delta} i \delta \tau i, \epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau i, \tau \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} \sigma \tau i \nu$. These were distinguished by the Latin logicians as the quæstiones scibiles, and were usually rendered quod sit, cur sit, an sit, quid sit.—ED.

 β This expression in Latin, at least in Latin not absolutely barbarous, can only be translated vaguely by an accusative and an infinitive, for you are probably aware that the conjunctive quod, by which the Greek $\delta \tau \iota$ is often translated, has always a casual signification in genuine Latinity. Thus, we cannot say, scio quod res sit, credo quod tu sis doctus:—this is barbarous. We must say, scio rem esse, credo te esse doctum. γ [Empirical is also used in contrast with Necessary knowledge; the former signifying the knowledge simply of what is, the latter of what must be.]—Oral Interpolation.

δ The terms historical and empirical are used as synonymous by Aristotle, as both denoting a knowledge of the $\delta \tau \iota$. (Compare the *De Incessu Animalium*, c. 1; *Metapl.*, i. 1.) Aristotle, therefore, calls his empirical work on animals, *History of Animals;*—Theophrastus, his empirical work on plants, *History of Plants;*— Pliny, his empirical book on nature in general, *Natural History*. Pliny says: "Nobis propositum est *naturas* rerum indicare manifestas, non causas indagare dubias." See Brandis, Geschichte der Philosophie, i. p. 2.

of the connection of effect and cause,^a-either in reality or in thought. It is sufficient for our present purpose to observe that, while, by the constitution of our nature, we are unable to conceive anything to begin to be, without referring it to some cause,-still the knowledge of its particular cause is not involved in the knowledge of any particular effect. By this necessity which we are under of thinking some cause for every phænomenon; and by our original ignorance of what particular causes belong to what particular effects,-it is rendered impossible for us to acquiesce in the mere knowledge of the fact of a phænomenon : on the contrary, we are determined,-we are necessitated, to regard each phænomenon as only partially known until we discover the causes on which it depends for its existence. For example, we are struck with the appearance in the heavens called the rainbow. Think we cannot that this phænomenon has no cause, though we may be wholly ignorant of what that cause is. Now, our knowledge of the phænomenon as a mere fact,—as a mere isolated event,—does not content us; we therefore set about an inquiry into the cause,which the constitution of our mind compels us to suppose,—and at length discover that the rainbow is the effect of the refraction of the solar rays by the watery particles of a cloud. Having ascertained the cause, but not till then, we are satisfied that we fully know the effect.

Now, this knowledge of the cause of a phænomenon is different from, is something more than, the knowledge of that phænomenon simply as a fact; and these two cognitions or knowledges^{β} have, accordingly, re-

a See on this point the Author's β [Knowledges is a term in frequent Discussions, p. 609.—ED. use by Bacon, and, though now obso-

LECT. III.

ceived different names. The latter, we have seen, is called *historical*, or *empirical* knowledge; the former is called *philosophical*, or *scientific*, or *rational* knowledge." Historical, is the knowledge that a thing isphilosophical, is the knowledge why or how it is. And as the Greek language, with peculiar felicity, expresses historical knowledge by the ori-the yrwors ori eori: so, it well expresses philosophical knowledge by the διότι^β—the γνώσις διότι έστι, though here its relative superiority is not the same. To recapitulate what has now been stated :--- There are two kinds or degrees of knowledge. The first is the knowledge that a thing is— $\delta \tau \iota \chi \rho \eta \mu a \xi \sigma \tau \iota$, rem esse;—and it is called the knowledge of the fact, historical, or empirical knowledge. The second is the knowledge why or how a thing is, διότι χρήμα έστι, cur res sit ;-- and is termed the knowledge of the cause, philosophical, scientific, rational knowledge.

Philosophy implies a search after first causes.

Philosophical knowledge, in the widest acceptation of the term, and as synonymous with science, is thus the knowledge of effects as dependent on their causes. Now, what does this imply ? In the first place, as every cause to which we can ascend is itself also an effect,—it follows that it is the scope, that is, the aim of philosophy, to trace up the series of effects and causes, until we arrive at causes which are not also themselves effects. These first causes do not indeed lie within the reach of philosophy, nor even within the sphere of our comprehension; nor, consequently, on

lete, should be revived, as, without it, we are compelled to borrow cognitions to express its import.]—Oral Interpolation. [See Bacon's Advancement of Learning, p. 176, (Works, vol. ii., ed. Mont.); and Sergeant's

Method to Science, Preface, p. xxv., p. 166, et alibi passim.—ED.]

a Wolf, Philosophia Rationalis, §6; Kant, Kritik der reinen Vernunft, Methodenlehre, c. 3.—ED.

8 Arist. Anal. Post., ii. 1.-ED.

the actual reaching them does the existence of philosophy depend. But as philosophy is the knowledge of effects in their causes, the tendency of philosophy is ever upwards; and philosophy can, in thought, in theory, only be viewed as accomplished,—which in reality it never can be,—when the ultimate causes, the causes on which all other causes depend,—have been attained and understood.^{α}

But, in the second place, as every effect is only produced by the concurrence of at least two causes, (and by cause, be it observed, I mean everything without which the effect could not be realised), and as these concurring or coefficient causes, in fact, constitute the effect, it follows, that the lower we descend in the series of causes, the more complex will be the product; and that the higher we ascend, it will be the more simple. Let us take, for example, a neutral salt. This, as you probably know, is the product-the combination of an alkali and an acid. Now, considering the salt as an effect, what are the concurrent causes,---the coefficients .--- which constitute it what it is? These are, first, the acid, with its affinity to the alkali; secondly, the alkali, with its affinity to the acid; and thirdly, the translating force (perhaps the human hand) which made their affinities available, by bringing the two bodies within the sphere of mutual attraction. Each of these three concurrents must be considered as a partial cause, for, abstract any one, and the effect is not produced. Now, these three partial causes are each of them again effects; but effects evidently less complex than the effect which they, by their concur-

α Arist. Anal. Post., i. 24: "Ετι μέπερας τό ξσχατον ήδη οῦτως ἐστίν. Cf. χρι τούτου ζητοῦμεν τὸ διὰ τί, και πότε Metaph., i. 2: Δεῖ γὰρ ταύτην τῶν οἰόμεθα εἰδέναι, ὅταν μὴ ἦ ὅτι τι ἅλλο πρώτων ἀρχῶν και αἰτίων εἶναι θεωρητιτοῦτο ἡ γινόμενον ἡ ὅν· τέλος γὰρ και κήν.--ΕD.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

rence, constituted. But each of these three constituents is an effect, and therefore to be analysed into its causes; and these causes again into others, until the procedure is checked by our inability to resolve the last constituent into simpler elements. But, though thus unable to carry our analysis beyond a limited extent, we neither conceive, nor are we able to conceive, the constituent in which our analysis is arrested, as itself anything but an effect. We therefore carry on the analysis in imagination; and as each step in the procedure carries us from the more complex to the more simple, and consequently, nearer to unity, we at last arrive at that unity itself,—at that ultimate cause which, as ultimate, cannot again be conceived as an effect.^a

Philosophy necessarily tends towards a first cause.

Philosophy thus, as the knowledge of effects in their causes, necessarily tends, not towards a plurality of ultimate or first causes, but towards one alone. This first cause,—the Creator,—it can indeed never reach, as an object of immediate knowledge; but, as the convergence towards unity in the ascending series is manifest, in so far as that series is within our view, and as it is even impossible for the mind to suppose the convergence not continuous and complete, it follows, unless all analogy be rejected,—unless our intelligence be declared a lie,—that we must, philosophically, believe in that ultimate or primary unity which, in our present existence, we are not destined in itself to apprehend.

 α I may notice that an ultimate cause, and a first cause, are the same, but viewed in different relations. What is called the ultimate cause in ascending from effects to causes, that is, in the regressive order, is called the first cause in descending from causes to effects,—that is, in the progressive order. This synonymous meaning of the terms ultimate and primary it is important to recollect, for these words are in very common use in philosophy.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. III.

Such is philosophical knowledge in its most extensive signification; and, in this signification, all the sciences, occupied in the research of causes, may be viewed as so many branches of philosophy.

There is, however, one section of these sciences Sciences which is denominated philosophical by pre-eminence ; nated philosophical -sciences, which the term philosophy exclusively denotes, when employed in propriety and rigour. What these sciences are, and why the term philosophy has been specially limited to them, I shall now endcavour to make you understand.

"Man," says Protagoras, "is the measure of the Man's universe;"^a and, in so far as the universe is an object relative. of human knowledge, the paradox is a truth. Whatever we know, or endeavour to know, God or the world,-mind or matter,-the distant or the near,we know, and can know only in so far as we possess a faculty of knowing in general; and we can only exercise that faculty under the laws which control and limit its operations. However great, and infinite, and various, therefore, may be the universe and its contents,-these are known to us, not as they exist, but as our mind is capable of knowing them. Hence the brocard-" Quiequid recipitur, recipitur ad modum recipientis." ^β

In the first place, therefore, as philosophy is a

a See Plato, Theætetus, p. 152; Arist., Metaph., x. 6.-ED.

β Boethius, De Consol. Phil. v. Prosaiv. : "Omne enim quod cognoscitur, non secundum sui vim, sed secundum cognoscentium potius comprehenditur facultatem." Proclus, In Plat. Parm., p. 748, ed. Stallbaum : To γιγνώσκον κατά την ξαυτού γιγνώσκει φύσιν. Aquinas, Summa, Pars i. Q. 79, art. 3: "Similitudo agentis recipitur in patientem secundum modum patientis." Ibid., Pars i. Q. 14, art. 1: "Scientia est secundum modum Scitum enim est iu cognoscentis. sciente secundum modum scientis." Chauvin gives the words of the text. See Lexicon Philosophicum, art. Finitas. See also other authorities to the same effect quoted in the Author's Discussions, p. 644.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

61

denomi-

knowledge, and as all knowledge is only possible under the conditions to which our faculties are subjected,-the grand,-the primary problem of philosophy must be to investigate and determine these philosophy. conditions, as the necessary conditions of its own possibility.

The study of mind the philosophical study.

Logic.

Ethics.

Politics.

Arts.

mind.

LECT. III.

The pri-

mary pro-blem of

In the second place, as philosophy is not merely a knowledge, but a knowledge of causes, and as the mind itself is the universal and principal concurrent cause in every act of knowledge; philosophy is, consequently, bound to make the mind its first and paramount object of consideration. The study of mind is thus the philosophical study by pre-eminence. There is no branch of philosophy which does not suppose this as its preliminary, which does not borrow from Branches of this its light. A considerable number, indeed, are this study. only the science of mind viewed in particular aspects, or considered in certain special applications. Logic, for example, or the science of the laws of thought, is only a fragment of the general science of mind, and presupposes a certain knowledge of the operations which are regulated by these laws. Ethics is the science of the laws which govern our actions as moral agents; and a knowledge of these laws is only possible through a knowledge of the moral agent himself. Political science, in like manner, supposes a knowledge of man in his natural constitution, in order to appreciate the modifications which he receives, and of which he is susceptible, in social and civil life. The Fine Arts have all their foundation in the theory The Fine of the beautiful; and this theory is afforded by that part of the philosophy of mind, which is conversant Theology with the phænomena of feeling. Religion, Theology, dependent on study of in fine, is not independent of the same philosophy.

For as God only exists for us as we have faculties capable of apprehending his existence, and of fulfilling his behests, nay, as the phænomena from which we are warranted to infer his being are wholly mental, the examination of these faculties and of these phænomena is, consequently, the primary condition of every sound theology. In short, the science of mind, whether considered in itself, or in relation to the other branches of our knowledge, constitutes the principal and most important object of philosophy,-constitutes in propriety, with its suite of dependent sciences, philosophy itself.ª

This limitation of the term Philosophy to the sciences Misapplicaof mind, when not expressly extended to the other term Philobranches of science, has been always that generally this counprevalent; -- yet it must be confessed that, in this try. country, the word is applied to subjects with which, on the continent of Europe, it is rarely, if ever, associated. With us the word philosophy, taken by itself, does not call up the precise and limited notion which it does to a German, a Hollander, a Dane, an Italian, or a Frenchman; and we are obliged to say the philosophy of mind, if we do not wish it to be vaguely extended to the sciences conversant with the phænomena of matter. We not only call Physics by the name of Natural Philosophy, but every mechanical process has with us its philosophy. We have books on the philosophy of Manufactures, the philosophy of Agriculture, the philosophy of Cookery, &c. In all this we are the ridicule of other nations. Socrates, it is said, brought down philosophy from the clouds,the English have degraded her to the kitchen; and

a Cf. Cousin, Cours de l'Histoire de Programme de la Première Partie du la Phil. Mod., Prem. Sér. tom. ii.; Cours.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. III.

LECT. III.

this, our prostitution of the term, is, by foreigners, alleged as a significant indication of the low state of the mental sciences in Britain.^a

From what has been said, you will, without a definition, be able to form at least a general notion of what is meant by philosophy. In its more extensive signification, it is equivalent to a knowledge of things by their causes,—and this is, in fact, Aristotle's definition; $^{\beta}$ while, in its stricter meaning, it is confined to the sciences which constitute, or hold immediately of, the science of mind.

a See Hegel, Werke, vi. 13; xiii. 72; Scheidler, Encyclop. der Philosophie, i. p. 27.—ED.

β Metaph., v. 1: Πάσα ἐπιστήμη δίανοητιπή περὶ alτίas καὶ ἀρχάs ἐστιν ἡ ἀκριβεστέραs ἡ ἁπλουστέραs. Ibid., i. 1: Τὴν ὀνομαζομένην σοφίαν περὶ τὰ πρῶτα

αੱτια καl τὰς ἀρχὰς ὑπολαμβάνουσι πάντες... ὅτι μὲν οἶν ἡ σοφία περί τινας αἰτίας καl ἀρχάς ἐστιν ἐπιστήμη, δῆλον. Eth. Nic., vi. 7: Δεῖ ἄρα τὸν σοφὸν μὴ μόνον τὰ ἐκ πῶν ἀρχῶν εἰδέναι, ἀλλὰ καl περί τὰς ἀρχὰς ἀληθεύειν..... ED.

64

LECTURE IV.

THE CAUSES OF PHILOSOPHY.

HAVING thus endeavoured to make you vaguely apprehend what cannot be precisely understood,-the Nature The causes and Comprehension of Philosophy,-I now proceed to of philosoanother question, — What are the Causes of Philosophy? elements of The causes of philosophy lie in the original elements stitution. of our constitution. We are created with the faculty of knowledge, and, consequently, created with the tendency to exert it. Man philosophises as he lives. He may philosophise well or ill, but philosophise he must. Philosophy can, indeed, only be assailed through philosophy itself. "If," says Aristotle, in a passage preserved to us by Olympiodorus," "we must philosophise, we must philosophise; if we must not philosophise, we must philosophise ;--in any case, therefore, we must philosophise." "Were philosophy," says Clement of Alexandria,^{β} " an evil, still philosophy is to be studied, in order that it may be scientifically These causes contemned." And Averroes, ~-- "Philosophi solum est cither essential or comspernere philosophiam." Of the causes of philosophy plementary.

a Olympiodori in Platonis Alcibiadem Priorem Commentarii, ed. Creuzer, p. 144: Καὶ ᾿Αριστοτέλης ἐν τῷ Προτρεπτικώ έλεγεν ότι είτε φιλοσοφητέον, φιλοσοφητέον είτε μή φιλοσοφητέον, φιλοσοφητέον πάντως δε φιλοσοφητέον. Quoted also by the anonymous commentator in Cramer's Anecdota, iv. p. 391.-ED.

β El καί άχρηστος είη φιλοσοφία, εί εύχρηστος ή της άχρηστίας βεβαίωσις, εύχρηστος. Stromata, i. 2.-ED.

γ See Discussions, p. 786.-ED. ["Se moquer de la philosophie c'est vraiment philosopher." Pascal, Pensées, part i. art. xi. § 36. Compare Montaigne, Essais, lib. ii. c. xii. -tom. ii. p. 216, ed. 1725.]

VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. some are therefore contained in man's very capacity for knowledge; these are essential and necessary. But there are others, again, which lie in certain feelings with which he is endowed; these are complementary and assistant.

The first class apparently twofold.

1. The principle of Cause and Effect.

Of the former class,-that is, of the essential causes,there are in all two: the one is, the necessity we feel to connect Causes with Effects; the other, to carry up our knowledge into Unity. These tendencies, however, if not identical in their origin, coincide in their result; for, as I have previously explained to you, in ascending from cause to cause, we necessarily, (could we carry our analysis to its issue), arrive at absolute unity. Indeed, were it not a discussion for which you are not as yet prepared, it might be shown, that both principles originate in the same condition,-that both emanate, not from any original power, but from the same original powerlessness of mind." Of the former,-namely, the tendency, or rather the necessity, which we feel to connect the objects of our experience with others which afford the reasons of their existence,---it is needful to say but little. The nature of this tendency is not a matter on which we can at present enter; and the fact of its existence is too notorious to require either proof or illustration. It is sufficient to say, or rather to repeat what we have already stated, that the mind is unable to realise in thought the possibility of any absolute commencement; it cannot conceive that anything which begins to be is anything more than a new modification of pre-existent elements; it is unable to view any individual thing as other than a link in the mighty chain of being; and every isolated object is viewed

a This is partially argued in the Discussions, p. 609.-ED.

by it only as a fragment which, to be known, must be known in connection with the whole of which it constitutes a part. It is thus that we are unable to rest satisfied with a mere historical knowledge of existence; and that even our happiness is interested in discovering causes, hypothetical at least, if not real, for the various phænomena of the existence of which our experience informs us.

"Felix qui potuit rerum cognoscere causas." a

The second tendency of our nature, of which philo- 2. The love of Unity. sophy is the result, is the desire of Unity. On this, which indeed involves the other, it is necessary to be somewhat more explicit. This tendency is one of the most prominent characteristics of the human mind. It, in part, originates in the imbecility of our faculties. We are lost in the multitude of the objects presented to our observation, and it is only by assorting them in classes that we can reduce the infinity of nature to the finitude of mind. The conscious Ego, the conscious Self, by its nature one, seems also constrained to require that unity by which it is distinguished, in everything which it receives, and in everything which it produces. I regret that I can illustrate this only by examples which cannot, I am aware, as yet be fully intelligible to all. We are conscious of a scene presented to our senses only by uniting its parts into a perceived whole. Perception is thus a unifying act. The imagination cannot represent an object without uniting, in a single combination, the various elements of which it is composed. Generalisation is only the apprehension of the one in the many, and language little clse than a registry of the factitious

a Virgil, Georgics, ii. 490.

LECT. IV. unities of thought. The judgment cannot affirm or deny one notion of another, except by uniting the two in one indivisible act of comparison. Syllogism is simply the union of two judgments in a third. Reason, Intellect, voûs, in fine, concatenating thoughts and objects into system, and tending always upwards from particular facts to general laws, from general laws to universal principles, is never satisfied in its ascent till it comprehend, (what, however, it can never do), all laws in a single formula, and consummate all conditional knowledge in the unity of unconditional existence. Nor is it only in science that the mind desiderates the one. We seek it equally in works of art. A work of art is only deserving of the name, inasmuch as an idea of the work has preceded its execution, and inasmuch as it is itself a realisation of the ideal model in sensible forms. All languages express the mental operations by words which denote a reduction of the many to the one. $\Sigma \dot{\nu} \epsilon \sigma \iota s, \pi \epsilon \rho i \lambda \eta \psi \iota s$ συναίσθησις, συνεπίγνωσις, &c., in Greek ;- in Latin, cogere (co-agere), cogitare (co-agitare), concipere, cognoscere, comprehendere, conscire, with their derivatives, may serve for examples.

Testimonies to the love of unity.

The history of philosophy is only the history of this tendency; and philosophers have amply testified to its reality. "The mind," says Anaxagoras,^a "only knows when it subdues its objects, when it reduces the many to the one." "All knowledge," says the Platonists,^{β} "is the gathering up into one, and the

a Arist., De Anima, iii. 4: Ανάγκη ἄρα, ἐπεὶ πάντα νοεῖ, ἀμιγῆ εἶναι, ὥσπερ φησὶν ᾿Αναξαγόραs, ἶνα κρατῆ, τοῦτο δ' ἐστὶν Γνα γνωρίζη. The passage of Anaxagoras is given at length in the Commentary of Simplicius, and quoted in part by Trendelenburg on the *De Anima*, p. 466.—ED.

β Priscianus Lydus: Κατὰ τὴν εἰς ἕν συναίρεσιν, καὶ τὴν ἀμερίστον τοῦ γνωστοῦ παντὸς περίληψιν, ἁπάσης ἱσταμένης γνώσεως, (Μετάφρασις τῶν

indivisible apprehension of this unity by the knowing mind." Leibnitz^{α} and Kant^{β} have, in like manner, defined knowledge by the representation of multitude in unity. "The end of philosophy," says Plato,⁷ "is the intuition of unity;" and Plotinus, among many others, δ observes that our knowledge is perfect as it is one. The love of unity is by Aristotle applied to solve a multitude of psychological phænomena. St Augustin even analyses pain into a feeling of the frustration of unity. "Quid est enim aliud dolor, nisi quidam sensus divisionis vel corruptionis impatiens ? Unde luce clarius apparet, quam sit illa anima in sui corporis universitate avida unitatis et tenax." 5

This love of unity, this tendency of mind to gene- Love of ralise its knowledge, leads us to anticipate in nature guiding a corresponding uniformity; and as this anticipation in philosois found in harmony with experience, it not only phy. affords the efficient cause of philosophy, but the guiding principle to its discoveries. "Thus, for instance,

Θεοφράστου Περί Αἰσθήσεωs — Opera Theoph.ed. Basil., p. 273.) Thus rendered in the Latin version of Ficinus: "Cognitio omnis constat secundum quandaminunum congregationem, atque secundum impartibilem cognoscibilis totius comprehensionem."-ED.

a Monadologie, § 14.-ED.

β Kritik der reinen Vernunft, p. 359, ed. 1799.-ED.

γ Cf. Philebus, sub. init., especially p. 16: $\Delta \epsilon i \nu \eta \mu a s d \epsilon l \mu la \nu l \delta \epsilon a \nu$ περί παντός έκάστοτε θεμένους ζητείν; and Republic, v. p. 475 et seq. _ED.

δ Enn., iii. lib. viii. c. 2, on which Ficinus says : "Cognoscendi potentia in ipso actu cognitionis unum quodammodo fit cum objecto, et quo magis fit unum, co perfectior est cognitio, atque vicissim." Enn., vi. lib. ix. c. 1: 'Αρετή δέ ψυχής δταν els έν, καl els μίαν δμολογίαν ένωθή Έπειδη τά

πάντα els έν άγει, δημιουργούσα καl πλάττουσα καὶ μορφοῦσα καὶ συντάττουσα. Proclus: Γνώσις οὐδενός ἔσται των ύντων, είπως μή έστι τό έν . . . Οὐδὲ λόγος ἔσται καὶ γὰρ ὁ λόγος ἐκ πολλών els, είπερ τέλειος· και ή γνωσις, όταν τό γινώσκον έν γίνηται πρός τό γνωστόν. In Platonis Theologiam, p. 76 (ed. 1618).-ED.

€ See De Memoria, § 5, for application of this principle to the problem of Reminiscence. Cf. Reid's Works, p. 900. See also Problems, xviii. 9, where it is used to explain the higher pleasure we derive from those narratives that relate to a single subject.-ED.

C De Libero Arbitrio, lib. iii. 23. [St Augustin applied the principle of Unity to solve the theory of the Beautiful: "Omnis pulchritudinis forma unitas est." Epist. xviii.]-Oral Interpolation.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. IV.

when it is observed that solid bodies are compressible, we are induced to expect that liquids will be found to be so likewise; we subject them, consequently, to a series of experiments; nor do we rest satisfied until it be proved that this quality is common to both classes of substances. Compressibility is then proclaimed a physical law,-a law of nature in general; and we experience a vivid gratification in this recognition of unconditioned universality. Another example : Kant," reflecting on the differences among the planets, or rather among the stars revolving round the sun, and having discovered that these differences betrayed a uniform progress and proportion,-a proportion which was no longer to be found between Saturn and the first of the comets,-the law of unity and the analogy of nature, led him to conjecture that, in the intervening space, there existed a star, the discovery of which would vindicate the universality of the law. This anticipation was verified. Uranus was discovered by Herschel, and our dissatisfaction at the anomaly appeased. Franklin, in like manner, surmised that lightning and the electric spark were identical; and when he succeeded in verifying this conjecture, our love of unity was gratified. From the moment an isolated fact is discovered, we endeavour to refer it to other facts which it resembles. Until this be accomplished, we do not view it as understood. This is the case, for example, with sulphur, which, in a certain degree of temperature, melts like other bodies, but at a higher degree of heat, instead of evaporating, again

Theorie des Himmels, 1755; Werke, vol. vi. p. 88. Kant's conjecture was founded on a supposed progressive increase in the eccentricities of the planetary orbits. This progression,

a Allgemeine Naturgeschichte und however, is only true of Venus, the Earth, Jupiter, and Saturn. The eccentricity diminishes again in Uranus, and still more in Neptune. Subsequent discoveries have thus rather weakened than confirmed the theory.-ED.

consolidates. When a fact is generalised, our discontent is quieted, and we consider the generality itself as tantamount to an explanation. Why does this apple fall to the ground ? Because all bodies gravitate towards each other. Arrived at this general fact, we inquire no more, although ignorant now as previously of the cause of gravitation; for gravitation is nothing more than a name for a general fact, the *why* of which we know not. A mystery, if recognised as universal, would no longer appear mysterious.

"But this thirst of unity,-this tendency of mind Love of to generalise its knowledge, and our concomitant belief source of in the uniformity of natural phænomena, is not only error. an effective mean of discovery, but likewise an abundant source of error. Hardly is there a similarity detected between two or three facts, than men hasten to extend it to all others; and if, perchance, the similarity has been detected by ourselves, self-love closes our eyes to the contradictions which our theory may encounter from experience." " I have heard," says Condillac, "of a philosopher who had the happiness of thinking that he had discovered a principle which was to explain all the wonderful phænomena of chemistry, and who, in the ardour of his self-gratulation, hastened to communicate his discovery to a skilful chemist. The chemist had the kindness to listen to him, and then calmly told him that there was but one unfortunate circumstance for his discovery,-that the chemical facts were precisely the converse of what he had supposed them to be. 'Well, then,' said the philosopher, 'have the goodness to tell me what they are, that I may explain them on my system.""^{β} We are

a Garnier, Cours de Psychologie, p. 192-94. [Cf. Ancillon, Nouv. Mé. Euvres Philos., tom iv. p. 146 (ed. langes, i. p. 1 et seq.] 1795).

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

naturally disposed to refer everything we do not know to principles with which we are familiar. As Aristotle observes," the early Pythagoreans, who first studied arithmetic, were induced, by their scientific predilections, to explain the problem of the universe by the properties of number; and he notices also that a certain musical philosopher was, in like manner, led to suppose that the soul was but a kind of harmony.^{β} The musician suggests to my recollection a passage of Dr Reid. "Mr Locke," says he, "mentions an eminent musician who believed that God created the world in six days, and rested the seventh, because there are but seven notes in music. I myself," he continues, "knew one of that profession who thought that there could be only three parts in harmony-to wit, bass, tenor, and treble; because there are but three persons in the Trinity." γ The alchemists would see in nature only a single metal, clothed with the different appearances which we denominate gold, silver, copper, iron, mercury, &c., and they confidently explained the mysteries, not only of nature, but of religion, by salt, sulphur, and mercury.⁸ Some of our modern zoologists recoil from the possibility of nature working on two different plans, and rather than renounce the unity which delights them, they insist on recognising the wings of insects in the gills of fishes, and the sternum of quadrupeds in the antennæ of butterflies, -and all this that they may prove that man is only the evolution of a molluscum. Descartes saw in the physical world only matter and motion;[¢] and, more recently, it has been maintained that thought itself a Metaph., i. 5.-ED. γ Intellectual Powers, Ess. vi. chap.

 β De Anima, i. 4; Plato, Phædo, p. 86. The same theory was afterwards adopted by Aristotle's own pupil, Aristoxenus. See Cicero, Tusc. viii.; Coll. Works, p. 473. δ See Brucker, Hist. Philosophiæ,

vol. iv. p. 677 et seq.—ED. e Principia, pars ii. 23.—ED.

Quest, i. 10 a Ep. - Digitized by Microsoft ®

is only a movement of matter.^{α} Of all the faculties of the mind. Condillac recognised only one, which transformed itself like the Protean metal of the alchemists; and he maintains that our belief in the rising of to-morrow's sun is a sensation.^{β} It is this tendency, indeed, which has principally determined philosophers, as we shall hereafter see, to neglect or violate the original duality of consciousness; in which, as an ultimate fact,—a self and not self,—mind knowing and matter known,-are given in counterpoise and mutual opposition; and hence the three Unitarian schemes of Materialism. Idealism, and absolute Identity.⁹ In fine, Pantheism, or the doctrine which identifies mind and matter,-the Creator and the creature, -God and the universe,-how are we to explain the prevalence of this modification of atheism in the most ancient and in the most recent times? Simply because it carries our love of unity to its highest fruition. To sum up what has just been said in the words of Sir John Davies, a highly philosophic poet of the Elizabethan age :---

> " Musicians think our souls are harmonies ; Physicians hold that they complexions be ; Epicures make them swarms of atomies : Which do by chance into our bodies flee.

One thinks the soul is air; another fire; Another blood, diffused about the heart; Another saith the elements conspire,

And to her essence each doth yield a part.

Some think one gen'ral soul fills every brain, As the bright sun sheds light in every star; And others think the name of soul is vain, And that we only well-mix'd bodies are.

a Priestley, Disquisitions relating to Matter and Spirit, seet. iii. p. 24 et seq.; Free Discussion of Materialism and Necessity, pp. 258, 267 et seq.-ED. γ See the Author's Supplementary Dissertations to Reid, Note C.-ED.

or

73

LECT. IV.

Thus these great clerks their little wisdom show, While with their doctrines they at hazard play; Tossing their light opinions to and fro. To mock the lewd, a as learn'd in this as they ; For no craz'd brain could ever yet propound,

Touching the soul so vain and fond a thought ; But some among these masters have been found.

Which, in their schools, the self-same thing have taught."B

Influence of preconion reducible to love of unity.

To this love of unity-to this desire of reducing ceived opin- the objects of our knowledge to harmony and system -a source of truth and discovery if subservient to observation, but of error and delusion if allowed to dictate to observation what phænomena are to be perceived; to this principle, I say, we may refer the influence which preconceived opinions exercise upon our perceptions and our judgments, by inducing us to see and require only what is in unison with them. What we wish, says Demosthenes, that we believe; γ what we expect, says Aristotle, that we find δ —truths which have been re-echoed by a thousand confessors, and confirmed by ten thousand examples. Opinions once adopted become part of the intellectual system of their holders. If opposed to prevalent doctrines, self-love defends them as a point of honour, exaggerates whatever may confirm, overlooks or extenuates whatever may contradict. Again, if accepted as a general doctrine, they are too often recognised, in consequence of their prevalence, as indisputable truths, and all counter-appearances peremptorily overruled as manifest illusions. Thus it is that men will not see

> a Lewd, according to Took, from Anglo-Saxon, Lawed, past participle of Lawan, to mislead. It was formerly applied to the (lay) people in contradistinction from the clergy. See Richardson, Eng. Dict., v. Lewd.-ED.

> β On the Immortality of the Soul, stanza 9 et seq.

γ Βούλεται τοῦθ ἕκαστος καὶ οἴεται. Demosth. Olynth., iii. p. 68.-ED.

δ Rhet., ii. 1: Τῷ μέν ἐπιθυμοῦντι καλ εὐέλπιδι ὕντι, ἐὰν ἢ τὸ ἐσόμενον ἡδὺ, καί έσεσθαι καί άγαθδη έσεσθαι φαίνεται, τώ δ' άπαθεί, και δυσχεραίνοντι, τούναντίον.-Ευ.

in the phænomena what alone is to be seen; in their observations, they interpolate and they expunge; and . this mutilated and adulterated product they call a fact. And why? Because the real phænomena, if admitted, would spoil the pleasant music of their thoughts, and convert its factitious harmony into discord. "Quæ volunt sapiunt, et nolunt sapere quæ vera sunt." a In consequence of this, many a system, professing to be reared exclusively on observation and fact, rests in reality mainly upon hypothesis and fiction. A pretended experience is, indeed, the screen behind which every illusive doctrine regularly retires. "There are more false facts," says Cullen,^{β} "current in the world, than false theories ;"-and the livery of Lord Bacon has been most ostentatiously paraded by many who were no members of his household. Fact,observation,-induction, have always been the watchwords of those who have dealt most extensively in fancy. It is now above three centuries since Agrippa, in his Vanity of the Sciences, observed of Astrology, Physiognomy, and Metoposcopy, (the Phrenology of those days), that experience was always professedly their only foundation and their only defence : "Solent omnes illæ divinationum prodigiosæ artes non, nisi experientiæ titulo, se defendere et se objectionum vinculis extricare." Y It was on this ground, too, that at a later period, the great Kepler vindicated the first of these arts, Astrology. For, said he, how could the principle of a science be false, where experience showed that its predictions were uniformly fulfilled ?[§] Now,

viii., sub init.]

a [St Hilarii, De Trinitate, lib. vol. i. c. ii. art. iv., second edition .--ED.

β For Cullen's illustrations of the influence of a pretended experience in Medicine, see his Materia Medica. γ Opera, vol. ii. c. 32, p. 64.

δ De Stella Nova, cc. 8, 10; Harmonice Mundi, lib. iv. e. 7.-ED.

LECT. IV.

LECT. IV.

truth was with Kepler even as a passion; and his, too, was one of the most powerful intellects that ever cultivated and promoted a science. To him astronomy, indeed, owes perhaps even more than to Newton. And yet, even his great mind, preoccupied with a certain prevalent belief, could observe and judge only in conformity with that belief. This tendency to look at realities only through the spectacles of an hypothesis, is perhaps seen most conspicuously in the fortunes of medicine. The history of that science is, in truth, little else than an incredible narrative of the substitution of fictions for facts; the converts to an hypothesis, (and every, the most contradictory, doctrine has had its day), regularly seeing and reporting only in conformity with its dictates.^a The same is also true of the philosophy of mind; and the variations and alternations in this science, which are perhaps only surpassed by those in medicine, are to be traced to a refusal of the real phænomenon revealed in consciousness, and to the substitution of another, more in unison with preconceived opinions of what it ought to be. Nor, in this commutation of fact with fiction. should we suspect that there is any mala fides. Prejudice, imagination, and passion, sufficiently explain the illusion. "Fingunt simul creduntque."^{β} "When," says Kant, "we have once heard a bad report of this or that individual, we incontinently think that we read the rogue in his countenance; fancy here mingles with observation, which is still farther vitiated when affection or passion interferes."

"The passions," says Helvetius, γ "not only concentrate our attention on certain exclusive aspects of the

a See the Author's Article "On the Revolutions of Medicine," Dis. γ De l'Esprit, Discours, i. chap. ii. cussions, p. 242.—ED.

objects which they present, but they likewise often deceive us in showing these same objects where they . do not exist. The story is well known of a parson and a gay lady. They had both heard that the moon was peopled,-believed it,-and, telescope in hand, were attempting to discover the inhabitants. If I am not mistaken, says the lady, who looked first, I perceive two shadows; they bent toward each other, and, I have no doubt, are two happy lovers. Lovers, madam, says the divine, who looked second ; oh, fie ! the two shadows you saw are the two steeples of a This story is the history of man. cathedral. In general, we perceive only in things what we are desirous of finding : on the earth, as in the moon, various prepossessions make us always recognise either lovers or cathedrals."

Such are the two intellectual necessities which afford Auxiliary tual necessity of refunding effects into their causes;^a -and the intellectual necessity of carrying up our knowledge into unity or system. But, besides these intellectual necessities, which are involved in the very existence of our faculties of knowledge, there is another powerful subsidiary to the same effect,-in a certain affection of our capacities of feeling. This feeling, according to circumstances, is denominated surprise, astonishment, admiration, wonder, and, when blended with the intellectual tendencies we have considered, it obtains the name of curiosity. This feeling, though it cannot, as some have held, be allowed to be the principal, far less the only, cause of philosophy, is, however, a powerful auxiliary to speculation; and, though

a [This expression is employed by p. 222. Cf. pp. 144, 145.] Sergeant. See Method to Science,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. IV.

LECT. IV.

inadequate to account for the existence of philosophy absolutely, it adequately explains the preference with which certain parts of philosophy have been cultivated, and the order in which philosophy in general has been developed. We may err both in exaggerating, and in extenuating, its influence. Wonder has been contemptuously called the daughter of ignorance; true, but wonder, we should add, is the mother of knowledge. Among others, Plato, Aristotle, Plutarch, and Bacon, have all concurred in testifying to the influence of this principle. "Admiration," says the Platonic Socrates in the Theatetus,"-" admiration is a highly philosophical affection; indeed, there is no other principle of philosophy but this."-" "That philosophy," says Aristotle, "was not originally studied for any practical end, is manifest from those who first began to philosophise. It was, in fact, wonder which then, as now, determined men to philosophical researches. Among the phænomena presented to them, their admiration was first directed to those more proximate and more on a level with their powers, and then rising by degrees, they came at length to demand an explanation of the higher phænomena,-as the different states of the moon, sun, and stars, and the origin of the universe. Now, to doubt and to be astonished, is to recognise our ignorance. Hence it is that the lover of wisdom is in a certain sort a lover of mythi, $(\phi_{\iota}\lambda \dot{\phi}_{\mu\nu}\theta \dot{\phi}_{s} \pi \omega_{s})$, for the subject of mythi is the astonishing and marvellous. If, then, men philosophise to escape ignorance, it is clear that they pursue knowledge on its own account, and not for the sake of any foreign utility. This is proved by the fact; for it was only after all that pertained to the wants, welfare,

a P. 155.—Ed.

and conveniences of life had been discovered, that men commenced their philosophical researches. It is, there-fore, manifest that we do not study philosophy for the sake of anything ulterior; and, as we call him a free man who belongs to himself and not to another, so philosophy is of all sciences the only free or liberal study, for it alone is unto itself an end.""-" It is the business of philosophy," says Plutarch, "to investigate, to admire, and to doubt."^{β} You will find in the first book of the *De Augmentis* of Bacon,^{γ} a recognition of the principle "admiratio est semen sapientiæ," and copious illustrations of its truth,---illustrations which I shall not quote, but they deserve your private study.

No one, however, has so fully illustrated the play and effect of this motive as a distinguished philosopher of this country, Adam Smith; although he has attributed too little to the principal, too much to the subsidiary, momenta. He seems not to have been aware of what had been, previously to him, observed in regard to this principle by others. You will find the discussion among his posthumous essays, in that entitled The Principles which lead and direct Philosophical Inquiries illustrated by the History of Astronomy ;---to this 1 must simply refer you.

We have already remarked, that the principle of Affords an wonder affords an explanation of the order in which of the order the different objects of philosophy engaged the atten- objects tion of mankind. The aim of all philosophy is the discovery of principles, that is, of higher causes; but, in the procedure to this end, men first endeavoured to explain those phænomena which attracted their

a passage to a similar effect, Rhetoric, τοῦ φιλοσοφείν, ἔφη, τὸ ζητείν, τὸ lib i. c. 11.

a Metaph., lib. i. c. 2. See also for pois, vol. ii. p. 385 (ed. 1599): 'Enel Se θαυμάζειν, και άπορείν.-Ευ.

β Plutarch, Περί τοῦ Εἰ τοῦ ἐν Δελγ Vol. viii. p. 8, (Montagu's ed.)

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

studied.

79

LECT. IV.

attention by arousing their wonder. The child is wholly absorbed in the observation of the world without; the world within first engages the contemplation of the man. As it is with the individual, so was it with the species. Philosophy, before attempting the problem of intelligence, endeavoured to resolve the problem of nature. The spectacle of the external universe was too imposing not first to solicit curiosity, and to direct upon itself the prelusive efforts of philosophy. Thales and Pythagoras, in whom philosophy finds its earliest representatives, endeavoured to explain the organisation of the universe, and to substitute a scientific for a religious cosmogony. For a season their successors toiled in the same course; and it was only after philosophy had tried, and tired, its forces on external nature, that the human mind recoiled upon itself, and sought in the study of its own nature the object and end of philosophy. The mind now became to itself its point of departure, and its principal object; and its progress, if less ambitious, was more secure. Socrates was he who first decided this new destination of philosophy. From his epoch man sought in himself the solution of the great problem of existence, and the history of philosophy was henceforward only a development, more or less successful, more or less complete, of the inscription on the Delphic temple— $\Gamma \nu \hat{\omega} \theta \iota$ σεαυτόν—Know thyself.^a

a Plato, Protagoras, p. 343.—Ep. Philosophie, p. 1.] [See Géruzez, Nouveau Cours de

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

80

LECTURE V.

THE DISPOSITIONS WITH WHICH PHILOSOPHY OUGHT TO BE STUDIED.

HAVING, in the previous Lectures, informed you,-1°, LECT. What Philosophy is, and 2°, What are its causes, I would now, in the third place, say a few words to you on the Dispositions with which Philosophy ought to be studied, for, without certain practical conditions, a speculative knowledge of the most perfect Method of procedure, (our next following question), remains barren and unapplied.

"To attain to a knowledge of ourselves," says Socrates, "we must banish prejudice, passion, and sloth;"^a and no one who neglects this precept can hope to make any progress in the philosophy of the human mind, which is only another term for the knowledge of ourselves.

In the first place, then, all prejudices, -that is, all First condiopinions formed on irrational grounds,—ought to be study of removed. A preliminary doubt is thus the funda-<u>remuncia-</u> mental condition of philosophy; and the necessity of judice. such a doubt is no less apparent than is its difficulty. We do not approach the study of philosophy ignorant, but perverted. "There is no one who has not grown up under a load of beliefs-beliefs which he owes to the accidents of country and family, to the

a [See Gatien-Arnoult, Doctrine Philosophique, p. 39.]

LECT.

In this Christianity

phy at one.

books he has read, to the society he has frequented, to the education he has received, and, in general, to the circumstances which have concurred in the formation of his intellectual and moral habits. These beliefs may be true, or they may be false, or, what is more probable, they may be a medley of truths and errors. It is, however, under their influence that he studies, and through them, as through a prism, that he views and judges the objects of knowledge. Everything is therefore seen by him in false colours, and in distorted relations. And this is the reason why philosophy, as the science of truth, requires a renunciation of prejudices, (præ-judicia, opiniones præ-judicatæ),-that is, conclusions formed without a previous examination of their grounds."^a In this, if I may without irreverence compare things human with things divine, Christianity and Philoso- and Philosophy coincide, --- for truth is equally the end What is the primary condition which our of both. Saviour requires of his disciples ? That they throw off their old prejudices, and come with hearts willing to receive knowledge, and understandings open to conviction. "Unless," He says, "ye become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven." Such is true religion; such also is true philosophy. Philosophy requires an emancipation from the yoke of foreign authority, a renunciation of all blind adhesion to the opinions of our age and country, and a purification of the intellect from all assumptive beliefs. Unless we can cast off the prejudices of the man, and become as children, docile and unperverted, we need never hope to enter the temple of philosophy. It is the neglect of this primary condition which has mainly occasioned men to wander from the unity of truth, and

a [Gatien-Arnoult, Doct. Phil., pp. 39, 40.]

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

82

caused the endless variety of religious and philoso- LECT. phical sects. Men would not submit to approach the word of God in order to receive from that alone their doctrine and their faith; but they came in general with preconceived opinions, and, accordingly, each found in revelation only what he was predetermined to find. So, in like manner, is it in philosophy. Con- Consciousness and the sciousness is to the philosopher what the Bible is to Bible. the theologian. Both are revelations of the truth,and both afford the truth to those who are content to receive it, as it ought to be received, with reverence and submission. But as it has, too frequently, fared with the one revelation, so has it with the other. Men turned, indeed, to consciousness, and professed to regard its authority as paramount, but they were not content humbly to accept the facts which consciousness revealed, and to establish these without retrenchment or distortion, as the only principles of their philosophy; on the contrary, they came with opinions already formed, with systems already constructed, and while they eagerly appealed to consciousness when its data supported their conclusions, they made no scruple to overlook, or to misinterpret, its facts when these were not in harmony with their speculations. Thus religion and philosophy, as they both terminate in the same end, so they both depart from the same fundamental condition. "Aditus ad regnum hominis, quod fundatur in scientiis, quam ad regnum cœlorum, in quod, nisi sub persona infantis, intrare non datur."ª

But the influence of early prejudice is the more Influence of dangerous, inasmuch as this influence is unobtrusive. dice unob-Few of us are, perhaps, fully aware of how little we trusive. owe to ourselves, - how much to the influence of

a Bacon, Nov. Org., lib. i., apb. lxviii.

others. "Non licet," says Seneca, "ire recta via; trahunt in pravum parentes; trahunt servi; nemo errat uni sibi, sed dementiam spargit in proximos accipitque invicem. Et ideo, in singulis vitia populorum sunt, quia illa populus dedit; dum facit quisque pejorem, factus est. Didicit deteriora, deinde docuit : effectaque est ingens illa nequitia, congesto in unum, quod cuique pessimum scitur. Sit ergo aliquis custos, et aurem subinde pervellat, abigatque rumores et reclamet populis laudantibus."^a

Source of the power of custom. Man a so-

LECT. V.

Man is by nature a social animal. "He is more political," says Aristotle, "than any bee or ant."^{β} But cial animal. the existence of society, from a family to a state, supposes a certain harmony of sentiment among its members; and nature has, accordingly, wisely implanted in us a tendency to assimilate in opinions and habits of thought to those with whom we live and act. There is thus, in every society great or small, a certain gravitation of opinions towards a common centre. As, in our natural body, every part has a necessary sympathy with every other, and all together form, by their harmonious conspiration, a healthy whole; so, in the social body, there is always a strong predisposition in each of its members to act and think in unison with the This universal sympathy, or fellow-feeling, of rest. our social nature, is the principle of the different spirit dominant in different ages, countries, ranks, sexes, and periods of life. It is the cause why fashions, why political and religious enthusiasm, why moral example, either for good or evil, spread so rapidly, and exert so powerful an influence. As men are naturally prone to imitate others, they consequently regard, as important or insignificant, as honourable or disgraceful, as true

a Epist. xciv.

β Polit., i. 2.-ED.
or false, as good or bad, what those around them consider in the same light. They love and hate what they see others desire and eschew. This is not to be regretted; it is natural, and, consequently, it is right. Indeed, were it otherwise, society could not subsist, for nothing can be more apparent than that mankind in general, destined as they are to occupations incompatible with intellectual cultivation, are wholly incapable of forming opinions for themselves on many of the most important objects of human consideration. If such, however, be the intentions of nature with respect to the unenlightened classes, it is manifest that a heavier obligation is thereby laid on those who enjoy the advantages of intellectual cultivation, to examine with diligence and impartiality the foundations of those opinions which have any connection with the welfare of mankind. If the multitude must be led, it is of consequence that it be led by enlightened conductors.^a That the great multitude of mankind are, by natural disposition, only what others are, is a fact at all times so obtrusive, that it could not escape observation from the moment a reflective eye was first turned upon "The whole conduct of Cambyses," says Heroman. dotus,^{β} the father of history, "towards the Egyptian gods, sanctuaries, and priests, convinces me that this king was in the highest degree insane, for otherwise he would not have insulted the worship and holy things of the Egyptians. If any one should accord to all men the permission to make free choice of the best among all customs, undoubtedly each would choose his own. That this would certainly happen can be shown by many examples, and, among others, by the

a See Stewart, *Elements*, Introd. β Lib. iii. cc. 37, 38. Part ii. \$1; *Works*, vol. ii. p. 67.—ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. following. The King Darius once asked the Greeks who were resident at his court, at what price they could be induced to devour their dead parents. The Greeks answered, that to this no price could bribe them. Thereupon the king asked some Indians who were in the habit of eating their dead parents, what they would take not to eat but to burn them; and the Indians answered even as the Greeks had done." Herodotus concludes this narrative with the observation, that "Pindar had justly entitled Custom—the Queen of the World."

Sceptical inference from the influence of custom.

The ancient sceptics, from the conformity of men in every country, their habits of thinking, feeling, and acting, and from the diversity of different nations in these habits, inferred that nothing was by nature beautiful or deformed, true or false, good or bad, but that these distinctions originated solely in custom. The modern scepticism of Montaigne terminates in the same assertion; and the sublime misanthropy of Pascal has almost carried him to a similar exaggeration. " In the just and the unjust," says the latter, "we find hardly anything which does not change its character in changing its climate. Three degrees of an elevation of the pole reverses the whole of jurisprudence. A meridian is decisive of truth, and a few years of possession. Fundamental laws change. Right has its epochs. A pleasant justice which a river or a mountain limits. Truth, on this side the Pyrenees, error on the other !"^a This doctrine was exaggerated, but it has a foundation in truth; and the most zealous champions of the immutability of moral distinctions are unanimous in acknowledging the powerful influence which the opinions, tastes, manners, affections, and actions of the society

a Pensées, partie i. art. vi. § 8, (vol. ii. p. 126, ed. Faugère.) Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® in which we live, exert upon all and each of its mem- LECT. hers a

Nor is this influence of man on man less unambi-This influguous in times of social tranquillity, than in crises of on man in social convulsion. In seasons of political and religious of trauquilrevolution, there arises a struggle between the resisting vulsion. force of ancient habits and the contagious sympathy of new modes of feeling and thought. In one portion of society, the inveterate influence of custom prevails over the contagion of example; in others, the contagion of example prevails over the conservative force of antiquity and habit. In either case, however, we think and act always in sympathy with others. "We remain," says an illustrious philosopher, "submissive so long as the world continues to set the example. As we follow the herd in forming our conceptions of what is respectable, so we are ready to follow the multitude also, when such conceptions come to be questioned or rejected; and are no less vehement reformers, when the current of opinion has turned against former establishments, than we were zealous abettors while that current continued to set in a different direction." $^{\beta}$

Thus it is that no revolution in public opinion is Relation the work of an individual, of a single cause, or of a dividual to day. When the crisis has arrived, the catastrophe social crises. must ensue; but the agents through whom it is apparently accomplished, though they may accelerate, cannot originate its occurrence. Who believes that but for Luther or Zwingli the Reformation would not have been? Their individual, their personal energy and zeal, perhaps, hastened by a year or two the event;

a See Meiners, Untersuchungen über servations in the text are borrowed. die Denkkräfte und Willenskräfte des Menschen, ii. 325 et seq. (ed. 1806); from whom most of the preceding ob-

& Ferguson's Moral and Political Science, vol. i. part i. chap. ii. § 11, p. 135.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

87

LECT. V. but had the public mind not been already ripe for their revolt, the fate of Luther and Zwingli, in the sixteenth century, would have been that of Huss and Jerome of Prague in the fifteenth. Woe to the revolutionist who is not himself a creature of the revolution! If he anticipate, he is lost; for it requires, what no individual can supply, a long and powerful counter-sympathy in a nation to untwine the ties of custom which bind a people to the established and the old. This is finely expressed by Schiller, in a soliloquy from the mouth of the revolutionary Wallenstein :—

Schiller.

"What is thy purpose ? Hast thou fairly weighed it ? Thou seekest even from its broad base to shake The calm enthroned majesty of power, By ages of possession consecrate-Firm rooted in the rugged soil of custom-And with the people's first and fondest faith, As with a thousand stubborn tendrils twined. That were no strife where strength contends with strength. It is not strength I fear-I fear no foe Whom with my bodily eye I see and scan; Who, brave himself, inflames my courage too. It is an unseen enemy I dread, Who, in the hearts of mankind, fights against me-Fearful to me but from his own weak fear. Not that which proudly towers in life and strength Is truly dreadful; but the mean and common, The memory of the eternal yesterday, Which, ever-warning, ever still returns, And weighs to-morrow, for it weighed to-day; Out of the common is man's nature framed, And custom is the nurse to whom he cleaves. Woe then to him whose daring hand profanes The honoured heir-looms of his ancestors ! There is a consecrating power in time ; And what is grey with years to man is godlike. Be in possession, and thou art in right ; The crowd will lend thee aid to keep it sacred." a

This may enable you to understand how seductive a The Death of Wallenstein, (translated by Mr George Moir,) Act. i. scene 4.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

88

is the influence of example; and I should have no LECT. end were I to quote to you all that philosophers have said of the prevalence and evil influence of prejudice and opinion.

We have seen that custom is called, by Pindar and Testimonies of philoso Herodotus, the Queen of the world-and the same phers to the thing is expressed by the adage—" Mundus regitur received opinionibus." "Opinion," says the great Pascal, "disposes of all things. It constitutes beauty, justice, happiness; and these are the all in all of the world. T would with all my heart see the Italian book of which I know only the title, --- a title, however, which is itself worth many books-Della opinione regina del mondo. I subscribe to it implicitly."" "Coutume," says Regnier,

> " Coutume, opinion, reines de notre sort, Vous réglez des mortels, et la vie, et la mort !"

"Almost every opinion we have," says the pious Charron, "we have but by authority; we believe, judge, act, live, and die on trust, as common custom teaches us; and rightly, for we are too weak to decide and choose of ourselves. But the wise do not act thus." β "Every opinion," says Montaigne, "is strong enough to have had its martyrs;" γ and Sir W. Raleigh-"It is opinion, not truth, that travelleth the world without passport." ⁸ "Opinion," says Heraclitus, " is a falling sickness;"^e and Luther-" O doxa! doxa! quam es communis noxa." In a word, as Hommel has it, "An ounce of custom outweighs a ton of reason."

Such being the recognised universality and evil ef-

a Pensées, partie i. art. vi. § 3. [Vol. ii. p. 52, ed. Faugère. M. Faugère has restored the original text of Pascal-"L'imagination dispose de tout." The ordinary reading is L'opinion .- ED.]

β De la Sagesse, liv. i. chap. xvi. y Essais, liv. i. chap. xl.

δ Preface to his History of the World.

e Diog. Laert., lib. ix. § 7.

[Alex. v. Joch (Hommel), Uber Belohnung und Strafe, p. 111. See Krug, Philosophisches Lexikon, vol. v. p. 467, art. Gewohnheit.]

fect of prejudice, philosophers have, consequently, been

unanimous in making doubt the first step towards phi-

losophy. Aristotle has a fine chapter in his Metaphy-

sics a on the utility of doubt, and on the things which

we ought first to doubt of; and he concludes by es-

LECT. V.

Philosophers unanimous in making doubt the first step to philosophy.

Bacon.

Descartes.

tablishing that the success of philosophy depends on the art of doubting well. This is even enjoined on us by the Apostle. For in saying "Prove" (which may be more correctly translated test)-"" Test all things," he implicitly commands us to doubt all things. "He," says Bacon, "who would become philosopher, must commence by repudiating belief; " β and he concludes one of the most remarkable passages of his writings with the observation, that "were there a single man to be found with a firmness sufficient to efface from his mind the theories and notions vulgarly received, and to apply his intellect free and without prevention, the best hopes might be entertained of his success." " "To philosophise," says Descartes, " seriously, and to good effect, it is necessary for a man to renounce all prejudices; in other words, to apply the greatest care to doubt of all his previous opinions so long as these have not been subjected to a new examination, and been recognised as true." ⁸ But it is needless to multiply authorities in support of so

a Lib. ii. c. 1.-ED.

β This saying is attributed by Gatien-Arnoult to Diderot. See Doct. Phil., p. 39.-ED.

 γ "Nemo adhuc tanta mentis constantia inventus est, ut decreverit, et sibi imposuerit, theorias et notiones communes penitus abolere, et intellectum abrasum et æquum ad particularia, de integro, applicare. Itaque illa ratio humana quam habemus, ex multa fide, et multo etiam casu, nec non ex puerilibus, quas primo hausimus, notionibus, farrago quædam est, et congeries. Quod siquis ætate matura, et sensibus integris, et mente repurgata, se ad experientiam, et ad particularia de integro applicet, de eo melius sperandum est."—Nov. Org., i. aph. xcvii.; Works, vol. ix. p. 252, (Montagu's ed.) See also omnino Nov. Org., i. aph. lxviii.

δ Prin. Phil. pars i. § 75. [Cf. Clauberg, De Dubitatione Cartesiana, cc. i. ii. Opera, p. 1131.—ED.]

obvious a truth. The ancient philosophers refused to admit slaves to their instruction. Prejudice makes men slaves; it disqualifies them for the pursuit of truth; and their emancipation from prejudice is what philosophy first inculcates on, what it first requires of, its disciples.^a Let us, however, beware that we act not the part of revolted slaves; that in asserting our liberty we do not run into licence. Philosophical Philosophi-cal doubt. doubt is not an end but a mean. We doubt in order that we may believe; we begin that we may not end with doubt. We doubt once that we may believe always; we renounce authority that we may follow reason; we surrender opinion that we may obtain knowledge. We must be protestants, not infidels, in philosophy. "There is a great difference," Male-branche. says Malebranche, "between doubting and doubting. We doubt through passion and brutality; through blindness and malice, and finally through fancy and from the very wish to doubt; but we doubt also from prudence and through distrust, from wisdom and through penetration of mind. The former doubt is a doubt of darkness, which never issues to the light, but leads us always further from it; the latter is a doubt which is born of the light, and which aids in a certain sort to produce light in its turn."^{β} Indeed, were the effect of philosophy the establishment of doubt, the remedy would be worse than the disease. Doubt, as a permanent state of mind, would be, in fact, little better than an intellectual death. The mind lives as it believes,---it lives in the affirmation of itself, of nature, and of God; a doubt upon any one of these would be a diminution of its life,-a doubt upon the

a [Cf. Gatien-Arnoult, Doct. Phil., B Recherche de la Vérité, liv. i. p. 41.] chap. xx. § 3.

LECT.

91

Stewart

three, were it possible, would be tantamount to a men-LECT. tal annihilation. It is well observed, by Mr Stewart, "that it is not merely in order to free the mind from the influence of error, that it is useful to examine the foundation of established opinions. It is such an examination alone, that, in an inquisitive age like the present, can secure a philosopher from the danger of unlimited scepticism. To this extreme, indeed, the complexion of the times is more likely to give him a tendency, than to implicit credulity. In the former ages of ignorance and superstition, the intimate association which had been formed, in the prevailing systems of education, between truth and error, had given to the latter an ascendant over the minds of men, which it could never have acquired if divested of such an alliance. The case has, of late years, been most remarkably reversed : the common-sense of mankind, in consequence of the growth of a more liberal spirit of inquiry, has revolted against many of those absurdities which had so long held human reason in captivity; and it was, perhaps, more than could have been reasonably expected, that, in the first moments of their emancipation, philosophers should have stopped short at the precise boundary which cooler reflection and more moderate views would have prescribed. The fact is, that they have passed far beyond it; and that, in their zeal to destroy prejudices, they have attempted to tear up by the roots many of the best and happiest and most essential principles of our nature. That implicit credulity is a mark of a feeble mind, will not be disputed; but it may not, perhaps, be as generally acknowledged, that the case is the same with unlimited scepticism : on the contrary, we are sometimes apt to ascribe this disposition to a more

than ordinary vigour of intellect. Such a prejudice LECT. was by no means unnatural, at that period in the history of modern Europe, when reason first began to throw off the yoke of authority, and when it unquestionably required a superiority of understanding, as well as of intrepidity, for an individual to resist the contagion of prevailing superstition. But, in the present age, in which the tendency of fashionable opinions is directly opposite to those of the vulgar, the philosophical creed, or the philosophical scepticism, of by far the greater number of those who value themselves on an emancipation from popular errors, arises from the very same weakness with the credulity of the multitude; nor is it going too far to say, with Rousseau, that 'he who, in the end of the eighteenth century, has brought himself to abandon all his early principles without discrimination, would probably have been a bigot in the days of the League.' In the midst of these contrary impulses of fashionable and vulgar prejudices, he alone evinces the superiority and the strength of his mind, who is able to disentangle truth from error; and to oppose the clear conclusions of his own unbiassed faculties to the united clamours of superstition and of false philosophy. Such are the men whom nature marks out to be the lights of the world; to fix the wavering opinions of the multitude, and to impress their own characters on that of their age." a

In a word, philosophy is, as Aristotle has justly Aristotle. expressed it, not the art of doubting, but the art of doubting well.^β

a Elements, vol. i. book ii. § 1; Coll. Works, vol. ii. p. 68 et seq.-ED. β Metaph., ii. 1 : "Εστιδέ τοις εύ-

πορήσαι βουλομένοις προύργου τό δι-

απορήσαι καλώς ή γάρ ύστερον εύπορία λύσις των πρότερον απορουμένων έστί, λύειν δ' ούκ έστιν άγνοοῦντας τον δεσμόν.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

93

LECT. V.

Second practical condition subjugation of the passions.

Sloth.

In the second place, in obedience to the precept of Socrates, the passions, under which we shall include sloth, ought to be subjugated.

These ruffle the tranquillity of the mind, and consequently deprive it of the power of carefully considering all that the solution of a question requires should be examined. A man under the agitation of any lively emotion, is hardly aware of aught but what has immediate relation to the passion which agitates and engrosses him. Among the affections which influence the will, and induce it to adhere to scepticism or error, there is none more dangerous than sloth. The greater proportion of mankind are inclined to spare themselves the trouble of a long and laborious inquiry; or they fancy that a superficial examination is enough; and the slightest agreement between a few objects, in a few petty points, they at once assume as evincing the correspondence of the whole throughout. Others apply themselves exclusively to the matters which it is absolutely necessary for them to know, and take no account of any opinion but that which they have stumbled on,-for no other reason than that they have embraced it, and are unwilling to recommence the labour of learning. They receive their opinion on the authority of those who have had suggested to them their own; and they are always facile scholars, for the slightest probability is, for them, all the evidence that they require.

Pride.

Pride is a powerful impediment to a progress in knowledge. Under the influence of this passion, men seek honour but not truth. They do not cultivate what is most valuable in reality, but what is most valuable in opinion. They disdain, perhaps, what can be easily accomplished, and apply themselves to the

obscure and recondite; but as the vulgar and easy is the foundation on which the rare and arduous is built. they fail even in attaining the object of their ambition, and remain with only a farrage of confused and illassorted notions. In all its phases, self-love is an enemy to philosophical progress; and the history of philosophy is filled with the illusions of which it has been the source. On the one side, it has led men to close their eyes against the most evident truths which were not in harmony with their adopted opinions. It is said that there was not a physician in Europe, above the age of forty, who would admit Harvey's discovery of the circulation of the blood. On the other hand, it is finely observed by Bacon, that "the eye of human intellect is not dry, but receives a suffusion from the will and from the affections, so that it may almost be said to engender any sciences it pleases. For what a man wishes to be true, that he prefers believing."^a And, in another place, " if the human intellect hath once taken a liking to any doctrine, either because received and credited, or because otherwise pleasing,---it draws everything else into harmony with that doctrine, and to its support; and albeit there may be found a more powerful array of contradictory instances, these, however, it either does not observe, or it contemns, or by distinction extenuates and rejects." B

a Nov. Org., lib. i. aph. xlix.

β Ibid., aph. xlvi.

LECT.

LECTURE VI.

THE METHOD OF PHILOSOPHY.

LECT. VI. THE next question we proceed to consider is,—What is the true Method or Methods of Philosophy ?

There is only one possible method in philosophy; and what have been called the different methods of different philosophers, vary from each other only as more or less perfect applications of this one Method to the objects of knowledge.

Method a progress towards an end.

Philosophy

has but one possible

method.

All method " is a rational progress,—a progress towards an end; and the method of philosophy is the procedure conducive to the end which philosophy proposes. The ends,—the final causes,—of philosophy, as we have seen, are two;—first, the discovery of efficient causes, secondly, the generalisation of our knowledge into unity; two ends, however, which fall together into one, inasmuch as the higher we proceed in the discovery of causes, we necessarily approximate more and more to unity. The detection of the one in the many might, therefore, be laid down as the end to which philosophy, though it can never reach it, tends continually to approximate. But, considering philo-

a [On the difference between Order and Method, see Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, pars iv. c. l, note: "Methodus differt ab Ordine; quia ordo facit ut rem unam discamus post aliam; 'Methodus ut unam per aliam." Cf. Zabarella, Op. Log., pp. 139, 149, 223, 225; Molinæus, Log., p. 234 et seq., p. 244 et seq., ed. 1613.]

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

96

sophy in relation to both these ends, I shall endeavour LECT. VI. to show you that it has only one possible method.

Considering philosophy, in the first place, in relation This shown to its first end,— the discovery of causes,— we have to the first seen that causes, (taking that term as synonymous losophy. for all without which the effect would not be), are only the coefficients of the effect; an effect being nothing more than the sum or complement of all the partial causes, the concurrence of which constitute its existence. This being the case,—and as it is only by experience that we discover what particular causes must conspire to produce such or such an effect,it follows, that nothing can become known to us as a cause except in and through its effect; in other words, that we can only attain to the knowledge of a cause by extracting it out of its effect. To take the example we formerly employed, of a neutral salt. This, as I observed, is made up by the conjunction of three proximate causes,-viz., an acid, -an alkali, - and the force which brought the alkali and the acid into the requisite approximation. This last, as a transitory condition, and not always the same, we shall throw out of account. Now, though we might know the acid and the alkali in themselves as distinct phænomena, we could never know them as the concurrent causes of the salt, unless we had known the salt as their effect. And though, in this example, it happens that we are able to compose the effect by the union of its causes, and to decompose it by their separation,-this is only an accidental circumstance; for the far greater number of the objects presented to our observation, can only be decomposed, but not actually recomposed, and in those which can be recomposed, this possibility

VOL. I.

LECT. VI.

is itself only the result of a knowledge of the causes
 previously obtained by an original decomposition of the effect.

Analysis.

Synthesis.

In so far, therefore, as philosophy is the research of causes, the one necessary condition of its possibility is the decomposition of effects into their constituted This is the fundamental procedure of philocauses. sophy, and is called by a Greek term Analysis. But though analysis be the fundamental procedure, it is still only a mean towards an end. We analyse only that we may comprehend; and we comprehend only inasmuch as we are able to reconstruct in thought the complex effects which we have analysed into their elements. This mental reconstruction is, therefore, the final, the consummative procedure of philosophy, and it is familiarly known by the Greek term Synthesis. Analysis and synthesis, though commonly treated as two different methods, are, if properly understood, only the two necessary parts of the same method. Each is the relative and the correlative of the other. Analysis, without a subsequent synthesis, is incomplete; it is a mean cut off from its end. Synthesis, without a previous analysis, is baseless; for synthesis receives from analysis the elements which it recomposes. And, as synthesis supposes analysis as the prerequisite of its possibility, so it is also dependent on analysis for the qualities of its existence. The value of every synthesis depends upon the value of the foregoing analysis. If the precedent analysis afford false elements, the subsequent synthesis of these elements will necessarily afford a false result. If the elements furnished by analysis are assumed, and not really discovered,-in other words, if they be hypothetical,the synthesis of these hypothetical elements will con-

stitute only a conjectural theory. The legitimacy of LECT. every synthesis is thus necessarily dependent on the legitimacy of the analysis which it presupposes, and on which it founds.

These two relative procedures are thus equally ne- Constitute cessary to each other. On the one hand, analysis method. without synthesis affords only a commenced, only an incomplete, knowledge. On the other, synthesis without analysis is a false knowledge,-that is, no knowledge at all. Both, therefore, are absolutely necessary to philosophy, and both are, in philosophy, as much parts of the same method as, in the animal body, inspiration and expiration are of the same vital func-But though these operations are each requisite tion. to the other, yet were we to distinguish and compare what ought only to be considered as conjoined, it is to analysis that the preference must be accorded. An analysis is always valuable; for though now without a synthesis, this synthesis may at any time be added; whereas a synthesis without a previous analysis is radically and ab initio null.

So far, therefore, as regards the first end of philosophy, or the discovery of causes, it appears that there is only one possible method,-that method of which analysis is the foundation, synthesis the completion. In the second place, considering philosophy in relation to its second end,-the carrying up our knowledge into unity,-the same is equally apparent.

Everything presented to our observation, whether only one external or internal, whether through sense or self- methodconsciousness, is presented in complexity. Through shown in relation to sense the objects crowd upon the mind in multitudes, the second and each separate individual of these multitudes is losophy. itself a congeries of many various qualities. The same

LECT. VI. is the case with the phænomena of self-consciousness. Every modification of mind is a complex state; and the different elements of each state manifest themselves only in and through each other. Thus, nothing but multiplicity is ever presented to our observation; and yet our faculties are so limited that they are able to comprehend at once only the very simplest conjunctions. There seems, therefore, a singular disproportion between our powers of knowledge and the objects to be known. How is the equilibrium to be restored? This is the great problem proposed by nature, and which analysis and synthesis, in combination, enable us to solve. For example, I perceive a tree, among other objects of an extensive landscape, and I wish to obtain a full and distinct conception of that tree. What ought I to do ? Divide et impera: I must attend to it by itself, that is, to the exclusion of the other constituents of the scene before me. I thus analyse that scene; I separate a petty portion of it from the rest, in order to consider that portion apart. But this is not enough, the tree itself is not a unity, but, on the contrary, a complex assemblage of elements, far beyond what my powers can master at once. I must carry my analysis still farther. Accordingly, I consider successively its height, its breadth, its shape; I then proceed to its trunk, rise from that to its branches, and follow out its different ramifications; I now fix my attention on the leaves, and severally examine their form, colour, &c. It is only after having thus, by analysis, detached all these parts, in order to deal with them one by one, that I am able, by reversing the process, fully to comprehend them again in a series of synthetic acts. Bv synthesis, rising from the ultimate analysis step by step, I view the parts in relation to each other, and,

100

finally, to the whole of which they are the constituents; I reconstruct them; and it is only through these two - counter-processes of analysis and synthesis that I am able to convert the confused perception of the tree, which I obtained at first sight, into a clear, and distinct, and comprehensive knowledge.^{α}

But if analysis and synthesis be required to afford us a perfect knowledge even of one individual object of sense, still more are they required to enable the mind to reduce an indefinite multitude of objects,---the infinitude we may say of nature,---to the limits of its own finite comprehension. To accomplish this, it is requisite to extract the one out of the many, and thus to recall multitude to unity,—confusion to order. And how is this performed ? The one in the many being that in which a plurality of objects agree,-that is, may be considered as the same; and the agreement of objects in any common quality being discoverable only by an observation and comparison of the objects themselves : it follows that a knowledge of the one can only be evolved out of a foregoing knowledge of the many. But this evolution can only be accomplished by an analysis and a synthesis. By analysis, from the infinity of objects presented to our observation, we select some. These we consider apart, and, further, only in certain points of view,--and we compare these objects with others also considered in the same points of view. So far the procedure is analytic. Having discovered, however, by this observation and comparison, that certain objects agree in certain respects, we generalise the qualities in which they coincide,-that is, from a certain number of individual instances we infer a general law; we perform what is called an act of induction. This induction is erroneously viewed Induction.

a[On the subject of analysis and synthesis, compare Condillac, Logique, cc. i. ii.]

LECT.

LECT. VI.

as analytic; it is purely a synthetic process.^a For example, from our experience,-and all experience, be it that of the individual or of mankind, is only finite, -from our limited experience, I say, that bodies, as observed by us, attract each other, we infer by induction the unlimited conclusion that all bodies gravitate towards each other. Now, here the consequent contains much more than was contained in the antecedent. Experience, the antecedent only says, and only can say-this, that, and the other body gravitate, (that is, some bodies gravitate); the consequent educed from that antecedent says,--all bodies gravitate. The antecedent is limited, the consequent unlimited. Something, therefore, has been added to the antecedent in order to legitimate the inference, if we are not to hold the consequent itself as absurd; for, as you will hereafter learn, no conclusion must contain more than was contained in the premises from which it is drawn. What then is this something? If we consider the inductive process, this will be at once apparent.

The affirmation, this, that, and the other body gravitate, is connected with the affirmation, all bodies gravitate, only by inserting between the two a third affirmation, by which the two other affirmations are connected into reason and consequent,—that is, into a logical cause and effect. What that is I shall explain. All scientific induction is founded on the presumption that nature is uniform in her operations. Of the ground and origin of this presumption, I am not now

 α It may be considered as the one or the other, according as the whole and its parts are viewed in the relations of comprehension or of extension. The latter, however, is the simpler and more convenient point of view; and in this respect Induction is properly synthetic. See the Author's *Discussions*, p. 173.—ED.

to speak. I shall only say, that, as it is a principle which we suppose in all our inductions, it cannot be itself a product of induction. It is, therefore, interpolated in the inductive reasoning by the mind itself. In our example the reasoning will, accordingly, run as follows:

This, that, and the other body, (some bodies), are observed to gravitate;

But, (as nature is uniform in her operations), this, that, and the other body, (some bodies), represent all bodies;

Therefore all bodies gravitate.

Now, in this and other examples of induction, it is the mind which binds up the separate substances observed and collected into a whole, and converts what is only the observation of many particulars into a universal law. This procedure is manifestly synthetic.

Now, you will remark that analysis and synthesis are here absolutely dependent on each other. The previous observation and comparison,-the analytic foundation,-are only instituted for the sake of the subsequent induction,-the synthetic consummation. What boots it to observe and to compare, if the uniformities we discover among objects are never generalised into laws? We have obtained an historical, but not a philosophical, knowledge. Here, therefore, analysis without synthesis is incomplete. On the other hand, an induction which does not proceed upon a competent enumeration of particulars, is either doubtful, improbable, or null; for all synthesis is dependent on a foregone analysis for whatever degree of certainty it may pretend to. Thus, considering philosophy in relation to its second end, unity or system, it is manifest, that the method by which it accomplishes that

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. VI.

The history of philosophy manifests the accurate fulfilment of the condione method.

Earliest problem of philosophy.

end, is a method involving both an analytic and a synthetic process:

Now, as philosophy has only one possible method, so the History of philosophy only manifests the conmore or less ditions of this one method, more or less accurately There are aberrations in the method,---no fulfilled. tions of the aberrations from it.

> "Philosophy commenced with the first act of reflection on the objects of sense or self-consciousness, for the purpose of explaining them. And with that first act of reflection, the method of philosophy began, in its application of an analysis, and in its application of a synthesis, to its object. The first philosophers naturally endeavoured to explain the enigma of external nature. The magnificent spectacle of the material universe, and the marvellous demonstrations of power and wisdom which it everywhere exhibited, were the objects which called forth the earliest efforts of speculation. Philosophy was thus, at its commencement, physical, not psychological; it was not the problem of the soul, but the problem of the world, which it first attempted to solve.

> "And what was the procedure of philosophy in its solution of this problem? Did it first decompose the whole into its parts, in order again to reconstruct them into a system ? This it could not accomplish; but still it attempted this, and nothing else. A complete analysis was not to be expected from the first efforts of intelligence; its decompositions were necessarily partial and imperfect; a partial and imperfect analysis afforded only hypothetical elements; and the synthesis of these elements issued, consequently, only in a one-sided or erroneous theory.

"Thales, the founder of the Ionian philosophy, de-

voted an especial study to the phænomena of the $\frac{\text{LECT.}}{\text{VI.}}$ material universe; and, struck with the appearances $\frac{\text{VI.}}{\text{Thales and}}$ of power which water manifested in the formation of the Ionic bodies, he analysed all existences into this element, which he viewed as the universal principle,—the universal agent of creation. He proceeded by an incomplete analysis, and generalised by hypothesis the law which he drew by induction from the observation of a small series of phænomena.

"The Ionic school continued in the same path. They limited themselves to the study of external nature, and sought in matter the principle of existence. Anaximander of Miletus, the countryman and disciple of Thales, deemed that he had traced the primary cause of creation to an ethereal principle, which occupied space, and whose different combinations constituted the universe of matter. Anaximenes found the original element in air, from which, by rarefaction and condensation, he educed existences. Anaxagoras carried his analysis farther, and made a more discreet use of hypothesis; he rose to the conception of an intelligent first cause, distinct from the phænomena of nature; and his notion of the Deity was so far above the gross conceptions of his contemporaries, that he was accused of atheism.

"Pythagoras, the founder of the Italic school, ana-Pythagoras lysed the properties of number; and the relations which Italic this analysis revealed, he elevated into principles of the mental and material universe. Mathematics were his only objects; his analysis was partial, and his synthesis was consequently hypothetical. The Italic school developed the notions of Pythagoras, and, exclusively preoccupied with the relations and harmonies of existence, its disciples did not extend their specu-

LECT. VI. 106

lation to the consideration either of substance or of cause.

"Thus, these earlier schools, taking external nature for their point of departure, proceeded by an imperfect analysis, and a presumptuous synthesis, to the construction of exclusive systems,—in which Idealism, or Materialism, preponderated, according to the kind of data on which they founded.

"The Eleatic school, which is distinguished into two branches, the one of Physical, the other of Metaphysical, speculation, exhibits the same character, the same point of departure, the same tendency, and the same errors.

"These errors led to the scepticism of the Sophists, which was assailed by Socrates,—the sage who determined a new epoch in philosophy by directing observation on man himself; and henceforward the study of mind becomes the prime and central science of philosophy.

"The point of departure was changed, but not the method. The observation or analysis of the human mind, though often profound, remained always incomplete. Fortunately, the first disciples of Socrates, imitating the prudence of their master, and warned by the downfall of the systems of the Ionic, Italic, and Eleatic schools, made a sparing use of synthesis, and hardly a pretension to system.

Plato and Aristotle. "Plato and Aristotle directed their observation on the phænomena of intelligence, and we cannot too highly admire the profundity of their analysis, and even the sobriety of their synthesis. Plato devoted himself more particularly to the higher faculties of intelligence; and his disciples were led, by the love of generalisation, to regard as the intellectual whole

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Eleatic School.

The Sophists. Socrates. those portions of intelligence which their master had analysed; and this exclusive spirit gave birth to systems false, not in themselves, but as resting upon a too narrow basis. Aristotle, on the other hand, whose genius was of a more positive character, analysed with admirable acuteness those operations of mind which stand in more immediate relation to the senses; and this tendency, which among his followers became often exclusive and exaggerated, naturally engendered systems which more or less tended to materialism." "

The school of Alexandria, in which the systems school of resulting from these opposite tendencies were combined, endeavoured to reconcile and to fuse them into a still more comprehensive system. Eclecticism .---conciliation,-union, were, in all things, the grand aim of the Alexandrian school. Geographically situated between Greece and Asia, it endeavoured to ally Greek with Asiatic genius, religion with philosophy. Hence the Neoplatonic system, of which the last great representative is Proclus. This system is the result Proclus. of the long labour of the Socratic schools. It is an edifice reared by synthesis out of the materials which analysis had collected, proved, and accumulated, from Socrates down to Plotinus.

But a synthesis is of no greater value than its relative analysis; and as the analysis of the earlier Greek philosophy was not complete, the synthesis of the Alexandrian school was necessarily imperfect.

In the scholastic philosophy, analysis and observa- The Schotion were too often neglected in some departments of lastic Phiphilosophy, and too often carried rashly to excess in others.

After the revival of letters, during the fifteenth a Géruzez, Nouveau Cours de Philosophie, p. 4-8. Paris, 1834, (2d ed.)

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Alexandria.

LECT.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. VI.

Philosophy from the revival of letters.

Bacon and Descartes. and sixteenth centuries, the labours of philosophy were principally occupied in restoring and illustrating the Greek systems; and it was not until the seventeenth century, that a new epoch was determined by the genius of Bacon and Descartes. In Bacon and Descartes our modern philosophy may be said to originate, inasmuch as they were the first who made the doctrine of method a principal object of consideration. They both proclaimed, that, for the attainment of scientific knowledge, it is necessary to observe with care,-that is, to analyse; to reject every element as hypothetical, which this analysis does not spontaneously afford ; to call in experiment in aid of observation; and to attempt no synthesis or generalisation, until the relative analysis has been completely accomplished. They showed that previous philosophers had erred, not by rejecting either analysis or synthesis, but by hurrying on to synthetic induction from a limited or specious analytic observation. They propounded no new method of philosophy, they only expounded the conditions of the old. They showed that these conditions had rarely been fulfilled by philosophers in time past; and exhorted them to their fulfilment in time to come. They thus explained the petty progress of the past philosophy; and justly anticipated a gigantic advancement for the future. Such was their precept, but such unfortunately was not their example. There are no philosophers who merit so much in the one respect; none, perhaps, who deserve less in the other.

Result of this historical sketch of philosophy.

Of philosophy since Bacon and Descartes we at present say nothing. Of that we shall hereafter have frequent occasion to speak. But to sum up what this historical sketch was intended to illustrate. There is Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® but one possible method of philosophy,—a combination of analysis and synthesis; and the purity and equilibrium of these two elements constitute its perfection. The aberrations of philosophy have been all so many violations of the laws of this one method. Philosophy has erred, because it built its systems upon incomplete or erroneous analysis; and it can only proceed in safety, if, from accurate and unexclusive observation, it rise, by successive generalisation, to a comprehensive system.

LECT.

LECTURE VII.

THE DIVISIONS OF PHILOSOPHY.

LECT. I HAVE already endeavoured to afford you a general notion of what Philosophy comprehends : I now proceed to say something in regard to the Parts into which it has been divided. Here, however, I must limit myself to the most famous distributions, and to those which, as founded on fundamental principles, it more immediately concerns you to know. For, were I to attempt an enumeration of the various Divisions of Philosophy which have been proposed, I should only confuse you with a multitude of contradictory opinions, with the reasons of which you could not, at present, possibly be made acquainted.

Expediency of a division of Philosophy.

Seneca, in a letter to his young friend Lucilius, expresses the wish that the whole of philosophy might, like the spectacle of the universe, be at once submitted to our view. "Utinam, quemadmodum universi mundi facies in conspectum venit, ita philosophia tota nobis posset occurrere, simillimum mundo spectaculum."^a But as we cannot survey the universe at a glance, neither can we contemplate the whole of philosophy in one act of consciousness. We can only master it gradually and piecemeal; and this is in fact the reason why philosophers have always distributed their

a Epist. lxxxix.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

110

science, (constituting, though it does, one organic whole), into a plurality of sciences. The expediency, and even necessity, of a division of philosophy, in order that the mind may be enabled to embrace in one general view its various parts, in their relation to each other, and to the whole which they constitute, is admitted by every philosopher. "Res utilis," continues Seneca, "et ad sapientiam properanti utique necessaria, dividi philosophiam, et ingens corpus ejus in membra disponi. Facilius enim per partes in cognitionem totius adducimur." a

But although philosophers agree in regard to the utility of such a distribution, they are almost as little at one in regard to the parts, as they are in respect to the definition, of their science ; and, indeed, their differences in reference to the former, mainly arise from their discrepancies in reference to the latter. For they who vary in their comprehension of the whole, cannot agree in their division of the parts.

The most ancient and universally recognised distinc- The most tion of philosophy, is into Theoretical and Practical. vision into These are discriminated by the different nature of and Prac-Theoretical, called likewise speculative, tical. their ends. and contemplative, philosophy has for its highest end mere truth or knowledge. Practical philosophy, on the other hand, has truth or knowledge only as its proximate end,-this end being subordinate to the ulterior end of some practical action. In theoretical philosophy, we know for the sake of knowing, scimus ut sciamus: in practical philosophy, we know for the sake of acting, scimus ut operemur.^{β} I may here

β Θεωρητικής μέν επιστήμης τέλος άλήθεια, πρακτικής δ' έργον. Arist. Metaph., A minor, c. 1; "or as Aver-

roes has it, Per speculativam, scimus ut sciamus, per practicam scimus ut operemur."-Discussions, p. 134. Cf. In Metaph., lib. ii. com. 3.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. VII.

a Epist. lxxxix.

LECT. VII.

Active.

notice the poverty of the English language, in the want of a word to express that practical activity which is contradistinguished from mere intellectual or speculative energy,-what the Greeks express by $\pi \rho \dot{\alpha} \sigma \sigma \epsilon \nu$, the Germans by handeln. The want of such a word occasions frequent ambiguity; for, to express the species which has no appropriate word, we are compelled to employ the generic term active. Thus our philosophers divide the powers of the mind into Intellectual and Active. They do not, however, thereby mean to insinuate that the powers called intellectual are a whit less energetic than those specially denominated active. But, from the want of a better word, they are compelled to employ a term which denotes at once much more and much less than they are desirous of expressing. I ought to observe that the term practical has also obtained with us certain collateral significations, which render it in some respects unfit to supply the want.^a But to return.

History of the distinction of Theoretical and Practical.

This distinction of Theoretical and Practical philosophy was first explicitly enounced by Aristotle; β and the attempts of the later Platonists to carry it up to Plato, and even to Pythagoras, are not worthy of statement, far less of refutation. Once promulgated, the division was, however, soon generally recognised. The Stoics borrowed it, as may be seen from Seneca:^{γ} —"Philosophia et contemplativa est et activa; spectat, simulque agit." It was also adopted by the Epicureans; and, in general, by those Greek and Roman

a Cf. Reid's Works, p. 511, n.†. — ED. β Metaph., v. 1: Πῶσα διάνοια ἡ πρακτικὴ ἡ ποιητικὴ ἡ θεωρητική. Cf. Metaph., x.7; Top., vi. 6; viii. 3. But the division had been at least intimated by Plato; Politicus, p. 258: Ταύτη τοίνυν συμπάσας ἐπιστήμας διαίρει, τὴν μὲν πρακτικὴν προσειπὼν, τὴν δὲ μόνον γνωστικήν.—ED.

γ Ep. xev. 10.

philosophers who viewed their science as versant either in the contemplation of nature $(\phi \upsilon \sigma \iota \kappa \dot{\eta})$, or in the regulation of human action $(\dot{\eta}\theta_{i\kappa\dot{\eta}});^{a}$ for by nature they did not denote the material universe alone, but their Physics included Metaphysics, and their Ethics embraced Politics and Economics. There was thus only a difference of nomenclature; for Physical and Theoretical,-Ethical and Practical Philosophy, were with them terms absolutely equivalent.

I regard the division of philosophy into Theoretical The diviand Practical as unsound, and this for two reasons.

The first is, that philosophy, as philosophy, is only and Praccognitive, --- only theoretical : whatever lies beyond the sound. sphere of speculation or knowledge, transcends the sphere of philosophy; consequently, to divide philosophy by any quality ulterior to speculation, is to divide it by a difference which does not belong to it. Now, the distinction of practical philosophy from theoretical commits this error. For, while it is admitted that all philosophy, as cognitive, is theoretical, some philosophy is again taken out of this category on the ground, that, beyond the mere theory,-the mere cognition,---it has an ulterior end in its application to practice.

But, in the second place, this difference, even were it admissible, would not divide philosophy; for, in point of fact, all philosophy must be regarded as practical, inasmuch as mere knowledge,-that is, the mere possession of truth,-is not the highest end of any

a Sextus Empiricus, Adv. Math., vii. 14: Τών δέ διμερή την φιλοςοφίαν ύποστησαμένων Ξενοφάνης μέν δ Κολοφώνιος, τό φυσικόν άμα καλ λογικόν, ώς φασί τίνες, μετήρχετο, Άρχέλαος δε δ 'Αθηναίος το φυσικόν και ήθικόν.

μεθ' ου τινές και τον 'Επίκουρον τάττουσιν ώς και την λογικην θεωρίαν έκβάλλοντα. Seneca, Ep. lxxxix: "Epicurci duas partes philosophiæ putaverunt esse, Naturalem, atque Moralem : Rationalem removerunt."-ED.

VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® sion of Philosophy into tical un-

LECT. VII.

LECT. VII.

philosophy, but, on the contrary, all truth or knowledge is valuable only inasmuch as it determines the mind to its contemplation,---that is, to practical energy. Speculation, therefore, inasmuch as it is not a negation of thought, but, on the contrary, the highest energy of intellect, is, in point of fact, pre-eminently practical. The practice of one branch of philosophy is, indeed, different from that of another ; but all are still practical; for in none is mere knowledge the ultimate,-the highest end.

Controversy among ancients regarding the relation of Logic to

Among the ancients, the principal difference of opinion regarded the relation of Logic to Philosophy and its branches. But as this controversy is of very of Logic to Philosophy. subordinate importance, and hinges upon distinctions, to explain which would require considerable detail, I shall content myself with saying,-that, by the Platonists, Logic was regarded both as a part, and as the instrument, of philosophy;-by the Aristotelians, (Aristotle himself is silent), as an instrument, but not as a part, of philosophy; by the Stoics, as forming one of the three parts of philosophy,-Physics or theoretical, Ethics or practical, philosophy, being the other two.^a But as Logic, whether considered as a part of philosophy proper or not, was by all included under the philosophical sciences, the division of these sciences which latterly prevailed among the Academic, the Peripatetic, and the Stoical sects, was into Logic as the subsidiary or instrumental doctrine, and into the

> a Alexander Aphrodisiensis, In Anal. Prior., p. 2, (ed. 1520); Ammonius, In Categ., c. 4; Philoponus, In Anal. Prior., f. 4; Cramer's Anecdota, vol. iv. p. 417. Compare the Author's Discussions, p. 132. The division of Philosophy into Logic, Physics, and Ethics, probably origi-

nated with the Stoics. See Laertius. vii. 39; Pseudo-Plutarch, De Plac. Phil., Procem. It is sometimes, but apparently without much reason, attributed to Plato. See Cicero, Acad. Quæst., i. 5; Eusebius, Præp. Evan., xi. 1; Augustin, De Civ. Dei, viii. 4. -ED.

two principal branches of Theoretical and Practical LECT. Philosophy."

It is manifest that in our sense of the term *practical*, Logic, as an instrumental science, would be comprehended under the head of practical philosophy.

I shall take this opportunity of explaining an Application anomaly which you will find explained in no work Art and with which I am acquainted. Certain branches of Science. philosophical knowledge are called Arts, or Arts and Sciences indifferently; others are exclusively denominated Sciences. Were this distinction coincident with the distinction of sciences speculative and sciences practical,-taking the term practical in its ordinary acceptation,-there would be no difficulty; for, as every practical science necessarily involves a theory, nothing could be more natural than to call the same branch of knowledge an art, when viewed as relative to its practical application, and a science, when viewed in relation to the theory which that application supposes. But this is not the case. The speculative sciences, indeed, are never denominated arts; we may, therefore, throw them aside. The difficulty is exclusively confined to the practical. Of these some never receive the name of arts ; others are called arts and sciences indifferently. Thus the sciences of Ethics, Economics, Politics, Theology, &c., though all practical, are never denominated arts; whereas this appellation is very usually applied to the practical sciences of Logic, Rhetoric, Grammar, &c.

That the term art is with us not coextensive with practical science, is thus manifest; and yet these are frequently confounded. Thus, for example, Dr Whately,

a Sext. Empir., Adv. Math., vii. 16.-ED.

LECT. VII. in his definition of Logic, thinks that Logic is a science, in so far as it institutes an analysis of the process of the mind in reasoning, and an art, in so far as it affords practical rules to secure the mind from error in its deductions; and he defines an art the application of knowledge to practice.^a Now, if this view were correct, art and practical science would be convertible terms. But that they are not employed as synonymous expressions is, as we have seen, shown by the incongruity we feel in talking of the art of Ethics, the art of Religion, &c., though these are eminently practical sciences.

The question, therefore, still remains, Is this restriction of the term art to certain of the practical sciences the result of some accidental and forgotten usage, or is it founded on any rational principle which we are able to trace? The former alternative seems to be the common belief; for no one, in so far as I know, has endeavoured to account for the apparently vague and capricious manner in which the terms art and science are applied. The latter alternative, however, is the true; and I shall endeavour to explain to you the reason of the application of the term art to certain practical sciences, and not to others.

Its historical origin. You are aware that the Aristotelic philosophy was, for many centuries, not only the prevalent, but, during the middle ages, the one exclusive philosophy in Europe. This philosophy of the middle ages, or, as it is commonly called, the Scholastic Philosophy, has exerted the most extensive influence on the languages of modern Europe; and from this common source has been principally derived that community of expression which these languages exhibit. Now, the peculiar

a See Discussions, p. 131.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

116

application of the term art was introduced into the vulgar tongues from the scholastic philosophy; and was borrowed by that philosophy from Aristotle. This is only one of a thousand instances which might be alleged of the unfelt influence of a single powerful mind, on the associations and habits of thought of generations to the end of time; and of Aristotle is pre-cminently true, what has been so beautifully said of the ancients in general :—

> "The great of old ! The dead but sceptred sovrans who still rule Our spirits from their urns." «

Now, then, the application of the term art in the modern languages being mediately governed by certain distinctions which the capacities of the Greek tongue allowed Aristotle to establish, these distinctions must be explained.

In the Aristotelic philosophy, the terms $\pi\rho\hat{\xi}$ and *πρακτικός*,—that is, *practice* and *practical*,— *πρâξιε*. were employed both in a generic or looser, and in a special or stricter, signification. In its generic meaning $\pi \rho \hat{a} \xi_{is}$, practice, was opposed to theory or speculation, and it comprehended under it, practice in its special meaning, and another co-ordinate term to which practice, in this its stricter signification, was opposed. This term was $\pi oin \sigma is$, which we may inadequately translate by production. The distinc- noingues. tion of πρακτικόs and ποιητικόs consisted in this: the former denoted that action which terminated in action, — the latter, that action which resulted in some permanent product. For example, dancing and music are practical, as leaving no work after their performance; whereas, painting and statuary

a Byron's Manfred, Act iii. scene iv.

LECT.

LECT. VII.

WhyEthics, Politics, &c., designated Sciences; Logic, Rhetoric, &c., Arts.

. are productive, as leaving some product over and – above their energy.^a

Now Aristotle, in formally defining art, defines it as a habit productive, and not as a habit practical, έξις ποιητική μετά λόγου; and, though he has not always himself adhered strictly to this limitation, his definition was adopted by his followers, and the term in its application to the practical sciences, (the term practical being here used in its generic meaning), came to be exclusively confined to those whose end did not result in mere action or energy. Accordingly as Ethics, Politics, &c., proposed happiness as their end, and as happiness was an energy, or at least the concomitant of energy, these sciences terminated in action, and were consequently practical, not productive. On the other hand, Logic, Rhetoric, &c., did not terminate in a mere,-an evanescent action, but in a permanent,—an enduring product. For the end of Logic was the production of a reasoning, the end of Rhetoric the production of an oration, and so forth.^{β} This distinction is not perhaps beyond the reach of criticism, and I am not here to vindicate its correctness. My only aim is to make you aware of the grounds of the distinction, in order that you may comprehend the principle which originally determined the application of the term art to some of the practical

a See Eth. Nic., i. 1: Διαφορά δέ τις φαίνεται τῶν τελῶν· τὰ μὲν γἀρ εἰσιν ἐνέργειαι· τὰ δὲ παρ' αὐτὰς ἔργα τινά. Ibid., vi. 4; Magna Moralia,
i. 35. Cf. Quintilian, Institut., lib.
ii. c. 18.—ED.

β Cf. Burgersdyck, Institut. Log., lib. i. § 6: "Logica dicitur ποιεiν, id est, facere sive efficere syllogismos, definitiones, &c. Neque enim verum est, quod quidam aiunt, ποιεiν semper similiare giumedi sationem que ex palpabili materia opus aliquod efficitur quod etiam post actionem permanet. Nam Poetica dicta est $\dot{\alpha}\pi \partial \tau \sigma \bar{\sigma} \sigma e \bar{\omega} q uæ$ tamen palpabilem materiam non tractat, neque opus facit ipsa Poetæ fictione durabilius. Quod enim poemata supersint, id non est ab ca actione qua efficiuntur, sed a scriptione. Atque hæc de genere." See also Scheibler, Opera, Tract. Proœm. § iii. p. 6.—ED.

significare ejusmodi actionem, qua Univ Calit - Digitized by Microsoft ® sciences and not to others, and without a knowledge of which principle the various employment of the term must appear to you capricious and unintelligible. It is needless, perhaps, to notice that the rule applies only to the philosophical sciences,-to those which received their form and denominations from the learned. The mechanical dexterities were beneath their notice : and these were accordingly left to receive their appellations from those who knew nothing of the Aristotelic proprieties. Accordingly, the term art is in them applied, without distinction, to productive and unproductive operations. We speak of the art of rope-dancing, equally as of the art of rope-making. But to return.

The division of philosophy into Theoretical and Universal-Practical is the most important that has been made; division of Philosophy and it is that which has entered into nearly all into Theorethe distributions attempted by modern philosophers. Practical. Bacon was the first, after the revival of letters, who Bacon. essaved a distribution of the sciences and of philosophy. He divided all human knowledge into History, Poetry, and Philosophy. Philosophy he distinguished into branches conversant about the Deity, about Nature, and about Man; and each of these had their subordinate divisions, which, however, it is not necessary to particularise.^a

Descartes^{β} distributed philosophy into theoretical Descartes and practical, with various subdivisions; but his fol- and his followers adopted the division of Logic, Metaphysics, Physics, and Ethics.^{γ} Gassendi recognised, like the

a Advancement of Learning; Works, vol. ii. pp. 100, 124, (ed. Montagu); De Augmentis Scientiarum, lib. ii. c. 1, lib. iii. c. 1; Works, vol. viii. pp. 87, 152.-Ed.

β See the Prefatory Epistle to the Principia.-ED.

y See Sylvain Regis, Coursentier de Phys. i., Opera, p. 54.-ED.

Philosophie, contenant la Logique, la Mctaphysique, la Physique, et la Morale. Cf. Clauberg: "Physica Philosophia Naturalis dicitur; distincta a Supernaturali scu Metaphysica, et a Rationali seu Logica, necnon a Morali seu Practica."-Disput.

LECT. VII.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. VII. Grassendi. Locke. Kant. Locke. L

Fichte.

Conclusion of Introductory Lectures. ancients, three parts of philosophy, Logic, Physics, and Ethics, " and this, along with many other of Gassendi's doctrines, was adopted by Locke.^{β} Kant distinguished philosophy into theoretical and practical, with various subdivisions; ^{γ} and the distribution into theoretical and practical was also established by Fichte.^{δ}

I have now concluded the Lectures generally introductory to the proper business of the Course. In these Lectures, from the general nature of the subjects, I was compelled to anticipate conclusions, and to depend on your being able to supply a good deal of what it was impossible for me articulately to explain. I now enter upon the consideration of the matters which are hereafter to occupy our attention, with comparatively little apprehension; for, in these, we shall be able to dwell more upon details, while, at the same time, the subject will open upon us by degrees, so that, every step that we proceed, we shall find the progress easier. But I have to warn you, that you will probably find the very commencement the most arduous, and this not only because you will come less inured to difficulty, but because it will there be necessary to deal with principles, and these of a general and abstract nature; whereas, having once mastered these, every subsequent step will be comparatively easy.

Order of the Course.

Without entering upon details, I may now summarily state to you the order which I propose to follow in the ensuing Course. This requires a preliminary exposition of the different departments of

a Syntagma Philosophicum, Lib. Proœm. c. 9 (Opera, Lugduni, 1658, vol. i. p. 29.)—ED. b c c d c gest senschaftslehre, § 4 (We

 β Essay, book iv. ch. 21.—ED. γ Kritik der reinen Vernunft, Me-

8, S Grundlage der gesammten Wissenschaftslehre, § 4 (Werke, vol. i. p. 126.)—ED.
Philosophy, in order that you may obtain a comprehensive view of the proper objects of our consideration, and of the relations in which they stand to others.

Science and Philosophy are conversant either about Distribution Mind or about Matter. The former of these is Philo- losophical sophy properly so called. With the latter we have Sciences. nothing to do, except in so far as it may enable us to throw light upon the former, for Metaphysics, in whatever latitude the term be taken, is a science, or complement of sciences, exclusively occupied with mind. Now the Philosophy of Mind,-Psychology or Metaphysics, in the widest signification of the terms,—is threefold; for the object it immediately proposes for consideration may be either, 1°, PHÆNO-MENA in general; or, 2°, LAWS; or, 3°, INFERENCES,-RESULTS. This I will endeavour to explain.

The whole of philosophy is the answer to these The three three questions : 1°, What are the Facts or Phænomena tions of to be observed ? 2°, What are the Laws which regulate Philosophy. these facts, or under which these phænomena appear? 3°, What are the real Results, not immediately manifested, which these facts or phænomena warrant us in drawing?

If we consider the mind merely with the view of I. Phænoobserving and generalising the various phænomena it Mind. reveals,-that is, of analysing them into capacities or faculties,-we have one mental science, or one department of mental science; and this we may call the PHÆNOMENOLOGY OF MIND. It is commonly called PSYCHOLOGY-EMPIRICAL PSYCHOLOGY, or the INDUC-TIVE PHILOSOPHY OF MIND; we might call it PHÆ-NOMENAL PSYCHOLOGY. It is evident that the divisions of this science will be determined by the classes into which the phænomena of mind are distributed.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. VII.

LECT. VII.

II. Nomology of Mind.

Its subdivisions.

If, again, we analyse the mental phænomena with the view of discovering and considering, not contingent appearances, but the necessary and universal facts,-i.e., the Laws by which our faculties are governed, to the end that we may obtain a criterion by which to judge or to explain their procedures and manifestations.—we have a science which we may call the Nomology of MIND,-Nomological Psycho-LOGY. Now, there will be as many distinct classes of Nomological Psychology, as there are distinct classes of mental phænomena under the Phænomenological division. I shall, hereafter, show you that there are Three great classes of these phænomena,—viz., 1°, The phænomena of our Cognitive faculties, or faculties of Knowledge; 2°, The phænomena of our Feelings, or the phænomena of Pleasure and Pain; and, 3°, The phænomena of our Conative powers,-in other words, the phænomena of Will and Desire. (These you must, for the present, take upon trust.)^a Each of these classes of phænomena has accordingly a science which is conversant about its laws. For as each proposes a different end, and, in the accomplishment of that end, is regulated by peculiar laws, each must, consequently, have a different science conversant about these laws,-that is, a different Nomology.

1. Nomology of the Cognitive faculties. There is no one, no Nomological, science of the Cognitive faculties in general, though we have some older treatises which, though partial in their subject, afford a name not unsuitable for a nomology of the cognitions,—viz., Gnoseologia or Gnostologia. There is no independent science of the laws of Perception; if there were, it might be called Æsthetic, which, however, as we shall see, would be ambiguous. Mnemonic, or the science of the laws of Memory, has been elabo-

Univ Call - bight Lect. xi. p. 183 et seq. -ED: B

rated at least in numerous treatises; but the name VII. Anamnestic, the art of Recollection or Reminiscence, might be equally well applied to it. The laws of the Representative faculty,-that is, the laws of Association,-have not yet been elevated into a separate nomological science. Neither have the conditions of the Regulative or Legislative faculty, the faculty itself of Laws, been fully analysed, far less reduced to system; though we have several deservedly forgotten treatises, of an older date, under the inviting name of Noologies. The only one of the cognitive faculties, whose laws Logic. constitute the object-matter of a separate science, is the Elaborative, - the Understanding Special, the faculty of Relations, the faculty of Thought Proper. This nomology has obtained the name of LOGIC among other appellations, but not from Aristotle. The best name would have been DIANOETIC. Logic is the science of the laws of thought, in relation to the end which our cognitive faculties propose, -i.e., the TRUE. To this head might be referred Grammar,-Universal Grammar,-Philosophical Grammar, or the science conversant with the laws of Language as the instrument of thought.

The Nomology of our Feelings, or the science of the 2. Nomo-laws which govern our capacities of enjoyment, in Feelings. relation to the end which they propose, - i.e., the PLEASURABLE,-has obtained no precise name in our language. It has been called the Philosophy of Taste, and, on the Continent especially, it has been denominated Æsthetic. Neither name is unobjectionable. The first is vague, metaphorical, and even delusive. In regard to the second, you are aware that $ai\sigma\theta\eta\sigma$ is in Greek means feeling in general, as well as sense in particular, as our term feeling means either the sense of touch in particular, or sentiment and the capacity

123

of the pleasurable and painful in general. Both terms - are, therefore, to a certain extent ambiguous; but this objection can rarely be avoided, and Æsthetic, if not the best expression to be found, has already been long and generally employed. It is now nearly a century since Baumgarten, a celebrated philosopher of the Leibnitio-Wolfian school, first applied the term Æsthetic to the doctrine which we vaguely and periphrastically denominate the Philosophy of Taste, the theory of the Fine Arts, the science of the Beautiful and Sublime,^a &c.; and this term is now in general acceptation, not only in Germany, but throughout the other countries of Europe. The term Apolaustic would have been a more appropriate designation.

3. Nomology of the Conative Powers.

Ethics, Politics. Finally, the Nomology of our Conative powers is Practical Philosophy, properly so called; for practical philosophy is simply the science of the laws regulative of our Will and Desires, in relation to the end which our conative powers propose,—*i.e.*, the GOOD. This, as it considers these laws in relation to man as an individual, or in relation to man as a member of society, will be divided into two branches,—Ethics and Politics; and these again admit of various subdivisions.

So much for those parts of the Philosophy of Mind, which are conversant about Phænomena, and about Laws. The Third great branch of this philosophy is that which is engaged in the deduction of Inferences or Results.

III. Ontology, or Metaphysics Proper. In the First branch,—the Phænomenology of mind, —philosophy is properly limited to the facts afforded in consciousness, considered exclusively in themselves. But these facts may be such as not only to be objects of knowledge in themselves, but likewise to furnish us

α Baumgarten's work on this subject, entitled *Æsthetica* (two vols.), by Microsoft ®

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

with grounds of inference to something out of them-As effects, and effects of a certain character, selves. they may enable us to infer the analogous character of their unknown causes; as phænomena, and phænomena of peculiar qualities, they may warrant us in drawing many conclusions regarding the distinctive character of that unknown principle, of that unknown substance, of which they are the manifestations. A1though, therefore, existence be only revealed to us in phænomena, and though we can, therefore, have only a relative knowledge either of mind or of matter; still, by inference and analogy, we may legitimately attempt to rise above the mere appearances which experience and observation afford. Thus, for example, the existence of God and the immortality of the Soul are not given us as phænomena, as objects of immediate knowledge; yet, if the phænomena actually given do necessarily require, for their rational explanation, the hypotheses of immortality and of God, we are assuredly entitled, from the existence of the former, to infer the reality of the latter. Now, the science conversant about all such inferences of unknown being from its known manifestations, is called ONTOLOGY, or METAPHYSICS PROPER. We might call it INFERENTIAL PSYCHOLOGY.

The following is a tabular view of the distribution of Philosophy as here proposed :—



Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. VII.

Meaning of the term. In this distribution of the philosophical sciences, you will observe that I take little account of the celebrated division of Philosophy into Speculative and Practical, which I have already explained to you,^a for I call only one minor division of philosophy practical, —viz., the Nomology of the Conative powers,—not because that science is not equally theoretical with any other, but simply because these powers are properly called practical, as tending to practice or overt action.

Such is the distribution of Philosophy, which I venture to propose as the simplest and most exhaustive; and I shall now proceed, in reference to it, to specify the particular branches which form the objects of our consideration in the present course.

Distribution of subjects in Faculty of Philosophy in the Universities of Europe.

The subjects assigned to the various chairs of the Philosophical Faculty, in the different Universities of Europe, were not calculated upon any comprehensive view of the parts of philosophy, and of their natural Our universities were founded when the connection. Aristotelic philosophy was the dominant, or rather the exclusive, system, and the parts distributed to the different classes, in the faculty of Arts or Philosophy, were regulated by the contents of certain of the Aristotelic books, and by the order in which they were Of these, there were always Four great divistudied. sions. There was, first, Logic, in relation to the Organon of Aristotle; secondly, Metaphysics, relative to his books under that title; thirdly, Moral Philosophy, relative to his Ethics, Politics, and Economics; and, fourthly, Physics, relative to his Physics, and the collection of treatises styled in the schools the Parva Naturalia. But every university had not a full complement of classes, that is, did not devote a separate year

a See ante, p. 113.-ED.

to each of the four subjects of study; and, accordingly, in those seats of learning where three years formed the curriculum of philosophy, two of these branches were combined. In this university, Logic and Metaphysics were taught in the same year; in others, Metaphysics and Moral Philosophy were conjoined; and, when the old practice was abandoned of the several Regents or Professors carrying on their students through every department, the two branches which had been taught in the same year were assigned to the same chair. What is most curious in the matter is this.—Aristotle's treatise On the Soul being, (along with his lesser treatises on Memory and Reminiscence, on Sense and its Objects, &c.), included in the Parva Naturalia, and, he having declared that the consideration of the soul was part of the philosophy of nature," the science of Mind was always treated along with Physics. The Professors of Natural Philosophy have, however, long abandoned the philosophy of mind, and this branch has been, as more appropriate to their departments, taught both by the Professors of Moral Philosophy and by the Professors of Logic and Metaphysics,-for you are not to suppose that metaphysics and psychology are, though vulgarly used as synonymous expressions, by any means the same. So much for the historical accidents which have affected the subjects of the different chairs.

I now return to the distribution of philosophy, which Subjects ap-I have given you, and, first, by exclusion, I shall tell to this you what does not concern us. In this class, we have Chair. nothing to do with Practical Philosophy,-that is,

ρησαι περί ψυχής, η πάσης η της τοιαύτης. Cf. Metaph., v. 1: Δηλον πως δεί έν τοις φυσικοίς το τί έστι (πτείν

α De Anima, i. 1: Φυσικού το θεω- και δρίζεσθαι, και διότι και περί ψυχής ένίας θεωρήσαι του φυσικού, δση μή άνευ της ύλης έστίν.-ΕD.

127

Ethics, Politics, Economics. But, with this exception, LECT. there is no other branch of philosophy which is not either specially allotted to our consideration, or which does not fall naturally within our sphere. Of the former description, are Logic, and Ontology or Metaphysics Proper. Of the latter, are Psychology, or the Philosophy of Mind in its stricter signification, and Æsthetic.

Comprehension and Order of the Course.

VII.

These subjects are, however, collectively too extensive to be overtaken in a single Course, and, at the same time, some of them are too abstract to afford the proper materials for the instruction of those only commencing the study of philosophy. In fact, the department allotted to this chair comprehends the two extremes of philosophy,-Logic, forming its appropriate introduction,-Metaphysics, its necessary consummation. I propose, therefore, in order fairly to exhaust the business of the chair, to divide its subjects between two Courses,-the one on Phænomenology, Psychology, or Mental Philosophy in general; the other on Nomology, Logic, or the laws of the Cognitive Faculties in particular.^a

a From the following sentences, which appear in the manuscript lecture as superseded by the paragraph given in the text, it is obvious that the Author had originally designed to discuss specifically, and with greater detail, the three grand departments of Philosophy indicated in the distribution proposed by him :--

"The plan which I propose to adopt in the distribution of the Course, or rather Courses, is the following:

"I shall commence with Mental Philosophy, strictly so called, with the science which is conversant with the Manifestations of Mind,-Phæ-

nomenology, or Psychology. I shall then proceed to Logic, the science which considers the Lawsof Thought; and finally, to Ontology, or Metaphysics Proper, the philosophy of Results. Æsthetic, or the theory of the Pleasurable, I should consider subsequently to Logic, and previously to Ontology."-On the propriety of according to Psychology the first place in the order of the philosophical sciences, see Cousin, Cours de l'Histoire de la Philosophie, Deuxième Série, tom. ii. p. 71-73 (ed. 1847); Géruzez, Nouveau Cours de Philosophie, pp. 10, 14, 15.-ED.

LECTURE VIII.

PSYCHOLOGY, ITS DEFINITION. EXPLICATION OF TERMS.

I now pass to the First Division of my subject, which LECT. will occupy the present Course, and commence with a definition of Psychology,-THE PHÆNOMENOLOGY OF MIND

Psychology, or the Philosophy of the Human Mind, Definition of strictly so denominated, is the science conversant about Psychology. the phanomena, or modifications, or states of the Mind, or Conscious-Subject, or Soul, or Spirit, or Self, or Eqo.

In this definition, you will observe that I have pur- Explication posely accumulated a variety of expressions, in order of terms. that I might have the earliest opportunity of making you accurately acquainted with their meaning; for they are terms of vital importance and frequent use in philosophy.-Before, therefore, proceeding further, I shall pause a moment in explanation of the terms in which this definition is expressed. Without restricting myself to the following order, I shall consider the word Psychology; the correlative terms subject and substance, phænomena, modification, state, &c., and, at the same time, take occasion to explain another correlative, the expression object; and, finally, the words mind, soul, spirit, self, and eqo.

Indeed, after considering these terms, it may not be improper to take up, in one series, the philosophical

VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

VIII.

LECT.

expressions of principal importance and most ordinary occurrence, in order to render less frequent the necessity of interrupting the course of our procedure, to afford the requisite verbal explanations.

The term Psychology; its use vindicated.

The term *Psychology* is of Greek compound, its elements-yuxn, signifying soul or mind, and hoyos, signifying discourse or doctrine. Psychology, therefore, is the discourse or doctrine treating of the human mind. But, though composed of Greek elements, it is, like the greater number of the compounds of $\lambda \dot{0} \gamma \sigma_{s}$, of modern combination. It may be asked,-why use an exotic, a technical name? Why not be contented with the more popular terms, Philosophy of Mind or Mental Philosophy,-Science of Mind or Mental Science ?- expressions by which this department of knowledge has been usually designated by those who, in this country, have cultivated it with the most distinguished success. To this there are several an-In the first place, philosophy itself, and all, swers. or almost all, its branches, have, in our language, received Greek technical denominations ;---why not also the most important of all, the science of mind? In the second place, the term psychology is now, and has long been, the ordinary expression for the doctrine of mind in the philosophical language of every other European nation. Nay, in point of fact, it is now naturalised in English, psychology and psychological having of late years come into common use; and their employment is warranted by the authority of the best Eng-It was familiarly employed by one of lish writers. our best writers, and most acute metaphysicians, Principal Campbell of Aberdeen; " and Dr Beattie, likewise, has entitled the first part of his Elements of Moral Science,-that which treats of the mental a Philosophy of Rhetoric, vol. i. p. 143, (1st ed.); p. 123, (ed. 1816.)-ED.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

faculties.—Psychology. To say nothing of Coleridge, the late Sir James Mackintosh was also an advocate for its employment, and justly censured Dr Brown for not using it, in place of his very reprehensible expression,-Physiology of Mind, the title of his unfinished text-book." But these are reasons in themselves of comparatively little moment: they tend merely to show that, if otherwise expedient, the nomenclature is permissible; and that it is expedient the following reasons will prove. For, in the third place, it is always of consequence for the sake of precision to be able to use one word instead of a plurality of words,-especially, where the frequent occurrence of a descriptive appellation might occasion tedium, distraction, and disgust; and this must necessarily occur in the treatment of any science, if the science be able to possess no single name vicarious of its definition. In this respect, therefore, Psychology is preferable to Philosophy of Mind. But, in the fourth place, even if the employment of the description for the name could, in this instance, be tolerated, when used substantively, what are we to do when we require, (which we do unceasingly), to use the denomination of the science adjectively? For example, I have occasion to say a psychological fact, a psychological law, a psychological euriosity, &c. How can we express these by the descriptive appellation? A psychological fact may indeed be styled a fact considered relatively to the philosophy of the human mind,-a psychological law may be called a law by which the mental phænomena are governed, -a psychological curiosity may be rendered-by what, I really do not know. But how miserably weak, awkward, tedious,

a Dissertation on the Progress of pædia Britannica, vol. i. p. 399, (7th Ethical Philosophy, in the Encyclorited.) Ethy Microsoft B

LECT. VIII.

and affected, is the commutation when it can be made; not only do the vivacity and precision of the original evaporate, the meaning itself is not even adequately conveyed. But this defect is still more manifestly shown when we wish to place in contrast the matters proper to this science, with the matters proper to others. Thus, for example, to say,-this is a psychological, not a physiological, doctrine-this is a psychological observation, not a logical inference. How is the contradistinction to be expressed by a periphrasis? It is impossible,-for the intensity of the contrast consists, first, in the two opposite terms being single words, and second, in their being both even technical and precise Greek. This necessity has, accordingly, compelled the adoption of the terms psychology and psychological into the philosophical nomenclature of every nation, even where the same necessity did not vindicate the employment of a non-vernacular expres-Thus in Germany, though the native language sion. affords a facility of composition only inferior to the Greek, and though it possesses a word (Seelenlehre) exactly correspondent to ψυχολογία, yet because this substantive did not easily allow of an adjective flexion, the Greek terms, substantive and adjective, were both adopted, and have been long in as familiar use in the Empire, as the terms geography and geographical,-physiology and physiological, are with us.

The terms Physiology and Physics, as applied to the philosophy of mind, inappropriate.

What I have now said may suffice to show that, to supply a necessity, we must introduce these words into our philosophical vocabulary. But the propriety of this is still further shown by the inauspicious attempts that have been recently made on the name of the science. As I have mentioned before, Dr Brown, in the very title of the abridgment of his lectures on mental philosophy, has styled this philosophy,

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

"The Physiology of the Human Mind;" and I have also seen two English publications of modern date,one entitled the "Physics of the Soul," the other "Intellectual Physics." a Now the term nature, (oúous, natura), though in common language of a more extensive meaning, has, in general, by philosophers, been applied appropriately to denote the laws which govern the appearances of the material universe. And the words Physiology and Physics have been specially limited to denote sciences conversant about these laws as regulating the phænomena of organic and inorganic bodies. The empire of nature is the empire of a mechanical necessity; the necessity of nature, in philosophy, stands opposed to the liberty of intelligence. Those, accordingly, who do not allow that mind is matter,-who hold that there is in man a principle of action superior to the determinations of a physical necessity, a brute or blind fate,-must regard the application of the terms Physiology and Physics to the doctrine of the mind as either singularly inappropriate, or as significant of a false hypothesis in regard to the character of the thinking principle.

Mr Stewart objects $^{\beta}$ to the term *Spirit*, as seem-spirit, soul. ing to imply an hypothesis concerning the nature and essence of the sentient or thinking principle, altogether unconnected with our conclusions in regard to its phænomena, and their general laws; and, for the same reason, he is disposed to object to the words Pneumatology and Psychology; the former of which was introduced by the schoolmen. In regard to *Spirit* and *Pneumatology*, Mr Stewart's criticism is perfectly just. They are unnecessary; and, besides the etymo-

a Intellectual Physics, an Essay Essay concerning the Nature of Being. concerning the Nature of Being and 1803. By Governor Pownall.—ED. the Progression of Existence. Lonb Philosophical Essays, Prelim. Disdon, 1795. Intellectual Physics, an sert. ch. 1; Works, vol. v. p. 20.—ED.

LECT. VIII.

other languages.

logical metaphor, they are associated with a certain theological limitation, which spoils them as expressions of philosophical generality.^a But this is not the case with Psychology. For though, in its etymology, it is, like almost all metaphysical terms, originally of physical application, still this had been long forgotten even by the Greeks; and, if we were to reject philosophical expressions on this account, we should be left without any terms for the mental phænomena at all. The term soul (and what I say of the term soul is true of the term *spirit*), though in this country less employed than the term mind, may be regarded as another synonym for the unknown basis of the mental phænomena. Like nearly all the words significant of the internal world, there is here a metaphor borrowed from the external; and this is the case not merely in one, but, as far as we can trace the analogy, in all languages. You are aware that $\psi v \chi \eta$, the Greek Correspond- term for soul, comes from $\psi \dot{\chi} \omega$, I breathe or blow,ing terms in as $\pi\nu\epsilon\hat{\nu}\mu\alpha$ in Greek, and *spiritus* in Latin, from verbs of the same signification. In like manner, anima and animus are words which, though in Latin they have lost their primary signification, and are only known in their secondary or metaphorical, yet, in their original physical meaning, are preserved in the Greek άνεμος, wind or air. The English soul, and the German Seele, come from a Gothic root saivala,^{β} which signifies to storm. Ghost, the old English word for

> a [The terms Psychology and Pneumatology, or Pneumatic, are not equivalents. The latter word was used for the doctrine of spirit in general, which was subdivided into three branches, as it treated of the three orders of spiritual substances,-God, -Angels, and Devils, -and Man. Thus

Pneumatolo gia or Pneu 2. Angelographia, Dæmonologia. matica. (3. Psychologia.

-See Theoph. Gale, Logica, p. 455, (1681).]

β See Grimm, Deutsche Grammatik, vol. ii. p. 99. In Anglo-Saxon, Sawel, Sawal, Sawl, Saul.-ED.

spirit in general, and so used in our English version of the Scriptures, is the same as the German Geist," and is derived from Gas or Gescht, which signifies air. In like manner, the two words in Hebrew for soul or spirit, nephesh and ruach, are derivatives of a root which means to breathe ; and in Sanscrit the word atmā (analogous to the Greek atµòs, vapour or air) signifies both mind and wind or $air.^{\beta}$ Sapientia, in Latin, originally meant only the power of tasting; as sagacitas only the faculty of scenting. In French, penser comes from the Latin pendere, through pensare, to weigh, and the terms, attentio, intentio, (entendement), comprehensio, apprehensio, penetratio, understanding, &c., are just so many bodily actions transferred to the expression of mental energies.^{γ}

There is, therefore, on this ground, no reason to re- By whom ject such useful terms as psychology and psychologi-lation Psycal; terms, too, now in such general acceptation in employed. the philosophy of Europe. I may, however, add an historical notice of their introduction. Aristotle's principal treatise on the philosophy of mind is entitled $\Pi \epsilon \rho i \Psi v_X \hat{\eta}_S$; but the first author who gave a treatise on the subject under the title Psychologia, (which I have observed to you is a modern compound), is Otto Casmann, who, in the year 1594, published at Hanau his very curious work, "Psychologia Anthropologica sive Animæ Humanæ Doctrina." This was followed, in two years, by his "Anthropologia Pars II., hoc est, de fabrica Humani Corporis." This author

a Scotch Ghaist, Gastly.

β [See H. Schmid, Versuch einer Metaphysik der inneren Natur, p. 69, note; Scheidler's Psychologie, pp. 299-301, 320 et seq. Cf. Theoph. Gale, Philosophia Generalis, pp. 321, 322. Pritchard, Review of the Doctrine of a Vital Principle, p. 5-6.]

γ [On this point see Leibnitz, Nouv. Ess., liv. iii. ch. i. §5; Stewart, Phil. Essays - Works, vol. v. Essay v. ; Brown, Human Understanding, p. 388 et seq.]

chology first

LECT. VIII.

LECT. VIII. had the merit of first giving the name Anthropologia to the science of man in general, which he divided into two parts,-the first, Psychologia, the doctrine of the Human Mind, the second, Somatologia, the doctrine of the Human Body; and these, thus introduced and applied, still continue to be the usual appellations of these branches of knowledge in Germany. I would not say, however, that Casmann was the true author of the term *psychology*, for his master, the celebrated Rudolphus Goclenius of Marburg, published, also in 1594, a work entitled " Yuxodoyía, hoc est, de Hominis Perfectione, Anima, &c.," being a collection of dissertations on the subject; in 1596 another, entitled "De præcipuis Materiis Psychologicis;" and in 1597 a third, entitled "Authores Varii de Psychologia,"-so that I am inclined to attribute the origin of the name to Goclenius." Subsequently, the term became the usual title of the science, and this chiefly through the authority of Wolf, whose two principal works on the subject are entitled "Psychologia Empirica," and "Psychologia Rationalis." Charles Bonnet, in his "Essai de Psychologie,"^{β} familiarised the name in France; where, as well as in Italy,-indeed, in all the Continental countries, -it is now the common appellation.

In the second place, I said that Psychology is conversant about the *phanomena* of the thinking *subject*, &c., and I now proceed to expound the import of the correlative terms phanomenon, *subject*, &c.

But the meaning of these terms will be best illustrated by now stating and explaining the great axiom, that all human knowledge, consequently that all human philosophy, is only of the relative or phænomenal.^{γ} In

a [The term <i>psychology</i> is, however	,
used by Joannes Thomas Freigius in	ι
the Catalogus Locorum Communium,	
prefixed to his Ciceronianus, 1575.	4

See also Gale, Logica, p. 455.]

β Published in 1755.—ED.

γ Compare Reid's Works, (6th edition), pp. 935, 965.-ED. this proposition, the term *relative* is opposed to the LECT. term absolute; and, therefore, in saying that we know only the relative, I virtually assert that we know the terms nothing absolute, —nothing existing absolutely; that non, sub-is, in and for itself, and without relation to us and trated by our faculties. I shall illustrate this by its application. to the rela-Our knowledge is either of matter or of mind. Now, human what is matter? What do we know of matter? Matter, or body, is to us the name either of something known, or of something unknown. In so far as matter is a name for something known, it means that which appears to us under the forms of extension, solidity, divisibility, figure, motion, roughness, smoothness, colour, heat, cold, &c.; in short, it is a common name for a certain series, or aggregate, or complement, of appearances or phænomena manifested in coexistence.

But as these phænomena appear only in conjunction, we are compelled by the constitution of our nature to think them conjoined in and by something; and as they are phænomena, we cannot think them the phænomena of nothing, but must regard them as the properties or qualities of something that is extended, solid, figured, &c. But this something, absolutely and in itself,-i.e., considered apart from its phænomena,is to us as zero. It is only in its qualities, only in its effects, in its relative or phænomenal existence, that it is cognisable or conceivable; and it is only by a law of thought, which compels us to think something, absolute and unknown, as the basis or condition of the relative and known, that this something obtains a kind of incomprehensible reality to us. Now, that which manifests its qualities,-in other words, that in which the appearing causes inhere, that to which they belong,is called their subject, or substance, or substratum. To this subject of the phanomena of extension, solidity,

VIII

knowledge.

&c., the term *matter* or *material substance* is commonly given; and, therefore, as contradistinguished from these qualities, it is the name of something unknown and inconceivable.

The same is true in regard to the term *mind*. In so far as mind is the common name for the states of knowing, willing, feeling, desiring, &c., of which I am conscious, it is only the name for a certain series of connected phænomena or qualities, and, consequently, expresses only what is known. But in so far as it denotes that subject or substance in which the phænomena of knowing, willing, &c., inhere,—something behind or under these phænomena,—it expresses what, in itself or in its absolute existence, is unknown.

Thus, mind and matter, as known or knowable, are only two different series of phænomena or qualities; mind and matter, as unknown and unknowable, are the two substances in which these two different series of phænomena or qualities are supposed to inhere. The existence of an unknown substance is only an inference we are compelled to make, from the existence of known phænomena; and the distinction of two substances is only inferred from the seeming incompatibility of the two series of phænomena to coinhere in one.

Our whole knowledge of mind and matter is thus, as we have said, only relative; of existence, absolutely and in itself, we know nothing; and we may say of man what Virgil says of Æneas, contemplating in the prophetic sculpture of his shield the future glories of Rome,—

"Rerumque ignarus, imagine gaudet." a

This is, indeed, a truth, in the admission of which philosophers, in general, have been singularly har-

a Æneid, viii. 730.-ED.

LECT. VIII.

monious; and the praise that has been lavished on Dr LECT. VIII. Reid for this observation, is wholly unmerited. In -General fact, I am hardly aware of the philosopher who has not harmony proceeded on the supposition, and there are few who sophers rehave not explicitly enounced the observation. It is relativity only since Reid's death that certain speculators have knowledge. arisen, who have obtained celebrity by their attempt to found philosophy on an immediate knowledge of the absolute or unconditioned. I shall quote to you a few examples of this general recognition, as they happen to occur to my recollection; and, in order to manifest the better its universality, I purposely overlook the testimonies of a more modern philosophy.

Aristotle, among many similar observations, remarks Testimoin regard to matter, that it is incognisable in itself;^a Aristotle. while in regard to mind he says, "that the intellect does not know itself directly, but only indirectly, in knowing other things;"^{β} and he defines the soul from its phænomena, "the principle by which we live, and move, and perceive, and understand."^{γ} St Augustin, st Augusthe most philosophical of the Christian fathers, admirably says of body,—"Materiam cognoscendo ignorari, et ignorando cognosci;"^{δ} and of mind,—" Mens se cognoscit cognoscendo se vivere, se meminisse, se intelligere, se velle, cogitare, scire, judicare."^{ϵ} "Non inthon. Melanchthon. welanchthon, "ipsæ substantiæ in oculos, sed vestitæ et ornatæ accidentibus; hoc est, non pos-

a Metaph., lib. vii. (vi.) c. 10: [ή ὕλη άγνωστος καθ' αὐτήν.—ΕD.]

β Metaph., xii. (xi.) 7: Αύτον δέ νοςῖ ὁ νοῦς κατὰ μετάληψιν τοῦ νοητοῦ· νοητὸς γὰρ γίγνεται θιγγάνων καὶ νοῶν. Cf. De Anima, iii. 4: Kal aὐτὸς δὲ νοητός ἐστιν ὥσπερ τὰ νοητά.—ΕD.

γ De Anima, lib. ii. c. 2: 'Η ψυχή τούτοις ὥρισται, θρεπτικῷ, αἰσθητικῷ, διανοητικῷ, κινήσει.-ΕD. δ Confess., xii. 5: "Dum sibi hæc dicit humana cogitatio, conetur eam (materiam) vel nosse ignorando vel ignorare noscendo."—ED.

 From the spurious treatise at- tributed to St Austin, entitled De Spiritu et Anima, c. 32; but see De Trinitate, lib. x. § 16, tom. viii. p. 897, (ed. Benedict.) LECT. VIII. sumus, in hac vita, acie oculorum perspicere ipsas substantias : sed utcunque, ex accidentibus quæ in sensus exteriores incurrunt, ratiocinamur, quomodo inter se differant substantiæ."^a

The elder Scaliger. It is needless to multiply authorities, but I cannot refrain from adducing one other evidence of the general consent of philosophers to the relative character of our knowledge, as affording a graphic specimen of the manner of its ingenious author. "Substantiæ non a nobis cognoscuntur," says the elder Scaliger, "sed earum accidentia. Quis enim me doceat quid sit substantia, nisi miseris illis verbis, *res subsistens?* Scientiam ergo nostram constat esse umbram in sole. Et sicut vulpes, elusa a ciconia, lambendo vitreum vas pultem haud attingit: ita nos externa tantum accidentia percipiendo, formas internas non cognoscimus."^β So far there is no difference of opinion among philosophers in general. We know mind and matter not in themselves, but in their accidents or phænomena.^γ

All relative existence not comprised in what is relative to us.

Thus our knowledge is of relative existence only, seeing that existence in itself, or absolute existence, is no object of knowledge.^{δ} But it does not follow that all relative existence is relative to us; that all that can be known, even by a limited intelligence, is actually cognisable by us. We must, therefore, more precisely limit our sphere of knowledge, by adding, that all we know is known only under the special conditions of our faculties. This is a truth likewise generally ac-

a Erotemata Dialectices, lib. i., Pr. Substantia. [This is the text in the edition of Strigelius. It varies considerably in different editions.—ED.]

β De Subtilitate, Ex. cccvii. § 21.

 γ For additional testimonies on this point, see the Author's *Discussions*, p. 644.—ED.

 δ [Absolute in two senses: 1°, As opposed to partial; 2°, As opposed to relative. Better if I had said that our knowledge not of absolute, and, therefore, only of the partial and relative.]—*Pencil Jotting on Blank Leaf* of Lecture.

knowledged. "Man," says Protagoras, "is the measure of the universe," ($\pi \acute{a} \nu \tau \omega \nu \chi \rho \eta \mu \acute{a} \tau \omega \nu \mu \acute{e} \tau \rho \rho \nu ~ \acute{a} \nu \theta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s$), —a truth which Bacon has well expressed : "Omnes perceptiones tam sensus quam mentis, sunt ex analogia hominis, non ex analogia universi : estque intellectus humanus instar speculi inæqualis ad radios rerum, qui suam naturam naturæ rerum immiscet, eamque distorquet et inficit."^a "Omne quod cognoscitur," says Boethius, "non secundum sui vim, sed secundum cognoscentium potius comprehenditur facultatem;"^β and this is expressed almost in the same terms by the two very opposite philosophers, Kant and Condillac,—"In perception" (to quote only the former) "everything is known according to the constitution of our faculty of sense."^γ

Now this principle, in which philosophers of the This princimost opposite opinions equally concur, divides itself branches. into two branches. In the first place, it would be unphilosophical to conclude that the properties of existence necessarily are, in number, only as the number of our faculties of apprehending them; or, in the second, that the properties known, are known in their native purity, and without addition or modification from our organs of sense, or our capacities of intelligence. I shall illustrate these in their order.

In regard to the first assertion, it is evident that 1. The numnothing exists for us, except in so far as it is known ber of the roperties to us, and that nothing is known to us, except certain of existence properties or modes of existence, which are relative or number of analogous to our faculties. Beyond these modes we of appreknow, and can assert, the reality of no existence. But

a Novum Organum, lib. i., aph. xli.-ED.

β De Consol. Phil., lib. v. Pr. 4. Quoted in Discussions, p. 645.-ED. γ Kritik der reinen Vernunft, Vorrede zur zweiten Auflage. Quoted in Discussions, p. 646. Cf. Kant, ibid. Transe. Æsth. § 8.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

if, on the one hand, we are not entitled to assert as LECT. VIII. actually existent except what we know; neither, on the other, are we warranted in denying, as possibly existent, what we do not know. The universe may be conceived as a polygon of a thousand, or a hundred thousand, sides or facets,-and each of these sides or facets may be conceived as representing one special mode of existence. Now, of these thousand sides or modes all may be equally essential, but three or four only may be turned towards us or be analogous to our organs. One side or facet of the universe, as holding a relation to the organ of sight, is the mode of luminous or visible existence; another, as proportional to the organ of hearing, is the mode of sonorous or audible existence; and so on. But if every eye to see, if every ear to hear, were annihilated, the modes of existence to which these organs now stand in relation,---that which could be seen, that which could be heard, -would still remain; and if the intelligences reduced to the three senses of touch, smell, and taste, were then to assert the impossibility of any modes of being except those to which these three senses were analogous, the procedure would not be more unwarranted, than if we now ventured to deny the possible reality of other modes of material existence than those to the perception of which our five senses are accommodated. I will illustrate this by an hypothetical parallel. Let us suppose a block of marble,^{α} on which there are four different inscriptions,-in Greek, in Latin, in Persic, and in Hebrew, and that four travellers approach, each able to read only the inscription in his native tongue. The Greek is delighted with the information the

> a This illustration is taken from *Philosophie—Œuvres Philosophiques*, F. Hemsterhuis, *Sophyle ou de la* vol. i. p. 281, (ed. 1792.)—ED.

marble affords him of the siege of Troy. The Roman finds interesting matter regarding the expulsion of the kings. The Persian deciphers an oracle of Zoroaster. And the Jew is surprised by a commemoration of the Exodus. Here, as each inscription exists or is significant only to him who possesses the corresponding language; so the several modes of existence are manifested only to those intelligences who possess the corresponding organs. And as each of the four readers would be rash if he maintained that the marble could be significant only as significant to him, so should we be rash, were we to hold that the universe had no other phases of being, than the few that are turned towards our faculties, and which our five senses enable us to perceive.

Voltaire (aliud agendo) has ingeniously expressed Illustrated this truth in one of his philosophical romances. "' Tell taire. me,' says Micromegas, an inhabitant of one of the planets of the Dog-Star, to the secretary of the Academy of Sciences in the planet Saturn, at which he had recently arrived in a journey through the heavens,-" Tell me, how many senses have the men on your globe ?' 'We have seventy-two senses,' answered the academician, ' and we are, every day, complaining of the smallness of the number. Our imagination goes far beyond our wants. What are seventy-two senses ! and how pitiful a boundary, even for beings with such limited perceptions, to be cooped up within our ring and our five In spite of our curiosity, and in spite of as moons. many passions as can result from six dozen of senses, we find our hours hang very heavily on our hands, and can always find time enough for yawning.'-- 'I can very well believe it,' says Micromegas, 'for, in our globe, we have very near one thousand senses; and

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. VIII.

yet, with all these, we feel continually a sort of listless inquietude and vague desire, which are for ever telling us that we are nothing, and that there are beings infinitely nearer perfection. I have travelled a good deal in the universe. I have seen many classes of mortals far beneath us, and many as much superior; but I have never had the good fortune to meet with any, who had not always more desires than real necessities to occupy their life. And, pray, how long may you Saturnians live, with your few senses ?' continued the Sirian. 'Ah! but a very short time indeed !' said the little man of Saturn, with a sigh. 'It is the same with us,' said the traveller; ' we are for ever complaining of the shortness of life. It must be an universal law of nature.' 'Alas !' said the Saturnian, 'we live only five hundred great revolutions of the sun, (which is pretty much about fifteen thousand years of our counting). You see well, that this is to die almost the moment one is born. Our existence is a point,-our duration an instant,-our globe an atom. Scarcely have we begun to pick up a little knowledge, when death rushes in upon us, before we can have acquired anything like experience. As for me, I cannot venture even to think of any project. I feel myself but like a drop of water in the ocean; and, especially now, when I look to you and to myself, I really feel quite ashamed of the ridiculous appearance which I cut in the universe.'

"'If I did not know you to be a philosopher,' replied Micromegas, 'I should be afraid of distressing you, when I tell you, that our life is seven hundred times longer than yours. But what is even that? and, when we come to the last moment, to have lived a single day, and to have lived a whole eternity, amount

to the same thing. I have been in countries where they live a thousand times longer than with us; and I have always found them murmuring, just as we do ourselves. But you have seventy-two senses, and they must have told you something about your globe. How many properties has matter with you ?'--- ' If you mean essential properties,' said the Saturnian, ' without which our globe could not subsist, we count three hundred,-extension, impenetrability, mobility, gravity, divisibility, and so forth.'-' That small number,' replied the gigantic traveller, 'may be sufficient for the views which the Creator must have had with respect to your narrow habitation. Your globe is little : its inhabitants are so too. You have few senses; your matter has few qualities. In all this, Providence has suited you most happily to each other.'

"The academician was more and more astonished with everything which the traveller told him. At length, after communicating to each other a little of what they knew, and a great deal of what they knew not, and reasoning as well and as ill as philosophers usually do, they resolved to set out together on a little tour of the universe." "

Before leaving this subject, it is perhaps proper to observe, that had we faculties equal in number to all the possible modes of existence, whether of mind or matter, still would our knowledge of mind or matter be only relative. If material existence could exhibit ten thousand phænomena, and if we possessed ten thousand senses to apprehend these ten thousand phænomena of material existence,—of existence absolutely and in itself, we should be then as ignorant as we are at present.

a Micromégas, chap. ii.-ED.

vol. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. VIII.

2. The properties of existence not known in their na-

Illustrated by the act of perception.

But the consideration that our actual faculties of knowledge are probably wholly inadequate in number to the possible modes of being, is of comparatively less importance than the other consideration to which we in their na-tive purity, now proceed,—that whatever we know is not known as it is, but only as it seems to us to be; for it is of less importance that our knowledge should be limited than that our knowledge should be pure. It is, therefore, of the highest moment that we should be aware that what we know is not a simple relation apprehended between the object known and the subject knowing,-but that every knowledge is a sum made up of several elements, and that the great business of philosophy is to analyse and discriminate these elements, and to determine from whence these contributions have been derived. I shall explain what I mean by an example. In the perception of an external object, the mind does not know it in immediate relation to itself, but mediately in relation to the material organs of sense. If, therefore, we were to throw these organs out of consideration, and did not take into account what they contribute to, and how they modify, our knowledge of that object, it is evident, that our conclusion in regard to the nature of external perception would be erroneous. Again, an object of perception may not even stand in immediate relation to the organ of sense, but may make its impression on that organ through an intervening medium. Now, if this medium be thrown out of account, and if it be not considered that the real external object is the sum of all that externally contributes to affect the sense, we shall, in like manner, run into error. For example, I see a book,—I see that book through an external medium, (what that medium is, we do not now in-

quire),—and I see it through my organ of sight, the eye. Now, as the full object presented to the mind, -(observe that I say the mind), in perception, is an object compounded of the external object emitting or reflecting light, *i.e.*, modifying the external medium,—of this external medium,—and of the living organ of sense, in their mutual relation,—let us suppose, in the example I have taken, that the full or adequate object perceived is equal to twelve, and that this amount is made up of three several parts,—of four, contributed by the book, of four, contributed by all that intervenes between the book and the organ, and of four, contributed by the living organ itself.^a

I use this illustration to show that the phænomenon of the external object is not presented immediately to the mind, but is known by it only as modified through certain intermediate agencies; and to show, that sense itself may be a source of error, if we do not analyse and distinguish what elements, in an act of perception, belong to the outward reality, what to the outward medium, and what to the action of sense itself. But this source of error is not limited to our perceptions; and we are liable to be deceived, not merely by not distinguishing in an act of knowledge what is contributed by sense, but by not distinguishing what is contributed by the mind itself. This is the most difficult and important function of philosophy; and the greater number of its higher problems arise in the attempt to determine the shares to which the knowing subject, and the object known, may pretend in the total act of cognition. For according as we attribute a larger

a This illustration is borrowed in an See his Sophyle ou de la Philosophieimproved form from F. Hemsterhuis. Œuvres Philosophiques, i. 279.—ED.

LECT. VIII. or a smaller proportion to each, we either run into the extremes of Idealism and Materialism, or maintain an equilibrium between the two. But, on this subject, it would be out of place to say anything further at present.

In what senses human knowledge is relative.

Two opposite series

of terms as applied to

human knowledge.

From what has been said, you will be able, I hope, to understand what is meant by the proposition, that all our knowledge is only relative. It is relative, 1°, Because existence is not cognisable, absolutely and in itself, but only in special modes; 2°, Because these modes can be known only if they stand in a certain relation to our faculties; and, 3°, Because the modes, thus relative to our faculties, are presented to, and known by, the mind only under modifications determined by these faculties themselves. This general doctrine being premised, it will be proper now to take some special notice of the several terms significant of the relative nature of our knowledge. And here, there are two opposite series of expressions, - 1°, Those which denote the relative and the known; 2°. Those which denote the absolute and the unknown. Of the former class are the words phanomenon, mode, modification, state,-words which are employed in the definition of Psychology; and to these may be added the analogous terms, quality, property, attribute, accident. Of the latter class,-that is, the absolute and the unknown,---is the word subject, which we have to explain as an element of the definition, and its analogous expressions, substance and substratum. These opposite classes cannot be explained apart; for, as each is correlative of the other, each can be comprehended only in and through its correlative.

The term Subject. The term subject (ὑπόστασις, ὑποκείμενον, subjectum) is used to denote the unknown basis which lies

under the various phænomena or properties of which LECT. VIII. we become aware, whether in our internal or external experience. In the more recent philosophy, especially in that of Germany, it has, however, been principally employed to denote the basis of the various mental phænomena; but of this special signification we are hereafter more particularly to speak." The word substance (substantia) may be employed in two-but two Substance. kindred-meanings. It may be used either to denote that which exists absolutely and of itself; in this sense it may be viewed as derived from subsistendo, and as meaning ens per se subsistens; or it may be viewed as the basis of attributes, in which sense it may be regarded as derived from substando, and as meaning id quod substat accidentibus, like the Greek inforaous, ύποκείμενον. In either case, it will, however, signify the same thing, viewed in a different aspect. In the former meaning, it is considered in contrast to, and independent of, its attributes; in the latter, as conjoined with these, and as affording them the condition of existence. In different relations a thing may be at once considered as a substance, and as an attribute, quality, or mode. This paper is a substance in relation to the attribute of white; but it is itself a mode in relation to the substance, matter. Substance is thus a term for the substratum we are obliged to think to all that we variously denominate a mode, a state, a quality, an attribute, a property, an accident, a phænomenon, an appearance, &c. These, though expressions generically the same, are, however, used with specific distinctions. The terms mode, state, quality,

a For the history and various meanings of the terms Subject and Object, Elementa Logices Aristotelicæ, § 1. see the Author's note, Reid's Works, ED.

attribute, property, accident, are employed in reference to a substance, as existing; the terms phænomenon, appearance, &c., in reference to it as known. But each of these expressions has also its peculiar signification.

Mode.

LECT. VIII.

> A mode is the manner of the existence of a thing. Take, for example, a piece of wax. The wax may be round, or square, or of any other definite figure ; it may also be solid or fluid. Its existence in any of these modes is not essential; it may change from one to the other without any substantial alteration. As the mode cannot exist without a substance, we can accord to it only a secondary or precarious existence in relation to the substance, to which we accord the privilege of existing by itself, per se existere; but though the substance be not astricted to any particular mode of existence, we must not suppose that it can exist-or, at least, be conceived by us to exist-in none. All modes are, therefore, variable states; and though some mode is necessary for the existence of a thing, any individual mode is accidental.

Modification.

State.

Quality, Essential and Accidental. The word *modification* is properly the bringing a thing into a certain mode of existence, but it is very commonly employed for the mode of existence itself. *State* is a term nearly synonymous with mode, but

of a meaning more extensive, as not exclusively limited to the mutable and contingent.

Quality is, likewise, a word of a wider signification, for there are essential and accidental qualities.^a The essential qualities of a thing are those aptitudes, those manners of existence and action, which it cannot lose without ceasing to be. For example, in man, the facul-

a The term quality should, in strictness, be confined to accidental attri-Works, p. 836.—Ed.

ties of sense and intelligence; in body, the dimensions LECT. of length, breadth, and thickness; in God, the attributes of eternity, omniscience, omnipotence, &c. By accidental qualities, are meant those aptitudes and manners of existence and action, which substances have at one time and not at another; or which they have always, but may lose without ceasing to be. For example, of the transitory class are the whiteness of a wall, the health which we enjoy, the fineness of the weather, &c. Of the permanent class are the gravity of bodies, the periodical movement of the planets, &c.

The term attribute is a word properly convertible Attribute. with quality, for every quality is an attribute, and every attribute is a quality; but, in our language, custom has introduced a certain distinction in their application. Attribute is considered as a word of loftier significance, and is, therefore, conventionally limited to qualities of a higher application. Thus, for example, it would be felt as indecorous to speak of the qualities of God, and as ridiculous to talk of the attributes of matter.

Property is correctly a synonym for peculiar qua- Property. lity;" but it is frequently used as coextensive with quality in general. Accident, on the contrary, is an Accident. abbreviated expression for accidental or contingent quality.

Phanomenon is the Greek word for that which Phanomeappears, and may therefore be translated by appearance. There is, however, a distinction to be noticed. ance. In the first place, the employment of the Greek term

a In the older and Aristotelian sense of the term. See Topics, i. 5: "וטוס ל' לטדוי ל שא טאלי שלי דל דו אי είναι, μόνφ δ' ύπάρχει και άντικατηγορείται του πράγματος. By the later

Logicians, the term property was less correctly used to denote a necessary quality, whether peculiar or not .--ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

151

VIII.

LECT. VIII. shows that it is used in a strict and philosophical application. In the second place, the English name is associated with a certain secondary or implied meaning, which, in some degree, renders it inappropriate as a precise and definite expression. For the term *appearance* is used to denote not only that which reveals itself to our observation, as existent, but also to signify that which only seems to be, in contrast to that which truly is. There is thus not merely a certain vagueness in the word, but it even involves a kind of contradiction to the sense in which it is used when employed for *phænomenon*. In consequence of this, the term phænomenon has been naturalised, in our language, as a philosophical substitute for the term appearance.

LECTURE IX.

EXPLICATION OF TERMS—RELATIVITY OF HUMAN KNOWLEDGE.

AFTER giving a definition of Psychology, or the Philosophy of Mind, in which I endeavoured to comprise $\frac{1X}{Recapitula-}$ a variety of expressions, the explanation of which tion. might smooth the way in our subsequent progress, I was engaged, during my last Lecture, in illustrating the principle, that all our knowledge of mind and matter is merely relative. We know, and can know, nothing absolutely and in itself: all that we know is existence in certain special forms or modes, and these, likewise, only in so far as they may be analogous to our faculties. We may suppose existence to have a thousand modes :---but these thousand modes are all to us as zero, unless we possess faculties accommodated to their apprehension. But were the number of our faculties coextensive with the modes of being,-had we, for each of these thousand modes, a separate organ competent to make it known to us,-still would our whole knowledge be, as it is at present, only of the relative. Of existence, absolutely and in itself, we should then be as ignorant as we are now. We should still apprehend existence only in certain special modes,-only in certain relations to our faculties of knowledge.

These relative modes, whether belonging to the

LECT. IX. world without or to the world within, are, under different points of view and different limitations, known under various names, as qualities, properties, essences, accidents, phænomena, manifestations, appearances, and so forth; whereas the unknown something of which they are the modes,-the unknown ground, which affords them support,-is usually termed their substance or subject. Of the signification and differences of these expressions, I stated only what was necessary in order to afford a general notion of their philosophical application. Substance, (substantia), I noticed, is considered either in contrast to its accidents, as res per se subsistens, or in connection with them, as id quod substat accidentibus. It, therefore, comprehends both the Greek terms oùoía and ύποκείμενον; --- ούσία being equivalent to substantia in the meaning of ens per se subsistens, -- ύποκείμενον to it, as id quod substat accidentibus.^a The term subject is used only for substance in its second meaning, and thus corresponds to $i\pi \sigma \kappa \epsilon i \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$; its literal signification is, as its etymology expresses, that which lies, or is placed, under the phænomena. So much for the terms substance and subject, significant of unknown or absolute existence.

I then said a few words on the differences of the various terms expressive of known or relative existence, mode, modification, state, quality, attribute, pro-

a Υπόστασιs, here noted, by way of interpolation, as of theological application. [On this point see Melanchthon, Erot. Dial. (Strigelii) p. 145 et seq.: "In philosophia, generaliter nomine Essentiæ utimur pro re per sese considerata, sive sit in prædicamento substantiæ, sive sit accidens. At ύπόστασιs significat rem subsistentem, quæ opponitur accidentibus. Ecclesia vero cum quodam discrimine his vocabulisutitur. Nam vocabulum *Essentiæ* significat *id quod revera est*, etiamsi est communicatum. ' $T \pi \delta$ - $\sigma \tau \sigma \sigma s$ autem seu *Persona* est subsistens, vivum, individuum, intelligens, incommunicabile, non sustentatum in alio.'' Compare the relative annotation by Strigelius, and Höcker, *Clavis Phil. Arist.*, p. 301.—ED.]

perty, phanomenon, appearance; but what I stated I LECT. IX. do not think it necessary to recapitulate.

I at present avoid entering into the metaphysics of Philososubstance and phænomenon. I shall only observe in fallen into general, that philosophers have frequently fallen into ent errors Some have Substance. one or other of three different errors. denied the reality of any unknown ground of the known phænomena; and have maintained that mind and matter have no substantial existence, but are merely the two complements of two series of associated qualities. This doctrine, is, however, altogether futile. It belies the veracity of our primary beliefs; it leaves unsatisfied the strongest necessities of our intellectual nature; it admits as a fact that the phænomena are connected, but allows no cause explanatory of the fact of their connection. Others, again, have fallen into an opposite error. They have attempted to speculate concerning the nature of the unknown grounds of the phænomena of mind and matter apart from the phænomena, and have, accordingly, transcended the legitimate sphere of philosophy. A third party have taken some one, or more, of the phænomena themselves as the basis or substratum of the others. Thus Descartes, at least as understood and followed by Malebranche and others of his disciples, made thought or consciousness convertible with the substance of mind;^a and Bishops Brown and Law, with Dr Watts, constituted solidity and extension into the substance of body. This theory is, however, liable to all the objections which may be alleged against the first.^{β}

a Principia, pars i. §§ 8, 51-53. On B Encyclopædia Britannica, art. this point see Stewart, Works, vol. ii. Metaphysics, pp. 615, 616 (7th ed.) p. 473, Note A; also the completed [Cf. Descartes, Principia, pars i. § edition of Reid's Works, p. 961.-ED. 53; pars ii. § 4.-ED.]

LECT. IX.

Explanation of terms-

I defined Psychology, the science conversant about the phanomena of the mind, or conscious-subject, or The former parts of the definition have self. or eqo. (continued.) been explained; the terms mind, conscious-subject, self, and eqo, come now to be considered. These are all only expressions for the unknown basis of the mental phænomena, viewed, however, in different relations.

Mind

Of these the word *mind* is the first. In regard to the etymology of this term,^a it is obscure and doubtful; perhaps, indeed, none of the attempts to trace it to its origin are successful. It seems to hold an analogy with the Latin mens, and both are probably derived from the same common root. This root, which is lost in the European languages of Scytho-Indian origin, is probably preserved in the Sanscrit mena, to know or understand. The Greek vois, intelligence, is, in like manner, derived from a verb of precisely the same meaning $(\nu o \epsilon \omega)$. The word mind is of a more limited signification than the term soul. In the Greek philosophy, the term $\psi v_{\chi} \dot{\eta}$, soul, comprehends, besides the sensitive and rational principle in man, the principle of organic life, both in the animal and vegetable kingdoms; and, in Christian theology, it is likewise used, in contrast to $\pi\nu\epsilon\hat{\nu}\mu\alpha$ or spirit, in a vaguer and more extensive signification.

Since Descartes limited psychology to the domain of consciousness, the term mind has been rigidly employed for the self-knowing principle alone. Mind, therefore, is to be understood as the subject of the various internal phænomena of which we are conscious, or that subject of which consciousness is the general phænomenon. Consciousness is, in fact, to the mind what extension is to matter or body. Though

a On etymology of mind, &c.-see Scheidler's Psychologie, p. 325.
both are phænomena, yet both are essential qualities; for we can neither conceive mind without consciousness, nor body without extension. Mind can be de-Mind can be defined fined only a posteriori,—that is, only from its mani- only a posteriori. festations. What it is in itself, that is, apart from its manifestations,-we, philosophically, know nothing, and, accordingly, what we mean by mind is simply that which perceives, thinks, feels, wills, desires, &c. Mind. with us, is thus nearly coextensive with the Rational and Animal souls of Aristotle; for the faculty of voluntary motion, which is a function of the animal soul in the Peripatetic doctrine, ought not, as is generally done, to be excluded from the phænomena of consciousness and mind.

The definition of mind from its qualities is given by Aristotle; it forms the second definition in his Treatise on the Soul," and after him, it is the one generally adopted by philosophers, and, among others, by Dr Reid.^{β} That Reid, therefore, should have been praised for having thus defined the mind, shows only the ignorance of his encomiasts. He has no peculiar merit in this respect at all.

The next term to be considered is conscious sub- Conscious With- Subject. iect. And first, what is it to be conscious ? out anticipating the discussion relative to consciousness, as the fundamental function of intelligence, I may, at present, simply indicate to you what an act of consciousness denotes. This act is of the most

a De Anima, ii. 2: 'Η ψυχή δέ τοῦτο ῷ ζώμεν καὶ αἰσθανόμεθα καὶ διανοούμεθα πρώτως. Cf. Themistius : Εί δε χρή λέγειν τί εκαστον τούτων. οίον τί το νοητικόν, ή τί το αίσθητικόν, πρότερον επισκεπτέον, τί το νοείν, και τί το αίσθάνεσθαί πρότεραι γάρ καί σαφέστεραι πρός ήμας των δυνάμεών είσιν αί ενέργειαι προεντυγχάνομεν γάρ αύταίς, καί τας δυνάμεις από τούτων έπιvoouuer. In lib. ii. De Anima, p. 76, (Ald. Fol.)-ED.

B Intellectual Powers, Essay i. c. 2; Works, p. 229; "By the mind of a man, we understand that in him which thinks, remembers, reasons, wills."-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. IX.

elementary character; it is the condition of all know-LECT. IX. ledge; I cannot, therefore, define it to you; but, as you are all familiar with the thing, it is easy to enable you to connect the thing with the word. I know,-I desire,-I feel. What is it that is common to all these ? Knowing and desiring and feeling are not the same, and may be distinguished. But they all agree in one fundamental condition. Can I know, without knowing that I know? Can I desire, without knowing that I desire? Can I feel, without knowing that I feel? This is impossible. Now this knowing that I know or desire or feel, -this common condition of self-knowledge, is precisely what is denominated Consciousness."

> So much at present for the adjective conscious: now for the substantive, subject,—conscious-subject. Though consciousness be the condition of all internal phænomena, still it is itself only a phænomenon; and, therefore, supposes a subject in which it inheres; that is, supposes something that is conscious,—something that manifests itself as conscious. And, since consciousness comprises within its sphere the whole phænomena of mind, the expression conscious-subject is a brief, but comprehensive, definition of mind itself.

> I have already informed you of the general meaning of the word *subject* in its philosophical application,—viz., the unknown basis of phænomenal or manifested existence. It is thus, in its application, common equally to the external and to the internal worlds. But the philosophers of mind have, in a manner, usurped and appropriated this expression to themselves. Accordingly, in their hands, the phrases

a Compare Discussions, p. 47, and Note H, p. 929 et seq. _ED. the completed edition of Reid's Works,

conscious or thinking subject, and subject simply, mean LECT. precisely the same thing; and custom has prevailed . so far, that, in psychological discussions, the subject is a term now currently employed, throughout Europe, for the mind or thinking principle."

The question here occurs, what is the reason of Use of the this employment? If mind and subject are only con-ject vindivertible terms, why multiply synonyms? Why exchange a precise and proximate expression for a vague and abstract generality? The question is pertinent, and merits a reply; for unless it can be shown that the word is necessary, its introduction cannot possibly be vindicated. Now, the utility of this expression is founded on two circumstances. The first, that it affords an adjective; the second, that the terms subject and subjective have opposing relatives in the terms object and objective, so that the two pairs of words together, enable us to designate the primary and most important analysis and antithesis of philosophy, in a more precise and emphatic manner than can be done by any other technical expressions. This will require some illustration.

Subject, we have seen, is a term for that in which Terms Subthe phænomena revealed to our observation, inhere, Objective and —what the schoolmen have designated the materia and meanin qua. Limited to the mental phænomena, subject, therefore, denotes the mind itself; and subjective, that which belongs to, or proceeds from, the thinking subject. Object, on the other hand, is a term for that about which the knowing subject is conversant,-what the schoolmen have styled the materia circa quam; while objective means that which belongs to, or proceeds from, the object known, and not from the subject

a See the Author's note, Reid's Works, p. 806.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

ing.

IX.

LECT. IX. knowing; and thus denotes what is real in opposition to what is ideal,—what exists in nature, in contrast to what exists merely in the thought of the individual.

Now, the great problem of philosophy is to analyse the contents of our acts of knowledge, or cognitions, —to distinguish what elements are contributed by the knowing subject, what elements by the object known. There must, therefore, be terms adequate to designate these correlative opposites, and to discriminate the share which each has in the total act of cognition. But, if we reject the terms *subject* and *subjective*,—*object* and *objective*, there are no others competent to the purpose.

Errors arising from want of the terms Subject and Object.

At this stage of your progress, Gentlemen, it is not easy to make you aware of the paramount necessity of such a distinction, and of such terms,-or to show you how, from the want of words expressive of this primary antithesis, the mental philosophy of this country has been checked in its development, and involved in the utmost perplexity and misconception. It is sufficient to remark at present, that to this defect in the language of his psychological analysis, is, in a great measure, to be attributed the confusion, not to say the errors, of Reid, in the very cardinal point of his philosophy,-a confusion so great that the whole tendency of his doctrine was misconceived by Brown, who, in adopting a modification of the hypothesis of a representative perception, seems not even to have suspected, that he, and Reid, and modern philosophers in general, were not in this at one." The terms subjective and objective denote the primary distinction in consciousness of self and not-self, and this distinction

a See on this question the Author's Supplementary Dissertations to Reid's Discussions, p. 45 et seq., and his Works, Notes B and C.-ED.

involves the whole science of mind; for this science is nothing more than a determination of the subjective and objective, in themselves and in their mutual relations. The distinction is of paramount importance, and of infinite application, not only in Philosophy proper, but in Grammar, Rhetoric, Criticism, Ethics, Politics, Jurisprudence, Theology. I will give you an example, —a philological example. Suppose a lexicographer had to distinguish the two meanings of the word certainty. Certainty expresses either, the firm conviction which we have of the truth of a thing; or the character of the proof on which its reality rests. The former is the subjective meaning; the latter the objective. By what other terms can they be distinguished and described ?

other terms can they be distinguished and object, as marking History of The distinction of subject and object, as marking History of out the fundamental and most thorough-going an-Subject and Object. tithesis in philosophy, we owe, among many other important benefits, to the schoolmen, and from the schoolmen the terms passed, both in their substantive and adjective forms, into the scientific language of modern philosophers. Deprived of these terms, the Critical Philosophy, indeed the whole philosophy of Germany and France, would be a blank. In this country, though familiarly employed in scientific language, even subsequently to the time of Locke, the adjective forms seem at length to have dropt out of the English tongue. That these words waxed obsolete, was, perhaps, caused by the ambiguity which had gradually crept into the signification of the substantives. Object, besides its proper signification, came to be abusively applied to denote motive, end, final cause, (a meaning, by the way, not recognised by Johnson). This innovation was probably borrowed from the French, in whose language the word had

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

been similarly corrupted, after the commencement LECT. of the last century. Subject in English, as sujet in French, had not been rightly distinguished from object, taken in its proper meaning, and had thus returned to the original ambiguity of the corresponding term ($i\pi \sigma \kappa \epsilon i \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$) in Greek. It is probable that the logical application of the word, (subject of predication), facilitated, or occasioned this confusion. In using the terms, therefore, we think that an explanation, but no apology, is required. The distinction is expressed by no other terms; and if these did not already enjoy a prescriptive right as denizens of the language, it cannot be denied that, as strictly analogical, they are well entitled to sue out their naturalisation. We shall have frequent occasion to recur to this distinction,-and it is eminently worthy of your attention.

Self, Egoillustrated from Plato.

The last parallel expressions are the terms self and These we shall take together, as they are abego. solutely convertible. As the best preparative for a proper understanding of these terms, I shall translate to you a passage from the First Alcibiades of Plato." The interlocutors are Socrates and Alcibiades.

"Socr. Hold, now, with whom do you at present Is it not with me ?---Alcib. Yes. converse?

Socr. And I also with you ?-Alcib. Yes.

Socr. It is Socrates then who speaks ?- Alcib. Assuredly.

Socr. And Alcibiades who listens ?-Alcib. Yes.

a P. 129. The genuineness, how- translation); Schleiermacher's Introever, of this Dialogue is questionduction, translated by Dobson, p. 328; able. See Ritter, Hist. of Ancient Brandis, Gesch. der Gr.-Röm. Philo-Philosophy, vol. ii. p. 164 (English sophie, vol. ii. p. 180.-En.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

162

IX.

Socr. Is it not with language that Socrates speaks? LECT. -Alcib. What now ? of course.

Socr. To converse, and to use language, are not these then the same ?—Alcib. The very same.

Socr. But he who uses a thing, and the thing used, —are these not different ?—Alcib. What do you mean ?

Socr. A currier,—does he not use a cutting knife and other instruments?—Alcib. Yes.

Socr. And the man who uses the cutting knife, is he different from the instrument he uses ?—*Alcib*. Most certainly.

Socr. In like manner, the lyrist, is he not different from the lyre he plays on ?--Alcib. Undoubtedly.

Socr. This, then, was what I asked you just now, -does not he who uses a thing seem to you always different from the thing used ?—*Alcib.* Very different.

Socr. But the currier, does he cut with his instruments alone, or also with his hands?—*Alcib.* Also with his hands.

Socr. He then uses his hands ?-Alcib. Yes.

Socr. We are agreed, then, that he who uses a thing, and the thing used, are different ?—*Alcib.* We are.

Socr. The currier and lyrist are, therefore, different from the hands and the eyes, with which they work? —Alcib. So it seems.

Socr. Now, then, does not a man use his whole body?—Alcib. Unquestionably.

Socr. But we are agreed that he who uses, and that which is used, are different ?—Alcib. Yes.

LECT. IX. Socr. A man is, therefore, different from his body? —Alcib. So I think.

Socr. What then is the man ?—Alcib. I cannot say. Socr. You can at least say that the man is that which uses the body ?—Alcib. True.

Socr. Now, does anything use the body but the mind ?—Alcib. Nothing.

Socr. The mind is, therefore, the man?—Alcib. The mind alone."

To the same effect, Aristotle asserts that the mind contains the man, not the man the mind.^{α} "Thou art the soul," says Hierocles, "but the body is thine."^{β} So Cicero—" Mens cujusque is est quisque, non ea figura quæ digito demonstrari potest;"^{γ} and Macrobius—" Ergo qui videtur, non ipse verus homo est, sed verus ille est, a quo regitur quod videtur."^{δ}

No one has, however, more beautifully expressed Arbuthuot. this truth than Arbuthnot:^{ϵ}

"What am I, whence produced, and for what end? Whence drew I being, to what period tend? Am I th' abandon'd orphan of blind chance, Dropp'd by wild atoms in disorder'd dance? Or, from an endless chain of causes wrought, And of unthinking substance, born with thought? Am I but what I seem, mere flesh and blood, A branching channel with a mazy flood? The purple stream that through my vessels glides, Dull and unconscious flows, like common tides, The pipes, through which the circling juices stray, Are not that thinking I, no more than they :

a That the mind is *the man*, is maintained by Aristotle in several places. Cf. *Eth. Nic.*, ix. 8; x. 7; but these do not contain the exact words of the text.—ED.

β In Aurea Pythagoreorum Carmina, 26: Σὐ γὰρ ϵἶ ἡ ψυχή· τὸ δὲ σώμα σόν. - Ευ.

€ Know thyself. See Dodsley's Collection, vol. i. p. 180.—ED.

γ Somnium Scipionis, c. 8.-ED.

δ Macrobius, In Somnium Scipionis, lib. ii. c. 12.-ED.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

This frame, compacted with transcendent skill, Of moving joints obedient to my will; Nurs'd from the fruitful glebe, like yonder tree, Waxes and wastes,—I call it mine, not me. New matter still the mould'ring mass sustains; The mansion chang'd, the tenant still remains; And, from the fleeting stream repair'd by food, Distinct, as is the swimmer from the flood."

But let us come to a closer determination of the The Self point; let us appeal to our experience. "I turn my relation to bodily or attention on my being, and find that I have organs, gans, and thoughts. and that I have thoughts. My body is the complement of my organs; am I then my body, or any part of my body? This I cannot be. The matter of my body, in all its points, is in a perpetual flux, in a perpetual process of renewal. I,—I do not pass away, I am not renewed. None probably of the molecules which constituted my organs some years ago, form any part of the material system which I now call mine. It has been made up anew; but I am still what I was of old. These organs may be mutilated,-one, two, or any number of them may be removed ; but not the less do I continue to be what I was, one and entire. It is even not impossible to conceive me existing, deprived of every organ,-I, therefore, who have these organs, or this body, I am neither an organ nor a body.

"Neither am I identical with my thoughts, for they are manifold and various. I, on the contrary, am one and the same. Each moment they change and succeed each other; this change and succession takes place in me, but I neither change nor succeed myself in myself. Each moment, I am aware or am conscious of the existence and change of my thoughts: this change is sometimes determined by me, sometimes by

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

165

LECT.

IX.

something different from me; but I always can distinguish myself from them,—I am a permanent being, an enduring subject, of whose existence these thoughts are only so many modes, appearances, or phænomena. I who possess organs and thoughts am, therefore, neither these organs nor these thoughts.

"I can conceive myself to exist apart from every organ. But if I try to conceive myself existent without a thought,—without some form of consciousness, —I am unable. This or that thought may not be perhaps necessary; but of some thought it is necessary that I should be conscious, otherwise I can no longer conceive myself to be. A suspension of thought is thus a suspension of my intellectual existence; I am, therefore, essentially a thinking,—a conscious being; and my true character is that of an intelligence,—an intelligence served by organs."^a

But this thought, this consciousness, is possible only in, and through, the consciousness of Self. The Self, the I, is recognised in every act of intelligence, as the subject to which that act belongs. It is I that perceive, I that imagine, I that remember, I that attend, I that compare, I that feel, I that desire, I that will, I that am conscious. The I, indeed, is only manifested in one or other of these special modes; but it is manifested in them all; they are all only the phænomena of the I, and, therefore, the science conversant about the phænomena of mind is, most simply and unambiguously, said to be conversant about the phænomena of the I or Ego.

This expression, as that which, in many relations, best marks and discriminates the conscious mind, has now become familiar in every country, with the ex-

a Gatien-Arnoult, [Doct. Phil., p. 34-36.-ED.]

LECT. IX.

ception of our own. Why it has not been naturalised with us is not unapparent. The French have two words for the Ego or I-Je and Moi. The former of these is less appropriate as an abstract term, being in sound ambiguous; but le moi admirably expresses what the Germans denote, but less felicitously, by their Das Ich. In English the I could not be tolerated; because, in sound, it would not be distinguished from the word significant of the organ of sight. We must, therefore, either renounce the term, or resort to the Latin Eqo: and this is perhaps no disadvantage, for, as the word is only employed in a strictly philosophical relation, it is better that this should be distinctly marked, by its being used in that relation alone. The term Self is more allowable; yet still the expressions Eqo and Non-Eqo are felt to be less awkward than those of Self and Not-Self.

So much in explanation of the terms involved in the definition which I gave you of Psychology.

LECT.

IX.

167

LECTURE X.

EXPLICATION OF TERMS.

LECT. I NOW proceed, as I proposed, to the consideration of a few other words of frequent occurrence in philosophy, and which it is expedient to explain at once, before entering upon discussions in which they will continually recur. I take them up without order, except in so far as they may be grouped together by their meaning; and the first I shall consider, are the terms hypothesis and theory.

Hypothesis.

When a phænomenon is presented to us which can be explained by no cause within the sphere of our experience, we feel dissatisfied and uneasy. A desire arises to escape from this unpleasing state; and the consequence of this desire is an effort of the mind to recall the outstanding phænomenon to unity, by assigning it, ad interim, to some cause or class, to which we imagine that it may possibly belong, until we shall be able to refer it, permanently, to that cause, or class, to which we shall have proved it actually to appertain. The judgment by which the phænomenon is thus provisorily referred, is called an hypothesis,—a supposition.

Hypotheses have thus no other end than to satisfy the desire of the mind to reduce the objects of its knowledge to unity and system; and they do this in recalling them, ad interim, to some principle, through

which the mind is enabled to comprehend them. From this view of their nature it is manifest, how far they are permissible, and how far they are even useful and expedient,—throwing altogether out of account the possibility that what is at first assumed as hypothetical, may subsequently be proved true.

An hypothesis is allowable only under certain con-Two condi-tions of legi-ditions. Of these the first is,—that the phænomenon timate hy-to be explained, should be ascertained actually to The first. exist. It would, for example, be absurd to propose an hypothesis to account for the possibility of apparitions, until it be proved that ghosts do actually appear. This precept, to establish your fact before you attempt to conjecture its cause, may, perhaps, seem to you too elementary to be worth the statement. But a little longer experience will convince you of the contrary. That the enunciation of the rule is not only not superfluous, but even highly requisite as an admonition, is shown by great and numerous examples of its violation in the history of science; and, as Cullen has truly observed, there are more false facts current in the world than false hypotheses to explain them. There is, in truth, nothing which men seem to admit so lightly as an asserted fact. Of this I might adduce to you a host of memorable examples. I shall content myself with one small but significant illustration.

Charles II., soon after the incorporation of the Royal Society, which was established under his patronage, sent to request of that learned body an explanation of the following phænomenon. When a live fish is thrown into a basin of water, the basin, water, and fish do not weigh more than the basin and water before the fish is thrown in ; whereas, when a dead

LECT.

LECT.

fish is employed, the weight of the whole is exactly equal to the added weights of the basin, the water, and the fish. Much learned discussion ensued regarding this curious fact, and several elaborate papers, propounding various hypotheses in explanation, were read on the occasion. At length a member, who was better versed in Aristotle than his associates, recollected that the philosopher had laid it down, as a general rule of philosophising, to consider the an sit of a fact, before proceeding to investigate the cur sit; and he ventured to insinuate to his colleagues, that though the authority of the Stagirite was with them,-the disciples of . Bacon,-of small account, it might possibly not be altogether inexpedient to follow his advice on the present occasion; seeing that it did not, in fact, seem at variance with common sense, and that none of the hypotheses proposed were admitted to be altogether satisfactory. After much angry discussion, some members asserting the fact to be in itself notorious, and others declaring that to doubt of its reality was an insult to his majesty, and tantamount to a constructive act of treason, the experiment was made,---when lo! to the confusion of the wise men of Gotham,-the name by which the Society was then popularly known, -it was found that the weight was identical, whether a dead or a living fish were used.

This is only a past and petty illustration. It would be easy to adduce extensive hypotheses, very generally accredited, even at the present hour, which are, however, nothing better than assumptions founded on, or explanatory of, phænomena which do not really exist in nature.

The second.

The second condition of a permissible hypothesis is, —that the phænomenon cannot be explained otherwise, than by an hypothesis. It would, for example, have been absurd, even before the discoveries of Franklin, $\frac{\text{LECT. }}{X.}$ to account for the phænomenon of lightning by the hypothesis of supernatural agency. These two conditions, of the reality of the phænomenon, and the necessity of an hypothesis for its explanation, being fulfilled, an hypothesis is allowable.^a

But the necessity of some hypothesis being con-Criteria of ceded, how are we to discriminate between a good lence of an and a bad, a probable and an improbable, hypothesis? The comparative excellence of an hypothesis requires, in the first place, that it involve nothing contradictory, either internally or externally,-that is, either between the parts of which it is composed, or between these and any established truths. Thus, the Ptolemaic hypothesis of the heavenly revolutions became worthless, from the moment that it was contradicted by the ascertained phænomena of the planets Venus and Mercury. Thus, the Wernerian hypothesis in geology is improbable, inasmuch as it is obliged to maintain that water was originally able to hold in solution substances which it is now incapable of dissolving. The Huttonian hypothesis, on the contrary, is so far preferable, that it assumes no effect to have been produced by any agent, which that agent is not known to be capable of producing. In the second place, an hypothesis is probable in proportion as the phænomenon in question can be by it more completely explained. Thus, the Copernican hypothesis is more probable than the Tychonic and semi-Tychonic, inasmuch as it enables us to explain a greater number of phænomena. In the third place, an hypothesis is probable, in proportion as it is independent of all subsidiary hypotheses. In this respect, again, the

a [On the conditions of legitimate Sturm, *Physica Electiva*, Diss. Prælim. hypothesis compare John Christopher art. 3, tom. i. p. 28.]

LECT. Copernican hypothesis is more probable than the Tychonic. For, though both save all the phænomena, the Copernican does this by one principal assumption; whereas the Tychonic is obliged to call in the aid of several subordinate suppositions, to render the principal assumption available. So much for hypothesis.

I have dwelt longer on hypothesis than perhaps was necessary; for you must recollect that these terms are, at present, considered only in order to enable you to understand their signification when casually employed. We shall probably, in a subsequent part of the Course, have occasion to treat of them expressly, and with the requisite details. Τ shall, therefore, be more concise in treating of the cognate expression,—theory. This word is employed by English writers, in a very loose and improper sense. It is with them usually convertible with hypothesis, and hypothesis is commonly used as another term for conjecture. Dr Reid, indeed, expressly does this; he identifies the two words, and explains them as philosophical conjectures, as you may see in his First Essay on the Intellectual Powers, (Chap. III.)^a This is, however, wrong; wrong, in relation to the original employment of the terms by the ancient philosophers; and wrong, in relation to their employment by the philosophers of the modern nations.

Theory, Practice. The terms *theory* and *theoretical* are properly used in opposition to the terms *practice* and *practical*; in this sense they were exclusively employed by the ancients; and in this sense they are almost exclusively employed by the Continental philosophers. Practice is the exercise of an art, or the application of a science, in life, which application is itself an art, for it

a Works, p. 235; see also p. 97 .- ED.

is not every one who is able to apply all he knows; there being required, over and above knowledge, a certain dexterity and skill. Theory, on the contrary, is mere knowledge or science. There is a distinction, but no opposition, between theory and practice; each to a certain extent supposes the other. On the one hand, theory is dependent on practice,-practice must have preceded theory; for theory being only a generalisation of the principles on which practice proceeds, these must originally have been taken out of, or abstracted from, practice. On the other hand, this is true only to a certain extent; for there is no practice without a theory. The man of practice must have always known something, however little, of what he did, of what he intended to do, and of the means by which his intention was to be carried into effect. He was, therefore, not wholly ignorant of the principles of his procedure ; he was a limited, he was, in some degree, an unconscious, theorist. As he proceeded, however, in his practice, and reflected on his performance, his theory acquired greater clearness and extension, so that he became at last distinctly conscious of what he did, and could give, to himself and others, an account of his procedure.

> "Per varios usus artem experientia fecit, Exemplo monstrante viam." a

In this view, theory is, therefore, simply a knowledge of the principles by which practice accomplishes its ends.

The opposition of Theoretical and Practical philo-Theoretical sophy is somewhat different; for these do not stand and Practisimply related to each other as theory and practice. Practical philosophy involves likewise a theory,—a

a [Manilius, i. 62.]

LECT.

LECT.

theory, however, subordinated to the practical application of its principles; while theoretical philosophy has nothing to do with practice, but terminates in mere speculative or contemplative knowledge.^{α}

The next group of associated words to which I would call your attention, is composed of the terms, — power, faculty, capacity, disposition, habit, act, operation, energy, function, &c.

Power. Reid's criticism of Locke. Of these the first is *power*, and the explanation of this, in a manner, involves that of all the others.

I have, in the first place, to correct an error of Dr Reid, in relation to this term, in his criticism of Locke's statement of its import.-You will observe that I do not, at present, enter on the question, How do we acquire the notion of power ? and I defend the following passage of Locke, only in regard to the meaning and comprehension of the term. "The mind," says Locke, " being every day informed, by the senses, of the alteration of those simple ideas it observes in things without, and taking notice how one comes to an end, and ceases to be, and another begins to exist which was not before; reflecting also on what passes within itself, and observing a constant change of its ideas, sometimes by the impression of outward objects on the senses, and sometimes by the determination of its own choice; and concluding from what it has so constantly observed to have been, that the like changes will, for the future, be made on the same things, by like agents, and by the like ways; considers, in one thing, the possibility of having any of its simple ideas changed, and, in another, the possibility of making that change; and so comes by that idea which we call power. Thus we say, fire has a power to melt gold,

a See ante, p. 113.-ED.

—that is, to destroy the consistency of its insensible r parts, and consequently its hardness, and make it fluid, and gold has a power to be melted: that the sun has a power to blanch wax, and wax a power to be blanched by the sun, whereby the yellowness is destroyed, and whiteness made to exist in its room. In which, and the like cases, the power, we consider, is in reference to the change of perceivable ideas; for we cannot observe any alteration to be made in, or operation upon, anything, but by the observable change of its sensible ideas; nor conceive any alteration to be made, but by conceiving a change of some of its ideas. Power, thus considered, is twofold—viz., as able to make, or able to receive, any change : the one may be called *active*, and the other *passive* power."^a

I have here only to call your attention to the dis-Active and Passive tinction of power into two kinds, active and passive-Power. the former meaning id quod potest facere, that which can effect or can do,-the latter id quod potest fieri, that which can be effected or can be done. In both cases the general notion of power is expressed by the verb potest or can. Now, on this, Dr Reid makes the following strictures.^{β} "On this account by Locke," he says, "of the origin of our idea of power, I would beg leave to make two remarks, with the respect that is most justly due to so great a philosopher and so good a man." We are at present concerned only with the first of these remarks by Dr Reid, which is as follows, -"Whereas Locke distinguishes power into active and passive, I conceive passive power is no power at all. He means by it, the possibility of being changed. To call this *power*, seems to be a misapplication of the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

a Essay, Book ii. ch. 21, § 1.-ED. Works, p. 519.-ED.

B Active Powers, Essay i. ch. 3;

LECT. X.

word. I do not remember to have met with the phrase passive power in any other good author. Mr Locke seems to have been unlucky in inventing it; and it deserves not to be retained in our language. Perhaps he was unwarily led into it, as an opposite to active power. But I conceive we call certain powers active, to distinguish them from other powers that are called speculative. As all mankind distinguish action from speculation, it is very proper to distinguish the powers by which those different operations are performed, into active and speculative. Mr Locke, indeed, acknowledges that active power is more properly called power: but I see no propriety at all in passive power; it is a powerless power, and a contradiction in terms."

These observations of Dr Reid arc, I am sorry to say, erroneous from first to last. The latter part, in which he attempts to find a reason for Locke being unwarily betrayed into making this distinction, is -supposing the distinction untenable, and Locke its cination; for, surely, the powers by which we speculate are, in their operations, not more passive than those that have sometimes been styled active, but which are properly denominated practical. But in the censure itself on Locke, Reid is altogether mis-In the first place, so far was Locke from taken. being unlucky in inventing the distinction, it was invented some two thousand years before. In the second place, to call the possibility of being changed a power, is no misapplication of the word. In the third place, so far is the phrase passive power from not being employed by any good author,—there is hardly a metaphysician previous to Locke, by whom it was

not familiarly used. In fact, this was one of the most celebrated distinctions in philosophy. It was first formally enounced by Aristotle,^a and from him was universally adopted. Active and passive power are in Greek styled $\delta i \nu a \mu \iota s \pi o \iota \eta \tau \iota \kappa \eta$, and $\delta i \nu a \mu \iota s \pi a \theta \eta \tau \iota \kappa \eta$; in Latin, potentia activa, and potentia passiva.^β

Power, therefore, is a word which we may use both in an active, and in a passive, signification; and, in psychology, we may apply it both to the active faculties, and to the passive capacities, of mind.

This leads to the meaning of the terms *faculty* and Faculty. capacity. Faculty (facultas) is derived from the obsolete Latin facul,—the more ancient form of facilis, from which again facilitas is formed. It is properly limited to active power, and, therefore, is abusively applied to the mere passive affections of mind.

Capacity (capacitas), on the other hand, is more capacity. properly limited to these. Its primary signification, which is literally room for, as well as its employment, favours this; although it cannot be denied, that there are examples of its usage in an active sense. Leibnitz, as far as I know, was the first who limited its psychological application to the passivities of mind. In his famous Nouveaux Essais sur l'Entendement Humain, a work written in refutation of Locke's Essay on the same subject, he observes :—" We may say that power (puissance), in general, is the possibility of change.

a See Metaph., iv. (v.) 12; viii. (ix.) 1.-ED.

 β This distinction is, indeed, established in the Greek language itself. That tongue has, among its other marvellous perfections, two sets of potential adjectives, the one for *active*, the other for *passive* power. Those for active power are denoted by terminations in $\tau_{ik}\delta_s$, those for passive

power by terminations in $\tau \delta s$. Thus $\pi o i \eta \tau i \kappa \delta \nu$, that which can make; $\pi o i \eta \tau \delta \nu$, that which can be made; $\kappa i \nu \eta \tau i \kappa \delta \nu$, that which can be moved; and so $\pi p a \kappa \tau i \kappa \delta s$ and $\pi p a \kappa \tau \delta s$, $a i \sigma \theta \eta \tau i \kappa \delta s$ and $a i \sigma \theta \eta \tau i \kappa \delta s$ and $\nu o \eta \tau \delta s$, $o i \kappa o \delta o \mu \eta \tau i \kappa \delta s$ and $o i \kappa o \delta o \mu \eta \tau \delta s$, k c. [Cf. Lord Monboddo's Ancient Metaphysics, vol. i. p. 8.—Ep.]

M

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. X.

Now the change, or the act of this possibility, being LECT. action in one subject and passion in another, there will be two powers (deux puissance), the one passive, the other active. The active may be called faculty, and perhaps the passive might be called *capacity*, or receptivity. It is true that the active power is sometimes taken in a higher sense, when, over and above the simple faculty, there is also a tendency, a nisus; and it is thus that I have used it in my dynamical considerations. We might give to it in this meaning the special name of force." a I may notice that Reid seems to have attributed no other meaning to the term power than that of force.

> Power, then, is active and passive; faculty is active power,—capacity is passive power.^{β}

Disposition. Habit.

The two terms next in order, are disposition, in Greek, $\delta_{i\dot{\alpha}}\theta_{\epsilon\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}$; and *habit*, in Greek, $\tilde{\epsilon}\xi_{i\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}$. I take these together as they are similar, yet not the same. Both are tendencies to action; but they differ in this, that disposition properly denotes a natural tendency, habit an acquired tendency. Aristotle distinguishes them by another difference. "Habit (ξ_{is}) is discriminated from disposition ($\delta_{\iota a} \theta_{\epsilon \sigma \iota s}$) in this, that the latter is easily movable, the former of longer duration, and more difficult to be moved." γ I may notice that habit is formed by the frequent repetition of the same action or passion, and that this repetition is called consuetude, or custom. The latter terms, which properly

a Nouveaux Essais, liv. ii. ch. 21. § 2.—ED.

β [Distinction of Faculty and Power,-Faculty being given to self-active forces, Power to both active and passive : see Wolf, Psych. Emp., § 29; Psych. Rat., § 81; Weiss, Untersuchungen über das Wesen und Wirken der menschlichen Seele, p. 66; Jouffroy, Mélanges, p. 345 et seq.; Daube, Essai d'Idéologie, p. 136; Fries, Anthropologie, i. p. 26, (ed. 1820.)]

γ Categ., c. 8.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

X.

signify the cause, are not unfrequently abusively em-LECT. ployed for habit, their effect.

I may likewise observe that the terms power, faculty, capacity, are more appropriately applied to natural, than to acquired, capabilities, and are thus inapplicable to mere habits. I say mere habits, for where habit is superinduced upon a natural capability, both terms may be used. Thus we can say both the faculty of abstraction, and the habit of abstraction,the capacity of suffering and the habit of suffering; but still the meanings are not identical.

The last series of cognate terms are act, operation, Act, Opeenergy. They are all mutually convertible, as all de- Energy. noting the present exertion or exercise of a power, a faculty, or a habit. I must here explain to you the famous distinction of actual and potential existence, Potential for, by this distinction, act, operation, energy, are con-Existence. tradiscriminated from power, faculty, capacity, disposition, and habit. This distinction, when divested of certain subordinate subtleties of no great consequence, is manifest and simple. Potential existence means merely that the thing may be at some time; actual existence, that it now is." Thus, the mathematician, when asleep or playing at cards, does not exercise his skill; his geometrical knowledge is all latent, but he is still a mathematician,—potentially.

"Ut quamvis tacet Hermogenes, cantor tamen atque Optimus est modulator ;-ut Alfenus vafer, omni Abjecto instrumento artis, clausaque taberna. Sutor erat." B

Hermogenes, says Horace, was a singer, even when silent; how ?-a singer, not in actu but in posse. So

a This distinction is well illustrat- burg on Arist. de Anima, ii. 1.- ED. ed in the learned note of Trendelenβ Horace, Sat. i. 3, 129.-ED.

LECT. X. 180

Alfenus was a cobbler, even when not at work; that is, he was a cobbler *potential*; whereas, when busy in his booth, he was a cobbler *actual*.

In like manner, my sense of sight potentially exists, though my eyelids are closed; but when I open them, it exists actually. Now, power, faculty, capacity, disposition, habit, are all different expressions for potential or possible existence; act, operation, energy, for actual or present existence. Thus the power of imagination expresses the unexerted capability of imagining; the act of imagination denotes that power elicited into immediate,---into present, existence. The different synonyms for potential existence, are existence $\epsilon \nu$ δυνάμει, in potentia, in posse, in power; for actual existence, existence in inexpecta, or in intervence, in acto, in esse, in act, in operation, in energy. The term *energy* is precisely the Greek term for act or operation; but it has vulgarly obtained the meaning of forcible activity.^a

Function.

The word *functio*, in Latin, simply expresses performance or operation; *functio muneris* is the exertion of an energy of some determinate kind.^{β} But with us the word *function* has come to be employed in the sense of *munus* alone, and means not the exercise, but the specific character, of a power. Thus the function of a clergyman does not mean with us the

 α But there is another relation of potentiality and actuality which .I may notice,—Hermogenes, Alfenus, before, and after, acquiring the habits of singer, and cobbler. There is thus a double kind of potentiality and actuality,—for when Hermogenes has obtained the habit and power of singing, though not actually exercising, he is a singer *in actu*, in relation to himself, before he had acquired the

accomplishment. This affords the distinction taken by Aristotle of first and second energy,—the first being the habit acquired, the second the immediate exercise of that habit. [Cf. De Anima, lib. ii. c. 1.—ED.]

 β ["Functio est actio qua facultas vim suam exerit, suumque effectum producit." Tosca, Comp. Philosoph., vol. vii. p. 156.]

performance of his duties, but the peculiarity of those duties themselves. The function of nutrition does not mean the operation of that animal power, but its discriminate character.

So much by way of preliminary explanation of the psychological terms in most general and frequent use. Others, likewise, I shall, in the sequel, have occasion to elucidate; but these may, I think, more appropriately be dealt with as they happen to occur.

LECT. X.

181

LECTURE XI.

OUTLINE OF DISTRIBUTION OF MENTAL PHÆNOMENA: CONSCIOUSNESS,—ITS SPECIAL CONDITIONS.

LECT. XI.

Distribution of the mental phænomena.

I now proceed to the consideration of the important subject,-the Distribution of the Mental Phænomena into their primary or most general classes. In regard to the distribution of the mental phænomena, I shall not at present attempt to give any history or criticism of the various classifications which have been proposed by different philosophers. These classifications are so numerous, and so contradictory, that, in the present stage of your knowledge, such a history would only fatigue the memory, without informing the understanding; for you cannot be expected to be as yet able to comprehend, at least many of the reasons which may be alleged for, or against, the different distributions of the human faculties. I shall. therefore, at once proceed to state the classification of these, which I have adopted as the best.

Consciousness,—the one essential element of the mental phænomena.

In taking a comprehensive survey of the mental phænomena, these are all seen to comprise one essential element, or to be possible only under one necessary condition. This element or condition is Consciousness, or the knowledge that I,—that the Ego exists, in some determinate state. In this knowledge they appear, or are realised as phænomena, and with this

knowledge they likewise disappear, or have no longer a phænomenal existence; so that consciousness may. be compared to an internal light, by means of which, and which alone, what passes in the mind is rendered visible. Consciousness is simple,—is not composed of parts, either similar or dissimilar. It always resembles itself, differing only in the degrees of its intensity; thus, there are not various kinds of consciousness, although there are various kinds of mental modes, or states, of which we are conscious. Whatever division, therefore, of the mental phænomena may be adopted, all its members must be within consciousness; that is, we must not attempt to divide consciousness itself, which must be viewed as comprehensive of the whole phænomena to be divided; far less should we reduce it, as a special phænomenon, to a particular class. Let consciousness, therefore, remain one and indivisible, comprehending all the modifications,-all the phænomena, of the thinking subject.

But taking, again, a survey of the mental modi-fications, or phænomena, of which we are conscious, — mental phæ-mental phæthese are seen to divide themselves into THREE great classes. In the first place, there are the phænomena of Knowledge; in the second place, there are the phænomena of Feeling, or the phænomena of Pleasure and Pain; and, in the third place, there are the phænomena of Will and Desire."

Let me illustrate this by an example. I see a picture. Now, first of all, I am conscious of perceiving a certain complement of colours and figures,-I recognise what the object is. This is the phænomenon of Cognition or Knowledge. But this is not the

a Compare Stewart's Works, vol. ii., Advertisement by Editor. - ED.

LECT. XI.

183

LECT.

184

XI.

only phænomenon of which I may be here conscious. - I may experience certain affections in the contemplation of this object. If the picture be a masterpiece, the gratification will be unalloyed; but if it be an unequal production, I shall be conscious, perhaps, of enjoyment, but of enjoyment alloyed with dissatisfaction. This is the phænomenon of Feeling,-or of Pleasure and Pain. But these two phænomena do not yet exhaust all of which I may be conscious on the occasion. I may desire to see the picture long,-to see it often,-to make it my own; and, perhaps, I may will, resolve, or determine so to do. This is the complex phænomenon of Will and Desire.

Their nomenclature.

The English language, unfortunately, does not afford us terms competent to express and discriminate, with even tolerable clearness and precision, these classes of phænomena. In regard to the first, indeed, we have comparatively little reason to complain,-the synonymous terms, knowledge and cognition, suffice to distinguish the phænomena of this class from those of the other two. In the second class, the defect of the language becomes more apparent. The word *feeling* is the only term under which we can possibly collect the phænomena of pleasure and pain, and yet this word is ambiguous. For it is not only employed to denote what we are conscious of as agreeable or disagreeable in our mental states, but it is likewise used as a synonym for the sense of touch.^a It is, however, principally in relation to the third class that the deficiency is manifested. In English, unfortunately, we have no term capable of adequately expressing what is

losophy of the Human Mind, Lecture its state."--ED. xi., p. 66, (ed. 1830): "The mind is

a [Brown uses feeling for con- susceptible of a variety of feelings, sciousness. - Oral. Interp.]; e.g., Phi- every new feeling being a change of

common both to will and desire; that is, the nisus or conatus,-the tendency towards the realisation of their end. By will is meant a free and deliberate, by desire a blind and fatal, tendency to act.^a Now, to express, I say, the tendency to overt action,—the quality in which desire and will are equally contained,-we possess no English term to which an exception of more or less cogency may not be taken. Were we to say the phænomena of *tendency*, the phrase would be vague; and the same is true of the phænomena of doing. Again, the term phænomena of appetency is objectionable, because (to say nothing of the unfamiliarity of the expression) appetency, though perhaps etymologically unexceptionable, has both in Latin and English a meaning almost synonymous with desire. Like the Latin appetentia, the Greek ope Eis is equally illbalanced, for, though used by philosophers to comprehend both will and desire, it more familiarly suggests the latter, and we need not, therefore, be solicitous, with Mr Harris and Lord Monboddo, to naturalise in English the term *orectic.*^{β} Again, the phrase phænomena of activity would be even worse; every possible objection can be made to the term active powers, by which the philosophers of this country have designated the orectic faculties of the Aristotelians. For you will observe, that all faculties are equally active; and it is not the overt performance, but the tendency towards it, for which we are in quest of an expression. The German is the only language I am acquainted with, which is able to supply the term of which philosophy is in want. The expression Bestrebungs Vermögen,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. XI. which is most nearly, though awkwardly and inadequately, translated by striving faculties,-faculties of effort or endeavour,---is now generally employed, in the philosophy of Germany, as the genus comprehending desire and will. Perhaps the phrase phænomena of exertion is, upon the whole, the best expression to denote the manifestations,-and exertive faculties, the best expression to denote the faculties, -of will and desire. Exero, in Latin, means literally to put forth,-and, with us, exertion and exertive are the only endurable words that I can find which approximate, though distantly, to the strength and precision of the German expression. I shall, however, occasionally employ likewise the term appetency in the rigorous signification I have mentioned,-as a genus comprehending under it both desires and volitions."

By whom this threefold distribution first made. This division of the phænomena of mind into the three great classes of the Cognitive faculties,—the Feelings, or capacities of Pleasure and Pain,—and the Exertive or Conative Powers,—I do not propose as original. It was first promulgated by Kant;^{β} and the felicity of the distribution was so apparent, that it has now been long all but universally adopted in Germany by the philosophers of every school; and, what is curious, the only philosopher of any eminence by whom it has been assailed,—indeed, the only philosopher of

a 1848. The term Conative (from Conari) is employed by Cudworth in his Treatise on Free Will, published some years ago from his MSS. in the British Museum. [A Treatise on Free Will, by Ralph Cudworth, D.D., edited by John Allan, M.A. (London, 1838), p. 31: "Notwithstanding which, the hegemonic of the soul may, by conatives and endeavours, acquire more and more power over them." The terms *Conation* and *Conative* are those finally adopted by the Author, as the most appropriate expressions for the class of phænomena in question.—ED.]

 β Kritik der Urtheilskraft, Einleitung. The same division is also adopted as the basis of his Anthropologie.—ED.

any reputation by whom it has been, in that country, rejected,—is not an opponent of the Kantian philosophy, but one of its most zealous champions.^a To the psychologists of this country it is apparently wholly unknown. They still adhere to the old scholastic division into powers of the Understanding and powers of the Will; or, as it is otherwise expressed, into Intellectual and Active powers.^{β}

By its author the Kantian classification has received objection to no illustration; and by other German philosophers, it cation obviated. has apparently been viewed as too manifest to require any. Nor do I think it needs much; though a few words in explanation may not be inexpedient. An objection to the arrangement may, perhaps, be taken on the ground that the three classes are not co-ordinate. It is evident that every mental phænomenon is either an act of knowledge, or only possible through an act of knowledge, for consciousness is a knowledge,-a phænomenon of cognition; and, on this principle, many philosophers,-as Descartes, Leibnitz, Spinoza, Wolf, Platner, and others,-have been led to regard the knowing, or representative faculty, as they called it,---the faculty of cognition, as the fundamental power of mind, from which all others are derivative. To this the answer is easy. These philosophers did not observe that, although pleasure and pain-although desire and volition, are only as they are known to be; yet, in these modifications, a quality, a phænomenon of mind, absolutely new, has been superadded, which was never

a This philosopher is Krug, who attacked the Kantian Division in his Grundlage zu einer neuen Theorie der Gefühle und des sogenannten Gefühlsvermögens, Konigsberg, 1823. See also his Handworterbuch der Philosophischen Wissenschaften, art.

Gefühl and Seelenkräfte. A fuller account of this controversy is given by Sir W. Hamilton in a subsequent Lecture. See Lecture XLI., vol. ii. p. 421 et seq.-ED.

β Cf. Reid's Works, pp. 242, n. +, 511, nn. * +.--ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XI. LECT. XI. involved in, and could, therefore, never have been evolved out of, the mere faculty of knowledge. The faculty of knowledge is certainly the first in order, inasmuch as it is the *conditio sine qua non* of the others; and we are able to conceive a being possessed of the power of recognising existence, and yet wholly void of all feeling of pain and pleasure, and of all powers of desire and volition. On the other hand, we are wholly unable to conceive a being possessed of feeling and desire, and, at the same time, without a knowledge of any object upon which his affections may be employed, and without a consciousness of these affections themselves.

We can further conceive a being possessed of knowledge and feeling alone — a being endowed with a power of recognising objects, of enjoying the exercise, and of grieving at the restraint, of his activity, and yet devoid of that faculty of voluntary agency—of that conation, which is possessed by man. To such a being would belong feelings of pain and pleasure, but neither desire nor will, properly so called. On the other hand, however, we cannot possibly conceive the existence of a voluntary activity independently of all feeling; for voluntary conation is a faculty which can only be determined to energy through a pain or pleasure, through an estimate of the relative worth of objects.

In distinguishing the cognitions, feelings, and conations, it is not, therefore, to be supposed that these phænomena are possible independently of each other. In our philosophical systems, they may stand separated from each other in books and chapters ;—in nature, they are ever interwoven. In every, the simplest, modification of mind, knowledge, feeling, and desire or will, go to constitute the mental state ; and it is only by a scientific abstraction that we are able to analyse the

state into elements, which are never really existent LECT. but in mutual combination. These elements are found, indeed, in very various proportions in different states. ---sometimes one preponderates, sometimes another; but there is no state in which they are not all coexistent."

Let the mental phænomena, therefore, be distributed under the three heads of phænomena of Cognition. or the faculties of Knowledge; phænomena of Feeling, or the capacities of Pleasure and Pain; and phænomena of Desiring or Willing, or the powers of Conation.

The order of these is determined by their relative Order of consecution. Feeling and appetency suppose know-phenomena. ledge. The cognitive faculties, therefore, stand first. But as will, and desire, and aversion, suppose a knowledge of the pleasurable and painful, the feelings will stand second as intermediate between the other two.

Such is the highest or most general classification of Consciousthe mental phænomena, or of the phænomena of which first object we are conscious. But as these primary classes are, as ration. we have shown, all included under one universal phænomenon,-the phænomenon of consciousness,-it follows that Consciousness must form the first object of our consideration.

I shall not attempt to give you any preliminary detail of the opinions of philosophers in relation to consciousness. The only effect of this would be to confuse you. It is necessary, in the first place, to obtain correct and definite notions on the subject, and having obtained these, it will be easy for you to understand in what respects the opinions that have account of been hazarded on the cardinal point of all philosophy, ness by are inadequate or erroneous. I may notice that Dr Stewart.

a See below, vol. ii. p. 2 et seq.-ED.

Reid and Mr Stewart have favoured us with no special LECT. or articulate account of consciousness. The former. indeed, intended and promised this. In the seventh chapter of the first Essay On the Intellectual Powers, which is entitled Division of the Powers of the Mind, the concluding paragraph is as follows :----

> "I shall not, therefore, attempt a complete enumeration of the powers of the human understanding. Ι shall only mention those which I propose to explain, and they are the following :

> "1st, The powers we have by means of our External Senses; 2dly, Memory; 3dly, Conception; 4thly, The powers of Resolving and Analysing complex objects, and compounding those that are more simple; 5thly, Judging; 6thly, Reasoning; 7thly, Taste; 8thly, Moral Perception; and, last of all, Consciousness." "

> The work, however, contains no essay upon Consciousness; but, in reference to this deficiency, the author, in the last paragraph of the book, states,-"As to Consciousness, what I think necessary to be said upon it has been already said; Essay vi., chap. v."^β -the chapter, to wit, entitled On the First Principles of Contingent Truths. To that chapter you may, however, add what is spoken of consciousness in the first chapter of the first Essay, entitled, Explication of Words, § 7.^{γ} We are, therefore, left to glean the opinion of both Reid and Stewart on the subject of consciousness, from incidental notices in their writings; but these are fortunately sufficient to supply us with the necessary information in regard to their opinions on this subject.

Consciousness cannot be defined.

Nothing has contributed more to spread obscurity over a very transparent matter, than the attempts of

a Works, p. 244.-ED. & Ib. p. 508.-ED. ~ 1b. p. 222.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

XI.

philosophers to define consciousness. Consciousness LECT. cannot be defined, --- we may be ourselves fully aware . what consciousness is, but we cannot, without confusion, convey to others a definition of what we ourselves clearly apprehend. The reason is plain. Consciousness lies at the root of all knowledge. Consciousness is itself the one highest source of all comprehensibility and illustration, -how, then, can we find aught else by which consciousness may be illustrated or comprehended? To accomplish this, it would be necessary to have a second consciousness, through which we might be conscious of the mode in which the first consciousness was possible. Many philosophers,-and among others Dr Brown,-have defined consciousness a feeling.^a But how do they define a feeling? They define, and must define it, as something of which we are conscious; for a feeling of which we are not conscious, is no feeling at all. Here, therefore, they are guilty of a logical see-saw, or circle. They define consciousness by feeling, and feeling by consciousness,-that is, they explain the same by the same, and thus leave us in the end no wiser than we were in the beginning. Other philosophers say that consciousness is a knowledge, --- and others, again, that it is a belief or conviction of a knowledge. Here, again, we have the same violation of logical law. Is there any knowledge of which we are not conscious? Is there any belief of which we are not conscious? There is not,-there cannot be; therefore, consciousness is not contained under either knowledge or belief, but, on the contrary, knowledge and belief are both contained under consciousness. In short, the notion of consciousness is so elementary, that it cannot possibly be re-

a Philosophy of the Human Mind, Lecture xi., p. 67 et seq., ed. 1830.-ED.

XI.

LECT. XI.

Consciousness admits of philosophical analysis.

solved into others more simple. It cannot, therefore, be brought under any genus,-any more general conception; and, consequently, it cannot be defined.

But though consciousness cannot be logically defined, it may, however, be philosophically analysed. This analysis is effected by observing and holding fast the phænomena or facts of consciousness, comparing these, and, from this comparison, evolving the universal conditions under which alone an act of consciousness is possible.

It is only in following this method that we can attain to precise and accurate knowledge of the contents of consciousness: and it need not afflict us if the result of our investigation be very different from the conclusions that have been previously held.

What kind of act the word consciousness involves.

But, before proceeding to show you in detail what the act of consciousness comprises, it may be proper, sciousness is employed in the first place, to recall to you, in general, what to denote; and what it kind of act the word is employed to denote. I know, I feel, I desire, &c. What is it that is necessarily involved in all these ? It requires only to be stated to be admitted, that when I know, I must know that I know,-when I feel, I must know that I feel,-when I desire, I must know that I desire. The knowledge, the feeling, the desire, are possible only under the condition of being known, and being known by me. For if I did not know that I knew, I would not know,---if I did not know that I felt, I would not feel,---if I did not know that I desired, I would not desire. Now, this knowledge, which I, the subject, have of these modifications of my being, and through which knowledge alone these modifications are possible, is what we call consciousness. The expressions I know that I know,—I know that I feel,—I know
LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

that I desire, --- are thus translated by, I am conscious that I know,-I am conscious that I feel,-I am conscious that I desire. Consciousness is thus, on the one hand, the recognition by the mind or ego of its acts and affections; ---in other words, the self-affirmation, that certain modifications are known by me, and that these modifications are mine. But, on the other hand, consciousness is not to be viewed as anything different from these modifications themselves, but is, in fact, the general condition of their existence, or of their existence within the sphere of intelligence. Though the simplest act of mind, consciousness thus expresses a relation subsisting between two terms. These terms are, on the one hand, an I or Self, as the subject of a certain modification,-and, on the other, some modifieation, state, quality, affection, or operation belonging to the subject. Consciousness thus, in its simplicity, necessarily involves three things,-1°, A recognising or knowing subject; 2°, A recognised or known modification; and, 3°, A recognition or knowledge by the subject of the modification.

From this it is apparent, that consciousness and Consciousknowledge each involve the other.^{α} An act of knowledge may be expressed by the formula, *I know*; an each other. act of consciousness by the formula, *I know that I know*: but as it is impossible for us to know without at the same time knowing that we know; so it is impossible to know that we know without our actually knowing. The one merely explicitly expresses what the other implicitly contains. Consciousness and knowledge are thus not opposed as really different. Why, then, it may be asked, employ two terms to express notions, which, as they severally infer each other, are

a See Reid's Works (completed edition), p. 933.-ED.

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. XI.

Nature of scientific analysis.

Illustrated by a geometrical example.

really identical? To this the answer is easy. Realities may be in themselves inseparable, while, as objects of our knowledge, it may be necessary to consider them apart. Notions, likewise, may severally imply each other, and be inseparable even in thought; yet, for the purposes of science, it may be requisite to distinguish them by different terms, and to consider them in their relations or correlations to each other. Take a geometrical example,-a triangle. This is a whole composed of certain parts. Here the whole cannot be conceived as separate from its parts, and the parts cannot be conceived as separate from their whole. Yet it is scientifically necessary to have different names for each, and it is necessary now to consider the whole in relation to the parts, and now the parts in correlation to the whole. Again, the constituent parts of a triangle are sides and angles. Here the sides suppose the angles, the angles suppose the sides, and, in fact, the sides and angles are in themselves, -in reality, one and indivisible. But they are not the same to us,---to our knowledge. For though we cannot abstract, in thought, the sides from the angle, the angle from the sides, we may make one or other the principal object of attention. We may either consider the angles in relation to each other, and to the sides; or the sides in relation to each other, and to the angles. And to express all this, it is necessary to distinguish, in thought and in expression, what, in nature, is one and indivisible.

By the distinction of consciousness and knowledge.

As it is in geometry, so it is in the philosophy of mind. We require different words, not only to express objects and relations different in themselves, but to express the same objects and relations under the different points of view in which they are placed by

the mind, when scientifically considering them. Thus, LECT. in the present instance, consciousness and knowledge are not distinguished by different words as different things, but only as the same thing considered in different aspects. The verbal distinction is taken for the sake of brevity and precision, and its convenience warrants its establishment. Knowledge is a relation, and every relation supposes two terms. Thus, in the relation in question, there is, on the one hand, a subject of knowledge,-that is, the knowing mind,-and on the other, there is an object of knowledge,-that is, the thing known; and the knowledge itself is the relation between these two terms. Now, though each term of a relation necessarily supposes the other, nevertheless one of these terms may be to us the more interesting, and we may consider that term as the principal, and view the other only as subordinate and correlative. Now, this is the case in the present instance. In an act of knowledge, my attention may be principally attracted either to the object known, or to myself as the subject knowing; and, in the latter case, although no new element be added to the act, the condition involved in it,-I know that I know,becomes the primary and prominent matter of consideration. And when, as in the philosophy of mind, the act of knowledge comes to be specially considered in relation to the knowing subject, it is, at last, in the progress of the science, found convenient, if not absolutely necessary, to possess a scientific word in which this point of view should be permanently and distinctively embodied. But, as the want of a technical and appropriate expression could be experienced only after psychological abstraction had acquired a certain stability and importance, it is evident that

History of the term consciousncss.

LECT.

Its use by St Augustin. the appropriation of such an expression could not, in any language, be of very early date. And this is shown by the history of the synonymous terms for consciousness in the different languages,"-a history which, though curious, you will find noticed in no publication whatever. The employment of the word conscientia, of which our term consciousness is a translation, is, in its psychological signification, not older than the philosophy of Descartes. Previously to him this word was used almost exclusively in the ethical sense expressed by our term conscience, and in the striking and apparently appropriate dictum of St Augustin,-" certissima scientia et clamante conscientia,"^{β}—which you may find so frequently paraded by the Continental philosophers, when illustrating the certainty of consciousness; in that quotation, the term is, by its author, applied only in its moral or religious signification. Besides the moral application, the words conscire and conscientia were frequently employed to denote participation in a common knowledge. Thus the members of a conspiracy were said conscire,—and conscius is even used for conspirator; and, metaphorically, this community of knowledge is attributed to inanimate objects,-as, wailing to the rocks, a lover says of himself,-

"Et conscia saxa fatigo." γ

I would not, however, be supposed to deny that these words were sometimes used, in ancient Latinity, in the modern sense of consciousness, or being conscious. An unexceptionable example is afforded by

β De Trinitate, xiii. 1.-ED.

γ Buchanan, Silvae, iii. 17. Compare Virgil *Æneid*, ix. 429: "Cœlum hoc et conscia sidera testor."—ED.

α See the completed edition of *Reid's Works*, Note I, p. 942-945.— ED.

Quintilian in his Institutiones, lib. xii. cap. xi.; and LECT. more than one similar instance may be drawn from -Tertullian,^{β} and other of the Latin fathers.

Until Descartes, therefore, the Latin terms conscire First used and conscientia were very rarely usurped in their cartes in present psychological meaning,—a meaning which, it psycholois needless to add, was not expressed by any term in ing. the vulgar languages; for, besides Tertullian, I am aware of only one or two obscure instances in which, as translations of the Greek terms $\sigma \nu \nu \alpha_i \sigma \theta \dot{\alpha} \nu \sigma \mu \alpha_i$ and $\sigma \nu \nu a i \sigma \theta \eta \sigma \iota s$, of which we are about to speak, the terms conscio and conscientia were, as the nearest equivalents, contorted from their established signification to the sense in which they were afterwards employed by Descartes. Thus, in the philosophy of the West, we may safely affirm that, prior to Descartes, there was no psychological term in recognised use for what, since his time, is expressed in philosophical Latinity by conscientia, in French by conscience, in English by consciousness, in Italian by conscienza, and in German by Bewusstseyn. It will be observed that in Latin, French, and Italian (and I might add the Spanish and other Romanic languages), the terms are analogous; the moral and psychological meaning being denoted by the same word.

In Greek there was no term for consciousness until

a "Conscius sum mihi, quantum mediocritate valui, quæque antea scierim, quæque operis hujusce gratia potuerim inquirere, candide me atque simpliciter in notitiam eorum, si qui forte cognoscere voluissent, protulisse." This sense, however, is not unusual. Cf. Cicero, Tusc. Quæst., ii. 4: "Mihi sum conscius. nunquam me nimis cupidum fuisse vitæ."-ED.

B [De Testimonio Animæ, c. 5: "Sed qui ejusmodi eruptiones animæ non putavit doctrinam esse naturæ et congenitæ et ingenitæ conscientiæ tacita commissa." De Carne Christi, c. 3: "Sed satis erat illi, inquis, conscientia sua." Cf. Augustin, De Trinitate, x. c. 7: "Et quia sibi bene conscia est principatus sui quo corpus regit."]

XI.

LECT. XI.

No term for consciousness in the decline of philosophy.

the decline of philosophy, and in the later ages of the language. Plato and Aristotle, to say nothing of other philosophers, had no special term to express the knowness in Greek until ledge which the mind affords of the operations of its faculties, though this, of course, was necessarily a frequent matter of their consideration. Intellect was supposed by them to be cognisant of its own operations; it was only doubted whether by a direct or by a reflex act. In regard to sense, the matter was more perplexed; and, on this point, both philosophers seem to vacillate in their opinions. In his Theætetus,^a Plato accords to sense the power of perceiving that it perceives; whereas, in his Charmides,^{β} this power he denies to sense, and attributes to intelligence, (vovs.) In like manner, an apparently different doctrine may be found in different works of Aristotle. In his Treatise on the Soul he thus cogently argues :--- "When we perceive that we see, hear, &c., it is necessary that by sight itself we perceive that we see, or by another sense. If by another sense, then this also must be a sense of sight, conversant equally about the object of sight, colour. Consequently there must either be two senses of the same object, or every sense must be percipient of itself. Moreover, if the sense percipient of sight be different from sight itself, it follows either that there is a regress to infinity, or we must admit at last some sense percipient of itself; but if so, it is more reasonable to admit this in the original sense at once." γ Here a conscious-

> a "Accedit testimonium Platonis in Theæteto, ubi ait sensum sentire quod sentit et quod non sentit."-Conimbricenses, In Arist. De Anim., iii. 2. The passage referred to is probably Theæt., p. 192: 'Αδύνατον . . . δ αίσθάνεταί γε, έτερόν τι ών αίσθάνεται οίηθηναι είναι, και δ αίσθάνεται, ών τι

μη alσθάνεται. This passage, however, is not exactly in point.-ED.

B P. 167 et seq. Cf. Conimbricenses, l. c. Plato, however, merely denies that there can be a sense which perceives the act of sensation without perceiving its object.-ED.

γ De Anima, iii. 2.-ED.

ness is apparently attributed to each several sense. This, however, is expressly denied in his work On Sleep and Waking," to say nothing of his Problems, which, I am inclined, however, to think, are not genuine. It is there stated that sight does not see that it sees, neither can sight or taste judge that sweet is a quality different from white; but that this is the function of some common faculty, in which they both converge. The apparent repugnance may, however, easily be reconciled. But-what concerns us at present, in all these discussions by the two philosophers-there is no single term employed to denote that special aspect of the phænomenon of knowledge, which is thus by them made matter of consideration. It is only under the Terms tanlater Platonists and Aristotelians that peculiar terms, conscioustantamount to our consciousness, were adopted into ed by the the language of philosophy. In the text of Diogenes tonists and Laertius, indeed, (vii. 85), I find συνείδησις manifestly ans. employed in the sense of consciousness. This, however, is a corrupt reading; and the authority of the best manuscripts and of the best critics shows that σύνδεσις is the true lection.^β The Greek Platonists and Aristotelians, in general, did not allow that the recognition that we know, that we feel, that we desire, &c., was the act of any special faculty, but the general attribute of intellect; and the power of reflecting, of turning back upon itself, was justly viewed as the distinctive quality of intelligence. It

a De Somno, c. 2, § 4. The pas- sions, p. 51.-ED. sage in the Problems, which may perhaps have the same meaning, though it admits of a different interpretation, is sect. xi. § 33 : Xwpio0eioa de αίσθησις διανοίας καθάπερ άναίσθητον πόνον έχει, ώσπερ είρηται τὸ, Νοῦς όρậ, κal vous akover. See further, Discus-

B The correction σύνδεσιs is made by Menage on the authority of Suidas, v. δρμή. Kuster, on the other hand, proposes, on the authority of Laertius, to read συνείδησιs for σύνδεσις in Suidas.-ED.

later Pla-

LECT. XI.

LECT. XI.

was, however, necessary to possess some single term expressive of this intellectual retortion,—of this $\epsilon \pi \iota$ στροφή πρòs έαυτόν, and the term συναίσθησις was adopted. This I find employed particularly by Proclus, Plotinus, and Simplicius." The term συνείδησιs, the one equivalent to the conscientia of the Latins, remained like conscientia itself, long exclusively applied to denote conscience or the moral faculty; and it is only in Greek writers who, as Eugenius of Bulgaria, have flourished since the time of Descartes and Leibnitz, that our idnois has, like the conscientia of the Latins, been employed in the psychological meaning of consciousness.^{β} I may notice that the word $\sigma \nu \nu$ - $\epsilon \pi i \gamma \nu \omega \sigma i s$, in the sense of consciousness, is also to be occasionally met with in the later authors on philosophy in the Greek tongue. The expression συναίσ- $\theta\eta\sigma\iota$ s, which properly denotes the self-recognition of sense and feeling, was, however, extended to mark consciousness in general. Some of the Aristotelians, however, like certain philosophers in this country, attrithe recogni- buted this recognition to a special faculty. Of these I have been able to discover only three : Philoponus, in his commentary on Aristotle's treatise Of the Soul;^{γ}

Certain of the Aristotelians attributed tion of sense and feeling to a special faculty.

[a Plotinus, Enn., v. lib. iii. c. 2. Proclus, Inst. Theol., c. 39. Simplicius, In Epict. Enchir., p. 28, Heins. -(p. 49, Schweigh.)] In the two first of these passages, συναίσθησιs appears to be used merely in its etymological sense of perception of an object in conjunction with other objects. In the last, however, it seems to be fully equivalent to the modern consciousness; as also in Hierocles, In Aurea Pyth. Carm., 41, p. 213, ed. 1654. Sextus Empiricus, Adv. Math., ix. 68 (p. 407, Bekker). Michael Ephesius, In Arist. de Memoria, p. 134. Plutarch, De Profectibus in

Virtute, c. 1, 3. Plotinus, Enn., iii. lib. 4, c. 4. Simplicius, In Arist. Categ., p. 83, b. ed. 1551.-ED.

 β See the Logic of Eugenius, p. 113. He also uses $\sigma v \nu \epsilon \pi i \gamma \nu \omega \sigma i s$ in the same sense. The title of his work is. Η λογική έκ παλαιών τε και νεωτέρων συνερανισθείσα· ύπο Εύγενίου διακόνου τοῦ Βουλγαρέως· ἐν Λειψία τῆς Σαξονίας. Έτει αψξς. (1766.)-ED.

γ On lib. iii. c. 2. He mentions this as the opinion of the more recent interpreters. See Reid's Works, p. 942 (completed edition), where the passage in question is translated by Sir W. Hamilton, -ED.

Michael Ephesius, in his commentary on Aristotle's treatise of Memory and Reminiscence ;" and Michael . Psellus, in his work on Various Knowledge.^{β} It is doubted, however, whether the two last be not the same person ; and their remarkable coincidence in the point under consideration, is even a strong argument for their identity. They assign this recognition to a faculty which they call to πρσεκτικόν,-that is to προσεκτικόν μέρος, the attentive part or function of mind. This is the first indication in the history of philosophy of that false analysis which has raised attention into a separate faculty. I beg you, however, to observe, that Philoponus and his follower, Michael Ephesius, do not distinguish attention from consciousness. This is a point we are hereafter especially to consider, when perhaps it may be found that, though wrong in making consciousness or attention a peculiar faculty, they were right, at least, in not dividing consciousness and attention into different faculties.

But to return from our historical digression. We The most may lay it down as the most general characteristic of characteristic of con-consciousness, that it is the recognition by the thinking sciousness. subject of its own acts or affections.

So far there is no difficulty and no dispute. In this The special all philosophers are agreed. The more arduous task of consciousremains of determining the special conditions of consciousness.⁷ Of these, likewise, some are almost too palpable to admit of controversy. Before proceeding to those in regard to which there is any doubt or diffi-

a Rather in the Commentary on the Nicomachean Ethics, usually attributed to Eustratius, p. 160, b. It is not mentioned in the Commentary on the De Memoria.-ED.

β [Psellus, De Omnifaria Doctrina, § 46 :] Προσοχή δέ έστι καθ' ήν προσ-

έχομεν τοις έργοις οις πράττομεν καί τοις λόγοις οίς λέγομεν. - ΕD.

y On the conditions and limitations of consciousness, see Reid's Works, (completed edition), p. 932 et seq. ____ ED.

LECT. XI.

LECT. XI.

I. Those generally admitted. Conscious-1, actual knowledge.

2. Imme-

ledge.

culty, it will be proper, in the first place, to state and dispose of such determinations as are too palpable to be called in question. Of these admitted limitations, the first is, that consciousness is an actual and not a nessimplies, potential knowledge.^a Thus a man is said to know,*i.e.* is able to know, that 7 + 9 are = 16, though that equation be not, at the moment, the object of his thought; but we cannot say that he is conscious of this truth unless while actually present to his mind.

The second limitation is, that consciousness is an diate knowimmediate, not a mediate knowledge. We are said, for example, to know a past occurrence when we represent it to the mind in an act of memory. We know the mental representation, and this we do immediately and in itself, and are also said to know the past occurrence, as mediately knowing it through the mental modification which represents it. Now, we are conscious of the representation as immediately known, but we cannot be said to be conscious of the thing represented, which, if known, is only known through its representation. If, therefore, mediate knowledge be in propriety a knowledge, consciousness is not coextensive with knowledge. This is, however, a problem we are hereafter specially to consider. I may here also observe, that, while all philosophers agree in making consciousness an immediate knowledge, some, as Reid and Stewart, do not admit that all immediate knowledge is consciousness. They hold that we have an immediate knowledge of external objects, but they hold that these objects are beyond the sphere of consciousness.^{β} This is an opinion we are, likewise, soon to canvass.

> a Compare Reid's Works, p. 810. β See Reid, Intellectual Powers, Essay vi. ch. 5, §§ 1, 5; Works, pp. -ED.

The third condition of consciousness, which may be LECT. held as universally admitted, is, that it supposes a con- trast,—a discrimination; for we can be conscious only <u>a. Contrast</u>, inasmuch as we are conscious of something; and we one object are conscious of something only inasmuch as we are other. conscious of what that something is,-that is, distinguish it from what it is not. This discrimination is of different kinds and degrees.

In the first place, there is the contrast between the This discritwo grand opposites, self and not-self,—cgo and non-various kinds and ego,--mind and matter; (the contrast of subject and degrees. object is more general.) We are conscious of self only in and by its contradistinction from not-self; and are conscious of not-self only in and by its contradistinction from self. In the second place, there is the discrimination of the states or modifications of the internal subject or self from each other. We are conscious of one mental state only as we contradistinguish it from another; where two, three, or more such states are confounded, we are conscious of them as one ; and were we to note no difference in our mental modifications, we might be said to be absolutely unconscious." Hobbes has truly said, "Idem semper sentire, et non sentire, ad idem recidunt."^{β} In the third place, there is the distinction between the parts and qualities of the outer world. We are conscious of an external object only as we are conscious of it as distinct from others; where several distinguishable objects are confounded, we are conscious of them as one; where no object is discriminated, we are not conscious of any.

442, 445. Stewart, Outlines of Moral Philosophy, part i. §§ 1, 2; Collected Works, vol. ii. p. 12.-ED.

a [Cf. Aristotle, Phys. Auscult., lib. iv. c. 16, § 1, (ed. Pacii).]

B Elementa Philosophia, part iv. c. 25, § 5. Opera, ed. Molesworth, vol. i. p. 321. English Works, vol. i. p. 394.-ED.

XI.

LECT. XI. Before leaving this condition, I may parenthetically state, that, while all philosophers admit that consciousness involves a discrimination, many do not allow it any cognisance of aught beyond the sphere of self. The great majority of philosophers do this because they absolutely deny the possibility of an immediate knowledge of external things, and, consequently, hold that consciousness, in distinguishing the non-ego from the ego, only distinguishes self from self; for they maintain, that what we are conscious of as something different from the perceiving mind, is only, in reality, a modification of that mind, which we are condemned to mistake for the material reality. Some philosophers, however, (as Reid and Stewart), who hold, with mankind at large, that we do possess an immediate knowledge of something different from the knowing self. still limit consciousness to a cognisance of self; and, consequently, not only deprive it of the power of distinguishing external objects from each other, but even of the power of discriminating the ego and non-ego. With These opinions we are afterwards to consider. this qualification, all philosophers may be viewed as admitting that discrimination is an essential condition of consciousness.

4. Judgment. The fourth condition of consciousness, which may be assumed as very generally acknowledged, is, that it involves judgment. A judgment is the mental act by which one thing is affirmed or denied of another. This fourth condition is in truth only a necessary consequence of the third,—for it is impossible to discriminate without judging,—discrimination, or contradistinction, being in fact only the denying one thing of another. It may to some seem strange that consciousness, the simple and primary act of in-

telligence, should be a judgment, which philosophers, in general, have viewed as a compound and derivative operation. This is, however, altogether a mistake. A judgment is, as I shall hereafter show you, a simple act of mind, for every act of mind implies a judgment. Do we perceive or imagine without affirming, in the act, the external or internal existence of the object?^a Now these fundamental affirmations are the affirmations,—in other words, the judgments,—of consciousness.

The fifth undeniable condition of consciousness is 5. Memory. memory. This condition also is a corollary of the third. For without memory our mental states could not be held fast, compared, distinguished from each other, and referred to self. Without memory, each indivisible, each infinitesimal, moment in the mental succession, would stand isolated from every other, would constitute, in fact, a separate existence. The notion of the ego or self, arises from the recognised permanence and identity of the thinking subject in contrast to the recognised succession and variety of its modifications. But this recognition is possible only through memory. The notion of self is, therefore, the result of memory. But the notion of self is involved in consciousness, so consequently is memory.

a See Reil's Works (completed with the Editor's Notes.-ED. edition), pp. 243, 414, 878, 933-4, LECT.

LECTURE XIL

CONSCIOUSNESS, --- ITS SPECIAL CONDITIONS : RELATION TO COGNITIVE FACULTIES IN GENERAL.

LECT. XII.

Recapitulation.

So far as we have proceeded, our determination of the contents of consciousness may be viewed as that universally admitted; for though I could quote to you certain counter-doctrines, these are not of such importance as to warrant me in perplexing the discussion by their refutation, which would indeed be nothing more than the exposition of very palpable mistakes. Let us, therefore, sum up the points we have established. We have shown, in general, that consciousness is the self-recognition that we know, or feel, or desire, &c. We have shown, in particular, 1°, That consciousness is an actual or living, and not a potential or dormant, knowledge ;-2°, That it is an immediate and not a mediate knowledge;-3°, That it supposes a discrimination ;-4°, That it involves a judgment ;---and, 5°, That it is possible only through memory.

II. Special conditions of consciousmitted.

1. Our consciousness coextensive with our knowledge.

We are now about to enter on a more disputed territory; and the first thesis I shall attempt to estabners not ge-nerally ad- lish, involves several subordinate questions.

> I state, then, as the first contested position which I am to maintain, that our consciousness is coextensive with our knowledge. But this assertion, that we have no knowledge of which we are not conscious, is tan-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

206

tamount to the other, that consciousness is coextensive with our cognitive faculties, --- and this again is -convertible with the assertion, that consciousness is not a special faculty, but that our special faculties of knowledge are only modifications of consciousness." The question, therefore, may be thus stated,-Is consciousness the genus under which our several faculties of knowledge are contained as species, --- or, is consciousness itself a special faculty co-ordinate with, and not comprehending, these ?

Before proceeding to canvass the reasonings of those Error of Dr who have reduced consciousness from the general Brown. condition, to a particular variety, of knowledge, I may notice the error of Dr Brown, in asserting that, "in the systems of philosophy which have been most generally prevalent, especially in this part of the island, consciousness has always been classed as one of the intellectual powers of the mind, differing from its other powers, as these mutually differ from each This statement, in so far as it regards the other."^β opinion of philosophers in general, is not only not true, but the very reverse of truth. For, in place of consciousness being, "in the systems most generally prevalent," classed as a special faculty, it has, in all the greater schools of philosophy, been viewed as the universal attribute of the intellectual arts. Was consciousness degraded to a special faculty in the Platonic, in the Aristotelian, in the Cartesian, in the Lockian, in the Leibnitian, in the Kantian philosophies? These are the systems which have obtained a more general authority than any others, and yet in none of these is the supremacy of consciousness denied; in all of them

a Compare Reid's Works (completed B Philosophy of the Human Mind, edition), p. 929-30.-ED. Lecture xi., p. 67, ed. 1830.-ED.

LECT. XII.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. XII.

it is either expressly or implicitly recognised. Dr Brown's assertion is so far true in relation to this country, that by Hutcheson," Reid, and Stewart,----to say nothing of inferior names,-consciousness has been considered as nothing higher than a special faculty. As I regard this opinion to be erroneous, and as the error is one affecting the very cardinal point of philosophy,-as it stands opposed to the peculiar and most important principles of the philosophy of Reid and Stewart themselves, and has even contributed to throw around their doctrine of perception an obscurity that has caused Dr Brown actually to mistake it for its converse, and as I have never met with any competent refutation of the grounds on which it rests, -I shall endeavour to show you that, notwithstanding the high authority of its supporters, this opinion is altogether untenable.

Reid and Stewart on consciousness.

As I previously stated to you, neither Dr Reid nor Mr Stewart has given us any regular account of consciousness; their doctrine on this subject is to be found scattered in different parts of their The two following brief passages of Reid works. contain the principal positions of that doctrine. The first is from the first chapter of the first Essay On the Intellectual Powers: $\tilde{\beta}$ Consciousness is a word used by philosophers to signify that immediate knowledge which we have of our present thoughts and purposes, and, in general, of all the present operations of our minds. Whence we may observe that consciousness is only of things present. To apply consciousness to things past, which sometimes is done in popular discourse, is to confound

α See Reid's Works (completed β Works, p. 222. edition), p. 930.-ED.

consciousness with memory; and all such confusion of words ought to be avoided in philosophical discourse. It is likewise to be observed, that consciousness is only of things in the mind, and not of external things. It is improper to say, I am conscious of the table which is before me. I perceive it, I see it; but do not say I am conscious of it. As that consciousness by which we have a knowledge of the operations of our own minds, is a different power from that by which we perceive external objects, and as these different powers have different names in our language, and, I believe, in all languages, a philosopher ought carefully to preserve this distinction, and never to confound things so different in their nature." The second is from the fifth chapter of the sixth Essay On the Intellectual Powers: "---" Consciousness is an operation of the understanding of its own kind, and cannot be logically defined. The objects of it are our present pains, our pleasures, our hopes, our fears, our desires, our doubts, our thoughts of every kind; in a word, all the passions and all the actions and operations of our own minds, while they are present. We may remember them when they are past; but we are conscious of them only while they are present." Besides what is thus said in general of consciousness, in his treatment of the different special faculties Reid contrasts consciousness with each. Thus in his essays on Perception, on Conception or Imagination, and on Memory, he specially contradistinguishes consciousness from each of these operations;^{β} and it is also incidentally by Reid, γ but more articulately by

a Works, p. 442. B See Intellectual Powers, Essay i., Works, p. 222, and Essay ii., Works, pp. 240, 258, 347, 419-20, 443 .-p. 297; Essay iii., Works, pp. 340, ED.

VOL. I.

351; Essay iv., Works, p. 368.-ED. γ See Works, p. 239. Compare

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XII.

LECT. XII.

Consciousness a spe-

Stewart.

Stewart," discriminated from Attention and Reflec-- tion.

According to the doctrine of these philosophers, conness a special faculty, sciousness is thus a special faculty, β co-ordinate with according to Reid and the other intellectual powers, having like them a particular operation and a peculiar object. And what is the peculiar object which is proposed to consciousness? γ The peculiar objects of consciousness, says Dr Reid, are all the present passions and operations of our minds. Consciousness thus has for its objects, among the other modifications of the mind, the acts of our cognitive faculties. Now here a doubt arises. If consciousness has for its object the cognitive operations, it must know these operations, and, as it knows these operations, it must know their objects : consequently, consciousness is either not a special faculty, but a faculty comprehending every cognitive act; or it must be held that there is a double knowledge of every object,-first, the knowledge of that object by its particular faculty, and second, a knowledge of it by consciousness as taking cognisance of every mental operation. But the former of these alternatives is a surrender of consciousness as a co-ordinate and special faculty, and the latter is a supposition not only unphilosophical but absurd. Now, you will attend to the mode in which Reid escapes, or endcavours to escape, from this dilemma. This he does by assigning to consciousness, as its object, the various intellectual operations to the exclusion of their several objects. "I am conscious," he says, " of perception, but not of the object I perceive; I am conscious of memory, but

> a Coll. Works, vol. ii. p. 134, and Note H, p. 929 et seq., completed pp. 122, 123.-ED. edition.-ED.

> β On Reid's reduction of conscious- γ See the same argument in the ness to a special faculty, compare Author's Discussions, p. 47.-ED. the Author's edition of his Works,

not of the object I remember." By this limitation, if LECT. tenable, he certainly escapes the dilemma, for he would thus disprove the truth of the principle on which it tation of the proceeds—viz., that to be conscious of the operation consciousof a faculty is, in fact, to be conscious of the object able. of that operation. The whole question, therefore, turns upon the proof or disproof of this principle,-for if it can be shown that the knowledge of an operation necessarily involves the knowledge of its object, it follows that it is impossible to make consciousness conversant about the intellectual operations to the exclusion of their objects. And that this principle must be admitted, is what, I hope, it will require but little argument to demonstrate.

Some things can be conceived by the mind each No conseparate and alone; others only in connection with of a cogni-something else. The former are said to be things without a absolute; the latter, to be things relative. Socrates, ness of its and Xanthippe, may be given as examples of the former; husband and wife, of the latter. Socrates, and Xanthippe, can each be represented to the mind without the other; and if they are associated in thought, it is only by an accidental connection. Husband and wife, on the contrary, cannot be conceived apart. As relative and correlative, the conception of husband involves the conception of wife, and the conception of wife involves the conception of husband. Each is thought only in and through the other, and it is impossible to think of Socrates as the husband of Xanthippe, without thinking of Xanthippe as the wife of Socrates. We cannot, therefore, know what a husband is without also knowing what is a wife, as, on the other hand, we cannot know what a wife is without also knowing what is a husband. You will, therefore, understand from this example the meaning of the logical

LECT. XII.

axiom, that the knowledge of relatives is one,—or that the knowledge of relatives is the same.

This being premised, it is evident that if our intellectual operations exist only in relation, it must be impossible that consciousness can take cognisance of one term of this relation without also taking cognisance of the other. Knowledge, in general, is a relation between a subject knowing and an object known, and each operation of our cognitive faculties only exists by relation to a particular object,---this object at once calling it into existence, and specifying the quality of its existence. It is, therefore, palpably impossible that we can be conscious of an act without being conscious of the object to which that act is relative. This, however, is what Dr Reid and Mr Stewart maintain. They maintain that I can know that I know, without knowing what I know,—or that I can know the knowledge without knowing what the knowledge is about; for example, that I am conscious of perceiving a book without being conscious of the book perceived,-that I am conscious of remembering its contents without being conscious of these contents remembered,—and so forth. The unsoundness of this opinion must, however, be articulately shown by taking the different faculties in detail, which they have contradistinguished from consciousness, and by showing, in regard to each, that it is altogether impossible to propose the operation of that faculty to the consideration of consciousness. and to withhold from consciousness its object.

Imagination.

Shown in detail with

respect to the different

cognitive faculties.

> I shall commence with the faculty of imagination, to which Dr Reid and Mr Stewart have chosen, under various limitations, to give the name of Conception.^a

> a Reid, Intellectual Powers, Essay Elements, vol. i. ch. 3; Works, vol. iv. ch. 1; Works, p. 360. Stewart, ii. p. 145.-ED.

This faculty is peculiarly suited to evince the error of LECT. holding that consciousness is cognisant of acts, but not of the objects of these acts.

"Conceiving, Imagining, and Apprehending," says Dr Reid, "are commonly used as synonymous in our language, and signify the same thing which the logicians call Simple Apprehension. This is an operation of the mind different from all those we have mentioned [Perception, Memory, &c.] Whatever we perceive, whatever we remember, whatever we are conscious of, we have a full persuasion or conviction of its existence. What never had an existence cannot be remembered; what has no existence at present cannot be the object of perception or of consciousness; but what never had, nor has any existence, may be conceived. Every man knows that it is as easy to conceive a winged horse or a centaur, as it is to conceive a horse or a man. Let it be observed, therefore, that to conceive, to imagine, to apprehend, when taken in the proper sense, signify an act of the mind which implies no belief or judgment at all. It is an act of the mind by which nothing is affirmed or denied, and which therefore can neither be true nor false."^a And again : "Consciousness is employed solely about objects that do exist, or have existed. But conception is often employed about objects that neither do, nor did, nor will, exist. This is the very nature of this faculty, that its object, though distinctly conceived, may have no existence. Such an object we call a creature of imagination, but this creature never was created.

"That we may not impose upon ourselves in this matter, we must distinguish between that act or operation of the mind, which we call conceiving an

a Works, p. 223.

XII.

LECT. XII. object, and the object which we conceive. When we conceive anything, there is a real act or operation of the mind; of this we are conscious, and can have no doubt of its existence. But every such act must have an object; for he that conceives must conceive something. Suppose he conceives a centaur, he may have a distinct conception of this object, though no centaur ever existed."^a And again: "I conceive a centaur. This conception is an operation of the mind of which I am conscious, and to which I can attend. The sole object of it is a centaur, an animal which, I believe, never existed."^{β}

Now, here it is admitted by Reid, that imagination has an object, and in the example adduced, that this object has no existence out of the mind. The object of imagination is, therefore, in the mind,-is a modification of the mind. Now, can it be maintained that there can be a modification of mind,-a modification of which we are aware, but of which we are not conscious? But let us regard the matter in another aspect. We are conscious, says Dr Reid, of the imagination of a centaur, but not of the centaur imagined. Now, nothing can be more evident than that the object and the act of imagination are identical. Thus, in the example alleged, the centaur imagined and the act of imagining it, are one and indivisible. What is the act of imagining a centaur but the centaur imaged, or the image of the centaur ? what is the image of the centaur but the act of imagining it ? The centaur is both the object and the act of imagination : it is the same thing viewed in different relations. It is called the object of imagination, when considered as representing a possible existence; for everything that

a Works, p. 368.

B Works, p. 373.

can be construed to the mind,—everything that does not violate the laws of thought,---in other words, every-thing that does not involve a contradiction, may be conceived by the mind as possible. I say, therefore, that the centaur is called the object of imagination, when considered as representing a possible existence; whereas the centaur is called the act of imagination, when considered as the creation, work, or operation, of the mind itself. The centaur imagined and the imagination of the centaur, are thus as much the same indivisible modification of mind as a square is the same figure, whether we consider it as composed of four sides, or as composed of four angles,-or as paternity is the same relation whether we look from the son to the father, or from the father to the son. We cannot, therefore, be conscious of imagining an object without being conscious of the object imagined, and, as regards imagination, Reid's limitation of consciousness is, therefore, futile.

I proceed next to Memory :--- "It is by Memory," Memory. says Dr Reid, "that we have an immediate knowledge of things past. The senses give us information of things only as they exist in the present moment; and this information, if it were not preserved by memory, would vanish instantly, and leave us as ignorant as if it had never been. Memory must have an object. Every man who remembers must remember something, and that which he remembers is called the object of his remembrance. In this, memory agrees with perception, but differs from sensation, which has no object but the feeling itself. Every man can distinguish the thing remembered from the remembrance of it. We may remember anything which we have seen, or heard, or known, or done, or suffered; but the

LECT. XII.

LECT. XII.

remembrance of it is a particular act of the mind which now exists, and of which we are conscious. To confound these two is an absurdity which a thinking man could not be led into, but by some false hypothesis which hinders him from reflecting upon the thing which he would explain by it."" "The object of memory, or thing remembered, must be something that is past; as the object of perception and of consciousness, must be something which is present. What now is, cannot be an object of memory; neither can that which is past and gone be an object of perception, or of consciousness."^{β} To these passages, which are taken from the first chapter of the third Essay On the Intellectual Powers. I must add another from the sixth chapter of the same Essay,-the chapter in which he criticises Locke's doctrine in regard to our Personal Identity. " Leaving," he says, " the consequences of this doctrine to those who have leisure to trace them, we may observe, with regard to the doctrine itself, first, that Mr Locke attributes to consciousness the conviction we have of our past actions, as if a man may now be conscious of what he did twenty years ago. It is impossible to understand the meaning of this, unless by consciousness be meant memory, the only faculty by which we have an immediate knowledge of our past actions. Sometimes, in popular discourse, a man says he is conscious that he did such a thing, meaning that he distinctly remembers that he did it. It is unnecessary, in common discourse, to fix accurately the limits between consciousness and memory. This was formerly shown to be the case with regard to sense and memory. And, therefore, distinct remembrance is sometimes called

a Works, p. 339.

B Works, p. 340.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

sense, sometimes consciousness, without any inconvenience. But this ought to be avoided in philosophy, otherwise we confound the different powers of the mind, and ascribe to one what really belongs to another. If a man be conscious of what he did twenty years or twenty minutes ago, there is no use for memory, nor ought we to allow that there is any such faculty. The faculties of consciousness and memory are chiefly distinguished by this, that the first is an immediate knowledge of the present, the second an immediate knowledge of the past."^a

From these quotations it appears that Reid distinguishes memory from consciousness in this,---that memory is an immediate knowledge of the past, consciousness an immediate knowledge of the present. We may, therefore, be conscious of the act of memory as present, but of the object of memory as past, consciousness is impossible. Now, if memory and consciousness be, as Reid asserts, the one an immediate knowledge of the past, the other an immediate knowledge of the present, it is evident that memory is a faculty whose object lies beyond the sphere of consciousness; and, consequently, that consciousness cannot be regarded as the general condition of every intellectual act. We have only, therefore, to examine whether this attribution of repugnant qualities to consciousness and memory be correct,-whether there be not assigned to one or other a function which does not really belong to it.

Now, in regard to what Dr Reid says of consciousness, I admit that no exception can be taken. Consciousness is an immediate knowledge of the present. We have, indeed, already shown that consciousness is

a Works, p. 351.

LECT.

an immediate knowledge, and, therefore, only of the actual or now-existent. This being admitted, and professing, as we do, to prove that consciousness is the one generic faculty of knowledge, we, consequently, must maintain that all knowledge is immediate, and only of the actual or present,-in other words, that what is called mediate knowledge, knowledge of the past, knowledge of the absent, knowledge of the non-actual or possible, is either no knowledge at all, or only a knowledge contained in, and evolved out of, an immediate knowledge of what is now existent and actually present to the mind. This, at first sight, may appear like paradox; I trust you will soon admit that the counter doctrine is self-repugnant.

Memory not an immediate knowledge of the past.

LECT. XII.

> I proceed, therefore, to show that Dr Reid's assertion of memory being an immediate knowledge of the past, is not only false, but that it involves a contradiction in terms."

Conditions of immeledge.

Let us first determine what immediate knowledge diate know- is, and then see whether the knowledge we have of the past, through memory, can come under the conditions of immediate knowledge. Now nothing can be more evident than the following positions : 1°, An object to be known immediately must be known in itself,-that is, in those modifications, qualities, or phænomena, through which it manifests its existence, and not in those of something different from itself; for, if we suppose it known not in itself, but in some other thing, then this other thing is what is immediately known, and the object known through it is only an object mediately known.

> But, 2°, If a thing can be immediately known only if known in itself, it is manifest, that it can only be

> > a Compare Discussions, p. 50. - ED.

known in itself, if it be itself actually in existence, LECT. XII. and actually in immediate relation to our faculties of knowledge.

Such are the necessary conditions of immediate knowledge; and they disprove at once Dr Reid's assertion, that memory is an immediate knowledge of the past. An immediate knowledge is only conceivable of the now existent, as the now existent alone can be known in itself. But the past is only past, inasmuch as it is not now existent; and as it is not now existent, it cannot be known in itself. The immediate knowledge of the past is, therefore, impossible.

We have, hitherto, been considering the conditions of immediate knowledge in relation to the object ; let us now consider them in relation to the cognitive act. Every act, and consequently every act of knowledge, exists only as it now exists; and as it exists only in the now, it can be cognisant only of a now-existent object. Memory is an act,—an act of knowledge; it can, therefore, be cognisant only of a now-existent object. But the object known in memory is, ex Application hypothesi, past; consequently, we are reduced to the ditions to dilemma, either of refusing a past object to be known ledge we in memory at all, or of admitting it to be only medi-Memory. ately known, in and through a present object. That the latter alternative is the true one, it will require a very few explanatory words to convince you. What are the contents of an act of memory ? An act of memory is merely a present state of mind, which we are conscious of not as absolute, but as relative to, and representing, another state of mind, and accompanied with the belief that the state of mind, as now represented, has actually been. I remember an event I saw,-the

LECT. XII. landing of George IV. at Leith. This remembrance is only a consciousness of certain imaginations, involving the conviction that these imaginations now represent ideally what I formerly really experienced. All that is immediately known in the act of memory, is the present mental modification; that is, the representation and concomitant belief. Beyond this mental modification, we know nothing; and this mental modification is not only known to consciousness, but only exists in and by consciousness. Of any past object, real or ideal, the mind knows and can know nothing, for, ex hypothesi, no such object now exists; or if it be said to know such an object, it can only be said to know it mediately, as represented in the present mental modification. Properly speaking, however, we know only the actual and present, and all real knowledge is an immediate knowledge. What is said to be mediately known, is, in truth, not known to be, but only believed to be; for its existence is only an inference resting on the belief, that the mental modification truly represents what is in itself beyond the sphere of knowledge. What is immediately known must be; for what is immediately known is supposed to be known as existing. The denial of the existence,—and of the existence within the sphere of consciousness,-involves, therefore, a denial of the immediate knowledge of an object. We may, accordingly, doubt the reality of any object of mediate knowledge, without denying the reality of the immediate knowledge on which the mediate knowledge rests. In memory, for instance, we cannot deny the existence of the present representation and belief, for their existence is the consciousness of their existence itself. To doubt their existence, therefore, is, for us, to doubt the

existence of our consciousness. But as this doubt itself exists only through consciousness, it would, conse- . quently, annihilate itself. But, though in memory we must admit the reality of the representation and belief. as facts of consciousness, we may doubt, we may deny, that the representation and belief are true. We may assert that they represent what never was, and that all beyond their present mental existence is a delusion. This, however, could not be the case if our knowledge of the past were immediate. So far, therefore, is memory from being an immediate knowledge of the past, that it is at best only a mediate knowledge of the past; while, in philosophical propriety, it is not a knowledge of the past at all, but a knowledge of the present and a belief of the past. But in whatever terms we may choose to designate the contents of memory, it is manifest that these contents are all within the sphere of consciousness."

 α What I have said in regard to Dr Reid's doctrine of memory as an immediate knowledge of the past, applies equally to his doctrine of conception or imagination, as an immediate knowledge of the distant, a case which I deferred noticing, when I considered his contradistinction of that faculty from consciousness. "I can conceive," he says, "an individual object that really exists, such as St Paul's Church in London. I have an idea of it; that is, I conceive it. The immediate object of this conception is four hundred miles distant; and I have no reason to think that it acts upon me, or that I act upon it; but I can think of it notwithstanding." This requires no comment. I shall, subsequently, have occasion to show how Reid confused himself about the term object, — this being part and parcel of his grand error in confounding representative or mediate, and intuitive or immediate knowledge.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

221

LECT. XII.

LECTURE XIII.

CONSCIOUSNESS,—ITS SPECIAL CONDITIONS : RELATION TO COGNITIVE FACULTIES IN GENERAL.

LECT. XIII.

Our consciousness coextensive with our knowledge.

Reid contradistinguishes consciousness from perception.

WE now proceed to consider the third faculty which Dr Reid specially contradistinguishes from Consciousness,—I mean perception, or that faculty through which we obtain a knowledge of the external world. Now, you will observe that Reid maintains against the immense majority of all, and the entire multitude of modern, philosophers, that we have a direct and immediate knowledge of the external world. He thus vindicates to mind not only an immediate knowledge of its own modifications, but also an immediate knowledge of what is essentially different from mind or self,-the modifications of matter. He did not, however, allow that these were known by any common faculty, but held that the qualities of mind were exclusively made known to us by Consciousness, the qualities of matter exclusively made known to us by Perception. Consciousness was, thus, the faculty of immediate knowledge, purely subjective; perception, the faculty of immediate knowledge, purely objective. The Ego was known by one faculty, the Non-Ego by another. "Consciousness," says Dr Reid, "is only of things in the mind, and not of external things. It is improper to say, I am conscious of the table which is before me. I perceive it, I see it, but do not say I

am conscious of it. As that consciousness by which we have a knowledge of the operations of our own minds, is a different power from that by which we perceive external objects, and as these different powers have different names in our language, and, I believe, in all languages, a philosopher ought carefully to preserve this distinction, and never to confound things so different in their nature."" And in another place he observes :--- "Consciousness always goes along with perception; but they are different operations of the mind, and they have their different objects. Consciousness is not perception, nor is the object of consciousness the object of perception."^β

Dr Reid has many merits as a speculator, but the Principal only merit which he arrogates to himself,-the prin- corded to cipal merit accorded to him by others, is, that he was philosopher. the first philosopher, in more recent times, who dared, in his doctrine of immediate perception, to vindicate, against the unanimous authority of philosophers, the universal conviction of mankind. But this doctrine he has at best imperfectly developed, and, at the same time, has unfortunately obscured it, by errors of so singular a character that some acute philosophers,-for Dr Brown does not stand alone,-have never even suspected what his doctrine of perception actually is. One of these errors is the contradistinction of perception from consciousness.

I may here notice, by anticipation, that philosophers, Modern phiat least modern philosophers, before Reid, allowed to before Reid the mind no immediate knowledge of the external trino of rereality. They conceded to it only a representative or perception, mediate knowledge of external things. Of these some, in one or other of two

losophers in one or forms.

a Intellectual Powers, Essay i., β Ibid., Essay ii., chap. iii. Works, chap. i. Works, p. 223. p. 297.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIII.

LECT. XIIL

Reid exempts the

object of perception from the

sphere of

consciousness. however, held that the representative object,-the object immediately known,-was different from the mind knowing, as it was also different from the reality it represented; while others, on a simple hypothesis, maintained that there was no intermediate entity, no tertium quid, between the reality and the mind, but that the immediate or representative object was itself a mental modification.^a The latter thus granting to mind no immediate knowledge of aught beyond its own modification, could, consequently, only recognise a consciousness of self. The former, on the contrary, could, as they actually did, accord to consciousness a cognisance of not-self. Now, Reid, after asserting against the philosophers the immediacy of our knowledge of external things, would almost appear to have been startled by his own boldness; and, instead of carrying his principle fairly to its issue, by according to consciousness on his doctrine that knowledge of the external world as existing, which, in the doctrine of the philosophers, it obtained of the external world as represented, he inconsistently stopped short, split immediate knowledge into two parts, and bestowed the knowledge of material qualities on perception alone, allowing that of mental modifications to remain exclusively with consciousness. Be this, however, as it may, the exemption of the objects of perception from the sphere of consciousness, can be easily shown to be self-contradictory.

What! say the partisans of Dr Reid, are we not to distinguish, as the product of different faculties, the knowledge we obtain of objects in themselves the

a For a full discussion of the varitary Dissertations to Reid's Works, ous theories of knowledge and per-Notes B and C.—ED. ception, see the Author's Supplemen-

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

most opposite? Mind and matter are mutually separated by the whole diameter of being. Mind and matter are, in fact, nothing but words to express two series of phænomena known less in themselves, than in contradistinction from each other. The difference of the phænomena to be known, surely legitimates a difference of faculty to know them. In answer to this, we admit at once, that were the question merely whether we should not distinguish, under consciousness, two special faculties,-whether we should not study apart, and bestow distinctive appellations on, consciousness considered as more particularly cognisant of the external world, and consciousness considered as more particularly cognisant of the internal,-this would be highly proper and expedient. But this is not the question. Dr Reid distinguishes consciousness as a special faculty from perception as a special faculty, and he allows to the former the cognisance of the latter in its operation, to the exclusion of its object. He maintains that we are conscious of our perception of a rose, but not of the rose perceived-that we know the ego by one act of knowledge, the non-ego by another. This doctrine I hold to be erroneous, and it is this doctrine I now proceed to refute.

In the first place, it is not only a logical axiom, but That in this a self-evident truth, that the knowledge of opposites wrong is one. Thus, we cannot know what is tall without From the knowing what is short,-we know what is virtue only that the as we know what is vice,---the science of health is of opposites but another name for the science of disease. Nor do is one. we know the opposites, the I and Thou, the ego and non-ego, the subject and object, mind and matter, by a different law. The act which affirms that this par-VOL. I.

LECT. XIII.

225

LECT. XIII. ticular phænomenon is a modification of Me, virtually affirms that the phænomenon is not a modification of anything different from Me, and, consequently, implies a common cognisance of self and not-self; the act which affirms that this other phænomenon is a modification of something different from Me, virtually affirms that the phænomenon is not a modification of Me, and, consequently, implies a common cognisance of not-self and self. But unless we are prepared to maintain that the faculty cognisant of self and not-self is different from the faculty cognisant of not-self and self, we must allow that the ego and non-ego are known and discriminated in the same indivisible act of knowledge. What, then, is the faculty of which this act of knowledge is the energy? It cannot be Reid's consciousness, for that is cognisant only of the ego or mind,-it cannot be Reid's perception, for that is cognisant only of the non-ego or matter. But as the act cannot be denied, so the faculty must be admitted. It is not, however, to be found in Reid's catalogue. But though not recognised by Reid in his system, its necessity may, even on his hypothesis, be proved. For if with him we allow only a special faculty immediately cognisant of the ego, and a special faculty immediately cognisant of the non-ego, we are at once met with the question,-By what faculty are the ego and non-ego discriminated ? We cannot say by consciousness, for that knows nothing but mind,-we cannot say by perception, for that knows nothing but matter. But as mind and matter are never known apart and by themselves, but always in mutual correlation and contrast, this knowledge of them in connection must be the function of some faculty, not like Reid's consciousness and perception, severally limited to mind

and matter as exclusive objects, but cognisant of LECT. them as the ego and non-ego,-as the two terms of a relation. It is thus shown that an act and a faculty must, perforce, on Reid's own hypothesis, be admitted, in which these two terms shall be comprehended together in the unity of knowledge,-in short, a higher consciousness, embracing Reid's consciousness and perception, and in which the two acts, severally cognitive of mind and matter, shall be comprehended. and reduced to unity and correlation. But what is this but to admit at last, in an unphilosophical complexity, the common consciousness of subject and object, of mind and matter, which we set out with denying in its philosophical simplicity?

But, in the second place, the attempt of Reid to 2°, Reid's make consciousness conversant about the various cog- of connitive faculties to the exclusion of their objects, is is suicidal equally impossible in regard to Perception, as we have trine of shown it to be in relation to Imagination and Me-diate knowmory; nay, the attempt, in the case of perception, external would, if allowed, be even suicidal of his great doctrine of our immediate knowledge of the external world.

Reid's assertion that we are conscious of the act of 11 first of perception, but not of the object perceived, involves, a general first of all, a general absurdity. For it virtually asserts that we can know what we are not conscious of knowing. An act of perception is an act of knowledge; what we perceive, that we know. Now, if in perception there be an external reality known, but of which external reality we are, on Reid's hypothesis, not conscious, then is there an object known, of which we are not conscious. But as we know only inasmuch as we know that we know,---in other words, inasmuch as we are conscious that we know,-we cannot know an object

limitation of his docledge of the world.

all involves absurdity.

XIII.

227

LECT. XIII.

And, secondly, it distinction ness itself. without being conscious of that object as known; consequently, we cannot perceive an object without being conscious of that object as perceived.

But, again, how is it possible that we can be condestroys the scious of an operation of perception, unless consciousof conscious- ness be coextensive with that act: and how can it be coextensive with the act, and not also conversant with its object? An act of knowledge is only possible in relation to an object, and it is an act of one kind or another only by special relation to a particular object. Thus the object at once determines the existence, and specifies the character of the existence, of the intellectual energy. An act of knowledge existing and being what it is only by relation to its object, it is manifest that the act can be known only through the object to which it is correlative; and Reid's supposition that an operation can be known in consciousness to the exclusion of its object, is impossible. For example, I see the inkstand. How can I be conscious that my present modification exists,-that it is a perception, and not another mental state,---that it is a perception of sight to the exclusion of every other sense,—and, finally, that it is a perception of the inkstand, and of the inkstand only; unless my consciousness comprehend within its sphere the object which at once determines the existence of the act, qualifies its kind, and distinguishes its individuality? Annihilate the inkstand, you annihilate the perception; annihilate the consciousness of the object, you annihilate the consciousness of the operation.

Whence the apparent of the expression, "Consciousness of the object in

It undoubtedly sounds strange to say, I am conapparent incongruity scious of the inkstand, instead of saying, I am conscious of the perception of the inkstand. This I admit, but the admission can avail nothing to Dr object in perception." Reid, for the apparent incongruity of the expres-Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®
sion arises only from the prevalence of that doctrine of perception in the schools of philosophy, which it is his principal merit to have so vigorously assailed. So long as it was universally assumed by the learned, that the mind is cognisant of nothing beyond, either, on one theory, its own representative modifications, or, on another, the species, ideas, or representative entities, different from itself, which it contains, and that all it knows of a material world is only an internal representation which, by the necessity of its nature, it mistakes for an external reality,-the supposition of an immediate knowledge of material phænomena was regarded only as a vulgar, an unphilosophical illusion, and the term consciousness, which was exclusively a learned or technical expression for all immediate knowledge, was, consequently, never employed to express an immediate knowledge of aught beyond the mind itself; and thus, when at length, by Reid's own refutation of the prevailing doctrine, it becomes necessary to extend the term to the immediate knowledge of external objects, this extension, so discordant with philosophic usage, is, by the force of association and custom, felt at first as strange and even contradictory. A slight consideration, however, is sufficient to reconcile us to the expression, in showing, if we hold the doctrine of immediate perception, the necessity of not limiting consciousness to our subjective states. In fact, if we look beneath the surface, consciousness was not, in general, restricted, even in philosophical usage, to the modifications of the conscious self. That great majority of philosophers who held that, in perception, we know nothing of the external reality as existing, but that we are immediately cognisant only of a representative something, different both from the object represented, and from the percipient mind, - these

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIII.

LECT. XIII.

philosophers, one and all, admitted that we are conscious of this *tertium quid* present to, but not a modification of, mind; for, except Reid and his school, I am aware of no philosophers who denied that consciousness was coextensive or identical with immediate knowledge.

3°, A supposition on which some of the self-contradictions of Reid's doctrine may be avoided.

But, in the third place, we have previously reserved a supposition on which we may possibly avoid some of the self-contradictions which emerge from Reid's proposing as the object of consciousness the act, but excluding from its cognisance the object, of perception,-that is, the object of its own object. The supposition is, that Dr Reid committed the same error in regard to perception, which he did in regard to memory and imagination, and that in maintaining our immediate knowledge in perception, he meant nothing more than to maintain, that the mind is not, in that act, cognisant of any representative object different from its own modification, of any tertium quid ministering between itself and the external reality; but that, in perception, the mind is determined itself to represent the unknown external reality, and that, on this self-representation, he abusively bestowed the name of immediate knowledge, in contrast to that more complex theory of perception, which holds that there intervenes between the percipient mind and the external existence an intermediate something, different from both, by which the former knows, and by which the latter is represented. On the supposition of this mistake, we may believe him guiltless of the others; and we can certainly, on this ground, more easily conceive how he could accord to consciousness a knowledge only of the percipient act,-meaning by that act the representation of the external reality; and how he

could deny to consciousness a knowledge of the object of perception,-meaning by that object the unknown reality itself. This is the only opinion which Dr Brown and others ever suspect him of maintaining; and a strong case might certainly be made out to prove that this view of his doctrine is correct. But if such were, in truth, Reid's opinion, then has he accomplished nothing,-his whole philosophy is one mighty blunder. For, as I shall hereafter show, idealism finds in this simpler hypothesis of representation even a more secure foundation than on the other; and, in point of fact, on this hypothesis, the most philosophical scheme of idealism that exists, the Egoistic or Fichtean, is established.

Taking, however, the general analogy of Reid's This supposystem, and a great number of unambiguous passages tenable. into account, I am satisfied that this view of his doctrine is erroneous; and I shall endeavour, when we come to treat of mediate and immediate knowledge, to explain how, from his never having formed to himself an adequate conception of these under all their possible forms, and from his historical ignorance of them as actually held by philosophers, he often appears to speak in contradiction of the vital doctrine which, in equity, he must be held to have steadily maintained.

Besides the operations we have already considered, Reid and -Imagination or Conception, Memory, and Perception, Maintain, ---which Dr Reid and Mr Stewart have endeavoured that Attento discriminate from Consciousness, there are further are acts not to be considered Attention and Reflection, which, in subordinate like manner, they have maintained to be an act or tained in, consciousacts, not subordinate to, or contained in. Conscious- ness. ness. But, before proceeding to show that their doctrine on this point is almost equally untenable as on

Stewart

LECT. XIII.

LECT. XIII.

the preceding, it is necessary to clear up some confusion, and to notice certain collateral errors.

Certain collateral er-Stewart misrepresents Reid's doctrine of ence of At-Reflection.

In the first place, on this head, these philosophers rors noticed. are not at one; for Mr Stewart seems inadvertently to have misrepresented the opinion of Dr Reid in regard to the meaning and difference of Attention and the meaning and differ- Reflection. Reid either employs these terms as synoence of At-tention and nymous expressions, or he distinguishes them only by making attention relative to the consciousness and perception of the present; reflection, to the memory of the past. In the fifth chapter of the second Essay on the Intellectual Powers, a he says :--- "In order, however, to our having a distinct notion of any of the operations of our own minds, it is not enough that we be conscious of them; for all men have this consciousness. It is farther necessary that we attend to them while they are exerted, and reflect upon them with care while they are recent and fresh in our memory. It is necessary that, by employing ourselves frequently in this way, we get the habit of this attention and reflection," &c. And in the first chapter of the sixth Essay, "Mr Locke," he says, "has restricted the word *reflection* to that which is employed about the operations of our minds, without any authority, as I think, from custom, the arbiter of language. For, surely, I may reflect upon what I have seen or heard. as well as upon what I have thought. The word, in its proper and common meaning, is equally applicable to objects of sense and to objects of consciousness. He has likewise confounded reflection with consciousness, and seems not to have been aware that they are different powers, and appear at very different periods of life."^{β} In the first of these quotations, Reid might

a Works, p. 258.

β Ibid., p. 420.

use attention in relation to the consciousness of the present. reflection, to the memory of the past; but in the second, in saying that reflection "is equally applicable to objects of sense and to objects of consciousness," he distinctly indicates that the two terms are used by him as convertible. Reid (I may notice Reid wrong by the way) is wholly wrong in his strictures on sure of Locke for his restricted usage of the term reflection; usage of for it was not until after his time that the term came, Reflection. by Wolf, to be philosophically employed in a more extended signification than that in which Locke correctly applies it." Reid is likewise wrong, if we And in sayliterally understand his words, in saying that reflec- Reflection tion is employed in common language in relation to in relation objects of sense. It is never employed except upon of sense. the mind and its contents. We cannot be said to reflect upon any external object, except in so far as that object has been previously perceived, and its image become part and parcel of our intellectual furniture. We may be said to reflect upon it in memory, but not in perception. But to return.

Reid, therefore, you will observe, identifies attention and reflection. Now, Mr Stewart, in the chapter on Attention in the first volume of his $Elements,^{\beta}$ says :--- "Some important observations on the subject of attention occur in different parts of Dr Reid's writings; particularly in his Essays on the Intellectual Powers of Man, p. 62, and his Essays on the Active Powers of Man, p. 78 et seq. To this ingenious author we are indebted for the remark, that attention to

257 : "Attentionis successiva directio ad ea quæ in re percepta insunt, dicitur Reflexio. Unde simul liquet quid sit facultas reflectendi, scilicet quod sit facultas attentionem suam

a [Wolf, Psychologia Empirica, § successive ad ea quæ in re percepta insunt, pro arbitrio dirigendi."] Reid is further criticised in the Author's edition of his Works, pp. 347, 420. -ED.

B Works, vol. ii. pp. 122, 123.

in his cen-Locke's the term

LECT. XIII.

Locke not the first to Reflection in its psy-chological

things external is properly called observation; and attention to the subjects of our consciousness, reflection." a

I may, however, notice a more important inadvertuse the term ence of Mr Stewart, and this it is the more requisite to do, as his authority is worthy of high respect, not application, only on account of philosophical talent, but of historical accuracy. In various passages of his writings, Mr Stewart states that Locke seems to have considered the employment of the term reflection, in its psychological acceptation, as original to himself; and he notices it as a curious circumstance that Sir John Davies, Attorney-General to Queen Elizabeth, should, in his poem on the Immortality of the Soul, have employed this term in the same signification. How Mr Stewart could have fallen into this error, is wholly inconceivable. The word, as employed by Locke, was in common use in every school of philosophy for fifteen hundred years previous to the publication of the Essay on the Human Understanding.^{β} It was a term in the philosophy both of Descartes γ and of Gassendi;⁵ and it was borrowed by them from the schoolmen, with whom it was a household word.[¢] From the schoolmen, indeed, Locke seems to have adopted

> a This distinction has been attempted by others. [See Keckermann, Opera, tom. i. p. 1612, where he distinguishes reflection, -" intellectio reflexa, interna, per quam homo intelligit suum intellectum,"- from " intellectio externa, qua intellectus alias res extra se positas percipit." See also Mazure, Cours de Philosophie, tom. i. p. 381.-ED.]

> B For historical notices of the use of the term, see Reid's Works, (completed edition), pp. 946, 947.-ED.

> γ [Descartes, Epist., P. ii., Ep. vi. (See Gruyer, Essais Philosophiques, tom. iv. p. 118.) De la Forge, Traité

de l'Esprit de l'Homme, préface, p. xi.]

δ [Gassendi, Physica, Sect. III. Memb. Post., lib. ix. c. 3. (Opera, Leyden, 1658, vol. ii. p. 451.) "Ad secundam vero operationem præsertim spectat ipsa intellectus ad suam operationem attentio, reflexiove illa supra actionem propriam, qua se intelligere intelligit, cogitatve se cogitare."]

• [We have the Scholastic brocard pointing to the difficulties of the study of self : "Reflexiva cogitatio facile fit deflexiva." See Keckermann, Opera, tom. i. p. 406.]

the fundamental principle of his philosophy, the derivation of our knowledge through the double medium of sense and reflection,—at least, some of them had in terms articulately enounced this principle five centuries previous to the English philosopher, and enounced it also in a manner far more correct than was done by him; " for they did not, like Locke, regard reflection itself as a source of knowledge,—thus reducing all our knowledge to experience and its generalisation, but viewed in reflection only the channel through which, along with the contingent phænomena of our internal experience, we discover the necessary judgments which are original or native to the mind.

There is, likewise, another oversight of Mr Stewart which I may notice. "Although," he says, "the connection between attention and memory has been frequently remarked in general terms, I do not recollect that the power of attention has been mentioned by any of the writers on pneumatology, in their enumeration of the faculties of the mind; nor has it been considered by any one, so far as I know, as of sufficient importance to deserve a particular examination."^{β} So far is this from being the case that there are many previous authors who have considered attention as a separate faculty, and treated of it even at greater

a [See Scotus, Super Universalibus Porphyrii, Qu. iii. : "Ad tertium dico quod illa propositio Aristotelis, nihil est in intellectu quin prius fuerit in sensu, vera est de eo quod est primum intelligibile, quod est scilicet quod quid est rei materialis, non autem de omnibus per se intelligibilibus; quia multa per se intelligibilibus; quia multa per se intelliguntur, non quia speciem faciunt in sensu, sed per reflexionem intellectus." (By the Scotists the act of intellect was regarded as threefold: Rectus,-Collativus,—Reflexus. See Constantius,
(a Sarnano), Tract. de Secundis Intentionibus, ad calcem Scoti Operum,
p. 452.) See also Philip Mocenicus,
Contemplationes (1581), passim; Goclenius, Lexikon Philosophicum, v.
Reflexus; Keekermann, Opera, tom.
i. pp. 1600, 1612; Conimbricenses,
In Arist. De Anima, pp. 370, 373.]
[Compare Reid's Works, (completed edition), pp. 777, 778, 946.—ED.]

β Element«, i. c. 2. Collected Works, vol. ii. p. 122.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIII. LECT. XIII.

length than Mr Stewart himself. This is true not only of the celebrated Wolf," but of the whole Wolfian school; and to these I may add Condillac,^{β} Contzen,^{γ} Tiedemann,[§] Irwing,[¢] Malebranche,⁵ and many others.⁷ But this by the way.

Is Attention a faculty different from consciousness?

in reference

tion.

Taking, however, Attention and Reflection for acts of the same faculty, and supposing, with Mr Stewart, that reflection is properly attention directed to the phænomena of mind, observation, attention directed to the phænomena of matter; the main question comes to be considered,-Is attention a faculty different from consciousness, as Reid and Stewart maintain? As the latter of these philosophers has not argued the point himself, but merely refers to the arguments of the former in confirmation of their common doctrine, it will be sufficient to adduce the Reid quoted following passage from Reid, in which his doctrine on to this ques- this head is contained. "I return," he says, "to what I mentioned as the main source of information on this subject-attentive reflection upon the operations of our own minds.

"All the notions we have of mind and its operations, are, by Mr Locke, called ideas of reflection. A man may have as distinct notions of remembrance, of judgment, of will, of desire, as he has of any object whatever. Such notions, as Mr Locke justly observes, are got by the power of reflection. But what is this

a Psychologia Empirica, § 234 et seq.-ED.

β Origine des Connoissances Humaines, part i. § ii. ch. 2 .- ED.

y Prelectiones Logicæ et Metaphysicæ, auctore Adamo Contzen, (Mechlin, 1830), vol. iii. p. 31. (Originally published in 1775-1780.)-ED.

δ Handbuch der Psychologie, p. 121. -Ep.

e Erfahrungen und Untersuchungen über den Menschen, von Karl Franz von Irwing, Berlin, 1777, b. i. p. 411; b. ii. p. 209.—ED.

ζ De la Recherche de la Vérité, lib. iii. ch. 4; lib. vi. ch. 2. Traité de Morale, ch. 5.-ED.

η Compare Reid's Works, (completed edition), p. 945-46.-ED.

power of reflection ? 'It is,' says the same author, 'that power by which the mind turns its view inward, and observes its own actions and operations.' He observes elsewhere, 'That the understanding, like the eye, whilst it makes us see and perceive all other things, takes no notice of itself; and that it requires art and pains to set it at a distance, and make it its own object.'

"This power of the understanding to make its own operations its object, to attend to them, and examine them on all sides, is the power of reflection, by which alone we can have any distinct notion of the powers of our own or of other minds.

"This reflection ought to be distinguished from consciousness, with which it is too often confounded, even by Mr Locke. All men are conscious of the operations of their own minds, at all times while they are awake; but there are few who reflect upon them, or make them objects of thought."^a

Dr Reid has rightly said that attention is a volun- what Attary act. This remark might have led him to the tention is. observation, that attention is not a separate faculty, or a faculty of intelligence at all, but merely an act of will or desire, subordinate to a certain law of intelligence. This law is, that the greater the number of objects to which our consciousness is simultaneously extended, the smaller is the intensity with which it is able to consider each, and consequently the less vivid and distinct will be the information it obtains of the several objects.^{β} This law is expressed in the old adage,

" Pluribus intentus, minor est ad singula sensus."

a Intellectual Powers, Essay i., chap. v. Works, p. 239. β [Cf. Steeb, Über den Menschen, Erkenntniss, p. 65.]

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIII.

Such being the law, it follows that, when our interest in any particular object is excited, and when we wish to obtain all the knowledge concerning it in our power, it behoves us to limit our consideration to that object, to the exclusion of others. This is done by an act of volition or desire, which is called attention. But to view attention as a special act of intelligence, and to distinguish it from consciousness, is utterly inept. Consciousness may be compared to a telescope, attention to the pulling out or in of the tubes in accommodating the focus to the object; and we might, with equal justice, distinguish, in the eye, the adjustment of the pupil from the general organ of vision, as, in the mind, distinguish attention from consciousness as separate faculties. Not, however, that they are to be accounted the same. Attention is consciousness and something more. It is consciousness voluntarily applied, under its law of limitations, to some determinate object; it is consciousness concentrated. In this respect, attention is an interesting subject of consideration; and having now finished what I proposed in proof of the position, that consciousness is not a special faculty of knowledge, but coextensive with all our cognitions, I shall proceed to consider it in its various aspects and relations; and having just stated the law of limitation, I shall go on to what I have to say in regard to attention as a general phænomenon of consciousness.

Attention as a general phænomenon of consciousness.

Can we attend to more than a single object at once? And here, I have first to consider a question in which I am again sorry to find myself opposed to many distinguished philosophers, and, in particular, to one whose opinion on this, as on every other point of psychological observation, is justly entitled to the highest consideration. The philosopher I allude to is Mr Stewart. The question is, Can we attend to more Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® than a single object at once? For if attention be nothing but the concentration of consciousness on a smaller number of objects than constitute its widest compass of simultaneous knowledge, it is evident that unless this widest compass of consciousness be limited to only two objects, we do attend when we converge consciousness on any smaller number than that total complement of objects which it can embrace at once. For example, if we suppose that the number of objects which consciousness can simultaneously apprehend be six, the limitation of consciousness to five, or four, or three, or two, or one, will all be acts of attention, different in degree, but absolutely identical in kind.

Mr Stewart's doctrine is as follows :---"Before," he stewart says, "we leave the subject of Attention, it is proper to reference to take notice of a question which has been stated with tion. respect to it; whether we have the power of attending to more than one thing at one and the same instant; or, in other words, whether we can attend, at one and the same instant, to objects which we can attend to separately ? This question has, if I am not mistaken, been already decided by several philosophers in the negative; and I acknowledge, for my own part, that although their opinion has not only been called in question by others, but even treated with some degree of contempt as altogether hypothetical, it appears to me to be the most reasonable and philosophical that we can form on the subject.

"There is, indeed, a great variety of cases in which the mind apparently exerts different acts of attention at once; but from the instances which have already been mentioned, of the astonishing rapidity of thought, it is obvious that all this may be explained without supposing those acts to be coexistent; and I may even venture to add, it may all be explained in the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

most satisfactory manner, without ascribing to our intellectual operations a greater degree of rapidity than that with which we know, from the fact, that they are sometimes carried on. The effect of practice in increasing this capacity of apparently attending to different things at once, renders this explanation of the phenomenon in question more probable than any other.

"The case of the equilibrist and rope-dancer already mentioned, is particularly favourable to this explanation, as it affords direct evidence of the possibility of the mind's exerting different successive acts in an interval of time so short, as to produce the same sensible effect as if they had been exerted at one and the same moment. In this case, indeed, the rapidity of thought is so remarkable, that if the different acts of the mind were not all necessarily accompanied with different movements of the eye, there can be no reason for doubting that the philosophers whose doctrine I am now controverting, would have asserted that they are all mathematically coexistent.

"Upon a question, however, of this sort, which does not admit of a perfectly direct appeal to the fact, I would by no means be understood to decide with confidence; and, therefore, I should wish the conclusions I am now to state, to be received as only conditionally established. They are necessary and obvious consequences of the general principle, 'that the mind can only attend to one thing at once;' but must stand or fall with the truth of that supposition.

"It is commonly understood, I believe, that in a concert of music, a good ear can attend to the different parts of the music separately, or can attend to them all at once, and feel the full effect of the harmony. If the doctrine, however, which I have endeavoured to

establish be admitted, it will follow that in the latter case the mind is constantly varying its attention from the one part of the music to the other, and that its operations are so rapid as to give us no perception of an interval of time.

"The same doctrine leads to some curious conclusions with respect to vision. Suppose the eye to be fixed in a particular position, and the picture of an object to be painted on the retina. Does the mind perceive the complete figure of the object at once, or is this perception the result of the various perceptions we have of the different points in the outline ? With respect to this question, the principles already stated lead me to conclude, that the mind does at one and the same time perceive every point in the outline of the object, (provided the whole of it be painted on the retina at the same instant,) for perception, like consciousness, is an involuntary operation. As no two points, however, of the outline are in the same direction, every point by itself constitutes just as distinct an object of attention to the mind, as if it were separated by an interval of empty space from all the rest. If the doctrine, therefore, formerly stated be just, it is impossible for the mind to attend to more than one of these points at once; and as the perception of the figure of the object implies a knowledge of the relative situation of the different points with respect to each other, we must conclude that the perception of figure by the eye is the result of a number of different acts of attention. These acts of attention, however, are performed with such rapidity, that the effect with respect to us, is the same as if the perception were instantaneous.

"In farther confirmation of this reasoning, it may

VOL. I.

Q

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIII. be remarked, that if the perception of visible figure were an immediate consequence of the picture on the retina, we should have, at the first glance, as distinct an idea of a figure of a thousand sides, as of a triangle or a square. The truth is, that when the figure is very simple, the process of the mind is so rapid that the perception seems to be instantaneous; but when the sides are multiplied beyond a certain number, the interval of time necessary for these different acts of attention becomes perceptible.

"It may, perhaps, be asked what I mean by a *point* in the outline of a figure, and what it is that constitutes this point *one* object of attention. The answer, I apprehend, is, that this point is the *minimum visibile*. If the point be less, we cannot perceive it; if it be greater, it is not all seen in one direction.

"If these observations be admitted, it will follow that, without the faculty of memory, we could have had no perception of visible figure."^{α}

Brown coincides with Stewart.

On this point, Dr Brown not only coincides with Mr Stewart in regard to the special fact of attention, but asserts in general that the mind cannot exist at the same moment in two different states, that is, in two states in either of which it can exist separately. "If the mind of man," he says, " and all the changes which take place in it, from the first feeling with which life commenced to the last with which it closes, could be made visible to any other thinking being, a certain series of feelings alone,—that is to say, a certain number of successive states of mind, would be distinguishable in it, forming indeed a variety of sensations, and thoughts, and passions, as momentary states of the mind, but all of them existing individu-

a Elements, vol. i. chap. 2. Works, vol. ii. p. 140-143.

ally and successively to each other. To suppose the LECT. XIII. mind to exist in two different states, in the same moment, is a manifest absurdity."^a

I shall consider these statements in detail. Stewart's first illustration of his doctrine is drawn doctrine. from a concert of music, in which, he says, "a good lustration ear can attend to the different parts of the music phenomena separately, or can attend to them all at once, and feel of sound. the full effect of the harmony." This example, however, appears to me to amount to a reduction of his opinion to the impossible. What are the facts in this example? In a musical concert, we have a multitude of different instruments and voices, emitting at once an infinity of different sounds. These all reach the ear at the same indivisible moment in which they perish, and, consequently, if heard at all, much more if their mutual relation or harmony be perceived, they must be all heard simultaneously. This is evident. For if the mind can attend to each minimum of sound only successively, it, consequently, requires a minimum of time in which it is exclusively occupied with each minimum of sound. Now, in this minimum of time, there coexist with it, and with it perish, many minima of sound which, ex hypothesi, are not perceived, -are not heard, as not attended to. In a concert, therefore, on this doctrine, a small number of sounds only could be perceived, and above this petty maximum, all sounds would be to the ear as zero. But what is the fact ? No concert, however numerous its instruments, has yet been found to have reached, far less to have surpassed, the capacity of mind and its organ.

But it is even more impossible, on this hypothesis,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Mr Criticism of Stewart's

a Lectures on the Philosophy of the 1830) .- ED. Human Mind, Lect. xi. p. 67, (ed.

to understand how we can perceive the relation LECT. XIII. of different sounds, that is, have any feeling of the Impossible, harmony of a concert. In this respect, it is, indeed, doctrine, to felo de se. It is maintained that as we cannot attend how we can at once to two sounds, we cannot perceive them as perceive the coexistent; consequently, the feeling of harmony of relation of different which we are conscious, must proceed from the feelsounds. ing of the relation of these sounds as successively perceived in different points of time. We must, therefore, compare the past sound, as retained in memory, with the present, as actually perceived. But this is impossible on the hypothesis itself. For we must, in this case, attend to the past sound in memory, and to the present sound in sense at once, or they will not be perceived in mutual relation as harmonic. But one sound in memory and another sound in sense, are as much two different objects as two different sounds in sense. Therefore, one of two conclusions is inevitable : either we can attend to two different objects at once, and the hypothesis is disproved ; or we cannot, and all knowledge of relation and harmony is impossible, which is absurd.

His second illustration from the phænomena of vision.

The consequences of this doctrine are equally startling, as taken from Mr Stewart's second illustration, from the phænomena of vision. He holds that the perception of figure by the eye is the result of a number of separate acts of attention, and that each act of attention has for its object a point the least that can be seen,—the *minimum visibile*. On this hypothesis, we must suppose that, at every instantaneous opening of the eyelids, the moment sufficient for us to take in the figure of the objects comprehended in the sphere of vision, is subdivided into almost infinitesimal parts, in each of which a separate act of

attention is performed. This is, of itself, sufficiently inconceivable. But this being admitted, no difficulty is removed. The separate acts must be laid up in memory, in imagination. But how are they there to form a single whole, unless we can, in imagination, attend to all the *minima visibilia* together, which in perception we could only attend to severally? On this subject I shall, however, have a more appropriate occasion of speaking, when I consider Mr Stewart's doctrine of the relation of colour to extension.^a

a See infra, vol. ii. p. 144 et seq.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECTURE XIV.

CONSCIOUSNESS, --- ATTENTION IN GENERAL.

LECT. XIV. Recapitula-

tion.

In the former part of our last Lecture, I concluded the argument against Reid's analysis of Consciousness into a special faculty, and showed you that, even in relation to Perception, (the faculty by which we obtain a knowledge of the material universe), Consciousness is still the common ground in which every cognitive operation has its root. I then proceeded to prove the same in regard to Attention. After some observations touching the confusion among philosophers, more or less extensive, in the meaning of the term reflection, as a subordinate modification of attention, I endeavoured to explain to you what attention properly is, and in what relation it stands to consciousness. T stated that attention is consciousness applied by an act of will or desire under a particular law. In so far as attention is an act of the conative faculty, it is not an act of knowledge at all, for the mere will or desire of knowing is not an act of cognition. But the act of the conative faculty is exerted by relation to a certain law of consciousness, or knowledge, or intelligence. This law, which we call the Law of Limitation, is, that the intension of our knowledge is in the inverse ratio of its extension, - in other words, that the fewer objects we consider at once,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

246

the clearer and more distinct will be our knowledge of them. Hence the more vividly we will or desire . that a certain object should be clearly and distinctly known, the more do we concentrate consciousness through some special faculty upon it. I omitted, I find, to state that I think Reid and Stewart incorrect in asserting that attention is only a voluntary act, meaning by the expression voluntary, an act of freewill. I am far from maintaining, as Brown and others do, that all will is desire; but still I am persuaded Attention that we are frequently determined to an act of atten-tion, as to many other acts, independently of our free will. and deliberate volition. Nor is it, I conceive, possible to hold that, though immediately determined to an act of attention by desire, it is only by the permission of our will that this is done; consequently, that every act of attention is still under the control of our volition. This I cannot maintain. Let us take an example :---When occupied with other matters, a person may speak to us, or the clock may strike, without our having any consciousness of the sound; " but it is wholly impossible for us to remain in this state of unconsciousness intentionally and with will. We cannot determinately refuse to hear by voluntarily withholding our attention; and we can no more open our eyes, and, by an act of will, avert our mind from all perception of sight, than we can, by an act of will, cease to live. We may close our cars or shut our eyes, as we may commit suicide; but we cannot, with our organs unobstructed, wholly refuse our attention at will. It. therefore, appears to me the more correct doctrine to hold that there is no consciousness without attention, -without concentration, but that attention is of three

a See Reid, Active Powers, Essay ii. ch. 3. Works, p. 537.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIV.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. XIV.

three degrees or kinds.

degrees or kinds. The first, a mere vital and irresistible act; the second, an act determined by desire, Attention of which, though involuntary, may be resisted by our will; the third, an act determined by a deliberate volition. An act of attention,-that is, an act of concentration,---seems thus necessary to every exertion of consciousness, as a certain contraction of the pupil is requisite to every exercise of vision. We have formerly noticed, that discrimination is a condition of consciousness; and a discrimination is only possible by a concentrative act. or act of attention. This, however, which corresponds to the lowest degree,-to the mere vital or automatic act of attention, has been refused the name; and attention, in contradistinction to this mere automatic contraction, given to the two other degrees, of which, however, Reid only recognises the third.

Nature and importance

Attention, then, is to consciousness, what the conof attention, traction of the pupil is to sight; or to the eye of the mind, what the microscope or telescope is to the bodily eye. The faculty of attention is not, therefore, a special faculty, but merely consciousness acting under the law of limitation to which it is subjected. But whatever be its relations to the special faculties, attention doubles all their efficiency, and affords them a power of which they would otherwise be destitute. It is, in fact, as we are at present constituted, the primary condition of their activity.

Can we atobject at once?

Having thus concluded the discussion of the questend to more tion regarding the relation of consciousness to the other cognitive faculties, I proceeded to consider various questions which, as not peculiar to any of the special faculties, fall to be discussed under the head of consciousness, and I commenced with the curious

problem, Whether we can attend to more than a single object at once. Mr Stewart maintains, though not without hesitation, the negative. I endeavoured to show you that his arguments are not conclusive, and that they even involve suppositions which are so monstrous as to reduce the thesis he supports ad impossibile. I have now only to say a word in answer Brown's to Dr Brown's assertion of the same proposition, that the though in different terms. In the passage I adduced not exist in our last Lecture, he commences by the assertion, moment in that the mind cannot exist, at the same moment, in rent states. which it can exist separately, and concludes with the averment that the contrary supposition is a manifest absurdity. I find the same doctrine maintained by This doc-Locke in that valuable, but neglected, treatise entitled trine main-An Examination of Père Malebranche's Opinion Locke. of Seeing all Things in God. In the thirty-ninth section he says :--- "Different sentiments are different modifications of the mind. The mind or soul that perceives, is one immaterial, indivisible substance. Now, I see the white and black on this paper, I hear one singing in the next room, I feel the warmth of the fire I sit by, and I taste an apple I am eating, and all this at the same time. Now, I ask, take modification for what you please, can the same unextended, indivisible substance, have different, nay, inconsistent and opposite, (as these of white and black must be), modifications at the same time? Or must we suppose distinct parts in an indivisible substance, one for black, another for white, and another for red ideas, and so of the rest of those infinite sensations which we have in sorts and degrees; all which we can distinctly perceive, and so are distinct ideas, some where-

LECT. XIV.

249

doctrine. two diffe-

LECT. XIV.

of are opposite as heat and cold, which yet a man may feel at the same time ?" Leibnitz has not only given a refutation of Locke's Essay, but likewise of his Examination of Malebranche. In reference to Opposed by the passage I have just quoted, Leibnitz says : "Mr Locke asks, 'Can the same unextended, indivisible substance, have different, nay, inconsistent and opposite modifications, at the same time ?' I reply, it can. What is inconsistent in the same object, is not inconsistent in the representation of different objects which we conceive at the same moment. For this there is no necessity that there should be different parts in the soul, as it is not necessary that there should be different parts in the point on which, however, different angles rest."^a The same thing had, however, been even better said by Aristotle, whose doctrine I prefer translating to you, as more perspicuous, in the following passage from Joannes Grammaticus, (better known by the surname Philoponus), - a Greek philosopher, who flourished towards the middle of the sixth century. It is taken from the Prologue to his valuable commentary on the De Anima of Aristotle; and, what is curious, the very supposition which on Locke's doctrine would infer the corporeal nature of mind, is alleged by the Aristotelians and Condillac, in proof of its immateriality. "Nothing bodily, says Aristotle, can, at the same time, in the same part, receive contraries. The finger cannot at once be wholly participant of white and of black, nor can it, at once and in the same place, be both hot and cold. But the sense at the same moment apprehends contraries. Wherefore, it knows that this is first, and that second, and that it discriminates the black from the white. In what

> a Remarques sur le Sentiment du phica, edit. Erdmann, p. 451.-ED. Père Malebranche; Opera Philoso-Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Aristotle opposed to foregoing doctrine.

His view, as paraphrased by Philoponus. manner, therefore, does sight simultaneously perceive contraries? Does it do so by the same? or does it by one part apprehend black, by another, white? If it does so by the same, it must apprehend these without parts, and it is incorporeal. But if by one part it apprehends this quality, and by another that,---this, he says, is the same as if I perceived this, and you that. But it is necessary that that which judges should be one and the same, and that it should even apprehend by the same the objects which are judged. Body cannot, at the same moment and by the same part, apply itself to contraries or things absolutely different. But sense at once applies itself to black and to white; it, therefore, applies itself indivisibly. It is thus shown to be incorporeal. For if by one part it apprehended white, by another part apprehended black, it could not discern the one colour from the other; for no one can distinguish that which is perceived by himself as different from that which is perceived by another."^a So far Philoponus.

Dr Brown calls the sensation of sweet one mental Criticism of state, the sensation of cold another; and as the one of doctrine. these states may exist without the other, they are consequently different states. But will it be maintained

a The text of Aristotle here partially paraphrased, (Procem. f. 3b ed. 1535), and more fully in Commentary on texts 144, 149, is as follows:—⁷H και δήλον ὅτι ἡ σὰρξ οὐκ ἔστι τὸ ἔσχατον αἰσθητήριον ἀνάγκη γὰρ ἦν ἀπτόμενον αὐτοῦ κρίνειν τὸ κρῦνον. Οὕτε δὴ κεχωρισμένοις ἐνδέχεται κρίνειν ὅτι ἔτερον τὸ γλυκὺ τοῦ λευκοῦ, ἀλλὰ δεί ἐνί τινι ἄμφω δῆλα εἶναι. Οὕτω μὲν γὰρ κῶν εἰ τοῦ μὲν ἐγὼ τοῦ δὲ σὺ αἴσθοιο, δῆλον ἁν είη ὅτι ἕτερα ἀλλήλων. Δεῖ δὲ τὸ ἐν λέγειν ὅτι ἕτερον ἔτερον γὰρ τὸ γλυκὺ τοῦ λευκοῦ. Λέγει ἅρα τὸ ἀὐτὸ ¨Ωστε ώς λέγει, οῦτω καὶ νοεῖ καὶ αἰσθάνεται. "Οτι μὲν οῦν οὐχ οἶόν τε κεχωρισμένοις κρίνειν τὰ κεχωρισμένα, δῆλον⁻ ὅτι δ' οὐδ' ἐν κεχωρισμένω χρόνω, ἐντεῦθεν. "Ωσπερ γὰρ τὰ αὐτὰ λέγει ὅτι ἕτερον, τὰ ἀγαθῦν καὶ τὰ κακόν, οῦτω καὶ ὅτε θάτερον λέγει ὅτι ἕτερον καὶ θάτερον, οὐ κατὰ συμβεβηκὸς τὰ ὅτε· λέγω δ', οἶον νῦν λέγω ὅτι ἕτερον, οὺ μέντοι ὅτι νῦν ἕτερον. 'Αλλ' οῦτω λέγει, καὶ νῦν, καὶ ὅτι νῦν⁻ ἅμα ἅρα. "Ωστε ὰχώριστον καὶ ἐν ἀχωρίστω χρόνω. De Anima, lib. iii. c. 2, § 11. Cf. §§ 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, with the relative commentary by Philoponus.—ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIV. LECT. XIV.

that we cannot, at one and the same moment, feel the sensations of sweet and cold, or that sensations forming apart different states, do, when coexistent in the same subject, form only a single state?

On this view comparison impossible.

The doctrine that the mind can attend to, or be conscious of, only a single object at a time, would, in fact, involve the conclusion that all comparison and discrimination are impossible; but comparison and discrimination being possible, this possibility disproves the truth of the counter-proposition. An act of comparison or discrimination supposes that we are able to comprehend, in one indivisible consciousness, the different objects to be compared or discriminated. Were I only conscious of one object at one time, I could never possibly bring them into relation; each could be apprehended only separately, and for itself. For in the moment in which I am conscious of the object A, I am, ex hypothesi, unconscious of the object B; and in the moment I am conscious of the object B, I am unconscious of the object A. So far, in fact, from consciousness not being competent to the cognisance of two things at once, it is only possible under that cognisance as its condition. For without discrimination there could be no consciousness; and discrimination necessarily supposes two terms to be discriminated.

No judgment could be possible were not the subject and predicate of a proposition thought together by the mind, although expressed in language one after the other. Nay, as Aristotle has observed, a syllogism forms in thought one simultaneous act; " and it is only the necessity of retailing it piecemeal and by succes-

a This is said by Aristotle of the κal τδ άληθές, σύνθεσίς τις ήδη νοημά-De Anima, iii. 6: 'Ev ols to yeudos

plies to that of reasoning also. See de ev ποιούν, τούτο δ νούς εκαστον.-ED.

sion, in order to accommodate thought to the imperfection of its vehicle,-language, that affords the appearance of a consecutive existence. Some languages, as the Sanscrit, the Latin, and the Greek, express the syntactical relations by flexion, and not by mere juxtaposition. Their sentences are thus bound up into one organic whole, the preceding parts remaining suspended in the mind, till the meaning, like an electric spark, is flashed from the conclusion to the commencement. This is the reason of the greater rhetorical effect of terminating the Latin period by the verb. And to take a mere elementary example,-""How could the mind comprehend these words of Horace,

> 'Bacchum in remotis carmina rupibus Vidi docentem.'

unless it could seize at once those images in which the adjectives are separated from their substantives ?" "

The modern philosophers who have agitated this This quesquestion, are not aware that it was one canvassed likewise in the schools of the middle ages. It was there of the midexpressed by the proposition, Possitne intellectus noster dle ages. plura simul intelligere.^{β} Maintaining the negative, we find St Thomas, Cajetanus, Ferrariensis, Capreolus, Hervæus, Alexander Alensis, Albertus Magnus, and Durandus; while the affirmative was asserted by Scotus, Occam, Gregorius, Ariminensis, Lichetus, Marsilius, Biel. and others.^{γ}

Supposing that the mind is not limited to the simul- How many taneous consideration of a single object, a question the mind arises, How many objects can it embrace at once ? once?

tom. ii. p. 377, note.]

β [See Aquinas, Summa, pars i., qu. 85, art. 4. Cf. Alex. Aphrodisiensis, De Anima, lib. i. c. 22, f. 134 a (ed.

a [Bonstetten, Etudes de l'Homme, Ald.) Nemesius, De Natura Hominis, c. vii. p. 184, ed. Matthai.]

γ For these authorities, see Conimbricenses, In De Anima, lib. iii. c. viii. qu. 6, p. 499 et seq.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIV.

LECT. XIV.

You will recollect that I formerly stated that the greater the number of objects among which the attention of the mind is distributed, the feebler and less distinct will be its cognisance of each.

"Pluribus intentus, minor est ad singula sensus."

Consciousness will thus be at its maximum of intensity when attention is concentrated on a single object; and the question comes to be, how many several objects can the mind simultaneously survey, not with vivacity, but without absolute confusion? I find this problem stated and differently answered, by different philosophers, and apparently without a knowledge of each other. By Charles Bonnet " the mind is allowed to have a distinct notion of six objects at once; by Abraham Tucker^{β} the number is limited to four: while Destutt-Tracy^{γ} again amplifies it to six. The opinion of the first and last of these philosophers appears to me correct. You can easily make the experiment for yourselves, but you must be aware of grouping the objects into classes. If you throw a handful of marbles on the floor, you will find it difficult to view at once more than six, or seven at most, without confusion; but if you group them into twos, or threes, or fives, you can comprehend as many groups as you can units; because the mind considers these groups only as units, -it views them as wholes, and throws their parts out of consideration. You may perform the experiment also by an act of imagination.

a [Essai de Psychologie, c. xxxviii. p. 132. Compare his Essai Analytique sur l'Ame, tom. i. c. xiii. p. 163 et seq.] β [Light of Nature, c. xiv. § 5.]

γ [Idéologie, tom. i. p. 453. Compare Degerando, Des Signes, i. 167,

who allows us to embrace, at one view, five unities. D'Alembert, Mélanges, vol. iv. pp. 40, 151. Ancillon, Nouveaux Mélanges, tom. ii. p. 135. Malebranche, Recherche, liv. iii. c. 2, tom. i. p. 191.]

Before leaving this subject, I shall make some observations on the value of attention, considered in its highest degree as an act of will, and on the importance of forming betimes the habit of deliberate concentration.

The greater capacity of continuous thinking that a Value of attention man possesses, the longer and more steadily can he considered follow out the same train of thought,—the stronger is degree as an his power of attention; and in proportion to his power of attention will be the success with which his labour is rewarded. All commencement is difficult : and this is more especially true of intellectual effort. When we turn for the first time our view on any given object, a hundred other things still retain possession of our thoughts. Even when we are able, by an arduous exertion, to break loose from the matters which have previously engrossed us, or which every moment force themselves on our consideration,-even when a resolute determination, or the attraction of the new object, has smoothed the way on which we are to travel; still the mind is continually perplexed by the glimmer of intrusive and distracting thoughts, which prevent it from placing that which should exclusively occupy its view, in the full clearness of an undivided light. How great soever may be the interest which we take in the new object, it will, however, only be fully established as a favourite when it has been fused into an integral part of the system of our previous knowledge, and of our established associations of thoughts, feelings, and desires. But this can only be accomplished by time and custom. Our imagination and our memory, to which we must resort for materials with which to illustrate and enliven our new study, accord us their aid unwillingly, - indeed, only by

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIV.

act of will.

LECT. XIV.

compulsion. But if we are vigorous enough to pursue our course in spite of obstacles, every step, as we advance, will be found easier ; the mind becomes more animated and energetic; the distractions gradually diminish; the attention is more exclusively concentrated upon its object; the kindred ideas flow with greater freedom and abundance, and afford an easier selection of what is suitable for illustration. At length, our system of thought harmonises with our pursuit. The whole man becomes, as it may be, philosopher, or historian, or poet; he lives only in the trains of thought relating to this character. He now energises freely, and, consequently, with pleasure; for pleasure is the reflex of unforced and unimpeded energy. All that is produced in this state of mind, bears the stamp of excellence and perfection. Helvetius justly observes, that the very feeblest intellect is capable of comprehending the inference of one mathematical position from another, and even of making such an inference itself." Now, the most difficult and complicate demonstrations in the works of a Newton or a Laplace, are all made up of such immediate inferences. They are like houses composed of single bricks. No greater exertion of intellect is required to make a thousand such inferences than is requisite to make one; as the effort of laying a single brick is the maximum of any individual effort in the construction of such a house. Thus, the difference between an ordinary mind and the mind of a Newton, consists principally in this, that the one is capable of the application of a more continuous attention than the other,-that a Newton is able without fatigue to connect inference with inference in one long series towards a determinate end; while the man of inferior capacity is soon obliged to break or let

a De l'Esprit, Discours iii, c. iv. – ED. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® fall the thread which he had begun to spin. This is, LECT. in fact, what Sir Isaac, with equal modesty and shrewdness, himself admitted. To one who complimented Newton. him on his genius, he replied that if he had made any discoveries, it was owing more to patient attention than to any other talent." There is but little analogy between mathematics and play-acting; but I heard the great Mrs Siddons, in nearly the same language, attribute the whole superiority of her unrivalled talent to the more intense study which she bestowed upon her parts. If what Alcibiades, in the $Symposium^{\beta}$ of Plato, narrates of Socrates were true, the father of socrates. Greek philosophy must have possessed this faculty of meditation or continuous attention in the highest degree. The story, indeed, has some appearance of exaggeration; but it shows what Alcibiades, or rather Plato through him, deemed the requisite of a great thinker. According to this report, in a military expedition which Socrates made along with Alcibiades, the philosopher was seen by the Athenian army to stand for a whole day and a night, until the breaking of the second morning, motionless, with a fixed gaze,-thus showing that he was uninterruptedly engrossed with the consideration of a single subject : "And thus." says Alcibiades, "Socrates is ever wont to do when his mind is occupied with inquiries in which there are difficulties to be overcome. He then never interrupts his meditation, and forgets to eat, and drink, and sleep,-everything, in short, until his inquiry has reached its termination, or, at least, until he has seen some light in it." In this history there may be, as I have said, exaggeration; but still the truth of the principle is undeniable. Like Newton, Descartes arro- Descartes.

a See Reid's Works, p. 537. β P. 220.—Ed. VOL. I. R

LECT. XIV.

Bacon.

Helvetius.

Buffon.

Cavier.

Chesterfield.

the power of Abstrac-

tion.

gated nothing to the force of his intellect. What he had accomplished more than other men, that he attributed to the superiority of his method;^a and Bacon, in like manner, eulogises his method, in that it places all men with equal attention upon a level, and leaves little or nothing to the prerogatives of genius.^{β} Nay, genius itself has been analysed by the shrewdest observers into a higher capacity of attention. "Genius," says Helvetius, γ whom we have already quoted, "is nothing but a continued attention," (une attention suivie.) "Genius," says Buffon, δ " is only a protracted patience," (une longue patience.) "In the exact sciences, at least," says Cuvier," "it is the patience of a sound intellect, when invincible, which truly constitutes genius." And Chesterfield has also observed, that "the power of applying an attention, steady and undissipated, to a single object, is the sure mark of a superior genius."5

These examples and authorities concur in establishing the important truth, that he who would, with success, attempt discovery, either by inquiry into the works of nature, or by meditation on the phænomena of mind, must acquire the faculty of abstracting himself, for a season, from the invasion of surrounding objects, must be able even, in a certain degree, to emancipate himself from the dominion of the body, and live, as it were, a pure intelligence, within the Instances of circle of his thoughts. This faculty has been manifested, more or less, by all whose names are associated

> a Discours de la Méthode, p. 1.-ED. β Nov. Org., lib. i. aph. 61.-ED. y De l'Esprit, Discours iii. chap.

δ [Quoted by Ponelle, Manuel, p. 371.]

 [Eloge Historique de M. Haüy, quoted by Toussaint, De la Pensée, p. 219.]

& Letters to his Son. Letter lxxxix. [Compare Bonnet, Essai Analytique, tom. i., préface, p. 8.]

iv.-ED.

with the progress of the intellectual sciences. In some, indeed, the power of abstraction almost degenerated into a habit akin to disease, and the examples which now occur to me, would almost induce me to retract what I have said about the exaggeration of Plato's history of Socrates.

Archimedes," it is well known, was so absorbed in a Archimedes. geometrical meditation, that he was first aware of the storming of Syracuse by his own death-wound, and his exclamation on the entrance of Roman soldiers was.—Noli turbare circulos meos. In like manner. Joseph Scaliger,^{β} the most learned of men, when a Joseph Scaliger. Protestant student in Paris, was so engrossed in the study of Homer, that he became aware of the massacre of St Bartholomew, and of his own escape, only on the day subsequent to the catastrophe. The philosopher Carneades⁷ was habitually liable to fits of medi- Carneades. tation so profound, that, to prevent him sinking from inanition, his maid found it necessary to feed him like a child. And it is reported of Newton, that, while Newton. engaged in his mathematical researches, he sometimes forgot to dine. Cardan,⁸ one of the most illustrious Cardan. of philosophers and mathematicians, was once, upon a journey, so lost in thought, that he forgot both his way and the object of his journey. To the questions of his driver whither he should proceed, he made no answer; and when he came to himself at nightfall, he was surprised to find the carriage at a stand-still, and directly under a gallows. The mathematician Vieta^e was some- vieta.

a See Valerius Maximus, lib. viii. c. 7.—ED.

β See D. Heinsius, In Josephi Scaligeri Obitum Funebris Oratio, (1609), p. 15.—ED.

γ Valerius Maximus, loc. cit.-ED.

δ [Steeb, Über den Menschen, ii. 671.]

 e See Thuanus, Historia sui tem- poris, lib. exxix., tom. v. p. 1045, ed. 1630.—ED.

LECT. XIV. 260

Budæus.

Malebranche quoted on place and importance of attention. times so buried in meditation, that for hours he bore more resemblance to a dead person than to a living, and was then wholly unconscious of everything going on around him. On the day of his marriage, the great Budæus forgot everything in his philological speculations, and he was only awakened to the affairs of the external world by a tardy embassy from the marriageparty, who found him absorbed in the composition of his *Commentarii*.

It is beautifully observed by Malebranche, "that the discovery of truth can only be made by the labour of attention; because it is only the labour of attention which has light for its reward;"^a and, in an-tural prayer by which we obtain the enlightenment of reason. But since the Fall, the intellect frequently experiences appalling droughts; it cannot pray; the labour of attention fatigues and afflicts it. In fact, this labour is at first great, and the recompense scanty; while, at the same time, we are unceasingly solicited, pressed, agitated by the imagination and the passions, whose inspiration and impulses it is always agreeable to obey. Nevertheless, it is a matter of necessity; we must invoke reason to be enlightened; there is no other way of obtaining light and intelligence but by the labour of attention. Faith is a gift of God which we earn not by our merits; but intelligence is a gift usually only conceded to desert. Faith is a pure grace in every sense; but the understanding of a truth is a grace of such a character that it must be merited by labour, or by the co-operation of grace. Those, then, who are capable of this labour, and who

a Traité de Morale, partie i. chap. β Ibid., partie i. chap. v. § 4.-vi. § 1. ED.

are always attentive to the truth which ought to guide them, have a disposition which would undoubtedly deserve a name more magnificent than those bestowed on the most splendid virtues. But although this habit or this virtue be inseparable from the love of order, it is so little known among us that I do not know if we have done it the honour of a particular name. May I, therefore, be pardoned in calling it by the equivocal name of force of intellect. To acquire this true force by which the intellect supports the labour of attention, it is necessary to begin betimes to labour; for, in the course of nature, we can only acquire habits by acts, and can only strengthen them by exercise. But perhaps the only difficulty is to begin. We recollect that we began, and that we were obliged to leave off. Hence we get discouraged; we think ourselves unfit for meditation; we renounce reason. If this be the case, whatever we may allege to justify our sloth and negligence, we renounce virtue, at least in part. For without the labour of attention, we shall never comprehend the grandeur of religion, the sanctity of morals, the littleness of all that is not God, the absurdity of the passions, and of all our internal miseries. Without this labour, the soul will live in blindness and in disorder; because there is naturally no other way to obtain the light that should conduct us: we shall be eternally under disquietude and in strange embarrassment; for we fear everything when we walk in darkness and surrounded by precipices. It is true that faith guides and supports; but it does so only as it produces some light by the attention which it excites in us; for light alone is what can assure minds, like ours, which have so many enemies to fear."

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIV.

Study of the writings of Malebranche recommended.

I have translated a longer extract than I intended when I began; but the truth and importance of the observations are so great, and they are so admirably expressed in Malebranche's own inimitable style, that it was not easy to leave off. They are only a fragment of a very valuable chapter on the subject, to which I would earnestly refer you,-indeed, I may take this opportunity of saying, that there is no philosophical author who can be more profitably studied than Malebranche. As a thinker, he is perhaps the most profound that France has ever produced; and as a writer on philosophical subjects, there is not another European author who can be placed before him. His style is a model at once of dignity and of natural ease; and no metaphysician has been able to express himself so clearly and precisely without resorting to technical and scholastic terms. That he was the author of a celebrated, but exploded hypothesis, is, perhaps, the reason why he is far less studied than he otherwise deserves. His works are of principal value for the admirable observations on human nature which they embody; and were everything to be expunged from them connected with the Vision of all Things in the Deity, and even with the Cartesian hypotheses in general, they would still remain an inestimable treasury of the acutest analyses, expressed in the most appropriate, and, therefore, the most admirable, eloquence. In the last respect, he is only approached, certainly not surpassed, by Hume and Mendelssohn.

I have dwelt at greater length upon the practical bearings of Attention, not only because this principle constitutes the better half of all intellectual power, but because it is of consequence that you should be fully aware of the incalculable importance of acquir-

ing, by early and continued exercise, the habit of attention. There are, however, many points of great moment on which I have not touched, and the dependence of Memory upon Attention might alone form an interesting matter of discussion. You will find some excellent observations on this subject in the first and third volumes of Mr Stewart's *Elements.*^a

a See Coll. Works, ii. p. 122 et seq., and p. 352 .- ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECTURE XV.

CONSCIOUSNESS,-ITS EVIDENCE AND AUTHORITY.

LECT. XV.

Consciousness the source of

HAVING now concluded the discussion in regard to what Consciousness is, and shown you that it constitutes the fundamental form of every act of knowsource of Philosophy. ledge;—I now proceed to consider it as the source from whence we must derive every fact in the Philosophy of Mind. And, in prosecution of this purpose, I shall, in the first place, endeavour to show you that it really is the principal, if not the only source, from which all knowledge of the mental phænomena must be obtained;^{α} in the second place, I shall consider the character of its evidence, and what, under different relations, are the different degrees of its authority; and, in the last place, I shall state what, and of what nature, are the more general phænomena which

> a Under the first head here specified, the Author occasionally delivered from the Chair three lectures. which contained "a summary view of the nervous system in the higher animals, more especially in man; and a statement of some of the results obtained [by him] from an extensive and accurate induction on the size of the Encephalus and its principal parts both in man and the lower animals, -serving to prove that no assistance is afforded to Mental Philosophy by the examination of

the Nervous System, and that the doctrine, or doctrines, which found upon the supposed parallelism of brain and mind, are, as far as observation extends, wholly groundless." These lectures, as foreign in their details from the general subject of the Course, are omitted in the present publication. A general summary of the principal conclusions to which the researches of the Author on this subject conducted him, will be found in Appendix II.-ED.
LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

it reveals. Having terminated these, I shall then descend to the consideration of the special faculties of knowledge, that is, to the particular modifications of which consciousness is susceptible.

We proceed to consider, in the first place, the The possibi-lity of Phi-thority.—the certainty, of this instrument. Now, lesophy imauthority,-the certainty, of this instrument. it is at once evident, that philosophy, as it affirms its veracity of own possibility, must affirm the veracity of consciousness; for, as philosophy is only a scientific development of the facts which consciousness reveals, it follows, that philosophy, in denying or doubting the testimony of consciousness, would deny or doubt its own existence. If, therefore, philosophy be not felo de se, it must not invalidate the integrity of that which is; as it were, the heart, the *punctum saliens*, of its being, and as it would actively maintain its own credit, it must be able positively to vindicate the truth of consciousness : for, as Lucretius^a well observes,

"... Ut in Fabrica, si prava est Regula prima, Normaque si fallax rectis regionibus exit, Omnia mendose fieri, atque obstipa necessum est ; Sic igitur Ratio tibi rerum prava necesse est, Falsaque sit, falsis quæcunque ab Sensibus orta est."

And Leibnitz^{β} truly says—"If our immediate internal experience could possibly deceive us, there could no longer be for us any truth of fact (vérité de fait), nay, nor any truth of reason (vérité de raison)."

So far there is, and can be, no dispute; if philosophy is possible, the evidence of consciousness is authentic. No philosopher denies its authority, and even the Sceptic can only attempt to show, on the hypothesis of the Dogmatist, that consciousness, as at

a De Rerum Natura, lib. iv. 516. B Nouveaux Essais, liv. ii. c. 27, -ED. § 13. -ED.

LECT. XV.

conscious-

LECT. XV. variance with itself, is, therefore, on that hypothesis, mendacious.

But if the testimony of consciousness be in itself confessedly above all suspicion, it follows, that we inquire into the conditions or laws which regulate the legitimacy of its applications. The conscious mind being at once the source from which we must derive our knowledge of its phænomena, and the mean through which that knowledge is obtained, Psychology is only an evolution, by consciousness, of the facts which consciousness itself reveals. As every system of Mental Philosophy is thus only an exposition of these facts, every such system, consequently, is true and complete, as it fairly and fully exhibits what, and what only, consciousness exhibits.

Consciousness, as the criteriou of philosophy, naturally clear and unerring.

But, it may be objected,-if consciousness be the only revelation we possess of our intellectual nature, and if consciousness be also the sole criterion by which we can interpret the meaning of what this revelation contains, this revelation must be very obscure,-this criterion must be very uncertain, seeing that the various systems of philosophy all equally appeal to this revelation, and to this criterion, in support of the most contradictory opinions. As to the fact of the variety and contradiction of philosophical systems.-this cannot be denied, and it is also true that all these systems either openly profess allegiance to consciousness, or silently confess its authority. But admitting all this, I am still bold enough to maintain, that consciousness affords not merely the only revelation, and only criterion of philosophy, but that this revelation is naturally clear,-this criterion, in itself, unerring. The history of philosophy, like the history of theology, is only, it is too true, the history

of variations, and we must admit of the book of con- LECT. XV. sciousness what a great Calvinist divine^a bitterly. confessed of the book of Scripture,-

> "Hic liber est in quo quærit sua dogmata quisque ; Invenit et pariter dogmata quisque sua."

In regard, however, to either revelation, it can be Cause of variation in shown that the source of this diversity is not in the philosophy. book, but in the reader. If men will go to the Bible, not to ask of it what they shall believe, but to find in it what they believe already, the standard of unity and truth becomes in human hands only a Lesbian rule.^{β} And if philosophers, in place of evolving their doctrines out of consciousness, resort to consciousness only when they are able to quote its authority in confirmation of their preconceived opinions, philosophical systems, like the sandals of Theramenes, γ may fit any feet, but can never pretend to represent the immutability of nature. And that philosophers have been, for the most part, guilty of this, it is not extremely difficult to show. They have seldom or never taken the facts of consciousness, the whole facts of consciousness, and nothing but the facts of consciousness. They have either overlooked, or rejected, or interpolated.

Before we are entitled to accuse consciousness of We are being a false, or vacillating, or ill-informed witness, bound to we are bound, first of all, to see whether there be any whether there be rules by which, in employing the testimony of consciousness, we must be governed; and whether philo-in employ-ing the sophers have evolved their systems out of conscious- testimony of con-

a S. Werenfels, Dissertationes, Am- Kaváv. - ED. stel, 1716, vol. ii. p. 391.-ED.

β Aristotle, Eth. Nic., v. 10: Toῦ γαρ αορίστου αόριστος και δκανών έπτιν, ώσπερ και της Λεσβίας οἰκοδομης δ uoλίβδινος κανών· πρός γάρ το σχήμα τοῦ λίθου μετακινείται και οὐ μένει δ

γ Θηραμένης δια το μή μόνιμον αλλα governed. καί ἐπαμφοτερίζον ἀεὶτῆ προαιρέσει τῆς πολιτείας, επεκλήθη Κόθορνος. Plutarch, Nicias,-Opera, vol. i. p. 524 (ed. 1599).-ED.

any rules by which, sciousness, we must be

LECT. XV.

ness in obedience to these rules. For if there be rules under which alone the evidence of consciousness can be fairly and fully given, and, consequently, under which alone consciousness can serve as an infallible standard of certainty and truth, and if philosophers have despised or neglected these, then must we remove the reproach from the instrument, and affix it to those blundering workmen who have not known how to handle and apply it. In attempting to vindicate the veracity and perspicuity of this, the natural, revelation of our mental being, I shall, therefore, first, endeavour to enumerate and explain the general rules by which we must be governed in applying consciousness as a mean of internal observation, and thereafter show how the variations and contradictions of philosophy have all arisen from the violation of one or more of these laws. If I accomplish this at present but imperfectly, I may at least plead in excuse, that the task I undertake is one that has not been previously attempted. I, therefore, request that you will view what I am to state to you on this subject rather as the outline of a course of reasoning, than as anything pretending to finished argument.

Three grand Laws, under which consciousness consideration of its own phænomena.

1. The Law of Parcimony.

In attempting a scientific deduction of the philosophy of mind from the data of consciousness, there are, can be legi- in all, if I generalise correctly, three laws which afford timately applied to the exclusive conditions of psychological legitimacy. These laws, or regulative conditions, are self-evident, and yet they seem never to have been clearly proposed to themselves by philosophers,---in philosophical speculation, they have certainly never been adequately obeyed. The First of these rules is,-That no fact be assumed as a fact of consciousness but what is ultimate and simple. This I would call the law of Parcimony.

The Second,—that which I would style the law of $\frac{\text{LECT.}}{\text{XV.}}$ Integrity, is—That the whole facts of consciousness be $\frac{2}{2}$. The Law taken without reserve or hesitation, whether given as of Integrity. constituent, or as regulative, data.

The Third is,-That nothing but the facts of con-3. The Law sciousness be taken, or, if inferences of reasoning be mony. admitted, that these at least be recognised as legitimate only as deduced from, and in subordination to, the immediate data of consciousness, and every position rejected as illegitimate, which is contradictory of these. This I would call the law of Harmony.

I shall consider these in their order.

I. The first law, that of Parcimony, is,—That no I. The Law fact be assumed as a fact of consciousness but what is mony. ultimate and simple. What is a fact of consciousness ? Fact of con-This question of all others requires a precise and arti- what? culate answer, but I have not found it adequately answered in any psychological author.

In the first place, every mental phænomenon may 1. Primary be called a fact of consciousness. But as we distin-sal. guish consciousness from the special faculties, though these are all only modifications of consciousness,--only branches of which consciousness is the trunk: so we distinguish the special and derivative phænomena of mind from those that are primary and universal, and give to the latter the name of facts of consciousness, as more eminently worthy of that appellation. In an act of perception, for example, I distinguish the pen I hold in my hand, and my hand itself, from my mind perceiving them. This distinction is a particular fact,--the fact of a particular faculty, perception. But there is a general fact, a general distinction, of which this is only a special case. This general fact is the distinction of the Ego and non-Ego, and it belongs to con-

LECT. XV.

270

sciousness as the general faculty. Whenever, therefore, in our analysis of the intellectual phænomena, we arrive at an element which we cannot reduce to a generalisation from experience, but which lies at the root of all experience, and which we cannot, therefore, resolve into any higher principle,-this we properly call a fact of consciousness. Looking to such a fact of consciousness as the last result of an analysis, we call it an *ultimate* principle; looking from it as the first constituent of all intellectual combination, we call it a primary principle. A fact of consciousness is, thus, a simple, and, as we regard it, either an ultimate, or a primary, datum of intelligence. It obtains also various denominations; sometimes it is called an a priori principle, sometimes a fundamental law of mind, sometimes a transcendental condition of thought," &c. &c.

2. Necessary.

3. Given

reality.

But, in the second place, this, its character of ultimate priority, supposes its character of necessity. It must be impossible not to think it. In fact, by its necessity alone can we recognise it as an original datum of intelligence, and distinguish it from any mere result of generalisation and custom.

In the third place, this fact, as ultimate, is also given with a mere to us with a mere belief of its reality; in other words, belief of its consciousness reveals that it is, but not why or how it is. This is evident. Were this fact given us, not only with a belief, but with a knowledge of how or why it is, in that case it would be a derivative, and not a primary, datum. For that whereby we were thus enabled to comprehend its how and why,-in other words, the reason of its existence,-this would be relatively prior, and to it or to its antecedent must we ascend, until we arrive at that primary fact, in which

a See Reid's Works, p. 755 et seq.-ED.

we must at last believe,-which we must take upon LECT. trust, but which we could not comprehend, that is, think under a higher notion.

A fact of consciousness is thus,-that whose existence is given and guaranteed by an original and necessary belief. But there is an important distinction to be here made, which has not only been overlooked by all philosophers, but has led some of the most distinguished into no inconsiderable errors.

The facts of consciousness are to be considered in The facts of two points of view; either as evidencing their own ness to be ideal or phænomenal existence, or as evidencing the intwopoints objective existence of something else beyond them. " A of view: either as belief in the former is not identical with a belief in their own the latter. The one cannot, the other may possibly, ence, or the be refused. In the case of a common witness, we existence cannot doubt the fact of his personal reality, nor the thing befact of his testimony as emitted, but we can always yound them. doubt the truth of that which his testimony avers. So it is with consciousness. We cannot possibly refuse How far the fact of its evidence as given, but we may hesitate possible in to admit that beyond itself of which it assures us. shall explain by taking an example. In the act of ness. Il-External Perception, consciousness gives as a conjunct the case of fact, the existence of Me or Self as perceiving, and the existence of something different from Me or Self as perceived. Now the reality of this, as a subjective datum, -as an ideal phænomenon, it is absolutely impossible to doubt without doubting the existence of consciousness, for consciousness is itself this fact; and to doubt the existence of consciousness is absolutely impossible; for as such a doubt could not exist, except in and through consciousness, it would, consequently,

a See Reid's Works, Note A, p. 743 et seq. - ED.

eonsciousconsidered ideal existobjective

doubt is I a fact of Consciouslustrated in Perception.

XV.

LECT. XV. 272

annihilate itself. We should doubt that we doubted. As contained,—as given, in an act of consciousness, the contrast of mind knowing and matter known cannot be denied.

But the whole phænomenon as given in consciousness may be admitted, and yet its inference disputed. It may be said, consciousness gives the mental subject as perceiving an external object, contradistinguished from it as perceived : all this we do not, and cannot, But consciousness is only a phænomenon;deny. the contrast between the subject and object may be only apparent, not real; the object given as an external reality, may only be a mental representation, which the mind is, by an unknown law, determined unconsciously to produce, and to mistake for something different from itself. All this may be said and believed, without self-contradiction,-nay, all this has, by the immense majority of modern philosophers, been actually said and believed.

In the case of Memory.

In like manner, in an act of Memory consciousness connects a present existence with a past. I cannot deny the actual phænomenon, because my denial would be suicidal, but I can, without self-contradiction, assert that consciousness may be a false witness in regard to any former existence; and I may maintain, if I please, that the memory of the past, in consciousness, is nothing but a phænomenon, which has no reality beyond the present. There are many other facts of consciousness which we cannot but admit as ideal phænomena, but may discredit as guaranteeing aught beyond their phænomenal existence itself. The legality of this doubt I do not at present consider, but only its possibility; all that I have now in view being to show that we must not confound, as has been done, the double im-

port of the facts, and the two degrees of evidence for LECT. their reality. This mistake has, among others, been made by Mr Stewart.^a "The belief," he says, "which stewart accompanies consciousness, as to the present existence these two of its appropriate phænomena, has been commonly con-evidence. sidered as much less obnoxious to cavil, than any of the other principles which philosophers are accustomed to assume as self-evident, in the formation of their metaphysical systems. No doubts on this head have yet been suggested by any philosopher how sceptical soever, even by those who have called in question the existence both of mind and of matter. And yet the fact is, that it rests on no foundation more solid than our belief of the existence of external objects; or our belief, that other men possess intellectual powers and faculties similar to those of which we are conscious in ourselves. In all these cases, the only account that can be given of our belief is, that it forms a necessary part of our constitution; against which metaphysicians may easily argue so as to perplex the judgment, but of which it is impossible for us to divest ourselves for a moment, when we are called on to employ our reason, either in the business of life, or in the pursuits of science. While we are under the influence of our appetites, passions, or affections, or even of a strong speculative curiosity, all those difficulties which bewildered us in the solitude of the closet, vanish before the essential principles of the human frame."

With all the respect to which the opinion of so dis- Criticism of tinguished a philosopher as Mr Stewart is justly en-view. titled, I must be permitted to say, that I cannot but regard his assertion, - that the present existence of the phænomena of consciousness, and the reality of

a Phil. Essays-Works, vol. v. p. 57.

VOL. I.

LECT. XV. that to which these phænomena bear witness, rest on a foundation equally solid, -as wholly untenable. The second fact, the fact testified to, may be worthy of all credit,-as I agree with Mr Stewart in thinking that it is; but still it does not rest on a foundation equally solid as the fact of the testimony itself. Mr Stewart confesses that of the former no doubt had ever been suggested by the boldest sceptic; and the latter, in so far as it assures us of our having an immediate knowledge of the external world,-which is the case alleged by Mr Stewart,-has been doubted, nay denied, not merely by sceptics, but by modern philosophers almost to a man. This historical circumstance, therefore, of itself, would create a strong presumption, that the two facts must stand on very different foundations; and this presumption is confirmed when we investigate what these foundations themselves are.

The one fact,-the fact of the testimony, is an act of consciousness itself; it cannot, therefore, be invalidated without self-contradiction. For, as we have frequently observed, to doubt of the reality of that of which we are conscious is impossible; for as we can only doubt through consciousness, to doubt of consciousness is to doubt of consciousness by consciousness. If, on the one hand, we affirm the reality of the doubt, we thereby explicitly affirm the reality of consciousness, and contradict our doubt; if, on the other hand, we deny the reality of consciousness, we implicitly deny the reality of our denial itself. Thus, in the act of perception, consciousness gives us a conjunct fact, an ego or mind, and a non-ego or matter, known together, and contradistinguished from each other. Now, as a present phænomenon, this double fact cannot possibly be denied. I cannot, therefore, refuse the

fact, that, in perception, I am conscious of a phænomenon, which I am compelled to regard as the attribute of something different from my mind or self. This I must perforce admit, or run into self-contradiction. But admitting this, may I not still, without self-contradiction, maintain that what I am compelled to view as the phænomenon of something different from me is nevertheless (unknown to me) only a modification of my mind? In this I admit the fact of the testimony of consciousness as given, but deny the truth of its report. Whether this denial of the truth of consciousness as a witness, is or is not legitimate, we are not, at this moment, to consider: all I have in view at present is, as I said, to show that we must distinguish in consciousness two kinds of facts.-the fact of consciousness testifying, and the fact of which consciousness testifies; and that we must not, as Mr Stewart has done, hold that we can as little doubt of the fact of the existence of an external world, as of the fact that consciousness gives, in mutual contrast, the phænomenon of self, in contrast to the phænomenon of not-self."

Under this first law, let it, therefore, be laid down, Results of in the first place, that by a fact of consciousness, pro-Parcimony. perly so called, is meant a primary and universal fact of our intellectual being; and, in the second, that such facts are of two kinds,-1°, The facts given in the act of consciousness itself; and, 2°, The facts which consciousness does not at once give, but to the

a The only philosopher whom I have met with, touching on the question, is Father Buffier, and he seems to strike the nail upon the head. He says, as I recollect,-" He who gainsays the evidence of consciousness of

an external world is not self-contradictory; by no means, -he is only mad."-Traité des Premières Vérités c. xi. § 89. [See Reid's Works, p. 787.-ED.]

LECT. XV.

LECT. XV.

reality of which it only bears evidence. And as simplification is always a matter of importance, we may throw out of account altogether the former class of these facts; for of such no doubt can be, or has been, entertained. It is only the authority of these facts as evidence of something beyond themselves,—that is, only the second class of facts,—which becomes matter of discussion; it is not the reality of consciousness that we have to prove, but its veracity.^a

of Integrity.

The second rule is,—That the whole facts of consciousness be taken without reserve or hesitation, whether given as constituent, or as regulative, data. This rule is too manifest to require much elucidation. As philosophy is only a development of the phænomena and laws of consciousness, it is evident that philosophy can only be complete, as it comprehends, in one harmonious system, all the constituent, and all the regulative, facts of consciousness. If any phænomenon or constituent fact of consciousness be omitted, the system is not complete; if any law or regulative fact is excluded, the system is not legitimate.

III. The Law of Harmony. The violation of this second rule is, in general, connected with a violation of the third, and we shall accordingly illustrate them together. The third is,—That nothing but the facts of consciousness be taken, or if inferences of reasoning be admitted, that these at least be recognised as legitimate only as deduced from, and only in subordination to, the immediate data of consciousness, and that every position be rejected as illegitimate which is contradictory of these. The truth and necessity of this rule are not less

These illustrated in coujunction. evident than the truth and necessity of the preceding. Philosophy is only a systematic evolution of the con-

a See Reid's Works, p. 743 et seq. - ED.

tents of consciousness, by the instrumentality of con- LECT. sciousness; it, therefore, necessarily supposes, in both respects, the veracity of consciousness.

But, though this be too evident to admit of doubt, How Scep-ticism arises and though no philosopher has ever openly thrown out of par-tial dog-off allegiance to the authority of consciousness, we matic sys-tume tems. find, nevertheless, that its testimony has been silently overlooked, and systems established upon principles in direct hostility to the primary data of intelligence. It is only such a violation of the integrity of consciousness, by the dogmatist, that affords, to the sceptic, the foundation on which he can establish his proof of the nullity of philosophy. The sceptic cannot assail the truth of the facts of consciousness in themselves. In attempting this he would run at once into self-contradiction. In the first place, he would enact the part of a dogmatist, that is, he would positively, -dogmatically, establish his doubt. In the second, waiving this, how can he accomplish what he thus proposes ? For why ? He must attack consciousness either from a higher ground, or from consciousness itself. Higher ground than consciousness there is none; he must, therefore, invalidate the facts of consciousness from the ground of consciousness itself. On this ground, he cannot, as we have seen, deny the facts of consciousness as given; he can only attempt to invalidate their testimony. But this again can be done only by showing that consciousness tells different tales,-that its evidence is contradictory,-that its data are repugnant. But this no sceptic has ever yet been able to do. Neither does the sceptic or negative philosopher himself assume his principles; he only accepts those on which the dogmatist or positive philosopher attempts to establish his doc-

trine; and this doctrine he reduces to zero, by show-LECT. ing that its principles are, either mutually repugnant, or repugnant to facts of consciousness on which, though it may not expressly found, still, as facts of consciousness, it cannot refuse to recognise without denying the possibility of philosophy in general.

Violations of the Second and Third laws in the writings of Dr Thomas Brown.

XV.

Brown's doctrine of External Perception involves an inconsistency.

I shall illustrate the violation of this rule by examples taken from the writings of the late ingenious Dr Thomas Brown.-I must, however, premise that this philosopher, so far from being singular in his easy way of appealing to, or overlooking, the facts of consciousness, as he finds them convenient or inconvenient for his purpose, supplies only a specimen of the too ordinary style of philosophising. Now, you must know, that Dr Brown maintains the common doctrine of the philosophers, that we have no immediate knowledge of anything beyond the states or modifications of our own minds,-that we are only conscious of the ego,---the non-ego, as known, being only a modification of self, which mankind at large are illusively determined to view as external and different from self. This doctrine is contradictory of the fact to which consciousness testifies,-that the object of which we are conscious in perception, is the external reality as existing, and not merely its representation in the percipient mind. That this is the fact testified to by consciousness, and believed by the common-sense of mankind, is admitted even by those philosophers who reject the truth of the testimony and the belief. It is of no consequence to us at present what are the grounds on which the principle is founded, that the mind can have no knowledge of aught besides itself; it is sufficient to observe that, this prin-

279

LECT. XV.

ciple being contradictory of the testimony of consciousness, Dr Brown, by adopting it, virtually accuses consciousness of falsehood. But if consciousness be false in its testimony to one fact, we can have no confidence in its testimony to any other; and Brown, having himself belied the veracity of consciousness, cannot, therefore, again appeal to this veracity as to a credible authority. But he is not thus consistent. Although he does not allow that we have any knowledge of the existence of an outer world, the existence of that world he still maintains. And on what grounds? He admits the reasoning of the idealist, that is, of the philosopher who denies the reality of the material universe, — he admits this to be invincible. How. then, is his conclusion avoided ? Simply by appealing to the universal belief of mankind in favour of the existence of external things,"-that is, to the authority of a fact of consciousness. But to him this appeal is incompetent. For, in the first place, having already virtually given up, or rather positively rejected, the testimony of consciousness, when consciousness deposed to our immediate knowledge of external things, -how can he even found upon the veracity of that mendacious principle, when bearing evidence to the unknown existence of external things? I cannot but believe that the material reality exists; therefore, it does exist, for consciousness does not deceive us, -this reasoning Dr Brown employs when defending his assertion of an outer world. I cannot but believe that the material reality is the object immediately known in perception; therefore, it is immediately known, for consciousness does not deceive us,-this

a Philosophy of the Human Mind, See this argument further pursued in Lecture xxviii., p. 175-177, ed. 1830. the Author's Discussions, p. 92.-ED.

LECT. XV. reasoning Dr Brown rejects when establishing the foundation of his system. In the one case he maintains,---this belief, because irresistible, is true; in the other case, he maintains,-this belief, though irresistible, is false. Consciousness is veracious in the former belief, mendacious in the latter. I approbate the one, I reprobate the other. The inconsistency of this is apparent. It becomes more palpable when we consider, in the second place, that the belief which Dr Brown assumes as true rests on,-is, in fact, only the reflex of,---the belief which he repudiates as false. Why do mankind believe in the existence of an outer world? They do not believe in it as in something unknown; but, on the contrary, they believe it to exist, only because they believe that they immediately know it to exist. The former belief is only as it is founded on the latter. Of all absurdities, therefore, the greatest is to assert, --- on the one hand, that consciousness deceives us in the belief that we know any material object to exist; and, on the other, that the material object exists, because, though on false grounds, we believe it to exist.

The same is true of Brown's proof of our Personal Identity. I may give you another instance, from the same author, of the wild work that the application of this rule makes, among philosophical systems not legitimately established. Dr Brown, with other philosophers, rests the proof of our Personal Identity, and of our Mental Individuality, on the ground of beliefs, which, as "intuitive, universal, immediate, and irresistible," he, not unjustly, regards as the "internal and never-ceasing voice of our Creator,—revelations from on high, omnipotent, [and veracious], as their Author."^a

a Philosophy of the Human Mind, also Sir W. Hamilton's Discussions, Lecture xiii., p. 79, ed. 1830. See p. 96.-ED.

To him this argument is, however, incompetent, as contradictory.

What we know of self or person, we know only as a fact of consciousness. In our perceptive consciousness, there is revealed, in contrast to each, a self and a not-self. This contrast is either true or false. If true, then am I conscious of an object different from me,—that is, I have an immediate perception of the external reality. If false, then am I not conscious of anything different from me, but what I am constrained to regard as not-me is only a modification of me, which, by an illusion of my nature, I mistake, and must mistake, for something different from me.

Now, will it be credited that Dr Brown—and be it remembered that I adduce him only as the representative of a great majority of philosophers—affirms or denies, just as he finds it convenient or inconvenient, this fact, this distinction, of consciousness? In his doctrine of perception, he explicitly denies its truth, in denying that mind is conscious of aught beyond itself. But, in other parts of his philosophy, this false fact, this illusive distinction, and the deceitful belief founded thereupon, are appealed to, (I quote his expressions), as "revelations from on high, — as the never-ceasing voice of our Creator," &c.

Thus, on the veracity of this mendacious belief, Dr Brown establishes his proof of our personal identity. Touching the object of perception, when its evidence is inconvenient, this belief is quietly passed over, as incompetent to distinguish not-self from self; in the question regarding our personal identity, where its testimony is convenient, it is elamorously cited as an inspired witness, exclusively competent to distinguish

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

self from not-self. Yet why, if, in the one case, it

mistook self for not-self, it may not, in the other,

LECT. XV.

And of our Individuality.

mistake not-self for self, would appear a problem not of the easiest solution. The same belief, with the same inconsistency, is called in to prove the Individuality of mind." But if we are fallaciously determined, in our perceptive consciousness, to regard mind both as mind and as matter, --for, on Brown's hypothesis, in perception, the object perceived is only a mode of the percipient subject,---if, I say, in this act, I must view what is supposed one and indivisible, as plural, and different, and opposed, ---how is it possible to appeal to the authority of a testimony so treacherous as consciousness for an evidence of the real simplicity of the thinking principle? How, says the materialist to Brown,-how can you appeal against me to the testimony of consciousness, which you yourself reject when against your own opinions, and how can you, on the authority of that testimony, maintain the unity of self to be more than an illusive appearance, when self and not-self, as known to consciousness, are, on your own hypothesis, confessedly only modifications of the same percipient subject? If, on your doctrine, consciousness can split what you hold to be one and indivisible into two, not only different but opposed, existences, --- what absurdity is there, on mine, that consciousness should exhibit as phænomenally one, what we both hold to be really manifold? If you give the lie to consciousness in favour of your hypothesis, you can have no reasonable objection that I should give it the lie in favour of mine. If you can maintain that not-self is only an illusive phænomenon,-being, in fact, only self in dis-

a Lecture xii., p. 74, ed. 1830.-ED.

guise; I may also maintain, α contra, that self itself is only an illusive phænomenon, and that the apparent. unity of the ego is only the result of an organic harmony of action between the particles of matter.

From these examples, the truth of the position I The abso-lute and only be rejected on the supposition of falsity, and that, consciousthe falsity of one fact of consciousness being admitted, be mainthe truth of no other fact of consciousness can be maintained. The legal brocard, Falsus in uno, falsus in omnibus, is a rule not more applicable to other witnesses than to consciousness. Thus, every system of philosophy which implies the negation of any fact of consciousness, is not only necessarily unable, without self-contradiction, to establish its own truth by any appeal to consciousness; it is also unable, without selfcontradiction, to appeal to consciousness against the falsehood of any other system. If the absolute and universal veracity of consciousness be once surrendered, every system is equally true, or rather all are equally false; philosophy is impossible, for it has now no instrument by which truth can be discovered,-no standard by which it can be tried; the root of our nature is a lie. But though it is thus manifestly the common interest of every scheme of philosophy to preserve intact the integrity of consciousness, almost every scheme of philosophy is only another mode in which this integrity has been violated. If, therefore, I am able to prove the fact of this various violation, and to show that the facts of consciousness have never, or hardly ever, been fairly evolved, it will follow, as I said, that no reproach can be justly addressed to consciousness as an ill-informed, or vacillating, or perfidious witness, but to those only who were too

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XV.

ness must tained.

LECT. XV. proud, or too negligent, to accept its testimony, to employ its materials, and to obey its laws. And on this supposition, so far should we be from despairing of the future advance of philosophy from the experience of its past wanderings, that we ought, on the contrary, to anticipate for it a steady progress, the moment that philosophers can be persuaded to look to consciousness, and to consciousness alone, for their materials and their rules.

LECTURE XVL

CONSCIOUSNESS,-VIOLATIONS OF ITS AUTHORITY.

On the principle, which no one has yet been found LECT. bold enough formally to deny, and which, indeed, requires only to be understood to be acknowledged, - Consciousviz., that as all philosophy is evolved from conscious- first and ness, so, on the truth of consciousness, the possibility principle of of all philosophy is dependent it is manifest at Philosophy. of all philosophy is dependent, - it is manifest, at once and without further reasoning, that no philosophical theory can pretend to truth except that single theory which comprehends and develops the fact of consciousness on which it founds, without retrenchment, distortion, or addition. Were a philosophical system to pretend that it culls out all that is correct in a fact of consciousness, and rejects only what is erroneous,-what would be the inevitable result? In the first place, this system admits, and must admit, that it is wholly dependent on consciousness for its constituent elements, and for the rules by which these are selected and arranged,-in short, that it is wholly dependent on consciousness for its knowledge of true and false. But, in the second place, it pretends to select a part, and to reject a part, of a fact given and guaranteed by consciousness. Now, by what criterion, by what standard, can it discriminate the true from the false in this fact? This criterion must be either con-

XVI.

LECT. XVI. sciousness itself, or an instrument different from con-If it be an instrument different from sciousness. consciousness, what is it? No such instrument has ever yet been named,-has ever yet been heard of. If it exist, and if it enable us to criticise the data of consciousness, it must be a higher source of knowledge than consciousness, and thus it will replace consciousness as the first and generative principle of philosophy. But of any principle of this character, different from consciousness, philosophy is yet in ignorance. It remains unenounced and unknown. It may, therefore, be safely assumed not to be. The standard, therefore, by which any philosophical theory can profess to regulate its choice among the elements of any fact of consciousness, must be consciousness itself. Now, mark the dilemma. The theory makes consciousness the discriminator between what is true and what is false in its own testimony. But if consciousness be assumed to be a mendacious witness in certain parts of its evidence, how can it be presumed a veracious witness in others? This it cannot be. It must be held as false in all, if false in any; and the philosophical theory which starts from this hypothesis, starts from a negation of itself in the negation of philosophy in general. Again, on the hypothesis that part of the deliverance of consciousness is true, part false, how can consciousness enable us to distinguish these ? This has never yet been shown; it is, in fact, inconceivable. But, further, how is it discovered that any part of a datum of consciousness is false, another true? This can only be done if the datum involve a contradiction. But if the facts of consciousness be contradictory, then is consciousness a principle of falsehood; and the greatest of conceivable follies would be an attempt

to employ such a principle in the discovery of truth. And such an act of folly is every philosophical theory which, departing from an admission that the data of consciousness are false, would still pretend to build out of them a system of truth. But, on the other hand, if the data of consciousness are not contradictory, and consciousness, therefore, not a self-convicted deceiver, how is the unapparent falsehood of its evidence to be This is manifestly impossible; for such evinced? falschood is not to be presumed; and, we have previously seen, there is no higher principle by which the testimony of consciousness can be canvassed and redargued. Consciousness, therefore, is to be presumed veracious; a philosophical theory which accepts one part of the harmonious data of consciousness and rejects another, is manifestly a mere caprice, a chimera not worthy of consideration, far less of articulate disproof. It is ab initio null.

I have been anxious thus again to inculcate upon you this view in regard to the relation of Philosophy to Consciousness, because it contains a preliminary refutation of all those proud and wayward systems which,—though they can only pretend to represent the truth, inasmuch as they fully and fairly develop the revelations vouchsafed to us through consciousuess,—still do, one and all of them, depart from a false or partial acceptance of these revelations themselves; and because it affords a clear and simple criterion of certainty in our own attempts at philosophical construction. If it be correct, it sweeps away at once a world of metaphysical speculation; and if it curtail the dominions of human reason, it firmly establishes our authority over what remains.

In order still further to evince to you the importance

LECT.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. XVI.

Violations of the authority of consciousness illustrated.

of Consciousness.

of the precept (viz., that we must look to consciousness and to consciousness alone for the materials and rules of philosophy), and to show articulately how all the variations of philosophy have been determined by its neglect, I will take those facts of consciousness which lie at the very root of philosophy, and with which, consequently, all philosophical systems are necessarily and primarily conversant; and point out how, besides the one true doctrine which accepts and simply states the fact as given, there are always as many various actual theories as there are various possible modes of distort-The Duality ing or mutilating this fact. I shall commence with that great fact to which I have already alluded,-that we are immediately conscious in perception of an ego and a non-ego, known together, and known in contrast to each other. This is the fact of the Duality of Consciousness. It is clear and manifest. When I concentrate my attention in the simplest act of perception, I return from my observation with the most irresistible conviction of two facts, or rather two branches of the same fact;-that I am,-and that something different from me exists. In this act. I am conscious of myself as the perceiving subject, and of an external reality as the object perceived; and I am conscious of both existences in the same indivisible moment of intuition. The knowledge of the subject does not precede, nor follow, the knowledge of the object,---neither determines, neither is determined by, the other.

The fact of the testimony of consciousness in Perception allowed by those who deny its truth.

Such is the fact of perception revealed in consciousness, and as it determines mankind in general in their almost equal assurance of the reality of an external world, as of the existence of their own minds. Consciousness declares our knowledge of material qualities to be intuitive or immediate,---not representative or

mediate. Nor is the fact, as given, denied even by those who disallow its truth. So clear is the deliverance, that even the philosophers who reject an intuitive perception, find it impossible not to admit, that their doctrine stands decidedly opposed to the voice of consciousness,—to the natural convictions of mankind. I may give you some examples of the admission of this fact, which it is of the utmost importance to place beyond the possibility of doubt. I quote, of course, only from those philosophers whose systems are in contradiction of the testimony of consciousness, which they are forced to admit. I might quote to you confessions to this effect from Descartes, *De Passionibus*, article 23, and from Malebranche, *Recherche*, liv. iii. c. 1. To these I only refer you.

The following is from Berkeley, towards the con-Berkeley. clusion of the third and last dialogue, in which his system of Idealism is established :--- "When Hylas is at last entirely converted, he observes to Philonous,-'After all, the controversy about matter, in the strict acceptation of it, lies altogether between you and the philosophers, whose principles, I acknowledge, are not near so natural, or so agreeable to the common sense of mankind, and Holy Scripture, as yours.' Philonous observes in the end,- 'That he does not pretend to be a setter-up of new notions; his endeavours tend only to unite, and to place in a clearer light, that truth which was before shared between the vulgar and the philosophers; the former being of opinion, that those things they immediately perceive are the real things; and the latter, that the things immediately perceived are ideas which exist only in the mind; which two things put together do, in effect, constitute the substance of what he advances.' And

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. XVI. he concludes by observing,—' That those principles which at first view lead to scepticism, pursued to a certain point, bring men back to common sense.'"^{α}

Here you will notice that Berkeley admits that the common belief of mankind is, that the things immediately perceived are not representative objects in the mind, but the external realities themselves. Hume, in like manner, makes the same confession; and the confession of that sceptical idealist, or sceptical nihilist, is of the utmost weight.

Hume.

"It seems evident that men are carried by a natural instinct or prepossession to repose faith in their senses; and that, without any reasoning, or even almost before the use of reason, we always suppose an external universe, which depends not on our perception, but would exist though we and every sensible creature were absent or annihilated. Even the animal creation are governed by a like opinion, and preserve this belief of external objects in all their thoughts, designs, and actions.

"It seems also evident that, when men follow this blind and powerful instinct of nature, they always suppose the very images presented by the senses, to be the external objects, and never entertain any suspicion that the one are nothing but representations of the other. This very table, which we see white, and which we feel hard, is believed to exist, independent of our perception, and to be something external to our mind, which perceives it. Our presence bestows not being on it,—our absence does not annihilate it. It preserves its existence uniform and entire, independent of the situation of intelligent beings, who perceive or contemplate it.

"But this universal and primary opinion of all men

a See Reid's Works, p. 284.-ED.

is soon destroyed by the slightest philosophy, which teaches us that nothing can ever be present to the mind but an image or perception, and that the senses are only the inlets through which these images are conveyed, without being able to produce any immediate intercourse between the mind and the object. The table, which we see, seems to diminish as we remove farther from it; but the real table, which exists independent of us, suffers no alteration; it was, therefore, nothing but its image which was present to the mind. These are the obvious dictates of reason; and no man who reflects, ever doubted that the existences which we consider, when we say, this house and that tree, are nothing but perceptions in the mind, and fleeting copies or representations of other existences, which remain uniform and independent. . . .

"Do you follow the instincts and propensities of nature, may they say, in assenting to the veracity of sense? But these lead you to believe that the very perception or sensible image is the external object. Do you disclaim this principle, in order to embrace a more rational opinion, that the perceptions are only representations of something external? You here depart from your natural propensities and more obvious sentiments; and yet are not able to satisfy your reason, which can never find any convincing argument from experience to prove that the perceptions are connected with any external objects."^a

The fact that consciousness does testify to an immediate knowledge by mind of an object different from

a Essays, vol. ii. pp. 154-155, 156-157 (edit. 1788). Similar confessions are made by Hume in his Treatise of Human Nature, vol. i. pp. 330, 338, 353, 358, 361, 369, (original edit.); in a word, you may read from 330 to 370; and the same thing is acknowledged by Kant, by Fichte, by Schelling, by Tennemann, by Jacobi. Several of these testimonies you will find extracted and translated in a note of my Discussions on Philosophy, p. 92.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVI. LECT. XVI.

any modification of its own, is thus admitted even by those philosophers who still do not hesitate to deny the truth of the testimony; for to say that all men do naturally believe in such a knowledge, is only, in other words, to say that they believe it upon the authority of consciousness. A fact of consciousness, and a fact of the common sense of mankind, are only various expressions of the same import. We may, therefore, lay it down as an undisputed truth, that consciousness gives, as an ultimate fact, a primitive duality;-a knowledge of the ego in relation and contrast to the non-ego; and a knowledge of the nonego in relation and contrast to the ego. The ego and non-ego are, thus, given in an original synthesis, as conjoined in the unity of knowledge, and, in an original antithesis, as opposed in the contrariety of existence. In other words, we are conscious of them in an indivisible act of knowledge together and at once,--but we are conscious of them as, in themselves, different and exclusive of each other.

The Ego and Non-Ego given by consciousness in equal and independence.

As many different philosophical systems this fact, as it admits of various possible modifications.

Again, consciousness not only gives us a duality, but it gives its elements in equal counterpoise and independence. The ego and non-ego, -mind and counterpoise matter, are not only given together, but in absolute coequality. The one does not precede, the other does not follow; and, in their mutual relation, each is equally dependent, equally independent. Such is the fact as given in and by consciousness. Philosophers have not, however, been content to accept the fact in originate in its integrity, but have been pleased to accept it only under such qualifications as it suited their systems to In truth, there are just as many different devise. philosophical systems originating in this fact, as it admits of various possible modifications. An enume-

ration of these modifications, accordingly, affords an enumeration of philosophical theories.

In the first place, there is the grand division of phi-1. Those who do, and losophers into those who do, and those who do not, those who do not, acaccept the fact in its integrity." Of modern philoso- cept in its integrity the phers, almost all are comprehended under the latter fact of the Duality of category, while of the former, if we do not remount to Consciousthe schoolmen and the ancients,-I am only aware of ness. a single philosopher^{β} before Reid, who did not reject, at least in part, the fact as consciousness affords it.

As it is always expedient to possess a precise name The former for a precise distinction, I would be inclined to deno- tural Realminate those who implicitly acquiesce in the primi- tural Dualtive duality as given in consciousness, the Natural ists. Realists or Natural Dualists, and their doctrine, Natural Realism or Natural Dualism.

In the second place, the philosophers who do not The latter, accept the fact, and the whole fact, may be divided subdivided. and subdivided into various classes by various principles of distribution.

The first subdivision will be taken from the total, or partial, rejections of the import of the fact. I have previously shown you, that to deny any fact of consciousness as an actual phænomenon is utterly impossible. But, though necessarily admitted as a present phænomenon, the import of this phænomenon,-all beyond our actual consciousness of its existence,-may be denied. We are able, without self-contradiction, to suppose, and, consequently, to assert, that all to which the phenomenon of which we are conscious refers, is a deception,-that, for example, the past, to

a See the Author's Suppl. Disser. to Reid's Works, Note C.-ED.

Peter Poiret, John Sergeant is sub- vol. ii. pp. 92, 124.-ED.

sequently referred to by Sir W. Hamilton, as holding a similar doctrine β This philosopher is doubtless in a paradoxical form. See below,

293

LECT. XVI.

Into Realists and Nihilists.

which an act of memory refers, is only an illusion involved in our consciousness of the present,-that the unknown subject to which every phænomenon of which we are conscious involves a reference, has no reality beyond this reference itself,-in short, that all our knowledge of mind or matter, is only a consciousness of various bundles of baseless appearances. This doctrine, as refusing a substantial reality to the phænomenal existence of which we are conscious, is called Nihilism; and, consequently, philosophers, as they affirm or deny the authority of consciousness in guaranteeing a substratum or substance to the manifestations of the ego and non-ego, are divided into Realists or Substantialists, and into Nihilists or Non-Substantialists. Of positive or dogmatic Nihilism there is no example in modern philosophy, for Oken's deduction of the universe from the original nothing,"----the nothing being equivalent to the Absolute or God,-is only the paradoxical foundation of a system of realism; and, in ancient philosophy, we know too little of the book of Gorgias the Sophist, entitled $\Pi \epsilon \rho i \tau o \hat{\nu} \mu \eta \delta \nu \tau o s \eta \pi \epsilon \rho i$ φύσεως,^β-Concerning Nature or the Non-Existent,to be able to affirm whether it were maintained by him as a dogmatic and bona fide doctrine. But as a sceptical conclusion from the premises of previous philosophers, we have an illustrious example of Nihilism in Hume; and the celebrated Fichte admits that the speculative principles of his own idealism would, unless corrected by his practical, terminate in this result.^{γ}

a Lehrbuch der Naturphilosophie, § 30-43, (ed. 1831). This work has been translated for the Ray Society by Tulk. On Oken's doctrine of Nihilism, see also *Discussions*, pp. 21, 22.-ED. Math., vii. 65.-ED.

 γ See a remarkable passage in the Bestimmung des Menschen, p. 174, (Werke, vol. ii. p. 245), translated by Sir W. Hamilton, Reid's Works, p. 129.—ED.

β See Sextus Empiricus, Adv.

The Realists or Substantialists, again, are divided into Dualists, and into Unitarians or Monists, according as they are, or are not, contented with the testi-Realists di-vided into mony of consciousness to the ultimate duplicity of sub- Hypotheti-cal Dualists ject and object in perception. The Dualists, of whom and Monists. we are now first speaking, are distinguished from the Natural Dualists of whom we formerly spoke, in this, -that the latter establish the existence of the two worlds of mind and matter on the immediate knowledge we possess of both series of phænomena,-a knowledge of which consciousness assures us; whereas the former, surrendering the veracity of consciousness to our immediate knowledge of material phænomena, and, consequently, our immediate knowledge of the existence of matter, still endeavour, by various hypotheses and reasonings, to maintain the existence of an unknown external world. As we denominate those who maintain a dualism as involved in the fact of consciousness, Natural Dualists; so we may style those dualists who deny the evidence of consciousness to our immediate knowledge of aught beyond the sphere of mind, Hypothetical Dualists or Cosmothetic Idealists.

To the class of Cosmothetic Idealists, the great The majomajority of modern philosophers are to be referred. dem philo-Denying an immediate or intuitive knowledge of the long to the external reality, whose existence they maintain, they, these classes, of course, hold a doctrine of mediate or representative divided acperception; and, according to the various modifica- their view of the retions of that doctrine; they are again subdivided into presentation in percepthose who view, in the immediate object of perception, tion. a representative entity present to the mind, but not a mere mental modification, and into those who hold that the immediate object is only a representative modification of the mind itself. It is not always easy to

LECT. XVI.

LECT. XVI. determine to which of these classes some philosophers belong. To the former, or class holding the cruder hypothesis of representation, certainly belong the followers of Democritus and Epicurus, those Aristotelians who held the vulgar doctrine of species, (Aristotle himself was probably a natural dualist^a), and in recent times, among many others, Malebranche, Berkeley, Clarke, Newton, Abraham Tucker, &c. To these is also, but problematically, to be referred Locke. To the second, or class holding the finer hypothesis of representation, belong, without any doubt, many of the Platonists, Leibnitz, Arnauld, Crousaz, Condillac, Kant, &c.; and to this class is also probably to be referred Descartes.^{β}

Monists, subdivided,

Into, 1. Those who hold the doctrine of Absolute Identity;

The philosophical Unitarians or Monists, reject the testimony of consciousness to the ultimate duality of the subject and object in perception, but they arrive at the unity of these in different ways. Some admit the testimony of consciousness to the equipoise of the mental and material phænomena, and do not attempt to reduce either mind to matter, or matter to mind. They reject, however, the evidence of consciousness to their antithesis in existence, and maintain that mind and matter are only phænomenal modifications of the same common substance. This is the doctrine of Absolute Identity,-a doctrine of which the most illustrious representatives among recent philosophers are Schelling, Hegel, and Cousin. Others again deny the evidence of consciousness to the equipoise of the sub-

a Aristotle's opinion is doubtful. In the *De Anima*, i. 5, he combats the theory of Empedocles, that like is known by like, and appears as a natural realist. But in the *Nicomachean Ethics*, vi. 1, he adopts the principle of similarity as the basis of all knowledge. See *Reid's Works*, pp. 300, n. *, 886; also (completed edition) p. 952 a, n. *; and M. St Hilaire's preface to his translation of the *De Anima*, p. xxii.—ED.

 β See the Author's Discussions, p. 57 et seq.—ED.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

ject and object as co-ordinate and co-original elements; and as the balance is inclined in favour of the one relative or the other, two opposite schemes of psychology are determined. If the subject be taken as the original and genetic, and the object evolved from it as 2. Idealists; its product, the theory of Idealism is established. On the other hand, if the object be assumed as the original ³. Mate-rialists. and genetic, and the subject evolved from it as its product, the theory of Materialism is established.

In regard to these two opposite schemes of a one-How a phi-losophical sided philosophy, I would at present make an observa- system is tion to which it may be afterwards necessary to recur vented from falling into --viz., that a philosophical system is often prevented absolute idealism or from falling into absolute idealism or absolute mate- absolute rialism, and held in a kind of vacillating equilibrium, not in consequence of being based on the fact of consciousness, but from the circumstance that its materialistic tendency in one opinion happens to be counteracted by its idealistic tendency in another ;---two opposite errors, in short, co-operating to the same result as one truth. On this ground is to be explained why the philosophy of Locke and Condillac did not more easily slide into materialism. Deriving our whole knowledge, mediately or immediately, from the senses, this philosophy seemed destined to be fairly analysed into a scheme of materialism ; but from this it was for a long time preserved, in consequence of involving a doctrine, which, on the other hand, if not counteracted, would have naturally carried it over into idealism. This was the doctrine of a representative perception. The legitimate issue of such a doctrine is now admitted on all hands, to be absolute idealism; and the only ground on which it has been latterly thought possible to avoid this conclusion,-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVI.

materialism.

LECT. XVI. an appeal to the natural belief of mankind in the existence of an external world,—is, as I showed you, incompetent to the hypothetical dualist or cosmothetic idealist. In his hands such an appeal is self-contradictory. For if this universal belief be fairly applied, it only proves the existence of an outer world by dis-

Recapitulation of forcgoing.

proving the hypothesis of a representative perception. To recapitulate what I have now said :—The philosophical systems concerning the relation of mind and matter, are coextensive with the various possible modes in which the fact of the Duality of Consciousness may be accepted or refused. It may be accepted either wholly and without reserve, or it may not. The former alternative affords the class of Natural Realists or Natural Dualists.

Those, again, who do not accept the fact in its absolute integrity, are subdivided in various manners. They are, first of all, distinguished into Realists or Substantialists, and into Nihilists, as they do, or do not, admit a subject, or subjects, to the two opposite series of phænomena which consciousness reveals. The former class is again distributed into Hypothetical Dualists or Cosmothetic Idealists, and into Unitarians or Monists.

The Hypothetical Dualists or Cosmothetic Idealists, are divided, according to their different theories of the representation in perception, into those who view in the object immediately perceived a *tertium quid* different both from the external reality and from the conscious mind, and into those who identify this object with a modification of the mind itself.

The Unitarians or Monists fall into two classes, as they do, or do not, preserve the equilibrium of subject and object. If, admitting the equilibrium of these, they deny the reality of their opposition, the system of Absolute Identity emerges, which carries thought _ and extension, mind and matter, up into modes of the same common substance.

It would be turning aside from my present purpose, were I to attempt any articulate refutation of these various systems. What I have now in view is to exhibit to you how, the moment that the fact of consciousness in its absolute integrity is surrendered, philosophy at once falls from unity and truth into variety and error. In reality, by the very act of refusing any one datum of consciousness, philosophy invalidates the whole credibility of consciousness, and, consciousness ruined as an instrument, philosophy is extinct. Thus, the refusal of philosophers to accept the fact of the duality of consciousness, is virtually an act of philosophical suicide. Their various systems are now only so many empty spectres,-so many enchanted corpses, which the first exorcism of the sceptic reduces to their natural nothingness. The mutual polemic of these systems is like the warfare of shadows; as the heroes in Valhalla, they hew each other into pieces, only in a twinkling to be reunited, and again to amuse themselves in other bloodless and indecisive contests."

Having now given you a general view of the various Hypotheses systems of philosophy, in their mutual relations, as regard to founded on the great fact of the Duality of Conscious- intercourse ness, I proceed, in subordination to this fact, to give Mind and you a brief account of certain famous hypotheses which it is necessary for you to know,-hypotheses proposed in solution of the problem of how inter-

a This simile is taken from Kant, (edit. 1799).-ED. Kritik der reinen Vernunft, p. 784.

between Body,

LECT. XVI.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

LECT. XVI.

Four in number. course of substances so opposite as mind and body could be accomplished. These hypotheses, of course, belong exclusively to the doctrine of Dualism, for in the Unitarian system the difficulty is resolved by the annihilation of the opposition, and the reduction of the two substances to one. The hypotheses I allude to, are known under the names, 1°, Of the system of Assistance or of Occasional Causes; 2°, Of the Preestablished Harmony; 3°, Of the Plastic Medium; and, 4°, Of Physical Influence. The first belongs to Descartes, De la Forge, Malebranche, and the Cartesians in general; the second to Leibnitz and Wolf, though not universally adopted by their school; the third was an ancient opinion revived in modern times by Cudworth and Leclerc;^a the fourth is the common doctrine of the Schoolmen, and though not explicitly enounced, that generally prevalent at present;-among modern philosophers, it has been expounded with great perspicuity by Euler.^{β} We shall take these in their order.

1. Occasional Causes.

The hypothesis of Divine Assistance or of Occasional Causes, sets out from the apparent impossibility involved in Dualism of any actual communication between a spiritual and a material substance,-that is, between extended and non-extended existences; and it terminates in the assertion, that the Deity, on occasion of the affections of matter-of the motions in the bodily organism, excites in the mind correspondent thoughts and representations; and, on occasion of thoughts or representations arising in the

a Cudworth, Intellectual System of edit. Erdmann, p. 429 .- ED. the Universe, b. i. c. iii. § 37. Leclerc, Bibliothèque Choisie, vol. ii. p. 107 et seq. See also Leibnitz, Considérations sur la Principe de Vie,-Opera,

B Lettres à une Princesse d'Allemagne, part ii. let. 14, ed. Cournot. -ED.
mind, that He, in like manner, produces the correspondent movements in the body. But more explicitly: -"God, according to the advocates of this scheme, governs the universe, and its constituent existences, by the laws according to which He has created them; and as the world was originally called into being by a mere fiat of the divine will, so it owes the continuance of its existence from moment to moment only to the unremitted perseverance of the same volition. Let the sustaining energy of the divine will cease but for an instant, and the universe lapses into nothingness. The existence of created things is thus exclusively maintained by a creation, as it were, incessantly renewed. God is, thus, the necessary cause of every modification of body, and of every modification of mind; and His efficiency is sufficient to afford an explanation of the union and intercourse of extended and unextended substances.

"External objects determine certain movements in our bodily organs of sense, and these movements are, by the nerves and animal spirits, propagated to the brain. The brain does not act immediately and really upon the soul; the soul has no direct cognisance of any modification of the brain; this is impossible. It is God himself who, by a law which He has established when movements are determined in the brain, produces analogous modifications in the conscious mind. In like manner, suppose the mind has a volition to move the arm; this volition is, of itself, inefficacious; but God, in virtue of the same law, causes the answering motion in our limb. The body is not, therefore, the real cause of the mental modifications; nor the mind the real cause of the bodily movements. Nevertheless, as the soul would not be modified without the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVI.

antecedent changes in the body, nor the body moved without the antecedent determination of the soul,these changes and determinations are in a certain sort necessary. But this necessity is not absolute; it is only hypothetical or conditional. The organic changes, and the mental determinations, are nothing but simple conditions, and not real causes; in short, they are occasions, or occasional causes." a This doctrine of Occasional Causes is called, likewise, the Hypothesis of Assistance, as supposing the immediate co-operation or intervention of the Deity. It is involved in the Cartesian theory, and, therefore, belongs to Descartes;^β but it was fully evolved by De la Forge,⁷ Malebranche,⁸ and other followers of Descartes. It may, however, be traced far higher. I find it first explicitly, and in all its extent, maintained in the commencement of the twelfth century by Algazel,^e or Elgazali, of Bagdad, surnamed the Imaun of the World; -- from him it passed to the schools of the West, and many of the most illustrious philosophers of the middle ages maintained that God is the only real agent in the universe.⁵

a [Laromiguière, Leçons de Philosophie, tom. ii. p. 255-6.]

 β See *Reid's Works*, completed edition, p. 961 b, n. *. - ED.

 γ [Tennemann (Gesch. der Phil., vol. x. p. 313) denies that De la Forge is an advocate, far less the first articulate expositor, of the system of Occasional Causes; but erroneously. See Traité de l'Esprit de l'Honme, c. xvi., and Sigwart's Leibniz'sche Lehre von der prästabilirten Harmonie, p. 39 et seq.]

δ Recherche de la Vérité, lib. vi. part ii. c. 3; Entretiens sur la Metaphysique, Ent. vii.—ED.

 a barbarous Latin translation, in the ninth volume of Aristotle's Works, Venice, 1550. A full account of this treatise is given in Tennemann's *Geschichte der Philosophie*, vol. viii. p. 387 et seq. See also Degerando, *Histoire Comparée*, vol. iv. p. 226. — ED.

 ζ [For a history of the doctrine of Occasional Causes before Descartes, see Syrbius, *Institutiones Philosophi*cx, (ed. Jenae, 1726), p. 62, note.] Averroes, *l. c.* p. 56 : "Agens combustionis creavit nigredinem in stuppa et combustionem in partibus ejus, et posuit eam combustam et cinerem, et est Deus gloriosus mediantibus angelis, aut immediate." See Tennemann, *l. c.* p. 405.—Ep.

structio Destructionis, preserved in Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ® To this doctrine Dr Reid inclines," and it is expressly LECT. maintained by Mr Stewart.^β

This hypothesis did not satisfy Leibnitz. "He re- 2. Pre-esproaches the Cartesians with converting the universe Harmony. into a perpetual miracle, and of explaining the natural, by a supernatural, order. This would annihilate philosophy; for philosophy consists in the investigation and discovery of the second causes which produce the various phænomena of the universe.^{γ} You degrade the Divinity, he subjoined ;--you make Him act like a watchmaker, who, having constructed a timepiece, would still be obliged himself to turn the hands, to make it mark the hours. A skilful mechanist would so frame his clock that it would go for a certain period without assistance or interposition. So when God created man, He disposed his organs and faculties in such a manner that they are able of themselves to execute their functions and maintain their activity from birth to death." 8

Leibnitz thought he had devised a more philosophical scheme, in the hypothesis of the Pre-established or Predetermined Harmony, (Systema Harmonia Prastabilitæ vel Prædeterminatæ). This hypothesis denies all real connection, not only between spiritual and material substances, but between substances in general; and explains their apparent communion from a previously decreed coarrangement of the Supreme Being, in the following manner :---" God, before creating souls and bodies, knew all these souls and bodies; He knew also all possible souls and bodies.[¢] Now, in

a See Works, pp. 257, 527.- ED. -ED.

β See Coll. Works, vol. ii. pp. 97, 476-9; vol. iii. pp. 230, 248, 389-91. -ED.

γ Système Nouveau de la Nature, § 13. Opera, ed. Erdmann, p. 137. Cf. Théodicée, § 61. Opera, p. 520.

δ [Laromiguière, Leçons, tom. ii. p. 256-7.] Troisième Eclaircissement. Opera, ed. Erdmanu, p. 134.-ED.

e Système Nouveau de la Nature, § 14. Théodicée, § 62. These passages contain the substance of the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

303

tablished

this infinite variety of possible souls and bodies, it was necessary that there should be souls whose series of perceptions and determinations would correspond to the series of movements which some of these possible bodies would execute : for in an infinite number of souls, and in an infinite number of bodies, there would be found all possible combinations. Now, suppose that, out of a soul whose series of modifications corresponded exactly to the series of modifications which a certain body was destined to perform, and of this body whose successive movements were correspondent to the successive modifications of this soul, God should make a man,—it is evident, that between the two substances which constitute this man, there would subsist the most perfect harmony. It is, thus, no longer necessary to devise theories to account for the reciprocal intercourse of the material and the spiritual substances. These have no communication, no mutual influence. The soul passes from one state, from one perception, to another, by virtue of its own nature. The body executes the series of its movements without any participation or interference of the soul in these. The soul and body are like two clocks accurately regulated, which point to the same hour and minute, although the spring which gives motion to the one is not the spring which gives motion to the other." Thus the harmony which appears to combine the soul and body is, however, independent of any reciprocal action. This harmony was established before the creation of man; and hence it is called the preestablished or predetermined harmony."^β

It is needless to attempt a refutation of this hyporemarks in the text, but not the edit. Erdmann, p. 135.—ED. β [Laromiguière, Leçons, tom. ii.

a Troisième Eclaircissement. Opera, p. 257-8.]

thesis, which its author himself probably regarded more LECT. as a specimen of ingenuity than as a serious doctrine. -

The third hypothesis is that of the Plastic Medium 3. Plastic between soul and body. "This medium participates of Medium. the two natures; it is partly material, partly spiritual. As material, it can be acted on by the body; and as spiritual, it can act upon the mind. It is the middle term of a continuous proportion. It is a bridge thrown over the abyss which separates matter from spirit. This hypothesis is too absurd for refutation; it annihilates itself. Between an extended and unextended substance, there can be no middle existence; [these being not simply different in degree, but contradictory.] If the medium be neither body nor soul, it is a chimera; if it is at once body and soul, it is contradictory; or if, to avoid the contradiction, it is said to be, like us, the union of soul and body, it is itself in want of a medium."^a

The fourth hypothesis is that of Physical Influence, 4. Physical Influence, 4. Physical Influence, 4. Physical Influence. jects affect our senses, and the organic motion they determine is communicated to the brain. The brain acts upon the soul, and the soul has an idea,-a perception. The mind thus possessed of a perception or idea, is affected for good or ill. If it suffers, it seeks to be relieved of pain. It acts in its turn upon the brain, in which it causes a movement in the nervous system; the nervous system causes a muscular motion in the limbs,-a motion directed to remove or avoid the object which occasions the sensation of pain.

"The brain is the seat of the soul, and, on this hypothesis, the soul has been compared to a spider seated in the centre of its web. The moment the least agitation is caused at the extremity of this web, the

a [Laromiguière, Lecons, tom. ii. p. 253-4.]

vol. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Micrasoft ®

insect is advertised and put upon the watch. In like manner, the mind situated in the brain has a point on which all the nervous filaments converge; it is informed of what passes at the different parts of the body; and forthwith it takes its measures accordingly. The body thus acts with a real efficiency on the mind, and the mind acts with a real efficiency upon the body. This action or influence being real,—physical,—in the course of nature,—the body exerts a physical influence upon the soul, the soul a physical influence upon the body.

"This system is simple, but it affords us no help in explaining the mysterious union of an extended and an unextended substance.

'Tangere enim et tangi nisi corpus nulla potest res.'a

Nothing can touch and be touched but what is extended; and if the soul be unextended, it can have no connection by touch with the body, and the physical influence is inconceivable or contradictory."^{β}

If we consider these hypotheses in relation to their historical manifestation,—the doctrine of Physical Influence would stand first; for this doctrine, which was only formally developed into system by the later Peripatetics, was that prevalent in the earlier schools of Greece. The Aristotelians, who held that the soul was the substantial form,—the vital principle, of the body, that the soul was all in the whole and all in every part of the body, naturally allowed a reciprocal influence of these. By influence, (in Latin *influxus*), you are to understand the relation of a cause to its effect; and the term, now adopted into every vulgar language of Europe, was brought into use principally

a Lucretius, i. 305.—ED. p. 251-3.] B [Laromiguière, Lecons, tom. ii. Driv Calif - Liguized by Microsoft ®

Historical order of these hypotheses. Physical Influence, first. by the authority of Suarez, a Spanish Jesuit, who flourished at the close of the sixteenth and beginning of the seventeenth centuries, and one of the most illustrious metaphysicians of modern times. By him a cause is defined, *Principium per se influens esse in aliud.*^a This definition, however, and the use of the metaphysical term *influence*, (for it is nothing more), are not, as is supposed, original with him. They are to be found in the pseudo-Aristotelic treatise *De Causis.* This is a translation from the Arabic, but a translation made many centuries before Suarez.^{β} But this by the way.

The second hypothesis in chronological order is Plastic Medium. that of the Plastic Medium. It is to be traced to second. Plato. That philosopher, in illustrating the relation of the two constituents of man, says that the soul is in the body like a sailor in a ship; that the soul employs the body as its instrument; but that the energy, or life and sense of the body, is the manifestation of a different substance,---of a substance which holds a kind of intermediate existence between mind and matter. This conjecture, which Plato only obscurely hinted at, was elaborated with peculiar partiality by his followers of the Alexandrian school, and, in their psychology, the oxos, or vehicle of the soul,-the medium through which it is united to the body,---is a prominent element and distinctive principle.^{γ} To

a Disputationes Metaphysicæ, Disp. xii., § ii. 4.-ED.

 β The Libellus de Causis is printed in a Latin version made from a Hebrew one, in the seventh volume of the Latin edition of Aristotle's Works, Venice, 1550, f. 144. It has been attributed to Aristotle, to Avempace, to Alfarabi, and to Proclus. The above definition does not occur in it verbatim, though it may be gathered

in substance from Prop. I.-ED.

 γ The passage referred to in Plato is probably *Timæus*, p. 69: Of de $\mu\mu\mu\sigma\mu\mu\nu\sigma\mu$ παραλαβόντες ἀρχήν ψυχῆς ἀθάνατον, τό μετὰ τοῦτο θνητόν σῶμα αὐτῆ περιετόρνευσαν ὅχημά τε πῶν τό σῶμα έδοσαν κ.τ.λ. This passage, as well as the simile of the chariot in the *Phadrus*, p. 246, were interpreted in this sense by the later Platonists. See Ficinus, *Theologia Platonica*, lib.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVL 308

this opinion St Austin,^{α} among other Christian fathers, was inclined, and, in modern times, it has been revived and modified by Gassendi,^{β} Cudworth,^{γ} and Le Clerc.^{δ}

Occasional Causes, third. Descartes agrees with the Platonists in opposition to the Aristotelians, that the soul is not the substantial form of the body, but is connected with it only at a single point in the brain,—viz. the pineal gland. The pineal gland, he supposes, is the central point at which the organic movements of the body terminate, when conveying to the mind the determinations to voluntary motion.[¢] But Descartes did not allow, like the Platonists, any intermediate or connecting substance. The nature of the connection he himself does not very explicitly state ;—but his disciples have evolved the hypothesis, already explained, of Occasional Causes, in which God is the connecting principle,—an hypothesis at least implicitly contained in his philosophy.[¢]

Finally, Leibnitz and Wolf agree with the Carte-

xviii. c. 4: "Ex quo sequitur rationales animas tanquam medias tales esse debere, ut virtute quidem semper separabiles sint, actu autem sint semper conjunctæ, quia familiare corpus nanciscuntur ex æthere, quod servant per immortalitatem propriam immortale, quod Plato currum tum deorum tum animarum vocat in Phædro, vehiculum iu Timæo." The ship is more definitely expressed by Maximus Tyrius, Diss. xl. e (referred to by Stallbaum, on the Timœus, l. c.) Ούχ όρας και τόν έν τη θαλάττη πλούν, ένθα ό μεν κυβερνήτης άρχει, ώς ψυχή σώματος, ή δε ναῦς ἄρχεται, ὡς ὑπὸ ψυχής σώμα. Cf. also Proclus, Inst. Theol., c. 206 et seq. ; Cudworth, Intellectual System, b. i. c. v. § 3. Platner, Phil. Aphorismen, i. p. 627.-ED.

ed the ancient and Platonic dogma that matter ($\eth\lambda\eta$) is incorporeal ($\grave{d}\sigma \omega$ - $\mu \alpha \tau \sigma s$). He regarded matter as "quiddam inter formatum et nihil, nec formatum nec nihil, informe prope nihil." Confess, lib. xii. c. 6.—ED.

 β Gassendi, in his *Physica*, divides the human soul into two parts, the one rational and incorporeal, the other corporeal, including the nutritive and sensitive faculties. The latter he regards as the medium of connection between the rational soul and the body. See *Opera*, vol. ii. p. 256 (ed. 1658).—ED.

 γ See above, p. 300, note α .—ED.

δ See above, p. 300, note α.-ED.

e De Pass. An., art. 31, 32; De Homine, art. 63. Cf. Reid's Works, (compl. ed.), pp. 234, n. *, 962 b. --ED.

a St Augustin seems to have adopt-

 ζ See above, p. 302, note β .—ED.

sians, that there is no real, but only an apparent in- LECT. tereourse between mind and body. To explain this . apparent intercourse, they do not, however, resort to Pre-estabthe continual assistance or interposition of the Deity, Harmony, fourth. but have recourse to the supposition of a harmony between mind and body, established before the creation of either."

All these theories are unphilosophical, because they These hyall attempt to establish something beyond the sphere unphilosoof observation, and, consequently, beyond the sphere phical. of genuine philosophy; and because they are either, like the Cartesian and Leibnitian theories, contradictions of the fact of consciousness; or, like the two other hypotheses, at variance with the facts which they suppose. What St Austin so admirably says of the substance, either of mind or of body,-" Materiam spiritumque cognoscendo ignorari et ignorando $cognosci, "^{\beta}$ —I would exhort you to adopt as your opinion in regard to the union of these two existences. In short, in the words of Pascal,^{γ} "Man is to himself the mightiest prodigy of nature; for he is unable to conceive what is body, still less what is mind, but least of all is he able to conceive how a body can be united to a mind; yet this is his proper being." A contented ignorance is, indeed, wiser than a presumptuous knowledge; but this is a lesson which seems the last that philosophers are willing to learn. In the words of one of the acutest of modern thinkers^{δ}— " Magna immo maxima pars sapientiæ est, quædam æquo animo nescire velle."

a [On these hypotheses in general, see Zedler's Lexicon, v. Seele, p. 1098 et seg.]

B Confess., lib. xii. c. 5. See ante, p. 139.-ED.

γ Pensées, partie i. art. vi., 26. Vol. ii. p. 74, edit. Faugère.-ED.

δ Julius Cæsar Scaliger. The passage is quoted more correctly in the Author's Discussions, p. 640.-ED.

XVI.

LECTURE XVIL

CONSCIOUSNESS, ---GENERAL PHÆNOMENA, ---ARE WE ALWAYS CONSCIOUSLY ACTIVE ?

THE second General Fact of Consciousness which we LECT. XVII. shall consider, and out of which several questions of great interest arise, is the fact, or correlative facts, of Activityand Passivity of Mind. the Activity and Passivity of Mind.

There is no pure activity, no pure passivity in creation. All things in the universe of nature are passivity in reciprocally in a state of continual action and counteraction; they are always active and passive at once. God alone must be thought of as a being active without any mixture of passivity, as His activity is subjected to no limitation. But precisely because it is unlimited, is it for us wholly incomprehensible.

Activityand Passivity always conjoined in the manifestations of mind.

No pure activity or

creation.

Activity and passivity are not, therefore, in the manifestations of mind, distinct and independent phænomena. This is a great, though a common, error. They are always conjoined. There is no operation of mind which is purely active; no affection which is purely passive. In every mental modification, action and passion are the two necessary elements or factors of which it is composed. But though both are always present, each is not, however, always present in equal quantity. Sometimes the one constituent preponderates, sometimes the other; and it is from the preponderance of the active element in some modifications of the passive element in others, that we dis-Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft

tinguish these modifications by different names, and consider them as activities or passivities according as they approximate to one or other of the two factors. Thus faculty, operation, energy, are words that we employ to designate the manifestations in which activity is predominant. Faculty denotes an active power; action, operation, energy, denote its present exertion. On the other hand, capacity expresses a passive power; affection, passion, express a present suffering. The terms mode, modification, state, may be used indifferently to signify both phænomena; but it must be acknowledged that these, especially the word state, are now closely associated with the passivity of mind, which they, therefore, tend rather to suggest. The passivity of mind is expressed by another term, receptivity; for passivity is only the condition, the necessary antecedent of activity,--only the property possessed by the mind of standing in relation to certain foreign causes,---of receiving from them impressions, determinations to act.

It is to be observed, that we are never directly con-We are scious of passivity. Consciousness only commences rectly con-scious of with, is only cognisant of, the reaction consequent passivity. upon the foreign determination to act, and this reaction is not itself passive. In so far, therefore, as we are conscious, we are active; whether there may be a mental activity of which we are not conscious, is another question.ª

There are certain arduous problems connected with the activity of mind, which will be more appropriately considered in a subsequent part of the course, when we come to speak of the Inferences from the Phænomenology of Mind, or of Metaphysics Proper. At present, I shall only treat of those questions which

a See below, Lect. xviii, p. 338.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVII.

The question, Are we always consciously active ? raised.

Distinguished from other questions.

Treatment

losophers.

Plato and the Plato-

nists.

are conversant about the immediate phænomena of Of these, the first that I shall consider is one activity. of considerable interest, and which, though variously determined by different philosophers, does not seem to lie beyond the sphere of observation. I allude to the question, Whether we are always consciously active ?

It is evident that this question is not convertible with the question, Have we always a memory of our consciousness ?----for the latter problem must be at once answered in the negative. It is also evident, that we must exclude the consideration of those states in which the mind is apparently without consciousness, but in regard to which, in reality, we can obtain no information from experiment. Concerning these we must be contented to remain in ignorance; at least only to extend to them the analogical conclusions which our observations on those within the sphere of experiment warrant us inferring. Our question, as one of possible solution, must, therefore, be limited to the states of sleep and somnambulism, to the exclusion of those states of insensibility which we cannot terminate suddenly at will. It is hardly necessary to observe, that with the nature of sleep and somnambulism as psychological phænomena, we have at present nothing to do; our consideration is now strictly limited to the inquiry, Whether the mind, in as far as we can make it matter of observation, is always in a state of conscious activity. The general problem in of the ques-tion by phi- regard to the ceaseless activity of the mind has been one agitated from very ancient times, but it has also been one on which philosophers have pronounced less on grounds of experience than of theory. Plato and the Platonists were unanimous in maintaining the continual energy of intellect. The opinion of Aristotle appears doubtful, and passages may be quoted

from his works in favour of either alternative. The Aristotelians, in general, were opposed, but a consider- able number were favourable, to the Platonic doctrine. Aristotle This doctrine was adopted by Cicero and St Augustin. Aristote-"Nunquam animus," says the former, " cogitatione et Cicero and motu vacuus esse potest."" "Ad quid menti," says tin. the latter, "præceptum est, ut se ipsam cognoscat, nisi ut semper vivat, et semper sit in actu." $^{\beta}$ The question, however, obtained its principal importance in the philosophy of Descartes. That philosopher Descartes. made the essence, the very existence, of the soul to consist in actual thought, γ under which he included even the desires and feelings; and thought he defined all of which we are conscious.^{δ} The assertion, therefore, of Descartes, that the mind always thinks, is, in his employment of language, tantamount to the assertion that the mind is always conscious.

That the mind is always conscious, though a fundamental position of the Cartesian doctrine, was rather assumed, than proved by an appeal to fact and experience. All is theoretical in Descartes : all is theoretical in his disciples. Even Malebranche assumes our Maleconsciousness in sleep, and explains our oblivion only branche. by a mechanical hypothesis.^e It was, therefore, easy for Locke to deny the truth of the Cartesian opinion, Locke.

a De Divinatione, ii. 62 : "Naturam eam dico, qua nunquam animus insistens, agitatione et motu esse vacuus potest."-ED.

β Eugenios, Ψυχολογία, p. 129.-Book iii. of his Storxeia ths Metaφυsικήs, (edit. 1805). The reference in Eugenios is to De Trinitate, lib. x. c. v., where a passage occurs, resembling in words the one quoted in the text, but hardly supporting the doctrine in question. It is as follows : " Ut quid ergo ci præceptum est, ut se ipsam cognoscat? Credo ut se ipsam cogitet, et secundum naturam suam vivat." But in the De Anima et ejus Origine, lib. iv. c. vi. § 7, - Opera, t. x. p. 391, (edit. Benedict.), occurs the following explicit statement: "Sicut motus non cessat in corde, unde se pulsus diffundit usquequaque venarum, ita non quiescimus aliquid cogitando versare."-ED.]

γ Principia, pars i. § 53.-ED.

δ Principia, pars i. §9. Cf. Reid's Works, (compl. ed.), p. 961a, n. +. - ED. e Recherche de la Vérité, liv. iii.

ch. 2. - ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVII.

313

St Augus-

Locke's argument for the negative. and to give a strong semblance of probability to his own doctrine by its apparent conformity with the phænomena. Omitting a good deal of what is either irrelevant to the general question, or what is now admitted to be false, as founded on his erroneous doctrine of personal identity, the following is the sum of Locke's argument upon the point. "It is an opinion," he says," "that the soul always thinks, and that it has the actual perception of ideas in itself constantly, as long as it exists; and that actual thinking is as inseparable from the soul, as actual extension is from the body; which, if true, to inquire after the beginning of a man's ideas, is the same as to inquire after the beginning of his soul. For by this account, soul and its ideas, as body and its extension, will begin to exist both at the same time.

"But whether the soul be supposed to exist antecedent to, or coeval with, or some time after, the first rudiments, or organisation, or the beginnings of life in the body, I leave to be disputed by those who have better thought of that matter. I confess myself to have one of those dull souls that doth not perceive itself always to contemplate ideas; nor can conceive it any more necessary for the soul always to think than for the body always to move : the perception of ideas being (as I conceive) to the soul, what motion is to the body; not its essence, but one of its operations. And, therefore, though thinking be supposed ever so much the proper action of the soul, yet it is not necessary to suppose that it should be always thinking, always in action. That perhaps is the privilege of the infinite Author and Preserver of things, who never slumbers nor sleeps; but is not competent to any finite being, at least not to the soul of man.

a Essay, book ii. chap. i. §§ 9, 10, 14 et seq. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

We know certainly by experience that we sometimes LECT. XVII. think, and thence draw this infallible consequence, that there is something in us that has a power to think : but whether that substance perpetually thinks or no, we can be no further assured than experience informs us. For to say that actual thinking is essential to the soul and inseparable from it, is to beg what is in question, and not to prove it by reason; which is necessary to be done if it be not a selfevident proposition. But whether this, 'that the soul always thinks,' be a self - evident proposition, that everybody assents to at first hearing, I appeal to mankind. It is doubted whether I thought all last night or no; the question being about a matter of fact, it is begging it to bring as a proof for it an hypothesis which is the very thing in dispute; by which way one may prove anything; and it is but supposing that all watches, whilst the balance beats, think; and it is sufficiently proved, and past doubt, that my watch thought all last night. But he that would not deceive himself, ought to build his hypothesis on matter of fact, and make it out by sensible experience, and not presume on matter of fact, because of his hypothesis; that is, because he supposes it to be so; which way of proving amounts to this, that I must necessarily think all last night because another supposes I always think, though I myself cannot perceive that I always do so." "It will perhaps be said that 'the soul thinks even in the soundest sleep, but the memory retains it not.' That the soul in a sleeping man should be this moment busy a-thinking, and the next moment in a waking man not remember nor be able to recollect one jot of all those thoughts, is very hard to be conceived, and would need some better proof than bare assertion to Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

make it be believed. For who can, without any more ado but being barely told so, imagine that the greatest part of men do, during all their lives for several hours every day, think of something which, if they were asked even in the middle of these thoughts, they could remember nothing at all of? Most men, I think, pass a great part of their sleep without dreaming. I once knew a man that was bred a scholar and had no bad memory, who told me he had never dreamed in his life till he had that fever he was then newly recovered of, which was about the five or six and twentieth year of his age. I suppose the world affords more such instances; at least every one's acquaintance will furnish him with examples enough of such as pass most of their nights without dreaming." And again, "If they say that a man is always conscious to himself of thinking; I ask how they know it? 'Consciousness is the perception of what passes in a man's own mind. Can another man perceive that I am conscious of anything, when I perceive it not myself? No man's knowledge here can go beyond his experience. Wake a man out of a sound sleep, and ask him what he was that moment thinking on. If he himself be conscious of nothing he then thought on, he must be a notable diviner of thoughts that can assure him that he was thinking : may he not with more reason assure him he was not asleep ? This is something beyond philosophy; and it cannot be less than revelation that discovers to another thoughts in my mind when I can find none there myself; and they must needs have a penetrating sight who can certainly see what I think when I cannot perceive it myself, and when I declare that I do not. This some may think to be a step beyond the Rosicrucians, it being easier to make one's self invisible to others, than to make

another's thoughts visible to one which are not visible to himself. But it is but defining the soul to be 'a substance that always thinks,' and the business is done. If such definition be of any authority, I know not what it can serve for, but to make many men suspect that they have no souls at all, since they find a good part of their lives pass away without thinking. For no definitions that I know, no suppositions of any sect, are of force enough to destroy constant experience; and perhaps it is the affectation of knowing beyond what we perceive that makes so much useless dispute and noise in the world."

This decision of Locke was rejected by Leibnitz in Locke's the New Essays on the Human Understanding,^a the posed by Leibnitz. great work in which he canvassed from beginning to end the Essay, under the same title, of the English philosopher. He observes, in reply to the supposition that continual consciousness is an attribute of Him 'who neither slumbereth nor sleepeth,' "that this affords no inference that in sleep we are wholly without perception." To the remark, "that it is difficult to conceive, that a being can think and not be conscious of thought," he replies, "that in this lies the whole knot and difficulty of the matter. But this is not insoluble." "We must observe," he says, "that we think of a multitude of things at once, but take heed only of those thoughts that are the more prominent. Nor could it be otherwise. For were we to take heed of everything, it would be necessary to attend to an infinity of matters at the same moment, all of which make an effectual impression on the senses. Nay, I assert that there remains always something of all our past thoughts,-that none is ever entirely effaced. Now, when we sleep without dreaming, and when stunned

a Liv. ii. ch. 1.-ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

by a blow or other accident, there are formed in us an infinity of small confused perceptions." And again he remarks : "That even when we sleep without dreaming, there is always some feeble perception. The act of awakening, indeed, shows this : and the more easily we are aroused, the clearer is the perception we have of what passes without, although this perception is not always strong enough to cause us to awake."

Now, in all this it will be observed, that Leibnitz does not precisely answer the question we have mooted. He maintains that the mind is never without perceptions, but, as he holds that perceptions exist without consciousness, he cannot, though he opposes Locke, be considered as affirming that the mind is never without consciousness during sleep,—in short, does always dream. The doctrine of Wolf on this point is the same with that of his master,^a though the *Nouveaux Essais* of Leibnitz were not published till long after the death of Wolf.

But if Leibnitz cannot be adduced as categorically asserting that there is no sleep without its dream, this cannot be said of Kant. That great thinker distinctly maintains that we always dream when asleep; that to cease to dream would be to cease to live; and that those who fancy they have not dreamt have only forgotten their dream.^{β} This is all that the manual of *Anthropology*, published by himself, contains upon the question; but in a manuscript in my possession, which bears to be a work of Kant, but is probably only a compilation from notes taken at his lectures on Anthropology, it is further stated that we can dream more in a minute than we can act during a day, and that the great rapidity of the train of a Psychologia Rationalis, § 59.—ED. β Anthropologie, §§ 30, 36.—ED.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Wolf.

Kant.

LECT. XVII. 318

thought in sleep, is one of the principal causes why we do not always recollect what we dream." He else- where also observes that the cessation of a force to act, is tantamount to its cessation to be.

Though the determination of this question is one The questhat seems not extremely difficult, we find it dealt with with by phiby philosophers, on the one side and the other, rather rather by by hypothesis than by experiment; at least, we have, than by with one partial exception, which I am soon to quote to you, no observations sufficiently accurate and detailed to warrant us in establishing more than a very doubtful conclusion. I have myself at different times conclusion turned my attention to the point, and, as far as my from expeobservations go, they certainly tend to prove that, the Author. during sleep, the mind is never either inactive or wholly unconscious of its activity. As to the objec- Locke's RStion of Locke and others, that, as we have often no that conrecollection of dreaming, we have, therefore, never and the redreamt, it is sufficient to say that the assumption in of consciousthis argument,-that consciousness, and the recollec- ness are convertible, tion of consciousness, are convertible,—is disproved in by the phaethe most emphatic manner by experience. You have sommamall heard of the phænomenon of somnambulism. In this remarkable state, the various mental faculties are usually in a higher degree of power than in the natural. The patient has recollections of what he has wholly forgotten. He speaks languages of which, when awake, he remembers not a word. If he use a vulgar dialect when out of this state, in it he employs only a correct and elegant phraseology. The imagination, the sense of propriety, and the faculty of

a The substance of this passage is by Starke in 1831, from Kant's Lecpublished in the Menschenkunde oder tures. See p. 164 .- ED. Philosophische Anthropologie, edited

LECT. XVII.

tion dealt losophers hypothesis experiment.

disproved bulism.

Consciousness with-

the charac-

teristic of somnam-

bulism.

reasoning, are all in general exalted.^a The bodily powers are in high activity, and under the complete control of the will; and, it is well known, persons in this state have frequently performed feats, of which, when out of it, they would not even have imagined the possibility. And what is even more remarkable, the difference of the faculties in the two states seems not confined merely to a difference in degree. For it happens, for example, that a person who has no ear for music when awake, shall in his somnambulic crisis, sing with the utmost correctness and with full enjoyment of his performance. Under this affection persons sometimes live half their lifetime, alternating between the normal and the abnormal states, and performing the ordinary functions of life indifferently in both, with this distinction, that if the patient be dull and doltish when he is said to be awake, he is comparatively alert and intelligent when nominally asleep. I am in possession of three works, written during the crisis by three different somnambulists.^{β} Now it is evident that consciousness, and an exalted consciousness, must be allowed in somnambulism. This cannot possibly be denied,—but mark what follows. It is out memory the peculiarity of somnambulism, —it is the differential quality by which that state is contradistinguished from the state of dreaming, that we have no recollection, when we awake, of what has occurred during its continuance. Consciousness is thus cut in two; memory does not connect the train of consciousness in the one state with the train of consciousness in the other. When the patient again relapses into the state

> a For some interesting illustrasect. iv. § 2.-ED. tions of this state, see Abercrombie, β Of these works we have failed to On the Intellectual Powers, part iii. discover any trace. - ED.

of somnambulism, he again remembers all that had LECT. occurred during every former alternative of that state; but he not only remembers this, he recalls also the events of his normal existence: so that whereas the patient in his somnambulic crisis, has a memory of his whole life, in his waking intervals he has a memory only of half his life.

At the time of Locke, the phænomena of somnam-Dreaming bulism had been very little studied; nay, so great is without the ignorance that prevails in this country in regard memory. to its nature even now, that you will find this, its distinctive character, wholly unnoticed in the best works upon the subject." But this distinction, you observe, is incompetent always to discriminate the states of dreaming and somnambulism. It may be true that if we recollect our visions during sleep, this recollection excludes somnambulism, but the want of memory by no means proves that the visions we are known by others to have had, were not common dreams. The phænomena, indeed, do not always enable us to discriminate the two states. Somnambulism may exist in many different degrees. The sleep-walking from which it takes its name is only one of its higher phænomena, and one comparatively rare. In general, the subject of this affection does not leave his bed, and it is then frequently impossible to say whether the manifestations exhibited, are the phænomena of somnambulism or of dreaming. Talking during sleep, for example, may be a symptom of either, and it is often only from our general knowledge of the habits and predispositions of the sleeper, that we are warranted in referring this effect to the one and not to the other

VOL. I.

a This deficiency has been ably Principles of Human Physiology, § supplied by Dr Carpenter. See his 827, (4th edition) .--- ED.

X

class of phænomena. We have, however, abundant evidence to prove that forgetfulness is not a decisive criterion of somnambulism. Persons whom there is no reason to suspect of this affection, often manifest during sleep the strongest indications of dreaming, and yet, when they awaken in the morning, retain no memory of what they may have done or said during the night. Locke's argument, that because we do not always remember our consciousness during sleep, we have not, therefore, been always conscious, is thus, on the ground of fact and analogy, disproved.

That the mind remains conscious during sleep established by experience.

But this is not all. We can not only show that the fact of the mind remaining conscious during sleep is possible, is even probable, we can also show, by an articulate experience, that this actually occurs. The following observations are the result of my personal experience, and similar experiments every one of you is competent to institute for himself.

Results of the Author's perience.

In the first place, when we compose ourselves to the Author's personal ex- rest, we do not always fall at once asleep, but remain for a time in a state of incipient slumber,-in a state intermediate between sleep and waking. Now, if we are gently roused from this transition-state, we find ourselves conscious of being in the commencement of a dream; we find ourselves occupied with a train of thought, and this train we are still able to follow out to a point when it connects itself with certain actual perceptions. We can still trace imagination to sense, and show how, departing from the last sensible impressions of real objects, the fancy proceeds in its work of distorting, falsifying, and perplexing these, in order to construct out of their ruins its own grotesque edifices.

In the second place, I have always observed, that

when suddenly awakened during sleep, (and to ascertain the fact I have caused myself to be roused at different seasons of the night), I have always been able to observe that I was in the middle of a dream. The recollection of this dream was not always equally vivid. On some occasions, I was able to trace it back until the train was gradually lost at a remote distance; on others, I was hardly aware of more than one or two of the latter links of the chain; and, sometimes, was scarcely certain of more than the fact, that I was not awakened from an unconscious state. Why we should not always be able to recollect our dreams, it is not difficult to explain. In our waking and our sleeping states, we are placed in two worlds of thought, not only different but contrasted, and contrasted both in the character and in the intensity of their representations. When snatched suddenly from the twilight of our sleeping imaginations, and placed in the meridian lustre of our waking perceptions, the necessary effect of the transition is at once to eclipse or obliterate the traces of our dreams. The act itself also of rousing us from sleep, by abruptly interrupting the current of our thoughts, throws us into confusion, disqualifies us for a time from recollection, and before we have recovered from our consternation, what we could at first have easily discerned is fled or flying.

A sudden and violent is, however, in one respect, more favourable than a gradual and spontaneous wakening to the observation of the phænomena of sleep. For in the former case, the images presented are fresh and prominent; while in the latter, before our attention is applied, the objects of observation have withdrawn darkling into the background of the soul. We may, therefore, I think, assert, in general, that whether

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVII.

we recollect our dreams or not, we always dream. LECT. Something similar, indeed, to the rapid oblivion of our sleeping consciousness, happens to us occasionally even when awake. When our mind is not intently occupied with any subject, or more frequently when fatigued, a thought suggests itself. We turn it lazily over and fix our eyes in vacancy; interrupted by the question what we are thinking of, we attempt to answer, but the thought is gone; we cannot recall it,

General conclusions from foregoing.

XVII.

Jouffroy quoted in confirmation of the Author's view, and in proof of sundryother

The mind frequently the senses asleep.

and say that we were thinking of nothing." The observations I have hitherto made tend only to establish the fact, that the mind is never wholly inactive, and that we are never wholly unconscious of its activity. Of the degree and character of that activity; I at present say nothing; this may form the subject of our future consideration. But in confirmation of the opinion I have now hazarded, and in proof of something more even than I have ventured to maintain, I have great pleasure in quoting to you the substance of a very remarkable essay on sleep by one of the most distinguished of the philosophers of France,--living when the extract was made, but now unfortunately lost to the science of mind which he cultivated with most distinguished success.-I refer to M. Jouffroy, who, along with M. Royer Collard, was at the head of sundry other the pure school of Scottish Philosophy in France.^{β}

"I have never well understood those who admit awake when that in sleep the mind is dormant. When we dream, we are assuredly asleep, and assuredly also our mind is not asleep, because it thinks; it is, therefore, manifest, that the mind frequently wakes when the senses are in slumber. But this does not prove that it never

> a Cf. Kant, Anthropologie, § 30, ed. β Mélanges, p. 318, [p. 290, second 1838, (§ 28, ed. 1810).-ED. edition.-ED.]

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

sleeps along with them. To sleep is for the mind not to dream; and it is impossible to establish the fact, that there are in sleep moments in which the mind does not dream. To have no recollection of our dreams. does not prove that we have not dreamt; for it can be often proved that we have dreamt, although the dream has left no trace on our memory.

"The fact, then, that the mind sometimes wakes Probable while the senses are asleep, is thus established; whereas that the mind is the fact, that it sometimes sleeps along with them, is always awake. not: the probability, therefore, is, that it wakes always. It would require contradictory facts to destroy the force of this induction, which, on the contrary, every fact seems to confirm. I shall proceed to analyse some of these which appear to me curious and striking. They manifestly imply this conclusion, that the mind, during sleep, is not in a peculiar state, but that its activity is carried on precisely as when awake.

"When an inhabitant of the province comes to Paris, Induction his sleep is at first disturbed, and continually broken, support of by the noise of the carriages passing under his window. this conclu-He soon, however, becomes accustomed to the turmoil, and ends by sleeping at Paris as he slept in his village.

"The noise, however, remains the same, and makes an equal impression on his senses; how comes it that this noise at first hinders, and then, at length, does not hinder, him from sleeping ?

"The state of waking presents analogous facts. Every one knows that it is difficult to fix our attention on a book, when surrounded by persons engaged in conversation; at length, however, we acquire this faculty. A man unaccustomed to the tumult of the streets of Paris is unable to think consecutively while walking through them; a Parisian finds no difficulty.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

325

LECT. XVII.

326

He meditates as tranquilly in the midst of the crowd and bustle of men and carriages, as he could in the centre of the forest. The analogy between these facts taken from the state of waking, and the fact which I mentioned at the commencement, taken from the state of sleep, is so close, that the explanation of the former should throw some light upon the latter. We shall attempt this explanation.

Analysis and explanation of these phænomeua-Attention tion

"Attention is the voluntary application of the mind to an object. It is established, by experience, that we cannot give our attention to two different objects at and Distraction the same time. Distraction (être distrait) is the removal of our attention from a matter with which we are engaged, and our bestowal of it on another which crosses us. In distraction, attention is only diverted because it is attracted by a new perception or idea, soliciting it more strongly than that with which it is occupied; and this diversion diminishes exactly in proportion as the solicitation is weaker on the part of the intrusive idea. All experience proves this. The more strongly attention is applied to a subject, the less susceptible is it of distraction; thus it is, that a book which awakens a lively curiosity, retains the attention captive; a person occupied with a matter affecting his life, his reputation, or his fortune, is not easily distracted; he sees nothing, he understands nothing of what passes around him; we say that he is deeply preoccupied. In like manner, the greater our curiosity, or the more curious the things that are spoken of around us, the less able are we to rivet our attention on the book we read. In like manner, also, if we are waiting in expectation of any one, the slightest noises occasion distraction, as these noises may be the signal of the approach we anticipate. All

these facts tend to prove that distraction results only when the intrusive idea solicits us more strongly than that with which we are occupied.

"Hence it is that the stranger in Paris cannot think in the bustle of the streets. The impressions which assail his eyes and ears on every side being for him the signs of things new or little known, when they reach his mind interest him more strongly than the matter even to which he would apply his thoughts. Each of these impressions announces a cause which may be beautiful, rare, curious, or terrific; the intellect cannot refrain from turning out to verify the fact. It turns out, however, no longer when experience has made it familiar with all that can strike the senses on the streets of Paris; it remains within, and no longer allows itself to be deranged.

"The other admits of a similar explanation. To read without distraction in the midst of an unknown company, would be impossible. Curiosity would be too strong. This would also be the case if the subject of conversation were very interesting. But in a familiar circle, whose ordinary topics of conversation are well known, the ideas of the book make an easy conquest of our thoughts.

"The will, likewise, is of some avail in resisting distraction. Not that it is able to retain the attention when disquieted and curious; but it can recall, and not indulge it in protracted absences, and, by constantly remitting it to the object of its volition, the interest of this object becomes at last predominant. Rational considerations, and the necessity of remaining attentive, likewise exert an influence; they come in aid of the idea, and lend it, so to speak, a helping hand in concentrating on it the attention.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

Distraction and Nondistraction matters of

"But, howsoever it may be with all these petty influences, it remains evident that distraction and nondistraction are neither of them matters of sense, but both matters of intelligence. It is not the senses which intelligence. become accustomed to hear the noises of the street and the sounds of conversation, and which end in being less affected by them; if we are at first vehemently affected by the noises of the street or drawing-room, and then little or not at all, it is because at first attention occupies itself with these impressions, and afterwards neglects them : when it neglects them it is not diverted from its object, and distraction does not take place; when, on the contrary, it accords them notice, it abandons its object, and is then distracted.

> "We may observe, in support of this conclusion, that the habit of hearing the same sounds renders us sometimes highly sensible to these, as occurs in savages and in the blind; sometimes, again, almost insensible to them, as exemplified in the apathy of the Parisian for the noise of carriages. If the effect were physical,if it depended on the body and not on the mind, there would be a contradiction, for the habit of hearing the same sounds either blunts the organ or sharpens it; it could not at once have two, and two contrary, effects,—it could have only one. The fact is, it neither blunts nor sharpens; the organ remains the same; the same sensations are determined : but when these sensations interest the mind, it applies itself to them, and becomes accustomed to their discrimination; when they do not interest it, it becomes accustomed to neglect, and does not discriminate them. This is the whole mystery; the phænomenon is psychological, not physiological.

"Let us now turn our attention to the state of sleep,

and consider whether analogy does not demand a LECT. similar explanation of the fact which we stated at the commencement. What takes place when a noise Application hinders us from sleeping? The body fatigued begins going analy-to slumber; then, of a sudden, the senses are struck, phenomena of sleep. and we awake; then fatigue regains the ascendant, we relapse into drowsiness, which is soon again interrupted; and so on for a certain continuance. When, on the contrary, we are accustomed to noise, the impressions it makes no longer disturb our first sleep; the drowsiness is prolonged, and we fall asleep. That the senses are more torpid in sleep than in our waking state, is not a matter of doubt. But when I am once asleep, they are then equally torpid on the first night of my arrival in Paris as on the hundredth. The noise being the same, they receive the same impressions, which they transmit in equal vivacity to the mind. Whence comes it, then, that on the first night I am awakened, and not on the hundredth? The physical facts are identical; the difference can originate only in the mind, as in the case of distraction and of nondistraction in the waking state. Let us suppose that the soul has fallen asleep along with the body; on this hypothesis, the slumber would be equally deep, in both cases, for the mind and for the senses, and we should be unable to see why, in the one case, it was aroused more than in the other. It remains, therefore, certain that it does not sleep like the body; and that, in the one case, disquieted by unusual impressions, it awakens the senses to inquire what is the matter; whilst in the other, knowing by experience of what external fact these impressions are the sign, it remains tranquil, and does not disturb the senses to obtain a useless explanation.

XVIL

"For let us remark, that the mind has need of the senses to obtain a knowledge of external things. In sleep, the senses are some of them closed, as the eyes; the others half torpid, as touch and hearing. If the soul be disquieted by the impressions which reach it, it requires the senses to ascertain the cause, and to relieve its inquietude. This is the cause why we find ourselves in a disquieted state, when aroused by an extraordinary noise; and this could not have occurred had we not been occupied with this noise before we awoke.

"This is, also, the cause why we sometimes feel, during sleep, the efforts we make to awaken our senses, when an unusual noise or any painful sensation disturbs our rest. If we are in a profound sleep, we are for a long time agitated before we have it in our power to awake,---we say to ourselves, we must awake in order to get out of pain; but the sleep of the senses resists, and it is only by little and little that we are able to rouse them from torpidity. Sometimes, when the noise ceases before the issue of the struggle, the awakening does not take place, and, in the morning, we have a confused recollection of having been disturbed during our sleep,-a recollection which becomes distinct only when we learn from others that such and such an occurrence has taken place while we were asleep.

Illustrated by the personal experience of the writer. "I had given orders some time ago, that a parlour adjoining to my bedroom should be swept before I was called in the morning. For the first two days the noise awoke me; but, thereafter, I was not aware of it. Whence arose the difference? The noises are the same and at the same hour; I am in the same degree of slumber; the same sensations, consequently, take

place. Whence comes it that I awoke, and do no longer awake? For this, it appears to me, there is but one explanation,-viz. that my mind which wakes, and which is now aware of the cause of these sensations, is no longer disquieted, and no longer rouses my senses. It is true that I do not retain the recollection of this reasoning: but this oblivion is not more extraordinary than that of so many others which cross our mind both when awake and when asleep.

"I add a single observation. The noise of the brush on the carpet of my parlour is as nothing compared with that of the heavy waggons which pass under my windows at the same hour, and which do not trouble my repose in the least. I was, therefore, awakened by a sensation much feebler than a crowd of others, which I received at the same time. Can that hypothesis afford the reason, which supposes that the awakening is a necessary event; that the sensations rouse the senses, and that the senses rouse the mind? It is evident that my mind alone, and its activity, can explain why the fainter sensation awoke me; as these alone can explain why, when I am reading in my study, the small noise of a mouse playing in a corner can distract my attention, while the thundering noise of a passing waggon does not affect me at all.

"The same explanation fully accounts for what Experience occurs with those who sleep in attendance on the sick. tendant on All noises foreign to the patient have no effect on the sick. them; but let the patient turn him on his bed, let him utter a groan or sigh, or let his breathing become painful or interrupted, forthwith the attendant awakes, however little inured to the vocation, or interested in the welfare of the patient. Whence comes this dis-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVII.

crimination between the noises which deserve the attention of the attendant, and those which do not, if, whilst the senses are asleep, the mind does not remain observant,—does not act the sentinel, does not consider the sensations which the senses convey, and does not awaken the senses as it finds these sensations disquieting or not? It is by being strongly impressed, previous to going to sleep, with the duty of attending to the respiration, motions, complaints of the sufferer, that we come to waken at all such noises, and at no others. The habitual repetition of such an impression gives this faculty to professional sick-nurses; a lively interest in the health of the patient gives it equally to the members of his family.

Awaking at an appointed hour.

"It is in precisely the same manner that we waken at the appointed hour, when before going to sleep we have made a firm resolution of so doing. I have this power in perfection; but I notice that I lose it if I depend on any one calling me. In this latter case, my mind does not take the trouble of measuring the time or of listening to the clock. But in the former, it is necessary that it do so, otherwise the phænomenon is inexplicable. Every one has made, or can make, this experiment; when it fails it will be found, if I mistake not, either that we have not been sufficiently preoccupied with the intention, or were overfatigued; for when the senses are strongly benumbed, they convey to the mind, on the one hand, more obtuse sensations of the monitory sounds, and, on the other, they resist for a longer time the efforts the mind makes to awaken them, when these sounds have reached it.

"After a night passed in this effort, we have, in general, the recollection, in the morning, of having been

constantly occupied during sleep with this thought. The mind, therefore, watched, and, full of its resolution, awaited the moment. It is thus that when we go to bed much interested with any subject, we remember, on wakening, that during sleep we have been continually haunted by it. On these occasions the slumber is light, for, the mind being untranquil, its agitation is continually disturbing the torpor of the senses. When the mind is calm, it does not sleep more, but it is less restless.

"It would be curious to ascertain, whether persons of a feeble memory, and of a volatile disposition, are not less capable than others of awakening at an appointed hour; for these two circumstances ought to produce this effect, if the notion I have formed of the phænomenon be correct. A volatile disposition is unable strongly to preoccupy itself with the thought, and to form a determined resolution; and, on the other hand, it is the memory which preserves a recollection of the resolution taken before falling asleep. I have not had an opportunity of making the experiment.

"It appears to me, that from the previous observa-General conclusions, it inevitably follows :---

1°, That in sleep the senses are torpid, but that the mind wakes.

2°, That certain of our senses continue to transmit to the mind the imperfect sensations they receive.

3°, That the mind judges these sensations, and that it is in virtue of its judgments that it awakens, or does not awaken, the senses.

4°, That the reason why the mind awakens the senses is, that sometimes the sensation disquiets it, being unusual or painful; that sometimes the sensa-

LECT.

tion warns it to rouse the senses, as being an indication of the moment when it ought to do so.

5°, That the mind possesses the power of awakening the senses, but that it only accomplishes this by its own activity overcoming their torpor; that this torpor is an obstacle,---an obstacle greater or less as it is more or less profound.

"If these inferences are just, it follows that we can waken ourselves at will and at appointed signals; that the instrument called an alarum (réveil-matin) does not act so much by the noise it makes as by the association we have established in going to bed between the noise and the thought of wakening; that, therefore, an instrument much less noisy, and emitting only a feeble sound, would probably produce the same effect. It follows, moreover, that we can inure ourselves to sleep profoundly in the midst of the loudest noises; that to accomplish this it is perhaps sufficient, on the first night, to impress it on our minds that these sounds do not deserve attention, and ought not to waken us; and that by this mean, any one may probably sleep as well in the mill as the miller himself. It follows, in fine, that the sleep of the strong and courageous ought to be less easily disturbed, all things equal, than the sleep of the weak and timid. Some historical facts may be quoted in proof of this last conclusion."

Jouffroy's

I shall not quote to you the observations of M. roborated by Jouffroy on Reverie," which form a sequel, and a conthe postman firmation of those he has made upon sleep. Before of Halle. terminating this subject, I may, however, notice a rather curious case which occurs to my recollection, and which tends to corroborate the theory of the

a See Mélanges, p. 304 et seq.-ED.

French psychologist. I give it on the authority of LECT. XVII. Junker,^{*a*} a celebrated physician and professor of Halle, who flourished during the first half of last century, and he says that he took every pains to verify the facts by frequent personal observation. I regret that I am unable at the moment to find the book in which the case is recorded, but of all its relevant circumstances I have a vivid remembrance. The object of observation was the postman between Halle and a town, I forget which, some eight miles distant. This distance the postman was in the habit of traversing daily. A considerable part of his way lay across a district of unenclosed champaign meadow-land, and in walking over this smooth surface the postman was generally asleep. But at the termination of this part of his road, there was a narrow foot-bridge over a stream, and to reach this bridge it was necessary to ascend some broken steps. Now, it was ascertained as completely as any fact of the kind could be,-the observers were shrewd, and the object of observation was a man of undoubted probity,-I say, it was completely ascertained :-1°, That the postman was asleep in passing over this level course; 2°, That he held on his way in this state without deflection towards the bridge; and, 3°, That just before arriving at the bridge, he awoke. But this case is not only deserving of all credit from the positive testimony by which it is vouched; it is also credible as only one of a class of analogous cases which it may be adduced as representing. This case, besides showing that the mind must be active though the body is asleep, shows also that certain bodily functions may be dormant, while

a Gedanken vom Schlafe, Halle, buch der Psychologie, p. 28-9. – 1746, p. 7. See Tiedemann, Hand- ED.



Case of Oporinus. others are alert. The locomotive faculty was here in exercise, while the senses were in slumber. This suggests to me another example of the same phænomenon. It is found in a story told by Erasmus^a in one of his letters, concerning his learned friend Oporinus, the celebrated professor and printer of Basle. Oporinus was on a journey with a bookseller; and, on their road, they had fallen in with a manuscript. Tired with their day's travelling, --- travelling was then almost exclusively performed on horseback,-they came at nightfall to their inn. They were, however, curious to ascertain the contents of their manuscript, and Oporinus undertook the task of reading it aloud. This he continued for some time, when the bookseller found it necessary to put a question concerning a word which he had not rightly understood. It was now discovered that Oporinus was asleep, and being awakened by his companion, he found that he had no recollection of what for a considerable time he had been reading. Most of you, I daresay, have known or heard of similar occurrences, and I do not quote the anecdote as anything remarkable. But, still, it is a case concurring with a thousand others to prove, 1°, That one bodily sense or function may be asleep while another is awake; and, 2°, That the mind may be in a certain state of activity during sleep, and no memory of that activity remain after the sleep has ceased. The first is evident; for Oporinus, while reading, must have had his eyes and the muscles of his tongue and fauces awake, though his ears and other senses were asleep; and the second is no less so, for the act of reading

a This story is told by Felix Platerus (Observationes, lib. i. p. 11). Bulatio; (Haller, Disputationes ad The person to whom Oporinus read, was the father of the narrator, Tho-443.)—ED.
supposed a very complex series of mental energies. I may notice, by the way, that physiologists have observed, that our bodily senses and powers do not fall asleep simultaneously, but in a certain succession. We all know that the first symptom of slumber is the relaxation of the eyelids; whereas, hearing continues alert for a season after the power of vision has been dormant. In the case last alluded to, this order was, however, violated; and the sight was forcibly kept awake while the hearing had lapsed into torpidity.

In the case of sleep, therefore, so far is it from being proved that the mind is at any moment unconscious, that the result of observation would incline us to the opposite conclusion.

LECT. XVII.

LECTURE XVIII.

CONSCIOUSNESS,-GENERAL PHÆNOMENA,-IS THE MIND EVER UNCONSCIOUSLY MODIFIED ?

LECT. XVIII.

ever uncon-

I PASS now to a question in some respects of still more proximate interest to the psychologist than that Is the mind discussed in the preceding Lecture; for it is one sciously mo- which, according as it is decided, will determine the character of our explanation of many of the most important phænomena in the philosophy of mind, and, in particular, the great phænomena of Memory and Association. The question I refer to is, Whether the mind exerts energies, and is the subject of modifications, of neither of which it is conscious. This is the most general expression of a problem which has hardly been mentioned, far less mooted, in this country; and when it has attracted a passing notice, the supposition of an unconscious action or passion of the mind has been treated as something either unintelligible, or absurd. In Germany, on the contrary, it has not only been canvassed, but the alternative which the philosophers of this country have lightly considered as ridiculous, has been gravely established as a conclusion which the phænomena not only warrant, but enforce. The French philosophers, for a long time, viewed the question in the same light as the British. Condillac, indeed, set the latter the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

338

example;^a but of late a revolution is apparent, and LECT. two recent French psychologists β have marvellously propounded the doctrine, long and generally established in Germany, as something new and unheard of before their own assertion of the paradox.

This question is one not only of importance, but of difficulty; I shall endeavour to make you understand its purport by arguing it upon broader grounds than has hitherto been done, and shall prepare you, by some preliminary information, for its discussion. I shall first of all adduce some proof of the fact, that the mind may, and does, contain far more latent furniture than Three deconsciousness informs us it possesses. To simplify grees of the discussion, I shall distinguish three degrees of latency. this mental latency.

In the first place, it is to be remembered that the The first. riches,-the possessions, of our mind, are not to be measured by its present momentary activities, but by the amount of its acquired habits. I know a science, or language, not merely while I make a temporary use of it, but inasmuch as I can apply it when and how I will. Thus the infinitely greater part of our spiritual treasures, lies always beyond the sphere of consciousness, hid in the obscure recesses of the mind. This is the first degree of latency. In regard to this, there is no difficulty, or dispute; and I only take it into account in order to obviate misconception, and because it affords a transition towards the other two degrees which it conduces to illustrate.

The second degree of latency exists when the mind The second. contains certain systems of knowledge, or certain

339

XVIII.

a Essai sur l'Origine des Connois-8 Cardaillac and Damiron. See sances Humaines, Sect. ii. ch. 1, § below, p. 363.-ED. 4-13. - ED.

habits of action, which it is wholly unconscious of possessing in its ordinary state, but which are revealed to consciousness in certain extraordinary exaltations of its powers. The evidence on this point shows that the mind frequently contains whole systems of knowledge, which, though in our normal state they have faded into absolute oblivion, may, in certain abnormal states, as madness, febrile delirium, somnambulism, catalepsy, &c., flash out into luminous consciousness, and even throw into the shade of unconsciousness those other systems by which they had, for a long period, been eclipsed and even extinguished. For example, there are cases in which the extinct memory of whole languages was suddenly restored, and, what is even still more remarkable, in which the faculty was exhibited of accurately repeating, in known or unknown tongues, passages which were never within the grasp of conscious memory in the normal state. This degree,-this phænomenon, of latency, is one of the most marvellous in the whole compass of philosophy, and the proof of its reality will prepare us for an enlightened consideration, of the third, of which the evidence, though not less certain, is not equally obtrusive. But, however remarkable and important, this phænomenon has been almost wholly neglected by psychologists,^{α} and the cases which I adduce in illustration of its reality have never been previously collected and applied. That in madness, in fever, in somnambulism, and other abnormal states, the mind should betray capacities and extensive systems of knowledge, of which it was at other

a These remarks were probably *Powers*. He collects some very written before the publication of curious instances, see p. 314, 10th Abercrombie, *On the Intellectual* edition.—ED.

times wholly unconscious, is a fact so remarkable that it may well demand the highest evidence to establish its truth. But of such a character is the evidence which I am now to give you. It consists of cases reported by the most intelligent and trustworthy observers,—by observers wholly ignorant of each other's testimony; and the phænomena observed were of so palpable and unambiguous a nature that they could not possibly have been mistaken or misinterpreted.

The first, and least interesting, evidence I shall Evidence adduce, is derived from cases of madness; it is given of madness. by a celebrated American physician, Dr Rush.

"The records of the wit and cunning of madmen," says Dr Rush, "are numerous in every country. Talents for eloquence, poetry, music, and painting, and uncommon ingenuity in several of the mechanical arts, are often evolved in this state of madness. A gentleman, whom I attended in an hospital in the year 1810, often delighted as well as astonished the patients and officers of our hospital by his displays of oratory, in preaching from a table in the hospital yard every Sunday. A female patient of mine who became insane, after parturition, in the year 1807, sang hymns and songs of her own composition during the latter stage of her illness, with a tone of voice so soft and pleasant that I hung upon it with delight every time I visited her. She had never discovered a talent for poetry or music, in any previous part of her life. Two instances of a talent for drawing, evolved by madness, have occurred within my knowledge. And where is the hospital for mad people, in which elegant and completely rigged ships, and curious pieces of machinery, have not been exhibited by persons who never discovered the least turn for a mechanical art.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT.

LECT. pi

previously to their derangement ? Sometimes we observe in mad people an unexpected resuscitation of knowledge; hence we hear them describe past events, and speak in ancient or modern languages, or repeat long and interesting passages from books, none of which, we are sure, they were capable of recollecting in the natural and healthy state of their mind."^a

From cases of fever.

The second class of cases are those of fever; and the first I shall adduce is given on the authority of the patient himself. This is Mr Flint, a very intelligent American clergyman. I take it from his Recollections of the Valley of the Mississippi. He was travelling in the State of Illinois, and suffered the common lot of visitants from other climates, in being taken down with a bilious fever .--- "I am aware," he remarks, "that every sufferer in this way is apt to think his own case extraordinary. My physicians agreed with all who saw me that my case was so. As very few live to record the issue of a sickness like mine, and as you have requested me, and as I have promised, to be particular, I will relate some of the circumstances of this disease. And it is in my view desirable, in the bitter agony of such diseases, that more of the symptoms, sensations, and sufferings should have been recorded than have been ; and that others in similar predicaments may know, that some before them have had sufferings like theirs, and have survived them. I had had a fever before, and had risen, and been dressed every day. But in this, with the first day I was prostrated to infantine weakness, and felt, with its first attack, that it was a thing very different from what I had yet experienced. Paroxysms of derangement occurred the third day, and this was

a Beasley, On the Mind, p. 474.

to me a new state of mind. That state of disease in which partial derangement is mixed with a consciousness generally sound, and a sensibility preternaturally excited, I should suppose the most distressing of all its forms. At the same time that I was unable to recognise my friends. I was informed that my memory was more than ordinarily exact and retentive, and that I repeated whole passages in the different languages which I knew, with entire accuracy. I recited, without losing or misplacing a word, a passage of poetry which I could not so repeat after I recovered my health."

The following more curious case, is given by Lord Case of the Comtesse de Monboddo in his Antient Metaphysics.^a

"It was communicated in a letter from the late Mr Hans Stanley, a gentleman well known both to the learned and political world, who did me the honour to correspond with me upon the subject of my first volume of metaphysics. I will give it in the words of that gentleman. He introduces it, by saying, that it is an extraordinary fact in the history of mind, which he believes stands single, and for which he does not pretend to account. Then he goes on to narrate it:--- 'About six-and-twenty years ago, when I was in France, I had an intimacy in the family of the late Maréchal de Montmorenei de Laval. His son, the Comte de Laval, was married to Mademoiselle de Maupeaux, the daughter of a Lieutenant-General of that name, and the niece of the late Chancellor. This gentleman was killed at the battle of Hastenbeck ; his widow survived him some years, but is since dead.

"' The following fact comes from her own mouth. She has told it me repeatedly. She was a woman of

a Vol. ii. p. 217.

Laval.

LECT. XVIII

perfect veracity, and very good sense. She appealed to her servants and family for the truth. Nor did she, indeed, seem to be sensible that the matter was so extraordinary as it appeared to me. I wrote it down at the time; and I have the memorandum among some of my papers.

"The Comtesse de Laval had been observed, by servants who sate up with her on account of some indisposition, to talk in her sleep a language that none of them understood; nor were they sure, or, indeed, herself able to guess, upon the sounds being repeated to her, whether it was or was not gibberish.

"' Upon her lying in of one of her children, she was attended by a nurse, who was of the province of Brittany, and who immediately knew the meaning of what she said, it being in the idiom of the natives of that country; but she herself, when awake, did not understand a single syllable of what she had uttered in her sleep, upon its being retold her.

"'She was born in that province, and had been nursed in a family where nothing but that language was spoken; so that, in her first infancy, she had known it, and no other; but, when she returned to her parents, she had no opportunity of keeping up the use of it; and, as I have before said, she did not understand a word of *Breton* when awake, though she spoke it in her sleep.

"'I need not say that the Comtesse de Laval never said or imagined that she used any words of the Breton idiom, more than were necessary to express those ideas that are within the compass of a child's knowledge of objects,'" &c.

Case given by Coleridge. A highly interesting case is given by Mr Coleridge in his *Biographia Literaria*.^a

a Vol. i. p. 117, (edit. 1847). Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

"It occurred," says Mr Coleridge, "in a Roman Catholic town in Germany, a year or two before my arrival at Göttingen, and had not then ceased to be a frequent subject of conversation. A young woman of four or five and twenty, who could neither read nor write, was seized with a nervous fever; during which, according to the asseverations of all the priests and monks of the neighbourhood, she became possessed, and, as it appeared, by a very learned devil. She continued incessantly talking Latin, Greek, and Hebrew, in very pompous tones, and with most distinct enunciation. This possession was rendered more probable by the known fact that she was or had been a heretic. Voltaire humorously advises the devil to decline all acquaintance with medical men; and it would have been more to his reputation, if he had taken this advice in the present instance. The case had attracted the particular attention of a young physician, and by his statement many eminent physiologists and psychologists visited the town, and cross-examined the case on the spot. Sheets full of her ravings were taken down from her own mouth, and were found to consist of sentences, coherent and intelligible each for itself, but with little or no connection with each other. Of the Hebrew, a small portion only could be traced to the Bible, the remainder seemed to be in the Rabbinical dialect. All trick or conspiracy was out of the question. Not only had the young woman ever been a harmless, simple creature; but she was evidently labouring under a nervous fever. In the town, in which she had been resident for many years as a servant in different families, no solution presented itself. The young physician, however, determined to trace her past life step by step; for the patient herself was incapable of returning a rational answer. He at length Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

345

LECT. XVIII.

succeeded in discovering the place where her parents had lived : travelled thither, found them dead, but an uncle surviving; and from him learned that the patient had been charitably taken by an old Protestant pastor at nine years old, and had remained with him some years, even till the old man's death. Of this pastor the uncle knew nothing, but that he was a very good man. With great difficulty, and after much search, our young medical philosopher discovered a niece of the pastor's who had lived with him as his housekeeper, and had inherited his effects. She remembered the girl; related that her venerable uncle had been too indulgent, and could not bear to hear the girl scolded; that she was willing to have kept her, but that, after her patron's death, the girl herself refused to stay. Anxious inquiries were then, of course, made concerning the pastor's habits; and the solution of the phænomenon was soon obtained. For it. appeared that it had been the old man's custom, for years, to walk up and down a passage of his house into which the kitchen-door opened, and to read to himself, with a loud voice, out of his favourite books. A considerable number of these were still in the niece's possession. She added, that he was a very learned man, and a great Hebraist. Among the books were found a collection of Rabbinical writings, together with several of the Greek and Latin fathers; and the physician succeeded in identifying so many passages with those taken down at the young woman's bedside, that no doubt could remain in any rational mind concerning the true origin of the impressions made on her nervous system."

What general fact these cases establish.

These cases thus evince the general fact that a mental modification is not proved not to be, merely because consciousness affords us no evidence of its ex- LECT. istence. This general fact being established, I now proceed to consider the question in relation to the degree of third class or degree of latent modifications.-a class in relation to, and on the ground of which alone, it has ever hitherto been argued by philosophers.

The problem, then, in regard to this class is,—Are The prob-there, in ordinary, mental modifications,—*i.e.* mental gard to this activities and passivities, of which we are unconscious, stated. but which manifest their existence by effects of which we are conscious?

I have thus stated the question, because this ap-To be con-sidered in pears to me the most unambiguous form in which it itself, and in its his-can be expressed; and in treating of it, I shall, in the tory. first place, consider it in itself, and, in the second place, in its history. I adopt this order, because the principal difficulties which affect the problem arise from the equivocal and indeterminate language of philosophers. These it is obviously necessary to avoid in the first instance; but having obtained an insight into the question itself, it will be easy, in a subsequent historical narrative, to show how it has been perplexed and darkened by the mode in which it has been handled by philosophers. I request your attention to this matter, as in the solution of this general problem is contained the solution of several important questions, which will arise under our consideration of the special faculties. It is impossible, however, at the present stage of our progress, to exhibit all, or even the strongest part of, the evidence for the alternative which I adopt; and you must bear in mind that there is much more to be said in favour of this opinion than what I am able at present to adduce to you.

In the question proposed, I am not only strongly

latency.

inclined to the affirmative,-nay, I do not hesitate to

maintain, that what we are conscious of is constructed

out of what we are not conscious of,-that our whole



The affirmative of this question maintained, knowledge, in fact, is made up of the unknown and

To the affirmative two objections.

This at first sight may appear not only paradoxical, but contradictory. It may be objected, 1°, How can we know that to exist which lies beyond the one condition of all knowledge,-consciousness ? And 2°, How can knowledge arise out of ignorance,-consciousness out of unconsciousness,-the cognisable out of the incognisable,-that is, how can one opposite proceed out of the other ?

The first objection obviated.

The mental modifications in question manifest their existence through

from the nature of consciousness itself."

In answer to the first objection, - How can we know that of which we are unconscious, seeing that consciousness is the condition of knowledge ?---it is enough to allege, that there are many things which we neither know nor can know in themselves,-that is, in their direct and immediate relation to our faculties of knowledge, but which manifest their existence indirectly through the medium of their effects. This is the case with the mental modifications in question; they are not in themselves revealed to consciousness, but as certain facts of consciousness necessarily suppose them to exist and to exert an influence in the their effects, mental processes, we are thus constrained to admit as modifications of mind, what are not in themselves Established phænomena of consciousness. The truth of this will be apparent, if, before descending to any special illustration, we consider that consciousness cannot exist independently of some peculiar modification of mind; we are only conscious as we are conscious of a determinate state. To be conscious, we must be conscious of some particular perception, or remembrance,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

the incognisable.

or imagination, or feeling, &c.; we have no general consciousness. But as consciousness supposes a special mental modification as its object, it must be remembered, that this modification or state supposes a change,-a transition from some other state or modification. But as the modification must be present, before we have a consciousness of the modification, it is evident that we can have no consciousness of its rise or awakening; for its rise or awakening is also the rise or awakening of consciousness.

But the illustration of this is contained in an answer The second to the second objection which asks,-How can knowledge come out of ignorance,-consciousness out of unconsciousness.-the known out of the unknown.how can one opposite be made up of the other?

In the removal of this objection, the proof of the The special thesis which I support is involved. And without the affirmadealing in any general speculation, I shall at once tive of the general descend to the special evidence which appears to me, adduced. not merely to warrant, but to necessitate, the conclusion, that the sphere of our conscious modifications is only a small circle in the centre of a far wider sphere of action and passion, of which we are only conscious through its effects.

Let us take our first example from Perception,— I. External the perception of external objects, and in that faculty, let us commence with the sense of sight. Now, you 1. The sense either already know, or can be at once informed, what it is that has obtained the name of Minimum Visibile. Minimum You are of course aware, in general, that vision is the result of the rays of light, reflected from the surface of objects to the eye; a greater number of rays is reflected from a larger surface; if the superficial extent of an object, and, consequently, the number of

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

349

the rays which it reflects, be diminished beyond a certain limit, the object becomes invisible; and the minimum visibile is the smallest expanse which can be seen,-which can consciously affect us,-which we can be conscious of seeing. This being understood, it is plain that if we divide this minimum visibile into two parts, neither half can, by itself, be an object of vision, or visual consciousness. They are, severally and apart, to consciousness as zero. But it is evident that each half must, by itself, have produced in us a certain modification, real though unperceived; for as the perceived whole is nothing but the union of the unperceived halves, so the perception,-the perceived affection itself of which we are conscious,---is only the sum of two modifications, each of which severally eludes our consciousness. When we look at a distant forest, we perceive a certain expanse of green. Of this as an affection of our organism, we are clearly and distinctly conscious. Now, the expanse of which we are conscious is evidently made up of parts of which we are not conscious. No leaf, perhaps no tree, may be separately visible. But the greenness of the forest is made up of the greenness of the leaves; that is, the total impression of which we are conscious. is made up of an infinitude of small impressions of which we are not conscious.

2. Sense of Hearing. Minimum Audibile. Take another example, from the sense of hearing. In this sense, there is, in like manner, a *Minimum Audibile*, that is, a sound the least which can come into perception and consciousness. But this *minimum audibile* is made up of parts which severally affect the sense, but of which affections, separately, we are not conscious, though of their joint result we are. We must, therefore, here likewise admit the reality of

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

350

modifications beyond the sphere of consciousness. To take a special example. When we hear the distant. murmur of the sea, what are the constituents of the total perception of which we are conscious? This murmur is a sum made up of parts, and the sum would be as zero if the parts did not count as something. The noise of the sea is the complement of the noise of its several waves :---

ποντίων τε κυμάτων 'Ανήριθμον γέλασμα· α

and if the noise of each wave made no impression on our sense, the noise of the sea, as the result of these impressions, could not be realised. But the noise of each several wave, at the distance we suppose, is inaudible; we must, however, admit that they produce a certain modification, beyond consciousness, on the percipient subject; for this is necessarily involved in the reality of their result. The same is equally the 3. The other case in the other senses : the taste or smcll of a dish. be it agreeable or disagreeable, is composed of a multitude of severally imperceptible effects, which the stimulating particles of the viand cause on different points of the nervous expansion of the gustatory and olfactory organs; and the pleasant or painful feeling of softness or roughness is the result of an infinity of unfelt modifications, which the body handled determines on the countless papillæ of the nerves of touch β

Let us now take an example from another mental II. Associprocess. We have not yet spoken of what is called ideas. the Association of Ideas; and it is enough for our

a Æschylus, Prometheus, 1. 89.- Avant-Propos, p. 8-9, (ed. Raspe); and lib. ii. c. i. § 9 et seq. - ED. ED. B Sce Leibnitz, Nouveaux Essais.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVIII.

present purpose that you should be aware, that one thought suggests another in conformity to certain determinate laws,-laws to which the succession of our whole mental states are subjected. Now it sometimes happens, that we find one thought rising immediately after another in consciousness, but whose consecution we can reduce to no law of association. Now in these cases we can generally discover by an attentive observation, that these two thoughts, though not themselves associated, are each associated with certain other thoughts; so that the whole consecution would have been regular, had these intermediate thoughts come into consciousness, between the two which are not immediately associated. Suppose, for instance, that A, B, C, are three thoughts,-that A and C cannot immediately suggest each other, but that each is associated with B, so that A will naturally suggest B, and B naturally suggest C. Now it may happen, that we are conscious of A, and immediately thereafter of C. How is the anomaly to be explained ? It can only be explained on the principle of latent modifications. A suggests C, not immediately, but through B; but as B, like the half of the minimum visibile or minimum audibile, does not rise into consciousness, we are apt to consider it as non-existent. You are probably aware of the following fact in mechanics. If a number of billiard balls be placed in a straight row and touching each other, and if a ball be made to strike, in the line of the row, the ball at one end of the series, what will happen ? The motion of the impinging ball is not divided among the whole row; this, which we might a priori have expected, does not happen, but the impetus is transmitted through the intermediate balls which remain each in its place, to

the ball at the opposite end of the series, and this ball alone is impelled on. Something like this seems often to occur in the train of thought. One idea mediately suggests another into consciousness,-the suggestion passing through one or more ideas which do not themselves rise into consciousness. The awakening and awakened ideas here correspond to the ball striking and the ball struck off; while the intermediate ideas of which we are unconscious, but which carry on the suggestion, resemble the intermediate balls which remain moveless, but communicate the impulse. An instance of this occurs to me with which I was recently struck. Thinking of Ben Lomond, this thought was immediately followed by the thought of the Prussian system of education. Now, conceivable connection between these two ideas in themselves, there was none. A little reflection, however, explained the anomaly. On my last visit to the mountain, I had met upon its summit a German gentleman, and though I had no consciousness of the intermediate and unawakened links between Ben Lomond and the Prussian schools, they were undoubtedly these,-the German, -Germany, - Prussia, - and, these media being admitted, the connection between the extremes was manifest.

I should perhaps reserve for a future occasion, stewart's noticing Mr Stewart's explanation of this phæno-menon. He admits that a perception or idea may Association pass through the mind without leaving any trace in duced. the memory, and yet serve to introduce other ideas connected with it by the laws of association.^a Mr Stewart can hardly be said to have contemplated the possibility of the existence and agency of mental

a Elements, part i. chap. ii.; Works, vol. ii. pp. 121, 122.

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVIII.

modifications of which we are unconscious. He grants the necessity of interpolating certain intermediate ideas, in order to account for the connection of thought, which could otherwise be explained by no theory of association; and he admits that these intermediate ideas are not known by memory to have actually intervened. So far, there is no difference in the two But now comes the separation. doctrines. Mr Stewart supposes that the intermediate ideas are, for an instant, awakened into consciousness, but, in the same moment, utterly forgot; whereas, the opinion I would prefer, holds that they are efficient without rising into consciousness. Mr Stewart's doctrine on this point is exposed to all the difficulties, and has none of the proofs in its favour, which concur in establishing the other.

Difficulties of Stewart's doctrine.

1. Assumes acts of consciousness of which there is no memory. 2. Violates ness.

tion in favour of latent acts iu

In the first place, to assume the existence of acts of consciousness of which there is no memory beyond the moment of existence, is at least as inconceivable an hypothesis as the other. But, in the second place, the analogy of consciousness, which the other does not. Consciousness supposes memory; and we are only conscious as we are able to connect and contrast one instance of our intellectual existence with another. Whereas, to suppose the existence and efficiency of modifications beyond consciousness, is not at variance with its conditions; for consciousness, though it assures us of the reality of what is within its sphere, says nothing against the 3. Presump- reality of what is without. In the third place, it is demonstrated, that, in perception, there are modificatent acts in association. tions, efficient, though severally imperceptible; why, therefore, in the other faculties, should there not likewise be modifications, efficient, though unapparent?

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVIII.

In the fourth place, there must be some reason for LECT. the assumed fact, that there are perceptions or ideas. of which we are conscious, but of which there is no 4. Stewart's hypothesis memory. Now, the only reason that can possibly be must take refuge in assigned is that the consciousness was too faint to the counter dectrine. afford the condition of memory. But of consciousness, however faint, there must be some memory, however short. But this is at variance with the phænomenon, for the ideas A and C may precede and follow each other without any perceptible interval, and without any the feeblest memory of B. If there be no memory, there could have been no consciousness; and, therefore, Mr Stewart's hypothesis, if strictly interrogated, must, even at last, take refuge in our doctrine: for it can easily be shown, that the degree of memory is directly in proportion to the degree of consciousness, and, consequently, that an absolute negation of memory is an absolute negation of consciousness.

Let us now turn to another class of phænomena, III. Our which in like manner are capable of an adequate Dexterities explanation only on the theory I have advanced ;- and Habits. I mean the operations resulting from our acquired Dexterities and Habits.

To explain these, three theories have been advanced. To explain these three The first regards them as merely mechanical or auto-theories advanced. matic, and thus denying to the mind all active or The first. voluntary intervention, consequently removes them beyond the sphere of consciousness. The second, The second. again, allows to each several motion a separate act of conscious volition; while the third, which I would The third. maintain, holds a medium between these, constitutes the mind the agent, accords to it a conscious volition over the series, but denies to it a consciousness and

The first or mechanical theory, maintained Hartley.

deliberate volition in regard to each separate movement in the series which it determines.

The first of these has been maintained, among others, by two philosophers who, in other points, by Reid and are not frequently at one,-by Reid and Hartley. "Habit," says Reid, "differs from instinct, not in its nature, but in its origin; the latter being natural, the former acquired. Both operate without will or intention, without thought, and therefore may be called mechanical principles."^a In another passage, he expresses himself thus :-- "I conceive it to be a part of our constitution, that what we have been accustomed to do, we acquire not only a facility but a proneness to do on like occasions; so that it requires a particular will or effort to forbear it, but to do it requires very often no will at all." $^{\beta}$

> The same doctrine is laid down still more explicitly by Dr Hartley. "Suppose," says he, "a person, who has a perfectly voluntary command over his fingers, to begin to learn to play on the harpsichord. The first step is to move his fingers, from key to key, with a slow motion, looking at the notes, and exerting an express act of volition in every motion. By degrees the motions cling to one another, and to the impressions of the notes, in the way of association, so often mentioned; the acts of volition growing less and less express all the time, till, at last, they become evanescent and imperceptible. For an expert performer will play from notes, or ideas laid up in the memory, and at the same time carry on a quite different train of thoughts in his mind; or even hold a conversation with another. Whence we conclude, that

a Active Powers, Essay iii., part i. B Ibid. chap. 3; Works, p. 550.

there is no intervention of the idea, or state of mind LECT. called will." Cases of this sort Hartley calls "transitions of voluntary actions into automatic ones."^a

The second theory is maintained against the first by The second Mr Stewart; and I think his refutation valid, though maintained, not his confirmation. "I cannot help thinking it," validly as he says, "more philosophical to suppose that those Stewart. actions which are originally voluntary always continue so, although, in the case of operations which are become habitual in consequence of long practice, we may not be able to recollect every different volition. Thus, in the case of a performer on the harpsichord, I apprehend that there is an act of the will preceding every motion of every finger, although he may not be able to recollect these volitions afterwards, and although he may, during the time of his performance, be employed in carrying on a separate train of thought. For it must be remarked, that the most rapid performer can, when he pleases, play so slowly as to be able to attend to, and to recollect, every separate act of his will in the various movements of his fingers; and he can gradually accelerate the rate of his execution till he is unable to recollect these acts. Now, in this instance, one of two suppositions must be made. The one is, that the operations in the two cases are carried on precisely in the same manner, and differ only in the degree of rapidity; and that when this rapidity exceeds a certain rate, the acts of the will are too momentary to leave any impression on the memory. The other is, that when the rapidity exceeds a certain rate, the operation is taken entirely out of our hands, and is carried on by some unknown power, of the nature of which we are as ignorant as of the cause of the cir-

a Vol. i. pp. 108, 109. [Observations on Man, prop. xxi.-ED.]

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

357

culation of the blood, or of the motion of the intestines. The last supposition seems to me to be somewhat similar to that of a man who should maintain, that although a body projected with a moderate velocity is seen to pass through all the intermediate spaces in moving from one place to another, yet we are not entitled to conclude that this happens when the body moves so quickly as to become invisible to the eye. The former supposition is supported by the analogy of many other facts in our constitution. Of some of these I have already taken notice, and it would be easy to add to the number. An expert accountant, for example, can sum up, almost with a single glance of his eye, a long column of figures. He can tell the sum with unerring certainty, while at the same time he is unable to recollect any one of the figures of which that sum is composed; and yet nobody doubts that each of these figures has passed through his mind, or supposes that when the rapidity of the process becomes so great that he is unable to recollect the various steps of it, he obtains the result by a sort of inspiration. This last supposition would be perfectly analogous to Dr Hartley's doctrine concerning the nature of our habitual exertions.

"The only plausible objection which, I think, can be offered to the principles I have endeavoured to establish on this subject, is founded on the astonishing and almost incredible rapidity they necessarily suppose in our intellectual operations. When a person, for example, reads aloud, there must, according to this doctrine, be a separate volition preceding the articulation of every letter; and it has been found by actual trial, that it is possible to pronounce about two thousand letters in a minute. Is it reasonable to suppose

that the mind is capable of so many different acts in an interval of time so very inconsiderable?

"With respect to this objection it may be observed, in the first place, that all arguments against the foregoing doctrine with respect to our habitual exertions, in so far as they are founded on the inconceivable rapidity which they suppose in our intellectual operations, apply equally to the common doctrine concerning our perception of distance by the eye. But this is not all. To what does the supposition amount which is considered as so incredible? Only to this, that the mind is so formed as to be able to carry on certain intellectual processes in intervals of time too short to be estimated by our faculties; a supposition which, so far from being extravagant, is supported by the analogy of many of our most certain conclusions in natural philosophy. The discoveries made by the microscope have laid open to our senses a world of wonders, the existence of which hardly any man would have admitted upon inferior evidence; and have gradually prepared the way for those physical speculations, which explain some of the most extraordinary phænomena of nature by means of modifications of matter far too subtile for the examination of our organs. Why, then, should it be considered as unphilosophical, after having demonstrated the existence of various intellectual processes which escape our attention in consequence of their rapidity, to carry the supposition a little farther, in order to bring under the known laws of the human constitution a class of mental operations which must otherwise remain perfectly inexplicable? Surely our ideas of time are merely relative, as well as our ideas of extension; nor is there any good reason for doubting that, if our powers of attention and me-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XVIII.

mory were more perfect than they are, so as to give us the same advantage in examining rapid events, which the microscope gives for examining minute portions of extension, they would enlarge our views with respect to the intellectual world, no less than that instrument has with respect to the material."^a

The principle of Stewart's theory alto involve contradictions.

But here specially refuted.

This doctrine of Mr Stewart, -that our acts of knowledge are made up of an infinite number of acts ready shown of attention, that is, of various acts of concentrated consciousness, there being required a separate act of attention for every minimum possible of knowledge,-I have already shown you, by various examples, to involve contradictions. In the present instance, its admission would constrain our assent to the most monstrous conclusions. Take the case of a person reading. Now, all of you must have experienced, if ever under the necessity of reading aloud, that, if the matter be uninteresting, your thoughts, while you are going on in the performance of your task, are wholly abstracted from the book and its subject, and you are perhaps deeply occupied in a train of serious meditation. Here the process of reading is performed without interruption, and with the most punctual accuracy; and, at the same time, the process of meditation is carried on without distraction or fatigue. Now, this, on Mr Stewart's doctrine, would seem impossible, for what does his theory suppose? It supposes that separate acts of concentrated consciousness or attention, are bestowed on each least movement in either process. But be the velocity of the mental operations what it may, it is impossible to conceive how transitions between such contrary operations could be kept up for a continuance without fatigue and distraction, even if

a Elements, vol. i. chap. ii.; Works, vol. ii. p. 127-131.

we throw out of account the fact that the acts of attention to be effectual must be simultaneous, which on Mr Stewart's theory is not allowed.

We could easily give examples of far more complex operations; but this, with what has been previously said. I deem sufficient to show, that we must either resort to the first theory, which, as nothing but the assumption of an occult and incomprehensible principle, in fact explains nothing, or adopt the theory that there are acts of mind so rapid and minute as to elude the ken of consciousness.

I shall now say something of the history of this History of opinion. It is a curious fact that Locke, in the passage of uncon-I read to you a few days ago, attributes this opinion tal modito the Cartesians, and he thinks it was employed by them to support their doctrine of the ceaseless activity of mind." In this, as in many other points of the Cartesian philosophy, he is, however, wholly wrong. On the contrary, the Cartesians made consciousness the essence of thought; β and their assertion that the mind always thinks, is, in their language, precisely tantamount to the assertion that the mind is always conscious.

But what was not maintained by the Cartesians, Leibnitz and even in opposition to their doctrine, was advanced proclaim by Leibnitz.^{γ} To this great philosopher belongs the trine. honour of having originated this opinion, and of having supplied some of the strongest arguments in its support. He was, however, unfortunate in the terms which he employed to propound his doctrine. The latent

a Essay on Human Understanding. book ii. c. 1, §§ 18, 19. The Cartesians are intended, though not expressly mentioned.-ED.

B Descartes, Principia, pars i. §

the doctrine scious menfications.

9. See above, p. 313.-ED.

y Nouveaux Essais, ii. 1; Monadologie, § 14. Principes de la Nature et de la Grace, § 4.- ED.

LECT XVIII.

Unfortunate in the terms he employed to designate it.

Fate of the doctrine in France and Britain.

Condillac.

The doctrine of Leibnitz adopted in Germany.

lac.

modifications,-the unconscious activities of mind, he denominated obscure ideas, obscure representations, perceptions without apperception or consciousness, insensible perceptions, &c. In this he violated the universal usage of language. For perception, and idea, and representation, all properly involve the notion of consciousness; it being, in fact, contradictory to speak of a representation not really represented,—a perception not really perceived, -an actual idea of whose presence we are not aware.

The close affinity of mental modifications with perceptions, ideas, representations, and the consequent commutation of these terms, have been undoubtedly the reasons why the Leibnitian doctrine was not more generally adopted, and why, in France and in Britain, succeeding philosophers have almost admitted as a self-evident truth, that there can be no modification of mind devoid of consciousness. As to any refutation of the Leibnitian doctrine, I know of none. Condillac is, indeed, the only psychologist who can be said to have formally proposed the question. He, like Mr Stewart, attempts to explain why it can be supposed that the mind has modifications of which we are not conscious, by asserting that we are in truth conscious of the modification, but that it is immediately forgotten.^a In Germany, the doctrine of Leibnitz was almost universally adopted. I am not aware of a philosopher of the least note, by whom it has been rejected. In France, it has, I see, lately De Cardail-been broached by M. de Cardaillac,^{β} as a theory of his own, and this, his originality, is marvellously

> a Essai sur l'Origine des Connoisβ Etudes Elémentaires de Philososances Humaines, sect. ii. c. 1, § 4- phie, t. ii. pp. 138, 139. 13.—ED.

admitted by authors, like M. Damiron," whom we might reasonably expect to have been better informed. It is hardly worth adding, that as the doctrine is Damiron. not new, so nothing new has been contributed to its illustration. To British psychologists, the opinion would hardly seem to have been known; by none, certainly, is it seriously considered.^{β}

a [Ess. sur l'Hist. de Phil., Supplément, p. 460 et seq., 5th edition.] [In the second edition of Damiron's Psychologie (t. i. p. 188), Leibnitz is expressly cited. In the first edition, however, though the doctrine of latency is stated, (t. i. p. 190), there is no reference to Leibnitz.-ED.]

β Qualified exception; Kames' Essays on the Principles of Morality and Natural Religion, part ii. ess. iv., On Matter and Spirit, p. 289 to end, (3d edit.) [With Kames compare F. A. Carus, Psychologie, ii. p. 185, (edit. 1808). Tucker, Light of Nature, i. c. 10, § 4. Tralles, De Animæ existentis Immaterialitate et Immortalitate, p. 39 et seq. On the general subject of acts of mind beyoud the sphere of consciousness,

compare Kant, Anthropologie, § 5. Reinhold, Theorie des menschlichen Erkenntnissvermögens und Metaphysik, i. p. 279 et seq. Fries, Anthropologie, i. p. 77, (edit. 1820). Schulze, Philosophische Wissenschaften, i. p. 16-17. H. Schmid, Versuch einer Metaphysik der inneren Natur, pp. 23, 232 et seq. Damiron, Cours de Philosophie, i. p. 190, (edit. 1834). Maass, Einbildungskraft, § 24, p. 65 et seq., (edit. 1797). Sulzer, Vermischte Schriften, i. pp. 99 et seq., 109, (edit. 1808). Denzinger, Institutiones Logicæ, § 260, t. i. p. 226, (ed. 1824). Beneke, Lehrbuch der Psychologie, § 96 et seq., p. 72, (edit. 1833). Platner, Philosophische Aphorismen, i. p. 70.] [See further, Reid's Works, (completed edition), p. 938-939.-ED.]

LECT. XVIII.

÷

LECTURE XIX.

CONSCIOUSNESS. --- GENERAL PHÆNOMENA. - DIFFICUL-TIES AND FACILITIES OF PSYCHOLOGICAL STUDY.

LECT. XIX.

Recapitulation.

Are there,

fications of

mind, concurring to

tion of

manifest effects?

In our last Lecture we were occupied with the last and principal part of the question, Are there mental agencies beyond the sphere of Consciousness ?--- in other words. Are there modifications of mind unknown in themselves, but the existence of which we must admit as the necessary causes of known effects? In dealing with this question, I showed, first of all, that there is indisputable evidence for the general fact, that even extensive systems of knowledge may, in our ordinary state, lie latent in the mind, beyond the sphere of consciousness and will; but which, in certain extraordinary states of organism, may again come forward into light, and even engross the mind to the exclusion of its everyday possessions. The establishment of the fact, that there are in the mind latent capacities, latent riches, which may occasionally exert a powerful and obtrusive agency, prepared us for the question, Are there, in ordinary, latent modifilatent modi- cations of mind, - agencies unknown themselves as phænomena, but secretly concurring to the production of manifest effects ? This problem, I endeavoured the producto show you, must be answered in the affirmative. T took for the medium of proof various operations of mind, analysed these, and found as a residuum a

certain constituent beyond the sphere of conscious-ness, and the reality of which cannot be disallowed, as necessary for the realisation of the allowed effect. My first examples were taken from the faculty of Proof from External Perception. I showed you, in relation to all of External the senses, that there is an ultimate perceptible minimum; that is, that there is no consciousness, no perception, of the modification determined by its object in any sense, unless that object determines in the sense a certain quantum of excitement. Now, this quantum, though the minimum that can be consciously perceived, is still a whole composed even of an infinity of lesser parts. Conceiving it, however, only divided into two, each of these halves is unperceived, - neither is an object of consciousness; the whole is a percept made up of the unperceived halves. The halves, must, however, have each produced its effect towards the perception of the whole; and, therefore, the smallest modification of which consciousness can take account, necessarily supposes, as its constituents, smaller modifications, real, but eluding the ken of consciousness. Could we magnify the discerning power of consciousness, as we can magnify the power of vision by the microscope, we might enable consciousness to extend its cognisance to modifications twice, ten times, ten thousand times, less, than it is now competent to apprehend; but still there must be some limit. And as every mental modification is a quantity, and as no quantity can be conceived not divisible ad infinitum, we must, even on this hypothesis, allow (unless we assert that the ken of consciousness is also infinite), that there are modifications of mind unknown in themselves, but the necessary coefficients of known results. On the

LECT. XIX.

The fact of the existence of latent ageucies in one faculty, a presumption that they exert an influence in all.

of Ideas. Association sometimes apparently violated.

ground of perception, it is thus demonstratively proved that latent agencies,-modifications of which we are unconscious,-must be admitted as a groundwork of the Phænomenology of Mind.

The fact of the existence of such latent agencies being proved in reference to one faculty, the presumption is established that they exert an influence in all. And this presumption holds, even if, in regard to some others, we should be unable to demonstrate, in so direct and exclusive a manner, the absolute necessity of their admission. This is shown in regard to Association the Association of Ideas. In order to explain this, I The laws of stated to you that the laws, which govern the train or consecution of thought, are sometimes apparently violated; and that philosophers are perforce obliged. in order to explain the seeming anomaly, to interpolate, hypothetically, between the ostensibly suggesting and the ostensibly suggested thought, certain connecting links of which we have no knowledge. Now, the necessity of such interpolation being admitted, as admitted it must be, the question arises, How have these connecting thoughts, the reality of which is supposed, escaped our cognisance? In explanation of this, there can possibly be only two theories. It may be said, in the first place, that these intermediate ideas did rise into consciousness, operated their suggestion, and were then instantaneously forgotten. It may be said, in the second place, that these intermediate ideas never did rise into consciousness, but, remaining latent themselves, still served to awaken into consciousness the thought, and thus explain its suggestion.

The former of these theories, which is the only one whose possibility is contemplated in this country, I endeavoured to show you ought not to be admitted,

being obnoxious to the most insurmountable objections. It violates the whole analogy of consciousness; and must at last found upon a reason which would identify it with the second theory. At the same time it violates the law of philosophising, called the law of Parcimony, which prescribes that a greater number of causes are not to be assumed than are necessary of latent agencies, be demonstratively proved by the agencies. phænomena of perception, which they alone are competent to explain, why postulate a second unknown cause to account for the phænomena of association, when these can be better explained by the one cause, which the phænomena of perception compel us to admit ?

The fact of latent agencies being once established, and shown to be applicable, as a principle of psychological solution, I showed you, by other examples, that it enables us to account, in an easy and satisfactory manner, for some of the most perplexing phænomena of mind. In particular, I did this by reference The same to our Acquired Dexterities and Habits. In these explains the consecution of the various operations is extremely tions of our rapid; but it is allowed on all hands that, though we Dexterities are conscious of the series of operations,—that is, of the mental state which they conjunctly constitute,-of the several operations themselves as acts of volition we are wholly incognisant. Now, this incognisance may be explained, as I stated to you, on three possible hypotheses. In the first place, we may say that the whole process is effected without either volition, or even any action of the thinking principle, it being merely automatic or mechanical. The incognisance to be

LECT. XIX.

LECT. XIX.

explained is thus involved in this hypothesis. In the second place, it may be said that each individual act of which the process is made up, is not only an act of mental agency, but a conscious act of volition; but that, there being no memory of these acts, they, consequently, are unknown to us when past. In the third place, it may be said that each individual act of the process is an act of mental agency, but not of consciousness and separate volition. The reason of The mecha- the incognisance is thus apparent. The first opinion is nical theory. unphilosophical, because, in the first place, it assumes an occult, an incomprehensible principle, to enable us to comprehend the effect. In the second place, admitting the agency of the mind in accomplishing the series of movements before the habit or dexterity is formed, it afterwards takes it out of the hands of the mind, in order to bestow it upon another agent. This hypothesis thus violates the two great laws of philosophising, - to assume no occult principle without necessity,-to assume no second principle without necessity. This doctrine was held by Reid, Hartley, and others. The second hypothesis, which Mr Stewart adopts,

The theory of consciousness without Memory.

ness and

the direct

other.

is at once complex and contradictory. It supposes a consciousness and no memory. In the first place, in this it is altogether hypothetical,---it cannot advance a shadow of proof in support of the fact which it assumes, that an act of consciousness does or can take place without any, the least, continuance in memory. In the second place, this assumption is disproved by the whole analogy of our intellectual nature. It is a Consciouslaw of mind, that the intensity of the present conscious-Memory in ness determines the vivacity of the future memory. ratio of each Memory and consciousness are thus in the direct ratio

of each other. On the one hand, looking from cause to effect,-vivid consciousness, long memory; faint consciousness, short memory; no consciousness, no memory : and, on the other, looking from effect to cause, -long memory, vivid consciousness; short memory, faint consciousness; no memory, no consciousness. Thus, the hypothesis which postulates consciousness without memory, violates the fundamental laws of our intellectual being. But, in the third place, this hypothesis is not only a psychological solecism, it is, likewise, a psychological pleonasm; it is at once illegitimate and superfluous. As we must admit, from the analogy of perception, that efficient modifications may exist without any consciousness of their existence, and as this admission affords a solution of the present problem, the hypothesis in question here again violates the law of parcimony, by assuming without necessity a plurality of principles to account for what one more easily suffices.

The third hypothesis, then,—that which employs The theory the single principle of latent agencies to account for shown to so numerous a class of mental phænomena,—how does explain the it explain the phænomenon under consideration? No- ance with thing can be more simple and analogical than its solu-As-to take an example from vision-in the tion. external perception of a stationary object, a certain space,-an expanse of surface, is necessary to the minimum visibile, in other words, an object of sight cannot come into consciousness unless it be of a certain size; in like manner, in the internal perception of a series of mental operations, a certain time,-a certain duration, is necessary for the smallest section of continuous energy to which consciousness is competent. Some minimum of time must be admitted as the con-

VOL. I.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

in accordanalogy.

LECT. XIX.

LECT. XIX. dition of consciousness; and as time is divisible ad infinitum, whatever minimum be taken, there must be admitted to be, beyond the cognisance of consciousness, intervals of time, in which, if mental agencies be performed, these will be latent to consciousness. If we suppose that the minimum of time to which consciousness can descend, be an interval called six, and that six different movements be performed in this interval, these, it is evident, will appear to consciousness as a simple indivisible point of modified time; precisely as the minimum visibile appears as an indivisible point of modified space. And, as in the extended parts of the minimum visibile, each must determine a certain modification on the percipient subject, seeing that the effect of the whole is only the conjoined effect of its parts; in like manner, the protended parts of each conscious instant,--of each distinguishable minimum of time,-though themselves beyond the ken of consciousness, must contribute to give the character to the whole mental state which that instant, that minimum comprises. This being understood, it is easy to see how we lose the consciousness of the several acts, in the rapid succession of many of our habits and dexterities. At first, and before the habit is acquired, every act is slow, and we are conscious of the effort of deliberation, choice, and volition; by degrees the mind proceeds with less vacillation and uncertainty; at length the acts become secure and precise : in proportion as this takes place, the velocity of the procedure is increased, and as this acceleration rises, the individual acts drop one by one from consciousness, as we lose the leaves in retiring further and further from the tree; and, at last, we are only aware of the general state which results from these uncon-

scious operations, as we can at last only perceive the greenness which results from the unperceived leaves.

I have thus endeavoured to recapitulate and vary the illustration of this important principle. At present, I can only attempt to offer you such evidence of the fact as lies close to the surface. When we come to a discussion of the special faculties, you will find that this principle affords an explanation of many interesting phænomena, and from them receives confirmation in return.

Before terminating the consideration of the general Three Prinphænomena of consciousness, there are Three Principal tobe noticed Facts which it would be improper altogether to pass tion with over without notice, but the full discussion of which phenomena I reserve for that part of the course which is conver-ness. sant with Metaphysic Proper, and when we come to establish upon their foundation our conclusions in regard to the Immateriality and Immortality of Mind; -I mean the fact of our Mental Existence or Substantiality, the fact of our Mental Unity or Individuality, and the fact of our Mental Identity or Personality. In regard to these three facts, I shall, at present, only attempt to give you a very summary view of what place they naturally occupy in our psychological system.

The first of these,-the fact of our own Existence, 1. Self-Ex--I have already incidentally touched on, in giving you a view of the various possible modes in which the fact of the Duality of Consciousness may be conditionally accepted.

The various modifications of which the thinking subject, Ego, is conscious, are accompanied with the feeling, or intuition, or belief,-or by whatever name

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECT. XIX.

LECT. XIX.

Descartes' Cogito ergo

sum.

the conviction may be called,—that I, the thinking subject, exist. This feeling has been called by philosophers the apperception or consciousness of our own existence, but as it is a simple and ultimate fact of consciousness, though it be clearly given, it cannot be defined or described. And for the same reason that it cannot be defined, it cannot be deduced or demonstrated; and the apparent enthymeme of Descartes,— *Cogito ergo sum*,—if really intended for an inference,

----if really intended to be more than a simple enunci-ation of the proposition, that the fact of our existence is given in the fact of our consciousness, is either tautological, or false. Tautological, because nothing is contained in the conclusion which was not explicitly given in the premise,—the premise, Cogito, I think, being only a grammatical equation of Ego sum cogitans, I am, or exist, thinking. False, inasmuch as there would, in the first place, be postulated the reality of thought as a quality or modification, and then, from the fact of this modification, inferred the fact of existence, and of the existence of a subject; whereas it is self-evident, that in the very possibility of a quality or modification, is supposed the reality of existence, and of an existing subject. Philosophers, in general, among whom may be particularly mentioned Locke and Leibnitz, have accordingly found the evidence in a clear and immediate belief in the simple datum of consciousness; and that this was likewise the opinion of Descartes himself, it would not be difficult to show."

α That Descartes did not intend to prove the fact of existence from that of thought, but to state that personal existence consists in consciousness, is shown in M. Cousin's Dissertation, Sur le vrai sens du cogito ergo sum; printed in the earlier editions of the Fragments Philosophiques, and in vol. i. p. 27 of the collected edition of his works.—ED.
The second fact, ---our Mental Unity or Individuality, LECT. -is given with equal evidence as the first. As clearly as I am conscious of existing, so clearly am I conscious ² Mental Unity. at every moment of my existence, (and never more so than when the most heterogeneous mental modifications are in a state of rapid succession,) that the conscious Ego is not itself a mere modification, nor a series of modifications of any other subject, but that it is itself something different from all its modifications, and a self-subsistent entity. This feeling, belief, datum, or fact of our mental individuality or unity, is not more capable of explanation than the feeling or The truth of the testifact of our existence, which it indeed always involves. mony of The fact of the deliverance of consciousness to our ness to our mental unity has, of course, never been doubted; but unity, philosophers have been found to doubt its truth. According to Hume," our thinking Ego is nothing but Hume. a bundle of individual impressions and ideas, out of whose union in the imagination, the notion of a whole, as of a subject of that which is felt and thought, is formed. According to Kant,^β it cannot be properly Kant. determined whether we exist as substance or as accident, because the datum of individuality is a condition of the possibility of our having thoughts and feelings, ---in other words, of the possibility of consciousness; and, therefore, although consciousness gives,-cannot but give, the phænomenon of individuality, it does not follow that this phænomenon may not be only a necessary illusion. An articulate refutation of these opinions I cannot attempt at present; but their refutation is, in fact, involved in their statement. In regard to Hume, his sceptical conclusion is only an

a Treatise of Human Nature, part β Kritik der reinen Vernunft, iv., sect. v., vi.-ED. Trans. Dial. b. ii. c. 1.-ED.

LECT. XIX. inference from the premises of the dogmatical philosophers, who founded their systems on a violation or distortion of the facts of consciousness. His conclusion is, therefore, refuted in the refutation of their premises, which is accomplished in the simple exposition that they at once found on, and deny, the veracity of con-And by this objection the doctrine of Kant sciousness. is overset. For if he attempts to philosophise, he must assert the possibility of philosophy. But the possibility of philosophy supposes the veracity of consciousness as to the contents of its testimony; therefore, in disputing the testimony of consciousness to our mental unity and substantiality, Kant disputes the possibility of philosophy, and, consequently, reduces his own attempts at philosophising to absurdity.

3. Mental Identity.

The third datum under consideration is the Identity of Mind or Person. This consists in the assurance we have, from consciousness, that our thinking Ego, notwithstanding the ceaseless changes of state or modification, of which it is the subject, is essentially the same thing,-the same person, at every period of its existence. On this subject, laying out of account certain subordinate differences in the mode of stating the fact, philosophers, in general, are agreed. Locke,^{α} in the Essay on the Human Understanding; Leibnitz,^{β} in the *Nouveaux Essais*; Butler, γ and Reid, δ are particularly worthy of attention. In regard to this deliverance of consciousness, the truth of which is of vital importance, affording, as it does, the basis of moral responsibility and hope of immortality,-it is, like the last, denied by Kant to afford a valid ground of scientific certainty.

a Book ii. c. 27, especially § 9 et Identity.-ED.

 seq.—ED.
 δ Intell. Powers, Essay iii. cc. 4,

 β Liv. ii. c. 27.—ED.
 6; Works, pp. 334-46, 350-53.—

 γ Analogy, Diss. i. Of Personal
 ED.

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

He maintains that there is no cogent proof of the substantial permanence of our thinking self, because the feeling of identity is only the condition under which thought is possible. Kant's doubt in regard to the present fact is refuted in the same manner as his doubt in regard to the preceding, and there are also a number of special grounds on which it can be shown to be untenable. But of these at another time.

We have now terminated the consideration of Consciousness as the general faculty of thought, and as the only instrument and only source of Philosophy. But before proceeding to treat of the Special Faculties, The pecu-liar difficulit may be proper here to premise some observations in ties and farelation to the peculiar Difficulties and peculiar Facili- psychologi-ties which we may expect in the application of con-gation. sciousness to the study of its own phænomena. I shall first speak of the difficulties.

The first difficulty in psychological observation arises I. Difficulfrom this, that the conscious mind is at once the ob-1. The conserving subject and the object observed. What are the at once the consequences of this? In the first place, the mental subject and energy, instead of being concentrated, is divided, and observed. divided in two divergent directions. The state of mind observed, and the act of mind observing, are mutually in an inverse ratio; each tends to annihilate the other. Is the state to be observed intense, all reflex observation is rendered impossible; the mind cannot view as a spectator, it is wholly occupied as an agent or patient. On the other hand, exactly in proportion as the mind concentrates its force in the act of reflective observation, in the same proportion must the direct phænomenon lose in vivacity, and consequently, in the precision and individuality of its

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

ties.

LECT. XIX.

LECT. XIX. character. This difficulty is manifestly insuperable in those states of mind, which, of their very nature, as suppressing consciousness, exclude all contemporaneous and voluntary observation, as in sleep and fainting. In states like dreaming, which allow at least of a mediate, but, therefore, only of an imperfect, observation, through recollection, it is not altogether exclusive. In all states of strong mental emotion, the passion is itself to a certain extent a negation of the tranquillity requisite for observation, so that we are thus impaled on the awkward dilemma,--either we possess the necessary tranquillity for observation, with little or nothing to observe, or there is something to observe, but we have not the necessary tranquillity for observation. All this is completely opposite in our observation of the external world. There the objects lie always ready for our inspection; and we have only to open our eyes and guard ourselves from the use of hypotheses and green spectacles, to carry our observations to an easy and successful termination.^a

2. Want of mutual cooperation. In the second place, in the study of external nature, several observers may associate themselves in the pursuit; and it is well known how co-operation and mutual sympathy preclude tedium and languor, and brace up the faculties to their highest vigour. Hence the old proverb, *unus homo*, *nullus homo*. "As iron," says Solomon, "sharpeneth iron, so a man sharpeneth the understanding of his friend."^{β} "In my opinion," says Plato,^{γ} "it is well expressed by Homer,

"By mutual confidence and mutual aid Great deeds are done, and great discoveries made;"

a [Cf. Biunde, Versuch einer systematischen Behandlung der empirischen Psychologie, i. p. 55.] β Proverbs, xxvii. 17. The authorised version is countenance.—ED. γ Protagoras, p. 348.—ED.

for if we labour in company, we are always more prompt and capable for the investigation of any hidden matter. But if a man works out anything by solitary meditation, he forthwith goes about to find some one with whom he may commune, nor does he think his discovery assured until confirmed by the acquiescence of others." Aristotle," in like manner, referring to the same passage of Homer, gives the same solution. "Social operation," he says, "renders us more energetic both in thought and action ;" a sentiment which is beautifully illustrated by $Ovid^{\beta}$

> " Scilicet ingeniis aliqua est concordia junctis, Et servat studii fædera quisque sui. Utque meis numeris tua dat facundia nervos, Sic venit a nobis in tua verba nitor."

Of this advantage the student of Mind is in a great measure deprived. He who would study the internal world must isolate himself in the solitude of his own thought; and for man, who, as Aristotle observes, γ is more social by nature than any bee or ant, this isolation is not only painful in itself, but, in place of strengthening his powers, tends to rob them of what maintains their vigour, and stimulates their exertion.

In the third place, "In the study of the material 3. No fact universe, it is not necessary that each observer should of conscious-ness can be himself make every observation. The phænomena accepted at second. are here so palpable and so easily described, that the hand. experience of one observer suffices to make the facts which he has witnessed intelligible and credible to all. In point of fact, our knowledge of the external world is taken chiefly upon trust. The phænomena of the

a Eth. Nic. viii. 1. Cf. ibid., ix. ED. 9.—ED. y Polit., i. 2.-ED. β Epist. ex Ponto, ii. v. 59, 69,-

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

377

LECT. XIX. internal world, on the contrary, are not thus capable of being described; all that the first observer can do is to lead others to repeat his experience: in the science of mind, we can believe nothing upon authority, take nothing upon trust. In the physical sciences, a fact viewed in different aspects and in different circumstances, by one or more observers of acknowledged sagacity and good faith, is not only comprehended as clearly by those who have not seen it for themselves, but is also admitted without hesitation, independently of all personal verification. Instruction thus suffices to make it understood, and the authority of the testimony carries with it a certainty which almost precludes the possibility of doubt.

"But this is not the case in the philosophy of mind. On the contrary, we can here neither understand nor believe at second-hand. Testimony can impose nothing on its own authority; and instruction is only instruction when it enables us to teach ourselves. A fact of consciousness, however well observed, however clearly expressed, and however great may be our confidence in its observer, is for us as nothing, until, by an experience of our own, we have observed and recognised it ourselves. Till this be done we cannot comprehend what it means, far less admit it to be Hence it follows that, in philosophy proper, true. instruction is limited to an indication of the position in which the pupil ought to place himself, in order by his own observation to verify for himself the facts which his instructor pronounces true." "

In the fourth place, the phænomena of consciousness are not arrested during observation,—they are in a ceaseless and rapid flow; each state of mind is in-

a Cardaillac, Etudes de Philosophie, i. p. 6.

divisible, but for a moment, and there are not two states or two moments of whose precise identity we can be assured. Thus, before we can observe a modi- 4. Phanofication, it is already altered; nay, the very intention conscious-ness not of observing it, suffices for the change. It hence re- arrested during obsults that the phænomenon can only be studied through servation, but only to its reminiscence; but memory reproduces it often be studied through very imperfectly, and always in lower vivacity and memory. precision. The objects of the external world, on the other hand, either remain unaltered during our observation, or can be renewed without change; and we can leave off at will and recommence our investigation without detriment to its result."

In the fifth place, "The phænomena of the mental 5. Presented world are not, like those of the material, placed by cession. the side of each other in space. They want that form by which external objects attract and fetter our attention; they appear only in rows on the thread of time, occupying their fleeting moment, and then vanishing into oblivion; whereas, external objects stand before us steadfast, and distinct, and simultaneous, in all the life and emphasis of extension, figure, and colour." β

In the sixth place, the perceptions of the different 6. Naturally qualities of external objects are decisively discrimi- each other, nated by different corporeal organs, so that colour, presented in sound, solidity, odour, flavour, are, in the sensations complexity. themselves, contrasted, without the possibility of confusion. In an individual sense, on the contrary, it is not always easy to draw the line of separation between its perceptions, as these are continually running into each other. Thus red and yellow are, in their

379

LECT. XIX

B [Biunde, Psychologie, vol. i. p. a [Ancillon, Nouv. Mélanges, t. ii. p. 102. Cardaillac, Etudes de Phi- 56,] los., i. pp. 3, 4.]

LECT. XIX.

extreme points, easily distinguished, but the transition point from one to the other is not precisely determined. Now, in our internal observation, the mental phænomena cannot be discriminated like the perceptions of one sense from the perceptions of another, but only like the perceptions of the same. Thus the phænomenon of feeling,-of pleasure or pain, and the phænomenon of desire, are, when considered in their remoter divergent aspects, manifestly marked out and contradistinguished as different original modifications; whereas, when viewed on their approximating side, they are seen to slide so insensibly into each other, that it becomes impossible to draw between them any accurate line of demarcation. Thus the various qualities of our internal life can be alone discriminated by a mental process called Abstraction; and abstraction is exposed to many liabilities of error. Nay, the various mental operations do not present themselves distinct and separate; they are all bound up in the same unity of action; and as they are only possible through each other, they cannot, even in thought, be dealt with as isolated and apart. In the perception of an external object, the qualities are, indeed, likewise presented by the different senses in connection, as, for example, vinegar is at once seen as yellow, felt as liquid, tasted as sour, and so on; nevertheless, the qualities easily allow themselves in abstraction to be viewed as really separable, because they are all the properties of an extended and divisible body; whereas in the mind, thoughts, feelings, desires do not stand separate, though in juxtaposition, but every mental act contains at once all these qualities, as the constituents of its indivisible simplicity.

In the seventh place, the act of reflection on our

internal modifications is not accompanied with that frequent and varied sentiment of pleasure, which we . experience from the impression of external things. 7. The act of reflection Self-observation costs us a greater effort, and has less not accomexcitement than the contemplation of the material the frequent world; and the higher and more refined gratification sentiment of world; and the higher and more renned gratilication pleasure, which it supplies when its habit has been once formed, when experience cannot be conceived by those who have not as yet from the been trained to its enjoyment." "The first part of our of external life is fled before we possess the capacity of reflective observation; while the impressions which, from earliest infancy, we receive from material objects, the wants of our animal nature, and the prior development of our external senses, all contribute to concentrate. even from the first breath of life, our attention on the world without. The second passes without our caring to observe ourselves. The outer life is too agreeable to allow the soul to tear itself from its gratifications, and return frequently upon itself. And at the period when the material world has at length palled upon the senses, when the taste and the desire of reflection gradually become predominant, we then find ourselves, in a certain sort, already made up, and it is impossible for us to resume our life from its commencement, and to discover how we have become what we now are."^{β} "Hitherto external objects have exclusively riveted our attention; our organs have acquired the flexibility requisite for this peculiar kind of observation; we have learned the method, acquired the habit, and feel the pleasure which results from performing what we perform with ease. But let us recoil upon ourselves; the scene changes; the charm is gone; diffi-

B [Ancillon, Nouv. Mélanges, t.

and varied

a [Biunde, Psychologie, i. p. 56.] ii. p. 103.]

LECT. XIX. culties accumulate, all that is done is done irksomely and with effort; in a word, everything within repels, everything without attracts; we reach the age of manhood without being taught another lesson than reading what takes place without and around us, whilst we possess neither the habit nor the method of studying the volume of our own thoughts."" "For a long time, we are too absorbed in life to be able to detach ourselves from it in thought; and when the desires and the feelings are at length weakened or tranquillised,-when we are at length restored to ourselves, we can no longer judge of the preceding state, because we can no longer reproduce or replace it. Thus it is that our life, in a philosophical sense, runs like water through our fingers. We are carried along, lost, whelmed in our life; we live, but rarely see ourselves to live.

"The reflective Ego, which distinguishes self from its transitory modifications, and which separates the spectator from the spectacle of life, which it is continually representing to itself, is never developed in the majority of mankind at all, and even in the thoughtful and reflective few, it is formed only at a mature period, and is even then only in activity by starts and at intervals."^{β}

II. The facilities of philosophical study. But Philosophy has not only peculiar difficulties, it has also peculiar facilities. There is indeed only one external condition on which it is dependent, and that is language; and when, in the progress of civilisation, a language is once formed of a copiousness and pliability capable of embodying its abstractions without figurative ambiguity, then a genuine philosophy

α [Cardaillac, Etudes de Philoso, phie, t. i. p. 3.] β [Ancillon, Nouv. Mélanges, t. ii. pp. 103, 104, 105.]

may commence. With this one condition all is given; the Philosopher requires for his discoveries no preliminary preparations,-no apparatus of instruments and materials. He has no new events to seek as the Historian : no new combinations to form as the Mathematician. The Botanist, the Zoologist, the Mineralogist, can accumulate only by care, and trouble, and expense, an inadequate assortment of the objects necessary for their labours and observations. But that most important and interesting of all studies of which man himself is the object, has no need of anything external; it is only necessary that the observer enter into his inner self in order to find there all he stands in need of, or rather it is only by doing this that he can hope to find anything at all. If he only effectively pursue the method of observation and analysis, he may even dispense with the study of philosophical systems. This is at best only useful as a mean towards a deeper and more varied study of himself, and is often only a tribute paid by philosophy to erudition."

a [Cf. Fries, Logik, § 126, p. 587 *l'Etude de la Philosophie*, t. i., Disc. (edit. 1819). Thurot, Introduction à Prél. p. 35.]

LECT. XIX.

I. A.—FRAGMENT ON ACADEMICAL HONOURS—(1836). (See Vol. I. p. 18.)

BEFORE commencing the Lecture of to-day, I would occupy a few minutes with a matter in which I am confident you generally feel an interest ;—I refer to the Academical Honours to be awarded to those who approve their zeal and ability in the business of the Class. After what I formerly had occasion to say, I conceive it wholly unnecessary now to attempt any proof of the fact, that it is not by anything done by others for you, but by what alone you do for yourselves, that your intellectual improvement must be determined. Reading and listening to Lectures are only profitable, inasmuch as they afford you the means and the occasions of exerting your faculties; for these faculties are only developed in proportion as they are exercised. This is a principle I take for granted.

A second fact, I am assured you will also allow me to assume, is, that although strenuous energy is the one condition of all improvement, yet this energy is, at first and for a long time, comparatively painful. It is painful, because it is imperfect. But as it is gradually perfected, it becomes gradually more pleasing, and when finally perfect, that is, when its power is fully developed, it is purely pleasurable; for pleasure is nothing but the concomitant or reflex of the unforced and unimpeded energy of a faculty or habit,-the degree of pleasure being always in proportion to the degree of such energy. The great problem in education is, therefore, how to induce the pupil to undertake and go through with a course of exertion, in its result good and even agreeable, but immediately and in itself, irksome. There is no royal road to "The gods," says Epicharmus," "sell us everything for learning.

a Xenophon, Memorabilia, ii. 1. 20.-ED.

toil;" and the curse inherited from Adam,—that in the sweat of his face man should eat his bread,—is true of every human acquisition. Hesiod, not less beautifully than philosophically, sings of the painful commencement, and the pleasant consummation, of virtue, in the passage of which the following is the commencement :—

> Τῆς δ' Ἀρετῆς ίδρῶτα θεοὶ προπάροιθεν ἔθηκαν Ἀθάνατοι· α

(a passage which, it will be recollected, Milton has not less beautifully imitated); β and the Latin poet has, likewise, well expressed the principle, touching literary excellence in particular :—

But as the pain is immediate, while the profit and the pleasure are remote, you will grant, I presume, without difficulty, a third fact, that the requisite degree and continuance of effort can only be insured, by applying a stimulus to counteract and overcome the repressive effect of the feeling with which the exertion is for a season accompanied. A fourth fact will not be denied, that emulation and the love of honour constitute the appropriate stimulus in education. These affections are of course implanted in man for the wisest purposes; and, though they may be misdirected, the inference from the possibility of their abuse to the absolute inexpediency of their employment, is invalid. However disguised, their influence is universal:—

> "Ad has se Romanus, Graiusque, et Barbarus induperator Erexit: causas discriminis atque laboris Inde habuit ;" d

and Cicero shrewdly remarks, that the philosophers themselves prefix their names to the very books they write on the contempt of glory.[¢] These passions actuate most powerfully the noblest minds. "Optimos mortalium,"[¢] says the father of the Senate to Tiberius,— "Optimos mortalium altissima cupere : contemptu famæ contemni

a Opera et Dies, 287.-ED.

 β Sir W. Hamilton here probably refers to the lines in *Lycidas*, —

"Fame is the spur that the clear spirit doth raise," &c.

_.ED.

γ B. Mantuanus, Carmen de suscepto Theologico Magisterio, — Opera, Antverpiæ, 1576, tom. i. p. 174.—ED.

- δ Juvenal, Sat., x. 138.-ED.
- e Pro Archia, c. 11.-ED.
- ζ Tacitus, Ann., iv. 38.-ED.

386

virtutes." "Naturâ," says Seneca,^a "gloriosa est virtus, et anteire priores cupit;" and Cicero,^{β} in more proximate reference to our immediate object,—"Honor alit artes omnesque incenduntur ad studia gloriâ." But, though their influence be universal, it is most powerfully conspicuous in the young, of whom Aristotle has noted it as one of the most discriminating characteristics, that they are lovers of honour, but still more lovers of victory.^{γ} If, therefore, it could be but too justly proclaimed of man in general :—

it was least of all to be expected that youth should do so. "In learning," says the wisdom of Bacon, "the flight will be [low and] slow without some feathers of ostentation."^c Nothing, therefore, could betray a greater ignorance of human nature, or a greater negligence in employing the most efficient mean within its grasp, than for any seminary of education to leave unapplied these great promoting principles of activity, and to take for granted that its pupils would act precisely as they ought, though left with every inducement strong against, and without any sufficient motive in favour of, exertion.

Now, I express, I believe, the universal sentiment, both within and without these walls, in saying, that this University has been unhappily all too remiss, in leaving the most powerful mean of academical education nearly, if not altogether, unemployed. You will observe I use the term *University* in contradiction to individual Professors, for many of these have done much in this respect, and all of them, I believe, are satisfied that a great deal more ought to be done. But it is not in the power of individual instructors to accomplish what can only be accomplished by the public institution. The rewards proposed to meritorious effort are not sufficiently honourable; and the efforts to which they are frequently accorded, not of the kind or degree to be of any great or general advantage. I shall explain myself.

A distinction is sought after with a zeal proportioned to its value; and its value is measured by the estimation which it holds in public opinion. Now, though there are prizes given in many of

a De Beneficiis, iii. 36.-ED.

B Tusc. Quest., i. 2.-ED.

γ Rhet., i. 12.-ED.

δ Juvenal, Sat., x. 431.-ED.

e Essay liv. Of Vain Glory .- ED.

our classes, nothing has been done to give them proper value by raising them in public estimation. They are not conferred as matters of importance by any external solemnity; they are not conferred in any general meeting of the University; far less under circumstances which make their distribution a matter of public curiosity and interest. Compared to the publicity that might easily have been secured, they are left, so to speak, to be given in holes and corners; and while little thought of to-day, are wholly forgotten to-morrow: so that the wonder only is, that what the University has thus treated with such apparent contempt, should have awakened even the inadequate emulation that has been so laudably displayed. Of this great defect in our discipline, I may safely say that every Professor is aware, and it is now actually under the consideration of the Senatus, what are the most expedient measures to obtain a system of means of full efficiency for the encouragement and reward of academical merit. It will, of course, form the foundation of any such improvement, that the distribution of prizes be made an act of the University at large; and one of the most public and imposing character. By this means a far more powerful emulation will be roused; a spirit which will not be limited to a certain proportion of the students, but will more or less pervade the whole,-nay, not merely the students themselves, but their families; so that when this system is brought to its adequate perfection, it will be next to impossible for a young man of generous dispositions not to put forth every energy to raise himself as high as possible in the scale of so honourable a competition.

But besides those which can only be effected by an act of the whole University, important improvements may, I think, be accomplished in this respect in the several classes. In what I now say, I would not be supposed to express any opinion in regard to other classes; but confine my observations to one under the circumstances of our own.

In the first place, then, I am convinced that excitement and rewards are principally required to promote a general and continued diligence in the ordinary business of the class. I mean, therefore, that the prizes should with us be awarded for general eminence, as shown in the Examinations and Exercises; and I am averse on principle from proposing any premium during the course of the

sessional labours for single and detached efforts. The effect of this would naturally be to distract attention from what ought to be the principal and constant object of occupation; and if honour is to be gained by an irregular and transient spirit of activity, less encouragement will necessarily be afforded to regular and sedulous application. Prizes for individual Essays, for Written Analyses of important books, and for Oral Examination on their contents, may, however, with great advantage, be proposed as occupation during the summer vacation; and this I shall do. But the honours of the Winter Session must belong to those who have regularly gone through its toils.

In the second place, the value of the prizes may be greatly enhanced by giving them greater and more permanent publicity. A very simple mode, and one which I mean to adopt, is to record upon a tablet each year, the names of the successful competitors; this tablet to be permanently affixed to the walls of the classroom, while a duplicate may, in like manner, be placed in the Common Reading-Room of the Library.

In the third place, the importance of the prizes for general eminence in the business of the class may be considerably raised, by making the competitors the judges of merit among themselves. This I am persuaded is a measure of the very highest efficiency. On theory I would argue this, and in practice it has been fully verified. On this head, I shall quote to you the experience of my venerated preceptor, the late Professor Jardine of Glasgow,a man, I will make bold to say, who, in the chair of Logic of that University, did more for the intellectual improvement of his pupils than any other public instructor in this country within the memory of man. This he did not accomplish either by great erudition or great philosophical talent,-though he was both a learned and an able thinker,-but by the application of that primary principle of education, which, wherever employed, has been employed with success,-I mean the determination of the pupil to self-activity,-doing nothing for him which he is able to do for himself. This principle, which has been always inculcated by theorists on education, has, however, by few been carried fully into effect.

"One difficult and very important part," says Mr Jardine,a "in administering the system of prizes, still remains to be stated; and this is the

a Outlines of Philosophical Education, &c., pp. 384, 385; 387, 389. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

method by which the different degrees of merit are determined, a point in which any error with regard to principle, or suspicion of practical mistake, would completely destroy all the good effects aimed at by the establishment in question. It has been already mentioned, that the qualifications which form the ground of competition for the class prizes, as they are sometimes called, and which are to be distinguished from the university prizes, are diligence, regularity of attendance, general eminence at the daily examinations, and in the execution of themes, propriety of academical conduct, and habitual good manners ; and, on these heads, it is very obvious, a judgment must be pronounced either by the professor, or by the students themselves, as no others have access to the requisite information.

"It may be imagined, at first view, that the office of judge would be best performed by the professor; but, after long experience, and much attention to the subject in all its bearings, I am inclined to give a decided preference to the exercise of this right as vested in the students. Were the professor to take this duty upon himself, it would be impossible, even with the most perfect conviction, on the part of the students, that his judgment and candour were unimpeachable, to give satisfaction to all parties; while, on the other hand, were there the slightest reason to suspect his impartiality in either of these points, or the remotest ground for insinuation that he gave undue advantage to any individuals, in bringing forward their claims to the prejudice of others, the charm of emulation would be dissolved at once, and every future effort among his pupils would be enfeebled.

"The indispensable qualities of good judges, then, are a competent knowledge of the grounds upon which their judgment is to rest, and a firm resolution to determine on the matter before them with strict impartiality. It is presumed that the students, in these respects, are sufficiently qualified. They are every-day witnesses of the manner in which the business of the class goes on, and have, accordingly, the best opportunities of judging as to the merits of their fellow-students ; they have it in their power to observe the regularity of their attendance, and the general propriety of their conduct ; they hear the questions which are put, with the answers which are given ; their various themes are read aloud, and observations are made on them from the chair. They have, likewise, an opportunity of comparing the respective merits of all the competitors, in the extemporaneous exercises of the class; and they, no doubt, hear the performances of one another canvassed in conversation, and made the subject of a comparative estimate. Besides, as every individual is, himself, deeply interested, it is not possible but that he should pay the closest attention to what is going on around him ; whilst he cannot fail to be aware that he, in like manner, is constantly observed by others, and subjected to the ordeal of daily criticism. In truth, the character, the abilities, the diligence, and progress of students are as well known to one another, before the close of the session, as their

faces. There cannot, therefore, be any deficiency as to means of information, to enable them to act the part of enlightened and upright judges.

"But they likewise possess the other requisite for an equitable decision ; for the great majority have really a desire to judge honourably and fairly on the merit of their fellows. The natural candour and generosity of youth, the sense of right and obligations of justice, are not yet so perverted, by bad example and the ways of the world, as to permit any deliberate intention of violating the integrity on which they profess to act, or any wish to conspire in supporting an unrighteous judgment. There is greater danger, perhaps, that young persons, in their circumstances, may allow themselves to be influenced by friendship or personal dislike, rather than by the pure and unbiassed sense of meritorious exertion, or good abilities ; but, on the other hand, when an individual considers of how little consequence his single vote will be among so many, it is not at all likely that he will be induced to sacrifice it either to friendship or to enmity. There are, however, no perfect judges in any department of human life. Prejudices and unperceived biasses make their way into the minds even of the most upright of our fellow-creatures; and there can be no doubt that votes are sometimes thrown away, or injudiciously given, by young students in the Logic class. Still, these little aberrations are never found to disturb the operation of the general principle on which the scale of merit is determined, and the list of honours filled up."

Now, Gentlemen, from what I know of you, I think it almost needless to say, that, in confiding to you a function, on the intelligent and upright discharge of which the value and significance of the prizes will wholly depend, I do this without any anxiety for the result. I am sure at least that if aught be wanting, the defect will be found neither in your incompetency nor in your want of will.

And here I would conclude what I propose to say to you on this subject; (this has extended to a far greater length than I anticipated); I would conclude with a most earnest exhortation to those who may be discouraged from coming forward as competitors for academical honours, from a feeling or a fancy of inferiority. In the first place, I would dissuade them from this, because they may be deceived in the estimate of their own powers. Many individuals do not become aware of their own talents, till placed in circumstances which compel them to make strenuous exertion. Then they and those around them discover the mistake. In the second place, even though some of you may now find yourselves somewhat inferior to others, do not for a moment despair of the future. The most powerful minds are frequently of

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

391

a tardy development, and you may rest assured, that the sooner and more vigorously you exercise your faculties, the speedier and more complete will be their evolution. In the third place, I exhort you to remember that the distinctions now to be gained, are on their own account principally valuable as means towards an end,—as motives to induce you to cultivate your powers by exercise. All of you, even though nearly equal, cannot obtain equal honours in the struggle; but all of you will obtain advantage equally substantial, if you all—what is wholly in your own power—equally put forth your energies to strive. And though you should all endeavour to be first, let me remind you, in the words of Cicero, that :—" Prima sequentem, pulchrum est in secundis, tertiisque consistere."^a

B.-FRAGMENTS ON THE SCOTTISH PHILOSOPHY.

(a.) PORTION OF INTRODUCTORY LECTURE (1836).

Before entering on the proposed subjects of consideration, I must be allowed a brief preliminary digression. In entering on a course of the Philosophy of Mind,—of Philosophy Proper,—we ought not, as Scotsmen, to forget that on this is, and always has been, principally founded the scientific reputation of Scotland; and, therefore, that independently of the higher claims of this philosophy to attention, it would argue almost a want of patriotism in us, were we to neglect a study with the successful cultivation of which our country, and in particular this University, have been so honourably associated.

Whether it be that the characteristic genius of our nation,—the *præfervidum Scotorum ingenium*,—was more capable of powerful effort than of persevering industry, and, therefore, carried us more to studies of principle than studies of detail; or, (what is more probable), that institutions and circumstances have been here less favourable, than in other countries, for the promotion of erudition and research; certain it is that the reputation for intel-

a Orator., c. i.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

392

lectual capacity which Scotland has always sustained among the nations of Europe, is founded far less on the achievements of her sons in learning and scholarship, than on what they have done, or shown themselves capable of doing, in Philosophy Proper and its dependent sciences.

In former ages, Scotland presented but few objects for scientific and literary ambition; and Scotsmen of intellectual enterprise usually sought in other countries, that education, patronage, and applause which were denied them in their own. It is, indeed, an honourable testimony to the natural vigour of Scottish talent, that, while Scotland afforded so little encouragement for its production, a complement so large in amount and of so high a quality should have been, as it were, spontaneously supplied. During the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, there was hardly to be found a Continental University without a Scottish professor. It was, indeed, a common saying that a Scottish pedlar and a Scottish professor were everywhere to be met with. France, however, was long the great nursery of Scottish talent; and this even after the political and religious estrangement of Scotland from her ancient ally, by the establishment of the Reformation and the accession of the Scottish monarch to the English crown; and the extent of this foreign patronage may be estimated from the fact, that a single prelate,-the illustrious Cardinal du Perron,-is recorded to have found places in the seminaries of France for a greater number of literary Scotsmen than all the schools and universities of Scotland maintained at home.ª

But this favour to our countrymen was not without its reasons; and the ground of partiality was not their superior erudition. What principally obtained for them reputation and patronage abroad, was their dialectical and metaphysical acuteness; and this they were found so generally to possess, that philosophical talent became almost a proverbial attribute of the nation.^{β}

During the ascendant of the Aristotelic philosophy, and so long as dexterity in disputation was considered the highest academical accomplishment, the logical subtlety of our countrymen was in high and general demand. But they were remarkable less as writers than as instructors; for were we to consider them only in the former capacity, the works that now remain to us of these

a See Discussions, p. 120.-ED. B See Discussions, p. 119.-ED.

expatriated philosophers,—these Scoti extra Scotiam agentes, though neither few nor unimportant, would still never enable us to account for the high and peculiar reputation which the Scottish dialecticians so long enjoyed throughout Europe.

Such was the literary character of Scotland, before the establishment of her intellectual independence, and such has it continued to the present day. In illustration of this, I cannot now attempt a comparative survey of the contributions made by this country and others to the different departments of knowledge, nor is it necessary; for no one, I am assured, will deny that it is only in the Philosophy of Mind that a Scotsman has established an epoch, or that Scotland, by the consent of Europe, has bestowed her name upon a School.

The man who gave the whole philosophy of Europe a new impulse and direction, and to whom, mediately or immediately, must be referred every subsequent advance in philosophical speculation, was our countryman,-David Hume. In speaking of this illustrious thinker. I feel anxious to be distinctly understood. Ι would, therefore, earnestly request of you to bear in mind, that religious disbelief and philosophical scepticism are not merely not the same, but have no natural connection ; and that while the one must ever be a matter of reprobation and regret, the other is in itself deserving of applause. Both were united in Hume; and this union has unfortunately contributed to associate them together in popular opinion, and to involve them equally in one vague condemnation. They must, therefore, I repeat, be accurately distinguished; and thus, though decidedly opposed to one and all of Hume's theological conclusions, I have no hesitation in asserting of his philosophical scepticism, that this was not only beneficial in its results, but, in the circumstances of the period, even a necessary step in the progress of Philosophy towards truth. In the first place, it was requisite in order to arouse thought from its lethargy. Men had fallen asleep over their dogmatic systems. In Germany, the Rationalism of Leibnitz and Wolf; in England, the Sensualism of Locke, with all its melancholy results, had subsided almost into The Scepticism of Hume, like an electric established faiths. spark, sent life through the paralysed opinions ; philosophy awoke to renovated vigour, and its problems were again to be considered in other aspects, and subjected to a more searching analysis.

In the second place, it was necessary in order to manifest the inadequacy of the prevailing system. In this respect, scepticism is always highly advantageous; for scepticism is only the carrying out of erroneous philosophy to the absurdity which it always virtually involved. The sceptic, qua sceptic, cannot himself lay down his premises; he can only accept them from the dogmatist; if true, they can afford no foundation for the sceptical inference; if false, the sooner they are exposed in their real character the better. Accepting his principles from the dominant philosophies of Locke and Leibnitz, and deducing with irresistible evidence these principles to their legitimate results, Hume showed, by the extreme absurdity of these results themselves, either that Philosophy altogether was a delusion, or that the individual systems which afforded the premises, were erroneous or incomplete. He thus constrained philosophers to the alternative,-either of surrendering philosophy as null, or of ascending to higher principles, in order to re-establish it against the sceptical reduction. The dilemma of Hume constitutes, perhaps, the most memorable crisis in the history of philosophy; for out of it the whole subsequent Metaphysic of Europe has taken its rise.

To Hume we owe the Philosophy of Kant, and, therefore, also, in general, the latter philosophy of Germany. Kant explicitly acknowledges that it was by Hume's *reductio ad absurdum* of the previous doctrine of Causality, he was first roused from his dogmatic slumber. He saw the necessity that had arisen, of placing philosophy on a foundation beyond the reach of scepticism, or of surrendering it altogether; and this it was that led him to those researches into the conditions of thought, which, considered whether in themselves or in their consequences, whether in what they established or in what they subverted, are, perhaps, the most remarkable in the annals of speculation.

To Hume, in like manner, we owe the Philosophy of Reid, and, consequently, what is now distinctively known in Europe as the Philosophy of the Scottish School.

Unable to controvert the reasoning of Berkeley, as founded on the philosophy of Descartes and Locke, Reid had quietly resigned himself to Idealism; and he confesses that he would never have been led to question the legitimacy of the common doctrine of Perception, involving though it did the negation of an external

world, had Hume not startled him into hesitation and inquiry, by showing that the same reasoning which disproved the Existence of Matter, disproved, when fairly carried out, also the Substantiality of Mind. Such was the origin of the philosophy founded by Reid, —illustrated and adorned by Stewart ; and it is to this philosophy, and to the writings of these two illustrious thinkers, that Scotland is mainly indebted for the distinguished reputation which she at present enjoys, in every country where the study of Mind has not, as in England, been neglected for the study of Matter.

The Philosophy of Reid is at once our pride and our reproach. At home, mistaken and undervalued; abroad, understood and honoured. The assertion may be startling, yet is literally true, that the doctrines of the Scottish School have been nowhere less fairly appreciated than in Scotland itself. To explain how they have been misinterpreted, and, consequently, neglected, in the country of their birth, is more than I can now attempt; but as I believe that an equal ignorance prevails in regard to the high favour accorded to these speculations by those nations who are now in advance, as the most enlightened cultivators of philosophy, I shall endeavour, as briefly as possible, to show that it may be for our credit not rashly to disparage what other countries view as our chief national claim to scientific celebrity. In illustration of this, I shall only allude to the account in which our Scottish Philosophy is held in Germany and in France.

There is a strong general analogy between the philosophies of Reid and Kant; and Kant, I may observe by the way, was a Scotsman by proximate descent. Both originate in a recoil against the Scepticism of Hume; " both are equally opposed to the Sensualism of Locke; both vindicate with equal zeal the moral dignity of man; and both attempt to mete out and to define the legitimate sphere of our intellectual activity. There are, however, important differences between the doctrines, as might be anticipated from the very different characters of the men; and while Kant surpassed Reid in systematic power and comprehension, Reid excelled Kant in the caution and security of his procedure. There is, however, one point of difference in which it is now acknowledged, even by the representatives of the Kantian philosophy, that Kant was wrong. I allude to the doctrine of Percepa See the completed edition of *Reid's Works*, Memoranda for Preface, p. xv.—Ep.

tion,-the doctrine which constitutes the very corner-stone of the philosophy of Reid. Though both philosophies were, in their origin, reactions against the scepticism of Hume, this reaction was not equally determined in each by the same obnoxious conclusion. For, as it was primarily to reconnect Effect and Cause that Kant was roused to speculation, so it was primarily to regain the worlds of Mind and Matter that Reid was awakened to activity. Accordingly Kant, admitting, without question, the previous doctrine of philosophers, that the mind has no immediate knowledge of any existence external to itself, adopted it without hesitation as a principle,-that the mind is cognisant of nothing beyond its own modifications, and that what our natural consciousness mistakes for an external world, is only an internal phænomenon, only a mental representation of the unknown and inconceivable. Reid. on the contrary, was fortunately led to question the grounds on which philosophers had given the lie to the natural beliefs of mankind; and his inquiry terminated in the conclusion, that there exists no valid ground for the hypothesis, universally admitted by the learned, that an immediate knowledge of material objects is impossible. The attempt of Kant, if the attempt were serious, to demonstrate the existence of an external and unknown world was. as is universally admitted, a signal failure; and his Hypothetical Realism was soon analysed by an illustrious disciple,-Fichte,into an Absolute Idealism, with a logical rigour that did not admit of refutation." In the meanwhile, Reid's doctrine of Perception had attracted the attention of an acute opponent of the critical philosophy in Germany; β and that doctrine, divested of those superficial errors which have led some ingenious reasoners in this country to view and represent Reid as holding an opinion on this point identical with Kant's, was, in Kant's own country, placed in opposition against his opinion, fortified as that was by the authority of all modern philosophers. And with what result? Simply this ; - that the most distinguished representatives of the Kantian school now acknowledge Kant's doctrine of Perception to be erroncous, and one

a Some fragmentary criticisms of the Kantian philosophy in this respect, lished in 1792; and again in his Kritik will be found appended to this dissertation.-See below, p. 401 et seq.-ED.

B Schulze, in his Anesidemus, pubder theoretischen Philosophie, 1801. See Reid's Works, p. 797.-ED.

analogous to that of Reid they have adopted in its stead. Thus, while, in Scotland, the fundamental position of Reid's philosophy has been misunderstood, his criticism of the ideal theory treated as a blunder, and his peculiar doctrine of perception represented as essentially the same with that of the philosophers whom he assailed; in Germany, and by his own disciples, Kant's theory of perception is admitted to be false, and the doctrine of Reid, on this point, appreciated at its just value, and recognised as one of the most important and original contributions ever made to philosophy.

But in France, I may add Italy, the triumph of the Scottish school has been even more signal than in Germany. The philosophy of Locke, first recommended to his countrymen by the brilliant fancy of Voltaire, was, by the lucid subtlety of Condillac, reduced to a simplicity which not only obtained an ascendant over the philosophy of Descartes, but rendered it in France the object of all but universal admiration. Locke had deduced all knowledge from Experience, but Condillac analysed every faculty into Sense. Though its author was no materialist, the system of transformed sensation is only a disguised materialism; and the import of the doctrine soon became but too apparent in its effects. Melancholy, however, as it was, this theory obtained an authority in France unparalleled for its universality and continuance. For seventy years, not a single work of an opposite tendency made the smallest impression on the public mind; all discussion of principles had ceased; it remained only to develop the remoter consequences of the system : philosophy seemed accomplished.

Such was the state of opinion in France until the downfall of the Empire. In the period of tranquillity that followed the Restoration, the minds of men were again turned with interest towards metaphysical speculation; and it was then that the doctrines of the Scottish Philosophy were, for the first time, heard in the public schools of France. Recommended by the powerful talent and high authority of Royer-Collard, these doctrines made converts of some of the loftiest intellects of France. A vigorous assault, in which the prowess of Cousin was remarkable, was made against the prevalent opinions, and with a success so decisive, that, after a controversy of twenty years, the school of Condillac is now, in its own country, considered as extinct; while our Scottish philosophy

not only obtained an ascendant in public opinion, but, through the influence of my illustrious friend M. Cousin, forms the basis of philosophical instruction in the various Colleges connected with the University of France. It must not, however, be supposed, that the French have servilely adopted the opinions of our countrymen. On the contrary, what they have borrowed they have so ably amplified, strengthened, simplified, and improved, that the common doctrines of Reid and Stewart, of Royer-Collard and Jouffroy, (for Cousin falls under another category), ought in justice to be denominated the *Scoto-Gallican Philosophy*,—a name, indeed, already bestowed upon them by recent historians of philosophy in Germany.

(b.) M. JOUFFROY'S CRITICISM OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL.ª

. *

(Probably 1837, or a little later. See *Œuvres de Reid*, vol. i., Préface, p. clxxxvi.-cxcix.-ED.)

* * * I must be allowed to make an observation in reference to the criticism of M. Jouffroy.

Dr Reid and Mr Stewart not only denounce as absurd the attempt to demonstrate that the original data of Consciousness are for us the rule of what we ought to believe, that is, the criteria of a relative—human—subjective truth; but interdict as unphilosophical all question in regard to their validity, as the vehicles of an absolute or objective truth.

M. Jouffroy, of course, coincides with the Scottish philosophers in regard to the former; but, as to the latter, he maintains, with Kant, that the doubt is legitimate, and, though he admits it to be insoluble, he thinks it ought to be entertained. Nor, on the ground on which they and he consider the question, am I disposed to dissent from his conclusion. But on that on which I have now placed it,^β I cannot but view the inquiry as incompetent. For what is the question in plain terms? Simply,—Whether what our nature compels us to believe as true and real, be true and real, or only a consistent illusion? Now this question cannot be philosophically

α Published in a fuller form, in the Memoranda for Preface, p. xvii.-ED. completed edition of *Reid's Works*, β See *Reid's Works*, p. 746.-ED.

entertained, for two reasons. 1°, Because there exists a presumption in favour of the veracity of our nature, which either precludes or peremptorily repels a gratuitous supposition of its mendacity. 2° , Because we have no mean out of Consciousness of testing Consciousness. If its data are found concordant, they must be presumed trustworthy; if repugnant, they are already proved unworthy of credit. Unless, therefore, the mutual collation of the primary data of Consciousness be held such an inquiry, it is, I think, manifestly incompetent. It is only in the case of one or more of these original facts being rejected as false, that the question can emerge in regard to the truth of the others. But, in reality, on this hypothesis, the problem is already decided; their character for truth is gone; and all subsequent canvassing of their probability is profitless speculation.

Kant started, like the philosophers in general, with the nonacceptance of the deliverance of Consciousness,—that we are immediately cognisant of extended objects. This first step decided the destiny of his philosophy. The external world, as known, was therefore only a phænomenon of the internal; and our knowledge in general only of self, the objective only subjective; and truth only the harmony of thought with thought, not of thought with things;—reality only a necessary illusion.

It was quite in order, that Kant should canvass the veracity of all our primary beliefs, having founded his philosophy on the presumed falsehood of one; and an inquiry followed out with such consistency and talent could not, from such a commencement, terminate in a different result.

(c.) GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SCOTTISH SCHOOL.

(Written in connection with proposed MEMOIR OF MR DUGALD STEWART. On Desk, May 1856; written Autumn 1855.-ED.)

The Scottish School of Philosophy is distinctively characterised by its opposition to all the destructive schemes of speculation;—in particular, to Scepticism, or the uncertainty of knowledge; to Idealism, or the non-existence of the material world; to Fatalism, or the denial of a moral universe. Reid has the merit of originat-

ing this movement, and Stewart the honour of continuing, and promoting, and extending it.

In the philosophy which prevailed before Descartes, in whose doctrines it may be affirmed that modern speculation took its rise, we find all these schemes, indeed, but all marked and modified in a peculiar manner. In antiquity, we have the scepticism of Pyrrho and Ænesidemus; but this, however ingenious its object, never became popular or dangerous, and, without a formal or decisive refutation, gradually died out.

In the scholastic ages, Idealism was [countenanced] by the dominant psychology, and would perhaps have taken root, but for the check it encountered from the Church, to the dogmas of which all philosophy was then voluntarily subjected. The doctrine of Representative Perception, in its cruder form, was generally accepted, and the question often mooted, "Could not God maintain the species in the sensory, the object (external reality) being annihilated?" This problem, as philosophy affirmed, theology denied. It was possible, nay probable, according to the former; impossible, because heretical, according to the latter."

Finally, on the other hand, the Absolute Decrees of God might, at the first view, be thought, not only to favour, but to establish, a doctrine of unconditioned Fatalism. But this inference was disavowed by the most strenuous advocates of Prescience and Predestination; and the Freewill of man asserted no less vehemently than the Free Grace of God.

(d.) KANT AND REID.

(Written in connection with proposed MEMOIR OF MR STEWART. On Desk, May 1856; written Autumn 1855.—ED.)

In like manner, Kant assailed Scepticism, and the scepticism of Hume; but with a very different result. For, if in one conclusion he controverted scepticism, he himself introduced and patronised the most unexclusive doubt. He showed, indeed, that Hume's rejection of the notion of Causality was groundless. He proved

a See Discussions, p. 198, second trine of Transubstantiation were inedition,-why Idealism and the doc- compatible.

that, although this notion was not, and could not be, constructed from experience, still Causality was a real and efficient principle, native and necessary in human intelligence; and that although experience did not explain its genesis, experience always supposes its operation. So far so good. But Kant did not stop here. He endeavoured to evince that pure Reason,-that Intelligence, is naturally, is necessarily, repugnant with itself, and that speculation ends in a series of insoluble antilogies. In its highest potence, in its very essence, thought is thus infected with contradiction : and the worst and most pervading scepticism is the melancholy result. If I have done anything meritorious in philosophy, it is in the attempt to explain the phænomena of these contradictions; in showing that they arise only when intelligence transcends the limits to which its legitimate exercise is restricted; and that within those bounds, (the Conditioned), natural thought is neither fallible nor mendacious-

"Neque decipitur, nec decipit unquam."

If this view be correct, Kant's antinomies, with their consequent scepticism, are solved; and the human mind, however weak, is shown not to be the work of a treacherous Creator.

Reid, on the contrary, did not subvert the trustworthiness of the one witness, on whose absolute veracity he relied. In his hands natural (and, therefore, necessary) thought—Consciousness—Common Sense—are always held out as entitled to our implicit and thorough-going confidence. The fact of the testimony sufficiently guarantees the truth of what the testimony avouches. The testimony, if delivered, is to be deemed *pro tanto* impeccable.

(e.) KANT'S DOCTRINE OF SPACE AND TIME.

(Fragments from early Papers. Probably before 1836.-ED.)

Kant, 1°, Made our actual world one merely of illusion. Time and Space, under which we must perceive and think, he reduced to mere subjective spectral forms, which have no real archetype in the noumenal or real universe. We can infer nothing from this to that. Cause and Effect govern thing and thought in the

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

402

world of Space and Time; the relation will not subsist where Time and Space have no reality. (Lines from Fracastorius).^a Corresponds with the Platonic, but more thorough-going. Kant, 2°, Made Reason, Intelligence, contradict itself in its legitimate exercise. Antilogy,—antinomy, part and parcel of its nature; not only "reasoning, but to err," but reason itself.

Thus, the conviction that we live in a world of unreality and illusion, and that our very faculty of knowledge is only given us to mislead, is the result of our criticism ;—Scepticism.

On the contrary, my doctrine holds, 1°, That Space and Time, as given, are real forms of thought and conditions of things; 2°, That Intelligence,—Reason,—within its legitimate limits, is legitimate; within this sphere it never deceives; and it is only when transcending that sphere, when founding on its illegitimate as on its legitimate exercise, that it affords a contradictory result;— "Ne sapiamus ultra facultates." The dogmatic assertion of necessity,—of Fatalism, and the dogmatic assertion of Liberty, are the counter and equally inconceivable conclusions from reliance on the illegitimate and one-sided.

Kant holds the subjectivity of Space (and Time), and, if he does not deny, will not affirm the existence of a real space, external to our minds; because it is a mere form of our perceptive faculty. He holds that we have no knowledge of any external thing as really existing, and that all our perceptions are merely appearances, i.e., subjective representations,-subjective modifications,which the mind is determined to exhibit, as an apparently objective opposition to itself,--its pure and real subjective modifications. Yet, while he gives up the external existence of space, as beyond the sphere of consciousness, he holds the reality of external material existences, (things in themselves), which are equally beyond the sphere of consciousness. It was incumbent on him to render a reason for this seeming inconsistency, and to explain how his system was not, in its legitimate conclusions, an universal Idealism ; and he has accordingly attempted to establish, by necessary inference, what his philosophy could not accept as an immediate fact of consciousness.

> a See below, Lect. xxi., vol. ii. p. 33.-ED. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

In the second edition of his Kritik der reinen Vernunft, he has accordingly given what he calls a "strict, and, as he is convinced, the only possible, demonstration for the objective reality of our external perceptions;" and, at the same time, he declares that it would be the eternal scandal of Philosophy, and of the general reason of mankind, if we were compelled to yield our assent to the existence of an external world, only as an article of Faith, and were unable to oppose a satisfactory refutation to any sceptical objections that might be suggested touching their reality (Vorrede, p. xxxix). The demonstration which is thus exclusively and confidently proposed, attempts to prove that the existence of an external world is involved in the very consciousness of self,—that without a Thou, there could be no I, and that the Cogito ergo sum is not more certain than the Cogito ergo es.

II.—PHYSIOLOGICAL. (See Vol. I., p. 264.)

(a.) PHRENOLOGY.

Such is a very general view of that system [the Nervous] and its relations, which physiologists and philosophers in general have held to be the proximate organ of the thinking principle, and many to be even the thinking principle itself. That the mind, in its lower energies and affections, is immediately dependent on the conditions of the nervous system, and that, in general, the development of the brain in the different species of animals is correspondent to their intelligence,-these are conclusions established upon an induction too extensive and too certain to admit of doubt. But when we attempt to proceed a step farther, and to connect the mind or its faculties with particular parts of the nervous system, we find ourselves at once checked. Observation and experiment seem to fail; they afford only obscure and varying reports; and if, in this uncertainty, we hazard a conclusion, this is only a theory established upon some arbitrary hypothesis, in which fictions stand in place of facts. The uncertainty of such conclusions is shown by the unexampled diversity of opinion that has always reigned

among those who, discontented with a prudent ignorance, have attempted to explain the phænomena of mind by the phænomena of organisation.

In the first place, some, (and their opinion is not, certainly, the least philosophical), hold that, in relation to the body, the soul is less contained than containing,—that it is all in the whole, and all in every part. This is the common doctrine of many of the Fathers, and of the scholastic Aristotelians.^{α}

In the second place, others have attempted to connect the conscious principle in general with a particular part of the organism, but by very different relations. Some place it there, as in a local seat; others make it dependent on that part, as on its organ; while others hold that the mind stands in a more immediate relation to this part, only because it is the point of convergence where all the bodily sensations meet. I shall not attempt to enumerate the hundred and one conjectures in regard to the point in the corporeal organism, in proximate connection with the mind. It would occupy more than our hour to give you even a summary account of the hypotheses on this subject.

In the third place, no opinion has been more generally prevalent than that different faculties and dispositions of the mind are dependent on different parts of the bodily organism, and more especially on different parts of the nervous system. Under this head, I shall state to you one or two of the more famous opinions. The most celebrated doctrine,—that which was more universally adopted, and for a longer period than any other,—was that which, with certain modifications, assigned different places in the Encephalos to Memory, Imagination, Sense, and the Locomotive Faculty,—Reason or Intelligence being left inorganic. This opinion we trace upward, through the Latin and Arabian schools, β to St Austin,⁷ Nemesius,⁸ the Greek physician Actius, and even to the anatomists Rufus and Posidonius. Memory, on this hypothesis, was placed in the substance of the cerebellum, or in the subjacent ventricle ; and as the phrenologists now attempt to prove that the seat of this faculty

β [See Gassendi, Physica, Sect. iii., Memb. Post., lib. viii.; Opera, t. ii. pp. 400, 401. Averroes, Destruct. Destructionum, Arist. Opera, t. x. p. 340. γ De Genesi ad Literam, lib. vii. ec. 17, 18.-Eb. [See Tenneman, t. vii. p. 241.]

δ De Natura Hominis, c. xiii., p. 204, edit. Matthæi.-ED.

lies above the eyebrows, by the alleged fact, that when a man wishes to stimulate his recollection, he rubs the lower part of his forehead,—so, of old, the same conclusion was established on the more plausible assertion, that a man in such circumstances naturally scratches the back of his head. The one indication is at least as good as the other.

Among modern physiologists, Willis was the first who attempted a new attribution of mental functions to different parts of the nervous system. He placed Perception and Sensation in the *corpus callosum*, Imagination and Appetite in the *corpora striata*, Memory in the cerebral convolutions, Involuntary Motion in the cerebellum, &c.; and to Willis is to be traced the determination so conspicuous among subsequent physiologists, of attributing different mental uses to different parts of the brain.

It would be bootless to state to you the many various and contradictory conjectures in regard to these uses. To psychologists they are, with one exception, all comparatively uninteresting, as, were they even ascertained to be something better than conjectures, still, as the physical condition is in all of them occult, it could not be applied as an instrument of psychological discovery. The exception which I make is, the celebrated doctrine of Gall. If true, that doctrine would not only afford us a new instrument, but would in a great measure supersede the old. In fact, the psychology of consciousness, and the psychology founded on Gall's organology, are mere foolishness to each other. They arrive at conclusions the most contradictory; insomuch that the establishment of the one necessarily supposes the subversion of the other.

In these circumstances, no one interested in the philosophy of man can be indifferent to an inquiry into the truth or falsehood of the new doctrine. This doctrine cannot be passed over with contempt. It is maintained not only by too many, but by too able advocates, to be summarily rejected. That its results are repugnant to those previously admitted, is but a sorry reason for not inquiring into their foundation. This doctrine professes to have discovered new principles, and to arrive at new conclusions; and the truth or falsehood of these cannot, therefore, be estimated merely by their conformity or disconformity with those old results which the new professedly refute. To do so would be mere prejudice,—a mere assumption of the point at issue. At the same

time, this doctrine professes to be founded on sensible facts. Sensible facts must be shown to be false, not by reasoning, but by experiment; for, as old Fernelius has well expressed it,—" Desipientis arrogantiæ est argumentationis necessitatem sensuum auctoritati anteponere." To oppose such a doctrine in such a manner is not to refute, but to recommend; and yet, unfortunately, this has been the usual mode in which the organology of Gall and his followers has been assailed. Such an opinion must be taken on its own ground. We must join issue with it upon the facts and inferences it embraces. If the facts are true, and if the inferences necessarily follow, the opinion must be admitted; the sooner, therefore, that we candidly inquire into these the better, for it is only thus that we shall be enabled to form a correct estimate of the evidence on which such a doctrine rests.

With these views, I many years ago undertook an investigation of the fundamental facts on which the phrenological doctrine, as it is unfortunately called, is established. By a fundamental fact I mean a fact by the truth of which the hypothesis could be proved, and, consequently, by the falsehood of which it could be disproved. Now, what are such facts? The one condition of such a fact is, that it should be general. The phrenological theory is, that there is a correspondence between the volume of certain parts of the brain, and the intensity of certain qualities of mind and character; -the former they call development, the latter manifestation. Now, individual cases of alleged conformity of development and manifestation could prove little in favour of the doctrine, as individual cases of alleged disconformity could prove little against it; because, 1°, The phrenologists had no standard by which the proportion of cerebral development could be measured by themselves or their opponents ; 2°, Because the mental manifestation was vague and indeterminate ; 3°, Because they had introduced, as subsidiary hypotheses, the occult qualities of temperament and activity, so that, in individual cases, any given head could always be explained in harmony with any given character. Individual cases were thus ambiguous; they were worthless either to establish or to refute the theory. But where the phrenologists had proclaimed a general fact, by that fact their doctrine could be tried. For example, when they asserted as the most illustrious discovery of Gall, and as the surest inference of their doctrine, that the cerebellum is the

organ of the sexual appetite, and established this inference as the basis of certain general facts which, as common to the whole animal kingdom, could easily be made matter of precise experiment ;---by these facts the truth of their doctrine could be brought to the test, and this on ground the most favourable for them. For the general probability of their doctrine was thus estimated by the truth of its best-established element. But, on the other hand, if such general facts were found false, their disproval afforded the most satisfactory refutation of the whole system. For the phrenologists themselves readily admit that their theory is exploded, if their doctrine of the function of the cerebellum is disproved. Because, therefore, an examination of the general facts of Phrenology was at once decisive and comparatively easy, I determined, on this ground, to try the truth of the opinion. I shall state to you very generally a few results of the investigation, of which I may, without boasting, affirm that no inquiry of the kind was ever conducted with greater care or more scrupulous accuracy.

I shall commence with the phrenological doctrine of the cerebellum, on which you will see the propriety of dwelling as briefly as I can. I may mention that the extent of my experiments on this organ is wholly unconnected with phrenology. My attention was, indeed, originally turned to the relation of the after-brain to the other parts of the nervous system, when testing the accuracy of the phrenological doctrine on this point ; but that end was very soon accomplished, and it was certain discoveries which I made in regard to the laws of development and the function of this organ, and the desire of establishing these by an induction from as many of the species as possible of the animal kingdom, that led me into a more extensive inquiry than has hitherto been instituted by any professional physiologist. When I publish its results, they will disprove a hundred times over all the phrenological assertions in regard to the cerebellum ; but this will be only an accidental circumstance, and of comparatively little importance. I may add, that my tables extend to above 1000 brains of above 50 species of animals, accurately weighed by a delicate balance; and you will remark that the phrenologists have not a single observation of any accuracy to which they can appeal. The only evidence in the shape of precise experiment on which they can found, is a table of Serres. who is no phrenologist, affording the general averages of certain
weighings, said to have been made by him, of the brain and cerebellum in the human subject. I shall prove that table an imaginary fabrication in support of a now exploded hypothesis of the author.

The alleged facts on which Gall and his followers establish their conclusion in regard to the function of the cerebellum are the following :—

The first is, that, in all animals, females have this organ, on an average, greatly smaller, in proportion to the brain proper, than nucles. Now, so far is this assertion from being correct, it is the very reverse of truth; and I have ascertained, by an immense induction, that in no species of animal has the female a proportionally smaller cerebellum than the male, but that in most species, and this according to a certain law, she has a considerably larger. In no animal is this difference more determinate than in man. Women have on an average a cerebellum to the brain proper, as 1:7; men as 1:8. This is a general fact which I have completely established.^a

The second alleged fact is, that in impuberal animals the cerebellum is in proportion to the brain proper greatly less than in adults. This is equally erroneous. In all animals, long previous to puberty, has the cerebellum attained its maximum proportion. And here, also, I am indebted to the phrenologists for having led me to make the discovery of another curious law, and to establish the real function of the cerebellum. Physiologists have hitherto believed that the cerebella of all animals, indifferently, were, for a certain period subsequent to birth, greatly less, in proportion to the brain proper, than in adults; and have taken no note of the differences in this respect between different classes. Thus, completely wrong in regard to the fact, they have necessarily overlooked the law by which it is governed. In those animals that have from the first the full power of voluntary motion, and which depend immediately on their own exertions, and on their own power of assimilation for nutriment, the proportion of the cerebellum is as large, nay larger, than in the adult. In the chicken of the common fowl, pheasant, partridge, &c., this is the case; and most remarkably after the first week or ten days, when the yolk, (corresponding in a certain sort to the milk in quadrupeds), has been absorbed. In the calf, kid, lamb, and probably in the colt, the proportion of the

a See below, (b), On Weight of Brain, p. 419.-ED.

cerebellum at birth is very little less than in the adult. In those birds that do not possess at once the full power of voluntary motion, but which are in a rapid state of growth, the cerebellum, within a few days at least after being hatched, and by the time the yolk is absorbed, is not less or larger than in the adult; the pigeon, sparrow, &c. &c., are examples. In the young of those quadrupeds that for some time wholly depend for support on the milk of the mother, as on half-assimilated food, and which have at first feeble powers of regulated motion, the proportion of the cerebellum to the brain proper is at birth very small; but by the end of the full period of lactation, it has with them as with other animals, (nor is man properly an exception), reached the full proportion of the adult.^a This, for example, is seen in the young rabbit, kitten, whelp, &c.; in them the cerebellum is to the brain proper at birth about as 1 to 14; at six and eight weeks old about as 1 to 6. Pigs, &c., as possessing immediately the power of regulated motion, but wholly dependent on the milk of the mother during at least the first month after birth, exhibit a medium between the two classes. At birth the proportion is in them about 1 to 9, in the adult as 1 This analogy, at which I now only hint, has never been to 6. suspected; it points at the new and important conclusion, (corroborated by many other facts), that the cerebellum is the intracranial organ of the nutritive faculty, that term being taken in its broadest signification; and it confirms also an old opinion, recently revived, that it is the condition of voluntary or systematic motion.^{β}

The third alleged fact is, that the proportion of the cerebellum to the brain proper in different species, is in proportion to the *energy* of the phrenological function attributed to it. This assertion is groundless as the others. There are many other fictions in regard to this organ; but these, I think, are a sufficient specimen of the truth of the doctrine in regard to the function of the cerebellum; and the cerebellum, you will recollect, is the citadel of Phrenology.

I shall, however, give you the sample of another general fact. The organ of Veneration rises in the middle on the coronal surface of the head. Women, it is universally admitted, manifest religious feeling more strongly and generally than men; and the phrenolo-

a This may, perhaps, explain the apparent exception to Berkeley's theory noticed by Adam Smith. See below, vol. ii. p. 182.—ED. β From a communication by the Author, printed in Dr Munro's Anatomy of the Brain, pp. 6, 7. See below, (b), On Weight of Brain.—ED.

gists accordingly assert, that the female cranium is higher in proportion in that region than the male. This I found to be the very reverse of truth, by a comparative average of nearly two hundred skulls of either sex. In man, the female encephalos is considerably smaller than that of the male, and in shape the crania of the sexes are different. By what dimension is the female skull less than the male? The female skull is longer, it is nearly as broad, but it is much lower than the male. This is only one of several curious sexual differences of the head.

I do not know whether it be worth while mentioning, that, by a comparison of all the crania of murderers preserved in the Anatomical Museum of this University, with about nearly two hundred ordinary skulls indifferently taken, I found that these criminals exhibited a development of the phrenological organs of Destructiveness and other evil propensities smaller, and a development of the higher moral and intellectual qualities larger, than the average. Nay, more, the same result was obtained when the murderers' skulls were compared, not merely with a common average, but with the individual crania of Robert Bruce, George Buchanan, and Dr David Gregory.

I omit all notice of many other decisive facts subversive of the hypothesis in question; but I cannot leave the subject without alluding to one which disproves, at one blow, a multitude of organs, affords a significant example of their accuracy of statement, and shows how easily manifestation can, by the phrenologists, be accommodated to any development, real or supposed. I refer to the Frontal Sinuses. These are cavities between the tables of the frontal bone, in consequence of a divergence from each other. They are found in all puberal crania, and are of variable and, [from without], wholly inappreciable extent and depth. Where they exist, they of course interpose an insuperable bar to any estimate of the cerebral development; and their extent being undiscoverable, they completely baffle all certain observation. Now, the phrenologists have fortunately, or unfortunately, concentrated the whole of their very smallest organs over the region of the sinus; which thus, independently of other impediments, renders all phrenological observation more or less uncertain in regard to sixteen of their organs. Of these cavities the anatomists in general seem to have known not much, and the phrenologists

absolutely nothing. At least, the former are wrong in many of their positions, the latter wrong in all. I shall give you a sample of the knowledge and consistency of the phrenologists on this point.

Gall first of all answered the objection of the sinus, by asserting that even when it existed, the plates of the frontal bone were still parallel. The truth is, that the cavity is only formed by their divergence from parallelism, and thus it is now described by the phrenologists themselves. In his latest works, Gall asserted that the sinus is frequently absent in men, and seldom or never found in women. But Spurzheim carried the negation to its highest climax, for he avers, (I quote his words), "that children and young adult persons have no holes between the two tables of the skull at the forehead, and that they occur only in old persons, or after chronic insanity." He did not always, indeed, assert as much, and in some of his works he allows that they throw some uncertainty over the organs of Individuality and Size, but not much over that of Locality.

Now the fact is, as I have established by an inspection of several hundred crania, that no skull is without a sinus. This is, indeed, the common doctrine of the anatomists. But I have also proved that the vulgar doctrine of their increasing in extent, in proportion as the subject advances in life, is wholly erroneous. The smallest sinus I ever saw was in the cranium of a woman of a hundred years of age.

The two facts,-the fact of the universal existence of the sinus, and its great and various and inappreciable extent, and the fact of the ignorance of the phrenologists in regard to every circumstance connected with it, --- these two facts prove that these observers have been going on finding always manifestation and development in exact conformity; when, lo! it turns out that in nearly half their organs, the protuberance or depression apparent on the external bone has no connection with any correspondent protuberance or depression in the brain. Now, what does this evince? Not merely that they were wrong in regard to these particular observations and the particular organs established upon the mistake. Of course, the whole organs lying over the sinuses are swept away. But this is not all; for the theory supposes as its condition, that the amount of the two qualities of mental manifestation and cerebral development can be first accurately measured apart, and then compared together, and found either to be conformable or disconformable :

and the doctrine, assuming this possibility, proves its truth only by showing that the two qualities thus severally estimated, are, in all cases, in proportion to each other. Now, if the possibility thus assumed by Phrenology were true, it would at once have discovered that the apparent amount of development over the sinus was not in harmony with the mental manifestation. But this it never did; -it always found the apparent or cranial development over the sinus conformable to the mental manifestation, though this bony development bore no more a proportion to the cerebral brain than if it had been looked for on the great toe; and thus it is at once evident, that manifestation and development in general are, in their hands, such factitious, such arbitrary quantities, that they can always, under any circumstances, be easily brought into unison. Phrenology is thus shown to be a mere leaden rule, which bends to whatever it is applied; and, therefore, all phrenological observation is poisoned, in regard even to those organs where a similar obstacle did not prevent the discovery of the cerebral development. Suppose a mathematician to propose a new method for the solution of algebraical equations. If we applied it, and found it gave a false result, would the inventor be listened to if he said,-"True, my method is wrong in these cases in which it has been tried, but it is not, therefore, proved false in those in which it has not been put to the test "? Now, this is precisely the plea I have heard from the phrenologists in relation to the sinus. "Well !" they say, " we admit that Gall and Spurzheim have been all wrong about the sinus, and we give up the organs above the eyes; but our system is untouched in the others which are situate beyond the reach of that obnoxious cavity." To such reasoning there was no answer.

I should have noticed, that, even supposing there had been no intervening caverns in the forehead, the small organs arranged, like peas in a pod, along the eyebrows could not have severally manifested any difference of development. If we suppose, (what I make bold to say was never yet observed in the brain,) that a portion of it so small in extent as any one of the six phrenological organs of Form, Size, Weight, Colour, Order, and Number, which lie side by side upon the eyebrows, was ever prominent beyond the surrounding surface,—I say, supposing the protuberance of so small a spot upon the cerebral convolutions, it could never determine a corresponding eminence on the external table of the skull. What would

be the effect of such a protrusion of brain upon the cranium? It would only make room for itself in the thickness of the bone which it would attenuate. This is shown by two examples. The first is taken from the convolutions themselves. I should, however, state, that convolution, and anfractuosity or furrow, are correlative terms, like hill and valley,-the former (convolutions) being applied to the windings of the cerebral surface as rising up,-the latter (anfractuosity, or furrow) being applied to them as sinking in. Convolutions are the winding eminences between the furrows; anfractuosities the winding depressions between the convolutions. This being understood, we find, on looking to the internal surface of the cranium, that the convolutions attenuate the bone, which is sometimes quite transparent,-diaphanous,-over them, whereas it remains comparatively thick over the anfractuosities ; but they cause no inequality on the outer surface. Yet the convolutions, which thus make room for themselves in the bone without elevating it externally, are often broader, and of course always longer, than the little organs which the phrenologists have placed along the eyebrows. A fortiori, therefore, we must suppose that an organ like Size, or Weight, or Colour, if it did project beyond the surrounding brain, would only render the superincumbent bone thinner, without causing it to rise, unless we admit that nature complaisantly changes her laws in accommodation to the new doctrine.

But we have another parallel instance still more precisely in point. In many heads there are certain rounded eminences, (called Glandulæ Pacchioni), on the coronal surface of the brain, which nearly correspond in size with the little organs in question. Now, if the phrenological supposition were correct, that an elevation on the brain, of so limited an extent, would cause an elevation on the external table of the bone, these eminences would do so far more certainly than any similar projection over the eyebrows. For the frontal bone in the frontal region is under the continual action of muscles, and this action would tend powerfully to prevent any partial elevation; whereas, on the upper part of the head, the bone is almost wholly exempt from such an agency. But do the glands, as they are called, of Pacchioni, (though they are no glands),-do they determine an elevation on the external surface of the skull corresponding to the elevation they form on the cerebral surface? Not in the very least; the cranium is there out-

wardly quite equable,-level,-uniform,-though probably attenuated to the thinness of paper to accommodate the internal rising.

The other facts which I have stated as subversive of what the phrenologists regard as the best-established constituents of their system,-I could only state to you on my own authority. But they are founded on observations made with the greatest accuracy, and on phænomena, which every one is capable of verifying. If the general facts I gave you in regard to the cerebellum, &c., are false, then am I a deliberate deceiver; for these are of such a nature that no one with the ordinary discourse of reason could commit an error in regard to them, if he actually made the observations. The maxim, however, which I have myself always followed, and which I would earnestly impress upon you, is to take nothing upon trust that can possibly admit of doubt, and which you are able to verify for yourselves; and had I not been obliged to hurry on to more important subjects, I might have been tempted to show you by experiment what I have now been compelled to state to you upon authority alone.ª

I am here reminded of a fact, of which I believe none of our present phrenologists are aware,—at least all their books confidently assert the very reverse. It is this,—that the new system is the result, not of experience, but of conjecture, and that Gall, instead of deducing the faculties from the organs, and generalising both from particular observations, first of all excogitated a faculty *a priori*, and then looked about for an organ with which to connect it. In short, Phrenology was not discovered but invented.

You must know, then, that there are two faculties, or rather two modifications of various faculties, which cut a conspicuous figure in the psychologies of Wolf and other philosophers of the Empire :—these are called in German *Tiefsinn* and *Scharfsinn*, —literally *deep sense* and *sharp sense*, but are now known in English phrenological language by the terms *Causality* and *Comparison*. Now what I wish you to observe is, that Gall found these two clumsy modifications of mind, ready shaped out in the previous theories of philosophy prevalent in his own country, and then in the language itself. Now, this being understood, you must also know that, in 1798, Gall published a letter to Retzer of Vienna, wherein he, for the first time, promulgates the nature of

> a See below, (d), On Frontal Sinus, p. 424.-ED. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft B

his doctrine, and we here catch him,—reum confitentem,—in the very act of conjecturing. In this letter he says: "I am not yet so far advanced in my researches as to have discovered special organs for Scharfsinn and Tiefsinn, (Comparison and Causality), for the principle of the Representative Faculty, (Vorstellungsvermögen,—another faculty in German philosophy), and for the different varieties of judgment, &c." In this sentence we see exhibited the real source and veritable derivation of the system.

In the *Darstellung* of Froriep, a favourite pupil of Gall, under whose eye the work was published in the year 1800, twenty-two organs are given, of which the greater proportion are now either translated to new localities, or altogether thrown out. We find also that the sought-for organs had, in the interval, been found for Scharfsinn, (Comparison), and Tiefsinn, (Causality); and what further exhibits the hypothetical genealogy of the doctrine, is, that a great number of organs are assumed, which lie wholly beyond the possible sphere of observation, at the base and towards the centre of the brain; as those of the External Senses, those of Desire, Jealousy, Envy, love of Power, love of Pleasure, love of Life, &c.

An organ of Sensibility is placed above that of Amativeness, between and below two organs of Philoprogenitiveness; an organ of Liberality, (its deficiency standing instead of an organ of Avarice or Acquisitiveness), is situated above the eyebrows, in the position now occupied by that of Time. An organ of Imagination is intimately connected with that of Theosophy or Veneration, towards the vertex of the head; and Veracity is problematically established above an organ of Parental Love. An organ of Vitality is not to be forgotten, situated in the *medulla oblongata*, the development of which is measured by the size of the *foramen magnum* and the thickness of the neck. These faculties and organs are all now cashiered; and who does not perceive that, like those of Causality and Comparison, which are still suffered to remain, they were first devised, and then quartered on some department of the brain?

We thus see that, in the first edition of the craniological hypothesis, there were several tiers or stories of organs,—some at the base, some about the centre, and others on the surface of the brain. Gall went to lecture through Germany, and among other places he lectured at Göttingen. Here an objection was stated to his system by the learned Meiners. Gall measured the development of

an external organ by its prominence. "How," says Meiners, "do you know that this prominence of the outer organ indicates its real size? May it not merely be pressed out, though itself of inferior volume, by the large development of a subjacent organ?" This objection it was easily seen was checkmate. A new game must be commenced, the pieces arranged again. Accordingly, all the organs at the base and about the centre of the brain were withdrawn, and the whole organs were made to run very conveniently upwards and outwards from the lower part of the brain to its outer periphery.

It would be tiresome to follow the history of phrenological variation through the works of Leune and Villars to those of Bischoff and Blöde,—which last represent the doctrine as it flourished in 1805. In these, the whole complement of organs which Gall ever admitted is detailed, with the exception of Ideality. But their position was still vacillating. For example, in Froriep, Bischoff, and Blöde, the organ of Destructiveness is exhibited as lying principally on the parietal bone, above and a little anterior to the organ of Combativeness; while the region of the temporal bone, above and before the opening of the ear, in other words, its present situation, is marked as *terra adhuc incognita*.

No circumstance, however, is more remarkable than the successive changes of shape in the organs. Nothing can be more opposite than the present form of these as compared with those which the great work of Gall exhibits. In Gall's plates they are round or oval, in the modern casts and plates they are of every variety of angular configuration; and I have been told that almost every new edition of these varies from the preceding. We may, therefore, well apply to the phrenologist and his organology the line of Horace^{α}—

"Diruit, ædificat, mutat quadrata rotundis,"

with this modification, that we must read in the latter part, *mutat* rotunda quadratis.

So much for Phrenology,—for the doctrine which would substitute the callipers for consciousness in the philosophy of man; and the result of my observation,—the result at which I would wish you also to arrive,—I cannot better express than in the language of the Roman poet β —

a Epist., lib. i. ep. i. 100.-ED. β Manilius, iv. 929.-ED. VOL. I. Univ Calif - Digitized by Micro²s Oft \mathbb{B}

"Materiæ ne quære modum, sed perspice vires Quas ratio, non pondus habet."

In what I have said in opposition to the phrenological doctrine, I should, however, regret if it could be ever supposed that I entertain any feeling of disrespect for those who are converted to this opinion. On the contrary, I am prompt to acknowledge that the sect comprises a large proportion of individuals of great talent; and I am happy to count among these some of my most valued and respected friends. To the question, How comes it that so many able individuals can be believers in a groundless opinion ?---I answer, that the opinion is not wholly groundless; it contains much of truth,-of old truth it must be allowed ; but it is assuredly no disparagement to any one that he should not refuse to admit facts so strenuously asserted, and which, if true, so necessarily infer the whole conclusions of the system. But as to the mere circumstance of numbers, that is of comparatively little weight,-argumentum pessimi turba, a - and the phrenological doctrines are of such a nature that they are secure of finding ready converts among the many. There have been also, and there are now, opinions far more universally prevalent than the one in question, which nevertheless we do not consider on that account to be underiable.

(b.) AN ACCOUNT OF EXPERIMENTS on the WEIGHT and RELATIVE PRO-PORTIONS OF the BRAIN, CEREBELLUM, and TUBER ANNULARE in MAN and ANIMALS, under the various circumstances of Age, Sex, Country, &c.

(Published in Dr MONRO'S Anatomy of the Brain, p. 4-8. Edinburgh, 1831.—ED.)

The following, among other conclusions, are founded on an induction drawn from above sixty human brains, from nearly three hundred human skulls, of determined sex,—the capacity of which, by a method I devised, was taken in sand, and the original weight of the brain thus recovered,—and from more than seven hundred brains of different animals.

a Seneca, De Vita Beata, c. 2.-ED. Mimi et aliorum Sententia, ed. Orellii, [After Publius Syrus] [See Publii Syri p. 14.-ED.]

1. In man, the adult male Encephalos is heavier than the female; the former nearly averaging, in the Scot's head, 3 lb. 8 oz. troy, the latter, 3 lb. 4 oz.; the difference, 4 oz. In males of this country, about one brain in seven is found above 4 lb. troy; in females, hardly one in one hundred.

2. In man, the Encephalos reaches its full size about seven years of age. This was never before proved. It is commonly believed that the brain and the body attain their full development together. The Wenzels rashly generalised from two cases the conclusion, that the brain reaches its full size about seven years of age; as Sömmering had in like manner, on a single case, erroneously assumed that it attains its last growth by three. Gall and Spurzheim, on the other hand, assert that the increase of the Encephalos is only terminated about forty. This result of my induction is deduced from an average of thirty-six brains and skulls of children, compared with an average of several hundred brains and skulls of adults. It is perhaps superfluous to observe, that it is the greater development of the bones, muscles, and hair, which renders the adult head considerably larger than that of the child of seven.

3. It is extremely doubtful whether the cranial contents usually diminish in old age. The vulgar opinion that they do, rests on no adequate evidence, and my induction would rather prove the negative.

4. The common doctrine, that the African brain, and in particular that of the Negro, is greatly smaller than the European, is false. By a comparison of the capacity of two Caffre skulls, male and female, and of thirteen negro crania (six male, five female, and two of doubtful sex), the encephalos of the African was found not inferior to the average size of the European.

5. In man, the Cerebellum, in relation to the Brain proper, comes to its full proportion about three years. This anti-phrenological fact is proved by a great induction.

6. It is extremely doubtful whether the Cerebellum usually diminishes in old age; probably only in cases of *atrophia senilis*.

7. The female Cerebellum is, in general, considerably larger in proportion to the Brain proper, than the male. In the human subject (the Tuber excluded), the former is nearly as 1 to 7.6; the latter nearly as 1 to 8.4: and this sexual difference appears to be more determinate in man than in most other animals. Almost

the whole difference of weight between the male and female encephali lies in the brain proper; the cerebella of the two sexes, absolutely, are nearly equal,—the preponderance rather in favour of the women. This observation is new; and the truth of the phrenological hypothesis implies the reverse. It confirms the theory of the function of the cerebellum noticed in the following paragraph.

8. The proportion of the Cerebellum to the Brain proper at birth varies greatly in different animals.^{α}

9. Castration has no effect in diminishing the Cerebellum, either absolutely or in relation to the Brain proper. β The opposite doctrine is an idle fancy, though asserted by the phrenologists as their most incontrovertible fact. Proved by a large induction.

10. The universal opinion is false, that man, of all or almost all animals, has the smallest Cerebellum in proportion to the Brain proper. Many of the commonest quadrupeds and birds have a cerebellum, in this relation, proportionally smaller than man.

11. What has not been observed, the proportion of the Tuber Annulare to the Cerebellum (and, *a majore*, to the Brain proper), is greatly less in children than in adults. In a girl of one year, (in my table of human brains), it is as 1 to 16.1; in another of two, as 1 to 14.8; in a boy of three, as 1 to 15.5; and the average of children under seven, exhibits the Pons,^{γ} in proportion to the cerebellum, much smaller than in the average of adults, in whom it is only as 1 to 8, or 1 to 9.

12. In specific gravity, contrary to the current doctrine, the encephalos and its parts vary very little, if at all, from one age to another. A child of two, and a woman of a hundred years, are, in this respect, nearly equal, and the intermediate ages show hardly more than individual differences.

13. The specific gravity of the brain does not vary in madness, (if one case of chronic insanity is to be depended on), contrary to what has been alleged. In fever it often does, and remarkably.

14. The Cerebellum, (the converse of the received opinion), has

a For the remainder of this section, see above, Appendix II. (a), p. 409, "Physiologists," &c., to p. 410, "motion."—ED.

 β The effect is, in fact, to increase the cerebellum. See the experiments recorded by M. Leuret, cited by Sir Benjamin Brodie, Psychological Inquiries, Note H.-ED.

 γ *I.e.*, the *Pons Varolii*, a term used by some anatomists as synonymous with the *Tuber Annulare*; and so here; though others distinguish between the two.—ED.

a greater specific gravity than the Brain proper; and this difference is considerably more marked in birds than in man and quadrupeds. The opinion also of the ancients is probably true, that the Cerebellum is harder than the Brain proper.

15. The human brain does not, as asserted, possess a greater specific gravity than that of other animals.

(c.) REMARKS ON DR MORTON'S TABLES ON THE SIZE OF THE BRAIN.

(Communicated to the *Edinburgh New Philosophical Journal*, conducted by Professor JAMESON. See Vol. XLVIII. p. 330 (1850). For Dr MORTON'S Tables, see the same Journal, Vol. XLVIII. p. 262.—ED.)

What first strikes me in Dr Morton's Tables, completely invalidates his conclusions,—he has not distinguished male from female crania. Now, as the female encephalos is, on an average, some four ounces troy less than the male, it is impossible to compare national skulls with national skulls, in respect of their capacity, unless we compare male with male, female with female heads, or, at least, know how many of either sex go to make up the national complement.

A blunder of this kind is made by Mr Sims, in his paper and valuable correlative table of the weight of 253 brains (Medico-Chirurgical Transactions, vol. xix.) He there attacks the result of my observation, (published by Dr Monro, A natomy of the Brain, &c., 1831), that the human encephalos, (brain proper and afterbrain), reaches its full size by seven years of age, perhaps somewhat earlier. In refutation of this paradox, he slumps the male and female brains together; and then, because he finds that the average weight of his adults, among whom the males are greatly the more numerous, is larger than the average weight of his impuberals, among whom the females preponderate, he jumps at once to the conclusion, that I am wrong, and that the encephalos continues to grow, to diminish, and to grow again (!), for,-I forget how long, after the period of maturity. Fortunately, along with his crotchets, he has given the detail of his weighings; and his table, when properly arranged, confutes himself, and superfluously confirms me. That is, comparing the girls with the women, and the boys

with the men, it appears, from his own induction, that the cranial contents do reach the average amount, even before the age of seven.

Tiedemann, (*Das Hirn des Negers, &c.*, 1837, p. 4), notes the contradiction of Sims' result and mine; but he does not solve it. The same is done, and not done, by Dr Bostock, in his *Physiology*. Tiedemann, however, remarks, that his own observations coincide with mine (p. 10); as is, indeed, evident from his Table, (p. 11), "Of the cranial capacity from birth to adolescence," though, unfortunately, in that table, but in that alone, he has not discriminated the sex.

Dr Morton's conclusion as to the comparative size of the Negro brain, is contrary to Tiedemann's larger, and to my smaller, induction, which concur in proving, that the Negro encephalos is not less than the European, and greatly larger than the Hindoo, the Ceylonese, and sundry other Asiatic brains. But the vice, already noticed, of Dr Morton's induction, renders it, however extensive, of no cogency in the question.

Dr Morton's method of measuring the capacity of the cranium, is, certainly, no "invention" of his friend Mr Philips, being, in either form, only a clumsy and unsatisfactory modification of mine. Tiedemann's millet-seed affords, likewise, only an inaccurate approximation to the truth; for seeds, as found by me, vary in weight according to the drought and moisture of the atmosphere, and are otherwise ill adapted to recover the size of the brain in the smaller animals. The physiologists who have latterly followed the method of filling the cranium, to ascertain the amount of the cranial contents, have adopted, not without perversion, one-half of my process, and altogether omitted the other. After rejecting mustard-seed, which I first thought of employing, and for the reasons specified, I found that pure silicious sand was the best mean of accomplishing the purpose, from its suitable ponderosity, incompressibility, equality of weight in all weathers, and tenuity. Tiedemann, (p. 21), says, that he did not employ sand, "because, by its greater specific gravity, it might easily burst the cranial bones at the sutures." He would, by trial, have found that this objection is futile. The thinnest skull of the youngest infant can resist the pressure of sand, were it many times greater than it is; even Morton's lead shot proved harmless in this respect. But,

while nothing could answer the purpose better than sand, still this afforded only one, and that an inadequate, mean towards an end. Another was requisite. By weighing the brain of a young and healthy convict, who was hanged, and afterwards weighing the sand which his prepared cranium contained. I determined the proportion of the specific gravity of cerebral substance, (which in all ages and animals is nearly equal), to the specific gravity of the sand which was employed. I thus obtained a formula by which to recover the original weight of the encephalos in all the crania which were filled; and hereby brought brains weighed and skulls gauged into a universal relation. On the contrary, the comparisons of Tiedemann and Morton, as they stand, are limited to their own Tables. I have once and again tested the accuracy of this process, by experiment, in the lower animals, and have thus perfect confidence in the certainty of its result, be the problem to recover the weight of the encephalos from the cranium of a sparrow, or from the cranium of an elephant.

I may conclude by saying, that I have now established, apart from the proof by averages, that the human encephalos does not increase after the age of seven, at highest. This has been done, by measuring the heads of the same young persons, from infancy to adolescence and maturity; for the slight increase in the size of the head, after seven (or six) is exhausted by the development to be allowed in the bones, muscles, integuments, and hair.

(The following is an unpublished Memorandum in reference to preceding.-ED.)

March 23, 1850.

Found that the specific weight of the sand I had employed for measuring the capacity of crania, was that the sand filling 32 cubic inches weighed 12,160 grains.

Found at the same time that the millet-seed occupying the same number of cubic inches, weighed 5665 grains.

Thus the proportion of millet-seed to sand, in specific gravity, is as 1:2.147.

One cubic inch thus contains 380 grains saud; and 177 grains millet-seed.

423

(d.) ORIGINAL RESEARCHES ON THE FRONTAL SINUSES, WITH OBSERVA-TIONS ON THEIR BEARINGS ON THE DOGMAS OF PHRENOLOGY.

(From The Medical Times, May 1845, Vol. XII. p. 159; June 7, 1845, Vol. XII. p. 177; August 1845, Vol. XII. p. 371.-ED.)

Before proceeding to state in detail the various facts and fictions relative to the Frontal Sinus,^{α} it will be proper to premise some necessary information touching the nature and relations of the sinuses themselves.

These cruces phrenologorum are two cavities, separated from each other by a perpendicular osseous partition, and formed between the tables of the frontal bone, in consequence of a divergence of these tables from their parallelism, as they descend to join the bones of the nose, and to build the orbits of the eye. They are not, however, mere inorganic vacuities, arising from the recession of the bony plates; they constitute a part of the olfactory apparatus; they are lined with a membrane, a continuation of the pituitary, and this, copiously supplied with blood, secretes a lubricating mucus which is discharged by an aperture into the nose.

Various theories have been proposed to explain the mode of their formation; but it is only the fact of their existence, frequency, and degree, with which we are at present interested. In the fœtus manifested only in rudiment, they are gradually, but in different subjects variously, developed, until the age of puberty; they appear to obtain their ultimate expansion towards the age of twenty-five. They are exclusively occasioned by the elevation

 α It is proper to observe, that the notes of which the following is an abstract, were written above sixteen years ago, and have not since been added to or even looked at. They were intended for part of a treatise to be entitled "The Fictions of Phrenology and the Facts of Nature." My researches, however, particularly into the relations of the cerebellum, and the general growth of the brain, convinced me that the phrenological doctrine was wholly unworthy of a serious refutation; and should the detail of my observations on these points be ever published, it will not be done in a polemical form. My notes on the frontal sinuses having, however, been cast in relation to the phrenological hypothesis, I have not thought it necessary to take the labour of altering them,—especially as the phrenological fiction is, in truth, a complement of all possible errors on the subject of these cavities.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

424

of the external table, which determines, in fact, the rise of the nose at the period of adolescence, by affording to the nasal bones their formation and support.

Sundry hypotheses have likewise been advanced to explain their uses, but it will be enough for us, from the universality of their appearance, to refute the singular fancy of the phrenologists, that these cavities are abnormal varieties, the product of old age or disease.

But though the sinuses are rarely if ever absent, their size in every dimension varies to infinity. Laying aside all rarer enormities, and speaking, of course, only of subjects healthy and in the prime of life, in superficial extent the sinus sometimes reaches hardly above the root of the nose, sometimes it covers nearly the whole forehead, penetrates to the bottom of the orbit, and, turning the external angle of the eyebrow, is terminated only at the junction of the frontal and parietal bones. Now, a sinus is small, or almost null upon one side,—on the other it is, perhaps, unusually large; while in no dimension are the two cavities, in general, strictly correspondent, even although the outer forehead present the most symmetrical appearance. In depth (or transverse distance between the tables) the sinus is equally inconstant, varying indeterminably in different heads, from a line or less to half an inch and more. Now, a sinus gradually disappears by a gradual convergence of its walls; now, these walls, after running nearly parallel, suddenly unite. Now, the depth of the cavity decreases from centre to circumference: now, the plates approximate in the middle and recede farther from each other, immediately before they ultimately unite. In one cranium, a sinus, collected within itself, is fairly rounded off; in another, it runs into meandering bays, or is subdivided into separate chambers, these varying without end in their relative capacity and extent. In depth, as well as in extent, the capacity of the sinus is thus wholly indeterminable; and no one can predict, from external observation, whether the cavity shall be a lodging scanty for a fly or roomy for a mouse.

It is an error of the grossest, that the extent of the sinus is indicated by a ridge, or crest, or blister, in the external bony plate. Such a protuberance has no certain or even probable relation to the extent, depth, or even existence, of any vacuity beneath.

Over the largest cavities there is frequently no bony elevation; and women, in whose crania these protuberances are in general absent or very small, exhibit the sinuses as universally existent. and not, perhaps, proportionably less extensive than those of men. The external ridge, however prominent, is often merely a sudden outward thickening of the bony wall, which sometimes has a small, sometimes no cavity at all, beneath. Apart also from the vacuity, though over the region of the sinus, no quarter of the cranium presents greater differences in thickness, whether in different subjects or in the same head, than the plates and diploe of the frontal bone; and I have found that the bony walls themselves presented an impediment which varied inappreciably from three to thirteen lines :--- "fronti nulla fides."

But the "fronti nulla fides," in a phrenological relation, is further illustrated by the accidents of its sinus, which all concur in manifesting the universality and possibly capacious size of that cavity. That cavity is sometimes occupied by stony concretions, and is the seat of ulcers, cancer, polypus, and sarcoma. When acutely inflamed the sensibility of its membrane becomes painfully intense; and every one has experienced its irritation when simply affected with catarrh. The mucosity of this membrane, the great extent and security of the caverns, joined with their patent openings into the nose, render the sinuses a convenient harbour for the nidulation, hatching, and nourishment of many parasitic animals; indeed, the motley multitude of its guests might almost tempt us to regard it as

> ----- "The cistern for all creeping things To knot and gender in."a

"Chacun a son Vercoquin dans la teste"-" Quemque suus vellicat Vermis"-are adages which, from the vulgarity of the literal occurrence, would seem more than metaphorically true.^{β} With a frequency sometimes epidemic, γ flies and insects here ascend to spawn their eggs, and maggots (other than phrenologi-

toads

To knot and gender in."

Othello, act iv. sc. 2.-ED. β In the frontal sinuses worms and insects are not unfrequently found.-

a "Or keep it as a cistern for foul Voigtel, Handb. d. Pathol. Anat., 1804, vol. i. p. 292. I quote him, instar omnium, as one of the best and one of the most recent authorities.

γ Forestus, Obs. Med., lib. xxi. schol. 28.

cal) are bred and fostered in these genial labyrinths. Worms, in every loathsome diversity of slime and hair,—reptiles armed with fangs,—crawlers of a hundred feet,—ejected by the score, and varying from an inch to half an ell in length, cause by their suction, burrowing, and erosion, excruciating headache, convulsions, delirium, and phrensy. With many a nameless or nondescript visitor, the leech, the lumbricus, the ascaris, the ascaris lumbricoides, the fasciola, the eruca, the oniscus, the gordius, the forficula, the scolopendra, the scorpiodes, and even the scorpion,^a are by a hundred observers recorded as finding in these "antres vast,"—these "spelunci ferarum,"—a birthplace or an asylum. β And the fact, sufficiently striking in itself, is not without significance in relation to the present inquiry, that these intruders

α Hollerius, De Morb. Int., lib. i. c. 1; Gesner, Hist. Anat., lib. v.; Boneti, Sepul. Obs., 121; Ferretti.—I here refer to the scorpion alone.

β Long before the sinus was anatomically described by Carpi, this pathological fact had been well known to physicians. The prescription of the Delphic oracle to Demosthenes of Athens for his epilepsy, shows that the Greeks were aware of the existence of worms in the frontal sinuses of the goat. (Alex. Trallian, lib. i. c. 15.) Among the Arabians, Avicenna (Fenestella, lib. iii. tr. 2, c. 3) tells us it was well known to the Indian physicians, that worms, generated in the forehead, immediately above the root of the nose, were frequently the cause of headaches; and Rhazes (Continet, lib. i. c. 10) observes that this was the opinion of Schare and others. Among the moderns, my medical ignorance suggests more authorities than I can almost summon patience simply to name. The curious reader may consult, among others, Valescus de Taranta, Nicolaus de Nicolis, Vega, Marcellus Donatus, Trincavelli, Benedetti, Hollerius, Duretus, Fabricius Hildanus, Zacuta Lusitanus, Hercules de Saxonia, Petrus Paulus Magnus, Angellinus, Alsarius, Cornelius Gemma, Gesner,

Benevenius, Fernelius, Riolanus, Forestus, Bartholinus, Ferretti, Rolfinck, Olaus Wormius (who himself ejected a worm from the nose-was it a family affection ?), Smetius (who also relates his own case), Tulpius, Heurnius, Roussæus, Monardis, Schenk, Senertus, Montuus, Borelli, Bonetus, Hertodius, Kerkringius, Joubert, Volkammer, Wohlfarth, Nannoni, Stalpert, Vander Wiel, Morgagni, Clericus, De Blegny, Salzmann, Honold, Hill, Kilgour, Littré, Maloet, Sandifort, Henkel, Harder, Stocket, Slabber, Nil Rosen, Razoux, Schaarschmidt, Quelmatz, Wolf, Blumenbach, Ploucquet, Baur, Riedlin, Zacharides, Lange, Boettcher, Welge, Wrisberg, Troia, Voigtel, Rudolphi, Bremser, &c. &c.; and of journals-Ephem. Misc. ; Acta et Nova Acta Curios. Nat.; Commerc. Liter., Nov. 2; Breslauer Sammlung; Duncan's Med. Journ.; Edinb. Med. Essays; London Chronicle; Philadelphia Blumenbach's Transactions; Med. Bibl., &c., &c.

I may here mention that the nidulation of the œstrus ovinus (which occasionally infests the human sinus) forms a frequent epidemic among sheep and goats. The horse, the dog (and probably most other animals) are similarly atflicted.

principally infest the sinuses of women, and more especially before the period of full puberty.

Such is the great and inappreciable variation of the frontal sinus and its walls, that we may well laugh at every attempt to estimate, in that quarter, the development of any part of the subjacent hemispheres, were that part larger than the largest even of the pretended phrenological organs. But this is nothing. Behind these spacious caverns, in utter ignorance of the extent, frequency, and even existence of this impediment, the phrenologists have placed, not one large, but seventeen of their very smallest organs ; and have thus enabled an almost insurmountable obstacle to operate in disproof of their system in its highest intensity.

By concentrating all their organs of the smallest size within the limits of the sinus, they have, in the first place, carried all those organs whose range of development was least, behind the obstacle whose range of development was greatest. Where the cranium is thinner and comparatively more equal in thickness, they have placed all the organs (those of the propensities and sentiments), which present the broadest surface, and, as they themselves assure us, varying in their development from the centre to circumference by an inch and upwards; while all the organs, (those of the intellect), which have the narrowest expansion, and whose varying range of development from the centre is stated to be only a quarter of an inch, (less even than the fourth of the variation of the others),^a-these have been accumulated behind an impediment whose ordinary differences are far more than sufficient to explain every gradation of the pretended development of the pretended organs from their smallest to their largest size.

In the second place, they have thus at once thrown one half of their whole organology beyond the verge of possible discovery and possible proof.

In the third place, by thus evincing that their observations on that one half had been only illusive fancies, they have afforded a criterion of the credit to be fairly accorded to their observations in relation to the other; they have shown in this, as in other parts

 α Combe's System, &c., p. 31. "The amounts to an inch and upwards; and difference in development between a to a quarter of an inch in the organs of large and a small organ of the pro-intellect, which are naturally smaller pensities and some of the sentiments, than the others."

of their doctrine, that *manifestation* and *development* are quantities which, be they what they may, can on their doctrine always be brought to an equation.

Nay, in the fourth place, as if determined to transcend themselves—to find "a lower deep beneath the lowest deep," they have even placed the least of their least organs at the very point where this, the greatest obstacle, was in its highest potency, by placing the organs of configuration, size, weight, and resistance, &c., towards the internal angle of the eyebrow, the situation where the sinus is almost uniformly deepest.^a

Nor, in the fifth place, were they less unfortunate in the location of the rest of their minutest organs. These they arranged in a series along the upper edge of the orbit, where, independently even of the sinus, the bone varies more in thickness, from one individual and from one nation to another, than in any other part of the skull; and where these organs, hardly larger, are packed together more closely than peas in a pod. These pretended organs, if they even severally protruded from the brain, as they never do-if no sinus intervened-and if, instead of lying under the thickest, they were situate under the thinnest bone of the cranium ; these petty organs could not, even in these circumstances, reveal their development by determining any elevation, far less any sudden elevation, of the incumbent bone. That bone they could only attenuate at the point of contact, by causing an indentation on its inner surface. This is shown by what are called the glands of Pacchioni, though erroneously. These bodies, which are often found as large as, or larger than, the organs in question, and which arise on the coronal surface of the encephalos, attenuate to the thinnest, but never elevate in the slightest, the external bony plate, though there the action of the muscles presents a smaller impediment to a partial elevation than in the superciliary region. This I have frequently taken note of.

As it is, these minute organs are expected to betray their distinct and relative developments through the obstacle of two thick bony walls, and a large intervening chamber; the varying differ-

a Every one who has ever examined in loco fere ossium laminæ a se invicem the sinus knows that what Schulze has maxime distant."—(De Cav. Cranii; observed is true: "In illo angulo qui Acta Phys. Med. Acad. Cas., i. p. ad nares est, cavitatis fundus est, et hoc 508.)

ence of the impediment being often considerably greater than the whole diameter even of the organs themselves. The fact, however, is, that these organs are commonly, if not always, developed only in the bone, and may be cut out of the cranium, even in an impuberal skull destitute of the sinus, without trenching on the confines of the brain itself. At the external angle of the eyebrow at the organ of slumber, the bone, exclusive of any sinus, is sometimes found to exceed an inch in thickness.

How then have the phrenologists attempted to obviate the objection of the sinus?

The first organs which Gall excogitated, he placed in the region of the sinus; and it is manifest he was then in happy unacquaintance with everything connected with that obnoxious cavity. ignorance, however, Gall was totally eclipsed by Spurzheim; who, while he seems even for a time unaware of its existence as a normal occurrence, has multiplied the number and diminished the size of the organs which the sinus regularly covers. By both the founders, their organology was published before they had discovered the formidable nature of the impediment, and then it was too late to retract. They have attempted, indeed, to elude the objection ; but the manner in which they have floundered on from blunder to blunder,-blunders not more inconsistent with each other, than contrary to the fact,-shows that they have never dared to open their eyes on the reality, or never dared to acknowledge their conviction of its effect. The series of fictions in relation to the frontal sinus, is, out of Phrenology, in truth, unparalleled in the history of science. These fictions are substituted for facts the simplest and most palpable in nature; they are substituted for facts contradicted by none, and proclaimed by every anatomical authority; and they are substituted for facts which, as determining the competency of phrenological proof, ought not to have been rejected without a critical refutation by the founders of that theory themselves. But while it seemed possible for the phrenologists to find only truth, they have yet continued to find nothing but errorerror always at the greatest possible distance from the truth. But if they were thus so curiously wrong in matters so easy, notorious, and fundamental, how far may we not presume them to have gone astray where they were not, as it were, preserved from wandering?

The fictions by which phrenologists would obviate the objec-

tion of the frontal sinus, may, with the opposing facts, be divided into four classes ;—as they relate 1°, to its *nature* and *effect*; 2°, to its *indication*; 3°, to its *frequency*; and 4°, to its *size*.

I.-NATURE AND EFFECT OF THE SINUS.

Fact.—The frontal sinus only exists in consequence of the recession of the two cranial tables from their parallelism; and as this recession is inappreciable, consequently, no indication is afforded by the external plate of the eminence or depression of the brain, in contact with the internal.

To this fact, Gall opposed the following

Fiction.—The frontal sinus interposes no impediment to the observation of cerebral development; for as the walls of this cavity are exactly parallel, the effect of the brain upon the inner table must consequently be expressed by the outer.

Authorities for the Fiction.—This fiction was originally advanced by Gall, in his Lectures, and, though never formally retracted, has not been repeated by him or Spurzheim in their works subsequently published. I therefore adduce it, not as an opinion now actutally held by the phrenologists, but as a part only of that cycle of vacillation and absurdity which, in their attempts to elude the objection of the sinus, they have fruitlessly accomplished. That it was so originally advanced, is shown by the following authorities; which, as beyond the reach of readers in general, I shall not merely refer to, but translate.

The first is Froriep; and I quote from the 3d edition of his *Darstellung*, &c., which appeared in 1802. This author was a pupil and friend of Gall, on whose doctrine he delivered lectures, and his work is referred to by Gall, in his *Apologetic Memorial* to the Austrian Government, in that very year, as containing an authentic exposition of his opinions.—" Although at this place the frontal sinuses are found, and here constitute the vaulting of the forehead, nevertheless, Gall maintains that the brain, in consequence of the walls of the sinuses lying quite parallel (? !), is able to affect likewise the outer plate, and to determine its protuberance."—P. 61. The doubt and wonder are by the disciple himself.

The second authority is Bartel's, whose Anthropologische Bemerkungen appeared in 1806. "In regard to the important ob-

jection drawn from the frontal sinuses, Gall's oral reply is very conformable to nature. 'Here, notwithstanding the intervening cavity in the bones, there is found a parallelism between the external and internal plates of the cranium.'"—P. 125.

Proof of the Fact.—In refutation of a fiction so ridiculous, it is unnecessary to say a single word; even the phrenologists now define the sinus by "a divergence from parallelism between the two tables of the bone."^{α}

It was only in abandoning this one fiction, and from the conviction that the sinus, when it existed, did present an insuperable obstacle to observation, that the phrenologists were obliged to resort to a plurality of fictions of far inferior efficacy; for what mattered it to them, whether these cavities were indiscoverable, frequent, and capacious, if, in effect, they interpose no obstacle to an observation of the brain ?

II.—INDICATION OF THE SINUS.

Fact.—There is no correlation between the extent and existence of a sinus, and the existence and extent of any elevation, whether superciliary or glabellar; either may be present without the other, and when both are coexistent they hold no reciprocal proportion in dimension or figure. Neither is there any form whatever of cranial development which guarantees either the absence or the presence of a subjacent cavity.

To this fact the phrenologists are unanimous in opposing the following

Fiction.—The sinus, when present, betrays its existence and extent by an irregular elevation of a peculiar character, under the appearance of a bony ridge, or crest, or blister, and is distinguished from the regular forms under which the phrenological organs are developed.

Authorities for the Fiction.—It is sufficient to adduce Gall^{β} and Spurzheim,^{γ} followed by Combe,^{δ} and the phrenologists in general. In support of their position, they adduce no testimony by anatomists,—no evidence from nature.

a Combe, System, p. 32. β Annat. et Phys., t. iv. p. 43 et seq.; and, in the same terms, Sur les Fonct. γ Phys. Syst., p. 236; Exam. of Object., p. 79; Phren., p. 115. δ Syst., pp. 21, 35, 308.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

432

Proof of the fact.-All anatomical authority, as will be seen in the sequel, is opposed to the fiction, for every anatomist concurs in holding that the sinuses are rarely, if ever, absent ; whereas the crests or blisters which the phrenologists regard as an index of these cavities, are of comparatively rare occurrence. It must be admitted, however, that some anatomists have rashly connected the extent of the internal sinus with the extent of the external elevation. The statement of the fact is the result of my own observation of above three hundred crania; and any person who would in like manner interrogate nature, will find that the largest sinuses are frequently in those foreheads which present no superciliary or glabellar elevations. I may notice, that of the fifty skulls whose phrenological development was marked under the direction of Spurzheim, and of which a table is appended, the one only head where the frontal sinuses are noted, from the ridge, as present, is the male cranium No. 19; and that cranium, it will be seen, has sinuses considerably beneath even the average extent.

III.-FREQUENCY OF THE SINUS.

Fact.—The sinuses are rarely, if ever, wanting in any healthy adult head of either sex.

To this fact, the phrenologists oppose the three following inconsistent fictions :---

Fiction I.—The sinuses are only to be found in some male heads, being frequently absent in men until a pretty advanced age.

Fiction II.-In women the sinuses are rarely found.

Fiction III.—The presence of the sinus is abnormal; young and adult persons have no cavities between the tables of the frontal bone,—the real frontal sinuses occurring only in old persons, or after chronic insanity.

Authorities for fiction I.—This fiction is held in terms by Gall.^a The other phrenologists, as we shall see, are much further in the wrong. But even for this fiction they have adduced no testimony of other observers, and detailed no observations of their own.

Proof of the fact in opposition to this fiction.—All anatomists —there is not a single exception—concur in maintaining a doc-

a As quoted above.

trine diametrically opposed to the figment of the phrenologists that the sinuses are, even in men, frequently or generally absent. Some, however, assert that the sinus in a state of health is *never* wanting; while others insist that, though *very rarely*, cases do occur in which it is actually deficient.

Of the latter opinion, Fallopius a holds that they are present "in all adults," except occasionally in the case of simous foreheads, an exception which Riolanus^β and others have shown to be false. Schulze, Winslow, 8 Buddeus, " "that they are sometimes absolutely wanting in cases where the cranium is spongy and honeycombed." Palfyn,⁵" that they are sometimes, though rarely, absent. Wittich," "that they are almost always present, though it may be admitted, that in some very rare eases they are wanting;" and Stalpart Van der Wiel^e relates, that "he had seen in Nuck's Museum, preserved as a special rarity, a cranium without a frontal sinus." Of more recent authorities, Hippolyte Cloquet observes, "that they are seldom wanting;" and the present Dr Monro " found, in forty-five skulls, that while three only were without the sinus, in two of them (as observed by Schulze, Winslow, and Buddeus), the cavity had merely been filled up by the deposition of a spongy bone.

Of the former opinion, which holds that the sinus is always present, I need only quote, *instar omnium*, the authority of Blumenbach, whose illustrious reputation is in a peculiar manner associated with the anatomy of the human cranium, and who even celebrated his professional inauguration by a dissertation, in some respects the most elaborate we possess, on the Frontal Sinuses themselves. This anatomist cannot be persuaded, even on the observation of Highmore, Albinus, Haller, and the first Monro, that normal cases ever occur of so improbable a defect; "for," he says, "independently of the diseases afterwards to be considered, I can with difficulty admit, that healthy individuals are ever wholly destitute of the frontal sinus; on the contrary, I am convinced

. a Opera.

β Comm. de Oss., p. 468.

γ De Sin. Oss. Cap.; Acta. Phys. Med. Leop. Cas., vol. i. obs. 288.

δ Expos. Anat., Tr. des Oss. Secs., sec. 30.

e Obs. Anat. Sel., obs. 1.

ζ Ost., p. 105.

η De Olfactu, p. 17.

θ Obs. Rar., Cent. Post., pars prior, obs. 4.

1 Anat. Descr., sec. 153, ed. 1824.

к Elem. of Anat., i. p. 134.

λ De Sin. Front., p. 5.

that these distinguished men have not applied the greatest diligence and research." In this opinion, as observed by the present Dr Monro, a Blumenbach is supported by the concurrence of Bertin, Portal, Sömmering, Caldani, &c. Nor does the fiction obtain any countenance from the authors whom Blumenbach opposes. I have consulted them, and find that they are all of that class of anatomists who regard the absence of the sinus, though a possible, as a rare and memorable phenomenon. Highmore β founds his assertion on the single case of a female. Albinus, γ on his own observation, and on that of other anatomists, declares that "the sinuses are very rarely absent." The first Monro, δ speaking of their infinite variety in size and figure, notices as a remarkable occurrence that he had "even seen cases in which they were absolutely wanting." And Haller ϵ is only able to establish the exception on the case of a solitary cranium.

My own experience is soon stated. Having examined above three hundred crania for the purpose of determining this point, I have been unable to find a single skull wholly destitute of a sinus. In crania, which were said to be examples of their absence, I found that the sinus still existed. In some, indeed, I found it only on one side, and in many not ascending to the point of the glabellar region, through which crania are usually cut round. The only instances of its total deficiency are, I believe, those abnormal cases in which, as observed by anatomists, the original cavity has been subsequently occupied by a punicose deposit. Of this deposit the only examples I met with occurred in males.

Authorities for fiction II.—This fiction also is in terms maintained by Gall. \leq Neither he nor any other phrenologist has adduced any proof of this paradox, nor is there, I believe, to be found a single authority for its support; while its refutation is involved in the refutation already given to fiction I. Nannoni, τ indeed, says—" the opinion of Fallopius that the frontal sinuses are often wanting in women, is refuted by observation;" but Fallopius says nothing of the sort. It is also a curious circumstance, that the great majority of cases in which worms, &c., have been found in

a Elem., vol. i. p. 133.

β Disq. Anat., lib. iii. c. 4.

 γ Annot. Acad., lib. i. c. 11, et Tab. Oss.

δ Osteol. par Sue, p. 54.

€ Elem. Phys., v. p. 138.

ζ As above.

η Trattato de Anatomia, 1788, p. 55.

the sinus, have occurred in females. This is noticed by Salzmann and Honold.ª

My own observations, extending, as I have remarked, to above three hundred crania, confirm the doctrine of all anatomists, that in either sex the absence of this cavity is a rare and abnormal phænomenon, if not an erroneous assertion. I may notice, by the way, the opinion of some anatomists, & that the sinuses are smaller in women than in men, seems to be the result of too hasty an induction; and I am inclined to think, from all I have observed, that proportionally to the less size of the female cranium, they will be found equally extensive with the male.

Authorities for fiction III.—This fiction was maintained by Spurzheim while in this country, from one of whose publications γ it is extracted. It is, perhaps, one of the highest flights of phrenological fancy. Nor has it failed of exciting emulation in the sect. "While a man," says Sir George Mackenzie, 5" is in the prime of life, and healthy, and manifests the faculties of the frontal organs, such a cavity very seldom exists." (!) * * * * * " We have examined a GREAT MANY skulls, and we have not yet seen ONE having the sinus, that could be proved to have belonged to a person in the vigour of life and mind." (!!) Did Sir George ever see any skull which belonged to any "person in the vigour of life and mind" without a sinus? Did he ever see any adult skull of any person whatever in which such a cavity was not to be found ?

Proof of the fact, in opposition to this fiction.-This fiction deserves no special answer. It is already more than sufficiently refuted under the first.

It is true, indeed, the doctrine that the frontal sinuses wax large in old age is stated in many anatomical works. I find it as far back as those of Vidus Vidius and Fallopius, but I find no ground for such a statement in nature. This I assert on a comparative examination of some thirty aged skulls. In fact, about the smallest frontal sinus that I ever saw, was in the head of a woman who was accidentally killed in her hundred and first year. (See also the appended Table.) I take this indeed for one of the instances in which anatomical authors have blindly copied each other; so

a De Verme Naribus Excusso, (Haly Answer to Objections against the ler, Disp. Med. Pract., i. n. 25.) Doctrines of Gall, &c., p. 79.

β Instar omnium, v. Sömmering, De Fabr. Corp. Humani, i. sec. 62.

δ Illustrations, p. 228.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

436

that what originates in a blunder or a rash induction ends in having, to appearance, almost catholic authority in its favour. A curious instance of this sequacity occurs to me. The common fowl has an encephalos, in proportion to its body, about as one to five hundred; that is, it has a brain less, by relation to its body, than almost any other bird or beast. Pozzi (Puteus), in a small table which he published, gave the proportion of the encephalos of the cock to its body, by a blunder, at about half its amount; that is, as one to two hundred and fifty. Haller, copying Pozzi's observation, dropt the cipher, and records in his table, the brain of the common fowl as bearing a proportion to the body of one to twenty-five. This double error was shortly copied by Cuvier, Tiedemann, and, as I have myself noticed, by some twenty other physiologists; so that, at the present moment, to dispute the fact of the common fowl having a brain more than double the size of the human, in proportion to its body, would be to maintain a paradox counter to the whole stream of scientific authority. The doctrine of the larger the sinus the older the skull, stands, I bclieve, on no better footing. Indeed, the general opinion, that the brain contracts in the decline of life, is, to say the least of it, very doubtful, as I may take another opportunity of showing.

As to the effect of chronic insanity in amplifying the sinuses, I am a sceptic; for I have seen no such effect in the crania of madmen which I have inspected. At all events, admitting the phrenological fancy, it could have no influence on the question, for the statistics of insanity show, that there could not be above one cranium in four hundred where madness could have exerted any effect.

IV.-EXTENT OF THE SINUS.

Fact.—While the sinus is always regularly present, it, however, varies appreciably in its extent. For whilst, on the average, it affects six or seven organs, it is, however, impossible to determine whether it be confined to one or extended to some seventeen of these.

This fact is counter to three phrenological fictious:

Fiction I.—The frontal sinus is a small cavity.

Fiction II.—The frontal sinus, when present, affects only the organ of Locality.

Fiction III.—When the sinus does exist, it only extends an obstacle over two organs, (Size and Lower Individuality), or, at most, partially affects a third, (Locality).

Authorities for fiction I.—Mr Combe^{α} maintains this fiction, that the frontal sinus "is a small cavity."

Authorities for fiction II.—Gall β contemplates and speaks of the sinus as only affecting Locality; and the same may be said of Spurzheim, in his earlier English works.^{γ}

Authorities for fiction III.—This fiction is that into which Spurzheim modified his previous paradoxes, when, in 1825, he published his "Phrenology." δ Mr Combe allows that the sinus, in ordinary cases, extends over Locality, as well as over Size and Lower Individuality.

All these fictions are, however, sufficiently disproved at once by the following

Proof of the fact.—The phrenologists term the sinus, (when they allow it being), "a small cavity." Compare this with the description given by impartial anatomists of these caverns. Vidus Vidius ϵ characterises them by "spatium non parvum;" Bauhinus ϵ styles them "cavitates insignes;" Spigelius," "cavernæ satis amplæ;" Laurentius, "sinus amplissimi;" Bartholinus, "cavitates amplissimæ;" Petit, "grands cavités irregulières;" Sabatier, " cavités larges et profondes;" Sömmering, " "cava ampla;" Monro primus, "great cavities;" and his grandson, " "large cavities."

The phrenologists further assert, that in ordinary cases the frontal sinus covers only two petty organs and a half; that is, extends only a few lines beyond the root of the nose. But what teach the anatomists? "The frontal sinuses," says Portal,^o "are much more extensive than is generally believed." "In general," says Professor Walther,[#] "the sinuses ascend in height nearly to the middle of the frontal bone." Patissier^ρ observes, that "their

a System, p. 32.

β As quoted above.

 γ Phys. Syst., p. 236, and Exam. of Obj., p. 79.

- δ P. 115.
- € Anat., lib. ii. c. 2.
- ζ Anat., lib. iii. c. 5.
- η De Fabr., lib. ii. c. 5.
- θ Hist. Anat., lib. ii. c. 9.

- . Anat., lib. iv. c. 6.
- к Palfyn An., ch. i. p. 52.
- λ Anat.
- µ De Fab., i. sec. 35.
- v Osteol. par Sue, p. 54.
- ξ Elements.
- o Anat. Med., i. pp. 102, 238.
- π Abh. v. trokn. Kn., p. 133.
- ρ Dict. des Sc. Med., t. li. p. 372.

extent varies to infinity, is sometimes stretched upwards to the frontal protuberances, and to the sides, as far as the external orbitar apophyses, as is seen in many crania in the cabinet of the Paris Faculty of Medicine." Bichat^a delivers the same doctrine nearly in the same words ; which, contradicted by none, is maintained by Albinus,^β Haller,^γ Buddeus,^δ Monro primus,^e and tertius, ζ Blumenbach, η Sömmering, θ Fife, Cloquet, K Velpeau, λ -and, in a word, by every osteologist; for all represent these cavities as endless in their varieties, and extending not unfrequently to the outer angles of the evebrow, and even to the parietal bones. To finish by a quotation from one of the last and best observers :--- "In relation," says Voigtel," "to their abnormal greatness or smallness, the differences, in this respect, whether in one subject as compared with another, or in one sinus in relation to the opposite of the same skull, are of so frequent occurrence that they vary almost in every cranium. They are found so small, that their depth, measured from before backwards, is hardly more than a line : in others, on the contrary, a space of from four, five, to six lines, (i, e, half an inch), is found between the anterior and posterior wall. Still more remarkable are the variations of these cavities, in relation to their height, as they frequently rise from the trifling height of four lines to an inch at the glabella." M. Velpeau, speaking of this great and indeterminable extent of the sinus, adds: "this disposition must prevent us from being able to judge of the volume of the anterior parts of the brain by the exterior of the cranium;"- an observation sufficiently obvious in relation to Phrenology, and previously made by the present Dr Monro."

On the sinus and its extent, two anatomists only, as far as I am aware, have given an articulate account of their inductions --Schulze, and the present Dr Monro.

The former, & who wrote a distinct treatise On the Cavities or Sinuses of the Cranial Bones, examined only ten skulls, and does

a Anat. Descr., c. i. p. 102.
β Annot. Acad., lib. i. c. ii. (?)
γ Elem., v. p. 138.
δ Obs. Anat., sec. 8.

e Osteol. par Sue, p. 54.

ζ Elements. η Anat. θ Anat. Descr., t. i. sec. 153, edit. 3. ι Traité d'Anat. Chir.

- к De Sin. Fr., p. 3.
- λ De Fab., c. ii. sec. 94.
- μ Path. Anat., i. p. 289.
- v Elem., p. 133.
- E Loc. cit.

not detail the dimension of each several sinus. After describing these cavities, which he says, "plerisque hominibus formantur." he adds, that " when of a middling size they hardly extend towards the temples beyond the centre of the eve, where the orbital vault is highest ; and if you measure their height from the insertion of the nasal bones, you will find it equal to an inch. Such is the condition of this cavity when moderate. That there are sinuses far greater, was taught me by another inspection of a cranium. In this case, the vacuity on the right did not pass the middle of the orbit, but that on the left stretched so far that it only ended over the external angle of the eyebrow, forming a cavity of at least two inches in breadth. Its depth was such as easily to admit the least joint of the middle finger. Its height, measured from the root of the nose on the left side, exceeded two inches, on the right it was a little less; the left sinus was, however, shallower than the right. On the left side I have said the cavity terminated over the external angle of the orbit. From this place a bony wall ran towards the middle of the crista Galli, and thus separated the sinus into a posterior and an anterior cavity. The posterior extended so far towards the temples, that it reached the place where the frontal and sincipetal bones and the processes of the sphenoidal meet. It covered the whole arch of the orbit, so that all was here seen hollow," &c.

After describing sundry appearances which the sinuses exhibited in another skull, he observes : "It was my fortune to see and to obtain possession of *one* cranium in which of neither of the frontal nor the sphenoidal cavities was there any vestige whatsoever. In this specimen the bones in which these vacuities are situated were thicker than usual, and more cavernous;" an observation, as we have seen, made by other anatomists. However subversive of the phrenological statement, it will soon be seen that Schulze has understated the usual extent of the impediment.

Dr Monro,^{α} after mentioning that there "were forty-five crania of adults in the Anatomical Museum, cut with a view to exhibit the different sizes and forms of the frontal sinuses," says :—" I measured the breadth or distance across the forehead; the height or distance upwards from the transverse suture, where it divides the frontal bones and bones of the nose; and also the depth of the

a Elements, i. p. 134.

frontal sinuses; in nine different skulls in which these sinuses were large." Omitting the table, it is sufficient to say, that in these crania the average is as follows :—*Breadth*, within a triffe of three inches; height, one inch and five-tenths; depth, above one inch. Here the depth seems not merely the distance between the external and internal tables, but the horizontal distance from the glabella to the posterior wall of the sinus. These nine crania thus yield an average, little larger than an indifferent induction; and though the sinuses are stated to have been large, the skulls appear to have been selected by Dr Monro, not so much in consequence of that circumstance, as because they were so cut as to afford the means of measuring the cavity in its three dimensions.

By the kindness of Dr Monro and Mr Mackenzie, I was permitted to examine all the crania in the public anatomical museum and in the private collection of the Professor; many were, for the first time, laid open for my inspection. I was thus enabled to institute an impartial induction. A random measurement of above thirty perfect crania (laying aside three skulls of old persons, in which the cavity of the sinus was almost entirely occupied by a pumicose deposit) gave the following average result: breadth, two inches four-tenths; height, one inch and nearly five-tenths; depth (taken like Dr Monro), rather more than eight-tenths of an inch. What in this induction was probably accidental, the sinuses of the female crania exhibited an average, in all the three dimensions, almost absolutely equal to that of the male. The relative size was consequently greater.

Before the sinuses of the fifty crania of Dr Spurzheim's collection, (of which I am immediately to speak), were, with the sanction of Professor Jameson, laid open upon one side, I had measured their three dimensions by the probe. This certainly could not ascertain their full extent, as, among other impediments, the probe is arrested by the septa, which so frequently subdivide each sinus into lesser chambers; but the labour was not to be undergone a second time, especially as the proportional extent of these cavities is by relation to the phrenological organs articulately exhibited in the table. As it was, the average obtained by the probe is as follows:—In the thirty-six male crania (one could not be measured by the probe), the breadth was two inches

and nearly four-tenths; the height, one inch and nearly threetenths; the depth, rather more than one inch. In the twelve female crania (here, also, one could not be measured by the probe), the breadth was one inch and rather more than ninetenths; the height, nearly one inch; the depth, within a trifle of nine-tenths.

I should notice that in all these measurements, the thickness of the external plate is included in the depth.

So true is the observation of Portal, that the "frontal sinuses are much more extensive than is generally believed."

The collection of fifty crania, of which the average size of the frontal sinuses has been given above, and of which a detailed table of the impediment interposed by these cavities to phrenological observation now follows, was sent by M. Royer, of the Jardin des Plantes, (probably by mistake), to the Royal Museum of Natural History in Edinburgh; the skulls, taken from the catacombs of Paris, having, under Dr Spurzheim's inspection, been selected to illustrate the development of the various phrenological organs, which development is diligently marked on the several crania.

Thus, though I have it in my power to afford a greatly more extensive table, the table of these fifty crania is, for the present purpose, sufficient. For—

1°, They constitute a complete and definite collection ;

2°, A collection authoritative in all points against the phrenologists;

3°, One to which it can be objected by none, that it affords only a selected or partial induction in a question touching the frontal sinus;

4°, It is a collection patent to the examination of the whole world;

5°, In all the skulls a sinus has on one side been laid open to its full extent; the capacity of both is thus easily ascertained; and, at the same time, with the size of the cavity, the thickness and salience of the external frontal table remains apparent.

Table exhibiting the variable extent and unappreciable impediment, in a phrenological relation, of the Frontal Sinuses; in a collection of fifty crania, selected, and their development marked, under the direction of Dr Spurzheim :---

ed, accord- and age.	f Skull, ac- spurzheim's u order.	arked by heim.	o, as inferred from toeth and other criteria.	Extent of the Sinuses, as entirely or nearly covering (t), or as more or less affecting (*), the pretended phrenological organs, according to the late and latest numeration. (1)																
arrang to sex	mber of ing to 8 rtuitou	burz as m		20	21	22	2 19	24	1 19	23	25	L. 29	26	W. 29	27	30	31	28	32	7
luero	Nur cord	ž	× s	xxiii	xxiv	xxv	xxii	xxvii	XXX	xxvi	xix	L. xxxiii	xxxi	W. xxxili	xxviii	xxxiv	<u>xxxv</u>	xxii	xx	ix
1 ż	viii xii	Male		+	† †	t	† †	*												
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	xiii xvi xxvi xxxiv xxxvi xxxvi xii xli xxxv		Young	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + + +	† † † † †	† † † † †	+ + + + + +	† † * * †	† * † †	† * †	+ + + +	+	+	t	*	*	*		*
11	xxxix		Young or Middle- aged	t	+	t	t	*		*		*								
12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 27 23 24 25 26 27 29 30 31 32 33	ii jv vi vii x xiv xvii xxiv xxii xxiv xxiii xxii xxiii xxxiixxxxxii xxxii xxii xxii xxii xxii xxixxxxxx		Middle-aged	- + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	****	↑ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★	*? *? ***	+ + + <td>* *</td> <td>* * * * * * *</td> <td>** * *</td> <td>*?</td> <td></td> <td>94</td> <td>¥.</td> <td>*</td> <td></td> <td></td>	* *	* * * * * * *	** * *	*?		94	¥.	*		
34 35 36	xxii xlix xxxiii	e	Middle- aged or Old	† * †	† * †	+	+	*												
37	1	Mal	Old	+	t	+	*	*												
138 39	xv xxxii	male	{ Young	} ‡	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	+	+		+	*	*								
(40	xxxviii	Fe	Young or Middle-	• •	+	t	*													
41 42 43 44 45 46 47	xi xviii xix xxiv xxxiv xxxi xl xl xl vi	Male	Middle-aged	1	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	† * * *	+	+ * + +	÷	*	R.				*			
48 49 50	i xx iii	Female	Middle- aged or			+		•		*										

(1) The organs denoted by these numbers :--ix. 7. Constructiveness; xx. 32, Mirthfulness or Wit; xxii. 19 (2), Indiduality, Lower Individuality; xxiii. 20, Configuration, Figure : xxiv. 21, Size; xxv. 22, Weight, Resistance; xxvi. 23, blour; xxvii. 24, Locality; xxviii. 26, Calculation, Number; xxix. 25, Order; xxx. 19 (1), Sventuality, Upper Indiduality; xxxi. 26, Time; xxxii. 28, Melody, Tune; xxxii. 20, Language-this organ Gall divides in two, to wit, into e organ of Language and the organ of Words; xxxiv. 30, Comparison; xxxv. 31, Cansality. The order of the numbers this table was taken from that of a more scate with general table; so that while there xx, B2 has not been affected all, there it was affected more frequently than 1x. 7.

443

In these circumstances it is to be observed-

In the first place, that, as already noticed, while the developments of all the crania have been carefully marked, the presence of the frontal sinuses has been signalised only in one skull (the male No. 19, xiv.), in which they are, however, greatly below even the average.

In the second place, that the extent of the sinus varies indeterminably from an affection of one to an affection of sixteen organs.

In the third place, in this induction of thirty-seven male and thirteen female crania, the average proportional extent of the sinuses is somewhat less in the female than in the male skulls; the sinus in the former covering 4.4, and affecting 1.2 organs; in the latter covering 5, and affecting 2.1 organs. This induction is, however, too limited, more especially in the female crania, to afford a determination of the point, even were it not at variance with other and more extensive observations.

In the fourth place, the male crania exhibit at once the largest and the smallest sinuses. The largest male sinus covers 12, and affects 4; while the largest female sinus covers 7, and affects 3 organs: whereas, whilst the smallest male sinus affects only 1, the smallest female sinus covers 2 organs.

In the fifth place, so far from supporting the phrenological assertion that the sinuses are only found, or only found in size, in the crania of the old, this their collection tends to prove the very reverse; for here we find about the smallest sinuses in the oldest heads.

END OF THE FIRST VOLUME.

PRINTED BY WILLIAM BLACKWOOD AND SONS, EDINBURGH.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

444
MESSRS BLACKWOOD & SONS' PUBLICATIONS

Now complete in Seven Volumes, 8vo, price £4, 18s. THE HISTORY OF SCOTLAND:

FROM AGRICOLA'S INVASION TO THE REVOLUTION OF 1688.

Br JOHN HILL BURTON. Historiographer Royal.

"Mr Burton has the highest qualifications for the task. In no other history of Scotland with which we are acquainted are there the especial attractive graces which distinguish these volumes of national history."—Alkenœum. "But any faults—if indeed they are to be called faults—of this kind are quite over-balanced by the sterling merits of Mr Burton's book, its clearnes, impartiality, and

good sense. It is a business-like sort of history, which goes to the point and tells you

good sense. It is a business new sort of instory, when goes to the point and tens you what you really want to know."—Saturday Review. "We have here a History of Scotland—the History of Scotland—from 84 to 1745, which will furnish Scotland with as full and faithful a record of seventeen centuries as

is possessed by almost any other country in Europe."—Scotsman. "Taken as a whole, we must pronounce it the most complete, and in every sense the best history of Scotland extant."—Examiner.

MARY QUEEN OF SCOTS & HER ACCUSERS.

By JOHN HOSACK.

A NEW AND ENLARGED EDITION, CONTINUING THE NARRATIVE DOWN TO THE DEATH OF QUEEN MARY.

With a Photograph from the Bust on the Tomb in Westminster Abbey.

In 8vo, price 15s.

"He has confuted those who, by brilliant writing and a judicious selection of evidence, paint the Queen of Scots as an incarnate fiend, and who are dramatic poets rather than historians."—The Times.

"The story never flags, and it should be perused and reperused by every one in-terested—and who is not?—in the subject of which it treats."—A then œum.

"No advocate could have placed the Darnley tragedy in a better light for Mary."-Spectator.

"Whatever surmises may be formed about Mary's knowledge or assent, there can new be no doubt that the murder was contrived, not by Mary, but by her accusers."-Scotsman.

ANCIENT CLASSICS FOR ENGLISH READERS.

EDITED BY THE REV. W. LUCAS COLLINS, M.A.

The previous Volumes contain,-

- 1. HOMER: THE ILIAD. By the EDITOR.
- HOMER: THE ILIAD. By the EDITOR.
 HOMER: THE ODYSSEY. By the SAME.
 HERODOTUS. By GEORGE C. SWAYNE, M.A.
 CÆSAR. By ANTHONY TROLLOPE.
 VIRGHL. By the EDITOR.
 HORACE. By THEODORE MARTIN.
 ÆSCHYLUS. By R. S. COPLESTON, B.A.
 XENOPHON. By Sir ALEX. GRANT.

[In the press.

A Volume will be published quarterly. Price 2s. 6d.

"We anticipate that the judicious and novel design of such a series will meet, as it

"we anticipate that the judicious and novel design of such a series will meet, as it deserves, with widespread and lasting favour; and that, with its success, juster ideas will more generally prevail of the characteristics of the great writers of old."—Saturday Review. "It cannot be doubted by any thoughtful man, but that this series is destined to play a more prominent part in the history of our literature than at first sight seems probable. The signs of the times point to a diminution of classical study, but with such a series as the one before us, the interest in classical lore will be increased instead of becomed." Our study of the study of the second sec of lessened."—Quarterly Journal of Education. "The great merit of this series is that its volumes, instead of furnishing translations

of classical works, give their story in modern prose, made as accurate and lifelike as their scholarly authors can make them."- Examiner.

"The idea is good, and seems well carried out." Wetminster Review of the second and seems well carried out."

POEMS OF OSSIAN THE

IN THE ORIGINAL GAELIC.

With a Literal Translation into English, and a Dissertation on the Authenticity of the Poems.

BY THE REV. ARCHIBALD CLERK.

2 vols. imperial 8vo, price £1, 11s. 6d.

A NEW AND ENLARGED EDITION.

THE OPERATIONS OF WAR

EXPLAINED AND ILLUSTRATED.

BY EDWARD BRUCE HAMLEY, C.B.,

Colonel In the Army, and Lieut.-Colonel Royal Artillery; Commandant of the Staff College.

Second Edition, revised throughout by the Author, and containing important addi-tions, on the influence of Railways and Telegraphs on War, and on the effects which the changes in Weapons may be expected to produce in Tactics.

Quarto, 17 Maps and Plans, with other Illustrations, price £1, 8s.

"The second edition of his extremely valuable treatise embraces all the results of the most recent changes and modifications,"—Naval and Military Gazette.

"It is this science, and the use of those scientific appliances, which Colonel Hamley teaches, and the use of those sciencific approaches, which conter ham-ley teaches, and the use of those sciencific approaches, which has come to be a manual with every *état majeur* in Europe, as well as in the staff colleges of the English Army; and having attained such an enviable position, all that is left for the critic to do is to notice the additions which his quick observation has found necessary for the last issue of his great work."—United Service Gazette.

"A work of deep scientific research, which needs no commendation of ours to maintain the high place it has assumed in modern military literature."-Saturday Review.

WHAT I SAW OF THE WAR AT THE BATTLES OF

SPEICHERN, GORZE, AND GRAVELOTTE.

A NARRATIVE OF TWO MONTHS' CAMPAIGNING WITH THE PRUSSIAN ARMY OF THE MOSELLE.

BY THE HON. C. ALLANSON WINN.

Post 8vo, with Map, &c., price 9s.

"One who wanted to have a near view of hard honest fighting could hardly be in better company than that of the 33d, who were in the thickest of most of the bloody actions of the time, and who suffered proportionately. Mr Winn took full advantage of his opportunities, and certainly, after reading his narrative, we may acquit him of the over-prudence of a non-combatant, for which he sometimes apologises. The naïvelé with which he tells his personal adventures gives piquancy to a book which is quite worth the realing."—Times. "A very interesting book."—Saturday Review.

Vols. III. and IV. of MR KINGLAKE'S HISTORY OF THE

INVASION OF THE CRIMEA.

Vols. I. and II., Fourth Edition, price 32s.; Vols. III. and IV., Second Edition, price 34s.

JOURNAL OF THE WATERLOO CAMPAIGN:

KEPT THROUGHOUT THE CAMPAIGN OF 1815.

BY GENERAL CAVALIE MERCER. Commanding the 9th Brigade Royal Artillery.

Two vols. post 8vo, 21s.

"No actor in the terrible scene ushered in by the following day has ever painted it in more vivid colours than the officer of artillery who led his troops into the very heart of the carnage, and escaped to write a book more real, more lifelike, more enthralling, than any tale of war it has ever been our lot to read."—*Athenœum*.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

THE PARADISE OF BIRDS:

AN OLD EXTRAVAGANZA IN A MODERN DRESS.

By W. J. COURTHOPE.

Author of 'Ludibria Lunæ.'

8vo, price 5s.

"But it is not in satire that the strength of Mr Courthope's poem lies. Just as in the 'Birds' of Aristophanes it is very difficult to perceive the undercurrent of politithe 'Birds' of Aristophanes it is very dimenit to perceive the undercurrent of politi-cal allusion, while we are delighted with a blaze of poetry and wit; so in the 'Paradise of Birds' satire is eclipsed by delicate humour, graceful lyric poetry, and subtle pathos. The poem is less an assertion of conservatism than an exquisite *jeu d'esprit* about Bird-land, with incidental touches of satire on modern theories." -I'all Mall Gazette."The book, although we have made these two extracts, is really one that defies this mode of fairly conveying an idea of its proteiform styles; the various quips and cranks; the quizzical, critical, and sensorious slaps. The fun mixed with philosophy, and the philosophy occasionally overmastering the fun." -Morning Advertiser."A very charming noem" -British Quarterly Review

"A very charming poem."-British Quarterly Review.

METAMORPHOSES THE

OF

PUBLIUS OVIDIUS NASO.

TRANSLATED IN ENGLISH BLANK VERSE.

BY HENRY KING, M.A. Fellow of Wadham College, Oxford, and of the Inner Temple, Barrister-at-Law. Crown Octavo, price 10s. 6d.

THE ODES AND EPODES OF HORACE:

A METRICAL TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH.

With Introduction and Commentaries.

BY LORD LYTTON.

With Latin Text. 8vo, price 14s.

We know of no book from which the English reader could gain a brighter or more living conception of the cordial heart and graceful song of the great Roman poet than from Lord Lytton's translation."-Quarterly Review.

THE ODES, EPODES, & SATIRES OF HORACE,

TRANSLATED INTO ENGLISH VERSE.

Together with a Life of Horace.

BY THEODORE MARTIN.

To this Edition (the Third of the Odes and Epodes) a Translation of the Satires has been for the first time added. Post 8vo, price 9s.

BY THE SAME AUTHOR.

HORACE: HIS LIFE AND WORKS.

Being Vol. VI. of 'Ancient Classics for English Readers.' Price 2s. 6d.

"No one who had not Horace so thoroughly laid to heart could have mapped out his life with such perfect precision, and yet withal filled in its lights and shades with so easy a touch, that the familiarity of an intimate seems to avouch the truthfulness of the biography."—Saturday Review.

THE ODYSSEY AND ILIAD OF HOMER,

TRANSLATED INTO ENGLISH VERSE IN THE SPENSERIAN STANZA.

BY P. S. WORSLEY and PROFESSOR CONINGTON.

Four vols. crown Svo, price 39s. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

LECTURES ON METAPHYSICS.

Edited by the Very Rev. the Dean of St Paul's, and JOHN VEITCH, M.A., Professor of Logic and Rhetoric in the University of Glasgow. Fourth Edition. 2 vols. 8vo, 24s.

LECTURES ON LOGIC.

Edited by the SAME. Socoud Edition. 2 vols. 8vo, 24s.

DISCUSSIONS ON PHILOSOPHY AND LITERATURE, EDU-OATION AND UNIVERSITY REFORM. Third Edition. Syo, 21s.

MEMOIR OF SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, Bart.

Professor of Logic and Metaphysics in the University of Edinburgh. By **Professor VEITCH**, of the University of Glasgow. 8vo, with Portrait, 18s.

ESSAYS ON SOCIAL SUBJECTS.

Originally published in the 'SATURDAY REVIEW.' New Edition. 2 vols. crown 8vo, 12s.

"Two remarkable volumes of occasional papers, contributed to the 'Saturday Review,' are far above the average of such miscellanies. They are the production of a keen and kindly observer of men and manners, and they display a subtle analysis of character, as well as a breadth of observation, which are remarkable. With much of occasional force, these Essays have sufficient solidity to make a book; and while they recall the wit of Montaigne and the playfulness of Addison, they are animated by a better moral tone, and cover a larger range of experience."—*Christian Remembrancer*.

LECTURES ON THE EARLY GREEK PHILOSOPHY,

AND OTHER PHILOSOPHIC REMAINS OF PROFESSOR FERRIER OF ST ANDREWS. Edited by Sir ALEX. GRANT and Professor LUSHINGTON. 2 vols. post 8vo, 24s.

"These lectures, in so far as they treat of Greek philosophy down to Plato, have been carefully elaborated, and are of much value—of higher value, indeed, than any writings on the same subject in the English language; and in point of clearness, depth, and resolute search after truth, and tenacious hold of it when found, we doubt if they are surpassed in any language. . . . For our part, we do not know any philosophical writings so fascinating to a young student of philosophy as these early pages." —Scotsman.

SIR ARCHIBALD ALISON'S HISTORIES :----

THE HISTORY OF EUROPE FROM THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE FRENCH REVOLUTION TO THE BATTLE OF WATER-LOO. Library Edition. 14 vols. 8vo, with Portraits and Index, £10, 10s. Cabinet Edition. 20 vols. crown 8vo, £6. People's Edition, 13 vols., £2, 11s.

ATLAS TO THE ABOVE. Containing 109 Maps, and Plans of Countries, Battles, Sieges, and Sea-Fights. In 4to. Library Edition, £3, 3s.; People's Edition, £1, 11s. 6d.

II.

CONTINUATION OF THE HISTORY OF EUROPE FROM THE FALL OF NAPOLEON TO THE ACCESSION OF LOUIS NAPOLEON. 9 vols. demy 8vo, £6, 7s. 6d.; People's Edition, 8 vols. crown 8vo, £1, 14s.

PICCADILLY:

A FRAGMENT OF CONTEMPORARY BIOGRAPHY.

BY LAURENCE OLIPHANT, Late M.P. for the Stirling Burghs.

With Eight Illustrations by RICHARD DOYLE. Second Edition, 6s.

"The picture of 'Good Society'-meaning thereby the society of men and women of wealth or rank-contained in this book constitutes its chief merit, and is remarkable for the point and vigour of the author's style."-Athenæum.

HISTORICAL SKETCHES

OF

THE REIGN OF GEORGE SECOND.

By MRS OLIPHANT.

Second Edition, in One Volume, 10s. 6d.

"Mrs Oliphant's Historical Sketches form two attractive volumes whose contents are happily arranged so as to bring out some of the salient points at a period in our social history richly illustrated by epistolary and biographical remains."—*Examiner*. "The most graphic and vigorous Historical Sketches which have over been published.

It is indeed difficult to exaggerate the interest which attaches to these two volumes, or the high literary merit by which they are marked."-John Bull.

BIOGRAPHIES

OF

JOHN WILKES & WILLIAM COBBETT.

By JOHN SELBY WATSON, M.A. F.R.S.L.

In One Vol. crown 8vo. With Portraits. 7s. 6d.

"We thank Mr Watson for this well-compiled and very readable volume. His ob-ct in writing it is briefly stated in his preface. . . We can heartily recommend be book both to those who believe in demagogues and those who do not."-Standard. ject in writing it is briefly stated in his preface. . . . We can heartily the book both to those who believo in demagogues and those who do not.

THE CROWN AND ITS ADVISERS:

FOUR LECTURES ON THE QUEEN, THE MINISTRY, THE LORDS, THE COMMONS.

By ALEX. C. EWALD, F.S.A. Of Her Majesty's Record Office.

In crown 8vo, price 5s.

"May be regarded in some respects as a Constitutional Manual."—Standard. "Mr Ewald's Lectures deserve a wide circulation among all classes. They are lucid, concise, and full of matter. The author is not only master of his theme, but knows how to convey his knowledge to others, and shows clearly, what the noisy demagogue is so unwilling to acknowledge, how in this land 'freedom broadens slowly down from precedent to precedent.'"-Graphic.

"The work is compiled with great care, and is calculated to be a very useful constitutional manual,"-John Bull - Digitized by Microsoft B

LORD LYTTON'S NOVELS.

Library Edition. Printed from a large and readable type. In Volumes of a convenient and handsome form. 8vo, 5s. each—viz.:

THE CAXTON NOVELS, 10 Volumes:

THE CAXTON FAMILY. 2 vols. My Novel, 4 vols. WHAT WILL HE DO WITH IT? 4 vols.

HISTORICAL ROMANCES, 11 Volumes:

DEVEREUX. 2 vols. THE LAST DAYS OF POMPEII. 2 vols. RIENZI. 2 vols.

ROMANCES, 7 Volumes :

THE PILGRIMS OF THE RHINE. A STRANGE STORY. 2 vols. 4 vols.

THE SIEGE OF GRENADA. 1 vol. THE LAST OF THE BARONS. 2 vols. HAROLD. 2 vols.

EUGENE ARAM. 2 vols. ZANONI. 2 vols.

NOVELS OE LIFE AND MANNERS, 15 Volumes.

PELHAM. 2 vols. THE DISOWNED. 2 vols. PAUL CLIFFORD. 2 vols. GODOLPHIN. 1 vol. ERNEST MALTRAVERS—First Part. 2 vols. ERNEST MALTRAVERS — Second Part (*i.e.*, Alice). 2 vols. NIGHT AND MORNING. 2 vols. LUCRETIA. 2 vols.

GEORGE ELIOT'S WORKS.

ADAM BEDE. In crown 8vo, with Illustrations, 3s. 6d. cloth.

- THE MILL ON THE FLOSS. In crown 8vo, with Illustrations, 3s. 6d. cloth.
- SCENES OF OLERICAL LIFE. In crown 8vo, with Illustrations, 3s. cloth.
- SILAS MARNER: The Weaver of Raveloe. In crown 8vo, with Illustrations, 2s. 6d. cloth.
- FELIX HOLT, THE RADICAL. In crown 8vo, with Illustrations, 3s. 6d. cloth.

SPANISH GYPSY. Fourth Edition, crown 8vo, 7s. 6d.

CHRONICLES OF CARLINGFORD. By Mrs Oliphant. SALEM OHAPEL. 28.

THE RECTOR, and THE DOCTOR'S FAMILY. 1s.

THE PERPETUAL OURATE. 2s.

MISS MARJORIBANKS. 2s.

WORKS OF SAMUEL WARREN, D.C.L.:-

THE DIARY OF A LATE PHYSICIAN. One Vol., Crown 8vo, 5s. 6d.

Illustrated Edition, in crown 8vo, handsomely printed, 7s. 6d.

TEN THOUSAND A-YEAR. Two Vols., crown 8vo, 9s.

NOW AND THEN. Crown 8vo, 2s. 6d.

MISCELLANIES. Crown 8vo, 5s.

THE LILY AND THE BEE. Crown 8vo, 2s. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

WORKS OF PROFESSOR AYTOUN :---

LAYS OF THE SCOTTISH OAVALIERS. An Illustrated Edition. From Designs by Sir JOSEPH NOEL PATON. Engraved by John Thompson, W. J. Linton, W. Thomas, Whymper, Cooper, Green, Dalziels, Evans, &c. In Small Quarto, printed on Toned Paper, bound in gilt cloth, 21s.

"The artists have excelled themselves in the engravings which they have furnished. Seizing the spirit of Mr Aytoun's 'Ballads' as perhaps none but Scotchmen could have seized it, they have thrown their whole strength into the work with a heartiness which others would do well to imitate. Whoever there may be that does not already know these 'Lays' we recommend at once to make their acquaintance in this edition, wherein author and artist illustrate e.ch other as kindred spirits should."—Standard.

ANOTHER EDITION, the 20th, in fcap. 8vo, price 7s. 6d.

- BOTHWELL: A Poem. By W. Edmondstoune Aytoun, D.C.L. Third Edition. Fcap. 8vo, 7s. 6d.
- THE BALLADS OF SCOTLAND. Edited by Professor Aytoun. Third Edition. Two vols., fcap. 8vo, 12s.
- POEMS AND BALLADS OF GOETHE. Translated by Professor AYTOUN and THEODORE MARTIN. Second Edition, fcap. 8vo, 6s.
- THE BOOK OF BALLADS. Edited by Bon Gaultier. Eleventh Edition, with numerous Illustrations by Dovle, LEECH, and CROWQUILL. Gilt edges, post 8vo, 8s. 6d.
- FIRMILIAN, or the Student of Badajoz. A Spasmodic Tragedy. By T. PERCY JONES. Fcap. 8vo, 5s.

MEMOIR OF WILLIAM E. AYTOUN, D.C.L.,

Author of 'Lays of the Scottish Cavaliers,' &c. By THEODORE MARTIN. With Portrait. Post 8vo, 12s.

GOETHE'S FAUST.

Translated into English Verse by THEODORE MARTIN. Second Edition, post Svo, 6s. Also, An Edition in Foolscap Svo, price 3s. 6d.

"The best translation of 'Faust' in verse we have yet had in England."-Spectator.

THE VITA NUOVA OF DANTE.

Translated, with an Introduction and Notes, by THEODORE MARTIN. A New Edition in the press.

SONGS AND VERSES : Social and Scientific.

By an OLD CONTRIBUTOR TO 'MAGA.' A New Edition. Fcap. 8vo, 3s. 6d. Music of some of the Songs.

"The productions thrown off by this eccentric muse have all the merits of originality and variety. . . . He has written songs, not essays—such a hotel-potch of science and humour, jest and literature, gossip and criticism, as might have been served at the Noctes Ambrosianæ in the blue parlour at Ambrose's."—Saturday Review.

LYRICS AND SONGS: Legal and Miscellaneous. By the late GEORGE OUTRAM, Esq., Advocate. With a Memoir of the

Author. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft in the press.

This day is published,

A NEW AND ENLARGED EDITION of HANDY BOOK OF THE FLOWER-GARDEN:

BEING PLAIN PRACTICAL DIRECTIONS FOR THE PROPAGATION, CULTURE, AND ARRANGEMENT OF PLANTS IN FLOWER-GARDENS ALL THE YEAR ROUND.

By DAVID THOMSON,

Gardener to the Duke of Buccleuch, Drumlanrig, N.B.

Second Edition, Revised and Enlarged.

"Nowadays the flower-garden is such a very important and interesting subject to many, that almost any book on the subject is sure to find readers; but as this is written by one of the best gardeners in the country, and one, moreover, thoroughly master of the modern system of decoration, it deserves more attention than any book published on this or allied subjects of recent years. . . We are acquainted with the results produced by the able author, as well as with his book, and can therefore pronounce the book the best on the subject yet written, or likely to be written, for a long time to come." — The Field.

A New AND ENLARGED EDITION. **A BOOK ABOUT ROSES:** HOW TO GROW AND SHOW THEM.

By S. REYNOLDS HOLE, Author of 'A Little Tour in Ireland.'

Third Edition, 7s. 6d.

"The whole volume teems with encouraging data and statistics; and while it is intensely practical, it will interest general readers by an unfailing viracity which supplies garnish and ornament to the array of facts, and furnishes' ana' in such rich profusion that one might do worse than lay by many of Mr Hole's good stories for future table-talk. . . It is by the enlivenment of pages full of solid information on the whole subject of Rose-culture with suchlike quips, cranks, and comic references, that the 'Book about Roses' earns its title to a place in every drawing-room and library, and wins its author an even greater success than that of his 'Little Tour in Ireland."—Saturdag Review.

"The extracts give little idea of the genuine fun of the book, which we cordially recommend to every amateur who wishes to grow Roses, as at once the pleasantest and the best yet written on the subject."—The Field.

"A very captivating book, containing a great deal of valuable information about the Rose and its culture, given in a style which cannot fail to please."—Journal of Horticulture.

This day is published,

ТНЕ

HANDY BOOK OF HARDY HERBACEOUS PERENNIAL AND ALPINE FLOWERS FOR THE FLOWER-GARDEN.

By WILLIAM SUTHERLAND,

Gardener to the Earl of Minto; formerly Manager of the Herbaceous Department at Kew. In One Vol. Crown 8vo, 8s. 6d.

THE HANDY BOOK OF BEES,

AND THEIR PROFITABLE MANAGEMENT.

BY A. PETTIGREW, RUSHOLME. With Engravings, price 4s. 6d.

"The author of this volume is evidently a practical man, and knows a great deal more about bees and their habits than most of the bee-keepers in England; indeed, he may be said to be a very master in the art of bee mysteries."—*Bell's Life in London.* "A practical treatise on the profitable conduct of apeculture, by an author thoroughly

"A practical treatise on the profitable conduct of apiculture, by an author thoroughly familiar with the theme. He writes largely for working men, emphatically urging on them the advantages, both in pocket and in habits, which the keeping of bees will confer; and the unpretentious, clear style, and exhaustive treatment of the subject, make the little volume a safe guide to a very interesting and self-rewarding recreation." —Daily Telegraph.

WILLIAM BLACKWOOD & SONS, Edinburgh and London.

LIST OF BOOKS

PUBLISHED BY

WILLIAM BLACKWOOD & SONS,

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

THE

HISTORY OF EUROPE,

FROM THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE FRENCH REVOLUTION IN 1789 TO THE BATTLE OF WATERLOO.

By Sir ARCHIBALD ALISON, Bart., D.C.L.

A New Library Edition (being the tenth). In 14 Vols. Demy Octavo, with Portraits, and a copious Index, £10, 10s.

In this Edition, which has been revised and corrected with the utmost diligence, care has been taken to interweave with the original text the new facts which have been brought to light since the last edition was published. It is believed that the Work will be found in all respects brought up to the latest authentic information that has appeared, on the epoch of which it treats.

Crown Octavo Edition, 20 vols., £6. People's Edition, 12 vols., closely printed in double columns, £2, 8s., and Index Volume, 3s.

EXTRACTS FROM REVIEWS OF THIS WORK.

Times, Sept. 7, 1850.

"An extraordinary work, which has earned for itself a lasting place in the literature of the country, and within a few years found innumerable readers in every part of the globe. There is no book extant that treats so well of the period to the illustration of which Mr Alison's labours have been devoted. It exhibits great knowledge, patient research, indefatigable industry, and vast power."

Edinburgh Review.

"There is much in Mr Alison's history of the French Revolution against which we intend to record our decided protest; and there are some parts of it which we shall feel compelled to notice with strong disapprobation. We, therefore, hasten to preface our less favourable remarks by freely acknowledging that the present work is, upon the whole, a valuable addition to European literature, that it is evidently compiled with the utmost care, and that its narration, so far as we can judge, is not perverted by the slightest partiality."

From Preface of the German Translation by D. Ludwig Meyer.

"Alison's History of Europe, and the states connected with it, is one of the most important works which literature has produced. Years have elapsed since any historical work has created such an epoch as that of Alison: his sources of information and authorities are of the richest and most comprehensive description. Though his opinions are on the Conservative side, he allows every party to speak for itself, and unfolds with a master's hand how far institutions make nations great, and mighty; and prosperous."

- Continuation of the History of Europe, from the Fall of Napoleon to the Accession of Louis Napoleon. By Sir ARCHIBALD ALISON, Bart, D.C.L. In Nine Vols., £6, 7s. 6d. Uniform with the Library Edition of the Author's "History of Europe, from the Commencement of the French Revolution." People's Edition, Eight Vols. Crown Octavo, 34s.
- Epitome of Alison's History of Europe. Fifteenth Edition, 7s. 6d., bound.
- Atlas to Alison's History of Europe; containing 109 Maps and Plans of Countries, Battles, Sieges, and Sea-Fights. Constructed by A. KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E. With Vocabulary of Military and Marine Terms. Library Edition, £3, 3s.; People's Edition, £1, 11s. 6d.
- Lives of Lord Castlereagh and Sir Charles Stewart, Second and Third Marquesses of Londonderry. By Sir ARCHIBALD ALISON, Bart., D.C.L. From the Original Papers of the Family, and other sources. In Three Vols. Octavo. £2, 5s.
- Life of John Duke of Marlborough. With some Account of his Contemporaries, and of the War of the Succession. By Sir ARCHIBALD ALISON, Bart., D.C.L. Third Edition, Two Volumes, Octavo, Portraits and Maps, 30s.

Essays; Historical, Political, and Miscellaneous. By Sir ArcHIBALD ALISON, Bart. Three Vols. Demy Octavo, 45s.

The Invasion of the Crimea: its Origin, and an Account of its Progress down to the Death of Lord Raglan. By Alexander William Kinglake. Vols. I. and II:, price 32s., and Vols. III. and IV., price 34s.

The Boscobel Tracts; Relating to the Escape of Charles the Second after the Battle of Worcester, and his subsequent Adventures. Edited by J. HUGHES, Esq., A.M. A New Edition, with additional Notes and Illustrations, including Communications from the Rev. R. H. BARHAM, Author of the "Ingoldsby Legends." In Octavo, with Engravings, 16s.

"' The Boscobel Tracts' is a very curious book, and about as good an example of single subject historical collections as may be found. Originally undertaken, or at least completed at the suggestion of the late Bishop Copplestone, in 1827, it was carried out with a degree of judgment and taste not always found in works of a similar character. The subject, as the title implies, is the escape of Charles the Second after the battle of Worcester."—Spectator.

History of Scotland from the Revolution to the Extinction of the last Jacobite Insurrection, 1689-1748. By JOHN HILL BURTON, Esq., Advocate. Two Vols. Octavo, 15s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

The Autobiography of the Rev. Dr Alexander Carlyle, Minister of Inveresk. Containing Memorials of the Men and Events of his Time. Edited by JOHN HILL BURTON. In Octavo. Third Edition, with Portrait, 14s.

"This book contains by far the most vivid picture of Scottish life and manners that has been given to the public since the days of Sir Walter Scott. In bestowing upon it this high praise, we make no exception, not even in favour of Lord Cockburn's Memorials—the book which resembles it most, and which ranks next to it in interest."-Edinburgh Review.

"A more delightful and graphic picture of the everyday life of our ancestors it has never been our good fortune to meet with. . . . We do not often pray for autobiographies—for, as a class of literature, they are of very unequal merit—but we shall heartily rejolee to see as many more autobiographies as possible if they are half as well worth reading as *Jupiter* Carlyle's."—*National Review*.

"A more racy volume of memoirs was never given to the world—nor one more difficult to set forth—save by the true assertion, that there is acarcely a page which does not contain matter for extract or which would not bear annotation."—Athenœum.

Life of the late Rev. James Robertson, D.D., F.R.S.E., Professor of Divinity and Ecclesiastical History in the University of Edinburgh. By the Rev. A. H. CHARTERIS, M.A. With a Portrait. Octavo, price 10s. 6d.

Memoir of the Political Life of the Right Honourable EDMUND BURKE, with Extracts from his Writings. By the Rev. GEORGE CROLY, D.D., Rector of St Stephen's, Walbrook, London. 2 vols. Post Octavo, 18s.

History of Greece under Foreign Domination. By George FINLAY, LL.D., Athens. Seven Volumes, Octavo-viz.:

Greece under the Romans. B.C. 146 to A.D. 717. A Historical View of the Condition of the Greek Nation from its Conquest by the Romans until the Extinction of the Roman Power in the East. Second Edition, 16s.

History of the Byzantine Empire. A.D. 716 to 1204; and of the Greek Empire of Niczea and Constantinople, A.D. 1204 to 1453. Two Volumes, £1, 7s. 6d.

Mediæval Greece and Trebizond. The History of Greece, from its Conquest by the Crusaders to its Conquest by the Turks, A.D. 1204 to 1566; and the History of the Empire of Trebizond, A.D. 1204 to 1461. 12s.

Greece under Othoman and Venetian Domination. A.D. 1453 to 1821. 10s. 6d.

History of the Greek Revolution.

Two Volumes, Octavo, £1, 4s.

"His book is worthy to take its place among the remarkable works on Greek history which form one of the chief glories of English scholarship. The history of Greece is but half told without it."-London Guardian.

"His work is therefore learned and profound. It throws a flood of light upon an important though obscure portion of Grecian history. . . In the essential requisites of fidelity, accuracy, and learning, Mr Finlay bears a favourable comparison with any historical writer of our day."-..North American Review.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft @

Essays in History and Art. By R. H. Patterson.

COLOUR IN NATURE AND ART. REAL AND IDEAL BEAUTY. SCULPTURE. ETHNOLOGY OF EUROPE. UTOPIAS. OUR INDIAN EMPIRE. THE NATIONAL LIFE OF CHINA. AN IDEAL ART CONGRESS.

BATTLE OF THE STYLES. GENIUS AND LIBERTY. YOUTH AND SUMMER. RECORDS OF THE PAST; NINEVEH AND BABYLON. INDIA: ITS CASTES AND CREEDS. "CHRISTOPHER NORTH" - IN MEMORIAM.

In One Volume, Octavo. 12s.

The New "Examen ;" or, An Inquiry into the Evidence

of certain Passages in "Macaulay's History of England" concerning THE DUKE OF MARLBOROUGH.

THE MASSACRE OF GLENCOE. THE HIGHLANDS OF SCOTLAND. VISCOUNT DUNDEE. WILLIAM PENN.

By JOHN PAGET, Esq., Barrister-at-Law. In Crown Octavo, 6s.

Curran and his Contemporaries. By Charles Phillips, Esq., A.B. A New Edition. Crown Octavo, 7s. 6d.

"Certainly one of the most extraordinary pieces of biography ever produced. No. library should be without it."-Lord Brougham.

" Never, perhaps, was there a more curious collection of portraits crowded before into the same canvass."-Times.

Paris after Waterloo. A Revised Edition of a "Visit to Flanders and the Field of Waterloo." By JAMES SIMPSON, Advocate, With Two Coloured Plans of the Battle. Crown Octavo, 5s.

Lives of the Queens of Scotland, and English Princesses

connected with the Regal Succession of Great Britain. By AGNES STRICKLAND. With Portraits and Historical Vignettes. Post Octavo, £4, 4s.

"Every step in Scotland is historical; the shades of the dead arise on every sidc; the very rocks breathe. Miss Strickland's talents as a writer, and turn of mind as an individual, in a peculiar manner fit her for painting a historical gallery of the most illustrious or dignified female characters in that land of chivalry and song."-Blackwood's Magazine.

Life of Mary Queen of Scots. By Agnes Strickland. 5 vols. post 8vo, with Portraits and other Illustrations, £2, 12s. 6d.

Studies in Roman Law. With Comparative Views of the Laws of France, England, and Scotland. By LORD MACKENZIE, one of the Judges of the Court of Session in Scotland. Second Edition, Octavo, 12s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS, Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Letters of Eminent Persons, addressed to David Hume. Edited by JOHN HILL BURTON, Esq., Advocate. Octavo, 58.

Lectures on the History of the Church of Scotland, from the Reformation to the Revolution Settlement. By the Very Rev. JOHN LEE, D.D., LL.D., Principal of the University of Edinburgh. Edited by the Rev. WILLIAM LEE. Two Vols. Octavo, 21s.

Works of the Rev. Thomas M'Crie, D.D.

A New and Uniform Edition. Edited by Professor M'CRIE. Four Volumes, Crown Octavo, 24s. Sold separately, - viz.:

Life of John Knox. Containing Illustrations of the History of the Reformation in Scotland. Crown Octavo, 6s.

Life of Andrew Melville. Containing Illustrations of the Ecclesiastical and Literary History of Scotland in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries. Crown Octavo, 6s.

History of the Progress and Suppression of the Reformation in Italy in the Sixteenth Century. Crown Octavo, 4s.

History of the Progress and Suppression of the Reformation in Spain in the Sixteenth Century. Crown Octavo, 3s. 6d.

Sermons, and Review of the "Tales of my Landlord." In One Volume, Crown Octavo, 6s.

The Monks of the West, from St Benedict to St Bernard.

By the COUNT DE MONTALEMBERT. Authorised Translation. Five Volumes, Octavo, £2, 12s. 6d.

"We must, however, say a word of praise for the anonymous translator, who has done his work throughout in a very creditable manner."-Spectator.

"If this version had reached us earlier it might have saved us some trouble, as, on a comparison of our own extracts with the corresponding passages, we have found it to be, in general, both faithful and spirited, so that we should have been glad for the most part to make use of the translator's words instead of doing the work for ourselves."—Quarterly Review.

The Conquest of Scinde. A Commentary. By General Sir JAMES OUTBAM, C.B. Octavo, 18s.

An Essay on the National Character of the Athenians. By JOHN BROWN PATTERSON. Edited from the Author's revision, by Professor PILLANS, of the University of Edinburgh. With a Sketch of his Life. Crown Octavo, 4s. 6d.

The New Revolution; or, the Napoleonic Policy in Europe. By R. H. PATTERSON. Octavo, 4s.

> EDINBURGH AND LONDON. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Ten Years of Imperialism in France. Impressions of a "Flaneur." In Octavo, price 9s.

"There has not been published for many a day a more remarkable book on France than this, which professes to be the impressions of a Flâneur. . . It has all the liveliness and sparkle of a work written only for amusement; it has all the solidity and weight of a State paper; and we expect for it not a little political influence as a fair, full, and masterly statement of the Imperial policy—the first and only good account that has been given to Europe of the Napoleonic system now in force."—*Times*.

Memorials of the Castle of Edinburgh. By James Grant, Esq. A New Edition: In Crown Octavo, with 12 Engravings, 3s. 6d.

Memoirs and Adventures of Sir William Kirkaldy of Grange, Governor of the Castle of Edinburgh for Mary Queen of Scots. By JAMES GRANT, Esq. Post Octavo, 10s. 6d.

"It is seldom, indeed, that we find history so written, in a style at once vigorous, perspicuous, and picturesque. The author's heart is thoroughly with his subject."—Blackwood's Magazine.

Memoirs and Adventures of Sir John Hepburn, Marshal of France under Louis XIII., &c. By JAMES GRANT, Esq. Post Octavo, 8s.

Annals of the Peninsular Campaigns. By Capt. Thomas HAMILTON. A New Edition. Edited by F. HARDMAN, Esq. Octavo, 16s.; and Atlas of Maps to illustrate the Campaigns, 12s.

The Story of the Campaign of Sebastopol. Written in the Camp. By Lieut.-Col. E. BRUCE HAMLEY. With Illustrations drawn in Camp by the Author. Octavo, 21s.

"We strongly recommend this 'Story of the Campaign' to all who would gain a just comprehension of this tremendous struggle. Of this we are perfectly sure, it is a book unlikely to be ever superseded. Its truth is of that simple and startling character which is sure of an immortal existence; nor is it paying the gallant author too high a compliment to class this masterpiece of military history with the most precious of those classic records which have been bequeathed to us by the great writers of antiquity who took part in the wars they have described."—The Press.

Wellington's Career; a Military and Political Summary. By Lieut.-Col. E. BRUCE HAMLEY, Professor of Military History and Art at the Staff College. Crown Octavo, 2s.

Fleets and Navies. By Captain Charles Hamley, R.M. Originally published in *Blackwood's Magazine*. Crown Octavo, 6s.

Memoir of Mrs Hemans. By her Sister. With a Portrait. Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS.

Leaders of the Reformation : Luther, Calvin, Latimer, and KNOX. By the Rev. JOHN TULLOCH, D.D., Principal, and Primarius Professor of Theology, St Mary's College, St Andrews. Second Edition, Crown Octavo, 6s. 6d.

"We are not acquainted with any work in which so much solid information upon the leading aspects of the great Reformation is presented in so well-packed and pleasing a form."-Witness. "The style is admirable in force and in pathos, and the book one to be altogether recommended, both for the merits of those of whom it treats, and for that which the writer unconsciously reveals of his own character."-Globe.

English Puritanism and its Leaders: Cromwell, Milton,

BAXTER, and BUNYAN. By the Rev. JOHN TULLOCH, D.D. Uniform with the "Leaders of the Reformation." 7s. 6d.

"His biographic delineations are not collections of vague generalities, but well-selected features combining to a likeness And, while always self-possessed and calm, he is never cold. A steady glow of imaginative fire and radiance follows his pen, and it is evident that he has legitimately acquired the right to interest and move others, by having first been moved himself."-Dial.

"It is a book which, from its style—firm and interesting, dispassionate and impartial, but yet warm with admiration—will be hailed for fireside reading in the families of the descendants of those Puritan men and their times."—*Eclectic Review*.

History of the French Protestant Refugees. By Charles WEISS, Professor of History at the Lycée Buonaparté. Translated by F. HARD-MAN, Esq. Octavo, 14s.

The Eighteen Christian Centuries. By the Rev. James WHITE. Fourth Edition, with Analytical Table of Contents, and a Copious Index. Post Octavo, 6s.

"He goes to work upon the only true principle, and produces a picture that at once satisfies truth, arrests the memory, and fills the imagination. When they (Index and Analytical Contents) are supplied, it will be difficult to lay hands on any book of the kind more useful and more entertaining."—Times, Review of first edition.

"Mr White comes to the assistance of those who would know something of the history of the Eighteen Christian Centuries; and those who want to know still more than he gives them, will find that he has perfected a plan which eatches the attention, and fixes the distinctive feature of each century in the memory."—Wesleyan Time.

History of France, from the Earliest Period to the Year

1848. By the Rov. JAMES WHITE, Author of the "Eighteen Christian Centuries." Second Edition. Post Octavo, 6s.

"Mr White's 'History of France,' in a single volume of some 600 pages, contains every leading incident worth the telling, and abounds in word-painting whereof a paragraph has often as much active life in it as one of those inch-square etchings of the great Callot, in which may be clearly seen the whole armies contending in bloody arbitrament, and as many incidents of battle as may be gazed at in the miles of canvass in the military picture-galleries at Versailles."— *Atheneum*.

"An excellent and comprehensive compendium of French history, quite above the standard of a school-book, and particularly well adapted for the libraries of literary institutions."— National Review.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft @

POETRY

Lays of the Scottish Cavaliers, and other Poems. By

W. EDMONDSTOUNE ATTOUN, D.C.L., Professor of Rhetoric and Belles-Lettres Twentieth Edition, Foolscap Octavo, 7s. 6d. in the University of Edinburgh.

"Mr Aytoun's 'Lays' are truly beautiful, and are perfect poems of their class, pregnant with fire, with patriotic ardour, with loyal zeal, with exquisite pathos, with noble passion. Who can hear the opening lines descriptive of Edinburgh after the great battle of Flodden, and not feel that the minstrel's soul has caught the genuine inspiration?"—*Morning Post.* "Professor Aytoun's 'Lays of the Scottish Cavallers'—a volume of verse which shows that Scotland has yet a poet. Full of the true fire, it now stirs and swells like a trumpet-note—now sinks in cadences sad and wild as the wail of a Highland dirge."—Quarterly Review.

Aytoun's Lays of the Scottish Cavaliers. An Illustrated

Edition. From Designs by J. NOEL PATON and W. H. PATON, A.R.S.A. Engraved by John Thompson, W. J. Linton, W. Thomas, Whymper, Cooper, Green, Dalziels, Evans, &c. In Small Quarto, printed on Toned Paper, bound in gilt cloth, 21s.

"The artists nave excelled themselves in the engravings which they have furnished. Seizing the spirit of Mr Aytoun's 'Ballads' as perhaps mone but Scotchmen could have seized it, they have thrown their whole strength into the work with a heartiness which others would do well to imitate. Whoever there may be that does not already know these 'Lays' we recommend at once to make their acquaintance in this edition, wherein author and artist illustrate each other we bindred spirits should "-Stranderd as kindred spirits should."-Standard.

Bothwell: A Poem. By W. Edmondstoune Aytoun, D.C.L.,

Professor of Rhetoric and Belles-Lettres in the University of Edinburgh. Third Edition. Foolscap Octavo, 7s. 6d.

"A noble poem, healthy in tone and purely English in language, and closely linked to the historical traditions of his native country."—John Bull. "Professor Aytoun has produced a fine poem and an able argument, and 'Bothwell' will assuredly take its stand among the classics of Scottish literature."—The Press.

The Ballads of Scotland. Edited by Professor Aytoun.

Third Edition. Two Volumes, Foolscap Octavo, 12s.

"No country can boast of a richer collection of Ballads than Scotland, and no Editor for these Ballads could be found more accomplished than Professor Aytoun. He has sent forth two beautiful volumes which range with Perey's 'Reliques'-which, for completeness and accuracy, leave little to be desired-which must henceforth be considered as the standard edition of the Scottish Ballads, and which we commend as a model to any among ourselves who may think of doing like service to the English Ballads."—*The Times*.

Poems and Ballads of Goethe. Translated by Professor

AYTOUN and THEODORE MARTIN. Second Edition, Foolscap Octavo, 6s.

"There is no doubt that these are the best translations of Goethe's marvellously-cut gems which have yet been published."-The Times.

The Book of Ballads. Edited by Bon Gaultier. Lighth

Edition, with numerous Illustrations, by DOYLE, LEECH, and CROWQUILL. Gilt Edges, Post Octavo, 8s. 6d.

Firmilian, or the Student of Badajoz. A Spasmodic Tragedy. By T. PERCY JONES. In Small Octavo, 5s.

"Humour of a kind most rare at all times, and especially in the pesent day, runs through every page, and passages of true poetry and delicious versification prevent the continual play of sarcasm from becoming tedions."-Literary Gazette.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

POETRY

Poetical Works of Thomas Aird. Complete Edition, in One Volume, Foolscap Octavo, 6s.

"Mr Aird is a poet of a very high class, and in that class he occupies no mean or middling place. His imagination is lofty, his invention fertile, his sentiments heroic, and his language generally clear and forcible."—Scotsman.

Poems. By the Lady Flora Hastings. Edited by her SISTER. Second Edition, with a Portrait. Foolscap, 7s. 6d.

The Poems of Felicia Hemans. Complete in one Volume, Royal Octavo, with Portrait by Finden, Cheap Edition, 12s. 6d. Another Edition, with MEMOIR by her SISTER, Seven Volumes, Foolscap, 35s. Another Edition, in Six Volumes, cloth, gilt edges, 24s.

"Of no modern writer can it be affirmed with less hesitation, that she has become an English classic; nor, until human nature becomes very different from what it now is, can we imagine the least probability that the music of her lays will cease to soothe the ear, or the beauty of her sontiment to charm the gentle heart.—*Elackwood's Magazine*.

The following Works of Mrs HEMANS are sold separately, bound in cloth, gilt edges, 4s. each :--

RECORDS OF WOMAN. FOREST SANCTUARY. SONGS OF THE AFFECTIONS. DRAMATIC WORKS. TALES AND HISTORIC SCENES. MORAL AND RELIGIOUS POEMS.

The Odyssey of Homer. Translated into English Verse in the Spenserian Stanza. By PHILIP STANHOPE WORSLEY, M.A., and Professor CONINGTON. Four Volumes, Crown Octavo, 39s.

Poems and Translations. By P. S. Worsley, M.A., Scholar of Corpus Christi College, Oxford. Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

Poetical Works of D. M. Moir (Delta). With Portrait, and Memoir by THOMAS AIRD. Second Edition. Two Volumes, Foolscap Octavo, 12s.

Translations by Theodore Martin :

Goethe's Faust. Second Edition, Crown Octavo, 6s.

The Odes of Horace. With Life and Notes. Third Edition, Post 8vo, 9s.

Catullus. With Life and Notes. Post 8vo, 6s. 6d.

- The Vita Nuova of Dante. With an Introduction and Notes. Square 8vo, 7s. 6d.
- Aladdin: A Dramatic Poem. By Adam Ochlenschlaeger. Foolscap Octavo, 5s.
- Correggio: A Tragedy. By Ochlenschlaeger. With Notes. Foolscap Octavo, 3s.

King Rene's Daughter: A Danish Lyrical Drama. By HENRIK HERTZ. Second Edition, Foolscap, 2s. 6d.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

POETRY

The Course of Time: A Poem. In Ten Books. By Robert POLLOK, A.M. Twenty-fifth Edition, Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

"Of deep and hallowed impress, full of noble thoughts and graphic conceptions—the production of a mind alive to the great relations of being, and the sublime simplicity of our religion." —Blackwood's Magazine.

An Illustrated Edition of the Course of Time. In Large Octavo, bound in cloth, richly gilt, 21s.

"There has been no modern poem in the English language, of the class to which the 'Course of Time' belongs, since Milton wrote, that can be compared to it. In the present instance the artistic talents of Messrs Foster, CLAYTON, TENNIEL, EVANS, DALZIEL, GREEN, and Woods, have been employed in giving expression to the sublimity of the language, by equally exquisite illustrations, all of which are of the highest class."—*Dell's Messenger*.

Poems and Ballads of Schiller. Translated by Sir Edward BULWER LYTTON, Bart. Second Edition, Octavo, 10s. 6d.

"The translations are executed with consummate ability. The technical difficulties attending a task so great and intricate have been mastered or eluded with a power and patience quite extraordinary; and the public is put in possession of perhaps the best translation of a foreign poet which exists in our language. Indeed, we know of none so complete and faithful."—Morning Chronicle.

St Stephens; Or, Illustrations of Parliamentary Oratory. A Poem. Comprising-Pym-Vane-Strafford-Halifax-Shaftesbury-St John -Sir R. Walpole-Chesterfield-Carteret-Chatham-Pitt-Fox-Burke-Sheridan-Wilberforce-Wyndham-Conway-Castlereagh-William Lamb (Lord Melbourne)-Tierney-Lord Grey-O'Connell-Plunkett-Shiel-Follett-Macaulay-Peel. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, 5s.

Illustrations of the Lyric Poetry and Music of Scotland. By WILLIAM STENHOUSE. Originally compiled to accompany the "Scots Musical Museum," and now published separately, with Additional Notes and Illustrations. Octavo, 7s. 6d.

The Birthday, and other Poems. By Mrs Southey. Second Edition, 58.

Professor Wilson's Poems. Containing the "Isle of Palms," the "City of the Plague," "Unimore," and other Poems. Complete Edition, Crown Octavo, 4s.

Poems and Songs. By David Wingate. In Fcap. Octavo.

"It contains genuine poetic ore, poems which win for their author a place among Scotland's true sons of song, and such as any man in any country might rejoice to have written."-London Review.

"We are delighted to welcome into the brotherhood of real poets a countryman of Burns, and whose verse will go far to render the rougher Border Scottish a classic dialect in our literature." —John Bull.



Tales from "Blackwood." Complete in Twelve Volumes,

Bound in cloth, 18s. The Volumes are sold separately, 1s. 6d., and may be had of most Booksellers, in Six Volumes, handsomely half-bound in red morocco.

CONTENTS.

- Vol. I. The Glenmutchkin Railway.—Vanderdecken's Message Home.—The Floating Beacon. —Colonna the Painter.—Napoleon.—A Legend of Gibraltar.—The Iron Shroud.
- Vol. II. Lazaro's Legacy.—A Story without a Tail.—Faustus and Queen Elizabeth.—How I became a Yeoman.—Devereux Hall.—The Metempsychosis.—College Theatricals.
- Vol. III. A Reading Party in the Long Vacation.—Father Tom and the Pope.—La Petite Madelaine.—Bob Burke's Duel with Ensign Brady.—The Headsman: A Tale of Doom.— The Wearyful Woman.
- Vol. IV. How I stood for the Dreepdaily Burghs.—First and Last.—The Duke's Dilemma : A Chronicle of Niesenstein.—The Old Gentleman's Teetotum.—" Woe to us when we lose the Watery Wall."—My College Friends : Charles Russell, the Gentleman Commoner.—The Magic Lay of the One-Horse Chay.
- Vol. V. Adventures in Texas.—How we got possession of the Tuileries.—Captain Paton's Lament.—The Village Doctor.—A Singular Letter from Southern Africa.
- VOL. VI. My Friend the Dutchman.—My College Friends—No. II. : Horace Leicester.—The Emerald Studs.—My College Friends—No. III. : Mr W. Wellington Hurst.—Christine : A Dutch Story.—The Man in the Bell.
- Vor. VII. My English Acquaintance. The Murderer's Last Night.—Narration of Certain Uncommon Things that did formerly happen to Me, Herbert Willis, B.D.—The Wags.—The Wet Wooing: A Narrative of '98.—Ben-na-Groich.
- Vol. VIII. The Surveyor's Tale. By Professor Aytoun.—The Forrest-Race Romance.—Di Vasari : A Tale of Florence.—Sigismund Fatello.—The Boxes.
- Vol. IX. Rosaura: A Tale of Madrid.—Adventure in the North-West Territory.—Harry Bolton's Curacy.—The Florida Pirate.—The Pandour and his Princess.—The Beauty Draught.
- Vol. X. Antonio di Carara.—The Fatal Repast.—The Vision of Cagliostro .—The First and Last Kiss.—The Smuggler's Leap.—The Haunted and the Haunters.—The Duellists.
- Vol. XI. The Natolian Story-Teller.—The First and Last Crime.—John Rintoul.—Major Moss. —The Premier and his Wife.
- Vol. XII. Tickler among the Thieves !-- The Bridegroom of Barna.-- The Involuntary Experimentalist--- Lebrun's Lawsuit.-- The Snowing-np of Strath Lugas.-- A Few Words on Social Philosophy.

Jessie Cameron: A Highland Story. By the Lady Rachel BUTLER. Second Edition. Small Octavo, with a Frontispiece, 2s. 6d.

The Old Bachelor in the Old Scottish Village. By Thomas AIRD. Foolscap Octavo, 4s.

"It is simply a series of village sketches of character, manners, and scenery, but the book is full of a quiet sustained humour, genuine pathes, simple unaffected poetry, and displaya not only fine imaginative power, but a hearty sympathy with nature in all her aspects, and with the simple tastes and pleasures of rustic life. A more delightful book we cannot imagine."—Manchaster Advertiser.

Tara: A Mahratta Tale. By Captain Meadows Taylor. ^{3 vols., Post Octavo, £1, 11s. 6d.}

"A plcture of Indian life which it is impossible not to admire. We have no hesitation in saying, that a more perfect knowledge of India is to be acquired from an attentive perusal and atudy of this work, than could be gleaned from a whole library."-Press.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON. Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Tom Cringle's Log. A New Edition, with Illustrations.

Cheap Editions of Popular Works:

Lights and Shadows of Scottish Life. Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

The Trials of Margaret Lyndsay. By the Author of "Lights and Shadows of Scottish Life." Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

The Foresters. By the Author of "Lights and Shadows of Scottish Life." Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

Tom Cringle's Log. Complete in One Volume, Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

The Cruise of the Midge. By the Author of "Tom Cringle's Log." In One Volume, Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

The Life of Mansie Wauch, Tailor in Dalkeith. Foolcap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

The Subaltern. By the Author of "The Chelsea Pensioners." Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

Peninsular Scenes and Sketches. By the Author of "The Student of Salamanca." Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

Nights at Mess, Sir Frizzle Pumpkin, and other Tales. Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

The Youth and Manhood of Cyril Thornton. By the Author of "Men and Manners in America." Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

Valerius: A Roman Story. Foolscap 8vo, 3s. cloth.

Reginald Dalton. By the Author of "Valerius." Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cleth.

Some Passages in the Life of Adam Blair, and History of Matthew Wald. By the Author of "Valerius." Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

Annals of the Parish, and Ayrshire Legatees. By John Galt. Foolscap Svo, 4s. cloth.

Sir Andrew Wylie. By JOHN GALT. Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

The Provost, and other Tales. By JOHN GALT. Foolscap Svo, 4s. cloth.

The Entail. By JOHN GALT. Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

Life in the Far West. By G. F. RUXTON. A New Edition. Foolscap 8vo, 4s. cloth.

Works of George Eliot. Uniform Edition.

Adam Bede. 3s. 6d.

The Mill on the Floss. 3s. 6d.

Scenes of Clerical Life. 3s.

Silas Marner. 2s. 6d.

Felix Holt. 3s. 6d.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

Works of Professor Wilson. Edited by his Son-in-Law, PROFESSOR FERRIER. In Twelve Vols., Crown Octavo, £2, 8.

Recreations of Christopher North. By Professor Wilson. In Two Vols. New Edition, with Portrait, 8s.

"Welcome, right welcome, Christopher North; we cordially greet thee in thy new dress, thou genial and hearty old man, whose 'Ambrosian nights' have so often in imagination transported us from solitude to the social circle, and whose vivid pictures of flood and fell, of loch and glen, have carried us in thought from the smoke, din, and pent-up opulence of London, to the rushing stream or tranquil tarm of those mountain ranges," &c.-Times.

The Noctes Ambrosianæ. By Professor Wilson. With NOTES and a GLOSSARY. In Four Vols., Crown Octavo, 16s.

Tales. By Professor Wilson. Comprising "The Lights and Shadows of Scottish Life;" "The Trials of Margaret Lyndsay;" and "The Foresters." In One Vol., Crown Octavo, 4s., cloth.

Essays, Critical and Imaginative. By Professor Wilson. Four Vols., Crown Octavo, 16s.

Lady Lee's Widowhood. By Lieut.-Col. E. B. Hamley. Crown Octavo, 2s. 6d.

"A quiet humonr, an easy, graceful style, a deep, thorough confident knowledge of human nature in its better and more degrading aspects, a delicate and exquisite appreciation of womanly character, an admirable faculty of description, and great tact, are the qualities that command the reader's interest and respect from beginning to end of 'Lady Lee's Widowhood.'" -The Times.

Chronicles of Carlingford :

Salem Chapel. 2s.

The Rector, and The Doctor's Family. 1s. 6d.

The Perpetual Curate. 2s.

Miss Marjoribanks. 2s.

"We must pronounce this Carlingford series the best contribution to fiction of recent years —lively, pregnant. and rich in imagination, feeling, and eloquence. They will irresistibly carry to the end every reader who ventures upon them."—Spectator.

The Novels of John Galt-viz. :

Annals of the Parish.

The Steam Boat.

Sir Andrew Wylie.

The Entail, or the Lairds of Grippy.

Four Volumes, Foolscap Octavo, 2s. each.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microcoff

Complete Library Edition of Sir Edward Bulwer Lytton's

Novels. In Volumes of a convenient and handsome form. Printed from a large and readable type. Forty-three Vols. Foolscap Octavo, 5s. each.

"It is of the handiest of sizes; the paper is good; and the type, which seems to be new, is very clear and beautiful. There are no pictures. The whole charm of the presentment of the volume consists in its handiness, and the tempting clearness and heauty of the type, which almost converts into a pleasure the mere act of following the printer's lines, and leaves the author's mind free to exert its unobstructed force npon the reader."-Examiner.

"Nothing could be better as to size, type, paper, and general getting-up."-Athenœum.

Caxtoniana : A Series of Essays on Life, Literature, and

Manners. By SIR EDWARD BULWER LYTTON. Two Vols. Post Octavo, £1, 1s.

"Genus of thought set upon some of the most important subjects that can engage the attention of men. Except in one or two instances, they are so short that they will not tax the application of even lazy readers, yet there is not one of them that does not contain a lesson worthy of an abiding place on the handiest shelf of memory."-Daily News.

Katie Stewart: A True Story. By Mrs Oliphant. Fcap. Octavo, with Frontispiece and Vignette, 4s.

"A singularly characteristic Scottish story, most agreeable to read and pleasant to recollect. The charm lies in the faithful and lifelike pictures it presents of Scottish character and customs, and manners and modes of life."-Tait's Magazine.

Chapters on Churchyards. By Mrs Southey. Second Edition, Foolscap Octavo, 7s. 6d.

The Wonder Seeker, or the History of Charles Douglas. By M. FRASER TYTLER, Author of 'Tales of the Great and Brave,' &c. A New Edition, Foolscap, 3s. 6d.

Works of Samuel Warren, D.C.L. Uniform Edition, Five Volumes, Crown Octavo, 24s. :--

The Diary of a late Physician. One Vol., Crown Octavo, 5s. 6d. Another Edition, in Two Vols., Foolscap, 12s. Also an Illustrated Edition, in Crown 8vo, handsomely printed, 7s. 6d.

Ten Thousand A-Year. Two Volumes, Crown Octavo, 9s. Another Edition, in Three Volumes, Foolscap, 18s.

Now and Then. Crown Octavo, 2s. 6d. Another Edition, Foolscap, 6s.

Miscellanies. Crown Octavo, 5s.

The Lily and the Bee. Crown 8vo, 2s. Another Edition, Foolscap, 5s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

Digitized by Microsoft (B

TRAVELS

Journal of the Discovery of the Source of the Nile. By J. H. SPEKE, Captain H.M. Indian Army. Octavo, price 21s. With a Map of Eastern Equatorial Africa by CAPTAIN SPEKE; numerous Illustrations, chiefly from Drawings by CAPTAIN GRANT; and Portraits, engraved on Steel, of CAPTAINS SPEKE and GRANT.

"The volume which Captain Speke has presented to the world possesses more than a geo-graphical interest. It is a monument of perseverance, courage, and temper displayed under difficulties which have perhaps never been equalled."—*Times.* "Captain Speke has not written a noble book so much as he has done a noble deed. The volume which records his vast achievement is but the minor fact—the history of his discovery, not the discovery itself: yet even as a literary performance it is worthy of very high praise. It is then plainly told: a story of which nearly all the interest lies in the strange facts related, and. is thus plainly told; a story of which nearly all the interest lies in the strange facts related, and, more than all, in the crowning fact that it frees us in a large degree from a geographical puzzle which had excited the curiosity of mankind—of the most illustrious emperors and communities -from very early times."-Athenœum.

Narrative of the Earl of Elgin's Mission to China and

Japan. By LAURENCE OLIPHANT, Private Secretary to Lord Elgin. Illustrated with numerous Engravings in Chromo-Lithography, Maps, and Engravings on Wood, from Original Drawings and Photographs. Second Edition. In Two Volumes Octavo, 21s.

"The volumes in which Mr Oliphant has related these transactions will be read with the strongest interest now, and deserve to retain a permanent place in the literary and historical annals of our time."—Edinburgh Review.

Russian Shores of the Black Sea in the Autumn of 1852.

with a Voyage down the Volga and a Tour through the Country of the Don Cossacks. By LAURENCE OLIPHANT, Esq. Octavo, with Map and other Illustrations. Fourth Edition, 14s.

Minnesota and the Far West. By Laurence Oliphant.

Octavo, Illustrated with Engravings, 12s. 6d.

"It affords us increased knowledge of the extraordinary resources which await the emigrant at the head of the Great American Waters, and is a lively forecast of the prosperity of the States just emerging into existence in the Heart of the Wilderness. Mr Oliphant has foreseen great future events with a clear eye."-The Times.

- The Transcaucasian Campaign of the Turkish Army under Omer Pasha : A Personal Narrative. By LAURENCE OLIPHANT, Esq. With Map and Illustrations. Post Octavo, 10s. 6d.
- Egypt, the Soudan, and Central Africa: With Explorations from Khartoum on the White Nile to the Regions of the Equator. By JOHN PETHERICK, F.R.G.S., Her Britannic Majesty's Consul for the Soudan. In Octavo, with a Map, 16s.
- Three Months in the Southern States. April—June 1863. By LIEUT.-COL. FREMANTLE. With Portraits of PRESIDENT DAVIS, GENERALS POLK, LEE, LONGSTREET, BEAUREGARD, AND JOHNSTON. Crown Octavo, 7s. 6d.

"The whole of the book is as well worth reading as that published extract. It conveys a very fulr idea of what manner of men they are who are now fighting in the South for their indepen-dence; and being written in a very unpretending style, it is both an agreeable and valuable glimpse of the interior of the Confederacy."—Spectator.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

TRAVELS

The Punjab and Delhi in 1857: Being a Narrative of the Measures by which the Punjab was saved and Delhi recovered during the Indian Mutiny. By the Rev. J. CAVE-BROWNE, Chaplain of the Punjab Movable Column. With Plans of the Chief Stations and of the different Engagements, and Portraits of Sir J. Lawrence, Bart., Sir H. Edwardes, Sir R. Montgomery, and Brig. Gen. J. Nicholson. Two Volumes, Post Octavo, 21s.

"To those who wish to possess a condensed narrative of the siege of Delhi, but especially of the heroic doings of the handful of Englishman scattered throughout the Punjab, these volumes recommend themselves by their scrupulous accuracy, while to the future historian of the India of 1857 they will prove invaluable."-Allen's Indian Mail.

"This is a work which will well repay the trouble of perusal. Written by one who was himself present at many of the scenes he narrates, and who has had free access to the papers of Sir J. Lawrence, Sir R. Montgomery, and Sir H. Edwardes, it comes with all the weight of official authority, and all the vividness of personal narrative."-*Press*.

The Campaign of Garibaldi in the Two Sicilies : A Personal Narrative. By CHARLES STUART FORBES, Commander, R. N. Post Octavo,

with Portraits, 12s.

"A volume which contains the best sketch hitherto published of the campaign which put an end to Bourbon rule in the Two Sielles. It is accompanied with plans of the chief battles; and its honest unexaggerated record contrasts very favourably with the strained and showy account of the Garibaldians just published by M. Dumas."—*Examiner.*

Men and Manners in America. By Capt. Thos. Hamilton, With Portrait of the Author. Foolscap, 7s. 6d.

Notes on North America: Agricultural, Economical, and Social. By Professor J. F. W. JOHNSTON. Two Volumes, Post Octavo, 21s.

"Professor Johnston's admirable Notes. . . . The very best manual for intelligent emigrants, whilst to the British agriculturist and general reader it conveys a most complete conception of the condition of these prosperous region than all that has hitherto been written."— Economist.

Journal of a Tour in Greece and the Ionian Islands. By WILLIAM MURE of Caldwell. Two Volumes, Post Octavo, Maps and Plates, 24s.

A Cruise in Japanese Waters. By Capt. Sherard Osborn, C.B. Third Edition. Crown Octavo, 5s.

Life in the Far West. By G. F. Ruxton, Esq.

Second Edition. Foolscap Octavo, 4s.

"One of the most daring and resolute of travellers. . . . A volume fuller of excitement is seldom submitted to the public."—*Athenœum.*

Narrative of a Journey through Syria and Palestine. By Lieut. VAN DE VELDE. Two Volumes Octavo, with Maps, &c., £1, 10s.

"He has contributed much to knowledge of the country, and the unction with which he speaks of the holy places which he has visited, will commend the book to the notice of all religious readers. His illustrations of Scripture are numerous and admirable."—Daily News.

> PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS, Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft @

NEW GENERAL ATLAS.

DEDICATED BY SPECIAL PERMISSION TO HER MAJESTY.

THE ROYAL ATLAS

OF

MODERN GEOGRAPHY

IN A SERIES OF ENTIRELY ORIGINAL AND AUTHENTIC MAPS.

BY A. KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E. F.R.G.S.

Author of the "Physical Atlas," &c.

With a complete Index of easy reference to each Map, comprising nearly 150,000 Places contained in this Atlas.

Imperial Folio, half-bound in russia or morocco, £5, 15s. 6d.

Athenæum, August 10, 1861.

Under the name of "The Royal Atlas of Modern Geography," Messrs Blackwood and Sons have published a book of maps, which for care of drawing and heauty of execution appears to leave nothing more to hope for or desire. Science and art have done their best upon this magnificent book. Mr A. Keith Johnston answers for the engriving and printing: to those who love clear forms and delicate bold type we need say no more. All that maps should be, these maps are: honest, accurate, intelligible guides to narrative or description. . . Of the many noble atlases prepared by Mr Johnston and published by Messrs Blackwood and Sons, this Royal Atlas will be the most useful to the public, and will deserve to be the most popular.

Saturday Review.

The completion of Mr Keith Johnston's Royal Atlas of Modern Geography claims a special notice at our hands. While Mr Johnston's maps are certainly unsurpassed by any for legibility and uniformity of drawing, as well as for accuracy and judicious selection, this eminent geographer's Atlas has a distinguishing merit in the fact that each map is accompanied by a special index of remarkable fulness. The labour and trouble of reference are in this way reduced to a minimum.

. . . The number of places enumerated in the separate indices is enormous. We believe, indeed, that every name which appears in the maps is registered in the tables; and as each place is indicated by two letters, which refer to the squares formed by the parallels of latitude and longitude, the method of using the index is extremely casy and convenient. . . . We know no series of maps which we can more warmly recommend. The accuracy, wherever we have attempted to put it to the test, is really astonishing.

Morning Herald.

The culmination of all attempts to depict the face of the world appears in the Royal Atlas, than which it is imposaible to conceive anything more perfect.

Guardian.

This is, beyond question, the most splendid and luxurious, as well as the most useful and complete of all existing atlases.

Examiner.

There has not, we believe, been produced for general public use a body of maps equal in beauty and completeness to the Royal Atlas just issued by Mr A. K. Johnston.

Scotsman.

An almost daily reference to, and comparison of, it with others, since the publication of the first part some two years ago until now, enables us to say, without the slightest hesitation, that this is by far the most complete and authentic atlas that has yet been issued.

> EDINBURGH AND LONDON. Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

Index Geographicus: Being a List, Alphabetically ar-
RANGED, of the PRINCIPAL PLACES ON THE GLOBE, with the COUNTRIES AND
SUBDIVISIONS OF THE COUNTRIES IN WHICH THEY ARE SITUATED, and their LATI-
STON'S ROYAL ATLAS, but applicable to all Modern Atlases and Maps. In One
Volume Imperial Octavo, pp. 676, price 21s.
The Physical Atlas of Natural Phenomena. By Alex.
KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E. &c., Geographer to the Queen for Scotland. A New
and Enlarged Edition, consisting of 35 Folio Plates, 27 smaller ones, printed in
Colours, with 135 pages of Letterpress, and Index.
SUBJECTS TREATED OF.
Geography and Orography, 11 Plates.
Hydrography, 6 ,,
Meteorology and Magnetism, 6 ,,
Botanical Geography, 2 ,,
Zoological Geography, 6 ,,
Ethnology and Statistics, 4 ,,

Imperial Folio, half-bound morocco, £8, 8s.

"The Physical Atlas of Mr Keith Johnston—a perfect treasure of compressed information."— Str John Herschel.

"There is no map in this noble Atlas upon which we might not be tempted to write largely. Almost every one suggests a volume of reflection, and suggests it by presenting, in a few hours, accurate truths which it would be the labour of a volume to enforce in words, and by imprinting them, at the same time, upon the memory with such distinctness that their outlines are not likely to be afterwards effaced. The 'Physical Atlas' is a somewhat costly work, reckoning it only by its paper; but upon its paper is stamped an amount of knowledge that could scarcely be acquired without the reading of as many books as would cost seven times the price."—Examiner.

"This Atlas ought to have a place in every good library. . . . We know of no work containing such copious and exact information as to all the physical circumstances of the earth on which we live."—Quarterly Review.

The Physical Atlas. By Alexander Keith Johnston,

F.R.S.E., F.R.G.S., Geographer to the Queen for Scotland. Reduced from the Imperial Folio. This Edition Contains Twenty-Five Maps, including a Palæontological and Geological Map of the British Islands, with Descriptive Letterpress, and a very copious Index. In Imperial Quarto, half-bound morocco, £2, 128. 6d.

"Executed with remarkable care, and is as accurate, and, for all educational purposes, as valuable as the splendid large work (by the same author) which has now a European reputation."— Eclectic Review.

Atlas of Scotland. 31 Maps of the Counties of Scotland, coloured. Bound in roan, price 10s. 6d. Each County may be had separately, in Cloth Case, 1s.

A Geological Map of Europe, exhibiting the different Systems of Rocks according to the latest researches, and from Inedited materials. By Sir R. I. MURCHISON, D.C.L., F.R.S., &c., Director-General of the Geological Survey of Great Britain and Ireland; and JAMES NIOOL, F.R.S.E., F.G.S., Professor of Natural History in the University of Aberdeen. Constructed by ALEX. KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E., &c., Geographer to the Queen, Author of the "Physical Atlas," &c. Scale, $\frac{1}{400000}$ of Nature, 76 miles to an inch. Four Sheets Imperial, beautifully printed in Colours. Size, 4 feet 2 inches by 3 feet 5 inches. In Sheets, £3, 3s; in a Cloth Case, 4to, £3, 10s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

General and Descriptive Geography, exhibiting the Actual and Comparative Extent of all the Countries in the World, with their present Political Divisions. A New and Enlarged Edition. Corrected to the present time. With a complete Index. 26 Maps. Half-bound, 12s. 6d,

II.

TTT

Physical Geography, illustrating, in a Series of Original Designs the Elementary Facts of Geology, Hydrology, Meteorology, and Natural History. A New and Enlarged Edition. 20 Maps, including coloured Geological Maps of Europe and of the British Isles. Half-bound, 12s. 6d.

Classical Geography: Comprising, in Twenty-three Plates, Maps and Plans of all the important Countries and Localities referred to by Classical Authors; accompanied by a pronouncing Index of Places, by T. HARVEY, M.A. Oxon. A New and Revised Edition. Half-bound, 12s. 6d.

TV.

Astronomy. An Entirely New Edition. Notes and Descriptive Letterpress to each Plate, embodying all recent Discoveries in Astronomy. 20 Maps. Half-bound, 12s. 6d.

Elementary School Atlas of General and Descriptive Geography for the Use of Junior Classes. A New and Cheaper Edition. 20 Maps, including a Map of Canaan and Palestine. Half-bound, 5s.

"They are as superior to all School Atlases within our knowledge, as were the larger works of the same Author in advance of those that preceded them."-Educational Times.

"Decidedly the best School Atlases we have ever seen."-English Journal of Education.

"... The Physical Atlas accms to us particularly well executed.... The last generation had no such help to learning as is afforded in these excellent elementary maps. The Classical Atlas is a great improvement on what has usually gone by that name; not only is it fuller, but in some cases it gives the same country more than once in different periods of time. Thus it approaches the special value of a historical atlas.... The General Atlas is wonderfully full and accurate for its scale.... Finally, the Astronomical Atlas, in which Mr Hind is responsible for the scientific accuracy of the maps, supplies an admitted educational want. No better companion to an elementary astronomical treatise could be found than this cheap and convenient collection of maps."—Saturday Review.

"The plan of these Atlases is admirable, and the excellence of the plan is rivalled by the beauty of the execution. . . The best security for the accuracy and substantial value of a School Atlas is to have it from the hands of a man like our Author, who has perfected his skill by the execution of much larger works, and gained a character which he will be careful not to jeopardise by attaching his name to anything that is crude, slovenly, or superficial."—Scotsman.

Atlas of Plans of Countries, Battles, Sieges, & Sea-Fights,

Illustrative of the History of Europe from the Commencement of the French Revolution to the Battle of Waterloo. Constructed by A. KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E., &c. &c. With Vocabulary of Military and Marine Terms. 109 Plates, Demy Quarto, price £3, 3s. Another Edition, in Crown Quarto, £1, 11s. 6d.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

- A New Map of Europe. By A. Keith Johnston, F.R.S.E., F.R.G.S., Geographer to the Queen. The Map is fully coloured, and measures 4 fect 2 inches by 3 fect 5 inches. Price, mounted on Cloth and Mahogany Roller, Varnished, or Folded in Quarto in a handsome Cloth Case, 21s.
- Geological Map of Scotland. From the most Recent Authorities and Personal Observations. By JAMES NICOL, F.R.S.E., &c., Professor of Natural History in the University of Aberdeen. With Explanatory Notes. The Topography by ALEXANDER KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E., &c. Scale, 10 miles to an inch. In Cloth Case, 21s.
- A Small Geological Map of Europe. From Keith Johnston's School "Physical Atlas." Printed in Colours, Sixpence.
- A Geological Map of the British Isles. From the same. Printed in Colours, Sixpence.
- Hand Atlases : Being the Maps of Keith Johnston's School Atlases on Large Paper, and half-bound, full size, Imperial Quarto.

Physical Geography: Illustrating, in a Series of Original Designs, the Elementary Facts of Geology, Hydrology, Meteorology, and Natural History. In Imperial Quarto, half-bound morocco, 25s.

Classical Geography: Comprising, in Twenty-three Plates, Maps and Plans of all the important Countries and Localities referred to by Classical Authors. In Imperial Quarto, half-bound morocco, 25s.

General and Descriptive Geography: Exhibiting the Actual and Comparative extent of all the Countries in the World, with their present political divisions. New and Enlarged Edition. In Imperial Quarto, half-bound morocco, 25s.

Astronomy: Comprising, in Twenty Plates, a Complete Series of Illustrations of the Heavenly Bodies, drawn with the greatest care from Original and Authentic Documents. By ALEX. KEITH JOHNSTON, F.R.S.E., &c. In Imperial Quarto, half-morocco, 21s.

"The Atlas is undoubtedly the most beautiful work of its class that has ever been published, and in several respects the most instructive."—The Astronomer Royal.

Geological and Palæontological Map of the British Islands, including Tables of the Fossils of the different Epochs, &c. &c., from the Sketches and Notes of Professor Edward Forbes. With Illustrative and Explanatory Letterpress, 21s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

v Calit - Digitized by Microsoft

The Book of the Farm. Detailing the Labours of the

Farmer, Farm-Steward, Ploughman, Shepherd, Hedger, Cattle-man, Field-worker, and Dairymaid, and forming a safe Monitor for Students in Practical Agriculture. By HENRY STEPHENS, F.R.S.E. Two Volumes, Royal Octavo, £3, handsomely bound in cloth, with upwards of 600 Illustrations.

"The best book I have ever met with."-Professor Johnston.

"We have thoroughly examined these volumes; but to give a full notice of their varied and valuable contents would occupy a larger space than we can conveniently devote to their discussion; we therefore, in general terms, commend them to the careful study of every young man who wishes to become a good practical farmer.—*Times*.

The Book of Farm Implements and Machines. By James SLIGHT and R. SCOTT BURN. Edited by HENRY STEPHENS, F.R.S.E. Illustrated with 876 Engravings. Royal Octavo, uniform with the "Book of the Farm," half-bound, £2, 2s.

The Book of Farm Buildings: their Arrangement and Construction. By HENRY STEPHENS, F.R.S.E., and R. SCOTT BURN. Royal Octavo, with 1045 Illustrations. Uniform with the "Book of the Farm." Halfbound, £1, 11s. 6d.

The Book of the Garden. By Charles M'Intosh. In Two large Volumes, Royal Octavo, embellished with 1353 Engravings.

Each Volume may be had separately-viz.

- I. ARCHITECTURAL and ORNAMENTAL. —On the Formation of Gardens—Construction, Heating, and Ventilation of Fruit and Plant Houses, Pits, Frames, and other Garden Structures, with Practical Details. Illustrated by 1073 Engravings, pp. 776. £2, 10s.
- II. PRACTICAL GARDENING, Contains—Directions for the Culture of the Kitchen Garden, the Hardy-fruit Garden, the Forcing Garden, and Flower Garden, including Fruit and Plant Houses, with Select Lists of Vegetables, Fruits, and Plants. Pp. 868, with 279 Engravings. £1, 17s. 6d.

"In the construction of every kind of building required in a garden, the 'structural' section of the work will be found to contain a large amount of information anitable alike for buildings and gardens. Mr M'Intosh being himself one of the most experienced garden architects of our time, minute details are given, so that the expense of even a pit, up to a garden replete with every necessary erection, may be at once ascertained, a matter of no small importance to gentlemen about either to form new gardens, or improve such as already exist. . . On the whole, this volume on structural gardening, both in compilation and artistical execution, deserves our warmest commendation.

"The second volume is of a cultural character, and has been got up with great care and research. It embodies the opinions and practice of the older writers on Horticulture, and also, what is of more importance, the experience of our eminent modern gardeners on the subject, together with the opinions of our author, who has studied and practised the art for upwards of half a century, both in this country and on the Continent. . . . We therefore feel justified in recommending Mr M'Intosh's two excellent volumes to the notice of the public."—Gardeners' *Charonicle*.



Practical System of Farm Book-Keeping : Being that recommended in the "Book of the Farm" by H. STEPHENS. Royal Octavo, 2s. 6d. Also, SEVEN FOLIO ACCOUNT-BOOKS, printed and ruled in accordance with the System, the whole being specially adapted for keeping, by an easy and accurate method, an account of all the transactions of the Farm. A detailed Prospectus may be had from the Publishers. Price of the complete set of Eight Books, £1, 6s. 0d. Also, A LABOUR ACCOUNT OF THE ESTATE, 2s. 6d.

"We have no hesitation in saying, that of the many systems of keeping farm-accounts which are in vogue, there is not one which will bear comparison with that just issued by Messrs Blackwood, according to the recommendations of Mr Stephens, in his invaluable 'Book of the Farm.' The great characteristic of this system is its simplicity. When once the details are mastered, which it will take very little trouble to accomplish, it will be prized as the clearest method to show the profit and loss of business, and to prove how the soundest and surest calculations can be arrived at. We earnestly recommend a trial of the entire series of books—they must be used as a whole to be thoroughly profitable—for we are convinced the verdiet of our agricultural friends who make such a trial will speedily accord with our own."—Bell's Messenger.

Agricultural Statistics of Scotland. Report by the Highland and Agricultural Society of Scotland to the Board of Trade, for 1855, 1856, and 1857. 1s. 6d. each.

Ainslie's Treatise on Land-Surveying. A new and enlarged Edition, edited by WILLIAM GALBRAITH, M.A., F.R.A.S. One Volume, Octavo, with a Volume of Plates in Quarto, 21s.

"The best book on surveying with which I am acquainted."-W. RUTHERFORD, LL.D., F.R.A.S., Royal Military Academy, Woolwich.

Reports of the Association for Promoting Improvement in the Dwellings and Domestic Condition of Agricultural Labourers in Scotland. Seven Reports, 1855-61. 1s. each.

The Forester: A Practical Treatise on the Planting, Rearing, and Management of Forest Trees. By JAMES BROWN, Wood Manager to the Earl of Seafield. Third Edition, greatly enlarged, with numerous Engravings on Wood. Royal Octavo, 30s.

"What we have often stated in these columns we now repeat, that the book before us is the most useful guide to good Arboriculture in the English language. The Author is a man of great experience in Scotch forestry, and, moreover, is well grounded in the science of tree cultivation ; so that he does not fall into the mistakes which mere theorists, or mere practicals, have each committed on so large a scale, in too many great places. We will even add, that it has been to the advice and instruction given in two former editions of the 'Forester,' now exhausted, that the general improvement in timber management may be fairly ascribed."—Gardeners' Chronicle.

"Beyond all doubt this is the best work on the subject of Forestry extant."-Gardeners' Journal.

Handbook of the Mechanical Arts concerned in the Construction and Arrangement of Dwellings and other Buildings; Including Carpentry, Smith-work, Iron-framing, Brick-making, Columns, Cements, Well-sinking, Enclosing of Land, Road-making, &c. By R. Scott BURN. Crown Octavo, with 504 Engravings on Wood, 6s. 6d.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

The Year-Book of Agricultural Facts. 1859 and 1860. Edited by R. SCOTT BURN. Foolscap Octavo, 56. each. 1861 and 1862, 4s. each.

Practical Ventilation, as applied to Public, Domestic, and Agricultural Structures. By R. SCOTT BURN, Engineer. 6s.

Dwellings for the Working Classes: their Construction and Arrangement; with Plans, Elevations, and Specifications, suggestive of Structures adapted to the Agricultural and Manufacturing Districts. By R. SCOTT BURN. Quarto, with numerous Diagrams, 3s.

The West of Ireland as a Field for Investment. By James CARRD, Farmer, Baldoon. Octavo, with a Map. 68.

The Practical Planter: Containing Directions for the Planting of Waste Land and Management of Wood, with a new Method of Rearing the Oak. By THOMAS CRUIKSHANK, Forester at Careston. Octavo, 12s.

Elkington's System of Draining : A Systematic Treatise on the Theory and Practice of Draining Land, adapted to the various Situations and Soils of England and Scotland, drawn up from the Communications of Joseph Elkington, by J. JOHNSTONE. Quarto, 10s. 6d.

Trigonometrical Surveying, Levelling, and Railway Engineering. By WILLIAM GALBRAITH, M.A. Octavo, 7s. 6d.

The Preparation of Cooked Food for the Fattening of Cattle, and the advantage of Using it along with Cut Straw, Hay, Turnips, or other Vegetables. By THOMAS HARKNESS. 6d.

Journal of Agriculture, and Transactions of the Highland AND AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND, 1828 to 1865. 43 Volumes, strongly bound in cloth, £3, 3s.

The Rural Economy of England, Scotland, and Ireland. By LEONCE DE LAVERONE. Translated from the French. With Notes by a Scottish Farmer. In Octavo, 12s.

"One of the best works on the philosophy of agriculture and of agricultural political economy that has appeared."-Spectator.

On the Management of Landed Property in the Highlands of Scotland. By GEORGE G. MACKAY, C.E. Crown Octavo, 1s. 6d.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft @

Professor Johnston's Works :---

Experimental Agriculture. Being the Results of Past, and Suggestions for Future, Experiments in Scientific and Practical Agriculture. 85.

Elements of Agricultural Chemistry and Geology. Eighth Edition, 6s. 6d.

"Nothing hitherto published has at all equalled it, both as regards true science and sound common sense."—Quarterly Journal of Agriculture.

A Catechism of Agricultural Chemistry and Geology. Fiftyseventh Edition, 1s.

"The extent to which this little Catechism has been circulated at home, its translation into nearly every European language, and its introduction into the Schools of Germany, Holland, Flanders, Italy, Sweden, Poland, and South and North America, while it has been gratifying to the Author, has caused him to take additional pains in Improving and adding to the amount of useful information, in the present edition."—*Preface*.

On the Use of Lime in Agriculture. 6s.

Instructions for the Analysis of Soils. Fourth Edition, 2s.

An Inquiry into the Nature and Cause of the Prevailing Disease and Present Condition of the Larch Plantations in Great Britain. By CHARLES M'INTOSH, Associate of the Linnæan Society, &c. &c. In Crown Octavo, 5s.

11

View of the Salmon-Fishery of Scotland. With Observations on the Nature, Habits, and Instincts of the Salmon, and on the Law as affecting the Rights of Parties, &c. &c. By the Late MURDO MACKENZIE, Esq. of Cardross and Dundonald. In Octavo, 5s.

On the Management of Bees. By Dr Mackenzie, Eileanach. Foolscap, 4d.

The Chemistry of Vegetable and Animal Physiology. By Dr J. G. MULDER, Professor of Chemistry in the University of Utrecht. With an Introduction and Notes by PROFESSOR JOHNSTON. 22 Plates. Octavo, 30s.

The Grasses of Britain. Illustrated by 140 Figures, Drawn and Engraved by the Author. By R. PARNELL, M.D., F.R.S.E. This work contains a Figure and full description of every Grass found in Britain, with their Uses in Agriculture. Royal Octavo, 42s.

The Relative Value of Round and Sawn Timber, shown by means of Tables and Diagrams. By JAMES RAIT, Land-Steward at Castle-Forbes. Royal Octavo, 8s., hf.-bd.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

Digitized by Microsof

- Dairy Management and Feeding of Milch Cows: Being the recorded Experience of Mrs AGNES SCOTT, Winkston, Peebles. Second Edition. Foolscap, 1s.
- Italian Irrigation: A Report addressed to the Hon. the Court of Directors of the East India Company, on the Agricultural Canals of Piedmont and Lombardy; with a Sketch of the Irrigation System of Northern and Central India. By Lieut.-Col. BAIRD SMITH, C.B. Second Edition. Two Volumes, Octavo, with Atlas in Folio, 30s.
- Villa Residences and Farm Architecture : A Series of Designs. By JOHN STARFORTH, Architect. 102 Engravings. In Medium Quarto, £2, 17s. 6d.
- The Yester Deep Land-Culture : Being a Detailed Account of the Method of Cultivation which has been successfully practised for several years by the Marquess of Tweeddale at Yester. By HENRY STEPHENS, Esq., F.R.S.E., Author of the 'Book of the Farm.' In Small Octavo, with Engravings on Wood, 4s. 6d.
- A Manual of Practical Draining. By Henry Stephens, F.R.S.E., Author of the 'Book of the Farm.' Third Edition, Octavo, 5s.
- A Catechism of Practical Agriculture. By Henry Stephens, F.R.S.E., Author of the 'Book of the Farm,' &c. In Crown Octavo, with Illustrations, 1s.

"We feel perfectly assured that this Catechism is precisely the thing which at this moment is wanted in every rural and national school in England, more especially since the question has arisen, How is it possible to educate skilled agricultural labourers more in the direction of their art and occupation, and to render the school more subservient to the field and the farmyard?"—Nottingham Guardian.

A Handy Book on Property Law. By Lord St Leonards. A new Edition, enlarged.

"Less than 200 pages serve to arm us with the ordinary precautions to which we should attend in selling, buying, mortgaging, leasing, settling, and devising estates. We are informed of our relations to our property, to our wives and children, and of our liabilities as trustees or executors, in a little book for the million, a book which the author tenders to the profanum vulgue as even capable of 'begulling a few hours in a railway carriage." —Times.

The Practical Irrigator and Drainer. By George Stephens. Octavo, 86. 6d.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

Iniv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

- The Planter's Guide. By Sir Henry Steuart. A New Edition, with the Author's last Additions and Corrections. Octavo, with Engravings, 21s.
- Stable Economy: A Treatise on the Management of Horses. By John Stewart, V.S. Seventh Edition, 6s. 6d.

"Will always maintain its position as a standard work upon the management of horses."-Mark Lane Express.

- Advice to Purchasers of Horses. By John Stewart, V.S. 18mo, plates, 2s. 6d.
- Agricultural Labourers, as they Were, Are, and Should be, in their Social Condition. By the Rev. HARRY STUART, A. M., Minister of Oathlaw. Octavo, Second Edition, 1s.
- A Practical Treatise on the Cultivation of the Grape VINE. By WILLIAM THOMSON, Gardener to His Grace the Duke of Buccleuch, Dalkeith Park. Sixth Edition, Octavo, 5s.
- The Moor and the Loch. Containing Minute Instructions in all Highland Sports, with Wanderings over Crag and Correi, Flood and Fell. By JOHN COLQUHOUN, Esq. Third Edition, in Octavo, with Illustrations, 12s. 6d.
- Salmon-Casts and Stray Shots: Being Fly-Leaves from the Note-Book of JOHN COLQUHOUN, Esq., Author of the "Moor and the Loch," &c. Second Edition, Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

Coquet-Dale Fishing Songs. Now first collected by a North-Country Angler, with the Music of the Airs. Octavo, 5s.

The Angler's Companion to the Rivers and Lochs of SCOTLAND. By T. T. STODDART. With Map of the Fishing Streams and Lakes of Scotland. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, 3s. 6d.

"Indispensable in all time to come, as the very strength and grace of an angler's tackle and equipment in Scotland, must and will be Stoddart's ANOLER'S COMPANION."-Blackwood's Magazine.

Shooter's Diary or Game Book for recording the quantity of Grouse Killed, and Time and Place, Number of Guns, Names of Parties, how disposed of, &c. Octavo, bound in red leather, 4s.

Angler's Diary for recording the quantity of Fish Killed, &c. Octavo, bound in green leather, 4s.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

WORKS ON SCIENCE

The Chemistry of Common Life. By Professor J. F. W. JOHNSTON. A new Edition. Edited by G. H. LEWES, Author of "Sea-side Studies," &c. With 113 Illustrations on Wood, and a Copious Index. Two Volumes, Crown Octavo, 11s. 6d.

"It is just one of those books which will best serve to show men how minute is the provision which has been made for human support, and that if the laws prescribed by Nature are duly observed, she, on her part, will see to it that her functions are performed with fidelity and success."—Durham Chronicle.

The Physiology of Common Life. By George H. Lewes,

Author of "Sea-side Studies," &c. Illustrated with numerous Engravings. Two Volumes, 12s.

CONTENTS :--Hunger and Thirst.-Food and Drink.-Digestion and Indigestion.-The Structure and Uses of the Blood.-The Circulation.-Respiration and Suffocation.--Why we are warm, and how we keep so.-Feeling and Thinking.-The Mind and the Brain.--Onr Senses and Sensations.-Sleep and Dreams.-The Qualities we Inherit from our Parents. --Life and Death.

Sea-Side Studies at Ilfracombe, Tenby, the Scilly Isles, and Jersey. By GEORGE H. LEWES, Author of "A Biographical History of Philosophy," &c. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, with Illustrations, and a Glossary of Technical Terms, 6s. 6d.

Introductory Text-Book of Physical Geography. By DAVID PAGE, F.R.S.E., F.G.S.; Author of 'Introductory and Advanced Text-Books of Geology,' &c. With Illustrative Sketch-Maps and Glossarial Index. Crown Octavo, price 2s. Second Edition.

"We believe, indeed, that many will be induced to enter on the study from a perusal of this little work. The divisions of the subject are so clearly defined, the explanations are so lucid, the relations of one portion of the subject to another are so satisfactorily shown, and, above all, the bearing of the allied sciences to Physical Geography are bronght out with so much precision, that every reader will feel that difficulties have been removed, and the path of study smoothed before him."—Athenaeum.

Introductory Text-Book of Geology. By David Page, F.G.S.

With Engravings on Wood and Glossarial Index. Eighth Edition, 2s.

"Of late it has not often been our good fortune to examine a text-book on science of which we could express an opinion so entirely favourable as we are enabled to do of Mr Page's little work."—Athenœum,

Advanced Text-Book of Geology, Descriptive and Indus-

trial. By DAVID PAGE, F.G.S. With Engravings and Glossary of Scientific Terms. Fourth Edition, Revised and Enlarged, 7s. 6d.

"It is therefore with unfeigned pleasure that we record our appreciation of his 'Advanced Text-Book of Geology.' We have carefully read this truly satisfactory book, and do not hesitate to say that it is an excellent compendium of the great facts of Geology, and written in a truthful and philosophic spirit."—*Edinburgh Philosophical Journal.*

"We know of no introduction containing a larger amount of information in the same space, and which we could more cordially recommend to the geological student."—Athenæum.

"An admirable book on Geology. It is from no invidious desire to underrate other worksit is the simple expression of justice-which canses us to assign to Mr Page's 'Advanced Text-Book' the very first place among geological works addressed to students."-Leader.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

WORKS ON SCIENCE

The Geological Examinator: A Progressive Series of Questions adapted to the Introductory and Advanced Text-Books of Geology. Prepared to assist Teachers in framing their Examinations, and Students in testing their own Progress and Proficiency. By DAVID PAGE, F.G.S. 6d.

Handbook of Geological Terms, Geology, and Physical Geography. By DAVID PAGE, F.G.S. Second Edition, Crown Octavo, 7s. 6d.

The Past and Present Life of the Globe: Being a Sketch in Outline of the World's Life-System. By DAVID PAGE, F.G.S., Author of "Text-Books of Geology," &c. In Crown Octavo, 6s. With Fifty Illustrations, Drawn and Engraved expressely for this Work.

A Glossary of Navigation. Containing the Definitions and Propositions of the Science, Explanation of Terms, and Description of Instruments. By the Rev. J. B. HARBORD, M.A., St John's College, Cambridge; Chaplain and Naval Instructor, Royal Navy. Illustrated with Diagrams. Price 6s.

A Nomenclature of Colours, applicable to the Arts and Natural Sciences, to Manufactures, and other Purpeses of General Utility. By D. R. HAY, F.R.S.E. 228 examples of Colours, Hues, Tints, and Shades. Octavo, £3, 3s.

The Geology of Pennsylvania: A Government Survey; with a General View of the Geology of the United States, Essays on the Coal Formation and its Fossils, and a Description of the Coal-Fields of North America and Great Britain. By Professor HENRY DARWIN ROGERS, F.R.S., F.G.S., Professor of Natural History in the University of Glasgow. With Seven large Maps, and numerous Illustrations engraved on Copper and on Wood. In Three Volumes, Royal Quarto, 48, 8s.

Introduction to Meteorology. By David P. Thomson, M.D. Octavo, with Engravings, 14s.

Five Place Logarithms. Arranged by E. Sang, F.R.S.E.

Fortification: For the Use of Officers in the Army, and Readers of Military History. By Lieut. H. YULE, Bengal Engineers. Octavo, with numerous Illustrations, 10s. 6d.

"An excellent manual : one of the best works of its class."-British Army Despatch.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,
DIVINITY

Religion in Common Life: A Sermon Preached in Crathie Church, October 14, 1855, before Her Majesty the Queen and Prince Albert. By the Rev. JOHN CAIRD, D.D. Published by Her Majesty's Command. Bound in cloth, 8d. Cheap Edition, 3d.

Sermons. By the Rev. John Caird, D.D., Minister of the Park Church, Glasgow, Author of "Religion in Common Life." 12th Thousand. Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

"They are noble sermons; and we are not sure but that, with the cultivated reader, they will gain rather than lose by being read, not heard. There is a thoughtfulness and depth about them which can hardly be appreciated, unless when they are studied at leisure; and there are so many sentences so felicitously expressed that we should grudge being hurried away from them by a rapid speaker, without being allowed to enjoy them a second time."—Fraser's Magazine.

The Book of Job. By the late Rev. George Croly, D.D., Rector of St Stephen, Walbrook. Foolscap Octavo. 4s.

Lectures in Divinity. By the late Rev. George Hill, D.D., Principal of St Mary's College, St Andrews. Stereotyped Edition. Octavo, 14a. "I am not sure if I can recommend a more complete manual of Divinity."—Dr Chalmers.

Vindication of Christian Faith. By the late John Inglis, D.D., Edinburgh. Octavo, 10s. 6d.

The Mother's Legacie to Her Unborne Childe. By Mrs ELIZABETH JOCELINE. Edited by the Very Rev. Principal LEE. 32mo, 4s. 6d.

"This beautiful and touching legacie."-Athenceum.

" Λ delightful monument of the piety and high feeling of a truly noble mother."-Morning Advertiser.

Lectures on the History of the Church of Scotland, from the Reformation to the Revolution Settlement. By the late Very Rev. JOHN LEE, D.D., LL.D., Principal of the University of Edinburgh. With Notes and Appendices from the Author's Papers. Edited by the Rev. WILLIAM LEE. Two Volumes, Octavo, 21s.

Lectures on the Book of Esther. By the Rev. Thomas M'CRIE, D.D. Foolscap, 4s. 6d.

Sermons. By the late Rev. Thomas M'Crie, D.D. Crown Octavo, 68.

Lectures on Scripture Characters : Addressed to the Students of King's College at the Lecture on "Practical Religion," founded by the late John Gordon, Esq. of Murtle. By the late Rev. DUNCAN MEARNS, D.D., Professor of Divinity in the University and King's College of Aberdeen. Two Volumes, Crown Octavo, 12s.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

iv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

DIVINITY

Analysis and Critical Interpretation of the Hebrew Text of the Book of Genesis. Preceded by a Hebrew Grammar, and Dissertations on the Genuineness of the Pentateuch, and on the Structure of the Hebrew Language. By the Rev. WILLIAM PAUL, A.M. Octavo, 18s.
Prayers for Social and Family Worship. Prepared by a COMMITTEE OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE CHURCH OF SCOTLAND, and specially designed for the use of Soldiers, Sailors, Colonists, Sojourners in India, and other Persons, at Home or Abroad, who are deprived of the Ordinary Services of a Christian Ministry. Published by Authority of the Committee. Third Edition. In Crown Octavo, bound in cloth, 4s.
Prayers for Social and Family Worship, Being a Cheap Edition of the above. Foolscap Octavo, 1s. 6d.
Family Prayers: As Authorised by the General Assembly of the Church of Scotland; with other Prayers by the Committee of the General Assembly on Aids to Devotion. To which is prefixed a Pastoral Letter from the General Assembly on Family Worship. Crown Octavo, 4s. 6d.
Diversities of Faults in Christian Believers. By the same Author. Foolscap Octavo, 4s. 6d.
The Christian Life, in its Origin, Progress, and Perfection. By the Very Rev. E. B. RAMSAY, LL.D., F.R.S.E., Dean of the Diocese of Edinburgh. Crown Octavo. 98.
On the Origin and Connection of the Gospels of Matthew,

Mark, and Luke; With Synopsis of Parallel Passages and Critical Notes. By JAMES SMITH, Esq. of Jordanhill, F.R.S., Author of the "Voyage and Shipwreck of St Paul." Modium Octavo, 16s.

Theism: The Witness of Reason and Nature to an All-Wise and Beneficent Creator. By the Rev. JOHN TULLOCH, D.D., Principal and Professor of Theology, St Mary's College, St Andrews; and one of Her Majesty's Chaplains in Ordinary in Scotland. In One Volume, Octavo, 10s. 6d.

"Dr Tulloch's Essay, in its masterly statement of the real nature and difficulties of the subject, its logical exactness in distinguishing the illustrative from the suggestive, its lucid arrangement of the argument, its simplicity of expression, is quite unequalled by any work we have seen on the subject."—*Christian Remembrancer*, January 1857.

Sermons on Practical Subjects. By the Rev. Samuel WARREN, LL.D., Incumbent of All Souls, Manchester. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, 6s. 6d.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS,

Univ Calif - Digitized by Microsoft ®

INTELLECTUAL PHILOSOPHY

Institutes of Metaphysic: The Theory of Knowing and Being. By JAMES F. FERRIER, A. B. Oxon., Professor of Moral Philosophy and Political Economy, St Andrews. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, 10s. 6d.

Lectures on Metaphysics. By Sir William Hamilton, Bart.,

Professor of Logic and Metaphysics in the University of Edinburgh. Edited by the Rev. H. L. MANSEL, B. D., LL. D., Waynflete Professor of Moral and Metaphysical Philosophy, Oxford; and JOHN VEITCH, M. A., Professor of Logic, Rhetoric, and Metaphysics, St Andrews. Fourth Edition. Two Volumes, Octavo, 24s.

Lectures on Logic. By Sir William Hamilton, Bart. Edited by Professors Mansel and Veitch. Second Edition. In Two Vols., 24s.

Thorndale: or, the Conflict of Opinions. By William SMITH, Author of "A Discourse on Ethics," &c. Second Edition. Crown Octavo, 10s. 6d.

Gravenhurst; or, Thoughts on Good and Evil. WILLIAM SMITH, Author of 'Thorndale,' &c. In Crown Octavo, price 7s. 6d. Bv

"One of those rare books which, being filled with noble and beautiful thoughts, deserves an attentive and thoughtful perusal."—Westmister Review. "Our space will only allow us to mention, in passing, the charming volume of subtle thought expressed in a graceful transparent style, which the author of 'Thorndale' has just issued under the title of 'Gravenhurst; or, Thoughts on Good and Evil'. We will simply recommend every reader, fond of thoughtful writing on the moral aspects of life, to carry 'Gravenhurst' with him into some delightful solitude."—Cornhull Magazine.

A Discourse on Ethics of the School of Paley. By William SMITH, Author of "Thorndale." Octavo, 4s.

On the Influence exerted by the Mind over the Body, in the Production and Removal of Morbid and Anomalous Conditions of the Animal Economy. By JOHN GLEN, M. A. Crown Octavo, 2s. 6d.

Descartes on the Method of Rightly conducting the Reason, and Seeking Truth in the Sciences. Translated from the French. 12mo, 2s.

Descartes' Meditations, and Selections from his Principles. of Philosophy. Translated from the Latin. 12mo, 3s.

Speculative Philosophy: An Introductory Lecture, delivered at the opening of the Class of Logic and Rhetoric, Nov. 1, 1864, by JOHN VEITCH, M.A., Professor of Logic and Rhetoric in the University of Glasgow. 1s.

EDINBURGH AND LONDON.

niv Calif - Digitized by Microsoft

CRITICISM

The Book-Hunter, &c. By John Hill Burton. In Crown Octavo. Second Edition, 7s. 6d.

"We have not been more amused for a long time: and every reader who takes interest in typography and its consequences will say the same, if he will begin to read; beginning, he will finish, and be sorry when it is over."—Athenœum. "Mr Burton has now given us a pleasant book, full of quaint anecdote, and of a lively bookish talk. There is a quiet humour in it which is very taking, and there is a curious knowledge of books which is really very sound."—Examiner. "One of the most charming volumes we have ever read, abounding in quaint anecdote, and printed in appropriate fashion on cream-coloured paper. It is inpossible anywhere to open the book without coming upon a 'good thing."—Literary Budget.

The Sketcher. By the Rev. John Eagles. Originally published in Blackwood's Magazine. Octavo, 10s. 6d.

"This volume, called by the appropriate name of 'The Sketcher,' is one that ought to be found in the studio of every English landscape-painter. More instructive and sug-gestive readings for young artists, especially landscape-painters, can scarcely be found."— *The Globe*.

ys. By the Rev. John Eagles, A.M. Oxon. Originally published in *Blackwood's Magazine*. Post Octavo, 10s. 6d. Essavs.

CONTENTS :- Church Music, and other Parochials. - Medical Attendance, and other Parochials. ONTENTS: --Church Music, and other rarochials. --Medical Attendance, and other rarochials. --A few Hours at Hampton Court.-Grandfathers and Grandchildren.--Sitting for a Portrait.--Are there not Great Boasters among us?--Temperance and Teetotal Societies. --Thackeray's Lectures: Swift.--The Crystal Palace.--Civilisation: the Census.--The Beggar's Legacy.

Lectures on the Poetical Literature of the Past Half-Century. By D. M. MOIR. Third Edition. Foolscap Octavo, 5s.

"Exquisite in its taste and generous in its criticisms."-Hugh Miller.

Two Lectures on the Genius of Handel, and the distinc-tive Character of his Sacred Compositions. Delivered to the Members of the Edinburgh Philosophical Institution. By the Very Rev. DEAN RAMSAY, Author of 'Reminiscences of Scottish Life and Character.' In Crown Octavo, 3s. 6d.

Essays: Critical and Imaginative. By John Wilson, Professor of Moral Philosophy and Political Economy in the University of Edin-By John Wilson, burgh. Edited by PROFESSOR FERRIER. Four Volumes, Crown Octavo, 16s.

Homer and his Translators, and the Greek Drama. Bv PROFESSOR WILSON. Crown Octavo, 4s.

Blackwood's Magazine, from Commencement in 1817 to December 1861. Numbers 1 to 554, forming 90 Volumes. £31, 10s.

Index to the First Fifty Volumes of Blackwood's Magazine. Octavo, 15s.

Lectures on the History of Literature. Ancient and Modern. By FREDERICK SCHLEGEL. Translated by J. G. LOCKHART. Foolscap, 55.

PUBLISHED BY W. BLACKWOOD AND SONS.











· 전금 안 문제 : * * * *

.

LECTURES

O N

METAPHYSICS AND LOGIC

ВΥ

SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, BART.

PROFESSOR OF LOGIC AND METAPHYSICS IN THE UNIVERSITY OF EDINBURGH ;

ADVOCATE, A. M. (OXON.), ETC.; CORRESPONDING MEMBER OF THE INSTITUTE OF FRANCE ; HONOBARY MEMBER OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ARTS AND SCIENCES ; AND OF THE LATIN SOCIETY OF JENA, ETC.

EDITED BY

THE REV. HENRY L. MANSEL, B. D., OXFORD, JOHN VEITCH, M. A., EDINBURGH.

IN TWO VOLUMES.

VOL. II. LOGIC.

BOSTON: GOULD AND LINCOLN, 59 WASHINGTON STREET. NEW YORK: SHELDON AND COMPANY. CINCINNATI: GEORGE S. BLANCHARD.

1860.

AUTHORIZATION.

MESSRS. GOULD AND LINCOLN, OF BOSTON, UNITED STATES, ARE EXCLUSIVELY AUTHOR-IZED BY ME TO PUBLISH IN AMERICA THE LECTURES, METAPHYSICAL AND LOGICAL, OF THE LATE SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, BART.

HUBERT HAMILTON.

16 GREAT KING STREET, EDINBURGH, 14 SEPT., 1858.

> ANDGVER: ELECTROTYPED AND PRINTED BY W. F. DEAPER.

PREFACE.

162.

THE Lectures comprised in the present Volume form the second and concluding portion of the Biennial Course on Metaphysics and Logic, which was commenced by Sir William Hamilton on his election to the Professorial Chair in 1836, and repeated, with but slight alterations, till his decease in 1856. The Appendix contains various papers, composed for the most part during this period, which, though portions of their contents were publicly taught at least as early as 1840, were only to a very small extent incorporated into the text of the Lectures.

The Lectures on Logic, like those on Metaphysics, were chiefly composed during the session in which they were first delivered (1837–8); and the statements made in the Preface to the previous volume, as regards the circumstances and manner of their composition, are equally applicable to the present course. In this, as in the preceding series, the Author has largely availed

PREFACE.

himself of the labors of previous writers, many of whom are but little known in this country. To the works of the German logicians of the present century, particularly to those of Krug and Esser, these Lectures are under special obligations.

In the compilation of the Appendix, some responsibility rests with the Editors; and a few words of explanation may be necessary as regards the manner in which they have attempted to perform this portion of their task. In publishing the papers of a deceased writer, composed at various intervals during a long period of years, and treating of difficult and controverted questions, there are two opposite dangers to be guarded against. On the one hand, there is the danger of compromising the Author's reputation by the publication of documents which his maturer judgment might not have sanctioned; and, on the other hand, there is the danger of committing an opposite injury to him and to the public, by withholding writings of interest and value. Had Sir William Hamilton, at any period of his life, published a systematic treatise on Logic, or had his projected New Analytic of Logical Forms been left in a state at all approaching to completeness, the Editors might probably have obtained a criterion by which to distinguish between those speculations which would have received the final imprimatur of their Author, and those which would not. In the

absence of any such criterion, they have thought it better to run the risk of giving too much than too little; — to publish whatever appeared to have any philosophical or historical interest, without being influenced by its coincidence with their own opinions, or by its coherence with other parts of the Author's writings. It is possible that, among the papers thus published, may be found some which are to be considered rather as experimental exercises than as approved results; but no papers have been intentionally omitted, except such as were either too fragmentary to be intelligible, or manifestly imperfect sketches of what has been published here or elsewhere in a more matured form.

The Notes, in this as in the previous volume, are divided into three classes. Those printed from the manuscript of the Lectures appear without any distinctive mark; those supplied from the Author's Commonplace-Book and other papers are enclosed within square brackets without signature; and those added by the Editors are marked by the signature "ED." These last, as in the Lectures on Metaphysics, are chiefly confined to occasional explanations of the text and verifications of references.

In conclusion, the Editors desire to express their acknowledgments to those friends from whom they have received assistance in tracing the numerous quotations and allusions scattered through this and the preceding volume. In particular, their thanks are due to Hubert Hamilton, Esq., whose researches among his father's books and papers have supplied them with many valuable materials; and to H. W. Chandler, Esq., Fellow of Pembroke College, Oxford, who has aided them from the resources of a philosophical learning cognate in many respects to that of Sir William Hamilton himself.

LECTURE I.

INTRODUCTION.

PAGE

LOGIC-I. ITS DEFINITION,											1
--------------------------	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---

LECTURE II.

 $\label{eq:logic} \mbox{LOGIC} - \mbox{I. ITS DEFINITION} - \mbox{HISTORICAL NOTICES OF OPINIONS} \\ \mbox{REGARDING ITS OBJECT AND DOMAIN} - \mbox{II. ITS UTILITY, . } 14$

LECTURE III.

LECTURE IV.

LOGIC - III. ITS DIVISIONS - PURE AND MODIFIED, . . . 41

LECTURE V.

PURE LOGIC.

LECTURE VI.

THE	FUNDAME	NTAL	LAWS	OF	тно	UGHI	с — Т	HEI	R	CLAS	SIFI	CA-	
	TION AND	IMPO	RT, .										69

LECTURE VII.

SECTION II. O	F THE	PRODU	CTS O	F THO	UGH	Т . — I .	ENNOI	EMATIC	2
-OF COM	NCEPTS	OR N	OTION	S - A.	OF	CONCE	PTS IN	GEN-	-
ERAL, .									83

LECTURE VIII.

ENNOEMATIC - A. OF CONCEPTS IN GENERAL ; B. IN SPECIAL. - I. THEIR OBJECTIVE RELATION - QUANTITY, . . . 93

LECTURE IX.

ENNOEMATIC 1	B. OF	CONCEPTS	\mathbf{IN}	SPEC	IAL.	— I	Ι.	THEIR	s ST	JB-	
JECTIVE RE	LATIO	N — QUALIT	Y,								111

LECTURE X.

LECTURE XI.

ENNOEMATIC. --- III. RECIPROCAL RELATIONS OF CONCEPTS. -- A. QUANTITY OF EXTENSION - SUBORDINATION AND COORDI-

LECTURE XII.

ENNOEMATIC III.	RECIPROCAL	RELATIO	NS OF	CON	CEP	TS	– B.	
QUANTITY OF	COMPREHENS	ION, .						150

LECTURE XIII.

II.	APOPHANTIC,	OR	THE I	DOCTRIN	TE OF	JUDGM	IENT	rs. —	JUI	G-	
	MENTS - THE	EIR	NATUR	E AND	DIVISI	ONS,					159

LECTURE XIV.

APOPHANTIC. —	JUD	GM	ENT	'S —	THE	IR	QUAI	ITY	, OP	POSI	TIO	Ν,	AND	
CONVERSIO	N,													175

LECTURE XV.

III.	DOCTRINE OF	F REASO	NINGS. —	REASO	NING IN	G	ENERA	L. —	
	SYLLOGISMS	- THEIR	DIVISIO	NS ACC	ORDING	то	INTER	RNAL	
	FORM, .								189

LECTURE XVI.

DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS. — SYLLOGISMS — THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO INTERNAL FORM. — A. SIMPLE — CATEGORI-CAL. — I. DEDUCTIVE IN EXTENSION, 206

....

LECTURE XVII.

LECTURE XVIII.

DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS. — SYLLOGISMS — THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO INTERNAL FORM. — B. CONDITIONAL — HY-POTHETICAL AND HYPOTHETICO-DISJUNCTIVE, . . . 239

LECTURE XIX.

DOCTRIN	E OF	REAS	ONINGS. — ST	TLLOGIS	MS —	TH	EIR	DI	VISI	ONS	
ACC	ORDIN	G TO	EXTERNAL	FORM.	— A.	CO	MPI	EX	— F	EPI-	
CH	EIREM	A AND	SORITES, .								257

LECTURE XX.

DOCTRINE	OF R	EASONIN	GS S	YLLOGISMS	5 - THF	IR DIV	ISIONS	
ACCO	RDING	TO EX	TERNAL	FORM. —	B. DEF	ECTIVE	— EN-	
THYM	EME	- C. REC	GULAR A	ND IRREG	GULAR -	- FIGUR	E AND	
MOOD	- FIR	ST AND	SECOND	FIGURES,				273

LECTURE XXI.

DOCTRINE OF R	EASO	NING	S SI	LLOC	ISM	S - TII	EIR	D	IVISIC	ONS	
ACCORDING	TO	EXT	ERNAL	FORM	M. —	THIRD	AN	D	FOUR	TH	
FIGURES,			• •	•							294

LECTURE XXII.

DOCTRINE	OF F	REASC	DNINGS. — S	YLLOGISM	S -	- TH	EIR	D	IVISI	ONS	
ACCOR	DING	TO	EXTERNAL	FORM	с.	REGU	JLAI	2.	AND	IR-	
REGUL	AR	- FIGU	ure — redu	CTION,							306

LECTURE XXIII.

0

LECTURE XXIV.

PURE LOGIC.

LECTURE XXV.

METHODOLOGY.

LOGICAL METHODOLOGY. --- II. DOCTRINE OF DIVISION, . . 350

LECTURE XXVI.

LECTURE XXVII.

MODIFIED LOGIC.

PART I. MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY. — SECTION I. DOCTRINE OF TRUTH AND ERROR. — TRUTH — ITS CHARACTER AND KINDS, 376

LECTURE XXVIII.

MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

LECTURE XXIX.

LECTURE XXX.

PAGE

ERROR - ITS C	AUSES	S AND	REMED	IES. — B	. AS IN	THE	COGNI-	
TIONS, FE	ELING	S, AND	DESIRE	cs II.	WEAKNI	ESS A	ND DIS-	
PROPORTIO	ONED	STREN	GTH OF	THE F	ACULTIES	S OF 1	KNOWL-	
EDGE,								411

LECTURE XXXI.

ERROR – ITS	CAUSES	AND	REMEI	DIES	. — C). L.	ANG	UAG	Е. —	- D.	OB-	
JECTS O	F KNOW	LEDGI	Ε, .				•	•		•		432

LECTURE XXXII.

MODIFIED METHODOLOGY.

SECTION	I. OF	THE	ACQUISITION	AND	PE	RFE	CTH	NG O	FF	VON3	VL-	
EDG	E. — I.	EXP	ERIENCE. — A.	PER	SON	AL:	- 0	BSEI	RVA	TION	— N	
IND	UCTIO	N AN	D ANALOGY,									441

LECTURE XXXIII.

OF	THE	ACQUI	SITI	ON	AN	D P	ERF	FECTI	NG	OF	KN	OW	LED	GE.	— I.	
	EXP	ERIENO	CE	- B.	FOR	EIGI	N : -	- ORA	L	TESTI	MON	NY-	- ITS	S CR	ED-	
	IBIL	ITY,														457

LECTURE XXXIV.

OF THE ACQUISITION AND PERFECTING OF KNOWLEDGE. - I. EXPERIENCE. - B. FOREIGN: RECORDED TESTIMONY AND WRITINGS IN GENERAL. - II. SPECULATION, 408

LECTURE XXXV.

APPENDIX.

I THE CHARACTER AND COMPREHENSION OF LOGIC - A FRAG-	PAGE
MENT,	495
II. — GENUS OF LOGIC,	498
III. — DIVISIONS, VARIETIES, AND CONTENTS OF LOGIC, \ldots	501
IV. — LAWS OF THOUGHT,	50 6
V. — NEW ANALYTIC OF LOGICAL FORMS — GENERAL RESULTS — FRAGMENTS.	
I EXTRACT FROM PROSPECTUS OF "ESSAY TOWARDS A NEW	
ANALYTIC OF LOGICAL FORMS,"	509
II LOGIC, - ITS POSTULATES,	512
III QUANTIFICATION OF PREDICATE, - IMMEDIATE INFER-	
ENCE, - CONVERSION, - OPPOSITION,	514
IV APPLICATION OF DOCTRINE OF QUANTIFIED PREDICATE	
TO PROPOSITIONS,	529
V APPLICATION OF DOCTRINE OF QUANTIFIED PREDICATE	
TO SYLLOGISMS,	536
VI OBJECTIONS TO THE DOCTRINE OF A QUANTIFIED PRED-	
ICATE CONSIDERED,	539
VII. — HISTORICAL NOTICES OF DOCTRINE OF QUANTIFIED	
PREDICATE,	546

VI. — CANONS OF SYLLOGISM; GENERAL HISTORICAL NOTICES AND CRITICISM.

A. HISTORICAL NOTICES.

I FUNDAMENTAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM - QUOTATIONS,		559
II FUNDAMENTAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM - REFERENCES,		575
III ENUNCIATIONS OF THE HIGHER LAWS OF SYLLOGISM,		576
IV OBJECTIONS TO THE DICTUM DE OMNI ET NULLO,		578
V GENERAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM IN VERSE,	•	578
VI. — SPECIAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM IN VERSE,		579

B. CRITICISM.

I criticism of the special laws of syllogism,			579
II LAWS OF SECOND FIGURE,			582
III AUTHOR'S SUPREME CANONS OF CATEGORICAL	SY	LLO-	
GISMS,			583
IV ULTRA-TOTAL QUANTIFICATION OF MIDDLE TERM	м,		584

,

VII INDUCTION AND EXAMPLE.	E
I OUOTATIONS FROM AUTHORS.	39
II. — MATERIAL INDUCTION	97
VIII. — HYPOTHETICAL AND DISJUNCTIVE REASONING — IMMEDI- ATE INFERENCE.	
I. — AUTHOR'S DOCTRINE — FRAGMENTS,	8
II. — HISTORICAL NOTICES, 61	2
IX - SORITES	0
	9
X. — SYLLOGISM.	
I ITS ENOUNCEMENT - ANALYTIC AND SYNTHETIC - ORDER	
OF PREMISES.	
(a) ENOUNCEMENT OF SYLLOGISM, 62	1
(b) ORDER OF PREMISES,	4
II FIGURE - UNFIGURED AND FIGURED SYLLOGISM.	
(1853) (a) CONTRAST AND COMPARISON OF THE VARI-	
OUS KINDS OF FORMAL SYLLOGISM - DIFFERENCE OF	
FIGURE ACCIDENTAL, 62	6
(b) DOUBLE CONCLUSION IN SECOND AND THIRD FIG-	
URES, 62	7
III HISTORICAL NOTICES REGARDING FIGURE OF SYLLOGISM, 63	2
IV. — SYLLOGISTIC MOODS.	
I DIRECT AND INDIRECT MOODS, 65	8
II INDIRECT MOODS OF SECOND AND THIRD FIGURES, 66	3
111 NEW MOODS - NOTES UPON TABLE OF SYLLOGISMS, 66	5

XI. - LOGICAL NOTATION.

I LAMBERT'S LINEAR NOTATION,		667
II NOTATION BY MAASS,		669
III AUTHOR'S SCHEME OF NOTATION.		
NO. I. LINEAR,		670
NO. 11. UNFIGURED AND FIGURED SYLLOGISM		673
NO. III. FIGURED SYLLOGISM - TABLE OF MOODS	•	678
TABLE OF MOODS,	*	070

XVI

LECTURES ON LOGIC.

LECTURE I.*

INTRODUCTION.

LOGIC-L ITS DEFINITION.

GENTLEMEN : --- We are now about to enter on the consideration

Logic proper,-mode in which its consideration ought to be conducted.

of one of the most important branches of Mental Philosophy, --- the science which is conversant about the Laws of Thought. But, before commencing the discussion, I would premise a word in regard to the mode in which it ought to be conducted, with a view to your information and improvement.

The great end which every instructor ought to

End of instruction.

propose in the communication of a science, is, to afford the student clear and distinct notions of its several parts, of their relations to each other, and to the whole of which they are the constituents. For unless he accomplish this, it is of comparatively little moment that his information be in itself either new or important; for of what consequence are all the qualities of a doctrine, if that doctrine be not communicated? - and communicated it is not, if it be not understood.

But in the communication of a doctrine, the methods to be fol-

Methods of written and oral instruction different.

lowed by an instructor who writes, and by an instructor who speaks, are not the same. They are, in fact, to a certain extent, necessarily different: for, while the reader of the one can al-

ways be referred back or forward, can always compare one part of a

^{*} The first seven Lectures of the Metaphysical Course (Lectures on Metaphysics, pp. 1-90) were delivered by Sir William Hamilton as a General Introduction to the Course of Logic proper. - ED.

book with another, and can always meditate at leisure on each step of the evolution; the hearer of the other, on the contrary, must at every moment be prepared, by what has preceded, to comprehend at once what is to ensue. The oral instructor has thus a much more ardnous problem to solve, in accomplishing the end which he proposes. For if, on the one hand, he avoid obscurity by communicating only what can easily be understood as isolated fragments, he is intelligible only because he communicates nothing worth learning : and if, on the other, he be unintelligible in proportion as his doetrine is concatenated and systematic, he equally fails in his attempt; for as, in the one case, there is nothing to teach, so, in the other, there is nothing taught. It is, therefore, evident, that the oral instructor must accommodate his mode of teaching to the circumstances under which he acts. He must endeavor to make his audience fully understand each step of his movement before another is attempted; and he must prepare them for details by a previous survey of generals. In short, what follows should always be seen to evolve itself out of what precedes. It is in consequence of this condition of oral instruction, that, where the development of a sys-

Use of Text-book in a systematic course of Lectures. tematic doctrine is attempted in a course of Lectures, it is usual for the lecturer to facilitate the labor to his pupils and himself, by exhibiting in a Manual or Text-book the order of his doctrine

and a summary of its contents. As I have not been able to prepare this useful subsidiary, I shall endeavor, as far as possible, to supply its want. I shall, in the first place, endeavor always to present you

Author's method of Prelection. with a general statement of every doctrine to be explained, before descending to the details of explanation; and in order that you may be

insured in distincter and more comprehensive notions, I shall, where it is possible, comprise the general statements in Propositions or Paragraphs, which I shall slowly dictate to you, in order that they may be fully taken down in writing. This being done, I shall proceed to analyze these propositions or paragraphs, and to explain their clauses in detail. This, I may observe, is the method followed in those countries where instruction by prelection is turned to the best account; — it is the one prevalent on the Continent, more especially in the universities of Germany and Holland.

In pursuance of this plan, I at once commence by giving you, as the first proposition or paragraph, the following. I may notice, however, by parenthesis, that, as we may have sometimes occasion to refer articulately to these propositions, it would be proper for you to distinguish them by sign and number. The first paragraph, then, is this:

¶ I. A System	of Logical Instruction consists of Two Parts,
	-1° , Of an Introduction to the science;
Par. I. Of what a sys-	2°, Of a Body of Doctrine constituting the
tom of hogic contraction	Science itself.

These, of course, are to be considered in their order.

¶ II. The Introduction to Logic should afford answers to the following questions: i. What is Logic? ii. What is its Value? iii. What are its Divisions? iv. What is its History? and, v. What is its Bibliography, that is, what are the best books upon the subject?

In regard to the first of these questions, it is evident that its answer is given in a definition of Logic. I therefore dictate to you the third paragraph.

¶ III. What is Logic? Answer — Logic is the Science of the Laws of Thought as Thought.

This definition, however, cannot be understood without an ar-Explication. ticulate exposition of its several parts. I therefore proceed to this analysis and explanation, and shall consider it under the three following heads. In the first, I shall consider the meaning, and history, and synonyms of the word *Logic*. In the second, I shall consider the Genus of Logic, that is, explain why it is defined as a Science. In the third, I shall consider the Object-matter of Logic, that is, explain to you what is meant by saying, that it is conversant about the Laws of Thought as Thought.

First, then, in regard to the significance of the word. Logic, you

The word Logic —

 (a) Its History.

are aware, is a Greek word, λογική; and λογική, like γραμματική, ἡητορική, ποιητική, διαλεκτική, I need hardly tell you, is an adjective, one or other of

the substantives interfully, science, $\tau i \chi v \eta$, art, or $\pi_{f} a \gamma \mu a \tau i a$, study, or rather matter of study, being understood. The term $\lambda o \gamma u \kappa \eta$, in this special signification, and as distinctly marking out a particular science, is not so old as the constitution of that science itself. Aristotle did not designate by the term $\lambda o \gamma u \kappa \eta$, the science whose docor

trine he first fully developed. He uses, indeed, the adjective λογικόs in various combinations with other substantives.

Aristotle. Thus I find in his Physics, $\lambda \rho \gamma \kappa \dot{\eta} \, \dot{a} \pi \rho \rho (a, 1 - in)$ his Rhetoric, $\lambda \rho \gamma \kappa a \dot{\delta} \, \delta \nu \sigma \chi \epsilon \rho \epsilon (a, 2 - in)$ his Metaphysics, $\lambda \rho \gamma \kappa \dot{\alpha} \, \dot{\delta} \, d \pi \delta \epsilon (\xi - \epsilon \iota s, 3 - in)$ his Posterior Analytics, $\check{\epsilon} \nu \iota a \, \lambda \rho \gamma \kappa \dot{\alpha}, 4 - in)$ his Topics, $\lambda \rho \gamma \iota - \kappa \dot{\delta} \nu \, \pi \rho \dot{\delta} \beta \lambda \eta \mu a.^{5}$ He, likewise, not unfrequently makes use of the adverb $\lambda \rho \gamma \iota \kappa \dot{\omega} s.^{6}$ By whom the term $\lambda \rho \gamma \kappa \dot{\eta}$ was first applied, as the word expressive of the science, does not appear. Boethius, who flourished at the close of the fifth and commencement of the sixth century, says, in his Commentary on the Topics of Cicero,⁷ that the

Ancient Peripatetics. Alexander of Aphrodisias. name of *Logic* was first given by the ancient Peripatetics. In the works of Alexander of Aphrodisias, the oldest commentator we possess on the works of Aristotle (he flourished towards

the end of the second century), the term $\lambda \alpha \gamma \kappa \eta'$, both absolutely and in combination with $\pi \rho \alpha \gamma \mu \alpha \tau \epsilon i \alpha$, etc., is frequently employed;⁸ and the word is familiar in the writings of all the subsequent Aristotelians. Previously, however, to Alexander, it is evident that

Cicero.

λογική had become a common designation of the science; for it is once and again thus applied

by Cicero.⁹ So much for the history of the word *Logic*, in so far as regards its introduction and earlier employment. We have now to consider its derivation and meaning.

(b) Its derivation and meaning. Twofold meaning of

λόγος.

It is derived from $\lambda \dot{\alpha} \gamma \sigma s$, and it had primarily the same latitude and variety of signification as its original. What then did $\lambda \dot{\alpha} \gamma \sigma s$ signify? In Greek this word had a twofold meaning. It denoted both thought and its expression; it was

equivalent both to the ratio and to the oratio of the Latins. The

1 B. iii. e. 3. ${}^{\nu}E\chi\epsilon\iota$ δ' ἀπορίαν λογικήν. "Dubitationem quæ non e rerum singularium (physicarum) contemplatione, sed e ratiocinatione sola orta est." Waitz, ad Arist. Org., vol. ii. p. 354. Logical and dialectical reasoning in Aristotle mean the same thing, — viz., reasoning founded only on general principles of probability, not on necessary truths or on special experiences. — ED.

² This expression occurs not in the *Rhetoric*, but in the *Metaphysics*, B. iii, (iv.) c. 3, and B. xiii, (xiv.) c. 1. In the *Rhetoric* we find the expression λογικοί συλλογισμοί, B. i. c. 1. - E.D.

³ B. xiii. (xiv.) c. 1. Cf. De Gener. Anim., ii. 8. - ED.

4 B. i. c. 24 - ED.

5 B. v. c. 1. - ED.

⁶ E. g., Anal. Post., i. 21, 32; Phys. viii. 8; Metaph., vi. 4, 17; xi. 1. - ED.

7 L. i. sub init. - ED.

⁸ See, especially, his commentary on the *Prior Analytics*, f. 2 (*Scholia*, ed, Brandis, p. 141), where he divides $\hat{\eta}$ λογική τε καl συλλογιστική πραγματεία into four branches, αποδεικτική, διαλεκτική, πειραστική, and σοφιστική. Here Logic is used in a wider sense than the adjective and adverb bear in Aristotle, while the cognate term *dialectic* retains its original signification. — ED.

⁹ See *De Finibus*, i. 7; *Tusc. Qaast.*, iv. 14. Cicero probably borrowed this use of the term from the Stoics, to whose founder, Zeno, Laertius (vii 39) ascribes the origin of the division of Philosophy into Logic, Physics, and Ethics, sometimes erroneously attributed to Plato. -- ED.

Greeks, in order to obviate the ambiguity thus arising from the confusion of two different things under one expression, were compelled to add a differential epithet to the common term. Aristo-

	tle, to contradistinguish λόγος, meaning thought,
How expressed by	from $\lambda \acute{o}\gamma os$, meaning speech, calls the former $\tau \acute{o}\nu$
Alisione.	έσω, — τὸν ἐν τŷ ψυχŷ, — that within, — that in the
mind; and the la	atter, $\tau \partial v \ \tilde{\epsilon} \xi \omega$, — that without. ¹ The same distinc-

By others.

tion came subsequently to be expressed by the λόγος ένδιά θετος, for thought, the verbum mentis;

and by λόγος προφορικός, for language, the verbum oris.² It was necessary to give you this account of the ambiguity of the word $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$, because the same passed into its derivative $\lambda_{0\gamma}$ is and it also was necessary that you should be made aware of the ambiguity in the name of the science, because this again exerted an influence on the views adopted in regard to the object-matter of the science.

But what, it may be asked, was the appellation of the science

Appellations of the science afterwards called Logic.

before it had obtained the name of Logic? for, as I have said, the doctrine had been discriminated, and even carried to a very high perfection, before it received the designation by which it is

now generally known. The most ancient name for what was subsequently denominated Logic, was Dialectic. But this must be understood with certain limitations. By Plato, the term dialectic is frequently employed to mark out a particular section of philosophy. But this section is, with Plato, not coëxtensive with the domain of Logic; it includes, indeed, Logic, but it does not exclude Metaphysic, for it is conversant not only about the form, but about the matter of our knowledge. (The meaning of these expressions you are soon to learn.)

This word, διαλεκτική (τέχνη, or επιστήμη, or πραγματεία, being understood) is derived, you are aware, from $\Delta ia\lambda \epsilon \kappa \tau i \kappa \eta - its$ ety-Sialéyeo Jai, to hold conversation or discourse mology. together; dialectic, therefore, literally signifies,

of a conversation, colloquy, controversy, dispute. But Plato, who defined thought an internal discourse of the soul with itself,3 and who explained $\tau \delta$ $\delta \iota a \lambda \epsilon \gamma \epsilon \sigma \vartheta a \iota$ by the ambiguous expression $\tau \hat{\omega} \lambda \delta \gamma \hat{\omega}$

originated with the Stoics. See Wyttenbach's note on Plutarch's Moralia, p 44 A (tom. vi. pars l, p. 378, edit. Oxon, 1810).-ED.

3 Fishaber, p. 10. [Lehrbuch der Logik, Einleitung. See Theatetus p. 189. Sophista, p. 263. -ED.1

mend

¹ Anal. Post., i. 10. - ED.

² E. g., Philo, De Vita Mosis, p. 672, edit. Paris, 1640; Plutarch, Philos. esse cum principibus, c. 2 (vol. ii. p. 777, C., ed. Francof., 1620); Sextus Empiricus, Pyrrh. Hyp., i. 65; Simplicius, In Categ. Arist., p. 7; Damascenus, Fid. Orthod., ii. 21. The expressions probably

χρησθαι,¹ did not certainly do violence either to the Greek lan-

Use of the term Dialectic by Plato.

guage or to his own opinions, in giving the name of dialectic to the process, not merely of logical inference, but of metaphysical specula-In our own times, the Platonic signification of the word

tion. has been revived, and Hegel has applied it, in By Hegel. even a more restricted meaning, to metaphysical

speculation alone.² But if Plato employed the term *Dialectic*

Aristotle's employment of Dialectic.

to denote more than Logic, Aristotle employed it to denote less. With him, Dialectic is not a term for the pure science, or the science in

general, but for a particular and an applied part. It means merely the Logic of Probable Matter, and is thus convertible with what he otherwise denominates Topics (τοπική).3 This, I may observe, has been very generally misunderstood, and it is commonly supposed that Aristotle uses the term Dialectic in two meanings, - in one meaning for the science of Logic in general, in another for the Logic of Probabilities. This is, however, a mistake. There is, in fact, only a single passage in his writings, on the ground of which it can possibly be maintained that he ever employs Dialectic in the more extensive meaning. This is in his Rhetoric i. 1;4 but the passage is not stringent, and Dialectic may there be plausibly interpreted in the more limited signification. But at any rate it is of no authority, for it is an evident interpolation, - a mere gloss which has crept in from the margin into the text.⁵ Thus it appears that Aristotle possessed no single term by which to designate the general science of which he was the prin-

Of Analytic, Apodeictic, Topic.

cipal author and finisher. Analytic, and Apodeictic with Topic (equivalent to Dialectic, and including Sophistic), were so many special

names by which he denoted particular parts, or particular applications of Logic. I say nothing of the vacillating and various employment of the terms Logic and Dialectic by the Stoics, Epicureans, and other ancient schools of philosophy; and now proceed to explain to you the second head of the definition, - viz., the Genus, - class, of Logic, which I gave as Science.

It was a point long keenly mooted by the old logicians, whether

1 I. Alcib., p. 129. ΣΩ. Τό δε διαλέγεσθαι καί τὸ λόγω χρησθαι ταὐτόν που καλεῖs; AA Πάνυ γε. Cf. Gassendi, Logica, Procem. Opera, t. i. p. 32. - ED.

4 Περί δε συλλογισμού δμοίως απαντος τής διαλεκτικής έστιν ίδειν ή αυτής όλης ή μέρους τινός. - Ε.

5 See Balforeus. [R. Balforei Commentarius in Organum Logicum Aristotelis, Burdigalæ, 1618. Qu. II. § 3, p. 12. Muretus, in his version, omits this passage as an interpolation. - ED.]

² See Encyklopadie, § 81. - ED.

⁸ Topica, i. 1. Διαλεκτικός δέ συλλογισμός ό έξ ένδόξνω συλλογιζόμενος. - Ε.

Logic were a science, or an art, or neither, or both; and if a science,

2. LOGIC — its Genus — whether Science or Art. whether a science practical, or a science speculative, or at once speculative and practical. Plato and the Platonists viewed it as a science;¹ but with them Dialectic, as I have noticed,

was coëxtensive with the Logic and Metaphysics of the Peripatetics taken together. By Aristotle himself Logic is not defined. The Greek Aristotelians, and many philosophers since the revival of letters, deny it to be either science or art.² The Stoics, in general, viewed it as a science;³ and the same was done by the Arabian and Latin schoolmen.⁴ In more modern times, however, many Aristotelians, all the Ramists, and a majority of the Cartesians, maintained it to be an art;⁵ but a considerable party were found who defined it as both art and science.⁶ In Germany, since the time of Leibnitz, Logic has been almost universally regarded as a science.

The question futile. The controversy which has been waged on this point is perhaps one of the most futile in the history of speculation. In so far as Logic is concerned, the decision of the question is not of the very smallest import. It was not in consequence of any diversity of opinion in regard to the scope and nature of this doctrine, that philosophers disputed by what name it should be called. The controversy was, in fact, only about what was properly an art, and what was properly a science; and as men attached one meaning or another to these terms, so did they affirm Logic to be an art, or a science, or both, or neither. I should not, in fact, have thought it necessary to say anything on this head, were it not to guard you against some mistakes of the respectable author, whose work on Logic I have recommended to your attention,—I mean Dr. Whately. In the opening sentence of his

Whately quoted. *Elements*, it is said: "Logic, in the most extensive sense which the name can with propriety be made to bear, may be considered as the Science, and also the Art of Reasoning. It investigates the principles on which argumentation is conducted, and furnishes rules to secure the mind from

1 [Camerarius, Disputationes Philosophicæ, p. 30.] [Pars i qu. 3, ed. Parisiis, 1630. See also Qu. 4, p. 44 – ED.]

² [See Themistius, In Anal. Post., l. i. c. 24, [Opera, p. 6, Venice, 1554.— ED.] Ammonius Hermia, In Categ., Præf. [p. 3, ed. Ald 1503. — ED.] Simplicius, In Categ., Præf. [§ 25, p. 5, ed. Basileæ. 1551.— ED.] Zabarella, De Natura Logicæ. [l. i. c. 5, et seq.— ED.] Smiglecius, Logicæ, Disp. ii. qu. 4, [p. 69, ed. Oxonii, 1658.— ED.] Logica Conimbricensis, [Tract i. § 1. subs. 4, et seq., p. 8, ed. 1711. – ED.] Gerard John Vossius, De Nat. Artium, sive de Logica, c. vi]

3 [See Laertius, In Vita Zenonis, l. vii.] [§ 62. --- ED.]

4 [Scotus, Prædicamenta, Qu. i. Albertus Magnus, In De Prædicabilibus, c. 1.]

5 [Ramus, Instit. Dialect., l. i. c. 1. Burgersdicius, Instit. Log., l. i. c. 1, [§ 4. – ED.]

6 See Smiglecius, as above. - ED.

error in its deductions. Its most appropriate office, however, is that of instituting an analysis of the process of the mind in reasoning; and in this point of view it is, as has been stated, strictly a science; while mentioned in reference to the practical rules above mentioned, it may be called the art of reasoning. This distinction, as will hereafter appear, has been overlooked, or not clearly pointed out, by most writers on the subject; Logic having been in general regarded as merely an art, and its claim to hold a place among the sciences having been expressly denied."

All this is, from first to last, erroneous. In the first place, it is criticized. erroneous in what it says of the opinion prevalent among philosophers, in regard to the genus

of Logic. Logic was not, as is asserted, in general regarded as an art, and its claim to hold a place among the sciences expressly denied. The contrary would have been correct; for the immense majority of logicians, ancient and modern, have regarded Logic as a science, and expressly denied it to be an art. In the second place, supposing Dr. Whately's acceptation of the terms art and science to be correct, there is not a previous logician who would have dreamt of denying that, on such an acceptation, Logic was both a science and an art. But, in the third place, the discrimination itself of art and science is wrong. Dr. Whately considers science to be any knowledge viewed absolutely, and not in relation to practice, - a signification in which every art would, in its doctrinal part, be a science; and he defines art to be the application of knowledge to practice, in which sense Ethics, Politics, Religion, and all practical sciences, would be arts. The distinction of arts and sciences is thus wrong.¹ But, in the fourth place, were the distinction correct, it would be of no value, for it would distinguish nothing, since art and science would mark out no real difference between the various branches of knowledge, but only different points of view under which the same branch might be contemplated by us, - each being in different relations at once a science and an art. In fact, Dr. Whately confuses the distinction of science theoretical and science practical with the distinction of science and art. I am well aware that it would be no easy matter to give a general definition of science, as contradistinguished from art, and of art, as contradistinguished from science; but if the words themselves cannot validly be discriminated, it would be absurd to attempt to discriminate anything by them. When I, therefore, define Logic by the genus science, I do not attempt to give it more than the general denomination of a branch of knowledge; for I reserve the discrimination of its peculiar character to the differential quality afforded by its object-matter. You will find, when we have discussed the third head of the definition, that Logic is not only a science, but a demonstrative or apodictic science; but so to have defined it, would have been tautological; for a science conversant about laws is conversant about necessary matter, and a science conversant about necessary matter is demonstrative.

I proceed, therefore, to the third and last head of the definition, - to explain to you what is meant by the 3. LOGIC, - its objectobject-matter of Logic, - viz., the Laws of matter.

Thought as Thought. The consideration of this head naturally divides itself into three questions: 1, What is Thought? 2, What is Thought as Thought? 3, What are the Laws of Thought as Thought?

In the first place, then, in saving that Logic is conversant about

(a) Thought, - what.

In its wider and narrower meaning.

Thought, we mean to say that it is conversant about thought strictly so called. The term thought is used in two significations of different extent. In the wider meaning, it denotes every cognitive act whatever; by some philosophers, as Descartes and his disciples, it is even used for every mental

modification of which we are conscious, and thus includes the Feelings, the Volitions, and the Desires.¹ In the more limited meaning, it denotes only the acts of the Understanding properly so called, that is, of the Faculty of Comparison, or that which is distinguished as the Elaborative or Discursive Faculty.² It is in this more re-

Objects that lie beyoud the sphere of Logic.

stricted signification that thought is said to be the object-matter of Logic. Thus Logic does not consider the laws which regulate the other powers of mind. It takes no immediate account

of the faculties by which we acquire the rude materials of knowledge; it supposes these materials in possession, and considers only the manner of their elaboration. It takes no account, at least in the department of Pure Logic, of Memory and Imagination, or of the blind laws of Association, but confines its attention to connections regulated by the laws of intelligence. Finally, it does not consider the laws themselves of Intelligence as given in the Regulative Faculty, - Intelligence, - Common Sense ; for in that faculty these laws are data, facts, ultimate and, consequently, inconceivable;

1 Descartes, Principia, p. i. § 9. "Cogitationis nomine intelligo illa omnia quæ nobis consciis in nobis fiunt, quatenus eorum in nobis conscientia est. Atque ita non modo intelligere, velle, imaginari, sed etiam sentire, idem est hic quod cogitare."-ED.

2 See Lectures on Metaphysics, lect. xxxiv., p. 463. - ED.

but whatever transcends the sphere of the conceivable, transcends the sphere of Logic.

Such are the functions about which Logic is not conversant, and such, in the limited signification of the word, are the acts which are not denominated Thought. We have hitherto found what thought is not; we must now endeavor to determine generally what it is.

The contemplation of the world presents to our subsidiary facul-

ties a multitude of objects. These objects are Thought proper. the rude materials submitted to elaboration by a higher and self-active faculty, which operates upon them in obedience to certain laws, and in conformity to certain ends. The operation of this faculty is Thought. All thought is a comparison, a recognition of similarity or difference; a conjunction or disjunction :- in other words, a synthesis or analysis of its objects. In Conception, that is, in the formation of concepts (or general notions), it compares, disjoins, or conjoins attributes; in an act of Judgment, it compares, disjoins, or conjoins concepts; in Reasoning, it compares, disjoins, or conjoins judgments. In each step of this process there is one essential element; to think, to compare, to conjoin, or disjoin, it is necessary to recognize one thing through or under another; and therefore, in defining Thought proper, we may either define it as an act of Comparison, or as a recognition of one notion as in or under another. It is in performing this act of thinking a thing under a general notion, that we are said to understand or comprehend it. For example: an object is presented, say a book; this object determines an impression, and I am even conscious of the impression, but without recognizing to myself what the thing is; in that case, there is only a perception, and not properly a thought. But suppose I do recognize it for what it is, in other words, compare it with, and reduce it under, a certain concept, class, or complement of attributes, which I call book; in that case, there is more than a perception, — there is a thought.

All this will, however, be fully explained to you in the sequel; at present I only attempt to give you a rude notion of what thinking is, to the end that you may be able vaguely to comprehend the limitation of Logic to a certain department of our cognitive functions, and what is meant by saying that Logic is a science of thought.

But Thought simply is still too undetermined; the proper object

(b) Thought as thought - what. of Logic is something still more definite; it is not thought in general, but thought considered merely as thought, of which this science takes

cognizance. This expression requires explanation; we come there-

LECT. I.

LOGIC.

fore to the second question, — What is meant by Thought as Thought?

To answer this question, let us remember what has just been said of the act constitutive of thought, — viz., that it is the recognition of a thing as coming under a concept; in other words, the marking an object by an attribute or attributes previously known as common to sundry objects, and to which we have accordingly given a general name. "In this process we are able, by abstraction, to distinguish

Matter and Form of Thought.

from each other, -1° , The object thought of; and, 2° , The kind and manner of thinking it. Let us, employing the old and established tech-

nical expressions, call the first of these the *matter*, the second the *form*, of the thought. For example, when I think that the book before me is a folio, the matter of this thought is book and folio; the form of it is a judgment. Now, it is abundantly evident that this analysis of thought into two phases or sides is only the work of a scientific discrimination and contrast; for as, on the one hand, the matter of which we think is only cogitable through a certain form, so, on the other, the form under which we think cannot be realized in consciousness, unless in actual application to an object."

Logic properly conversant only with the Form of Thought. Now, when I said that Logie was conversant about thought considered merely as thought, I meant simply to say, that Logic is conversant with the form of thought, to the exclusion of

the matter. This being understood, I now proceed to show how Logic only proposes — how Logic only can propose — the form of thought for its object of consideration. It is indeed true, that this limitation of Logic to the form of thought has not always been kept steadily in view by logicians; that it is only gradually that proper views of the science have been speculatively adopted, and still more gradually that they have been carried practically into effect, insomuch that to the present hour, as I shall hereafter show you, there are sundry doctrines still taught as logical, which, as relative to the matter of thought, are in fact foreign to the science of its form.

"But although it is impossible to show by the history of the

This shown by a consideration of the nature and conditions of the thing itself. science, that Logic is conversant with the form, to the exclusion of the matter, of thought; this can, however, be satisfactorily done by a consideration of the nature and conditions of the thing itself. For, if it be maintained that Logic

takes not merely the form, but the matter of thought into account

1 Esser, Logik, § 3, p. 4, 2d edit. Münster, 1830. - ED.

8

(the matter, you will recollect, is a collective expression for the several objects about which thought is conversant), in that case, Logic must either consider all those objects without distinction, or make a selection of some alone. Now the former of these alternatives is manifestly impossible; for if it were required that Logic should comprise a full discussion of all cogitable objects, - in other words, if Logic must draw within its sphere all other sciences, and thus constitute itself in fact the one universal science, - every one at once perceives the absurdity of the requisition, and the impossibility of its fulfilment. But is the second alternative more reasonable? Can it be proposed to Logic to take cognizance of certain objects of thought to the exclusion of others? On this supposition, it must be shown why Logic should consider this particular object, and not also that; but as none but an arbitrary answer - that is, no answer at all — can be given to this interrogation, the absurdity of this alternative is no less manifest than that of the other. The particular objects, or the matter of thought, being thus excluded, the form of human thought alone remains as the object-matter of our science; in other words, Logic has only to do with thinking as thinking, and has no, at least no immediate, concernment with that which is thought about. Logic thus obtains, in common parlance, the appellation of a formal science, not indeed in the sense as if Logic had only a form and not an object, but simply because the form of human thought is the object of Logie; so that the title formal science is properly only an abbreviated expression." 1

I proceed now to the question under this head, - viz., What is

(c) The Laws of Thought as Thought. meant by the Laws of Thought as Thought? in other words, What is meant by the Formal Laws of Thought?

We have already limited the object of Logic to the form of thought. But there is still required a last and final limitation; for this form contains more than Logic can legitimately consider. "Human thought, regarded merely in its formal relation, may be considered in a twofold point of view; for, on the one hand, it is either known to us merely from experience or observation, — we are merely aware of its phenomena historically or empirically, or, on the other, by a reflective speculation, — by analysis and abstraction, we seek out and discriminate in the manifestations of thought what is contained of necessary and universal. The empirical or historical consideration of our thinking faculty does not belong to Logic, but to the Phænomenology of Mind, — to Psychology. The empirical

¹ Esser, Logik, § 3, pp. 5, 6. Cf. Krug, Denklehre oder Logik, § 8, p. 17 et seq., 2d edit. 1819. - ED.
observation of the phenomena necessarily, indeed, precedes their speculative analysis. But, notwithstanding this, Logie possesses a peculiar province of its own, and constitutes an independent and exclusive science. For where our empirical consideration of the mind terminates, there our speculative consideration commences; the necessary elements which the latter secures from the contingent materials of observation, — these are what constitute the laws of thought as thought."¹

1 Cf. Esser, Logik, § 4, pp. 6, 7. - ED.

LECTURE II.

INTRODUCTION.

LOGIC-I. ITS DEFINITION-HISTORICAL NOTICES OF OPINIONS REGARDING ITS OBJECT AND DOMAIN-II. ITS UTILITY.

IN my last Lecture I commenced the consideration of Logic, -of Logic properly so denominated, - a science Recapitulation. for the cultivation of which every European university has provided a special chair, but which, in this country, in consequence of the misconceptions which have latterly arisen in regard to its nature and its end, has been very generally superseded : insomuch that, for a considerable period, the chairs of Logic in our Scottish universities have in fact taught almost everything except the doctrine which they were established to teach. After some precursory observations in regard to the mode of communication which I should follow in my Lectures on this subject, I entered on the treatment of the science itself, and stated to you that a systematic view of Logic would consist of two parts, the one being an Introduction to the doctrine, the other a body of the Doctrine itself. In the introduction were considered certain preparatory points, necessary to be understood before entering on the discussion of the science itself; and I stated that these preparatory points were, in relation to our science, exhausted in five questions and their answers - 1°, What is Logic? 2°, What is its value? 3°, How is it distributed? 4°, What is its history? 5°, What are its subsidiaries?

I then proceeded to the consideration of the first of these questions; and as the answer to the question, — what is Logic, — is given in its definition, I defined Logic to be the science conversant about the laws of thought considered merely as thought; warning you, however, that this definition could only be understood after an articulate explanation of its contents. Now this definition, I showed you, naturally fell into three parts, and each of these parts it behooved to consider and illustrate by itself. The first was the word significant of the thing defined, — *Logic*. The second was the genus by which Logic was defined, — science. The third was the LECT. II.

LOGIC.

object-matter constituting the differential quality of Logic, — the laws of thought as thought. Each of these I considered in its order. I, first of all, explained the original meaning of the term *Logic*, and gave you a brief history of its application. I then stated what was necessary, in regard to the genus, — science; and, lastly, what is of principal importance, I endeavored to make you vaguely aware of that which you cannot as yet be supposed competent distinctly to comprehend; I mean the peculiar character of the object, — objectmatter, — about which Logic is conversant. The object of Logic, as stated in the definition, is the laws of thought as thought. This required an articulate explanation; and such an explanation I endeavored to afford you under three distinct heads; expounding, 1°, What was meant by thought; 2°, What was meant by thought as thought; 3°, What was meant by the laws of thought as thought.

In reference to the first head, I stated that Logic is conversant about thought taken in its stricter signification, that is, about thought considered as the operation of the Understanding Proper, or of that faculty which I distinguished as the Elaborative or Discursive, the Faculty of Relations, or Comparison. I attempted to make you vaguely apprehend what is the essential characteristic of thought, -viz., the comprehension of a thing under a general notion or attribute. For such a comprehension enters into every act of the discursive faculty, in its different gradations of Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning. But by saying that Logic is conversant about thought proper, Logic is not yet discriminated as a peculiar science, for there are many sciences, likewise, inter alia, conversant about the operations and objects of the Elaborative Faculty. There is required a further determination of its object-matter. This is done by the limitation, that Logic is conversant not merely about thought, but about thought as thought. The explanation of this constituted the second head of our exposition of the object-matter. Thought, I showed, could be viewed, by an analytic abstraction, on two sides or phases. We could either consider the object thought, or the manner of thinking it; in other words, we could scientifically distinguish from each other the matter and the form of thought. Not that the matter and form have any separate existence; no object being cogitable except under some form of thought, and no form of thought having any existence in consciousness except some object be thought under it. This, however, formed no impediment to our analysis of these elements, through a mental abstraction. This is in fact only one of a thousand similar abstractions we are in the habit of making; and if such were impossible, all human science would be impossible. For example: extension is only presented to sense,

under some modification of color, and even imagination cannot represent extension except as colored. We may view it in phantasy as black or white, as translucent or opaque; but represent it we cannot, except either under some positive variety of light, or under the negation of light, which is darkness. But, psychologically considered, darkness or blackness is as much a color, that is, a positive sensation, as whiteness or redness; and thus we cannot image to ourselves aught extended, not even space itself, out of relation to color. But is this inability even to imagine extension, apart from some color, any hinderance to our considering it scientifically apart from all color? Not in the smallest; nor do Mathematics and the other sciences find any difficulty in treating of extension, without even a single reference to this condition of its actual manifestation. The case of Logic is precisely the same. Logic considers the form apart from the matter of thought; and it is able to do this without any trouble; for though the form is only an actual phænomenon when applied to some matter, - object, - yet, as it is not necessarily astricted to any object, we can always consider it abstract from all objects; in other words, from all matter. For as the mathematician, who cannot construct his diagrams, either to sense or to imagination, apart from some particular color, is still able to consider the properties of extension apart from all color; so the logician, though he cannot concretely represent the forms of thought except in examples of some particular matter, is still able to consider the properties of these forms apart from all matter. The possibility being thus apparent of a consideration of the form abstractly from the matter of thought, I showed you that such an abstraction was necessary. The objects (the matter) of thought are infinite; no one science can embrace them all, and therefore, to suppose Logic conversant about the matter of thought in general, is to say that Logic is another name for the encyclopædia - the omne scibile of human knowledge. The absurdity of this supposition is apparent. But if it be impossible for Logic to treat of all the objects of thought, it cannot be supposed that it treats of any; for no reason can be given why it should limit its consideration to some, to the exclusion of others. As Logic cannot, therefore, possibly include all objects, and as it cannot possibly be shown why it should include only some, it follows that it must exclude from its domain the consideration of the matter of thought altogether; and as, apart from the matter of thought, there only remains the form, it follows that Logic, as a special science of thought, must be viewed as conversant exclusively about the form of thought.

But the limitation of the object-matter of Logic to the form of

thought (and the expression form of thought is convertible with

(c) The Laws of Thought as Thought.

the expression thought as thought), is not yet enough to discriminate its province from that of other sciences; for Psychology, or the Empir-

ical Science of Mind, is likewise, among the other mental phænomena, conversant about the phænomena of formal thought. A still further limitation is therefore requisite; and this is given in saying that Logic is the science not merely of Thought as Thought. but of the Laws of Thought as Thought. It is this determination which affords the proximate and peculiar difference of Logic, in contradistinction from all other sciences; and the explanation of its meaning constituted the third head of illustration, which the objectmatter in the definition demanded.

The phænomena of the formal, or subjective phases of thought,

The phænomena of formal thought are of two kinds-contingent and necessary.

are of two kinds. They are either such as are contingent, that is, such as may or may not appear; or they are such as are necessary, that is, such as cannot but appear. These two classes of phænomena are, however, only manifested in

conjunction; they are not discriminated in the actual operations of thought; and it requires a speculative analysis to separate them into their several classes. In so far as these phænomena are considered merely as phænomena, that is, in so far as philosophy is merely observant of them as manifestations in general, they belong to the science of Empirical or Historical Psychology. But when philosophy, by a reflective abstraction, analyzes the necessary from the contingent forms of thought, there results a science, which is distinguished from all others by taking for its object-matter the former of these classes; and this science is Logic. Logic, therefore, is at last fully and finally defined as the science of the necessary forms of thought. Here terminated our last Lecture. But though full and final, this definition is not explicit; and it still remains to evolve it into a more precise expression.

Now, when we say that Logic is the science of the necessary forms of thought, what does the quality of necessity here imply?

Form of thought. --Four conditions of its necessity.

1. Determined by the nature of the thinking subject itself.

"In the first place, it is evident that in so far as a form of thought is necessary, this form must be determined or necessitated by the nature of the thinking subject itself; for if it were determined by anything external to the mind, then would it not be a necessary, but a merely contingent determination. The first condition, therefore,

3

of the necessity of a form of thought is, that it is subjectively, not objectively, determined.

"In the second place, if a form of thought be subjectively necessary, it must be original and not acquired. For 2. Original. if it were acquired, there must have been a time

when it did not exist; but if it did ever actually not exist, we must be able at least to conceive the possibility of its not existing now. But if we are so able, then is the form not necessary; for the criterion of a contingent cognition is, that we can represent to ourselves the possibility of its non-existence. The second condition, therefore, of the necessity of a form of thought is, that it is original, and not acquired.

"In the third place, if a form of thought be necessary and origi-

nal, it must be universal; that is, it cannot be 3. Universal. that it necessitates on some occasions, and does not necessitate on others. For if it did not necessitate universally, then would its necessitation be contingent, and it would consequently not be an original and necessary principle of mind. The third condition, therefore, of the necessity of a form of thought is, that it is universal.

"In the fourth place, if a form of thought be necessary and uni-

4. A law.

versal, it must be a law; for a law is that which applies to all cases without exception, and from which a deviation is ever, and everywhere, impossible, or, at least,

unallowed. The fourth and last condition, therefore, of the necessity of a form of thought is, that it is a law."1 This last condition, likewise, enables us to give the most explicit enunciation of the

The Object-matter of Logic explicitly enounced.

object-matter of Logic, in saving that Logic is the science of the Laws of Thought as Thought, or the science of the Formal Laws of Thought, or the science of the Laws of the Form of Thought;

for all these are merely various expressions of the same thing.

General historical retrospect of views in regard to the object and domain of Logic.

Before proceeding further, it may be proper to take a very general retrospect of the views that have prevailed in regard to the object and domain of Logic, from the era when the science received its first grand and distinctive develop-

ment from the genius of Aristotle to the present time.

Merit of the Author's view of Logic.

I may say, in general, that the view which I have now presented to you of the object and domain of Logic, is the one which concentrates,

corrects, and completes the views which have been generally held

1 Esser, Logik, § 6, pp. 9, 10, with a few original interpolations. - ED.

by logicians of the peculiar province of their science. It is the one to which they all gravitate.

It is unfortunate, that by far the greater number of the logical

Aristotle.

writings of Aristotle have perished, and that those which remain to us exhibit only his views

of the science considered in its parts, or in certain special relations. None of the treatises which are now collected in the Organon,¹ considers the science from a central point; and we do not even possess a general definition of Logic by its illustrious founder. It would, therefore, be unjust to the mighty master, if, as has usually been done, we estimated his conception of the science only by the partial views contained in the fragmentary or special treatises which have chanced to float ashore from the general wreck of his logical writings. These by themselves are certainly enough to place the Stagirite high above comparison with any subsequent logician; but still, if he has done so much in the half-dozen treatises that still remain, what may we not conceive him to have accomplished in the forty which are recorded and seem to have been lost? It is, therefore, not to be attributed to Aristotle, that subsequent logicians, mistaking his surviving treatises of a logical nature - few in number, and written, in general, not in exposition of the pure seience, but only of the science in certain modified applications - for a systematic body of logical doctrine, should have allowed his views of its partial relations to influence their conceptions of the science absolutely and as a whole. By this influence of the Aristotelic treatises, we may explain the singular circumstance, that, while many, indeed most, of the subsequent logicians speculatively held the soundest views in regard to the proper object and end of Logic, few or none of them have attempted by these views to purify the science of those extraneous doctrines, to which the anthority of Aristotle seemed to have given a right of occupancy within its

Greek Aristotelians and Latin Schoolmen. domain. I shall not attempt to show you, *in extenso*, how correct, in general, were the notions entertained by the Greek Aristotelians, and even

by the Latin schoolmen, for this would require an explanation of the signification of the terms in which their opinions were embodied, which would lead me into details which the importance of the matter would hardly warrant. I shall only say, in general, that, in their multifarious controversies under this head, the diversity of their opinions on subordinate points is not more remarkable than their unanimity on principal. Logic they all discriminated as a sci-

1 See below, p. 24. - ED.

V

ence of the form and not of the matter of thought.1 Those of the schoolmen who held the object of Logic to be things in general, held this, however, under the qualification that things in general were not immediately and in themselves considered by the logician, but only as they stood under the general forms imposed on them by the intellect ("quatenus secundis intentionibus substabant"), --a mode of speaking which is only a periphrasis of our assertion, that Logic is conversant about the forms of thought.² The other schoolmen, again, who maintained that the object of Logic was thought in its processes of simple apprehension, judgment, and reasoning (three, two, or one), carefully explained that these operations were not in their own nature proposed to the logician, for as such they belonged to Animastic, as they called it, or Psychology, but only in so far as they were dirigible or subject to laws, - a statement which is only a less simple expression of the fact, that Logic is the science of the laws of thought.³ Finally, those schoolmen who held that the object-matter of Logic was found in second notions as applied to first, only meant to say that Logic was conversant with conceptions, judgments and reasonings, not in themselves, but only as regulators of thought,⁴ — a statement which merely varies and perplexes the expression, that the object of Logic is the formal laws of thought.

The same views, various in appearance, but, when analyzed, essen-

Leibnitzio-Wolfian and Kantian Schools. tially the same, and essentially correct, may be traced through the Leibnitzio-Wolfian school into the Kantian; so that, while it must be

owned that they were never adequately carried out into practical application, it cannot be denied that they were theoretically not unsound.

Bacon,-Locke. The country in which, perhaps, the nature of Logie has been most completely and generally misunderstood, is Great Britain. Bacon wholly misconceived

² [G. J. Vossius, De Nat. Artium sive De Logica, c. iv.] Compare Alex. de Ales, In Metaph. 1. iv. t. 5. "Dialectica est inventa ad regulandum discursum intellectus et rationis; ideo quædam secundæ intentiones inventæ sunt ad regulandum discursum, de quibus proprie est Logica." See also Zabarella and Camerarius as above. — ED.

³ [Camerarius, Disp. Phil., P. i. qu. 1, p.
3. - ED.] Schuler, Philosophia, p. 307, [L. v., Logica, Exer. i., ed. Hagae Comitis, 1763. -ED.] D'Abra de Raconis, [Tractatio Totius Philosophix, Pracludia Logica, Post., c. i. p. 48, ed. Parisiis, 1640. -- ED.]

4 See Zabarella and Camerarius, as above. - ED. [Compare Poncius, Cursus Philosophicus, Disp. i. qu. ult., p. 48, 2d ed. Paris, 1649]

Logicus solas considerat formas intentionum communes." Albertus Magnus, In De Anima, L. I. trac. i. c. 8. For various scholastic theories on the object-matter of Logic, see Scotus, Super Univ. Porphyrii, Qu. iii.; Zabarella, De Natura Logica, lib. i. cap. 19; Smiglecius, Logica, Disp. ii. qu. 1; Camerarius, Disputationes Philosophica, Pars. i. qu. 1, p. 2, et seq. Compare Discussions, p. 138. — ED.

its character in certain respects; but his errors are insignificant, when compared with the total misapprehension of its nature by Locke. The character of these mistakes I shall have occasion to illustrate in the sequel; at present I need only say, that, while those who, till lately, attempted to write on Logic in the English language were otherwise wholly incompetent to the task, they, at the same time, either shared the misconceptions of its nature with Locke, or only contributed, by their own hapless attempts, to justify the prejudices prevalent against the science which they professed to cultivate and improve.

It would be unjust to confound with other attempts of our country-

Whately, — general character of his Elements. men in logical science the work of Dr. Whately. The author, if not endowed with any high talent for philosophical speculation, possesses at least a sound and vigorous understanding. He

unfortunately, however, wrote his *Elements of Logic* in singular unacquaintance with all that had been written on the science in ancient and in modern times, with the exception, apparently, of two works of two Oxford logicians, — the *Institutio* of Wallis, and the

Wallis. Aldrich. Compendium of Aldrich, — both written above a century ago, neither of them rising above a humble mediocrity, even at the date of its com-

position; and Aldrich, whom Whately unfortunately regards as a safe and learned guide, had himself written his book in ignorance of Aristotle and of all the principal authors on the science, — an ignorance manifested by the grossest errors in the most elementary parts of the science. It is not, therefore, to be wondered at, that the *Elements* of Whately, though the production of an able man, are so far behind the advancement of the science of which they treat; that they are deformed with numerous and serious errors; and that the only recommendation they possess, is that of being the best book on the subject in a language which has absolutely no other deserving of notice!¹

I have now, therefore, to call your attention to Dr. Whately's

Whately's view of the object-matter and domain of Logic stated and criticized. account of the object-matter and domain of Logic. "The treatise of Dr. Whately," says his Vice-Principal and epitomator Dr. Hinds,² "displays, and it is the only one that has clearly done so, the true nature and use of Logic; so

that it may be approached no longer as a dark, curious, and merely

1 See Discussions, p. 128, second edition, foot-note.

2 Introduction to Logic, Preface, p. viii. Oxford, 1827.- ED. speculative study, such as one is apt in fancy to class with astrology, and alchemy."

Let us try whether this eulogy be as merited as it is unmeasured. Now, Dr. Whately cannot truly be said clearly to display the na-

Whately proposes to Logic different and contradictory objectmatter. ture of Logic, because in different passages he proposes to it different and contradictory objects; and he cannot be said to display the true nature of Logic, for of these different objects there is not one which is the true.

In several passages,¹ he says that "the process or operation of reasoning is alone the appropriate province of Logic." Now, this statement is incorrect in two respects. In the first place, it is incorrect, inasmuch as it limits the object-matter of Logic to that part of the Discursive Faculty which is especially denominated Reasoning. In this view Logic is made convertible with Syllogistic. This is an old error, which has been frequently refuted, and into which Whately seems to have been led by his guide Dr. Wallis.

In the second place, this statement is incorrect, inasmuch as it

The operation of Reasoning not the objectmatter of Logic, as Whately affirms. makes the process, or, as he also calls it, the operation, of reasoning the object-matter of Logic. Now, a definition which merely affirms that Logic is the science which has the process of reasoning for its object, is not a definition of

this science at all; it does not contain the differential quality by which Logic is discriminated from other sciences; and it does not prevent the most erroneous opinions (it even suggests them) from being taken up in regard to its nature. Other sciences, as Psychology and Metaphysic, propose for their object (among the other faculties) the operation of reasoning, but this considered in its real nature: Logic, on the contrary, has the same for its object, but only in its formal capacity; in fact, it has in propriety of speech nothing to do with the process or operation, but is conversant only with its laws. Dr. Whately's definition is therefore not only incompetent, but delusive; it would confound Logic and Psychology and Metaphysic, and tend to perpetuate the misconceptions in regard to the nature of Logic which have been so long prevalent in this country.

Whately erroneously and contradictorily makes Language the adequate object-matter of Logic. But Dr. Whately is not only wrong as measured by a foreign standard, he is wrong as measured by his own; he is himself contradictory. You have just seen that, in some places, he makes the operation of reasoning not only the

principal but the adequate object of Logic. Well, in others he

LECT. II.

makes this total or adequate object to be language. But as there cannot be two adequate objects, and as language and the operation of reasoning are not the same, there is, therefore, a contradiction. "In introducing," he says, "the mention of language previously to the definition of logic, I have departed from established practice, in order that it may be clearly understood that logic is entirely conversant about language; a truth which most writers on the subject, if indeed they were fully aware of it themselves, have certainly not taken due care to impress on their readers."¹ And again: "Logic is wholly concerned in the use of language."²

In our last Lecture, I called your attention to the ambiguity of the term $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$, in Greek, meaning ambiguously either thought or its expression; and this ambiguity favored the rise of two counteropinions in regard to the object of logic; for while it was generally and correctly held to be immediately conversant about the internal $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$, thought, some, however, on the contrary, maintained that it was immediately conversant about the external $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$, language. Now, by some unaccountable illusion, Dr. Whately, in different places, adopts these opposite opinions, and enunciates them without a word of explanation, or without even a suspicion that they are contradictory of each other.³

From what I have now said, you may, in some degree, be able to

The true nature of Logic more correctly understood by the scholastic logicians than by Whately. judge how far credit is to be accorded to the assertion, that Dr. Whately is the only logician who ever clearly displayed the true nature and use of Logic. In fact, so far is this assertion from the truth, that the object-matter and scope of Logic was far more correctly understood

even by the scholastic logicians than by Dr. Whately; and I may caution you, by the way, that what you may find stated in the *Elements* of the views of the schoolmen touching the nature and end of Logic, is in general wrong; in particular, I may notice one most erroneous allegation, that the schoolmen "attempted to employ logic for the purpose of physical discovery."

But if, compared only with the older logicians, the assertion of Dr. Hinds is found untenable, what will it be found, if we compare Whately with the logicians of the Kantian and Leibnitzian schools, of whose writings neither the Archbishop nor his abbreviator seems ever to have heard? And here I may observe, that Great Britain is, I believe, the only country of Europe in which books are written by respectable authors upon sciences, of the progress of which, for

1 Page 56.

2 Page 74.

above a century, they have never taken the trouble to inform themselves.

The second question, to which in the Introduction to Logic an answer is required, is, — What is the Value or Utility of this science? Before proceeding to a special consideration of this question, it may

be proper to observe, in general, that the real utility of Logic has been obscured and disparaged by the false utilities which have too frequently been arrogated to it; for when logic was found unable to accomplish what its unwise encomiasts had promised, the recoil was natural, and as it failed in performing everything, it was lightly inferred that it could perform nothing. Both of these extremes are equally erroneous. There is that which Logic can, and there is that which Logic cannot, perform; and, therefore, before attempting to show what it is that we ought to expect from the study of this science, it will be proper to show what it is that we ought not. I shall therefore, in the first place, consider its false utilities, and, in the second, its true.

The attribution of every false utility to Logic has arisen from er-

Utilities falsely attributed to Logic. roneous opinions held in regard to the object of the science. So long as it was supposed that logic took any cognizance of the matter of

thought, — so long as it was not distinctly understood that the form of thought was the exclusive object of this science, and so long as it was not disencumbered of its extraneous lumber, — so long must erroneous opinions have been prevalent as to the nature and comprehension of its end.

It was accordingly, in the first place, frequently supposed that

As an instrument of scientific discovery.

Logic was, in a certain sort, an instrument of scientific discovery. The title of Organon, instrument, — bestowed on the collection we

possess of the logical treatises of Aristotle, contributed to this error. These treatises, as I observed, are but a few of the many writings of the Stagirite on Logic, and to him we owe neither the order in which they stand arranged, nor the general name under which they are now comprehended.¹ In later times, these treatises were supposed to contain a complete system of Logic, and Logic was viewed as the organ not only of Philosophy, but of the sciences in general. Thus it was that Logic obtained not only the name of *in*strument, or *instrumental philosophy*, but many other high-sound-

ing titles. It was long generally styled the Art of arts and Science of sciences. "Logica," says Scotus, "est ars artium et scientia scientiarum, qua aperta, omnes aliæ aperiuntur; et qua clausa, omnes aliæ clauduntur; cum qua quælibet, sine qua nulla."¹ In modern times, we have systems of this science under the titles of Via ad Veritatem² — Cynosura Veritatis³ — Caput et Apex Philosophiæ⁴ — Heuristica, sive Introductio ad Artem Inveniendi,⁵ etc. But it was not only viewed as an instrument of discovery, it was

As the corrector of intellectual vices.

likewise held to be the infallible corrector of our intellectual vices, the invigorator of our intellectual imbecility. Hence some entitled their

Logics, The Medicine of the Mind,⁶ The Art of Thinking,⁷ The Lighthouse of the Intellect,⁸ The Science teaching the Right Use of Reason,⁹ etc., etc. Now, in all this there is a mixture of truth and error. To a certain extent, and in certain points of view, Logic is the organ of philosophy, the criterion of truth, and the corrector of error, and in others it is not.

In reference to the dispute, whether logic may with propriety be

In what respect Logic is an instrument of the sciences. called the *instrument*, the *organon* of the other sciences, the question may be at once solved by a distinction. One science may be styled the instrument of another, either in a material or in

a formal point of view. In the former point of view, one science is the organ of another when one science determines for another its contents or objects. Thus Mathematics may be called the material instrument of the various branches of physical science; Philology or study of the languages, Latin, Greek, Hebrew, Chaldee, etc., with a knowledge of their relative history — constitutes a material instrument to Christian Theology; and the jurist, in like manner, finds a material instrument in a knowledge of the history of the country whose laws he expounds.¹⁰ Thus, also, Physiology, in a

 Mauritii Expositio Quæstionum Doctoris Subtilis in quinque Universalia Porphyrii, Quæst.
 (Scoti Opera, Lugd. 1639, tom. i. p. 434.) Mauritius refers to St Augustin as his authority for the above quotation. It slightly resembles a passage in the De Ordine, l. ii. c. 13. -- ED.

² Gundling, Via ad Veritatem Moralem, Halæ, 1713. Daries, Via ad Veritatem, Jenac, 1764 (2d edit). -- ED.

³ P. Laurembergius, Cynosura Bonæ Mentis s. Logica Rostoch, 1633. R. Loenus, Cynosura Rationis, Arnhem, 1667. – ED.

4 See Krug, *Logik*, § 9, p. 23, from whom several of the above definitions were probably taken, — ED. ⁵ Gunner, Ars Heuristica Intellectualis, Lipsiæ, 1756. Trattato di Messer Sebastiano Erizzo, dell'Instrumento et Via Inventrice de gli antichi nelle scientie, Venice, 1554. – ED.

6 Tschirnhausen, Medicina Mentis, sive Artis Inveniendi Præcepta Generalia, Amst. 1687. Lange, Medicina Mentis, Halw, 1708. – ED.

7 L'Art de Penser, commonly known as the Port Royal Logic. Several other works have appeared under the same title. — ED.

8 Grosserus, Pharus intellectus, sive Logica Electiva, Lips., 1697. – ED.

9 Watts, Logic, or the Right Use of Reason. - ED.

10 See Genovesi, p. 41, [Elementorum Artis-Logico-Criticæ Libri V., l. i. c. iii. – ED.]

material point of view, is the organon of medicine; Aristotle has indeed well said, that medicine begins where the philosophy of nature leaves off.¹ In the latter point of view, one science is the organon of another, when one science determines the scientific form of another. Now, as it is generally admitted that Logic stands in this relation to the other sciences, as it appertains to Logic to consider the general doctrine of Method and of systematic construction, in this respect Logic may be properly allowed to be to the sciences an instrument, but only a formal instrument.²

In regard to the other titles of honor, Logie cannot with propricty be denominated a [Heuretic or] Art Logic not properly of Discovery. "For discovery or invention is an art of discovery. not to be taught by rules, but is either the free act of an original genius, or the consequence of a lucky accident, which either conducts the finder to something unknown, or gives him the impulse to seek it out. Logic can at best only analytically teach how to discover, that is, by the development and dismemberment of what is already discovered. By this process there is nothing new evolved, and our knowledge is not amplified; all that is accomplished is a clearer and distincter comprehension of the old; our knowledge is purified and systematized."3 It is well observed by Antonius, in Cicero: "Nullum est præceptum in hac arte quomodo verum inveniatur, sed tantum est, quomodo judicetur."⁴ Logie is thus not creative; it is only plastic, only formative, in relation to our knowledge.

Again: "Logic cannot with propriety be styled the medicine of

In what sense Logic can be styled the medicine of the mind. the mind, at least without some qualifying adjective, to show that the only remedy it can apply is to our formal errors, while our material errors lie beyond its reach. This is evident.

Logic is the science of the formal laws of thought.) But we cannot, in limiting our consideration to the laws of formal thinking, investigate the contents, — the matter of our thought. Logic can, therefore, only propose to purge the understanding of those errors which lie in the confusion and perplexities of an inconsequent thinking. This, however, it must be confessed, is no radical cure, but merely a purification of the understanding. In this respect, however, and to this extent, Logic may justly pretend to be the medicine of the

¹ De Sensu et Sensili, c. i.

² Krug, Logik, § 9, p. 23: Cf. Platner, Philosophische Aphorismen, Pt. i. p. 23, ed. 1793.-ED.

³ Krug, Logik, § 9, p. 24. – ED. Cf. [Richter, Logik, p. 83 et seq.]

⁴ De Oratore, ii. 38. - ED.

mind, and may therefore, in a formal relation, be styled, as by some logicians it has in fact been, *Catharticon intellectus*.

"By these observations the value of Logic is not depreciated; they only prepare us to form an estimate of its real amount. Precisely, in fact, as too much was promised and expected from this study, did it lose in credit and esteem."¹

1 Krug, Logik, § 9, pp. 24-6. - ED. Cf. [Richter, Logik, p. 85.]

LECTURE III.

INTRODUCTION.

LOGIC - II. ITS UTILITY - III. ITS DIVISIONS - SUBJECTIVE AND OBJECTIVE - GENERAL AND SPECIAL.

THE last Lecture was occupied with the consideration of the latter part of the introductory question,-What Recapitulation. is Logic? and with that of the first part of the second, - What is its Utility? In the Lecture preceding the last, I had given the definition of Logic, as the science of the laws of thought as thought, and, taking the several parts of this definition, had articulately explained, 1°, What was the meaning and history of the word Logic; 2°, What was the import of the term science, the genus of Logic; and, 3°, What was signified by laws of thought as thought, the object-matter of Logic. This last I had considered under three heads, explaining, 1°, What is meant by thought; 2°, What is meant by thought as thought; and, 3°, What is meant by laws of thought as thought. It was under the last of these heads that the last Lecture commenced. I had, in the preceding, shown that the form of thought comprises two kinds of phænomena, given always in conjunction, but that we are able by abstraction and analysis to discriminate them from each other. The one of these classes comprehends what is contingent, the other what is necessary, in the manifestations of thought. The necessary element is the peculiar and exclusive object of Logic; whereas the phænomena of thought and of mind in general are indiscriminately proposed to Psychology. Logic, therefore, I said, is distinguished from the other philosophical sciences by its definition, as the science of the necessary form of thought. This, however, though a full and final definition, is capable of a still more explicit enunciation; and I showed how we are entitled to convert the term necessary into the term laws; and, in doing so, I took the opportunity of explaining how, the necessity of a mental element being given, there is also implicitly given the four conditions, 1°, That it is subjective; 2°, That it is original; 3°, That it is universal; and, 4°, That it is a law. The full and explicit definition of Logic, therefore, is, - the

science of the Laws of Thought as Thought; or, the science of the Laws of the Form of Thought; or, the science of the Formal Laws of Thought; — these being only three various expressions of what is really the same.

Logic being thus defined, I gave a brief and general retrospect of the history of opinion in regard to the proper object and domain of Logic, and showed how, though most logicians had taken, speculatively and in general, a very correct view of the nature of their science, they had not carried this view out into application, by excluding from the sphere of Pure and Abstract Logic all not strictly relative to the form of thought, but had allowed many doctrines relative merely to the matter of thought to complicate and to deform the science.

I then called attention to the opinions of the author whom I recommend to your attention, and showed that Dr. Whately, in his statements relative to the object-matter of Logic, is vague and obscure, erroneous and self-contradictory; and that so far from being entitled to the praise of having been the only logician who has clearly displayed the true nature of the science, on the contrary, in the exposition of this nature, he is far inferior, not only in perspicuity and precision, but in truth, to the logicians of almost every age and country except our own.

And here, taking a view of what we have already established,

Observations interposed relative to the question, — What is Logic? I would interpolate some observations which I ought in my last Lecture to have made, before leaving the consideration of the first question, —viz., What is Logic? Logic, we have seen, is exclusively conversant about thought, — about

thought considered strictly as the operation of Comparison, or the faculty of Relations; and thought, in this restricted signification, is the cognition of any mental object by another in which it is considered as included;—in other words, thought is the knowledge of

The terms Conception and Concept. things under conceptions. By the way, I would here pause to make an observation upon the word *conception*, and to prepare you for the em-

ployment of a term which I mean hereafter to adopt. You are aware, from what I have already said, that I do not use *conception* in the signification in which it is applied by Mr. Stewart. He usurps it in a very limited meaning, in a meaning which is peculiar to himself, — viz., for the simple and unmodified representation of an object presented in Perception.¹ Reid, again, vacillates in the signification he attaches to this term, — using it sometimes as a

1 See Lectures on Metaphysics, lect. xxxiii. p. 452. - ED.

synonym for Imagination, sometimes as comprehending not only Imagination, but Understanding and the object of Understanding.¹

Author's employment of these terms.

It is in the latter relation alone that I ever employ it, and this is its correct and genuine signification, whether we regard the derivation of

the word, or its general use by philosophers. Conception, in English, is equivalent to conceptio and conceptus in Latin; and these terms, by the best philosophers, and the most extensive schools, have been employed as synonymous for notion (notio), the act or object of the Understanding Proper, or Faculty of Relations. So far, therefore, you are sufficiently prepared not to attribute to the word conception, when you hear it from me, the meaning which it bears in the philosophical writings with which you are most likely to be familiar. What is the precise meaning of the term will be soon fully explained in its proper place, when we commence the treatment of Logic itself. But what I principally panse at present to say is that, for the sake of perspicuity, I think it necessary, in reference to this word, to make the following distinction. The term conception, like perception, imagination, etc., means two things, or rather the same thing in two different relations, - relations, however, which it is of great importance to distinguish, and to mark the distinction by the employment of distinct words. Conception means both the act of conceiving, and the object conceived; as perception, both the act of perceiving, and the thing perceived; imagination, both the act of imagining, and what is imagined. Now, this is a source of great vagueness in our philosophical discussions : have we no means of avoiding this inconvenience? I think we have; and that, too, without committing any violence upon language. I would propose the following distinction : For the act of conceiving, the term conception should be employed, and that exclusively; while for the object of conception, or that which is conceived, the term concept should be used.² Concept is the English of the Latin conceptum, id quod conceptum est, - and had it no vested right as an actual denizen of the language, it has good warrant for its naturalization. There are a thousand words in English formed on precisely the same analogy, as precept, digest, etc., etc. But we have no occasion to appeal to analogy. The term concept was in common use among the older philosophical writers in English,3 though, like many other valuable expressions of these authors, it has been overlooked by our

1 See Lectures on Metaphysics, lect. xxxiii. p. 452. — ED.

² See Biel, [In Sent., l. i. dist. 2, qu. 8; l. ii. dist. 2, qu. 2 By Occam and most others, conceptus is used as "id quod terminat actum intelligendi." See Occam, In Sent., l. i. d. 2, qu. 8; and Biel, l. i. d. 3, q. 5.]

³ See Zachary Coke, Art of Logick. London 1654, pp. 11, 101, et alibi; Gideon Harvey, Archelogia Philosophica Nova, or New Principles

LECT. III.

English lexicographers. I may add, that nearly the same fortune has befallen the term in French. Concept was in ordinary use by the old French philosophers, but had latterly waxed obsolete. It has, however, I see, been reinstated in its rights since the reäwakening of philosophy in France; and, in particular, it is now employed in that language in translating from the German the term *Begriff*. I shall, therefore, make no scruple in using the expression concept for the object of conception, and conception I shall exclusively employ to designate the act of conceiving. Whether it might not, in like manner, be proper to introduce the term percept for the object of perception, I shall not at present inquire.

But to return from this digression. Logic, we have seen, is ex-

Analogy between Logic and Mathematics. elusively conversant about thought strictly so denominated, and thought proper, we have seen, is the cognition of one object of thought by another, in or under which it is mentally included;

- in other words, thought is the knowledge of a thing through a concept or general notion, or of one notion through another. In thought, all that we think about is considered either as something containing, or as something contained ; - in other words, every process of thought is only a cognition of the necessary relations of our concepts. This being the case, it need not move our wonder that Logic, within its proper sphere, is of such irrefragable certainty, that, in the midst of all the revolutions of philosophical doctrines, it has stood not only unshattered but unshaken. In this respect, Logie and Mathematics stand alone among the sciences, and their peculiar certainty flows from the same source. Both are conversant about the relations of certain a priori forms of intelligence :-Mathematics about the necessary forms of Imagination; Logic about the necessary forms of Understanding; Mathematics about the relations of our representations of objects, as out of each other in space and time; Logic about the relations of our concepts of objects, as in or under each other, that is, as, in different relations, respectively containing and contained. Both are thus demonstrative or absolutely certain sciences only as each develops what is given - what is given as necessary, in the mind itself. The laws of Logic are grounded on the mere possibility of a knowledge through the concepts of the Understanding, and through these we know only by comprehending the many under the one. Concerning the nature of the objects delivered by the Subsidiary Faculties

Baynes, New Analytic of Logical Forms, pp. 5, 6, note. - ED.

of Philosophy. Lond. 1663, P. i., b. ii., c. 4, p. 22. For several authorities for the use of this term among the older English logicians, see

to the Elaborative, Logic pronounces nothing, but restricts its consideration to the laws according to which their agreement or disagreement is affirmed.¹

It is of itself manifest that every science must obey the laws of Logic. If it does not, such pretended science · Logic is the negative is not founded on reflection, and is only an irracondition of truth. tional absurdity. All inference, evolution, concatenation, is conducted on logical principles - principles which are ever valid, ever imperative, ever the same. But an extension of any science through Logic is absolutely impossible; for by conforming to logical canons we acquire no knowledge - receive nothing new, but are only enabled to render what is already obtained more intelligible, by analysis and arrangement. (Logic is only the negative condition of truth.²) To attempt by a mere logical knowledge to amplify a science, is an absurdity as great as if we should attempt by a knowledge of the grammatical laws of a language to discover what was written in this language, without a perusal of the several writings themselves. But though Logic cannot extend, cannot amplify a science by the discovery of new facts, it is not to be supposed that it does not contribute to the progress of science. The progress of the sciences consists not merely in the accumulation of new matter, but likewise in the detection of the relations subsisting among the materials accumulated; and the reflective abstraction by which this is effected, must not only follow the laws of Logic, but is most powerfully cultivated by the habits of logical study. In these intercalary observations I have, however, insensibly encroached upon the second question, -What is the Utility of Logic? On this question I now dictate the following paragraph :

¶ IV. As the rules of Logic do not regard the matter but only the form of thought, the Utility of Logic. Logic must, in like manner, be viewed as limited to its influence on our manner of thinking, and not sought for in any effect it can exert upon what we think about. It is, therefore, in the first place, not to be considered useful as a Material Instrument, that is, as a mean of extending our knowledge by the discovery of new truths; but merely as a Formal Instrument, that is, as a mean by which knowledge, already acquired, may be methodized into the form accommodated to the conditions of our understanding. In the second place, it is not to be regarded as a Medicine of the mind

¹ Cf. Bachmann, Logik, Einleitung, § 20. ² [Ancillon, Essais Philosophiques, t. ii. p. 291.]

86 (

to the extent of remedying the various errors which originate in the nature of the objects of our knowledge, but merely to the extent of purging the mind of those errors which arise from inconsequence and confusion in thinking.¹

Logic, however, is still of eminent utility, not only as presenting to us the most interesting object of contemplation in the mechanism of human thought, but as teaching how, in many relations, to discriminate truth from error, and how to methodize our knowledge into system; while, at the same time, in turning the mind upon itself, it affords to our higher faculties one of their most invigorating exercises. Another utility is, that Logic alone affords us the means requisite to accomplish a rational criticism, and to communicate its results.

What is now summarily stated in the preceding paragraph, I illustrated, in my last Lecture, in detail, — in so far as it was requisite to disencumber the real value of our science from those false utilities which, in place of enhancing its worth in the opinion of the world, have, in fact, mainly contributed to reduce the common estimate of its importance far beneath the truth. I now proceed to terminate what I have to say under this head by a few words, in exposition of what renders the cultivation of Logic — of genuine logie — one of the most important and profitable of our studies.

"Admitting, therefore, that this science teaches nothing new, --

Logic gives us, to a certain extent, dominion over our thoughts. that it neither extends the boundaries of knowledge, nor unfolds the mysteries which lie beyond the compass of the reflective intellect, — and that it only investigates the immutable laws to

which the mind in thinking is subjected, still, inasmuch as it develops the application of these laws, it bestows on us, to a certain extent, a dominion over our thoughts themselves. And is it nothing to watch the secret workshop in which nature fabricates cognitions and thoughts, and to penetrate into the sanctuary of self-consciousness, to the end that, having learnt to know ourselves, we may be qualified rightly to understand all else? Is it nothing to seize the helm of thought, and to be able to turn it at our will? For, through a research into the laws of thinking, Logic gives us, in a certain sort, a possession of the thoughts themselves. It is true, indeed, that the mind of man is, like the universe of matter, governed by eternal laws, and follows, even without consciousness, the invariable canons of its nature. But to know and understand itself, and

> 1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 9. – ED. 5

LECT. III.

out of the boundless chaos of phænomena presented to the senses to form concepts, through concepts to reduce that chaos to harmony and arrangement, and thus to establish the dominion of intelligence over the universe of existence, - it is this alone which constitutes man's grand and distinctive preëminence."1 "Man," says the great Pascal, "is but a reed, - the very frailest in nature; but he is a reed that thinks. It needs not that the whole universe should arm to crush him. He dies from an exhalation, from a drop of water. But should the universe conspire to crush him, man would still be nobler than that by which he falls; for he knows that he dies; and of the victory which the universe has over him, the universe knows nothing. Thus our whole dignity consists in thought. . . . Let us labor, then, to think aright; this is the foundation of morality."² In the world of sense, illusive appearances hover around us like

Supplies in part the criterion of truth from error.

evil spirits; unreal dreams mingle themselves with real knowledge; the accustomed assumes the character of certainty; and the associations of thought are mistaken for the connections of

existence. We thus require a criterion to discriminate truth from error; and this criterion is, in part at least, supplied to us by Logic. Logic teaches us to analyze the concrete masses of our knowledge into its elements, and thus gives us a clear and distinct apprehension of its parts, it teaches us to think consistently and with method, and it teaches us how to build up our accumulated knowledge into a firm and harmonious edifice.³ "The study of logic is as necessary for correct thinking, as the study of grammar is for correct speaking; were it not otherwise and in itself an interesting study to investigate the mechanism of the human intellect in the marvellous processes of thought. They, at least, who are familiar with this mechanism, are less exposed to the covert fallacies which so easily delude those unaccustomed to an analysis of these processes."4

Invigorates the Understanding.

But it is not only by affording knowledge and skill that Logic is thus useful; it is perhaps equally conducive to the same end by bestowing power. The retorsion of thought upon itself - the thinking of

thought - is a vigorous effort, and, consequently, an invigorating exercise of the Understanding; and as the understanding is the instrument of all scientific, of all philosophical, speculation, Logic, by preëminently cultivating the understanding, in this respect likewise

2 Pensées, P. i. art. iv. § 6, (vol. ii. p. 84. ed.

3 Cf. Richter, Logik, pp. 5, 6, 12. - ED.

4 Krug, Logik, § 9, p. 26. - ED.

^{1 [}Heinrich Richter], [Über den Gegenstand Fangère.) Compare Discussions, p. 311 .und den Umfang der Logik, pp. 3, 4, Leipsic, ED. 1825. - ED.]

vindicates its ancient title to be viewed as the best preparatory discipline for Philosophy and the sciences at large.

There is, however, one utility which, though of a subordinate kind, I must not omit, though I do not remember to have seen it insisted on by any logical writer. In reference to this, I give you the following paragraph:

¶ V. But Logic is further useful as affording a Nomenclature

Illustration.

It is said, in Hudibras,1-

"That all a Rhetorician's rules Serve only but to name his tools;"

and it may be safely confessed that this is one of the principal utilities of Rhetoric. A mere knowledge of the rules of Rhetoric can no more enable us to compose well, than a mere knowledge of the rules of Logic can enable us to think well. There is required from nature, in both, the faculty; but this faculty must, in both departments, be cultivated by an assiduous and also a well-directed exercise; that is, in the one, the powers of Comparison must be exercised according to the rules of a sound Rhetoric, in the other, according to the rules of a sound Logic. In so far, therefore, the utility of either science is something more than a mere naming of

Importance of a scientific nomenclature.

their tools. But the naming of their tools, though in itself of little value, is valuable as the condition of an important function, which, with-

out this, could not be performed. Words do not give thoughts; but without words, thoughts could not be fixed, limited, and expressed. They are, therefore, in general, the essential condition of all thinking, worthy of the name. Now, what is true of human thought in general, is true of Logic and Rhetoric in particular. The nomenclature in these sciences is the nomenclature of certain general analyses and distinctions, which express to the initiated, in a single word, what the uninitiated could (supposing - what is not probable that he could perform the relative processes) neither understand nor express without a tedious and vague periphrasis; while, in his hands, it would assume only the appearance of a particular observation, instead of a particular instance of a general and acknowledged rule. To take a very simple example : there is in Logic a certain sophism,

or act of illegal interference, by which two things are, perhaps in a very concealed and circuitous manner, made to

Example. prove each other. Now, the man unacquainted with Logic may perhaps detect and be convinced of the fallacy; but how will he expose it? He must enter upon a long statement and explanation, and after much labor to himself and others. he probably does not make his objection clear and demonstrative after all. But between those acquainted with Logic, the whole matter would be settled in two words. It would be enough to say and show that the inference in question involved a circulus in concludendo, and the refutation is at once understood and admitted. It is in like manner that one lawyer will express to another the ratio decidendi of a case in a single technical expression; while their clients will only perplex themselves and others in their attempts to set forth the merits of their cause. Now, if Logic did nothing more than establish a certain number of decided and decisive rules in reasoning, and afford us brief and precise expressions by which to bring particular cases under these general rules, it would confer on all who in any way employ their intellect - that is, on the cultivators of every human science - the most important obligation. For it is only in the possession of such established rules, and of such a technical nomenclature, that we can accomplish, with facility, and to an adequate extent, a criticism of any work of reasoning. Logical language is thus, to the general reasoner, what the notation of Arithmetic, and still more of Algebra, is to the mathematician. Both enable us to comprehend and express, in a few significant synibols, what would otherwise overpower us by their complexity; and thus it is that nothing would contribute more to facilitate and extend the faculty of reasoning, than a general acquaintance with the rules and language of Logic, - an advantage extending indeed to every department of knowledge, but more especially of importance to those professions which are occupied in inference, and conversant with abstract matter, such as Theology and Law.

I now proceed to the third of the preliminary questions-viz.,

III. Divisions of Logic. How is Logic divided? Now, it is manifest that this question may be viewed in two relations; for, in asking how is Logic divided, we either

mean how many kinds are there of Logic, or into how many constituent parts is it distributed ?¹ We may consider Logic either as a universal, or as an integrate, whole.

> Division of Logic into Natural and Artificial, inept.
> "He hits each point with native force of mind, Whilst puzzled Logic struggles far behind."
> Cf. Krug, Logik, p. 29. Troxler, Logik, i. 48.

36

LECT. III.

Logic.

It is necessary to consider the former question first; for, before proceeding to show what are the parts of which I. The Species of a logic is made up, it is requisite previously to determine what the logic is of which these parts

are the components. Under the former head, I therefore give you the following:

¶ VI. Logic, considered as a Genus or Class, may, in different relations, be divided into different Spe-Par. VI. Logic, by cies. And, in the first place, considered by relation to the mind, relation to the mind or thinking subject, is Objective and Sub-

Logic is divided into Objective and Subjective, or, in the language of some older authors, into Logica systematica and Logica habitualis.¹

By Objective or Systematic Logic is meant that complement of doctrines of which the science of Logic is made Explication.

up; by Subjective or Habitual Logic is meant the speculative knowledge of these doctrines which any individual, (as Socrates, Plato, Aristotle) may possess, and the practical dexterity with which he is able to apply them.

Now, it is evident that both these Logics, or, rather, Logic con-

Both these Logics ought to be proposed as the end of logical instruction.

jective.

sidered in this twofold relation, ought to be proposed to himself by an academical instructor. We must, therefore, neglect neither. Logic considered as a system of rules, is only valuable as a mean towards logic considered as a habit of

the mind; and, therefore, a logical instructor ought not to think that he fulfils his duty - that he accomplishes all that he is called on to perform — if he limit himself to the mere enouncement of a code of doctrine, leaving his pupils to turn his instructions to their own account as best they may. On the contrary, he is bound to recollect that he should be something more than a book; that he ought not only himself to deliver the one Logic, but to take care that his pupils acquire the other. The former, indeed, he must do as a condition of the latter; but if he considers the systematic logic which he pronounces, as of any value, except in so far as his pupils convert it into an habitual logic, he understands nothing of the character of the function which he attempts to perform. It is, therefore, incum-

1 See Timpler, p. 877; Vossius, p. 217; Pacius. [Logicæ Systema, authore M. Clemente Timplero, Hanoviæ, 1612. Vossius, De Natura Artium, l. iv. Sive de Logica, c. ix. Pacius, In Porphyrii Isagogen, p. 2, ed. Francof, 1697. On

various divisions of Logic, see Timpler, Logicæ Systema, 1. i. c. 1, q. 13-20, p. 40-56, Gisbert ab Isendoorn, Effata Philosophica, [Cent. i. § 51-63, p. 95 et seq., ed. Daventriæ 1643. - ED.]

bent on an academical instructor, to do what in him lies to induce his pupils, by logical exercise, to digest what is presented to them as an objective system into a subjective habit. Logic, therefore, in both these relations belongs to us, and neither can be neglected without compromising the utility of a course like the present.

¶ VII. In the second place, by relation to its application or

Par. VII. Logic, by relation to objects, is Abstract or General, and Concrete or Special. non-application to objects, Logic is divided into Abstract or General, and into Concrete or Special. The former of these is called, by the Greek Aristotelians, $\delta_{i\alpha\lambda\epsilon\kappa\tau\kappa\dot{\gamma}}\chi\omega\rho\dot{r}s$ $\pi\rho\alpha\gamma\mu\dot{a}\tau\omega\nu$, and, by the Arabian and Latin

schoolmen, Logica docens; while the latter is denominated, by the Greeks, $\delta_{ia\lambda\epsilon\kappa\tau\iota\kappa\dot{\eta}}$ in $\chi_{\rho\dot{\eta}\sigma\epsilon\iota}$ kai $\gamma_{\nu\mu\nu\alpha\sigma\dot{\iota}\mu}$ $\pi_{\rho\alpha\gamma\mu\dot{\alpha}\tau\omega\nu}$; by the Arabians and Latins, Logica utens.

Abstract Logic considers the laws of thought as potentially applicable to the objects of all arts and sciences, but as not actually applied to those of any; Concrete Logic considers these laws in their actual and immediate application to the object-matter of this or that particular science. The former of these is one, and alone belongs to philosophy, whereas the latter is as multiform as the arts and sciences to which it is relative.¹

This division of Logic does not remount to Aristotle, but it is found in his most ancient commentator, Alexander the Aphrodisian. der the Aphrodisian. Alexander illustrates the opposition of the logic divorced from

things ($\chi \omega \rho i s \pi \rho a \gamma \mu a \tau \omega rebus avulsa$), to the logic applied to things ($i \nu \chi \rho \eta \sigma \epsilon \kappa a \gamma \nu \mu \nu a \sigma i a \pi \rho a \gamma \mu a \tau \omega \nu, -- rebus applicata$), by a simile. "The former, he says, "may be resembled to a geometrical figure, say a triangle, when considered abstractly and in itself; whereas the latter may be resembled to the same triangle, as concretely existing in this or that particular matter: for a triangle considered in itself is ever one and the same; but viewed in relation to its matter, it varies according to the variety of that matter; for it is different as it is of silver, gold, lead — as it is of wood, of stone, etc.² The same holds good of Logic. General or Abstract Logic

ganum, p. 23. q. v. § 2. "Alexander Aphrodisiensis Logicam illam abjunctam similem esse ait figuræ geometricæ, utpote triaugulo, dum in se et per se spectatur; Logicam vero

6

¹ See Krug, p. 27 [Logik, § 10, Anm. - ED.]

² [lsendoorn, *Effata*, Cent. i. 55; Crellius, *Isagoge Logica*, p. 12.] The illustration is fully given by Balforeus, *Commentarius in Or*-

LECT. III.

LOGIC.

is always one and the same; but as applied to this or to that object of consideration, it appears multiform." So far Alexander. This appearance of multiformity I may, however, add, is not real; for the mind has truly only one mode of thinking, one mode of reasoning, one mode of conducting itself in the investigation of truth, whatever may be the object on which it exercises itself. Logic

Illustrated by comparisons. conducting itself in the investigation of truth, the object on which it exercises itself. Logic may therefore be again well compared to the authority of an universal empire — of an empire governing the world by common laws. In

such a dominion there are many provinces, various regions, and different præfectures. There is one præfect in Asia, another in Europe, a third in Africa, and each is decorated by different titles; but each governs and is governed by the common laws of the empire confided to his administration. The nature of General Logic may likewise be illustrated by another comparison. The Thames, for instance in passing London, is a single river, - is one water, - but is there applied to many and different uses. It is employed for drinking, for cooking, for brewing, for washing, for irrigation, for navigation, etc. In like manner, Logic in itself is one: as a science or an art, it is single; but, in its applications, it is of various and multiform use in the various branches of knowledge, conversant be it with necessary, or be it with contingent matter. Or further, to take the example of a cognate science, if any one were to lay down different grammars of a tongue, as that may be applied to the different purposes of life, he would be justly derided by all grammarians, indeed by all men; for who is there so ignorant as not to know that there is but one grammar of the same language in all its various applications?1

Thus, likewise, there is only one method of reasoning, which all the sciences indifferently employ; and although men are severally occupied in different pursuits, and although one is, therefore, entitled a Theologian, another a Jurist, a third a Physician, and so on, each

cum rebus conjunctam similem eidem triangulo huic aut illi materiæ impresso. Nam trianguli in se una est et eadem ratio; at pro varietate materiæ varia. Aliud enim est argenteum, aliud aureum, aliud ligneum, lapideum, aut plumbeum." The passage referred to is probably one in the Commentary on the *Prior Analytics*, p. 2, ed. Ald. The distinction itself, though not the illustration, is given more exactly in the language of the text by some of the later commentators. See the Introductions of Ammonius to the *Categories*, and of Philoponus to the *Prior Analytics*.— ED.] ¹ See Rami Sch., p. 350, [P. Rami Scholæ in Liberales Artes, Basileæ, 1578. "Unus est Lutetiæ Sequana, ad multos tamen usus et varios accommodatus, lavandum, aquandum, vehendum, irrigandum, coquendum: sie una est Logicu, varii et multiplicis usus, in propositione necessaria, probabili, captiosa; ars tamen una. Si Grammaticas tres aliquis ineptus nobis instituat, unam civilem, alteram agrestem, tertiam de vitis amborum, merito rideatur a Grammaticis omnibus, qui unam Grammaticam norunt omnibum ejusdem linguæ hominum communem."—ED.] employs the same processes, and is governed by the same laws, of

General Logic is alone one; Special Logic is manifold, and part of the science in which it is applied. thought. Logic itself is, therefore, widely different from the use — the application of Logic. For Logic is astricted to no determinate matter, but is extended to all that is the object of reason and intelligence. The use of Logic, on the contrary, although potentially applicable to ev-

ery matter, is always actually manifested by special reference to some one. In point of fact, Logie, in its particular applications, no longer remains logic, but becomes part and parcel of the art or science in which it is applied. Thus Logic, applied to the objects of geometry, is nothing else than Geometry; Logic, applied to the objects of physics, nothing else than Natural Philosophy. We have, indeed, certain treatises of Logic in reference to different sciences, which may be viewed as something more than these sciences themselves. For example: we have treatises on Legal Logic, etc; but such treatises are only introductions - only methodologies of the art or science to which they relate. For such special logies only exhibit the mode in which a determinate matter or object of science, the knowledge of which is presupposed, must be treated, the conditions which regulate the certainty of inferences in that matter, and the methods by which our knowledge of it may be constructed into a scientific whole. Special Logic is thus not a single discipline, not the science of the universal laws of thought, but a congeries of disciplines, as numerous as there are special sciences in which it may be applied. Abstract or General Logic, on the contrary, in virtue of its universal character, can only and alone be one; and can exclusively pretend to the dignity of an independent science. This, therefore, likewise exclusively concerns us.

LECTURE IV.

INTRODUCTION.

LOGIC-III. ITS DIVISIONS-PURE AND MODIFIED.

IN my last Lecture, after terminating the consideration of the second introductory question, touching the Utilities of Logic, I pro-

Recapitulation. ceeded to the third introductory question, — What are the Divisions of Logic? and stated to you the two most general classifications of this science. Of these, the first is the division of Logic into Objective and Subjective, or Systematic and Habitual; the second is its division into General and Special, or Abstract and Concrete.

To speak only of the latter, Abstract or General Logic is logic viewed as treating of the formal laws of thought, without respect to any particular matter. Concrete or Special Logic is logic viewed. as treating of these laws in relation to a certain matter, and in subordination to the end of some determinate science. The former of these is one, and belongs alone to philosophy, that is, to the science of the universal principles of knowledge; the latter is as manifold as the sciences to which it is subservient, and of which it, in fact, constitutes a part, - viz., their Methodology. This division of logic is given, but in different terms, by the Greek Aristotelians and by the Latin schoolmen. The Greek division does not remount to Aristotle, but it is found in his earliest expositor, Alexander of Aphrodisias, and he was probably not the first by whom it was enounced. It is into διαλεκτική χωρίς πραγμάτων, Logica rebus avulsa, that is, Logic merely formal, Logic apart from things; in other words, abstract from all particular matter; and διαλεκτική έν χρήσει και γυμνασία πραγμάτων, Logica rebus applicata, that is, Logie as used and exercised upon things; in other words, as applied to certain special objects.

This distinction of Logic by the Greek Aristotelians seems altogether unknown to modern logicians. The division of Logic by the scholastic Aristotelians is the same with the preceding, but the terms in which it is expressed are less precise and unambiguous.

This division is into the *Logica docens* and *Logica utens*. The *Logica docens* is explained as logic considered as an abstract theory, — as a preceptive system of rules, — "que tradit præcepta;" — the *Logica utens*, as logic considered as a concrete practice, — as an application of these rules to use, — "quæ utitur præceptis."¹

This scholastic division of Logic into docens and utens has, I see,

The division of Logica docens, and Logica utens, mistaken by some modern authors. been noticed by some of the more modern authors; but it has been altogether mistaken, which it would not have been, had these authors been aware of the meaning in which the terms were employed, and had they not been ignorant of

the more explicit expression of it by the Greeks. Thus the terms docens and utens are employed by Wolf to mark a distinction not the same as that which they designate in the scholastic logic, and as the Wolfian distinction will not stand the test of criticism, the terms themselves have been repudiated by those who were not aware that there was an older and a more valid division which they alone properly expressed.² Wolf makes the Logica docens, the mere knowledge of the rules: the Logica utens, the habit or dexterity of applying them. This distinction of General and Special logic, Wolf and the Wolfian logicians, likewise, denote by that of Theoretical and Practical Logic.³ These terms are in themselves by no means a bad expression of the distinction; but those by whom they were employed, unfortunately did not limit their Practical Logic to what I have defined as Special, for under Practical they included not only Special, but likewise Modified Logic, of which we are now to speak.

Having explained, then, this primary division of Logic into General and Special, and stated that General Logic, as alone a branch of philosophy, is alone the object of our consideration; I proceed to give the division of General Logic into two great species, or rather parts, — viz., into Pure or Abstract, and Modified or Concrete.

Par. VIII. General Logic, divided into Pure and Modified. ¶ VIII. In the third place, considered by reference to the circumstances under which it can come into exercise by us, Logic — Logic General or Abstract — is divided into

Pure and Modified ; - a division, however, which is perhaps

l Smiglecii Logica, Disp. ii. q. vi. For scholastic authorities, see Aquinas. In IV. Metaph., lect. iv. Scotus, Super Univ. Porphyrii, q. i. — ED.

² [As Krug] [see his *Logik*, § 11, p. 30. Compare Kant, *Logik*, Einleitung, ii. — ED.]

³ Wolf, Philosophia Rationalis, §§ 8, 9, 10, 12. - ED. [Cf. Stattler, Sauter, and Mako.] [Stattler, Logica, § 18, p. 12; Sauter, Positiones Logica, P. I. and II, 1778; Instit. Log., P I. and II. 1799; Paulus Mako de Kerek-Gede, Comp. Log. Instit. P. I. and II., 4th edit., 1773. - ED.]

rather the distribution of a science into its parts than of a genus into its species. Pure Logic considers the laws of thought proper, as contained *a priori* in the nature of pure intelligence itself. Modified Logic, again, exhibits these laws as modified in their actual applications by certain general circumstances external and internal, contingent in themselves, but by which human thought is always more or less influenced in its manifestations.¹

Pure Logic considers Thought Proper simply and in itself, and Pure Logic. apart from the various circumstances by which it may be affected in its actual application. Human thought, it is evident, is not exerted except by men and individual men. By men, thought is not exerted out of connection with the other constituents of their intellectual and moral character, and, in each individual, this character is variously modified by various contingent conditions of different original genius, and of different circumstances contributing to develop different faculties

Modified Logic. Modified Logic. and habits. Now, there may be conceived a science, which considers thought not merely as determined by its necessary and universal laws, but as contingently affected by the empirical conditions under which thought is actually exerted; — which shows what these conditions are, how they impede, and, in general, modify, the act of thinking; and how, in fine, their influence may be counteracted. This science is, Modified or

Nomenclature of Modified Logic. Concrete Logic. What I have called Modified Logic is identical with what Kant and other philosophers have denominated Applied Logic.

(Angewandte Logik, Logica applicata.)² This expression I think

The term Applied Interview Applied Logic can only with propriety be used to denote Special or Concrete Logic; and is, in fact, a brief and

excellent translation of the terms by which Special Logic was designated by the Greeks, as that $\epsilon v \chi \rho \eta \sigma \epsilon \iota \kappa a \gamma \nu \mu \nu a \sigma \epsilon a \pi \rho a \gamma \mu a \sigma \sigma \omega r$. And so, in fact, by the Latin Logicians was the Greek expression rendered. Let us consider the meaning of the term *applied*. Logic, as applied, must be applied to something, and that something can

² Kant, Logik, Einleitung ii.; Hoffbauer, Anfangsgründe der Logik, §§ 17, 406; Krug, Logik, Einleitung, § 11; Fries, System der Logik, § 2.-ED.

¹ For distinction of reason in abstracto and reason in concreto, grounding the distinction of an Abstract (or Pure), and a Concrete (or Modified) Logic, see Boyle's Works, iv. p. 164. See also Lambert [News Organon, Dianoiolopic, i - ED], § 444, who says that the sciences in general are only applied logics. Cf. Plouc-

quet, p. 236, [Sammlung der Schriften welche den Logischen Calcul Herrn Prof. Ploucquets betreffen, Tübingen, 1773. – ED.]

only be an object or matter. Now, Special Logic is necessarily an applied logic; therefore the term *applied*, if given to what I would call Modified Logic, would not distinguish Modified from Special Logic. But further, the term *applied* as given to Modified Logic, considered in itself, is wrong; for in Modified Logic thought is no more considered as actually applied to any particular matter than in Pure Logic. Modified Logic only considers the necessary in conjunction with the contingent conditions under which thought is actually exertible; but it does not consider it as applied to one class of objects more than to another; that is, it does not consider it as actually applied to any, but as potentially applicable to all. In every point of view, therefore, the term *applied*, as given to

How properly employed. Modified Logic, is improper; whereas, if used at all, it ought to be used as a synonym for *special*; which I would positively have done, were it not

that, having been unfortunately bestowed by high authority on what I have called Modified Logic, the employment of it to designate a totally different distinction might generate confusion. I have therefore refrained from making use of the term. I find, indeed, that all logicians who, before Kant, ever employed the expression *Applied Logic*, employed it as convertible with Special or Concrete Logic.¹ In fine, it is to be observed that the terms *pure* and *applied*, as usually employed in opposition in the Kantian philosophy, and in that of Germany in general, are not properly relative and correlative to each other. For *pure* has its proper correlative in *modified* or *mixed*; applied its proper relative in *unapplied*, that is, *divorced from things*, that is, *abstract*.

But passing from words to things, I may observe that it can be

Modified Logic not properly an essential part of Logic. questioned whether Modified or Concrete Logie be entitled to the dignity of an essential part of Logie in general, far less of a coördinate species as opposed to Pure or Abstract Logie. You are

aware, from what I have previously stated under the first introductory question, that Logic, as conversant about a certain class of mental phænomena, is only a part of the general philosophy of mind; but that, as exclusively conversant about what is necessary in the phænomena of thought, that is, the laws of thinking, it is contradistinguished from Empirical Psychology, or that philosophy of mind which is merely observant and inductive of the mental phænomena as facts. But if Modified or Concrete Logic be consid-

separatam; aliam rebus applicatam et cum iis conjunctam." — ED.]

¹ See Balforeus, [R. Balforei Commentarius in Organum, q. v. § 2, p. 22. "Græci ... aliam dicunt Logicam abjunctam et a rebus

ered either as a part or as a species of General Logic, this discrimination of Logic, as the Nomology of thought, from Psychology, as the Phænomenology of mind, will not hold. For Modified Logic, presupposing a knowledge of the general and the contingent phanomena of mind, will thus either comprise Psychology within its sphere, or be itself comprised within the sphere of Psychology. But whichever alternative may be preferred, the two sciences are no longer distinct. It is on this ground that I hold, that, in reality, Modified Logic is neither an essential part nor an independent species of General Logic, but that it is a mere mixture of Logic and Psychology, and may, therefore, be called either Logical Psychology or Psychological Logic.1 There is thus in truth only one Logie, that is, Pure or Abstract Logic. But while this, I think, must be admitted in speculative rigor, still, as all sciences are only organized for human ends, and as a general consideration of the modifying circumstances which affect the abstract laws of thought in their actual manifestations, is of great practical utility, I trust that I shall not be regarded as deforming the simplicity of the science, if I follow the example of most modern logicians, and add (be it under protest) to Pure or Abstract Logic a part, or an appendix, under the name of Modified Logic. In distributing the science, therefore, into these two principal heads, you will always, I request, keep steadily in mind, that, in strict propriety, Pure Logic is the only science of Logic - Modified Logic being only a scientific accident, ambiguously belonging either to Logic or to Psychology.

This being understood, I now proceed to state to you the dis-

Conspectus of the Course of Logic.

tribution of the general science into its parts; and as it is of high importance that you now obtain a comprehensive view of the relation of

these parts to each other and to the whole which they constitute, in order that you may clearly understand the point towards which we travel, and every stage in our progress, — I shall comprise this whole statement in the following paragraph, which I shall endeavor to make sufficiently intelligible without much subsequent illustration. That illustration, however, I will give in my next Lecture. As this paragraph is intended to afford you a conspectus of the ensuing Course, in so far as it will be occupied with Logie, I need hardly say that you will find it somewhat long. It is, however, I believe, the only paragraph of any extent which I shall hereafter be obliged to dictate.

1 [Sec Richter, p 67, [Über den Gegenstand und den Umfang der Logik, § 17, Leipsic, 1825.- ED.]

haber

Par. IX. Distribution of Logic into its parts. ¶ IX. GENERAL OF ABSTRACT LOGIC, we have seen, is divided into two parts, — into PURE and into MODIFIED. Of these in their order.

I. — PURE LOGIC may, I think, best be distributed upon the following principles. We may think; and we may think well. On the one hand, the conditions of thinking do not involve the conditions of thinking well; but the conditions of thinking well involve the conditions of thinking. Logic, therefore, as the science of thought, must necessarily consider the conditions of the possibility of thought. On the other hand, the end of thought is not merely to think, but to think well; therefore, as the end of a science must be conformed to the end of its object-matter, Logic, as the science of thought, must display not only the laws of possible, but the laws of perfect, thinking. Logic, therefore, naturally falls into two parts, the one of which investigates the formal conditions of mere thinking; the other, the formal conditions of thinking well.

i.— In regard to the former:— The conditions of mere thinking are given in certain elementary requisites; and that part of Logic which analyzes and considers these, may be called its Stoicheiology, or Doctrine of Elements. These elements are either Laws or Products.

ii. — In regard to the latter, as perfect thinking is an end, and as, the elementary means being supposed, the conditions of an end are the ways or methods by which it may be accomplished, that part of Logic which analyzes and considers the methods of perfect thinking, may be called its Methodology, or Doctrine of Method.

Thus PURE LOGIC is divided into two parts, — into Stoicheiology, or the Doctrine of Elements, and Methodology, or the Doctrine of Method. Of these in their order.

Logical Stoicheiology, or the doctrine conversant about the elementary requisites of mere thought, I shall divide into two parts. The first of these treats of the Fundamental Laws of thinking; in other words, of the universal conditions of the thinkable — Noetic — Nomology. The second treats of the laws of thinking, as governing the special functions, faculties, or products of thought, in its three gradations of Conception; or, as it is otherwise called, Simple Apprehension, — Judgment, and Reasoning, — Diaonetic — Dynamic.

This second part of Stoicheiology will, therefore, fall into

three subordinate divisions corresponding to these several degrees of Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning. So much for the Doctrine of Elements.

Logical Methodology, or the doctrine conversant about the regulated ways or methods in which the means of thinking are conducted to their end of thinking well, is divided into as many parts as there are methods, and there are as many methods as there are different qualities in the end to be differently accomplished. Now the perfection of thought consists of three virtues, — Clear Thinking, Distinct Thinking, and Connected Thinking; each of these virtues is accomplished by a distinct method; and the three methods will consequently afford the division of Logical Methodology into three parts.

The first part comprises the method of Clear Thinking, or the doctrine of Illustration or Definition.

The second part comprises the Method of Distinct Thinking, or the doctrine of Division.

The third part comprises the Method of Concatenated or Connected Thinking, or the Doctrine of Proof.

These parts are only, however, three particular applications of Method; they, therefore, constitute each only a Special Methodology. But such methodology, or union of methodologies, supposes a previous consideration of method in general, in its notion, its species, and its conditions. Logical Methodology will therefore consist of two parts, of a General and of a Special, — the Special being subdivided, as above stated. So much for the distribution of PURE LOGIC.

II. - MODIFIED LOGIC falls naturally into Three Parts.

The First Part treats of the nature of Truth and Error, and of the highest laws for their discrimination, — Alethiology.

The Second treats of the Impediments to thinking, with the Means of their Removal. These impediments arise, 1°, from the Mind; 2°, From the Body; or, 3°, From External Circumstances. In relation to the Mind, these impediments originate in the Senses, in Self-Consciousness, in Memory, in Association, in Imagination, in Reason, in the faculty of Language, in the Feelings, in the Desires, in the Will. In relation to the Body, they originate in Temperament, or in the state of Health. In relation to External Circumstances, they originate in the diversities of Education, of Rank, of Age, of Climate, of Social Intercourse, etc.

The Third Part treats of the Aids or Subsidiaries of think-

ing; and thinking is aided either, 1°, Through the Acquisition, or, 2°, Through the Communication, of Knowledge.

The former of these subsidiaries (the acquisition of knowledge) consists, 1°, Of Experience (and that either by ourselves or by others); 2°, Of Generalization (and this through Induction and Analogy); and, 3°, Of Testimony (and this either Oral or Written). Under this last head falls to be considered the Credibility of Witnesses, the Authenticity and Integrity of Writings, the Rules of Criticism and of Interpretation.

The latter of these subsidiaries, the Communication of Knowledge, is either One-sided or Reciprocal. The former consists of Instruction, either Oral or Written; the latter of Conversation, Conference, Disputation.

So much for the distribution of MODIFIED LOGIC.

Tabular view of the	On the opposite page is a general tabular view
Divisions of Logic.	of the Divisions of Logic now given.

IV. The History of Logic. This question postponed.

The fourth and fifth questions of the Introduction would now fall to be considered, - viz., What is the History and what is the Bibliography, of Logic? Were I writing a book, and not giving a course of Lectures upon Logic, I would certainly consider these questions in the introduction to the science; but

I would do this with the admonition that beginners should pass these over, and make themselves first of all familiar with the doctrines of which the science is itself the complement. For why? The history of a science is a narrative of the order in which its several parts have been developed, and of the contributions which have been made to it by different cultivators; but such a narrative necessarily supposes a previous knowledge of the contents of the science, - a knowledge which is identical with a knowledge of the science itself. It is, therefore, evident, that a history of Logic can only be proposed with advantage to those who are already in some degree familiar with Logic itself; and as, in a course like the present, I am bound to presume that you are not as yet conversant with the science, it follows that such a history cannot with any propriety be attempted in the commencement, but only towards the conclusion, of the Lectures.

In regard to the fifth question, - What is the Bibliography or

V. The Bibliography of Logic.

Literature of Logic? - the same is true, in so far as a knowledge of the books written upon a science is correlative to a knowledge of its his-

tory. At the same time, nothing could be more unprofitable than
LECT. IV.

LOGIC.



7

49

for me to recite to you a long series of works to which you have not access, by authors of whom you probably never heard, often in languages which few of you understand. In the present stage of your studies, it is not requisite that you should know of many books, but that you should read attentively a few; — non multa sed multum. — I shall therefore adjourn, at least, the consideration of the question, What in general are the principal books on the science of Logic ? simply recommending to you a few, not absolutely the best, but such as you can most easily procure; such as are in languages which most of you can read, and which are of such a character as may be studied with most general advantage.

Of works in our own language, as those most accessible and most

General notice of works on Logic. intelligible to all, there are unfortunately hardly any which I can recommend to you as exhibiting the doctrines of Logic, either in purity or com-

pleteness. The Logic of Watts, of Duncan, and others, are worth reading, as books, but not as books upon Logic. The Elements of Logic by Dr. Whately is, upon the whole, the one best entitled to your attention, though it is erroneous in various respects, and imperfect in more. The abridgment of this work by Hinds contains what of the original is most worthy of study, in the commencement of a logical education. In French, there are sundry works deserving of your attention (Damiron,¹ Delarivière);² but the only one which I would at present earnestly recommend to your study, is the celebrated Port Royal Art of Thinking, __ L'Art de Penser, __ an anonymous work, but the authors of which were the two distinguished Jansenists, Arnauld and Nicole. It has been frequently reprinted; and there is recently a stereotyped edition, by Hachette, of Paris, which can easily be procured. There are more than one translation of the work into Latin, and at least two English versions, both bad.3

In Latin there is a very elegant compend of Logic by the late illustrious Daniel Wyttenbach, of Leyden. Besides the Dutch editions, which are handsome, there is a cheap reprint published by Professor Maas, of Halle, who has, however, ventured on the unwarrantable liberty of silently altering the text, besides omitting what he did not consider as absolutely indispensable for a text-book. This work can be easily procured. There is also in Latin a system of

burgh, 1850; 2d edition, 1851. In the Introduction to this version will be found an account of the various editions and translations of the work. — ED.

¹ Cours de Philosophie, t. iv.; Logique, Paris, 1837. – ED.

² Logique Classique, Paris, 1829. - ED.

³ A third and far superior translation has subsequently appeared by Mr. Baynes, Edin-

Logic by Genovesi, under the title, Genuensis Ars Logico-critica. This work is, however, extremely rare even in Italy, and it was many years before I was able to procure a copy. There was an edition of this work published in Germany in 1760, at Augsburg, but the impression seems to have been small, for it also is out of print. The Italian Logic of Genovesi has, however, been repeatedly reprinted, and this, with the valuable addition of Romagnosi, is easily obtained. Of the older writers on Logic in Latin, the one I would principally recommend to you is Burgersdyk — Burgersdicius. His Institutiones Logicæ is not a rare work, though, as there are no recent editions, it is not always without trouble to be obtained.

LECTURE V.

PURE LOGIC.

PART I.-STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION I. NOETIC. — ON THE FUNDAMENTAL LAWS OF THOUGHT — THEIR CONTENTS AND HISTORY.

HAVING terminated our consideration of the various questions of Stoicheiology. which the Introduction to Logic is composed, we proceed to the doctrines which make up the science itself, and commence the First Great Division of PURE LOGIC — that which treats of its elementary or constituent processes, — Stoicheiology. But Stoicheiology was again divided into two parts, — into a part which considered the Fundamental Laws of Thought in general, and into a part which considered these laws as applied to and regulating the special function of Thought in its various gradations of Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning. The title, therefore, of the part of Logic on which we are about to enter is,— *Pure Logic, Part I. Stoicheiology — Section I. Noetic. On the Fundamental Laws of Thought.*

Before, however, descending to the consideration of these laws, it

The character of Thought in general. on this point, I give, in the first place, the following paragraph:

¶ X. Logic considers Thought, not as the operation of Par. X. thinking, but as its product; it does not treat of Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning, but of Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings.

I have already endeavored to give you a general knowledge of Thought as the object of Logic. What is meant by *thought*. You are aware that this term is, in relation to Logic, employed in its strictest and most limited signification, —

viz., as the act or product of the Discursive Faculty, or Faculty of

Relations; but it is now proper to consider, somewhat more closely, the determinate nature of this process, and the special point of view in which it is regarded by the logician.

In an act of thinking, there are three things which we can dis-

The subject, form, and matter of thought. criminate in consciousness, -1° , There is the thinking subject, that is, the mind or ego, which exerts or manifests the thought; 2° ,

There is the object about which we think, which is called the *matter* of thought; and, 3°, There is a relation between subject and object of which we are conscious, — a relation always manifested in some determinate mode or manner; — this is the *form* of thought.

Thought as the object respectively of Psychology and of Logic. Now, of these three, Logic does not consider either the first or the second. It takes no account, at least no direct account, of the real subject, or of the real object, of thought, but is limited exclusively to the form of thought. This

has been already stated. But, again, this form of thought is considered by Logic only in a certain aspect. The form of thought may be viewed on two sides or in two relations. It holds, as has been said, a relation both to its subject and to its object, and it may accordingly be viewed either in the one of these relations or in the other. In so far as the form of thought is considered in reference to the thinking mind, - to the mind by which it is exerted, - it is considered as an act, or operation, or energy; and in this relation it belongs to Phænomenal Psychology. Whereas, in so far as this form is considered in reference to what thought is about, it is considered as the product of such an act, and, in this relation, it belongs to Logic. Thus Phænomenal Psychology treats of thought proper as conception, judgment, reasoning; Logic, or the Nomology of the understanding, treats of thought proper as a concept, as a judgment, as a reasoning. Whately, I have already shown you, among other errors in his determination of the object-matter of Logic, confounds or reverses this; for he proposes to Logic, not thought considered as a product, but reasoning alone; and that, too, considered as a producing operation. He thus confounds Logic with Phænomenal Psychology.

Be it, therefore, observed, that Logic, in treating of the formal laws of thought, treats of these in reference to thought considered as a product; that is, as a concept, a judgment, a reasoning; whereas Psychology, as the Phænomenology of mind, considers thought as the producing act, that is, as conception, judgment, reasoning. (You here see, by the way, the utility of distinguishing concept and conception. It is unfortunate that we cannot also distinguish more

precisely judgment and reasoning as producing acts, from a judgment and a reasoning as products.)

Par. XI. Thought a mediate and complex cognition. ¶ XI. Thought, as the knowledge of one thing in relation to another, is a mediate and complex cognition.

The distinctive peculiarity of thinking in general is, that it involves the cognition of one thing by the cognition of another. All

thinking is, therefore, a mediate cognition; and Explication. is thus distinguished from our knowledge in perception, external and internal, and in imagination ; in both of which acts we are immediately cognitive of the object, external or internal, presented in the one, and of the object, external or internal represented in the other. In the Presentative and Representative Faculties, our knowledge is of something considered directly and in itself; in thought, on the contrary, we know one object only through the knowledge of another. Thus in perception, of either kind, and in imagination, the object known is always a single determinate object; whereas in thought, - in thought proper, - as one object is only known through another, there must always be a plurality of objects in every single thought. Let us take an example of this, in regard to the simplest act of thought. When I see an individual, - say Bucephalus or Highflyer, - or when I represent him in imagination, I have a direct and immediate apprehension of a certain object in and through itself, without reference to aught else. But when I pronounce the term Horse, I am unable either to perceive in nature, or to represent in imagination, any one determinate object corresponding to the word. I obtain the notion corresponding to this word, only as the result of a comparison of many perceptions or imaginations of Bucephalus, Highflyer, Dobbin, and other individual horses; it, therefore, contains many representations under it, has reference to many objects, out of relation to which it cannot possibly be realized in thought; and it is in consequence of this necessity of representing (potentially at least) a plurality of individual objects under the notion horse, that it obtains the denomination concept, that is, something taken up or apprehended in connection with something else. This, however, requires a further explication. When we perform an act of thought, of positive thought, this is done by thinking something, and we can think anything only by thinking it as existing; while, again, we cannot think a thing to exist except in certain determinate modes of existence. On the other hand, when we perform an act of negative thought, this is

done by thinking something as not existing in this or that determinate mode, and when we think it as existing in no determinate mode, we cease to think it at all; it becomes a nothing, a logical nonentity (non-ens Logicum).

It being thus understood that thought can only be realized by thinking something; it being further understood that this something, as it is thought, must be thought as existing; and it being still further understood that we can think a thing as existing only by thinking it as existing in this, that, and the other determinate manner of existence, and that whenever we cease to think something, something existing, something existing in a determinate manner of existence, we cease to think at all;—this, I say, being understood, it is here proper to make you, once for all, acquainted with the various terms by which logicians designate the modes or manners of cogitable existence. I shall therefore comprise these in the following paragraph:

¶ XII. When we think a thing, this is done by conceiving

Par. XII. The various terms by which the modes of cogitable existence are designated. it as possessed of certain modes of being, or qualities, and the sum of these qualities constitutes its concept or notion ($v \circ \eta \mu a$, $\epsilon v - v \circ a$, $\epsilon \pi i v \circ a$, conceptum, conceptus, notio). As these qualities or modes ($\pi \circ \iota \circ \tau \eta \tau \epsilon s$, qualitates, modi) are only identified with the

thing by a mental attribution, they are called attributes (Karnγορούμενα, attributa); as it is only in or through them that we say or enounce aught of a thing, they are called predicates, predicables, and predicaments, or categories, these words being here used in their more extensive signification ($\lambda \epsilon_{\gamma 0 \mu \epsilon \nu \alpha} \chi \epsilon_{\rho \mu}$ κατηγορίαι, κατηγορήματα κατηγορούμενα, prædicata, prædicabilia, prædicamenta); as it is only in and through them that we recognize a thing for what it is, they are called notes, signs, marks, characters (note, signa, characteres, discrimina); finally, as it is only in and through them that we become aware that a thing is possessed of a peculiar and determinate existence, they are called properties, differences, determinations (proprietates, determinationes). As consequent on, or resulting from, the existence of a thing, they have likewise obtained the name of consequents (έπόμενα, consequentia, etc.). What in reality has no qualities, has no existence in thought, - it is a logical nonentity; hence, e converso, the scholastic aphorism, - non-entis nulla sunt prædicata. What, again, has no qualities attributed

to it, though attributable, is said to be indetermined (ἀδιόριστον, indeterminatum); it is only a possible object of thought.1

This paragraph, which I have dictated that you might be made

Explication. What is involved in thinking an object.

once for all acquainted with the relative terms in use among logicians, requires but little explanation. I may state, however, that the mind only thinks an object by separating it from others;

that is, by marking it out or characterizing it; and in so far as it does this, it encloses it within certain fixed limits, that is, determines it. But if this discriminative act be expressed in words, I predicate the marks, notes, characters, or determinations of the thing; and if, again, these be comprehended in one total thought, they constitute its concept or notion. If, for example, I think of Socrates as son of Sophroniscus, as Athenian, as philosopher, as pug-nosed, these are only so many characters, limitations, or determinations, which I predicate of Socrates, which distinguish him from all other men, and together make up my notion or concept of him.

But as thought, in all its gradations of conception, judgment, and

The attribution involved in thought is regulated by laws.

reasoning, is only realized by the attribution of certain qualities or characters to the objects of, or about which we think; so this attribution is regulated by laws, which render a great part of this process absolutely necessary. But when I speak of laws and of

What is meant by a

law as applicable to free intelligence.

their absolute necessity in relation to thought, you must not suppose that these laws and that necessity are the same in the world of mind as in the world of matter. For free intelligences,

a law is an ideal necessity given in the form of a precept, which we ought to follow, but which we may also violate if we please; whereas, for the existences which constitute the universe of nature, a law is only another name for those causes which operate blindly and universally in producing certain inevitable results. By law of thought, or by logical necessity, we do not, therefore, mean a physieal law, such as the law of gravitation, but a general precept which we are able certainly to violate, but which if we do not obey, our whole process of thinking is suicidal, or absolutely null. These laws are, consequently, the primary conditions of the possibility of valid thought, and as the whole of Pure Logic is only an articulate development of the various modes in which they are applied, their consideration in general constitutes the first chapter in an orderly

1 [Schulze, Logik, § 13. Rösling, p. 63.] [Die Lehren der reinen Logik, Ulm, 1826. Cf. Krug, Logik, § 16. - ED.]

No ter

LECT. V.

Order of consideration of the fundamental laws of thought.

da

system of the science. Now, in explaining to you this subject, the method I shall pursue is the following: I shall, first of all, state in general the number and significance of the laws as commonly received ; I shall then more particularly consider each of

these by itself and in relation to the others; then detail to you their history; and, finally, state to you my own views in regard to their deduction, number, and arrangement.

¶ XIII. The Fu	indamental Laws of Thought, or the condi-
	tions of the thinkable, as commonly received,
Par. XIII. Fun- damental Laws of Thought.	are four: - 1. The Law of Identity; 2. The Law of Contradiction; 3. The Law of Ex-
	clusion or of Excluded Middle; and, 4. The

Law of Reason and Consequent, or of Sufficient Reason.

Of these in their order.

¶ XIV. The principle of Identity (principium Identitatis) expresses the relation of total sameness in Par. XIV. Law of which a concept stands to all, and the rela-Identity. tion of partial sameness in which it stands

to each, of its constituent characters. In other words, it declares the impossibility of thinking the concept and its characters as reciprocally unlike. It is expressed in the formula A is A, or A = A; and by A is denoted every logical thing, every product of our thinking faculty, - concept, judgment, reasoning, etc.1

The principle of Identity is an application of the principle of the absolute equivalence of a whole and of all its Explication. parts taken together, to the thinking of a thing by the attribution of constituent qualities or characters. The concept of the thing is a whole, the characters are the parts of that whole.² This law may, therefore, be also thus enounced, - Everything is equal to itself, - for in a logical relation the thing and its concept coincide; as, in Logic, we abstract altogether from the reality of the thing which the concept represents. It is, therefore, the same whether we say that the concept is equal to all its characters, or that the thing is equal to itself.³

The law has, likewise, been expressed by the formula - In the

2 See Schulze, Logik, p. 32-3. - ED. I [Schulze, Logik, § 17. Gerlach, Logik, § 37.] Cf. Krug, Logik, § 17. - ED. 3 See Krug, Logik, p. 40. - ED.

predicate, the whole is contained explicitly, which in the subject is contained implicitly. It is also involved in the axiom - Nota notae est nota rei ipsius.¹

The logical importance of the law of identity lies in this - that it is the principle of all logical affirmation and Its logical importance definition. An example or two may be given to -The principle of all illustrate this. logical affirmation and

definition. 1. In a concept, which we may call Z, the characters a, b, and c, are thought as its constituents; consequently,

This illustrated.

the concept, as a unity, is equal to the characters taken together — Z = (a + b + c). If the former be affirmed, so also is the latter; therefore, Z being (a+b+c) is a, is b, is c. To take a concrete example: The concept man is a

complement made up of the characters, 1°, substance, 2°, material, 3°, organized, 4°, animated, 5°, rational, 6°, of this earth; in other words man is substance, is material, is organized, is animated, is rational. Being, as entering into every attribution, may be discharged as affording no distinction.

2. Again, suppose that, in the example given, the character a is made up of the characters l, m, n, it follows, by the same law of Identity, that Z = a = (l, m, n) is l, is m, is n. The concept man contains in it the character animal, and the character animal contains in it the characters corporeal, organized, living, etc.

The second law is the principle of Contradiction or Non-contradiction, in relation to which I shall dictate the following paragraph:

¶ XV. When an object is determined by the affirmation of

a certain character, this object cannot be Par. XV. Law of thought to be the same when such character Contradiction. is denied of it. The impossibility of this is enounced in what is called the principle of Contradiction (principium Contradictionis seu Repugnantiæ). Assertions concerning a thing are mutually contradictory, when the one asserts that the thing possesses the character which the other asserts that it does not. This law is logically expressed in the formula - What is contradictory is unthinkable. A = notA = 0, or A - A = 0.

Now, in the first place, in regard to the name Its proper name. of this law, it may be observed that, as it enjoins the absence of contradiction as the indispensable condition of

1 See Kant, Logik, p. 40. - ED.

LECT. V.

LOGIC.

thought, it ought to be called, not the Law of Contradiction, but the Law of Non-contradiction, or of non-repugnantia.1

This law has frequently been enounced in the formula-It is

How enounced.

impossible that the same thing can at once be and not be; but this is exposed to sundry objections.

It is vague, and therefore useless. It does not indicate whether a real or a notional existence is meant; and if it mean the former, then is it not a logical but a metaphysical axiom. But even as a metaphysical axiom it is imperfect; for to the expression at once (simul) must be added, in the same place, in the same respect, etc.²

This law has likewise been expressed by the formula - Contradictory attributes cannot be united in one act of consciousness. But this is also obnoxious to objection. For a judgment expresses as good a unity of consciousness as a concept. But when I judge that round and square are contradictory attributes, there are found in this judgment contradictory attributes, but yet a unity of consciousness. The formula is, therefore, vaguely and inaccurately expressed.

The logical import of this law lies in its being the principle of all logical negation and distinction.

The principle of all logical negation and distinction.

The law of Identity and the law of Contradiction are coördinate and reciprocally relative, and neither can be educed as second from the

other as first; for in every such attempt at derivation, the supposed secondary law is, in fact, always necessarily presupposed.³ These are, in fact, one and the same law, differing only by a positive and negative expression.

In relation to the third law, take the following paragraph :

The principle of Excluded Third or Middle - viz., ¶ XVI. between two contradictories (principium Par. XVI. Law of Exclusi Medii vel Tertii), enounces that Excluded Middle. condition of thought which compels us, of

two repugnant notions, which cannot both coëxist, to think either the one or the other as existing. Hence arises the general axiom - Of contradictory attributions, we can only affirm one of a thing; and if one be explicitly affirmed, the other is implicitly denied. A either is or is not. A either is or is not B^4

By the laws of Identity and Contradiction, I am warranted to

V., p. 134, ed. Rosenkranz. - ED.

4 See Schulze, Logik, § 19. - ED.

¹ Compare Krug, Logik, § 18. - ED.

³ This is shown more in detail by Hoffbauer, 2 Compare the criticism of Kant, Kritik d.r. Anfangsgrunde der Logik, § 23. - ED.

conclude from the truth of one contradictory proposition to the falsehood of the other, and by the law of Excluded Middle, I am warranted to conclude from

Logical significance of this law.

the falsehood of one contradictory proposition to the truth of the other. And in this lies the peculiar force and import of this last principle. For the logical significance of the law of Excluded Middle consists in this, that it limits or shuts in the sphere of the thinkable in relation to affirmation; for it determines, that, of the two forms given in the laws of Identity and Contradiction, and by these laws affirmed as those exclusively possible, the one or the other must be affirmed as necessary.

The law of Excluded Middle is the principle of Disjunctive Judg-

The principle of Disjunctive Judgments.

ments, that is, of judgments in which a plurality of judgments are contained, and which stand in such a reciprocal relation that the affirmation of

one is the denial of the other.

I now go on to the fourth law.

Par. XVII. Law of Sufficient Reason, or of Reason and Consequent.

¶ XVII.

The thinking of an object, as actually characterized by positive or by negative attributes, is not left to the caprice of Understanding -the faculty of thought; but that faculty must be necessitated to this or that determinate act of thinking by a knowledge of

something different from, and independent of, the process of thinking itself. This condition of our understanding is expressed by the law, as it is called, of Sufficient Reason (principium Rationis Sufficientis); but it is more properly denominated the law of Reason and Consequent (principium Rationis et Consecutionis). That knowledge by which the mind is necessitated to affirm or posit something else, is called the logical reason, ground, or antecedent; that something else which the mind is necessitated to affirm or posit, is called the logical consequent; and the relation between the reason and consequent, is called the logical connection or consequence. This law is expressed in the formula - Infer nothing without a ground or reason.1

The relations between Reason and Conse-Relations between Reason and Consequent, when comprehended in a pure thought, quent. are the following:

1. When a reason is explicitly or implicitly given, then there must

1 See Schulze, Logik, § 19, and Krug, Logik, § 20. - ED.

exist a consequent; and, vice versa, when a consequent is given, there must also exist a reason.

2. Where there is no reason there can be no consequent; and, *vice versa*, where there is no consequent (either implicitly or explicitly) there can be no reason. That is, the concepts of reason and of consequent, as reciprocally relative, involve and suppose each other.

The logical significance of the law of Reason and Consequent lies

Logical significance of this law. in this, — That in virtue of it, thought is constituted into a series of acts all indissolubly connected; each necessarily inferring the other.

Thus it is that the distinction and opposition of possible, actual and necessary matter, which has been introduced into Logic, is a doctrine wholly extraneous to this science.

I may observe that "Reason is something different from Cause,

Reason and Consequent, and Cause and Effect. and Consequent something different from Effect; though cause and effect, in so far as they are conceived in thought, stand to each other in the relation of reason and consequent. Cause is

thus thought of as a real object, which affords the reason of the existence of another real object, the effect; and effect is thought of as a real object, which is the consequent of another real object, the cause. Accordingly, every cause is recognized in thought as a reason, and every effect is recognized in thought as a consequent; but the converse is not true, that every reason is really considered a cause, and every consequent really considered an effect. We must, therefore, carefully distinguish mere reason and mere consequent, that is, ideal or logical reason and consequent, from the reason which is a cause and the consequent which is an effect, that is, real or metaphysical reason and consequent.

"The expression logical reason and consequent refers to the mere

Logical and Metaphysical Reason and Consequent. synthesis of thoughts; whereas the expression metaphysical reason and consequent denotes the real connection of existences. Hence the axiom of Causality, as a metaphysical principle, is es-

sentially different from the axiom of Reason and Consequent, as a logical principle. Both, however, are frequently confounded with each other; and the law of Reason and Consequent, indeed, formerly found its place in the systems of Metaphysic, while it was

Generality of the terms Condition and Conditioned. not, at least explicitly, considered in those of Logic. The two terms *condition* and *conditioned* happily express at once the relations both of reason and consequent, and of cause and effect.

A condition is a thing which determines (negatively at least) the

existence of another; the conditioned is a thing whose existence is determined in and by another. If used in an ideal or logical signification, *condition* and *conditioned* import only the reason in conjunetion with its consequent; if used in a real or metaphysical sense, they express the cause in connection with its effect."¹

I have now, in the prosecution of our inquiry into the fundamen-

History of the development of the fundamental Laws of Thought. tal laws of logical thinking, to say a few words in regard to their History, — their history being the narration of the order in which, and of the philosophers by whom, they were articulately developed.

Of the first three laws, which, from their intimate cognition, may

The law of Identity last developed in the order of time. not unreasonably be regarded as only the three sides or phases of a single law, the law of Identity, which stands first in the order of nature, was indeed that last developed in the order of

time; the axioms of Contradiction and of Excluded Middle having been long enounced, ere that of Identity had been discriminated and raised to the rank of a coördinate principle. I shall not, therefore, now follow the order in which I detailed to you these laws, but the order in which they were chronologically generalized.

The principles of Contradiction and of Excluded Middle can both

The principles of Contradiction and Excluded Middle can be traced back to Plato. be traced back to Plato, by whom they were enounced and frequently applied; though it was not till long after, that either of them obtained a distinctive appellation. To take the principle of Contradiction first. This law Plato frequently

employs, but the most remarkable passages are found in the *Phædo*, in the *Sophista*, and in the fourth and seventh books of the *Republic*²

Law of Contradiction emphatically enounced by Aristotle. This law was, however, more distinctively and emphatically enounced by Aristotle. In one place,³ he says: "It is manifest that no one can conceive to himself that the same thing can at

once be and not be, for thus he would hold repugnant opinions,

1 Krug, Logik, pp. 62, 63. This exposition of the law of Reason and Cousequent does not represent the Author's latest view. In a note to the Discussions, p. 160 (where a similar doctrine had been maintained in the article as originally published), he says: "The logical relation of Reason and Consequent, as more than a were corollary of the law of Noncontradiction in its three phases, is, I am confident of proving, erroneous." And again, in the same work, p. 603: "The principle of Sufficient Reason should be excluded from Logic.

For, in as much as this principle is not material, it is only a derivation of the three formal laws; and in as much as it is material, it coincides with the principle of Causality, and is extra-logical." The Laws of Thought, properly so called, are thus reduced to three, -those of *Mentity, Contradiction*, and *Ex*cluded Middle. — ED.

² See Phado, p. 103; Sophista, p. 252; Republic, iv. p. 436; vii. p. 525. - ED.

3 Metaph., 1. iii. (iv.) c. 3.

LECT. V.

LOGIC.

and subvert the reality of truth. Wherefore, all who attempt to demonstrate, reduce everything to this as the ultimate doctrine; for this is by nature the principle of all other axioms." And in several passages of his Metaphysics,¹ in his Prior Analytics,² and in his Posterior Analytics,³ he observes that "some had attempted to demonstrate this principle, - an attempt which betrayed an ignorance of those things whereof we ought to require a demonstration, and of those things whereof we ought not: for it is impossible to demonstrate everything; as in this case, we must regress and regress to infinity, and all demonstration would, on that supposition, be impossible."

Following Aristotle, the Peripatetics established this law as the

With the Peripatetics the highest principle of knowledge. Obtained its name from the Greek Aristotelians.

The Schoolmen,-Suarez.

highest principle of knowledge. From the Greek Aristotelians it obtained the name by which it has subsequently been denominated, the principle, or law, or axiom, of contradiction, ($d\xi_{i}\omega\mu a \tau \eta_{s} d\nu \tau_{i}\phi_{a}\sigma \epsilon \omega_{s}$). This name, at least, is found in the Commentaries of Ammonius and Philoponus, where it is said to be "the criterion which divides truth

> from falsehood throughout the universe of existence."⁴ The schoolmen, in general, taught the same doctrine; and Suarez even says, that the

law of contradiction holds the same supremacy among the principles of existence.5

After the decline of the Aristotelian philosophy, many controversies arose touching the truth, and still more touching the primitive

Controversies re. specting the truth and character of this law.

or axiomatic character, of this law. Some maintained that it was indemonstrable; others that it could be proved, but proved only indirectly by a reductio ad absurdum; while others, again, held

that this could be directly done, and that, consequently, the law of Contradiction was not entitled to the dignity of a first principle.⁶

1 L. iii. c. 4.

2 L. ii. c. 2.

4 For the name, see Ammonius, In De Interpret., Comment., p. 153 b, ed. Ald. Venet. 1546. Philoponus, In Anal. Pr., p. 13 b, 38 b, ed. Venet. 1536. In Anal. Post., p. 30 b, ed. Ald. Venet. 1534. The language quoted in the text is nearly a translation of Ammonius In Categ., p. 140 a. Η μέν γάρ κατάφασις και απόφασις άει έπι πάντων των όντων και μη όντων διαιρεί τό άγηθές και τό ψεύδος. Ammonius is followed by Philoponus, who says, -Τὸ δὲ τῆς ἀντιφάσεως ἀξίωμα ἐπὶ πάντων μὲν

των όντων και μή όντων διαιρεί το ψεύδος και την άληθείαν. In Anal. Post., 1, i. c. xi. f. 30 b. - ED. [Cf. Augustinus Niphus Suessanus, In Anal. Post., p. 88, ed. Paris, 1540.]

5 See [Alstedius, Artium Liberalium Systema (8vo), p. 174. " Cognitio a priori est principiorum; inter quæ agmen ducit hoc, impossibile est idem esse et non esse. . . . Consule Metaph., Suarezii: - ' Hoc, inquam, tenet primatum inter principia cognoscendi, sicut Deus inter principia essendi.' "]

6 Cf. Suarez, Disputationes Metaphysica, Disp. iii. § 3. - ED. [Alstedius, Encyclopædia, l. iii., Archelogia, c. vii. p. 80.]

³ L. i. c. 2.

In like manner, its employment was made a further matter of controversy. Finally, it was disputed whether it were an immediate, native, or *a priori* datum of intelligence; or whether it were an *a posteriori* and adventitious generalization from experience. The latter alternative, that it was only an induction, was

Locke. Leibnitz. maintained by Locke.¹ This opinion was, however, validly refuted by Leibnitz, who showed that it is admitted the moment the terms of its

enunciation are understood, and that we implicitly follow it even when we are not explicitly conscious of its dictate.² Leibnitz, in some parts of his works, seems to identify the principles of Identity and Contradiction; in others, he distinguishes them, but educes the law of Identity out of the law of Contradiction.³ It is needless to pursue the subsequent history of this principle, which in latter

Its truth denied by modern absolutists.

times has found none to gainsay the necessity and universality of its truth, except among those philosophers who, in Germany, have dreamt that

man is competent to a cognition of the absolute : and as a cognition of the absolute can only be established through positions repugnant, and, therefore, on logical principles, mutually exclusive, they have found it necessary to start with a denial of the fundamental laws of thought; and so, in their effort to soar to a philosophy above logic and intelligence, they have subverted the conditions of human philosophy altogether. Thus Schelling and Hegel prudently repudiated the principles of Contradiction and Excluded Middle as having any application to the absolute;⁴ while again those philosophers (as Cousin) who attempt a cognition of the absolute without a preliminary repudiation of the laws of Logic, at once involve themselves in contradictions, the cogency of which they do not deny, and from which they are wholly unable to extricate themselves.⁵

³ Compare Théodicée, § 44, Monadologie, § 31, with Nouveaux Essais, l. i. ch. i. § 10; l. iv. ch. ii. § 1. – ED.

4 See Schelling, Vom Ich als Princip der Philosophie, § 10; Hegel, Logik, b. ii. c. 2; Encyklopatie, § 115, 119. Schelling endeavors to abrogate the principle of Contradiction in relation to the higher philosophy, by assuming that of Identity; the empirical antagonism between ego and non-ego being merged in the identity of the absolute ego. Hegel regards both principles alike as valid only for the finite Understanding, and as inspplicable to the higher processes of the Reason. This difference between the two philosophers is pointed out by the latter in his Geschichte der Philosophie, (Werke, xv. p. 598.) - ED. [On rejection of the Logical Laws, by Schelling, Hegel, etc., see Bachmann, Über die Philosophie, meiner Zeit, p. 218, ed. Jena, 1816. Bolzano, Wissenschaftslehre, iv., Logik, § 718. Sigwart, Logik, § 58, p. 42, ed. 1835. Herbart, De Principio Logico Exclusi Medii inter Contradictoria non negligendo, Götting, 1833. Hartenstein, De Methodo Philosophia Logica Legibus adstringenda, finibus non terminanda, Lipsiæ, 1835. On the logical and metaphysical significance of the principle of Contradiction, see Platner, Phil. Aph., I. § 673, and Kant, Kritik d. reinen Vernunft, p. 191, ed. 1790.]

⁵ See the Author's criticism of Cousin, Discussions, p. 1 et seq. - ED.

¹ Essay, B i. ch. ii. § 4.-ED.

² Nouveaux Essais, B. i. ch. i § 4. - ED.

LECT. V.

But this by the way, and on a subject which at present you cannot all be supposed to understand.

The law of Excluded Middle between two contradictories re-

Law of Excluded Middle.

mounts, as I have said, also to Plato, though the Second Alcibiades, the dialogue in which it is most clearly expressed, must be admitted to be

Explicitly enounced by Aristotle.

spurious.¹ It is also in the fragments of Pseudo-Archytas, to be found in Stobæus.2 It is explicitly and emphatically enounced by Aristotle in many passages both of his Metaphysics (l. iii. (iv.) c. 7.) and

of his Analytics, both Prior (l. i. c. 2) and Posterior (l. i. c. 4). In the first of these, he says: "It is impossible that there should exist any medium between contradictory opposites, but it is necessary either to affirm or to deny everything of everything." And his expressions are similar in the other books. Cicero says "that the

foundation of Dialectic is, that whatever is Cicero. enounced is either true. or false." This is from his Academics (l. ii. e. xxix.), and there are parallel passages in his Topics (c. xiv.) and his De Oratore (l. ii. c. xxx.). This law, though universally recognized as a principle in the Greek Peripatetic school, and in the schools of the middle ages, only received the distinctive appellation by which it is now known at a comparatively modern date.³ I do not recollect having met with the term principium ex-

Baumgarten.

clusi medii in any author older than the Leibnitzian Baumgarten,4 though Wolf⁵ speaks of the exclusio medii inter contradictoria.

The law of Identity, I stated, was not explicated as a coordinate

Law of Identity. Antonius Andreas. principle till a comparatively recent period. The earliest author in whom I have found this done. is Antonius Andreas, a scholar of Scotus, who

flourished at the end of the thirteenth and beginning of the fourteenth century. The schoolman, in the fourth book of his Commentary of Aristotle's Metaphysics,⁶ - a commentary which is full of the most ingenious and original views, - not only asserts to the law of Identity a coördinate dignity with the law of Contradiction,

1 Second Alcibiades, p. 139. See also Sophista, p. 250 - ED.

2 Ecloga. 1. ii. e. 2, p. 158, ed. Antwerp, 1575; Part ii. tom. 1, p. 22, ed. Heeren. Cf. Simplicius, In Arist. Categ., pp. 97, 103, ed. Basil, 1551. - Ed.

3 Lex contradictoriarum, principium contradicentium (sc. propositionum), as used in the schools, included the law of Contradiction and the law of Excluded Middle. See Molinæus Elementa Logica, 1. ii. c. 14, [p. 172, ed. 1603. " Contradicentium usus explicatur uno axiomate: -- Contradicentia non possunt de codem simul esse vera; et necessarium est contradicentium alterum cuilibet rei convenire, alternm non convenire." - ED.]

- 4 Metaphysica, § 10. ED.
- 5 Ontologia, §§ 52, 53.
- 6 Quæstio v. p. 21 a, ed. Venet., 1513. ED.

but, against Aristotle, he maintains that the principle of Identity. and not the principle of Contradiction, is the one absolutely first. The formula in which Andreas expressed it was Ens est ens. Subsequently to this author, the question concerning the relative priority of the two laws of Identity and of Contradiction became one much agitated in the schools; though there were also found some who asserted to the law of Excluded Middle this supreme rank.1

Leibnitz, as I have said, did not always distin-Leibnitz. guish the principles of Identity and of Contra-

diction. By Wolf the former was styled the principle of Certainty, (principium Certitudinis);² but he, no more

Wolf.

than Leibnitz himself, sufficiently discriminated between it and the law of Contradiction. This was, however, done by Baumgarten, another distinguished follower

Banmgarten.

of Leibnitz,³ and from him it received the name

of the principle of Position, that is, of Affirmation or Identity, (principium Positionis sive Identitatis), - the name by which it is now universally known. This principle has found greater favor, in the eyes of the absolutist philosophers, than those of Contradiction

Fichte and Schelling. Hegel.

and Excluded Middle. By Fichte and Schelling it has been placed as the primary principle of all philosophy.4 Hegel alone subjects it, along with the other laws of thought, to a rigid but falla-

cious criticism; and rejects it along with them, as belonging to that lower sphere of knowledge, which is conversant only with the relative and finite.5

	Law of Reason and
C	onsequent.
	Recognized by Plato
a	nd Aristotle.

'Αρχή τής γνώσεως. 'Αρχή τής γένέσεως.

The fourth law, that of Reason and Consequent, which stands apart by itself from the other three, was, like the laws of Contradiction and Excluded Middle, recognized by Plato.⁶ He lays it down as a postulate of reason, to admit noth-

ing without a cause; and the same is frequently done by his

scholar Aristotle.7 Both, however, in reference to this principle, employ the ambiguous term

cause (airía airior). Aristotle, indeed, distinguishes the law of Reason, as the ideal principle of knowledge $(\partial \rho_X \eta)$

5 Sec above, p. 64, note 4. - ED.

6 Philebus, p. 26. - ED.

- 7 E.g. Anal. Post., ii. 16; Phys., ii. 3; Metaph.,
- i. 1. 3; Rhet., ii. 23. ED.

^{1 [}Alex. de Ales, In Arist. Metaph., iv. t. 9.] Compare Suarez, Disp. Metaph., Disp. iii. § 3. Alexander professes to agree with Aristotle in giving the first place to the principle of Contradiction, but, in fact, he identifies it with that of Excluded Middle, de quovis affirmatio vel negatio. - ED.

² Ontologia, § 55, 288. - ED.

³ Metaphysica, § 11. - ED.

⁴ See Fichte, Grundlage der gesammten Wissenschaftslehre, § 1. Schelling, Vom Ich, § 7. -ED.

LECT. V.

LOGIC.

της γνώσεως, principium cognoscendi), from the real principle of Production, (ἀρχη της γενέσεως, principium fiendi, — principium es-

Cicero. The Schoolmen. sendi).¹ By Cicero, the axiom of reason and consequent was, in like manner, comprehended under the formula, *nihil sine causa*,²—a formula

adopted by the schoolmen; although they, after Aristotle, distinguished under it the *ratio essendi*, and the *ratio cognoscendi*.

In modern times, the attention of philosophers was called to this

Leibnitz called attention to Law of Sufficient Reason. law of Leibnitz, who, on the two principles of Reason and of Contradiction, founded the whole edifice of his philosophy.³ Under the latter law, as I have mentioned, he comprehended,

however, the principle of Identity; and in the former he did not sufficiently discriminate, in terms, the law of Causality, as a real principle, from the law of Reason, properly so called, as a formal or ideal principle. To this axiom he gave various denominations, now calling it the principle of Determining Reason, now the principle of Sufficient Reason, and now the principle of Convenience or Agreement (convenientia); making it, in its real relation, the ground of all existence; in its ideal, the ground of all positive knowledge. On this subject there was a celebrated controversy between Leibnitz and Dr. Samuel Clarke, - a controversy on this, as on other points, eminently worthy of your study. The documents in which this controversy is contained, were published in the English edition under the title, A collection of Papers which passed between the late learned Mr. Leibnitz and Dr. Clarke, in the years 1715 and 1716, relating to the Principles of Natural Philosophy and Religion, London, 1717.4

Wolf, the most distinguished follower of Leibnitz, employs the

Wolf.

formula — "Nothing is without a sufficient reason why it is, rather than why it is not; that is,

if anything is supposed to be (*ponitur esse*), something also must be supposed, whence it may be understood why the same is rather than is not."⁵ He blaines the schoolmen for confusing reason (*ratio*) with cause (*causa*): but his censure equally applies to his master Leibnitz, as to them and Aristotle; for all of these philosophers, though they did not confound the two principles, employed ambiguous terms to denote them.

¹ Metaph., iv. (v.) 1. - ED.

² De Divinatione, ii. c. 28. - ED.

³ See Théodicée, § 44. Monadologie, §§ 31, 32. — ED.

⁴ See especially, Leibnitz's Second Letter, p. 20, in which the principle of Contradiction

or Identity is assumed as the foundation of all mathematics and that of Sufficient Reason as the foundation of natural philosophy. -ED.

⁵ See Fischer's Logik, [§ 59, p. 33, ed. 1838. Compare Wolf, Ontologia, §§ 70, 71. - ED.]

Discussion regarding the Leibnitzian doctrine of the law of Sufficient Reason.

The Leibnitian doctrine of the universality of the law of Sufficient Reason, both as a principle of existence and of thought, excited much discussion among the philosophers, more particularly of Germany. In the earlier half of the last century, some controverted the validity of the principle, others

attempted to restrict it.¹ Among other arguments, it is alleged, by the advocates of the former opinion, if the principle be admitted, that everything must have a sufficient reason why it is, rather than why it is not, --- on this hypothesis, error itself will have such a reason, and, therefore, must cease forthwith to be error.²

Many philosophers, as Wolf and Baumgarten, endeavored to demonstrate this principle by the principle of Contradiction; while others, with better success, showed that all such demonstrations were illogical.3

In the more recent systems of philosophy, the universality and necessity of the axiom of Reason has, with other logical laws, been controverted and rejected by speculators on the absolute.⁴

2 See Bachmann, Logik, p. 56. With the foregoing history of the laws of Thought, compare the same author, Logik, § 18-31. -ED.

3 [Kiesewetter, Allgemeine Logik, P. i. p. 57]; compare Lectures on Metaphysics, ii. pp. 396, 397, notes. - ED.

4 [On principle of Double Negation as another law of Thought, see Fries, Logik, § 41, p. 190; Calker, Denklehre oder Logik und Dialektik, § 165, p. 453; Beneke, Lehrbuch der Logik, § 64, p. 41.]

¹ As Feuerlin and Daries. See Bachmann, Logik, p. 56, Leipsig, 1828; Cf. Degerando, Hist. Comp. des Syst. de Phil., t. ii. p. 145, ed. 1804. - ED.

LECTURE VI.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION I. - NOETIC.

THE FUNDAMENTAL LAWS OF THOUGHT — THEIR CLASSIFI-CATION AND IMPORT.

HAVING concluded the Introductory Questions, we entered, in our last Lecture, upon our science itself. The Recapitulation. first part of Pure Logic is the Doctrine of Elements, or that which considers the conditions of mere or possible thinking. These elements are of two kinds, - they are either the fundamental laws of thought as regulating its necessary products, or they are the products themselves as regulated by those laws. The fundamental laws are four in number, --- the law of Identity, the law of Contradiction, the law of Excluded Middle, the law of Reason and Consequent.¹ The products of thought are three, -1° , Concepts or Notions; 2°, Judgments; and, 3°, Reasonings. In our last Lecture, we considered the first of these two parts of the doctrine of elements, and I went through the general explanation of the contents and import of the four laws, and their history. Without recapitulating what was then stated, I shall now proceed to certain general observations, which may be suggested in relation to the four laws.

And, first of all, I may remark, that they naturally fall into two

General observations in relation to the four fundamental laws of thought. These fall into two classes. I may remark, that they naturally had into two classes. The first of these classes consists of the three principles of Identity, Contradiction, and Excluded Middle; the second comprehends the principle of Reason and Consequent alone. This classification is founded both on the differ-

ent reciprocal connection of the laws, and on the different nature of their results.

In the first place, in regard to the difference of connection between the laws themselves, it is at once evident that the first three stand in a far more proximate relation to each other than to the

This classification founded, 1°, On the difference of connection between the laws themselves. fourth. The first three are, indeed, so intimately connected, that though it has not even been attempted to carry them up into a higher principle, and though the various and contradictory endeavors that have been made to elevate one or other into an antecedent, and to degrade

others into consequents, have only shown, by their failure, the impossibility of reducing the three to one; still so intimate is their connection, that each in fact supposes the others. They are like the three sides of a triangle; not the same, not reducible to unity, each pretending with equal right to a prior consideration, and each, if considered first, giving in its own existence the existence of the other two. This intimacy of relation does not subsist between the principle of Reason and Consequent and the three other laws; they do not, in the same necessary manner, suggest each other in thought. The explanation of this is found in the different nature of their results; and this is the second subject of our consideration.¹

In the second place, then, the distinction of the four laws into

2°, On the difference of the end which the two classes severally accomplish.

4.59

two classes is not only warranted by the difference of their mutual dependence in thought, but, likewise, by the difference of the end which the two classes severally accomplish. For the first three laws not only stand apart by themselves

(forming, as it were, a single principle viewed in three different aspects), but they necessitate a result very different, both in kind and in degree, from that determined by the law of Reason and Consequent. The difference in their result consists in this, - whatever violates the laws, whether of Identity, of Contradiction, or of Excluded Middle, we feel to be absolutely impossible, not only in thought but in existence. Thus we cannot attribute even to Omnipotence the power of making a thing different from itself, of making a thing at once to be and not to be, of making a thing neither to be nor not to be. These three laws thus determine to us the sphere of possibility and of impossibility; and this not merely in thought but in reality, not only logically but metaphysically. Very different is the result of the law of Reason and Consequent. This principle merely excludes from the sphere of positive thought what we cannot comprehend; for whatever we comprehend, that through which we comprehend it is its reason. What, therefore, violates the

¹ For a later development of the Author's philosophy as regards the distinction here indicated, see *Discussions*, p. 602 *et seq.*—ED.

LECT. VI.

law of Reason and Consequent merely, in virtue of this law becomes a logical zero; that is, we are compelled to think it as unthinkable, but not to think it, though actually non-existent subjectively or in thought, as therefore actually non-existent objectively or in reality. And why, it may be asked, does the law of Reason and Consequent not equally determine the sphere of general possibility, as the laws of Identity, Contradiction, and Excluded Middle? Why are we to view the unthinkable in the one case not to be equally impossible in reality, as the unthinkable in the other? Some philosophers have, on the one hand, asserted to the Deity the power of reconciling contradictions;² while, on the other, a greater number have made the

Two counter opinions regarding the limits of objective possibility. conceivable in human thought the gauge of the possible in existence. What warrants us, it may be asked, to condemn these opposite procedures as equally unphilosophical? In answer to this, though the matter belongs more properly

to Metaphysic than to Logie, I may say a few words, which, however, I am aware, cannot, by many of you, be as yet adequately understood.

To deny the universal application of the first three laws, is, in fact, to subvert the reality of thought; and as this subversion is itself an act of thought, it in fact annihilates itself.

When, for example, I say that A is, and then say that A is not,

The respective spheres of the two classes of the laws of thought defined and illustrated.

To deny the universal application of the first three laws, is to subvert the reality of thought. by the second assertion I sublate or take away what, by the first assertion, I posited or laid down; thought, in the one case, undoing by negation what, in the other, it had by affirmation done. But when it is asserted, that A existing and A non-existing are at once true, what does this imply? It implies that negation and affirmation correspond to nothing out of the mind — that there is no agreement, no disagreement between thought and its objects; and

this is tantamount to saying that truth and falsehood are merely empty sounds. For if we only think by affirmation and negation, and if these are only as they are exclusive of each other, it follows, that unless existence and non-existence be opposed objectively in the same manner as affirmation and negation are opposed subjectively, all our thought is a mere illusion. Thus it is, that those who would assert the possibility of contradictions being at once true, in fact annihilate the possibility of truth itself, and the whole significance of thought.

1 Compare Le Clerc, Logica, p. ii. c. 3.- ED.

LECT. VI.

Olec. In

LOGIC.

But this is not the case when we deny the universal, the absolute

But this is not involved in the denial of the universal application of the law of Reason and Consequent. application of the law of Reason and Consequent. When I say that a thing may be, of which I cannot conceive the possibility (that is, by conceiving it as the consequent of a certain reason), I only say that thought is limited; but, within its limits, I do not deny, I do not sub-

vert, its truth. But how, it may be asked, is it shown that thought is thus limited? How is it shown that the inconceivable is not an index of the impossible, and that those philosophers who have employed it as the criterion of the absurd, are themselves guilty of absurdity? This is a matter which will come under our considera-

This law shown in general not to be the measure of objective possibility. tion at another time and in its proper place; at present it will be sufficient to state in general that the hypothesis which makes the thinkable the measure of the possible, brings the principle of Reason and Consequent at once into collision

with the three higher laws, and this hypothesis itself is thus reduced at once to contradiction and absurdity. For if we take a comprehensive view of the phænomena of thought, we shall find that all that we can positively think, that is, all that is within the jurisdiction of the law of Reason and Consequent, lies between two opposite poles of thought, which, as exclusive of each other, cannot, on the principles of Identity and Contradiction, both be true, but of which, on the principle of Excluded Middle, the one or the other must. Let us take, for example, any of the general objects of our knowledge. Let us take body, or rather, since body as extended is included under extension, let us take extension itself, or space. Now, extension alone will exhibit to us two pairs of contradictory inconceivables, that is, in all, four incomprehensibles, but of which, though all are equally unthinkable, and, on the hypothesis in question, all, therefore, equally impossible, we are compelled, by the law of Excluded Middle, to admit some two as true and necessary.

Extension, then, may be viewed either as a whole or as a part; and, in each aspect, it affords us two incogitable contradictories.

By reference to Extension, 1°, As **a** Whole.

plan.

1°, Taking it as a whole: — space, it is evident, must either be limited, that is, have an end, a circumference; or unlimited, that is, have no end, no circumference. These are contradictory

I and the are the fore motion

suppositions; both, therefore, cannot, but one must, be true. Now let us try positively to comprehend, positively to conceive, the possibility of either of these two mutually exclusive alternatives. Can we represent or realize in thought extension as absolutely limited?

Classidicy, and inconcernell

const lone true = enconcerce

LLLE

54

LECT. VI.

in other words, can we mentally hedge round the whole of space, conceive it absolutely bounded, that is, so that beyond its boundary

Space or extension as absolutely bounded, unthinkable. there is no outlying, no surrounding, space? This is impossible. Whatever compass of space we may inclose by any limitation of thought, we shall find that we have no difficulty in transcend-

ing these limits. Nay, we shall find that we cannot but transcend them; for we are unable to think any extent of space except as within a still ulterior space, of which, let us think till the powers of thinking fail, we can never reach the eircumference. It is thus impossible for us to think space as a totality, that is, as absolutely bounded, but all-containing. We may, therefore, lay down this first extreme as inconceivable. We cannot think space as limited.

Let us now consider its contradictory; can we comprehend the

Space unlimited inconceivable, as contradictory. possibility of infinite or unlimited space? To suppose this is a direct contradiction in terms; it is to comprehend the incomprehensible. We think, we conceive, we comprehend, a thing, only

as we think it as within or under something else; but to do this of the infinite is to think the infinite as finite, which is contradictory and absurd.

Now, here it may be asked, how have we then the word infinite?

Objection from the name and notion of the Infinite obviated.

thing, when we think it by the qualities of which it is the comple-

Distinction of positive and negative thought and notion. How have we the notion which this word expresses? The answer to this question is contained in the distinction of positive and negative thought. We have a positive concept of a

ment. But as the attribution of qualities is an affirmation, as affirmation and negation are relatives, and as relatives are known only in and through each other, we cannot, therefore, have a

consciousness of the affirmation of any quality, without having at the same time the correlative consciousness of its negation. Now, the one consciousness is a positive, the other consciousness is a negative notion. But, in point of fact, a negative notion is only the negation of a notion; we think only by the attribution of certain qualities, and the negation of these qualities and of this attribution, is simply, in so far, a denial of our thinking at all. As affirmation always suggests negation, every positive notion must likewise suggest a negative notion; and as language is the reflex of thought, the positive and negative notions are expressed by positive and negative names. Thus it is with the infinite. The finite is the only object of real or positive thought; it is that alone which we think

by the attribution of determinate characters; the infinite, on the contrary, is conceived only by the thinking away of every character

The Infinite expressed by negative terms.

by which the finite was conceived; in other words, we conceive it only as inconceivable. This relation of the infinite to the finite is shown, indeed, in the terms by which it is ex-

pressed in every language. Thus in Latin, *infinitum*; in Greek, $a\pi\epsilon\phi\rho\sigma\nu$; in German, *unendlich*; in all of which original tongues the word expressive of the infinite is only a negative expression of the finite or limited. Thus the very objection from the existence of a name and notion of the infinite, when analyzed, only proves more clearly that the infinite is no object of thought; that we conceive it, not in itself, but only in correlation and contrast to the finite.

The indefinite is, however, sometimes confounded with the infin-

The Indefinite and Infinite, — how distinguished. ite; though there are hardly two notions which, without being contradictory, differ more widely. The indefinite has a subjective, the infinite an objective relation. The one is merely the nega-

tion of the actual apprehension of limits, the other the negation of the possible existence of limits.

But to return whence we have been carried, it is manifest that

Space as bounded and space as unbounded being two inconceivable contradictories, the law of Reason and Consequent cannot, therefore, form the criterion of objective possibility. we can no more realize the thought or conception of infinite, unbounded, or unlimited space, than we can realize the conception of a finite or absolutely bounded space. But these two inconceivables are reciprocal contradictories, and if we are unable to comprehend the possibility of either, while, however, on the principle of Excluded Middle one or other must be admitted, the hypothesis is manifestly false, that proposes

the subjective or formal law of Reason and consequent as the criterion of real or objective possibility.

It is needless to show that the same result is given by the exper-

This further shown by reference to Extension, 2°, As a Part. iment made on extension considered as a part, as divisible. Here, if we attempt to divide extension in thought, we shall neither, on the one hand, succeed in conceiving the possibility of an

absolute minimum of space, that is, a minimum *ex hypothesi* extended, but which cannot be conceived as divisible into parts, nor, on the other, of carrying on this division to infinity. But as these are contradictory opposites, they again afford a similar refutation of the hypothesis in question.

But the same conclusion is reached by simply considering the

LECT. VI.

law of Reason and Consequent in itself. This law enjoins - Think

3°, By reference to the law of Reason and Consequent itself. nothing without a reason why we must think it; that is, think nothing except as contained in, as evolved out of, something else which we already know. Now, this reason, — this some-

thing else, — in obedience to this very law, must, as itself known, be itself a consequent of some other antecedent; and this antecedent be again the consequent of some anterior or higher reason; and so on, *ad infinitum*. But the human mind is not possessed of infinite powers, or of an infinite series of reasons and consequents; on the contrary, its faculties are very limited, and its stock of knowledge is very small. To erect this law, therefore, into a standard of existence, is, in fact, to bring down the infinitude of the universe to the finitude of man, — a proceeding than which nothing can be im-

The laws of Reason and Consequent, etc., reducible to a higher principle. agined more absurd. The fact is, that the law of Reason and Consequent can, with the law of Cause and Effect, the law of Substance and Phænomenon, etc., be, if I am not mistaken, all reduced to one higher principle, — a principle

which explains from the very limitation of the human mind, from the very imbecility of its powers, a great variety of phænomena, which, from the liberality of philosophers, have obtained for their solution a number of positive and special principles. This, however, is a discussion which would here be out of place.¹ What, how-

Summary statement of the spheres of the laws of thought. ever, has been said may suffice to show that, while the first three laws of thought are of an absolute and universal cogency, the fourth is only of a cogency relative and particular; that, while

the former determine the possibility, not only of all thought, but of all real knowledge, the latter only regulates the validity of mediate or reflective thought. The laws of Identity, Contradiction and Exeluded Middle are, therefore, not only logical but metaphysical prineiples, the law of Reason and Consequent a logical principle alone; a doctrine which is, however, the converse of what is generally taught.

I proceed, now, to say a few words on the general influence which

The general influence which the foregoing laws exert on the operations of thinking. these laws exert upon the operations of thinking. These operations, however various and multiform they may seem, are so governed in all their manifestations by the preceding laws, that no thought can pretend to validity and truth which is not in consonance with, which is not

governed by, them. For man can recognize that alone as real and

1 See Discussions, p. 609. - ED.

assured, which the laws of his understanding sanction; and he cannot but regard that as false and unreal, which these laws condemn. From this, however, it by no means follows that what is thought in conformity to these laws, is therefore true; for the sphere of thought is far wider than the sphere of reality, and no inference is valid from the correctest thinking of an object to its actual existence. While these laws, therefore, are the highest criterion of the nonreality of an object, they are no criterion at all of its reality; and they thus stand to existence in a negative and not in a positive relation. And what I now say of the fundamental principles of thought in general, holds equally of all their proximate and special applications, that is, of the whole of Logic. Logic, as I have already explained, considering the form alone of thought to the exclusion of its matter, can draw no conclusion from the correctness of the manner of thinking an object to the reality of the object itself. Yet

The true relations of Logic overlooked in two ways: -1. Logic erroneously held to be the positive standard of truth.

The division of truth into logical and metaphysical,-criticized.

among modern, nay recent, philosophers, two opposite doctrines have sprung up, which, on opposite sides, have overlooked the true relations of Logie. "One party of philosophers defining truth in general, - the absolute harmony of our thoughts and cognitions, -- divide truth into a formal or logical, and into a material or metaphysical,

> according as that harmony is in consonance with the laws of formal thought, or, over and above, with the laws of real knowledge.¹ The eriterion of formal truth they place in the principles of

Contradiction and of Sufficient Reason, enouncing that what is noncontradictory and consequent is formally true. This criterion, which is positive and immediate of formal truth (inasmuch as what is non-contradictory and consequent can always be thought as possible), they style a negative and mediate criterion of material truth: as what is self-contradictory and logically inconsequent is in reality impossible; at the same time, what is not self-contradictory and not logically inconsequent, is not, however, to be regarded as having an actual existence. But here the foundation is treacherous; the notion of truth is false. When we speak of truth, we are not satisfied with knowing that a thought harmonizes with a certain system of thoughts and cognitions; but, over and above, we require to be assured that what we think is real, and is as we

Truth. - what. think it to be. Are we satisfied on this point, we then regard our thoughts as true; whereas if we are not satisfied of this, we deem them false, how well soever they may quad-

1 See Kant, Logik, Einleitung, vii.; Krug, Logik, § 22; Fries, Logik, § 42. - ED.

LECT. VI.

rate with any theory or system. It is not, therefore, in any absolute harmony of mere thought that truth consists, but solely in the correspondence of our thoughts with their objects. The distinction of formal and material truth is thus not only unsound in itself, but opposed to the notion of truth universally held, and embodied in all languages. But if this distinction be inept, the title of Logic, as a positive standard of truth, must be denied; it can only be a negative criterion, being conversant with thoughts and not with things, with the possibility and not with the actuality of existence."¹

The preceding inaccuracy is, however, of little moment compared

2. The Absolutists proceed on a subversion of the logical laws. with the heresy of another class of philosophers, to whose observations on this point I can, however, only allude. Some of you may, perhaps, find a difficulty in believing the statement, that there is a considerable party of philosophers,

illustrious for the highest speculative talent, and whose systems, if not at present, were, a few years ago, the most celebrated, if not the most universally accredited in Europe, who establish their metaphysical theories on the subversion of all logical truth.² I refer to those philosophers who hold that man is capable of more than a relative notion of existence, - that he is competent to a knowledge of absolute or infinite being (for these terms they use convertibly), in an identity of knowledge and existence, of himself and the Divinity. This doctrine, which I shall not now attempt to make you understand, is developed in very various schemes; that is, the different philosophers attempt, by very different and contradictory methods, to arrive at the same end; all these systems, however, agree in this, - they are all at variance with the four logical laws. Some, indeed, are established on the express denial of the validity of these laws; and others, without daring overtly to reject their authority, are still built in violation of their precept. In fact, if contradiction remain a criterion of Talsehood, if Logic and the laws of thought be not viewed as an illusion, the philosophy of the absolute, in all its forms, admits of the most direct and easy refutation. But on this matter I only now touch, in order that you may not be ignorant that there are philosophers, and philosophers of the highest name, who, in pursuit of the phantom of absolute knowledge, are content to repudiate relative knowledge, logic, and the laws of thought. This hallucination is, however, upon the wane, and as each of these theorists contradicts his brother, Logic and Common Sense will at length refute them all.

Before leaving the consideration of this subject, it is necessary to

¹ Esser, Logik, p. 65-6. - ED. 2 See above, p. 64, note 4. - ED.

notice a mistake of Dr. Reid, which it is not more remarkable

Mistake of Reid in regard to Conception.

that he should have committed, than that others have been found to follow and applaud it, as the correction of a general error. In the fourth

Essay on the Intellectual Powers, and in the third chapter, entitled Mistakes concerning Conception,¹ there is the following passage, which at once exhibits not only his own opinion, but the universality of the doctrine to which it is opposed:

"There remains," he says, "another mistake concerning conception, which deserves to be noticed. It is, that

Reid quoted. our conception of things is a test of their possibility, so that, what we can distinctly conceive, we may conclude to be possible; and of what is impossible, we can have no conception.

"This opinion has been held by philosophers for more than a hundred years, without contradiction or dissent, as far as I know; and, if it be an error, it may be of some use to inquire into its origin, and the causes that it has been so generally received as a maxim whose truth could not be brought into doubt."

I may here observe that this limitation of the prevalence of the opinion in question to a very modern period is altogether incorrect; it was equally prevalent in ancient times, and as many passages could easily be quoted from the Greek logicians alone as Dr. Reid has quoted from the philosophers of the century prior to himself. Dr. Reid goes on :

"One of the fruitless questions agitated among the scholastic philosophers in the dark ages was, What is the criterion of truth? As if men could have any other way to distinguish truth from error, but by the right use of that power of judgment which God has given them.

"Descartes endeavored to put an end to this controversy, by making it a fundamental principle in his system, that whatever we clearly and distinctly perceive, is true.

"To understand this principle of Descartes, it must be observed that he gave the name of *perception* to every power of the human understanding; and in explaining this very maxim, he tells us that sense, imagination, and pure intellection, are only different modes of perceiving, and so the maxim was understood by all his followers.

"The learned Dr. Cudworth seems also to have adopted this principle. 'The criterion of true knowledge,' he says, 'is only to be looked for in our knowledge and conceptions themselves: for the

LECT. VI.

LOGIC.

entity of all theoretical truth is nothing else but clear intelligibility, and whatever is clearly conceived is an entity and a truth; but that which is false, Divine power itself cannot make it to be clearly and distinctly understood. A falsehood can never be clearly conceived or apprehended to be true.'— (*Eternal and immutable Morality*, p. 172, etc.)

"This Cartesian maxim seems to me to have led the way to that now under consideration, which seems to have been adopted as the proper correction of the former. When the authority of Descartes declined, men began to see that we may clearly and distinctly conceive what is not true, but thought that our conception, though not in all cases a test of truth, might be a test of possibility.

"This indeed seems to be a necessary consequence of the received doctrine of ideas; it being evident that there can be no distinct image, either in the mind or anywhere else, of that which is impossible. The ambiguity of the word *conceive*, which we observed, Essay i. chap. i., and the common phraseology of saying, *we cannot conceive such a thing*, when we would signify that we think it impossible, might likewise contribute to the reception of this doctrine.

"But whatever was the origin of this opinion, it seems to prevail universally, and to be received as a maxim.

"'The bare having an idea of the proposition proves the thing not to be impossible; for of an impossible proposition there can be no idea." - Dr. Samuel Clarke.

"'Of that which neither does nor can exist we can have no idea." - Lord Bolingbroke.

"'The measure of impossibility to us is inconceivableness, that of which we have no idea, but that reflecting upon it, it appears to be nothing, we pronounce to be impossible.' — Abernethy.

"'In every idea is implied the possibility of the existence of its object, nothing being clearer than that there can be no idea of an impossibility, or conception of what cannot exist.' — Dr. Price.

"'Impossibile est cujus nullam notionem formare possumus; possibile e contra, cui aliqua respondet notio.' — Wolfii Ontolog.

"'It is an established maxim in metaphysics, that whatever the mind conceives, includes the idea of possible existence, or in other words, that nothing we imagine is absolutely impossible."— D. Hume.

"It were easy to muster up many other respectable authorities for this maxim, and I have never found one that called it in question.

"If the maxim be true in the extent which the famous Wolfius has given it in the passage above quoted, we shall have a short road to the determination of every question about the possibility or im-

possibility of things. We need only look into our own breast, and that, like the Urim and Thummim, will give an infallible answer. If we can conceive the thing, it is possible; if not, it is impossible. And surely every man may know whether he can conceive what is affirmed, or not.

"Other philosophers have been satisfied with one half of the maxim of Wolfius. They say, that whatever we can conceive is possible; but they do not say, that whatever we cannot conceive is impossible."

On this I may remark, that Dr. Reid's criticism of Wolf must be admitted in so far as that philosopher maintains our inability to conceive a thing as possible, to be the rule on which we are entitled to pronounce it impossible. But Dr. Reid now advances a doctrine which I cannot but regard as radically erroneous.

"I cannot help thinking even this to be a mistake which philosophers have been unwarily led into, from the causes before mentioned. My reasons are these:

"1. Whatever is said to be possible or impossible is expressed by a proposition. Now, what is it to conceive a proposition? I think it is no more than to understand distinctly its meaning. I know no more that can be meant by simple apprehension, or conception, when applied to a proposition. The axiom, therefore, amounts to this: — Every proposition, of which you understand the meaning distinctly, is possible. I am persuaded that I understand as distinctly the meaning of this proposition, Any two sides of a triangle are together equal to the third, as of this, Any two sides of a triangle are together greater than the third; yet the first of these is impossible."

Now this is a singular misunderstanding of the sense in which it criticized. has been always held by philosophers, that what

is contradictory is conceived as inconceivable and impossible.¹ No philosopher, I make bold to say, ever dreamt of denying that we can distinctly understand the meaning of the proposition, the terms of which we recognize to be contradictory, and, as contradictory, to annihilate each other. When we enounce the proposition, Λ is not Λ , we clearly comprehend the separate meaning of the terms Λ and not Λ , and also the import of the assertion of their identity. But this very understanding consists in the consciousness that the two terms are contradictories, and that as such it is impossible to unite them in a mental judgment, though they stand united in a verbal proposition. If we attempt this, the two mutually exclusive terms not only cannot be thought as one, but in fact annihilate each other; and thus the result, in place of a positive LECT. VI.

judgment, is a negation of thought. So far Dr. Reid is wrong. But he is not guilty of the absurdity attributed to him by Dr. Gleig; he does not say, as by that writer he is made to say, that "any two sides of a triangle may be conceived to be equal to the third, as distinctly as any two sides of a triangle may be conceived to be greater than the third."1 These are not Dr. Reid's words, and nothing he says warrants the attribution of such expressions to him, in the sense in which they are attributed. He is made to hold, not merely that we can understand two terms as contradictory, but that we are able to combine them in the unity of thought. After the passage already quoted, Reid goes on to illustrate, in various points of view, the supposed error of the philosophers; but as all he says on this head originates in the misconception already shown of the opinion he controverts, it is needless to take any further notice of his arguments.

We have thus considered the conditions of Logic, in so far as certain laws or principles are prescribed; we have Postulates of Logic. now to consider its conditions, in so far as certain postulates are demanded. Of these there are more than one: but one alone it is here requisite to signalize; for although it be necessarily supposed in the science, strange to say, it has, by logical writers, not only been always passed over in silence, but frequently and inconsistently violated. This postulate I comprise in the following paragraph:

¶ XVIII. The only postulate of Logie which requires an articulate enouncement is the demand, that Par. XVIII. The logibefore dealing with a judgment or reasoning cal postulate. expressed in language, the import of its terms should be fully understood ; in other words, Logic postulates to be allowed to state explicitly in language all that is implicitly contained in the thought.

This postulate cannot be refused. In point of fact, as I have said, Logie has always proceeded on it, in overtly ex-This postulate cannot be refused.

pressing all the steps of the mental process in reasoning, - all the propositions of a syllogism;

whereas, in common parlance, one at least of these steps or propositions is usually left unexpressed. This postulate, as we shall have oceasion to observe in the sequel, though a fundamental condition of Logic, has not been consistently acted on by logicians in their development of the science; and from this omission have arisen

¹ Art. "Metaphysics," Encyclopædia Britannica, 7th edit., p. 620. - ED.

much confusion and deficiency and error in our present system of Logic. The illustration of this postulate will appropriately find its place on occasion of its applications. I now articulately state it, because it immediately follows in order the general axioms of the science; and, at present, I only beg that you will bear it in mind. I

This postulate implied in the doctrine of Syllogism, according to Aristotle. may, however, before leaving the subject, observe (what has already, I believe, been mentioned), that Aristotle states of syllogistie—and, of eourse, his statement applies to Logic in general — that the doctrine of syllogism deals, not with the ex-

ternal expression of reasoning, in ordinary language, but with the internal reasoning of the mind itself.¹ But of this again, and more fully, in the proper places.

In like manner, we might here, as is done in Mathematics, premise certain definitions; but these it will be more convenient to state as they occur in the progress of our development. I therefore pass on to the Second Section of the Doctrine of Elements, which is occupied with the Products of Thought; in other words, with the processes regulated by the previous conditions.

1 Anal. Post., i. 10. - ED.

LECTURE VII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. ENNOEMATIC - OF CONCEPTS OR NOTIONS.

A. OF CONCEPTS IN GENERAL.

I CONCLUDED, in my last lecture, all that I think it necessary to say in regard to the Fundamental Laws of Thought, or the necessary conditions of the thinkable. The discussion, I am aware, must have been found somewhat dry, and even abstruse; not that there is the smallest difficulty in regard to the apprehension of the laws themselves, for these are all self-evident propositions, but because, though it is necessary in a systematic view of Logic to commence with the elementary principles of thought, it is impossible, in speaking of these and their application, not to employ expressions of the most abstract generality, and even not to suppose a certain acquaintance with words and things, which, however, only find their explanation in the subsequent development of the science.

Having considered, therefore, the four Laws of Thought, with the

The products of Thought, Concepts, Judgments and Reasonings. one Postulate of Logic, which constituted the First Section of the Doctrine of Logical Elements, I now proceed to the Second — that which is conversant about Logical Products. These products, though identical in kind, are of

three different degrees; for while Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings, are all equally the products of the same Faculty of Compar-

These are all products of Comparison, and all modifications of judgment. ison, they still fall into three classes, as the act, and, consequently, the result of the act, is of a greater or a less simplicity. These three degrees are all in fact, strictly, only modifications of the second, as both concepts and reasonings may be

reduced to judgments; for the act of judging, that is, the act of affirming or denying one thing of another in thought, is that in which the Understanding or Faculty of Comparison is essentially expressed. By anticipation: — A concept is a judgment; for, on the one hand, it is nothing but the result of a foregone judgment, or series of judgments, fixed and recorded in a word — a sign; and it is only amplified by the annexation of a new attribute, through a continuance of the same process. On the other hand, as a concept is thus the synthesis or complexion, and the record, I may add, of one or more prior acts of judgment, it can, it is evident, be analyzed into these again; every concept is, in fact, a judgment or a fasciculus of judgments — these judgments only not explicitly developed in thought, and not formally expressed in terms.

Again, a reasoning is a judgment; for a reason is only the affirmation of the connection of two things with a third, and, through that third, with each other. It is thus only the same function of thought, which is at work in Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning; and these express no real, no essential, distinction of operation, but denote only the different relations in which we may regard the indivisible act of thought. Thus, the consideration of concepts cannot be effected out of all relation to, and without even some anticipation of, the doctrine of judgments. This being premised, I now proceed to the consideration of the Products of Thought, viewed in the three relations of the three degrees, of Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings.¹

Under the Second Section of Stoicheiology, Concepts or Notions form the first chapter.

Now, in treating of Concepts, the order I shall follow is this: - I

I. Of Concepts or Notions, — order of discussion. shall, in the first place, treat of them in general; in the second, treat of them in special. Under the former, or general head, will be considered, 1°, What they are; 2°, How they are produced.

Under the latter, or special head, they will be considered under their various relations. And here, I may observe, that as you

Whately's omission of the doctrine of Concepts. obtain no information from Dr. Whately in regard to the primary laws of thought, — these laws being in fact apparently unknown to every British logician, old or new, — so you will find

but little or no aid from his *Elements* towards an understanding of the doctrine of concepts. His omission, in this respect, cannot be excused by his error in regard to the object-matter of Logic; that object, you will recollect, being on his view, or rather one of his views, not thought in general, or the products of the comparative faculty in

^{1 [}Hume, Treatise of Human Nature, Bk. i. part iii. § 7. Jac. Thomasius, Physica. p. 295] [c. xlix. § 112, where he holds that simple ap-

prehension is impossible without judgment. Compare also Krug, *Logik*, § 23, Anm. ii. p. 70. — ED.]
LECT. VII.

LOGIC.

their three degrees, but reasoning or argumentation alone; for even on the hypothesis that Logic is thus limited, still, as the doctrine of reasoning can only be scientifically evolved out of the doctrine of concepts, the consideration of the latter forms the indispensable condition of a satisfactory treatment of the former. But not only is Whately's doctrine of concepts, or, in his language, of "the process of simple apprchension," meagre and imperfect, it is even necessary to forewarn you that it leads to confusion and error. There is a fundamental distinction of what is called the *Extension* and the

Whately abusively employs the terms Extension and Comprehension as convertible. Comprehension of notions — a distinction which, in fact, as you will find, forms the very cardinal point on which the whole theory of Logic turns. But not only is this distinction not explained, it is not even articulately stated; nay, the very words

which logicians have employed for the expression of this contrast, are absolutely used as synonymous and convertible. Instead, therefore, of referring you for information in regard to our present object of consideration, to Dr. Whately, I am sorry to be compelled to caution you against putting confidence in his guidance. But to return. The following I dictate as the title of the first head to be considered :

A. Of Concepts or Notions in general. What they are. A. Of Concepts or Notions in General: What are they?

In answering this question, let us, first, consider the meaning of the expressions; and, secondly, the nature of the thing expressed.

 ¶ XIX. Concept or notion (ἐννοια, ἐννόημα, νόημα, ἐπίνοια,¹ conceptio, notio), are terms employed as convertible, but, while they denote the same thing, they denote it in a different point of view. Conception, the act of which concept

is the result, expresses the act of comprehending or grasping up

1 In Greek, the terms ἕννοια (ἐννοητικόs), ἐννόημα (ἐννοηματικόs), ἐπίνοια (ἐπινοητικόs), νόημα, to say nothing of ἐπινοημα (ἐπινοηματικόs), are all more or less objectionable, as all more or less ambiguously used for the object or product of thought, in an act of Conception, or, as it has been usually called by the logicians, Simple Apprehension. See Blemmidas, Epitome Logica [c. V. Περl Ἐπινοίas, p. 81, ed. 1805. — Ευ]; Eugenios, Logica [Λογική, c. ii. p. 170, Leipsic, 1768. — Ευ] Stephanus, Thesaurus, v. Noôs: Höcker, Clavis Fhil. Arist., v. Noήματα, p. 227 et seq.; Micraelius, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Nónµa, p. 890, and p. 80, (v. Aiσ∂ήµaτa. Cf. p. 310, v. Conceptus; p. 633, v. Intentio. — ED.] On voñµaτa, see Aristotle, De Interpr., c i. and Waitz, Commentarius, p. 327. In Aristotle, De Anima, l. iii. cc. 6, (7) 7, (8) 8, (9), etc., voñµaτa are clearly equivalent to concepts in our menning; [c. 6, 'H µèv οἶν τῶν ἀδιαιρέτων νόησιs ἐν τούτοις, περὶ & οὐκ ἔστι τὸ ψεῦδοs ἐν οἶs δὲ καὶ τὸ ψεῦδοs καὶ τὸ ἀληθές, σύν∂εσίς τις ἤδη νοηµάτων ὥσπερ ἐν ὕντων. κ. τ. λ. — ED.]

into unity the various qualities by which an object is characterized; *notion* (*notio*), again, signifies either the act of apprehending, signalizing, that is, the remarking or taking note of, the various notes, marks, or characters of an object, which its qualities afford; or the result of that act.

In Latin, the word concipere, in its many various applications,

Illustrated, — employment of the animo vel mente concipere, and animi conceptus. always expresses, as the etymology would indicate, the process of *embracing or comprehending the many into the one*, as could be shown by an articulate analysis of the phrases in which the term occurs. It was, accordingly, under this

general signification, that this word and its derivatives were analogically applied to the operation of mind. *Animo vel mente concipere*, as used by Cicero, Pliny, Seneca, and other Roman writers, means to *comprehend* or *understand*, that is, to embrace a multitude of different objects by their common qualities into one act of thought; and *animi conceptus* was, in like manner, applied by the ancient writers to denote this operation, or its result. The employ-

Of concipere, conceptus, and conceptio, without adjunct. ment of concipere, conceptus, and conceptio, as technical terms, in the Philosophy of Mind, without the explanatory adjunct, was of a later introduction — was, indeed, only possible after

they had been long familiarly used in a psychological relation. But when so introduced, they continued to be employed by philosophers in general in their proper signification as convertible with *thought* or *comprehension*, and as opposed to the mere *apprehension* of Sense or Imagination. Not, indeed, that examples enough may not be adduced of their abusive application to our immediate cognitions of individual objects, long before Mr. Stewart formally applied the term *conception* to a certain accidental form of representation — to the simple reproduction or repetition of an act of perception in imagination.¹ In using the terms *conception* and *concept* in the sense which I have explained, I therefore employ them not only in strict conformity to their grammatical meaning, but to the meaning which they have generally obtained among philosophers.

The term notion, like conception, expresses both an act and its

The term notion, how employed by the Author.

product. I shall, however, as has commonly been done, use it only in this latter relation. This word has, like *conception*, been sometimes abusively applied to denote not only our knowl-

edge of things by their common characters, but, likewise, to include

LECT. VII.

LOGIC.

the mere presentations of Sense and representations of Phantasy. This abusive employment has, however, not been so frequent in reference to this term as to the term *conception*; but it must be acknowledged, that nothing can be imagined more vague and vaeillating than the meaning attached to *notion* in the writings of all British philosophers, without exception. So much for the expressions *concept* and *notion*. I now go on to that which they express.

¶ XX.¹ — In our Consciousness — apprehension — of an individual object, there may be distinguished the two following cognitions: — 1°, The immediate and irrespective knowledge we have of the individual object, as a comple-

ment of certain qualities or characters, considered simply as belonging to itself. 2°, The mediate and relative knowledge we have of this object, as comprising qualities or characters common to it with other objects.

The former of these cognitions is that contained in the Presentations of Sense, external and internal, and Representations of Imagination. They are only of the individual or singular. The latter is that contained in the Concepts of the Understanding, and is a knowledge of the common, general, or universal.

The conceiving an object is, therefore, its recognition mediately through a concept; and a Concept is the cognition or idea of the general character or characters, point or points, in which a plurality of objects coincide.

This requires some illustration, and it will be best afforded by

Concepts, — their nature illustrated by reference to the history of our knowledge. Objects are originally presented in confused and imperfect perceptions. considering the history of our knowledge. Our mental activity is not first exerted in an apprehension of the general, common properties of things. On the contrary, objects are originally presented to us in confused and imperfect perceptions. The rude materials furnished by Sense, retained in Memory, reproduced by Reminiscence, and represented in Imagination, the Un-

derstanding elaborates into a higher knowledge, simply by means of Comparison and Abstraction. The primary act of Comparison is exerted upon the individual objects of Perception and Imagination

1 On this and three following paragraphs apply Leibnitz's distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical Knowledge, see Opera II. i. p. 14

et seq. - [Meditationes de Cognitione Veritate, et Ideis. - ED.] alone. In the multitude and complexity of these objects, certain

Offices of Comparison and Abstraction or attention. attributes are found to produce similar, others to produce dissimilar, impressions. The observation of this fact determines a reflective consideration of their properties. Objects are in-

tentionally compared together for the purpose of discovering their similarities and differences. When things are found to agree or to disagree in certain respects, the consciousness is, by an act of volition, concentrated upon the objects which thus partially agree, and, in them, upon those qualities in or through which they agree; and by this concentration — which constitutes the act called *Attention* — what is effected? On the objects and qualities, thus attentively considered, a strong light is shed; but precisely in proportion as these are illuminated in consciousness, the others, to which we do not attend, are thrown into obscurity.

The result of Attention, by concentrating the mind upon certain

Prescision, Attention, and Abstraction are correlative names for the same process. qualities, is thus to withdraw or abstract it from all else. In technical language, we are said to prescind the phænomena which we exclusively consider. To prescind, to attend, and to abstract, are merely different but correlative names for

the same process; and the first two are nearly convertible. When we are said to prescind a quality, we are merely supposed to attend to that quality exclusively; and when we abstract, we are properly said to abstract from, that is, to throw other attributes out of account. I may observe that the term abstraction is very often abusively employed. By Abstraction we are frequently said to attend exclusively to certain phænomena, — those, to wit, which we abstract; whereas, the term abstraction is properly applied to the qualities which we abstract from; and by abstracting from some, we are enabled to consider others more attentively. Attention and Abstraction are only the same process viewed in different relations. They are, as it were, the positive and negative poles of the same $act.^1$

By Comparison, the points of resemblance among things being thus discovered, and by Attention constituted into exclusive objects; by the same act they are also reduced in consciousness from multitude to unity. What is meant by this will be apparent from the following considerations.

1 See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 474, and Logik, § 6; Krug, Logik, § 49. - ED. [Schulze, Bachmann, Logik, § 44. Compare Kant, Logik, § 28; Drobisch, Logik, § 14, p. 11 et seq.]

We are conscious to ourselves that we can repeat our acts of con-

The reduction of objeets from multitude to unity, - explained and illustrated.

Thought is one and the same, while its contents are identical.

sciousness - that we can think the same thought over and over. This act, or this thought, is always in reality the same, though manifested at different times: for no one can imagine that in the repetition of one and the same thought, he has a plurality of thoughts; for he is conscious that it is one and the same thought which is repeated, so long as its contents remain identical.

Now, this relation of absolute similarity which subsists between

Objects are to us the same when we are unable to distinguish their cognitions.

the repetitions of the same thought, is found to hold between our representations of the resembling qualities of objects. Two objects have similar qualities only as these qualities afford a similar presentation in sense or a similar repre-

sentation in imagination, and qualities are to us completely similar, when we are unable to distinguish their cognitions. But what we cannot distinguish, is, to us, the same; therefore, objects which determine undistinguishable impressions upon us, are perceived and represented in the same mental modification, and are subjectively to us precisely as if they were objectively identical.

But the consciousness of identity is not merely the result of the

The consciousness of identity is equally the result of the similarity of any of the partial characters of objects.

indiscernible similarity of total objects, it is equally the result of the similarity of any of their parts - partial characters. For by abstracting observation from the qualities, points, in which objects differ, and limiting it to those in which they agree, we are able to consider them as identical in certain respects, however

diverse they may appear to be in others, which, for the moment, we throw out of view. For example: let B, C, and D represent a series of individual objects, which all agree in possessing the resembling attributes of y y y, and severally differ in each respectively possessing the non-resembling attributes i, o, u. Now, in so far as we exclusively attend to the resembling qualities, we, in the first place, obscure or remove out of view their non-resembling characters i, o, u, while we remain exclusively conscious of their resembling qualities y y y. But, in the second place, the qualities expressed by y y y determine in us cognitive energies which we are unable to distinguish, and which we, therefore, consider as the same. We therefore view the three similar qualities in the three different objects as also identical; we consider the y in this, the yin that, and the y in the third object, as one; and in so far as the

three objects participate in this oneness or identity, we regard them as also the same. In other words, we classify B, C, and D, under y; y is the genus; B, C, and D are its individuals or species, severally distinguished from each other by the non-resembling properties, i, o, u. Now, it is the points of similarity thus discovered and identified in the unity of consciousness, which constitute Concepts or Notions.

It is evident that the same process of Comparison and Abstraction may be again performed on the concepts thus formed. They

Generalization. are, in like manner, compared together, and their points of resemblance noted, exclusively considered, and reduced to one in the synthesis of thought. This process is called *Generalization;* that is, the process of evolving the

Concepts or notions superfluously styled general. general or one, out of the individual and manifold. Notions and concepts are also sometimes designated by the style of *general notions general conceptions*. This is superfluous; for, in

propriety of speech, notions and concepts are, in their very nature, general; while the other cognitive modifications to which they are opposed, — perceptions and imaginations, — have, in like manner, their essence in their individuality.

By the way, you may have noticed that I never use the term

Liea, — reason why not regularly employcd, and sense in which it is occasionally used, by the Author. *idea.* The reason of my non-employment of that word is this: There is no possible diversity of meaning in which that term has not been usurped; and it would only confuse you, were I to attempt to enumerate and explain them. I may, however, occasionally not eschew the

word; but if you ever hear it from me, I beg you to observe, that I apply it, in a loose and general signification, to comprehend the presentations of Sense, the representations of Phantasy, and the concepts or notions of the Understanding. We are in want of a generic term to express these; and the word *representation (representatio)*, which, since the time of Leibnitz, has been commonly used by the philosophers of the Continent, I have restricted to denote, what it only can in propriety express, the immediate object or product of Imagination. We are, likewise, in want of a general term to express what is common to the presentations of Perception, and the representations of Phantasy, that is, their individuality and immediacy. The Germans express this by the term *Anschauung*, which can only be translated by *intuition* (as it is in Latin by Germans), which literally means a *looking at*. This expression has, however, been preöccupied in English to denote the apprehension

LECT. VII.

edge.

LOGIC.

we have of self-evident truths, and its application in a different signification, would therefore be, to a certain extent, liable to ambiguity. I shall, therefore, continue, for the present at least, to struggle on without such a common term, though the necessity thus imposed of always opposing presentation and representation to concept is both tedious and perplexing.

¶ XXI. A concept or notion thus involves - 1°. The representation of a part only of the various attri-General Characters butes or characters of which an individual of Concepts. object is the sum; and, consequently, affords Par. XXI. (a) A Concept affords only inonly a one-sided and inadequate knowledge adequate knowledge. of the things which are thought under it.

This is too simple to require any commentary. It is evident that when we think Socrates by any of the concepts, Explication. - Athenian, Greek, European, man, biped, animal, being,-we throw out of view the far greater number of characters of which Socrates is the complement, and those, likewise, which more proximately determine or constitute his individuality. It is, likewise, evident, that in proportion as we think him by a more general concept, we shall represent him by a smaller bundle of attributes, and, consequently, represent him in a more partial and one-sided manner. Thus, if we think him as Athenian, we shall think him by a greater number of qualities than if we think him by Greek ; and, in like manner, our representation will be less and less adequate, as we think him by every higher concept in the series, - European, man, biped, animal, being.

¶ XXII. 2°, A concept or notion, as the result of a comparison, necessarily expresses a relation. It is, Par. XXII. (b) A Contherefore, not cognizable in itself; that is, it cept affords no absolute object of knowlaffords no absolute or irrespective object of knowledge, but can only be realized in con-

sciousness by applying it, as a term of relation, to one or more of the objects, which agree in the point or points of resemblance which it expresses.

In this paragraph (if I may allude to what you may not all be aware of) is contained a key to the whole mystery of Generalization and General Terms; for the whole disputes between the Conceptualists and Nominalists (to say nothing of the Realists) have only arisen from concepts having been regarded as affording an irre-

spective and independent object of thought.¹ This illusion has

This paragraph contains a key to the mystery of Generalization and General Terms. arisen from a very simple circumstance. Objects compared together are found to possess certain attributes, which, as producing indiscernible modifications in us, are to us absolutely similar. They are, therefore, considered the same. The relation of similarity is thus converted into

identity, and the real plurality of resembling qualities in nature is factitiously reduced to a unity of thought; and this unity obtains a name in which its relativity, not being expressed, is still further removed from observation.

But the moment we attempt to represent to ourselves any of

Wherein consists the generality of a concept. these concepts, any of these abstract generalities, as absolute objects, by themselves, and out of relation to any concrete or individual realities, their relative nature at once reäppears; for we

find it altogether impossible to represent any of the qualities expressed by a concept, except as attached to some individual and determinate object; and their whole generality consists in this, — that though we must realize them in thought under some singular of the class, we may do it under any. Thus, for example, we cannot actually represent the bundle of attributes contained in the concept man, as an absolute object, by itself, and apart from all that reduces it from a general cognition to an individual representation. We cannot figure in imagination any object adequate to the general notion or term man; for the man to be here imagined must be neither tall nor short, neither fat nor lean, neither black nor white, neither man nor woman, neither young nor old, but all and yet none of these at once. The relativity of our concepts is thus shown in the contradiction and absurdity of the opposite hypothesis.

1 For a full account of this dispute, see Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 477 et seq. - ED.

LECTURE VIII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. — ENNOEMATIC.

A. OF CONCEPTS IN GENERAL; B. IN SPECIAL-I. THEIR OBJECTIVE RELATION - QUANTITY.

IN our last Lecture, we began the Second Section of Stoicheiology, — the consideration of the Products of Thought. The product

Recapitulation, with further explanation and illustration. of thought may be considered as Concepts, as Judgments, and as Reasonings; these, however, are not to be viewed as the results of different faculties, far less as processes independent of

each other, for they are all only the product of the same energy in different degrees, or rather in simpler or more complex applications to its objects.

In treating of Concepts, which form the subject of the First Chapter of this Second Section, I stated that I should first consider them in general, and then consider them in special; and, in my last Lecture, I had nearly concluded all that I deem it requisite under the former head to state, in regard to their peculiar character, their origin, and their general accidents. I, first of all, explained the meaning of the two terms, *concept* and *notion*, — words convertible with each other, but still severally denoting a different aspect of the simple operation, which they equally express. *Notion* being relative to and expressing the apprehension, — the remarking, the taking note of, the resembling attributes in objects; *concept*, the grasping up or synthesis of these in the unity of thought.

Having shown what was properly expressed by the terms notion and concept, or conception, I went on to a more articulate explanation of that which they were employed to denote. And here I again stated what a Concept or Notion is in itself, and in contrast to a Presentation of Perception, or Representation of Phantasy. Our knowledge through either of the latter, is a direct, immediate,

irrespective, determinate, individual, and adequate cognition; that is, a singular or individual object is known in itself, by itself, through all its attributes, and without reference to aught but itself. A concept, on the contrary, is an indirect, mediate, relative, indeterminate, and partial cognition of any one of a number of objects, but not an actual representation either of them all, or of the whole attributes of any one object.

Though it be not strictly within the province of Logic to explain the origin and formation of our notions, the logician assuming, as data, the laws and products of thought, as the mathematician assumes, as data, extension and number and the axioms by which their relation is determined, both leaving to the metaphysician the inquiry into their grounds; - this notwithstanding, I deemed it not improper to give you a very brief statement of the mode and circumstances in which our concepts are elaborated out of the presentations and representations of the subsidiary faculties. Different objects are complements partly of similar, partly of different, attributes. Similar qualities are those which stand in similar relation to our organs and faculties, and where the similarity is complete, the effects which they determine in us are, by us, indiscernible. To us they are, therefore, virtually the same, and the same we, accordingly, consider them to be, though in different objects; precisely as we consider the thought of the same object to be itself the same, when repeated at intervals - at different times - in consciousness. This, by way of preface, being understood, I showed that, in the formation of a concept or notion, the process may be analyzed into four momenta. In the first place, we must have a plurality of objects presented or represented by the subsidiary faculties. These faculties must furnish the rude material for elaboration. In the second place, the objects thus supplied are, by an act of the Understanding, compared together, and their several qualities judged to be similar or dissimilar. In the third place, an act of volition, called Attention, concentrates consciousness on the qualities thus recognized as similar; and that concentration, by attention on them, involves an abstraction of consciousness from those which have been recognized and thrown aside as dissimilar; for the power of consciousness is limited, and it is clear or vivid precisely in proportion to the simplicity or oneness of its object. Attention and Abstraction are the two poles of the same act of thought; they are like the opposite scales in a balance - the one must go up as the other goes down. In the fourth place, the qualities, which by comparison are judged similar, and by attention are constituted into an exclusive object of thought, - these are already, by this process,

identified in consciousness; for they are only judged similar, inasmuch as they produce in us indiscernible effects. Their synthesis in consciousness may, however, for precision's sake, be stated as a fourth step in the process; but it must be remembered, that at least the three latter steps are not, in reality, distinct and independent acts, but are only so distinguished and stated, in order to enable us to comprehend and speak about the indivisible operation, in the different aspects in which we may consider it. In the same way, you are not to suppose that the mental sentence which must be analyzed in order to be expressed in language, has as many parts in consciousness, as it has words, or clauses, in speech; for it forms, in reality, one organic and indivisible whole. To repeat an illustration I have already given, - the parts of an act of thought stand in the same relation to each other as the parts of a triangle, - a figure which we cannot resolve into any simpler figure, but whose sides and angles we may consider apart, and, therefore, as parts; though these are, in reality, inseparable, being the necessary conditions of each other. But this by the way.

The qualities of different individual things, thus identified in thought, and constituting concepts, under which, as classes, these individual things themselves are ranged; — these primary concepts may themselves be subjected to the same process, by which they were elaborated from the concrete realities given in Perception and Imagination. We may, again, compare different concepts together, again find in the plurality of attributes which they comprehend, some like, some unlike; we may again attend only to the similar, and again identify these in the synthesis of consciousness; and this process of evolving concepts out of concepts we may go on performing, until the generalization is arrested in that ultimate or primary concept, the basis itself of all attributes, — the concept of Being or Existence.

Having thus endeavored to give you a general view of what concepts are, and by what process they are formed, I stated, by way of corollary, some of their general characteristics. The first of these I mentioned is their partiality or inadequacy; that is, they comprehend only a larger or smaller portion of the whole attributes belonging to the things classified or contained under them.

The second is their relativity. Formed by comparison, they ex-

Relativity of Concepts. press only a relation. They cannot, therefore, be held up as an absolute object to consciousness, — they cannot be represented, as universals, in

imagination. They can only be thought of in relation to some one of the individual objects they classify, and when viewed in relation about

h ha

to it, they can be represented in imagination; but then, as so actually represented, they no longer constitute general attributions, they fall back into more special determinations of the individual object in which they are represented. Thus it is, that the generality or universality of concepts is potential, not actual. They are only generals, inasmuch as they may be applied to any of the various objects they contain; but while they cannot be actually elicited into consciousness, except in application to some one or other of these, so, they cannot be so applied without losing, pro tanto, their universality. Take, for example, the concept horse. In so far as by horse we merely think of the word, that is, of the combination formed by the letters h, o, r, s, e, - this is not a concept at all, as it is a mere representation of certain individual objects. This I only state and eliminate, in order that no possible ambiguity should be allowed to lurk. By horse, then, meaning not merely a representation of the word, but a concept relative to certain objects classed under it; --the concept horse, I say, cannot, if it remain a concept, that is, a universal attribution, be represented in imagination; but, except it be represented in imagination, it cannot be applied to any object;

Concepts have a potential, not an actual, universality.

and, except it be so applied, it cannot be realized in thought at all. You may try to escape the horns of the dilemma, but you cannot. You cannot realize in thought an absolute or irrespec-

tive concept, corresponding in universality to the application of the word; for the supposition of this involves numerous contradictions. An existent horse is not a relation, but an extended object possessed of a determinate figure, color, size, etc.; horse, in general, cannot, therefore, be represented, except by an image of something extended, and of a determinate figure, color, size, etc. Here now emerges the contradiction. If, on the one hand, you do not represent something extended and of a determinate figure, color, and size, you have no representation of any horse. There is, therefore, on this alternative, nothing which can be called the actual concept or image of a horse at all. If, on the other hand, you do represent something extended and of a determinate figure, color, and size, then you have, indeed, the image of an individual horse, but not a universal concept coadequate with horse in general. For how is it possible to have an actual representation of a figure, which is not a determinate figure? but if of a determinate figure, it must be that of some one of the many different figures under which horses appear; but then, if it be only of one of these, it cannot be the general concept of the others, which it does not represent. In like manner, how is it possible to have the actual representation of a thing colored, which is not the

echt-us

realered

representation of a determinate color, that is, either white, or black, or gray, or brown, etc.? but if it be any one of these, it can only represent a horse of this or that particular color, and cannot be the general concept of horses of every color. The same result is given by the other attributes; and what I originally stated is thus manifest, — that concepts have only a potential, not an actual, universality; that is, they are only universal, inasmuch as they may be applied to any of a certain class of objects, but as actually applied, they are no longer general attributions, but only special attributes.

But it does not from this follow that concepts are mere words,

But concepts are not, therefore, mere words. and that there is nothing general in thought itself. This is not indeed held in reality by any philosopher; for no philosopher has ever denied

that we are capable of apprehending relations, and in particular the relation of similarity and difference; so that the whole controversy between the conceptualist and nominalist originates in the ambiguous employment of the same terms to express the representations of Imagination and the notions or concepts of the understanding. This is significantly shown by the absolute non-existence of the dispute among the philosophers of the most metaphysical country in Europe. In Germany, the question of nominalism and conceptualism has not been agitated, and why? Simply because the German language supplies terms by which concepts (or notions of thought proper) have been contradistinguished from the presentations and representations of the subsidiary faculties.¹ But this is not a subject on which I ought at present to have touched, as it is, in truth, foreign to the domain of Logic; and I have only been led now to recur to it at all, in consequence of some difficulties expressed to me by members of the class. All that I wish you now to understand is - that concepts, as the result of comparison, that is, of the apprehension and affirmation of a relation, are necessarily, in their nature relative, and, consequently, not capable of representation as absolute attributes. I shall terminate the consideration of concepts in general by the following paragraph, in which is stated, besides their inadequacy and relativity, their dependence on language:

¶ XXIII. The concept thus formed by an abstraction of the resembling from the non-resembling qualities of objects, would again fall back into the confusion and infinitude from

Perin

¹ See the Author's note, Reid's Works, p. 412; and Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 477 et seq. - ED.

which it has been called out, were it not rendered permanent

Par. XXIII. Concepts,-(c) Their dependence on Language. for consciousness, by being fixed and ratified in a verbal sign. Considered in general, thought and language are reciprocally dependent; each bears all the imperfections and perfections of the other; but without

language there could be no knowledge realized of the essential properties of things, and of the connection of their accidental states.

This also is not a subject of which the consideration properly belongs to Logic, but a few words may not be

The relation of Language to Thought, and the influence which it exerts on our mental operations. belongs to Logic, but a few words may not be inexpedient to make you aware, in general, of the intimate connections of thought and its expression, and of the powerful influence which language exerts upon our mental operations. Man, in fact, only obtains the use of his faculties in

obtaining the use of speech; for language is the indispensable mean of the development of his natural powers, whether intellectual or moral.

For Perception, indeed, for the mere consciousness of the similar-

Language unnecessary in certain mental operations. ities and dissimilarities in the objects perceived, for the apprehension of the causal connection of certain things, and for the application of this knowledge to the attainment of certain ends,

no language is necessary; and it is only the exaggeration of a truth into an error, when philosophers maintain that language is the indispensable condition of even the simpler energies of knowledge. Language is the attribution of signs to our cognitions of things. But as a cognition must have been already there, before it could receive a sign; consequently, that knowledge which is denoted by the formation and application of a word, must have preceded the symbol which denotes it. Speech is thus not the mother, but the godmother, of knowledge. But though, in general, we must hold that language, as the product and correlative of thought, must be viewed as posterior to the act of thinking itself; on the other hand, it must be admitted, that we could never have risen above the very lowest degrees in the scale of thought, without the aid of signs. A sign is necessary, to give stability to our intellectual progress, to establish each step in our advance as a new starting-point for our advance to another beyond.

A country may be overrun by an armed host, but it is only conquered by the establishment of fortresses. Words are the fortresses of thought. They enable us to realize our dominion over

Mental operations to which language is indispensable, and its relation to these. what we have already overrun in thought; to make every intellectual conquest the basis of operations for others still beyond. Or another illustration: You have all heard of the process of tunnelling, of tunnelling through a sand-bank.

In this operation it is impossible to succeed, unless every foot, nay almost every inch in our progress, be secured by an arch of masonry, before we attempt the excavation of another. Now, language is to the mind precisely what the arch is to the tunnel. The power of thinking and the power of excavation are not dependent on the word in the one case, on the mason-work in the other; but without these subsidiaries, neither process could be carried on beyond its rudimentary commencement. Though, therefore, we allow that every movement forward in language must be determined by an antecedent movement forward in thought; still, unless thought be accompanied at each point of its evolution, by a corresponding evolution of language, its further development is arrested. Thus it is, that the higher exertions of the higher faculty of Understanding, - the classification of the objects presented and represented by the subsidiary powers in the formation of a hierarchy of notions, the connection of these notions into judgments, the inference of one judgment from another, and, in general, all our consciousness of the relations of the universal to the particular, consequently all science strictly so denominated, and every inductive knowledge of the past and future from the laws of nature: - not only these, but all ascent from the sphere of sense to the sphere of moral and religious intelligence, are, as experience proves, if not altogether impossible without a language, at least possible to a very low degree.

Admitting even that the mind is capable of certain elementary concepts without the fixation and signature of language, still these are but sparks which would twinkle only to expire; and it requires words to give them prominence, and, by enabling us to collect and elaborate them into new concepts, to raise out of what would otherwise be only scattered and transitory scintillations a vivid and enduring light.

I here terminate the General and proceed to the Special consideration of Concepts — that is, to view them in their several Relations. Now, in a logical point of view, there are, it seems to me, only three

possible relations in which concepts can be considered; for the only relations they hold are to their objects, to their subject, or to each other. In relation to their objects, — they are considered as inclusive of a greater or smaller number of attributes, that is, as applicable to a greater or smaller number of objects; this is technically styled their *Quantity*. In relation to their subject, that is, to the mind itself, they are considered as standing in a higher or a lower degree of consciousness, — they are more or less clear, more or less distinct; this, in like manner, is called their *Quality*. In relation to each other, they are considered as the same or different, coördinated or subordinated to each other; this is their *Relation*, strictly so called.¹ Under these three heads I now, therefore, proceed to treat them; and, first, of their Quantity.

¶ XXIV. As a concept, or notion, is a thought in which an Par. XXIV. Quantity of Concepts of two kinds, Intensive and Extensive. The second se

and a quantity varying in amount according to the greater or smaller numbers of characters of which it is the complement, and the greater or smaller number of things of which it may be said. This quantity is thus of two kinds; as it is either an Intensive or an Extensive. The Internal or Intensive Quantity of a concept is determined by the greater or smaller number of constituent characters contained in it. The External or Extensive Quantity of a concept is determined by the greater or smaller number of classified concepts or realities contained under it. The former (the Intensive Quantity) is called by some latter Greek logicians the depth ($\beta \dot{a} \vartheta_{os}$), by the Latin logical writers the comprehension (comprehensio, quantitas comprehensionis, complexus, or quantitas complexus). The latter (the Extensive Quantity) is called by the same latter Greek Logicians, the breadth ($\pi\lambda \dot{a}\tau \sigma s$); by Aristotle, $\dot{\eta} \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \sigma \chi \dot{\eta}$, $\tau \dot{\sigma} \pi \epsilon \rho \iota \dot{\epsilon} \chi \epsilon \iota v$, το περιέχεσ \Im au;² by the logical writers of the western or Latin world, the extension or circuit (extensio, quantitas extensionis,

1 On their relation to their origin as direct or indirect, see Esser, [System der Logik, § 49, p. 96. - ED.]

Mem. — N. B. Notions may be thus better divided (?):

1°, By relation to themselves they have the quantity of comprehension.

2°, By relation to their objects they have the quantity of extension. These two thus quantity in general. 3°, By relation to each other they have relation strictly so called.

4°, By relation to their subject they have clearness and distinctness.

(This last had better be relegated to Methodology.) — Memoranda.

² See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 474 n. Aristotle does not use $\pi \epsilon \rho i \alpha \chi \dot{\eta}$ as a substantive, though the verb, both active and passive, is employed in this signification, e. g. Anal. Prior. i. 27; *Rhet.* iii. 5. — ED. LECT. VIII.

ambitus, quantitus ambitus); and likewise the domain or sphere of a notion (regio, sphæra).¹

The Internal Quantity of a notion, its Intension or Comprehension, is made up of those different attributes of

which the concept is the conceived sum; that is, the various characters connected by the concept itself into a single whole in thought. The External Quantity of a notion or its extension is, on the other hand, made up of the number of objects which are thought mediately through a concept. For example, the attributes rational, sensible, moral, etc., go to constitute the intension or internal quantity of the concept man; whereas the attributes European, American, philosopher, tailor, etc., go to make up a concept of this or that individual man. These two quantities are not convertible. On the contrary, they are in the inverse ratio of each other; the greater the depth or comprehension of a notion the less its breadth or extension, and vice versa. You will observe, likewise, a distinction which has been taken by the best logicians. Both quantities are said to contain; but the quantity of extension is said to contain under it; the quantity of comprehension is said to contain in it.

By the intension, comprehension, or depth of a notion, we think the most qualities of the fewest objects; whereas by the extension or breadth of a concept, we think the fewest qualities of the most objects. In other words, by the former, we say the most of the least; by the latter, the least of the most.

Again; you will observe the two following distinctions: the first, — the exposition of the comprehension of a notion is called its *Definition* (a simple notion cannot, therefore, be defined); the second, — the exposition of the Extension of a notion is called its *Division* (an individual notion cannot be divided).

1 [Cf. Porphyrii, Isagoge, cc. i. ii. viii; Cajetan, In Porphyrii Pradicabilia, cc. i. ii. [p. 37 ed. 1579; prefixed to his Commentary on the Categories, first published in 1496. "Ad hoc breviter dicitur, quod esse magis collectivum multorum potest intelligi dupliciter: uno modo intensive, et sic species magis est collectiva, quia magis unit adunata; alio modo extensive, et sic genus est magis collectivum, quia multo plura sub sua adunatione cadunt, quam sub speciel ambitu. Unde species et genus se habent sicut duo duces, quorum alter habet exercitum maguum, sed diversarum factionum. Ille enim magis colligit intensive, hic extensive. Porphyrius autem loquebatur hic de extensiva collectione, ideo dixit, genus esse magis collectivum." Quoted by Stahl, Regula Philosophica, tit. xii., reg. 5, p. 3SI. Cf. reg. 6, ed Loudon, 1458. — ED.] [Port-Royal Logie, P. i. c. 6, p. 74, ed. 1718. Boethius, Introductio ad Syllogismos," Opera, p. 562: In Topica Cierconis Commentarii, lib. i.. Opera, p. 765. ed. Basilæ, 1570. Reuschius, Systema Logicum, pp. 11, 92; Baumgarten, Acroasis Logica, § 55, 57, ed. Halæ Magdeburgæ, 1773. Krug, Logik, § 26; Schu'ze, Logik, § 30; Esser, Logik, § 34, et seq.; Engenics, p. 104, et seq. [Aovuch, c. iy., Hep] Expositiv Báðaous TE kal HAárous... ED.] What follows is in further illustration of the paragraph. Notions

Special illustration of Paragraph. -Aconcept is a quantity. or concepts stand in a necessary relation to certain objects, thought through them; for without something to think of, there could exist no thought, no notion, no concept. But in so far

as we think an object through a concept, we think it as part of, or as contained under, that concept: and in so far as we think a concept of its object or objects, we think it as a unity containing, actually or potentially, in it a plurality of attributions. Out of the relation of a concept to its object it necessarily results, that a concept is a quantum or quantity; for that which contains one or more units by which it may be measured, is a quantity.

But the quantity of a concept is of two, and two opposite, kinds.

This quantity of two kinds:-1. Intensive. Considered internally, that is, as a unity which may, and generally does, contain in it a plurality of parts or component attributes, a concept has

a certain quantity, which may be called its internal or intensive quantity. This is generally called its comprehension, sometimes its depth, Báyos, and its quantitas complexus. Here, the parts, that is, the several attributes or characters, which go to constitute the total concept, are said to be contained in it. For example, the concept man is composed of two constituent parts or attributes, that is, of two partial concepts, - rational and animal; for the characters rational and animal are only an analytical expression of the synthetic unity of the concept man. But each of these partial concepts, which together make up the comprehension of the total concept man, are themselves wholes, made up in like manner of parts. To take only the concept animal ; - this comprehends in it, as parts, living and sensitive and organized, for a living and sentient organism may be considered as an analytical development of the constituents of the synthetic unity animal. But each of these, again, is a concept, comprehending and made up of parts; and these parts, again, are relative wholes, divisible into other constituent concepts; nor need we stop in our analysis till we reach attributes which, as simple, stand as a primary or ultimate element, into which the series can be resolved. Now, you will observe, that as the parts of the parts are parts of the whole, the concept man, as immediately comprehending the concepts rational and animal, mediately comprehends their parts, and the parts of their parts, to the end of the evolution. Thus, we can say, not only that man is an animal, but that he is a living being, a sentient being, etc. The logical axiom, Nota notae est nota rei ipsius, or, as otherwise ex-

LECT. VIII.

LOGIC.

pressed, *Prædicatum prædicati est prædicatum subjecti*,¹—is only a special enunciation of the general principle, that the part of a part is a part of the whole. You will, hereafter, see that the Comprehension of notions affords one of the two great branches of reasoning, which, though marvellously overlooked by logicians, is at least of equal importance with that which they have exclusively developed, and which is founded on the other kind of quantity exhibited by concepts, and to which I now proceed.

But a concept may also be considered externally, that is, as a unity

which contains under it a plurality of classifying 2. Extensive. attributes or subordinate concepts, and, in this respect, it has another quantity which may be called its external or extensive quantity. This is commonly called its extension; sometimes its sphere or domain, sphæra, regio, quantitas ambitus; and, by the Greek logicians, its breadth or latitude, $\pi\lambda \acute{a}\tau os^2$ Here the parts which the total concept contains, are said to be contained under it, because, holding the relation to it of the particular to the general, they are subordinated or ranged under it. For example, the concepts man, horse, dog, etc., are contained under the more general concept animal,the concepts triangle, square, circle, rhombus, rhomboid, etc., are contained under the more general concept figure; inasmuch as the subordinate concepts can each or any be thought through the higher or more general. But as each of these subordinate concepts is itself a whole or general, which contains under it parts or more particular concepts, it follows, again, on the axiom or self-evident truth that a part of a part is a part of the whole, - an axiom which, you will hereafter see, constitutes the one principle of all Deductive reasoning, it follows, on this axiom, that whatever is contained under the partial or more particular concept, is contained under the total or more general concept. Thus, for example, triangle is contained under figure; all, therefore, that is contained under triangle, as rectangled triangle, equilateral triangle, etc., will, likewise, be contained under figure, by which we may, accordingly, think and describe them.

Such, in general, is what is meant by the two quantities of concepts — their Comprehension and Extension.

Intensive and Extensive quantities are opposed to each other. But these quantities are not only different, they are opposed, and so opposed, that though each supposes the other as the condition of its own existence, still, however, within the limits of con-

junct, of correlative existence, they stand in an inverse ratio to each

¹ A translation of Aristotle's first antipredicamental rule, Categ., iii. 1, "Οσα κατά τοῦ ὑποκειμένου ῥηθήσεται. — ED. 2 See above, p. 100, note 2, p. 101, note 1. — ED.

other, — the maximum of the one being the minimum of the other. On this I give you the following paragraph :

LOGIC.

¶ XXV. A notion is intensively great in proportion to the greater number, and intensively small in proportion to the smaller number, of deterlations of Extension and Comprehension. Is the Comprehension of a concept a minimum, that is, is the concept one in which a

plurality of attributes can no longer be distinguished, it is called *simple*; whereas, inasmuch as its attributes still admit of discrimination, it is called *complex* or *compound*.¹

A notion is extensively great in proportion to the greater number, and extensively small in proportion to the smaller number, of determinations or attributes it contains under it. When the Extension of a concept becomes a minimum, that is, when it contains no other notions under it, it is called an *individual*.²

These two quantities stand always in an inverse ratio to each other: For the greater the Comprehension of a concept, the less is its Extension; and the greater its Extension, the less its Comprehension.³

To illustrate this: When I take out of a concept, that is, abmustration. stract from one or more of its attributes, I diminish its comprehension. Thus, when from the concept man, equivalent to rational animal, I abstract from the attribute or determination rational, I lessen its internal quantity. But by this diminution of its comprehension I give it a wider extension; for what remains is the concept animal, and the concept animal embraces under it a far greater number of objects than the concept man.

Before, however, proceeding further in illustrating the foregoing paragraph, it may be proper to give you also the following :

Par. XXVI. Processes by which the Comprehension and Extension of Notions are amplified and resolved. ¶ XXVI. Of the logical processes by which these counter quantities of concepts are amplified, — the one which amplifies the Comprehension is called *Determination*, and sometimes called *Concretion*, the other which amplifies the Extension is called *Ab*-

straction or Generalization. Definition and Division are sever-

1 Krug, Logik, § 28. - ED.

2 Krug, ibid , § 29 - ED.

³ Krug, Logik, § 27. - ED.; [Schulze, Logik,
§ 33. Cf. Porphyry, Isagoge, c. viii. §§ 9, 10.]
[Ετι τὰ μèν γένη πλεονάζει τῆ τῶν ὑπ'

αὐτὰ εἰδῶν περιοχῆ τὰ δὲ εἰδη τῶν γενῶν πλεονάζει ταῖς οἰκείας διαφοραῖς. ἘΕτι οὕτε τὸ εἶδος γένοιτ᾽ ἄν γενικώτατον᾽ οὕτε τὸ γένος εἰδικώτατον. — ED.]

LECT. VIII.

LOGIC.

ally the resolution of the Comprehension and of the Extension of notions, into their parts. A Simple notion cannot be defined; an Individual notion cannot be divided.¹

The reason of this opposition of the two quantities is manifest in a moment, from the consideration of their sev-

two foregoing paragraphs. a moment, from the consideration of their several natures. The comprehension of a concept is nothing more than a sum or complement of the distinguishing characters, attributes, of which

the concept is made up; and the extension of a concept is nothing

Comprehension and Extension are opposed in an inverse ratio to each other. more than the sum or complement of the objects themselves, whose resembling characters were abstracted to constitute the concept. Now, it is evident, that the more distinctive characters the concept contains, the more minutely it will

distinguish and determine, and that if it contain a plenum of distinctive characters, it must contain the distinctive - the determining - characters of some individual object. How do the two quantities now stand? In regard to the comprehension or depth, it is evident, that it is here at its maximum, the concept being a complement of the whole attributes of an individual object, which, by these attributes, it thinks and discriminates from every other. On the contrary, the extension or breadth of the concept is here at its minimum; for, as the extension is great in proportion to the number of objects to which the concept can be applied, and as the object is here only an individual one, it is evident that it could not be less, without ceasing to be at all. Again, to reverse the process: throwing out of the comprehension of the concept, that is, abstracting from those attributes, which belonging exclusively to, exclusively distinguish, the individual, - we at once diminish the comprehension, by reducing the sum of its attributes, and amplify the extension of the concept, by bringing within its sphere all the objects, which the characteristics, now thrown out of the comprehension, had previously excluded from the extension. Continuing the process, by abstraction we throw out of the sum of qualities constituting the comprehension, other discriminating attributes, and forthwith the extension is proportionally amplified, by the entrance into its sphere of all those objects which had previously been debarred by the determining characteristics last discarded. Thus proceeding, and at each step ejecting from the comprehension those characters

^{-1,} Analysis (of Extension); 2, Synthesis; 3, Specification; 4, Restriction; 5, Individuation.]

Synonyms of Determination or Concretion:

which are found the proximate impediments to the amplification of the extension of the concept, we at each step diminish the former quantity precisely as we increase the latter; till, at last, we arrive at that concept which is the necessary constituent of every other, at that concept which all comprehension and all extension must equally contain, but in which comprehension is at its minimum, extension at its maximum, — I mean the concept of *Being* or *Exist*ence.¹

We have thus seen, that the maximum of comprehension and

Definition and Division, – are the processes by which Comprehension and Extension of Concepts are resolved. the minimum of extension are found in the concept of an individual, — that the maximum of extension and the minimum of comprehension are found in the concept of the absolutely simple, that is, in the concept of *existence*. Now, comprehension and extension, as quantities, are

wholes; for wholes are only the complement of all their parts, and as wholes are only by us clearly comprehended as we distinctly comprehend their parts, it follows : - 1°, That comprehension and extension may each be analyzed into its parts; and, 2°, That this analysis will afford the mean by which each of these quantities can be clearly and distinctly understood. But as the two quantities are of an opposite nature, it is manifest, that the two processes of analysis will, likewise, be opposed. The analysis of the intensive or comprehensive quantity of concepts, that is, their depth, is accomplished by Definition; that of their extensive quantity, or breadth, by division. On Definition and Division I at present touch, not to consider them in themselves or on their own account, that is, as the methods of clear and of distinct thinking, for this will form the matter of a special discussion in the Second Part of Logic or Methodology, but simply in so far as it is requisite to speak of them in illustration of the general nature of our concepts.

The expository or explanatory analysis of a concept, considered as an intensive whole or quantum, if properly effected, is done by its resolution into two concepts of which it is proximately compounded, that is, into the higher concept under which it immediately stands, and into the concept which affords the character by which it is distinguished from the other coördinate concepts under that higher concept. This is its definition; that is, in logical language, its exposition by an analysis into its Genus and Differential Quality; — the genus being the higher concept, under which it stands; the differential quality

106

¹ This, like other logical relations, may be typified by a sensible figure. [See below, p. 108. — ED.]

LECT. VIII.

the lower concept, by which it is distinguished from the other concepts subordinate to the genus, and on a level or coördinate with itself, and which, in logical language, are called *Species*. For example: if we attempt an expository or explanatory analysis of the concept *man*, considered an an intensive quantity or complexus of attributes, we analyze it into *animal*, this being the higher concept or genus, under which it stands; and into *rational*, the attribute of reason being the characteristic or differential quality by which *man* is distinguished from the other concepts or species which stand coördinated with itself, under the genus *animal*, — that is, *irrational animal or brute*.

Here you will observe, that though the analysis be of the comprehension, yet it is regulated by the extension; the extension regulating the order in which the comprehension is resolved into its parts.

The expository analysis of a concept, an extensive whole or quantum, is directly opposed to the preceding, Division. to which it is correlative. It takes the higher concept, and, if conducted aright, resolves it into its proximately lower concepts, by adding attributes which afford their distinguishing characters or differences. This is division :- Thus, for example, taking the highest concept, that of ens or existence, by adding to it the differential concepts per se or substantial, and non per se or accidental, we have substantial existence or existence per se, equivalent to substance, and accidental existence or existence non per se, equivalent to accident. We may then divide substance by simple and not-simple, equivalent to compound, and again simple by material and non-material, equivalent to immaterial, equivalent to spiritual; - and matter or material substance by organized and notorganized, equivalent to brute matter. Organized matter we may divide by sentient or animal, and non-sentient or vegetable. Animal we may divide by rational and irrational, and soon, till we reach a concept which, as that of an individual object, is, in fact, not a general concept, but only in propriety a singular representation.

Thus, it is manifest, that, as Definition is the analysis of a complex

The Indefinable and Indivisible. concept into its component parts or attributes, if a concept be simple, that is, if it contain in it only a single attribute, it must be indefinable;

and again, that as Division is the analysis of a higher or more general concept into others lower and less general, if a concept be an individual, that is, only a bundle of individual qualities, it is indivisible, is, in fact, not a proper or abstract concept at all, but only a concrete representation of Imagination.

LECT. VIII.

Diagram representing Extension and Comprehension of Concepts. The following Diagram¹ represents Breadth and Depth, with the relations of Affirmation and Negation to these quantities.



In the preceding Table there are represented : - by A, A, etc., the highest genus or widest attribute; by Y, the Explanation. lowest species or narrowest attribute; whilst the other four horizontal series of vowels typify the subaltern genera and species, or the intermediate attributes. The vowels are reserved exclusively for classes, or common qualities; whereas the consonants z, z', z" (and which, to render the contrast more obtrusive, are not capitals) represent individuals, or singulars. Every higher class or more common attribute is supposed (in conformity with logical precision) to be dichotomized, - to be divided into two by a lower class or attribute, and its contradictory or negative. This contradictory, of which only the commencement appears, is marked by an italic vowel, preceded by a perpendicular line (|) signifying not or non, and analogous to the minus (-) of the mathematicians. This being understood, the table at once exhibits the real identity and rational differences of Breadth and Depth, which, though denominated quantities, are, in reality, one and the same quantity, viewed in counter relations and from opposite ends. Nothing is the one, which is not pro tanto, the other.

In Breadth: the supreme genus (A, A, etc.) is, as it appears, abso-

¹ The Diagram and relative text to end of Lecture are extracted by the Editors from the Author's Discussions, p. 699-701. - ED.

lutely the greatest whole; an individual (z) absolutely the smallest part; whereas the intermediate classes are each of them a relative part or species, by reference to the class and classes above it; a relative whole or genus, by reference to the class or classes below it. In Depth: the individual is absolutely the greatest whole, the highest genus is absolutely the smallest part; whilst every relatively lower class or species, is relatively a greater whole than the class, classes, or genera, above it. The two quantities are thus, as the diagram represents, precisely the inverse of each other. The greater the Breadth, the less the Depth; the greater the Depth, the less the Breadth; and each, within itself, affording the correlative differences of whole and part, each, therefore, in opposite respects, contains and is contained. But, for distinction's sake, it is here convenient to employ a difference, not altogether arbitrary, of expression. We should say : - "containing and contained under," for Breadth ; -"containing and contained in," for Depth. This distinction, which has been taken by some modern logicians, though unknown to many of them, was not observed by Aristotle. We find him (to say nothing of other ancient logicians) using the expression έν ὅλω είναι or $i\pi \dot{a}_{\rho\chi\epsilon\nu}$, for either whole. Though different in the order of thought, (ratione), the two quantities are identical in the nature of things, (re). Each supposes the other; and Breadth is not more to be distinguished from Depth, than the relations of the sides, from the relations of the angles, of a triangle. In effect it is precisely the same reasoning, whether we argue in Depth, - "z' is (i. e. as subject, contains in it the inherent attribute) some Y; all Y is some U; all U is some O; all O is some I; all I is some E; all E is some A; therefore, z' is some A :" or whether we argue in Breadth, - " Some A is (i. e. as class, contains under it the subject part) all E; some E is all I; some I is all O; some O is all U; some U is all Y; some Y is z'; therefore, some A is z'." The two reasonings, internally identical, are externally the converse of each other; the premise and term, which in Breadth is major, in Depth is minor. In syllogisms also, where the contrast of the two quantities is abolished, there, with difference of figure, the differences of major and minor premise and term fall likewise. In truth, however, common language in its enouncement of propositions, is here perhaps more correct and philosophical than the technical language of logic itself. For as it is only an equation — only an affirmation of identity or its negation, which is, in either quantity, proposed; therefore the substantive verb (is, is not), used in both cases, speaks more accurately, than the expression, contained (or not contained), in of the one, contained (or not contained), under of the other. In fact, the

two quantities and the two quantifications have by logicians been neglected together.

This Table (the principle of which becomes more palpably demonstrative when the parts of the table are turned into the parts of a circular machine¹) exhibits all the mutual relations of the counter quantities. - 1°, It represents the classes, as a series of resemblances thought as one (by a repetition of the same letter in the same series), but as really distinct (by separating lines). Thus, A is only A, not A, A, A, etc.; some Animal is not some Animal; one class of Animals is not all, every, or any other; this Animal is not that; Socrates is not Plato; z is not z'. On the other hand, E is E A; and Y is Y U O I E A; every lower and higher letter in the series coalescing uninterruptedly into a series of reciprocal subjects and predicates, as shown by the absence of all discriminating lines. Thus Socrates (z') is Athenian (Y), Greek (U), European (O), Man (I), Mammal (E), Animal (A). Of course the series must be in grammatical and logical harmony. We must not collate notions abstract and notions concrete. - 2°, The Table shows the inverse correlation of the two quantities in respect of amount. For example: A (i. e. A, A, etc.), the highest genus represented as having six times the Breadth of Y; whilst Y (i. e. Y-A), the lowest species. has six times the Depth of $A = 3^\circ$, The table manifests all the classes, as in themselves unreal, subjective, ideal; for these are merely fictions or artifices of the mind, for the convenience of thinking. Universals only exist in nature, as they cease to be universal in thought; that is, they are reduced from general and abstract attributes to individual and concrete qualities. A-Y are only truly objective as distributed through z, z', z", etc.; and in that case they are not universals. As Boëthius expresses it : "Omne quod est, eo quod est, singulare est."-4°, The opposition of class to class, through contradictory attributes, is distinguished by lines different from those marking the separation of one part of the same class from another. Thus, Animal, or Sentiently-organized (A), is contrasted with Not-animal, or Not-sentiently-organized (| A), by lines thicker than those which merely discriminate one animal (A) from another (A).²

¹ A machine of this kind was constructed by the Author, and used in the class-room to illustrate the doctrine of the text. - ED.

LECTURE IX.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II .- OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. - ENNOEMATIC.

B. OF CONCEPTS IN SPECIAL. — II. THEIR SUBJECTIVE RELA-TION — QUALITY.

HAVING concluded the consideration of the relation of concepts to their objects, — the relation in which their

Relation of Concepts to their subject. to their objects, — the relation in which their Quantity is given, — I now proceed to consider their relation to their conceiving subject — the

relation in which is given their Quality. This consideration of the quality of concepts does not, in my opinion, belong to the Doctrine of Elements, and ought, in scientific rigor, to be adjourned altogether to the Methodology, as a virtue or perfection of thought. As logicians, however, have generally treated of it likewise under the former doctrine, I shall do so too, and commence with the following paragraph.

¶ XXVII. A concept or notion is the unity in conscious-

Par. XXVII. The Quality of Concepts consists in its logical Perfection or Imperfection. ness of a certain plurality of attributes, and it, consequently, supposes the power of thinking these, both separately and together. But as there are many gradations in the consciousness with which the charac-

ters of a concept can be thought severally and in conjunction, there will consequently be many gradations in the actual Perfection or Imperfection of a notion. It is this perfection or imperfection which constitutes the logical Quality of a concept.¹

It is thus the greater or smaller degree of consciousness which accompanies the concept and its object, that determines its quality,

1 Krug, Logik, § 30. Cf. Esser, Logik. § 45 et seq. - ED.

LECT. IX.

and according to which it is called logically perfect or logically imperfect. Now, there may be distinguished two degrees of this logical perfection, the nature of which is summarily expressed in the following paragraph.

Par. XXVIII. The two degrees of the logical Perfection and Imperfection of Concepts, - their Clearness and Distinctness, and their Obscurity and Indistinctness. ¶ XXVIII. There are two degrees of the logical perfection of concepts, — viz., their *Clearness* and their *Distinctness*, and, consequently, two opposite degrees of their corresponding imperfection, — viz., their *Obscurity* and their *Indistinctness*. These four qualities express the perfection and imperfection of concepts in extremes. But

between these extremes there lie an indefinite number of intermediate degrees.

A concept is said to be *clear* (*clara*), when the degree of consciousness is such as enables us to distinguish it as a whole from others; and *obscure* (*obscura*), when the degree of consciousness is insufficient to accomplish this. A concept is said to be *distinct* (*distincta*, *perspicua*), when the degree of consciousness is such as enables us to discriminate from each other the several characters, or constituent parts of which the concept is the sum; and *indistinct* or *confused* (*indistincta*, *confusa*, *imperspicua*), when the amount of consciousness requisite for this is wanting. Confused (confusa), may be employed as the genus including obscure and *indistinct*.¹

The expressions clearness and obscurity, and distinctness and

Original application of the expressions clearness, obscurity, etc. Illustrated by reference to vision. *indistinctness*, as applied to concepts, originally denote certain modifications of vision; from vision they were analogically extended to the other senses, to imagination, and finally to thought. It may, therefore, enable us the better to comprehend their secondary application, to

consider their primitive. To Leibnitz² we owe the precise distinction of concepts into clear and distinct, and from him I borrow the following illustration. In darkness — the complete obscurity of night — we see nothing, — there is no perception, — no discrimina-

¹ Compare Krug, Logik, 31 et seq.-ED. [Buffier, Logique, § 345 et seq. Kant, Kr. d. r. Vernunf?, B. ii. Trans Dial., art. i., p. 414, 3d ed. 1790.]

² See his Meditationes de Cognitione, Veritate et Ileis (Opera, ed. Erdmann, p. 79), Nouveaux

Essais, L. ii. ch. xxix. The illustration, however, does not occur in either of these passages. It was probably borrowed from Krug, Logik, § 31, and attributed to Leibnitz by an oversight. --ED.

LECT. IX.

LOGIC.

tion of objects. As the light dawns, the obscurity diminishes, the deep and uniform sensation of darkness is modified, - we are conscious of a change, - we see something, but are still unable to distinguish its features, - we know not what it is. As the light increases, the outlines of wholes begin to appear, but still not with a distinctness sufficient to allow us to perceive them completely; but when this is rendered possible, by the rising intensity of the light, we are then said to see clearly. We then recognize mountains, plains, houses, trees, animals, etc., that is, we discriminate these objects as wholes, as unities, from each other. But their parts, - the manifold of which these unities are the sum, - their parts still lose themselves in each other, they are still but indistinctly visible. At length, when the daylight has fully sprung, we are enabled likewise to discriminate their parts; we now see distinetly what lies around us. But still we see as yet only the wholes which lie proximately around us, and of these only the parts which possess a certain size. The more distant wholes, and the smaller parts of nearer wholes, are still seen by us only in their conjoint result, only as they concur in making up that whole which is for us a visible minimum. Thus it is, that in the distant forest, or on the distant hill, we perceive a green surface; but we see not the several leaves, which in the one, nor the several blades of grass, which in the other, each contributes its effect to produce that amount of impression which our consciousness requires. Thus it is, that all which we do perceive is made up of parts which we do not perceive, and consciousness is itself a complement of impressions, which lie beyond its apprehension.¹ Clearness and distinctness are thus only relative. For between the extreme of obscurity and the extreme of distinctness, there are in vision an infinity of intermediate degrees. Now, the same thing occurs in thought. For we may either be conscious only of the concept in general, or we may also be conscious of its various constituent attributes, or both the concept and its parts may be lost in themselves to consciousness, and only recognized to exist by effects which indirectly evidence their existence.

The perfection of a notion, as I said, is contained in two degrees

Clearness and obscurity as in concepts. or in two virtues, — viz., in its clearness and in its distinctness; and, of course, the opposite vices of obscurity and indistinctness afford two de-

grees or two vices, constituting its imperfection. "A concept is said to be *clear*, when the degree of consciousness by which it is accompanied is sufficient to discriminate what we think in and through it, from what we think in and through other notions;

> 1 See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 241 et seq. – ED. 15

whereas if the degree of consciousness be so remiss that this and other concepts run into each other, in that case the notion is said to be obscure. It is evident that clearness and obscurity admit of various degrees; each being capable of almost infinite gradations, according as the object of the notion is discriminated with greater or less vivacity or precision from the objects of other notions. A

The absolutely clear and absolutely obscure.

concept is absolutely clear, when its object is distinguished from all other objects; a concept is absolutely obscure, when its object can be distinguished from no other object. But it is

only the absolutely clear and the absolutely obscure which stand opposed as contradictory extremes; for the same notion can at once be relatively or comparatively clear, and relatively or comparatively obscure. Absolutely obscure notions, that is, concepts whose objects can be distinguished from nothing else, exist only in theory; - an absolutely obseure notion being, in fact, no notion at all. For it is of the very essence of a concept, that its object should, to a certain degree at least, be comprehended in its peculiar, consequently, in its distinguishing, characteristics. But, on the other hand, of notions absolutely clear, that is, notions whose objects cannot possibly be confounded with aught else, whether known or unknown, - of such notions a limited intelligence is possessed of very few, and, consequently, our human concepts are, properly, only a mixture of the opposite qualities; - clear or obscure as applied to them, meaning only that the one quality or the other is the preponderant. In a logical relation, the illustration of notions consists in the raising them from a preponderant obscurity to a preponderant clearness - or from a lower degree to a higher." 1 So much for the quality of clearness or obscurity considered in itself.

The Distinctness and Indistinctness of Concepts.

But a Clear concept may be either Distinct or Indistinct; the distinctness and indistinctness of concepts are therefore to be considered apart from their clearness and obscurity.

But before entering upon the nature of the distinction itself, I

Historical notice of this distinction. Due to Leibnitz.

may observe that we owe the discrimination of Distinct and Indistinct from Clear and Obscure notions to the acuteness of the great Leibnitz. By the Cartesians the distinction had not been

taken; though the authors of the Port Royal Logic come so near, that we may well marvel how they failed explicitly to enounce it.²

Descartes and Leibnitz, see the Appendix to 2 Part I. ch. ix. - For a comparison of this Mr. Baynes's translation of the Port Royal

¹ Esser, pp. 91, 92, [Logik, § 46. - ED.]

statement of the distinction with those of Logik, p. 423 (second edition). - ED.

LECT. IX.

LOGIC.

Though Locke published his Essay Concerning Human Understanding some five years subsequent to the paper

in which Leibnitz-then a very young manhad, among other valuable observations, promulgated this distinction, Locke did not advance beyond the limit already reached by the Cartesians; indeed, the praises that are so frequently lavished on this philosopher for his doctrine concerning the distinctions of Ideas, - the conditions of Definition, etc., - only prove that his encomiasts are ignorant of what had been done, and, in many respects, far better done, by Descartes and his school ; - in fact, with regard to the Cartesian Philosophy in general, it must be confessed, that Locke has many errors to explate, arising partly from oversight, and partly from the most unaccountable misapprehension of its doctrines. It is almost needless to say, that those who, in this country, have written on this subject, posterior to Locke, have not advanced a step beyond him; for though Leibnitz be often mentioned, and even occasionally quoted, by our British philosophers, I am aware of none who possessed a systematic acquaintance with his philosophy, and, I might almost say, who were even superficially versed either in his own writings or in those of any of the illustrious thinkers of his school.

But to consider the distinction in itself. We have seen that a

The distinction in itself.

concept is clear, when we are able to recognize it as different from other concepts. But we may discriminate a whole from other wholes, we may

discriminate a concept from other concepts, though we have only a confused knowledge of the parts of which that whole, or of the characters of which that concept, is made up. This may be illus-

Illustrated by the analogy of Perception and Representation. trated by the analogy of our Perceptive and Representative Faculties. We are all acquainted with many, say a thousand, individuals; that is, we recognize such and such a countenance as

the countenance of John, and as not the countenance of James, Thomas, Richard, or any of the other 999. This we do with a clear and certain knowledge. But the countenances, which we thus distinguish from each other, are, each of them, a complement made up of a great number of separate traits of features; and it might, at first view, be supposed that, as a whole is only the sum of its parts, a clear cognition of a whole countenance can only be realized through a distinct knowledge of each of its constituent features. But the slightest consideration will prove that this is not the case. For how few of us are able to say of any, the most familiar face, what are the particular traits which go to form the general result:

and yet, on that account, we hesitate neither in regard to our own knowledge of an individual, nor in regard to the knowledge pos-

The judicial determination between life and death supposes the difference between a clear and distinct knowledge. sessed by others. Suppose a witness be adduced in a court of justice to prove the identity or nonidentity of a certain individual with the perpetrator of a certain crime, the commission of which he had chanced to see, — would the counsel be allowed to invalidate the credibility of the

witness by, first of all, requiring him to specify the various elements of which the total likeness of the accused was compounded, and then by showing that, as the witness either could not specify the several traits, or specified what did not agree with the features of the accused, he was, therefore, incompetent to prove the identity or non-identity required? This would not be allowed. For the court would hold that a man might have a clear perception and a clear representation of a face and figure, of which, however, he had not separately considered, and could not separately image to himself, the constituent elements. Thus, even the judicial determination of life and death supposes, as real, the difference between a clear and a distinct knowledge: for a distinct knowledge lies in the knowledge of the constituent parts; while a clear knowledge is only of the constituted whole.

Continuing our illustrations from the human countenance: we

Further illustration from the human countenance. all have a clear knowledge of any face which we have seen, but few of us have distinct knowledge even of those with which we are familiar; but the painter, who, having looked upon a

countenance, can retire and reproduce its likeness in detail, has necessarily both a clear and a distinct knowledge of it. Now, what is thus the case with perceptions and representations, is equally the case with notions. We may be able clearly to discriminate one concept from another, although the degree of consciousness does not enable us distinctly to discriminate the various component characters of either concept from each other. The Clearness and the Distinctness of a notion are thus not the same; the former involves merely the power of distinguishing the total objects of our notions from each other; the latter involves the power of distinguishing the several characters, the several attributes, of which that object is the sum. In the former the unity, in the latter the multiplicity, of the notion is called into relief.

The distinctness of a concept supposes, however, the Clearness; and may, therefore, be regarded as a higher degree of the same quality or perfection. "To the distinctness of a notion, over and

LECT. IX.

LOGIC.

above its general clearness, there are required three conditions, -

Special conditions of the Distinctness of a Concept, and of its degrees. 1°, The clear apprehension of its several characters or component parts; 2°, The clear contrast or discrimination of these; and, 3°, The clear recognition of the nexus by which the several parts are bound up into a unity or whole.

"As the clearness, so the distinctness, of a notion is susceptible of many degrees. A concept may be called distinct, when it involves the amount of consciousness required to discriminate from each other its principal characters; but it is so much the more distinct, 1°, In proportion to the greater number of the characters apprehended; 2°, In proportion to the greater clearness of their discrimination; and, 3°, In proportion to the precision with which the mode of their connection is recognized. But the greater distinctness is not exclusively or even principally determined by the greater number of the clearly apprehended characters; it depends still more on their superior importance. In particular, it is of moment whether the characters be positive or negative, internal or external, permanent or transitory, peculiar or common, essential or accidental, original or derived. From the mere consideration of the differences subsisting between attributes, there emerge three rules to be attended to in bestowing on a concept its requisite distinctness. In the first place, we should endeavor to discover the positive characters of the object conceived; as it is our purpose to know what the object is, and not what it is not. When, however, as is not unfrequently the case, it is not at once easy to discover what the positive attributes are, our endeavor should be first directed to the detection of the negative; and this not only because it is always an advance in knowledge, when we ascertain what an object is not, but, likewise, because the discovery of the negative characters conducts us frequently to a discovery of the positive.

"In the second place, among the positive qualities we should seek out the intrinsic and permanent before the extrinsic and transitory; for the former give us a purer and more determinate knowledge of an object, though this object may likewise, at the same time, present many external relations and mutable modifications. Among the permanent attributes, the proper or peculiar always merit a preference, if for no other reason, because through them, and not through the common qualities, can the proper or peculiar nature of the object become known to us.

"In the third place, among the permanent characters we ought first to hunt out the necessary or essential, and then to descend from them to the contingent or accidental; and this is not only

because we thus give order and connection to our notions, but, likewise, because the contingent characters are frequently only to be comprehended through the necessary."1

But before leaving this part of our subject, it may be proper to

The distinction of Clear and Distinct notions illustrated by concrete examples.

illustrate the distinction of Clear and Distinct notions by one or two concrete examples. Of many things we have clear but not distinct notions. Thus, we have a clear, but not a distinct, notion of colors, sounds, tastes, smells, etc. For

we are fully able to distinguish red from white, to distinguish an acute from a grave note, the voice of a friend from that of a stranger, the scent of roses from that of onions, the flavor of sugar from that of vinegar; but by what plurality of separate and enunciable characters is this discrimination made? It is because we are unable to do this, that we cannot describe such perceptions and representations to others.

"If you ask of me," says St. Augustine, "what is Time, I know not; if you do not ask me, I know."2 What does this mean? Simply that he had a clear, but not a distinct, notion of Time.

Of a triangle we have a clear notion, when we distinguish a triangle from other figures, without specially considering the characters which constitute it what it is. But when we think it as a portion of space bounded by three lines, as a figure whose three angles are equal to two right angles, etc., then we obtain of it a distinct concept.

We now come to the consideration of the question, - How does

How the Distinctness of a Concept is affected by the two quantities of a Concept.

ternal.

the Distinctness of a concept stand affected by the two quantities of a concept? - and in reference to this point I would, in the first place, dietate to you the following paragraph:

¶ XXIX. As a concept is a plurality of characters bound up into unity, and as that plurality is contained partly in its Intensive, partly under its Ex-Par. XXIX. Distinctness, Internal and Extensive, quantity, its Distinctness is, in like manner, in relation to these quantities,

partly an Internal or Intensive, partly an external or Extensive Distinctness.³

In explanation of this, it is to be observed, that, as the distinctness of a concept is contained in the clear apprehension of the

3 Krug, Logik, § 34; Esser, Logik, § 48.-ED.

¹ Esser, Logik, § 47, p 93-95. - ED.

² Confessions, xi. c. 14. - ED.

LECT. IX.

various attributes of which it is the sum, as it is the sum of these

Explication.

attributes in two opposite relations, which constitute, in fact, two opposite quantities or wholes,

and as these wholes are severally capable of illustration by analysis, it follows, that each of these analyses will contribute its peculiar share to the general distinctness of the concept. Thus, if the distinctness of a notion bears reference to that plurality which constitutes its comprehension, in other words, to that which is contained in the concept, the distinctness is denominated an *internal* or *intensive* distinctness, or distinctness of *comprehension*. On the other hand, if the distinctness refers to that plurality which constitutes the extension of the notion, in other words, to what is contained *under* it, in that case, the distinctness is called an *external* or *extensive* distinctness, a distinctness of *extension*. It is only when a notion combines in it both of these species of distinctness, it is only when its parts have been analyzed in reference to the two quantities, that it reaches the highest degree of distinctness and of perfection.

The Internal Distinctness of a notion is accomplished by Exposi-

Definition and Division. tion or Definition, that is, by the enumeration of the characters or partial notions contained in it; the External Distinctness, again, of a notion

is accomplished through Division, that is, through the enumeration of the objects which are contained under it. Thus the concept man is rendered intensively more distinct, when we declare that man is a rational animal; it is rendered extensively more distinct, when we declare that man is partly male, partly female man.¹ In the former case, we resolve the concept man into its several characters, — into its partial or constituent attributes; in the latter, we resolve it into its subordinate concepts, or inferior genera. In

Simple notions admit of an extensive, individual notions of an intensive, distinctness. simple notions, there is thus possible an extensive, but not an intensive, distinctness; in individual notions, there is possible an intensive, but not an extensive, distinctness.² Thus the concepts *existence*, *green*, *sweet*, etc., though, as absolutely or relatively simple, their compre-

hension cannot be analyzed into any constituent attributes, and they do not, therefore, admit of definition; still it cannot be said that they are incapable of being rendered more distinct. For do we not analyze the pluralities of which these concepts are the sum, when we say, that existence is either ideal or real, that green is a yellowish

1 Krug, p. 95, [Logik, § 34. - ED.]

the

or a bluish green, that sweet is a pungent or a mawkish sweet? and do we not, by this analysis, attain a greater degree of logical perfection, than when we think them only clearly and as wholes?¹

The highest point of Distinctness of a Concept. "A concept, has, therefore, attained its highest point of distinctness, when there is such a consciousness of its characters that, in rendering its comprehension distinct, we touch on notions

which, as simple, admit of no definition, and, in rendering its extension distinct, we touch on notions which, as individual, admit of no ulterior division. It is true, indeed, that a distinctness of this degree is one which is only ideal; that is, one to which we are always approximating, but which we never are able actually to reach. In order to approach as near as possible to this ideal, we must always inquire, what is contained in, and what under, a notion, and endeavor to obtain a distinct consciousness of it in both relations. What, in this research, first presents itself we must again analyze anew, with reference always both to comprehension and to extension; and descending from the higher to the lower, from the greater to the less, we ought to stop only when our process is arrested in the individual or in the simple."²

1 Krug, Logik, § 34, Anmerk., i. pp. 95, 96. – ED. 2 Esser, Logik, § 48, p. 96. – ED.
Miline Symbolic Hin William Symbolic Hin LECTURE X.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. — ENNOEMATIC.

IMPERFECTION OF CONCEPTS.

IT is now necessary to notice an Imperfection to which concepts Imperfection of Concepts. Imperfection of Con-Cepts. Imperfection of Cen-Cepts. I

ical authority for its use, I would still, in consequence of its ambiguity in English, have avoided, if this could have been done without compromising the knowledge of what it is intended to express. The expression I mean, is *intuitive*, in the particular signification in which it is used by Leibnitz,¹ and the continental philosophers in general, — to denote what is common to our direct and ostensive cognition of individual objects, in Sense or Imagination (Presentation or Representation), and in opposition to our indirect and symbolical cognition of general objects, through the use of signs or language, in the Understanding. But, on this head, I would, first of all, dietate to you the following paragraph.

¶ XXX. As a notion or concept is the factitious whole or ^{Par.} XXX. Imperfections of Concepts. mentally held together, inasmuch as the concept is fixed and ratified in a sign or word; it frequently happens, that, in its employment, the word does not suggest the whole amount of

thought for which it is the adequate expression, but, on the contrary, we frequently give and take the sign, either with an

1 Meditationes de Cognitione, Veritate et Ideis, Opera, ed. Erdmann, p. 80. - ED.

obscure or indistinct consciousness of its meaning, or even without an actual consciousness of its signification at all.

This liability to the vices of Obscurity and Indistinctness arises, 1°, From the very nature of a concept, which is Illustration. the binding up of a multiplicity in unity; and 2°, From its dependence upon language, as the necessary condition of its existence and stability. In consequence of this, when a notion is of a very complex and heterogeneous composition, we are frequently wont to use the term by which it is denoted, without a clear or distinct consciousness of the various characters of which the notion is the sum; and thus it is, that we both give and take words without any, or, at least, without the adequate complement of thought. I may exemplify this: You are aware, that in countries where bank-notes have not superseded the use of the precious metals, large payments are made in bags of money, purporting to contain a certain number of a certain denomination of coin, or, at least, a certain amount in value. Now, these bags are often sealed up and passed from one person to another, without the tedious process, at each transference, of counting out their contents, and this upon the faith, that, if examined, they will be found actually to contain the number of pieces for which they are marked, and for which they pass current. In this state of matters, it is, however, evident, that many errors or frauds may be committed, and that a bag may be given and taken in payment for one sum, which contains another, or which, in fact, may not even contain any money at all. Now the case is similar in regard to notions. As the sealed bag or rouleau testifies to the enumerated sum, and gives unity to what would otherwise be an unconnected multitude of pieces, each only representing its separate value; so the sign or word proves and ratifies the existence of a concept, that is, it vouches the tying up of a certain number of attributes or characters in a single concept, -attributes which would otherwise exist to us only as a multitude of separate and unconnected representations of value. So far the analogy is manifest; but it is only general. The bag, the guaranteed sum, and the constituent coins, represent in a still more proximate manner the term, the concept, and the constituent characters. For in regard to each, we may do one of two things. On the one hand, we may test the bag, that is, open it, and ascertain the accuracy of its stated value, by counting out the pieces which it purports to contain; or we may accept and pass the bag, without such a critical enumeration. In the other case, we may test the general term, prove that it is valid for the amount and quality of thought of

LECT. X.

which it is the sign, by spreading out in consciousness the various characters of which the concept professes to be the complement; or we may take and give the term without such an evolution.¹

It is evident from this, that notions or concepts are peculiarly liable to great vagueness and ambiguity, and that their symbols are liable to be passed about without the proper kind, or the adequate amount, of thought.

This interesting subject has not escaped the observation of the

The liability to ambiguity and vagueness of concepts noticed by British philosophers. philosophers of this country, and by them it has, in fact, with great ingenuity been illustrated; but as they are apparently ignorant that the matter had, before them, engaged the attention of sundry foreign philosophers, by

whom it has been even more ably canvassed and expounded, I shall, in the exposition of this point, also do justice to the illustrious thinkers to whom is due the honor of having originally and most satisfactorily discussed it.

The following passage from Mr. Stewart will afford the best foun-

Stewart quoted on this subject.

dation for my subsequent remarks: "In the last section I mentioned Dr. Campbell as an ingenious defender of the system of the Nomin-

alists, and I alluded to a particular application which he has made of their doctrine. The reasonings which I had then in view, are to be found in the seventh chapter of the second book of his *Philosophy of Rhetoric*, in which chapter he proposes to explain how it happens, 'that nonsense so often escapes being detected both by the writer and the reader.' The title is somewhat ludicrous in a grave philosophical work, but the disquisition to which it is prefixed, contains many acute and profound remarks on the nature and power of signs, both as a medium of communication, and as an instrument of thought.

"Dr. Campbell's speculations with respect to language as an in-

Refers to Hume. strument of thought, seem to have been suggested by the following passage in Mr. Hume's *Treatise of Human Nature*:² 'I believe every one who examines the situation of his mind in reasoning, will agree with me, that we do not annex distinct and complete ideas to every term we make use of; and that in talking of Government, Church, Negotiation, Conquest, we seldom spread out in our minds all the simple ideas of which these complex ones are composed. It is, however, observable, that notwithstanding this imperfection, we may avoid talking

1 A hint of this illustration is to be found in Degerando, *Des Signes*, vol. i. chap. viii. p. 200. - ED. 2 Part i. § 7. - Ed.

nonsense on these subjects, and may perceive any repugnance among the ideas, as well as if we had a full comprehension of them. Thus if, instead of saying, that in war the weaker have always recourse to negotiation, we should say, that they have always recourse to conquest; the custom which we have acquired, of attributing certain relations to ideas, still follows the words, and makes us immediately perceive the absurdity of that proposition.'

"In the remarks which Dr. Campbell has made on this passage, he has endeavored to explain in what manner our habits of thinking and speaking gradually establish in the mind such relations among the words we employ, as enable us to carry on processes of reasoning by means of them, without attending in every instance to their particular signification. With most of his remarks on this subject I perfectly agree; but the illustrations he gives of them are of too great extent to be introduced here, and I would not wish to run the risk of impairing their perspicuity by attempting to abridge them. I must, therefore, refer such of my readers as wish to prosecute the speculation, to his very ingenious and philosophical treatise.

"'In consequence of these circumstances,' says Dr. Campbell, 'it

happens that, in matters which are perfectly And Campbell. familiar to us, we are able to reason by means of words, without examining, in every instance, their signification. Almost all the possible applications of the terms (in other words, all the acquired relations of the signs) have become customary to us. The consequence is, that an unusual application of any term is instantly detected; this detection breeds doubt, and this doubt occasions an immediate recourse to ideas. The recourse of the mind, when in any degree puzzled with the signs, to the knowledge it has of the things signified, is natural, and on such subjects perfeetly easy. And of this recourse the discovery of the meaning, or of the unmeaningness of what is said, is the immediate effect. But in matters that are by no means familiar, or are treated in an uncommon manner, and in such as are of an abstruse and intricate nature, the case is widely different.' The instances in which we are chiefly liable to be imposed on by words without meaning, are (according to Dr. Campbell) the three following:

"First, When there is an exuberance of metaphor.

"Secondly, When the terms most frequently occurring denote things which are of a complicated nature, and to which the mind is not sufficiently familiarized. Such are the words — Government, Church, State, Constitution, Polity, Power, Commerce, Legislature, Jurisdiction, Proportion, Symmetry, Elegance.

LECT. X.

"Thirdly, When the terms employed are very abstract, and consequently of very extensive signification.

"The more general any word is in its signification, it is the more liable to be abused by an improper or unmeaning application. A very general term is applicable alike to a multitude of different individuals, a particular term is applicable but to a few. When the rightful applications of a word are extremely numerous, they cannot all be so strongly fixed by habit, but that, for greater security, we must perpetually recur in our minds from the sign to the notion we have of the thing signified; and for the reason aforementioned, it is in such instances difficult precisely to ascertain this notion. Thus the latitude of a word, though different from its ambiguity, hath often a similar effect."¹

Now, on this I would, in the first place, observe, that the credit

Locke anticipated Hume in remarking the employment of terms without distinct meaning. attributed to Hume by Dr. Campbell and Mr. Stewart, as having been the first by whom the observation had been made, is, even in relation to British philosophers, not correct. Hume has stated nothing which had not, with equal emphasis and an equal development, been previ-

ously stated by Locke, in four different places of his *Essay*.² Thus, to take only one out of at least four passages directly to the

same effect, and out of many in which the same is evidently maintained, he says, in the chapter entitled — Of the Abuse of Words:

Locke quoted. far

"Others there be, who extend this abuse still farther, who take so little care to lay by words,

which in their primary notation have scarce any clear and distinct ideas which they are annexed to, that by an unpardonable negligence they familiarly use words, which the propriety of language has fixed to very important ideas, without any distinct meaning at all. Wisdom, glory, grace, etc., are words frequent enough in every man's mouth; but if a great many of those who use them should be asked what they mean by them, they would be at a stand, and not know what to answer: a plain proof, that though they have learned those sounds, and have them ready at their tongue's end, yet there are no determined ideas laid up in their minds, which are to be expressed to others by them. Men having been accustomed from their cradles to learn words, which are easily got and retained, before they knew, or had framed the complex ideas to which they were annexed, or which were to be found in the things they were

Elements, vol. i., Works, vol. ii. chap. ir. ;
Compare Essay, B. R., ch. xxii, ; 7; ii., 4, pp 188, 165.
Kxix. 9; ii. xxxi. 8; iii., ix. 6; iii., x. 2. - ED.

LECT. X.

thought to stand for, they usually continue to do so all their lives; and without taking the pains necessary to settle in their minds determined ideas, they use their words for such unsteady and confused notions as they have, contenting themselves with the same words other people use: as if their very sound necessarily carried with it constantly the same meaning. This, though men make a shift with, in the ordinary occurrences of life, where they find it necessary to be understood, and therefore they make signs till they are so; yet this insignificancy in their words, when they come to reason concerning either their tenets or interest, manifestly fills their discourse with abundance of empty, unintelligible noise and jargon, especially in moral matters, where the words, for the most part, standing for arbitrary and numerous collections of ideas, not regularly and permanently united in nature, their bare sounds are often only thought on, or at least very obscure and uncertain notions annexed to them. Men take the words they find in use among their neighbors, and that they may not seem ignorant what they stand for, use them confidently, without much troubling their heads about a certain fixed meaning: whereby, besides the ease of it, they obtain this advantage, that as in such discourses they are seldom in the right, so they are as seldom to be convinced that they are in the wrong; it being all one to go about to draw those men out of their mistakes, who have no settled notions, as to dispossess a vagrant of his habitation who has no settled abode. This I guess to be so: and every one may observe in himself and others, whether it be or no."1

From a comparison of this passage with those I have given you from Stewart, Campbell, and Hume, it is manifest that, among British philosophers, Locke is entitled to the whole honor of the observation: for it could easily be shown, even from the identity of expression, that Hume must have borrowed it from Locke; and of Hume's doctrine the two other philosophers profess only to be expositors.

This curious and important observation was not, however, first

The distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical knowledge first taken by Leibnitz. made by any British philosopher; for Leibnitz had not only anticipated Locke, in a publication prior to the *Essay*, but afforded the most precise and universal explanation of the phænomenon, which has yet been given.

To him we owe the memorable distinction of our knowledge into Intuitive and Symbolical, in which distinction is involved the expla-

LECT. X.

LOGIC.

nation of the phænomenon in question. It is the establishment of this distinction, likewise, which has superseded

This distinction has superseded the controversy of Nominalism and Conceptualism in Germany.

in Germany the whole controversy of Nominalism and Conceptualism, - which, in consequence of the non-establishment of this distinction, and the relative imperfection of our philosophical language, has idly agitated the Psychology of this country and of France.

That the doctrines of Leibnitz, on this and other cardinal points

Unacquaintance of the philosophers of this country with the doctrines of Leibnitz.

of psychology, should have remained apparently unknown to every philosopher of this country, is a matter not less of wonder than of regret, and is only to be excused by the manner in which Leibnitz gave his writings to the world.

His most valuable thoughts on the most important subjects were generally thrown out in short treatises or letters, and these, for a

Manner in which he gave his writings to the world.

long time, were to be found only in partial collections, and sometimes to be laboriously sought out, dispersed as they were, in the various scientific Journals and Transactions of every country

of Europe; and even when his works were at length collected, the attempt of his editor to arrange his papers according to their subjects (and what subject did Leibnitz not discuss?) was baffled by the multifarious nature of their contents. The most important of his philosophical writings - his Essays in refutation of Locke - were not merely a posthumous publication, but only published after the collected edition of his Works by Dutens; and this treatise, even after its publication, was so little known in Britain, that it remained absolutely unknown to Mr. Stewart - (the only British philosopher, by the way, who seems to have had any acquaintance with the works of Leibnitz) - until a very recent period of his life. The matter, however, with which we are at present engaged, was discussed by Leibnitz in one of his very earliest writings; and in a

His paper, De Cognitione, Veritate, et Ideis. paper entitled De Cognitione, Veritate, et Ideis, published in the Acta Eruditorum of 1684, we have, in the compass of two quarto pages, all

that has been advanced of principal importance in regard to the peculiarity of our cognitions by concept, and in regard to the dependence of our concepts upon language. In this paper, besides establishing the difference of Clear and Distinct knowledge, he enounces the memorable distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical knowledge, - a distinction not certainly unknown to the later philosophers of this country, but which, from their not possessing terms in which pre-

cisely to embody it, has always remained vague and inapplicable to common use. Speaking of the analysis of complex notions, he says :

Leibnitz quoted on Intuitive and Symbolical knowledge. "For the most part, however, especially in an analysis of any length, we do not view at once (non simul intuemur) the whole characters or attributes of the thing, but in place of these we

employ signs, the explication of which into what they signify, we are wont, at the moment of actual thought, for the sake of brevity, to omit, knowing or believing that we have this explication always in our power. Thus, when I think a chiliogon (or polygon of a thousand equal sides), I do not always consider the various attributes, of the side, of the equality, and of the number a thousand, but use these words (whose meaning is obscurely and imperfectly presented to the mind) in lieu of notions which I have of them, because I remember, that I possess the signification of these words, though their application and explication I do not at present deem to be necessary : - this kind of thinking I am used to call blind or symbolical: we employ it in Algebra and in Arithmetic, but in fact universally. And certainly, when the notion is very complex, we cannot think at once all the ingredient notions: but where this is possible — at least, inasmuch as it is possible — I call the cognition intuitive. Of the primary elements of our notions, there is given no other knowledge than the intuitive: as of our composite notions, there is, for the most part, possible only a symbolical. From these considerations it is also evident, that of the things which we distinctly know we are not conscious of the ideas, except in so far as we employ an intuitive cognition. And, indeed, it happens that we often falsely believe that we have in our mind the ideas of things; erroneously supposing, that certain terms which we employ, had been applied and explicated; and it is not true, at least it is ambiguously expressed, what some assert, - that we cannot speak concerning anything, understanding what we say, without having an idea of it actually present. For we frequently apply any kind of meaning to the several words, or we merely recollect us, that we have formerly understood them, but because we are content with this blind thinking, and do not follow out the resolution of the notions, it happens, that contradictions are allowed to lie hid, which perchance the composite notion involves." . . . "Thus, at first sight, it must seem, that we could form an idea of a maximum velocity (motus celerrimi), for in using the terms we understand what we say; we shall find, however, that it is impossible, for the notion of a quickest motion is shown to be contradictory, and, therefore, inconceivable. Let us suppose, that a wheel is turned

LECT. X.

LOGIC.

with a velocity absolutely at its maximum; every one perceives that if one of its spokes be produced, its outer end will be moved more rapidly than the nails in the circumference of the wheel; the motion, therefore, of these is not a maximum, which is contrary to the hypothesis, and, therefore, involves a contradiction."

This quotation will suffice to show you how correctly Leibnitz ap-

Effect of this distinction by Leibnitz on the philosophy of Germany. prehended the nature of concepts, as opposed to the presentations and representations of the subsidiary faculties; and the introduction of the term *Symbolical* knowledge, to designate the former, and the term *Intuitive* knowledge to comprehend

the two latter, -- terms which have ever since become classical in his own country, - has bestowed on the German language of philosophy, in this respect, a power and precision to which that of no other nation can lay claim. In consequence of this, while the philosophers of this country have been all along painfully expounding the phænomenon as one of the most recondite arcana of psychology, in Germany it has, for a century and a half, subsided into one of the elementary doctrines of the science of mind. It was in consequence of the establishment of this distinction by Leibnitz, that a peculiar expression (Begriff; conceptus) was appropriated to the symbolical notions of the Understanding, in contrast to the intuitive presentations of Sense and representations of Imagination, which last also were furnished with the distinctive appellations of intuitions (Anschauungen, intuitus). Thus it is, that, by a more copious and well-appointed language, philosophy has, in Germany, been raised above various controversies, which, merely in consequence of the poverty and vagueness of its English nomenclature, have idly occupied our speculations. But, to return to the mere logical question.

The doctrine of Leibnitz in regard to this natural imperfection of

The distinction appreciated by the disciples of Leibnitz.

our concepts was not overlooked by his disciples, and I shall read you a passage from the Lesser Logic of Wolf, — a work above a century old, and which was respectably translated from German

into English in the year 1770. This translation is now rarely to be met with, which may account for its being apparently totally unknown to our British philosophers; and yet, upon the whole, with all its faults and imperfections, it is perhaps the most valuable work on Logic (to say nothing of the *Port Royal Logic*) in the English language.

Wolf quoted. Words or terms, - what. "By Words, we usually make known our thoughts to others: and thus they are nothing but uttered articulate signs of our thoughts for

the information of others: for example, if one asks me what I am

thinking of, and I answer, the sun; by this word I acquaint him what object my thoughts are then employed about.

"If two persons, therefore, are talking together, it is requisite, in order to be understood, first, that he who speaks, shall join some notion or meaning to each word; secondly, that he who hears, shall join the very same notion that the speaker does.

"Consequently, a certain notion or meaning must be connected with, and therefore something be signified by, each word.

"Now, in order to know whether we understand what we speak, or that our words are not mere empty sound, we ought, at every word we utter, to ask ourselves what notion or meaning we join therewith.

"For it is carefully to be observed, that we have not always the

In speaking or thinking, the meaning of words not always attended to. notion of the thing present to us, or in view, when we speak or think of it; but are satisfied when we imagine we sufficiently understand what we speak, if we think we recollect that we have had at another time the notion which

is to be joined to this or the other word; and thus we represent to ourselves, as at a distance only, or obscurely, the thing denoted by the term (\S 9, c. i.).

"Hence it usually happens, that when we combine words to-

How words without meaning may be understood. gether, to each of which apart a meaning or notion answers, we imagine we understand what we utter, though that which is denoted by such combined words be impossible, and, consequently,

can have no meaning; for that which is impossible is nothing at all; and of nothing there can be no idea. For instance, we have a notion of gold, as also of iron: but it is impossible that iron can, at any time, be gold; consequently neither can we have any notion of iron-gold; and yet we understand what people mean when they mention *iron-gold*.

"In the instance alleged, it certainly strikes every one at first

Further proved. that the expression *iron-gold* is an empty sound; but yet there are a thousand instances in which it does not so easily strike: For example, when I say a rectilineal twoline figure, contained under two right-lines, I am equally well understood as when I say a right-lined triangle, a figure contained under three right-lines: and it should seem we had a distinct notion of both figures (§ 13, c. i.). However, as we show in geometry that two right-lines can never contain a space, it is also impossible to form a notion of a rectilineal two-lined figure; and, consequently, that expression is an empty sound. Just so it holds with the vege-

130

LECT. X.

LOGIC.

table soul of plants, supposed to be a spiritual being, whereby plants are enabled to vegetate and grow: for though those words taken apart are intelligible, yet in their combination they have no manner of meaning. Just so if I say that the Attractive Spirit, or Attractive Cord, as Linus calls it, or the Attractive Force, as some philosophers at this day, is an immaterial principle superadded to matter, whereby the attractions in nature are performed; no notion or meaning can possibly be joined with these words. To this head also belong the Natural Sympathy and Antipathy of Plants; the Band of Right or law (*vinculum juris*), used in the definition of Obligation, by Civilians; the principle of Evil of the Manicheans," etc.¹

1 Logic, or Rational Thoughts on the Powers of the German of Baron Wolfus, c. ii., p. 54-57; the Human Understanding. Translated from London, 1770. - ED.

LECTURE XI.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

'ECTION I.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. ENNOEMATIC.

III. RECIPROCAL RELATIONS OF CONCEPTS.

A. QUANTITY OF EXTENSION — SUBORDINATION AND CO-ORDINATION.

I now proceed to the third and last Relation of Concepts, — that of concepts to each other. The two former relations of notions to their objects and to their subject — gave their Quantity and Quality. This, the relation of notions to each other, gives what is emphatically and strictly denominated their *Relation*. In this rigorous signification, the Relation of Concepts may be thus defined.

¶ XXXI. The Relation proper of notions consists in those determinations or attributes which belong to them, not viewed as apart and in themselves, but as reciprocally compared. Concepts can only be compared together with

reference, either, 1°, To their Extension; or, 2°, To their Comprehension. All their relations arc, therefore, dependent on the one or on the other of these quantities.¹

¶ XXXII. As dependent upon Extension, concepts stand to each other in the five mutual relations, 1°, Of Exclusion; 2°, Of Coëxtension; 3°, Of Subordination; 4°, Of Coördination; and

5°, Of Intersection.

1. One concept excludes another, when no part of the one coincides with any part of the other. 2. One concept is coëx-

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 36. - ED. 2 See diagram, p. 133.



tensive with another, when each has the same number of subordinate concepts under it. 3. One concept is subordinate to another (which may be called the *Superordinate*) when the former is included within, or makes a part of, the sphere or extension of the latter. 4. Two or more concepts are coördinated, when each excludes the other from its sphere, but when both go immediately to make up the extension of a third concept, to which they are cosubordinate. 5. Concepts intersect each other, when the sphere of the one is partially contained in the sphere of the other.¹

Of Exclusion, horse, syllogism, are examples: there is no absolute exclusion.

Examples of the five mutual relations of Concepts.

As examples of Coëxtension,— the concepts living, being, and organized beings, may be given. For, using the term life as applicable to

plants as well as animals, there is nothing living which is not organized, and nothing organized which is not living. This reciprocal relation will be represented by two circles covering each other, or by two lines of equal length and in positive relation.

As examples of Subordination and Coördination, — man, dog, horse, stand, as correlatives, in subordination to the concept animal, and, as reciprocal correlatives, in coördination with each other.

What I would eall the reciprocal relation of Intersection, takes place between concepts when their spheres cross or cut each other, that is, fall partly within, partly without, each other. Thus, the concept *black* and the concept *heavy* mutually intersect each other, for of these some black things are heavy, some not, and some heavy things are black, some not.

Subordination and Coördination of principal importance. Of these relations, those of Subordination and Coördination are of principal importance, as on them reposes the whole system of classification; and to them alone it is, therefore, neces-

sary to accord a more particular consideration. Under the Subordination of notions, there are various terms to

Terms expressive of the different modes of the relation of Subordination. express the different modes of this relation; these it is necessary that you should now learn and hereafter bear in mind, for they form an essential part of the language of Logic, and will come frequently, in the sequel, to be employed analysis of Recommender

in considering the analysis of Reasonings.

¶ XXXIII.

Par. XXXIII. Superior and Inferior, Broader and Narrower notions.

Of notions which stand to each other in the relations of Subordination, - the one is the Higher or Superior (notio, conceptus, superior), the other the Lower or Inferior (notio, conceptus, inferior). The superior

notion is likewise called the Wider or Broader (latior), the inferior is likewise called the Narrower (angustior).¹

The meaning of these expressions is sufficiently manifest. A notion is called the *higher* or *superior*, inasmuch Explication. as it is viewed as standing over another in the relation of subordination, - as including it within its domain or sphere; and a correlative notion is called the *lower* or *inferior*, as thus standing under a superior. Again, the higher notion is called the wider or broader, as containing under it a greater number of things; the lower is called the *narrower*, as containing under it a smaller number.

Par. XXXIV. Universal and Particular notions.

¶ XXXIV. The higher or wider concept is also called, in contrast to the lower or narrower, a Universal or General Notion (νόημα καθόλου, notio, conceptus, universalis, generalis); the lower or narrower concept, in contrast to

the higher or wider, a Particular Notion, νόημα μερικόν, notio, conceptus particularis.²

The meaning of these expressions, likewise, requires no illustration. A notion is called *universal*, inasmuch as Explication. it is considered as binding up a multitude of parts or inferior concepts into the unity of a whole; for universus

means in unum versus or ad unum versus, that is, many turned into one, or many regarded as one, and universal is employed to denote the attribution of this relation to objects. A notion is called particular, inasmuch as it is considered as one of the parts of a higher concept or whole.

¶ XXXV. A superior concept, inasmuch as it constitutes a common attribute or character for a number of inferior concepts, is called a General Notion (νόημα καθόλου, notio conceptus generalis), or, in a single word, a Genus (yévos, genus). A

2 [See Ammonius, In De Interpret., f. 72 b., (Brandis, Scholia in Aristot., p. 113); Faccio-

¹ Cf. Krug, Logik, § 42. - ED.

lati, Rudimenta Logica, p. 39.1 [Logica, tom. i., P. I., c. iv. § 8, 4th edit., Venice, 1772. Cf. Krug, Logik, § 42. - ED.]

notion, inasmuch as it is considered as at once affording a com-

Par. XXXV. Genus and Species. mon attribution for a certain complement of inferior concepts or individual objects, and as itself an inferior concept, contained

under a higher, is called a Special Notion (νόημα είδικόν, notio, conceptus, specialis), or, in a single word, a Species (είδος, species). The abstraction which carries up species into genera, is called, in that respect, Generification, or, more loosely, Generalization. The determination which divides a genus into its species is called, in that respect, Specification. Genera and Species are both called Classes; and the arrangement of things under them is, therefore, Classification.¹

It is manifest that the distinction into Genera and Species is a

Explication. The distinction of Genus and Species merely relative. merely relative distinction; as the same notion is, in one respect, a genus, in another respect, a species. For except a notion has no higher notion, that is, except it be itself the widest or most universal notion, it may always be regarded

as subordinated to another; and, in so far as it is actually thus regarded, it is a species. Again, every notion except that which has under it only individuals, is, in so far as it is thus viewed, a genus. For example, the notion *triangle*, if viewed in relation to the notion of rectilineal figure, is a species, as is likewise rectilineal figure itself, as viewed in relation to figure simply. Again, the concept triangle is a genus, when viewed in reference to the concepts,right-angled triangle, acute-angled triangle, etc. A right-angled triangle is, however, only a species, and not possibly a genus, if under it be necessarily included individuals alone. But, in point of fact, it is impossible to reach in theory any lowest species; for we can always conceive some difference by which any concept may be divided ad infinitum. This, however, as it is only a speculative curiosity, like the infinitesimal divisibility of matter, may be thrown out of view in relation to practice; and, therefore, the definition, by Porphyry and logicians in general, of the lowest species (of which I am immediately to speak), is practically correct, even though it cannot be vindicated against theoretical objections. On the other hand, we soon and easily reach the highest genus, which is given in τό ὄν, ens aliquid, being, thing, something, etc., which are only various expressions of the same absolute universality. Out of these

1 Krug, Logik, § 43. - ED.

LECT. XI.

LOGIC.

conditions there arise certain denominations of concepts, which it is, likewise, necessary that you be made aware of.

In regard to the terms Generification and Specification, these are

Generification and Specification, — what. limited expressions for the processes of Abstraction and Determination, considered in a particular relation. Abstraction and Determination,

you will recollect, we have already spoken of in general;¹ it will, therefore, be only necessary to say a very few words in reference to them, as the several operations by which out of species we evolve genera, and out of genera we evolve species. And first, in regard

Generification.

to Abstraction and Generification. In every complex notion, we can limit our attention to its

constituent characters, to the exclusion of some one. We thus think away from this one, — we abstract from it. Now, the concept which remains, that is, the fasciculus of thought *minus* the one character which we have thrown out, is, in relation to the original, — the entire concept, the next higher, — the proximately superior notion. But a concept and a next higher concept are to each other as species and genus. The process of Abstraction, therefore, by which out of a proximately lower we evolve a proximately higher concept, is, when we speak with logical precision, called the process of Generification.

Take, for example, the concept man. This concept is proximately composed of the two concepts or constituent characters, animal and rational being. If we think either of these characters away from the other, we shall have in that other a proximately higher concept, to which the concept man stands in the relation of a species to its genus. If we abstract from animal, then man will stand as a species in subordination to the genus rational being, and the concept animal will then afford only a difference to distinguish man as a coördinate species from immaterial intelligences. If, on the other hand, we abstract from rational being, then man will stand as a species in subordination to the genus animal, having for a coördinate species irrational animal. Such is the process of Generification. Now for the converse process of Specification.

Every series of concepts which has been obtained by abstraction, specification. may be reproduced in an inverted order, when,

descending from the highest notion, we, step by step, add on the several characters from which we had abstracted in our ascent. This process, as you remember, is called *Determination*; — a very appropriate expression, inasmuch as by each charac-

ter or attribute which we add on, we limit or determine, more and more, the abstract vagueness or extension of the notion; until, at last, if every attribute be annexed, the sum of attributes contained in the notion becomes convertible with the sum of attributes of which some concrete individual or reality is the complement. Now, when we determine any notion by adding on a subordinate concept. we divide it; for the extension of the higher concepts is precisely equal to the extension of the added concept plus its negation. Thus, if to the concept animal we add on the next lower concept rational, we divide its extension into two halves, - the one equal to rational animal-the other equal to its negation, that is, to irrational animal. Thus an added concept and its negation always constitute the immediately lower notion, into which a higher notion is divided. But as a notion stands to the notions proximately subordinate to it, in the immediate relation of a genus to its species, the process of Determination, by which a concept is thus divided, is, in logical language, appropriately denominated Specification.

So much in general for the Subordination of notions, considered as Genera and Species. There are, however, various gradations of this relation, and certain terms by which these are denoted, which it is requisite that you should learn and lay up in memory. The most important of these are comprehended in the following paragraph:

Par. XXXVI. Gradations of Genera and Species, and their designations.

¶ XXXVI. A Genus is of two degrees, - a highest and a lower. In its highest degree, it is called the Supreme or Most General Genus (vévos γενικώτατον, genus summum or generalissimum), and is defined, "that which being a

genus cannot become a species." In its lower degree, it is called a Subaltern or Intermediate (γένος ὑπάλληλον, genus subalternum or medium), and is defined, "that which being a genus can also become a species." A Species also is of two degrees, - a lowest and a higher. In its lowest degree, it is called a Lowest or Most Special Species (cidos cidicúrarov, species infima, ultima, or specialissima),1 and is defined, "that which being a species cannot become a genus." In its higher degree, it is called a Subaltern or Intermediate Species (είδος ὑπάλληλον, species subalterna media), and is defined, "that which being a species may also become a genus." Thus a Subaltern Genus and a Subaltern Species are convertible.

1 Vide Timpler, p. 253, [Logicæ Systema, L. ii. c. l. q. 15. - ED.]

LECT. XI.

LOGIC.

The distinctions and definitions in this paragraph are taken from

Explication.

the celebrated Introduction¹ of Porphyry to the Categories of Aristotle, and they have been gen-

erally adopted by logicians. It is evident, that the only absolute distinction here established, is that between the Highest or Supreme Genus and the Lowest Species; for the other classes — to wit, the Subaltern or Intermediate — are, all and each, either genera or species, according as we regard them in an ascending or a descending order, — the same concept being a genus, if considered as a whole containing under it inferior concepts as parts, and a species, if considered as itself the part of a higher concept or whole. The distinction of concepts into Genus and Species, into Supreme and Intermediate Genus, into Lowest and Intermediate Species, is all that Logic takes into account; because these are all the distinctions of degree that are given necessarily in the form of thought, and as abstracted from all determinate matter.

It is, however, proper here to say a word in regard to the Cat-

Categories of Aristotle. egories or Predicaments of Aristotle. These are ten classes into which Existence is divided, viz., 1, Substance; 2, Quantity; 3, Quality; 4,

Relation; 5, Action; 6, Passion; 7, Where; 8, When; 9, Posture; and 10, Habit. (By this last is meant the relation of a containing to a contained.) They are comprehended in the two following verses:

> Arbor, sex servos, fervore, refrigerat ustos, Ruri eras stabo, nec tunicatus ero.²

In regard to the meaning of the word category, it is a term bor-

Original meaning and employment of the term category. rowed from the courts of law, in which it literally signifies an *accusation*. In a philosophical application, it has two meanings, or rather it is used in a general and in a restricted sense. In

its general sense, it means, in closer conformity to its original application, simply a *predication* or *attribution*; in its restricted sense, it has been deflected to denote predications or attributions of a very lofty generality, in other words, certain classes of a very wide extension. I may here notice, that, in modern philosophy, it has been very arbitrarily, in fact very abusively, perverted from both its primary and its secondary signification among the ancients. Aristotle first employed the term (for the supposition that he bor-

1 C ii., §§ 23, 28, 29.

Facciolati, Logica, [t. i., Rudimenta Logica, P. I. c. iii. p. 32. – ED.]

² Murmellii Isagoge, c. i. Vide Micrælius [Lex. Phil. v. Prædicamenta- Ep.] p. 1085.

rowed his categories, name and thing, from the Pythagorean Archytas is now exploded — the treatise under the name of this philosopher being proved to be a comparatively recent forgery¹), — I say, Aristotle first employed the term to denote a certain classification, *a posteriori*, of the modes of objective or real existence; ² and the word was afterwards employed and applied in the same manner

Kant's employment of the term.

by Plotinus,³ and other of the older philosophers. By Kant⁴ again, and, in conformity to his example, by many other recent philosophers, the

word has been usurped to denote the a priori cognitions, or fundamental forms of thought. Nor did Kant stop here; and I may

Transcendent and Transcendental, -- their original employment and use by Kant. explain to you the genealogy of another of his expressions, of which I see many of his German disciples are unaware. By the Schoolmen, whatever, as more general than the ten categories, could not be contained under them, was

said to rise beyond them — to *transcend* them; and, accordingly, such terms as *being*, one, whole, good, etc., were called *transcendent* or *transcendental* (*transcendentia* or *transcendentalia*).⁵ Kant, as he had twisted the term *category*, twisted also these correlative expressions from their original meaning. He did not even employ the two terms *transcendent* and *transcendental* as correlative. The

1 See Discussions, p. 140. - ED.

² See especially *Metaph.*, iv. 7. In the treatise specially devoted to them, the Categories are viewed rather in a grammatical than in a metaphysical aspect. — ED.

3 Enn. VI., l. i., c. i. - ED.

4 Kritik d. r V., p. 78 (ed. Rosenkranz), Prolegomena, § 39. – ED.

⁵ [See Facciolati, Rud., p. 39; and Inst., p. 26.] [Logica, t. i., Rudimenta Logica, P. I., c. iv., § 7. "Aliud est categoricum, quod significat certam quandam rem categoria comprchensam: aliud vagum, quod nulla categoria continetur, sed per omnes vagatur, cujusmodi sunt essentia, bonitas, ordo, et similia multa." Logica, t. ii., Institutiones Logica, P. I., c. ii. "Sunt quadam vocabula, quae vaga et transcendentia dicuntur; quod genus quodlibet exsuperent in omni categoria. Hujusmodi sunt ens, aliquid, res, unum, verum, bonum." Cf. Reid? Works, p. 687 note §. - ED.]

Excluded from the Aristotelic Categories, all except the following:

Ex parte rei — " Entia per sese, finita, realia, tota."

See others in Murmellius, Isagoge, c. i.;

Sanderson, p. 20, [Murmellius gives as his own the verses —

Complexum, Consignificans, Fictum, Polysemum,

Vox logicæ, Deus, Excedens, Prlvatio, Parsque,

Hæc, studiose, categoriis non accipiuntur.

And Sanderson (Logica, L. i. c. viii.), after citing the mnemonic of the Categories themselves, adds, "In aliqua istarum classium quicquid uspiam rerum est collocatur; modo sit unum quid, reale, completum, limitateque ac finitæ, naturæ. Exulant ergo bis sedibus Intentiones Secundæ, Privationes, et Ficta, quia non sunt realia; Concreta, Equivoca, et Compleza, quia non sunt una; Pars, quia non est completum quid; Deus, quia non est finitæ; Transcendens, quia non est limitatæ naturæ. Hinc versiculi:

- Complexum, Consignificans, Privatio, Fictum,
- Pars, Deus, Æquivocum, Transcendens, Ens rationis:
- Sunt exclusa decem classibus ista novem." — ED.]

[That the Categories of Aristotle are not applicable to God, see (Pseudo) Augustin, De Cognitione Veræ Vitæ, c. iii.]

Ex parte vocis-"Vox una et simplex, rebus concinua locandis."

LECT. XI.

latter he applied as a synonym for *a priori*, to denote those elements of thought which were native and necessary to the mind itself, and which, though not manifested out of experience, were still not contingently derived from it by an *a posteriori* process of generalization. The term *transcendent*, on the contrary, he applied to all pretended knowledge that transcended experience, and was not given in an original principle of the mind. *Transcendental* he thus applied in a favorable, *transcendent* in a condemnatory acceptation.¹ But to return from this digression.

The Categories of Aristotle do not properly constitute a logical,

Categories of Aristotle Metaphysical. but a metaphysical, treatise; and they are, accordingly, not overlooked in the Aristotelic books on the First Philosophy, which have ob-

tained the name of *Metaphysics* ($\tau \dot{\alpha} \mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha} \tau \dot{\alpha} \phi \nu \sigma \kappa \dot{\alpha}$). Their insertion in the series of the surviving treatises of Aristotle on a logical argument, is, therefore, an error.²

But, looking at these classes as the highest genera into which simple being is divided, they are, I think, obnoxious to various ob-

Categories criticized as a classification of Being. jections. Without pausing to show that in other respects they are imperfect, it is manifest that the supreme genus or category *Being* is not immediately divided into these ten classes, and

that they neither constitute coördinate nor distinct species. For Being (to ov, ens) is primarily divided into Being by itself (ens per se), and Being by accident (ens per accidens). Being by itself corresponds to the first Category of Aristotle, equivalent to substance; Being by accident comprehends the other nine, but is, I think, more properly divided in the following manner : - Being by accident is viewed either as absolute or as relative. As absolute, it flows either from the matter, or from the form of things. If from the matter, it is Quantity, Aristotle's second category; if from the form, it is Quality, Aristotle's third category. As relative, it corresponds to Aristotle's fourth category, Relation ; and to Relation all the other six may be reduced. For the category Where is the relation of a thing to other things in space; the category When is the relation of a thing to other things in time. Action and Passion constitute a single relation, - the relation of the agent and the patient. Posture is the relation of the parts of the body to each other; finally, Habit

1 Kritik d. r. V., p. 240, edit. Rosenkranz. - ED.

² That the Categories of Aristotle are not logical but metaphysical, see C. Carleton; [Thomas Compton Carleton, *Philosophia*, *Unitersa*, *Disp. Met.* d. vi. § 1. - ED.] ³ With this classification of the Categories, compare Aquinas, In Arist. Metaphe, L. v. lect. 9. Suarez, Disputationes Metaphysica. Disp. 39, §§ 12, 15. - ED.

LECT. XI.

LOGIC.

is the relation of a thing containing and a thing contained. The little I have now said in regard to the categories of Aristotle is more, perhaps, than I was strictly warranted to say, considering them, as I do, as wholly extralogical, and I have merely referred to them as exhibiting an example of the application of the doctrine of classification.¹

I may, likewise, notice, by the way, that in the physical sciences of

Names for the different steps in the series of classes in the physical sciences of arrangement. arrangement, the best instances of which are seen in the different departments of Natural History, it is found necessary, in order to mark the relative place of each step in the ascending and descending series of classes, to bestow on it a particular designation. Thus *kingdom*, *class*, *order*, *tribe*,

family, genus, subgenus, species, subspecies, variety, and the like, are terms that serve conveniently to mark out the various degrees of generalization, in its application to the descriptive sciences of nature. With such special applications and contingent differences, Logic has, however, no concern. I therefore proceed to the last relative denomination of concepts under the head of Subordination in Extension. It is expressed in the following paragraph:

¶ XXXVII. A genus as containing under it species, or a species as containing under it individuals, is called a Logical, or Universal, or Subject, or Subjective, or Potential Whole; while species as contained under a genus, and in-

dividuals as contained under a species, are called *Logical*, or *Universal*, or *Subject*, or *Subjective*, or *Potential Parts*. E con-

¹ There is nothing in regard to which a greater diversity of opinion has prevailed, even among Logicians, than the number of Categories. For some allow only two – Substance and Mode; others three – Substance, Mode, and Relation; others four – Mind, Space, Matter, and Motion; others seven which are comprehended in the following distich:

" Mens, Mensura, Quies, Motus, Positura, Figura,

Crassaque Materies, dederunt exordia rebus." Second line better —

"Sunt cum Materia, cunctarum exordia rerum."

Aristotle's Logic, c. ii. §§ 1,2; Reid's Account of, Works, p. 655 et seq. See Facciolati, Logica, t. i. Rudimenta Logica, P. I., c. iii. p. 32, Purchot, Instit. Philos., t. i. Logica, p. 82, ed. 1716. Chauvin, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Categorema. [For various attempts at reduction and classification of the categories, see Plotinus, Ennead , VI. L. ii., c. 8 et seq. (Tennemann, Gesch. der Phil., vi., p. 175 et seg.) David the Armenian, in Brandis, Scholia ad Aristot., p. 49. Ramus, Animad. Aristot [L. iv., p. 80 et seq., ed. 1550, Ed.] Jo. Picus Mirandulanus, Conclusiones, Opera, p. 90, ed. Basil, 1572; Laurentius Valla, [Dialectica Disputationes, cc. i. ii. - ED.] Eugenios, Λογική p. 125 et seq. On categoric tables of various authors, see Denzinger, Inst. Log , ii. § 606, p. 55. On history of categories in antiquity, see Petersen, Chrysippeæ Phil. Fundamenta. p. 1 et seq. For the doctrines of the Platonists and Stoics on the subject of the Categories, see Facciolati, Inst. Log., [Logica t. ii., p. ii., p. 84 et seq. Cf. Trendelenburgh, Geschichte der Kategorienlehre, pp. 251, 267. - ED.]

142

verso, - an individual as containing in it species, or a species as containing in it genera, is called a Metaphysical or Formal or Actual Whole; while species as contained in an individual, and genera as contained in species, are called Metaphysical, or Formal, or Actual Parts.¹ This nomenclature, however, in so far as metaphysical is opposed to logical, is inept; for we shall see that both those wholes and parts are equally logical, and that logicians have been at fault in considering one of them, in their doctrine of reasoning, to the exclusion of the other.

A whole is that which contains parts; a part is that which is contained in a whole. But as the relation of a Explication. whole and parts is a relation dependent on the point of view from which the mind contemplates the objects of its knowledge, and as there are different points of view in which these may be considered, it follows that there may also be different wholes and parts. Philosophers have, accordingly, made various enumerations of wholes; and, without perplexing you with any minute discussion of their various divisions, it may be proper, in order to make you better aware of the two wholes with which Logic is conversant, --- (and that there are two logical wholes, and consequently, two grand forms of reasoning, and not one alone, as all logicians

General view of the various possible Wholes.

have hitherto taught, I shall hereafter endeavor to convince you), - to this end, I say, it may be expedient to give you a general view of the various wholes into which the human mind may

group up the objects of its speculation.

Wholes may first be divided into two genera, - into a Whole

Whole per se, and Whole per accidens.

by itself (totum per se), and a Whole by accident (totum per accidens). A Whole per se is that which the parts of their proper nature

necessarily constitute; thus body and soul constitute the man. A Whole per accidens is that which the parts make up contingently; as when man is considered as made up of the poor and the rich. A Whole per se may, again, be subdivided into five kinds, into a

Whole per se divided into, 1°, Logical; 2°, Metaphysical.

Logical, a Metaphysical, a Physical, a Mathematical, and a Collective. 1°, A Logical, styled also a Universal, a Subject or Subjective, a Potential Whole; and, 2°, A Metaphysical, styled

also a Formal or an Actual Whole, - these I have defined in the para-

I See Timpler, Logica, [p. 232 et seq.] Fac- ica Restituta, P. III., c. ii., § 2, ed. Genevæ, siolati, [Logica, t. i., Rudimenta Logica, P. II., 1668. - ED.] Burgersdyk, [Institutiones Log-

c. vi., p. 51, 52. - ED.] Derodon, p. 447 [Log- ica, p. 51. - ED.]

graph. It is manifest that the logical and metaphysical wholes are the converse of each other. For as the logical whole is the genus, the logical parts the species and individual; in the metaphysical, *e contra*, an individual is the whole of which the species, a species the whole of which the genera, are the parts. A metaphysical whole is thus manifestly the whole determined by the comprehension of a concept, as a logical whole is that whole determined by its extension; and if it can be shown that the whole of comprehension affords the conditions of a process of reasoning equally valid, equally useful, equally easy, and, to say the least of it, equally natural, as that afforded by the whole of the extension, it must be allowed that it is equally well entitled to the name of a logical whole, as the whole which has hitherto exclusively obtained that

^{3°, Physical.} denomination. 3°, A Physical, or, as it is likewise called, an Essential Whole, is that which consists of matter and of form, in other words, of substance and of

4°, Mathematical.

accident, as its essential parts. 4°, A Mathematical, called likewise a Quantitative, an In-

tegral, more properly an Integrate, Whole (*totum integratum*), is that which is composed of integral, or, more properly, of integrant parts (*partes integrantes*). In this whole every part lies out of every other part, whereas, in a physical whole, the matter and form, the substance and accident, permeate and modify each other. Thus, in the integrate whole of a human body, the head, body, and limbs, its

^{5°}, Collective. integrant parts, are not contained in, but each lies out of, each other. 5°, A Collective, styled also a Whole of Aggregation, is that which has its material parts separate and accidentally thrown together, as an army, a heap of stones, a pile of wheat, etc.¹

But to proceed now to an explanation of the terms in the paragraph last dictated. Of these, none seem to require any exposition, save the words *subjective* and *potential*, as synonyms applied to a Logical or Universal whole or parts.

The former of these, - the term subjective, or more properly sub-

The terms *subject* and *subjective* as applied to Logical whole and parts.

ject, as applied to the species as parts subjacent to, or lying under, a genus, —to the individuals, as parts subjacent to, or lying under, a species, is a clear and appropriate expression. But, as applied to genus or species, considered as

wholes, the term *subject* is manifestly improper, and the term *subjective* hardly defensible. In like manner, the term *universal*, as

1 See above, p. 143, note. - ED.

LECT. XI.

applied to genus or species, considered as logical wholes, is correct; but as applied to individuals, considered as logical parts, it is used in opposition to its proper meaning. The desire, however, to obtain epithets common both to the parts and to the whole, and thus to indicate at once the relation in general, has caused logicians to violate the proprieties both of language and of thought. But as the terms have been long established, I think it sufficient to put you on your guard by this observation.

In regard to the term potential, - I shall, before saying anything,

The term *potential*. Lord Monboddo quoted. read to you a passage from the Antient Metaphysics of the learned Lord Monboddo.¹ "In the first place, it is impossible, by the nature of things, that the genus should contain the species

as a part of it, and the species should likewise contain the genus, in the same respect. But, in different respects, it is possible that each of them may contain the other, and be contained by it. We must, therefore, try to distinguish the different manners of containing, and being contained. And there is a distinction that runs through the whole of ancient philosophy, solving many difficulties that are otherwise unsurmountable, and which, I hope, will likewise solve this difficulty. The distinction I mean is the distinction betwixt what exists δυνάμει, or potentially only, and that which exists ένεργεία, or actually. In the first sense, everything exists in its causes; and, in the other sense, nothing exists but what is actually produced. Now, in this first sense, the whole species exists in the genus; for the genus virtually contains the whole species, not only what actually exists of it, but what may exist of it in any future time. In the same manner, the lowest species, below which there is nothing but individuals, contains virtually all those individuals, present and future. Thus, the species man comprehends all the individuals now existing, or that shall hereafter exist; which, therefore, are said to be parts of the species man. On the other hand, the genus is actually contained in the species; and the species, likewise, in each of the individuals under it. Thus, the genus animal is actually contained in the species man, without which it could not be conceived to exist. And, for the same reason, the species man is actually contained in each individual. It is a piece of justice which I think I owe to an anthor, hardly known at all in the western parts of Europe, to acknowledge that I got the hint of the solution of this difficulty from him. The author I mean is a living Greek author, Eugenius Diaconus, at present Professor, as I am informed, in the

145

Patriarch's University at Constantinople, who has written an excellent system of logic in very good Attic Greek." This, or rather a similar passage at p. 73 of the fourth volume of

Stewart's strictures on this passage considered.

the Antient Metaphysics, affords Mr. Stewart an opportunity of making sundry unfavorable strictures on the technical language of Logic, in regard to which he asserts, "the adepts are not,

to this day, unanimously agreed;" and adds, that "it is an extraordinary circumstance, that a discovery on which, in Lord Monboddo's opinion, the whole truth of the syllogism depends, should be of so very recent a date."1 Now this is another example which may serve to put you on your guard against any confidence in the assertions and arguments even of learned men. You may be surprised to hear, that so far is Eugenius from being the author of this observation, and of the term potential as applied to a logical whole, that both are to be found, with few exceptions, in all the older systems of Logic. To quote only one, but one of the best and best known, that of Burgersdyck, - he says, speaking of the logical whole: "Et quia universale subjectas species et individua non actu continet sed potentia; factum est, ut hoc totum dictum sit totum potentiale, cum ceteræ species totius dicantur totum actuale, quia partes suas actu continent."2 Aristotle notices this difference of the two wholes.3

Having thus terminated the consideration of concepts as reciprocally related in the perpendicular line of Subordination, and in the quantity of Extension, in so far as they are viewed as containing classes, — I must, before proceeding to consider them under this quantity in the horizontal line of Coördination, state to you two terms by which characters or concepts are denominated, in so far as they are viewed as differences by which a concept is divided into two subordinate parts.

¶ XXXVIII. The character, or complement of characters, by

Par. XXXVIII. Generic, Specific, and Individual Difference. which a lower genus or species is distinguished, both from the genus to which it is subordinate, and from the other genera or species with which it is coördinated, is

called the Generic or the Specific Difference (διαφορà γενική, and διαφορà εἰδική, differentia generica, and differentia specifica). The sum of characters, again, by which a singular or individual

1 Elements, vol. ii., c. iii., § 1; Works, vol. iii., p 199 and p. 200, note.

³ Vide Timpler, Logica, [L II. c. i. De Toto et Parte. - ED.]

² Lib. 1., c. xiv., p. 43, ed. 1660. - ED.

LECT. XI.

LOGIC.

thing is discriminated from the species under which it stands and from other individual things along with which it stands, is called the Individual or Singular or Numerical Difference (differentia individualis vel singularis vel numerica).¹

Two things are thus said to be generically different, inasmuch as they lie apart in two different genera; specifi-

Explication.

cally different, inasmuch as they lie apart in two different species; individually or numerically different, inasmuch as they do not constitute one and the same reality. Thus animal and stone may be said to be generically different; horse and ox to be

Generic and Specific Difference.

specifically different; Highflyer and Eclipse to be numerically or individually different. It is evident, however, that as all genera and species,

except the highest of the one and the lowest of the other may be styled indifferently either genera or species, generic difference and specific difference are in general only various expressions of the same thing; and, accordingly, the terms heterogeneous and homogeneous, which apply properly only to the correlation of genera, are usually applied equally to the correlation of species.

"Individual existences can only be perfectly discriminated in Per-

Individual or Singular Difference.

ception, external or internal, and their numerical differences are endless; for of all possible contradictory attributes the one or the other must, on

the principles of Contradiction and Excluded Middle, be considered as belonging to each individual thing. On the other hand, species and genera may be perfectly discriminated by one or few characters. For example, man, is distinguished from every genus or species of animal by the one character of rationality; triangle, from every other class of mathematical figures, by the single character of trilaterality. It is, therefore, far easier adequately to describe a genus or species than an individual existence; as in the latter case, we must select, out of the infinite multitude of characters which an individual comprises, a few of the most prominent, or those by which the thing may most easily be recognized."² But as those which we thus select are only a few, and are only selected with reference to our faculty of apprehension and our capacity of memory, they always constitute only a petty, and often not the most essential part of the numerical differences by which the individuality of the object is determined.

Having now terminated the consideration of the Subordination of

1 Krug, Logik, § 45. - ED.

concepts under Extension, it is only necessary to observe that their Coördination under that quantity affords nothing which requires explanation, except what is contained in the following paragraph:

¶ XXXIX. Notions, in so far as they are considered the coördinate species of the same genus may be called *Conspecies*; and in so far as Conspecies are considered to be different but not contradictory, they are properly called *Discrete* or *Disjunct Notions* (notiones discretæ vel disjunctæ). The term *Disparate* (notiones disparatæ) is frequently applied to this opposition of notions, but less properly; for this ought to be reserved to denote the corresponding opposition of notions in the quantity of Comprehension.

I conclude the consideration of concepts, as dependent on Extension, by a statement of the two general laws, by which both Subordination and Coördination of notions, under this quantity, are regulated.

¶ XL. The whole classification of things by Genera and

Par. XL. The two general laws by which Subordination and Coordination, under Extension, are regulated, - viz., of Homogeneity and Heterogeneity. Species is governed by two laws. The one of these, the law of *Homogeneity* (principium Homogeneitatis), is, — That how different soever may be any two concepts, they both still stand subordinated under some higher concept; in other words, things the most dissimilar must, in certain respects,

be similar. The other, the law of *Heterogeneity (principium Heterogeneitatis)*, is, — That every concept contains other concepts under it; and, therefore, when divided proximately, we descend always to other concepts, but never to individuals; in other words, things the most homogeneous — similar — must, in certain respects, be heterogeneous — dissimilar.

Of these two laws, the former, as the principle which enables,

Explication. Generification and Specification. and in fact compels, us to rise from species to genus, is that which determines the process of Generification; and the latter, as the principle which enables, and in fact compels, us to find

always species under a genus, is that which regulates the process of Specification. The second of these laws, it is evident, is only true ideally, only true in theory. The infinite divisibility of concepts,

LECT. XI.

LOGIC.

like the infinite divisibility of space and time, exists only in specula-

Law of Heterogeneity true only in theory. tion. And that it is theoretically valid, will be manifest, if we take two similar concepts, that is, two concepts with a small difference: let us then clearly represent to ourselves this difference,

and we shall find that how small soever it may be, we can always conceive it still less, without being nothing, that is, we can divide it *ad infinitum;* but as each of these infinitesimally diverging differences affords always the condition of new species, it is evident that we can never end, that is, reach the individual, except *per saltum*.¹

There is another law, which Kant promulgates in the *Critique* of *Pure Reason*² and which may be called the law of Logical

Law of Logical Affinity. Affinity, or the law of Logical Continuity. It is this, — That no two coördinate species touch so closely on each other, but that we can con-

ceive other or others intermediate. Thus man and orang-outang, elephant and rhinoceros, are proximate species, but still how great is the difference between them, and how many species can we not imagine to ourselves as possibly interjacent?

This law I have, however, thrown out of account, as not univer-

Grounds on which this law must be rejected. sally true. For it breaks down when we apply it to mathematical classifications. Thus all angles are either acute or right or obtuse. For between these three coördinate species or genera

no others can possibly be interjected, though we may always subdivide each of these, in various manners, into a multitude of lower species. This law is also not true when the coördinate species are distinguished by contradictory attributes. There can in these be no interjacent species, on the principle of Excluded Middle. For example: — in the Cuvierian classification the genus *animal* is divided into the two species of *vertebrata* and *invertebrata*, that is, into animals with a backbone — with a spinal marrow; and animals without a backbone — without a spinal marrow. Is it possible to conceive the possibility of any intermediate class?³

² P. 510, ed. Rosenkranz, Cf. Krug, Logik, p. 138. – ED.

¹ Cf. Krug, Logik, § 45 p. 135, and pp. 136, 137. - ED.

³ Bachmann, [Logik, § 61, pp. 102, 103. – ED.] [Compare Fries, Logik, § 21. – ED.]

LECTURE XII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

I. — ENNOEMATIC.

III. RECIPROCAL RELATIONS OF CONCEPTS.

B. QUANTITY OF COMPREHENSION.

HAVING now concluded the consideration of the Reciprocal Re-

Reciprocal Relation of notions in Comprehension. lation of Concepts as determined by the quantity of Extension, I proceed to treat of that relation as regulated by the counter quantity of Comprehension. On this take the following

paragraph : ---

¶ XLI. When two or more concepts are compared together according to their Comprehension, they either coincide or they do not; that is, they either do or do not comprise the same characters. Notions are thus divided into Iden-

tical and Different (conceptus identici et diversi). The Identical are either absolutely or relatively the same. Of notions Absolutely Identical there are actually none; notions Relatively Identical are called, likewise, Similar or Cognate (notiones similes, affines, cognate); and if the common attributes, by which they are allied, be proximate and necessary, they are called Reciprocating or Convertible (notiones reciprocæ, convertibiles).¹

In explanation of this paragraph, it is only necessary to say a word in regard to notions absolutely Identical. That such are LECT. XII.

LOGIC.

impossible, is manifest. "For, it being assumed that such exist,

Explication. Absolutely Identical notious impossible. as absolutely identical, they necessarily have no differences by which they can be distinguished : but what are indiscernible can be known, neither as two concepts, nor as two identical concepts;

because we are, ex hypothesi, unable to discriminate the one from the other. They are, therefore, to us as one. Notions absolutely identical can only be admitted, if, abstracting our view altogether from the concepts, we denominate those notions *identical*, which have reference to one and the same object, and which are conceived either by different minds, or by the same mind, but at different times. Their difference is, therefore, one not intrinsic and necessary, but only extrinsic and contingent. Taken in this sense, Absolutely Identical notions will be only a less correct expression for Reciprocating or Convertible notions."¹

¶ XLII. Considered under their Comprehension, concepts, again, in relation to each other, are said to be either Congruent or Agreeing, inasmuch as they may be connected in thought; or

Conflictive, inasmuch as they cannot. The confliction constitutes the Opposition of notions ($\tau \delta$ $d \tau \tau \kappa \epsilon \hat{a} \sigma \vartheta a$, oppositio). This is twofold; — 1°, Immediate or Contradictory Opposition, called likewise Repugnance ($\tau \delta$ $d \tau \tau \iota \phi a \tau \iota \kappa \delta \sigma \vartheta a$, $d \tau \tau \iota \phi a \sigma \iota s$, oppositio immediata sive contradictoria, repugnantia); and, 2°, Mediate or Contrary Opposition ($\tau \delta$ $d \tau \iota \tau \iota \kappa \delta \sigma \vartheta a$, $d \tau \tau \iota \kappa \delta \sigma \vartheta a$, $d \tau \tau \iota \sigma \sigma s$, oppositio mediata vel contraria). The former emerges when one concept abolishes (tollit), directly or by simple negation, what another establishes (ponit); the latter, when one concept does this not directly or by simple negation, but through the affirmation of something else.²

"Identity is not to be confounded with Agreement or Congruence, nor Diversity with Confliction. All iden-

Explication. Identity and Agreement, Diversity and Confliction. ence, nor Diversity with Confliction. All identical concepts are, indeed, congruent; but all congruent notions are not identical. Thus *learning* and *virtue*, *beauty* and *riches*, *magnanimity* and *stature*, are congruent notions, inasmuch as,

in thinking a thing, they can easily be combined in the notion we form of it, although in themselves very different from each other.

1 [Esser, Logik, § 36, p. 79.] Cf. Krug, Logik,
2 Cf. Drobisch, Logik, p. 17, § 25 seq.
§ 37, and Anm. j. - ED.

arez.

LECT. XII.

In like manner, all conflictive notions are diverse or different notions, for unless different, they could not be mutually conflictive; but on the other hand, all different concepts are not conflictive; but those only whose difference is so great that each involves the negation of the other; as, for example, *virtue* and *vice*, *beauty* and *deformity*, *wealth* and *poverty*. Thus these notions are by preëminence, — $\kappa a \tau'$ $\dot{\epsilon} \xi_{0\chi} \dot{\eta} \nu$, — said to be *opposed*, although it is true that, in thinking, we can oppose, or place in antithesis, not only different, but even identical, concepts."

"To speak now of the distinction of Contradictory and Contrary

Contradictory and Contrary Opposition. Contrary Opposition. Contrary Opposition. Contrary Opposition. Contrary Opposition. Contradiction of these the former — Contradiction — is exemplified in the opposites, — yellow, not yel. Low, walking, not walking. Here each notion is directly, immedia ately, and absolutely, repugnant to the other, — they are reciprocal negatives. This opposition is, therefore, properly called that of Contradiction or of Repugnance; and the opposing notions themselves are contradictory or repugnant notions, in a single word, contradictories. The latter, or Contrary Opposition, is exemplified in the opposites, yellow, blue, red, etc., walking, standing, lying, etc."

"In the case of Contradictory Opposition, there are only two conflictive attributes conceivable; and of these one or other must be predicated of the object thought. In the case of Contrary Opposition, on the other hand, more than two conflictive characters are possible, and it is not, therefore, necessary, that if one of these be not predicated of an object, any one other must. Thus, though I cannot at once sit and stand, and consequently *sitting* and *standing* are attributes each severally incompatible with the other; yet I may exist neither sitting nor standing,—I may lie; but I must either sit or not sit, I must either stand or not stand, etc. Such, in general, are the oppositions of Contradiction and Contrariety." "It is now necessary to say a word in regard to their logical sig-

Logical significance of Contradictory and Contrary Opposition. nificance. Immediate or Contradictory Opposition constitutes, in Logic, affirmative and negative notions. By the former something is posited or affirmed (*ponitur*, affirmatur); by

the latter, something is sublated or denied (*tollitur*, *negatur*). This, however, is only done potentially, in so far as concepts are viewed apart from judgments, for actual affirmation and actual negation suppose an act of judgment; but, at the same time, in so far as two concepts afford the elements, and, if brought into relation, necessitate the formation of an affirmative or negative proposition, they may be considered as in themselves negative and affirmative."

152

LECT. XII.

LOGIC.

"Further, it is evident that a notion can only be logically denied by a contradiction. For when we abstract from the matter of a notion, as Logic does, it is impossible to know that one concept excludes another, unless the one be supposed the negation of the other. Logically considered, all positive or affirmative notions are congruent, that is, they can, as far as their form is concerned, be all mul- C conceived or thought together; but whether in reality they can die coëxist - that cannot be decided by logical rules. If, therefore, we would, with logical precision and certainty, oppose things, we must oppose them not as contraries (A B C), but as contradictories $(A - not \ A \ B - not \ B \ C - not \ C)$. Hence it also follows, that there is no negation conceivable without the concomitant conception of an affirmation; for we cannot deny a thing to exist, without having a notion of the existence which is denied."1

There are also certain other relations subsisting between notions, compared together in reference to their Comprehension.

¶ XLIII. Notions, as compared with each other in respect of their Comprehension, are further distin-Par. XLIII. Intringuished into Intrinsic and Extrinsic. The sic notions. former are made up of those attributes

which are essential, and, consequently, necessary to the object of the notion : these attributes, severally considered, are called Essentials, or Internal Denominations (ovoruby, essentialia, denominationes internee, intrinsicae), and, conjunctly, the Essence (ovoía, essentia). The latter, on the contrary, consist of those attributes which belong to the object of the notion only in a contingent manner, or by possibility; and which are, therefore, styled Accidents, or Extrinsic Denominations (συμβεβηκότα, accidentia, denominationes externæ or extrinsicæ).²

So much for the mutual relations of notions in reference to their Comprehension, when considered not in the relations of Involution and Coördination.

Involution and Coordination of Concepts under Comprehension, - these wholly neglected by logicians.

Having thus given you the distinctions of notions, as founded on their more general relations under the quantity of Comprehension, I now proceed to consider them under this quantity in their proximate relations; that is, in the relation of Involution and the relation of Coördi-

These relations have been, I may say, altogether neglected nation.

1 Krug, Logik, p. 118-120. - ED.

2 Krug, Logik, § 39,- ED.

L.E. n

Hence reasoning in comprehension overlooked by logicians.

by logicians; and, in consequence of this, they have necessarily overlooked one of the two great divisions of all reasoning; for all our reasoning is either from the whole to the parts and from the parts to the whole, in the quantity of extension, or from the

whole to the parts and from the parts to the whole, in the quantity of comprehension. In each quantity there is a deductive, and in each quantity there is an inductive, inference; and if the reasoning under either of these two quantities were to be omitted, it ought, perhaps, to have been the one which the logicians have exclusively cultivated. For the quantity of extension is a creation of the mind itself, and only created through, as abstracted from, the quantity of comprehension; whereas the quantity of comprehension is at once given in the very nature of things. The former quantity is thus secondary and factitious, the latter primary and natural.

That logicians should have neglected the process of reasoning

But probably contemplated by Aristotlé.

which is competent between the parts and whole of the quantity of comprehension, is the more remarkable, as, after Aristotle, they have in general articulately distinguished the two quantities

from each other, and, after Aristotle, many of them have explicitly enounced the special law on which the logic of comprehension proceeds. This principle established, but not applied, is expressed in the axiom — The character of the character is the character of the thing; or, The predicate of the predicate is the predicate of the subject (Nota notæ est nota rei ipsius; Prædicatum prædicati est prædicatum subjecti). This axiom is enounced by Aristotle;¹ and its application, I have little doubt, was fully understood by him. In fact, I think it even possible to show in detail that his whole analysis of the syllogism has reference to both quantities, and that the great abstruseness of his Prior Analytics, the treatise in which he develops the general forms of reasoning, arises from this, -- that he has endeavored to rise to formulæ sufficiently general to express at once what was common to both kinds ; - an attempt so far beyond the intelligence of subsequent logicians, that they have wholly misunderstood and perverted his doctrine. They understand this doctrine, only as applied to the reasoning in extensive quantity; and in relation to this kind of reasoning, they have certainly made palpable and easy what in Aristotle is abstract and difficult. But then they did not observe that Aristotle's doctrine applies to two species. of which they only consider one. It was certainly proper to bring

LECT. XII.

down the Aristotelic logic from its high abstraction, and to deliver its rules in proximate application to each of the two several species of reasoning. This would have been to fill up the picture of which the Stagirite had given the sketch. But by viewing the analytic as exclusively relative to the reasoning in extension, though they simplified the one-half of syllogistic, they altogether abolished the This mistake - this partial conception of the science - is other. common to all logicians, ancient and modern; for in so far as I am aware, no one has observed, that of the quantities of comprehension and extension, each affords a reasoning proper to itself; and no one has noticed that the doctrine of Aristotle has reference indifferently to both; although some, I know, having perceived in general that we do reason under the quantity of comprehension, have on that founded an objection to all reasoning under the quantity of extension, that is, to the whole science of Logic as at present constituted. I have, in some degree, at present spoken of matters which properly find their development in the sequel; and I have made this anticipation, in order that you should attend particularly to the relation of concepts, under the quantity of comprehension, as containing and contained, inasmuch as this affords the foundation of one, and that not the least important, of the two great branches, into which all reasoning is divided.

¶ XLIV. We have seen that of the two quantities of notions each affords a logical Whole and Parts; and that, by opposite errors, the one of these has, through over inclusion, been called the *logical*; whilst the other has,

through over exclusion, been called the *metaphysical*. Thus, in respect of their Comprehension, no less than of their Extension, notions stand to each other in a relation of Containing and Contained; and this relation, which, in the one quantity (extension) is styled that of *Subordination*, may in the other (comprehension), for distinction's sake, be styled that of *Involution*. Coördination is a term which may be applied in either quantity.¹

In the quantity of comprehension, one notion is involved in another, when it forms a part of the sum total of characters, which together constitute the comprehension of that other; and two notions are in this quantity coördinated, when, whilst neither comprehends the other, both are immediately comprehended in the same lower concept.

1 [Cf. Drobisch, Logik, §§ 22, 23. Fischer, Logik, § 49.]

Explication.

From what has been formerly stated, you are aware that the quantity of comprehension, belonging to a no-

tion, is the complement of characters which it contains in it; and that this quantity is at its maximum in an individual. Thus the notion of the individual Socrates, contains in it, besides a multitude of others, the characters of Son of Sophroniscus, Athenian, Greek, European, man, animal, organized being, etc. But these notions, these characters, are not all equally proximate and immediate; some are only given in and through others. Thus the character Athenian is applicable to Socrates only in and through that of Son of Sophroniscus, - the character of Greek, only in and through that of Athenian, - the character of European, only in and through that of Greek, - and so forth; in other words, Socrates is an Athenian only as the son of Sophroniscus, only a Greek as an Athenian, only a European as a Greek, only a man as a European, only an animal as a man, only an organized being as an animal. Those characters, therefore, that are given in and through others, stand to these others in the relation of parts to wholes; and it is only on the principle - Part of the part is a part of the whole, that the remoter parts are the parts of the primary whole. Thus, if we know that the individual Socrates comprehends the character son of Sophroniscus, and that the character son of Sophroniscus comprehends the character Athenian; we are then warranted in saying that Socrates comprehends Athenian, in other words, that Socrates is an Athenian. The example here taken is too simple to show in what manner our notions are originally evolved out of the more complex into the more simple, and that the progress of science is nothing more than a progressive unfolding into distinct consciousness of the various elements comprehended in the characters, originally known to us in their vague or confused totality.

Controversy regarding the Primum Cognitum.

It is a famous question among philosophers, - Whether our knowledge commences with the general or with the individual, — whether children first employ common, or first employ proper, names. In this controversy, the reasoners have severally proved

the opposite opinion to be untenable; but the question is at once solved by showing that a third opinion is the true, - viz, that our knowledge commences with the confused and complex, which, as regarded in one point of view or in another, may easily be mistaken either for the individual, or for the general. The discussion of this problem belongs, however, to Psychology, not to Logic.¹ It is sufficient to say in general, that all objects are presented to us in
LECT. XII.

complexity; that we are at first more struck with the points of resemblance than with the points of contrast; that the earliest notions, and, consequently, the earliest terms, are those that correspond to this synthesis, while the notions and the terms arising from an analysis of this synthesis into its parts, are of a subsequent formation. But though it be foreign to the province of Logie to develop the history of this procedure; yet, as this procedure is natural to the human mind, Logie must contain the form by which it is regulated. It must not only enable us to reason from the simple and general to the complex and individual; it must, likewise, enable us to reverse the process, and to reason from the complex and individual to the simple and the general. And this it does by that relation of notions as containing and contained, given in the quantity of comprehension. The nature of this reasoning can

In Comprehension, the involving notion is the more complex; the involved, the more simple. indeed only be shown, when we come to treat of syllogism; at present, I only request that you will bear in mind the relations of Involution and Coördination, in which notions stand to each other in the whole or quantity of comprehension. In this quantity the involving no-

tion or whole is the more complex notion; the involved notion or part is the more simple. Thus *pigeon* as comprehending *bird*, *bird* as comprehending *feathered*, *feathered* as comprehending *warmblooded*, *warm-blooded* as comprehending *heart with four cavities*, *heart with four cavities* as comprehending *breathing with lungs*, are severally to each other as notions involving and involved. Again, notions, in the whole of comprehension, are coördinated when they

Coördination in Comprehension. stand together as constituting parts of the notion in which they are both immediately comprehended. Thus the characters *oviparous* and

warm-blooded, heart with four cavities, and breathing by lungs, as all immediately contributing to make up the comprehension of the notion bird, are, in this respect, severally considered as its coördinate parts. These characters are not relative and correlative — not containing and contained. For we have oviparous animals which are not warm-blooded, and warm-blooded animals which are not oviparous. Again, it is true, I believe, that all warm-blooded animals have hearts with four cavities (two auricles and two ventricles), and that all animals with such hearts breathe by lungs and not by gills. But then, in this case, we have no right to suppose that the first of these characters comprehends the second, and that the second comprehends the third. For we should be equally entitled to assert, that all animals breathing by lungs possessed hearts of four

cavities, and that all animals with such hearts are warm-blooded. They are thus thought as mutually the conditions of each other; and whilst we may not know their reciprocal dependence, they are, however, conceived by us, as on an equal footing of coördination. (This at least is true of the two attributes *heart with four cavities* and *breathing by lungs*; for these must be viewed as coördinate; but, taken together, they may be viewed as jointly necessitating the attribute of *warm-blooded*, and, therefore, may be viewed as comprehending it.) On this I give you the following paragraph.

¶ XLV. Notions coördinated in the whole of comprehension, are, in respect of the discriminating characters, different without any similarity. They are thus, pro tanto, absolutely different; and, accordingly, in propriety are called

Disparate Notions (notiones disparatæ). On the other hand, notions coördinated in the quantity or whole of extension, are, in reference to the objects by them discriminated, different (or diverse); but, as we have seen, they have always a common attribute or attributes in which they are alike. Thus they are only relatively different (or diverse); and, in logical language, are properly called *Disjunct* or *Discrete Notions* (notiones, disjunctæ, discretæ).¹

1 [Drobisch, Logik, §§ 23, 24. Cf. Fischer, Logik, § 49 et seq.]

158

LECTURE XIII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II .- OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

II. - APOPHANTIC, OR THE DOCTRINE OF JUDGMENTS.

JUDGMENTS. - THEIR NATURE AND DIVISIONS.

HAVING terminated the Doctrine of Concepts, we now proceed to the Doctrine of Judgments. Concepts and Judgments, as I

Doctrine of Judgments.

originally stated, are not to be viewed as the results of different operations, for every concept, as the product of some preceding act of Com-

parison, is in fact a judgment fixed and ratified in a sign. But in consequence of this acquired permanence, concepts afford the great means for all subsequent comparisons and judgments, and as this now forms their principal relation, it behoved, for convenience, throwing out of view their original genealogy, to consider Notions as the first product of the Understanding, and as the conditions or elements of the second. A concept may be viewed as an implicit or undeveloped judgment; a judgment as an explicit or developed concept. But we must now descend to articulate statements.

¶ XLVI. To Judge (κρίνειν,¹ judicare) is to recognize the relation of congruence or of confliction, in Par. XLVI. Judgwhich two concepts, two individual things, ment, - what, or a concept and an individual, compared together, stand to each other. This recognition, considered as an internal consciousness, is called a Judgment (Lóyos anopavri- $\kappa os, judicium$); considered as expressed in language, it is called a Proposition or Predication (ἀπόφαντις, πρότασις,² διάστημα,

1 The verb κρίνειν, to judge, and still more the substantive, kpious, judgment, are rarely for the premise of a syllogism, especially the used by the Greeks-(never by Aristotle)as technical terms of Logic or Psychology.

2 [Aristotle uses the term $\pi p \circ \tau a \sigma \iota s$ merely major (he has no other word for premise); whereas $\dot{a}\pi \delta \phi a \nu \tau is$ he employs always for an

propositio, prædicatio, pronunciatum, enunciatio, effatum, profatum, axioma).¹

As a judgment supposes a relation, it necessarily implies a plural-

Explication, — what is implied in Judgment. ity of thoughts, but conversely a plurality of thoughts does not necessarily imply a judgment. The thoughts whose succession is determined by the mere laws of Association, are, though

manifested in plurality, in relation, and, consequently, in connection, not, however, so related and so connected as to constitute a judgment. The thoughts water, iron, and rusting, may follow each other in the mental train; they may even be viewed together in a simultaneous act of consciousness, and this without our considering them in an act of Comparison, and without, therefore, conjoining or disjoining them in an act of judgment. But when two or more thoughts are given in consciousness, there is in general an endeavor on our part to discover in them, and to develop a relation of congruence or of confliction; that is, we endeavor to find out whether these thoughts will or will not coincide - may or may not be blended into one. If they coincide, we judge, we enounce, their congruence or compatibility; if they do not coincide, we judge, we enounce, their confliction or incompatibility. Thus, if we compare the thoughts - water, iron, and rusting, - find them congruent, and connect them into a single thought, thus - water rusts iron, in that case we form a Judgment.²

But if two notions be judged congruent, in other words, be con-

Condition under which notions are considered congruent. ceived as one, this their unity can only be realized in consciousness, inasmuch as one of these notions is viewed as an attribute or determination of the other. For, on the one hand, it is

impossible for us to think as one two attributes, that is, two things viewed as determining, and yet neither determining or qualifying the other; nor, on the other hand, two subjects, that is, two things thought as determined, and yet neither of them determined or qualified by the other. For example, we cannot think the two attributes *electrical* and *polar* as a single notion, unless we convert the one of these attributes into a subject to be determined or qualified by the other: but if we do, — if we say, *what is electrical is polar*, we at once reduce the duality to unity, — we judge that *polar* is one of

enunciation considered not as merely syllogistic. See Ammonius, In De Interpret., f. 4 a. Gr. p. 4. Lat. Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, P. ii. c.i. p. 59. Waitz, Commentarius in Organon,

I. p. 368. Organon Pacii, pp. 92, 127, 240 et seq., 416, 417.]

1 By Stoics and Ramists.

² Cf. Krug, Logik, § 61. Anm. i. p. 149, 150.

LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

the constituent characters of the notion *electrical*, or that what is *electrical* is contained under the class of things marked out by the common character of *polarity*. In like manner, we cannot think the two subjects *iron* and *mineral* as a single notion, unless we convert the one of the subjects into an attribute by which the other is determined or qualified; but if we do,—if we say, *iron is a mineral*, we again reduce the duality to unity; we judge that one of the attributes of the subject *iron* is, that it is a *mineral*, or that *iron* is contained under the class of things marked out by the common character of *mineral*.

From what has now been said, it is evident that a judgment

A judgment must contain three notions.

must contain and express three notions, which, however, as mutually relative, constitute an indivisible act of thought. It must contain, 1°, The

notion of something to be determined; 2°, The notion of something by which another is determined; and, 3°, A notion of the relation of determination between the two. This will prepare you to understand the following paragraph.

¶ XLVII. That which, in the act of Judging, we think as the determined or qualified notion, is tech-

ject, Predicate, and Copula. the determined or qualified notion, is technically called the *Subject* ($i\pi \sigma\kappa\epsilon i\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$, *subjectum*); that which we think as the determining or qualifying notion, the *Predicate*

($\kappa \alpha \tau \eta \gamma \rho \rho o' \mu \epsilon \nu o \nu$, predicatum); and the relation of determination, recognized as subsisting between the subject and the predicate, is called the *Copula*. By Aristotle, the predicate includes the copula;¹ and, from a hint by him, the latter has, by subsequent Greek logicians, been styled the *Appredicate* ($\pi \rho o \sigma \kappa \alpha \tau \eta$ - $\gamma \rho \rho o' \mu \epsilon \nu o \nu$, *apprædicatum*).² The Subject and Predicate of a proposition are, after Aristotle, together called its *Terms* or *Extremes*³ ($\delta \rho o \iota \, \delta \kappa \rho \alpha \, \pi \epsilon \rho \alpha \pi \alpha , termini$); as a proposition is by him sometimes called an *Interval* ($\delta \iota \delta \sigma \tau \eta \mu \alpha$),⁴ being, as it were, a line stretched out between the extremes or terms. We may, therefore, articulately define a judgment or proposition to be the product of that act in which we pronounce, that, of two

l See De Interp., c. 3, where the $\rho \hat{\eta} \mu a$, or verb, includes the predicate and copula united. — ED.

² See De Interpretatione, c. 10, § 4. "Orav $\delta \epsilon$ $\tau \delta$ $\delta \sigma \tau_1$ $\tau \rho (\tau ov \pi \rho v \sigma \kappa \alpha \tau \eta \gamma o \rho \eta \tau \alpha t, ... an$ expression to which may be traced the scholastic distinction between secund and terti ad $jacentis. For the term <math>\pi \rho \sigma \kappa \alpha \tau \eta \gamma o \rho o \psi \mu evov$ to denote the predicate of a proposition, see Ammonius, on *De Interp.*, p. 110, b. ed. Ald. Venet., 1546. See below, p. 162. — ED. [For the origin of this distinction see Blemmidas (after Aristotle), *Logica*, p. 186.]

3 Anal. Prior., I. 1, 4. - ED.

4 Anal. Prior., I. 15, 16, 25. - ED.

notions thought as subject and as predicate, the one does or does not constitute a part of the other, either in the quantity of Extension, or in the quantity of Comprehension.

Thus in the proposition, iron is magnetic, we have iron for the Subject, magnetic for the Predicate, and the Illustration. substantive verb is for the Copula. In regard to this last, it is necessary to say a few words. "It is not always the case, that in propositions the copula is expressed by the substantive verb is or est, and that the copula and predicate stand as distinct words. In adjective verbs the copula and predicate coälesce, as in the proposition, the sun shines, sol lucet, which is equivalent to the sun is shining, sol est lucens. In existential propositions, that is, those in which mere existence is predicated, the same holds good. For when I say I am, Ego sum, the am or sum has here a far higher and more emphatic import than that of the mere copula or link of connection. For it expresses, I am existing, Eqo sum existens. It might seem that, in negative propositions, when the copula is affected by the negative particle, it is converted into a noncopula. But if we take the word copula in a wider meaning, for that through which the subject and predicate are connected in a mutual relation, it will apply not only to affirmative but to negative, not only to categorical but to hypothetical and disjunctive, propositions."1 I may notice that propositions with the subject, predicate,

Propositions of the Third Adjacent. and copula, all three articulately expressed, have been called by the schoolmen those of the *third adjacent* (*propositiones tertii adjacentis*, or *tertii*

adjecti), inasmuch as they manifestly contain three parts. This is a barbarous expression for what the Greeks, after Aristotle, called $\pi\rho\sigma\tau\dot{a}\sigma\epsilon\iotas\ \epsilon\kappa\ \tau\rho\dot{\tau}\sigma\sigma\iota\ \epsilon\sigma\tau\iota\ \kappa\alpha\tau\eta\gamma\rho\rho\sigma\nu\mu\dot{\epsilon}\nu\sigma\nu$. For the same reason, propositions with the copula and predicate in one, were called those of the second adjacent.²

"What has now been said will enable you to perceive how far

Concepts and judgments, — how far they coincide and differ. concepts and judgments coincide, and how far they differ. On the one hand, they coincide in the following respects: In the first place, the concept and the judgment are both products; the one the

product of a remote, the other the product of an immediate, act of comparison. In the second place, in both, an object is determined by a character or attribute. Finally, in the third place, in both,

¹ Krug, Logik, § 52; Anm., ii., pp. 153-4. Schulze, Logik, p. 74; Crakanthorpe, Logica, - ED. [Compare Bachmann, Logik, p. 127; pp. 160, 167.]
² See above, p. 161, note 2. - ED.

LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

things relatively different in existence are reduced to a relative identity in the unity of thought. On the other hand, they differ in the following respects: In the first place, the determination of an object by an attribute is far more express in the judgment than in the concept; for in the one it is developed, in the other, only implied. In the second place, in the concept the unity of thought is founded only on a similarity of quality; in the judgment, on the other hand, it is founded on a similarity of relation. For in the notion, an object and its characters can only be conceived as one, inasmuch as they are congruent and not conflictive, for thus only can they be united into one total concept. But, in the judgment, as a subject and predicate are not necessarily thought under a similarity of quality, the judgment can comprehend not only congruent, but likewise conflictive, and even contradictory, notions; for two concepts which are compared together can be recognized as standing in the relation either of congruence or of repugnance. Such is the sameness, and such is the diversity, of concept and judgment."1

We have thus seen that a judgment or proposition consists of three parts or correlative notions, — the notion of a subject, the notion of a predicate, and the notion of the mutual relation of these as determined and determining.

Judgments may, I think, be primarily divided in two ways, -- the

Judgments, - how divided. divisions being determined by the general dependencies in which their component parts stand to each other, — and the classes afforded by

these divisions, when again considered, without distinction, in the different points of view given by Quantity, Quality, and Relation, will exhaust all the possible forms in which judgments are manifested.

¶ XLVIII. The first great distinction of Judgments is taken from the relation of Subject and Predicate, as reciprocally whole and part. If the Subject or determined notion be viewed as the containing whole, we have an Intensive or Comprehensive proposition; if the Predicate

or determining notion be viewed as the containing whole, we have an Extensive proposition.

This distinction of propositions is founded on the distinction of the two quantities of concepts, — their Comprehension and their

LECT. XIII.

Explication, - this distinction founded on the Comprehension and Extension of Concepts.

Extension. The relation of subject and predicate is contained within that of whole and part, for we can always view either the determining or the determined notion as the whole which contains the other. The whole, however, which the subject constitutes, and the whole which the predicate constitutes, are different, - being severally determined

by the opposite quantities of comprehension and of extension; and as subject and predicate necessarily stand to each other in the relation of these inverse quantities, it is manifestly a matter of indifference, in so far as the meaning is concerned, whether we view the subject as the whole of comprehension, which contains the predicate, or the predicate as the whole of extension, which contains the subject. In point of fact, in single propositions it is rarely apparent which of the two wholes is meant; for the copula is, est, etc., equally denotes the one form of the relation as the other. Thus, in the proposition man is two-legged, - the copula here is convertible with comprehends or contains in it, for the proposition means, man contains in it two legged; that is, the subject man, as an intensive whole or complex notion, comprehends as a part the predicate two-legged. Again, in the proposition man is a biped, the copula corresponds to contained under, for this proposition is tantamount to man is contained under biped, - that is, the predicate biped, as an extensive whole or class, contains under it as a part the subject man. But, in point of fact, neither of the two propositions unambiguously shows whether it is to be viewed as of an intensive or of an extensive purport; nor in a single proposition is this of any moment. All that can be said is, that the one form of expression is better accommodated to express the one kind of proposition, the other better accommodated to express the other. It is only when propositions are connected into syllogism, that it becomes evident whether the subject or the predicate be the whole in or under which the other is contained; and it is only as thus constituting two different, two contrasted, forms of reasoning, - forms the most general, as under each of these every other is included, - that the distinction becomes necessary in regard to concepts and propositions. The distinction of propositions into Extensive and Intensive, it is needless to say, is, therefore, likewise the most general; and, accordingly, it is only in subordination to this distinction that the other distinctions, of which we are about to treat, are valid.

I now proceed to the second division of Judgments, and commence with the following paragraph:

¶ XLIX. The second division of Judgments is founded on

Par. XLIX. Second division of Judgments, - Categorical and Conditional, - the latter of which is subdivided into Hypothetical, Disjunctive, and Dilemmatic. the different mode in which the relation of determination may subsist between the subject and predicate of a proposition. This relation is either *Simple* or *Conditional* (*propositio simplex*, *propositio conditionalis*). On the former alternative, the proposition is called *Categorical*;¹ on the latter,

inasmuch as the condition lies either in the subject or in the predicate, or in both the subject and predicate, there are three species of proposition. In the first case, the proposition is *Hypothetical*, in the second, *Disjunctive*, in the third *Dilemmatic* or *Hypothetico-disjunctive*.²

I shall consider these in their order; and, first, of Categorical propositions. But here it is proper, before proceeding to expound what is designated by the term categorical, to commence with an explanation of the term itself. This word, as far as now

known, was first employed by Aristotle in a logical signification. I have already explained the meaning of the term *category*;³ but you are not to suppose that *categorical* has any reference to the ten summa genera of the Stagirite. By Aristotle the term $\kappa a \tau \eta \gamma \rho \rho \mu \kappa \delta s$ is frequently employed, more especially in the books of the *Prior* Analytics, — and in these books alone it occurs, if I am correct in

Its signification as used by Aristotle. my estimate, eighty-seven times. Now you will observe, that in no single instance is this word applied by Aristotle, except in one unambiguous

signification, that is, the signification of *affirmative*; and it is thus by him used as a term convertible with $\kappa a \tau a \phi a \tau \iota \kappa \delta s$, and as opposed to the two synonyms of negation he indifferently employs, $- a \pi \sigma \phi a$ -

Its meaning in the writings of his disciples. τικός and στερητικός.⁴ Such is the meaning of the word in Aristotelic usage. Now you will observe, that it obtained a totally different meaning in the writings of his disciples. This new

meaning it probably obtained from Theophrastus, the immediate disciple of Aristotle, for by him and Eudemus we know that it was so employed; — and in this new meaning it was exclusively applied

⁸ See above, p. 139. - ED.

4 Compare Discussions, p. 152. - ED.

¹ [Categorical had better be called Absolute, as is done by Gassendi, Logica, p. 287, ed. Oxon; or Perfect, as by Mocenicus, who has also Absolute. See Contemplationes Periputetica, ii. c. 2, p. 39 et seq.]

² Cf. Krug, Logik, § 57. – ED. [Moeenicus, loc. cit.; Schulze, Logik, §§ 45, 52, 60–69.]

LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

by all the Greek and Latin expositors of the Peripatetic philosophy, in fact, by all subsequent logicians without exception. In this second signification, the term *categorical*, as applied to a proposition, denotes a judgment in which the predicate is simply affirmed or denied of the subject, and in contradistinction to those propositions which have been called *hypothetical* and *disjunctive*. In this

This difference of signification not hitherto observed. change of signification there is nothing very remarkable. But it is a singular circumstance that, though the Aristotelic employment of the word be in every instance altogether clear and un-

ambiguous, no one, either in ancient or in modern times, should ever have made the observation, that the word was used in two different meanings; and that in the one meaning it was used exclusively by Aristotle, and in the other exclusively by all other logicians. I find, indeed, that the Greek commentators on the Organon do, in reference to particular passages, sometimes state, that $\kappa a \tau \eta \gamma \rho \mu \lambda \delta$; is there used by Aristotle in the signification of affirmative; but, in so far as I have been able to ascertain, no one has made the general observation, that the word was never applied by Aristotle in the sense in which alone it was understood by all other logical writers. So much for the meaning of the term categorical; as now employed for simple or absolute, and as opposed to conditional, it is used in a sense different from its original and Aristotelic meaning.

In regard to the nature of a Categorical Judgment itself, it is

Nature of a Categorical Judgment. necessary to say almost nothing. For, as this judgment is that in which the two terms stand to each other simply in that relation which

every judgment implies, to the exclusion of all extrinsic conditions, it is evident, that what we have already said of the essential nature of judgment in general, affords all that can be said of categorical judgments in particular. A categorical proposition is expressed in the following formulæ —A is B, or, A is not B. I proceed, therefore, to the genus of propositions as opposed to categorical, — viz., the Conditional, — Conditioned. This genus, as stated in the para-

II. — Conditional Judgments. These comprise three species. graph, comprises two species, according as the condition lies more proximately in the subject, or in the predicate, to which is to be added, either as a third species or as a compound of

these two, those propositions in which there is a twofold condition, the one belonging to the subject, the other to the predicate. The first of these, as stated, forms the class Hypothetical, the second that of Disjunctive, the third that of Dilemmatic, propositions. I may notice, by the way, that there is a good deal of variation in

LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

the language of logicians in regard to the terms Conditional and

Variations in regard to the application of the terms *Conditional* and *Hypothetical*. Hypothetical. You are aware that conditionalis, in Latin, is commonly applied as a translation of $i\pi\sigma\varthetaerusis$ in Greek; and by Boethius, who was the first among the Latins who elaborated the logical doctrine of hypotheticals, the two terms

are used convertibly with each other.¹ By many of the Schoolmen, however, the term *hypothetical (hypotheticus)* was used to denote the genus, and the term *conditional*, to denote the species, and from them this nomenclature has passed into many of the more modern compends of logic, — and, among others, into those of Aldrich and Whately. This latter usage is wrong. If either term is to be used in subordination to the other, *conditional*, as the more extensive term, ought to be applied to designate the genus; and so it has accordingly been employed by the best logicians. But to pass from words to things.

I said that Hypothetical propositions are those in which the con-

dition qualifying the relation between the sub-I. Hypothetical. ject and predicate lies proximately in the subject. In the proposition, B is A, the subject B is unconditionally thought to exist, and it thus constitutes a categorical proposition. But if we think the subject B existing only conditionally, and under this conditional existence enunciate the judgment, we shall have the hypothetical proposition - If B is, A is, - or, in a concrete example - Rainy weather is wet weather, is a categorical proposition, -If it rains, it will be wet, is a hypothetical. In a hypothetical proposition the objects thought stand in such a mutual relation, that the one can only be thought in so far as the other is thought; in other words, if we think the one, we must necessarily think the other. They thus stand in the relation of Reason and Consequent. For a reason is that which, being affirmed, necessarily entails the affirmation of something else; a consequent is that which is only affirmed, inasmuch as something previous is affirmed. The relation between reason and consequent is necessary. For a reason followed by nothing, would not be the reason of anything, and a consequent which did not proceed from a reason, would not be the consequent of anything. An hypothetical proposition must, therefore, contain a reason and its consequent, and it thus presents the appearance of The first clause - that which contains two members or clauses. the reason - is called the Antecedent, also the Reason, the Condi-

¹ Compare Discussions, p. 150. For Boethius, see his treatise De Syllogismo Hypothetico, L. i. -ED.

tion, or the Hypothesis (hypothesis, conditio, ratio, antecedens, *i.e., membrum* sive *propositio*): the second, which contains the consequent necessitated by this ground, is called the Consequent, also the Thesis (consequens, thesis, rationatum, conditionatum). The relation between the two clauses is called the Consequence (consequentia), and is expressed by the particles if on the one hand, and then, so, therefore, etc., on the other, which are, therefore, called the Consecutive particles (particulæ consecutive).¹ These are frequently, however, not formally expressed.

A hypothetical judg-

ment not composite.

"This consequence (if is - then is) is the copula in hypothetical propositions; for through it the concepts are brought together, so as to make up, in consciousness, but a single act of thought; consequently,

in it lies that synthesis, that connection, which constitutes the hypothetical judgment. Although, therefore, a hypothetical judgment appear double, and may be cut into two different judgments, it is nevertheless not a composite judgment. For it is realized through a simple act of thought, in which if and then, the antecedent and the consequent, are thought at once and as inseparable. The proposition, if B is, then A is, is tantamount to the proposition, A is through B. But this is as simple an act as if we categorically judged B is A, that is, B is under A. Of these two, neither the one — If the sun shines, nor the other — then it is day — if thought apart from the other, will constitute a judgment, but only the two in conjunction. But if we think - The sun shines, and it is day, each by itself, then the whole connection between the two thoughts is abolished, and we have nothing more than two isolated categorical judgments. The relatives if and then, in which the logical synthesis lies, constitute thus an act one and indivisible."

"For the same reason, a Hypothetical judgment cannot be converted into a Categorical. For the thought, Not convertible into A is through B, is wholly different from the a Categorical.

thought, A is in B. The judgment - If God is righteous, then will the wicked be punished, and the judgment - A righteous God punishes the wicked, are very different, although the matter of thought is the same. In the former judgment, the punishment of the wicked is viewed as a consequent of the righteousness of God; whereas the latter considers it is an attribute of a righteous God. But as the consequent is regarded as something dependent from, - the attribute, on the contrary, as something inhering in, - it is from two wholly different points of view

1 Krug, Logik, § 57, Anm. 2, p. 169. - ED.

LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

that the two judgments are formed. The hypothetical judgment, therefore, A is through B, is essentially different from the categorical judgment, A is in B; and the two judgments are regulated by different fundamental laws. For the Categorical judgment as expressive of the relation of subject and attribute, is determined by the laws of Identity and Contradiction; the Hypothetical, as expressive of the relation of Reason and Consequent, is regulated by the principle of that name."¹ So much for Hypotheticals.

"Disjunctive judgments are those in which the condition qualifying the relation between the subject and predi-2. Disjunctive.

cate, lies proximately in the predicate, as in the proposition, D is either B or C, or A. In this class of judgments a certain plurality of attributes is predicated of the subject, but in such a manner that this plurality is not predicated conjunctly, but it is only judged that, under conditions some one, and only some one, of this bundle of attributes appertains to the subject. When I say that Men are either Black, or White, or Tawny, - in this proposition, none of these three predicates is unconditionally affirmed; but it is only assumed that one or other may be affirmed, and that, any one being so affirmed, the others must, eo ipso, be denied. The attributes thus disjunctively predicable of the subject, constitute together a certain sphere or whole of extension; and as the attributes mutually exclude each other, they may be regarded as reciprocally reason and consequent. A disjunctive proposition has two forms, according as it is regulated by a contradictory, or by a contrary, opposition. A is either B or not B. — This mineral is either a metal or not. — are examples of the former; A is either B, or C, or D, - This mineral is either lead, or tin, or zinc, - are examples of the latter. The opposite attributes or characters in a disjunctive proposition are called the Disjunct Members (membra disjuncta); and their relation to each other is called the Disjunction (disjunctio), which in English is expressed by the relative particles either, or (aut, vel), in consequence of which these words constitute the Disjunctive particles (particulæ disjunctivæ). In propositions of this class the copula is formed by either is, - or is, for hereby the concepts are brought together so as to constitute a single object of consciousness, and thus a synthesis or union of notions is effected."

"Now, although in consequence of the multiplicity of its predicates, a disjunctive proposition may be resolved into a plurality of

[[]Hypotheticals take account not of the cor- Christian Weiss, Lehrbuch der Logik, p. 109, ed. rectness of the two clauses, but only of their connection (consequentia). Hence the logical

¹ Krug, Logik, § 57, p. 168, Anm. 2 - ED. rule, Propositio Conditionalis nihil ponit in esse. 1801.]

judgments, still it is not on that account a complex or composite judgment. For it is realized by one simple energy of thought, in

A Disjunctive judgment, not in reality composite, and not convertible into a Categorical. which the two relatives — the *either* and the or — are thought together, as inseparable, and as binding up the opposing predicates into a single sphere. In consequence of this, a disjunctive proposition cannot be converted into a categorical. For in a categorical judgment a single

predicate is simply affirmed or denied of a subject; whereas in a disjunctive judgment there is neither affirmation nor negation, but the opposition of certain attributes in relation to a certain subject constitutes the thought. Howbeit, therefore, that a disjunctive and a categorical judgment may have a certain resemblance in respect of their object matter; still in each the form of thought is wholly different, and the disjunctive judgment is, consequently, one essentially different from the categorical."¹

Dilemmatic judgments are those in which a condition is found,

both in the subject and in the predicate, and as 3. Dilemmatic. thus a combination of an hypothetical form and of a disjunctive form, they may also appropriately be denominated Hypothetico-disjunctive. If X is A, it is either B or C - If an action be prohibited, it is prohibited either by natural or by positive law - If a cognition be a cognition of fact, it is given either through an act of external perception or through an act of selfconsciousness. In such propositions, it is not necessary that the disjunct predicates should be limited to two; and besides what are strictly called *dilemmatic judgments*, we may have others that would properly obtain the names of trilemmatic, tetralemmatic, polylemmatic, etc. But in reference to propositions, as in reference to syllogisms, dilemma is a word used not merely to denote the cases where there are only two disjunct members, but is, likewise, extended to any plurality of opposing predicates. There remains here, however, always an ambiguity; and perhaps, on that account, the term hypothetico-disjunctive might with propriety be substituted for dilem-

A Dilemmatic judgment indivisible, and not reducible to a plurality of categorical propositions. matic. A proposition of this class, though bearing both an hypothetical and a disjunctive form, cannot, however, be analyzed into an hypothetical and a disjunctive judgment. It constitutes as indivisible a unity of thought as either of these; and can as little as these be reduced

without distinction to a plurality of categorical propositions. Every form of Judgments which we have hitherto considered,

LECT. XIII.

has its corresponding form of Syllogism; and it is as constituting the foundations of different kinds of reasoning, that the consideration of these different kinds of propositions is of principal impor-

Judgments considered in reference to Quantity.

tance. These various kinds of propositions may. however, be considered in the different points of view of Quantity, Quality, and Relation. And first of Quantity; in reference to which I give you the following paragraph.

¶ L. The Quantity of Judgments has reference to the whole

Par. L. 1º. The common doctrine of the division of Judgments according to their Quantity. 2º. The doctrine of the author on this point.

of Extension, by the number of the objects concerning which we judge. On this I shall state articulately, 1°, The doctrine of the Logicians; and, 2°, The doctrine which I conceive to be the more correct.

1°. (The doctrine of the Logicians.) The common doctrine, which, in essentials, dates

from Aristotle,¹ divides Propositions according to their Quantity into four classes; viz., (A) the Universal or General (pr. universales, generales, προτάσεις ai καθόλου); (B) the Particular (pr. particulares προτάσεις μερικαί, ai έν μέρει); (C) the Individual or Singular (pr. individuales, singulares, expositoria, π_{PO} τάσεις αί καθ' ἕκαστον, τὰ ἄτομα); (D) the Indefinite (pr. impræfinitæ, indefinitæ, προτάσεις άδιόριστοι, απροσδιόριστοι). They mean by universal propositions, those in which the subject is taken in its whole extension; by particular propositions, those in which the subject is taken in a part, indefinitely, of its extension; by individual propositions, those in which the subject is at a minimum of extension; by indefinite propositions, those in which the subject is not articulately or overtly declared to be either universal, particular, or individual.

2°. (The doctrine I prefer.) This doctrine appears to me untenable, and I divide Propositions according to their Quantity in the following manner : - In this respect their differences arise either (A), as in Judgments, from the necessary condition of the Internal Thought; or (B), as in Propositions, merely from the accidental circumstances of its External Expression.

Under the former head (A), Judgments are either (a) of Determinate or Definite Quantity, according as their sphere is circumscribed, or (b) of Quantity Indeterminate or Indefinite, according as their sphere is uncircumscribed. - Again, Judgments of a Determinate Quantity (a) are either (1) of a Whole

Undivided, in which case they constitute a Universal or General Proposition; or (2) of a Unit Indivisible, in which case, they constitute an Individual or Singular Proposition. — A Judgment of an Indeterminate Quantity (b) constitutes a Particular Proposition.

Under the latter head (B), Propositions have either, as propositions, their quantity, determinate or indeterminate, marked out by a verbal sign, or they have not; such quantity being involved in every actual thought. They may be called in the one case (a) *Predesignate*; in the other (b) *Preindesignate*.

Again, the common doctrine, remounting also to Aristotle,¹ takes into view only the Subject, and regulates the quantity of the proposition exclusively by the quantity of that term. The Predicate, indeed, Aristotle and the logicians do not allow to be affected by quantity; at least they hold it to be always Particular in an Affirmative, and Universal in a Negative Proposition.

This doctrine I hold to be the result of an incomplete analysis; and I hope to show you that the confusion and multiplicity of which our present Logic is the complement, is mainly the consequence of an attempt at synthesis, before the ultimate elements had been fairly reached by a searching analysis, and of a neglect, in this instance, of the fundamental postulate of the science.



² Vide Th et Am. apud Am In De Int., 8vo, ff. 72, 111-113. [In the first of these passages, Anmonius, proceeding on a merely arithmetical calculation, enumerates sixteen varieties of the Proposition, any one of four quantities in the subject, -(all-not all, none - not none or some), being capable of combination with any one of four quantities in the predicate. But of these some are but verbal varieties of the same jndgment, and others are excluded on material grounds, so that his division finally coincides with Aristotle's. In the second passage Theophrastus is cited in illustration of a very obscure statement concerning the opposition of indesignate propositions. - ED.] LECT. XIII.

LOGIC.

Universal Judgments are those in which the whole number of objects within a sphere or class are judged of, -

Explication. Universal Judgmeuts.

as All men are mortal, or Every man is mortal, the all in the one case defining the whole col-

lectively, - the every in the other defining it discretively. In such judgments the notion of a determinate wholeness or totality, in the form of omnitude or allness, is involved.

Individual Judgments are those in which, in like manner, the

Singular or Individual Judgments, what.

whole of a certain sphere is judged of, but in which sphere there is found only a single object, or collection of single objects, - as Catiline is ambitious, - The twelve apostles were inspired. In such judgments the notion of determinate wholeness or totality

in the form of oneness, indivisible unity, is involved.¹

Particular Judgments are those in which, among the objects

Particular Judgments, - what.

within a certain sphere or class, we judge concerning some indefinite number less than the whole, - as Some men are virtuous - Many boys are courageous - Most women are compassionate. The indef-

inite plurality, within the totality, being here denoted by the words

Words which serve to mark out quantity in Universal, Individual, and Particular Propositious.

some, many, most. There are certain words which serve to mark out the quantity in the case of Universal, Individual, and Particular propositions. The words which designate universality are all, the whole of, every, both, each, none, no one, neither, always, everywhere, etc. The

words which mark out particularity are some, not all, one, two, three, etc., sometimes, somewhere, etc. There are also terms which, though they do not reach to an universal whole, approximate to it, as many, most, almost all, the greatest part, etc., few, very few, hardly any, etc., which, in the common employment of language, and in reference to merely probable matter, may be viewed as almost tantamount to marks of universality.

By logicians in general it is stated, that, in a logical relation,

Distinction of Universal and Individual from Particular Judgments.

an Individual is convertible with an Universal proposition; as in both something is predicated of a whole subject, and neither admits of any exception. But a Particular Judgment, likewise, predicates something of a whole subject,

and admits of no exception; for it embraces all that is viewed as the subject, and excludes all that is viewed as not belonging to it.

viduum vagum. So particulare signatum, and latter of each, corresponding. - Memoranda.

1 Individuum (proprium) signatum, and indi- particulare vagum. The former of each, and the

173

The whole distinction consists in this, - that, in Universal and in Individual Judgments, the number of the objects judged of is thought by us as definite; whereas, in Particular Judgments, the number of such objects is thought by us as indefinite. That Individual Judgments do not correspond to Universal Judgments, merely in virtue of the oneness of their subject, is shown by this, - that, if the individual be rendered indefinite, the judgment at once assumes the character of particularity. For example, the propositions, -AGerman invented the art of printing, - An Englishman generalized the law of gravitation, - are to be viewed as particular propositions. But, if we substitute for the indefinite expressions a German and an Englishman, the definite expressions Faust and Newton, the judgment obtains the form of an universal.

With regard to quantity, it is to be observed, say the logicians, that

Categorical Judgments alone, according to logicians, admit of all the forms of quantity.

Categorical Judgments are those alone which admit of all the forms. "Hypothetical and Disjunctive propositions are always universal. For in hypotheticals, by the position of a reason, there is posited every consequent of that reason; and in disjunctives the sphere or extension of the

subject is so defined, that the disjunct attributes are predicated of the whole sphere. It may, indeed, sometimes seem as if in such propositions something were said of some, and, consequently, that the judgment is particular or indefinite. For example, as an hypothetical, - If some men are learned, then others are unlearned; as a disjunctive, — Those men who are learned are either philosophers or not. But it is easily seen that these judgments are essentially of a general character. In the first judgment, the real consequent is, then all others are unlearned; and in the second, the true subject is, - all learned men, for this is involved in the expression - Those men who are learned, etc."1

Such is the doctrine of the Logicians. This I cannot but hold

This doctrine erroneons.

to be erroneous; for we can easily construct propositions, whether hypothetical or disjunctive, which cannot be construed either as uni-

versal or singular. For example, when we say, hypothetically, - If some Dodo is, then some animal is; or, disjunctively, - Some men are either rogues or fools : - in either case, the proposition is indefinite or particular, and no ingenuity can show a plausible reason why it should be viewed as definite, - as general or individual.

1 Krug, Logik, § 57, Anm. 4, p. 171 et seq. - i. § 122. Schulze, Logik, § 60. Contra ; - Esnote 1. - ED.]

ED. [Cf. Hoffbauer, Anfangsgrünke der Logik, ser, Logik, § 92, p. 177. - [See below, p. 237 § 243. Sigwart, Logik, § 164 et seq., ed. 1835. Kiesewetter, Grundriss einer allgemeinen Logik,

LECTURE XIV.

mil

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

II. – APOPHANTIC.

JUDGMENTS. - THEIR QUALITY, OPPOSITION, AND CONVERSION.

THE first part of our last Lecture was occupied with the doctrine of Judgments, considered as divided into Simple

Recapitulation. and into Conditional; Simple being exclusively Categorical, Conditional, either Hypothetical, Disjunctive, or Hypothetico-disjunctive. We then proceeded to treat of the Quantity of propositions, and, in this respect, I stated that they are either Definite or Indefinite; the Definite comprising the two subordinate classes of General or Universal, and of Singular or Individual propositions, while the Indefinite are correspondent to Particular propositions alone. In regard to the terms definite and indefinite, I warned you that I do not apply them in the sense given by logical writers. With them, Indefinite propositions denote those in which the quantity is not explicitly declared by one of the designatory terms, all, every, some, many, etc. Such propositions, however, ought to be called pre-indesignate (præ-indesignatæ, ἀπροσδιόριστοι), that is, not marked out by a prefix, - a term better adapted to indicate this external accident of their enunciation; for, in point of fact, these preindesignate propositions are either definite or indefinite, and quite as definite or indefinite in meaning, as if their quantity had been expressly marked out by the predesignatory terms.

Second division of Judgments, or that according to their Quality. This being premised, I now go on to the next division of Judgments — the division proceeding on that ground which by Logicians has been called the *Quality* of Judgments. In itself the

term quality is here a very vague and arbitrary expression, for we

might, with equal propriety, give the name of *quality* to several other of the distinguishing principles of propositions. For example the truth or falsehood of propositions has been also called their *quality*; and some logicians have even given the name of *quality* to the ground of the distinction of judgments into categorical, hypothetical, and disjunctive. What, however, has been universally, if not always exclusively, styled the *quality* of propositions, both in ancient and modern times, is that according to which they are distributed into Affirmative and Negative.

¶ LI. In respect of their Quality, Judgments are divided into

Par. LI. Judgments, in respect of their Quality, are Affirmative and Negative. two classes. For either the Subject and Predicate may be recognized as reciprocally containing and contained, in the opposite quantities of Extension and Comprehen-

sion; or they may be recognized as not standing in this relasion. In the former case, the subject and predicate are affirmed of each other, and the proposition is called an Affirmative ($\pi\rho\delta\tau\sigma\sigma\sigma$ καταφατική or κατηγορική, judicium affirmativum or positivum); in the latter case, they are denied of each other, and the proposition is called a Negative ($\pi\rho\delta\tau\sigma\sigma\sigma$ ἀποφατική or $\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho\eta\tau$ ική, judicium negativum).

In this paragraph, I have enounced more generally than is done by logicians the relation of predication, in its affirmative and negative phases. For their definitions only apply either to the subject or to

Explication. Generality of the definition of predication in the paragraph. the predicate, taken as a whole; whereas, since we may indifferently view either the subject as the whole in relation to the predicate, or the predicate as the whole in relation to the subject, according as we consider the proposition to ex-

press an intensive or to express an extensive judgment, — it is proper in our definition, whether of predication in general, or of affirmation and negation in particular, to couch it in such terms that it may indifferently comprehend both these classes, — both these phases, of propositions.

As examples of Affirmative and Negative propositions, the follow-

Affirmative and Negative Propositions. ing may suffice: -A is B - A is not B - Godis merciful - God is not vindictive. In an Affirmative judgment, there is a complete inclusion

of the subject within the predicate as an extensive whole; or of the predicate within the subject as an intensive whole. In Negative judgments, on the contrary, there is a total exclusion of the

LECT. XIV.

LOGIC.

subject from the sphere of the predicate (extensively), or of the predicate from the comprehension of the subject (intensively). In affirmative propositions there is also distinctly enounced through what predicate the notion of the subject is to be thought, that is, what predicate must be annexed to the notion of the subject; in negative propositions, in like manner, it is distinctly enounced through what predicate the notion of the subject is not to be thought, that is, what predicate must be shut out from the notion of the subject. In negative judgments, therefore, the negation essentially belongs to the Copula; for otherwise all propositions without distinction would be affirmative. This, however, has been a point of controversy among modern logicians; for many maintain that the

That Negation does not belong to the Copula, held by some logicians.

negation belongs to the predicate, on the following grounds : --- If the negation pertained to the copula, there could be no synthesis of the two terms, - the whole act of judgment would be subverted, - while at the same time a non-con-

necting copula, a non-copulative, is a contradiction in terms. But a negative predicate, that is, a predicate by which something is taken away or excluded from the subject, involves nothing contradictory; and, therefore, a judgment with such a predicate is competent.1

The opposite doctrine is, however, undoubtedly the more correct.

The opposite doctrine maintained by the Author.

For if we place the negation in the predicate, negative judgments, as already said, are not different in form from affirmative, being merely affirmations that the object is contained within

the sphere of a negative predicate, or that a negative predicate forms one of the attributes of the subject. This, however, the advocates of the opinion in question do not venture to assert. The objection from the apparent contradiction of a non-connecting copula is valid only if the literal, the grammatical, meaning of the term copula be coëxtensive with that which it is applied logically to express. But this is not the case. If literally taken, it indicates

only one side of its logical meaning. What the True import of the word copula very inadequately denotes, in the logical copula. form of the relation between the subject and predicate of a judgment. Now, in negative judgments, this form

1 Krug, Logik, § 55, Anm. 3. - ED. [Com-Bardili, Grundriss der ersten Logik, § 12. Derpare on the same side Buffier, Logique, i., § 75 odon, Logica, p. 642. Cf. p. 515 et seq. Conet seq. Bolzano, Wiessenschaftslehre, Logik, vol.

tra ; - Kant, Logik, § 22, Anm. 3. Bachmann, ii., §§ 127, 129, 136. Schulze, Logik, § 50, p. 74. Logik, § 84, p. 127. Esser, Logik, § 59, p. 115.]

177

essentially consists in the act of taking a part out of a whole, and is as necessary an act of thought as the putting it in. The notion of the one contradictory in fact involves the notion of the other.¹

The controversy took its origin in this, - that every negative

Origin of the controversy regarding the place of negation. judgment can be expressed in an affirmative form, when the negation is taken from the copula and placed in the predicate. Thus, A *is not* B may be changed into, — A *is not*-B. The con-

trast is better expressed in Latin, A non est B - A est non-B. In fact, we are compelled in English to borrow the Latin non to make the difference unambiguously apparent, saying, A is non-B, instead of A is not-B. But this proves nothing; for by this transposition of the negation from the copula to the predicate, we are also enabled to express every affirmative proposition through a double negation. Thus, A is B, in the affirmative form is equivalently enounced by A is not non-B - A non est non-B, in the negative.

This possibility of enunciating negative propositions in an affirma-

Negative terms, how designated by Aristotle. tive, and affirmative propositions in a negative form, has been the occasion of much perverse refinement among logicians. Aristotle² denominated the negative terms, such as *non* B, *non*

homo, non albus, etc. ἀνόματα ἀόριστα, literally, indefinite nouns, Boethius,³ however, unhappily translated Aristotle's Greek term ἀόρισ-

By Boethius.

 τ os by the Latin *infinitus*, reserving the term *indefinitus* to render $\delta\delta\delta\rho$ ioros as applied to

propositions, but of which the notion is more appropriately expressed, as we have seen, by the word *indesignate* (*indesignatus*), or better *preindesignate* (*præindesignatus*). The Schoolmen, fol-

By the Schoolmen.

lowing Boethius, thus called the ovóµara åóµora of Aristotle nomina infinita: and the non they

styled the *particula infinitans*. Out of such elements they also constructed *Propositiones Infinitæ*; that is, judgments in which

Propositiones Infinitæ of the schoolmen,what. either the subject or the predicate was a negative notion, as *non-homo est viridis*, and *homo est non-viridis*, and these they distinguished from the simple negative, *homo* — *non est* — *vir*-

idis. Herein Boethius and the schoolmen have been followed by Kant,⁴ through the Wolfian logicians; for he explains Infinite Judg-

4 Logik, § 22. Compare Wolf, Philos. Ration., § 209. – ED.

¹ Bachmann, Logik, p. 127. – ED. 2 De Iterpretatione, c. 2. – ED.

³ In De Interpretatione, L. ii. § 1. Opera, p. 250. — ED.

LECT. XIV.

LOGIC.

ments as those which do not simply indicate, that a subject is not contained under the sphere of a predicate, but that it lies out of its sphere, somewhere in the infinite sphere. He has thus considered

On this point followed by Kant.

them as combining an act of negation and an act of affirmation, inasmuch as one thing is affirmed in them through the negation of an-

other. In consequence of this view, he gave them, after some Wolfians, the name of *Limitative*, which he constituted as a third form of judgments under quality, - all propositions being thus either Affirmative, Negative, or Limitative. The whole question touching the validity of the distinction is of no practical consequence; and consists merely in whether a greater or less latitude is to be given to certain terms. I shall not, therefore, occupy your attention by entering on any discussion of what may be urged in

Kant's three-fold division of Propositions unfounded.

refutation or defence. But if what I have already stated of the nature of negation and its connection with the copula, be correct, there is no ground for regarding limitative propositions

as a class distinct in form, and coördinate with Affirmative and Negative judgments.1

If we consider the quantity and quality of judgments as combined, there emerges from this juncture four separate forms of propositions, for they are either Universal Affirmative, or Universal Negative, Particular Affirmative, or Particular Negative. These forms, in order to facilitate the statement and analysis of the syllogism, have been designated by letters, and as it is necessary that you should be familiar with these symbols, I shall state them in the following paragraph.

¶ LII. In reference to their Quantity and Quality together,

Par. LII. Division of Propositions according to their Quantity and Quality taken together.

Propositions are designated by the vowels A, E, I, O. The Universal Affirmative are denoted by A; the Universal Negative by E; the Particular Affirmative by I; the Particular Negative by O. To aid the

memory, these distinctions have been comprehended in the following lines:

> Asserit A, negat E, sed universaliter ambæ, Asserit I, negat O, sed particulariter ambo.²

1 Compare Krug, Logik, § 55. Anm. 2. -ED. [Against the distinction, see Bachmann, tic. 4, f. 9. Cf. Petrus Tartaretus; Expositio Logik, § 84, p. 128. Schulze, Logik, § 50. in Summulas, Tract. i. f. 9 b. - ED. Drobisch, § 42.]

2 Petrus Hispanus, Summulæ, Tract. i. par-

I may here, likewise, show you one, and perhaps the best, mode, in which these different forms can be expressed by diagrams.



The invention of this mode of sensualizing by circles the abstrac-

The first employment of circular diagrams in logic improperly ascribed to Euler. To be found in Christian Weise.

it in the Nucleus Logicæ Weisianæ, which appeared in 1712; but this was a posthumous publication, and the author, Christian Weise, who was Rector of Zittau, died in 1708.

Lambert's method to be found in Astedius. I may notice, also, that Lambert's method of accomplishing the same end, by parallel lines of different lengths, is to be found in the *Logic* of Alstedius, published in 1614, consequently

tions of Logic, is generally given to Euler, who

employs it in his Letters to a German Princess

on different Matters of Physics and Philosophy.¹

But, to say nothing of other methods, this by

circles is of a much earlier origin. For I find

above a century and a half prior to Lambert's *Neues Organon.*² Of Lambert's originality there can, however, I think, be no doubt; for he was exceedingly curious about, and not overlearned in, the history of these subsidia, while in his philosophical correspondence many other inventions of the kind, of far inferior interest, are recorded, but there is no allusion whatever to that of Alstedius.

Before leaving this part of the subject, I may take notice of another

Logicæ Systema Harmonicum of Alstedius (1614), p. 395. Lambert's diagrams (*News Or*ganon, vol. i. p. 111 et seq.) are much more complete. — Ep.

¹ Partie ii., Lettre xxxv., ed. Cournot.-ED. 2 A very imperfect diagram of this kind, with the lines of equal length, in illustration of the first syllogistic figure, is given in the

LECT. XIV.

LOGIC.

division of Propositions, made by all logicians-viz., into Pure and Modal. Pure propositions are those in which the predicate is eategorically affirmed or denied of the subject, simply, without any qualifieation; Modal, those in which the predicate is categorically affirmed

Distinction of Propositions into Pure and Modal.

or denied of the subject, under some mode or qualifying determination. For example, - Alexander conquered Darius, is a pure, - Alexander conquered Darius honorably, is a modal propo-

This distinction futile.

sition.¹ Nothing can be more futile than this distinction.) The mode in such propositions is nothing more than a part of the predicate. The predicate may be

a notion of any complexity, it may consist of any number of attributes, of any number even of words, and the mere circumstance that one of these attributes should stand prominently out by itself, ean establish no difference in which to originate a distinction of the kind. Of the examples adduced, - the pure proposition, Alexander conquered Darius, means, being resolved, Alexander was the conqueror of Darius, - Alexander being the subject, was the copula, and the conqueror of Darius the predicate. Now, if we take the modal, — Alexander conquered Darius honorably, and resolve it in like manner, we shall have Alexander was the honorable conqueror of Darius; and here the whole difference is, that in the second the predicate is a litle more complex, being the honorable conqueror of Darius, instead of the conqueror of Darius.

But logicians, after Aristotle,² have principally considered as

Division of Modal Propositions by logicians. Modals as involving the consideration of the matter of a proposition are extra-logical.

modal propositions those that are modified by the four attributions of Necessity, Impossibility, Contingence, and Possibility. But, in regard to these, the case is precisely the same; the mode is merely a part of the predicate, and if so, nothing can be more unwarranted than on this accidental, on this extra-logical, circumstance to

establish a great division of logical propositions. This error is seen in all its flagrancy when applied to practice. The discrimination of propositions into Pure and Modal, and the discrimination of Modal propositions into Necessary, Impossible, Contingent, Possible, and the recognition of these as logical distinctions, rendered it imperative on the logician, as logician, to know what matter was necessary, impossible, contingent, and possible. For rules were laid

1 These modals are not acknowledged by Aristotle, who allows only the four mentioned below. They appear, however, in his Greek commentators, and from them were adopted

by the Schoolmen. Compare Ammonius, In De Interp., p. 148 b, ed. 1546. - ED.

² De Interp., c. 12. Compare Anal. Prior., i. 2. - ED.

down in regard to the various logical operations to which propositions were subjected, according as these were determined by a matter of one of these modes or of another, and this, too, when the modal character itself was not marked out by any peculiarity or form of expression. Thus, to take one of many passages to the same effect in Whately; speaking of the quality

Whately quoted. of propositions, he says, "When the subject of a proposition is a Common-term, the universal signs ('all, no, every,') are used to indicate that it is distributed (and the proposition consequently is universal); the particular signs ('some, etc.'), the contrary. Should there be no sign at all to the common term, the quantity of the proposition (which is called an Indefinite proposition) is ascertained by the matter; i.e., the nature of the connection between the extremes: which is either Necessary, Impossible, or Contingent. In necessary and impossible matter, an Indefinite is understood as a universal; e. g., birds have wings; i. e., all: birds are not quadrupeds; i. e., none: in contingent matter (i. e., where the terms partly (i. e. sometimes) agree, and partly not), an Indefinite is understood as a particular; e. g., food is necessary to life; i.e., some food; birds sing; i. e., some do; birds are not carnivorous; i. e., some are not, or all are not."1

Now all this proceeds upon a radical mistake of the nature and domain of Logic. Logic is a purely formal Criticized. science; it knows nothing of, it establishes nothing upon, the circumstances of the matter, to which its form may

On the supposition that Logic takes cognizance of the modality of objects, this science can have no existence.

The

chance to be applied. To be able to say that a thing is of necessary, impossible, or contingent matter, it is requisite to generalize its nature from an extensive observation; and to make it incumbent on the logician to know the modality of all the objects to which his science may be

mour

applied, is at once to declare that Logic has no existence; for this condition of its existence is in every point of view impossible. It is impossible - 1°, Inasmuch as Logic would thus presuppose a knowledge of the whole cycle of human science; and it is impossible - 2°, Because it is not now, and never will be, determined what things are of necessary or contingent, of possible or impossible existence. Speaking of things impossible in nature, Sir Thomas Brown declared that it is impossible that a quadruped could lay an egg, or that a quadruped could possess the beak of a bird; and, in the age of Sir Thomas Brown, these propositions would have shown as such a forme luce

> 1 Elements of Logik, book ii. chap. ii. § 2, pp. 63, 64. Lacia h

LECT. XIV.

LOGIC.

good a title to be regarded as of impossible matter as some of the examples adduced by Dr. Whately. The discovery of New Holland, and of the Ornithorhynchus, however, turned the impossible into the actual; for, in that animal, there is found a quadruped which at once lays an egg and presents the bill of a duck. On the principle, then, that Logic is exclusively conversant about the forms of thought, I have rejected the distinction of propositions and syllogisms into pure and modal, as extra-logical. Whatever cannot be stated by A, B, C, is not of logical import; and A, B, C, know nothing of the necessary, impossible, and contingent.1

It may be proper, however, to explain to you the meaning of three

Explanation of three terms used in reference to Pure and Modal Propositions.

terms which are used in relation to Pure and Modal propositions. A proposition is called Assertory, when it enounces what is known as actual; Problematic, when it enounces what is known as possible; Apodeictic or Demonstrative, when it enounces what is known as necessary.²

The last point of view in which judgments are considered, is their

Third Division of Judgments -- Relation to each other.

Disjunct.

Relation to each other. In respect of these relations, propositions have obtained from Logicians particular names, which, however, cannot be understood without at the same time regarding the

matter which the judgments contain. As the distinctions of Judgments and of Concepts are, in this respect, in a great measure analogous, both in name and nature, it will not be necessary to dictate them.

When the matter and form of two judgments are considered as

Judgments Identi- cal.	the same, they are called <i>Identical</i> , <i>Convertible</i> , Equal or Equivalent (propositiones identicæ, pares, convertibiles, æquipollentes); on the oppo-	
Different.	site alternative, they are called Different (pr.	
	diversa). If considered in certain respects the	
Relatively Identical.	same, in others different, they are called Rela-	
	tively Identical, Similar, or Cognate (pr. rela-	
ive identica, similes, affines, cognata). This resemblance may		
be either in the subject and comprehension, or in the predicate and		
Disparate.	extension. If they have a similar subject, their	
	predicates are <i>Disparate</i> (<i>disparata</i>), if a simi-	

lar predicate, their subjects are Disjunct (disjuncta).

1 See Discussions, p. 145 et seq. - ED. [Com- Logik, § 19. p. 72, and § 23, p. 79; Schulze, pare Bachmann, Logik, § 73, p. 115; Richter, Logik, § 52, p. 78.] 2 Kant, Logik, § 30 - ED.

When two judg	ments differ merely in their quantity of exten-
Sub-alternant.	sion, and the one is, therefore, a particular, the
	other a general, they are said to be subordinated,
and their relation	is called Subordination (subordinatio). The
Subalternate.	subordinating (or as it might, perhaps, be more
	properly styled, the superordinate) judgment, is

called the Subalternant (subalternans); the subordinate judgment is called the Subalternate (subalternatum).

When, of two or more judgments, the one affirms, the other de-

Opposition of Judgments. nies, and when they are thus reciprocally different in quality, they are said to be Opposed or Conflictive (pr. oppositæ, ἀντικείμεναι), and their

relation, in this respect, is called Opposition (oppositio). This opposition is either that of Contradiction or Repugnance (contradictio, ἀντίφασις), or that of Contrariety (contrarietas, ἐναντιότης).

If neither contradiction nor contrariety exists, the judgments are

Congruent	Judg-	
ments.		

Subcontrary opposi-

called Congruent (pr. congruentes, consonantes, consentientes). In regard to this last statement, you will find in logical books, in general,¹ that there is an opposition of what are called Subcontraries (subcontraria), meaning by these par-

ticular propositions of different quality, as, for example, some A are B, some A are not B; or, some men are learned, some men are not learned; and they are called Subcontraries, as they stand subordinated to the universal contrary propositions, — All A are B, no A is B; or, All men are learned, no man is learned. But this is a

Not a real opposition. mistake, there is no opposition between Subcontraries; for both may at once be maintained, as both at once must be true if the *some* be a nega-

tion of *all*. They cannot, however, both be false. The opposition in this case is only apparent;² and it was probably only laid down from a love of symmetry, in order to make out the opposition of all the corners in the square of Opposition, which you will find in almost every work on Logic.

Conimbricensis Nova Logica, Tract iii. Disp. iii., § 2, p. 124, edit. 1711. Kant expressly rejects Subcontrariety, Logik, § 50, Anm. Compare Krug, Logik, § 64, Anm. 4. Braniss, Grundriss der Logick, p. 105. Denzinger, Institutiones Logica, vol. ii. § 713, p. 138. Caramuel, p. 33. [Rationalis et Realis Philosophia, authore Ioanne Caramuel Lobkowitz, S. Th. Lovaniensi Doctore, Abbate Metrosensi, Lovanii, 1642. — ED]

Elements of Logik, by Dr. Whately, part ii. chap. ii. § 3, p. 68, 3d edit. But see Scheibler, Opera Logica, Pars iii. c. xi. p. 487, ed. 1665. Ulrich, [Instit. Log. et Met., § 183, p. 190. — ED.]

² For which reason Aristotle describes it as an opposition in language, but not in reality. Anal. Prior., ii. 15. - ED. [Compare Fonseca, Instit. Dialect., L. iii. c. 6, p. 129, ed. 1604.

Finally, various relations of judgments arise from what is called

Conversion of Propositions. their *Conversion*. When the subject and predicate in a categorical proposition (for to this we now limit our consideration) are transposed, the

proposition is said to be converted; the proposition given and its product are both called the *judicia conversa;* the relation itself of reciprocation in which the judgments stand is called *Conversion*, sometimes *Obversion* and *Transposition* (reciprocatio, conversio,

Terms employed to denote the original and converted proposition. obversio, transpositio, $\mu\epsilon\tau a \Im \epsilon \sigma \iota s$, $\mu\epsilon\tau a \beta o \lambda \eta$, $\dot{a}\nu\tau\iota \sigma$ - $\tau \rho o \phi \eta$). The given proposition is called the *Converted* or *Converse* (judicium, propositio, præjacens, conversum, conversa); the other, into which it is converted, the *Converting* (jud.,

prop., convertens). There is, however, much ambiguity, to say the least of it, in the terms commonly employed by Logicians to designate the two propositions, — that given, and that the product of the logical elaboration. The prejacent and subjacent may pass, but they have been very rarely employed. The term propositio conversa, the converse or converted judgment, specially for the original proposition, is worse than ambiguous; it is applied generally to both judgments; it may, in fact, more appropriately denote the other, its product, — to which indeed it has, but through a blunder, been actually applied by Aldrich,¹ and he is followed, of course, by Whately. The original proposition ought to be called the Convertend or Convertible (pr. convertenda, convertibilis).² The term Converting (convertens) employed for the proposition, the product of

Propositis exposita its use by Aldrich erroneous. conversion, marks out nothing of its peculiar character. The expression *pr. exposita*, applied by Aldrich,³ without a word of comment, to this judgment, is only another instance of his daring

ignorance; for the phrase *pr. exposita* had nothing to recommend it in this relation, and was employed in a wholly different meaning by logicians and mathematicians.⁴ In this error Aldrich is followed

1 Rudimenta Logica, L. i. c. ii.

² [So Noldius, p. 263, [Logica Recognita, Hafniæ, 1766. – ED.]

³ Crakanthorpe, Sanderson, and Wallis [denominate file original proposition pr. conversa, its product pr. convertens. See Crakanthorpe, Logica, L. iii. c. 10, p. 179, ed. 1677. Sanderson, Logica, L. ii. c. 7, p. 76, ed. 1741. Wallis, Institutio Logica, L. ii. c. 7, p. 113, edit. 1729. Wallis also uses pr. convertenda as a synonym for pr. conversa. - ED.]

⁴ The term exposition ($\epsilon \kappa \Im \epsilon \sigma is$) is employed by Aristotle, and by most subsequent logicians, to denote the selection of an individual instance whose qualities may be perceived by sense ($i\kappa\tau i\partial i\nu a$, exponere, objicere sensit), in order to prove a general relation between notions apprehended by the intellect. This method is used by Aristotle in proving the conversion of propositions and the reduction of syllogisms. See Anal. Prior., i. 2; i. 6; i. 8. The instance selected is called the expositum. $(\tau \partial i\kappa\tau \epsilon \partial i\nu)$; and hence singular propositions and syllogisms are called expository. Compare Paeius on Anal. Pr., i. 2, and Sir W. Hamilton's note, Reid's Works, p. 696. — ED.

LECT. XIV.

by Whately, who, like his able predecessor, is wholly unversed in the literature and language of Logic.

The logicians after Aristotle have distinguished two, or, as we may

Species of Conversion distinguished by logicians. take it, three, or even four, species of Conversion.

1. The first, which is called Simple or Pure Conversion (conversio simplex, τοῦς ὅροις πρὸς ἑav-

 $\tau \eta \nu$, Aristotle, *i. e., cum terminis reciprocatis*),¹ is when the quantity and quality of the two judgments are the same. It holds in Universal Negative and Particular Affirmative propositions.

2. The second, which is called Conversion by Accident (c. per accidens, $\epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \rho \epsilon \iota$, $\kappa a \tau \dot{a} \mu \epsilon \rho \rho s$, Aristotle), is when, the quality remaining unaltered, the quantity is reduced. It holds in Universal Affirmatives. These two are the species of the conversion of propositions acknowledged by all; they are evolved by Aristotle, not, as might have been expected, in his treatise On Enouncement, but in the second chapter of the first book of his Prior Analytics.²

3. The third, which is called Conversion by Contraposition (c. per oppositionem, c. per contra positionem, both by Boethius,³ contrapositio, $\dot{a}\nu\tau\sigma\tau\rho\phi\dot{\eta}$ $\sigma\dot{\nu}\dot{a}\nu\tau\partial\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\epsilon$, Alexander),⁴ is when, instead of the subject and predicate, the quantity and quality remaining the same, there is placed the contradictory of each. This holds in Universal Affirmatives, and most logicians allow it in Particular Negatives. It is commemorated by Aristotle in the eighth chapter of the second book of his Topics: it is there called the *inverse consecution from contradictions*.

I shall here mention to you some mnemonic verses in which the doctrine of conversion is expressed.

Mnemonic verses expressing conversion.

1°. Regarding conversion as limited to the Simple and Accidental, and excluding altogether

Contraposition, we have the doctrine contained in the two following verses.

1 Toîs δροις ἀντιστρέφειν, Anal. Pr., i. 2, i. e., when each term is the exact equivalent of the other. See Trendelenburg, Elementa Log. Arist., § 14; In De Anima, p. 408; Waitz, In Arist. Org., vol. i. p. 873. - ED.

² [Boethius seems the first who gave the name of *Conversio per Accidens*. With him it is properly both Ampliative and Restrictive. (So Ridiger, *De Sensu Veri et Falsi*, pp. 250, 303, 2d edit., 1722. Fischer *Logik*, p. 108.) It is opposed as a conspecies to *c. generalis*; and both are species of *c. simplex*, which is opposed to Contraposition. See Opera, *De Syl*- logismo Categorico, L. i., p. 587. Thus conversio is divided primarily into c. simplex and c. per contrapositionem. Aristotle does not use $e^{ip} \mu \epsilon \rho \epsilon_i$ as subsequent logicians, for c. diminuta. He uses it mainly for particular in opposition to universal. (See Anal. Prior, i. 2, § 4.) They are thus wrong in their use of the words accidental and partial.]

³ Introductio ad Syllogismos Categorios, and • De Syllogismo Categorico, L. i. – ED.

4 In Anal. Prior., f. 10 b, edit. Ald. 1520.-ED.

E, I, simpliciter vertendo, signa manebunt; Ast A cum vertis, signa minora cape.1

O is not convertible.

2°. Admitting Contraposition as a legitimate species of conversion, the whole doctrine is embodied in the following verses by Petrus Hispanus:

> FECI(FESI) simpliciter, convertitur EvA (EpA) per Accid. Ast O (A c O) per Contrap.; sie fit conversio tota.2

Or, to condense the three kinds of conversion with all the propositions, prejacent and subjacent, in a single line:

"ECCE, TIBI, Simp.; ARMI-GEROS, Acc.; ARMA, BONO, Cont."3

It may be proper now to make you acquainted with certain dis-

Distinction of Propositions not strictly logical.

tinctions of judgments and propositions, which, though not strictly of a logical character, it is of importance that you should be aware of. "Considered in a material point of view, all

Theoretical and Practical.

judgments are, in the first place, distinguished into Theoretical and *Practical.* Theoretical are such as declare that a certain character belongs or does not belong to a certain object; Practical, such as declare

that something can be or ought to be done, - brought to bear." "Theoretical, as well as practical judgments, are either Indemon-

Indemonstrable and Demonstrable.

strable, when they are evident of themselves when they do not require, and when they are incapable of proof: or they are *Demonstrable*,

when they are not immediately apparent as true or false, but require some external reason to establish their truth or falsehood."

"Indemonstrable propositions are absolute principles (apxai, principia); that is, from which in the construction of a system of science, cognitions altogether certain not only are, but must be derived. Demonstrable propositions, on the other hand, can, at best, constitute only relative principles; that is, such as, themselves requiring a higher principle for their warrant, may yet afford the basis of sundry other propositions."

2 See Petrus Hispanus, p. 9, [Summulæ, Tract. i., partic. 4, f. 9, ed. 1505. Cf. Petrus

^{1 [}Given by Chauvin, Lex. Phil., v. Conversio. Denzinger, Institutiones Logica, ii. 140.]

Tartaretus, Expositio in Summulas Petri Hispani, Tract. i., f. 9 b. - ED.]

^{3 [}Hispanus, Summulæ, l. c. Chauvin, l. c.]

LECT. XIV.

LOGIC.

"If the indemon	strable propositions be of a theoretical character,
	they are called Axioms; if of a practical charac-
Axioms and Postu-	ter, Postulates. The former are principles of
lates.	immediate certainty; the latter, principles of
immediate applicat	ion."
"Demonstrable]	propositions, if of a theoretical nature, are called
	Theorems (theoremata); if of a practical, Prob-
Theorems and Prob- lems.	lems (problemata). The former, as propositions
	of a mediate certainty, require proof; they,
therefore, consist o	f a Thesis and its Demonstration; the latter, as
of mediate applica	tion, suppose a Question (quæstio) and its Solu-
tion (resolutio)."	
"As species of	the foregoing, there are, likewise, distinguished
a 11 t	Corollaries (consectaria, corollaria), that is,
Corollaries.	propositions which flow, without a new proof,
out of theorems of	r postulates previously demonstrated. Proposi-
Experimental Propo-	tions whose validity rests on observation or ex-
	periment are called Experiential, Experimental
sitions.	propositions (empiremata, experientia, experi-
menta). Hypothes	es, that is, propositions which are assumed with
	probability, in order to explain or prove some-
Hypotheses.	thing else which cannot otherwise be explained
or proved. Lemm	ata, that is, propositions borrowed from another
1000	science, in order to serve as subsidiary proposi-
Lemmata.	tions in the science of which we treat. Finally,
Scholia, that is, p	opositions which only serve as illustrations of
Scholia.	what is considered in chief. The clearest and
	most appropriate examples of these various
kinds of propositio	ns are given in mathematics."1
LESSER, Logic,	79, pp. 147, 148. – ED. [Compare Krug, Logik, §§ 67, 68.]

51

LECTURE XV.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II .- OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III.- THE DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

REASONING IN GENERAL — SYLLOGISMS — THEIR DIVISIONS AC-CORDING TO INTERNAL FORM.

IN my last Lecture, I terminated the Doctrine of Judgments, and now proceed to that of Reasonings.

"When the necessity of the junction or separation of a certain

The act of reasoning - what. subject-notion and a certain predicate notion is not manifest from the nature of these notions themselves; but when, at the same time, we are

desirous of knowing whether they must be thought as inclusive, or as exclusive of each other, - in this case, we find ourselves in a state of doubt or indecision, from our ignorance of which of the two contradictory predicates must be affirmed or denied of the subject. But this doubt can be dissipated, - this ignorance can be removed, only in one way, - only by producing in us a necessity to connect with, or disconnect from, the subject one of the repugnant predicates. And since, ex hypothesi, this necessity does not - at least, does not immediately - arise from the simple knowledge of the subject in itself, or of the predicate in itself, or of both together in themselves, it follows that it must be derived from some external source, - and derived it can only be, if derived, from some other knowledge, which affords us, as its necessary consequence, the removal of the doubt originally harbored. But if this knowledge has for its necessary consequence the removal of the original doubt, this knowledge must stand to the existing doubt in the relation of a general rule; and, as every rule is a judgment, it will constitute a general proposition. But a general rule does not simply and of itself reach to the removal of doubt and indecision; there is required, and necessarily required, over and above this further knowl-

LECT. XV.

LOGIC.

edge — that the rule has really an application, or, what is the same thing, that the doubt really stands under the general proposition, as a case which can be decided by it as by a general rule. But when the general rule has been discovered, and when its application to the doubt has likewise been recognized, the solution of the doubt immediately follows, and therewith the determination of which of the contradictory predicates must or must not be affirmed of the subject; and this determination is accompanied with a consciousness of necessity or absolute certainty."¹ A simple example will

Illustrated by an example. place the matter in a clearer light. When the notion of the subject man is given along with the contradictory predicates *free agent* and *neces*-

sary agent, there arises the doubt, with which of these contradictory predicates the subject is to be connected; for, as contradictory, they cannot both be affirmed of the subject, and, as contradictory, the one or the other must be so affirmed; in other words, I doubt whether man be a free agent or not. The notion man, and the repugnant notions free agent and necessary agent, do not, in themselves, afford a solution of the doubt; and I must endeavor to discover some other notion which will enable me to decide. Now, taking the predicate free agent, this leads me to the closely connected notion morally responsible agent, which, let it be supposed that I otherwise know to be necessarily a free agent, I thus obtain the proposition, Every morally responsible agent is a free agent. But this proposition does not of itself contain the solution of the doubt; for it may still be asked, Does the notion morally responsible agent constitute a predicate which appertains to the notion of man, the subject? This question is satisfied, if it is recognized that the notion man involves in it the notion of a morally responsible agent. I can then say, Man is a morally responsible agent. These two propositions being thus formed and applied to the subsisting doubt. the removal of this doubt follows of itself, and, in place of the previous indecision, whether man be a free agent or not, there follows, with the consciousness of necessity or absolute certainty, the connected judgment that Man is also a free agent. The whole process — the whole series of judgments — will stand thus:

> Every morally responsible agent is a free agent; Man is a morally responsible agent; Therefore, man is a free agent.

Let us consider in what relation the different constituent parts of

1 Esser, Logik, § 82, p. 153.

LECT. XV.

LOGIC.

this process stand to each other. It is evident that the whole pro-

The example given is a Reasoning in the whole of Extension, and may be represented by three circles. cess consists of three notions and their mutual relations. The three notions are, *free agent*, *responsible agent*, and *man*. Their mutual relations are all those of whole and part, and whole and part in the quantity of extension; for the notion *free agent* is seen to contain under it the

notion responsible agent, and the notion responsible agent to contain under it the notion man. Thus, these three notions are like three circles of three various extensions severally, contained one within another; and it is evident, that the process by which we recognize that the narrowest notion, man, is contained under the widest notion, responsible agent, is precisely the same by which we should recognize the inmost circle to be contained in the outmost, if we were only supposed to know the relation of these together by their

relation to the middle circle. Let A B C denote the three circles. Now, *ex hypothesi*, we know, and only know, that A contains B, and that B contains C; but as it is a self-evident principle, that a part of the part is a part of the whole, we cannot, with our knowledge that B contains C, and is con-

tained in A, avoid recognizing that C is contained in A. This is precisely the case with the three notions — free agent, responsible agent, man; not knowing the relation between the notions free agent and man, but knowing that free agent contained under it responsible agent, and that responsible agent contained under it man, we, upon the principle that the part of a part is a part of the whole, are compelled to think, as a necessary consequence, that free agent contains under it man. It is thus evident, that the process shown in the example adduced is a mere recognition of the relation of three notions in the quantity of extension, — our knowledge of the relation of two of these notions to each other being not given immediately, but obtained through our knowledge of their relation to the third.

But let us consider this process a little closer. The relations of

The reasoning of Extension may be exhibited in Comprehension — this illustrated, the three notions, in the above example, are those given in the quantity of Breadth or Extension. But every notion has not only an Extensive, but likewise an Intensive, quantity, —not only a quantity in breadth, but a quantity in depth; and these two quantities stand to

each other, as we have seen,¹ always in a determinate ratio, - the



ratio of inversion. It would, therefore, appear, a priori, to be a necessary presumption, that if notions bear a certain relation to each other in the one quantity, they must bear a counter relation to each other in the other quantity; consequently, that if we are able, under the quantity of extension, to deduce from the relations of two notions to a third their relation to each other, a correspondent evolution must be competent of the same notions, in the quantity of comprehension. Let us try whether this theoretical presumption be warranted a posteriori, and by experiment, and whether, in the example given, the process can be inverted, and the same result obtained with the same necessity. That example, as in extension, was:

All responsible agents are free agents; But man is a responsible agent; Therefore, man is a free agent.

In other words, - the notion responsible agent is contained under the notion free agent; but the notion man is contained under the notion responsible agent; therefore, on the principle that the part of a part is a part of the whole, the notion man is also contained under the notion free agent. Now, on the general doctrine of the relation of the two quantities, we must, if we would obtain the same result in the comprehensive which is here obtained under the extensive quantity, invert the whole process, that is, the notions which in extension are wholes become in comprehension parts, and the notions which in the former are parts, become in the latter wholes. Thus the notion free agent, which, in the example given, was the greatest whole, becomes, in the counter process, the smallest part, and the notion man, which was the smallest part, now becomes the greatest whole. The notion responsible agent remains the middle quantity or notion in both, but its relation to the two other notions is reversed; what was formerly its part being now its whole, what was formerly its whole being now its part. The process will, therefore, be thus explicitly enounced :

The notion man comprehends in it the notion responsible agent; But the notion responsible agent comprehends in it the notion free agent; Therefore, on the principle that the part of a part is a part of the whole, the notion man also comprehends in it the notion free agent.

Or, in common language :

Man is a responsible agent; But a responsible agent is a free agent; Therefore, man is a free agent.
LOGIC.

This reversed process, in the quantity of comprehension, gives, it is evident, the same result as it gave in the quantity of extension. For, on the supposition, that we did not immediately know that the notion man comprehended free agent, but recognized that man comprehended responsible agent, and that responsible agent comprehended free agent, we necessarily are compelled to think, in the event of this recognition, that the notion man comprehends the notion free agent.

It is only necessary further to observe, that in the one process, --

The copula in extension and comprehension of a counter meaning.

product.

that, to wit, in extension, the copula is, means is contained under, whereas, in the other, it means comprehends in. Thus the proposition, - God is merciful, viewed as in the one quantity, signifies God is contained under merciful, that is,

the notion God is contained under the notion merciful; viewed as in the other, means, -God comprehends merciful, that is, the notion God comprehends in it the notion merciful.

Now, this process of thought (of which I have endeavored to give you a general notion) is called Reasoning; but it has, likewise, obtained a variety of other designations. The definition of this process, with its principal denominations, I shall include in the following paragraph.

¶ LIII. - Reasoning is an act of mediate comparison or Judgment; for to reason is to recognize Par. LIII. Definition that two notions stand to each other in the of the process of relation of a whole and its parts, through Reasoning, with the principal denominaa recognition, that these notions severally tions of process and stand in the same relation to a third. Considered as an act, Reasoning, or Discourse

of Reason (το λογίζεσθαι, λογισμός, διάνοια, το διανοείσθαι), is, likewise, called the act or process of Argumentation (argumentationis), of Ratiocination (ratiocinationis), of Inference or Illation (inferendi), of Collecting (colligendi), of Concluding (concludendi), of Syllogising (τοῦ συλλογίζεσθαι, barbarously syllogisandi). The term Reasoning is, likewise, given to the product of the act; and a reasoning in this sense (ratiocinatio, ratiocinium), is, likewise, called an Argumentation (argumentatio); also, frequently, an Argument (argumentum), an Inference or Illation (illatio); a Collection (collectio), a Conclusion (conclusio, συμπέρασμα); and, finally, a Syllogism (συλλογισμός).

A few words in explanation of these will suffice; and, first, of Explication. the thing and its definition, thereafter of its names.

In regard to the act of Reasoning, nothing can be more erroneous

1. The Act of Reasoning. than the ordinary distinction of this process, as the operation of a faculty different in kind from those of Judgment and Conception. Concep-

tion, Judgment, and Reasoning, are in reality only various applications of the same simple faculty, that of Comparison or Judgment. I have endeavored to show that concepts are merely the results, rendered permanent by language, of a previous process of comparison; that judgment is nothing but comparison, or the results of comparison, in its immediate or simpler form; and, finally, that reasoning is nothing but comparison in its mediate or more complex application.¹ It is, therefore, altogether erroneous to maintain, as is

A reasoning is one organic whole.

commonly done, that a reasoning or syllogism is a mere decompound whole, made up of judgments; as a judgment is a compound whole,

made up of concepts. This is a mere mechanical mode of cleaving the mental phenomena into parts; and holds the same relation to a genuine analysis of mind which the act of the butcher does to that of the anatomist. It is true, indeed, that a syllogism can be separated into three parts or propositions; and that these propositions have a certain meaning, when considered apart, and out of relation to each other. But, when thus considered, they lose the whole significance which they had when united in a reasoning; for their whole significance consisted in their reciprocal relation, - in the light which they mutually reflected on each other. We can certainly hew down an animal body into parts, and consider its members apart; but these, though not absolutely void of all meaning, when viewed singly and out of relation to their whole, have lost the principal and peculiar significance which they possessed as the coëfficients of a one organic and indivisible whole. It is the same with a syllogism. The parts which, in their organic union, possessed life and importance, when separated from each other remain only enunciations of vague generalities, or of futile identities. Though, when expressed in language, it be necessary to analyze a reasoning into parts, and to state these parts one after another, it is not to be supposed that in thought one notion, one proposition, is known before or after another; for, in consciousness, the three notions and their reciprocal relations constitute only one identical and simultaneous cognition.

1 See above, pp. 83, 97. - ED.

LOGIC.

The logicians have indeed all treated the syllogism as if this

Error of logicians in their treatment of the Syllogism. were not the case. They have considered one proposition as naturally the last in expression, and this they have accordingly called the *conclusion;* whilst the other two, as naturally going

before the other two, they have styled the premises, forming together what they call the antecedent. The two premises they have also considered as the one the greater (major), the other the less (minor), by exclusive reference to the one quantity of extension. All this, however, is, in my view, completely erroneous. For we may, in the theory of Logic, as we actually do in its practical applications, indifferently enounce what is called the conclusion first or last. In the latter case, the conclusion forms a thesis, and the premises its grounds or reasons; and instead of the inferential therefore (ergo, $\check{a}\rho a$), we would employ the explicative for. The whole difference consists in this, — that the common order is synthetic, the other analytic; and as, to express the thought, we must analyze it, the analytic order of statement appears certainly the most direct and natural.¹ On the subordinate matter of the order of the premises, I do not here touch.

But to speak of the process in general: - without the power of

Utility of the process of reasoning.

reasoning we should have been limited in our knowledge (if knowledge of such a limitation would deserve the name of knowledge at all),

- I say without reasoning we should have been limited to a knowledge of what is given by immediate intuition; we should have been unable to draw any inference from this knowledge, and have been shut out from the discovery of that countless multitude of truths, which, though of high, of paramount importance, are not self-evident. This faculty is, likewise, of peculiar utility, in order to protect us, in our cogitations, from error and falsehood, and to remove these if they have already crept in. For every, the most complex, web of thought may be reduced to simple syllogisms; and when this is done, their truth or falsehood, at least in a logical relation, flashes at once into view.

2. Terms by which the process of Reasoning is denominated.

Reasoning. Ratiocination. Of the terms by which this process is denominated, *Reasoning* is a modification from the French *raisonner* (and this a derivation from the Latin *ratio*), and corresponds to *ratiocinatio*, which has indeed been immediately transferred into our language under the form *ratiocination*.

Ratiocination denotes properly the process, but, improperly, also

1 Aristotle's Analytics are synthetic.

the product of reasoning; Ratiocinium marks exclusively the pro-

Discourse.

duct. The original meaning of ratio was computation, and, from the calculation of numbers,

it was transferred to the process of mediate comparison in general. *Discourse* (discursus, δ_{idvoid}) indicates the operation of comparison, the running backwards and forwards between the characters or notes of objects — (discurrere inter notas, $\delta_{idvoid} \vartheta_{idi}$): this term may, therefore, be properly applied to the Elaborative Faculty in general, which I have just called the Discursive. The terms discourse and discursus, δ_{idvoid} , are, however, often, nay generally, used for the reasoning process, strictly considered, and discursive is even applied to denote mediate, in opposition to intuitive, judgment, as is done by Milton.¹ The compound term, discourse of reason² unambiguously marks its employment in this sense.

Argumentation. Argument. Argumentation is derived from argumentari, which means argumentis uti; argument again, argumentum, — what is assumed in order to

argue something, — is properly the middle notion in a reasoning, that through which the conclusion is established; and by the Latin Rhetoricians it was defined, — "probabile inventum ad faciendam fidem."³ It is often, however, applied as coëxtensive with *argu*-

Inference. Inference. indicates the carrying out into the last proposition what was virtually contained in the antecedent judgments.

To conclude.

To conclude (concludere), again, signifies the act of connecting and shutting into the last

proposition the two notions which stood apart in the two first. A Conclusion. Conclusion (conclusio) is usually taken, in its strict or proper signification, to mean the last proposition of a reasoning; it is sometimes, however, used to express the product of the whole process. To syllogize means to form syllo-

To Syllogize. Syllogism. gisms. Syllogism $(\sigma v \lambda \lambda o \gamma \sigma \mu \delta s)$ seems originally, like ratio, to have denoted a computation — an adding up — and, like the greater part of the

technical terms of Logic in general, was borrowed by Aristotle from the mathematicians.⁴ This primary meaning of these two words

1 Paradise Lost, v. 486, -

"Whence the soul Reason receives, and reason is her being, Discursive or intuitive; discourse Is oftest yours." - ED.

² Shakspeare, Hamlet, act 1, sc. 2, -

"-A beast, that wants discourse of reason, Would have mourned longer."

Hooker, E. P., iii. 8, 18 -- " By discourse of

reason, aided with the influence of divine grace." — ED.

⁸ Cicero, Oratoriæ Partitiones, c. 2. Cf. Discussions, p. 149. – ED.

⁴ [See Piccartus, Org. Arist., pp. 467, 468. Ammonius, In Quinque Voces, f. 1. Philoponus, In An. Prior, f. 17^b. Pacius, Com. in Org., pp. 118, 122. Bertius, Log. Perip. p. 119. But see Waitz, Organon I. p. 884. [Schulze, Logik, § 70, p. 101. Discussions, p. 667, note. - ED.]

LOGIC.

favors the theory of those philosophers who, like Hobbes¹ and Leidenfrost,² maintain that all thought is, in fact, at bottom only a calculation, a reckoning. Sulloyiopids may, however, be considered as expressing only what the composition of the word denotes, $-a \ col$ lecting together; for outloyileo gas comes from outleyew, which signi-

Collectio.

fies to collect.³ Finally, in Latin, a syllogism is called collectio, and to reason colligere. This refers to the act of collecting, in the conclusion, the two notions

scattered in the premises.

"From what has already been said touching the character of the

The general conditions of syllogism.

reasoning process, it is easy to see what are the general conditions which every syllogism supposes. For, as the essential nature of reasoning

consists in this, --- that some doubt should be removed by the application to it of some decisive general rule, there are to every syllogism three, and only three, requisites necessary; 1°, A doubt, which of two contradictory predicates must be affirmed of a certain subject, — the problem or question (problema, quæsitum); 2°, The application of a decisive general rule to the doubt; and, 3°, The general rule itself. But these requisites, when the syllogism is constructed and expressed, change their places; so that the general rule stands first, the application of it to the doubt stands second, and the decision in regard to the doubt itself stands last. Each of these necessary constituents of a syllogism forms by itself a distinct, though a correlative, proposition; every syllogism, therefore, contains three propositions, and these three propositions, in their complement and correlation, constitute the syllogism."⁴ It will be proper, however, here to dictate a paragraph, expressive of the denominations technically given to the parts, which proximately make up the syllogism.

¶ LIV. A Reasoning or Syllogism is composed of two parts, - that which determines or precedes, and that which follows or is determined. The one is called the Antecedent (antecedens); the other, the Consequent (consequens). The Antecedent comprises the two propositions, the one of which

1 Leviathan, Pt. I. c. 5; Computatio sive Logica, c. 1. Cf. Stewart, Elements, P. ii. c. ii. § 3; Works, vol. iii. p. 132 et seq. - ED.

2 De Mente Humana, c. viii. §§ 4, 10, pp. 112, 118, ed. 1793 - ED.

³ Eugenios, Λογική, p. 405, et ibi Blemmidas [Kai το μέν ύνομα. ότι συλλογή τις έστ] λόγων πλειόνων έν αὐτῷ . . . Όδε Βλεμμίδ. έν Έπιτομ. Λογ. κεφ. λά, "Ποτέ δέ και αύτο το συμπέρασμα καλείται (φησί) συλλογισμός . . . ως συλλέγον την έν πασι τοις όροις διεσπαρμένην απόδειξιν." Cf. Zabarella, In Anal. Post., 1. 1, Opera Logica, p. 640. Συλλογισμός, non συλλογή τών λόγων, sed quasi συλλογή του λόγου, collectio rationis; ratio autem colligi dicitur, dum conclusio infertur; quare a conclusione potius, quam a propositionibus dictus est syllogismus." - ED.]

4 Esser, Logik, § 83, p. 156.

enounces the general rule, and the other its application. These,

Par. LIV. Denominations of the parts which proximately make up the syllogism. from their naturally preceding the consequent, are called the *Premises* (propositiones præmissæ, sumptiones, membra antecedentia, $\lambda \eta \mu \mu a \tau a$). Of the premises, the one which enounces the general rule, or the

relation of the greatest quantity to the lesser, is called the Major Premise, or Major Proposition, or the Proposition simply (propositio major, propositio prima, propositio, sumptum, sumptio major, sumptio, thesis, expositio, intentio, πρόσληψις, πρότασις ή μείζων, λήμμα το μείζον). The other premise, which enounces the application of the general rule, or the relation of the lesser quantity to the least, is called the Minor Premise, the Minor Proposition, the Assumption, or the Subsumption (propositio minor, propositio altera, assumptio, subsumptum, subsumptio, sumptio minor, πρότασις ή έλάττων, λήμμα τὸ έλαττον). It is manifest that, in the counter qualities of Breadth and Depth, the two premises will hold an opposite relation of major and minor, of rule and application. The Consequent is the final proposition, which enounces the decision, or the relation of the greatest quantity to the least, and is called the Conclusion (conclusio, conclusum, propositio conclusa, collectio, complexio, summa, connexio, illatio, intentio, and, in Greek, συμπέρασμα, το συναγόμενον, το έπιφερόμενον). This part is usually designated by the conjunction Therefore (ergo, apa), and its synonyms. The conclusion is the Problem (problema), Question (quæstio, quæsitum), which was originally asked, stated now as a decision.² The problem is usually omitted in the expression of a syllogism, but is one of its essential parts. The whole nomenclature of the syllogistic parts, be it observed, has reference to the one-sided views of the logicians in regard to the process of reasoning.³

Explication. Antecedent and Consequent. The Syllogism is divided into two parts, the Antecedent and the Consequent: — the antecedent comprehending the two propositions, in which the middle notion is compared with the

two notions we would compare together; and the consequent com-

1 [Eugenios, Λογική passim.]

⁸ [See R. Agricola, *De Inventione Dialecticæ*, L. ii. c. xiv. pp. 401, 417, 420. Vives, Opera [t. i., De Censura Veri, L. ii. p. 606 et seq., ed. 1555. — ED.] Bachmann, Logik, p. 184. Facciolati, Sextus Empiricus. (Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, c. iii. p. 83, ed. 1750. Sextus Empiricus, Hypotyposes, L. ii. p. 86 et alibi. — ED.]

² [See Alex. Aphrodisiensis, In Anal. Prior.,
i. c. 4, f. 17^b. Boethius, In Topica Ciceronis, 1.
i., Opera, p. 764.]

LOGIC.

prising the one proposition, which explicitly enounces the relation implicitly given in the prior of these two notions to each other.

The two propositions which constitute the antecedent are called,

Premises.

among other names, the *Premises*. Of these, the proposition expressing the relation of whole,

which one of the originally given notions holds to the assumed or middle notion as its part, is called, among other appellations, the

Major.

Major Proposition, the Major Premise, or The Proposition, $\kappa \alpha \tau' \epsilon \xi \delta \chi \eta \nu$. The other proposition

of the antecedent enouncing the relation of whole, which the assumed or middle notion holds to the other of the given notions as its part is called, among other appellations, the *Minor Proposi*-

Minor. the Minor Premise, the Assumption, or the Subsumption. These, as terms of relation,

vary, of course, with the relation in the counter quantities. The one proposition, which constitutes the consequent, is called, among other appellations, the *Conclusion*. Perhaps the best names for

Sumption, Subsumption, and Conclusion. these three relative propositions of a syllogism would be *Sumption*, *Subsumption*, *Conclusion*, as those which express, most briefly and natud weigneed dependence of the three independence.

rally, the nature and reciprocal dependence of the three judgments of a syllogism. In the first place, the expressions *Sumption* and

Grounds of their adoption as best names for the three propositions of a syllogism. Subsumption are appropriate logical expressions, in consequence of their both showing that Logic considers them, not as absolutely, but only as hypothetically true; for Logic does not warrant the truth of the premises of a syl-

logism; it only, on the supposition that these premises are true, guarantees the legitimacy of the inference, — the necessity of the conclusion. It is on this account that the premises have, by the

Lemma.

Greek logicians, been very properly styled $\lambda \eta' \mu$ - $\mu a \tau a$,¹ corresponding to the Latin sumptiones;

and were there any necessity to resort to Greek, the Major Proposition, which I would call *Sumption* (*sumptio*), might be well denominated *Lemma* simply; and the Minor Proposition, which I would call the *Subsumption* (*subsumptio*), might be well denomi-

Hypolemma.

nated the *Hypolemma*. In the second place, though both premises are sumptions, or lem-

mata, yet the term *sumption*, as specially applied to the Major Premise, is fully warranted both by precedent and principle. For, in like manner, the major proposition — the major lemma — has always

1 See Alexander, In Anal. Prior., f. 14, b. Scholia, ed. Brandis, p. 150. - ED.

obtained both from the Greek and Latin logicians the generic term; it has been called, *The Proposition, The Lemma (propositio, \dot{\eta} \pi \rho \dot{\sigma} \tau \sigma \sigma \sigma \lambda \eta \mu \mu a)*; and as this is the judgment which includes andallows both the others, it is well entitled, as the principal proposition, to the style and title of*the proposition, the lemma, the sumption*by preëminence. In the third place, the term*subsumption*ispreferable to the term*assumption*, as a denomi-

Assumption. In a preferable to the term assumption, as a denomination of the Minor Premise; for the term subsumption precisely marks out its relation of subordination to the major premise, whereas the term assumption does not. Assumption would indeed, in contrast to subsumption, have been an unexceptionable word by which to designate the major proposition, had it not been that logicians have very generally employed it to designate the minor, so that to reverse its application would be productive of inevitable confusion. But for this objection, I should certainly have preferred the term assumption to that of sumption, for the appellation of the major proposition; not that in itself it is a preferable expression, but simply because assumption is a word of familiar usage in the English language, which sumption and subsumption certainly are not.

The preceding are reasons why the relative terms sumption and

Objections to the denominations of the Propositions of the Syllogism in ordinary use.

Major Proposition and Premise. Minor Proposition and Premise. subsumption ought to be employed, as being positively good expressions; but the expediency of their adoption becomes still more manifest, when they are compared and contrasted with corresponding denominations in ordinary use. For the terms major proposition and major premise, minor proposition and minor premise, are exposed to various objections. In the first place, they are complex and tedious expressions, whereas

sumption and subsumption are simple and direct. In the second place, the abbreviations in common use (the major proposition being called the major, the minor proposition being called the minor) are ambiguous, not only in consequence of their vagueness in general, but because there are two other parts of the syllogism to which these expressions, major and minor, may equally apply. For, as you will soon be informed, the two notions which we compare together through a third, are called the major and the minor terms of the syllogism; so that when we talk of majors and minors in reference to a syllogism, it remains uncertain whether we employ these words to denote the propositions or the terms of a reasoning. Still more objectionable are the correlative terms, Proposition and Assumption, as synonyms for the major and minor premises. The term

proposition is a word in too constant employment in its vague and

Proposition. Assumption.

general sense, to be unambiguously used in a signification so precise and special as the one in question; and, in consequence of this ambigu-

ity, its employment in this signification has been in fact long very generally abandoned. Again, the term assumption does not express the distinctive peculiarity of the minor premise, - that of being a subordinate proposition, - a proposition taken or assumed under another; this word would indeed, as I have noticed, have been applied with far greater propriety, had it been used to denote the major in place of the minor premise of a syllogism.

These are among the reasons which have inclined me to employ,

The use of Sumption and Subsumption sanctioned by precedent.

at least along with the more ordinary denominations, the terms sumption and subsumption. Nor is it to be supposed, that this usage is destitute of precedent, for I could adduce in its favor even

the high authority of Boethius.¹ In general and without reference to Logic, it appears marvellous how, in English philosophy, we could so long do without the noun subsumption, and the verb to subsume, for these denote a relation which we have very frequently occasion to express, and to express which there are no other terms within our reach. We have already in English assumption and assume, presumption and presume, consumption and consume, and there is no imaginable reason why we should not likewise enrich the language, to say nothing of sumption, by the analogous expressions subsumption and subsume.

In regard to the proposition constituting the consequent of a syllogism, the name which is generally bestowed The Conclusion. on it, - the Conclusion, - is not exposed to any

There is thus no reason why it should be superserious objections. seded, and there is in fact no other term entitled to a preference. So much in reference to the terms by which the proximate parts of a syllogism are denoted. I now proceed to state to you in general the Division of Syllogisms into Species determined by these parts, and shall then proceed to consider these several species in detail. But I have first of all to state to you a division of Syllogisms, which, as comprehending, ought to precede all others. It is that of Syllogisms into Extensive and Comprehensive.

¶ LV. The First Division of Syllogisms is taken from the different kinds of quantity under which the reasoning proceeds.

^{1 &}quot;Quoniam enim omnis syllogismus ex tio." Boethius, De Syllogismo Hypothetico, lib. propositionibus texitur, prima vel propositio, i. - ED. vel sumptum vocatur; secunda vero assump-

For while every syllogism infers that the part of a part is a

Par. LV. First Division of Syllogisms into Extensive and Comprehensive. part of the whole, it does this either in the quantity of Extension, — the Predicate of the two notions compared in the Question and Conclusion being the greatest whole, and

the Subject the smallest part; or in the counter quantity of Comprehension, — the Subject of these two notions being the greatest whole, and the Predicate the smallest part.

After what I have already stated in regard to the nature of these opposite quantities, under the doctrine of Concepts and Judgments,¹ and after the illustrations I have given you of the possibility of conducting any reasoning in either of these quantities at will,² every syllogism in the one quantity being convertible into a syllogism absolutely equivalent in the other quantity, — it will be here needless to enlarge upon the nature of this distinction in general. This distinction comprehends all others; and its illustration, therefore, supposes that the nature of the various subordinate classes of syllogisms should be previously understood. It will, therefore, be expedient, not at present to enter on any distinct consideration of this division of reasonings, but to show, when treating of syllogisms under their various subaltern classes, how each is capable of being cast in the mould of either quantity, and not, as logicians suppose, in that of extensive quantity alone.

The next distinction of Syllogisms is to be sought for either in

Matter and form of syllogisms.

the constituent elements of which they are composed, or in the manner in which these are connected. The former of these is technically called

the *matter* of a syllogism, the latter its *form*. You must, however, observe that these terms are here used in a restricted meaning. Both matter and form under this distinction are included in the form of a syllogism, when we speak of form in contrast to the empirical matter which it may contain. This, therefore, is a distinction under that form with which Logic, as you know, is exclusively conversant; and the matter here spoken of should be called, for distinction's sake, the *formal or necessary matter* of a syllogism. In this sense, then, the matter of a syllogism means merely the propositions and terms of which every syllogism is necessarily made up;³ whereas,

¹ See above, p. 100 et seq. - ED.

² See above, p. 192 et seq. - ED.

³ Proximate and remote matter. Marginal Jotting [See Hurtado de Mendoza, Disput. Phil., Disp. Logicæ, t. i. d. x. § 48, p. 465.

[&]quot;Materia (syllogismi) alia est proxima, alia remota. Remota sunt termini propositionum, proxima vero sunt propositiones ipsæ, quibus coalescit syllogismus." — ED.]

otherwise, the form of a syllogism points out the way in which these constituents are connected.¹ This being understood, I repeat that the next distinction of syllogisms is to be sought for either in their matter or in their form.

"Now in regard to their matter, syllogisms cannot differ, for every

Their form, the ground of the next grand distinction of syllogisms. syllogism, without exception, requires the same constituent parts, — a question, the subsumption of it under a general rule, and the sumption of the general rule itself; which three constituents, in the actual enunciation of a syllogism, change,

as I have already noticed, their relative situation; 2 — what was first in the order of thought being last in the order of expression.

"The difference of Syllogisms can, therefore, only be sought for

The form of Syllogism twofold, internal and External. in their different forms; so that their distinctions are only formal. But the form of a syllogism, considered in its greatest generality, is of a twofold kind, viz., either an Internal and Essen-

tial, or an External and Accidental. The former of these depends on the relations of the constituent parts of the syllogism to each other, as determined by the nature of the thinking subject itself; the latter of these depends on the external expression of the constituent parts of the syllogism, whereby the terms and propositions are variously determined in point of number, position, and consecution. We must, therefore, in conformity to the order of nature, first of all, consider what classes of syllogism are given by their internal or essential form; and thereafter inquire what are the classes afforded by their external or accidental modifications. First, then, in regard to the Internal or Essential Form of Syllogism.

"A Syllogism is only a syllogism when the conclusion follows from the premises with an absolute certainty; and as this certainty is determined by a universal and necessary law of thought, there must, consequently, be as many kinds of Syllogism as there are various kinds of premises affording a consequence in virtue of a different law. Between the premises there is only one possible order of dependency, for it is always the sumption, — the major premise, which, as the foundation of the whole syllogism, must first be taken into account. And in determining the difference of syllogisms, the sumption is the only premise which can be taken into account as affording a difference of syllogism; for the minor premise is merely the subsumption of the lesser quantity of the two

1 Krug, Logik, § 72, Anm., i. - ED. [Cf. Fries, Logik, § 44.] ² Esser, Logic, § 85, p. 159. - ED.

notions, concerning whose relation we inquire, under the question, and this premise always appears in one and the same form, — in that, namely, of a categorical proposition. The same is, likewise, the case in regard to the conclusion, and, therefore, we can no more look towards the conclusion for a determination of the diversity of syllogism than towards the subsumption. We have thus only to inquire in regard to the various possible kinds of major proposition."¹

Now as all sumptions are judgments, and as we have already

Syllogisms to be divided according to the character of their sumptions and the law regulating the connection between premises and conclusion. found that the most general division of judgments, next to the primary distinction of intensive and extensive, is into simple and conditional, this division of judgments, which, when developed, affords the classes of categorical, disjunctive, hypothetical, and hypothetico-disjunctive propositions, will furnish us with all the

possible differences of major premises. "It is also manifest that in any of these aforesaid propositions, - (categorical, disjunctive, hypothetical, and hypothetico-disjunctive), - a decision of the question, - which of two repugnant predicates belongs to a certain subject, - can be obtained according to a universal and necessary law. In a categorical sumption, this is competent through the laws of Identity and Contradiction; for what belongs or does not belong to the superordinate notion, belongs or does not belong to the subordinate. In disjunctive sumptions, this is competent through the law of Excluded Middle; since of all the opposite determinations one alone belongs to the object; so that if one is affirmed, the others must be, conjunctively, denied ; and if one is denied, the others must be, disjunctively at least, affirmed. In hypothetical sumptions, this is competent through the law of Reason and Consequent; for where the reason is, there must be the consequent, and where the consequent is, there must be the reason."² There are thus obtained three or four great classes of Syllogisms, whose essential characteristics I shall comprise in the following paragraph:

¶ LVI. Syllogisms are divided into different classes, according as the connection between the premises and conclusion is

1 Esser, Logik, § 85. - ED.

² See Esser, Logik, § 86, p. 161. This classification of syllogisms cannot be regarded as expressing the author's final view; according to which, as before observed, the principle of Reason and Consequent is not admitted as a law of thought. See above, p. 62, note 1. In a note by Sir W. Hamilton, appended to Mr.

Baynes's Essay on the New Analytic of Logical Forms, the author's later view is expressed as follows: "All Mediate inference is one – that incorrectly called *Categorical*; for the Conjunctive and Disjunctive forms of Hypothetical reasoning are reducible to immediate inferences." Compare Discussions, p. 651 seq. – ED.

determined by the different fundamental laws, 1°, of Identity

Par. LVI. Second grand division of Syllogisms — according to the law regulating the inference. and Contradiction; 2°, Of Excluded Middle; 3°, Of Reason and Consequent; these several determinations affording the three classes of *Categorical*, of *Disjunctive*, and of *Hypothetical Syllogisms*. To these may

be added a fourth class, the *Hypothetico-disjunctive* or *Dilem*matic Syllogism, which is determined by the two last laws in combination.

Before proceeding to a consideration of these several syllogisms in detail, I shall, first of all, give you examples of the four species of syllogism. detail, I shall, first of all, give you examples of the four species together, in order that you may have, while treating of each, at least a general notion of their differences and similarity.

1. Categorical. 1. — OF A CATEGORICAL SYLLOGISM.

Sumption, All matter is created; Subsumption, But the heavenly bodies are material; Conclusion, Therefore, the heavenly bodies are created.

2. Disjunctive. 2. — OF A DISJUNCTIVE SYLLOGISM.

Sumption, The hope of immortality is either a rational expectation or an illusion; Subsumption, . . . But the hope of immortality is a rational expectation; Conclusion, . . . Therefore, the hope of immortality is not an illusion.

3. Hypothetical. 3. - OF AN HYPOTHETICAL SYLLOGISM.

Sumption, If Logic does not profess to be an instrument of invention, the reproach that it discovers nothing is unfounded;

Subsumption, . . . But Logic does not profess to be an instrument of invention ;

Conclusion, Therefore, the reproach that it discovers nothing is unfounded.

4. Hypothetico-disjunctive. 4. — OF THE DILEMMA OR HYPOTHETICO-DISJUNCTIVE SYLLOGISM.

Sumption, If man were suited to live out of society, he would either be a god or a beast;

Subsumption, ... But man is neither a god nor a beast;

Conclusion, Therefore, he is not suited to live out of society.

LECTURE XVI.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II .- OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS. — THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO INTERNAL FORM.

A. SIMPLE. - CATEGORICAL. - I. DEDUCTIVE IN EXTENSION.

In our last Lecture, I entered on the Division of Syllogisms. I first stated to you the principles on which this Recapitulation. division must proceed; I then explained the nature of the first great distribution of Reasonings into those of Intensive and those of Extensive Quantity; and, thereafter, that of the second great distribution of reasonings into Simple and Conditional, the Simple containing a single species, - the Categorical; the Conditional comprising three species,- the Disjunctive, the Hypothetical, and Hypothetico-disjunctive.¹ These four species I showed you, were severally determined by different fundamental Laws of Thought: the Categorical reposing on the laws of Identity and Contradiction; the Disjunctive on the law of Excluded Middle: the Hypothetical on the law of Reason and Consequent; and the Hypothetico-disjunctive on the laws of Excluded Middle and Reason and Consequent in combination.

I now go on to the special consideration of the first of these

I. Simple Syllogism. The Categorical. classes of Syllogism — viz., the Syllogism which has been denominated *Categorical*. And in regard to the meaning and history of the term *cat*-

egorical, it will not be necessary to say anything in addition to what

1 Compare above, p. 167. - ED.

LOGIC.

I have already stated in speaking of judgments.¹ As used originally by Aristotle, the term *categorical* meant merely *affirmative*, and was opposed to *negative*. By Theophrastus it was employed in the sense absolute, — simple, — direct, and as opposed to *conditional*; and in this signification it has

continued to be employed by all subsequent logicians, without their having been aware that Aristotle never employed it in the meaning in which alone they used it.

¶ LVII. A Categorical Syllogism is a reasoning whose form

Par. LVII. The Categorical Syllogism,what. is determined by the laws of Identity and Contradiction, and whose sumption is thus a categorical proposition. In a Categorical Syllogism there are three principal notions,

holding to each other the relation of whole and part; and these are so combined together, that they constitute three propositions, in which each principal notion occurs twice. These notions are called Terms (termini, 5poi), and according as the notion is the greatest, the greater, or the least, it is called the Major, the Middle, or the Minor Term.² The Middle Term is called the Argument (argumentum, $\lambda \circ \gamma \circ s$, $\pi \circ \sigma \tau \circ s$); the Major and Minor Terms are called Extremes (extrema, akpa). If the syllogism proceed in the quantity of Extension (and this form alone has been considered by logicians), the predicate of the conclusion is the greatest whole, and, consequently, the Major Term; the subject of the conclusion, the smallest part, and, consequently, the Minor Term. If the syllogism proceed in the quantity of Comprehension, the subject of the conclusion is the greatest whole, and, consequently, the Major Term; the predicate of the conclusion, the smallest part, and, consequently, the Minor Term. In either quantity, the proposition in which the relation of the major term to the middle is expressed, is the Sumption or Major Premise, and the proposition in which is expressed the relation of the middle term to the minor, is the Subsumption or Minor Premise. The general forms of a Categorical Syllogism under the two quantities, are, consequently, the following:

See above, p. 165 et seq. --- ED.
 [On principle of name of Major and Minor terms, see Alex. Aphrodisiensis, In An. Prior., L. i. cc. iv. v. Philoponus, In An. Prior., L. i. f. 23 b. Fonseca, Instit. Dialect.,

L. vi. c. xii. p. 343. Hurtado de Mendoza, p. 469.] [Disput. Philosophicæ, t. i.; Disp. Logicæ, d. x. § 50 et seq. Tolosæ, 1617. See also Discussions, p. 666 et seq. — ED.]

AN	EXTENSIVE SYLLOGISM.	AN INTENSIVE SYLLOGISM.
	B is A	C is B
	C is B	B is A
	C is A	C is A
	All man is mortal :	Caius is a man;
	But Caius is a man;	But all man is mortal;
	Therefore, Caius is mo	rtal. Therefore, Caius is mortal.

In these examples, you are aware, from what has previously been Explication. said,¹ that the copula in the two different quantities is precisely of a counter meaning; in the quantity of extension, signifying contained under; in the quantity of comprehension, signifying contained in it. Thus, taking the several formulæ, the Extensive Syllogism will, when explicitly enounced, be as follows:

Example of the Extensive Categorical Syllogism. The Middle term B is contained under the Major term A;
But the Minor term C is contained under the Middle term B;
Therefore, the Minor term C is also contained under the Major term A.

Or, to take the concrete example :

The Middle term all men is contained under the Major term mortal; But the Minor term Caius is contained under the Middle term all men; Therefore, the Minor term Caius is also contained under the Major term mortal.

Of the Intensive. On the contrary the Intensive Syllogism, when explicated, is as follows:

The Major term C contains in it the Middle term B; But the Middle term B contains in it the Minor term A; Therefore, the Major term C also contains in it the Minor term A.

Or, in the concrete example:

The Major term Caius contains in it the Middle term man; But the Middle term man contains in it the Minor term mortal; Therefore, the Major term Caius also contains in it the Minor term mortal.

Thus you see that by reversing the order of the two premises, and by reversing the meaning of the copula, we can always change a categorical syllogism of the one quantity into a categorical syllogism of the other.²

1 See above, p. 193. - ED.

² Not in Inductive Syllogisms. Jotting. [See below, p. 228.- ED.]

In this paragraph is enounced the general nature of a categorical syllogism, as competent in both the quantities of extension and comprehension, or, with more propriety, of comprehension and extension; for comprehension, as prior to extension in the order of nature and knowledge ought to stand first. But as all logicians, with the doubtful exception of Aristotle, have limited their consideration to that process of reasoning given in the quantity of extension, to the exclusion of that given in the quantity of comprehension, it will be proper, in order to avoid misapprehension, to place some of the distinctions expressed in this paragraph in a still more explicit contrast.

In the reasonings under both quantities, the words expressive of

The reasoning in Comprehension and that in Extension explicitly compared and contrasted. the relations and of the things related are identical. The things compared in both quantities are the same in nature and in number. In each there are three notions, three terms, and three propositions, combined in the same complexity; and, in each quantity, the same subordination of

a greatest, a greater, and a least. The same relatives and the same relations are found in both quantities. But though the relations and the relatives be the same, the relatives have changed relations. For while the relation between whole and part is the one uniform relation in both quantities, and while this relation is thrice realized in each between the same terms; yet, the term which in the one quantity was the least, is in the other the greatest, and the term which in both is intermediate, is in the one quantity contained by the term which in the other it contained.

Now, you are to observe that logicians, looking only to the reason-

Narrow and erroneous definitions by logicians of the Major, Middle, and Minor terms. ing competent under the quantity of extension, and, therefore, looking only to the possibility of a single relation between the notions or terms of a syllogism, have, in consequence of this onesided consideration of the subject, given definitions of these relatives, which are true only

when limited to the kind of reasoning which they exclusively contemplated. This is seen in their definitions of the Major, Middle, and Minor Terms.

In regard to the first, they all simply define the Major term to be

1. Major. the predicate of the conclusion. This is true of the reasoning under extension, but of that exclusively. For the Major term, that is, the term which contains both the others — in the reasoning of comprehension, is the subject of the conclusion. Again, the Minor term they all simply define to

be the subject of the conclusion; and this is likewise true only of the reasoning under extension: for, in the reason-

2. Minor.

ing under comprehension, the Minor term is the predicate of the conclusion. Finally, they all simply define the Middle term as that which is contained under the predicate, and

contains under it the subject of the conclusion. 3. Middle. But this definition, like those of the two other terms, must be reversed as applied to the reasoning under comprehension. I have been thus tediously explicit, in order that you should be fully aware of the contrast of the doctrine I propose, to what you will find in logical books; and that you may be prepared for the further development of this doctrine, --- for its application in detail.

In regard to the nomenclature of the Major, Minor, and Middle

Nomenclature of Major, Miuor, and Middle terms.

terms, it is not necessary to say much. The expression term (terminus, opos), was first employed by Aristotle, and, like the greater part of his logical vocabulary, was, as I have observed,

borrowed from the language of Mathematics.¹ You are aware that the word term is applied to the ultimate constituents both of propositions and of syllogisms. The terms of a proposition are the subject and predicate. The terms of a syllogism are the three notions which in their threefold combination form the three propo-

Aristotle's definition of the terms of a syllogism.

sitions of a syllogism. The major and minor terms Aristotle, by another mathematical metaphor, calls the extremes ($\tilde{a}\kappa\rho a$), the major and minor extremes; and his definition of these and

of the middle term is, unlike those of the subsequent logicians, so general, that it will apply with perfect propriety to a syllogism in either quantity. "I call," he says, "the middle term that which is both itself in another and another in it; and which, by its position, lies in the middle; the extremes I call both that which is in another and that in which another is."² And in another place he says, "I define the major extreme that in which the middle is; the minor extreme that which is subordinated to the middle."³

His definition of the Middle term, as middle by position, not applicable to the mode in which subsequent logiciaus enounce the syllogism.

I may notice that the part of his definition of the middle term, where he describes it as "that which, by its position, lies in the middle," does not apply to the mode in which subsequent logicians enounce the syllogism. For let A be the major, B the middle, and C the minor term of an Extensive Syllogism, this will be expressed thus:

2 Anal. Prior., L. i., c. 4, § 4. 3 Ibid. § 8.

2=m C=/m

A to in m

po us in a

LOGIC.

Sumption, B is A, i. e. B is contained under A. Subsumption, . . . C is B, i. e. C is contained under B. Conclusion, C is A, i. e. C is also contained under A.

In this syllogism the middle term B stands first and last in the

But quite applicable to the reasoning in Comprehension.

premises, and, therefore, Aristotle's definition of the middle term, not only as middle by nature, containing the minor and contained by the major, but as middle by position, standing

after the major and before the minor, becomes inept. It will apply, however, completely to the reasoning in comprehension; for the extensive syllogism given above being converted into an intensive, by reversing the two premises, it will stand as follows:

> Sumption, C is B, i. e. C contains in it B. Subsumption, . . . B is A, i. e. B contains in it A. Conclusion, C is A, i. e. C also contains in it A.

It does not, however, follow, that Aristotle contemplated exclusively the reasoning in Comprehension.

It does not follow, however, from this, that Aristotle either contemplated exclusively the reasoning in comprehension, or that he contemplated the reasonings in both quantities: for it is very easy to state a reasoning in extension, so that the major term shall stand first, the middle term second,

and the minor last. We can state it thus:

> Sumption, A is B, i. e. A contains under it B. Subsumption, ... B is C, i. e. B contains under it C. Conclusion, A is C, i. e. A contains under it C.

This is as good a syllogism in extension as the first, though it is not stated in the mode usual to logicians. We may also convert it into a comprehensive syllogism, by reversing its premises and the meaning of the copula, though here also the mode of expression will be unusual:

> Sumption, B is C, i. e. B is contained in C. Subsumption,... A is B, i. e. A is contained in B. Conclusion, A is C, i. e. A is contained in C.

From this you will see, that it is not to the mere external arrangement of the terms, but to the nature of their relation, that we must look in determining the character of the syllogism.

Before leaving the consideration of the terms of a syllogism, I may notice that the most convenient mode of stating a syllogism in an abstract form, is by the letters S, P, and M, -S signifying the

Most convenient mode of stating a syllogism in an abstract form.

subject, as P the predicate, of the conclusion, and M the middle term of the syllogism. This you will be pleased to recollect, as we shall find it necessary to employ this notation in showing the differences of syllogisms from the different arrangement of their terms.

I have formerly stated that categorical syllogisms are regulated

Categorical Syllogisms divided into special classes according to the applications of the laws of Identity and Contradiction under the relation of whole and part.

by the fundamental laws of Identity and Contradiction; the law of Identity regulating Affirmative, the law of Contradiction, Negative, Categoricals. As, however, the laws of Identity and Contradiction are capable of certain special applications, these will afford the ground of a division of Categorical Syllogisms into a corresponding number of classes. It has been

already stated, that all reasoning is under the relation of whole and part, and, consequently, the laws of Identity and Contradiction will find their application to categorical syllogisms only under this relation.

But the relation of whole and part may be regarded in two points

The relation of whole and part may be regarded in two points of view, and thus affords two classes of Reasonings.

of view; for we may either look from the whole to the parts, or look from the parts to the whole. This being the case, may we not apply the principles of Identity and Contradiction in such a way that we either reason from the whole to the parts, or from the parts towards the whole? Let us consider: looking at the whole and the

parts together on the principle of Identity, we are assured that the whole and all its parts are one, - that whatever is true of the one is true of the other, - that they are only different expressions for the different aspects in which we may contemplate what in itself is absolutely identical. On the principle, therefore, that the whole is only the sum of the parts, I am entitled, on the one hand, looking from the whole to its parts, to say with absolute certainty, -- What belongs to a whole belongs to its part; and what does not belong to a whole does not belong to its part: and on the other, looking from the parts to their whole, to say, -- What makes up all the parts constitutes the whole; and what does not make up all the parts does not constitute the whole. Now, these two applications of the principles of Identity and Contradiction, as we look from one term of the relation of whole and part, or from the other, determine two different kinds of reasoning. For if we reason downwards, from

a containing whole to a contained part, we shall have one sort of reasoning which is called the *Deductive;* whereas, if we reason upwards, from the constituent parts to a constituted whole, we shall have another sort of reasoning, which is called the *Inductive*. This I shall briefly express in the following paragraph.

LOGIC.

¶ LVIII. — Categorical Syllogisms are Deductive, if, on Par. LVIII. Categorical Syllogisms divided into Deductive and Inductive. Categorical Syllogisms are Deductive, if, on the principles of Identity and Contradiction, we reason downwards, from a containing whole to a contained part; they are Inductive, if, on these principles, we

reason upwards, from the constituent parts to a constituted whole.

This is sufficient at present to afford you a general conception of the difference of Deductive and Inductive Categoricals. The difference of these two kinds of reasoning will be properly explained, when, after having expounded the nature of the former, we proceed to consider the nature of the latter. We shall now, therefore, consider the character of the deductive process, — the process which has been certainly and most successfully analyzed by logicians; for, though their treatment of deductive reasoning has been one-sided and imperfect, it is not positively erroneous; whereas, their analysis of the inductive process is at once meagre and incorrect. And, first, of the proximate canons by which Deductive Categoricals are regulated.

¶ LIX. In Deductive Categoricals the universal laws of

Par. LIX. Deductive Categoricals, - their canons. Identity and Contradiction take two modified forms, according as these syllogisms proceed in the quantity of Comprehension or in that of Extension. The peculiar canon

by which Intensive Syllogisms of this class are regulated, is, — What belongs to the predicate belongs also to the subject; what is repugnant to the predicate is repugnant also to the subject. The peculiar canon by which Extensive Syllogisms of this class are regulated is, — What belongs to the genus belongs to the species and individual; what is repugnant to the genus is repugnant to the species and individual. Or, more briefly, What pertains to the higher class pertains also to the lower.

Both these laws are enounced by Aristotle,¹ and both, from him, have passed into the writings of subsequent logicians. The former,

Explication. as usually expressed, is, — Prædicatum prædicati est etiam prædicatum subjecti; or, Nota notæ est etiam nota rei ipsius. The latter is correspondent to what is called the Dicta de Omni et de Nullo; the Dictum de Omni, when least ambiguously expressed, being, — Quicquid de omni valet, valet etiam de quibusdem et singulus; — and the Dictum de Nullo being, —Quicquid de nullo valet, nec de quibusdam nec de singulis valet. But as logicians have altogether overlooked the reasoning in Comprehension, they have, consequently, not perceived the proper application of the former canon; which, therefore, remained in their systems either a mere hors d'œuvre, or else was only forced into an unnatural connection with the principle of the syllogism of extension.

Before stating to you how the preceding canons are again, in

Connection of the propositions and terms of the Categorical Syllogism illustrated by sensible symbols. their proximate application to categorical syllogisms, for convenience sake, still more explicitly enounced in certain special rules, it will be proper to show you the method of marking the connection of the propositions and terms of a categorical syllogism by sensible symbols. Of

these there are various kinds, but, as I formerly noticed, the best upon the whole, because the simplest, is that by circles.² According to this method, syllogisms with affirmative and negative conclusions would be thus represented.³



AFFIRMATIVE.



1 Categ., c 3. Anal. Prior., i. 1. - ED.

² [An objection to the mode of syllogistic notation by circles is, that we cannot, by this mode, show that the contained exhausts the containing; for we cannot divide the area of a circle between any number of contained circles, representing in extension all coördinate species, in comprehension all the immediate attributes.] [For the author's final scheme of notation, set Tabular Scheme at end of volume. — ED.]

³ See above, p. 180. Cf. Krug. Logik, § 79, p. 245. – ED.



You are now prepared for the statement and illustration of the

Proximate Rules of Categorical Syllogisms. 1. Extensive. various proximate rules by which all categorical syllogisms are regulated. And, first, in regard to these rules in relation to the reasoning of Extension.

"Aldrich," says Dr. Whately, "has given twelve rules, which I find might be more conveniently reduced to six. No syllogism can be faulty which violates none of these rules."¹ This reduction of the syllogistic rules to six is not original to Dr. Whately; but had he looked a little closer into the matter, he might have seen that the six which he and other logicians enumerate, may, without any sacrifice of precision, and with even an increase of perspicuity, be reduced to three. I shall state these in a paragraph, and then illustrate them in detail.

Par. LX. The Three Rules of the Extensive Categorical Syllogism. ¶ LX. An Extensive Categorical Syllogism, if regularly and fully expressed, is governed by the three following rules:

I. It must have three, and only three, Terms, constituting three, and only three, Propositions.

II. Of the premises, the Sumption must in quantity be Definite (i. e. universal or singular), and the Subsumption in quality Affirmative.

III. The Conclusion must correspond in Quantity with the Subsumption, and in Quality with the Sumption.²

bauer, Anfangsgrinde der Logik, § 317, p. 164. Bachmann, Logik, § 122, p. 187. Esser, Logik, §§ 88, 89 Schulze, Logik, § 79. Fries, Logik, § 55, p. 224.]

¹ Elements of Logik, B. ii. c. iii. § 2, p. 85, 8th edit. - ED.

² Krug, Logik, § 80. – ED. [Cf. Alexander Aphrodisiensis, In An. Prior., L. I., f. 17, Ald. Derodon, Logica Restituta, p. 639 et seq. Hoff-

These three simple laws comprise all the rules which logicians

Illustration. First Rule. lay down with so confusing a minuteness.¹ The first is: -A categorical syllogism, if regular and perfect, must have three, and only three, prop-

ositions, made up of three, and only three, terms. "The necessity of this rule is manifest from the very notion of a categorical syllogism. In a categorical syllogism the relation of two notions to each other is determined through their relation to a third; and, consequently, each must be compared once with the intermediate notion, and once with each other. It is thus manifest that there must be three, and cannot possibly be more than three, terms; and that these three terms must in their threefold comparison, constitute three, and only three, propositions. It is, however, to be observed,

What is properly to be regarded as a logical term. that it may often happen as if, in a valid syllogism, there were more than three principal notions, — three terms. But, in that case, the terms or notions are only complex, and expressed by a

plurality of words. Hence it is, that each several notion extant in a syllogism, and denoted by a separate word, is not on that account to be viewed as a logical term or terminus, but only those which, either singly or in connection with others, constitute a principal momentum of the syllogism."² Thus, in the following syllogism, there are many more than three several notions expressed by three several words, but these, we shall find, constitute in reality only three principal notions or logical terms:

Sumption He who conscientiously performs his duty is a truly good man; Subsumption ... Socrates conscientiously performs his duty; Conclusion Therefore, Socrates is a truly good man.

Here there are in all seven several notions denoted by seven separate words: ---- 1. Conscientiously, 2. Performs, 3. Duty, 4. Truly, 5. Good, 6. Man, 7. Socrates; but only three principal notions or logical terms, --- viz., 1. Conscientiously performs his duty, 2. Truly good man, 3. Socrates.

"When, on the other hand, the expression of the middle term in *Quaternio Terminorum.* the sumption and subsumption is used in two significations, there may, in that case, appear to be only three terms, while there are in reality four; or as it is technically styled in logic, a *quaternio terminorum.*³ On this account,

² Krug, Logik, § 80, p. 246. Anm. 1. – ED. ³ [Cf. Fonseca, [Instit. Dial., L. vi. c. 20, p. 359. – ED.]

¹ See Scheibler, Opera Logica, pars. iv., p. 516. Keckermann, Systema Logicæ Minus, Opera, t. i., p. 239. – ED.

LOGIC.

the syllogism is vicious in point of form, and, consequently, can afford no inference, howbeit that the several propositions may, in point of matter, be all true. And why? — because there is here no mediation, consequently no connection between the different terms of the syllogism. For example:

> The animals are void of reason; Man is an animal; Therefore, man is void of reason.

"Here the conclusion is invalid, though each proposition, by itself, and in a certain sense, may be true. For here the middle term, *animal*, is not taken in the same meaning in the major and minor propositions. For in the former, it is taken in a narrower signification, as convertible with *brute*, in the latter in a wider signification, as convertible with *animated organism*."¹

The second rule is: — Of the premises, the sumption must in Second Rule. quantity be definite (universal or singular), the subsumption must in quality be affirmative. — The sumption must in reference to its quantity be definite; because it affords the general rule of the syllogism. For if it were indefinite, that is, particular, we should have no security that the middle term in the subsumption comprised the same part of the sphere which it comprised in the sumption. P

Thus:

Or, in a concrete example:

Some works of art are cubical; All pictures are works of art; Therefore, all pictures are cubical;





In regard to the subsumption, this is necessarily affirmative. The sumption is not limited to either quality, because the proposition enouncing a general rule may indifferently declare \mathcal{All} M is P, and No M is P. The assumption is thus indeterminate in regard to quality. But not so the proposition enouncing the application of a general rule. For it must subsume, that is, it must affirm, that something is contained under a condition; and is, therefore, necessarily affirmative. We must say S is M. But in respect of quantity

1 Krug, *Logik*, p. 247. – ED. 28 217

LOGIC.

it is undetermined, for we can either say All S is M, or Some S is M. If the subsumption is negative, there is no inference; for it is not necessary that a genus should contain only things of a certain species. This is shown in the following example:

All men are animals; No horse is a man; Therefore, no horse is an animal.

Or, as abstractly expressed:

All M are P; But no S is M; No S is P.

Thus it is, that in a regular extensive categorical syllogism, the sumption must be always definite in quantity, the subsumption always affirmative in quality.¹

I have, however, to add an observation requisite to prevent the

Misconception in regard to definiteness of sumption in second rule obviated. possibility of a misconception. In stating it as a rule of extensive categoricals, that the sumption must be definite (universal or singular), if you are at all conversant with logical books, you will have noticed that this rule is not in unison

with the doctrine therein taught, and you may, accordingly, be surprised that I should enounce as a general rule what is apparently contradicted by the fact that there are syllogisms — valid syllogisms — of various forms, in which the sumption is a particular, or the subsumption a negative, proposition. In explanation of this, it is enough at present to say, that in these syllogisms the premises are transposed in the expression. You will, hereafter, find that the sumption is not always the proposition which stands first in the

The mere order of enunciation does not constitute the sumption or subsumption in a reasoning. enunciation, as the conclusion is not always the proposition which stands last. Such transpositions are, however, only external accidents, and the mere order in which the premises and conclusion of a syllogism are enounced, no more changes their nature and their necessary relation

to each other, than does the mere order in which the grammatical parts of a sentence are expressed, alter their essential character and reciprocal dependence. In the phrases vir bonus and bonus vir, — in both, the vir is a substantive and the bonus an adjective. In the

1 Krug, Logik, p. 248. Bachmann, Logik, § 124. - ED.

218

LOGIC.

sentence variously enounced, - Alexander Darium vicit, - Alexander vicit Darium, - Darium Alexander vicit, - Darium vicit Alexander, - Vicit Alexander Darium, - Vicit Darium Alexander : in these, a difference of order may denote a difference of the interest we feel in the various constituent notions, but no difference of their grammatical or logical relations. It is the same with syllo-

What truly constitutes the sumption and subsumption in a reasoning.

gisms. The mere order of enunciation does not change a sumption into a subsumption, nor a subsumption into a sumption. It is their essential relation and correlation in thought which constitutes the one proposition a major, and the

If the former precede the latter in the other a minor premise. expression of the reasoning, the syllogism is technically regular; if the latter precede the former, it is technically irregular or transposed. This, however, as you will hereafter more fully see, has not been attended to by logicians, and in consequence of their looking away from the internal and necessary consecution of the premises to their merely external and accidental arrangement, the science had been deformed and perplexed by the recognition of a multitude of different forms, as real and distinct, which exist only, and are only distinguished, by certain fortuitous accidents of expression. This being understood, you will not marvel at the rule in regard to the quantity of sumptions in extensive syllogisms (which, however, I limited to those that were regularly and fully expressed), - that it must be definite. Nor will you marvel at the counter canon in regard to the quality of sumptions in intensive syllogisms, - that it must be affirmative.¹

The necessity of the last rule is equally manifest as that of the

preceding. It is :- The conclusion must corre-Third Rule. spond in quantity with the subsumption, and in quality with the sumption. "This rule is otherwise enounced by logicians : - The conclusion must always follow the weaker or worser part, - the negative and the particular being held to be weaker or worser in relation to the affirmative and universal. The conclusion, in extensive categoricals (with which we are at present occupied) is made up of the minor term, as subject, and of the major term, as predicate. Now, as the relation of these two terms to each other is determined by their relation to the middle term, and as the middle term is compared with the major term in the sumption; it follows that the major term must hold the same relation to the minor

1 [See Bachmann, Logik, § 124, pp. 192, 194. Anm. 3 Drobisch, Logik, § 73, h. 65, §§ 42, § 109, p. 362. Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, 44, pp. 34, 36. Schulze, Logik, § 79, p. 114. P. iii, c. iii, p. 91.]

Krug, Logik, § 82, p. 249. Cf. § 83, p. 264, and

erma

in the conclusion which it held to the middle in the sumption. If then the sumption is affirmative, so likewise must be the conclusion; on the other hand, if the sumption be negative, so likewise must be the conclusion. In the subsumption, the minor term is compared with the middle; that is, the minor is affirmed as under the middle. In the conclusion, the major term cannot, therefore, be predicated of more things than were affirmed as under the middle term in the subsumption. Is the subsumption, therefore, universal, so likewise must be the conclusion; on the contrary, is the former particular, so likewise must be the latter."¹

1 Krug, Logik, § 80, p. 250-1. - ED.

LECTURE XVII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. — THE DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS. — THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO INTERNAL FORM.

A. SIMPLE. — CATEGORICAL. — II. DEDUCTIVE IN COMPREHENSION — III. INDUCTIVE IN EXTENSION AND COMPREHENSION.
 — B. CONDITIONAL. — DISJUNCTIVE.

In my last Lecture, after terminating the consideration of the constituent elements of the Categorical Syllo-Recapitulation. gism in general, whether in the quantity of Comprehension or of Extension, I stated the subdivision of Categorical Syllogism into Deductive and Inductive - a division determined by the difference of reasoning from the whole to the parts, or from the parts to the whole. Of these, taking the former - the Deductive - first into consideration, I was occupied, during the remainder of the Lecture, in giving a view of the laws which, in their higher or lower universality - in their remoter or more proximate application, govern the legitimacy and regularity of Deductive Categorical Syllogisms. Of these laws, the highest are the axioms of Identity and Contradiction, by which all Categorical Syllogisms are controlled. These, when proximately applied to the two forms of Deductive Categoricals, determined by the two quantities of Comprehension and Extension, constitute two canons, - the canon of the Intensive Syllogism being: What belongs to the predicate belongs also to the subject - what is repugnant to the predicate is repugnant also to the subject; - the canon of the Extensive Syllogism being: What belongs to the genus belongs also to the species and individual — what is repugnant to the genus is repugnant also

to the species and individual. Each of these, however, in its more proximate application, is still further developed into a plurality of more explicit rules. In reference to Extensive Syllogism, the general law, or the *Dictum de Omni et de Nullo* (as it is technically called) is evolved into a series of rules, which have been multiplied to twelve, are usually recalled to six, but which, throwing out of account irregular and imperfect syllogism, may be conveniently reduced to three. These are, I. An Extensive Categorical Deductive Syllogism must have three, and only three, terms — constituting three, and only three, propositions. II. The sumption must in quantity be definite (*i. e.*, universal or singular); the subsumption must in quality with the subsumption, and in quality with the sumption. The Lecture concluded with an explanation of these rules in detail.

We have now, therefore, next to consider into what rules the

2. The Intensive Categorical Deductive Syllogism. law of Intensive or Comprehensive Syllogism is developed, in its more proximate application. Now, as the intensive and extensive syllogisms are always the counterparts of each other, the

proximate rules of the two forms must, consequently, be either precisely the same, or precisely the converse of each other. Accordingly, taking the three rules of extensive syllogisms, we find that the first law is also, without difference, a rule of intensive syllogisms. But the second and third, to maintain their essential identity, must be externally converted; for to change an extensive syllogism into an intensive, we must transpose the order or subordination of the two premises, and reverse the reciprocal relation of the terms. The three general rules of an Intensive Categorical Deductive Syllogism will, therefore, stand as follows:

¶ LXI. An Intensive Categorical Deductive Syllogism, that

Par. LXI. Rules of the Intensive Categorical Deductive Syllogism. is, one of Depth, if regularly and fully expressed, is governed by the three following rules:

I. It must have three, and only three, terms, — constituting three, and only three, propositions.

II. Of the premises, the Sumption must in quality be Affirmative, and the Subsumption in quantity Definite (that is, universal or singular).

III. The Conclusion must not exceed the Sumption in Quantity, and in Quality must agree with the Subsumption.

LOGIC.

In regard to the first of these rules, — the rule which is identical kern Explication. First Rule. Val bound deep no many kern for syllogisms whether extensive or intensive, it is needless to say anything; for all that I stated in regard to it under the first of these forms, is yalid in regard to it under the second.

I proceed to the second, which is, — The sumption must in qual-

ity be affirmative, the subsumption must in quan-

tity be definite (that is, universal or singular). And, here, we have to answer the question, —Why in an intensive syllogism must the sumption be affirmative in quality, the subsumption definite in quantity? Let us take the following syllogism as explicated :

> S comprehends M; M does not comprehend P; Therefore, S does not comprehend P.

Prudence comprehends virtue; But virtue does not comprehend blameworthy; L, C, by cluded Therefore, prudence does not comprehend blameworthy. L, C //

Here all goes on regularly. We descend from the major term *prudence* to the middle term *virtue*, and from the middle term *virtue* to the minor term *blameworthy*. But let us reverse the premises. We at once see that though there is still a discoverable meaning, it is not directly given, and that we must rectify and restore in thought what is perverse and preposterous in expression. In the previous example, the sumption is affirmative, the subsumption negative. Now let us take a negative sumption:

> S does not comprehend M; But M comprehends P.

Here there is no conclusion competent, for we can neither say S comprehends P, nor S does not comprehend P. Or to take a concrete example:

Prudence does not comprehend learning; But learning comprehends praiseworthy.

We can draw, it is evident, no conclusion; for we can neither say, from the relation of the two propositions, that *Prudence compre*hends praiseworthy, nor that *Prudence does not comprehend praise* worthy.

223

Man does not Complete Lessing does not com, &

all mis for

220 5

The reason why an extensive syllogism requires a universal sump-

Grounds of the rules regarding Sumption and Subsumption in Extensive and Comprehensive Syllogisms. tion, and an intensive syllogism an affirmative, and why the one requires an affirmative and the other a definite subsumption, is the following: The condition common to both syllogisms is that the sumption should express a rule. But in the extensive syllogism this law is an univer-

sal rule, that is, a rule to which there is no exception; but then it may be expressed either in an affirmative or in a negative form, whereas in the intensive syllogism this law is expressed as a position, as a fact, and, therefore, admits only of an affirmative form, but, as it is not necessarily universal, it admits of limitations or exceptions. This opposite character of the sumptions of the two forms of syllogisms is correspondent to the opposite character of their subsumptions. In the extensive syllogism, the subsumption is, and can only be, an affirmative declaration of the application of the sumption as a universal rule. In the intensive syllogism, the subsumption is either an affirmation or a negation of the application of the sumption as a positive law. Hence it is that in an intensive syllogism the major premise is necessarily an affirmative, while the minor may be either an affirmative or a negative proposition.

In regard to the second clause of the second rule, the reason why the subsumption in an intensive syllogism must be definite in quantity, is because it would otherwise be impossible to affirm or deny of each other the minor and the major terms in the conclusion. For example:

Sumption..... Prudence is a virtue; i. e., Prudence comprehends virtue. Subsumption... Some virtue is praiseworthy; i. e., Some virtue comprehends praiseworthy.

From these we can draw no conclusion, for the indefinite some virtue does not connect the major term *prudence* and the minor term *praiseworthy* into the necessary relation of whole and part.

In regard to the third rule, — The conclusion must be correspondent in quantity with the sumption, and in quality with the subsumption, — it is not necessary to say anything. Here, as in the extensive syllogism, the conclusion cannot be stronger than the weakest of its antecedents, that is, if any premise be negative, the conclusion cannot but be negative also; and if any premise be particular, the conclusion cannot be but particular likewise; and as a weaker quality is only found in the subsumption, and a weaker quantity in the sumption, it follows that

LOGIC.

(as the rule declares) the conclusion is regulated by the sumption in regard to its quantity, and by the subsumption in regard to its quality. It is, however, evident, that though warranted to draw a universal conclusion from a general sumption, it is always competent to draw only a particular.

So much for the proximate laws by which Categorical Deductive

II. Inductive Categorical Syllogisms. Syllogisms are governed, when considered as perfect and regular in external form. We shall, in the sequel, have to consider the special rules

by which the varieties of Deductive Categorical Syllogisms, as determined by their external form, are governed; but at present we must proceed to the general consideration of the other class of categorical syllogisms afforded by their internal form, — I mean those of Induction, the discussion of which I shall commence by the following paragraph:

¶ LXII. An Inductive Categorical Syllogism is a reasoning

Par. LXII. Inductive Categorical Syllogism, - what. in which we argue from the notion of all the constituent parts discretively, to the notion of the constituted whole collectively. Its general laws are identical with

those of the Deductive Categorical Syllogism, and it may be expressed, in like manner, either in the form of an Intensive or of an Extensive Syllogism.

We shall, in the sequel, have to consider more particularly the

The views of logicians regarding the nature of Logical Induction erroneous. nature and peculiarities of Logical Induction, when we come to treat of the Figure of Syllogism, and when we consider the nature of Logical or Formal, in contrast to Philosophical or Real Induction, under the head of Modified

Logic. At present, I shall only say, that all you will find in logical works of the character of logical induction is utterly erroneous; for almost all logicians, except Aristotle, consider induction, not as regulated by the necessary laws of thought, but as determined by the probabilities and presumptions of the sciences from which its matter has accidentally been borrowed. They have not considered it, logically, in its formal, but only, extralogically, in its material conditions. Thus, logicians have treated in Logic of the inductive inference from the parts to the whole, not as exclusively warranted by the law of Identity, in the convertibility of the whole and all its parts, but they have attempted to establish an illation from a few of these parts to the whole; and this, either as supported by the

LOGIC.

general analogies of nature, or by the special presumptions afforded by the several sciences of objective existence.¹

Logicians, with the exception of Aristotle, who is, however, very

The characters of Logical or Formal, and of Real or Material, Induction. brief and unexplicit in his treatment of this subject, have thus deformed their science, and perplexed the very simple doctrine of logical induction, by confounding formal with material induction. All inductive reasoning is a reason-

ing from the parts to the whole; but the reasoning from the parts to the whole in the various material or objective sciences, is very different from the reasoning from the parts to the whole in the one formal or subjective science of Logic. In the former, the illation is not simply founded on the law of Identity, in the convertibility of a whole and all its parts, but on certain presumptions drawn from an experience or observation of the constancy of nature; so that, in these sciences, the inference to the whole is rarely from all, but generally from a small number of, its constituent parts; consequently, in them, the conclusion is rarely in truth an induction properly so called, but a mixed conclusion, drawn on an inductive presumption combined with a deductive premise. For example, the physical philosopher thus reasons:

> This, that, and the other magnet attract iron; But this, that, and the other magnet represent all magnets; Therefore, all magnets attract iron.

Now, in this syllogism, the legitimacy of the minor premise, *This*, that, and the other magnet represent all magnets, is founded on the principle, that nature is uniform and constant, and, on this general principle, the reasoner is physically warranted in making a few parts equivalent to the whole. But this process is wholly incompetent to the logician. The logician knows nothing of any principles except the laws of thought. He cannot transcend the sphere of necessary, and pass into the sphere of probable, thinking; nor can he bring back, and incorporate into his own formal science, the conditions which regulate the procedure of the material sciences. This being the case, induction is either not a logical process different from deduction, for the induction of the objective philosopher, in so far as it is formal, is in fact deductive; or there must be an induction governed by other laws than those which warrant the induction of the objective philosopher. Now, if logicians had

1 Compare Discussions, p. 159. - ED.

LOGIC.

looked to their own sciences, and not to sciences with which, as

Canons of the Deductive and Inductive Syllogisms — equally formal. logicians, they had no concern, they would have seen that there is a process of reasoning from the parts to the whole, as well as from the whole to the parts, that this process it governed by its own laws, and is equally necessary and

independent as the other. The rule by which the Deductive Syllogism is governed is: What belongs, or does not belong, to the containing whole, belongs, or does not belong, to each and all of the contained parts. The rule by which the Inductive Syllogism is governed is: What belongs, or does not belong, to all the constituent parts, belongs, or does not belong, to the constituted whole. These rules exclusively determine all formal inference; whatever transcends or violates them, transcends or violates Logic. Both are equally absolute. It would be not less illegal to infer by the deductive syllogism, an attribute belonging to the whole of something it was not conceived to contain as a part; than by the inductive, to conclude of the whole what is not conceived as a predicate of all its constituent parts. In either case, the consequent is not thought as determined by the antecedent; the premises do not involve the conclusion.¹

To take the example previously adduced as an illustration of a These reasonings illustrated. material or philosophical induction, it would be thus expressed as a formal or logical:

> This, that, and the other magnet attract iron; But this, that, and the other magnet are all magnets; Therefore, all magnets attract iron.

Here the inference is determined exclusively by a law of thought. In the subsumption, it is said, This, that, and the other magnet etc., are all magnets. This means, This, that, and the other magnet are, that is, constitute, or rather, are conceived to constitute all magnets, that is, the whole, — the class, — the genus magnet. If, therefore, explicitly enounced, it will be as follows: This, that, and the other magnet are conceived to constitute the whole class magnet. The conclusion is — Therefore, all magnets attract iron. This, if explicated, will give — Therefore, the whole class magnet is conceived to attract iron. The whole syllogism, therefore, as a logical induction, will be:

¹ [Cf. Krug, Logik, §§ 166, 167. Sanderson, Compendium Log. Artis, L. iii. c. x. p. 112. Wolf. Phil. Rationalis, §§ 477, 478. Scotus. [Quæstiones in An. Prior., L. ii. q. viii. p. 316, ed. 1610. – ED.] This that, and the other magnet attract iron;

But this, that, and the other magnet, etc., are conceived to constitute the genus magnet; Therefore, the genus magnet attracts iron.

It is almost needless to advert to an objection which, I see, among others, has misled Whately. It may be said

that the minor, This, that, and the other magnet are all magnets, is manifestly false. This is a very superficial objection. It is very true that neither here, nor indeed in almost any of our inductions, is the statement objectively correct, — that the enumerated particulars are really equivalent to the whole or class which they constitute, or in which they are contained. But, as an objection to a logical syllogism, it is wholly incompetent, as wholly extralogical. For the logician has a right to suppose any material impossibility, any material falsity; he takes no account of what is objectively impossible or false, and has a right to assume what premises he please, provided that they do not involve a contradiction in terms. In the example in question, the subsumption, This, that, and the other magnet are all magnets, has been alreadyexplained to mean, not that they really are so, but merely that theyare so thought to be. It is only on the supposition of this, that, and

Formulæ for Inductive Syllogisms in Comprehension and Extension. the other magnet, etc., being conceived to constitute the class magnet, that the inference proceeds, and, on this supposition, it will not be denied that the inference is necessary. I stated that an inductive syllogism is equally competent

in comprehension and in extension. For example, let us suppose that x, y, z, represent parts, and the letters A and B wholes, and we have the following formula of an inductive syllogism in Comprehension:

x, y, z, constitute A; A comprehends B; Therefore, x, y, z, comprehend B.

This, if converted into an extensive syllogism, by transposing the premises and reversing the copula, gives :

> A is contained under B; x, y, z, constitute A; Therefore, x, y, z, are contained under B.

But in this syllogism it is evident that the premises are in an unnatural order. We must not, therefore, here transpose the premises, as we do in converting a deductive categorical of comprehension
LECT. XVII.

LOGIC.

into one of extension. We may obtain an inductive syllogism in two different forms, and in either comprehension or extension, according as the parts stand for the major, or for the middle term. If the minor term is formed of the parts, it is evident there is no induction; for, in this case, they only constitute that quantity of the syllogism which is always a part, and never a whole. Let x, y, z represent the parts; where not superseded by x, y, z, S will represent the major term in a comprehensive, and the minor term in an extensive syllogism; P will represent the major term in an extensive, and the minor term in a comprehensive syllogism, and M the middle term in both. I shall first take the Inductive Syllogism of Comprehension.

FIRST CASE, - (The parts holding the SECOND CASE, - (The parts holding the

place of the major term S.) x, y, z constitute M; M comprehends P; Therefore, x, y, z comprehend P.

place of the middle term.) S comprehends x, y, z; x, y, z constitute P; Therefore, S comprehends P.

Again, in the Inductive Syllogism of Extension:

FIRST CASE, - (The parts holding the	SECOND CASE, - (The parts holding the		
place of the major term P.)	place of the middle term.)		
x, y, z constitute M;	x, y, z are contained under P;		
S is contained under M;	x, y, z constitute S;		
Therefore S is contained under x, y, z.	Therefore, S is contained under P.		

Before leaving this subject, I may notice that the logical induction maintained by Whately and many others, Whately and others diverges even more than that of the older logierroneously make the cians from the truth, inasmuch as it makes this Inductive Syllogism syllogism a deductive syllogism, of which the Deductive. sumption, which is usually understood and not

expressed, is always substantially the same, namely, "What belongs

Doctrine of the older logicians.

(or does not belong) to the individuals we have examined, belongs (or does not belong) to the whole class under which they are contained." This doctrine was first, I think, introduced by Wolf,¹ for the

1 [Cf. Wolf. Philosophia Rationalis, § 479, first ed. 1728. So, before Wolf, Schramm, Aristot. Philos. Principia, p. 27, ed. Helmst., 1718. "Inductione ex multis singularibus colligitur universale supposito loco majoris propositionis hoc canone: Quicquid competit omuibus partibus, hoc competit toti; in isto

(Enthymemate) vel major vel minor præmissarum, in hoc (Inductione) semper major propositio subintelligitur." Refers as follows - " De Inductione, Philos. Altorf., Disp. xxvi. p. 252 et seq." See also Crakanthorpe, Logica, c. xx. p. 217, ed. 1677. [Cf. Discussions, p. 170, note. - ED.]

LECT. XVII.

LOGIC.

previous logicians viewed the subsumption as the common, and, therefore, the suppressed premise, this premise always stating that the individuals, or particulars enumerated, made up the class under which they were severally contained.¹ For example, in the instance from the magnet we have already taken, the subsumption would be, *This, that, and the other magnet, and so forth, are the whole class*

Correct as far as it goes.

magnet. This doctrine of the older logicians is correct as far as it goes; and, to make it absolutely correct, it would only have been necessary

to have established the distinction between the logical induction as governed by the *a priori* conditions of thought, and philosophical induction as legitimated by the *a posteriori* conditions of the matter, about which the inquiry is conversant. This, however, was not done, and the whole doctrine of logical induction was corrupted and confounded by logicians introducing into their science the consideration of various kinds of matter, and admitting as logical an induction supposed imperfect, that is, one in which there was inference to the whole from some only of the constituent parts. This

Doctrine of Imperfect Induction. Imperfect Induction, they held in contingent matter to be contingent, in necessary matter to be necessary, as if a logical inference were not,

in all cases, necessary, and only necessary as governed by the necessary laws of thought. This misapprehension of the nature of logical or formal induction, and its difference from philosophical or

Bacon at fault in his criticism of Aristotle's doctrine of Induction. material, has been the reason why Bacon is at fault in his criticism of Aristotle's doctrine of induction. For, looking only at the doctrine of the inductive syllogism given by Aristotle

in the Organon, and not perceiving that the question there was only concerning the nature of induction as governed by the laws of thought, he forthwith assumed that this was the induction practised by the Stagirite in his study of nature, and, in the teeth both of the precept and practice of the philosopher, condemned the Aristotelic induction in the mass, as flying at once to general principles from the hasty enumeration of a few individual instances. Induction, as I mentioned, will, however, once and again, engage our attention in the sequel; but I have thought it proper to be somewhat explicit, that you might carry with you a clearer conception

 [On Induction in general, see Zabarella, Tabulæ in An. Prior, p. 170 et seq., Opera Logica, (Appendix) Molinæus, Elementa Logica, L. i. c. ii. p. 99. Isendoorn, Cursus Logicas, L. iii. q. ii. p. 361. Crellius, Isagoge, L. iii. c. xx. p. 254. Keckermann, Opera, t. i. pp. 259, 763. Lambert, Neues Organon, i §§ 286, 287, p. 183. Eugenios Λογική, p. 410. Jo. Fr. Picus Mirandulanus.] [Opera, Examen Doct. Vanit. Gent. L. v. p. 746 et seq. - ED.]

LECT. XVII.

LOGIC.

of the nature of this process, as contrasted with the process of the Deductive Syllogism.

Having terminated the general consideration of Categorical Syl-

B. Conditional Syllogisms.
1. Disjunctive.

logisms, Deductive and Inductive, I now proceed to the next class of Reasonings afforded by the internal form; I mean the class of Disjunctive Syllogisms.

¶ LXIII. A Disjunctive Syllogism is a reasoning, whose form is determined by the law of Excluded Middle, and whose sumption is accordingly a disjunctive proposition, either of Contra-

diction (as, A is either B or not B) — or of Contrariety (as, A is either B, or C, or D). In such a judgment, it is enounced that B or not B, or that B, C, or D, as opposite notions taken together and constituting a totality, are each of them a possible, and one or other of them a necessary, predicate of A. To determine which of these belongs, or does not belong to A, the subsumption must either affirm one of the predicates, and the conclusion, eo ipso, consequently, deny the other or others; or it must deny one or more of them, and thus necessitate in the conclusion, either the determinate affirmation of the other, or the indeterminate affirmation of the others. A Disjunctive Syllogism is thus either Affirmative, constituting the Modus ponens, or Modus ponendo tollens, or Negative, constituting the Modus tollens, or Modus tollendo ponens.

In each of these modes there are two cases, which I comprehend in the following mnemonic verses:

(A) AFFIRMATIVE, OR MODUS PONENDO TOLLENS: --

1. Falleris aut fallor; fallor; non falleris ergo.

2. Falleris aut fallor; tu falleris; ergo ego nedum.

(B) NEGATIVE, OR MODUS TOLLENDO PONENS:-

1. Falleris aut fallor; non fallor; falleris ergo.¹

2. Falleris aut fallor; non falleris; ergo ego fallor.

In illustration of this paragraph, I have defined a disjunctive Explication. syllogism, one whose form is determined by the law of Excluded Middle, and whose sumption is, accordingly, a disjunctive proposition. I have not, as logicians in general do, defined it directly, — a syllogism whose major pre-

¹ This line is from Purchot, Instit. Philos. Logica, t. 1, p. 184. The others are the Author's own. - ED.

mise is a disjunctive proposition. For though it be true that every

A syllogism with disjunctive major premise is not necessarily a disjunctive reasoning. disjunctive syllogism has a disjunctive major premise, the converse is not true; for every syllogism that has a disjunctive sumption is not, on that account, necessarily a disjunctive syllogism. For a disjunctive syllogism only emerges,

when the conclusion has reference to the relation of reciprocal affirmation and negation subsisting between the disjunct members in the major premise, — a condition not, however, contained in the mere existence of the disjunctive sumption.¹ For example, in the syllogism :

B is either C or D; But A is B; Therefore, A is either C or D.

This syllogism is as much a reasoning determined, not by the law of Excluded Middle, but solely by the law of Identity, as the following:

> B is C. A is B. Therefore, A is C.

For in both we conclude, — C (in one, C or D) is an attribute of B; but B is an attribute of A : therefore, C (C or D) is an attribute of A, — a process, in either case, regulated exclusively by the law of Identity.²

This being premised, I now proceed to a closer examination of the nature of this reasoning, and shall, first, give you a general notion of its procedure; then, secondly, discuss its principle; and, thirdly, its constituent parts.

1°. General view of the Disjunctive Sylogism. 1°. The general form of the Disjunctive Syllogism may be given in the following scheme, in which you will observe there is a common sumption to the negative and affirmative modes:

(a) Formula for a	A is either B or C.		
Syllogism with two	AFFIRMATIVE, OR MODUS	NEGATIVE, OR MODUS TOL-	
disjunct members.	PONENDO TOLLENS	LENDO PONENS-	
	Now A is B;	Now A is not B;	
	Therefore, A is not C.	Therefore, A is C.	

1 Cf. Scheibler, *Opera Logica*, Pars. iv. p. 553. "Neque enim syllogismus disjunctus semper est, cum propositio est disjunctiva, sed cum tota questio disponitur in propositione." ED. ² Sigwart, pp. 154, 157. [Handbuch zur Vorlesungen über die Logik, von H. C. W. Sigwart, 3d ed. Tübingen, 1835, §§ 245, 248. - ED.]

Or, in a concrete example:

Sempronius is either honest or dishonest.

AFFIRMATIVE, OR MODUS PONENDO	NEGATIVE, OR MODUS TOLLENDO		
TOLLENS -	PONENS-		
Now Sempronius is honest;	Now Sempronius is not honest;		
Therefore, Sempronius is not dishonest.	Therefore, Sempronius is dishonest.		

"This formula is, however, only calculated for the case in which

(b.) Formula for a Syllogism with more than two disjunct members. there are only two disjunct members, that is, for the case of negative or contradictory opposition; for if the disjunct members are more than two, that is, if there is a positive or contrary opposition, there is then a twofold or manifold employ-

ment of the Modus ponendo tollens and Modus tollendo ponens, according as the affirmation and negation is determinate or indeterminate. If, in the Modus ponendo tollens, one disjunct member is determinately affirmed, then all the others are denied; and if several disjunct members are indeterminately affirmed except one, then only that one is denied. If, in the Modus tollendo ponens, a single member of the disjunction be denied, then some one of the others is determinately affirmed; and if several be denied, so that one alone is left, then this one is determinately affirmed."¹ This will appear more clearly from the following formulæ. Let the common Sumption both of the Modus ponendo tollens and Modus tollendo ponens be :

A is either B, or C or D.

	1. The Modus Ponendo Tollens -
First Case.	A is either B or C or D;
	Now A is B;
	Therefore, A is neither C nor D.
Second Case.	A is either B or C or D;
	Now A is either B or C;
	Therefore, A is not D.
	II. THE MODUS TOLLENDO PONENS-
First Case.	A is either B or C or D;
	Now A is not B;
	Therefore, A is either C or D.
Second Case.	A is either B or C or D;
	Now A is neither B nor C;
	Therefore, A is D.
	1 Esser, Logik, § 93, p. 180. – ED.

30

Or, to take these in concrete examples, let the Common Sumption be:

The ancients were in genius either superior to the moderns, or inferior, or equal.

I. THE MODUS PONENDO TOLLENS -The ancients were in genius either superior to the moderns, or inferior, First Case. or equal; Now the ancients were superior; Therefore, the ancients were neither inferior nor equal. Second Case. The ancients were in genius either superior to the moderns, or inferior, or equal; Now the ancients were either superior or equal; Therefore, the ancients were not inferior. II. THE MODUS TOLLENDO PONENS -First Case. The ancients were in genius either superior to the moderns, or inferior, or equal. Now the ancients were not inferior; Therefore, the ancients were either superior or equal. Second Case. The ancients were in genius either superior to the moderns, or inferior, or equal. Now the ancients were neither inferior nor equal; Therefore, the ancients were superior.

Such is a general view of its procedure. Now, 2°, for its principle.

2°. The principle of the Disjunctive Syllogism. "If the essential character of the Disjunctive Syllogism consist in this, — that the affirmation or negation, or, what is a better expression, the

position or sublation, of one or other of two contradictory attributes follows from the subsumption of the opposite; — there is necessarily implied in the disjunctive process, that, when of two opposite predicates one is posited or affirmed, the other is sublated or denied; and that, when the one is sublated or denied, the other is posited or affirmed. But the proposition, — that of two repugnant attributes, the one being posited, the other must be sublated, and the one being sublated, the other must be posited, — is at once manifestly the law by which the disjunctive syllogism is governed, and manifestly only an application of the law of Excluded Middle. For the *Modus ponendo tollens* there is the special rule, — If the one character be posited the other character is sublated; and for the *Modus tollendo ponens* there is the special rule, — If the one character be sublated, the other character is posited. The law of the disjunctive syllogism is here enounced, only in reference to the case in which

234

the members of disjunction are contradictorily opposed. An opposition of contrariety is not of purely logical concernment; and a disjunctive syllogism with characters opposed in contrariety, in fact, consists of as many pure disjunctive syllogisms as there are opposing predicates."¹

3°. I now go to the third and last matter of consideration, — the several parts of a Disjunctive Syllogism.

3°. The several parts of a Disjunctive Syllogism. "The question concerning the special laws of a disjunctive syllogism, or, what is the same thing, what is the original and necessary form

of a disjunctive syllogism, as determined by its general principle or law, - this question may be asked, not only in reference to the whole syllogism, but likewise in reference to its several parts. The original and necessary form of a disjunctive syllogism consists, as we have seen, in the reciprocal position or sublation of contradictory characters, by the subsumption of one or other. Hence it follows, that the disjunctive syllogism must, like the categorical, involve a threefold judgment, viz.: 1°, A judgment in which a subject is determined by two contradictory predicates; 2°, A judgment in which one or other of the opposite predicates is subsumed, that is, is affirmed, either as existent or non-existent; and, 3°, A judgment in which the final decision is enounced concerning the existence or non-existence of one of the repugnant or reciprocally exclusive predicates. But in these three propositions, as in the three propositions of a categorical syllogism, there can only be three principal notions - viz., the notion of a subject, and the notion of two contradictory attributes, which are generally enounced in the sumption, and of which one is posited or sublated in the subsumption, in order that in the conclusion the other may be sublated or posited. The case of contrary opposition is, as we have seen, easily reconciled and reduced to that of contradictory opposition."² The laws of the several parts of a disjunctive syllogism, or more properly the original and necessary form of these several parts, are given in the following paragraph:

¶ LXIV. 1°. A regular and perfect Disjunctive Syllogism

Par. LXIV. The laws of the Disjunctive Syllogism. A regular and perfect Disjunctive Synogism must have three propositions, in which, if the sumption be simple and the disjunction purely logical, only three principal notions can be found.

2°, The Sumption, in relation to its quantity and quality, is

1 Esser, Logik, § 94. - ED.

2 Esser, Logik, § 95.- ED.

always uniform, being Universal and Affirmative; but the Subsumption is susceptible of various forms in both relations.

3°, The Conclusion corresponds in quantity with the subsumption, and is opposed to it in quality.¹

The first rule is, — A regular and perfect disjunctive syllogism must have three propositions, in which, if the sumption be simple, and the disjunction purely logical, only three principal notions can be

found. "Like the categorical syllogism, the disjunctive consists of a sumption, constituting the general rule; of a subsumption, containing its application; and of a conclusion, expressing the judgment inferred. Disjunctive syllogisms are, therefore, true and genuine reasonings; and if in the sumption the disjunction be contradictory, there are in the syllogism only three principal notions. In the case of contrary disjunctions, there may, indeed, appear a greater number of notions; but as such syllogisms are in reality composite, and are made up of a plurality of syllogisms with a contradictory disjunction, this objection to the truth of the rule is as little valid as the circumstance, that the subject in the sumption is sometimes twofold, threefold, fourfold, or manifold; as, for example, in the sumption - John, James, Thomas, are either virtuous or vicious. For this is a copulative proposition, which is composed of three simple propositions - viz. John is, etc. If, therefore, there be such a sumption at the head of a disjunctive syllogism, it is in this case, likewise, composite, and may be analyzed into as many simple syllogisms with three principal notions, as there are simple propositions into which the sumption may be resolved."²

The second rule is, — The sumption is, in relation to its quantity Second Rule. and quality, always uniform, — being universal and affirmative; but the subsumption is susceptible of different forms in both relations. If we look, indeed, to the subject alone, it may seem to be possibly equally general or particu-

lar; for we can equally say of *some* as of *all* A, that they are either B or C. But as all universality is relative, and as the sumption is always more extensive or more comprehensive than the subsumption, it is thus true that the sumption is always general. Again, looking to the predicate, or, as it is complex, to the predicates alone, they, as exclusive of each other, appear to involve a negation. But in looking at the whole proposition, that is, at the subject, the copula, and the predicates in connection, we see at once that the

1 Esser, l. c. Krug, Logik, § 86. - ED.

2 Krug, Logik, l. c. - ED.

copula is affirmative, for the negation involved in the predicates is confined to that term alone.¹

Third Rule.

In regard to the third rule, which enounces, - That the conclusion should have the same quantity with the subsumption, but an opposite quality, - it is

requisite to say nothing, as the first clause is only a special application of the rule common to all syllogisms, that the conclusion can contain nothing more than the premises, and must, therefore, follow the weaker part; and the second is self-evident, as only a special application of the principle of Excluded Middle, for, on this law, if one contradictory be affirmed in the subsumption, the other must be denied in the conclusion, and if one contradictory be denied in the subsumption, the other must be affirmed in the conclusion.

The Disjunctive, like every other species of syllogism, may be

The Disjunctive Syllogism of Comprehension and Extension.

either a reasoning in the quantity of Comprehension, or a reasoning in the quantity of Extension. The contrast, however, of these two quantities is not manifested in the same signal

manner in the disjunctive as in the categorical deductive syllogism, more especially of the first figure. In the categorical deductive syllogism, the reasonings in the two counter quantities are obtrusively distinguished by a complete conversion, not only of the internal significance, but of the external appearance of the syllogism. For not only do the relative terms change places in the relation of whole and part, but the consecution of the antecedents is reversed; the minor premise in the one syllogism becoming the major premise in the other. This, however, is not the case in disjunctive syllogisms. Here the same proposition is, in both quantities, always the major premise; and the whole change that takes place in converting a disjunctive syllogism of the one quantity into a disjunctive syllogism of the other, is in the silent reversal of the copula from one of its meanings to another. This, however, as it determines no apparent difference in single propositions, and as the disjunctive sumption remains always the same proposition, out of which the subsumption and the conclusion are evolved, in the one quantity as in the other, - the reversal of the sumption, from extension to com-

Examples. in the syllogism.

prehension, or from comprehension to extension, occasions neither a real nor an apparent change Take, for example, the disjunctive syllogism:

1 See Krug, Logik, § 86, Anm. 2. ED. - quantitatem nisi suarum partium . . . sicut [Bachmann, Logik, § 141, p. 354. Contra: Propositio Hypothetica habet tantum quan-Twesten, Logik, § 137. ed. 1825, p. 119. Esser. Logik, § 95. Derodon, Logica Restituta, p. 676.] [Propositio Disjunctiva nullam habet

titatem suarum partium." See above, p. 174, and note 1. - ED.]

Plato is either learned or unlearned ; But Plato is learned. Therefore, Plato is not unlearned.

Now let us explicate this into an intensive and into an extensive syllogism. As in Intensive Syllogism it will stand:

Plato comprehends either the attribute learned or the attribute unlearned; But Plato comprehends the attribute learned; Therefore, etc.

As an Extensive Syllogism it will stand :

Plato is contained either under the class learned or the class unlearned; But Plato is contained under the class learned; Therefore, etc.

From this it appears, that, though the difference of reasoning in the several quantities of comprehension and extension obtains in disjunctive, as in all other syllogisms, it does not, in the disjunctive syllogism, determine the same remarkable change in the external construction and consecution of the parts, which it does in categorical syllogisms.

LECTURE XVIII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.- OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS.— THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO INTERNAL FORM.

B. CONDITIONAL. — HYPOTHETICAL AND HYPOTHETICO-DISJUNCTIVE.

HAVING now considered Categorical and Disjunctive Syllogisms, the next class of Reasonings afforded by the difference of Internal or Essential form is the Hypothetical; and the general nature of these syllogisms is expressed in the following paragraph:

¶ LXV. An Hypothetical Syllogism is a reasoning whose form is determined by the law of Reason and Consequent. It is, therefore, regulated by the two principles of which that law is the complement, — the one, — With the

reason, the consequent is affirmed; the other, — With the consequent, the reason is denied: and these two principles severally afford the condition of its Affirmative or Constructive, and of its Negative or Destructive form (Modus ponens et Modus tollens). The sumption or general rule in such a syllogism is necessarily an hypothetical proposition (If A is, then B is). In such a proposition it is merely enounced that the prior member (A) and the posterior member (B) stand to each other in the relation of reason and consequent, if existing, but without it being determined whether they really exist or not. Such determination must follow in the subsumption and conclusion; and that, either by the absolute affirmation of the

antecedent in the subsumption, and the illative affirmation of the consequent in the conclusion (the *modus ponens*); or by the absolute negation of the consequent in the subsumption, and the illative negation of the antecedent in the conclusion (the *modus tollens*).¹ The general form of an hypothetical syllogism² is, therefore, the following:

Common Sumption - If	A is, then B is	
1,		2,
Modus Ponens:	Modus Tollens:	
But A is:	But B is not;	
Therefore, B is. Or.	Therefore, A is not.	
	Α	В

MODUS PONENS — Si poteris possum; sed tu potes; ergo ego possum.
 B A

2) MODUS TOLLENS - Si poteris possum; non possum; nec potes ergo.3

In illustrating this paragraph, I shall consider, 1°, This species of

Explication.

syllogism in general; 2°, Its peculiar principle; and, 3°, Its special laws.

1°, "Like every other species of simple syllogism, the Hypothetical is made up of three propositions -a sumption

1°. Hypothetical syllogism in general. Contains three propositions. is made up of three propositions, — a sumption, a subsumption, and a conclusion. There must, in the first place, be an hypothetical proposition holding the place of a general rule, and from this proposition the other parts of the syllogism

must be deduced. This first proposition, therefore, contains a sumption. But as this proposition contains a relative and correlative member, — one member, the relative clause, enouncing a thing as conditioning; the other, the correlative clause, enouncing a thing as conditioned; and as the whole proposition enounces merely the dependency between these relatives, and judges nothing in regard to their existence considered apart and in themselves, — this enouncement must be made in a second proposition, which shall take out of the sumption one or other of its relatives, and categori-

1 [For use of terms ponens and tollens, see Boethius, De Syllogismo Hypothetico, Opera p. 611. Wolf. Phil. Rat., § 405, 410. Mark Duncan uses the terms "a positione ad positionem," and "a remotione ad remotionem" [Institutiones Logice, L iv. c. 6, § 4, p. 240. Cf. p. 243, Salmurii, 1812. - ED.]

² [On the Hypothetical Syllogism in general, see Ammonius, In De Interp., Process.,
 f. 3, Venetiis, 1543. Philoponus, In Anal.

Prior., i. c. 23, f. 60, Venet., 1535. Magentinus. In Anal. Prior., f. 16, b. Alex. Aphrodisiensis, In Anal. Prior., ff. 87, 88, 109, 139, Ald. 1520. In Twica, f. 65, Ald., 1513. Anonymous Author, On Syllogisms, f. 44, ed. 1536. Scheibler, Opera Lagica, pars iv. p. 548. Bolzano, Wissenschaftschere, Lagik, ii. p. 550. Waitz, Organon, In An. Prior., i. e. 23.]

³ These lines are the Author's own. - ED.

LECT. XVIII.

LOGIC.

cally enounce its existence or its non-existence. This second proposition contains, therefore, a subsumption; and, through this subsumption, a judgment is likewise determined, in a third proposition, with regard to the other relative. This last proposition, therefore, contains the conclusion proper of the syllogism."

"But as the sumption in an hypothetical syllogism contains two

In a hypothetical syllogism there is competent a twofold kind of reasoning,—the modus ponens and modus tollens. relative clauses, — an antecedent and a consequent, — it, therefore, appears double; and as either of its two members may be taken in the subsumption, there is, consequently, competent a twofold kind of reasoning. For we can either, in the first place, conclude from the truth of the

antecedent to the truth of the consequent; or, in the second place, conclude from the falsehood of the consequent to the falsehood of the antecedent. The former of these modes of hypothetical inference constitutes what is sometimes called the *Constructive Hypothetical*, but more properly the *Modus Ponens*: — the latter what is sometimes called the *Destructive Hypothetical*, but more properly the *Modus Tollens*."¹ As examples of the two modes:

Modus Ponens — If Socrates be virtuous, he merits esteem; But Socrates is virtuous; Therefore, he merits esteem. Modus Tollens — If Socrates be virtuous, he merits esteem; But Socrates does not merit esteem; Therefore, he is not virtuous,²

So much for the character of the Hypothetical Syllogism in general. I now proceed to consider its peculiar principle.

2°, "If the essential nature of an Hypothetical Syllogism consist in this, — that the subsumption affirms or denies one or other of the two parts of a thought, standing to each other in the relation of the thing conditioning and the thing conditioned, it will be the

1 Krug, Logik, § 81, Anm. 1, p. 254. Compare Esser, Logik, § 90, p. 173. — ED.

² [Nomenclature of Theophrastns, Eudemus, and other Peripatetics, in regard to Hypothetical Syllogism, in contrast with that of the Stoics.

Πράγματα νοήματα φωναί (Peripatetic), are called by the Stoics respectively, τυγχάνοντα έκφορικά, λεκτά.

Take this Hypothetical Syllogism :

If it be day, the sum is on the earth; But it is day; Therefore, the sum is on the earth. Here, If it be day is called $\tau \delta$ $\dot{\eta}\gamma \delta \dot{\mu} \omega \sigma \omega$, both by Peripatetics and by Stoies; the sun is on the earth, is called $\tau \delta$ $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \delta \mu \varepsilon \sigma \omega$ by Per.patetics, $\tau \delta$ $\lambda \ddot{\eta} \gamma \omega$ by Stoies. The whole, U it be day, the sun is on the earth, is called $\tau \delta$ $\sigma \upsilon \tau \eta \mu \dot{\epsilon} \varepsilon \omega$ by Peripatetics, $\tau \delta$ $\tau \rho \sigma \pi \kappa \delta \omega$ by Stoies: But it is day, is $\mu \epsilon \tau \dot{\alpha} \lambda \eta \psi$ s to Peripatetics, $\pi \rho \delta \tau \lambda \eta \psi$ s to Stoies. Therefore, the sun is on the earth, is $\sigma \upsilon \mu \pi \dot{\epsilon} \rho \sigma \mu \alpha$ to Peripatetics, $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \iota \phi \rho \rho \dot{\alpha}$ to Stoies. See Philoponus, In And. Prior. L. i c 28, f 60 a, ed. Venet. 1536. Brandis, Scholia, p. 160. Cf. Anonymous Author, On Syllogisms, f. 44.]

law of an hypothetical syllogism, that, - If the condition or antece-

2°. Its peculiar principle,—the law of Reason and Consequent. dent be affirmed, so also must be the conditioned or consequent, and that if the conditioned or consequent be denied, so likewise must be the condition or antecedent. But this is mani-

festly nothing else than the law of Sufficient Reason, or of Reason and Consequent."¹ The principle of this syllogism is thus variously enounced, — Posita conditione, ponitur conditionatum; sublato

How enounced. *A ratione ad rationatum, a negatione rationati*

ad negationem rationis, valet consequentia. The one alternative of either rule being regulative of modus ponens, the other of the modus tollens.²

"But here it may be asked, why, as we conclude from the truth

Why we cannot conclude from the truth of the consequent to the truth of the antecedent, and from the falsehood of the antecedent to the falsehood of the consequent. of the antecedent to the truth of the consequent (a ratione ad rationatum), and from the falsehood of the consequent to the falsehood of the antecedent (a negatione rationati ad negationem rationis), can we not conversely conclude from the truth of the consequent to the truth of the antecedent, and from the falsehood of the antecedent to the falsehood of the consequent? In answer to this question, it is manifest that

this could be validly done, only on the following supposition, namely, if every consequent had only one possible antecedent; and if, from an antecedent false as considered absolutely and in itself, it were impossible to have consequents true as facts.

"Thus, in the first place, it is incompetent to conclude that because B exists, that is, because the consequent member of the sumption, considered as an absolute proposition, is true, therefore the supposed reason A exists, that is, therefore the alleged antecedent member must be true; for B may have other reasons besides A, such as C or D. In like manner, in the second place, we should not be warranted to infer, that because the supposed reason A is unreal, and the antecedent member false, therefore the result B is also unreal, and the consequent member false; for the existence of B might be determined by many other reasons than A."^s For example:

> If there are sharpers in the company, we ought not to gamble; But there are no sharpers in the company; Therefore, we ought to gamble.

Esser, Logik, § 91, p. 174. - ED.
 See Kant, Logik, § 75, 76. Krug, Logik, § 82. - ED.
 Krug, Logik, § 82, p. 256. - ED.

LECT. XVIII.

LOGIC.

Here the conclusion is as false as if we conversely inferred, that because we ought not to gamble, there are no sharpers in the room.

"Logicians have given themselves a world of pains in the dis-

Conversion of Hypothetical to Categorical Syllogisms, is 1°, Unnecessary. covery of general rules for the conversion of Hypothetical Syllogisms into Categorical.¹ But, in the first place, this is unnecessary, in so far as it is applied to manifest the validity of an hypothetical syllogism; for the hypothetical syllo-

gism manifests its own validity with an evidence not less obtrusive than does the categorical, and, therefore, it stands in no need of a reduction to any higher form, as if it were of this a one-sided and accidental modification. With equal propriety might we inquire, how a categorieal syllogism is to be converted into an hypothetical.

2°, Not always possible. In the second place, this conversion is not always possible, and, therefore, it is never ne-

cessary. In cases where the sumption of an hypothetical syllogism contains only three notions, and where, of these three notions, one stands to the other two in the relation of a middle term, — in these cases, an hypothetical syllogism may without difficulty be reduced to categorieals. Thus, when the formula—If A is, then B is, signifies—If A is C, then A is also B; that is, A is B, inasmuch as it is C; — in this case the categorical form is to be viewed as the original, and the hypothetical as the derivative."² For example :

If Caius be a man, then he is mortal; But Caius is a man; Therefore, he is mortal.

Here the notion man is regarded as comprehending in it, or as contained under, the notion mortal; and as being comprehended in, or as containing under it, the notion Caius; it can, therefore, serve as middle term in the categorical syllogism to connect the two notions Caius and mortal. Thus:

Man is mortal; Caius is a man; Therefore, Caius is mortal.

 For the reduction of hypotheticals, see Wolf, Philos. Rat., § 412. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 563. Molinæus, Elementa Logica, L. i. tract. iii. c. 1, p. 95. Keekermann, Opera, t. i. pp. 266, 767. Crellius, Isagoge, L. iii. c. 17, p. 243. Kiesewetter, Allgemeine Logik, i. § 239, p. 115. Esser, Logik, §§ 99, 100. Against,

see Krng, Logik, p. 256, and Lexikon, iii. p. 559. Fries, Logik, § 62, p. 267. Bachmann, Logik, § 89, Anm. 2. (In part), Aristotle, Anal. Prior., L. i. c. 44, p. 274, ed. Pacli. (In part), Pacius, In Arist., Organon, loc. cit., p. 194]

2 Krug, Logik, p. 258, Anm, 3. - ED.

"In such cases it requires only to discover the middle term, in order to reduce the hypothetical syllogism to a categorical form; and no rules are requisite for those who comprehend the nature of the two kinds of reasoning.

"But in those cases where the sumption of an hypothetical syllogism contains more than three notions, so that the formula, If A is, then B is, signifies, If A is C, then is B also D, — in such cases, an easy and direct conversion is impossible, as a categorical syllogism admits of only three principal notions. To accomplish a reduction at all, we must make a circuit through a plurality of categorical syllogisms before we can arrive at an identical conclusion, — a process which, so far from tending to simplify and explain, conduces only to perplex and obscure.¹

"On the other hand, we can always easily convert an hypotheti-

Hypothetical syllogisms of one form easily convertible into that of another. cal syllogism of one form into another, — the modus ponens into the modus tollens, — the modus tollens into the modus ponens. This is done by a mere contraposition of the antecedent and consequent of the sumption. Thus,

the Ponent or Constructive Syllogism:

If Socrates be virtuous, then he merits esteem; But Socrates is virtuous; Therefore, he merits esteem,

may thus be converted into a Tollent or Destructive syllogism :

If Socrates do not merit esteem, then he is not virtuous; But he is virtuous; Therefore, he merits esteem.

"This latter syllogism, though apparently a Constructive syllogism, is in reality a Destructive. For, *in modo ponente*, we conclude from the truth of the antecedent to the truth of the consequent; but here we really conclude from the falsehood of the consequent to the falsehood of the antecedent."² This latter syllogism, if fully expressed, would indeed be as follows:

> If Socrates do not merit esteem, he is not virtuous; But Socrates is not not virtuous; Therefore, he does not not merit esteem.

¹ Compare Mark Duncan, Instit. Log., L. iv. [Bolzano, Wissenschaftslehre, Logik, ii. 266, p. c 6, § 4, p. 240 et seq. Derodon, Logica Resti-562.]
¹ tuta, De Argumentatione, § 106, p. 672. - ED.
² Krug, Logik, p. 259, 260. - ED.

LECT. XVIII.

LOGIC.

3°. I now go on to a statement and consideration of the special rules by which an hypothetical syllogism is governed.

Par. LXVI. 3°, Special Rules of Hypothetical Syllogism. It which an Hypothetical Syllogism is regulated are the following:

- I. A regular and perfect hypothetical syllogism must have three propositions, in which, however, more than three principal notions may be found.
- II. The Sumption is, in regard to quantity and quality, uniform, being always Definite and Affirmative; whereas the Subsumption varies in both relations.
- III. The Conclusion is regulated in quantity and quality by that member of the sumption which is not subsumed; *in modo ponente*, they are congruent; *in modo tollente*, they are opposed.¹

"The question touching the special laws of the hypothetical syl-

Explication. First Rule. This regulates the general form of the hypothetical syllogism. logism, or, what is the same thing, the question touching the original and necessary form of the hypothetical syllogism, as determined by its general principle, — the law of Reason and Consequent, — this question may be referred

both to the whole reasoning and to its several parts. The original and necessary form of the hypothetical syllogism, as determined by its general principle, we have already considered. From this, as already noticed, it follows as a corollary, that the hypothetical, like every other syllogism, must contain a threefold judgment: 1°, A judgment whose constituent members stand to each other in the relation of reason and consequent; 2°, A judgment which subsumes as existent, or non-existent, one or other of these constituent members, standing to each other in the relation of reason and consequent; and, 3°, Finally, a judgment decisive of the existence or non-existence of that constituent member which was not subsumed in the second judgment. In these three propositions - sumption, subsumption, and conclusion - there may, however, be found more than three principal notions; and this is always the case when the sumption contains more than three principal terms, as is exemplified in a proposition like the following: If God reward virtue, then will virtuous men be also happy. Here, however, it must, at the same time, be understood, that this proposition, in which a larger plurality of notions than three is apparent, contains, however, only the

thought of one antecedent and of one consequent; for a single consequent supposes a whole antecedent, how complex soever it may be, and a single antecedent involves in it a whole consequent, though made up of any number of parts. Both of these possibilities are seen in the example, now adduced, of an hypothetical judgment, in which there occur more than three principal notions. If,

Ground on which the Hypothetical Syllogism has been regarded as having only two terms and two propositions. however, an hypothetical proposition involve only the thought of a single antecedent and of a single consequent, it will follow that any hypothetical syllogism consists not of more than three, but of less than three, capital notions; and, in a rigorous sense, this is actually the

case."¹ On this ground, accordingly, some logicians of great acuteness have viewed the hypothetical syllogism as a syllogism of two

This view erroneous.

terms and of two propositions."² This is, however, erroneous; for, in an hypothetical syllo-

gism, there are virtually three terms." "That under this form of reasoning a whole syllogism can be evolved out of not more than two capital notions depends on this, - that the two constituent notions of an hypothetical syllogism present a character in the sumption altogether different from what they exhibit in the subsumption and conclusion. In the sumption these notions stand bound together in the relation of reason and consequent, without, however, any determination in regard to the reality or unreality of one or other; if one be, then the other is, is all that is enounced. In the subsumption, on the other hand, the existence or non-existence of what one or other of these notions comprises is expressly asserted, and thus the concept, expressly affirmed or expressly denied, manifestly obtains, in the subsumption, a wholly different significance from what it bore when only enounced as a condition of reality or unreality; and, in like manner, that notion which the subsumption left untouched, and concerning whose existence or nonexistence the conclusion decides, obtains a character altogether different in the end from what it presented in the beginning. And thus, in strict propriety, there are found only three capital notions in an hypothetical syllogism, namely, 1°, The notion of the reciprocal dependence of subject and predicate, 2°, The notion of the reality or unreality of the antecedent, and, 3°, The notion of the reality or unreality of the consequent."³ So much in explanation

Logik, §§ 210, 251. Herbart, Logik, § 65. Fischer, Logik, § 100, p. 137.]

3 Esser, loc. cit. - ED.

¹ Esser, Logik, § 92, p. 175-6. - ED.

² See Kant, Logik, § 75. Kant's view is combatted by Krug, Logik, § 83. – ED. [A view similar to that of Kant is held by Weiss,

LECT. XVIII.

LOGIC.

of the first special law, or that regulative of the general form of the hypothetical syllogism.

The second law states the conditions of these two premises, -

Second Rule.

that the sumption, in reference to its quantity

and quality, is uniform, being always definite, that is, singular or universal, and affirmative; while the subsumption, in both relations, remains free.

In regard to the sumption, when it is said that it is always defi-

That the sumption is always definite to be understood in a qualified sense.

nite, that is, singular or universal, and affirmative, this must be understood in a qualified sense. Touching the former, it may indeed be said that quantity may be altogether thrown out of account in an hypothetical syllogism.¹

For a reason being once supposed, its consequent is necessarily affirmed without limitation; and, by the disjunction, the extension or comprehension of the subject is so defined, that the opposite determinations must together wholly exhaust it. It may, indeed, sometimes appear as if what was enounced in an hypothetical sumption were enounced only of an indefinite number, - of some; and it, consequently, then assumes the form of a particular proposition. For instance, If some men are virtuous, then some other men are vicious. But here it is easily seen that such judgments are of an universal or exhaustive nature. In the proposition adduced, the real antecedent is, If some men (only) are virtuous; the real consequent is, then all other men are vicious. It would, perhaps, have been better had the relative totality of the major proposition of a hypothetical syllogism been expressed by another term than universal.² For the same reason it is, that the difference of extensive and comprehensive quantity determines no external change in the expression of an hypothetical syllogism; for every hypothetical syllogism remains the same, whether we read it in the one quantity or in the other.

In regard to the other statement of the rule, that the sumption

That the sumption is always affirmative.

of an hypothetical syllogism must be always affirmative, - this, likewise, demands a word of illustration. It is true that the antecedent or

the consequent of such a sumption may be negative as well as affirmative; for example, If Caius be not virtuous, he is not entitled to respect; If the sun be not risen, it is not day. But here the

2 See above p. 188. Compare Esser, Logik, § 92, p. 177. - ED.

^{1 [}See Alexander Aphrodisiensis, In Anal. Prior., f. 5 a. Scholia, ed. Brandis, p 144. Derodon, Logica Restituta, p. 688.] [Compare above, pp. 188, 236. - ED.]

proposition, as an hypothetical judgment, is and must be affirmative. For the affirmative in such a judgment is contained in the positive assertion of the dependence of consequent or antecedent; and if such a dependence be not affirmed, an hypothetical judgment cannot exist.

In regard to what is stated in the rule concerning the conditions The subsumption. of the subsumption, — that this may either be general or particular, affirmative or negative, it will not be requisite to say anything in illustration. For, as the subsumption is merely an absolute assertion of a single member of the sumption, and as such member may, as an isolated proposition, be of any quantity or any quality, it follows that the subsumption is equally unlimited.

In reference to the third rule, which states that the conclusion is

Third Rule. regulated in quantity and quality by that member of the sumption which is not subsumed, and this *in modo ponente* by congruence, *in modo tollente* by opposition, it will not be requisite to say much.

"In the conclusion, the latter clause of the sumption is affirmed in modo ponente, because the former is affirmed in the subsumption. In this case, the conclusion has the same quantity and quality as the clause which it affirms. In modo tollente the antecedent of the sumption is denied in the conclusion, because in the subsumption the consequent clause had been denied. There thus emerges an opposition between that clause, as denied in the conclusion, and that clause as affirmed in the sumption. The conclusion is thus always opposed to the antecedent of the sumption in quantity, or in quality, or in both together, according as this is differently determined by the different constitution of the propositions. For example:

> If some men were omniscient, then would they be as Gods; But no man is a God; Therefore, some men are not omniscient, that is, no man is omniscient."¹

I now proceed to the consideration of the last class of syllogisms 3. Ilypothetico-disjunctive or Dilemmatic Syllogisms. afforded by the Internal Form, — the class of Dilemmatic or Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogisms, and I comprise a general enunciation of their nature in the following paragraph.

1 Krug, Logik, § 83, p. 265. - ED.

¶ LXVII. If the sumption of a syllogism be at once hypo-

Par. LXVII. Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogism or Dilemma.

thetical and disjunctive, and if, in the subsumption, the whole disjunction, as a consequent, be sublated, in order to sublate the antecedent in the conclusion; such a rea-

soning is called an Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogism, or a Dilemma. The form of this syllogism is the following:

> If A exist, then either B or C exists; But neither B nor C exists ; Therefore, A does not exist.1

We have formerly seen that an hypothetical may be combined with a disjunctive judgment; and if a proposi-Explication. tion of such a character be placed at the head of a reasoning, we have the Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogism or Dilemma. This reasoning is properly an hypothetical syllogism, in which the relation of the antecedent to the consequent is not absolutely affirmed, but affirmed through opposite and reciprocally exclusive predicates. If A exist, then either B or C exist. The sumption is thus at once hypothetical and disjunctive. The subsumption then denies the disjunctive members contained in the consequent or posterior clause of the sumption. But neither B nor C

exist. And then the inference is drawn in the conclusion, that the reason given in the antecedent or prior clause of the sumption must likewise be denied. Therefore A does not exist.² For example :

If man be not a morally responsible being, he must want either the power of recognizing moral good (as an intelligent agent), or the power of willing it (as a free agent).

But man wants neither the power of recognizing moral good (as an intelligent agent), nor the power of willing it (as a free agent);

Therefore, man is a morally responsible being.

"An hypothetico-disjunctive syllogism is called the dilemma or horned syllogism in the broader acceptation of Designations of the the term (dilemma, ceratinus, cornutus sc. syllo-Hypothetico - disjuncgismus). We must not, however, confound the tive Syllogism. cornutus and crocodilinus of the ancients with

our hypothetico-disjunctive syllogism. The former were sophisms of a particular kind, which we are hereafter to consider; the latter

ma is a negative induction, see Wallis, Logica, Aphorismen, i. § 583, p. 280.] L. iii. c. 19, p. 218. Cf. Fries, Logik, § 60, p.

1 Krug, Logik, § 87. - ED. [Contra, see 257. Aldrich, Rudimenta Logica, c. iv. § 3, p. Troxler, Logik, ii. p. 103 n*. That the Dilem- 107, Oxford, 1852. Platner, Philosophische 2 Krug, loc. cit. - ED.

is a regular and legitimate form of reasoning. In regard to the application of the terms, it is called the *cornutus* or *horned syllogism*, because in the sumption the disjunctive members of the consequent are opposed like horns to the assertion of the adversary; with these, we throw it from one side to the other in the subsumption; in order to toss it altogether away in the conclusion. If the disjunction has only two members, the syllogism is then called a *dilemma (bicornis)* in the strict and proper signification, literally *double sumption*. Of this the example previously given is an instance. If it has three, four, or five members, it is called *trilemma (tricornis)*. *tetralemma (quadricornis)*, *pentalemma (quinquecornis)*; if more than four, it is, however, usually called *polylemma (multicornis)*. But, in the looser signification of the word, *Dilemma* is a generic expression for any or all of these.^{*1}

"Considered in itself, the hypothetico-disjunctive syllogism is not

Rules for sifting a proposed Dilemma.

to be rejected, for in this form of reasoning we can conclude with cogency, provided we attend to the laws already given in regard to the hypo-

thetical and disjunctive syllogisms. It is not, however, to be denied, that this kind of syllogism is very easily abused for the purpose of deceiving, through a treacherous appearance of solidity, and from terrifying a timorous adversary by its horned aspect. In the sifting of a proposed dilemma, we ought, therefore, to look closely at the three following particulars: ---1°, Whether a veritable consequence subsists between the antecedent and consequent of the sumption; 2°, Whether the opposition in the consequent is thorough-going and valid; and, 3°, Whether in the subsumption the disjunctive members are legitimately sublated. For the example of a dilemma which violates these conditions, take the following:

If virtue were a habit worth acquiring, it must insure either power, or wealth, or honor, or pleasure; But virtue insures none of these; Therefore, virtue is not a habit worth attaining.

"Here: -1° . The inference in general is invalid: for a thing may be worth acquiring, though it does not secure any of those advantages enumerated. 2°. The disjunction is incomplete; for there are other goods which virtue insures, though it may not insure those here opposed. 3°. The subsumption is also vicious; for virtue has frequently obtained for its possessors the very advantages here denied."²

¹ Krug, *loc. cit.* Anm., 2. -- ED. [Cf. Keckermann, *Opera*, t. i. pp. 268, 769.] ED.

Before leaving this subject, it may be proper to make two obser-

The whole of the logical laws, -- Identity, Contradiction, Excluded Middle, and Reason and Consequent, -- are operative iu each form of syllogism. vations. The first of these is, that though it has been stated that Categorical Syllogisms are governed by the laws of Identity and Contradiction, that Disjunctive Syllogisms are governed by the law of Excluded Middle, and that Hypothetical Syllogisms are governed by the law of Reason and Consequent, — this statement is not, however, to be understood as if, in these

several classes of syllogism, no other law were to be found in operation except that by which their peculiar form is determined. Such a supposition would be altogether erroneous, for in all of these different kinds of syllogism, besides the law by which each class is principally regulated, and from which it obtains its distinctive character, all the others contribute, though in a less obtrusive manner, to

This illustrated. 1. In Categorical Syllogisms. allow and to necessitate the process. Thus, though the laws of Identity and Contradiction are the laws which preëminently regulate the Categorieal Syllogism, — still without the laws

of Excluded Middle, and Reason and Consequent, all inference in these syllogisms would be impossible. Thus, though the law of Identity affords the basis of all affirmative, and the law of Contradiction the basis of all negative, syllogisms, still it is the law of Excluded Middle which legitimates the implication, that, besides affirmation and negation, there is no other possible quality of predication. In like manner, no inference in categorical reasoning could be drawn, were we to exclude the determination of Reason and Consequent. For we only, in deductive reasoning, conclude of a part what we assume of a whole, inasmuch as we think the whole as the reason, - the condition, - the antecedent, - by which the part, as a consequent, is determined; and we only, in inductive reasoning, conclude of the whole what we assume of all the parts, inasmuch as we think all the parts as the reason, - the condition, - the antecedent, - by which the whole, as a consequent, is determined. In

The law of Identity formally the same with that of Reason and Consequent. point of fact, logically or formally, the law of Identity and the law of Reason and Consequent in its affirmative form, are at bottom the same; the law of Identity constitutes only the law of Reason and Consequent, — the two relatives

being conceived simultaneously, that is, as subject and predicate; the law of Reason and Consequent constitutes only the law of Identity, the two relatives being conceived in sequence, that is, as antecedent and consequent.¹ And as the law of Reason and Consequent, in its positive form, is only that of Identity in movement; so, in its negative form, it is only that of Contradiction in movement. In Disjunctive Syllogisms, again, though the law of Excluded

In Disjunctive

2. In Disjunctive Syllogisms.

3. In Hypothetical

Syllogisms.

Middle be the principle which bestows on them their peculiar form, still these syllogisms are not independent of the laws of Identity, of Contra-

diction, and of Reason and Consequent. The law of Excluded Middle cannot be conceived apart from the laws of Identity and Contradiction; these it implies, and, without the principle of Reason and Consequent, no movement from the condition to the conditioned, that is, from the affirmation or negation of one contradictory to the affirmation or negation of the other, would be possible.

Finally, in Hypothetical Syllogisms, though the law of Reason

and Consequent be the prominent and distinctive principle, still the laws of Identity, Contradiction, and Excluded Middle are also there at

work. The law of Identity affords the condition of Affirmative or Constructive, and the law of Contradiction of Negative or Destructive, Hypotheticals; while the law of Excluded Middle limits the reasoning to these two modes alone.

The second observation I have to make, is one suggested by a

Difficulty in regard to the doctrine, that all reasoning is either from whole to part or from the parts to the whole, — obviated. difficulty which has been proposed to me in regard to the doctrine, that all reasoning is either from whole to part, or from the parts to the whole. The difficulty, which could only have presented itself to an acute and observant intellect, it gave me much satisfaction to hear

proposed; and I shall have still greater gratification, if I should be able to remove it, by showing in what sense the doctrine advanced is to be understood. It was to this effect: — In Categorical Syllogisms, deductive and inductive, intensive and extensive, the reasoning is manifestly from whole to part, or from the parts to the whole, and, therefore, in regard to the doctrine in question, as relative to categorical reasoning, there was no difficulty. But this was not the ease in regard to Hypothetical Syllogisms. These are governed by the law of Reason and Consequent, and it does not appear how the antecedent and consequent stand to each other in the relation of whole and part.

In showing how the reason and the consequent are to be viewed as whole and part, it is necessary, first, to repeat, that the reason

^{1 [}Compare Köppen, Darstellung des Wesens der Philosophie, p. 102 et seq., Nürnberg, 1810.]

LECT. XVIII.

LOGIC.

or antecedent means the condition, that is, the complement of all,

This difficulty considered with respect to Hypothetical syllogisms.

Antecedent and Consequent are equal to Condition and Conditioned. without which something else would not be; and the consequent means the *conditioned*, that is, the complement of all that is determined to be by the existence of something else. You must further bear in mind, that we have nothing to do with things standing in the relation of reason and consequent, except in so far as they are thought to stand in that relation; it is with

the ratio cognoscendi, not with the ratio essendi, that we have to do in Logic; the former is, in fact, alone properly denominated reason and consequent, while the latter onght to be distinguished as cause and effect. The ratio essendi, or the law of Cause and Effect, can indeed only be thought under the form of the ratio cognoscendi, or of the principle of Reason and Consequent; but as the two are not convertible, inasmuch as the one is far more extensive than the other, it is proper to distinguish them, and, therefore, it is to be recollected, that Logic is alone conversant with the ratio cognoscendi, or the law of Reason and Consequent, as alone conversant with the form of thought.

This being understood, if the reason be conceived as that which

Hence the reason or condition must contain the consequent. conditions, in other words, as that which contains the necessity of the existence of the consequent; it is evident that it is conceived as containing the consequent. For, in the first

place, a reason is only a reason if it be a sufficient reason, that is, if it comprise all the conditions, that is, all that necessitates the existence, of the consequent; for if all the conditions of anything are present, that thing must necessarily exist, since, if it do not exist, then some condition of its existence must have been wanting, that is, there was not a sufficient reason of its existence, which is contrary to the supposition. In the second place, if the reason, the sufficient reason, be conceived as comprising all the conditions of the existence of the consequent, it must be conceived as comprising the consequent together; for if the consequent be supposed to contain in it any one part not conceived as contained in the reason, it may contain two, three, or any number of parts equally uncontained in the reason, consequently it may be conceived as altogether uncontained in the reason. But this is to suppose that it has no reason, or that it is not a consequent; which again is contrary to the hypothesis. The law of Reason and Consequent, or of the Condition and the Conditioned, is only in fact another expression of Aristotle's law, that the whole is necessarily conceived as prior

The Law of Reason and Consequent only another expression of Aristotle's law, that the whole is necessarily conceived as prior to the part.

Aristotle's law criticized.

Whole and Parts respectively may be viewed in thought either as the conditioning or as the conditioned.

to the part, totum parte prius esse, necesse est.¹ It is, however, more accurate; for Aristotle's law is either inaccurate or ambiguous. Inaccurate, for it is no more true to say that the whole is necessarily prior in the order of thought to the parts, than to say that the parts are necessarily prior in the order of thought to the whole. Whole and parts are relatives, and as such are necessarily coëxistent in thought. But while each implies the other, and the notion of each necessitates the notion of the other, we may, it is evident, view either, in thought, as the conditioning or antecedent, or as the conditioned or consequent. Thus, on the one hand, we may regard the whole as the prior and determining notion, as containing the parts, and the parts as the posterior and determined notion, as contained by the whole. On the other hand,

we may regard the parts as the prior and determining notion, as constituting the whole, and the whole as the posterior and determined notion, as constituted by the parts.² In the former case, the whole is thought as the reason, the parts are thought as the consequent; in the latter, the parts are thought as the reason, the whole is thought as the consequent. Now, in so far as the whole is thought as the reason, there will be no difficulty in admitting that the reason is conceived as containing the parts. But it may be asked, how can the parts, when thought as the reason, be said to contain the whole? To this the answer is easy. All the parts contain the whole, just as much as the whole contains all the parts. Objectively considered, the whole does not contain all the parts, nor do all the parts contain the whole, for the whole and all the parts are precisely equivalent, absolutely identical. But, subjectively considered, that is, as mere thoughts, we may either think the whole by all the parts, or think all the parts by the whole. If we think all the parts by the whole, we subordinate the notion of the parts to the notion of

1 Metaphysics, iv. 11. Aristotle, however, allows a double relation. The whole, when conceived as actually constituted, must be regarded as prior to the parts; for the latter only exist as parts in relation to the whole. Potentially, however, the parts may be regarded as prior; for the whole might be destroyed as a system without the destruction of the parts. Where the whole is not conceived as actually constituted, this relation is reversed. Thus Aristotle's rule may be regarded as coëxtensive with that given in the text. See the next note. - ED.

2 This is substantially expressed by Aristotle, l. c., whose distinction is applicable either to the order of thought or to that of existence. κατά γένεσιν (i. e., regarded as a complete system), the whole is actually, the parts are only potentially, existent; while, on the other hand, κατὰ φθοράν (i. e., regarded as disorganized elements), the parts exist actually, the whole only potentially. - ED.

the whole; that is, we conceive the parts to exist, as we conceive their existence given through the existence of the whole containing them. If we think the whole by all the parts, we subordinate the notion of the whole to the notion of the parts; that is, we conceive the whole to exist, as we conceive its existence given through the existence of the parts which constitute it. Now, in the one case, we think the whole as conditioning or comprising the parts, in the other, the parts as conditioning or comprising the whole. In the former case, the parts are thought to exist, because their whole exists; in the latter, the whole is thought to exist, because its parts exist. In either case, the prior or determining notion is thought to

Application of this doctrine to the solution of the difficulty previously stated. comprise or to contain the posterior or determined. To apply this doetrine: On the one hand, every seience is true only as all its several rules are true; in this instance the science is conceived as the determined notion, that is,

as contained in the aggregate of its constituent rules. On the other hand, each rule of any science is true only as the science itself is true; in this instance the rule is conceived as the determined notion, that is, as contained in the whole science. Thus, every single syllogism obtains its logical legitimacy, because it is a consequent of the doctrine of syllogism; the latter is, therefore, the reason of each several syllogism, and the whole science of Logic is abolished, if each several syllogism, conformed to this doctrine, be not valid. On the other hand, the science of Logic, as a whole, is only necessary inasmuch as its complementary doctrines are necessary; and these are only necessary inasmuch as their individual applications are necessary; if Logic, therefore, as a whole, be not necessary, the necessity of the parts, which constitute, determine, and comprehend that whole, is subverted. In one relation, therefore, reason and consequent are as the whole and a contained part, in another, as all the parts and the constituted or comprised whole. But in both relations, the reason - the determining notion - is thought, as involving in it the existence of the consequent or determined notion. Thus, in one point of view, the genus is the determining notion, or reason, out of which are evolved, as consequents, the species and individual; in another, the individual is the determining notion or reason, out of which, as consequents, are evolved the species and genus.¹ In like manner, if we regard the subject as that in which the attributes inhere, - in this view the subject is the reason, that is, the whole, of which the attributes are

1 This is expressly allowed by Aristotle, W. Hamilton himself, Discussions, p. 173. – Metaph, iv. 25, and is quoted from him by Sir ED.

a part; whereas if we regard the attributes as the modes through which alone the subject can exist, in this view the attributes are the reason, that is, the whole, of which the subject is a part. In a word, whatever we think as conditioned, we think as contained by something else, that is, either as a part, or as a constituted whole; whatever we think as conditioning, we think either as a containing whole, or as a sum of constituting parts. What, therefore, the sumption of an hypothetical syllogism denotes, is simply this: If A, a notion conceived as conditioning, and, therefore, as involving B, exist, then B also is necessarily conceived to exist, inasmuch as it is conceived as fully conditioned by, or as involved in, A. I am afraid that what I have now said may not be found to have removed the difficulty, but if it suggest to you a train of reflection which may lead you to a solution of the difficulty by your own effort, it will have done better.

So much for Hypothetico-disjunctive syllogisms, the last of the four classes determined by the internal form of reasoning. In these four syllogisms, — the Categorical, the Disjunctive, the Hypothetical, and the Hypothetico-disjunctive, — all that they exhibit is conformable to the necessary laws of thought, and they are each distinguished from the other by their essential nature; for their sumptions, as jndgments, present characters fundamentally different, and from the sumption, as a general rule, the validity of syllogisms primarily and principally depends.

LECTURE XIX.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS.—THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO EXTERNAL FORM.

A. COMPLEX, - EPICHEIREMA AND SORITES.

In our treatment of Syllogisms, we have hitherto taken note only Syllogisms, - their External Form. Form; and as the former was contained in the reciprocal relations of the constituent parts of the syllogism, as determined by the nature of the thinking subject itself, so the latter is contained in the outer expression or enouncement of the same parts, whereby the terms and propositions are variously affected in respect of their number, position, and order of consecution. The varieties of Syllogism arising from their external form may, I think, be conveniently reduced to the three heads expressed in the following paragraph:

¶ LXVIII. Syllogisms, in respect of their External Form, admit of a threefold modification. For while, as pure, they are at once Simple, and Complete, and Regular, so, as qualified, they are either Complex, or Incom-

plete, or *Irregular*; the two former of these modifications regarding the number of their parts, as apparently either too many or too few; the last regarding the inverted order in which these parts are enounced.

Explication. A. Complex Syllogisms.

I shall consider these several divisions in their order; and, first, of the syllogisms which vary from the simple form of reasoning by their apparent complexity.

But, before touching on the varieties of syllogism afforded by

Relation of Syllogisms to each other.

their apparent complexity of composition, it may be proper to premise a few words in regard to the relation of syllogisms to each other.

"Every syllogism may be considered as absolute and independent, inasmuch as it always contains a complete and inclusive series of thought. But a syllogism may also stand to other syllogisms in such a relation that, along with these correlative syllogisms, it makes up a greater or lesser series of thoughts, all holding to each other the dependence of antecedent and consequent. And such a reciprocal dependence of syllogisms becomes necessary, when one or other of the predicates of the principal syllogism is destitute of complete certainty, and when this certainty must be established through one or more correlative syllogisms."1 "A syllogism, viewed

Classes and designations of related syllogisms. Monosyllogism.

Polysyllogism, or Chain of Reasoning.

as an isolated and independent whole, is called a Monosyllogism (monosyllogismus), that is, a single reasoning; whereas, a series of correlative syllogisms, following each other in the reciprocal relation of antecedent and consequent, is called a Polysyllogism (polysyllogismus), that is, a multiplex or composite reasoning, and may

likewise be denominated a Chain of Reasoning (series syllogistica). Such a chain - such a series - may, however, have such an order of dependence, that either each successive syllogism is the reason of that which preceded, or the preceding syllogism is the reason of

This Analytic and Synthetic.

Prosyllogism. Episyllogism.

that which follows. In the former case, we conclude analytically or regressively; in the second, synthetically or progressively. That syllogism in the series which contains the reasoning of the premise of another, is called a Prosyllogism (prosyllogismus); and

that syllogism which contains the consequent of another, is called an Episyllogism (episyllogismus). Every Chain of Reasoning must, there-

fore, be made up both of Prosyllogisms and of Episyllogisms."² "When the series is composed of more than two syllogisms, the same syllogism may, in different relations, be at once a prosyllogism and an episyllogism; and that reasoning which contains the primary

1 Esser, Logik, § 104. - ED.

2 Krug, Logik, § 111. - ED.

or highest reason is alone exclusively a prosyllogism, as that reasoning which enounces the last or lowest consequent is alone exclusively an episyllogism. But this concatenation of syllogisms, as antecedents and consequents, may be either manifest, or occult, according as the plurality of syllogisms may either be openly displayed, or as it may appear only as a single syllogism. The polysyllogism is, therefore, likewise either manifest or occult. The occult polysyllogism, with which alone we are at present concerned, consists either of partly complete and partly abbreviated syllogisms, or of syllogisms all equally abbreviated. In the former case, there emerges the complex syllogism called *Epicheirema*; in the latter, the complex syllogism called *Sorites*."¹ Of these in their order.

¶ LXIX. A syllogism is now vulgarly ealled an *Epichei*-Par. LXIX. The prema ($\epsilon \pi i \chi \epsilon i \rho \eta \mu a$), when to either of the two premises, or to both, there is annexed a reason for its support. As:

> B is A; But C is B; for it is D; Therefore, C is also A.²

Or,

All vice is odious; But avarice is a vice; for it makes men slaves; Therefore, avarice is odious.³

In illustration of this paragraph, it is to be observed that the Explication. Explication. Epicheirema, or Reason-rendering Syllogism, is either single or double, according as one or both of the premises are furnished with an auxiliary reason. The single epicheirema is either an epicheirema of the first or second order, according as the adscititious proposition belongs to the sumption or to the subsumption. There is little or nothing requisite to be stated in regard to this variety of complex syllogism, as it is manifestly nothing more than a regular episyllogism with an abbreviated prosyllogism interwoven. There might be something

 Esser, Logik, § 104. - ED. [Cf. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 578, p. 664, Ienæ, 1741.]
 In full, -C is D; D is B; Therefore, C is B.

8 In full, --

What makes men slaves is a vice ; But avarice makes men slaves ; Therefore, avarice is a vice.

said touching the name, which, among the ancient rhetoricians, was used now in a stricter, now in a looser, signification.¹ This, however, as it has little interest in a logical point of view, I shall not trouble you by detailing; and now proceed to a far more important and interesting subject, — the second variety of complex syllogisms, — the Sorites.

¶ LXX. When, on the common principle of all reasoning, - that the part of a part is a part of the Par. LXX. The Sowhole, - we do not stop at the second rites. gradation, or at the part of the highest part, and conclude that part of the whole, - as All B is a part of the whole A, and all C is a part of the part B, therefore all C is also a part of the whole A, - but proceed to some indefinitely remoter part, as D, E, F, G, H, etc., which, on the general principle, we connect in the conclusion with its remotest whole,this complex reasoning is called a Chain-Syllogism or Sorites. If the whole from which we descend be a comprehensive quantity, the Sorites is one of Comprehension; if it be an extensive quantity, the Sorites is one of Extension. The formula of the first will be:

1) E is D; that is, E comprehends D;

2) D is C; that is, D comprehends C;

3) C is B; that is, C comprehends B;

4) B is A; that is, B comprehends A;

Therefore, E is A; in other words, E comprehends A.

The formula of the second will be:

1) B is A; that is, A contains under it B;

2) C is B; that is, B contains under it C;

3) D is C; that is, C contains under it D;

4) E is D; that is, D contains under it E;

Therefore, E is A; in other words, A contains under it E.

These reasonings are both *Progressive*, each in its several quantity, as descending from whole to part. But as we may also, arguing back from part to whole, obtain the same conclusion, there is also competent in either quantity a *Regressive Sories*. However,

§ 33; Facciolati, Acroases, De Epichiremate, p. 127 et seq. In Aristotle the term is used for a dialectic syllogism. See Topica, viii. 11.-ED.

¹ For some notices of these variations, see Quintilian, *Inst. Orat*, v. 10, 2, v. 14, 5. Compare also Schweighauser on Epictetus, i. 8; Trendelenburg, *Elementa Logices Aristotelica*,

LECT. XIX.

the formula of the Regressive Sorites in the one quantity, will be only that of the Progressive Sorites in the other.¹



Explication.

As a concrete example of these:

I. PROGRESSIVE COMPREHENSIVE SORITES.

Concrete examples of Sorites. Bucephalus is a horse; A horse is a quadruped; A quadruped is an animal; An animal is a substance; Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

Or as explicated :

The representation of the individual Bucephalus comprehends or contains in it the notion horse;

I [On the Sorites in general, see Crakanthorpe, Logica, L. iii. c. 22, p. 219. Valla, Dialect., L. iii. c. 54, fol. 38, ed. 1509. M. Duncan, Instit. Log. L. iv. c. vii. § 6, p. 255. Facciolati, Acroases, De Sorite, p. 15 et seq. Melanchthon, Erotem. Dial., L. iii. De Sorite, p. 743. Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 466, et seq. Walch, Lexikon, v. "Sorites." Frics, Logik, § 64.]

² Diagrams Nos. 1 and 2 represent the affirmative Sorites in the case in which the concepts are coëxtensive. — See above, p. 133, Diagram 2. Diagrams Nos. 3 and 4 represent the Affirmative Sorites in the case in which the concepts are subordinate. — See above, p. 133, Diagram 3. Diagram No. 5, taken in connection with No. 3, represents the Negative Sorites. Thus, to take the Progressive Comprehensive Sorites: — E is D, D is C, C is B, B is A, no A is P; therefore, no E is P. — ED. The notion horse comprehends the notion quadruped;

The notion quadruped comprehends the notion animal;

The notion animal comprehends the notion substance;

Therefore (on the common principle that the part of a part is a part of the whole), the representation of the individual, Bucephalus, comprehends or contains in it the notion substance.

II. REGRESSIVE COMPREHENSIVE SORITES.

An animal is a substance; A quadruped is an animal; A horse is a quadruped; Bucephalus is a horse; Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

Or as explicated :

The notion animal comprehends the notion substance; The notion quadruped comprehends the notion animal; The notion horse comprehends the notion quadruped; The representation, Bucephalus, comprehends the notion horse; Therefore (on the common principle, etc.), the representation, Bucephalus, comprehends the notion substance.

III. PROGRESSIVE EXTENSIVE SORITES (which is, as enounced by the common copula, identical in expression with the Regressive Comprehensive Sorites, No. II.):

An animal is a substance; A quadruped is an animal; A horse is a quadruped; Bucephalus is a horse; Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

Or as explicated :

The notion animal is contained under the notion substance; The notion quadruped is contained under the notion animal; The notion horse is contained under the notion quadruped; The representation Bucephalus is contained under the notion horse; Therefore (on the common principle, etc.), the representation Bucephalus is contained under the notion substance.

IV. THE REGRESSIVE EXTENSIVE SORITES (which is, as expressed by the ambiguous copula, verbally identical with the Progressive Comprehensive Sorites, No. I.):

Bucephalus is a horse; A horse is a quadruped; A quadruped is an animal; An animal is a substance; Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

LECT. XIX.

Or as explicated :

The representation Bucephalus is contained under the notion horse; The notion horse is contained under the notion quadruped; The notion quadruped is contained under the notion animal; The notion animal is contained under the notion substance; Therefore, the representation Bucephalus is contained under the notion substance.

There is thus not the smallest difficulty either in regard to the

1. The formal inference in Sorites equally necessary as in simple syllogism. peculiar nature of the Sorites, or in regard to its relation to the simple syllogism. In the first place, it is evident that the formal inference in the Sorites is equally necessary and equally manifest as in the simple syllogism, for the prin-

ciple — the part of a part is a part of the whole — is plainly not less applicable to the remotest than to the most proximate link in the subordination of whole and part. In the second place, it is

2. Sorites resolvable into simple syllogisms.

evident that the Sorites can be resolved into as many simple syllogisms as there are middle terms between the subject and predicate of the

conclusion, that is, intermediate wholes and parts between the greatest whole and the smallest part, which the reasoning connects. Thus, the concrete example of a Sorites, already given, is virtually composed of three simple syllogisms. It will be enough to show this in one of the quantities; and, as the most perspicuous, let us take that of Comprehension.

This illustrated.

The Progressive Sorites in this quantity was as follows (and it is needless, I presume, to explicate it):

Bucephalus is a horse; A horse is a quadruped; A quadruped is an animal; An animal is a substance; Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

Here, besides the major and minor terms (Bucephalus and substance), we have three middle terms — horse, — quadruped, — animal. We shall, consequently, have three simple syllogisms. Thus, in the first place, we obtain from the middle term horse, the following syllogism, concluding quadruped of Bucephalus:

Bucephalus is a horse;
 But a horse is a quadruped;
 Therefore, Bucephalus is a quadruped.

LECT. XIX.

LOGIC.

Having thus established that *Bucephalus is a quadruped*, we employ *quadruped* as a middle term by which to connect *Bucephalus* with *animal*. We therefore make the conclusion of the previous syllogism (No. I.) the sumption of the following syllogism (No. II.) :

> II. — Bucepholus is a quadruped; But a quadruped is an animal; Therefore, Bucephalus is an animal.

Having obtained another step, we in like manner make *animal*, which was the minor term in the preceding syllogism, the middle term of the following; and the conclusion of No. II. forms the major premise of No. III.

 III. — Bucephalus is an animal; But an animal is a substance;
 Therefore, Bucephalus is a substance.

In this last syllogism, we reach a conclusion identical with that of the Sorites.

In the third place, it is evident that the Sorites is equally natural

 Sorites equally natural as simple syllogism.

as the simple syllogism; and, as the relation is equally cogent and equally manifest between a whole and a remote, and a whole and a proximate, part, that it is far less prolix, and, conse-

quently, far more convenient. What is omitted in a Sorites is only the idle repetition of the same self-evident principle, and as this can without danger or inconvenience be adjourned until the end of a series of notions in the dependence of mutual subordination, it is plain that, in reference to such a series, a single Sorites is as much preferable to a number of simple syllogisms, as a comprehensive cipher is preferable to the articulate enumeration of the units which it collectively represents.

Before proceeding to touch on the logical history of this form of syllogism, and to comment on the doctrine in regard to it maintained by all logicians, I shall conclude what it is proper further to state concerning its general character.

¶ LXXI. A Sorites may be either Categorieal or Hypothetical; and, in both forms, it is governed by the following laws: — Speaking of the Common or Progressive Sorites (in which reasoning you will observe the meaning of

the word progressive is reversed), which proceeds from the
individual to the general, and to which the other form may be easily reduced: -1° . The number of the premises is unlimited. 2°. All the premises, with exception of the last, must be affirmative, and, with exception of the first, definite. 3°. The first premise may be either definite or indefinite. 4°. The last may be either negative or affirmative.

Explication. Formula of Hypothetical Sorites. I have already given you examples of the categorical Sorites. The following is the formula of the hypothetical:

PROGRESSIVE.

If D is, C is; If C is, B is; If B is, A is; (In modo ponente), Now D is; Therefore, A is also. (Or in modo tollente), Now A is not; Therefore, D is not.

REGRESSIVE.

265

If B is, A is; If C is, B is; If D is, C is; (In modo ponente), Now D is; Therefore, A is. (Or in modo tollente), Now A is not; Therefore, D is not.

Or, to take a concrete example :

PROGRESSIVE.

If Harpagon be avaricious, he is intent on gain; If intent on gain, he is discontented; If discontented, he is unhappy; Now Harpagon is avaricious; He is, therefore, unhappy.

REGRESSIVE.

If Harpagon be discontented, he is unhappy; If intent on gain, he is discontented; If avaricious, he is intent on gain; Now Harpagon is avaricions; Therefore, he is unhappy.

In regard to the resolution of the Hypothetical Sorites into simple Resolution of Hypothetical Sorites into simple syllogisms. I. Progressive Sorites. I. Progressive Sories. I. Progressive So If Harpagon be avaricious, he is intent on gain.
If intent on gain, he is discontented;
Therefore, if Harpagon be avaricious, he is discontented.

We now establish this conclusion, as the sumption of the following syllogism:

II. — If Harpagon be avaricious, he is discontented; If discontented, he is unhappy; Therefore, if Harpagon be avaricious, he is unhappy.

In like manner we go to the next syllogism :

III. — If Harpagon be avaricious, he is unhappy; Now Harpagon is avaricious; Therefore, he is unhappy.

In the Regressive Sorites, we proceed in the same fashion; only that, as here the consequent of the second proposition is the antecedent of the first, we reverse the consecution of these premises. Thus:

If Harpagon be intent on gain, he is discontented;
If discontented, he is unhappy;
Therefore, if Harpagon be intent on gain, he is unhappy.

We then take the third proposition for the sumption of the next, — the second syllogism, and the conclusion of the preceding for its subsumption:

> II. — If Harpagon be avaricious, he is intent on gain; If intent on gain, he is unhappy; Therefore, if Harpagon be avaricious, he is unhappy.

We now take this last conclusion for the sumption of the last syllogism:

III. — If Harpagon be avaricious, he is unhappy; Now Harpagon is avaricious; Therefore, he is unhappy.

But it may be asked, can there be no Disjunctive Sorites? To Disjunctive Sorites. To which a categorical and hypothetical syllogism is possible, — viz., so that a term of the preceding proposition should be the subject or predicate of the following, — in this sense,

LECT. XIX.

a disjunctive sorites is impossible: since two opposing notions, whether as contraries or contradictories, exclude each other, and cannot, therefore, be combined as subject and predicate. But when the object has been determined by two opposite characters, the disjunct members may be amplified at pleasure, and there follows certainly a correct conclusion, provided that the disjunction be logically accurate. As:

A is either B or C.

Now,

B is either D or E;	C is either F or G;
D is either H or I;	F is either M or N;
E is either K or L.	G is either O or P.
Therefore, A is either H, or	r I, or K, or L, or M, or N, or O, or P.

Although, therefore, it be true that such a Sorites is correct;

Complex and unserviceable. still, were we astricted to such a mode of reasoning, thought would be so difficult, as to be almost impossible. But we never are obliged to employ

such a reasoning; for when we are once assured that A is either B or C, — and assured we are of this by one of the fundamental laws of thought, — we have next to consider whether A is B or C, and if A is B, then all that can be said of C, and if A is C, then all that can be said of B, is dismissed as wholly irrelevant. In like manner, in the case of B, it must be determined whether it is D or E, and in the case of C, whether it is F or G; and this being determined, one of the two members is necessarily thrown out of account. And this compendious method we follow in the process of thought spontaneously, and as if by a natural impulsion.

So much for the logical character of the Sorites. It now remains to make some observations, partly historical, partly critical, in connection with this subject.

In regard to the history of the logical doctrine of this form of

Historical notice of the logical doctrine of Sorites. reasoning, it seems taken for granted, in all the systems of the science, that both the name *Sorites*, as applied to a chain-syllogism, and the analysis of the nature of that syllogism, are part and par-

cel of the logical inheritance bequeathed to us by Aristotle. Noth-

Neither name nor doctrine found in Aristotle. ing can, however, be more erroneous. The name Sorites does not occur in any logical treatise of Aristotle; nor, as far as I have been able to discover, is there, except in one vague and cursory

allusion, any reference to what the name is now employed to ex-

press.¹ Nay, further, the word *Sorites* is never, I make bold to say, applied by any ancient writer to designate a certain form of reason-

Sorites, with ancient authors, used to designate a particular kind of sophism. ing. On the contrary, Sorites, though a word in not unfrequent employment by ancient authors, nowhere occurs in any other logical meaning than that of a particular kind of sophism, of which the Stoic Chrysippus was reputed the in-

ventor.² $\Sigma \omega \rho \delta s$, you know, in Greek, means *a heap* or *pile* of any aggregated substances, as sand, wheat, etc.; and *Sorites*, literally *a heaper*, was a name given to a certain captious argument, which obtained in Latin from Cicero the denomination of *acervalis*.³ The

The nature of this sophism.

nature of the argument was this: You were asked, for example, whether a certain quantity of something of variable amount were large or small, —

say a certain sum of money. If you said it was small, the adversary went on gradually adding to it, asking you at each increment whether it were still small; till at length you said that it was large. The last sum which you had asserted to be small, was now compared with that which you now asserted to be large, and you were at length forced to acknowledge that one sum which you maintained to be large, and another which you maintained to be small, differed from each other by the very pettiest coin, - or, if the subject were a pile of wheat, by a single corn. This sophism, as applied by Eubulides (who is even stated by Laertius⁴ to be the inventor of the Sorites in general), took the name of $\phi a \lambda a \kappa \rho \delta s$, calvus, the bald. It was asked, - was a man bald who had so many thousand hairs; you answer, No: the antagonist goes on diminishing and diminishing the number, till either you admit that he who was not bald with a certain number of hairs, becomes bald when that complement is diminished by a single hair; or you go on denying him to be bald, until his head be hypothetically denuded. Such was the quibble which obtained the name of Sorites, - acervalis, climax, gradatio, etc. This, it is evident, had no real analogy with the form of reasoning now known in logic under the name of Sorites.

1 The passage referred to is probably Anal. Prior., i. 25. But there was no need of a special treatment of the Sorites, as it is merely a combination of ordinary syllogisms, and subject to the same rules. — ED. [The principle of the Sorites is to be found in Aristotle's rule, Categ., c 2. "Prædicatum prædicati est prædicatum subject." See also, Anal. Post., I. 23 et seq. Cf. Facius, Comment., p. 159. Bertius, Logica Peripatetica, L. iii. Appendix, p. 179.]

2 Persius, Sat. vi. 80.

"Inventus, Chrysippe, tui finitor acervi." - ED.

[Cicero applies Sorites to an argument which we would call a Sorites, but it could also be a Chrysippean. De Finibus, L. iv. c. 18.]

³ De Divinatione, ii. 4. "Quemadmodum Soriti resistas? quem, si necesse sit, Latino verbo liceat acervalem appellare" Cf. Facciolati, Acroasis, ii. p. 17 et seq. – ED.

4 L. ii. § 108. - ED.

LECT. XIX.

But when was the name perverted to this, its secondary significa-

Laurentius Valla the first to use Sorites in its present acceptation. tion? Of this I am confident, that the change was not older than the fifteenth century. It occurs in none of the logicians previous to that period. It is to be found in none of the Greek logicians of the Lower Empire; nor is it to be met with

in any of the more celebrated treatises on Logic by the previous Latin schoolmen. The earliest author to whose writings I have been able to trace it, is the celebrated Laurentius Valla, whose work on *Dialectic* was published after the middle of the fifteenth century. He calls the chain-syllogism — "coacervatio syllogismorum (quem Graeci $\sigma\omega\rho\delta\nu$ vocant").¹ I may notice that in the *Dialectica* of his contemporary and rival, George of Trebisond, the process itself is described, but, what is remarkable, no appropriate name is given to it.² In the systems of Logic after the commencement of the sixteenth century, not only is the form of reasoning itself described, but described under the name it now bears.

I have been thus particular in regard to the history of the Sorites,

The doctrine of logicians regarding the Sorites illustrates their one-sided view of the nature of reasoning in general. — word and thing, — not certainly on account of the importance of this history, considered in itself, but because it will enable you the better to apprehend what is now to be said of the illustration which the doctrine, taught by logicians themselves of the nature of this particular pro-

cess, affords of the one-sided view which they have all taken of the nature of reasoning in general.

I have already shown, in regard to the simple syllogism, that all deductive reasoning is from whole to part; that there are two kinds of logical whole and two kinds of logical part, — the one in the quantity of comprehension, the other in the quantity of extension; and that there are consequently two kinds of reasoning corresponding to these several quantities. I further showed that logicians had in simple syllogisms marvellously overlooked one, and that the simplest and most natural, of these descriptions of reasoning, — the reasoning in the quantity of comprehension; and that all their rules were exclusively relative to the reasoning which proceeds in the quantity of extension. Now, in to-day's Lecture, I have shown that, as in simple syllogisms, so in the complex form of the Sorites, there is equally competent a reasoning in comprehension and in extension, — though undoubtedly, in the one case as in the other, the reason-

1 Dialecticæ Disputationes, Lib. iii. c. 12. See Laurentii Vallæ Opera, Basileæ, 1540, p. 742. – ED. 2 See Georgii Trapezuntii De Re Dialectica Libellus, Coloniæ, 1533, f. 60^a. Cf. the Scholia of Neomagus, *ibid.* f. 67^b. — ED.

ing in comprehension is more natural and easy in its evolution than the reasoning in extension, inasmuch as the middle term, in the former, is really intermediate in position, standing between the major and the minor terms, whereas, in the latter, the middle term is not in situation middle, but occupies the position of one or other of the extremes.

Now, if in the case of simple syllogisms, it be marvellous that

Logicians have overlooked the Sorites of Extension. logicians should have altogether overlooked the possibility of a reasoning in comprehension, it is doubly marvellous that, with this their prepossession, they should, in the case of the Sorites,

have altogether overlooked the possibility of a reasoning in extension. But so it is.¹ They have all followed each other in defining the Sorites as a concatenated syllogism in which the predicate of the proposition preceding is made the subject of the proposition following, until we arrive at the concluding proposition, in which the predicate of the last of the premises is enounced of the subject of the first. This definition applies only to the Progressive Sorites in comprehension, and to the Regressive Sorites in extension: but that they did not contemplate the latter form at all is certain, both because it is not lightly to be presumed that they had in view that artificial and recondite form, and because the examples and illustrations they supply positively prove that they had not.

To the Progressive Sorites in extension, and to the Regressive

Difference between the two forms of Sorites. Sorites in comprehension, this definition is inapplicable; for in these, the subject of the premise preceding is not the predicate of the premise following. But the difference between the two

forms is better stated thus: — In the Progressive Sorites of comprehension and the Regressive Sorites of extension, the middle terms are the predicates of the prior premises, and the subjects of the posterior; the middle term is here in position intermediate between the extremes. On the contrary, in the Progressive Sorites of exten-. sion and in the Regressive Sorites of comprehension, the middle terms are the subjects of the prior premises and the predicates of the posterior; the middle term is here in position not intermediate between the extremes.

To the question, — why, in the case of simple syllogisms, the logicians overlooked the reasoning in comprehension, and, in the

Peripatetici, et cum his Gassendus, qui Soritem solum ad prædicatum pertinere existimat."-- ED.]

^{1 [}Ridiger notices the error of those who make Sorites only of comprehensive whole. See his *De Sensu Veri et Fulsi*, L ii. c. 10, § 5, p. 400. Cf. p. 343 n., § 6.] ["Errant vulgo

LECT. XIX.

LOGIC.

Probable reason why logicians overlooked, in the case of simple syllogisms, the reasoning in Comprehension.

case of the Sorites, the reasoning in extension, it is, perhaps, impossible to afford a satisfactory explanation. But we may plausibly conjecture, what it is out of our power certainly to prove. In regard to simple syllogisms, it was an original dogma of the Platonic school, and an early dogma of the Peripatetic, that philosophy - that science, strictly

so called - was only conversant with, and was exclusively contained in, universals; and the doctrine of Aristotle, which taught that all our general knowledge is only an induction from an observation of particulars, was too easily forgotten or perverted by his followers. It thus obtained almost the force of an acknowledged principle, that everything to be known must be known under some general form or notion. Hence the exaggerated importance attributed to definition and deduction; it not being considered, that we only take out of a general notion what we had previously placed therein; and that the amplification of our knowledge is not to be sought for from above, but from below, - not from speculation about abstract generalities, but from the observation of concrete particulars. But, however erroneous and irrational, the persuasion had its day and influence; and it perhaps determined, as one of its effects, the total neglect of one-half, and that not the least important half, of the reasoning process. For, while men thought only of looking upwards to the more extensive notions, as the only objects and the only media of science, they took little heed of the more comprehensive notions, and absolutely contemned individuals, as objects which could neither be scientifically known in themselves, nor supply the conditions of scientifically knowing aught besides. The logic of comprehension and of induction was, therefore, neglected or ignored, - the logic of extension and deduction exclusively cultivated, as alone affording the rules by which we might evolve higher notions into their subordinate concepts. This may help to explain why, subsequently to Aristotle, Logic was cultivated in so partial a manner; but why, subsequently to Bacon, the logic of comprehension should still have escaped observation and study, I am altogether at a loss to imagine. But to the question, - why, when reasoning in general was viewed only as in the quantity of exten-

And why, in the case of the Sorites, they overlooked the reasoning in Extension.

sion, the minor form of the Sorites should have been viewed as exclusively in that of comprehension, may, perhaps, be explained by the following consideration: this form was not originally analyzed and expounded by the acuteness

of Aristotle. But it could not escape notice that there was a form

of reasoning, of very frequent employment, both by philosophers and rhetoricians, in which a single conclusion was drawn from a multiplicity of premises, and in which the predieate of the foregoing premise was usually the subject of the following. Cieero, for example, and Seneca, are full of such arguments; and the natural and easy evolution of the reasoning is indeed peculiarly appropriate to demonstration. Thus, to prove that every body is movable, we have the following self-evident deduction. Every body is in space; what is in space is in some one part of space; what is in one part of space may be in another; what may be in another part of space may change its space; what may change its space is movable; therefore, every body is movable. When, therefore, Valla, or whoever else has the honor of first introducing the consideration of this form of reasoning into Logic, was struck with the cogency and clearness of this compendious argumentation, he did not attempt to reduce it to the conditions of the extensive syllogism; and subsequent logicians, when the form was once introduced and recognized in their seience, were, as usual, content to copy one from another, without subjecting their borrowed materials to any original or rigorous criticism.

> Ut nemo in sese tentat descendere; — nemo! Sed præcedenti spectatur mantica tergo.¹

Accordingly, not one of them has noticed, that the Sorites of their systems proceeds in a different quantity from that of their syllogisms in general, — that their logic is thus at variance with itself; far less did any of them observe that this, and all other forms of reasoning, are capable of being drawn in another quantity from that which they all exclusively contemplated. And yet, had they applied their observation without prepossession to the matter, they would easily have seen that the Sorites could be cast in the quantity of extension, equally as common syllogisms, and that common syllogisms could be cast in the quantity of comprehension, equally as the Sorites. I have already shown that the same Sorites may be drawn either in comprehension or in extension; and in both quan-

Example of the Sorites in Comprehension and Extension. tities proceed either by progression or by regression. But the example given may, perhaps, be viewed as selected. Let us, therefore, take any other; and the first that occurs to my recollec-

tion is the following from Seneca,² which I shall translate :

1 Persius, iv. 23. - ED.

² Epist., 85. - ED.

He who is prudent is temperate; He who is temperate is constant; He who is constant is unperturbed; He who is unperturbed is without sorrow; He who is without sorrow is happy; Therefore, the prudent man is happy.

In this Sorites, everything slides easily and smoothly from the whole to the parts of comprehension. But, though the process will be rather more by hitches, the descent under extension will, if not quite so pleasant, be equally rapid and certain.

> He who is without sorrow is happy; He who is unperturbed is without sorrow; He who is constant is unperturbed; He who is temperate is constant; He who is prudent is temperate; Therefore, the prudent man is happy.

I do not think it necessary to explicate these two reasonings, which you are fully competent, I am sure, to do without difficulty for yourselves.

What renders it still more wonderful that the logicians did not

The Goclenian Sorites. evolve the competency of this process in either quantity, and thus obtain a key to the opening up of the whole mystery of syllogistic reason-

ing, is this : - that it is now above two centuries since the Inverse or Regressive Sorites in comprehension was discovered and signalized by Rodolphus Goclenius, a celebrated philosopher of Marburg, in which university he occupied the chair of Logie and Metaphysics.¹ This Sorites has from him obtained the name of Goclenian; while the progressive Sorites has been called the common or Aristotelian. This latter denomination is, as I have previously noticed, an error; for Aristotle, though certainly not ignorant of the process of reasoning now called Sorites, does not enter upon its consideration, either under one form or another. This observation by Goclenius, of which none of our British logicians seem aware, was a step towards the explication of the whole process; and we are, therefore, left still more to marvel how this explication, so easy and manifest, should not have been made. Before terminating this subject, I may mention that this form of syllogism has been sometimes styled by logicians not only Sorites, but also coacervatio, con-

¹ Goclenii Isagoge in Organum Aristotelis, clenian Sorites before Goclenius, see Pacius, Francof., 1598, p. 255. – ED. [For the Go-Comment. in Anal. Prior., i. 25, p. 159.]

geries, gradatio, climax, and de primo ad ultimum. The old name, before Valla, which the process obtained among the Greek logicians of the Lower Empire, was the vague and general appellation of complex syllogism, — συλλογισμός συνθετός.¹

So much for the two forms of reasoning which may be regarded

Epicheirema and Sorites, as polysyllogisms, comparatively simple, and not pleonastic. as composite or complex, and which logicians have generally considered as redundant. But here it is proper to remark, that if in one point, that is, as individual syllogisms, the Epicheirema and Sorites may be viewed as comparatively

complex, in another, that is, as polysyllogisms, they may be viewed as comparatively simple. For, resolve a Sorites into the various syllogisms afforded by its middle terms, and compare the multitude of propositions through which the conclusion is thus tediously evolved, with the short and rapid process of the chain-syllogism itself, and, instead of complexity, we should rather be disposed to predicate of it extreme simplicity.² In point of fact, we might arrange the Epicheirema and Sorites with far greater propriety under elliptical syllogisms, than, as is commonly done by logicians, under the pleonastic. This last classification is, indeed, altogether erroneous, for it is a great mistake to suppose that in either of these forms there is aught redundant.

1 [Blemmidas, Epitome Logica, c. 31.]

2 [See Leibnitz, Nouveaux Essais, L. iv. c. xvii. § 4, pp. 445, 446, 448, ed. Raspe.]

LECTURE XX.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS. - THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO EXTERNAL FORM.

B. DEFECTIVE, - ENTHYMEME.

C. REGULAR AND IRREGULAR, - FIGURE AND MOOD.

I PROCEED now to the Second Class of Syllogisms, - those, to B. Syllogisms defective in External Form.

wit, whose External Form is defective. This class I give in conformity to the doctrine of modern logicians, whose unanimous opinion on

the subject I shall comprehend in the following paragraph.

¶ LXXII. According to logicians, in general, a defective syllogism is a reasoning in which one only Par. LXXII. The of the premises is actually enounced. It Enthymeme. is, therefore, they say, called an Enthymeme

(¿v9úµŋµa), because there is, as it were, something held back in the mind $(\partial v \vartheta v \mu \hat{\omega})$. But, as it is possible to retain either the sumption or the subsumption, the Enthymeme is thus of two kinds: - an Enthymeme of the First, and an Enthymeme of the Second, Order. The whole distinction is, however, erroneous in principle, and, even if not erroneous, it is incomplete; for a Third Order of Enthymemes is competent by the suppression of the conclusion.

Such, as it is stated in the former part of the paragraph, is the doctrine you will find maintained, with singular unanimity, by modern logicians; and, with hardly an exception, this classification

of syllogisms is stated not only without a suspicion of its own cor-

Explication. The common doctrine of the Enthymeme futile, and erroneously attributed to Aristotle. rectness, but as a division established on the authority of the great father of logic himself. In both assertions they are, however, wrong, for the classification itself is futile, and Aristotle affords it no countenance; while, at the same

time, if a distinction of syllogisms is to be taken from the ellipsis of their propositions, the subdivision of enthymemes is not complete, inasmuch as a syllogism may exist with both premises expressed, and the conclusion understood.

I shall, therefore, in the first place, show that the Enthymeme, as a syllogism of a defective enouncement, constitutes no special form of reasoning; in the second, that Aristotle does not consider a syllogism of such a character as such a special form; and, in the third, that, admitting the validity of the distinction, the restriction of the Enthymeme to a syllogism of one suppressed premise cannot be competently maintained.

¹ I. In regard, then, to the validity of the distinction. This is

I. The Enthymeme not a special form of reasoning. disproved on the following grounds: First of all, the discrimination of the Enthymeme, as a syllogism of one suppressed premise, from the ordinary syllogism, would involve a discrimi-

nation of the reasoning of Logic from the reasoning in common use; for, in general reasoning, we rarely express all the propositions of a syllogism, and it is almost only in the treatises on Abstract Logic that we find examples of reasoning in which all the members are explicitly enounced. But Logic does not create new forms of syllogism, it merely expounds those which are already given; and while it shows that in all reasoning there are, in the mental process, necessarily three judgments, the mere non-expression of any of these in language, no more constitutes in Logic a particular kind of syllogism, than does the ellipsis of a term constitute in Grammar a particular kind of concord or government. But, secondly, Syllogism and Enthymeme are not distinguished as respectively an intralogical and an extralogical form; both are supposed equally logical. Those who defend the distinction are, therefore, necessarily compelled to maintain, that Logic regards the accident of the external expression, and not the essence of the internal thought, in holding that the Enthymeme is really a defective reasoning.²

Derodon, Logica Restituta, Pars V. tract. i. c. l., p. 602.]

¹ Compare Discussions, p. 153 et seq. - ED.

² [That Syllogism and Enthymeme are not properly distinct species of reasoning, see

LECT. XX.

LOGIC.

It thus appears, that to constitute the Enthymeme as a species of reasoning distinct from Syllogisms Proper, by the difference of perfect and imperfect, is of all absurdities the greatest. But is this absurdity the work of Aristotle? — and this leads us to the second head.

II. Without entering upon a regular examination of the various

II. The distinction of the Enthymeme as a special form of reasoning not made by Aristotle. passages of the Aristotelic treatises relative to this point, I may observe, in the first place, that Aristotle expressly declares in general, that a syllogism is considered by the logician, not in relation to its expression (où $\pi\rho$ òs τ òν čέ ω λόγον), but exclusively as a mental process (ἀλλà $\pi\rho$ òs τ òν ἐν

 $\tau \hat{y} \psi_{\chi} \hat{y} \lambda \delta \gamma_{0} \nu$).¹ The distinction, therefore, of a class of syllogisms, as founded on a verbal accident, he thus of course, implicitly and by

The Enthymeme of Aristotle, -- what.

anticipation, condemns. But Aristotle, in the second place, does distinguish the Enthymeme as a certain kind of syllogism, — as a syllogism

of a peculiar matter, — as a syllogism from signs and likelihoods.² Now if, having done this, it were held that Aristotle over and above distinguished the Enthymeme also as a syllogism with one suppressed premise, Aristotle must be supposed to define the Enthymeme by two differences, and by two differences which have no mutual analogy; for a syllogism from signs and likelihoods does not more naturally fall into an elliptical form than a syllogism of any other matter. Yet this absurdity has been and is almost universally believed of the acutest of human intellects, and on grounds which, when examined, afford not the slightest warrant for such a conclusion. On the criticism of these grounds it would be out of place here to enter. Suffice it to say, that the texts in the Organon and Rhetoric, which may be adduced in support of the vulgar opinion, will bear no such interpretation; - that in one passage, where the word arean's (imperfect) is applied to the Enthymeme, - this word, if genuine, need signify only that the reasoning from signs and probabilities affords not a perfect or necessary inference; but that, in point of fact, the word $\dot{a}\tau\epsilon\lambda\dot{\eta}s$ is there a manifest interpolation, made to accommodate the Aristotelic to the common doctrine of the Enthymeme, for it is not extant in the oldest manuscripts, and has, accordingly, without any reference to the present question, been ejected from the best recensions, and, among others, from the recent edition of the works of Aristotle by the Academicians of Berlin, an edition founded on a collation of the principal manuscripts

1 Anal. Post., i. 10. - ED. 2 Anal. Prior., ii. 27. Rhet., i. 2. - ED.

throughout Europe.¹ It is not, however, to be denied that the term

Applications of the term *Enthymeme*.

By Dionysius of Halicarnassus. Author of Rhetoric to Alexander. Sopater. Aulus Gellius. Cicero. Quintilian. *Enthymeme* was applied to a syllogism of some unexpressed part, in very ancient times; but, along with this meaning, it was also employed by the Greek and Roman rhetoricians for a thought in general, as by Dionysius the Halicarnassian,² and the author of the *Rhetoric to Alexander*, attributed to Aristotle,³—for an *acute dictum*, as by Sopater ⁴ and Aulus Gellius,⁵—for a reasoning

from contraries or contradictories, as by Cicero.⁶ Quintilian gives three meanings of the term; in one sense, signifying "omnia mente concepta," in another, "sententia cum ratione," in a third, "argumenti conclusio, vel ex consequentibus, vel ex repugnantibus."⁷

Among the ancients, who employed the term for a syllogism with

Denoted, with some of the ancients, a syllogism with some suppressed part. The Aphrodisian. Ammonius. Philoponus. Pachymeres. Quintilian. Ulpian. Scholiast on Hermogenes. some suppressed part, a considerable number held, with our modern logicians, that it was a syllogism deficient of one or other premise, as Alexander the Aphrodisian, Ammonius Hermiæ, Philoponus,⁸ etc. Some, however, as Pachymeres,⁹ only recognized the absence of the major premise. Some, on the contrary, thought, like Quintilian,¹⁰ that the suppressed proposition

ought to be the conclusion; - nay, Ulpian, the Greek commentator

1 For a fuller history of this interpolation, see *Discussions*, p. 154. – ED. [For the correct doctrine of the Aristotelic Enthymeme, see Mariotte, *Essay de Logique*, P. ii. disc. iii. p. 163. Puris, 1678. – ED.]

2 Epistola ad Ca. Pompeium de præcipuis Historicis, c. 5. Tîjs μέντοι καλλιλογίας ἐκείνου και τοῦ πλούτου τῶν ἐν∂υμεμάτων κατὰ πολὺ ὑστερεῖ. The expression πλοῦτος ἐν-∂νμεμάτων is rendered by J. C. T. Ernesti, Gedanken Fulle; see his Lexikon Technologiæ Græcorum Rhetoricæ, c. ἐνδῦμεμα. The same sentence is repeated in nearly the same words by Diouysius, in his Veterum Scriptorum Censura, iii. 2. — ED.

³ The author of the *Rhetorica ad Alexandrum*, c. 8, classes the enthymeme among proofs ($\pi(\sigma\tau\epsilon\iotas)$), and in c. 11, defines it as a proof, drawn from any kind of opposition. ²Ev3vuµµara δ' έστιν οὺ µόνον τὰ τῷ λὸγῷ καl τῆ πράξει ἐναντιούµενα, ἀλλὰ καl τοῖs ἄλλοιs ἕπασιν. This work is attributed by Victorius to Anaximenes of Lampsacus, and this conjecture is adopted by the latest editor, Spengel. — ED.

4 Sopatri Apameensis Prolegomena in Aristidem. Aristidis Op. Omn., ed. Jebb, vol. i. f. d. 3. Kal τη των ένδυμημάτων τυκνότητι δημοσδενίζει. In Canter's Prolegomena this expression is rendered sententiarum densitas, and the word ένδυμηματικόs in the same passage by arguius in argumentis. But compare Discussions, p. 157. — ED.

5 Noctes Attica, vi. 13. "Quærebantur autem non gravia nec reverenda, sed $\ell \nu \partial v$ - $\mu \eta \mu a \tau a$ quædam lepida et minuta." — ED.

6 Topica, e. 13. - ED.

7 Inst. Orat., v. 10, 1. - ED.

⁸ See Alexander, In Topica, pp. 6, 7, ed. Ald. 1513. Ammonius, In Quinque Voces Porphyrii, f. 5 a, ed. Ald. 1546. Philoponus, In Anal. Post., f. 4 a, ed. Ald. 1534. These authorities are cited in the author's note, Discussions, p. 156. — ED.

⁹ Epitome Logices Aristotelis, Oxon., 1666, p. 113. See also his Epitome in Universam Aristotelis Dissectedi Artem, appended to Rasarius's translation of Ammonius on Porphyry Lugd., 1547, p. 244. -- ED.

10 Inst. Orat., v. 14, 1. - ED.

LECT. XX.

premise.

LOGIC.

of Demosthenes, and the scholiast on Hermogenes the Rhetorician,¹ absolutely define an Enthymeme - "a syllogism, in which the conclusion is unexpressed."2

III. This leads us to the third head; for on no principle can it be shown, that our modern logicians are correct in III. Admitting the denying or not contemplating the possibility of validity of the discrimthe reticence of the conclusion. The only prinination of the Enthyciple on which a syllogism is competent, with meme, it cannot be restricted to a sylloone or other of its propositions unexpressed, is gism of one suppressed this, - that the part suppressed is too manifest to require enouncement. On this principle, a

syllogism is not less possible with the conclusion, than with either of the premises, understood; and, in point of fact, occurs quite as frequently as any other. The logicians, therefore, to complete their

Examples of Enthymemes of the First, Second, and Third, Order.

doctrine, ought to have subdivided the Enthymeme not merely into Enthymemes of the first and second, but also into Enthymemes of the third order, according as the sumption, the subsumption, or the conclusion is suppressed.³ As

examples of these various Enthymemes, the following may suffice :

THE EXPLICIT SYLLOGISM.

Every liar is a coward; Caius is a liar ; Therefore, Caius is a coward.

I. ENTHYMEME OF THE FIRST ORDER - (the Sumption understood.)

Caius is a liar : Therefore, Caius is a coward.

II. ENTHYMEME OF THE SECOND ORDER - (the Subsumption understood.)

Every liar is a coward ; Therefore, Caius is a coward.

III. ENTHYMEME OF THE THIRD ORDER - (the Conclusion understood.)

Every liar is a coward ; And Caius is a liar.

I Ulpian, Ad Demosth. Olynth., ii. f. 7 b, ed. Ald., 1527. Anonymi ad Hermogenem, De Inventione, lib. iv. See Rhetores Graci, ed. Ald. 1509, vol. ii. p. 371. In the same work, p. 365, the scholiast allows that either premise or conclusion may be omitted. - ED.

² An enlarged and corrected list of author-

ities on this question is given by the author, Discussions, p. 157. - ED.

³ [That the Enthymeme is of three orders is held by Victorinus (in Cassiodorus Opera, vol. ii. p. 536, ed. 1729. Rhetores Pithæi, p. 341, ed. 1599), or rather of four orders, for there may be an Enthymeme with only one proposition enounced. See Victorinus, as above.]

In this last, you see, the suppression of the conclusion is not only

Epigrammatic examples of Enthymeme with suppressed conclusion. not violent, but its expression is even more superfluous than that of either of the premises. There occurs to me a clever epigram of the Greek Anthology, in which there is a syllogism with the conclusion suppressed. I shall not

quote the original, but give you a Latin and English imitation, which will serve equally well to illustrate the point in question.¹ The Latin imitation is by the learned printer Henricus Stephanus, and he applies his epigram to a certain Petrus, who, I make no doubt, was the Franciscan, Petrus a Cornibus, whom Buchanan, Beza, Rabelais, and others have also satirized.² It runs, as I recollect, thus:

> "Sunt monachi nequam; nequam non unus et alter: Præter Petrum omnes: est sed et hie monachus."

The English imitation was written by Porson upon Gottfried Hermann (when this was written, confessedly the prince of Greek scholars), who when hardly twenty had attacked Porson's famous canons, in his work, *De Metris Graecorum et Romanorum*. The merit of the epigram does not certainly lie in its truth.

> "The Germans in Greek, Are sadly to seek; Not five in five score, But ninety-five more; All, save only Hermann, And Hermann's a German."

In these epigrams, the conclusion of the syllogism is suppressed, yet its illative force is felt even in spite of the express exception; nay, in really conquering by implication the apparent disclaimer, consists the whole point and elegance of the epigram. To put the former into a syllogistic shape, —

1 The original is an epigram of Phocylides, preserved by Strabo, B. x. p. 487, ed. Casaubon, 1620. Compare Anthologia Graca, i. p. 54, ed. Brunck. Lips., 1794. Poetæ Minores Graza, ed. Gaisford, i. p. 444.

- Καὶ τόδε φωκυλίδεω · Λέριοι κακοί · οὐχ δ μέν, ὑς δ' οῦ ·
- Πάντες, πλην Προκλέους · καl Προκλέης Λέριος.

For the Latin imitation by Stephanus, see Theod. Bezæ Poemata, item ex Georgio Buchanano, aliisque variis insignibus poetis excerpta carmina. Excudebat H. Stephanus, ex cujus etiam Epigrammatis Græcis et Latinis aliquot cæteris adjecta sunt, 1569, p. 217.

The parody by Porson is given in A Short Account of the late Mr Richard Porson, M. A., p. 14, London, 1808. The original Greek, with Porson's imitation, is also given in Dr. Wellesley's Anthologia Polyglotta, p. 433 - ED. 2 See Buchanan, Franciscanus, 1 764 Beza, Poemata, p. 85, ed. 1569. Rabelais, L. iii. ch. 14. - ED.

LECT. XX.

LOGIC.

Sumption — The monks, one and all, are good-for-nothing varlets, excepting Peter; Subsumption — But Peter is a monk.

Therefore, Peter is a good-for-nothing varlet like the rest.

There is recorded, likewise, a dying deliverance of the philosopher Hegel, the wit of which depends upon the same ambiguous reasoning. "Of all my disciples," he said, "one only understands my philosophy; and he does not."¹ But we may take this for an admission by the philosopher himself, that the doctrine of the Absolute transcends human comprehension.

What has now been said, may suffice to show, not only that we may have enthymemes with any of the three propositions understood, but that the distinction itself of the enthymeme, as a species of syllogism, is inept.

I now go on to the Third Division of Syllogisms, under the head C. Syllogisms, Regular and Irregular. C. Syllogisms into Regular and Regular an

dinary or extraordinary arrangement of their constituent parts. I commence this subject with the following paragraph.

¶ LXXIII. A syllogism is Irregular by relation, — 1°. To Par. LXXIII. Kinds of Irregular Syllogisms. To the transposed order of its Terms; and 3°. To the transposed order of both its Propositions and Terms. Of these in their order.

1°. A syllogism in extension is Regular, in the order of its Propositions, when the subsumption follows the sumption, and the conclusion follows the subsumption. In this respect (discounting the difference of the quantities of depth and breadth), it, therefore, admits of a fivefold irregularity under three heads, — for either, 1°. The two premises may be transposed; or, 2°. The conclusion may precede the premises, and here, either the sumption or the subsumption may stand first; or, 3°. The conclusion may be placed between the premises, and here either the sumption or the subsumption may stand first. Thus, representing the sumption, subsumption, and conclusion by the letters A, B, C, we have, besides the regular order, 1°. B, A, C, -2° . C,

> 1 See Discussions, p. 788. – ED. 36

A, B, -3°. C, B, A, -4°. A, C, B, -5°. B, C, A. (This doctrine of the logicians is, however, one-sided and erroneous.)

2°. A syllogism is Regular or Irregular, in respect to the order of its Terms, according to the place which the middle term holds in the premises. It is regular, in Comprehensive Quantity, when the middle term is the predicate of the sumption and the subject of the subsumption ; - in Extensive Quantity, when the middle term is the subject of the sumption and the predicate of the subsumption. From the regular order of the terms there are three possible deviations, in either quantity. For the middle term may occur, 1°. Twice as predicate; 2°. Twice as subject; and, 3°. In Comprehensive Quantity, it may in the sumption be subject, and in the subsumption predicate; in Extensive Quantity, it may in the sumption be predicate, and in the subsumption subject. Taking the letter M to designate the middle term, and the letters S and P to designate the subject and predicate of the conclusion, the following scheme will represent all the possible positions of the middle term, both in its regular and its irregular arrangement. The Regular constitutes the First Figure; the Irregular order the other Three.¹

A	- IN	COMPREHENSION.
		CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR

I.	11.	III.	IV.	
S is M.	S is M.	M is S.	M is S.	
M is P.	P is M.	M is P.	P is M.	
S is P.	S is P.	S is P.	S is P.	
B IN EXTENSION.				
Ι.	11.	111.	IV.	
M is P.	P is M.	M is P.	P is M.	
S is M.	S is M.	M is S.	M is S.	
S is P.	S is P.	S is P.	S is P.	

These relative positives of the middle term in the premises, constitute, I repeat, what are called the Four Syllogistic Figures (oxypara, figura); and these positions I have comprised in the two following mnemonic lines.

IN COMPREHENSION.

Præ sub; tum præ præ; tum sub sub; denique sub præ.

IN EXTENSION.

Sub præ; tum præ præ; tum sub sub; denique præ sub.²

I Cf. Krug, Logik, § 104. - ED.-

Purchot, Inst. Phil., Logica, t. i. c. iii. p. 199. 2 This formula for Extension is taken from The other line is the Author's own. - ED.

LECT. XX.

LOGIC.

Of these two kinds of irregularity in the external form of syllo-

Explication. Irregularity in the external form of syllogism, arising from transposition of the Propositions.

of the propositions of a syllogism, as a matter of absolutely no mo-

That a syllogism can be perspicuously expressed by any of the five irregular consecutions of its Propositions. gisms, the former — that of propositions — is of far less importance than the latter — that of terms; and logicians have even thrown it altogether out of account, in their consideration of Syllogistic Figure. They are, however, equally wrong in passing over the irregular consecution

ment; and in attributing an exaggerated importance to every variety in the arrangement of its terms. They ought at least to have made the student of Logic aware, that a syllogism can be perspicuously expressed not only by the normal, but by any of the five consecutions of its

propositions which deviate from the regular order. For example, take the following syllogism:

All virtue is praiseworthy; But sobriety is a virtue; Therefore, sobriety is praiseworthy.

This is the regular succession of sumption, subsumption, and conclusion, in a syllogism of extension; and as all that can be said, on the present question, of the one quantity, is applicable, *mutatis mutandis*, to the other, it will be needless to show articulately that a syllogism in comprehension is equally susceptible of a transposition of its propositions as a syllogism in extension. Keeping the same quantity, to wit, extension, let us first reverse the premises, leaving the conclusion in the last place (B, A, C).

> Sobriety is a virtue; But all virtue is praiseworthy; Therefore, sobriety is praiseworthy.

This, it will be allowed, is sufficiently perspicuous. Let us now enounce the conclusion before the premises; and, under this head, let the premises be first taken in their natural order (C, A, B).

> Sobriety is praiseworthy; For all virtue is praiseworthy; And sobriety is a virtue.

Now let the premises be transposed (C, B, A).

Sobriety is praiseworthy; For sobriety is a virtue; And all virtue is praiseworthy.

The regressive reasoning in both these cases is not less manifest than the progressive reasoning of the regular order.

In the last place, let us interpolate the conclusion between the premises in their normal consecution (A, C, B).

All virtue is praiseworthy; Therefore, sobriety is praiseworthy; For sobriety is a virtue.

Secondly, between the premises in their reversed order (B, C, A).

Sobriety is a virtue; Therefore, sobriety is praiseworthy; For all virtue is praiseworthy.¹

In these two cases the reasoning is not obscure, though perhaps the expression be inelegant; for the judgment placed after the conclusion had probably been already supplied in thought on the enunciation of the conclusion, and, therefore, when subsequently expressed, it is felt as superfluous. But this is a circumstance of no logical importance.

It is thus manifest, that, though worthy of notice in a system of Logic, the transposition of the propositions of a syllogism affords no modifications of form yielding more than a superficial character. Logicians, therefore, were not wrong in excluding the order of the propositions as a ground on which to constitute a difference of syllogistic form: but we shall see that they have not been consistent, or not sufficiently sharp-sighted, in this exclusion; for several of their recognized varieties of form — several of the moods of syllogistic figure — consist in nothing but a reversal of the premises.

In reality, however, there is no irregular order of the syllogistic

True doctrine of consecution. Syllogism either Synthetic or Analytic. propositions, except in the single case where the conclusion is placed between the premises. For a syllogism may be either called *Synthetic*, in case the premises come first, and the conclusion is last — (the case alone contemplated by the

logicians); or it may be called *Analytic*, the proposition styled the conclusion preceding, the propositions called the premises following, as its reasons — (a case not contemplated by the logicians). The

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 104, Anmerk, i. - ED.

LECT. XX.

LOGIC.

Analytic and Synthetic syllogisms may again be each considered as in the quantity of Extension, or as in the quantity of Comprehension; in which cases, we shall have a counter-order of the premises, but of which orders, as indeed of such quantities, one alone has been considered by the logicians.

I now, therefore, go on to the second and more important ground

The natural and transposed order of the Syllogistic Terms.

of regularity and irregularity - the natural and transposed order of the Syllogistic Terms. The forms determined by the different position of the middle term by relation to the major and minor terms in the premises of a syllogism are called Figures ($\sigma_{\chi \eta}$ -

Figures of Syllogism.

Three figures distin-

guished by Aristotle.

 $\mu a \tau a$, figuræ) — a name given to them by Aristotle.¹ Of these the first is, on the prevalent doctrine, not properly a figure at all, if by figure be meant in Logie, as in Grammar and Rhetoric, a deviation from the natural and reg-

> ular form of expression. Of these figures the first three were distinguished by Aristotle, who developed their rules with a tedious minuteness

sometimes obscure, and not always in the best order, but altogether with an acuteness which, if ever equalled, has certainly never been

Fourth Figure attributed to Galen, but on slender authority.

surpassed. The fourth, which Whately - at least in the former editions of his *Elements* ---and other recent Oxford logicians seem to suppose to be, like the others, of Aristotelic origin,

-we owe perhaps to the ingenuity of Galen. I say perhaps, for though in logical treatises attributed without hesitation to the great physician, as if a doctrine to be found in his works, this is altogether erroneous. There is, I am certain, no mention of the fourth figure in any writing of Galen now extant, and no mention of Galen's addition of that figure by any Greek or Latin authority of an age approximating to his own. The first notice of this Galenic Figure

First ascribed to Galen by Averroes.

is by the Spanish Arabian, Averroes of Cordova, in his commentary on the Organon.² Averroes flourished above a thousand years posterior to

Galen; and from his report alone (as I have also ascertained) does the prevalent opinion take its rise, that we owe to Galen this amplification (or corruption, as it may be) of the Aristotelic doctrines of logical figure. There has been lately published from manuscript, by Didot of Paris, a new logical treatise of Galen.³ In this work, in which the syllogistic figures are detailed, there is no mention of

¹ Anal. Prior., i. 4. - ED. [Cf. Pacius, Comment., pp. 118. 122.]

³ Γαληνοῦ Εἰσαγωγὴ Διαλεκτική — ἐν Παοισιώ αωμδ΄ (1844). - ED.

² Prior Analytics, [B. i. ch. 8. - ED.]

a fourth figure. Galen, therefore, as far as we know, affords no exception to the other authors upon Logic. In these circumstances, it is needless to observe how slender is the testimony in favor of the report; and this is one of many others in which an idle story, once told and retailed, obtains universal credit as an established fact, in consequence of the prevalent ignorance of the futility of its foundation. Of the legitimacy of the Fourth Figure I shall speak, after having shown you the nature of its reasoning.

Complex modification of the Figure of Syllogism. Before proceeding further in the consideration of the Figure of Syllogism, it is, however, necessary to state a complex modification to which it is subject, and which is contained in graph

the following paragraph.

¶ LXXIV. The Figure of Syllogism is modified by the Quantity and Quality of the propositions which constitute the reasoning. As the combination of Quantity and Quality af-

fords four kinds of propositions — Universal Affirmative (A), Universal Negative (E), Particular Affirmative (I), Particular Negative (O); and as there are three propositions in each syllogism, there are consequently in all sixty-four arrangements possible of three propositions, differing in quantity and quality; — arrangements which constitute what are called the *Syllogis*tic Moods ($\tau\rho\delta\pi\sigma\sigma$, modi). I may interpolate the observation: The Greek logicians after Aristotle, looking merely to the two premises in combination, called these *Syzygies* ($\sigma\nu\zeta\nu\gamma\ell\alpha\iota$, jugationes, conjugationes, combinationes). Aristotle himself never uses $\tau\rho\delta\pi\sigma\sigma$ for either mood or modality specially; nor does he use $\sigma\nu\zeta\nu\gamma\prime\alpha$ in any definite sense. His only word for mood is the vague expression syllogism.

The greater number of these moods are, however, incompetent, as contradictory of the general rules of syllogism; and there are in all only eleven which can possibly enter a legitimate syllogism. These eleven moods again are, for the same reason, not all admissible in every figure, but six only in each, that is, in all twenty-four; and again of these twenty-four, five are useless, and, therefore, usually neglected, as having a particular conclusion where a universal is competent. The nineteen useful moods admitted by logicians may, however, by the quantification of the predicate, be still further simplified, by superseding the significance of Figure.

Explication.

In entering on the consideration of the various Moods of the Syllogistic Figures, it is necessary that you recall to memory the three laws I gave you of the

Categorical Syllogism, and in particular the two clauses of the second law, - That the sumption must be definite (general or singular), and the subsumption affirmative, - clauses which are more vaguely expressed by the two laws of the logicians - that no conclusion can be drawn from two particular premises - and that no conclusion can be drawn from two negative premises. This being premised, you recollect that the four combinations of Quantity and Quality, competent to a proposition, were designated by the four letters, A, E, I, O, - A denoting a universal affirmative ; - E a universal negative; - I, a particular affirmative; - O, a particular negative.

> Asserit A; negat E; verum universaliter ambæ: Asserit I; negat O; sed particulariter ambo.1

> > A, it affirms of this, these, all; As E denies of any: I, it affirms, as O denies, Of some, or few, or many. Thus A affirms what E denies, And definitely either: Thus I affirms what O denies. But definitely neither.²

The possible combinations of premises.

Now, as each syllogism has two premises, there are, consequently, sixteen different combinations possible of premises differing in quantity and quality - viz.:

1) A A.	2) E A.	3) I A.	4) O A.
AE.	EE.	IE.	0 E.
AI.	EI.	II.	0 I.
A 0.	Ε Ο.	ΙΟ.	0 0.

Now the question arises - are all of these sixteen possible combinations of different premises valid towards a legitimate conclusion? In answer to this, it is evident that a considerable number

1 See above, p. 180. - ED.

- Wilson, Rule of Reason, p. 27 a, 1551. " A says and E denies; both totally.

I says and O denies; both partially."

"A doeth affirme, E doeth denigh, which are bothe universall:

I doeth affirme, O doeth denigh, which we particular call."

- Wallis, Institutio Logica, 1686, L. ii. c. 4, p. 105.1

² [The following are previous English metrical versions of these lines:

of these are at once invalidated by the first clause of the second

How many of these are syllogistically valid. law of the categorical syllogism, in so far as recognized by logicians, by which all moods with two particular premises are excluded, as in these there is no general rule. Of this class are the

four moods, I I, I O, O I, and O O. And the second clause of the same law, in so far as recognized by logicians, invalidates the moods of two negative premises, as in these there is no subordination. Of this class are the four moods E E, E O, O E, and O O. Finally, by the two clauses of the second rule in conjunction, the mood I E is said to be excluded, because the particular sumption contains no general rule, and the negative subsumption no subordination. (This, I think, is incorrect.) These exclusions have been admitted to be valid for every Figure; there, consequently, remain (say the logicians) as the possible modes of any legitimate syllogism, the eight following — Λ A, A E, A I, A O, E A, E I, I A, O A;¹ but some of these, as apparently contradictory of the second rule in its more definite assertions, — that the sumption must be general and the subsumption affirmative, — I shall, after stating to you the common doctrine of the logicians, show to be really no exceptions.

But whether each of the moods, though a priori possible, affords

Whether each mood that is *a priori* possible affords a proper syllogism in all the figures. a proper syllogism in all the figures — this depends on the definite relations of the middle term to the two others in the several figures. These, therefore, require a closer investigation. I shall consider them, with the logicians, princi-

pally in the quantity of extension, but, *mutatis mutandis*, all that is true in the one quantity is equally true in the other.

Now if, in the first figure, we consider these eight moods with First Figure. reference to the general rules, we shall find that

all do not in this figure afford correct syllogisms; but only those which are constructed in conformity to the following particular rules, which are, however, in this figure, identical with those we have already given as general laws of every perfect and regular categorical syllogism.

The symbol of the First Figure is,-

 $\begin{bmatrix} M & P, \\ S & M, \end{bmatrix}$ for Extension; $\begin{bmatrix} S & M, \\ M & P, \end{bmatrix}$ for Comprehension.

The first rule is, — "The sumption must be universal. Were it particular, and, consequently, the subsumption universal, as:

1 Cf. Bachmann, Logik, § 129. - ED.

Some M are P; But all S are M;

we could not know whether S were precisely the part of M which lies in P, and it might be altogether out of P. In that case, a universal negative conclusion would be the correct; but this cannot be drawn, as there is no negative premise, and though accidentally perhaps true, still it is not a necessary consequence of the premises."¹

"The second rule is, — The subsumption must be affirmative. Were it negative, and consequently the sumption affirmative, in that case S would be wholly excluded from the sphere of M; and, consequently, the general rule under which M stands would not be applicable to S. Thus:

> All M are P; No S is M; No S is P. All colors are physical phænomena; No sound is a color; Therefore, no sound is a physical phænomenon.

"Here the negative conclusion is false, but the affirmative, which would be true, — all sounds are physical phænomena, — cannot be inferred from the premises, and, therefore, no inference is competent at all."²

Thus, in this figure, of the eight moods generally admissible, I A

Legitimate moods of First Figure. Their symbols. and O A are excluded by the first; A E and A O by the second rule. There remain, therefore, only four legitimate moods, A A, E A, A I, and E I. The lower Greek logicians determs

noted them by the terms, --

Γράμματα, Έγραψε, Γραφίδι, Τεχνικός;³

the Latin schoolmen by the terms -

Barbara, Celarent, Darii, and Ferio.

¹ Bachmann, Logik, § 130, p. 203. – ED. [So Hollmann, Phil. Rationalis, quæ Logica vulgo dicitur, § 461, Gottingæ, 1746. Lovanienses, Commentaria in Isag. Porphyrii et in omnes Libros Arist. de Dialectica, Anal. Prior, L. i. p. 215, Lovanii, 1547. Ulrich, Instit. Log. et Met., § 191, Ienæ, 1785. Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. vi. c. 21, p. 363.]

² Bachmann, as above. — ED. [Cf. Derodon, Logica Restituta, P. iv. p. 618. Ulrich, as above. Lovanienses, as above. Hollmann, Logica, § 462.]

³ For an account of these mnemonics, see *Discussions*, p. 671, second edition. — ED. In the Latin symbols, which are far more ingenious and complete, and in regard to the history of which I shall say something in the sequel, the vowels are alone at present to be considered, and of these the first expresses the sumption, the second the subsumption, and the third the conclusion. The correctness of these is shown by the following examples and delineations.

".The first mood of this figure:

I. Barbara.











I. BARBARA.

All M are P; All S are M; Therefore, all S are P.

All that is composite is dissoluble; All material things are composite; Therefore, all material things are dissoluble.

II. CELARENT.

No M is P; All S are M; Therefore, no S is P.

No finite being is exempt from error; All men are finite beings; Therefore, no man is exempt from error.

III. DARII.

All M are P; Some S are M; Therefore, some S are P.

All virtues are laudable; Some habits are virtues; Therefore, some habits are laudable.

"This diagram makes it manifest to the eye why the conclusion can only be particular. As only a part of the sphere S lies in the sphere M, this part must lie in the sphere P, as the whole of M lies therein; but it is of this part only that anything can be affirmed in the conclusion. The other part of S can either lie wholly out of P, or partly in P but out of M; but as the premises affirm nothing of this part, the conclusion cannot, therefore, include it. LECT. XX.

IV. Ferio.

IV. FERIO.

No M is P; Some S are M; Therefore, some S are not P.

No virtue is reprehensible ; Some habits are virtues ; Therefore, some habits are not reprehensible.



"The conclusion in this case can only be particular, as only a part of S is placed in the sphere of M. The other part of S may lie out of P or in P. But of this the premises determine nothing."¹

Second Figure. The symbol of the Second Figure is -

 $\begin{array}{c} P & M, \\ S & M, \end{array}$ for Extension; $\begin{array}{c} S & M, \\ P & M, \end{array}$ for Comprehension.

"This figure is governed by the two following rules. Of these the first is — One premise must be negative.² For were there two affirmative premises, as:

> All P are M; All S are M; All metals are minerals; All pebbles are minerals;



the conclusion would be — All pebbles are metals, which would be fulse.

"The second rule is: - The sumption must be universal." Were

1 Bachmann, Logik, p. 204-206. - ED.

² [See Derodon, Logica Restituta, P. iv. p. 637. Hollmann, Logica, §§ 463, 464. Lovanienses, Com. in Arist. Anal. Prior., L. i. p. 218. Scotus.] [Quæstiones in Anal. Prior., L. i. q. 20, f. 268. – ED.]

³ See Hollmann, and Lovanienses, as cited above. — ED.

the sumption particular, the subsumption behoaved to be universal; for otherwise no conclusion would be possible. But in that case the sumption, whether affirmative or negative, would afford only an absurd conclusion.¹

"If affirmative, as --

Some P are M; No S is M; Therefore, some S are not P.

Some animals lay eggs, i. e. are egg-laying things; No horse lays eggs, i. e. is any egg-laying thing; Therefore, some horses are not animals.

"If negative, as -

Some P are not M; All S are M; Therefore, some S are not P.

Some minerals are not precious stones; All topazes are precious stones; Therefore, some topazes are not minerals;

in both cases the conclusion is absurd.

"There thus remain," say the logicians, "only the moods Cesare, Camestres, Festino, Baroco.

I. Cesare.



II. Camestres.



I. CESARE.

No P is M; All S are M; Therefore, no S is P.

Nothing material has free will; All spirits have free will; Therefore, no spirit is material.

II. CAMESTRES.

All P are M; No S is M; Therefore, no S is P.

All colors are visible; No sound is visible; Therefore, no sound is a color.

1 [Cf. Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. vi. c. 21, p. 363.]

III. Festino.No P is M;Some S are M;Therefore, some S are not P.

III. FESTINO.

No vice is praiseworthy; Some actions are praiseworthy; Therefore, some actions are not vices.



"The diagram here is alternative, for as the conclusion can only comprise a part of S, as it is only the consequence of a partial subordination of S to M, the other parts of S which are out of M may either lie within or without P. — The conclusion can, therefore, only be particular.

IV. Baroco.

IV. BAROCO.

All P are M; Some S are not M; Therefore, some S are not P.

All birds are oviparous; Some animals are not oviparous; Therefore, some animals are not birds.''¹

1 Bachmann, Logik, as above. - ED.



LECTURE XXI.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS.— THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO EXTERNAL FORM.

FIGURE - THIRD AND FOURTH.

IN our last Lecture, after terminating the general consideration Recapitulation. of the nature of Figure and Mood in Categorical Syllogisms, we were engaged in a rapid survey

of the nineteen legitimate and useful moods belonging to the four figures, according to the received doctrine of logicians (consequently, exclusively in Extension); and I had displayed to you the laws and moods of the First and Second Figures. Before, therefore, proceeding to any criticism of this doctrine, it behooves us to terminate the view of the two remaining figures.

Third Figure. To each of the first two figures, logicians attribute four moods; to the third they concede six; and to the fourth five. The scheme of the Third Figure, in Extension, is —

Μ P, Μ S.

This figure (always in extension) is governed by the two following laws : — the first is, "The subsumption must be affirmative." Were the minor premise a negative, as in the syllogism, —

All M are P;	or	All fiddles are musical instruments;
No M is S;		But no fiddle is a flute;

1 [See Aristotle, Anal. Prior., i. 6, §§ 8, 16. Hollmann, Logica, § 466. Lovanienses, In An. Prior., L. i. p. 220.]

LECT. XXI.

LOGIC.

here the conclusion would be ridiculous, — *Therefore*, no S is P, — *Therefore*, no flute is a musical instrument. For M and S can both exclude each other, and yet both lie within the sphere of P.

"The second law is, — The conclusion must be particular, and particular although both premises are universal.¹ This may be shown both in affirmative and negative syllogisms. In the case of affirmative syllogisms, as:

All M are P; But all M are S;

here, you will observe, M lies in two different spheres — P and S, and these must in the conclusion be connected in a relation of subordination. But S and P may be disparate notions,² and, consequently, not to be so connected; an absurd conclusion would, therefore, be the result. For example, —

> All birds are animals with feathers; But all birds are animals with a heart; Therefore, all animals with a heart are animals with feathers.

"Again," say the logicians, "in regard to negatives: — In these only the sumption can be negative, as the subsumption (by the first rule) must be affirmative. Thus:

> No M is P; But all M are S; No silver is iron; But all silver is a mineral.

"Here the conclusion — No S is P, — No mineral is iron, would be false.

"Testing the eight possible moods in Extension by these special rules, there remain for this figure, six, which by the Latin logicians have been named, *Darapti*, *Felapton*, *Disamis*, *Datisi*, *Bocardo*, *Ferison*. The first mood of this figure is:

I. Darapti.

I. DARAPTI.³

All M are P; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are P; or, All gilding is metallic; All gilding shines; Therefore, some things that shine are metallic.

1 [But see Hollmann, Logica, §§ 332, 458. Lovanienses, In An. Prior., L. i. p. 220.]

2 Disparate notions, i. e., coördinate parts of



the comprehension of their common subject M. See above, p. 158. — ED.

³ [Some of the ancient logicians, among

"Here it is manifest that M cannot at once lie in two different spheres, unless these partially involve, partially intersect each other. But only partially; for as both P and S are more extensive than M, and are both only connected through M (*i. e.* through a part of themselves), they cannot, except partially, be identified with each other.

"The second mood of this figure is, --

II. Felapton.

II. FELAPTON.¹

No M is P; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are not P; or.

No material substance is a moral subject; But all that is material is extended; Therefore, something extended is not a moral subject.



"You will observe, that according to this diagram, the conclusion ought to be — No S is P, because the whole of S lies out of the sphere of P; and as in the concrete example, the notion extended is viewed as out of the notion moral subject, we might conclude, — Nothing extended is a moral subject. But this conclusion, though materially correct, cannot, however, be formally inferred from the premises. In the sumption, indeed, the whole of M is excluded from the sphere of P; but in the subsumption M is included in the sphere S, that is, we think that the notion M is a part of the notion S. Now in the conclusion, S is brought under P, and the conclusion of a categorical syllogism, in reference to its quantity, is, as you remember, by the third general law regulated by the quality of the subsumption. But as in the present case the subsumption, notwithstanding the universality of the expression, only judges of a part of

others Porphyry, have made two moods of Darapti, as Aristotle himself does in Cesare and Camestres, in Disamis and Datisi. See Boethius, De Syllogismo Categorico, L. ii., Opera, p 594 alibi. Cf. Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Quarta Figura Syllog., pp. 119, 120 et seq. Alex. Aphrodisiensis, In Anal. Prior., i. 5, ff.

others Porphyry, have made two moods of 23, 24, Ald. 1531. Philoponus, *In Anal. Prior.*, Darapti, as Aristotle himself does in Cesare L. i. c. 5, f. 18 b. Apuleius, *De Habitud. Doct.* and Camestres, in Disamis and Datisi. See *Plat.*, L. iii. *Opera*, p. 37, 38, ed. Elmenhorst.]

1 [Aristotle gives Fapemo, Anal. Prior. i. 7. (Burgersdyck, Instit. Logicæ, L. ii. c. 7, p. 169, Cantab., 1647.)] LECT. XXI.

LOGIC.

S; the conclusion can, in like manner, only judge of a part of S. Of the other parts of S there is nothing enounced in the premises. The relation between S and P could likewise be as follows:

> No M is P; But all M are S; or, No pigeon is a hawk; But all pigeons are birds;



"Here the conclusion could not be a universal negative, — Therefore, no S is P, — Therefore, no bird is a hawk — for the sphere of S (bird) is greater than that of either M (pigeon) or P (hawk); it may, however, be a particular negative — Therefore, some S are not P (therefore, some birds are not hawks), — because the sumption has excluded M and P (pigeon and hawk) from each other's sphere, and, consequently, the part of S which is equal to M is different from the part of S which is equal to P. — But if this be the case when the subsumption has a universal expression, the same, a fortiori, is true when it is particular.

"The third mode of this figure is:

III. Disamis.

III. DISAMIS.

Some M are P; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are P;

or,

Some acts of homicide are laudable; But all acts of homicide are cruel; Therefore, some cruel acts are laudable.

"The fourth mood of this figure is:

IV. Datisi.

IV. DATISI.

All M are P; But some M are S; Therefore, some S are P;

or,

All acts of homicide are cruel; Some acts of homicide are laudable; Therefore, some laudable acts are cruel.





'This diagram makes it manifest that more than a single case is possible in this mood. As the subsumption is particular, the conclusion can only bring that part of S which is M into identity with P; of the other parts of P there can be nothing determined, and these other parts, it is evident, may either lie wholly out of, or partly within, P.

"The fifth mood of this figure is:

V. Bocardo.



V. BOCARDO.

Some M are not P; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are not P;

or,

Some syllogisms are not regular; But all syllogisms are things important; Therefore, some important things are not things regular.

"The sixth mood of this figure is:

VI. Ferison.

VI. FERISON.

No M is P; But some M are S; Therefore, some S ore not P;

or,

No truth is without result; Some truths are misunderstood; Therefore, some things misunderstood are not without result.



"Here, as in the premises, only that part of S which is M is excluded from P, consequently the other parts of S may either likewise lie wholly out of P, or partially in P."¹

So much for the moods of the third figure.

1 Bachmann, Logik, § 132, p. 211-218. - ED.

298

LECT. XXI.

Fourth Figure.

"The formula of the Fourth Figure is:

РМ, МS.

Its Laws.

"This figure is regulated by three laws.

"I. Of these the first is, — If the sumption be affirmative, the subsumption must be universal. The necessity of this law is easily seen. For if we had the premises:

All P are M; But some M are S;

in this case M may, or may not, be a notion superior to P.

"On the former alternative, if M be higher than P, and likewise higher than S, then the whole of S might be contained under P.— In this case, the proper conclusion would be a universal affirmative; which, however, cannot follow from the premises, as the subsumption, *ex hypothesi*, is particular. On the latter alternative, even if M were not superior to S, still, since P is only a part of M, we could not know whether a part of S were contained under P or not. For example:

> All men are animals; But some animals are amphibious.

"From these premises no conclusion could be drawn.

"II. The second rule by which this figure is governed is — If either premise be negative, the sumption must be universal.

"Suppose we had the premises ----

Some P are not M; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are not P;

or,

Some animals are not feathered; But all feathered animals are birds; Therefore, some birds are not animals.

"In this case the whole of S lies within the sphere of P; there cannot, therefore, follow a particular negative conclusion, and if not that, no conclusion at all. The same would happen were the sumption a particular affirmative, and the subsumption a universal negative.

"III. The third rule of the fourth figure is - If the subsumption

be affirmative, the conclusion must be particular. This (the logicians say) is manifest. For in this figure S is higher than M, and higher than P, consequently only a part of S can be P.

"If we test by these rules the eight possible moods, there are in this figure five found competent, which, among sundry other names, have obtained the following: *Bramantip*, *Camenes*, *Dimaris*, *Fesapo*, *Fresison*.

"Of these moods the first is:

I. Bramantip.

(P)

"The second mood is called:

S

II. Camenes.

M

II. CAMENES, CALEMES, or CALENTES, etc.

All P are M; But no M is S; Therefore, no S is P;

or,

All ruminating animals have four stomachs; But no animal with four stomachs is carnivorous; Therefore, no carnivorous animal ruminates.

"The third mood in the fourth figure is variously denominated :

III. Dimaris.



Some P are M; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are P;

or,

Some practically virtuous men are necessitarians; All necessitarians speculatively subvert the distinction of vice and virtue;

Therefore, some who speculatively subvert the distinction of vice and virtue are practically virtuous men.

"The fourth mood of this figure is:



I. BRAMANTIP, otherwise BAMALIP, etc.

All P are M; All M are S; Therefore, some S are P;

or,

All greyhounds are dogs; But all dogs are quadrupeds; Therefore, some quadrupeds are greyhounds.

300
LOGIC.

IV. Fesapo.

IV. FESAPO.

No P is M; All M are S; Therefore, some S are not P; or, No negro is a Hindoo; But all Hindoos are blacks; Therefore, some blacks are not negroes;



"According to the first of these diagrams, all S is excluded from P, and thus the conclusion would seem warranted that — No S is P. This conclusion cannot, however, be inferred; for it would violate the third rule of this figure. For while we, in the sumption, have only excluded M, that is, a part of S, from P, and as the other parts of S are not taken into account, we are, consequently, not entitled to deny these of P. The first diagram, therefore, which sensualizes only a single case, is not coädequate with the logical formula, and it is necessary to add the second in order to exhaust it. The second diagram is, therefore, likewise a sensible representation of Fesapo; and that diagram makes it evident that the conclusion can only be a particular negative.

"The fifth and last mood is:

V. Fresison.

V. FRESISON. No P is M; But some M are S; Therefore, some S are not P; or,

No moral principle is an animal impulse; But some animal impulses are principles of action; Therefore, some principles of action are not moral principles.



LOGIC.

"The demonstration is here the same as in the former mood. Since the subsumption only places a part of M in the sphere of S, the conclusion, whose quantity is determined by the subsumption, can only deny P of that part of S which is likewise a part of M."¹

Having thus concluded the exposition of the various Figures and

Mood and Figure in Comprehension. Moods of Syllogisms, as recognized by logicians, in reference to Extensive Quantity, it will not be necessary to say more than a word in general,

touching these figures and moods in reference to Comprehensive Quantity. Whatever mood and figure is valid and regular in the one, is valid and regular in the other; and every anomaly is equally an anomaly in both. The rules of the various figures which we have considered in regard to syllogisms in Extension, are all, without exception or qualification, applicable to syllogisms in Comprehension, with this single proviso, that, as the same proposition forms a different premise in the several quantities, all that is said of the sumption in extension, should be understood of the subsumption in comprehension, and all that is said of the sumption in comprehension, should be understood of the subsumption. What, therefore, has hitherto been, or may hereafter be, stated of the mood and figure of one quantity, is to be viewed as applicable, *mutatis mutandis*, to the other. This being understood, I proceed, in the

Criticism of the foregoing doctrines of logical forms.

first place, to show you that the complex series of logical forms which I have enumerated may be considerably diminished, and the doctrine of syllogism, consequently, reduced to a higher

simplicity. In doing this I shall consider, first, the Figures, and, secondly, their Moods.

Now, as regards the number of the Figures, you are aware, from

I. The Figures. The Fourth. what I formerly stated, that Aristotle only contemplated the three first, and that the fourth, which is, by those who do not mistake it for an

Aristotelic form, referred with little probability to Galen, was wholly unnoticed until the end of the twelfth or the beginning of the thirteenth century, when it was incidentally communicated, as an innovation of the physician of Pergamus, by the celebrated Averroes, in his commentary on the *Prior Analytics* of Aristotle, but by Averroes himself rejected as an illegitimate novelty.² The notice of this figure by the commentator was, however, enough; and though repudiated by the great majority of the rigid Aristotelians, the author-

¹ Bachmann, Logik, § 193, p 218-223. 2 In Anal Prior, i 8. Opera Aristotelis, t. i., ED. f. 78, Venctiis, 1500. - ED.

LECT. XXI.

ity of Scotus, by whom it was defended,¹ secured for it at last, if not a universal approval, at least a very general toleration, as a legitimate though an awkward form. The arguments indeed by which it was attempted to evince the incompetency of this figure, were not of a character calculated to enforce assent; for its inference is not less valid than that of any other, — however tortuous and perverse it may be felt to be. In fact, the logicians, in consequence of their exclusive recognition of the reasoning in extension, were not in possession of the means of showing, that this figure is a monster undeserving of toleration, far less of countenance and favor. I shall not, therefore, trouble you with the inconclusive reasoning on the part either of those who have assailed or of those who have defended this figure, but shall at once put you in possession of the ground on which alone, I think, its claim to recognition ought to be disallowed.

In the first place, then, you are aware that all reasoning is either

Grounds on which the Fourth Figure ought to be disallowed. in the quantity of comprehension, or in the quantity of extension. You are aware, in the second, that these quantities are not only different, but, as existing in an inverse ratio of each

other, opposed. Finally, in the third place, you are aware that, though opposed, so that the maximum of the one is the minimum of the other, yet the existence of each supposes the existence of the other; accordingly there can be no extension without some comprehension, — no comprehension without some extension.

This being the case, it is evident that, besides the definite reason-

A cross inference possible from Extension to Comprehension and vice versa. ing from whole to part, and from parts to whole, within the several quantities and in their perpendicular lines, there is also competent an indefinite inference across from the one quantity to the other. For if the existence of the one quan-

tity be only possible under the condition of the other, we may always, it is self-evident, in the first place, from the affirmation of anything in extension, indefinitely affirm it in comprehension, as, reciprocally, from the affirmation of anything in comprehension, we may indefinitely affirm it in extension; and, in the second place, from the negation of anything in extension, we may absolutely deny

¹ This statement is marked as doubtful in the Author's Common-place Book. Scotus (Quost. in Anal. Prior., i. q. 34) expressly rejects the Fourth Figure. He says: "Solum tribus modis potest fieri debita ordinatio respectu extremorum secundum subjectionem et prædicationem; igitur tres figure et non plures..., quia per solam transpositionem non pervenit diversitas alicujus præmissæ nec conclusionis: per consequens nec diversitas figurae."

The Fourth Figure is, however, said by Ridiger (*De Sensu Veri et Falsi*, p. 337) to have been introduced by Galen and Scotus. Hospinianus (*De Controversiis Dialecticis*, c. xix.) attributes (erroneously) the invention of this figure to Scotus. Compare also Noldius, *Logica Recognita*, c. xiii. § 4, p. 277. – ED.

it in comprehension, as, reciprocally, from the negation of anything in comprehension, we may absolutely deny it in extension.

Now, what has not been observed, such is exclusively the infer-

This the nature of the inference in the Fourth Figure. ence in the Fourth Figure; its two last rules are in fact nothing but an enunciation of these two conditions of a cross inference from the one quantity to the other; and the first rule will be

hereafter shown to be only an error, the result of not observing that certain moods are only founded on the accident of a transposed order of the premises, and, therefore, constitute no subject for a logical legislation.

To prove this statement of the nature of the inference in the Proved and illustrated. fourth figure, it is only necessary to look at its abstract formula. In extension this is —

P is M: M is S; S is P.

Here in the premises P is contained under M, and M is contained under S; that is, in the premises S is the greatest whole and P the smallest part. So far, this syllogism in extension is properly a syllogism in comprehension, in which the subject of the conclusion is the greatest whole, and its predicate the smallest part. From such premises we, therefore, expect, that the conclusion carrying out what was established in the antecedent, should affirm P as the part of S. In this, however, our expectation is disappointed; for the reasoning suddenly turns round in the conclusion, and affirms S as a part of P. And how, it may be asked, is this evolution in the conclusion competent, seeing that it was not prepared, and no warrant given for it in the premises. To this the answer is prompt and easy. The conclusion in this figure is solely legitimated by the circumstance, that from an identity between the two terms in one quantity, we may always infer some identity between them in the other, and from a non-identity between them in one quantity, we can always infer a non-identity in the other. And that in this figure there is always a transition in the conclusion from the one quantity, is evident; for that notion which in the premises was the greatest whole, becomes in the conclusion the smallest part; and that notion which in the premises was the smallest part, becomes in the conclusion the greatest whole. Now, how is this manœuvre possible? - how are we entitled to say that because A contains all B, therefore B contains some A? Only, it is clear, because there is here a change from the containing of the one quantity to the containing of the other; and

LOGIC.

because, each quantity necessarily implying the indefinite existence of the other, we are consequently permitted to render this necessary implication the ground of a logical inference.

It is manifest, however, in the first place, that such a cross and

This hybrid inference is, 1. Unnatural. hybrid and indirect reasoning from the one quantity to the other, in the fourth figure, is wholly of a different character and account from the reasoning in the other three figures, in which all inference, whether upwards or downwards, is equable and homogeneous within the same quantity. The latter in short is natural and easy; the former, unnatural and perverse.

In the second place, the kind of reasoning competent in the fourth

2. Useless. figure is wholly useless. The change from the one quantity to the other in the course of a syllogism is warranted by no necessity, by no expediency. The reasoning in each quantity is absolute and complete within itself, and all that can be accomplished in the one process can equally well be accomplished in the other. The jumping, therefore, from extension to comprehension, or from comprehension to extension, in the conclusion of the fourth figure, is a feat about as reasonable and useful in Logic, as the jumping from one horse to another would be reasonable and useful in the race-course. Both are achievements possible; but, because possible, neither is, therefore, a legitimate exercise of skill.

We may, therefore, on the ground that the fourth figure involves a useless transition from one quantity to another, reject it as a logical figure, and degrade it to a mere logical caprice.

But, in the third place, there is a better ground; the inference, though valid in itself, is logically, is scientifi-3. Logically invalid. cally, invalid. For the inference is only legitimated by the occult conversion of the one quantity into the other, which takes place in the mental process. There is thus a step taken in the reasoning which is not overtly expressed. Were the whole process stated in language, as stated it logically ought to be, instead of a simple syllogism with one direct conclusion, we should have a complex reasoning with two conclusions; one conclusion direct and immediate (the inference, to wit, of conversion), and from that immediate conclusion another mediate and indirect, but which, as it stands, appears as the one sole and exclusive conclusion from the premises. This ground, on which I think the fourth figure ought to be specially abolished, is stated with the requisite details in the Logical Appendix contained in the second edition of my Discussions on Philosophy.1

39 1 P. 663. - ED.

LECTURE XXII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS. — THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO EXTERNAL FORM.

C. REGULAR AND IRREGULAR.

FIGURE - REDUCTION.

In my last Lecture, after terminating the view of the nineteen Moods of the Four Syllogistic Figures, accord-Recapitulation. ing to the doctrine of logicians, I entered on the consideration, - how far their doctrine concerning the number and legitimacy of these various figures and moods was correct. In the conduct of this discussion, I proposed, first, to treat of the Figures, and, secondly, to treat of the Moods. Commencing, then, with the Figures, it is manifest that no exception can possibly be taken to the first, which is, in point of fact, no figure at all, but the one regular, - the one natural form of ratiocination. The other three figures divide themselves into two classes. The one of these classes comprehends the fourth; the other, the second and third figures. The fourth figure stands, on the common doctrine of the logicians, in a more unfavorable situation than the second and third. It was not recognized by Aristotle; it obtained admission into the science at a comparatively recent period; it has never in fact been universally recognized; and its progress is manifestly more perverse, circuitous, and unnatural, than that of any other.

In regard to this fourth figure, I stated that the controversy among logicians touching its legitimacy had been without result; its opponents failing to show that it ought to be rejected; its defenders failing to show that it was deserving of recognition. I then stated that the logicians, in their one-sided view of the reasoning process,

LOGIC.

had let slip the one great principle on which the legitimacy of this figure was to be determined. I then explained to you that the peculiarity of the fourth figure consists in this, — that the premises are apparently the premises of a syllogism in one kind of quantity, while its conclusion is the converted conclusion of a syllogism in the other. It is thus in every point of view contorted and preposterous. Its premises are transposed, and the conclusion follows from these, not directly, but through the medium of a conversion. I showed how, and how far, this kind of reasoning was competent, and that though the inference in the fourth figure is valid, it is inconvenient and useless, and therefore, that the form itself, though undoubtedly legitimate, is still only a legitimate monster. Herewith the Lecture terminated.

Now, looking superficially at the matter, it might seem, from what

General character of the Second, Third, and Fourth Figures. has now been said, that the fourth ought to be at once expunged from the series of logical figures. But a closer examination will show us that this decision would be rash. In point of

fact, all figure properly so called, that is, every figure, with the exception of the first, must be rejected equally with the fourth, and on the following ground, — that they do not, in virtue of their own expressed premises, accomplish their own inference, but that this is done by the mental interpolation of certain complementary steps, without which no conclusion in these figures could be drawn. They are thus in fact reasonings apparently simple, but in reality complex; and when the whole mental process is expressed, they are found to be all only syllogisms in the first figure, with certain corollaries of the different propositions intermingled.¹ This doctrine corresponds with that of the logicians, in so far as they, after Aristotle, have allowed that the last three figures are only valid as reducible to the first; and, to accomplish this reduction, they have supplied us with a multitude of empirical rules, and lavished a world of ingenuity in rendering the working of these complex rules more easy. From

Latin and Greek mnemonics,—their authors. Whately and the common books on Logic, you are of course acquainted with the import of the consonants in the cabalistical verses, *Barbara*, *Celarent*, etc.;² and it must be confessed that,

taking these verses on their own ground, there are few human inventions which display a higher ingenuity. Their history is ap-

¹ This doctrine of Figure, which is developed in paragraph lxxv., is mainly taken from Kant. See his Essay, Die Falsche Spitzfindigkeit der vier Syllogistischen Figuren, 1762. Werke, i. p. 55, ed. Rosenkranz and Schubert. --- ED.

2 See Discussions, p. 666. - ED.

parently altogether unknown to logicians. They were, in so far as they relate to the three first or Aristotelic figures, the invention of Petrus Hispanus, who died in 1277, Pope John XXII. (or as he is reekoned by some the XXI., and by others the XX.). He was a native of Lisbon. It is enrious that the corresponding Greek mnemonics were, so far as I can discover, the invention of his contemporary Nicephorus Blemmidas, who was designated Patriarch of Constantinople.¹ Between them, these two logicians thus divided the two highest places in the Christian hierarchy; but as the one had hardly begun to reign when he was killed by the downfall of his palace,² so the other never entered on his office by accepting his nomination at all. The several works of the Pope and the Patriarch were for many centuries the great text-books of Logic, — the one in the schools of the Greek, the other in the schools of the Latin church.

The Greek symbols are far less ingenious than the Latin, as they

The Greek symbols less ingenious than the Latin. only mark the consecution, quantity, and quality of the different propositions of the various moods of the three generally admitted figures, without showing to what mood of the first the moods of

the other two figures are to be reduced, far less by what particular process this is to be done. All this is accomplished by the symbols of the Roman Pontiff. As to the relative originality, or the priority in point of date, of these several inventions, I am unable to speak with certainty. It is probable, however, that the Blemmidas was the first, both because his verses are the simpler and ruder, and because it is not known that he was acquainted with the writings of the Western logicians; whereas I find that the *Summulæ* of Hispanns are in a great measure taken, not indeed from the treatise of Blemmidas upon *Dialectic*, but from the *Synopsis of the Organon* of his somewhat earlier contemporary Michael Psellus.³

But the whole of the rules given by logicians for the Reduction

The Rules of logicians for the Reduction of Syllogisms unphilosophical. of Syllogisms are unphilosophical, for they are mercly the empirical statements of the operation of a principle in detail, which principle itself has been overlooked, but which, when once rationally explicated, supersedes the whole com-

plex apparatus of rules for its mechanical application. If I succeed, therefore, in explaining to you how the last three

the work which goes by the name of Psellus being in all probability a translation from Hispanus, the mnemonics, with one exception, being omitted. See *Discussions*, p. 128. — ED.

¹ But see Discussions, p. 672. - ED.

² See Platina [Historia de Vitis Pontificum Romanorum, p. 181, ed. 1572. - Ep].

³ The reverse is probably the truer account;

LOGIC.

Figures are only the mutilated expressions of a complex mental

The last three Figures only the mutilated expressions of a complex mental process, and virtually identical with the first. process, I shall not only subvert their existence as forms of reasoning not virtually identical with the first figure, — I shall not only relieve you from the necessity of studying the tedious and disgusting rules of their reduction, but in fact vindicate the great principles of reasoning

from apparent anomaly. For, in the first place, if the three last figures are admitted as genuine and original forms of reasoning, the principle that all reasoning is the recognition of the relation of a least part to a greatest whole, through a lesser whole or greater part, is invalidated. For, in the three latter figures, the middle term does not really hold the relation of an intermediate whole or part to the subject and predicate of the conclusion; for either, in the second figure, it contains them both, or, in the third, is contained by them both, or, in the fourth, at once contains the greatest whole (that is, the predicate in extensive, the subject in comprehensive, quantity), and is contained by the smallest part (that is, the subject in extensive, the predicate in comprehensive, quantity). In the second place, if these three figures are admitted as independent and legitimate forms, the second general rule I gave you for categorical syllogisms is invalidated in both its clauses. For it will not hold true, that every categorical syllogism must have an universal sumption and an affirmative subsumption. The law of the universal quantity of the sumption is violated in the third figure, by Disamis and Bocardo, in the fourth, by Dimaris; the law of the affirmative quality of the subsumption is violated, in the second figure, by Camestres and Baroco; and, in the fourth, by Camenes. I, therefore, proceed to reconcile all these anomalies by the extinction of the last three figures, as more than accidental modifications of the first, and commence with the following paragraph.

¶ LXXV. The three last (that is, Second, Third, Fourth) Par. LXXV. The Second, Third, and Pourth Figures only accidental modifications of the First. Figures are merely hybrid or mixed reasonings, in which the steps of the process are only partially expressed. The unexpressed steps are, in general, conversive inferences, which we are entitled to make, 1°, From the

absolute negation of a first notion as predicated of a second, to the absolute negation of the second notion as predicated of the first — *if no* A *is* B; *then no* B *is* A; 2°, From the total or partial affirmation of a lesser elass or notion of a greater, to the partial affirmation of that greater notion of that lesser, — *if all* (or *some*) A *is* B; *then some* B *is* A.

LECT. XXII.

Taking the figures and moods in their common order; in the Moods of Second Figure the first mood is Cesare, of Figure. 1. Cesare. which the formula is:

> No P is M; But all S are M; Therefore, no S is P.

Here the ostensible or expressed sumption, No P is M, is mentally converted into the real sumption by the inference, — Then no M is P. The other propositions follow regularly, — viz.:

But all S are M; Therefore, no S is P.

In reality Celarent.

The real syllogism, fully expressed, is thus:

Real Sumption, No M is P; Subsumption, But all S are M; Conclusion, Ergo, no S is P.

To save time, I shall henceforward state the complementary propositions which constitute the real and proximate parts of the syllogism, by the name of *real*, *proximate*, or *interpolated* sumption, subsumption, or conclusion; and those who take notes may simply mark these, by placing them within brackets. To avoid confusing the conversive inference with the ostensible conclusion of the syllogism, I shall mark the former by the illative conjunction *then;* the latter by the illative conjunction *therefore*. I shall take the concrete examples which I chanced to give in illustration of the various moods. In Cesare the concrete example was:

Ostensible Sumption,	Nothing that is material has free will;
Real, Interpolated, Sumption,	(Then nothing that has free will is material;)
Subsumption,	But all spirits have free will;
Conclusion,	Therefore, no spirit is material.

Throwing out of account the ostensible sumption, and considering the syllogism, in its real nature, as actually evolved out of the sumption mentally understood; we have thus, instead of a syllogism in Cesare of the second figure, a syllogism in Celarent of the first. The seeming irregularity is thus reduced to real order.

The second mood of the second figure, viz. Camestres,¹ is rather

1 [That Cesare and Camestres are the same syllogism with accidental order of premises, see Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Quarta Figura

Syllog., p. 111, and authorities cited above, p. 296, note.]

LOGIC.

more irregular, and, therefore, the process of redressing it, though equally easy, is somewhat more complex. The formula is:

> All P are M; But no S is M; Therefore, no S is P.

Here, in the first place, the premises are transposed, for you remember by the second general law of syllogisms, the sumption must in extension be universal, and the subsumption affirmative. By a preliminary operation, their apparent consecution must, therefore, be accommodated to their real. The premises being restored to order, there is yet a further intricacy to unravel. The sumption and the conclusion are neither of them proximate; for we depart from a conversive sumption, and primarily obtain a conclusion which only gives us the ostensible conclusion, in the second instance, through an inference. Thus:

Ostensible Sumption,	•	•	No S is M;
Proximate or Real Sumption, .			(Then no M is S;)
Subsumption,			All P are M;
Proximate or Real Conclusion,			(Therefore, no P is S;)
Ostensible Conclusion,			Therefore, no S is P.

The concrete example given was:

All colors are visible; But no sound is visible; Therefore, no sound is a color.

Reversing the premises, we have :

Apparent Sumption,	No sound is visible ;
Proximate or Real Sumption, .	(Then nothing visible is a sound;)
Subsumption,	All colors are risible ;
Proximate or Real Conclusion,	(Therefore, no color is a sound;)
which gives, as a conversive	
inference, the	
Expressed Conclusion,	Then no sound is a color.

Thus it is evident that Camestres, in the second figure, is only a modification of Celarent in the first.¹

¹ Cf. Krug, Logik, § 109, p. 368. Mark Dun- [Derodon, Logica Restit., Pars. iv. p. 648. can, Instit. Logica, L. iv. c. 4, p. 229. - ED. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 439, p. 613.]

LECT. XXII.

The third mood of the Second Figure, Festino, presents no diffi-3. Festino. In reality Ferio. We have only to interpolate the real sumption, to which the subsumption and conclusion proximately refer. Thus:

> Expressed Sumption, . . . No P is M; Real or Proximate Sumption, (Then no M is P); Subsumption, But some S are M; Conclusion, Therefore, some S are not P.

Our concrete example was:

Expressed Sumption, . . . No vice is laudable; Some actions are laudable; Therefore, some actions are not vices.

Here we have only to interpolate, as the real sumption :

Nothing laudable is a vice.

Festino, in the second figure, is thus only Ferio in the first, with its sumption converted.

The fourth mood, Baroco, is more troublesome. In fact, this 4. Baroco. been at once the *cruces* and the *opprobria* of logicians. They have, indeed, succeeded in reducing these to the first figure by what is called the *reductio* ad

Reductio ad impossibile. ave, indeed, succeeded in reducing these to the first figure by what is called the *reductio ad impossibile*, that is, by circuitously showing that if you deny the conclusion in these syllogisms,

the contradictory inference is absurd; but as of two contradictories one or other must be true, it, therefore, remains that the original conclusion shall be admitted. This process is awkward and perplexing; it likewise only constrains assent, but does not afford knowledge; while at the same time we have here a syllogism with a negative subsumption, which, if legitimate, invalidates the universality of our second general rule. Now, on the principle I have proposed to you, there is no difficulty whatever in the reduction of this or of any other mood. Here, however, we do not, as in the other moods of the second figure, find that the syllogism proximately departs

In reality Darii. from an unexpressed sumption, but that the proximate subsumption and the proximate conclusion have been replaced by two derivative propositions. The formula of Baroco is:

All P are M; But some S are not M; Therefore, some S are not P.

But the following is the full mental process :

Sumption,		•	•	•	•	. All P are M;
Real Subsumption,	•	•	•	•		. (Some not-M are S;)
which gives the						(Then, some S are not-M;
Expressed Subsumption,			•			. Or, some S are not M;
Real Conclusion,	•	•	•		•	. (Therefore, some not-P are S;
which gives the						(Then, some S are not-P;
Expressed Conclusion, .		•	•	•		. Or, some S are not P.

Or, to take our concrete example :

All birds are oviparous; But some animals are not oviparous; Therefore, some animals are not birds.

Of this the explicated process will stand as follows:

Sumption,			All birds are oviparous;
Real subsumption,			(Some things not oviparous are animals;)
which gives the			(Then, some animals are not-oviparous;
Expressed Subsumption,			Or, are not oriparous ;
Real or Proximate Conelusion, . which gives the	•	• •	<pre>{ (Therefore, some things not birds are ani-</pre>
Expressed Conclusion,	•	• •	Or, are not birds.

Now, in this analysis of the process in Baroco, we not only resolve the whole problem in a direct and natural and instructive way; but we get rid of the exception which Baroco apparently affords to the general rule, that the subsumption of a categorical must be affirmative. Here you see how the real subsumption is affirmative, and how, from having a negative determination in its subject, it by conversion assumes the appearance of a negative proposition, the affirmative proposition — some things not-birds are animals, being legitimately converted, first into — some animals are not-birds, and this again being legitimately converted into — some animals are not birds. You recollect that, in the doctrine of Propositions,¹ I showed you how every affirmative proposition could be adequately expressed in a negative, and every negative in an affirmative form; and the utility of that observation you now see, as it

> ¹ See above, p. 178. – ED. 40

enables us simply to solve the problem of the reduction of Baroco, and, as we shall also see, of Bocardo. Baroco is thus directly reduced to Darii of the first figure, and not, as by the indirect process of logicians in general, to Barbara.¹ On this doctrine the name Baroco is also improper, and another, expressive of its genuine affinity, should be imposed.

We proceed now to the Third Figure. You will observe that,

Third Figure. as in the Second Figure, with the exception of Baroco, it was the sumption of the two premises which was affected by the conversion, so in the third it is the subsumption. For in Camestres of the second, and in Disamis and Bocardo of the third, figure, the premises are transposed. This understood subsumption is a conversive inference from the expressed one, and it is the proximate antecedent from which the real conclusion is immediately inferred.

In the first mood of this figure, Darapti, the subsumption is a

Darapti.
 In reality Darii.

universal affirmative ; its conversion is, therefore, into a particular affirmative. Its formula is —

Sumption, All M are P; Expressed Subsumption, . . . But all M are S; which gives the Really Proximate Subsumption, . (Then some S are M;) from which directly flows The Conclusion, Therefore, some S are P.

1 There seems to be an error in the text here. The syllogism, as finally reduced, is not in Darii, nor in any legitimate mood; and its natural reduction, according to the method adopted by the Author, is not to Darii, but to Ferio, by means of an unexpressed sumption. Thus—

> All P are M; Then no not-M are P; Some S are not-M; Therefore, some S are not P.

This is the method adopted by the following logicians, referred to by the Author in his Common-Place Book, viz.: — Noldius, who calls Baroco, Facrono, Logica Recognita, cap. xii. § 12, p. 300, 1666; Reusch (who follows Noldius), Systema Logicum, § 53). p. 611, 2d ed., 1741; Wolf, Phil. Rationalis, § 384; Bachmann, Logik, § 133, Anm., i. p. 224. Before any of the above-mentioned writers, Mark Duncan gives the reduction of Camestres to Celarent, and of Baroco to Ferio. by counterposition. He adds, with special reference to the reduction of Baroco to Ferio by this method, — " Hanc reductionis speciem exist-

imo a scholasticis perspectam fuisse: sed despectam; quia in prima figura propositio minor affirmans attributi infiniti, quam primo intuitu videatur esse negans, formæ evidentiam obscurat: atqui syllogismorum reductio comparata est non ad formæ bonitatem obscurandam, sed illustrandam." *Institutiones Logicæ*, L. iv. c. 3, § 4, p. 230. Salmurii, 1612.

The syllogism of the text may also be exhibited more circuitously, as Darii, by retaining the affirmative quality in the converted proposition. Thus;—

> All not-M are not-P; Some S are not M; Therefore, some S are not-P.

This is the method of reduction employed by Derodon, who, in the same way, would reduce Camestres to Barbara, Logica Restituta, P. iv. tract. i. c 2, art. 6, p. 648. The error here noticed seems to have originated in a momentary confusion of the reduction of Baroco with that of Bocardo; which, however, could not be rectified without greater alterations in the text than the Editors consider themselves justified in making. — ED.

LOGIC.

Our concrete example was -

Sumption,	All gilding is metallic;
Expressed Subsumption,	But all gilding shines;
which gives, as a conversion, the	
Real Subsumption,	Then, some things that shine are gilding;
and from this last immediately pro-	
ceeds the	
Conclusion,	Therefore, some things that shine are metallic.

Thus Darapti, in the third figure, is nothing but a one-sided derivative of Darii in the first.¹

2. Felapton. The second mood of the Third Figure is Felapton. Its formula —

Sumption,	•	•	•	No M is P;
Expressed Sumption, .				All M are S;
The Real Subsumption,				(Then, some S are M;)
from which				
The Conclusion,				Therefore, some S are not P.

Our example was -

Sumption	, .	• •	• •	• • •		• •	Nothing material is a free agent;
Expressed	l Sub	sumpt	tion,			• •	But everything material is extended;
Of which conve	the rse,	Real	Subsi	umption	is.	the }	(Then, something extended is material;)
From whi	eh th	e Con	clusio	n,		{	Therefore, something extended is not a free agent.

Felapton, in the third Figure, is thus only a modification of Ferio in the first.

3. Disamis. The third mood in this figure is Disamis. Its formula —

Some M are P; But all M are S; Therefore, some S are P.

In reality Darii.	I der	Te: • b	re eir	th 1g	e re	pı eet	remises are transposed. ified :	Their or-
Sumption,	•••	:	•	•	•	•	All M are S; But some M are P:	

1 [Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 539, p. 614.]

Which, by conversive inference, gives the)
Proximate Subsumption, } (Then, some P are M;)
From which proceeds the Real Conclusion, $(Therefore, some \ P \ are \ S;)$
Which, by conversion, gives the Expressed (Then some S are P
Conclusion, \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots

Our example was (the reversal of the premises being rectified):

Sumption,	All acts of homicide are cruel;
Expressed Subsumption,	But some acts of homicide are laudable;
Which gives, as a conversive inference,)	(Then, some laudable acts are acts of homi-
the Proximate Subsumption,	cide;)
From this Proximate Conclusion,	(Therefore, some laudable acts are cruel;)
Which again gives, as its converse, the Expressed Conclusion,	Therefore, some cruel acts are laudable.

Thus Disamis in the third is only Darii in the first figure. The fourth mood of the Third Figure is Datisi, which is only 4. Datisi. In reality Darii. Disamis, the premises not being reversed, and the conclusion not a conversive inference. It requires, therefore, only to interpolate the prox-

imate subsumption. Thus:

Sumption,			•	All M are P;
Expressed Subsumption,				But some M are S;
Giving by conversion,				(Then, some S are M;)
From which last the Conclusion,	•	•	•	Therefore, some S are P.
Sumption,				All acts of homicide are crue,
Expressed Subsumption,				But some acts of homicide are laudable;
Which gives, by conversion, the mate Subsumption,	Pı	rox	ci- }	(Then, some laudable acts are acts of homi- cide;)
From which the Conclusion,				Therefore, some laudable acts are cruel.

Thus, Datisi likewise is only a distorted Darii.

The fifth mood of the Third Figure is the famous mood Bocardo, which, as I have mentioned, with Baroco, but far more than Baroco, was the opprobrium of the scholastic system of reduction. So intricate, in fact, was this mood considered, that it was looked upon as a trap, into which if you once got, it was no easy matter to find an exit. Bocardo was, during the middle ages, the name given in Oxford to the Academical Jail or Carcer—a name which still remains as a relique of the ancient logical glory of that venerable seminary. Rejecting, then,

LOGIC.

the perplexed and unsatisfactory reduction by the logicians of Bocardo to Barbara by an apagogical exposition, I commence by stating, that Bocardo is only Disamis under the form of a negative affirmative; its premises, therefore, are transposed. Removing the transposition, its formula is —

> All M are S; But some M are not P; Therefore, some S are not P;

which is thus explicated, like Baroco —

Sumption,
Expressed Subsumption, Some M are not P;
Which gives, by conversive inference, . (Then, some not-P are M;)
From this Real Subsumption proceeds the (Therefore some not P are S.)
Proximate Conclusion,
Which again gives, by conversion, the } Then some S are not P.
Expressed Conclusion,
Whence again, Some S are not P;

Our concrete example was — the order of the premises being redressed:

Sumption, All syllogisms are important ;
Expressed Subsumption, But some syllogisms are not regular;
From which, by conversive inference, $\left\{\begin{array}{c} (Then, some things not regular are syllo-gisms;) \end{array}\right\}$
And from this Proximate Subsumption } Therefore, some things not regular are im-
From whence, by conversion, the Ex- pressed Conclusion,
Whence, \ldots

Bocardo is thus only a perverted and perplexed Darii.¹

6. Ferison. In reality Ferio. Which is without difficulty — it only being required to interpolate the real subsumption, from which the conclusion is derived. Its formula is —

Sumption, No M is P; Expressed Subsumption, But some M are S;

1 [See Noldius, Log. Rec. c. xii. § 12, p. 301. Bocardo is called Docamroc by Noldius. Cf. Reusch, Syst. Log., § 539, p. 611.]

Which gives, by conversive inference, the Subsumption,	Then, some S are M;
From which immediately flows the Con-	Therefore, some S are not P.
Sumption,	No truth is without result ;
Expressed Subsumption,	But some truths are misunderstood;
The Conversive Inference from which is,	Then some things misunderstood are truths;
And from this Implied Subsumption im-	Therefore, some things misunderstood are not without result.

Fourth Figure. Ferison¹ is thus only Ferio, fringed with an accident of conversion.

The Fourth Figure is distinguished from the two former in this — that in the Second and Third Figures one or other, but only one or other, of the premises requires the interpolation of the mental inference; whereas, in the Fourth Figure, either both the premises require this, or neither, but only the conclusion. The three first moods (Bamalip, Calemes, Dimatis) need no conversion of the premises; the two last, Fesapo and Fresison, require the conversion of both.

The result of the foregoing discussion is thus accordingly that, in

The First Figure the only simple and independent form of reasoning. rigid truth, there is no figure entitled to the dignity of a simple and independent form of reasoning, except that which has improperly been termed the First; the three latter figures being only imperfect or elliptical expressions of a com-

plex process of inference, which, when fully enounced, is manifestly only a reasoning in the first figure. There is thus but one figure, or, more properly, but one process of categorical reasoning; for the term *figure* is abusively applied to that which is of a character regular, simple, and essential.

Having, therefore, concluded the treatment of figure in respect

Figure of Hypothetical, Disjunctive, and Hypothetico-Disjunctive Syllogisms. of Categorical Syllogisms, it remains to consider how far the other species of Simple Syllogisms — the hypothetical, the disjunctive, and the hypothetico-disjunctive — are subject to this accident of form. In regard to the Hypothetical

Syllogism, this kind of reasoning is not liable to the affection of figure. It is true indeed that we may construct a syllogism of three hypothetical propositions, which shall be susceptible of all the fig-

 $^{^1}$ [Scotus says that Ferison, Bocardo, and Felapton, are useless, as concluding indirectly. Quastiones, In Anal. Prior., L. i. q. 24.]

LOGIC.

nres incident to a categorical reasoning; but this is itself in fact only a categorical syllogism hypothetically expressed. For example:

> If A is, then B is; But if S is, then A is; Therefore, if S is, then B is.

This syllogism may certainly be varied through all the figures, but it is not an hypothetical syllogism, in the proper signification of the term, but manifestly only a categorical; and those logicians who have hence concluded, that a hypothetical reasoning was exposed to the schematic modifications of the categorical, have only shown that they did not know how to discriminate these two forms by their essential differences.

In regard to the Disjunctive Syllogism the case is different; for as the disjunctive judgment is in one point of view only a categorical judgment, whose predicate consists of logically opposing members, it is certainly true that we can draw a disjunctive syllogism in all the four figures.

I shall use the letters P, M, and S; but as the disjunction requires at least one additional letter, I shall, where that is necessary, take the one immediately following.

FIGURE I.

M is either P or Q; S is M; Therefore, S is either P or Q.

FIGURE II.

First case-

P is either M or N; S is neither M nor N; Therefore, S is not P.

Second case -

P is neither M nor N; S is either M or N; Therefore, S is not P.

FIGURE III.

M is either P or Q; M is S; Therefore, some S is either P or Q.

FIGURE IV.

First case -

P is either M or N; Both M and N are S; Therefore, some S is P.

Second case ---

P is either M or N; Neither M nor N is S: Therefore, S is not P.1

Of Composite Syllogisms - I need say nothing concerning the Epicheirema, which, it is manifest, may be in Figure of Composite one figure equally as another. But it is less evi-Syllogisms. dent that the Sorites may be of any figure; and

logicians seem, in fact, from their definitions, to have only contemplated its possibility in the first figure. It is, however, capable of all the four schematic accidents by a little contortion; but as this at best constitutes only a logical curiosity, it is needless to spend any time in its demonstration.²

So much for the Form of reasoning, both Essential and Accidental, and the Divisions of Syllogisms which are founded thereon.

394, p. 146. Compare Krug, Logik, p. 387 et seq. Einleitung in die Philosophie, § 70. Drobisch,

1 See Chr. J. Braniss, Grundriss der Logik, § different figures, see Herbart, Lehrbuch zur 2 For a complicated theory of Sorites in Neue Darstellung der Logik, §§ 80-84. - ED.

LECTURE XXIII.

STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - OF THE PRODUCTS OF THOUGHT.

III. - DOCTRINE OF REASONINGS.

SYLLOGISMS. - THEIR DIVISIONS ACCORDING TO VALIDITY.

FALLACIES.

ALL the varieties of Syllogism, whose necessary laws and contingent modifications we have hitherto considered, are, taken together, divided into classes by reference to their Validity; and I shall comprise the heads of what I shall afterwards illustrate, in the following paragraph.

¶ LXXVI. Syllogisms, by another distribution, are distin-

Par. LXXVI. Syllogisms, - Correct and Incorrect. guished, by respect to their Validity, into Correct or True, and Incorrect or False. The Incorrect or False are again (though not in a logical point of view) divided, by

reference to the intention of the reasoner, into Paralogisms, Faulty, and into Sophisms, or Deceptive, Reasonings. The Paralogism (paralogismus) is properly a syllogism of whose falsehood the employer is not himself conscious; the Sophism (sophisma, captio, cavillatio) is properly a false syllogism, fabricated and employed for the purpose of deceiving others. The term Fallacy may be applied indifferently in either sense. These distinctions are, however, frequently confounded; nor in a logical relation are they of account. False Syllogisms are, again, vicious, either in respect of their form or of their matter, or in respect of both form and matter.¹

> 1 Krug, Logik, § 115. – ED. 41

In regard to the first distinction contained in this paragraph, ---

LOGIĆ

Janit

also Showson Laws p. 273

Explication. Logical and absolute truth discriminated. of Syllogisms into Correct or True and Incorrector False,—it is requisite to say a few words. It is necessary to distinguish logical truth, that is, the truth which Logic guarantees in a reasoning, from the absolute truth of the several judgments

, hi

of which a reasoning is composed. I have frequently inculcated on you that Logic does not warrant the truth of its premises, except in so far as these may be the formal conclusions of anterior reasonings, — it only warrants (on the hypothesis that the premises are truly assumed) the truth of the inference. In this view the conclusion may, as a separate proposition, be true, but if this truth be not a necessary consequence from the premises, it is a false conclusion, that is, in fact, no conclusion at all. Now, on this point there is a doctrine prevalent among logicians, which is not only erroneous, but, if admitted, is subversive of the distinction of Logic as a purely formal science. The doctrine in question is in its result this, - that if the conclusion of a syllogism be true, the premises may be either true or false, but that if the conclusion be false, one or both of the premises must be false; in other words, that it is possi-- ble to infer true from false, but not false from true. As an example d of this I have seen given the following syllogism:

> Aristotle is a Roman; A Roman is a European; Therefore, Aristotle is a European.

The inference, in so far as expressed, is true; but I would remark that the whole inference which the premises necessitate, and which the conclusion, therefore, virtually contains, is not true, - is false. For the premises of the preceding syllogism gave not only the conclusion, Aristotle is a European, but also the conclusion, Aristotle is not a Greek; for it not merely follows from the premises that Aristotle is conceived under the universal notion of which the concept Roman forms a particular sphere, but likewise that he is conceived as excluded from all the other particular spheres which are contained under that universal notion. The consideration of the truth of the premise, Aristotle is a Roman, is, however, more properly to be regarded as extralogical; but if so, then the consideration of the conclusion, Aristotle is a European, on any other view than a mere formal inference from certain given antecedents, is, likewise, extralogical. Logic is only concerned with the formal truth - the technical validity - of its syllogisms, and anything

are and there saul

LOGIC.

beyond the legitimacy of the consequence it draws from certain hypothetical antecedents, it does not profess to vindicate. Logical truth and falsehood are thus contained in the correctness and incorrectness of logical inference; and it was, therefore, with no impropriety that we made a true or correct, and a false or incorrect syllogism convertible expressions.¹

In regard to the distinction of Incorrect Syllogisms into Paralo-

The distinction of Incorrect Syllogisms into Paralogisms and Sophisms, not of logical import. gisms and Sophisms, nothing need be said. The mere statement is sufficiently manifest; and, at the same time, it is not of a logical import. For logic does not regard the intention with which reasonings are employed, but

considers exclusively their internal legitimacy. But while the distinction is one, in other respects, proper to be noticed, it must be owned that it is not altogether without a logical value. For it behooves us to discriminate those artificial sophisms, the criticism of which requires a certain acquaintance with logical forms, and which, as a play of ingenuity and an exercise of acuteness, are not without their interest, from those paralogisms which, though not so artificial, are on that account only the more frequent causes of error and delusion.

The last distinction is, however, logically more important, viz., 1°,

Formal and material Fallacies. Of reasonings into such as are materially fallacious, that is, through the object-matter of their propositions; 2°, Into such as are formally falla-

cious, that is, through the manner or form in which these propositions are connected; and, 3°, Into such as are at once materially and formally fallacious. Material Fallacies lie beyond the jurisdiction of Logic. Formal Fallacies can only be judged of by an application of those rules, in the exposition of which we have hitherto been engaged.

The application of these rules will afford the opportunity of ad-

Ancient Greek Sophisms. ducing and resolving some of the more capital of those Sophisms, which owe their origin to the ingenuity of the ancient Greeks. "Many

of these sophisms appear to us in the light of a mere play of wit and acuteness, and we are left to marvel at the interest which they originally excited, — at the celebrity which they obtained, and at the importance attached to them by some of the most distinguished thinkers of antiquity. The marvel will, however, be in some degree abated, if we take the following circumstances into consideration.

LOGIC.

"In the first place, in the earlier ages of Greece, the method of science was in its infancy, and the laws of thought were not yet investigated with the accuracy and minuteness requisite to render the detection of these fallacies a very easy matter. Howbeit, therefore, men had an obscure consciousness of their fallacy, they could not at once point out the place in which the error lay; they were thus taken aback, confounded, and constrained to silence.

"In the second place, the treatment of scientific subjects was more oral and social than with us; and the form of instruction principally that of dialogue and conversation. In antiquity, men did not isolate themselves so much in the retirement of their homes; and they read far less than is now necessary in the modern world; consequently, with those who had a taste for science, the necessity of social communication was greater and more urgent. In their converse on matters of scientific interest, acuteness and profundity were, perhaps, less conducive to distinction than vivacity, wit, dexterity in questioning, and in the discovery of objections, self-possession, and a confident and uncompromising defence of bold, half-true, or even erroneous assertions. Through such means, a very superficial intellect can frequently, even with us, puzzle and put to silence another far acuter and more profound. But, among the Greeks, the Sophists and Megaric philosophers were accomplished masters in these arts.

"In the third place, as we know from Aristotle and Diogenes Laertius,¹ it was the rule in their dialogical disputations, that every question behooved to be answered by a yes or a no, and thus the interrogator had it in his power to constrain his adversary always to move in a forcseen, and, consequently, a determinate direction. Thus the Sophisms were somewhat similar to a game of forfeits, or like the passes of a conjurcer, which amuse and astonish for a little, but the marvel of which vanishes the moment we understand the principle on which they are performed."²

As the various fallacies arise from secret violation of the logical laws by which the different classes of syllogisms are governed, and as syllogisms are Categorical, or Hypothetical, or Disjunctive, or Hypothetico-disjunctive, we may properly consider Fallacies under these four heads, and as transgressions of the syllogistic laws in their special application to these several kinds of syllogism.

¶ LXXVII. The Syllogistic Laws determine, in reference to all the classes of Syllogism, the three following principles; and

1 Arist. Soph. Elench., c. 17. Laertius, L. ii. c. 18, § 135. The references are given by Bachmann. — ED. 2 Bachmann, Logik, § 384, p. 513.

all Fallacies are violations of one or other of these principles, in relation to one or other class of syllogism.

Par. LXXVII. Fallacies, -their division and classification. I. If both the Logical Form and the Matter of a syllogism be correct, then is the Conclusion true.

II. If the syllogism be Materially Correct, but Formally Incorrect, then the Conclusion is not (or only accidentally) true.

III. If the syllogism be Formally Correct, but Materially Incorrect, then the Conclusion is not (or only accidentally) true.

Fallacies, as violations of these principles in more immediate reference to one or other of the Four Classes of Syllogism, must again be vicious in reference either to the form, or to the matter, or to both the form and matter of a syllogism. Fallacies are thus again divided into *Formal* and *Material*, under which classes we shall primarily arrange them.

¶ LXXVIII. Of Formal Fallacies, the Categorical are the Par. LXXVIII. Formal Fallacies Categorical. in consequence of the ambiguity of its expression, does not immediately betray itself. Under this genus are comprised three species, which are severally known under the names of, 1°, Fallacia sensus compositi et divisi; 2°, Fallacia a dicto secundum quid ad dictum simpliciter, et vice versa; 3°, Fallacia figuræ dictionis.

"That in a categorical syllogism only three terms are admissible,

Explication. Fallacies arising from a Quaternio Terminorum. has been already shown. A categorical syllogism, with four capital notions, has no connection; and is called, by way of jest, the *logical quadruped* (animal quadrupes logicum). This

vice usually occurs when the notions are in reality different, but when their difference is cloaked by the verbal identity of the terms; for, otherwise, it would be too transparent to deceive either the reasoner himself or any one else. This vice, may, however, be of various kinds, and of these there are, as stated, three principal species."

"The first is the Fallacia sensus compositi et divisi, — the Fallacy of Composition and Division.¹ This arises when, in the same

1 [See Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. viii. c. v. p. 106, Ingolstadii, 1604.]

syllogism, we employ words now collectively, now distributively,

1. Fallacia sensus compositi et divisi. so that what is true in connection, we infer must be also true in separation, and vice versa; as, for example: — All must sin; Caius sins; there-

fore, Caius must sin."¹ Here we argue, from the unavoidable liability in man to sin, that this particular sin is necessary, and for

Modes of this Fallacy. this individual sinner. "This fallacy may arise in different ways. 1°, It may arise when the predicate is joined with the subject in a simple

and in a modal relation, for example: White can be (i. e. become) black, therefore white can be black. 2°, It may arise from the confusion of a copulative and disjunctive combination. Thus 9 consists or is made up of 7 + 2, which are odd and even numbers, therefore 9 is odd and even. 3°, It may arise, if words connected in the premises are disjoined in the conclusion. Thus: Socrates is dead, therefore Socrates is."²

An example of the first of these contingencies — that which is the most frequent and dangerous — occurs when, from its universality, a proposition must be interpreted with restriction. Thus, when our Saviour says, — *The blind shall see*, — *The deaf shall hear*, — he does not mean that the blind, as blind, shall see, — that the deaf, as deaf, shall hear, but only that those who had been blind and deaf should recover the use of these senses. To argue the opposite would be to incur the fallacy in question.

The second fallacy is that A dicto secundum quid ad dictum sim-

2. Fallacia a dicto seeundum quid ad dictum simpliciter, and its converse. pliciter, and its converse, A dicto simpliciter ad dictum secundum quid. The former of these — the fallacy A dicto secundum quid ad dictum simpliciter — arises when, from what is true only under certain modifications and relations,

we infer it to be true absolutely. Thus, if, from the fact that some Catholics hold the infallibility of the Pope, we should conclude that the infallibility of the Pope is a tenet of the Catholic Church in general. The latter — the fallacy a dicto simpliciter ad dictum secundum quid — is the opposite sophism, where from what is true absolutely we conclude what is true only in certain modifications and relations, as, for example, when from the premise that Man is a

¹ Krug, Logik, § 116, p. 420. — ED. [On the distinction of Sensus Compositi et Divisi, so famous in the question of foreknowledge and liberty, see its history in Ruiz, Commentarii ac Disputationes, de Scientia, de Ideis, de Veritate, ac de Vita Dei, Disp. xxxiii. p. 261 et seq.

Alvarez, in Gale, Philosophia Generalis, L. iii. c. iii. sect. 2, § 8, p. 466.]

2 [Denzinger,] [Die Logik als Wissenschaft der Denkkunst, dargestellt, § 558, Bamberg, 1836. – ED.] living organism, we infer that A painted or sculptured man is a living organism.¹

The third fallacy — the Sophisma figuræ dictionis — arises when we merely play with the ambiguity of a word. The well-known syllogism, Mus syllaba est; Mus caseum rodit; Ergo, syllaba caseum rodit,² is an example; or,

> Herod is a fox; A fox is a quadruped; Therefore, Herod is a quadruped.

To this fallacy may be reduced what are called the *Sophisma equiv*ocationis, the *Sophisma amphiboliæ*, and the *Sophisma accentus*,³ which are only contemptible modifications of this contemptible fallacy.

¶ LXXIX. Of Material Fallacies, those are of the most frequent occurrence, where, from a premise which is not in reality universal, we conclude universally; or from a notion which is not in reality a middle term, we infer a conclusion. Under

this genus there are various species of fallacies, of which the most remarkable are, 1°, the *Sophisma cum hoc* (vel post hoc), ergo propter hoc; 2°, Sophisma pigrum, or ignava ratio; 3°, Sophisma polyzeteseos; and 4°, Sophisma heterozeteseos.⁴

In this paragraph you will observe that there are given two

Explication. Fallacies of an Unreal Universality, and of an Illusive Reason. genera of Material Fallacies, — those of an Unreal Universality (sophismata fictæ universalitatis), and those of an Illusive Reason (sophismata falsi medii, — or non causæ ut causæ). I must first explain the nature of these, consid-

ered apart, then show that they both fall together, the one being only the categorical, the other only the hypothetical, expression of the same vice; and, finally, consider the various species into which the generic fallacy is subdivided.

"Our decisions concerning individual objects, in so far as they belong to certain classes, are very frequently fallacies of the former kind; that is, conclusions from premises of an unreal universality. For example : — The Jews are rogues, — The Carthaginians, faith-

1 Cf. Denzinger, Logik, § 564. - ED.

2 Seneca, Epist., 48. - ED.

3 On these fallacies, see Denzinger, Logik,
§ 559, 560, 561. - ED.
4 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 117. - ED.

less, - The Cretans, liars, - The French, bragadocios, - The Germans, mystics,-The rich, purse-proud,-The noble, haughty,-Women, frivolous, - The learned, pedants. - These and similar judgments, which in general are true only of many, - at best only of the majority, of the subjects of a class, often constitute, however, the grounds of the opinions we form of individuals; so that these opinions, with their grounds, when expressed as conclusion and premises, are nothing else than fallacies of an unreal generality, - sophismata fictæ universalitatis. It is impossible, however, to decide by logical rules whether a proposition, such as those above stated, is or is not universally valid; in this, experience alone can instruct us. Logic requires only, in general, that every sumption should be universally valid, and leaves it to the several sciences to pronounce whether this or that particular sumption does or does not fulfil this indispensable condition."1 The sophisma ficta universalitatis is thus a fallacious syllogism of the class of categoricals. But the second kind of material fallacies, the sophisms of Unreal

Middle, are not less frequent than those of unreal Middle. Middle, are not less frequent than those of unreal universality. When, for example, it is argued (as was done by ancient philosophers) that the magnet is animated, because it moves another body, or that the stars are animated, because they move themselves; — here there is assumed not a true, but merely an apparent, reason; there is, consequently, no real mediation, and the *sophisma falsi medii* is committed. For, in these cases, the conclusion in the one depends on the sumption, — If a body moves another body, it is animated; in the other, on the sumption, — If a body moves itself, it is animated; but as the antecedent and consequent in neither of these sumptions are really connected as reason and consequent, — or as cause and effect, — there is, therefore, no valid inference of the

The fallacies of Unreal Reason and of Unreal Universality coincide. conclusion.² The *sophisma non causæ ut causæ* is thus an hypothetical syllogism; but, as it may be categorically enounced, this fallacy of unreal reason will coincide with the categorical fallacy of unreal universality. Thus, the second

example above alleged :

If the stars move themselves, they are animated; But the stars do move themselves; Therefore, the stars are animated : ---

is thus expressed by a categorical equivalent -

1 Krug, Logik, § 117. Anm., p. 422. - ED. 2 Cf. Krug, Logik, p. 423. - ED.

All bodies that move themselves are animated; But the stars move themselves; Therefore, the stars are animated.

In the one case, the sumption ostensibly contains the subsumption and conclusion, as the correlative parts of a causal whole; in the other, as the correlative parts of an extensive whole, or, had the categorical syllogism been so cast, of an intensive whole. The two genera of sophisms may, therefore, it is evident, be considered as one, — taking, however, in their particular manifestation, either a categorical or an hypothetical form.

I may notice that the sophism of Unreal Generality, or Unreal

Fallacy of Unreal Reason as dangerous in its negative as in its positive form. Reason, is hardly more dangerous in its positive than in its negative relation. For we are not more disposed lightly to assume as absolutely universal what is universal in relation to our experience, than lightly to deny as real what

comes as an exception to our factitious general law. Thus it is that men having once generalized their knowledge into a compact system of laws, are found uniformly to deny the reality of all phenomena which cannot be comprehended under these. They not only pronounce the laws they have generalized as veritable laws of nature, which, haply, they may be, but they pronounce that there are no higher laws; so that all which does not at once find its place within their systems, they scout, without examination, as visionary and fictitious. So much for this ground of fallacy in general; we now proceed to the species.

Now, as unreal reasons may be conceived infinite in number, the

Species of the fallacy of Unreal Reason. minor species of this class of sophisms cannot be enumerated; I shall, therefore, only take notice of the more remarkable, and which, in

consequence of their greater notoriety, have been honored with distinctive appellations.

Of these, the first is the Sophisma cum hoc (vel post hoc), ergo

(a) Sophisma cum hoc (vel post hoc), ergo propter hoc. propter hoc. This fallacy arises when, from the contingent consecution of certain phenomena in the order of time, we infer their mutual dependence as cause and effect. When, for example,

among the ancient Romans, a general, without carefully consulting the augurs, engaged the enemy, and suffered a defeat, it was inferred that the cause of the disaster was the unfavorable character of the auspices. In like manner, to this sophism belongs the conclusion, so long prevalent in the world, that the appearance of a

comet was the harbinger of famine, pestilence and war. In fact, the greater number of the hypotheses which constitute the history of physics and philosophy, are only so many examples of this fallacy. But no science has exhibited, and exhibits, so many flagrant instances of the sophism *cum hoc*, *ergo propter hoc*, as that of medicine; for, in proportion as the connection of cause and effect is peculiarly obscure in physic, physicians have only been the bolder in assuming that the recoveries which followed after their doses, were not concomitants, but effects. This sophism is, in practice, of great influence and very frequent occurrence; it is, however, in theory, too perspicuous to require illustration.

The second fallacy is that which has obtained the name of Ignava ra-

(b) Ignava Ratio. (b) Ignava Ratio. (b) Ignava Ratio. The excogitation of this argument is commonly attributed to the Stoics, by whom it was employed as subsidiary to their doctrine of fate. "It is an argument by which a man endeav-

Example. ors to vindicate his inactivity in some particular relation, by the necessity of the consequence. It is an hypothetico-disjunctive syllogism, and, when fully expressed, is as follows :

Sumption. If I ought to exert myself to effect a certain event, this event either must take place or it must not;

Subsumption If it must take place, my exertion is superfluous; if it must not take place, my exertion is of no avail;

Conclusion..... Therefore, on either alternative, my exertion is useless."²

Cicero, in the twelfth chapter of his book, De Fato, thus states it:

If it be fated that you recover from your present disease, whether you call in a doctor or not, you will recover; again, if it be fated that you do not recover from your present disease, whether you call in a doctor or not, you will not recover;

But one or other of the contradictories is failed;

Therefore, to call in a doctor is of no consequence.

Others have enounced the sumption in various forms, for example: If it be impossible but that you recover from the present disease, etc., - or - If it be true that you will recover from this

Its various designations. disease, - or - If it be decreed by God that you will not die of this disease, and so likewise in different manners; according to which likewise the question itself has obtained various titles, as Argument

¹ See Menage on Diogenes Laertius, L. ii. Gassendi, Opera, t. i. De Log. Orig. et Var., L. p. 123. - ED. [Facciolati, Acroasis, v. p. 55. i. c. 6. p. 51] ² Krug, Logik, § 117, p. 424. - ED.

De Fato—De Possibilibus—De Libero Arbitrio—De Providentia—De Divinis Decretis—De Futuris Contingentibus—De Physica Prædeterminatione, etc. No controversy is more ancient, none more universal, none has more keenly agitated the minds of men, none has excited a greater influence upon religion and morals; it has not only divided schools, but nations, and has so modified not only their opinions, but their practice, that whilst the Turks, as converts to the doctrine of Fate, take not the slightest precaution in the midst of pestilence, other nations, on the contrary, who admit the contingency of second causes, carry their precautionary policy to an opposite excess.

The common doctrine, that this argument is an invention of the

Its history.

Stoics, and a ground on which they rested their doctrine of the physical necessitation of human

action, is, however, erroneous, if we may accord credit to the testimony of Diogenes Laertius, who relates, in the Life of Zeno, the founder of this sect, that he bestowed a sum of two hundred minæ on a certain dialectician, from whom he had learned seven species of the argument called the $\lambda \acute{o}\gamma \circ s \, s \, c \rho i \zeta \omega v$, metens, or reaper, which differs little, if at all, from the *ignava ratio*.¹ For how this sophism is constructed, and with what intent, I find recorded in the commentary of Ammonius on the book of Aristotle $\Pi \epsilon \rho i \, E \rho \mu \eta \nu \epsilon i a s.^2$ Of the same character, likewise, is the argument called the $\lambda \acute{o}\gamma \circ \kappa \nu \rho \iota$ - $\epsilon \acute{\omega} \omega \nu$, the ratio dominans, or controlling reason, the process of which Arrian describes under the nineteenth chapter of the second book of the sayings of Epictetus.³ The lazy reason,—the reaper,—and the controlling reason, are thus only various names for the same process. In regard to the vice of this sophism, "it is manifest that it lies in

The vice of this sophism.

the sumption, in which the disjunct members are imperfectly enounced. It ought to have been thus conceived: If I ought to exert my-

self to effect a certain event, which I cannot, however, of myself effect, this event must either take place from other causes, or it must not take place at all. It is only under such a condition that my exertion can, on either alternative, be useless, and not if the event depend wholly or in part for its accomplishment on my exertion itself, as the *conditio sine qua non.*"⁴ It is plain, however, that

ered from Arrian, but not the nature of the argument itself. It is also mentioned, though not explained, by Lucian, Vit. Auct., c. 22. Plutarch, Sympos., i. 1, 5. Gellins, N. A., i. 2. Compare Facciolati, Acroasis, v. p. 57. - ED. 4 Krug, Logik, p. 424. -- ED.

¹ See Laertius, vii. 25. The observation in the text is from Facciolati, *Acroasis*, v. p. 57, ed. 1750. — ED.

² F. 91 b, ed. Ald. Venet., 1546. - ED.

³ The purpose of this sophism may be gath-

the refutation of this sophism does not at all affect the doctrine of necessity; for this doctrine, except in its very absurdest form,---the Fatum Turcicum, - makes no use of such a reasoning.

"The third fallacy is the Sophisma polyzeteseos or quæstionis duplicis, - the sophism of continuous questioning, (c) Sophisma polyze-

teseos.

which attempts, from the impossibility of assigning the limit of a relative notion, to show by

continued interrogation the impossibility of its determination at all. There are certain notions which are only conceived as relative, - as proportional, and whose limits we cannot, therefore, assign by the gradual addition or detraction of one determination. But there is no consequence in the proposition, that, if a notion cannot be determined in this manner, it is incapable of all determination, and, therefore, absolutely inconceivable and null."1 Such is the Sorites,

Its various designations.

the nature of which I have already explained to you. This reasoning, as applied to various objects, obtained various names, as, besides the

Sorites or Acervus, we have the crescens,² — the *dalakpós* or calvus,³ — the $i\pi\epsilon\rho \Im \epsilon \tau \kappa \delta s$, superpositus or superlativus,⁴ — the $i\eta \sigma v \chi \dot{a} \zeta \omega v$ or quiescens, etc., etc.⁵ The Sorites is well defined by Ulpian,⁶ a sophism in which, by very small degrees, the disputant is brought from the evidently true to the evidently false. For example, I ask, Does one grain of corn make up a heap of grain? My opponent answers, --No. I then go on asking the same question of two, three, four, and so on ad infinitum, nor can the respondent find the number at which the grains begin to constitute a heap. On the other hand, if we depart from the answer, - that a thousand grains make a heap, the interrogation may be continued downward to unity, and the answerer be unable to determine the limit where the grains cease to make up a heap. The same process may be performed, it is manifest, upon all the notions of proportion, in space and time and degree, both in continuous and discrete quantity.7

The fourth and last fallacy of this class is the sophisma heterozeteseos, or sophism of counter-questioning,8 and as applied to vari-

1 Krug, Logik, § 117. - ED.

2 Wyttenbach, Ad Plut. De Sera Num. Vind., p. 559; Pracepta Phil. Log., p. iii. c. 9, § 4.- ED. ³ Diog. Laert., ii. 108. Cf. Gassendi, De Log. Orig., c. 3. - ED.

4 Epictetus, Dissert., iii. 2, 2. As interpreted by Gassendi, De Log. Orig., c. 6. But the true reading is probably ύποθετικούs. See Schweighæuser's note. - ED.

5 Cicero, Acad., ii. 29. Epictetus, Dissert. ii. 18, 19. - ED.

6 Lege, 177. De Verb Signif. " Natura cavillationis, quam Græci σωρείτην appellarunt, hæc est, ut ab ea ab evidenter veris per brevissimas mutationes disputatio ad ea quæ evidentur falsa sunt perducatur." Quoted by Gassendi, De Logicæ Origine et Varietate, L. i. c. 3, p. 41, and by Menage, Ad Laert., ii. 108. - ED.

7 Krug, Logik, § 117. - ED.

8 [See Gassendi, Opera, t. i. De Log. Orig. et Var. L. i. c. 6, p. 51.]

LOGIC.

ous objects, it obtained, among the ancients, the names of the Di-

(d) Sophisma heterozeteseos.

Its various names.

Its character.

lemma,¹ — the Cornutus,² — the Litigiosus, — the Achilles,³-the Mentiens,⁴-the Fallens,⁵-the Electra,⁶ - the Obvelatus,⁷ - the Reciprocus,⁸ the Crocodilinus,⁹ — the overs,¹⁰ — the Inductio imperfecta;" and to this should also be referred the Ass of Buri-

danus.¹² "It is a hypothetico-disjunctive reasoning, which rests on a certain supposition, and

which, through a reticence of this supposition, deduces a fallacious inference. To take, for an example of this fallacy, the κεράτινος or Cornutus: - it is asked : - Have you cast your horns? - If you answer, I have; it is rejoined, Then you have had horns: if you answer, I have not, it is rejoined, Then you have them still.¹³ - To this question, and to the inferences from it, the disjunctive proposition is supposed, - A certain subject has either had horns or has them still. This disjunction is, however, only correct if the question is concerning a subject to which horns previously belonged. If I do not suppose this, the disjunction is false; it must, consequently, thus run : - a certain subject has either had or not had horus. In the latter ease they could not of course be east. The alternative inferences (then you have had them, or then you have them still) have no longer ground or plausibility.¹⁴ To take another instance in

the Litigiosus or Reciprocus. Of the history The Litigiosus. of this famous dilemma there are two accounts, the Greek and the Roman. The Roman account is given us by Aulus Gellius,15 and is there told in relation to an action between

The case of Protagoras and Euathlus.

Protagoras, the prince of the Sophists, and Euathlus, a young man, his disciple. The diseiple had covenanted to give his master a large

sum to accomplish him as a legal rhetorician; the one half of the sum was paid down, and the other was to be paid on the day when Euchlus should plead and gain his first cause. But when the

1 Hermogenes, De Invent., L. iv., and Proleg. ad Hirmogenem. See Walz's Rhetores Græci, vol. iii. p 167, iv. p. 14. - ED.

2 Seneca, Epist., 45. Menage, Ad Diog Laert., L ii 108 - ED.

3 Diog. Laert., L. ix. 23. Aristotle, Phys., vi. 9. Soph. Elench., 24. - ED.

4 Menage, A / Diog. Laert., L. ii. 108. Cicero, Acad., ii. 29. - ED.

5 Diog Laert., ii. 108. - ED.

6 Lucian, Vit. Auct., § 22. Cf. Menage, Ad Diog. Laert., L. ii. 108. - ED.

7 Menage, ibid. - ED.

8 Aulus Gellius, N. A., L. v. c. 10, 11 - ED. 9 Lucian, I. c. Quintilian, Inst. Orat., i. 10. 5. Cf. Menage, Ad Diog. Laert., L. ii 108. -ED.

10 Ammonius, Ad Arist. Categ., f. 58. Cf. Menage, loc. cit. - ED.

11 Cicero, De Inventione, L. i. c. 31. - ED.

12 See Denzinger, Logik. § 571, from whom these designations are taken. Reid's Works, p. 238. — Ed.

13 Diog. Laert., vii. 187. - ED.

14 Krug, Logik, p. 425. - ED.

15 L. v. c. 10.

333

scholar, after the due course of preparatory instruction, was not in the same hurry to commence pleader as the master to obtain the remainder of his fee, Protagoras brought Euathlus into court, and addressed his opponent in the following reasoning : - Learn, most foolish of young men, that however matters may turn up (whether the decision to-day be in your favor or against you), pay me my demand you must. For if the judgment be against you, I shall obtain the fee by decree of the court, and if in your favor, I shall obtain it in terms of the compact, by which it became due on the very day you gained your first cause. You thus must fail, either by judgment or by stipulation. To this Euchhlus rejoined : - Most sapient of masters, learn from your own argument, that whatever may be the finding of the court, absolved I must be from any claim by you. For if the decision be favorable, I pay nothing by the sentence of the judges, but if unfavorable, I pay nothing in virtue of the compact, because, though pleading, I shall not have gained my cause. The judges, says Gellius, unable to find a ratio decidendi, adjourned the case to an indefinite day, and ultimately left it undetermined. I find a parallel story told, among the Greek writers, by

Arsenius, by the Scholiast of Hermogenes, and Parallel case of Coby Suidas,¹ of the rhetorician Corax (anglice) rax and Tisias. Crow) and his scholar Tisias. In this case, the

judges got off by delivering a joke against both parties, instead of a decision in favor of either. We have here, they said, the plaguy egg of a plaguy erow, and from this circumstance is said to have originated the Greek proverb, κακοῦ κόρακος κακὸν ώὸν.

Herewith we terminate the First Great Division of Pure Logic, -Stoicheiology, or the Doctrine of Elements.

1 [Prolegomena to Hermogenes, in Walz's 313, 314. Quoted by Sigwart, Logik, § 333, p. Rhetores Graci, tom. iv. pp. 13, 14. Arsenii 211, 3d edit. Suidas, quoted by Schottus, Violetum, edit. Walz, Stuttgard, 1832, pp. Adagia Gracorum, p. 450, 1612.1

LECTURE XXIV.

PURE LOGIC.

PART II.-METHODOLOGY.

SECTION I. - METHOD IN GENERAL.

SECTION IL - METHOD IN SPECIAL, OR LOGICAL METHODOLOGY.

I. - DOCTRINE OF DEFINITION.

GENTLEMEN, — We concluded, in our last Lecture, the consideration of Syllogisms, viewed as Incorrect or False; in other words, the doctrine of Fallacies, in so far as the fallacy lies within a single syllogism. This, however, you will notice, does not exhaust the consideration of fallacy in general, for there are various species of false reasoning which may affect a whole train of syllogisms. These — of which the *Petitio Principii*, the *Ignoratio Elenchi*, the *Circulus*, and the *Saltus in Concludendo*, are the principal — will be appropriately considered in the sequel, when we come to treat of the Doctrine of Probation or Demonstration. With Fallacies terminated the one Grand Division of Pure Logic, — the Doctrine of Elements, or Stoicheiology, and I open the other Grand Division, — the Doctrine of Method, or Methodology, — with the following paragraph.

¶ LXXX. A Science is a complement of cognitions, having, Par. LXXX. Method in general. in point of Form, the character of Logical Perfection; in point of Matter, the character of Real Truth.

The constituent attributes of Logical Perfection are the *Perspicuity*, the *Completeness*, the *Harmony*, of Knowledge. But the Perspicuity, Completeness, and Harmony of our cognitions are, for the human mind, possible only through *Method*.

Method in general denotes a procedure in the treatment of an object, conducted according to determinate rules. Method,

in reference to Science, denotes, therefore, the arrangement and elaboration of cognitions, according to definite rules, with the view of conferring on these a Logical Perfection. The Methods by which we proceed in the treatment of the objects of our knowledge are two; or rather Method, considered in its integrity, consists of two processes, - Analysis and Synthesis.

I. The Analytic or Regressive ; - in which, departing from the individual and the determined, we ascend always to the more and more general, in order finally to attain to ultimate principles.

II. The Synthetic or Progressive; - in which we depart from principles or universals, and from these descend to the determined and the individual.

Through the former we investigate and ascertain the reality of the several objects of science; through the latter we connect the fragments of our knowledge into the unity of a system.

In its Stoicheiology, or Doctrine of Elements, Logic considers

Explication.

Possibility and Perfection of Thought.

the conditions of possible thought; for thought can only be exerted under the general laws of Identity, Contradiction, Excluded Middle, and Reason and Consequent; and through the gen-

eral forms of Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings. These, therefore, may be said to constitute the Elements of thought. But we may consider thought not merely as existing, but as existing well; that is, we may consider it not only in its possibility, but in its perfection; and this perfection, in so far as it is dependent on the form of thinking, is as much the object-matter of Logie as the mere possibility of thinking. Now that part of Logic which is conversant with the Perfection, with the Well-being of thought, is the Doetrine of Method, - Methodology.

Method in general is the regulated procedure towards a certain end; that is, a process governed by rules, which Method in general, guide us by the shortest way straight towards - what. a certain point, and guard us against devious aberrations.1 Now the end of thought is truth, - knowledge, -

1 [On Method, see Alex. Aphrod., In Anal. Prior., f. 3b, Ald. 1520. Ammonius, In Procem. Porphyrii, f. 21b, Ald. 1546. Philoponus, In An. Prior., f 4. In An. Post., f. 94. Eustra- et seq. G. Downam, Commentarii in P. Rami tius, In An. Post. ff. 1b, 53b. See also Molinæus, Zabarella, Nunnesius, Timpler, Downam.] [Molinæus, Logica, L. ii., De Methodo, p. 245 et seq. Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Methodis, L. i. c. 2, p. 134. Peter John Nun-

nesius, De Constitutione Artis Dialectica, p. 43 et seq., ed. 1554, with relative commentary. Timpler, Systema Logica, L. iv. c. viii. p. 716 Dialecticam, L. ii. c. 17, p. 472 et seq. On the distinction between Method and Order, see Lectures on Metaphysics, lect. vi. p. 68, and note. - ED.]
LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

science, - expressions which may here be considered as convertible. Science may, therefore, be regarded as the per-

Science, - what.

fection of thought, and to the accomplishment of this perfection the Methodology of Logic must be accommodated and conducive. But Science, that is, a system of true or certain knowledge, supposes two conditions. Of these, the first has a rela-

Its perfection For mal and Material.

tion to the knowing subject, and supposes that what is known is known clearly and distinctly, completely, and in connection. The second has

a relation to the objects known, and supposes that what is known has a true or real existence. The former of these constitutes the Formal Perfection of science, the latter is the Material.

Now, as Logic is a science exclusively conversant about the

Logic takes into account only the formal perfection of science.

form of thought, it is evident that of these two conditions, - of these two elements, of science or perfect thinking, Logic can only take into account the formal perfection, which may,

therefore, be distinctively denominated the logical perfection of

Logical Methodology, - what.

tion of thought.

thought. Logical Methodology will, therefore, be the exposition of the rules and ways by which we attain the formal or logical perfec-

But Method, considered in general, - considered in its unre-Method in general consists of two cor-

relative and complementary processes, ---Analysis and Synthesis.

stricted universality, - consists of two processes, correlative and complementary of each other. For it proceeds either from the whole to the parts, or from the parts to the whole. As proceeding from the whole to the parts, that is, as resolving, as unloosing, a complex totality into

its constituent elements, it is Analytic; as proceeding from the parts to the whole, that is, as recomposing constituent elements into their complex totality, it is Synthetic. These two processes are not, in strict propriety, two several methods, but together constitute only a single method. Each alone is imperfect; - each is conditioned or consummated by the other; and, as I formerly observed,1 Analysis and Synthesis are as necessary to themselves and to the life of science, as expiration and inspiration, in connection, are necessary to each other, and to the possibility of animal existence.

It is here proper to make you aware of the confusion which prevails in regard to the application of the terms Analysis and

337

Confusion in regard to the application of the terms Analysis and Synthesis.

abuse. But you are aware that there are different kinds of whole

These counter processes as applied to the counter wholes of Comprehension and Extension, correspond with each other.

Synthesis.1 It is manifest, in general, from the meaning of the words, that the term analysis can only be applied to the separation of a whole into its parts, and that the term synthesis can only be applied to the collection of parts into a whole. So far, no ambiguity is possible, no room is left for

> and parts; and that some of the wholes, like the whole of Comprehension (called also the Metaphysical), and the whole of Extension, (called also the *Logical*), are in the inverse ratio of each other: so that what in the one is a part, is necessarily in the other a whole. It is evi-

dent, then, that the counter processes of Analysis and Synthesis, as applied to these counter wholes and parts, should fall into one, or correspond; inasmuch as each in the one quantity should be diametrically opposite to itself in the other. Thus Analysis, as applied to Comprehension, is the reverse process of Analysis as applied to Extension, but a corresponding process with Synthesis; and vice versa. Now, should it happen that the existence and opposition of the two quantities are not considered, - that men, viewing the whole of Extension or the whole of Comprehension, each to the exclusion of the other, must define Analysis and Synthesis with reference to that single quantity which they exclusively take into account; - on this supposition, I say, it is manifest that, if dif-

Hence the terms Analysis and Synthesis used in a contrary sense.

ferent philosophers regard different wholes or quantities, we may have the terms analysis and synthesis absolutely used by different philosophers in a contrary or reverse sense. And this has actually happened. The ancients, in gen-

eral, looking alone to the whole of Extension, use the terms analysis

1 [Zabarella, Opera Logica, Liber de Regressu, pp. 481, 489. See also, In Anal. Poster., L. ii. text 81, pp. 1212, 1213. Molinæus, Logica, L. ii. Appendix, p. 241 et seq., who notices that both the Analytic and Synthetic order may proceed from the general to the particular. See also, to the same effect, Hoff bauer, Uber die Analysis in der Philosophie, p. 41 et seq., Halle, 1810. Gassendi, Physica, Sectio iii. Memb. Part, L. ix. Opera, t. ii p. 460. Victorin, Neue natürlichere Darstellung der Logik, § 214. Trendelenburg, Elementa Logices Aristotelica, p. 89. Troxler, Logik, ii. p. 100, n. **. Krug, Logik, § 114. p. 406, n. **, and § 120, p. 431. Wyttenbach makes Synthetic method progress from particulars to universals; other

logicians generally the reverse.] - [See his Pracepta Phil. Logica, P. III. c. i. § 3, p. 84, 1781. - "Mentem suapte natura Syntheticam Methodum sequi, caque ad universales ideas pervenire. . . . Contrarium est iter Ang. lyticæ Methodi, quæ ab universalibus initium ducit et ad peculiaria progreditur, dividendo Genera in suas Formas." "Contra commu nem sensum et verborum naturam, Syntheticam vocant Methodum, quæ dividit, Ang. lyticam contra, quæ componit." Præf sub fin. In the edition of the Pracepta by Mass, Wyttenbach is made to say precisely the reverse of what he lays down in the originat edition. See Præc. Phil. Log., ed. Maass, J. 64. - ED.]

LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

and analytic simply to denote a division of the genus into species, - of the species into individuals; the moderns, on the other hand, in general, looking only at the whole of Comprehension, employ these terms to express a resolution of the individual into its various attributes.¹ But though the contrast in this respect between the ancients and moderns holds in general, still it is exposed to sundry exceptions; for, in both periods, there are philosophers found at the same game of cross-purposes with their contemporaries as the ancients and moderns in general are with each other. This difference, which has never, as far as I know, been fully observed and stated, is the cause of great confusion and mistake. It is proper, therefore, when we use these terms, to use them not in exclusive relation to one whole more than to another; and, at the same time, to take care that we guard against the misapprehension that might arise from the vague and one-sided view which is now universally prevalent. So much for the meaning of the words analytic and synthetic, which, by the way, I may notice, are, like most of our logical terms, taken from Geometry.²

The Synthetic Method is likewise called the Progressive; the

The Synthetic Method has been called the Progressive, and the Analytic the Regressive. These designations wholly arbitrary, and of various application.

Analytic is called the *Regressive*. Now it is plain that this application of the terms progressive and regressive is altogether arbitrary. For the import of these words expresses a relation to a certain point of departure, - a terminus a quo, and to a certain point of termination, - a terminus ad quem; and if these have only an arbitrary existence, the correlative words will,

consequently, only be of an arbitrary application. But it is manifest that the point of departure, - the point from which the Progressive process starts, - may be either the concrete realities of our experience, — the principiata, — the notiora nobis; or the abstract generalities of intelligence, - the principia, - the notiora natura. Each of these has an equal right to be regarded as the startingpoint. The Analytic process is chronologically first in the order of knowledge, and we may, therefore, reasonably call it the progressive, as starting from the primary data of our observation. On the other hand, the Synthetic process, as following the order of constitution, is first in the order of nature, and we may, therefore, likewise reasonably call it the progressive, as starting from the primary elements of existence. The application of these terms as synonyms

1 [See Aristotle, Physica, L. iv. c. 3. Timp-ler, Logicæ Systema, L. ii. c. i. qu. 11, p. 248.]
iv. L. ix. c. 5. Philoponus, In An. Post., f. ² See above, p. 196, n. 4. - ED. [On the 36a, Venet. 1534.]

of the analytic and synthetic processes, is, as wholly arbitrary, manifestly open to confusion and contradiction. And such has been the case. I find that the philosophers are as much at cross-purposes in their application of these terms to the Analytic and Synthetic processes, as in the application of analysis and synthesis to the different wholes.

In general, however, both in ancient and modern times, Synthesis

In general, Synthesis has been designated the Progressive, and Analysis the Regressive Process. has been called the *Progressive*, Analysis the *Regressive*, process; an application of terms which has probably taken its rise from a passage in Aristotle, who says that there are two ways of scientific procedure, — the one from principles $(a\pi \delta \tau \omega \nu a\rho \chi \omega \nu)$, the other to principles $(\epsilon \pi \lambda)$

 $\tau \dot{a}s \, \dot{a}\rho\chi \dot{a}s$). From this, and from another similar passage in Plato, (?) the term *progressive* has been applied to the process of Comprehensive Synthesis (*progrediendi a principiis ad principiata*), the term *regressive*, to the process of Comprehensive Analysis (*progrediendi a principiatis ad principiatis ad principia.*)¹

So much for the general relations of Method to thought, and the Method in special. Method in special. Method in special. Method, by which Logic accomplishes the Formal Perfection of thought. In doing this, it is evident that, if the formal perfection of thought is made up of various virtues, Logic must accommodate its method to the acquisition of these in detail; and that the various processes by which these several virtues are acquired, will, in their union, constitute the system of Logical Methodology. On this I will give you a paragraph.

¶ LXXXI. The Formal Perfection of thought is made up of Par. LXXXI. Logical Methodology,-its Clearness; 2°, Of Distinctness, involving Three Parts. Completeness; and, 3°, Of Harmony. The character of Clearness depends principally on the determination of the Comprehension of our notions; the character of Distinctness depends principally on the development of the Extension of our notions; and the character of Harmony, on the

1 Eth. Nic., i. 2 (4). The reference to Plato, whom Aristotle mentions as making a similar distinction, is probably to be found by comparing two separate passages in the *Republic*, B. iv. p. 435, vi. p. 504. — ED. [Plato is said to have taught Analysis to Leodamas the Thusian. See Laertius, L. iii. 24, and Proclas,

quoted in Is. Casaubon's note. On the views of Method of Aristotle and Plato, see Scheibler and Downam.] [Scheibler, Opera Logica, Pars. iv., Tract. Syllog., c. xvii., De Methodo, tit. 7, p. 603. Downam, Com. in P. Rami Dialecticam, L. ii. c. 17, p. 482. — ED.]

mutual Concatenation of our notions. The rules by which these three conditions are fulfilled, constitute the Three Parts of Logical Methodology. Of these, the first constitutes the *Doctrine of Definition*; the second, the *Doctrine of Division*; and the third, the *Doctrine of Probation*.¹

"When we turn attention on our thoughts, and deal with them to the end that they may be constituted into a Explication. scientific whole, we must perform a three-fold operation. We must, first of all, consider what we think, that is, what is comprehended in a thought. In the second place, we must consider how many things we think of, that is, to how many objects the thought extends or reaches, that is, how many are conceived under it. In the third place, we must consider why we think so and so, and not in any other manner; in other words, how the thoughts are bound together as reasons and consequents. The first consideration, therefore, regards the comprehension ; the second, the extension; the third, the concatenation of our thoughts. But the comprehension is ascertained by definitions; the extension by divisions; and the concatenation by probations."² We proceed, therefore, to consider these Three Parts of Logical Methodology in detail ; and first, of Declaration or Definition, in regard to which I give the following paragraph.

LXXXII. How to make a notion Clear, is shown by the logical doctrine of *Declaration*, or *Defini*tion or Definition. *Par. LXXXII. I. The* Doctrine of Declaration or Definition. *Par. LXXXII. I. The* Doctrine of Declaration, or *Defini*tion in its wider sense. A Declaration (or Definition in its wider sense) is a Categorical Proposition, consisting of two clauses or

members, viz., of a Subject Defined (*membrum definitum*) and of the Defining Attributes of the subject, that is, those by which it is distinguished from other things (*membrum definiens*). This latter member really contains the Definition, and is often itself so denominated. Simple notions, as containing no plurality of attributes, are incapable of definition.³

¹ Krug, Logik, § 121a. - ED. [Ramus was the first to introduce Method as a part of Logic under Syllogistic (see his Dialectica, L. ii. c. 17), and the Port Royalists (1962) made it a fourth part of logic. See La Logique ou L'Art de Penser, Prem. Dis., p. 26, pp. 47, 50. Quat. Part., p. 445 et seq. ed. 1775. Gassendi, in his Institutio Logica, has Pars iv., De Methodo. He died in 1655, his Logic appeared posthumously in 1658. John of Damascus speaks strongly of Method in his Dialectic, ch. 68, and makes four special logical methods, Division, Definition, Analysis, Demonstration. Eustachius treats of Method under Judgment, and Scheibler under Syllogistic.] [Eustachius, Summa Philosophiæ, Logica, P. ii. Tract. 2. De Methodo, p. 106, ed. Lugd. Batav., 1747. First edition, 1609. Scheibler, Opera Logica, Pars iv. c. xviii. p. 595 et seq.--En.]

2 Krug, Logik, § 1218. - ED.

3 Krug, Logik, § 121b. - ED.

LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

The terms declaration and definition, which are here used as appli-

Explication.

The terms Declaration and Definition express the same process in different aspects. cable to the same process, express it, however, in different aspects. The term *declaration* (*declaratio*) is a word somewhat vaguely employed in English; it is here used strictly in its proper sense of *throwing light upon*, — *clearing up*. The term *definition* (*definitio*) is employed in a

more general, and in a more special, signification. Of the latter we are soon to speak. At present, it is used simply in the meaning of an *enclosing within limits*, — the *separating a thing from others*. Were the term *declaration* not of so vague and vacillating a sense, it would be better to employ it alone in the more general acceptation, and to reserve the term *definition* for the special signification.

¶ LXXXIII. The process of Definition is founded on the logical relations of Subordination, Coördination, and Congruence. To this end we discriminate the constituent characters of a notion into the *Essential*, or those which

belong to it in its unrestricted universality, and into the Unessential, or those which belong to some only of its species. The Essential are again discriminated into Original and Derivative, a division which coincides with that into Internal or Proper, and External. In giving the sum of the original characters constituent of a notion, consists its Definition in the stricter sense. A Definition in the stricter sense must consequently afford at least two, and properly only two, original characters, viz., that of the Genus immediately superior (genus proximum), and that of the Difference by which it is itself marked out from its coördinates as a distinct species (nota specialis, differentia specifica).¹

Declarations (or definitions in the wider sense) obtain various Explication. Various names of Declaration. Explication. Exp

tion (expositio), when the evolution of a notion is continued through

¹ [Cf. Aristotle, Topica, i. 6. Keckermann, pp. 199,656. Scheibler, Topica, c 30. Richter, Systema Logicæ Minus, L. i. c. 17. Opera, t. i. Logik, p. 94.]

LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

several explications. It is called a Description (descriptio), when

the subject is made known through a number

Description. Definition proper. of concrete characteristics. Finally, it is called a *Definition Proper*, when, as I have said, two

of the essential and original attributes of the defined subject are given, whereof the one is common to it with the various species of the same genus, and the other discriminates it from these.¹

"Definitions are distinguished also into Verbal or Nominal, into

Definitions, - Nominal, Real, and Genetic. Real, and into Genetic (*definitiones nominales*, *reales, geneticæ*), according as they are conversant with the meaning of a term, with the nature of a thing, or with its rise or production.² Nom-

inal Definitions are, it is evident, merely explications. They are, therefore, in general only used as preliminary, in order to prepare the way for more perfect declarations. In Real Definitions the thing defined is considered as already there, as existing $(\delta \nu)$, and the notion, therefore, as given, precedes the definition. They are thus merely analytic, that is, nothing is given explicitly in the predicate or defining member, which is not contained implicitly in the subject or member defined. In Genetic Definitions the defined subject is considered as in the progress to be, as becoming $\gamma_{i\gamma\nu}\phi_{\mu\epsilon}$ yov; the notion, therefore, has to be made, and is the result of the definition, which is consequently synthetic, that is, places in the predicate or defining member more than is given in the subject or member defined. As examples of these three species, the following three definitions of a circle may suffice : - 1. The Nominal Definition, - The word *circle* signifies a uniformly curved line. 2. The Real Definition, - A circle is a line returning upon itself, of which all the parts are equidistant from a given point. 3. The Genetic Definition, - A circle is formed when we draw around, and always at the same distance from, a fixed point, a movable point which leaves its trace, until the termination of the movement coincides with the commencement.³ It is to be observed that only those notions can be genetically defined, which relate to quantities represented in time and space. Mathematics are principally conversant with such notions, and it is to be noticed that the mathematician usually denominates such genetic definitions real definitions, while the others he calls without distinction nominal definitions." 4

The laws of Definition are given in the following paragraph.

1 Cf. Krug, Logik. § 122 ED.	tion, from Wolf, Philosophia Rationalis, § 191.
² [Cf. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 309 et	—Ер.
seq.]	4 Krug, Logik, § 122. Anm. 3, pp. 448, 449.
³ This example is taken, with some altera-	- ED.

343

¶ LXXXIV. A definition should be Adequate (adequata),

Par. LXXXIV. Definition. - its Laws.

that is, the subject defined, and the predicate defining, should be equivalent or of the same extension. If not, the sphere of the

predicate is either less than that of the subject, and the definition Too Narrow (angustior), or greater, and the definition Too Wide (latior).

II. It should not define by Negative or Divisive attributes (Ne sit negans, ne fiat per disjuncta).

III. It should not be Tautological, - what is contained in the defined, should not be repeated in the defining clause (Ne sit circulus vel diallelon in definiendo).

IV. It should be Precise, that is, contain nothing unessential, nothing superfluous (Definitio ne sit abundans).

V. It should be Perspicuous, that is, couched in terms intelligible, and not figurative, but proper and compendious.¹

The First of these rules : - That the definition should be adequate, that is, that the definiens and definitum Explication. should be of the same extension, is too manifest First Rule.

to require much commentary. Is the definition too wide? - then more is declared than ought to be declared; is it too narrow? - then less is declared than ought to be declared; and, in either case, the definition does not fully accomplish the end which it proposes. To avoid this defect in definition, we must attend to two conditions. In the first place, that attribute should be given which the thing defined has in common with others of the same class; and, in the second place, that attribute should be given which not only distinguishes it in general from all other things, but proximately from things which are included with it under a common class. This is expressed by Logicians in the rule - Definitio constet genere proximo et differentia ultima, - Let the definition consist of the nearest genus and of the lowest difference. But as the notion and its definition, if this rule be obeyed, are necessarily identical or convertible notions, they must necessarily have the same extent; consequently, everything to which the definition applies, and nothing to which it does not apply, is the thing defined. Thus : - if the definition, Man is a rational animal, be adequate, we shall be able to say - Every rational animal is human: - nothing which is not a rational animal is human. But we cannot say this, for

Logik, § 223 et seq. Sigwart, Handbuck zu Vor-tez de Consequence, § 45-51. Goclenius, Lexi-esungen über die Logik, § 371. Boethius, De con Philosophicum, v. Definitio, p. 500.]

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 123. - ED. [Victorin, Definitione, Opera, p. 648 et seq. Buffier, Veri-

LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

though this may be true of this earth, we can conceive in other worlds rational animals which are not human. The definition is, therefore, in this case too wide; to make it adequate, it will be necessary to add *terrestrial* or some such term — as, *Man is a rational animal of this earth*. Again, were we to define Man, — *a rationally acting animal of this earth*, — the definition would be too narrow; for it would be false to say, *no animal of this earth not acting rationally is human*, for not only children, but many adult persons would be excluded by this definition, which is, therefore, too narrow.¹

The Second Rule is, - That the definition should not be made by negations, or disjunctions. In regard to the for-Second Rule. mer, - negations, - that we should define a thing by what it is, and not by what it is not, - the reason of the rule is manifest. The definition should be an affirmative proposition, for it ought to contain the positive, the actual, qualities of the notion defined, that is, the qualities which belong to it, and which must not, therefore, be excluded from or denied of it. If there are characters which, as referred to the subject, afford purely negative judgments; - this is a proof that we have not a proper comprehension of the notion, and have only obtained a precursory definition of it, enclosing it within only negative boundaries. For a definition which contains only negative attributions, affords merely an empty notion, - a notion which is to be called a nothing; for, as some think, it must at least possess one positive character, and its definition cannot, therefore, be made up exclusively of negative attributes. If, however, a notion stands opposed to another which has already been declared by positive characters, it may be defined by negative characters, - provided always that the genus is positively determined. Thus Cuvier and other naturalists define a certain order of animals by the negation of a spine or back-bone, - the invertebrata as opposed to the vertebrata; and many such definitions occur in Natural History.

For a similar reason, the definition must not consist of divisive or disjunctive attributions. The end of a definition is a clear and distinct knowledge. But to say that a thing is this or that or the other, affords us either no knowledge at all, or at best only a vague and obscure knowledge. If the disjunction be contradictory, its enunciation is, in fact, tantamount to zero; for to say that a thing either is or is not so and so, is to tell us that of which we required no assertion to assure us. But a definition by disparate alternatives

> 1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 123. Anm. i. – ED. 44

is, though it may vaguely circumscribe a notion, only to be considered as a prelusory definition, and as the mark of an incipient and yet imperfect knowledge. We must not, however, confound definitions by divisive attributes with propositions expressive of a division.

The Third Rule is, - "The definition should not be tautological;

Third Rule. Defining in a circle. that is, what is defined should not be defined by itself. This vice is called *defining in a circle*. This rule may be violated either immediately or

mediately. The definition, - Law is a lawful command, - is an example of the immediate circle. A mediate circle requires, at least, two correlative definitions, a principal and a subsidiary. For example, - Law is the expressed wish of a ruler, and a ruler is one who establishes laws. The circle, whether immediate or mediate, is manifest or occult according as the thing defined is repeated in the same terms, or with other synonymous words. In the previous example it was manifest. In the following it is concealed :- Gratitude is a virtue of acknowledgment, - Right is the competence to do or not to do. Such declarations may, however, be allowed to stand as prelusory or nominal definitions. Concealed circular definitions are of very frequent occurrence, when they are at the same time mediate or remote; for we are very apt to allow ourselves to be deceived by the difference of expression, and fancy that we have declared a notion when we have only changed the language. We ought, therefore, to be strictly on our guard against this besetting vice. The ancients called the circular definition also by the name of Diallelon, as in this case we declare the definitum and the definients reciprocally by each other $(\delta i \, a \lambda \lambda \eta \lambda \omega \nu)$.¹ In probation there is a similar vice which bears the same names."² We may, I think, call them by the homely English appellation of the Seesaw.

The Fourth Rule is, — "That the definition should be precise; Fourth Rule. That is, contain nothing unessential, nothing superfluous. Unessential or contingent attributes are not sufficiently characteristic, and as they are now present, now absent, and may likewise be met with in other things which are not comprehended under the notion to be defined, they, consequently, if admitted into a definition, render it sometimes too wide, sometimes too narrow. The well-known Platonic definition, — 'Man is a two-legged animal without feathers,' — could, as containing only unessential characters, be easily refuted, as was done by a plucked

¹ Compare Sextus Empiricus, *Pyrrh. Hyp.*, 2 Krug, *Logik*, § 123. Anm. 3. – ED. i. 169, ii. 68. – ED.

cock.¹ And when a definition is not wholly made up of such attributes, and when, in consequence of their intermixture with essential characters, the definition does not absolutely fail, still there is a sin committed against logical purity or precision, in assuming into the declaration qualities such as do not determinately designate what is defined. On the same principle, all derivative characters ought to be excluded from the definition; for although they may necessarily belong to the thing defined, still they overlay the declaration with superfluous accessories, inasmuch as such characters do not designate the original essence of the thing, but are a mere consequence thereof. This fault is committed in the following definition : - The Circle is a curved line returning upon itself, the parts of which are at an equal distance from the central point. Here precision is violated, though the definition be otherwise correct. For that every line returning upon itself is curved, and that the point from which all the parts of the line are equidistant is the central point, - these are mere consequences of the returning on itself, and of the equidistance. Derivative characters are thus mixed up with the original, and the definition, therefore, is not precise." 2

The Fifth rule is, - "That the definition should be perspicuous,

Fifth Rule.

that is, couched in terms intelligible, not figurative, and compendious. That definitions ought

to be perspicuous, is self-evident. For why do we declare or define at all? The perspicuity of the definition depends, in the first place,

In order to perspicuity in Definition, 1. The language must be intelligible. on the intelligible character of the language, and this again depends on the employment of words in their received or ordinary signification. The meaning of words, both separate and in conjunction, is already determined by conventional

usage; when, therefore, we hear or read these, we naturally associate with them their ordinary meaning. Misconceptions of every kind must, therefore, arise from a deviation from the accustomed usage; and though the definition, in the sense of the definer, may be correct, still false conceptions are almost inevitable for others. If such a deviation becomes necessary, in consequence of the common meaning attached to certain words not corresponding to certain notions, there ought at least to be appended a comment or nominal definition, by which we shall be warned that such words are used in an acceptation wider or more restricted than they obtain in ordinary usage. But, in the second place, words ought not only to be used in their usual signification, — that signification,

1 Diog. Laert., vi. 40. - ED.

if the definition be perspicuous, must not be figurative but proper. Tropes and figures are logical hieroglyphics, and themselves re-

2. The meaning must be not figurative, but proper. quire a declaration. They do not indicate the thing itself, but only something similar."¹ Such, for example, are the definitions we have of Logic as the *Pharus Intellectus*, — the *Light*-

house of the Understanding, — the Cynosura Veritatis, — the Cynosure of Truth, — the Medicina Mentis, — the Physic of the Mind, etc.²

"However, many expressions, originally metaphorical (such as *conception, imagination, comprehension, representation*, etc. etc.), have by usage been long since reduced from figurative to proper terms, so that we may employ these in definitions without scruple, - nay frequently must, as there are no others to be found.

"In the third place, the perspicuity of a definition depends upon

^{3.} The definition must be brief. a single jet. Brevity ought not, however, to be purchased at the expense of perspicuity or completeness."³

"The rules hitherto considered proximately relate to Definitions

The other kinds of Declaration. Dilucidations or Explications. in the stricter sense. In reference to the other kinds of Declaration, there are certain modifications and exceptions admitted. These Dilucidations or Explications, as they make no pretence to logical perfection, and are only subsidiary to

the discovery of more perfect definitions, are not to be very rigidly dealt with. They are useful, provided they contain even a single true character by which we are conducted to the apprehension of others. They may, therefore, be sometimes too wide, sometimes too narrow. A contingent and derivative character may be also useful

Circular Definitions. for the discovery of the essential and original. Even Circular Definitions are not here absolutely to be condemned, if thereby the language is rendered simpler

Figurative Expressions. and clearer. Figurative Expressions are likewise in them less faulty than in definitions

proper, inasmuch as such expressions, by the analogies they suggest, contribute always something to the illustration of the notion.

"In regard to Descriptions, these must be adequate, and no circle

1 Krug, Logik, § 123. Anm. 4. -- ED. ³ Krug, *ibid.* -- ED. ² See above, p. 25. - ED.

LECT. XXIV.

LOGIC.

is permitted in them. But they need not be so precise as to ad-Descriptions. But of no derivative or contingent characters. For descriptions ought to enumerate the characters of a thing as fully as possible; and, consequently, they cannot

be so brief as definitions. They cannot, however, exceed a certain measure in point of length."¹

1 Krug, Logik, § 123. Anm. 5. - ED.

LECTURE XXV.

METHODOLOGY.

SECTION II. - LOGICAL METHODOLOGY.

II. - DOCTRINE OF DIVISION.

I now proceed to the Second Chapter of Logical Methodology, the Doctrine of Division,— the doctrine which affords us the rules of that branch of Method, by which we render our knowledge more distinct and exhaustive. I shall preface the subject of Logical Division by some observations on Division in general.

"Under Division (divisio, διαίρεσις) we understand in general the sundering of the whole into its parts.¹ The Division in general. object which is divided is called the *divided* whole (totum divisum), and this whole must be a connected many, - a connected multiplicity, for otherwise no division would be possible. The divided whole must comprise at least one character, affording the condition of a certain possible splitting of the object, or through which a certain opposition of the object becomes recognized; and this character must be an essential attribute of the object, if the division be not aimless and without utility. This point of view, from which alone the division is possible, is called the principle of the division (principium sive fundamentum divisionis); and the parts which, by the distraction of the whole, come into view, are called the divisive members (membra dividentia). When a whole is divided into its parts, these parts may, either all or some, be themselves still connected multiplicities; and if these are again divided, there results a subdivision (subdivisio), the several parts of which are called the subdivisive members (membra subdividentia). One and the same object may, likewise, be differently divided from different points of view, whereby condivisions

1 [On Division and its various kinds, see Ammonius, De Quinque Vocibus, f. 6a, Ald. 1546.]

LECT. XXV.

LOGIC.

(condivisiones) arise, which, taken together, are all reciprocally coördinated. If a division has only two members, it is called a dichotomy (dichotomia); if three, a trichotomy (trichotomia); if four, a tetrachotomy; if many, a polytomy, etc.

"Division, as a genus, is divided into two species, according to

Division of two species, — Partition and Logical Division. the different kind of whole which it sunders into parts.¹ These parts are either contained in the divided whole, or they are contained under it. In the former case the division is called a *parti*-

tion $(partitio, d\pi a \rho i \Im \mu \eta \sigma is)$,² in the latter, it is named a *logical division.*³ Partition finds an application only when the object to be divided is a whole compounded of parts, — consequently, where the notion of the object is a complex one; Logical Division, on the other hand, finds its application only where the notion contains a plurality of characters under it, and where, consequently, the notion is a universal one. The simple notion is thus the limit of Partition; and the individual or singular is thus the limit of Division.

Partition either Real or Ideal. Partition is divided into a *physical* or *real*, when the parts can actually be separated from each other; and into a *metaphysical* or *ideal*, when

the parts can only be sundered by Abstraction.⁴ It may be applied in order to attain to a clear knowledge of the whole, or to a clear knowledge of the parts. In the former case, the parts are given and the whole is sought; in the latter, the whole is given and the parts are sought. If the whole be given and the parts sought out, the object is first of all separated into its proximate, and, thereafter, into its remoter parts, until either any further partition is impossible,

1 [On various kinds of Wholes, see Caramucl, Rationalis et Realis Philosophia, L. iv. sect. iii. disp. iv. p. 277,][and above, Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 507; Lectures on Logic, p. 142. - ED.]

² 'Amapi $\partial \mu \eta \sigma is$ is properly a rhetorical term, and signifies the division of a subject into successive heads, first, second, etc. See Hermogenes, $\Pi \epsilon \rho l$ $i\delta \epsilon \hat{\omega} \nu$. Rhetores Græci, i. p. 104, cd. Ald — ED.

³ [See Keckermann, Systema Logicæ, L. i.
c. 3. Opera, t. i. p. 667. Drobisch, Neue Darstellung der Logik, § 112. Krug, Logik, § 124.
Anm. 2]

⁴ By Partition, *triangle* may be distinguished, 1°, 1nto a certain portion of space included within certain boundaries; 2°, Into sides and angles; 3°, Into two triangles, or into a trapozium and a triangle. The first two partitions are ideal, they cannot be actually accomplished. The last is real, it may. By Division, triangle is distinguished, 1°, Into the two species of rectilinear and curvilinear. 2°, Both of these are again subdivided (A) by reference to the sides, (B) by reference to the angles. By reference to the sides, triangles are divided into the three species of equilateral, isosceles, and scalene. (The dichotomic division would, however, be here more proper.) By reference to the angles, they are divided into the three species of rectangular, $i \ e$, triangle which has one of its angles right; into amblygon, or triangle which has one of its angles obtuse; and into oxygon, $i. \ e$, triangle which has its three angles acute.

By Definition, triangle is distinguished into figure of three sides, equal to triangular figure; that is, into figure, the proximate genus, and trilateral or three-sided, the differential quality.

or the partition has attained its end. To this there is, however, required an accurate knowledge of the object, of its parts proximate and remote, and of the connection of these parts together, as constituting the whole. We must, likewise, take heed whether the partition be not determined from some particular point of view, in consequence of which the notions of more proximate and more remote may be very vague and undetermined. If the parts be given, and from them the whole sought out, this is accomplished when we have discovered the order, - the arrangement, of the parts; and this again is discovered when the principle of division is discovered; and of this we must obtain a knowledge, either from the general nature of the thing, or from the particular end we have in view. If, for example, a multitude of books, of every various kind, are arranged into the whole of a well-ordered library, - in this case the greater or lesser similarity of subject will afford, either exclusively or mainly, the principle of division. It happens, however, not unfrequently, that the parts are ordered or arranged according to different rules, and by them connected into a whole; and, in this case, as the different rules of the arrangement cannot together and at once accomplish this, it is proper that the less important arrangement should yield to the more important; as, for example, in the ordering of a library, when, besides the contents of the books, we take into account their language, size, antiquity, binding, etc."1

I now proceed to Logical Division, on which I give you the following paragraph:

¶ LXXXV. The Distinctness and Completeness of our knowledge is obtained by that logical process which is termed *Division* (divisio, διαίρεσις). Division supposes the knowl-

edge of the whole to be given through a foregone process of Definition or Declaration; and proposes to discover the parts of this whole which are found and determined not by the development of the Comprehension, but by the development of the Extension. As Logical Definition, therefore, proposes to render the characters contained in an object, that is, the comprehension of a reality or notion, Clear; Logical Division proposes to render the characters contained under an object, that is, the extension of a notion, Distinct and Exhaustive. Division is, therefore, the evolution of the extension of a

1 Esser, Logik, §§ 134, 135, p. 261-64. - ED.

LECT. XXV.

notion; and it is expressed in a disjunctive proposition, of which the notion divided constitutes the subject, and the notions contained under it, the predicate. It is, therefore, regulated by the law which governs Disjunctive Judgments, (the Principle of Excluded Middle), although it is usually expressed in the form of a Copulative Categorical Judgment. The rules by which this process is regulated are seven:

1°. Every Division should be governed by some principle, (Divisio ne careat fundamento).

2°. Every Division should be governed by only a single principle.

3°. The principle of Division should be an actual and essential character of the divided notion, and the division, therefore, neither complex nor without a purpose.

4°. No dividing member of the predicate must by itself exhaust the subject.

5°. The dividing members, taken together, must exhaust, but only exhaust, the subject.

6°. The divisive members must be reciprocally exclusive.

7°. The divisions must proceed continuously from immediate to mediate differences (*Divisio ne fiat per saltum*).

In this paragraph are contained, first, the general Principles of Explication. Logical Division, and, secondly, the Laws by which it is governed. I shall now illustrate these in detail.

In the first place, it is stated that "the distinctness and completeness of our knowledge is obtained by that logical process which is termed Division (divisio, διαίρεσις). Division supposes the knowledge of the whole to be given through a foregone process of definition, and proposes to discover the parts of this whole which are found and determined not by the development of the comprehension, but by the development of the extension. As logical definition, therefore, proposes to render the characters contained in a notion, that is, its comprehension, clear; logical division proposes to render the characters contained under an object, that is, the extension of a notion, distinct. Division is, therefore, the evolution of the extension of a notion, and it is expressed in a disjunctive proposition, of which the notion divided constitutes the subject, and the notions contained under it, the predicate. It is, therefore, regulated by the law which governs disjunctive judgments (the principle of excluded middle), although it be usually expressed in the form of a copulative categorical judgment."

The special virtue, the particular element, of perfect thinking,

End of Division is Distinctness, which involves Completeness. which Division enables us to acquire, is Distinctness, but, at the same time, it is evident that it cannot accomplish this without rendering our thinking more complete. This, how-

ever, is only a secondary and collateral result; for the problem which division proximately and principally proposes to solve is, to afford us a distinct consciousness of the extension of a given notion, through a complete or exhaustive series of subordinate or coördinate notions. This utility of Division, in rendering our knowledge more complete, is, I find, stated by Aristotle,¹ though it has been overlooked by subsequent logicians. He observes that it is only by a regular division that we can be assured that nothing has been omitted in the definition of a thing.

"As it is by means of division that we discover what are the

As many kinds of Division possible as there are characters affording a Principle of Division. characters contained under the notion of an object, it follows that there must be as many kinds of division possible as there are characters contained under the notion of an object, which may afford the principle of a different

division. If the characters which afford the principle of a division are only external and contingent, there is a division in the wider sense; if, again, they are internal and constant, there is a division in the stricter sense; if, finally, they are not only internal but also essential and original, there is a division in the strictest sense.

A universal notion the only object of Logical Division. From the very conception of logical division, it is manifest that it can only be applied where the object to be divided is a universal notion, and that it is wholly inapplicable to an individ-

ual; for as the individual contains nothing under it, consequently it is not susceptible of an ulterior division. The general problem of

General problem of Division. which division affords the solution is, — To find the subordinate genera and species, the higher or generic notion being given. The higher

notion is always something abstracted, — something generalized from the lower notions, with which it agrees, inasmuch as it contains all that is common to these inferior concepts, and from which it differs, inasmuch as they contain a greater number of determining characters. There thus subsists an internal connection between the higher and the lower concepts, and there is thus afforded a transition from the superior notion to the subordinate, and, consequently, an evolution of the lower notions from the higher. In

LECT. XXV.

LOGIC.

order to discover the inferior genera and species, we have only to discover those characters which afford the proximate determinations, by which the sphere or extension of the higher notion is circumscribed. But to find what characters are wanted for the thorough-going determination of a higher notion, we must previously know what characters the higher notion actually contains, and this knowledge is only attainable by an analysis, - a sundering of the higher notion itself. In doing this, the several characters must be separately drawn forth and considered; and in regard to each, we must ascertain how far it must still be left undetermined, and how far it is capable of opposite determinations. But whether a character be still undetermined, and of what opposite determinations it is capable, — on these points it is impossible to decide apriori, but only a posteriori, through a knowledge of this particular character and its relations to other notions. And the accomplishment of this is rendered easier by two circumstances; - the one, that the generic notion is never altogether abstract, but always realized and held fast by some concrete form of imagination; --- the other, that, in general, we are more or less acquainted with a greater or a smaller number of special notions, in which the generic notion is comprehended, and these are able to lead us either mediately or immediately to other subordinate concepts.

"But the determinations or constituent characters of a notion which we seek out, must not only be completely, but also precisely, opposed. Completely, inasmuch as all the species subordinate to the notions ought to be discovered; and precisely, inasmuch as whatever is not a subordinate species, ought to be absolutely excluded from the notion of the genus.

"In regard to the completeness of the opposition, it is not, however, required that the notion should be determined through every possible contradictory opposition; for those at least ought to be omitted, concerning whose existence or non-existence the notion itself decides. In regard to the opposition itself, it is not required that the division should be carried through by contradictory oppositions. The only opposition necessary is the reciprocal exclusion of the inferior notions into which the higher notion is divided."¹ In a mere logical relation, indeed, as we know nothing of the nature of a thing more than that a certain character either does or does not belong to it, a strictly logical division can only consist of two contradictory members, for example, — that angles are either *right* or *not right*, — that men are either *white* or *not white*. But looking to the real nature of the thing known, either a priori or a posteri-

ori, the division may be not only dichotomous but polytomous, as for example, - angles are right, or acute, or obtuse; men are white, or black, or copper-colored, or olive-colored, etc.

We now come, in the second place, to the Rules of Logical Dirules dictated for Logical Division. vision.

These Rules spring either, 1°, From the Principle of Division; or, 2°, From the Relations of the Dividing Members to the Divided Whole; or, 3°, From the Relations of the several Dividing Members to each other; or, 4°, From the relations of the Divisions to the Subdivisions.

The first of these heads - the Principle of Division - compre-

Those springing, I. From the Principle of Division. First Rule.

hends the three first rules. Of these the first is self-evident, - There must be some principle. some reason, for every division; for otherwise there would be no division determined, no division carried into effect.

In regard to the second rule, - That every division should have

Second.

only a single principle, - the propriety of this is likewise sufficiently apparent. In every division

we should depart from a definite thought, which has reference either to the notion as a unity, or to some single character. On the contrary, if we do not do this, but carry on the process by different principles, the series of notions in which the division is realized is not orderly and homogeneous, but heterogeneous and perplexed.

The Third rule, - That the principle of division should be an actual and essential character of the divided Third. notion, - is not less manifest. "As the ground of division is that which principally regulates the correctness of the whole process, that is, the completeness and opposition of the division, - it follows that this ground must be of notoriety and importance, and accommodated to the end for the sake of which the division is instituted. Those characters of an object are best adapted for a division, whose own determinations exert the greatest influence on the determinations of other characters, and, consequently, on those of the notion itself; but such are manifestly not the external and contingent, but the internal and essential, characters, and, of these, those have the preëminence through whose determination the greater number of others are determined, or, what is the same thing, from which, as fundamental and original attributes, the greater number of the others are derived. The choice of character is, however, for the most part, regulated by some particular end; so that, under certain circumstances, external and contingent characters may obtain a preponderant importance. Such ends can-

LECT. XXV.

LOGIC.

not, however, be enumerated. The character affording the principle of division must likewise be capable of being clearly and definitely brought out; for unless this be possible, we can have no distinct consciousness of the completeness and contrast of the determination of which it is susceptible. We ought, therefore, always to select those characters for principles of division, which are capable of a clear and distinct recognition."¹

The second part of the rule, - That the division be not, therefore, too complex, and without a purpose, - is a corollary of the first. "In dividing, we may go on to infinity. For while, as was formerly shown, there is, in the series of higher and lower notions, no one which can be conceived as absolutely the lowest; so in subdividing, there is no necessary limit to the process. In like manner, the coördinations may be extended ad infinitum. For it is impossible to exhaust all the possible relations of notions, and each of these may be employed as the principle of a new division. Thus we can divide men by relation to their age, to their sex, to their color, to their stature, to their knowledge, to their riches, to their rank, to their manner of life, to their education, to their costume, etc., etc. It would, however, be ridiculous, and render the divisions wholly useless, if we multiplied them in this fashion without end. We, therefore, intentionally restrict them, that is, we make them comparatively limited, inasmuch as we only give them that completeness which is conducive to a certain end. In this manner, divisions become relatively useful, or acquire the virtue of adaptation. In the selection of a principle of division, we must take heed whether it be fertile and pertinent. A ground of division is fertile, when it affords a division out of which again other important consequences may be drawn; it is pertinent, when these consequences have a proximate relation to the end, on account of which we were originally induced to develop the extension of a concept. A principle of division may, therefore, be useful with one intent, and useless with another. Soldiers, for example, may be conveniently divided into cavalry and infantry, as this distinction has an important influence on their determination as soldiers. But in considering man in general and his relations, it would be ludicrous to divide men into foot and horsemen; while, on the contrary, their division would be here appropriate according to principles which in the former case would have been absurd. Seneca² says well, - 'Quicquid in majus crevit facilius agnoscitur, si discessit in partes; quas innumerabiles esse et parvas non oportet. Idem enim vitii habet nimia, quod nulla

1 Esser, Logik, § 137. - ED.

2 Epist., 90.

divisio. Simile confuso est, quicquid usque in pulverem sectum est.'"

Under the second head, that is, as springing from the relations of

II. From the relations of the Dividing Members to the Divided Wholes. Fourth. the Dividing Members to the Divided Wholes, there are included the fourth and fifth laws. "As the notion and the notions into which it is divided stand to each other in the relation of whole and parts, and as the whole is greater

than the part, the fourth rule is manifestly necessary, viz., That no dividing member of the predicate must by itself exhaust the subject. When this occurs, the division is vicious, or, more properly, there is no division. Thus the division of man into rational animals and uncultivated nations, would be a violation of this law.

" On the other hand, as the notions into which a notion is divided,

stand to each other in the relation of constitut-Fifth. ing parts to a constituted whole, and as the whole is only the sum of all the parts, the necessity of the fifth rule is manifest, - That the dividing members of the predicate, taken together, must exhaust the subject. For if this does not take place, then the division of the principal notion has been only partial and imperfect. We transgress this law, in the first place, when we leave out one or more members of division; as for example, - The actions of men are either good or bad, - for to these we should have added or indifferent. And in the second place, we transgress it when we coördinate a subdivision with a division; as for example, - Philosophy is either theoretical philosophy or moral philosophy: here the proper opposition would have been theoretical philosophy and practical philosophy."² On the other hand, the dividing members, taken together, must not do more than exhaust the subject. The definition of the whole must apply to every one of its parts, but this condition is not fulfilled if there be a dividing member too much, that is, if there be a notion brought as a dividing member, which, however, does not stand in subordination to the divided whole. For example, - Mathematical figures are either solids or surfaces [or lines or points]. Here the last two members (lines and points) are redundant and erroneous, for lines and points, though the elements of mathematical figures, are not themselves figures.

Under the third head, as springing from the relations of the several Dividing Members to Each Other, there is a single law, — the sixth, — which enjoins, — That the dividing members be reciprocally exclusive.

1 Krug, Logik, § 126. Anm. 4. - ED.

2 Esser, Logik, § 137. - ED.

LECT. XXV.

LOGIC.

"As a division does not present the same but the different deter-

III. From the relations of the several Dividing Members to Each Other. Sixth. minations of a single notion (for otherwise one and the same determination would be presented twice), the dividing members must be so constituted that they are not mutually coincident, so that they either in whole or in part contain

each other. This law is violated when, in the first place, a subdivision is placed above a division, as, — Philosophy is either theoretical philosophy, or moral philosophy, or practical philosophy; here moral philosophy falls into practical philosophy as a subordinate part; or when, in the second place, the same thing is divided in different points of view, as, — Human actions are either necessary, or free, or useful, or detrimental."¹

Under the fourth and last head, as arising from the relations of

IV. From the relations of the Divisions to the Subdivisions. Seventh. the Divisions to the Subdivisions, there is contained one law, the seventh, which prescribes, — That the divisions proceed continuously from immediate to mediate differences (*Divisio ne* fiat per saltum vel hiatum).

"As divisions originate in the character of a notion, capable of an opposite determination, receiving this determination, and as the subdivisions originate in these opposite determinations being themselves again capable of opposite determinations, in which gradual descent we may proceed indefinitely onwards, - from this it is evident, that the divisions should, as far as possible, be continuous, that is, the notion must first be divided into its proximate, and then into its remoter parts, and this without overleaping any one part; or in other words, each part must be immediately subordinated to its whole."² Thus, when some of the ancients divided philosophy into rational, and natural, and moral, the first and second members are merely subdivisions of theoretical philosophy, to which moral as practical philosophy is opposed. Sometimes, however, such a spring -- such a saltus -- is, for the sake of brevity, allowed; but this only under the express condition, that the omitted members are interpolated in thought. Thus, many mathematicians say, angles are either right, or acute, or obtuse, although, if the division were continuous, without hiatus, it would run, angles are either right or oblique; and the oblique, again, either acute or obtuse.

1 Esser, Logik, § 137. - ED.

2 Esser, Logik, § 137. - ED.

LECTURE XXVI.

METHODOLOGY.

SECTION II. - LOGICAL METHODOLOGY.

III. - DOCTRINE OF PROBATION.

WE now proceed to the Third Part of Pure Methodology, that Probation. which guides us to the third character or virtue of Perfect Thinking, — the Concatenation of Thought; — I mean Probation, or the Leading of Proof. I commence with the following paragraph.

¶ LXXXVI. When there are propositions or judgments

Par. LXXXVI. Probation, - its Nature and Elements. which are not intuitively manifest, and the truth of which is not admitted, then their validity can only be established when we evolve it, as an inference, from one or more

judgments or propositions. This is called *Probation*, *Proving*, or the Leading of Proof (probatio, argumentatio, or demonstratio, in its wider sense). A Probation is thus a series of thoughts, in which a plurality of different judgments stand to each other, in respect of their validity, in the dependence of determining and determined, or of antecedents and consequents. In every Probation there are three things to be distinguished, -1°. The Judgment to be proved, (thesis); 2°. The Ground or Principle of Proof, (argumentum); and, 3°. The Cogency of this principle to necessitate the connection of antecedents and consequents (vis demonstrationis or nervus probandi). From the nature of Probation, it is evident that Probation without inference is impossible; and that the Thesis to be proved and Principles of Proof stand to each other as conclusion and premises, with this difference, that, in Probation, there is a judgment (the thesis) expressly supposed, which, in the Syllogism, is not, at least necessarily, the case.¹

1 Esser, Logik, § 138. Cf. Krug, Logik, § 127. – ED. [Cf. Richter, Über den Gegenstand und den Uni/ang der Logik, § 32 et seq.]

LECT. XXVI.

LOGIC.

In regard to the terms here employed, it is to be noticed that the

Explication. Terms employed. Argumentation. Argument. term *argumentation* (*argumentatio*) is applied not only to a reasoning of many syllogisms, but likewise to a reasoning of one. The term *argument* (*argumentum*) in like manner is employed not only for the ground of a consecutive reason-

ing, but for the middle term of a single syllogism. But it is, moreover, vulgarly employed for the whole process of argumentation.¹

The term demonstration (demonstratio) is used in a looser and in a stricter signification. In the former sense,

Demonstration.

it is equivalent to probation, or argumentation

in general; in the latter, to necessary probation, or argumentation from intuitive principles.

The expression leading of proof might, perhaps, be translated by

Leading of Proof of two sorts.

the term *deduction*, but then this term must be of such a latitude as to include induction, to which it is commonly opposed; for Probation

may be either a process of Deduction, that is, the leading of proof out of one higher or more general proposition, or a process of Induction, that is, the leading of proof out of a plurality of lower or less general judgments.

To prove, is to evince the truth of a proposition not admitted to Probation in general. be true, from other propositions the truth of which is already established. In every probation there are three things to be distinguished: — 1°. The Proposition to be proved, — the Thesis; 2°. The Grounds or Principle of Proof, — the Argument; and, 3°. The Degree of Cogency with which the thesis is inferred by the argumentum or argumenta, the vis or nervus probandi. All probation is thus syllogistic; but

How distinguished from Syllogism. all syllogism is not probative. The peculiarity of probation consists in this, — that it expressly supposes a certain given proposition, a certain

thesis, to be true; to the establishment of this proposition the proof is relative; this proposition constitutes the conclusion of the syllogism, or series of syllogisms, of which the probation is made up; whereas, in the mere syllogistic process, this supposition is not

Whereon depends the logical value of a probation. necessarily involved. It is also evident that the logical value of a probation depends, 1°. On the truth of its principles or argumenta, 2°. On their connection with each other, and with the

thesis or proposition to be proved, and, 3°. On the logical for-

1 See above, p. 196. - ED. 46 361

mality of the inference of the thesis from its argumenta. No proposition can be for another the principle of proof, which is not itself either immediately or mediately certain. A proposition is immediately certain, or evident at first hand, when, by the very nature of thought, we cannot but think it to be true, and when it, therefore, neither requires nor admits of proof. A proposition is mediately certain, or evident at second hand, when it is not at once and in itself thought as necessarily true, but when we are able to deduce it, with a consciousness of certainty, from a proposition which is evident at first hand. The former of these certainties is called *selfevident*, *intuitive*, *original*, *primary*, *ultimate*, etc., and the latter, *demonstrative*, *derivative*, *secondary*, etc.

According to this distinction, the Ground or Principle of Proof

Ground of Proof either Absolute or Relative. is either an absolute or a relative. Absolute, when it is an intuitive; relative, when it is a demonstrative proposition. That every proposition must ultimately rest on some intuitive

truth, on some judgment at first hand, is manifest, if the fact of probation itself be admitted; for otherwise the regress would extend to infinity, and all probation, consequently, be impossible. When, for example, in the series of grounds H, G, F, E, D, C, B, there is no ultimate or primary A, and when, consequently, every A is only relatively, in respect of the consequent series, but not absolutely and in itself, first; — in this case, no sufficient and satisfactory probation is possible, for there always remains the question concerning a still higher principle. But positively to show that such primary judgments are actually given, is an exposition which, as purely metaphysical, lies beyond the sphere of Logic.¹

To the general form of a system of Proof belong the following

Distinction of Propositions in respect of the general form of a system of Proof.

Theoretical and Practical. distinctions of propositions, to which I formerly alluded,² and which I may again recall to your remembrance. Propositions are either *Theoretical* or *Practical*. Practical, when they enounce the way in which it is possible to effectuate or produce something; Theoretical, when they sim-

ply enunciate a truth, without respect to the way in which this may be realized or produced.³ A Theoretical proposition, if a primary

Axiom. or intuitive principle, is styled an Axiom. Examples of this are given in the four Fundamental Laws of Logic, and in the mathematical common notions —

1 Compare Esser, Logik, § 138. – ED. 2 See above, p. 187. – ED. 3 [Fries, System der Logik, § 73.] LECT. XXVI.

LOGIC.

The whole is greater than its part, -If equals be added to equals, the wholes are equal, etc. A Practical proposition, if a primary or intuitive principle, is styled a Postulate. Thus

Postulate.

Geometry postulates the possibility of drawing lines, - of producing them ad infinitum, of describing circles, etc.

A Theoretical proposition, if mediate and demonstrable, is called

a Theorem. This is laid down as a Thesis, --Theorem. as a judgment to be proved, - and is proved from intuitive principles, theoretical and practical. A Practical proposition, if mediate and demonstrable, is Problem. called a Problem. In the probation, the Prob-

lem itself is first enounced; it is then shown in the solution how that which is required is to be done, - is to be effected; and, finally, in the proof, it is demonstrated that through this procedure the solution of the problem is obtained. For example, in the geometrical problem, - to describe an equilateral triangle on a given straight line, - there this problem is first stated; the solution then shows that, with this given line as a semi-diameter, we are to describe from each of its points of termination a circle; the two circles will intersect each other, and we are then, from the point of intersection, to draw straight lines to each point of termination; this being done, the proof finally demonstrates that these circles must intersect each other, that the drawn straight lines necessarily constitute a triangle, and that this triangle is necessarily equilateral.

Corollaries or Consectaries are propositions which, as flowing

Corollaries. Empeiremata.

immediately as collateral results of others, require no separate proof. Empeiremata or Empirical Judgments are propositions, the validity of which reposes upon observation and experience. Scholia or

Scholia. Lemmata.

Comments are propositions which serve only for illustration. Lemmata or Sumptions are propositions, borrowed either from a different part of the system we treat of, or from sciences other than that in which

Hypotheses.

we now employ them. Finally, Hypotheses are propositions of two different significations. For,

in the first place, the name is sometimes given to the arbitrary assumption or choice of one out of various means of accomplishing an end; when, for example, in the division of the periphery of the circle, we select the division into 360 degrees, or when, in Arithmetic, we select the decadic scheme of numeration. But, in the second place, the name of hypothesis is more emphatically given to provisory suppositions, which serve to explain the phenomena in so far as observed, but which are only asserted to be true, if ultimately

confirmed by a complete induction. For example, the supposition of the Copernican solar system in Astronomy.¹

Now these various kinds of propositions are mutually concatenated into system by the Leading of Proof, - by Probation.

So much for the character of this process in general. The paragraph already dictated contains a summary of the various particular characters by which Probations are distinguished. Before considering these in detail, I shall offer some preparatory observations.

"The differences of Probations are dependent partly on their

The differences of Probations depend partly on their Matter and partly on their Form.

1. In respect of their Matter, Probations are Pure and Empirical.

2. In respect of their Form.

Matter, and partly on the Form in which they are expressed.

"In respect of the former ground of difference, - the Matter, - Probations are distinguished into Pure or a priori, and into Empirical or a posteriori, according as they are founded on principles which we must recognize as true, as constituting the necessary conditions of all experience, or which we do recognize as true, as particular results given by certain applications of experience. In re-

spect of the latter ground of difference, - the Form, - Probations fall into various classes according to the difference of the form itself, which is either an External or an Internal.

(a) In relation to the Internal Form, Probations are Direct or Ostensive and Indirect or Apagogical.

Synthetic or Progressive and Analytic or Regressive.

"In relation to the Internal Form, probations are divided into Direct or Ostensive and into Indirect or Apagogical, according as they are drawn from the thing itself or from its opposite, in other words, according as the principles of probation are positive or are negative."² Under the same relation of Internal Form, they are also distinguished by reference to their order of procedure, - this order being either Essential or Accidental. The

essential order of procedure regards the nature of the inference itself, as either from the whole to the part, or from the parts to the whole. The former constitutes Deductive Probation, the latter The accidental order of procedure regards only our Inductive. point of departure in considering a probation. If, commencing with the highest principle, we descend step by step to the conclusion, the process is Synthetic or Progressive; here the conclusion is evolved out of the principle. If, again, starting from the conclu-

¹ Fries, System der Logik, § 73. Krug, Logik, §§ 67, 68.]

² Esser, Logik, § 141. - ED.

LECT. XXVI.

LOGIC.

sion, we ascend step by step to the highest principle, the process is Analytic or Regressive; here the principle is evolved out of the conclusion.

(b) External Form. Probations are Simple and Composite.

Regular and Irregular. Perfect and Imperfect.

In respect to the External Form, Probations are Simple or Monosyllogistic, if they consist of a single reasoning, Composite or Polysyllogistic if they consist of a plurality of reasonings. Under the same relation of external form, they are also divided into Regular and Irregular, into Perfect and Imperfect.

Another division of Probations is by reference to their Cogency,

3. According to their degree of Cogency, Probations are Apodeictic and Probable.

or the Degree of Certainty with which their inference is drawn. But their cogency is of various degrees, and this either objectively considered, that is, as determined by the conditions of the proof itself, or subjectively considered,

that is, by reference to those on whom the proof is calculated to operate conviction. In the former, or objective relation, probations are partly Apodeictic, or Demonstrative in the stricter sense of that term, - when the certainty they necessitate is absolute and complete, that is, when the opposite alternative involves a contradiction; partly Probable, - when they do not produce an invincible assurance, but when the evidence in favor of the conclusion preponderates over that which is opposed to it. In the latter or sub-

Universally and Particularly Valid.

jective relation, probations are either Universally Valid, when they are calculated to operate conviction on all reasonable minds, or Particularly

Valid, when they are fitted to convince only certain individual minds.

Par. LXXXVII. Probations, their Divisions.

¶ LXXXVII. Probations are divided by reference to their Matter, to their Form, and to their Degree of Cogency.

In relation to their Matter, they are partly Pure or a priori, partly Empirical or a posteriori.

As to their Form, — this is either Internal or External. In respect to their Internal Form, they are, 1°, By reference to the Manner of Inference, Direct or Ostensive (Seiktikaí, ostensivæ), and Indirect or Apagogical (probationes apagogicæ reductiones ad absurdum); 2°, By reference to their Essential or Internal Order of Procedure, they are either *Deductive* or *Inductive*; 3°, By reference to their Accidental or External Order of Procedure, they are partly Synthetic or Progressive, partly Analytic or Regressive. In respect to their External Form, they are, 1°, Simple or Monosyllogistic, and Composite or Polysyllogistic; 2°, Perfect and Imperfect; 3°, Regular and Irregular.

In respect to their Degree of Cogency, they are, 1°, As objectively considered, either Apodeictic or Demonstrative in the stricter signification of the term ($d\pi\delta\delta\epsilon t\xi\epsilon s$, demonstrationes stricte dictæ), or Probable (probationes sensu latiori); 2°, As subjectively considered, they are either Universally Valid ($\kappa a \tau$ $d\lambda \eta \vartheta \epsilon tav$, secundum veritatem), or Particularly Valid ($\kappa a \tau$ $a v \vartheta \rho \omega \pi \sigma v$, ad hominem).¹

To speak now of these distinctions in detail. In the first place,

Explication. Probations, l. In respect of their Matter, are Pure and Empirical. "Probations," we have said, "in relation to their matter, are divided into Pure or *a priori*, and into Empirical or *a posteriori*. Pure or *a priori* proofs are those that rest on principles which, although rising into consciousness only on occa-

sion of some external or internal observation, of some act of experience, are still native, are still original, contributions of the mind itself, and a contribution without which no act of experience becomes possible. Proofs again are called Empirical or a posteriori, if they rest on principles which are exclusively formed from experience or observation, and whose validity is cognizable in no other way than that of experience or observation. When the principles of Probation are such as are not contingently given by experience, but spontaneously engendered by the mind itself, these principles are always characterized by the qualities of necessity and universality; consequently, a proof supported by them is elevated altogether above the possibility of doubt. When, on the other hand, the Principles of Probation are such as have only the guarantee of observation and experience for their truth, - (supposing even that the observation be correct and the experience stable and constant), - these principles, and, consequently, the probation founded on them, can pretend neither to necessity nor universality; seeing that what produces the observation or experience has only a relation to individual objects, and is only competent to inform us of what now is, but not of what always is, of what necessarily must be. Although, however, these empirical principles are impressed with the character neither of necessity nor of universality, they play a very important part in the theatre of human thought."2

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, §§ 128, 129, 130, 131, 132. Esser, Logik, § 139. - ED. [Cf. Degerando, Des Signes, t. iv. ch. 7, p. 234.] 2 Esser, Logik, § 140. - ED.

LECT. XXVI.

This distinction of Proofs, by reference to the matter of our knowl-

This distinction of Probations not taken into account by Logic.

edge, is one, indeed, which Logic does not take into account. Logic, in fact, considers every inference of a consequent from an antecedent as an inference *a priori*, supposing even that the

antecedents themselves are only of an empirical character. Thus we may say, that, from the general relations of distance found to hold between the planets, Kant and Olbers proved a priori that between Mars and Jupiter a planetary body must exist, before Ceres, Pallas, Juno, and Vesta, were actually discovered.¹ Here, however, the *a priori* principle is in reality only an empirical rule, -only a generalization from experience. But with the manner in which these empirical rules - (Bacon would call them axioms) - are themselves discovered or evolved - with this, Pure Logic has no concern. This will fall to be considered in Modified Logic, when we treat of the concrete Doctrine of Induction and Analogy.

In the second place, "in respect of their Form, and that the

2. In respect of their Form, -(a)Direct and Indirect.

Internal, Probations are, as we said, first of all, divided into Direct or Ostensive, and into Indirect or Apagogical. A proof is Direct or Ostensive, when it evinces the truth of a thesis

through positive principles, that is, immediately; it is Indirect or Apagogical, when it evinces the truth of a thesis through the falsehood of its opposite, that is, mediately. The indirect is specially called the apagogical (argumentatio apagogica sive deductio ad impossibile), because it shows that something cannot be admitted, since, if admitted, consequences would necessarily follow impossible or absurd. The Indirect or Apagogical mode of proof is estab-

lished on the principle, that that must be con-Principle of Indirect Proof.

ceded to be true whose contradictory opposite contains within itself a contradiction. This

principle manifestly rests on the Law of Contradiction, and on the Law of Excluded Middle; for what involves a contradiction it is impossible for us to think, and if a character must be denied of an object, - and that it must be so denied the probation has to show, - then the contradictory opposite of that character is of necessity to be affirmed of that object. The Direct mode of probation has undoubtedly this advantage over the Indirect, --- that it not only furnishes the sought-for truth, but also truly develops its necessary connection with its ultimate principles; whereas the Indirect demonstrates only the repugnance of some proposition with certain

1 See Kant's Vorlesungen über Physische Geographie, 1802; Werke, vi. p. 449. - ED.

truths, without, however, positively evincing the truth of its opposite, and thereby obtaining for it a full and satisfactory recognition. It is, therefore, usually employed only to constrain a troublesome opponent to silence, by a display of the absurdities which are implied in, and which would flow out of, his assertions. Nevertheless, the indirect probation establishes the proposition to be proved not less certainly than the direct; nay, it still more precisely excludes the supposition of the opposite alternative, and, consequently, affords an intenser consciousness of necessity. We ought, however, to be on our guard against the paralogisms to which it is peculiarly exposed, by taking care — 1°, That the opposites are contradictory and not contrary; and 2°, That an absurdity really is, and not merely appears to be. The differences of Apa-

Differences of Indirect or Apagogical Probations. gogical Probations correspond to the different kinds of propositions which may be indirectly demonstrated; and these are, in their widest generality, either Categorical, or Hypothetical,

or Disjunctive. Is the thesis a categorical proposition? Its contradictory opposite is supposed, and from this counter proposition conclusions are deduced, until we obtain one of so absurd a character, that we are able to argue back to the falsehood of the original proposition itself. Again, is the thesis an hypothetical judgment? The contradictory opposite of the consequent is assumed, and the same process to the same end is performed as in the case of a categorical proposition. Finally, is the thesis a disjunctive proposition? In that case, if its membra disjuncta are contradictorily opposed, we cannot, either directly or indirectly, prove it false as a whole; all that we can do being to show that one of these disjunct members cannot be affirmed of the subject, from which it necessarily follows that the other must."¹

Under the Internal Form, Probations are, in the second place, in

(b) Deductive and Inductive. respect of their Essential or Internal Order of procedure, either Deductive or Inductive, according as the thesis is proved by a process of reason-

ing descending from generals to particulars and individuals, or by a process of reasoning ascending from individuals and particulars to generals. On this subject it is not necessary to say anything, as the rules which govern the formal inference in these processes have been already stated in the Doetrine of Syllogisms; and the consideration of Induction, as modified by the general conditions of the matter to which it is applied, can only be treated of when, in the sequel, we come to Modified or Concrete Methodology.

"Under the Internal Form, Probations are, however, in the third

(c) Synthetic and Analytic. place, in respect of their External or Accidental Order of procedure, Synthetic or Progressive,

and Analytic or Regressive. A probation is called synthetic or progressive, when the conclusion is evolved out of the principles, - analytic or regressive, when the principles are evolved out of the conclusion. In the former case, the probation goes from the subject to the predicate; in the latter case, from the predicate to the subject. Where the probation is complex, - if synthetic, the conclusion of the preceding syllogism is the subsumption of that following; if analytic, the conclusion of the preceding syllogism is the sumption of that following. In respect of certainty, both procedures are equal, and each has its peculiar advantages; in consequence of which the combination of these two modes of proof is highly expedient. But the Analytic Procedure is often competent where the Synthetic is not; whereas the Synthetic is never possible where the Analytic is not, and this is never possible where we have not a requisite stock of propositions already verified. When the Probation is partly analytic, partly synthetic, it is called Mixed."1

¶ LXXXVIII. The Formal Legitimacy of a Probation is determined by the following rules.

Par. LXXXVIII. Formal Legitimacy of a Probation, -- its Rules. 1°, Nothing is to be begged, borrowed, or stolen; that is, nothing is to be presupposed as proved, which itself requires a demon-

stration. The violation of this rule affords the vice called the *Petitio principii*, or *Fallacia quæsiti medii* ($\tau \delta \epsilon \nu d\rho \chi \eta$ $a d \tau \epsilon \delta \sigma \partial a d r$).²

2°, No proposition is to be employed as a principle of proof, the truth of which is only to be evinced as a consequence of the proposition which it is employed to prove. The violation of this rule is the vice called $v\sigma\tau\epsilon\rho\rho\nu$.

3°, No circular probation is to be made; that is, the proposition which we propose to prove must not be used as a principle for its own probation. The violation of this rule is called the Orbis vel circulus in demonstrando, — diallelus, — $\delta \delta \delta^{2}$ $\delta \lambda \lambda \eta \lambda \omega \nu \tau \rho \delta \pi \sigma s.^{3}$

² [On error of this term, see Pacius, Commentarius in Org] [In Anal. Prior ii. 16. "Non est petitio $\tau \hat{\eta} s \, d\rho \chi \hat{\eta} s$, id est, principii, vel $\dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \hat{\eta} \, d\rho \chi \hat{\eta}$, id est, in principio; sed $\tau o \hat{\upsilon} \, \dot{\epsilon} \nu$ $\dot{d} \rho \chi \hat{\eta} \, \pi \rho \alpha \kappa_i \mu \dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma \nu$, id est, ejus problematis, quod initio fuit propositum et in disquisitionem vocatum." Ibid. ii. 24. — ED.]

³ See Sextus Empiricus, Pyrrh. Hyp., i. 169, ii. 68. Laertius, L. ix. §§ 88, 89. [Cf. Facciolati, Acroasis, v. p. 69 et seq.]

¹ Esser, Logik, § 142. - ED.

4°, No leap, no hiatus, must be made; that is, the syllogisms of which the probation is made up must stand in immediate or continuous connection. From the transgression of this rule results the vice called the *Saltus* vel *Hiatus in demonstrando*.

5°, The scope of the probation is not to be changed; that is, nothing is to be proved other than what it was proposed to prove. The violation of this rule gives the *Heterozetesis*, *Ignoratio* vel *Mutatio elenchi*, and the *Transitus in aliud genus* vel a genere ad genus, $-\mu\epsilon\tau \alpha\beta\alpha\sigma_{15}\epsilon_{15}\delta\lambda\lambda\sigma_{15}\gamma\epsilon_{15}$

In this paragraph, I have given, as different rules, those canons These rules reduced to two. Three rules are all manifestly only various modifications—only

special cases, — of one general law. To this law, likewise, the fourth rule may with perfect propriety be reduced, for the saltus or hiatus in probando is, in fact, no less the assumption of a proposition as a principle of probation which itself requires proof, than either the petitio principii, the hysteron proteron, or the circulus in probando. These five laws, therefore, and the correspondent vices, may all be reduced to two; ono of which regards the means, — the principles of proof; the other the end, — the proposition to be proved. The former of these laws prescribes, — That no proposition be employed as a principle of probation which stands itself in want of proof; the latter, — That nothing else be proved than the proposition for whose proof the probation was instituted. You may, therefore, add to the last paragraph the following supplement:

> ¶ LXXXIX. These rules of the logicians may, however, all be reduced to two.

Par. LXXXI	x. 1°. That no
Rules of Probatio	a Principle o
readout to their	10 1

1°, That no proposition be employed as a Principle of Probation which stands itself in need of proof.

2°, That nothing else be proved than the Proposition for whose proof the Probation was instituted.

Explication. Of these two, the former comprehends the first four rules of the logicians, — the latter the fifth. I shall now, therefore, proceed to illustrate the five rules in detail.

1 [See Reinhold, Die Logik oder die allge- 1827.] [Cf. Krug, Logik, § 133. Esser, Logik, meine Denkformenlehre, § 150, p. 407, Jena, § 144.- ED.] The First Rule — Nothing is to be begged, borrowed, or stolen; that is, nothing is to be presupposed as proved,

which itself requires a demonstration, — is, in fact, an enunciation of the first general rule I gave you, and to this, therefore, as we shall see, the second, third, and fourth are to be reduced as special applications. But, in considering this law in its

Limitation under which this Rule is to be understood. universality, it is not to be understood as if every probation were at once to be rejected as worthless, in which anything is presupposed and not proved. Were this its sense, it would be

necessary in every probation to ascend to the highest principles of human knowledge, and these themselves, as immediate and, consequently, incapable of proof, might be rejected as unproved assumptions. Were this the meaning of the law, there could be no probation whatever. But it is not to be understood in this extreme rigor. That probation alone is a violation of this law, and, consequently, alone is vicious, in which a proposition is assumed as a principle of proof, which may be doubted on the ground on which the thesis itself is doubted, and where, therefore, we prove the uncertain by the equally uncertain. The probation must, therefore, depart from such principles as are either immediately given as ultimate, or mediately admit of a proof from other sources than the proposition itself in question. When, for example, it was argued that the Newtonian theory is false, which holds colors to be the result of a diversity of parts in light, on the ground, admitted by the ancients, that the celestial bodies, and, consequently, their emanations, consist of homogeneous elements; - this reasoning was inept, for the principle of proof was not admitted by modern philosophers. Thus, when Aristotle defends the institution of slavery as a natural law, on the ground that the barbarians, as of inferior intellects, are the born bondsmen of the Greeks, and the Greeks, as of superior intellect, the born masters of the barbarians 1 - (an)argument which has, likewise, been employed in modern times in the British Parliament, with the substitution of negroes for barbarians, and whites for Greeks), - this argument is invalid, as assuming what is not admitted by the opponents of slavery. It would be a petitio principii to prove to the Mohammedan the divinity of Christ from texts in the New Testament, for he does not admit the authority of the Bible; but it would be a valid argumentum ad hominem to prove to him from the Koran the prophetic mission of Jesus, for the authority of the Koran he acknowledges.

The Second Rule, That no proposition is to be employed as a

Second Rule.

principle of proof, the truth of which is only to be evinced as a consequence of the proposition which it is em-

ployed to prove, - is only a special case of the preceding. For example, if we were to argue that man is a free agent, on the ground that he is morally responsible for his actions, or that his actions can be imputed to him, or on the ground that vice and virtue are absolutely different, - in these cases, the hysteron proteron is committed; for only on the ground that the human will is free, can man be viewed as a morally responsible agent, and his actions be imputed to him, or can the discrimination of vice and virtue, as more than a merely accidental relation, be maintained. But we must pause before we reject a reasoning on the ground of hysteron proteron; for the reasoning may still be valid, though this logical fault be committed. Nay, it is frequently necessary for us to reason by such a regress. In the very example given, if we be unable to prove directly that the will of man is free, but are able to prove that he is a moral agent, responsible for his actions, as subjected to the voluntary but unconditioned Law of Duty, and if the fact of this law of duty and its unqualified obligation involve, as a postulate, an emancipation from necessity, --- in that case, no competent objection can be taken to this process of reasoning. This, in fact, is Kant's argument. From what he calls the categorical imperative, that is, from the fact of the unconditioned law of duty as obligatory on man, he postulates, as conditions, the liberty of the human will, and the existence of a God, as the moral governor of a moral universe.1

The Third Law, - That no circular probation is to be made, that is, the proposition which we propose to prove Third Rule.

must not be used as a principle for its own probation, — this, in like manner, is only a particular case of the first. "To the Circle there are required properly two probations, which are so reciprocally related that the antecedent in the one is proved by its own consequent in the other. The proposition A is true because the proposition B is true; and the proposition B is true because the proposition A is true. A circle so palpable as this would indeed be committed by no one. The vice is usually concealed by the interpolation of intermediate propositions, or by a change in the expression."² Thus Plato, in his Phædo,³ demonstrates the immortality of the soul from its simplicity; and, in the Republic,⁴ he demonstrates its simplicity from its immortality.

2 Krug, Logik, § 133. Anm. 3. - ED. 3 P 78. -- ED. 4 B. x. p. 611. - ED.

¹ Kritik der reinen Vernunft, Methodenlehre, Hauptst., ii. Abschn., 2. Kritik der praktischen Vernunft, p. 274, ed. Rosenkranz. - ED.
Regressive and Progressive Proofs not to be confounded with the tautological Circle.

In relation to the Hysteron Proteron and the Circle, I must observe that these present some peculiar difficulties for the systematic arrangement of our knowledge. Through the Circle (the result of which is only the proof of an assertion),through the circle by itself, nothing whatever is gained for the logical development of our knowl-

edge. But we must take care not to confound the connection of Regressive and Progressive Proofs with the tautological Circle. When, in the treatment of a science out of the observed facts, we wish to generalize universal laws, we lead, in the first place, an inductive probation, that $(\delta \tau \iota)$ certain laws there are. Having assured ourselves of the existence of these laws by this regressive process, we then place them in theory at the head of a progressive or synthetic probation, in which the facts again recur, reversed and illustrated from the laws, which, in the antecedent process, they had been employed to establish; that is, it is now shown why ($\delta(\sigma\tau)$) these facts exist.

The Fourth Rule, - No leap, no gap, must be made, that is, the

syllogisms of which the probation is made up Fourth Rule. must stand in immediate or continuous connection, - may be, likewise, reduced to the first. For here the only vice is that, by an ellipsis of an intermediate link in the syllogistic chain, we use a proposition which is actually without its proof, and it is only because this proposition is as yet unproved, that its employment is illegitimate. The Saltus is, therefore, only a special case of the Petitio.

The Saltus is committed when the middle term of one of the syllogisms in a probation is not stated. If the The Saltus in demonmiddle term be too manifest to require statestrando.

ment, then is the saltus not to be blamed, for it is committed only in the expression and not in the thought. If the middle term be not easy of discovery, then the saltus is a fault; but if there be no middle term to be found, then the saltus is a vice which invalidates the whole remainder of the probation. The proper saltus, -- the real violation of this law, is, therefore, when we make a transition from one proposition to another, the two not being connected together as reason and consequent.¹ The (vulgar) Enthymeme and the Sorites do not, therefore, it is evident, involve violations of this law.

The Fifth Rule, - The scope of the probation is not to be changed, that is, nothing is to be proved other than what was pro-

posed to be proved, corresponds to the second of the two rules

Fifth Rule. Admits of three degrees. which I gave, and of which it is only a less explicit statement. It evidently admits of three kinds or degrees. In the first case, the proposition to be proved is changed by the change of

its subject or predicate into different notions. Again, the proposition may substantially remain the same, but may be changed into one either of a wider or of a narrower extension, — the second and third cases.

The first of these cases is the Mutatio Elenchi, or Transitus ad

First Degree, — Mutatio Elenchi. aliud genus, properly so called. "When a probation does not demonstrate what it ought to demonstrate, it may, if considered absolutely or

in itself, be valid; but if considered relatively to the proposition which it behooves us to prove, it is of no value. We commute by this procedure the whole scope or purport of the probation; we desert the proper object of inquiry, — the point in question. If a person would prove the existence of ghosts, and to this end prove by witness the fact of unusual noises and appearances during the night, he would prove something very different from what he proposed to establish; for this would be admitted without difficulty by those who still denied the apparition of ghosts; it, therefore, behooved him to show that the unusual phenomena were those of a spirit good or bad."¹

The two other cases, - when the proposition actually proved is

Second Degree, — in which too little is proved. either of a smaller or of a greater extension than the proposition which ought to have been proved, — are not necessarily, like the preceding, altogether irrelevant. They are, however,

compared together, of various degrees of relevancy. In the former case, where too little is proved, — here the end proposed is, to a certain extent at least, changed, and the probation results in something different from what it was intended to accomplish. For example, if we propose to prove that Sempronius is a virtuous character, and only prove the legality of his actions, we here prove something less than, something different from, what we professed to do; for we proposed to prove the internal morality, and not merely the external lawfulness, of his conduct. Such a proof is not absolutely invalid; it is not even relatively null, for the external legality is always a concomitant of internal morality. But the existence of the latter is not evinced by that of the former, for Sempronius may conform his actions to the law from expediency and not from duty.¹

In the other case, in which there is proved too much, the proba-

Third Degree, — in which too much is proved. tion is lawful, and only not adequate and precise. For example, if we propose to prove that the soul does not perish with the body, and actually prove that its dissolution is absolutely

impossible, — here the proof is only superabundant. The logical rule, — Qui nimium probat, nihil probat, is, therefore, in its universal, or unqualified expression, incorrect. The proving too much is, however, often the sign of a saltus having been committed. For example, — when a religious enthusiast argues from the strength of his persuasion, that he is, therefore, actuated by the Holy Spirit, and his views of religion consequently true, — there is here too much proved, for there is implied the antecedent, omitted by a saltus, that whoever is strongly persuaded of his inspiration is really inspired, — a proposition too manifestly absurd to bear an explicit enouncement. In this case, the apparent too much is in reality a too much which, when closely examined, resolves itself into a nothing.²

We have thus terminated the consideration of Pure or Abstract Logic, in both its Parts, and now enter on the Doctrine of Modified or Concrete Logic.

Cf. Krug, Logik, § 133. Anm. 5. - ED.
2 [Cf. Sigwart, Handbuch zu Vorlesungen über die Logik, § 407, p. 252.]

LECTURE XXVII.

MODIFIED LOGIC.

PAPT I.-MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION I.-DOCTRINE OF TRUTH AND ERROR.

TRUTH. --- ITS CHARACTER AND KINDS.

HAVING now terminated the Doctrine of Pure or Abstract Logic, we proceed to that of Modified or Concrete Modified Logic, -Logic. In entering on this subject, I have to its object. recall to your memory what has formerly been stated in regard to the object which Modified Logic proposes for consideration. Pure Logic takes into account only the necessary conditions of thought, as founded on the nature of the thinking process itself. Modified Logic, on the contrary, considers the conditions to which thought is subject, arising from the empirical circumstances, external and internal, under which exclusively it is the will of our Creator that man should manifest his faculty of thinking. Pure Logic is thus exclusively conversant with the form: Modified Logic is, likewise, occupied with the matter, of thought. And as their objects are different, so, likewise, must be their ends. The end of Pure Logic is formal truth, - the harmony of thought with thought; the end of Modified Logic is the harmony of thought with existence. Of these ends, that which Pure Logic proposes is less ambitious, but it is fully and certainly accomplished; the end which Modified Logic proposes is higher, but it is far less perfectly attained. The problems which Modified Logic has to solve may be

Its problems, — reduced to three. reduced to three: 1°, What is Truth and its contradictory opposite, — Error? 2°, What are the Causes of Error, and the Impediments to Truth,

by which man is beset in the employment of his faculties, and what are the Means of their Removal? And, 3°, What are the Subsidiaries by which Human Thought may be strengthened and guided in the exercise of its functions?

LOGIC.

From this statement it is evident that Concrete Logic might, like

And distributed between its Stoicheiology and its Methodology. Pure Logic, have been divided into a Stoicheiology and a Methodology, — the former comprising the first two heads, — the latter the third. For if to Modified Stoicheiology we refer the consideration of the nature of concrete truth

and error, and of the conditions of a merely not erroneous employment of thought, — this will be exhausted in the First and Second Chapters; whereas, if we refer to Methodology a consideration of the means of employing thought not merely without error, but with a certain positive perfection, — this is what the Third Chapter professes to expound.

I commence the First Chapter, which proposes to answer the question, — What is Truth? with its correlatives, — by the dictation of the following paragraph:

¶ XC. The end which all our scientific efforts are exerted to accomplish, is *Truth* and *Certainty*. Par. XC. Truth and Certainty, - what. Truth is the correspondence or agreement of a cognition with its object; its Crite-

rion is the necessity determined by the laws which govern our faculties of knowledge; and Certainty is the consciousness of this necessity.¹ Certainty, or the conscious necessity of knowledge, absolutely excludes the admission of any opposite supposition. Where such appears admissible, doubt and uncertainty arise. If we consider truth by relation to the degree and kind of Certainty, we have to distinguish Knowledge, Belief, and Opinion. Knowledge and Belief differ not only in degree, but in kind. Knowledge is a certainty founded upon insight; Belief is a certainty founded upon feeling. The one is perspicuous and objective; the other is obscure and subjective. Each, however, supposes the other; and an assurance is said to be a knowledge or a belief, according as the one element or the other preponderates. Opinion is the admission of something as true, where, however, neither insight nor feeling is so intense as to necessitate a perfect certainty. What prevents the admission of a proposition as certain is called *Doubt*. The approximation of the imperfect certainty of opinion to the perfect certainty of knowledge or belief is called Probability.

If we consider Truth with reference to Knowledge, and to the way in which this knowledge arises, we must distinguish

¹ Cf. Twesten, Die Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, § 306. - ED.

Empirical or a posteriori, from Pure or a priori Truth. The former has reference to cognitions which have their source in the presentations of Perception, External and Internal, and which obtain their form by the elaboration of the Understanding or Faculty of Relations ($\delta\iota \dot{a}\nu o\iota a$). The latter is contained in the necessary and universal cognitions afforded by the Regulative Faculty — Intellect Proper — or Common Sense ($\nu o \hat{\nu}_s$).

This paragraph, after stating that Truth and Certainty constitute Explication. the end of all our endeavors after knowledge, for only in the attainment of truth and certainty can we possibly attain to knowledge or science; —I say, after the statement of this manifest proposition, — it proceeds to define what is meant by the two terms *Truth* and *Certainty*; and, to commence with the former, — Truth is defined, the correspondence or agreement of a cognition or cognitive act of thought with its object.

The question — What is Truth? is an old and celebrated prob-Truth, - what. It was proposed by the Roman Governor — by Pontius Pilate — to our Saviour; and it is a question which still recurs, and is still keenly agitated in the most recent schools of Philosophy. In one respect, all are nearly agreed in regard to the definition of the term, for

Definition of the term.

all admit that by truth is understood a harmony, an agreement, a correspondence between our

thought and that which we think about. This definition of truth we owe to the schoolmen. "Veritas intellectus," says Aquinas, "est adæquatio intellectus et rei, secundum quod intellectus dicit esse, quod est, vel non esse, quod non est."¹ From the schoolmen, this definition has been handed down to modern philosophers, by whom it is currently employed, without, in general, a suspicion of its origin. It is not, therefore, in regard to the meaning of the term *truth*, that there is any difference of opinion among philoso-

Questions in debate regarding Truth. phers. The questions which have provoked discussion, and which remain, as heretofore, without a definitive solution, are not whether truth be

the harmony of thought and reality, but whether this harmony, or truth, be attainable, and whether we possess any criterion by which we can be assured of its attainment. Considering, however, at present only the meaning of the term, philosophers have divided Truth (or the harmony of thought and its object) into different

LOGIC.

species, to which they have given diverse names; but they are at one neither in the division nor in the nomenclature.

It is plain that for man there can only be conceived two kinds of

For man only two kinds of Truth, -- Formal and Real. Truth, because there are for human thought only two species of object. For that about which we think must either be a thought, or something which a thought contains. On this

is founded the distinction of Formal Knowledge and Real Knowledge, — of Formal Truth and Real Truth. Of these in their order.

I. In regard to the former, a thought abstracted from what it

I. Formal Truth.

contains, that is, from its matter or what it is conversant about, is the mere form of thought.

The knowledge of the form of thought is a formal knowledge, and the harmony of thought with the form of thought is, consequently,

Formal Truth of two kinds, Logical and Mathematical. Formal Truth. Now Formal Knowledge is of two kinds; for it regards either the conditions of the Elaborative Faculty, — the Faculty of Thought Proper, — or the conditions of our

Presentations or Representations of external things, that is, the intuitions of Space and Time. The former of these sciences is Pure Logic, — the science which considers the laws to which the Understanding is astricted in its elaborative operations, without inquiring what is the object, — what is the matter, to which these operations are applied. The latter of these sciences is Mathematics, or the science of Quantity, which considers the relations of Time and Space, without inquiring whether there be any actual reality in space or time. Formal truth will, therefore, be of two kinds, — Logical and Mathematical. Logical truth is the harmony

Logical Truth.

or agreement of our thoughts with themselves as thoughts, in other words, the correspondence

of thought with the universal laws of thinking. These laws are the object of Pure or General Logic, and in these it places the criterion of truth. This criterion is, however, only the negative condition — only the conditio sine qua non, of truth. Logical truth is supposed in supposing the possibility of thought; for all thought presents a combination, the elements of which are repugnant or congruent, but which cannot be repugnant and congruent at the same time. Logic might be true, although we possessed no truth beyond its fundamental laws; although we knew nothing of any real existence beyond the formal hypothesis of its possibility.

But were the Laws of Logic purely subjective, that is, were they true only for our thought alone, and without any objective validity,

all human sciences (and Mathematics among the rest) would be purely subjective likewise; for we are cognizant of objects only under the forms and rules of which Logic is the scientific development. If the true character of objective validity be universality, the laws of Logic are really of that character, for these laws constrain us, by their own authority, to regard them as the universal laws not only of human thought, but of universal reason.

The ease is the same with the other formal science, the science of Quantity, or Mathematics. Without inquiring Mathematical Truth. into the reality of existences, and without borrowing from or attributing to them anything, Arithmetic, the science of Discrete Quantity, creates its numbers, and Geometry, the science of Continuous Quantity, creates its figures; and both operate upon these their objects in absolute independence of all external actuality. The two mathematical sciences are dependent for their several objects only on the notion of time and the notion of space, - notions under which alone matter can be conceived as possible, for all matter supposes space, and all matter is moved in space and in time. But to the notions of space and time the existence or non-existence of matter is indifferent; indifferent, consequently, to Geometry and Arithmetic, so long at least as they remain in the lofty regions of pure speculation, and do not descend to the practical application of their principles. If matter had no existence, nay, if space and time existed only in our minds, mathematics would still be true; but their truth would be of a purely formal and ideal character, --would furnish us with no knowledge of objective realities.¹

So much for Formal Truth, under its two species of Logical and Mathematical.

The other genus of truth - (the end which the Real Sciences

II. Real Truth. Real and Formal Sciences. propose) — is the harmony between a thought and its matter. The Real Sciences are those which have a determinate reality for their object, and which are conversant about existences

other than the forms of thought. The Formal Sciences have a superior certainty to the real; for they are simply ideal combinations, and they construct their objects without inquiring about their objective reality. The real sciences are sciences of fact, for the

Under the Real Sciences are included the Mental and Material. point from which they depart is always a fact, always a presentation. Some of these rest on the presentations of Self-consciousness, or the facts of mind; others on the presentations of

Sensitive Perception, or the facts of nature. The former are the

LOGIC.

Mental Sciences, the latter the Material. The facts of mind are given partly as contingent, partly as necessary; the latter — the necessary facts — are universal virtually and in themselves; the former — the contingent facts — only obtain a fictitious universality by a process of generalization. The facts of nature, however necessary in themselves, are given to us only as contingent and isolated phænomena; they have, therefore, only that conditional, that empirical, generality, which we bestow on them by classification.

Real truth is, therefore, the correspondence of our thoughts with

How can we know that there is a correspondence between our thought and its object? the existences which constitute their objects. But here a difficulty arises; — How can we know that there is, that there can be, such a correspondence? All that we know of the objects is through the presentations of our faculties; but whether these present the objects as they are in

themselves, we can never ascertain, for to do this it would be requisite to go out of ourselves, - out of our faculties, - to obtain a knowledge of the objects by other faculties, and thus to compare our old presentations with our new. But all this, even were the supposition possible, would be incompetent to afford us the certainty required. For were it possible to leave our old, and to obtain a new, set of faculties, by which to test the old, still the veracity of these new faculties would be equally obnoxious to doubt as the veracity of the old. For what guarantee could we obtain for the credibility in the one case, which we do not already possess in the other? The new faculties could only assert their own truth; but this is done by the old; and it is impossible to imagine any presentations of the non-ego by any finite intelligence, to which a doubt might not be raised, whether these presentations were not merely subjective modifications of the conscious ego itself. All that could be said in answer to such a doubt is, that if such were true, our whole nature is a lie, - a supposition which is not, without the strongest evidence, to be admitted; and the argument is as competent against the skeptic in our present condition, as it would be were we endowed with any other conceivable form of Acquisitive and Cognitive Faculties. But I am here trenching on what ought to be reserved for an explanation of the Criterion of Truth.

Such, as it appears to me, is the only rational division of Truth

Real Truth, — its subdivisions. according to the different character of the objects to which thought is relative, — into Formal and into Real Truth. Formal Truth, as we

have seen, is subdivided into Logical and into Mathematical. Real Truth might likewise be subdivided, were this requisite, into various LOGIC. °

species. For example, Metaphysical Truth might denote the harmony of thought with the necessary facts of mind;

Metaphysical. Psychological. Physical.

ical. dical. al. Psychological Truth, the harmony of thought with the contingent facts of mind; and Physical Truth, the harmony of thought with the phæexternal experience

nomena of external experience.

It now remains to say a word in regard to the confusion which has been introduced into this subject by the

Various applications of the term *Truth*.

has been introduced into this subject, by the groundless distinctions and contradictions of philosophers. Some have absurdly given the

name of *truth* to the mere reality of existence, altogether abstracted from any conception or judgment relative to it, in any intelligence human or divine. In this sense *physical truth* has been used to denote the actual existence of a thing. Some have given the name of *metaphysical truth* to the congruence of the thing with its idea in the mind of the Creator. Others again have bestowed the name of *metaphysical truth* on the mere logical possibility of being thought; while they have denominated by *logical truth* the metaphysical or physical correspondence of thought with its objects. Finally, the term *moral* or *ethical truth* has been given to veracity, or the correspondence of thought with its expression. In this last case, truth is not, as in the others, employed in relation to thought and its object, but to thought and its enouncement. So much for the notion, and the principal distinctions of Truth.

But, returning to the paragraph, I take the next clause, which is,

The Criterion of Truth.

- "The Criterion of truth is the necessity determined by the laws which govern our faculties of knowledge; and the consciousness of this

necessity is certainty." That the necessity of a cognition, that is, the impossibility of thinking it other than as it is presented, — that this necessity, as founded on the laws of thought, is the criterion of truth, is shown by the circumstance that where such necessity is found, all doubt in regard to the correspondence of the cognitive thought and its object must vanish; for to doubt whether what we necessarily think in a certain manner, actually exists as we conceive it, is nothing less than an endeavor to think the necessary as the not necessary or the impossible, which is contradictory.

What has just been said also illustrates the truth of the next sentence of the paragraph, — viz., "Certainty or the conscious necessity of a cognition absolutely excludes the admission of any opposite supposition. When such is found to be admissible, doubt and uncertainty arise." This sentence requiring no explanation, I proceed to the next — viz., "If we consider truth by relation to the degree

LOGIC.

and kind of Certainty, we have to distinguish Knowledge, Belief, and Opinion. Knowledge and Belief differ not only in degree but in kind. Knowledge is a certainty founded on intuition. Belief is a certainty founded upon feeling. The one is perspicuous and objective, the other is obscure and subjective. Each, however, supposes the other, and an assurance is said to be a knowledge or a belief, according as the one element or the other preponderates."

In reference to this passage, it is necessary to say something in

Knowledge and Belief, -- their difference.

That the certainty of all knowledge is ultimately resolvable into a certainty of Belief, maintained by Luther. regard to the difference of Knowledge and Belief. In common language the word *Belief* is often used to denote an inferior degree of certainty. We may, however, be equally certain of what we believe as of what we know, and it has, not without ground, been maintained by many philosophers, both in ancient and in modern times, that the certainty of all knowledge is, in its ultimate analysis, resolved into a certainty

of belief. "All things," says Luther, "stand in a belief, in a faith, which we can neither see nor comprehend. The man who would make these visible, manifest, and comprehensible, has vexation and heart-grief for his reward. May the Lord increase Belief in you and in others."¹ But you may perhaps think that the saying of Luther is to be taken theologically, and that, philosophically considered, all belief ought to be founded on knowledge, not all knowledge in belief. But the same doctrine is held even by those philosophers who are the least disposed to mysticism or blind faith.

Aristotle. Among these Aristotle stands distinguished. He defines science, strictly so called, or the knowledge of indubitable truths, merely by the intensity of our conviction or subjective assurance;² and on a primary and incomprehensible belief he hangs the whole chain of our comprehensible or mediate knowledge. The doctrine which has been called *The Philosophy of Common Sense*, is the doctrine which founds all our knowledge on belief; and, though this has not been signalized, the doctrine of Common Sense is perhaps better stated by the Stagirite than by any succeeding thinker. "What," he says, "appears to all men, that we affirm to be, and he who rejects this belief ($\pi i \sigma r s$) will assuredly advance nothing better worthy of credit." This passage is from his *Nicomachean Ethics.*³ But, in his Physical Treatises, he founds in belief the knowledge we have of the reality of motion,

1 Weisheit, Th. iii. Abth., 2. Quoted by Sir effect

effect are cited by the Author, *Reid's Works*, p. 771. - ED. ³ B. x. c. 2. - ED.

W. Hamilton, Reid's Works, p. 778. - ED.

² Various passages from Aristotle to this

and by this, as a source of knowledge paramount to the Understanding, he supersedes the contradictions which are involved in our conception of motion, and which had so acutely been evolved by the Eleatic Zeno, in order to show that motion was impossible.¹ In like manner, in his Logical Treatises, Aristotle shows that the primary or ultimate principles of knowledge must be incomprehensible; for if comprehensible, they must be comprehended in some higher notion, and this again, if not itself incomprehensible, must be again comprehended in a still higher, and so on in a progress ad infinitum, which is absurd.² But what is given as an ultimate and incomprehensible principle of knowledge, is given as a fact, the existence of which we must admit, but the reasons of whose existence we cannot know, - we cannot understand. But such an admission, as it is not a knowledge, must be a belief; and thus it is that, according to Aristotle, all our knowledge is in its root a blind, a passive faith, in other words, a feeling. The same doctrine was

The Platonists. Proclus. subsequently held by many of the acutest thinkers of ancient times, more especially among the Platonists; and of these Proclus is perhaps the

philosopher in whose works the doctrine is turned to the best account.³ In modern times we may trace it in silent operation, though not explicitly proclaimed, or placed as the foundation of a system. It is found spontaneously recognized even by those who

Hume.

nd spontaneously recognized even by those who might be supposed the least likely to acknowledge it without compulsion. Hume, for exam-

ple, against whose philosophy the doctrine of Common Sense was systematically arrayed, himself pointed out the weapons by which his adversaries subsequently assailed his skepticism; for he himself was possessed of too much philosophical acuteness not to perceive that the root of knowledge is belief. Thus, in his *Inquiry*, he says — "It seems evident that men are carried by a natural instinct or prepossession to repose fuith in their senses: and that, without any reasoning, or even almost before the use of reason, we always suppose an external universe which depends not on our preception, but would exist though we and every sensible creature were absent or annihilated. Even the animal creation are governed by a like opinion, and preserve this belief, — the belief of external objects, in all their thoughts, designs, and actions. . . . This very table, which we see white, and which we feel hard, is believed to exist

¹ B. viii. c. 3. See Reid's Works, p. 773.- ED. 3 In Platonis Theologiam, i. c. 25. Quoted

² Metaphys., iii. (iv.) 4. Cf. Anal. Post., i. 2, in Reid's Works, p. 776. - ED.

^{3. —} Ed.

independent of our perception, and to be something external to our mind which perceives it."1

But, on the other hand, the manifestation of this belief necessa-

The manifestation of Belief involves Knowledge.

Intuition, - what.

The question as to

the relation of Belief

and Knowledge prop-

erly metaphysical.

rily involves knowledge; for we cannot believe without some consciousness or knowledge of the belief, and, consequently, without some consciousness or knowledge of the object of the belief. Now, the immediate consciousness of an object is called an

intuition, - an insight. It is thus impossible to separate belief and knowledge, -- feeling and

intuition. They each suppose the other.

The consideration, however, of the relation of Belief and Knowledge does not properly belong to Logic, except in so far as it is necessary to explain the nature of Truth and Error. It is altogether a metaphysical discussion; and one of the most difficult problems of which Meta-

physics attempts the solution.

The remainder of the paragraph contains the statement of certain distinctions and the definition of certain terms, which it was necessary to signalize, but which do not require any commentary for their illustration. The only part that might have required an explanation is the distinction of Truth into Pure, or a priori, and into Empirical, or a posteriori. The explanation of this division has been already given more than once in the course of the Lectures,² but the following may now be added.

Experience presents to us only individual objects, and as these

Pure and Empirical Truth.

individual objects might or might not have come within our sphere of observation, our whole knowledge of and from these objects

might or might not exist; - it is merely accidental or contingent. But as our knowledge of individual objects affords the possibility, as supplying the whole contents, of our generalized or abstracted notions, our generalized or abstracted notions are, consequently, not more necessary to thought, than the particular observations out of which they are constructed. For example, every horse I have seen I might not have seen; and I feel no more necessity to think the reality of a horse than the reality of a hippogriff; I can, therefore, easily annihilate in thought the existence of the whole species. I can suppose it not to be, - not to have been. The case is the same

¹ Inquiry concerning the Human Understand-² See above, Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 403 ing, sect. 12. Philosophical Works, iv. p. 177. et seq. Cf. Esser, Logik, §§ 4, 171. - ED. - ED. [Fries, Logik, § 124.]

with every other notion which is mediately or immediately the datum of observation. We can think away each and every part of the knowledge we have derived from experience; our whole empirical knowledge is, therefore, a merely accidental possession of the mind.

But there are notions in the mind of a very different character, notions which we cannot but think, if we think at all. These, therefore, are notions necessary to the mind; and, as necessary, they cannot be the product of experience. For example, I perceive something to begin to be. I feel no necessity to think that this thing must be at all, but thinking it existent, I cannot but think that it has a cause. The notion, or rather the judgment, of Cause and Effect, is, therefore, necessary to the mind. If so, it cannot be derived from experience.

LECTURE XXVIII.

MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION I. - DOCTRINE OF TRUTH AND ERROR.

SECTION II. - ERROR, - ITS CAUSES AND REMEDIES.

A. — GENERAL CIRCUMSTANCES — SOCIETY.

I now proceed to the consideration of the opposite of Truth, — Error, and, on this subject, give you the following paragraph :

¶ XCI. Error is opposed to Truth; and Error arises, 1°, Far. XCI. Error, its character and sources. From the commutation of what is Subjective with what is Objective in thought; 2°, From the Contradiction of a supposed knowledge with its Laws; or, 3°, From a want of Adequate Activity in our Cognitive Faculties.

Error is to be discriminated from *Ignorance* and from *Illusion*; these, however, along with Arbitrary Assumption, afford

the most frequent occasions of error.¹ This paragraph consists of two parts, and these I shall successively consider. The first is : 'Error is opposed to truth ; and Error arises, 1°, From the com-

mutation of what is subjective with what is objective in thought; 2°, From the contradiction of a supposed knowledge with its laws; or, 3°, From a want of adequate activity in our cognitive faculties.' "In the first place, we have seen that Truth is the agreement of

Error, - what. a thought with its object. Now, as Error is the opposite of truth, - Error must necessarily consist in a want of this agreement. In the second place, it has been

¹ Twesten, Die Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, §§ 308, 309. – ED. [Cf. Ruiz, Commentarius de Scientia, etc. Disp. xcii. p. 925.]

LOGIC.

shown that the criterion or standard of truth is the necessity founded on the laws of our cognitive faculties; and from this it follows that the essential character of error must be, either that it is not founded on these laws, or that it is repugnant to them. But these two alternatives may be viewed as only one; for inasmuch as, in the former case, the judgment remains undecided, and can make no pretence to certainty, it may be thrown out of account no less than in the latter, where, as positively contradictory of the laws of knowledge, it is necessarily false. Of these statements the first.

As Material.

that is, the non-agreement of a notion with its object, is error viewed on its material side; and

as a notion is the common product, - the joint result afforded by the reciprocal action of object and subject, it is evident that whatever the notion contains not correspondent to the object, must be a contribution by the thinking subject alone, and we are thus warranted in saying that Material Error consists in the commuting of what is subjective with what is objective in thought; in other words, in mistaking an ideal illusion for a real representation. The

As Formal. laws of knowledge, is error viewed on its formal side. Now here the question at once presents itself, - How can an act of cognition

Arises from the want of adequate activity of the Cognitive Faculties.

contradict its own laws? The answer is that it cannot; and error, when more closely scrutinized, is found not so much to consist in the contradictory activity of our cognitive faculties as in their want of activity. And this may be in consequence of one or

second of these statements, that is, the incon-

gruence of the supposed cognition with the

other of two causes. For it may arise from some other mental power, - the will, for example, superseding, taking the place of, the defective cognition, or, by its intenser force, turning it aside and leading it to a false result; or it may arise from some want of relative perfection in the object, so that the cognitive faculty is not determined by it to the requisite degree of action.

"What is actually thought, cannot but be correctly thought. Error first commences when thinking is remitted, and can in fact only gain admission in virtue of the truth which it contains; -every error is a perverted truth. Hence Descartes¹ is justified in the establishment of the principle, - that we would never admit the false for the true, if we would only give assent to what we clearly and distinctly apprehend. 'Nihil nos unquam falsum pro vero admissuros, si tantum iis assensum præbeamus, quæ clare et

distincte percipimus.'"¹ In this view the saying of the Roman poet —

"Nam neque decipitur ratio, nee decipit unquam," 2

— is no longer a paradox; for the condition of error is not the activity of intelligence, but its inactivity.

So much for the first part of the paragraph. The second is -

Error discriminated from Ignorance and Illusion. ⁶ Error is to be discriminated from Ignorance and from Illusion, which, however, along with Arbitrary Assumption, afford the usual occasions of Error.²

"Ignorance is a mere negation, — a mere not-knowledge; whereas in error there lies a positive pretence to knowl-

edge. Hence a representation, be it imperfect, be it even without any correspondent objective reality, is not in itself an error. The imagination of a hippogriff is not in itself false; the Orlando Furioso is not a tissue of errors. Error only arises when we attribute to the creations of our minds some real object, by an assertory judgment; we do not err and deceive either ourselves or others, when we hold and enounce a subjective or problematic supposition only for what it is. Ignorance, - not knowledge, - however, leads to error, when we either regard the unknown as non-existent, or when we falsely fill it up. The latter is, however, as much the result of Will, of arbitrary assumption, as of ignorance; and, frequently, it is the result of both together. In general, the will has no inconsiderable share in the activity by which knowledge is realized. The will has not immediately an influence on our judgment, but mediately it has. Attention is an act of volition, and attention furnishes to the Understanding the elements of its decision. The will determines whether we shall carry on our investigations, or break them off, content with the first apparent probability; and whether we shall apply our observations to all, or, only partially, to certain, momenta of determination.

"The occasions of Error which lie in those qualities of Presenta-

Ulusion. tion, Representation, and Thought arising from the conditions and influences of the thinking subject itself, are called *Illusions*. But the existence of illusion does not necessarily imply the existence of error. Illusion becomes error only when we attribute to it objective truth; whereas illusion is no error when we regard the fallacious appearance as a mere subjective affection. In the jaundice, we see everything tinged with yellow, in consequence of the suffusion of the eye with bile. In

1 Twesten, Logik, § 308. - ED.

2 Manilius, il. 131. – ED.

LOGIC.

this case, the yellow vision is illusion; and it would become error, were we to suppose that the objects we perceive were really so colored. All the powers which coöperate to the formation of our

Its sources.

judgments, may become the sources of illusion, and, consequently, the occasions of error. The

Senses,¹ the Presentative Faculties, External and Internal, the Representative, the Retentive, the Reproductive, and the Elaborative, Faculties, are immediate, the Feelings and the Desires are mediate, sources of illusion. To these must be added the Faculty of Signs, in all its actual manifestations in language. Hence we speak of sensible, psychological, moral, and symbolical, illusion."² In all these relations the causes of illusion are partly general, partly particular; and though they proximately manifest themselves in some one or other of these forms, they may ultimately be found contained in the circumstances by which the mental character of the individual is conformed. Taking, therefore, a general view of all the possible Sources of Error, I think they may be reduced to the following classes, which, as they constitute the heads and determine the order of the ensuing discussion, I shall comprise in the following paragraph, with which commences the consideration of the Second Chapter of Modified Logic. Before, however, proceeding to consider these several classes in their

Bacon's classification of the sources of error. order, I may observe that Bacon is the first philosopher who attempted a systematic enumeration of the various sources of error;³ and his quaint classification of these, under the signifi-

cant name of *idols*, into the four genera of Idols of the Tribe (*idola tribus*), Idols of the Den (*idola specus*), Idols of the Forum (*idola fori*), which may mean either the market-place, the bar, or the place of public assembly, and Idols of the Theatre (*idola theatri*), he thus briefly characterizes.

¶ XCII. The Causes and Occasions of Error are comprehended in one or other of the four following classes. For they are found either, 1°, In the General Circumstances which mod-

ify the intellectual character of the individual; or, 2°, In the

1 La Fontaine. See Mazure, Cours de Philosophie, ii. 241. [Toutes les sciences naturelles ne sont autre chose qu'une guerre ouverte de la raison contre les déceptions de la sensibilité..... c'est-a-dire, qu'elles out pour objet de réformer les erreurs de nos sens, et de substituer les réalités de la science aux apparences factices que nos sons nous suggèrent. C'est ce que La Fontaine a très bien exprimé dans les vers suivant:

² [Twesten, Logik, § 309, pp. 288, 289. Cf. Sigwart, Logik, §§ 484, 485.]

3 Novum Organum, i. Aph. xxxix. - ED.

[&]quot;Quand l'eau courbe un bâton, ma raison le rodresse," etc. — Ep.

LOGIC.

Constitution, Habits, and Reciprocal Relations of his powers of Cognition, Feeling, and Desire; or, 3°, In the Language which he employs, as an Instrument of Thought and a Medium of Communication; or, 4°, In the nature of the Objects themselves, about which his knowledge is conversant.

¶ XCIII. Under the General Circumstances which modify

Par. XCIII. I. General circumstances which modify the character of the individual. the character of the individual, are comprehended, 1°. The particular degree of Cultivation to which his nation has attained; for its rudeness, the partiality of its civilization, and its over-refinement are all mani-

fold occasions of error; and this cultivation is expressed not merely in the state of the arts and sciences, but in the degree of its religious, political, and social advancement; 2°. The Stricter Associations, in so far as these tend to limit the freedom of thought, and to give it a one-sided direction; such are Schools, Sects, Orders, Exclusive Societies, Corporations, Castes, etc.¹

In the commencement of the Course, I had occasion to allude to

Explication. Man by nature social, and influenced by the opinions of his fellows. the tendency there is in man to assimilate in opinions and habits of thought to those with whom he lives.² Man is by nature, not merely by accidental necessity, a social being. For only in society does he find the conditions

which his different faculties require for their due development and application. But society, in all its forms and degrees, from a family to a State, is only possible under the condition of a certain harmony of sentiment among its members; and as man is by nature destined to a social existence, he is by nature determined to that analogy of thought and feeling which society supposes, and out of which society springs. There is thus in every association, great and small, a certain gravitation of opinions towards a common centre. As in our natural body every part has a necessary sympathy with every other, and all together form, by their harmonious conspiration, a healthy whole; so, in the social body, there is always a strong predisposition in each of its members to act and think in unison with the rest. This universal sympathy or fellow-feeling is the principle of the different spirit dominant in different ages, countries, ranks, sexes, and periods of life. It is the cause why fashions, why political and religious enthusiasm, why moral example

1 Bachmann, Logik, §§ 402, 403. - ED. 2 See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 59. - ED.

either for good or evil, spread so rapidly and exert so powerful an influence. As men are naturally prone to imitate others, they, consequently, regard as important or insignificant, as honorable or disgraceful, as true or false, as good or bad, what those around them consider in the same light.¹

Of the various testimonies I formerly quoted, of the strong as-

Pascal quoted on the power of custom.

similating influence of man on man, and of the power of custom to make that appear true, natural, and necessary, which in reality is false, un-

natural, and only accidentally suitable, I shall only adduce that of Pascal. "In the just and the unjust," says he, "we find hardly anything which does not change its character in changing its climate. Three degrees of an elevation of the pole reverses the whole of jurisprudence. A meridian is decisive of truth, and a few years, of possession. Fundamental laws change. Right has its epochs. A pleasant justice which a river or a mountain limits! Truth on this side the Pyrenees, error on the other !"2 It is the remark of an ingenious philosopher, "that if we take a survey of the universe, all nations will be found admiring only the reflection of their own qualities, and contemning in others whatever is contrary to what they are accustomed to meet with among themselves. Here is the Englishman accusing the French of frivolity; and here the Frenchman reproaching the Englishman with selfishness and brutality. Here is the Arab persuaded of the infallibility of his Caliph, and deriding the Tartar who believes in the immortality of the Grand Lama. In every nation we find the same congratulation of their own wisdom, and the same contempt of that of their neighbors.

"Were there a sage sent down to earth from heaven, who regulated his conduct by the dictates of pure reason alone, this sage would be universally regarded as a fool. He would be, as Socrates says, like a physician accused by the pastry-cooks, before a tribunal of children, of prohibiting the eating of tarts and cheese-cakes; a crime undoubtedly of the highest magnitude in the eyes of his judges. In vain would this sage support his opinions by the clearest arguments, — the most irrefragable demonstrations; the whole world would be for him like the nation of hunchbacks, among whom, as the Indian fabulists relate, there once upon a time appeared a god, young, beautiful, and of consummate symmetry. This god, they add, entered the capital; he was there forthwith surrounded by a crowd of natives; his figure appeared to them extra-

² Pensées, partie i. art. vi. § 8 (vol. ii. p 126, ed. Faugere). Comp. Lect. on Metaphysics, p. 60.

^{1 [}Meiners, Untersuchungen über die Denkkräfte unde Willenskrafte des Menschen, ii. 322.]

LOGIC.

ordinary; laughter, hooting, and taunts manifested their astonishment, and they were about to carry their outrages still further, had not one of the inhabitants (who had undoubtedly seen other men), in order to snatch him from the danger, suddenly cried out — 'My friends! my friends! What are we going to do? Let us not insult this miserable monstrosity. If heaven has bestowed on us the general gift of beauty, — if it has adorned our backs with a mount of flesh, let us with pious gratitude repair to the temple and render our acknowledgment to the immortal gods.'" This fable is the history of human vanity. Every nation admires its own defects, and contemus the opposite qualities in its neighbors. To succeed in a country, one must be a bearer of the national hump of the people among whom he sojourns.

There are few philosophers who undertake to make their country-

The art of doubting well difficult to teach and to learn. men aware of the ridiculous figure they cut in the eye of reason; and still fewer the nations who are able to profit by the advice. All are so punctiliously attached to the interests of their

vanity, that none obtain in any country the name of wise, except those who are fools of the common folly. There is no opinion too absurd not to find nations ready to believe it, and individuals prompt to be its executioners or its martyrs. Hence it is that the philosopher declared, that if he held all truths shut up within his hand, he would take especial care not to show them to his fellowmen. In fact, if the discovery of a single truth dragged Galileo to the prison, to what punishment would he not be doomed who should discover all? Among those who now ridicule the folly of the human intellect, and are indignant at the persecution of Galileo, there are few who would not, in the age of that philosopher, have clamored for his death. They would then have been imbued with different opinions; and opinions not more passively adopted than those which they at present vaunt as liberal and enlightened. To learn to doubt of our opinions, it is sufficient to examine the powers of the human intellect, to survey the circumstances by which it is affeeted, and to study the history of human follies. Yet in modern Europe six centuries elapsed from the foundation of Universities until the appearance of that extraordinary man, - I mean Descartes, - whom his age first persecuted, and then almost worshipped as a demi-god, for initiating men in the art of doubting, - of doubting well, - a lesson at which, however, both their skepticism and credulity show that, after two centuries, they are still but awkward scholars. Socrates was wont to say - "All that I know is)

that I know nothing."¹ In our age it would seem that men know everything except what Socrates knew. Our errors would not be so frequent were we less ignorant; and our ignorance more curable, did we not believe ourselves to be all-wise.

Thus it is that the influence of Society, both in its general form of a State or Nation, and in its particular forms of Schools, Sects, etc., determines a multitude of opinions in its members, which, as they are passively received, so they are often altogether erroneous.

Among the more general and influential of these there are two,

Two general forms of the influence of example.

1. Prejudice in favor of the Old. which, though apparently contrary, are, however, both, in reality, founded on the same incapacity of independent thought, — on the same influence of example, — I mean the excessive admiration of the Old, and the excessive admi-

ration of the New. The former of these prejudices,² — under which may be reduced the prejudice in favor of Authority, — was at one time prevalent to an extent of which it is difficult for us to form a conception. This prejudice is prepared by the very education not

Prepared by Education. only which we do, but which we all must receive. The child necessarily learns everything at first on credit, — he believes upon authority.

But when the rule of authority is once established, the habit of passive acquiescence and belief is formed, and, once formed, it is not again always easily thrown off. When the child has grown up to an age in which he might employ his own reason, he has acquired a large stock of ideas; but who can calculate the number of errors which this stock contains? and by what means is he able to discriminate the true from the false? His mind has been formed to obedience and uninquiry; he possesses no criterion by which to judge; it is painful to suspect what has been long venerated, and it is felt even as a kind of personal mutilation to tear up what has become irradicated in his intellectual and moral being. Ponere difficile est que placuere diu. The adult does not, therefore, often judge for himself more than the child; and the tyranny of authority and foregone opinion continues to exert a sway during the whole course of his life. In our infancy and childhood the credit accorded to our parents and instructors is implicit; and if what we have learned from them be confirmed by what we hear from others, the opinions

² [On Prejudice in general see the following works: — Dumarsais, Essai sur les Préjugés, new ed., Paris, 1822. Examen de l'Essai sur les Préjugés, Berl. 1777. Essai sur les Préjugés, Neuchätel, 1786. J. B. Sulques, Des Erreurs et des Préjugés répandus dans la Societé, Paris, 1810–1813, 3 vols. 8vo. J. L. Castillon, Essai sur les Erreurs et les superstitions Anciennes et Modernes, Amsterdam, 1765; Paris, 1767. Sir Thomas Brown, Vulgar Errors. Glanvil, Essays.]

¹ Plato, Apol., p. 23. - ED.

LOGIC.

thus recommended become at length stamped in almost indelible characters upon the mind. This is the cause why men so rarely abandon the opinions which vulgarly pass current; and why what comes as new is by so many, for its very novelty, rejected as false. And hence it is, as already noticed, that truth is as it were geographically and politically distributed; what is truth on one side of a boundary being error and absurdity on the other. What has now been said of the influence of society at large, is true also of the lesser societies which it contains, all of which impose with a stronger or feebler, a wider or more contracted, authority, certain received opinions upon the faith of the members. Hence it is that whatever has once obtained a recognition in any society, large or small, is not rejected when the reasons on which it was originally admitted have been proved erroneous. It continues, even for the reason that it is old and has been accepted, to be accepted still; and the title which was originally defective, becomes valid by continuance and prescription.

But opposed to this cause of error, from the prejudice in favor of

2. Prejudice in favor of the New.

the Old, there is the other, directly the reverse, — the prejudice in favor of the New. This prejudice may be, in part at least, the result of

sympathy and fellow-feeling. This is the cause why new opinions, however erroneous, if they once obtain a certain number of converts, often spread with a rapidity and to an extent, which, after their futility has been ultimately shown, can only be explained on the principle of a kind of intellectual contagion. But the principal cause of the prejudice in favor of novelty lies in the Passions, and the consideration of these does not belong to the class of causes with which we are at present occupied.

Connected with and composed of both these prejudices, - that in

Prejudice of Learned Authority. favor of the old and that in favor of the new, there is the prejudice of Learned Authority; for this is usually associated with the prejudices

of Schools and Sects. "As often as men have appeared, who, by the force of their genius, have opened up new views of science, and thus contributed to the progress of human intellect, so often have they, likewise, afforded the occasion of checking its advancement, and of turning it from the straight path of improvement. Not that this result is to be imputed as a reproach to them, but simply because it is of the nature of man to be so affected. The views which influenced these men of genius, and which, consequently, lie at the foundation of their works, are rarely comprehended in their totality by those who have the names of these authors most frequently in

their mouths. The many do not concern themselves to seize the ideal which a philosopher contemplated, and of which his actual works are only the imperfect representations; they appropriate to themselves only some of his detached apothegms and propositions, and of these compound, as they best can, a sort of system suited to their understanding, and which they employ as a talisman in their controversies with others. As their reason is thus a captive to authority, and, therefore, unable to exert its native freedom, they, consequently, catch up the true and the false without discrimination, and remain always at the point of progress where they had been placed by their leaders. In their hands a system of living truths becomes a mere petrified organism; and they require that the whole science shall become as dead and as cold as their own idol. Such was Plato's doctrine in the hands of the Platonists; such was Aristotle's philosophy in the hands of the Schoolmen; and the history of modern systems affords equally the same result."1

So much for the first genus into which the Sources of Error are divided.

1 Bachmann, Logik, § 404, p. 550. - ED.

LECTURE XXIX.

MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - ERROR-ITS CAUSES AND REMEDIES.

A. - GENERAL CIRCUMSTANCES - SOCIETY.

B. - AS IN POWERS OF COGNITION, FEELING, AND DESIRE.

I. — AFFECTIONS. — PRECIPITANCY— SLOTH — HOPE AND FEAR — SELF-LOVE.

In our last Lecture, we entered on the consideration of the Recapitulation. Various sources of Error. These, I stated, may be conveniently reduced to four heads, and consist, 1°. In the General Circumstances which modify the intellectual character of the individual; 2°. In the Constitution, Habits, and Reciprocal Relations of his powers of Cognition, Feeling, and Desire; 3°. In the Language which he employs as an Instrument of Thought and a Medium of Communication; and, 4°. In the nature of the Objects themselves about which his knowledge is conversant.

Of these, I then gave you a general view of the nature of those occasions of Error, which originate in the circumstances under the influence of which the character and opinions of man are determined for him as a member of society. Under this head I stated, that, as man is destined by his Creator to fulfil the end of his existence in society, he is wisely furnished with a disposition to imitate those among whom his lot is cast, and thus conform himself to whatever section of human society he may by birth belong, or of which he may afterwards become a member. The education we receive, nay the very possibility of receiving education at all, supposes to a certain extent the passive infusion of foreign and traditionary opinions. For as man is compelled to think much earlier than he is able to think for himself, — all education necessarily imposes on him many opinions which, whether in themselves true

or false, are, in reference to the recipient, only prejudices; and it is even only a small number of mankind who at a later period are able to bring these obtruded opinions to the test of reason, and by a free exercise of their own intelligence to reject them if found false, or to acknowledge them if proved true.

But while the mass of mankind thus remain, during their whole lives, only the creatures of the accidental circumstances which have concurred to form for them their habits and beliefs; the few who are at last able to form opinions for themselves, are still dependent, in a great measure, on the unreasoning judgment of the many. Public opinion, hereditary custom, despotically impose on us the capricious laws of propriety and manners. The individual may possibly, in matters of science, emancipate himself from their servitude; in the affairs of life he must quietly submit himself to the yoke. The only freedom he can here prudently manifest, is to resign himself with a consciousness that he is a slave not to reason but to conventional accident. And while he conforms himself to the usages of his own society, he will be tolerant to those of others. In this respect his maxim will be that of the Scythian prince: "With you such may be the custom, - with us it is different."

Means by which the influence of society, as a source of error, may be counteracted.

So much for the general nature of the influence to which we are exposed from the circumstances of Society; it now remains to say what are the means by which this influence, as a source of error, may be counteracted.

It has been seen that, in consequence of the manner in which

Necessary to institute a critical examination of the contents of our knowledge.

our opinions are formed for us by the accidents of society, our imposed and supposed knowledge is a confused medley of truths and errors. Here it is evidently necessary to institute a critical examination of the contents of this knowledge.

Descartes proposes that, in order to discriminate, among our prejudiced opinions, the truths from the errors, we ought to commence by doubting all.¹ This has exposed him to much obloquy and clamor, but most unjustly. The doctrine of Descartes has nothing

Descartes, - his precept.

skeptical or offensive; for he only maintains that it behooves us to examine all that has been inculcated on us from infancy, and under

the masters to whose authority we have been subjected, with the same attention and circumspection which we accord to dubious questions. In fact there is nothing in the precept of Descartes, which had not been previously enjoined by other philosophers.

LECT. XXIX.

LOGIC.

Of these I formerly quoted to you several, and among others the remarkable testimonies of Aristotle, St. Augustin, and Lord Bacon.¹ But although there be nothing reprehensible in the precept of

Conditions which modify its application. Descartes, as enounced by him, it is of less practical utility in consequence of no account being taken of the circumstances which condition and modify its application. For, in the first place,

the judgments to be examined ought not to be taken at random, but selected on a principle, and arranged in due order and dependence. But this requires no ordinary ability, and the distribution of things into their proper classes is one of the last and most difficult fruits of philosophy. In the second place, there are among our prejudices, or pretended cognitions, a great many hasty conclusions, the investigation of which requires much profound thought, skill, and acquired knowledge. Now, from both of these considerations, it is evident that to commence philosophy by such a review, it is necessary for a man to be a philosopher before he can attempt to become one. The precept of Descartes is, therefore, either unreasonable, or it is too unconditionally expressed. And this latter alternative is true.

What can be rationally required of the student of philosophy, is

A gradual and progressive abrogation of prejudices all that can be required of the student of philosophy. not a preliminary and absolute, but a gradual and progressive abrogation, of prejudices. It can only be required of him, that, when, in the course of his study of philosophy, he meets with a proposition which has not been already suffi-

ciently sifted, — (whether it has been elaborated as a principle or admitted as a conclusion), — he should pause, discuss it without prepossession, and lay aside for future consideration all that has not been subjected to a searching scrutiny. The precept of Descartes, when rightly explained, corresponds to that of St. Paul:² "If any man among you seemeth to be wise in this world, let him become a fool, that he may be wise;" that is, let him not rely more on the opinions in which he has been brought up, and in favor of which he and those around him are prejudiced, than on so many visions of imagination; and let him examine them with the same circumspection as if he were assured that they contain some truth among much falsehood and many extravagances.³

Proceeding now to the second class of the Sources of Error,

¹ See Lect. on Metaphysics, p. 63 et seq. - ED. 2 1 Cor. iii 18.

is, with some slight changes, taken from Crousaz, Logique, t. iii., part ii., ch. 6, p. 268 et seq. - ED.

³ This criticism of the precept of Descartes

which are found in the Mind itself, I shall commence with the following paragraph:

¶ XCIV. The Sources of Error which arise from the Constitution, Habits, and Reciprocal Relations of Error arising from the powers of Cognition, Feeling, and Desire, - of two kinds. The first of these consists in the undue preponderance of the Affective Elements of

mind (the Desires and Feelings) over the Cognitive; the second, in the weakness or inordinate strength of some one or other of the Cognitive Faculties themselves.

Affection is that state of mind in which the Feelings and Desires exert an influence not under the control of reason; in other words, a tendency by which the intellect is impeded in its endeavor to think an object as that object really is, and compelled to think it in conformity with some view pre-

scribed by the passion or private interest of the subject thinking. The human mind, when unruffled by passion, may be compared

Influence of Passion on the Mind. to a calm sea. A calm sea is a clear mirror, in which the sun and clouds, in which the forms of heaven and earth, are reflected back pre-

cisely as they are presented. But let a wind arise, and the smooth, clear surface of the water is lifted into billows and agitated into foam. It no more reflects the sun and clouds, the forms of heaven and earth, or it reflects them only as distorted and broken images. In like manner, the tranquil mind receives and reflects the world without as it truly is; but let the wind of passion blow, and every object is represented, not as it exists, but in the colors and aspects

Boethius quoted. and partial phases in which it pleases the subject to regard it. The state of passion and its influence on the Cognitive Faculties are truly pictured by Boethius.¹

" Nubibus atris	Parque serenis
Condita nullum	Unda diebus,
Fundere possunt	Mox resoluto
Sidera lumen.	Sordida cœno,
Si mare volvens	Visibus obstat.
Turbidus auster	
Miseeat æstum,	Tu quoque si vis
Vitrea dudum.	Lumine claro

1 De Consol. Phil., L. i., Metr. 7. - ED.

Cernere verum,	Spemque fugato,
Tramite recto	Nee dolor adsit,
Carpere callem:	Nubila mens est,
Gaudia pelle,	Vinctaque frenis,
Pelle timorem,	Hæc ubi regnant."

Every error consists in this, - that we take something for non-

Error limited to Probable Reasoning.

existent, because we have not become aware of its existence, and that, in place of this existent something, we fill up the premises of a probable

reasoning with something else.

I have here limited the possibility of error to Probable Reasoning, for, in Intuition and Demonstration, there is but little possibility of important error. Hobbes indeed asserts that had it been contrary to the interest of those in authority, that the three angles of a triangle should be equal to two right angles, this truth would have been long ago proscribed as heresy, or as high treason.¹ This may be an ingenious illustration of the blind tendency of the passions to subjugate intelligence; but we should take it for more than was intended by its author, were we to take it as more than an ingenious exaggeration. Limiting, therefore, error to probable inference (and this constitutes, with the exception of a comparatively small department, the whole domain of human reasoning), we have to inquire, How do the Passions influence us to the assumption of false premises? To estimate the amount of probability for or against a given proposition, requires a tranquil, an unbiassed, a comprehensive consideration, in order to take all the relative elements of judgment into due account. But this requisite state of mind is disturbed when any interest, any wish, is allowed to interfere.

¶ XCV. The disturbing Passions may be reduced to four: Precipitancy, Sloth, Hope and Fear, Self-Par. XCV. The Pas-

sions, as sources of Error, - reduced to four

love. 1°. A restless anxiety for a decision be-

gets impatience, which decides before the preliminary inquiry is concluded. This is precipitancy.

2°. The same result is the effect of Sloth, which dreams on in conformity to custom, without subjecting its beliefs to the test of active observation.

3°. The restlessness of Hope or Fear impedes observation, distracts attention, or forces it only on what interests the pas-

sion; - the sanguine looking on only what harmonizes with his hopes, the diffident only on what accords with his fears.

4°. Self-love perverts our estimate of probability by causing us to rate the grounds of judgment, not according to their real influence on the truth of the decision, but according to their bearing on our personal interests therein.

In regard to Impatience or Precipitation, - "all is the cause of

Explication. 1. Precipitancy.

this which determines our choice on one side rather than another. An imagination excites pleasure, and because it excites pleasure we vield ourselves up to it. We suppose, for example, that we are all that we ought to be, and why? Because this supposition gives us

pleasure. This, in some dispositions, is one of the greatest obstaeles to improvement; for he who entertains it, thinks there is no necessity to labor to become what he is already. 'I believe,' says

Seneca,¹ 'that many had it in their power to Seneca. have attained to wisdom, had they not been impeded by the belief that wisdom they had already attained.' 'Multos puto ad sapientiam potuisse pervenire, nisi putassent se

Erasmus.

pervenisse."² Erasmus gives the following as the principal advice to a young votary of learn-

ing in the conduct of his studies: "To read the most learned books, to converse with the most learned men; but, above all, never to conceit that he himself was learned."3

"From the same cause, men flatter themselves with the hope of

dying old, although few attain to longevity. Illustrations. The less probable the event, the more certain are they of its occurrence; and why? Because the imagination of it is agreeable. 'Decrepiti senes paucorum annorum accessionem

votis mendicant; minores natu seipsos esse From Seneca. fingunt; mendacio sibi blandiuntur; et tam libenter fallunt, quam si fata una decipiant.""4 "Preachers," says

Montaigne, "are aware that the emotion which From Montaigne. arises during their sermons animates themselves to belief, and we are conscious that when roused to anger we apply

1 De Tranquillitate Animi, c. 1. - ED.

2 Crousaz, Logique, t. iii., part ii. ch. 7, p. 297. - Ed.

doctos diligenter edisceret, denique si se doctum nunquam putaret." Motto to G. J. Vossius, Opuscula de Studiorum Ratione. See Crenius, Consilia et Methodus, etc., p. 686, 1692. - ED.

4 Seneca, De Brevitate Vitæ, ch. 11. Crousaz, Logique, t. iii. p. ii. ch. 7, p. 297, ed. 1725. - ED.

^{8 &}quot;Joannes Alexander Brassicanus rogavit Erasmum, qua ratione doctus posset fieri, respondit ex tempore: si doctis assidue conviveret, si doctos audiret non minus submisse quam honorifice, si doctos strenue legeret, si

LECT. XXIX.

ourselves more intently to the defence of our thesis, and embrace it with greater vehemence and approbation, than we did when our mind was cool and unruffled. You simply state your case to an advocate; he replies with hesitation and doubt; you are aware that it is indifferent to him whether he undertakes the defence of the one side or of the other; but have you once fee'd him well to take your case in hand; he begins to feel an interest in it; his will is animated. His reason and his science become also animated in proportion. Your case presents itself to his understanding as a manifest and indubitable truth; he now sees it in a wholly different light, and really believes that you have law and justice on your side."¹ It is proper to observe that Montaigne was himself a lawyer, — he had been a counsellor of the Parliament of Bordeaux.

It might seem that Precipitate Dogmatism and an inclination to

Precipitate Dogmatism and Skepticism, phases of the same disposition. Skepticism were opposite characters of mind. They are, however, closely allied, if not merely phases of the same disposition. This is indeed confessed by the skeptic Montaigne.² "The most uneasy condition for me is to be kept in

suspense on urgent occasions, and to be agitated between fear and hope. Deliberation, even in things of lightest moment, is very troublesome to me; and I find my mind more put to it, to undergo the various tumbling and tossing of doubt and consultation, than to set up its rest, and to acquiesce in whatever shall happen, after the die is thrown. Few passions break my sleep; but of deliberations, the least disturbs me."

Precipitation is no incurable disease. There is for it one sure

Remedy for Precipitation. and simple remedy, if properly applied. It is only required, to speak with Confucius, manfully to restrain the wild horse of precipitancy by the

curb of consideration, — to weigh the reasons of decision, each and all, in the balance of cool investigation, — not to allow ourselves to decide until a clear consciousness has declared these reasons to be true, — to be sufficient; and, finally, to throw out of account the suffrages of self-love, of prepossession, of passion, and to admit only those of reflection, of experience, and of evidence. This remedy is certain and effectual. In theory it is satisfactory, but its practical application requires a moral resolution, for the acquisition of which no precept can be given.

In the second place, "Sloth is likewise a cause of precipitation, and it deserves the more attention as it is a cause of error extremely frequent, and one of which we are ourselves less aware, and which

2. Sloth.

is less notorious to others. We feel it fatiguing to continue an investigation, therefore we do

not pursue it; but as it is mortifying to think that we have labored in vain, we easily admit the flattering illusion that we have succeeded. By the influence of this disposition it often happens, that, after having rejected what first presented itself, — after having rejected a second time and a third time what subsequently turned up, because not sufficiently applicable or certain, we get tired of the investigation, and perhaps put up with the fourth suggestion, which is not better, haply even worse, than the preceding; and this simply because it has come into the mind when more exhausted and less scrupulous than it was at the commencement."¹ "The

Seneca quoted. volition of that man," says Seneca, "is often frustrated, who undertakes not what is easy, but who wishes what he undertakes to be easy. As often as you attempt anything, compare together yourself, the end which you propose, and the means by which it is to be accomplished. For the repentance of an unfinished work will make you rash. And here it is of consequence whether a man be of a fervid or of a cold, of an aspiring or of a humble, disposition."²

To remedy this failing it is necessary, in conformity with this advice of Seneca, to consult our forces, and the time we can afford, and the difficulty of the subjects on which we enter. We ought to labor only at intervals, to avoid the tedium and disquiet consequent on unremitted application; and to adjourn the consideration of any thought which may please us vehemently at the moment, until the prepossession in its favor has subsided with the animation which gave it birth.

The two Causes of premature judgment — the affections of 3. Hope and Fear. Impatience and Sloth — being considered, I pass on to the third principle of Passion, by which the intellect is turned aside from the path of truth, — I mean the disturbing influence of Hope and Fear. These passions, though reciprocally contrary, determine a similar effect upon the deliberations of the Understanding, and are equally unfavorable for the interest of truth. In forming a just conclusion upon a question of probable reasoning, that is, where the grounds of decision are not few, palpable, and of determinate effect, — and such questions

¹ Crousaz, Logique, t. iii. part ii. ch. 7, p. ² De Ira, L. iii, c. 7. Quoted by Crousaz, 302. - ED. Logique, t. iii. p. 302. - ED.

LECT. XXIX.

LOGIC.

may be said to be those alone on which differences of opinion may arise, and are, consequently, those alone which require for their solution any high degree of observation and ingenuity, — in such questions hope and fear exert a very strong and a very unfavorable influence. In these questions it is requisite, in the first place, to seek out the premises; and, in the second, to draw the conclusion. Of these requisites the first is the more important, and it is also by far the more difficult.

Now the passions of Hope and Fear operate severally to prevent

How Hope and Fear operate unfavorably on the Understanding. the intellect from discovering all the elements of decision, which ought to be considered in forming a correct conclusion, and cause it to take into account those only which harmonize with that conclusion to which the actuating

passion is inclined. And here the passion operates in two ways. In the first place, it tends so to determine the associations of thought, that only those media of proof are suggested or called into consciousness, which support the conclusion to which the passion tends. In the second place, if the media of proof by which a counter conclusion is supported are brought before the mind, still the mind is influenced by the passion to look on their reality with doubt, and, if such cannot be questioned, to undervalue their inferential importance; whereas it is moved to admit, without hesitation, those media of proof which favor the conclusion in the interest of our hope or fear, and to exaggerate the cogency with which they establish this result. Either passion looks exclusively to a single end, and exclusively to the means by which that single end is accomplished. Thus the sanguine temperament, or the mind under the habitual predominance of hope, sees only and magnifies all that militates in favor of the wished-for consummation, which alone it contemplates; whereas the melancholic temperament, or the mind under the habitual predominance of fear, is wholly occupied with the dreaded issue, views only what tends to its fulfilment, while it exaggerates the possible into the probable, the probable into the certain. Thus it is that whatever conclusion we greatly hope or greatly fear, to that conclusion we are disposed to leap; and it has become almost proverbial, that men lightly believe both what they wish, and what they dread, to be true.

But the influence of Hope on our judgments, inclining us to find whatever we wish to find, in so far as this arises from the illusion of Self-love, is comprehended in this, — the fourth cause of Error, — to which I now proceed. Self-love, under which I include the dispositions of Vanity, Pride,

4. Self-love.

and, in general, all those which incline us to attribute an undue weight to those opinions in

which we feel a personal interest, is by far the most extensive and influential in the way of reason and truth. In virtue of this principle, whatever is ours — whatever is adopted or patronized by us, whatever belongs to those to whom we are attached — is either gratuitously clothed with a character of truth, or its pretensions to be accounted true are not scrutinized with the requisite rigor and impartiality. I am a native of this country, and, therefore, not only is its history to me a matter of peculiar interest, but the actions and character of my countrymen are viewed in a very different light from that in which they are regarded by a foreigner. I am born and bred a member of a religious sect, and because they constitute my creed, I find the tenets of this sect alone in conformity to the Word of God. I am the partisan of a philosophical doctrine, and am, therefore, disposed to reject whatever does not harmonize with my adopted system.

It is the part of a philosopher, says Aristotle, inasmuch as he is a

Aristotle, — his precept. philosopher, to subjugate self-love, and to refute, if contrary to truth, not only the opinions of his friends, but the doctrines which he himself

may have professed.¹ It is certain, however, that philosophers for philosophers are men — have been too often found to regulate their conduct by the same opposite principle. That man pretended

Illustrations of the influence of Self-love on our opinions.

to the name of philosopher, who scrupled not to declare that he would rather be in the wrong with Plato than in the right with his opponents.² "Gisbert Voctius urged Mersennus to

refute a work of Descartes a year before the book appeared, and before he had himself the means of judging whether the opinions it contained were right or wrong. A certain professor of philosophy in Padua came to Galileo, and requested that he would explain to him the meaning of the term *parallaxis*; which he wished, he said, to refute, having heard that it was opposed to Aristotle's doetrine touching the relative situation of the comets. What! answered Galileo, you wish to controvert a word the meaning of which you do not know! Redi tells us that a sturdy Peripatetic of his acquaintance would never consent to look at the heavens through a telescope, lest he should be compelled to admit the existence of the new stars discovered by Galileo and others. The same Redi informs us that he knew another Peripatetic, a staunch advocate of

1 Eth. Nic., i. 4 (6). - ED.

LECT. XXIX.

the Aristotelian doctrine of equivocal generation (a doctrine, by the way, which now again divides the physiologists of Europe), and who, in particular, maintained that the green frogs which appear upon a shower come down with the rain, who would not be induced himself to select and examine one of these frogs. And why? Because he was unwilling to be convicted of his error, by Redi showing him the green matter in the stomach, and its feeulæ in the intestines of the animal."1 The spirit of the Peripatetic philosophy was, however, wholly misunderstood by these mistaken followers of Aristotle; for a true Aristotelian is one who listens rather to the voice of nature than to the precept of any master, and it is well expressed in the motto of the great French anatomist, - Riolanus est Peripateticus; credit ea, et ea tantum, quæ vidit. From the same principle proceeds the abuse, and sometimes even the persecution, which the discoverers of new truths encounter from those who cherished opinions these truths subvert.

In like manner, as we are disposed to maintain our own opinion,

Self-love leads us to regard with favor the opinions of those to whom we are in any way attached. we are inclined to regard with favor the opinions of those to whom we are attached by love, gratitude, and other conciliatory affections. "We do not limit our attachment to the persons of our friends, — we love in a certain sort all that

belongs to them; and as men generally manifest sufficient ardor in support of their opinions, we are led insensibly by a kind of sympathy to credit, to approve, and to defend these also, and that even more passionately than our friends themselves. We bear affection to others for various reasons. The agreement of tempers, of inclinations, of pursuits; their appearance, their manners, their virtue, the partiality which they have shown to us, the services we have received at their hands, and many other particular causes, determine and direct our love.

"It is observed by the great Malebranche,² that if any of our

Malebranche adduced to this effect. friends, — any even of those we are disposed to love, — advance an opinion, we forthwith lightly allow ourselves to be persuaded of its

truth. This opinion we accept and support, without troubling ourselves to inquire whether it be conformable to fact, frequently even against our conscience, in conformity to the darkness and confusion

l Reimarus, p. 339. [Die Vernunftlehre, von H. S. R. (Hermann Samuel Reimarus), dritte Auflage, Hamburg, 1766, § 332. First

published in 1756. The above four anecdotes are all taken from this work. — ED.]

² Recherche de la Vérité, L. iv. ch. 13. - ED.

of our intellect, to the corruption of our heart, and to the advantages which we hope to reap from our facility and complaisance."¹

The influence of this principle is seen still more manifestly when

This shown especially when the passion changes. the passion changes; for though the things themselves remain unaltered, our judgments concerning them are totally reversed. How often do we behold persons who cannot, or will

not, recognize a single good quality in an individual from the moment he has chanced to incur their dislike, and who are even ready to adopt opinions, merely because opposed to others maintained by

Arnauld holds that man is naturally envious. the object of their aversion? The celebrated Arnauld² goes so far even as to assert, that men are naturally envious and jealous; that it is with pain they endure the contemplation of others in

the enjoyment of advantages which they do not themselves possess; and, as the knowledge of truth and the power of enlightening mankind is of one of these, that they have a secret inclination to deprive them of that glory. This accordingly often determines them to controvert without a ground the opinions and discoveries of others. Self-love accordingly often argues thus: — 'This is an opinion which I have originated, this is an opinion, therefore, which is true;' whereas the natural malignity of man not less frequently suggests such another: 'It is another than I who has advanced this doctrine; this doctrine is, therefore, false.'

We may distinguish, however, from malignant or envious contradiction another passion, which, though more

The love of Disputation. diction another passion, which, though more generous in its nature and not simply a mode of Self-love, tends, nevertheless, equally to divert

us from the straight road of truth, — I mean Pugnaeity, or the love of Disputation. Under the influence of this passion, we propose as our end victory, not truth. We insensibly become accustomed to find a reason for any opinion, and, in placing ourselves above all reasons, to surrender our belief to none. Thus it is why two disputants so rarely ever agree, and why a question is seldom or never decided in a discussion, where the combative dispositions of the reasoners have once been roused into activity. In controversy it is always easy to find wherewithal to reply; the end of the parties is not to avoid error, but to impose silence; and they are less ashamed of continuing wrong than of confessing that they are not right.³

³ L' Art de Penser, p. iii. ch. 20. Cf. Caro, Nouvelle Logique, part ii., ch. 9, p. 311, Paris, 1820. – ED.

¹ Caro, Nouvelle Logique, part ii., ch. viii., p. 288. – ED.

² L' Art de Penser (Port Royal Logic), p. iii. 1820. - ED. cl. 20. - ED.
These affections the immediate causes of all error.

Preliminary conditions requisite for the efficiency of precepts against the sources of error.

These affections may be said to be the immediate causes of all error. Other causes there are, but not immediate. In so far as Logic detects the sources of our false judgments and shows their remedies, it must carefully inculcate that no precautionary precept for particular cases can avail, unless the inmost principle of the evil be discovered, and a cure applied. You must, therefore, as you would remain free from the hallucination of

false opinion, be convinced of the absolute necessity of following out the investigation of every question calmly and without passion. You must learn to pursue, and to estimate, truth without distraction or bias. To this there is required, as a primary condition, the unshackled freedom of thought, the equal glance which can take in the whole sphere of observation, the cool determination to pursue the truth whithersoever it may lead; and, what is still more important, the disposition to feel an interest in truth and in truth alone. If perchance some collateral interest may first prompt us to the inquiry, in our general interest for truth we must repress, - we must forget, this interest, until the inquiry be concluded. Of what account are the most venerated opinions if they be untrue? At best they are only venerable delusions. He who allows himself to be actuated in his scientific procedure by any partial interest, can never obtain a comprehensive survey of the whole he has to take into account, and always, therefore, remains incapable of discriminating, with accuracy, error from truth. The independent thinker must, in all his inquiries, subject himself to the genius of truth, -must be prepared to follow her footsteps without faltering or hesitation. In the consciousness that truth is the noblest of ends, and that he pursues this end with honesty and devotion, he will dread no consequences, — for he relies upon the truth. Does he compass the truth, he congratulates himself upon his success; does he fall short of its attainment, he knows that even his present failure will ultimately advance him to the reward he merits. Err he may, and that perhaps frequently, but he will never deceive himself. We cannot, indeed, rise superior to our limitary nature, we cannot, therefore, be reproached for failure; but we are always responsible for the calmness and impartiality of our researches, and these alone render us worthy of success. But though it be manifest, that to attain the truth we must follow whithersoever the truth may lead, still men in general are found to yield not an absolute, but only a restricted, obedience to the precept. They capitulate, and do not unconditionally surrender. I give up, but my cherished dogma in

religion must not be canvassed, says one; — my political principles are above inquiry, and must be exempted, says a second; — my country is the land of lands, this cannot be disallowed, cries a third; — my order, my vocation, is undoubtedly the noblest, exclaim a fourth and fifth; — only do not require that we should confess our having erred, is the condition which many insist on stipulating. Above all, that resolve of mind is difficult, which is ready to surrender all fond convictions, and is prepared to recommence investigation the moment that a fundamental error in the former system of belief has been detected. These are the principal grounds why, among men, opinion is so widely separated from opinion; and why the clearest demonstration is so frequently for a season frustrated of victory.

Par. XCVI. Rules against Errors from the Affections. ¶ XCVI. Against the Errors which arise from the Affections, there may be given the three following rules:

1°. When the error has arisen from the influence of an active affection, the decisive judgment is to be annulled; the mind is then to be freed, as far as possible, from passion, and the process of inquiry to be recommenced as soon as the requisite tranquillity has been restored.

2°. When the error has arisen from a relaxed enthusiasm for knowledge, we must reänimate this interest by a vivid representation of the paramount dignity of truth, and of the lofty destination of our intellectual nature.

3°. In testing the accuracy of our judgments, we must be particularly suspicious of those results which accord with our private inclinations and predominant tendencies.

These rules require no comment.

LECTURE XXX.

MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II. - ERROR-ITS CAUSES AND REMEDIES.

B.-AS IN THE COGNITIONS, FEELINGS, AND DESIRES.

II. - WEAKNESS AND DISPROPORTIONED STRENGTH OF THE FACULTIES OF KNOWLEDGE.

I Now go on to the Second Head of the class of Errors founded

Weakness and Disproportioned Strength of the Faculties of Knowledge.

on the Natural Constitution, the Acquired Habits, and the Reciprocal Relations of our Cognitive and Affective Powers, that is, to the Causes of Error which originate in the Weakness or Disproportioned Strength of one or more of

our Faculties of Knowledge themselves.

Here, in the first place, I might consider the errors which have arisen from the Limited Nature of the Human Neglect of the Lim-

source of error.

Intellect in general, - or rather from the mis-Human Intellect a . takes that have been made by philosophers in denying or not taking this limited nature into account.¹ The illustration of this subject is one

which is relative to, and supposes an acquaintance with, some of the abstrusest speculations in Philosophy, and which belong not to Logic, but to Metaphysics. I shall not, therefore, do more than simply indicate at present, what it will be proper at another season

1. Philosophy of the Absolute.

fully to explain. It is manifest, that, if the human mind be limited, - if it only knows as it is conscious, and if it be only conscious, as it

is conscious of contrast and opposition, - of an ego and non-ego, if this supposition, I say, be correct, it is evident that those philosophers are in error, who virtually assume that the human mind is

unlimited, that is, that the human mind is capable of a knowledge superior to consciousness, — a cognition in which knowledge and existence — the Ego and non-Ego — God and the creature — are identical; that is, of an act in which the mind is the Absolute, and knows the Absolute. This philosophy, the statement of which, as here given, it would require a long commentary to make you understand, is one which has for many years been that dominant in Germany; it is called the *Philosophy of the Absolute*, or the *Philosophy of Absolute Identity*. This system, of which Schelling and Hegel are the great representatives, errs by denying the limitation of human intelligence without proof, and by boldly building its edifice on this gratuitous negation.¹

But there are other forms of philosophy which err not in actually

2. A one-sided view of the finitude of mind. postulating the infinity of mind, but in taking only a one-sided view of its finitude. It is a general fact, which scems, however, to have escaped the observation of philosophers, that

whatever we can positively compass in thought, — whatever we can conceive as possible, — in a word, the *omne cogitabile*, lies between two extremes or poles, contradictorily opposed, and one of which must consequently be true, but of neither of which repugnant opposites are we able to represent to our mind the possibility.² To take

Illustrated by reference to the two contradictories, — the absolute commencement, and the infinite noncommencement of Time. one example out of many: we cannot construe to the mind as possible the absolute commencement of time; but we are equally unable to think the possibility of the counter alternative, — its infinite or absolute non-commencement, in other words, the infinite regress of time. Now it is evident, that, if we looked merely at the

one of these contradictory opposites and argued thus: whatever is inconceivable is impossible, the absolute commencement of time is inconceivable, therefore the absolute commencement of time is impossible; but, on the principles of Contradiction and Excluded Middle, one or other of the two opposite contradictories must be true; therefore, as the absolute commencement of time is impossible, the absolute or infinite non-commencement of time is necessary: — I say, it is evident that this reasoning would be incompetent and one-sided, because it might be converted; for, by the same one-sided process, the opposite conclusion might be drawn in favor of the absolute commencement of time.

¹ See Discussions, p. 19. - ED.

² See Discussions, p. 601 et seq., Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 527 et seq. - ED.

Now, the unilateral and incompetent reasoning which I have here

The same principle exemplified in the case of the Necessitarian Argument against the Freedom of the Human Will. supposed in the case of time, is one of which the Necessitarian is guilty in his argument to prove the impossibility of human volitions being free. He correctly lays down, as the foundation of his reasoning, two propositions which must at once be allowed : 1°, That the notion of the

liberty of volition involves the supposition of an absolute commencement of volition, that is, of a volition which is a cause, but is not itself, qua cause, an effect. 2°, That the absolute commencement of a volition, or of aught else, cannot be conceived, that is, cannot be directly or positively thought as possible. So far he is correct; but when he goes on to apply these principles by arguing (and be it observed this syllogism lies at the root of all the reasonings for necessity), Whatever is inconceivable is impossible; but the supposition of the absolute commencement of volition is inconceivable; therefore, the supposition of the absolute commencement of volition (the condition of free will) is impossible, - we may here demur to the sumption, and ask him, - Can he positively conceive the opposite contradictory of the absolute commencement, that is, an infinite series of relative non-commencements? If he answers, as he must, that he cannot, we may again ask him, - By what right he assumed as a self-evident axiom for his sumption, the proposition, - that whatever is inconceivable is impossible, or by what right he could subsume his minor premise, when by his own confession he allows that the opposite contradictory of his minor premise, that is, the very proposition he is apagogically proving, is, likewise, inconceivable, and, therefore, on the principle of his sumption, likewise impossible.

The same inconsequence would equally apply to the Libertarian,

And in the case of the Libertarian Argument in behalf of Free-will. who should attempt to prove that free-will must be allowed, on the ground that its contradictory opposite is impossible, because inconceivable. He cannot prove his thesis by such a process; in fact, by all speculative reasoning from the

conditions of thought, the two doctrines are *in æquilibrio*; — both are equally possible, — both are equally inconceivable. It is only when the Libertarian descends to arguments drawn from the fact of the Moral Law and its conditions, that he is able to throw in reasons which incline the balance in his favor.

On these matters, I however, at present, only touch, in order to show you under what head of Error these reasonings would naturally fall.

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

Leaving, therefore, or adjourning, the consideration of the imbe-

Weakness or disproportioned strength of the several Cognitive Faculties, — a source of Error.

Cognitive Faculties of two classes, a Lower and a Higher. cility of the human intellect in general, I shall now take into view, as a source of logical error, the Weakness or Disproportioned Strength of the several Cognitive Faculties. Now, as the Cognitive Faculties in man consist partly of certain Lower Powers, which he possesses in common with other sensible existences, namely, the Presentative, the Retentive, the Representa-

tive and the Reproductive Faculties, and partly of certain Higher Powers, in virtue of which he enters into the rank of intelligent existences, namely, the Elaborative and Regulative Faculties, — it will be proper to consider the powers of these two classes severally in succession, in so far as they may afford the causes or occasions of error.

Of the lower class, the first faculty in order is the Presentative

I. The Lower Class, -1. The Presentative Faculty. or Acquisitive Faculty. This, as you remember, is divided into two, viz., into the faculty which presents us with the phenomena of the outer world, and into the faculty which presents us

with the phenomena of the inner.¹ The former is External Perception, or External Sense; the latter is Self-consciousness, Internal Perception, or Internal Sense. I commence, therefore, with the Faculty of External Perception, in relation to which I give you the following paragraph.

¶ XCVII. When aught is presented through the outer Par. XCVII. (a) External Perception, as a source of Error. When aught is presented through the outer senses, there are two conditions necessary for its adequate perception : - 1°, The relative Organs must be present, and in a condition to discharge their functions; and 2°,

The Objects themselves must bear a certain relation to these organs, so that the latter shall be suitably affected, and thereby the former suitably apprehended. It is possible, therefore, that, partly through the altered condition of the organs, partly through the altered situation of the objects, dissimilar presentations of the same, and similar presentations of different, objects, may be the result.²

"In the first place, without the organs specially subservient to

See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 282 et seq. -ED. Nouvelle Logique, part ii. ch. vi. p. 273. Bach-2 Krug, Logik, § 1. 33. - ED. [Cf. Caro, mann, Logik, § 407, p. 553.]

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

External Perception, - without the eye, the ear, etc., sensible per-

Explication. Conditions of the adequate activity of External Perception. ceptions of a precise and determinate character, such, for example, as color or sound, are not competent to man. In the second place, to perform their functions, these organs must be in a healthy or normal state; for if this condition

be not fulfilled, the presentations which they furnish are null, incomplete, or false. But, in the third place, even if the organs of sense are sound and perfect, the objects to be presented and perceived must stand to these organs in a certain relation, — must bear to them a certain proportion; for, otherwise, the objects cannot be presented at all, or cannot be perceived without illusion. The sounds, for example, which we are to hear, must neither be too high nor too low in quality; the bodies which we are to see, must neither be too

Possible illusions of the Senses.

near nor too distant, — must neither be too feebly nor too intensely illuminated. In relation to the second condition, there are given, in con-

sequence of the altered state of the organs, on the one hand, different presentations of the same object; - thus to a person who has waxed purblind, his friend appears as an utter stranger, the eye now presenting its objects with less clearness and distinctness. On the other hand, there are given the same, or undistinguishably similar, presentations of different objects; - thus to a person in the jaundice, all things are presented yellow. In relation to the third condition, from the altered position of objects, there are, in like manner, determined, on the one hand, different presentations of the same objects, - as when the stick which appears straight in the air appears crooked when partially immersed in water; and, on the other hand, identical presentations of different objects, as when a man and a horse appear in the distance to be so similar, that the one cannot be discriminated from the other. In all these cases, these illusions are determined, --- illusions which may easily become the occasions of false judgments."1

"In regard to the detection of such illusions and obviating the

Precautions with a view to the detection of illusions of the Senses, and obviating the errors to which they lead. error to which they lead, it behowes us to take the following precautions. We must, in the first place, examine the state of the organ. If found defective, we must endeavor to restore it to perfection; but if this cannot be done, we must ascertain the extent and nature of the

evil, in order to be upon our guard in regard to quality and degree of the false presentation.

"In the second place, we must examine the relative situation of the object, and if this be not accommodated to the organ, we must either obviate the disproportion and remove the media which occasion the illusion, or repeat the observation under different circumstances, compare these, and thus obtain the means of making an ideal abstraction of the disturbing causes."1

In regard to the other Presentative Faculty, - the Faculty of Self-consciousness, - Internal Perception, or Internal Sense, as we know less of the material conditions which modify its action, we are unable to ascertain so precisely the nature of the illusions of which it may be the source. In reference to this subject you may take the following paragraph.

¶ XCVIII. The faculty of Self-consciousness, or Internal Sense, is subject to various changes, which Par. XCVIII. (b) either modify our apprehensions of objects, Self-consciousness, or influence the manner in which we judge as a source of Error. concerning them. In so far, therefore, as false judgments are thus occasioned, Self-consciousness is a

source of error.²

Explication. Self-consciousness varies in intensity.

It is a matter of ordinary observation, that the vivacity with which we are conscious of the various phenomena of mind, differs not only at different times, in different states of health, and in different degrees of mental freshness and exhaustion, but, at

the same time, differs in regard to the different kinds of these phenomena themselves. According to the greater or less intensity of this faculty, the same thoughts of which we are conscious are, at one time, clear and distinct, at another, obscure and confused. At one time we are almost wholly incapable of reflection, and every act of self-attention is forced and irksome, and differences the most marked pass unnoticed; while, at another, our self-consciousness is alert, all its applications pleasing, and the most faint and fugitive phenomena arrested and observed. On one occasion, self-consciousness, as a reflective cognition, is strong; on another, all reflection is extinguished in the intensity of the direct consciousness of feeling or desire. In one state of mind our representations are feeble; in another, they are so lively that they are mistaken for external realities. Our self-consciousness may thus be the occasion of frequent error; for, according to its various modifications, we may form the most opposite judgments concerning the same things, - pronounc-

1 Krug, Logik, § 155. - ED.

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

ing them, for example, now to be agreeable, now to be disagreeable, according as our Internal Sense is variously affected.

The next is the Retentive or Conservative Faculty, — Memory strictly so called; in reference to which I give you the following paragraph.

¶ XCIX. Memory, or the Conservative Faculty, is the occasion of Error, both when too weak and when too strong. When too weak, the complement of cognitions which it retains is small and indistinct, and the Under-

standing or Elaborative Faculty is, consequently, unable adequately to judge concerning the similarity and differences of its representations and concepts. When too strong, the Understanding is overwhelmed with the multitude of acquired cognitions simultaneously forced upon it, so that it is unable calmly and deliberately to compare and discriminate these.¹

That both these extremes, — that both the insufficient and the Explication. Superfluous vigor of the Conservative Faculty are severally the sources of error, it will not require many observations to make apparent.

In regard to a feeble memory, it is manifest that a multitude of Feeble memory. false judgments must inevitably arise from an incapacity in this faculty to preserve the observations committed to its keeping. In consequence of this incapacity, if a cognition be not wholly lost, it is lost at least in part, and the circumstances of time, place, persons and things confounded with each other. For example, — I may recollect the tenor of a passage I have read, but from defect of memory may attribute to one author what really belongs to another. Thus a botanist may judge two different plants to be identical in species, having forgotten the differential characters by which they were discriminated; or he may hold the same plant to be two different species, having examined it at different times and places.²

Though nothing could be more erroneous than a general and strong memory. unqualified decision, that a great memory is incompatible with a sound judgment, yet it is an observation confirmed by the experience of all ages and countries, not only that a great memory is no condition of high intellectual talent, but that great memories are very frequently found in com-

1 [Cf. Bachmann, Logik, § 408.]

2 Krug, Logik, § 141. Anm. - ED.

bination with comparatively feeble powers of thought.¹ The truth seems to be, that where a vigorous memory is conjoined with a vigorous intellect, not only does the force of the subsidiary faculty not detract from the strength of the principal, but, on the contrary, tends to confer on it a still higher power; whereas when the inferior faculty is disproportionately strong, that so far from nourishing and corroborating the superior, it tends to reduce this faculty to a lower level than that at which it would have stood, if united with a less overpowering subsidiary. The greater the magazine of various knowledge which the memory contains, the better for the understanding, provided the understanding can reduce this various knowledge to order and subjection. "A great memory is the principal condition of bringing before the mind many different representations and notions at once, or in rapid succession. This simultaneous or nearly simultaneous presence disturbs, however, the tranquil comparison of a small number of ideas, which, if it shall judge aright, the intellect must contemplate with a fixed and steady attention."2 Now, where an intellect possesses the power of concentration in a high degree, it will not be harassed in its meditations by the officious intrusions of the subordinate faculties, however vigorous these in themselves may be, but will control their vigor by exhausting in its own operations the whole applicable energy of mind. Whereas where the inferior is more vigorous than the superior, it will, in like manner, engross in its own function the disposable amount of activity, and overwhelm the principal faculty with materials, many even in proportion as it is able to elaborate few. This appears to me the reason why men of strong memories are so often men of proportionally weak judgments, and why so many errors arise from the possession of a faculty, the perfection of which ought to exempt them from many mistaken judgments.

As to the remedy for these opposite extremes. The former-

Remedies for these opposite extremes.

the imbecility of Memory — can only be alleviated by invigorating the capacity of Retention through mnemonic exercises and methods; the

latter, — the inordinate vigor of Memory, — by cultivating the Understanding to the neglect of the Conservative Faculty. It will, likewise, be necessary to be upon our guard against the errors originating in these counter sources. In the one case distrusting the accuracy of facts, in the other, the accuracy of their elaboration.⁸

The next faculty is the Reproductive. This, when its operation

2 Diderot, Lettre sur Les Sourds et Muets,

3 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 156. Anm. - ED.

¹ Compare Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 424. — ED.

quoted by Stewart, Elem., Part iii. ch. i. sect. vi. Collected Works, vol. iv. p. 249.

LECT. XXX.

undue activity.

LOGIC.

is voluntarily exerted, is called Recollection or Reminiscence; when

3. The Reproductive Faculty.

it energizes spontaneously or without volition, it is called Suggestion. The laws by which it is governed in either case, but especially in the latter, are called the Laws of Mental Association. This Reproductive Faculty, like the Retentive, is the cause of error, both if its vigor be defective, or if it be too strong. I shall consider Recollection and Suggestion severally and apart. In regard to the former I

give you the following paragraph.

¶ C. The Reproductive Faculty, in so far as it is voluntarily exercised, as Reminiscence, becomes a Par. C. (a) Reminissource of Error, as it is either too slugcence, -- as a source of gish or too prompt, precisely as the Re-Error. tentive Faculty, combined with which it

constitutes Memory in the looser signification.

It is necessary to say very little in special reference to Reminiscence, for what was said in regard to the Con-Explication. servative Faculty or Memory Proper in its Reminiscence, - its highest vigor, was applicable to, and in fact

supposed a corresponding degree of, the Re-

productive. For, however great may be the mass of cognitions retained in the mind, that is, out of consciousness but potentially capable of being called into consciousness, these can never of themselves oppress the Understanding by their simultaneous crowding or rapid succession, if the faculty by which they are revoked into consciousness be inert; whereas if this revocative faculty be comparatively alert and vigorous, a smaller magazine of retained cognitions may suffice to harass the intellect with a ceaseless supply of materials too profuse for its capacity of elaboration.

On the other hand, the inactivity of our Recollection is a source of error, precisely as the weakness of our Mem-Its inactivity. ory proper; for it is of the same effect in relation to our judgments, whether the cognitions requisite for a deeision be not retained in the mind, or whether, being retained, they are not recalled into consciousness by Reminiscence.

In regard to Suggestion, or the Reproductive Faculty operating spontaneously, that is, not in subservience to an act of Will, - I shall give you the following paragraph.

¶ CI. As our Cognitions, Feelings, and Desires are connected together by what are called the Laws of Association, and as each link in the chain of thought suggests or awakens

Par. CI. (b) Sugges. tion, — as a source of Error. into consciousness some other in conformity to these Laws, — these Laws, as they bestow a strong subjective connection on thoughts and objects of a wholly arbitrary

union, frequently occasion great confusion and error in our judgments.

"Even in methodical thinking, we do not connect all our thoughts intentionally and rationally, but many

press forward into the train, either in consequence of some external impression, or in virtue of certain internal relations, which, however, are not of a logical dependency. Thus, thoughts tend to suggest each other, which have reference to things of which we were previously cognizant as coëxistent, or as immediately consequent, which have been apprehended as bearing a resemblance to each other, or which have stood together in reciprocal and striking contrast. This connection, though precarious and non-logical, is thus, however, governed by certain laws, which have been called the Laws of Association."1 These laws, which I have just enumerated, viz., the Law of Coëxistence or Simultaneity, the Law of Continuity or Immediate Succession, the Law of Similarity, and the Law of Contrast, are all only special modifications of one general law, which I would call the Law of Redintegration;² that is, the principle according to which whatever has previously formed a part of one total act of consciousness, tends, when itself recalled into consciousness, to reproduce along with it the other parts of that original whole. But though these tendencies be denominated laws, the influence which they exert, though often strong and sometimes irresistible, is only contingent; for it frequently happens that thoughts which have previously stood to each other in one or other of the four relations do not suggest each other. The Laws of Association stand, therefore, on a very different footing from the laws of logical connection. But those Laws of Association, contingent though they be, exert a great and often a very pernicious influence upon thought, inasmuch as by the involuntary intrusion of representations into the mental chain which are wholly irrelevant to the matter in hand, there arises a perplexed and redundant tissue of thought, into which false characters may easily find admission, and in which true characters may easily be overlooked.³ But

Krug, Logik, § 144. Anm. - ED.
See Lect. on Metaphysics, p. 431 et seq. - ED.
Krug, Logik, § 144. Anm. - ED.

LECT. XXX.

this is not all. For, by being once blended together in our consciousness, things really distinct in their nature tend again naturally to reassociate, and, at every repetition of this conjunction, this tendency is fortified, and their mutual suggestion rendered more certain and irresistible.

It is in virtue of this principle of Association and Custom, that

Influence of Association in matters of Taste. things are clothed by us with the precarious attributes of deformity or beauty; and some philosophers have gone so far as to maintain that our principles of Taste are exclusively dependent

on the accidents of Association. But if this be an exaggeration, it is impossible to deny that Association enjoys an extensive jurisdiction in the empire of taste, and, in particular, that fashion is almost wholly subject to its control.

On this subject I may quote a few sentences from the first volume

Stewart quoted.

of Mr. Stewart's *Elements*. "In matters of Taste, the effects which we consider are pro-

duced on the mind itself, and are accompanied either with pleasure or with pain. Hence the tendency to casual association is much stronger than it commonly is with respect to physical events; and when such associations are once formed, as they do not lead to any important inconvenience, similar to those which result from physical mistakes, they are not so likely to be corrected by mere experience, unassisted by study. To this it is owing that the influence of association on our judgments concerning beauty and deformity, is still more remarkable than on our speculative conclusions; a circumstance which has led some philosophers to suppose that association is sufficient to account for the origin of these notions, and that there is no such thing as a standard of taste, founded on the principles of the human constitution. But this is undoubtedly pushing the theory a great deal too far. The association of ideas can never account for the origin of a new notion, or of a pleasure essentially different from all the others which we know. It may, indeed, enable us to conceive how a thing indifferent in itself may become a source of pleasure, by being connected in the mind with something else which is naturally agreeable; but it presupposes, in every instance, the existence of those notions and those feelings which it is its province to combine; insomuch that, I apprehend, it will be found, wherever association produces a change in our judgments on matters of taste, it does so by coöperating with some natural principle of the mind, and implies the existence of certain original sources of pleasure and uneasiness.

"A mode of dress, which at first appeared awkward, acquires, in

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

a few weeks or months, the appearance of elegance. By being accustomed to see it worn by those whom we consider as models of taste, it becomes associated with the agreeable impressions which we receive from the ease and grace and refinement of their manners. When it pleases by itself, the effect is to be ascribed, not to the object actually before us, but to the impressions with which it has been generally connected, and which it naturally recalls to the mind.

"This observation points out the cause of the perpetual vicissitudes in dress, and in everything whose chief recommendation arises from fashion. It is evident that, as far as the agreeable effect of an ornament arises from association, the effect will continue only while it is confined to the higher orders. When it is adopted by the multitude, it not only ceases to be associated with ideas of taste and refinement, but it is associated with ideas of affectation, absurd imitation, and vulgarity. It is accordingly laid aside by the higher orders, who studiously avoid every circumstance in external appearance which is debased by low and common use; and they are led to exercise their invention in the introduction of some new peculiarities, which first become fashionable, then common, and last of all, are abandoned as vulgar."¹

"Our moral judgments, too, may be modified, and even perverted to a certain degree, in consequence of the operation of the same principle. In the same manner in which a person who is regarded as a model of taste may introduce, by his example, an absurd or fantastical dress; so a man of splendid virtues may attract some esteem also to his imperfections; and, if placed in a conspicuous situation, may render his vices and follies objects of general imitation among the multitude.

"'In the reign of Charles II.,' says Mr. Smith,² 'a degree of licentiousness was deemed the characteristic of a liberal education. It was connected, according to the notions of those times, with generosity, sincerity, magnanimity, loyalty; and proved that the person who acted in this manner was a gentleman, and not a puritan. Severity of manners, and regularity of conduct, on the other hand, were altogether unfashionable, and were connected, in the imagination of that age, with cant, cunning, hypocrisy, and low manners. To superficial minds the vices of the great seem at all times agreeable. They connect them not only with the splendor of fortune, but with many superior virtues which they ascribe to their superiors;

¹ Elements, vol. i., Part i. chap. v. Collected 2 Theory of Moral Sentiments, Part v. c. 2. – Works, ii. p. 322 et seq. ED.

LECT. XXX.

with the spirit of freedom and independency; with frankness, generosity, humanity, and politeness. The virtues of the inferior ranks of people, on the contrary, — their parsimonious frugality, their painful industry, and rigid adherence to rules, seem to them mean and disagreeable. They connect them both with the meanness of the station to which these qualities commonly belong, and with many great vices which they suppose usually accompany them; such as an abject, cowardly, ill-natured, lying, pilfering disposition."¹

"In general," says Condillac, "the impression we experience in the

Condillac quoted on the influence of Association. different circumstances of life, makes us associate ideas with a force which renders them ever after for us indissoluble. We cannot, for example, frequent the society of our fellow-men

without insensibly associating the notions of certain intellectual or moral qualities with certain corporeal characters. This is the reason why persons of a decided physiognomy please or displease us more than others; for a physiognomy is only an assemblage of characters, with which we have associated notions which are not suggested without an accompaniment of satisfaction or disgust. It is not, therefore, to be marvelled at that we judge men according to their physiognomy, and that we sometimes feel towards them at first sight aversion or inclination. In consequence of these associations, we are often vehemently prepossessed in favor of certain individuals, and no less violently disposed against others. It is because all that strikes us in our friends or in our enemies is associated with the agreeable or the disagreeable feeling which we severally experience; and because the faults of the former borrow always something pleasing from their aniable qualities; whereas the amiable qualities of the latter seem always to participate of their vices. Hence it is that these associations exert a powerful influence on our whole conduct. They foster our love or hatred; enhance our esteem or contempt; excite our gratitude or indignation; and produce those sympathies, - those antipathies, or those capricious inclinations, for which we are sometimes sorely puzzled to render a reason. Descartes tells us that through life he had always found a strong predilection for squint eyes, -- which he explains by the circumstance, that the nursery-maid by whom he had been kindly tended, and to whom as a child he was, consequently, much attached, had this defect." 2 'S Gravesande, I think it is, who tells us he knew a man, and a man otherwise of sense, who had a severe fall from a

¹ Elements, vol. i. c. v. § 8. Collected Works, 2 Origine des Connoissances Humaines, sect. vol. ii. p. 325. ii. ch. ix. § 80. – ED.

wagon; and thereafter he could never enter a wagon without fear and trembling, though he daily used, without apprehension, another and far more dangerous vehicle.¹ A girl once and again sees her mother or maid fainting and vociferating at the appearance of a mouse; if she has afterwards to escape from danger, she will rather pass through flames than take a patent way, if obstructed by a *ridiculus mus.* A remarkable example of the false judgments arising from this principle of association, is recorded by Herodotus and Justin, in reference to the war of the Scythians with their slaves. The slaves, after they had repeatedly repulsed several attacks with arms, were incontinently put to flight when their masters came out against them with their whips.²

I shall now offer an observation in regard to the appropriate remedy for this evil influence of Association.

The only mean by which we can become aware of, counteract,

Only remedy for the influence of Association is the Philosophy of the Human Mind. and overcome, this besetting weakness of our nature, is Philosophy, — the Philosophy of the Human Mind; and this studied both in the consciousness of the individual, and in the history of the species. The philosophy of mind,

as studied in the consciousness of the individual, exhibits to us the source and nature of the illusion. It accustoms us to discriminate the easual, from the necessary, combinations of thought; it sharpens and corroborates our faculties, encourages our reason to revolt against the blind preformations of opinion, and finally enables us to break through the enchanted circle within which Custom and Association had enclosed us. But in the accomplishment of this end, we are greatly aided by the study of man under the various circumstances which have concurred in modifying his intellectual and moral character. In the great spectacle of history, we behold in different ages and countries the predominance of different systems of association, and these ages and countries are, consequently, distinguished by the prevalence of different systems of opinions. But all is not fluctuating; and, amid the ceaseless changes of accidental circumstances and precarious beliefs, we behold some principles ever active, and some truths always commanding a recognition. We thus obtain the means of discriminating, in so far as our unassisted reason is conversant about mere worldly concerns, between what is of universal and necessary certainty, and what is only of

1 Introductio ad Philosophiam, Logica, c. 26. The example, however, is given as a supposed case, and not as a fact. The two instances

2 Herod., iv. 3. Justin., ii. 5. - ED.

LECT. XXX.

local and temporary acceptation; and, in reference to the latter, in witnessing the influence of an arbitrary association in imposing the most irrational opinions on our fellow-men, our eyes are opened, and we are warned of the danger from the same illusion to ourselves. And as the philosophy of man affords us at once the indication and the remedy of this illusion, so the philosophy of man does this exclusively and alone. Our irrational associations, our habits of groundless credulity and of arbitrary skepticism, find no medicine in the study of aught beyond the domain of mind itself.

As Goethe has well observed, "Mathematics remove no prejudice; they cannot mitigate obstinacy, or temper party-spirit;"¹ in a word, as to any moral influence upon the mind, they are absolutely null. Hence we may well explain the aversion of Socrates for these studies, if carried beyond a very limited extent.

The next faculty in order is the Representative, or Imagination

The Representative Faculty, or Imagination Proper. proper, which consists in the greater or less power of holding up an ideal object in the light of consciousness. The energy of Representation, though dependent on Retention and

Reproduction, is not to be identified with these operations. For though these three functions (I mean Retention, Reproduction, and Representation) immediately suppose, and are immediately dependent on, each other, they are still manifestly discriminated as different qualities of mind, inasmuch as they stand to each other in no determinate proportion. We find, for example, in some individuals the capacity of Retention strong, but the Reproductive and Representative Faculties sluggish and weak. In others, again, the Conservative tenacity is feeble, but the Reproductive and Representative energies prompt and vivid; while in others the power of Reproduction may be vigorous, but what is recalled is never pictured in a clear and distinct consciousness. It will be generally, indeed, admitted, that a strong retentive memory does not infer a prompt recollection; and still more, that a strong memory and a prompt recollection do not infer a vivid imagination. These, therefore, though variously confounded by philosophers, we are warranted, I think, in viewing as elementary qualities of mind, which ought to be theoretically distinguished. Limiting, therefore, the term Imagination to the mere Faculty of Representing in a more or less vivacious manner an ideal object, - this Faculty is the source of errors which I shall comprise in the following paragraph.

1 Werke, xxii. p. 258. Quoted by Scheidler, Psychologie, p. 146.

¶ CII. Imagination, or the Faculty of Representing with

Par. CII. 4. Imagination, - as a source of Error. more or less vivacity a recalled object of cognition, is the source of Errors, both when it is too languid and when it is too vigorous. In the former case, the ob-

ject is represented obscurely and indistinctly; in the latter, the ideal representation affords the illusive appearance of a sensible presentation.

A strong imagination, that is, the power of holding up any ideal

Explication. Necessity of Imagination in scientific pursuits. object to the mind in clear and steady colors, is a faculty necessary to the poet and to the artist; but not to them alone. It is almost equally requisite for the successful cultivation of every scientific pursuit; and, though differently ap-

plied, and different in the character of its representation, it may well be doubted whether Aristotle did not possess as powerful an imagination as Homer. The vigor and perfection of this faculty is seen, not so much in the representation of individual objects and fragmentary sciences, as in the representation of systems. In the better ages of antiquity the perfection, the beauty, of all works

Diverse characteristics of Art in ancient and modern times. of taste, whether in Poetry, Eloquence, Sculpture, Painting, or Music, was principally estimated from the symmetry or proportion of all the parts to each other, and to the whole which

they together constituted; and it was only in subservience to this general harmony that the beauty of the several parts was appreciated. In the criticism of modern times, on the contrary, the reverse is true; and we are disposed to look more to the obtrusive qualities of details, than to the keeping and unison of a whole. Our works of art are, in general, like kinds of assorted patch-work ; --- not systems of parts all subdued in conformity to one ideal totality, but coördinations of independent fragments, among which a "purpureus pannus" seldom comes amiss. The reason of this difference in taste seems to be, what at first sight may seem the reverse, that in antiquity not the Reason but the Imagination was the more vigorous; - that the Imagination was able to represent simultaneously a more comprehensive system; and thus the several parts being regarded and valued only as conducive to the general result, - these parts never obtained that individual importance, which would have fallen to them had they been only created and only considered for themselves. Now this power of representing to the mind a complex system in all its bearings, is not less requisite to the philosopher

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

than to the poet, though the representation be different in kind; and the nature of the philosophic representations, as not concrete and palpable like the poetical, supposes a more arduous operation, and, therefore, even a more vigorous faculty. But Imagination, in the one case and in the other, requires in proportion to its own power a powerful intellect; for imagination is not poetry nor philosophy, but only the condition of the one and of the other.

But to speak now of the Errors which arise from the dispropor-

Errors which arise from the disproportion between Imagination and Judgment.

Those arising from the weakness of Imagination.

tion between the Imagination and the Judgment; --- they originate either in the weakness, or in the inordinate strength, of the former.

In regard to the errors which arise from the imbecility of the Representative Faculty, it is not difficult to conceive how this imbecility may become a cause of erroneous judgment.

The Elaborative Faculty, in order to judge, requires an object, requires certain differences to be given. Now, if the imagination be weak and languid, the objects represented by it will be given in such confusion and obscurity, that their differences are either null or evanescent, and judgment thus rendered either impossible, or possible only with the probability of error. In these circumstances, to secure itself from failure, the intellect must not attempt to rise above the actual presentations of sense; it must not attempt any ideal analysis or synthesis, - it must abandon all free and selfactive elaboration, and all hope of a successful cultivation of knowledge.

Again, in regard to the opposite errors, those arising from the disproportioned vivacity of imagination, -- these From its dispropor-

tionate vivacity.

are equally apparent. In this case the renewed or newly-modified representations make an equal

impression on the mind as the original presentations, and are, consequently, liable to be mistaken for these. Even during the perception of real objects, a too lively imagination mingles itself with the observation, which it thus corrupts and falsifies. Thus arises what is logically called the vitium subreptionis.¹ This is frequently seen in those pretended observations made by theorists in support of their hypotheses, in which, if even the possibility be left for imagination to interfere, imagination is sure to fill up all that the senses may leave vacant. In this case the observers are at once dupes and deceivers, in the words of Tacitus, "Fingunt simul creduntque." 2

1 Krug, Logik, § 142. Anm. - ED.

2 Hist. lib. ii. c. 8. See Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 54. - ED.

In regard to the remedies for these defects of the Representative

Remedies for these defects of the Imagination. Faculty; — in the former case, the only alleviation that can be proposed for a feeble Imagination, is to animate it by the contemplation and study of those works of art which are the pro-

ducts of a strong Phantasy, and which tend to awaken in the student a corresponding energy of that faculty. On the other hand, a too powerful imagination is to be quelled and regulated by abstract thinking, and the study of philosophical, perhaps of mathematical, science.¹

The faculty which next follows, is the Elaborative Faculty, Comparison, or the Faculty of Relations. This is the Understanding, in its three functions of Conception, Judgment, and Reasoning. On this faculty take the following paragraph.

¶ CIII. The Affections and the Lower Cognitive Faculties afford the sources and occasions of error; but it is the Elaborative Faculty, Understanding, Comparison, or Judgment, which truly errs. This faculty does not, however,

err from strength or over-activity, but from inaction; and this inaction arises either from natural weakness, from want of exercise, or from the impotence of attention.²

I formerly observed that error does not lie in the conditions of our higher faculties themselves, and that these faculties are not, by their own laws, determined to false judgments or conclusions:

Higher Faculties, but is possible in the application of the laws of those faculties to determinate cases.

"Nam neque decipitur ratio, nec decipit unquam."3

If this were otherwise, all knowledge would be impossible, — the root of our nature would be a

lie. "But in the application of the laws of our higher faculties to determinate cases, many errors are possible; and these errors may actually be occasioned by a variety of circumstances. Thus, it is a law of our intelligence, that no event, no phenomenon, can be thought as absolutely beginning to be; we cannot but think that all its constituent elements had a virtual existence prior to their concurrence, to necessitate its manifestation to us; we

err from str

¹ Cf. Krug, Logik, § 156. Anm. - ED.

² Krug, Logik, § 148. - ED. [Cf. Fries, Logik, § 108. Bachmann, Logik, § 411.]

⁸ See above, p. 389. - ED.

LECT. XXX.

are thus unable to accord to it more than a relative commencement, in other words, we are constrained to look upon it as the effect of antecedent causes. Now though the law itself of our intelligence — that a cause there is for every event — be altogether exempt from error, yet in the application of this law to individual eases, that is, in the attribution of determinate causes to determinate effects, we are easily liable to go wrong. For we do not know, except from experience and induction, what particular antecedents are the causes of particular consequents; and if our knowledge of this relation be imperfectly generalized, or if we extend it by a false analogy to cases not included within our observation, error is the inevitable consequence. But in all this there is no fault, no failure, of intelligence, there is only a deficiency, — a deficiency in the activity of intelligence, while the Will determines us to a decision before the Understanding has become fully conscious of cer-

Defective action of the Understanding may arise from three causes.

(a) Natural feebleness. (b) Want of necessary experience. (c) Incompetency of attention. tainty. The defective action of the Understanding may arise from three causes. In the first place, the faculty of Judgment may by nature be too feeble. This is the case in idiots and weak persons. In the second place, though not by nature incompetent to judge, the intellect may be without the necessary experience, — may not possess the grounds on which a cor-

rect judgment must be founded. In the third place, - and this is the most frequent cause of error, - the failure of the understanding is from the incompetency of that act of will which is called Attention. Attention is the voluntary direction of the mind upon an object, with the intention of fully apprehending it. The cognitive energy is thus, as it were, concentrated upon a single point. We, therefore, say that the mind collects itself, when it begins to be attentive; on the contrary, that it is distracted, when its attention is not turned upon an object as it ought to be. This fixing -- this concentration, of the mind upon an object can only be carried to a certain degree, and continued for a certain time. This degree and this continuance are both dependent upon bodily circumstances; and they are also frequently interrupted or suspended by the intrusion of certain collateral objects, which are forced upon the mind, either from without, by a strong and sudden impression upon the senses, or from within, through the influence of Association; and these, when once obtruded, gradually or at once divert the attention from the original and principal object. If we are not sufficiently attentive, or if the effort which accompanies the concentration of the mind upon a single object be irksome, there arises hurry and thoughtless-

LECT. XXX.

LOGIC.

ness in judging, inasmuch as we judge either before we have fully sought out the grounds on which our decision ought to proceed, or have competently examined their validity and effect. It is hence manifest that a multitude of errors is the inevitable consequence."¹

In regard to the Regulative Faculty, - Common Sense, - Intel-

6. Regulative Faculty, — not properly a source of Error. ligence, — $vo\hat{v}s$, — this is not in itself a source of error. Errors may, however, arise either from overlooking the laws or necessary principles which it does contain; or by attributing to

it, as necessary and original data, what are only contingent generalizations from experience, and, consequently, make no part of its complement of native truths. But these errors, it is evident, are not to be attributed to the Regulating Faculty itself, which is only a place or source of principles, but to the imperfect operations of the Understanding and Self-consciousness, in not properly observing and sifting the phenomena which it reveals.

Besides these sources of Error, which immediately originate in

Remote sources of Error in the different habits determinated by sex, age, bodily constitution, education, etc. the several powers and faculties of mind, there are others of a remoter origin arising from the different habits which are determined by the differences of $\sec x^2$ of \sec^3 of bodily constitution,⁴ of education, of rank, of fortune, of profession, of intellectual pursuit. Of these, how-

ever, it is impossible at present to attempt an analysis; and I shall only endeavor to afford you a few specimens, and to refer you for information in regard to the others to the best sources.

Intellectual pursuits or favorite studies, inasmuch as these deter-

Selected examples of these.

A one-sided cultivation of the intellectual powers.

This exemplified in three different phases. Exclusive cultivation. 1. Of the powers of Observation. mine the mind to a one-sided cultivation, that is, to the neglect of some, and to the disproportioned development of other, of its faculties, are among the most remarkable causes of error. This partial or one-sided cultivation is exemplified in three different phases. The first of these is shown in the exclusive cultivation of the powers of Observation, to the neglect of the higher faculties of the Understanding. Of

this type are your men of physical science. In this department of knowledge there is chiefly demanded a patient habit of attention to details, in order to detect phenomena, and, these discovered, their

¹ Krug, Logik, § 148. Anm. In some places slightly changed. — ED.

² [See Stewart, Elements, vol. iii. part iii. sect. v. chap. i. Works, vol. iv. p. 238 et seq.]

³ [Aristotle, Rhet., L. ii. c. 12. Crousaz, Logique, t. i. part i. sect. i. ch. v. § 15, p. 104.]

^{4 [}See Crousaz, Logique, t. i. p. i. sect. i. ch. v. p. 91 et seq.]

LECT. XXX.

generalization is usually so easy that there is little exercise afforded to the higher energies of Judgment and Reasoning. It was Bacon's boast, that Induction, as applied to nature, would equalize all talents, level the aristocracy of genius, accomplish marvels by coöperation and method, and leave little to be done by the force of individual intellects. This boast has been fulfilled. Science has, by the Inductive Process, been brought down to minds, who previously would have been incompetent for its cultivation, and physical knowledge now usefully occupies many who would otherwise have been without any rational pursuit. But the exclusive devotion to such studies, if not combined with higher and graver speculations, tends to wean the student from the more vigorous efforts of mind, which, though unamusing and even irksome at the commencement, tend, however, to invigorate his nobler powers, and to prepare him for the final fruition of the highest happiness of his intellectual nature.

A partial cultivation of the intellect, opposite to this, is given

Of Metaphysics.
Of Mathematics.
Stewart referred to.

in the exclusive cultivation of Metaphysics and of Mathematics. On this subject I may refer you to some observations of Mr. Stewart, in two chapters entitled *The Metaphysician* and

The Mathematician, in the third volume of his Elements of the Philosophy of the Human Mind, — chapters distinguished equally by their candor and their depth of observation. On this subject Mr. Stewart's authority is of the highest, inasmuch as he was distinguished in both the departments of knowledge, the tendency of which he so well develops.

LECTURE XXXI.

MODIFIED STOICHEIOLOGY.

SECTION II.-ERROR-ITS CAUSES AND REMEDIES.

C.-LANGUAGE.-D.-OBJECTS OF KNOWLEDGE.

In my last Lecture, I concluded the survey of the Errors which

III. Language, - as a source of Error. have their origin in the conditions and circumstances of the several Cognitive Faculties, and now proceed to that source of false judgment which lies in the imperfection of the Instrument of thought and Communication, - I mean Language.

Much controversy has arisen in regard to the question, - Has

Has man invented Language? Ambiguity of the question. man invented Language? But the differences of opinion have in a great measure arisen from the ambignity or complexity of the terms, in which the problem has been stated. By *lan*-

guage we may mean either the power which man possesses of associating his thought with signs, or the particular systems of signs with which different portions of mankind have actually so associated their thoughts.

Taking *language* in the former sense, it is a natural faculty, an

In what sense Language is natural to man. original tendency of mind, and, in this view, man has no more invented language than he has invented thought. In fact, the power of thought and the power of language are equally

entitled to be considered as elementary qualities of intelligence; for while they are so different that they cannot be identified, they are still so reciprocally necessary that the one cannot exist without the other. It is true, indeed, that presentations and representations of given individual objects might have taken place, although there were no signs with which they were mentally connected, and by which they could be overly expressed; but all complex and factitious constructions out of these given individual objects, in other

LECT. XXXI.

words, all notions, concepts, general ideas, or thoughts proper, would have been impossible without an association to certain signs, by which their scattered elements might be combined in unity, and their vague and evanescent existence obtain a kind of definite and fixed and palpable reality. Speech and cogitation are thus the relative conditions of each other's activity, and both concur to the accomplishment of the same joint result. The Faculty of Thinking - the Faculty of forming General Notions - being given, this necessarily tends to energy, but the energy of thinking depends upon the coactivity of the Faculty of Speech, which itself tends equally to energy. These faculties, - these tendencies, - these energies, thus coëxist and have always coëxisted; and the result of their combined action is thought in language, and language in thought. So much for the origin of Language, considered in general as a faculty.

But, though the Faculty of Speech be natural and necessary,

Was the first language, actually spoken, the invention of man, or an inspiration of the Deity?

The latter hypothesis considered.

that its manifestations are, to a certain extent, contingent and artificial, is evident from the simple fact, that there are more than a single language actually spoken. It may, therefore, be asked, - Was the first language, actually spoken, the invention of man, or an inspiration of the Deity? The latter hypothesis cuts, but does not loose the knot. It declares that ordi-

nary causes and the laws of nature are insufficient to explain the phenomenon, but it does not prove this insufficiency; it thus violates the rule of Parcimony, by postulating a second and hypothetical cause to explain an effect, which it is not shown cannot be accounted for without this violent assumption. The first and greatest difficulty in the question is thus : - It is necessary to think

in order to invent a language, and the invention Difficulty of the of a language is necessary in order to think; question. for we cannot think without notions, and no-

tions are only fixed by words.¹ This can only be solved, as I have said, by the natural attraction between thought and speech, - by their secret affinity, which is such that they suggest and, pari passu, accompany each other. And in regard to the question, -Why, if speech be a natural faculty, it does not manifest itself like other natural principles in a uniform manner, - it may be answered

Inégalité parmi les Hommes. Première Partie. "Si les hommes ont eu besoin de la parole l'art de la parole."-ED.

¹ See Rousseau, Discours sur l'Origine de l' pour apprendre à penser, ils ont eu bien plus besoin encore de savoir penser pour trouver

that the Faculty of Speech is controlled and modified in its exereise by external circumstances, in consequence of which, though its exertion be natural and necessary, and, therefore, identical in all men, the special forms of its exertion are in a great degree conventional and contingent, and, therefore, different among different portions of mankind.

Considered on one side, languages are the results of our intelli-

Language has a general and a special character.

gence and its immutable laws. In consequence of this, they exhibit in their progress and development resemblances and common characters which allow us to compare and to recall them

to certain primitive and essential forms, - to evolve a system of Universal Grammar. Considered on another side, each language is the offspring of particular wants, of special circumstances, physical and moral, and of chance. Hence it is that every language has particular forms as it has peculiar words. Language thus bears the impress of human intelligence only in its general outlines. There is, therefore, to be found reason and philosophy in all languages, but we should be wrong in believing that reason and philosophy have, in any language, determined everything. No tongue,

No language is a perfect instrument of thought.

how perfect soever it may appear, is a complete and perfect instrument of human thought. From its very conditions every language must be imperfect. The human memory can only

compass a limited complement of words, but the data of sense, and still more the combinations of the understanding, are wholly unlimited in number. No language can, therefore, be adequate to the ends for which it exists; all are imperfect, but some are far less incompetent instruments than others.

From what has now been said, you will be prepared to find in Language one of the principal sources of Error; but before I go on to consider the particular modes in which the Imperfections of Language are the causes of false judgments, - I shall comprise the general doctrine in the following paragraph.

¶ CIV. As the human mind necessarily requires the aid

Par. CIV. Language,

of signs to elaborate, to fix, and to commu-

-as a source of Error.

nicate its notions, and as Articulate Sounds are the species of signs which most effect-

ually afford this aid, Speech is, therefore, an indispensable instrument in the higher functions of thought and knowledge. But as speech is a necessary, but not a perfect, instrument, its imperfection must react upon the mind. For the Multitude

of Languages, the Difficulty of their Acquisition, their necessary Inadequacy, and the consequent Ambiguity of Words, both singly and in combination, — these are all copious sources of Illusion and Error.¹

We have already sufficiently considered the reason why thought

Explication. Signs necessary for the internal operation of Thought. is dependent upon some system of signs or symbols both for its internal perfection and external expression.² The analyses and syntheses, — the decompositions and compositions, — in a word, the elaborations, performed by the Understand-

ing upon the objects presented by External Perception and Self-Consciousness, and represented by Imagination, — these operations are faint and fugitive, and would have no existence, even for the conscious mind, beyond the moment of present consciousness, were we not able to connect, to ratify, and to fix them, by giving to their parts (which would otherwise immediately fall asunder) a permanent unity, by associating them with a sensible symbol, which we may always recall at pleasure, and which, when recalled, recalls along with it the characters which concur in constituting a notion or factitious object of intelligence. So far signs are necessary for the internal operation of thought itself. But for the communication of thought from one mind to another, signs are equally indispensable. For in itself thought is known, — thought is knowable,

And for the communication of Thought. only to the thinking mind itself; and were we not enabled to connect certain complements of thought to certain sensible symbols, and by

their means to suggest in other minds those complements of thought of which we were conscious in ourselves, we should never be able to communicate to others what engaged our interest, and man would remain for man, if an intelligence at all, a mere isolated intelligence.

In regard to the question, — What may these sensible symbols be, by which we are to compass such memorable effects, — it is needless to show that mien and gesture, which, to a certain extent, afford a kind of natural expression, are altogether inadequate to the double purpose of thought and communication, which it is here required to accomplish. This double purpose can be effected only

Logik, § 109. Caro, Logique, Part. i. ch. i. art. 9, p. 121. Crousaz, Toussaint.] [Crousaz, Logique, t. iii. part i. sect. iii. c. 2, p. 68 et seq. Toussaint, De la Pensée. Chs. vii. x. - ED.] 2 See above, p. 430. - ED.

¹ Krug, Logik, § 145. – ED. [Cf. Ernesti, Initia Doctrina Solidioris; Pars Altera; Dialectica, c. 2, § 24. Wyttenbach, Præcepta Phil. Log. P. iii. c. iii. p. 98. Tittel, Logik, p. 292. Kirwan, Logick, i. 214. Fries, System der

by symbols, which express, through intonations of the voice, what

Intonations of the voice the only adequate sensible symbols of thought and its communication.

These inarticulate and articulate.

The latter constitute Language Proper.

How Language is a source of Error.

is passing in the mind. These vocal intonations are either inarticulate or articulate. The former are mere sounds or cries; and, as such, an expression of the feelings of which the lower animals are also capable. The latter constitute words, and these, as the expression of thoughts or notions, constitute Language Proper or Speech.¹ Speech, as we have said, as the instrument of elaborating, fixing, and communicating our thoughts, is a principal mean of

knowledge, and even the indispensable condition on which depends the exercise of our higher cognitive faculties. But, at the same time, in consequence of this very dependence of thought upon language, inasmuch as language is itself not perfect, the understanding is not only restrained in its operations, and its higher development, consequently, checked, but many occasions are given of positive error. For, to say nothing of the impediment presented to the free communication of thought by the multitude of tongues into which human language is divided, in consequence of which all speech beyond their mother-tongue is incomprehensible to those who do not make a study of other languages, - even the accurate learning of a single language is attended with such difficulties, that perhaps there never yet has been found an individual who was thoroughly acquainted with all the words and modes of verbal combination in any single language, - his mother-tongue even not excepted. But

The ambiguity of words the principal source of error originating in Language.

the circumstance of principal importance is, that how copious and expressive soever it may be, no language is competent adequately to denote all possible notions, and all possible relations of notions, and from this necessary poverty

of language in all its different degrees, a certain inevitable ambiguity arises, both in the employment of single words and of words in mutual connection.

As this is the principal source of the error originating in Lan-

Two circumstances under this head, which nutually affect each other.

guage, it will be proper to be a little more explicit. And here it is expedient to take into account two circumstances, which mutually affect each other. The first is, that as the vocabulary of every language is necessarily finite, it

is necessarily disproportioned to the multiplicity, not to say infinity, of thought; and the second, that the complement of words in any

LECT. XXXI.

LOGIC.

given language has been always filled up with terms significant of objects and relations of the external world, before the want was experienced of words to express the objects and relations of the internal.

From the first of these circumstances, considered exclusively

The vocabulary of every language necessarily finite. Consequences of this. and by itself, it is manifest that one of two alternatives must take place. Either the words of a language must each designate only a single notion, — a single faseiculus of thought, — the multitude of notions not designated being al-

lowed to perish, never obtaining more than a momentary existence in the mind of the individual; or the words of a language must each be employed to denote a plurality of concepts. In the former case, a small amount of thought would be expressed, but that precisely and without ambiguity; in the latter, a large amount of thought would be expressed, but that vaguely and equivocally. Of these alternatives (each of which has thus its advantages and disadvantages), the latter is the one which has universally been preferred; and, accordingly, all languages by the same word express a multitude of thoughts, more or less differing from each other. Now, what is the consequence of this? It is plain that if a word has more than a single meaning attached to it, when it is employed it cannot of itself directly and peremptorily suggest any definite thought; - all that it can do is vaguely and hypothetically to suggest a variety of different notions; and we are obliged from a consideration of the context, - of the tenor, - of the general analogy, of the discourse, to surmise, with greater or less assurance, with greater or less precision, what particular bundle of characters it was intended to convey.

Words are merely hints to the mind. Words, in fact, as languages are constituted, do nothing more than suggest, — are nothing more than hints; hints, likewise, which leave

the principal part of the process of interpretation to be performed by the mind of the hearer. In this respect, the effect of words resembles the effect of an outline or shade of a countenance with which we are familiar. In both cases, the mind is stimulated to fill up what is only hinted or pointed at. Thus it is that the function of language is not so much to infuse knowledge from one intelligence to another, as to bring two minds into the same train of thinking, and to confine them to the same track. In this procedure what is chiefly wonderful, is the rapidity with which the mind compares the word with its correlations, and in general, without the slightest effort, decides which among its various meanings

is the one which it is here intended to convey. But how marvellous soever be the ease and velocity of this process of selection, it cannot always be performed with equal certainty. Words are often employed with a plurality of meanings; several of which may quadrate, or be supposed to quadrate, with the general tenor of the discourse. Error is thus possible; and it is also probable, if we have any prepossession in favor of one interpretation rather than of another. So copious a source of error is the ambiguity of language, that a very large proportion of human controversy has been concerning the sense in which certain terms should be understood; and many disputes have even been fiercely waged, in consequence of the disputants being unaware that they agreed in opinion, and only differed in the meaning they attached to the words in which that opinion was expressed. On this subject I may refer you to the very amusing and very instructive treatise of Werenfelsius, entitled De Logomachiis Eruditorum.

"In regard to a remedy for this description of error, - this lies

Remedy for error arising from Language. exclusively in a thorough study of the language employed in the communication of knowledge, and in an acquaintance with the rules of Criticism and Interpretation. The study of lan-

guages, when rationally pursued, is not so unimportant as many fondly conceive; for misconceptions most frequently arise solely from an ignorance of words; and every language may, in a certain sort, be viewed as a commentary upon Logic, inasmuch as every language, in like manner, mirrors in itself the laws of thought.

"In reference to the rules of Criticism and Interpretation, these especially should be familiar to those who make a study of the writings of ancient authors, as these writings have descended to us often in a very mutilated state, and are composed in languages which are now dead. How many theological errors, for example, have only arisen because the divines were either ignorant of the principles of Criticism and Hermeneutic, or did not properly apply them! Doctrines originating in a corrupted lection, or in a figurative expression, have thus arisen and been keenly defended. Such errors are best combated by philological weapons; for these pull them up along with their roots.

"A thorough knowledge of languages in general accustoms the mind not to remain satisfied with the husk, but to penetrate in, even to the kernel. With this knowledge we shall not so easily

LECT. XXXI.

LOGIC,

imagine that we understand a system, when we only possess the language in which it is expressed; we shall not conceive that we truly reason, when we only employ certain empty words and formulæ; we shall not betray ourselves into unusual and obscure expressions, under which our meaning may be easily mistaken; finally, we shall not dispute with others about words, when we are in fact at one with them in regard to things."¹ So much for the errors which originate in Language.

As to the last source of Error which I enumerated, - the

IV. Source of Error, — the Objects of our Knowledge. Objects themselves of our knowledge, — it is hardly necessary to say anything. It is evident that some matters are obscure and abstruse, while others are clear and palpable; and that,

consequently, the probability of error is greater in some studies than it is in others. But as it is impossible to deliver any special rules for these cases, different from those which are given for the Acquisition of Knowledge in general, concerning which we are soon to speak, — this source of error may be, therefore, passed over in silence.

We have now thus finished the consideration of the various Sources of Error, and —

¶ CV. The following rules may be given, as the results Par. CV. Rules touching the Causes and Remedies of our False Judgments. False Judgments.

1°. Endeavor as far as possible to obtain a clear and thorough insight into the laws of the Understanding, and of the Mental Faculties in general. Study Logic and Psychology.

2°. Assiduously exercise your mind in the application of these laws. Learn to think methodically.

3°. Concentrate your attention in the act of Thinking; and principally employ the seasons when the Intellect is alert, the Passions slumbering, and no external causes of distraction at work.

4°. Carefully eliminate all foreign interests from the objects of your inquiry, and allow yourselves to be actuated by the interest of Truth alone.

5°. Contrast your various convictions, your past and present judgments, with each other; and admit no conclusion as cer-

tain, until it has been once and again thoroughly examined, and its correctness ascertained.

6°. Collate your own persuasions with those of others; attentively listen to and weigh, without prepossession, the judgments formed by others of the opinions which you yourselves maintain.¹

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 160. Bachmann, Logik, § 416. - ED.

LECTURE XXXII.

MODIFIED METHODOLOGY.

SECTION I.-OF THE ACQUISITION OF KNOWLEDGE.

I. EXPERIENCE. - A. PERSONAL: - OBSERVATION -

INDUCTION AND ANALOGY.

In our last Lecture, having concluded the Second Department

Means by which our knowledge obtains the character of Perfection, viz., the Acquisition and the Communication of Knowledge. of Concrete Logic, — that which treats of the Causes of Error, we now enter upon the Third part of Concrete or Modified Logic, — that which considers the Means by which our Knowledge obtains the character of Perfection. These means may, in general, be regarded as two, — the Acquisition and the knowledge — and these two means we shall

Communication of knowledge, — and these two means we shall, accordingly, consider consecutively and apart.

In regard to the Acquisition of Knowledge, - we must consider

The acquisition of Knowledge.

of two species.

Human knowledge, I say, viewed in its greatest universality, is

Human Knowledge of two kinds. of two kinds. For either it is one of which the objects are given as contingent phænomena, or one in which the objects are given as necessary

this by reference to the different kinds of knowl-

edge of which the human intellect is capable.

And this, viewed in its greatest universality, is

facts or laws. In the former case, the cognitions are called *empirical*, *experiential*, or *of experience*; in the latter, *pure*, *intuitive*, *rational*, or *of reason*, also *of common sense*. These two kinds of knowledge are, likewise, severally denominated *cognitions a posteriori* and *cognitions a priori*. The distinction of these two species of cognitions consists properly in this, — that the former are solely derived from the Presentations of Sense, External and Internal; whereas the latter, though first manifested on the occasion

of such Presentations, are not, however, mere products of Sense; on the contrary, they are laws, principles, forms, notions, or by whatever name they may be called, native and original to the mind, that is, founded in, or constituting the very nature of, Intelligence; and, accordingly, out of the mind itself they must be developed, and not sought for and acquired as foreign and accidental acquisitions. As the Presentative Faculties inform us only of what exists and what happens, that is, only of facts and events, — such empirical knowledge constitutes no necessary and universal judgment; all, in this case, is contingent and particular, for even our generalized knowledge has only a relative and precarious universality. The cognitions, on the other hand, which are given as Laws of Mind, are, at once and in themselves, universal and necessary. We

Doctrine of the Acquisition of Knowledge consists of two parts. cannot but think them, if we think at all. The doctrine, therefore, of the Acquisition of Knowledge, must consist of two parts,—the first treating of the acquisition of knowledge through the data of Experience, the second, of the acquisithrough the data of Latellinguage

tion of knowledge through the data of Intelligence.¹

In regard to the first of these sources, viz., Experience, - this is

I. The Doctrine of Experience. Experience of two kinds. either our own experience or the experience of others, and in either case it is for us a mean of knowledge. It is manifest that the knowledge we acquire through our personal experience, is

far superior in degree to that which we obtain through the experience of other men; inasmuch as our knowledge of an object, in the former case, is far clearer and more distinct, far more complete and lively, than in the latter; while at the same time the latter also affords us a far inferior conviction of the correctness and certainty of the cognition than the former. On the other hand, foreign is far superior to our proper experience in this, — that it is much more comprehensive, and that, without this, man would be deprived of those branches of knowledge which are to him of the most indispensable importance. Now, as the principal distinction of experience is thus into our own experience and into the experience of others, we must consider it more closely in this twofold relation.² First, then, of our Personal Experience.

Experience necessarily supposes, as its primary condition, certain presentations by the faculties of External or of Internal Perception,

acquired either, 1°, By experience; or, 2°, On oceasion of experience. ² Esser, Logik, § 146. – ED.

¹ See Esser, Logik, § 145. — ED. In regard to the acquisition of knowledge, — all knowledge may be called *acquired*, inasmuch as it is

LECT. XXXII.

LOGIC.

and is, therefore, of two kinds, according as it is conversant about

1. Personal Experience. the objects of the one of these faculties, or the objects of the other. But the presentation of a fact of the external or of the internal world is

not at once an experience. To this there is required a continued series of such presentations, a comparison of these together, a mental separation of the different, a mental combination of the similar, and it, therefore, over and above the operation of the Presentative Faculties, requires the coöperation of the Retentive, the Reproductive, the Representative, and the Elaborative Faculties. In regard to Experience, as the first means by which we acquire knowledge through the legitimate use and application of our Cognitive Faculties, I give you the following paragraph:

¶ CVI. The First Mean towards the Acquisition of Knowledge is *Experience* (experientia, $\epsilon \mu \pi \epsilon \iota \rho i a$). Par. CVI. Experience; what, - in general. Experience may be, rudely and generally, described as the apprehension of the phænomena of the outer world, presented by the Faculty of External Perception, and of the phænomena of

the Faculty of External Perception, and of the phænomena of the inner world, presented by the Faculty of Self-consciousness; — these phænomena being retained in Memory, ready for Reproduction and Representation, being also arranged into order by the Understanding.

This paragraph, you will remark, affords only a preliminary view of the general conditions of Experience. In Explication. the first place, it is evident, that without the Presentative, or, as they may with equal propriety be called, the Acquisitive, Faculties of Perception, External and Internal, no experience would be possible. But these faculties, though affording the fundamental condition of knowledge, do not of themselves make up experience. There is, moreover, required of the phænomena or appearances the accumulation and retention, the reproduction and representation. Memory, Reminiscence, and Imagination must, therefore, also coöperate. Finally, unless the phænomena be compared together, and be arranged into classes, according to their similarities and differences, it is evident that no judgments, no conclusions, can be formed concerning them; but without a judgment knowledge is impossible; and as experience is a knowledge, consequently experience is impossible. The Understanding or Elaborative Faculty must, therefore, likewise coöperate. Mani-

LECT. XXXII.

lius has well expressed the nature of experience in the following lines.

LOGIC.

"Per varios usus artem experientia fecit, Exemplo monstrante viam." 1

And Afranius in the others:

"Usus me genuit, mater peperit Memoria; Sophiam vocant me Graii, vos Sapientiam."²

"Our own observation, be it external or internal, is either with,

Common and Scientific Experience. or without, intention; and it consists either of a series of Presentations alone, or Abstraction and Reflection supervene, so that the presenta-

tions obtain that completion and system which they do not of themselves possess. In the former case, the experience may be called an *Unlearned* or a *Common*; in the latter, a *Learned* or *Scientific Experience*. Intentional and reflective experience is called

Observation, — what. Of two kinds, — Observation Proper, and Experiment. *Observation.* Observation is of two kinds; for either the objects which it considers remain unchanged, or, previous to its application, they are made to undergo certain arbitrary changes, or are placed in certain factitious relations. In

the latter case, the observation contains the specific name of Experiment. Observation and experiment do not, therefore, constitute opposite or two different procedures, - the latter is, in propriety, only a certain subordinate modification of the former; for, while observation may accomplish its end without experiment, experiment without observation is impossible. Observation and experiment are manifestly exclusively competent upon the objects of our empirical knowledge; and they coöperate, equally and in like manner, to the progress of that knowledge, partly by establishing, partly by correcting, partly by amplifying it. Under observation, therefore, is not to be understood a common or unlearned experience, which obtrudes itself upon every one endowed with the ordinary faculties of Sense and Understanding, but an intentional and continued application of the faculties of Perception, combined with an abstractive and reflective attention to an object or class of objects, a more accurate knowledge of which, it is proposed, by the observation, to accomplish. But in order that the observation should accomplish this end, - more especially when the objects are

1 I 61.

2 Fragmentum e Sella. Vide Corpus Poetarum Latinorum, vol. ii. p. 1513, Lond. 1713. - ED.

444
LOGIC.

numerous, and a systematic complement of cognitions is the end

Præcognita of Observation.

proposed, --- it is necessary that we should know certain præcognita, - 1°. What we ought to observe; 2°. How we ought to observe; and 3°.

By what means are the data of observation to be reduced to system. The first of these concerns the Object; the second, the Procedure; the third, the scientific Completion, of the observations. It is proper to make some general observations in regard to these, in their order; and first, of the Object of observation, -- the what we ought to observe.

"The Object of Observation can only be some given and deter-

First, - The Object of Observation. This fourfold.

minate phænomenon, and this phænomenon either an external or an internal. Through observation, whether external or internal, there are four several cognitions which we propose to compass,

- viz., to ascertain - 1°. What the Phænomena themselves are; 2°. What are the Conditions of their Reality; 3°. What are the Causes of their Existence; 4°. What is the Order of their Consecution. "In regard to what the phænomena themselves are (quid sint),

1°. What the Phænomena are.

that is, in regard to what constitutes their peculiar nature, - this, it is evident, must be the primary matter of consideration, it being always supposed that the fact (the an sit) of the phænomenon itself has been established.¹ To this there is required, above all, a clear and distinct Presentation or Representation of the object. In order to

In their individual peculiarities and contrasts.

obtain this, it behooves us to analyze, --- to dismember, the constituent parts of the object, and to take into proximate account those characters which constitute the object, that is, which

make it to be what it is, and nothing but what it is. This being performed, we must proceed to compare it with other objects, and with those especially which bear to it the strongest similarity, taking accurate note always of those points in which they reciprocally resemble and in which they reciprocally disagree.

"But it is not enough to consider the several phænomena in their

As under determinate genera and species.

individual peculiarities and contrasts, - in what they are, and in what they are not, - it is also requisite to bring them under determinate genera and species. To this end we must, having

obtained (as previously prescribed) a clear and distinct knowledge of the several phænomena in their essential similarities and differences, look away or abstract from the latter, - the differences, and

comprehend the former, — the similarities, in a compendious and characteristic notion, under an appropriate name.

"When the distinctive peculiarities of the phænomena have been

2°. What the Conditions of their Reality. thus definitively recognized, the second question emerges, — What are the Conditions of their Reality. These conditions are commonly

called *Requisites*, and under *requisite* we must understand all that must have preceded, before the phænomena could follow. In order to discover the requisites, we take a number of analogous cases, or cases similar in kind, and inquire what are the circumstances under which the phænomenon always arises, if it does arise, and what are the circumstances under which it never arises; and then, after a competent observation of individual cases, we construct the general judgment, that the phænomenon never occurs unless this or that other phænomenon has preceded, or at least accompanied, it. Here, however, it must be noticed, that nothing can be viewed as a requisite which admits of any, even the smallest, exception.

"The requisite conditions being discovered, the third question

3°. What the Causes of the Phænomena. arises, — What are the Causes of the Phænomena. According to the current doctrine, the *causes* of phænomena are not to be confounded

with their requisites; for although a phænomenon no more occurs without its requisite than without its cause, still, the requisite being given, the phænomenon does not necessarily follow, and, indeed, very frequently does not ensue. On the contrary, if the cause occurs, the phænomenon must occur also. In other words, the requisite or condition is that without which the phænomenon never is; the cause, on the other hand, is that through which it always is. Thus an emotion of pity never arises without a knowledge of the misfortune of another; but so little does this knowledge necessitate that emotion, that its opposite, a feeling of rejoicing, complacency, at such suffering may ensue; whereas the knowledge of another's misfortune must be followed by a sentiment of pity, if we are predisposed in favor of the person to whom the misfortune has occurred. In this view, the knowledge of another's misfortune is only a requisite; whereas our favorable predisposition constitutes the cause. It must, however, be admitted, that in different relations one and the same circumstance may be both requisite and cause;"1 and, in point of fact, it would be more correct to consider the cause as the whole sum of antecedents, without which the phænomenon never docs take place, and with which it always must.

1 Esser, Logik, § 148. - ED.

LOGIC.

What are commonly called *requisites*, are thus, in truth, only partial causes; what are called causes, only proximate requisites. "In the fourth place, having ascertained the essential qualities, --

4°. What the Order of their Consecution.

the Conditions and the Causes of phænomena, - a final question emerges, - What is the Order in which they are manifested? and this

being ascertained, the observation has accomplished its end. This question applies either to a phænomenon considered in itself, or to a phænomenon considered in relation to others. In relation to itself, the question concerns only the time of its origin, of its continuance, and of its termination; in relation to others, it concerns the reciprocal consecution in which the several phænomena appear."1

"We now go on to the Second Præcognitum, - the Manner of

Second, - The Manner of Observation.

we have hitherto spoken of - the Object - can be known only in one way, - the way of Scientific Observation. It therefore remains to be asked, -- How must the observation be instituted, so as to afford us a satisfactory result in regard to all the four sides on which it behooves an object to be

1°. Proper state of the observing mind.

observed? In the first place, as preliminary to observation, it is required that the observing mind be tranquil and composed, be exempt

Observation, --- How we are to observe. What

from prejudice, partiality, and prepossession, and be actuated by no other interest than the discovery of truth. Tranquillity and composure of mind are of peculiar importance in our observation of the phænomena of the internal world; for these phænomena are not, like those of the external, perceptible by sense, enclosed in space, continuous and divisible; and they follow each other in such numbers, and with such a rapidity, that they are at best observable with difficulty, often losing even their existence by the interference of the observing, - the reflective energy, itself. But that the observation should be always conducted in the calm and collected state of mind required to purify this condition, we must be careful to obtain, more and more, a mastery over the Attention, so as to turn it with full force upon a single aspect of the phænomena, and, consequently, to abstract it altogether from every other. Its proper function is to contemplate the objects of observation tranquilly, continuously, and without anxiety for the result; and this, likewise, without too intense an activity or too vigorous an application of its forces. But the observation and concomitant energy of attention will be without result, unless we previously well consider what precise object or objects we are now to observe. Nor will our experience

1 Esser, Logik, § 148. - ED.

2°. Conditions of the question to be determined by the observation.

obtain an answer to the question proposed for it to solve, unless that question be of such a nature as will animate the observing faculties by some stimulus, and give them a determinate direction. Where this is not the case, attention does not effect anything, nay, it does not operate at all. On this

account such psychological questions as the following : What takes place in the process of Self-consciousness, - of Perception, - of Vision, - of Hearing, - of Imagination, etc., - cannot be answered, as thus absolutely stated, that is, without reference to some determinate object. But if I propose the problem, - What takes place when I see this or that object, or better still, when I see this table, - the attention is stimulated and directed, and even a child can give responses, which, if properly illustrated and explained, will afford a solution to the problem. If, therefore, the question upon the object of observation be too vague and general, so that the attention is not suitably excited and applied, - this question must be divided and subdivided into others more particular, and this process must be continued until we reach a question which affords the requisite conditions. We should, therefore, determine as closely as possible the object itself, and the phases in which we wish to observe it, separate from it all foreign or adventitious parts, resolve every question into its constituent elements, enunciate each of these as specially as possible, and never couch it in vague and general expressions. But here we must at the same time take care that the object be not so torn and mangled that the attention feels no longer any attraction to the several parts, or that the several parts can no longer be viewed in their natural connection. So much it is possible to say in general, touching the Manner in which observation ought to be carried on; what may further be added under this head, depends upon the particular nature of the objects to be observed."1

"In this manner, then, must we proceed, until all has been accomplished which the problem, to be answered by the observation, pointed out. When the observation is concluded, an accurate record or notation of what has been observed is of use, in order to enable us to supply what is found wanting in our subsequent observation. If we have accumulated a considerable apparatus of results, in relation to the object we observe, it is proper to take a survey of these; from what is found defective, new questions must be evolved, and an answer to these sought out through new obser-

1 Esser, Logik, § 149. - ED.

LOGIC.

vations. When the inquiry has attained its issue, a tabular view of all the observations made upon the subject is convenient, to afford a conspectus of the whole, and as an aid to the memory. But how

Third, - The means by which the data of Observation are to be reduced to System.

(and this is the Third Precognition) individual observations are to be built up into a systematic whole, is to be sought for partly from the nature of science in general, partly from the nature of the particular empirical science for the constitu-

tion of which the observation is applied. Nor is what is thus sought difficult to find. It is at once evident, that a synthetic arrangement is least applicable in the empirical sciences. For, anterior to observation, the object is absolutely unknown; and it is only through observation that it becomes a matter of science. We can, therefore, only go to work in a problematic or interrogative manner, and it is impossible to commence by assertory propositions, of which we afterwards lead the demonstration. We must, therefore, determine the object on all sides, in so far as observation is competent to this; we must analyze every question into its subordinate questions, and each of these must find its answer in observation. The systematic order is thus given naturally and of itself; and in this procedure it is impossible that it should not be given. But for a comprehensive and all-sided system of empirical knowledge, it is not sufficient to possess the whole data of observation, to have collected these together, and to have arranged them according to some external principle; it is, likewise, requisite that we have a thorough-going prineiple of explanation, even though this explanation be impossible in the way of observation, and a power of judging of the data, according to universal laws, although these universal laws may not be discovered by experience alone. These two ends are accomplished by different means. The former we compass by the aid of Hypothesis, the latter, by the aid of Induction and Analogy."¹ Of these In regard to Hypothesis, I give you the following in detail. paragraph.

Par. CVII. Hypothesis, - what.

¶ CVII. When a phænomenon is presented, which can be explained by no principle afforded through Experience, we feel discontented and uneasy; and there arises an effort to discover some cause which may, at least provisorily, account for the outstanding phænomenon; and this cause is finally recognized

as valid and true, if, through it, the given phænomenon is

found to obtain a full and perfect explanation. The judgment in which a phænomenon is referred to such a problematic cause, is called an Hypothesis.¹

Hypotheses have thus no other end than to satisfy the desire of

Explication. Hypothesis,-its end.

the mind to reduce the objects of its knowledge to unity and system; and they do this in recalling them, ad interim, to some principle, through which the mind is enabled to comprehend them. From this view

of their nature, it is manifest how far they are permissible, and how far they are even useful and expedient; throwing altogether out of account the possibility, that what is at first assumed as hypothetical, may, subsequently, be proved true.

When our experience has revealed to us a certain correspondence among a number of objects, we are determined, by an original principle of our nature, to suppose the existence of a more extensive correspondence than our observation has already proved, or may ever be able to establish. This tendency to generalize our knowledge by the judgment, --- that where much has been found accordant, all will be found accordant, - is not properly a conclusion deduced from premises, but an original principle of our nature, which we may call that of Logical, or perhaps better, that of Philosophical, Presumption. This Presumption is of two kinds; it is either Induction or Analogy, which, though usually confounded, are, however, to be carefully distinguished. I shall commence the consideration of these by the following paragraph.

¶ CVIII. If we have uniformly observed that a number of

Par. CVIII. Induction and Analogy.

objects of the same class (genus or species) possess in common a certain attribute, we are disposed to conclude that this attribute

is possessed by all the objects of that class. This conclusion is properly called an Inference of Induction. Again, if we have observed that two or more things agree in several internal and essential characters, we are disposed to conclude that they agree, likewise, in all other essential characters, that is, that they are constituents of the same class (genus or species). This conclusion is properly called an Inference of Analogy. The principle by which, in either case, we are disposed to extend our inferences beyond the limits of experience, is a natural or ultimate principle of intelligence; and may be called

1 Esser, Logik, § 151. Cf. Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 117 et seq. - ED.

the principle of Logical, or, more properly, of Philosophical Presumption.¹

"The reasoning by Induction and the reasoning by Analogy have this in common, that they both conclude from something observed to something not ob-Explication. Induction and Analserved; from something within to something ogy, - their agreebeyond the sphere of actual experience. They ment and difference. differ, however, in this, that, in Induction, that

which is observed and from which the inference is drawn to that which is not observed, is a unity in plurality; whereas, in Analogy, it is a plurality in unity. In other words, in Induction, we look to the one in the many; in Analogy we look to the many in the one: and while in both we conclude to the unity in totality, we do this, in Induction, from the recognized unity in plurality, in Analogy, from the recognized plurality in unity. Thus, as induction rests upon the principle, that what belongs (or does not belong) to many things of the same kind, belongs (or does not belong) to all things of the same kind; so analogy rests upon the principle, that things which have many observed attributes in common, have other not observed attributes in common likewise."² It is hardly necessary to remark that we are now speaking of Induction and Analogy, not as principles of Pure Logic, and as necessitated by the fundamental laws of thought, but of these as means of acquiring knowledge, and as legitimated by the conditions of objective reality. In Pure Logic, Analogy has no place, and only that induction is admitted, in which all the several parts are supposed to legitimate the inference to the whole. Applied Induction, on the contrary, rests on the constancy, - the uniformity of nature, and on the instinctive expectation we have of this stability. This constitutes what has been called the principle of Logical Presumption, though perhaps it might, with greater propriety, be called the principle of *Philosophical Presumption*. We shall now consider these severally; and, first, of Induction.

An Induction is the enumeration of the parts, in order to legitimate a judgment in regard to the whole.³ Now, Induction, - what. the parts may either be individuals or particulars, strictly so called. I say strictly so called, for you are aware

1 Cf. Esser, Logik, §§ 140, 152. Krug, Logik, §§ 166, 167, 168.-ED. [Wolf, Phil. Rationalis, § 479. Reusch, Systema Logicum, §§ 572, 573. Nunnesius, De Constitutione Artis Dialectica, p. 126.]

2 Esser, Logik, § 152. - ED.

3 [Cf. Abu Ali (Avicenna) Viri Docti, De Logica, Poema, l. 190. (In Schmölders, Documenta Philosophiæ Arabum, p. 36.) Bonnæ, 1836. Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Natura Logica, L. i. c. 18, p. 45.]

that the term *particular* is very commonly employed, not only to denote the species, as contained under a genus, but, likewise, to denote the individual, as contained under a species. Using, however, the two terms in their proper significations, I say, if the parts are individual or singular things, the induction is then called *Indi*-

Of two kinds,— Individual and Special. *vidual;* whereas if the parts be species or subaltern genera, the induction then obtains the name of *Special*. An example of the Indi-

vidual Induction is given, were we to argue thus, — Mercury, Venus, the Earth, Mars, etc., are bodies in themselves opaque, and which borrow their light from the sun. But Mercury, Venus, etc., are planets. Therefore, all planets are opaque, and borrow their light from the sun. An example of the special is given, were we to argue as follows, — Quadrupeds, birds, fishes, the amphibia, etc., all have a nervous system. But quadrupeds, birds, etc., are animals. Therefore all animals (though it is not yet detected in some) have a nervous system. Now, here it is manifest that Special rests upon Individual induction, and that, in the last result, all induction is individual. For we can assert nothing concerning species, unless what we assert of them has been previously observed in their constituent singulars.¹

For a legitimate Induction there are requisite at least two condi-

The two conditions of legitimate Induction, — First. tions.² In the first place, it is necessary, That the partial (and this word I use as including both the terms *individual* and *particular*), — I say, it is necessary that the partial judgments

out of which the total or general judgment is inferred, be all of the same quality. For if one even of the partial judgments had an opposite quality, the whole induction would be subverted. Hence it is that we refute universal judgments founded on an imperfect induction, by bringing what is called an instance (*instantia*), that is, by adducing a thing belonging to the same class or notion, in reference to which the opposite holds true. For example, the general assertion, All dogs bark, is refuted by the instance of the dogs of Labrador or California (I forget which), — these do not bark. In like manner, the general assertion, No quadruped is oviparous, is refuted by the instance of the Ornithorhynchus Paradoxus. But that the universal judgment must have the same quality as the partial, is self-evident; for this judgment is simply the assertion of something to be true of all which is true of many.

The second condition required is, That a competent number

1 Krug, Logik, § 167. Anm. - ED.

2 Esser, Logik, § 152. - ED.

LOGIC.

of the partial objects from which the induction departs should have

Second.

been observed, for otherwise the comprehension of other objects under the total judgment would

be rash.1 What is the number of such objects, which amounts to a competent induction, it is not possible to say in general. In some cases, the observation of a very few particular or individual examples is sufficient to warrant an assertion in regard to the whole class; in others, the total judgment is hardly competent, until our observation has gone through each of its constituent parts. This distinction is founded on the difference of essential and unessential characters. If the character be essential to the several objects, a comparatively limited observation is necessary to legitimate our general conclusion. For example, it would require a far less induction to prove that all animals breathe, than to prove that the mammalia, and the mammalia alone, have lateral lobes to the cerebellum. For the one is seen to be a function necessary to animal life; the other, as far as our present knowledge reaches, appears only as an arbitrary concomitant. The difference of essential and accidental is, however, one itself founded on induction, and varies according to the greater or less perfection to which this has been carried. In the progress of science, the lateral lobes of the cerebellum may appear to future physiologists as necessary a condition of the function of suckling their young, as the organs of breathing appear to us of circulation and of life.

To sum up the Doctrine of Induction, - "This is more certain,

Summary of the doctrine of Induction. I°, In proportion to the number and diversity of the objects observed ; — 2°, In proportion to the accuracy with which the observation and comparison have been conducted ; — 3°, In proportion as the agreement of the objects is clear and precise ; — and, 4°, In proportion as it has been thoroughly explored, whether there exist exceptions or not."²

Almost all induction is, however, necessarily imperfect; and Logic can inculcate nothing more important on the investigators of nature than that sobriety of mind, which regards all its past observations only as hypothetically true, only as relatively complete, and which, consequently, holds the mind open to every new observation, which may correct and limit its former judgments.

So much for Induction; now for Analogy. Analogy, in general, Analogy, --what. Analogy, is to judge things by the similarity of their relations.

Thus when we judge that as two is to four, so is eight to sixteen, we judge that they are analogically identical; that is, though the sums in other respects are different, they agree in this, that as two is the half of four, so eight is the half of sixteen.

In common language, however, this propriety of the term is not preserved. For by analogy is not always meant merely by proportion, but frequently by comparison — by relation, or simply by similarity. In so far as Analogy constitutes a particular kind of reasoning from the individual or particular to the universal, it signifies an inference from the partial similarity of two or more things to their complete or total similarity. For example, — This disease corresponds in many symptoms with those we have observed in typhus fevers; it will, therefore, correspond in all, that is, it is a typhus fever.¹

Like Induction, Analogy has two essential requisites. In the Has two essential conditions, - First. Inference that they also agree in those other attributes, which it has not yet been ascertained that they possess. It is evident that in proportion to the number of points observed, in which the things compared together coincide, in the same proportion can it be with safety assumed, that there exists a common principle in these things, on which depends the similarity in the points known as in the points unknown.

In the second place, it is required that the predicates already observed should neither be all negative nor all Second. contingent; but that some at least should be positive and necessary. Mere negative characters denote only what the thing is not; and contingent characters need not be present in the thing at all. In regard to negative attributes, the inference, that two things, to which a number of qualities do not belong, and which are, consequently, similar to each other only in a negative point of view, - that these things are, therefore, absolutely and positively similar, is highly improbable. But that the judgment in reference to the compared things (say A and X) must be of the same quality (i. e. either both affirmative or both negative), is selfevident. For if it be said A is B, X is not B, A is not C, X is C; their harmony or similarity is subverted, and we should rather be warranted in arguing their discord and dissimilarity in other points.

LOGIC.

And here it is to be noticed that Analogy differs from Induction in this, that it is not limited to one quality, but that it admits of a mixture of both.

In regard to contingent attributes, it is equally manifest that the analogy cannot proceed exclusively upon them. For, if two things coincide in certain accidental attributes (for example, two men in respect of stature, age, and dress), the supposition that there is a common principle, and a general similarity founded thereon, is very unlikely.

To conclude: Analogy is certain in proportion, 1°, To the num-

Summary of the doctrine of Analogy.

ber of congruent observations; 2°, To the number of congruent characters observed; 3°, To the importance of these characters and their

essentiality to the objects; and, 4°, To the certainty that the characters really belong to the objects, and that a partial correspondence exists.¹ Like Induction, Analogy can only pretend at best to a high degree of probability; it may have a high degree of certainty, but it never reaches to necessity.

Comparing these two processes together : -- "The Analogical is

Induction and Analogy compared together. distinguished from the Inductive in this — that Induction regards a single predicate in many subjects as the attribute Z in A, in B, in C, in D, in E, in F, etc.; and as these many belong

to one class, say Q; it is inferred that Z will, likewise, be met with in the other things belonging to this class, that is, in all Qs. On the other hand, Analogy regards many attributes in one subject (say m, n, o, p, in A); and as these many are in part found in another subject (say m, and n, in B), it is concluded that; in that second thing, there will also be found the other attributes (say oand p). Through Induction we, therefore, endeavor to prove that one character belongs (or does not belong) to all the things of a certain class, because it belongs (or does not belong) to many things of that class. Through Analogy, on the other hand, we seek to prove that all the characters of a thing belong (or do not belong) to another or several others, because many of these characters belong to this other or these others. In the one it is proclaimed, — One in many, therefore one in all. — In the other it is proclaimed, — Many in one, therefore all in one."²

"By these processes of Induction and Analogy, as observed, we are unable to attain absolute certainty; — a great probability is all

¹ Esser, Logik, § 152. Cf Krug, Logik, § 168. Anm. - ED.

² Krug, Logik, § 168. Anm. - ED.

that we can reach, and this for the simple reason, that it is impossi-

Induction and Analogy do not afford absolute certainty. ble, under any condition, to infer the unobserved from the observed, — the whole from any proportion of the parts, — in the way of any rational necessity. Even from the requi-

sites of Induction and Analogy, it is manifest that they bear the stamp of uncertainty; inasmuch as they are unable to determine how many objects or how many characters must be observed, in order to draw the conclusion that the case is the same with all the other objects, or with all the other characters. It is possible only in one way to raise Induction and Analogy from mere probability to complete certainty, -- viz., to demonstrate that the principles which lie at the root of these processes, and which we have already stated, are either necessary laws of thought, or necessary laws of nature. To demonstrate that they are necessary laws of thought is impossible; for Logic not only does not allow inference from many to all, but expressly rejects it. Again, to demonstrate that they are necessary laws of nature is equally impossible. This has indeed been attempted, from the uniformity of nature, but in vain. For it is incompetent to evince the necessity of the inference of Induction and Analogy from the fact denominated the law of nature; seeing that this law itself can only be discovered by the way of Induction and Analogy. In this attempted demonstration there is thus the most glaring petitio principii. The result which has been previously given remains, therefore, intact : - Induction and Analogy guarantee no perfect certainty, but only a high degree of probability, while all probability rests at best upon Induction and Analogy, and nothing else."1

¹ Esser, Logik, § 152. — ED. [On history and doctrine of the Logic of Probabilities, see Leibnitz, Nouveaux Essais, L. iv. ch. xv. p. 425, ed. Raspe. Wolf, Phil. Rat. § 564 et seq. Platner, Phil. Aphorismen, § 701 (old edit.) § 594 (new edit.). Zedler, Lexikon, v. Wahrscheinlich. Walch, Lexikon, Ibid. Lambert, Neues Organon, ii. p. 318 et seq. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 653 et seq. Hollmann, Logica, § 215 et seq. Hoffbauer, Anfangsgründe der Logik, § 422 et seq. Bolzano, Logik, vol. ii. § 161, vol. iii. § 317. Bachmann, Logik, § 229 et seq. Fries, Logik, § 96 et seq. Prevost, Essais de Philosophie, ii. L. i part iii. p 56. Kant, Logik, Einleitung x. Jacob, Grundriss der Allgemeinen Logik, § 358, p. 181 et seq., 1800, Halle. Metz, Institutiones Logicz, § 230 et seq., p. 171, 1796.]

LECTURE XXXIII.

MODIFIED METHODOLOGY.

SECTION I.—OF THE ACQUISITION OF KNOWLEDGE.

HAVING, in our last Lecture, terminated the Doctrine of Empiriroreign Experience. cal Knowledge, considered as obtained Immediately, — that is, through the exercise of our own powers of Observation, — we are now to enter on the doctrine of Empirical Knowledge considered as obtained Mediately, — that is, through the Experience of Other Men. The following paragraph will afford you a general notion of the nature and kinds of this knowledge.

¶ CIX. A matter of Observation or Empirical Knowledge can only be obtained Mediately, that is, by Par. CIX. Testimony. one individual from another, through an enouncement declaring it to be true. This enouncement is called, in the most extensive sense of the word, a Witnessing or Testimony (testimonium); and the person by whom it is made is, in the same sense, called a Witness, or Testifier (testis). The object of the testimony is called the Fact (factum); and its validity constitutes what is styled Historical Credibility (credibilitas historica). To estimate this credibility, it is requisite to consider - 1°, The Subjective Trustworthiness of the Witnesses (fides testium), and 2°, The Objective Probability of the Fact itself. The former is founded partly on the Sineerity, and partly on the Competence, of the Witness. The latter depends on the Absolute and Relative Possibility of the Fact itself. Testimony is either Immediate or Mediate. Immediate, where the fact reported is the object

of a Personal Experience; Mediate, where the fact reported is the object of a Foreign Experience.¹

"It is manifest that Foreign Experience, or the experience of other men, is astricted to the same laws, and its Explication. certainty measured by the same criteria, as the experience we carry through ourselves. But the experience of the individual is limited, when compared with the experience of the species; and if men did not possess the means of communicating to each other the results of their several observations, - were they unable to coöperate in accumulating a stock of knowledge, and in carrying on the progress of discovery, - they would never have risen above the very lowest steps in the acquisition of science. But to this mutual communication they are competent; and each individual is thus able to appropriate to his own benefit the experience of his fellow-men, and to confer on them in return the advantages which his own observations may supply. But it is evident that this reciprocal communication of their respective experiences among men, can only be effected inasmuch as one is able to inform another of what he has himself observed, and that the vehicle of this information can only be some enouncement in conventional signs of one character or another. The enouncement of what has been observed is, as stated in the paragraph, called a witnessing, -abearing witness, - a testimony, etc., these terms being employed in their wider acceptation; and he by whom this declaration is made, and on whose veracity it rests, is called a *witness*, voucher, or testifier (testis)."² The term testimony, I may notice, is sometimes, by an abusive metonym, employed for witness; and the word evidence is often ambiguously used for testimony, and for the bearer of testimony, - the witness.

"Such an enouncement, - such a testimony, is, however, neces-

The proper object of Testimony.

sary for others, only when the experience which it communicates is beyond the compass of their own observation. Hence it follows, that mat-

ters of reasoning are not proper objects of testimony, since matters of reasoning, as such, neither can rest, nor ought to rest, on the observations of others; for a proof of their certainty is equally competent to all, and may by all be obtained in the manner in which it was originally obtained by those who may bear witness to their truth. And hence it further follows, that matters of experience alone are proper objects of testimony; and of matters of experience themselves, such only as are beyond the sphere of our

1 Krug, Logik, § 172. - ED. [Cf. Scheibler, Topica, c. 31.] 2 Esser, Logik, § 153. - ED.

LECT. XXXIII.

personal experience. Testimony, in the strictest sense of the term, therefore, is the communication of an experience, or, what amounts to the same thing, the report of an observed phænomenon, made to those whose own experience or observation has not reached so far.

"The object of testimony, as stated in the paragraph, is called the *fact;* the validity of a testimony is called *historical credibility.* The testimony is either inmediate or mediate. Immediate, when the witness has himself observed the fact to which

he testifies; mediate, when the witness has not himself had experience of this fact, but has received it on the testimony of others.

Eye-witness. Ear-witness. The former, the immediate witness, is commonly styled an *eye-witness* (*testis oculatus*); and the latter, the mediate witness, an *ear*-

witness (testis auritas). The superiority of immediate to mediate testimony is expressed by Plautus, 'Pluris est oculatus testis unus, quam auriti decem.'¹ These denominations, eye and ear witness, are however, as synonyms of *immediate* and *mediate* witness, not always either applicable or correct. The person on whose testi-

The Guarantee.

mony a fact is mediately reported, is called the *guarantee*, or he on whose authority it rests;

and the guarantee himself may be again either an immediate or a mediate witness. In the latter case he is called a *second-hand* or *intermediate witness;* and his testimony is commonly styled *hearsay* evidence. Further, Testimony, whether immediate or mediate, is

Testimonies - Partial, Complete, Consistent, Contradictory. either partial or complete; either consistent or contradictory. These distinctions require no comment. Finally, testimony is either direct or indirect; direct, when the witness has no mo-

tive but that of making known the fact; indirect, when he is actuated to this by other ends."²

The only question in reference to Testimony is that which

Division of the subject: 1. Credibility of Testimony in general. II. Credibility of Testimony in its particular forms of Immediate and Mediate. regards its Credibility; and the question concerning the credibility of the witness may be comprehended under that touching the Credibility of Testimony. The order I shall follow in the subsequent observations is this, — I shall, in the first place, consider the Credibility of Testimony in general; and, in the second, con-

sider the Credibility of Testimony in its particular forms of Immediate and Mediate.

1 Truculentus, II. vi. 8. Cf. Krug, Logik, § 172. Anm. - ED. 2 Esser, Logik, § 153. - ED.

First, then, in regard to the Credibility of Testimony in general; — When we inquire whether a certain testimony is, or is not, deserving of credit, there are two things to be considered: 1°, The Object of the Testimony, that is, the fact or facts for the truth of which the Testimony vonches; and, 2°, The Subject of the Testimony, that is, the person or persons by whom the testimony is borne. The question, therefore, concerning the Credibility of Testimony, thus naturally subdivides itself into two. Of these questions, the first asks, — What are the conditions of the credibility of a testimony by reference to what is testified, that is, in relation to the Object of the testimony? The second asks, — What are the conditions of the credibility of a testimony by reference to him who testifies, that is, in relation to the Subject of the testimony?¹ Of these in their order.

On the first question. -- "In regard to the matter testified, that

I. Credibility of Testimony in general. 1°, The Object of the Testimony.

Its Absolute Possibility. is, in regard to the object of the testimony; it is, first of all, a requisite condition, that what is reported to be true should be possible, both absolutely, or as an object of the Elaborative Faculty, and relatively, or as an object of the Presentative Faculties, — Perception, External

or Internal. A thing is possible absolutely, or in itself, when it can be construed to thought, that is, when it is not inconsistent with the logical laws of thinking; a thing is relatively possible as an object of Perception, External or Internal, when it can affect Sense or Self-consciousness, and, through such affection, determine its apprehension by one or other of these faculties. A testimony is, therefore, to be unconditionally rejected, if the fact which it reports be either in itself impossible, or impossible as an object of the Presentative Faculties. But the impossibility of a thing, as an

Physical and Metaphysical Impossibility. object of these faculties, must be decided either upon physical, or upon metaphysical, principles. A thing is physically impossible as an object of sense, when the existence itself, or its percep-

tion by us, is, by the laws of the material world, impossible. It is metaphysically impossible, when the object itself, or its perception, is possible neither through a natural, nor through a supernatural, agency. But, to establish the metaphysical impossibility of a thing, it is not sufficient that its existence cannot be explained by the ordinary laws of nature, or even that its existence should appear repugnant with these laws; it is requisite that an universal and immutable law of nature should have been demonstrated to

LOGIC.

exist, and that this law would be subverted if the fact in question were admitted to be physically possible. In like manner, to constitute the metaphysical impossibility of a thing, it is by no means enough to show that it is not explicable on natural laws, or even that any natural law stands opposed to it; it is further requisite to prove that the intervention even of supernatural agency is incompetent to its production, that its existence would involve the violation of some necessary principle of reason.

"To establish the credibility of a testimony, in so far as this is

Relative Possibility of an object. regulated by the nature of its object, there is, besides the proof of the absolute possibility of this object, required also a proof of its relative

possibility; that is, there must not only be no contradiction between its necessary attributes, - the attributes by which it must be thought, - but no contradiction between the attributes actually assigned to it by the testimony. A testimony, therefore, which, qua testimony, is self-contradictory, can lay no claim to credibility; for what is self-contradictory is logically suicidal. And here the only question is, - Does the testimony, qua testimony, contradict itself? for if the repugnancy arise from an opinion of the witness, apart from which the testimony as such would still stand undisproved, in that case the testimony is not at once to be repudiated as false. For example, it would be wrong to reject a testimony to the existence of a thing, because the witness had to his evidence of its observed reality annexed some conjecture in regard to its origin or cause. For the latter might well be shown to be absurd, and yet the former would remain unshaken. It is, therefore, always to be observed, --- that it is only the self-contradiction of a testimony, qua testimony, that is, the self-contradiction of the fact itself, which is peremptorily and irrevocably subversive of its credibility.

"We now proceed to the second question; that is, to consider in

general the Credibility of a Testimony by reference to its Subject, that is, in relation to the Personal Trustworthiness of the Witness. The trustworthiness of a witness consists of two elements or conditions. In the first place, he must be willing, in the second place, he must be able, to report the truth. The first of these elements

is the Honesty, — the Sincerity, — the Veracity; the second is the Competency of the Witness. Both are equally necessary, and if one or other be deficient, the testimony becomes altogether null. These constituents, likewise, do not infer each other; for it fre-

quently happens that where the honesty is greatest the competency is least, and where the competency is greatest the honesty is least. But when the veracity of a witness is established, there is established also a presumption of his competency; for an honest man will not bear evidence to a point in regard to which his recollection is not precise, or to the observation of which he had not accorded the requisite attention. In truth, when a fact depends on the testimony of a single witness, the competency of that witness is solely guaranteed by his honesty. In regard to the honesty of a witness, - this, though often admitting of the highest probability, never admits of absolute certainty; for, though, in many cases, we may know enough of the general character of the witness to rely with perfect confidence on his veracity, in no case can we look into the heart, and observe the influence which motives have actually had upon his volitions. We are, however, compelled, in many of the most important concerns of our existence, to depend on the testimony, and, consequently, to confide in the sincerity, of others. But from the moral constitution of human nature, we are warranted in presuming on the honesty of a witness; and this presumption is enhanced in proportion as the following circumstances concur in its confirmation. In the first place, a witness is to be presumed veracious in this case, in proportion as his love of truth is already established from others. In the second place, a witness is

The presumption of the Honesty of a Witness enhanced by certain circumstances. to be presumed veracious, in proportion as he has fewer and weaker motives to falsify his testimony. In the third place, a witness is to be presumed veracious, in proportion to the likelihood of contradiction which his testimony

would encounter, if he deviated from the truth. So much for the Sincerity, Honesty, or Veracity of a witness.

"In regard to the Competency or Ability of a witness, - this, in

(b) Competency of a Witness.

The presumption in favor of the competence of a witness rises in

Circumstances by which the presumption of competency is enhanced. general, depends on the supposition, that he has had it in his power correctly to observe the fact to which he testifies, and correctly to report it.

proportion as the following conditions are fulfilled: — In the first place, he must be presumed competent in reference to the case in hand, in proportion as his general ability to observe and to communicate his observation

has been established in other cases. In the second place, the competency of a witness must be presumed, in proportion as in the particular case a lower and commoner amount of ability is

LOGIC.

requisite rightly to observe, and rightly to report the observation. In the third place, the competency of a witness is to be presumed, in proportion as it is not to be presumed that his observation was made or communicated at a time when he was unable correctly to make or correctly to communicate it. So much for the Competency of a witness.

"Now, when both the good will and the ability, that is, when

The credibility of Testimony not invalidated because the fact testified is one out of the ordinary course of experience. both the Veracity and Competence of a witness have been sufficiently established, the credibility of his testimony is not to be invalidated because the fact which it goes to prove is one out of the ordinary course of experience."¹ Thus it would be false to assert, with Hume, that mira-

eles, that is, suspensions of the ordinary laws of nature, are incapable of proof, because contradicted by what we have been able to observe. "On the contrary, where the trustworthiness of a witness or witnesses is unimpeachable, the very circumstance that the object is one in itself unusual and marvellous, adds greater weight to the testimony; for this very circumstance would itself induce men of veracity and intelligence to accord a more attentive scrutiny to the fact, and secure from them a more accurate report of their observation.

"The result of what has now been stated in regard to the credi-

Summary regarding the Credibility of Testimony in general. bility of Testimony in general, is: — That a testimony is entitled to credit when the requisite conditions, both on the part of the object and on the part of the subject, have been fulfilled.

On the part of the object these are fulfilled when the object is absolutely possible, as an object of the higher faculty of experience, — the Understanding, — the Elaborative Faculty, and relatively possible, as an object of the lower or subsidiary faculties of experience, — Sense, and Self-consciousness. In this case, the testimony, qua testimony, does not contradict itself. On the part of the subject the requisite conditions are fulfilled when the trustworthiness, that is, the veracity and competency of the witness, is beyond reasonable doubt. In regard to the veracity of the witness, — this cannot be reasonably doubted, when there is no positive ground on which to discredit the sincerity of the witness, and when the only ground of doubt lies in the mere general possibility of deception. And in reference to the competency of a witness, — this is exposed to no reasonable objection, when the ability of the witness to observe and to communicate the fact in testimony cannot be dis-

allowed. Having, therefore, concluded the consideration of testimony in general, we proceed to treat of it in special, that is, in so far as it is viewed either as Immediate or as Mediate."¹ Of these in their order.

The special consideration of Testimony, when that testimony is

II. Testimony in special, as Immediate and Mediate. 1°, Immediate Testi-

mony.

Immediate. — "An immediate testimony, or testimony at first hand, is one in which the fact reported is an object of the proper or personal experience of the reporter. Now it is manifest, that an immediate witness is in general better

entitled to credit than a witness at second hand; and his testimony rises in probability, in proportion as the requisites, already specified, both on the part of its object and on the part of its subject, are fulfilled. An immediate testimony is, therefore, entitled to credit, -1° , In proportion to the greater ability with which the

Conditions of its Credibility. observation has been made; 2°, In proportion to the less impediment in the way of the observation being perfectly accomplished; 3°, In

proportion as what was observed could be fully and accurately remembered; and, 4°, In proportion as the facts observed and remembered have been communicated by intelligible and unambiguous signs.

"Now, whether all these conditions of a higher credibility be

Whether all these conditions are fulfilled in the case of any immediate testimony, cannot be directly ascertained. fulfilled in the case of any immediate testimony, — this cannot be directly and at once ascertained; it can only be inferred, with greater or less certainty, from the qualities of the witness; and, consequently, the validity of a testimony can only be accurately estimated from a critical

knowledge of the personal character of the witness, as given in his intellectual and moral qualities, and in the circumstances of his life, which have concurred to modify and determine these. The veracity of a witness either is, or is not, exempt from doubt; and, in the latter case, it may not only lie open to doubt, but even be exposed to suspicion. If the sincerity of the witness be indubitable, a direct testimony is always preferable to an indirect; for a direct testimony being made with the sole intent of establishing the certainty of the fact in question, the competency of the witness is less exposed to objection. If, on the contrary, the sincerity of the witness be not beyond a doubt, and, still more, if it be actually suspected, in that case an indirect testimony is of higher cogency than a direct; for the indirect testimony being given with another

LECT. XXXIII.

view than merely to establish the fact in question, the intention of the witness to falsify the truth of the fact has not so strong a presumption in its favor. If both the sincerity and the competency of the witness are altogether indubitable, it is then of no importance whether the truth of the fact be vouched for by a single witness, or by a plurality of witnesses. On the other hand, if the sincerity and competency of the witness be at all doubtful, the credibility of a testimony will be greater, the greater the number

When testimony attains the highest degree of probability. of the witnesses by whom the fact is corroborated. But here it is to be considered, that when there are a plurality of testimonies to the same fact, these testimonies are either consistent

or inconsistent. If the testimonies be consistent, and the sincerity and competency of all the witnesses complete, in that case the testimony attains the highest degree of probability of which any testimony is capable. Again, if the witnesses be inconsistent, — on this hypothesis two cases are possible; for either their discrepancy is

Negative and Positive Discrepancy. negative, or it is positive. A negative discrepancy arises, where one witness passes over in silence what another witness positively avers.

A positive discrepancy arises, where one witness explicitly affirms something, which something another witness explicitly denies. When the difference of testimonies is merely negative, we may suppose various causes of the silence; and, therefore, the positive averment of one witness to a fact is not disproved by the mere circumstance that the same fact is omitted by another. But if it be made out, that the witness who omits mention of the fact could not have been ignorant of that fact had it taken place, and, at the same time, that he could not have passed it over without violating every probability of human action, - in this case, the silence of the one witness manifestly derogates from the credibility of the other witness, and in certain circumstances may annihilate it altogether. Where, again, the difference is positive, the discrepancy is of greater importance, because (though there are certainly exceptions to the rule) an overt contradiction is, in general and in itself, of stronger cogency than a mere non-confirmation by simple silence. Now the positive discrepancy of testimonies either admits of conciliation, or it does not. In the former case, the credibility of the several testimonies stands intact; and the discrepancy among the witnesses is to be accounted for by such circumstances as explain, without invalidating, the testimony considered in itself. In the latter case, one testimony manifestly detracts from the credibility of another; for of incompatible testimonies, while both can-

not be true, the one must be false, when reciprocally contradictory, or they may both be false, when reciprocally contrary. In this case, the whole question resolves itself into one of the greater or less trustworthiness of the opposing witnesses. Is the trustworthiness of the counter-witnesses equally great? In that case, neither of the conflictive testimonies is to be admitted. Again, is the trustworthiness of the witnesses not upon a par? In that case, the testimony of the witness whose trustworthiness is the greater, obtains the preference, — and this more especially if the credibility of the other witnesses is suspected."¹

So much for the Credibility of Testimony, considered in Special, in so far as that testimony is Immediate or at First Hand; and I now, in the second place, pass on to consider, likewise in special, the Credibility of Testimony, in so far as that testimony is Mediate, or at Second Hand.

"A Mediate Testimony is one where the fact is an object not of

2°, Mediate Testimony. Personal, but of Foreign Experience. Touching the credibility of a mediate testimony, this supposes that the report of the immediate, and

that the report of the mediate, witness are both trustworthy. Whether the report of the immediate witness be trustworthy, -this we are either of ourselves able to determine, viz., from our personal acquaintance with his veracity and competence; or we are unable of ourselves to do this, in which case the credibility of the immediate must be taken upon the authority of the mediate witness. Here, however, it is necessary for us to be aware, that the mediate witness is possessed of the ability requisite to estimate the credibility of the immediate witness, and of the honesty to communicate the truth without retrenchment or falsification. But if the trustworthiness both of the mediate and of the immediate witness be sufficiently established, it is of no consequence, in regard to the eredibility of a testimony, whether it be at first hand or at second. Nay, the testimony of a mediate may even tend to confirm the testimony of an immediate witness, when his own competence fairly to appreciate the report of the immediate witness is indubitable. If, however, the credibility of the immediate witness be unimpeachable, but not so the credibility of the mediate, in that case the mediate testimony, in respect of its authority, is inferior to the immediate, and this in the same proportion as the credibility of the second hand witness is inferior to that of the witness at first hand. Further, mediate witnesses are either Proximate or Remote; and, in both cases, either Independent or Dependent. The trust-

LOGIC.

worthiness of proximate witnesses is, in general, greater than the

Mediate Witnesses are either Proximate or Remote, and either Independent or Dependent. trustworthiness of remote; and the credibility of independent witnesses greater than the credibility of dependent. The remote witness is unworthy of belief, when the intermediate links are wanting between him and the original wit-

ness; and the dependent witness deserves no credit, when that on which his evidence depends is recognized as false or unestablished. Mediate testimonies are, likewise, either direct or indirect; and, likewise, when more than one, either reciprocally congruent or conflictive. In both cases the credibility of the witnesses is to be determined in the same manner as if the testimonies were immediate.

"The testimony of a plurality of mediate witnesses, where there

Rumor, - what. Tradition. is no recognized immediate witness, is called a *rumor*, if the witnesses be contemporaneous; and a *tradition*, if the witnesses be chronolog-

ically successive. These are both less entitled to credit, in proportion as in either case a fiction or falsification of the fact is comparatively easy, and, consequently, comparatively probable."¹

1 Esser, Logik, § 156. - ED.

LECTURE XXXIV.

MODIFIED METHODOLOGY.

SECTION I.—OF THE ACQUISITION OF KNOWLEDGE.

I. EXPERIENCE. — B. FOREIGN: — RECORDED TESTIMONY AND WRITINGS IN GENERAL.

II. SPECULATION.

In our last Lecture, we were engaged in the consideration of Criticism of Recorded Testimony, and of Writings in general. Credibility is governed, — on the supposition always that we possess the veritable report of the witness whose testimony it professes to be, and on the supposition that we are at no loss to

understand its meaning and purport. But questions may arise in regard to these points, and, therefore, there is a further critical process requisite, in order to establish the Authenticity, — the Integrity, and the Signification, of the documents in which the testimony is conveyed. This leads to the important subject, — the Criticism of Recorded Testimony, and of Writings in general. I shall comprise the heads of the following observations on this subject in the ensuing paragraph.

¶ CX. The examination and judgment of Writings profess-

Par. CX. Criticism and Interpretation. ing to contain the testimony of certain witnesses, and of Writings in General professing to be the work of certain authors, is

of two parts. For the inquiry regards either, 1°, The Authenticity of the document, that is, whether it be, in whole or in part, the product of its ostensible author; for ancient writings in particular are frequently supposititious or interpolated; or, 2°, It regards the Meaning of the words of which it is composed, for these, especially when in languages now dead, are

LECT. XXXIV.

frequently obscure. The former of these problems is resolved by the Art of Criticism (Critica), in the stricter sense of the term; the latter by the Art of Interpretation (Exceptica or Hermeneutica). Criticism is of two kinds. If it be occupied with the criteria of the authenticity of a writing in its totality, or in its principal parts, it is called the Higher, and sometimes the Internal, Criticism. If, again, it consider only the integrity of particular words and phrases, it is called the Lower, and sometimes the External, Criticism. The former of these may perhaps be best styled the Criticism of Authenticity; the latter, the Criticism of Integrity.

The problem which Interpretation has to solve is, — To discover and expound the meaning of a writer, from the words in which his thoughts are expressed. It departs from the principle, that however manifold be the possible meanings of the expressions, the sense of the writer is one. Interpretation, by reference to its sources or subsidia, has been divided into the *Grammatical*, the *Historical*, and the *Philosophical*, *Exegesis*.¹

"Testimonies, especially when the ostensible witnesses themselves Explication. Construction is in fact indispensable, seeing not only that a false testimony may be substituted for a true, and a testimony true upon the whole may yet be falsified in its parts, — a practice which prevailed to a great extent in ancient times; while at the same time the meaning of the testimony, by reason either of the foreign character of the language in which it is conceived, may be obscure and undetermined. The examination of a testimony is twofold, inas-

The examination of a testimony twofold, - of its Anthenticity and Integrity, and of its Meaning. much as it is either an examination of its Authenticity and Integrity, or an examination of its Meaning. This twofold process of examination is applicable to testimonies of every kind, but it becomes indispensable when the testi-

mony has been recorded in writing, and when this, from its antiquity, has come down to us only in transcripts, indefinitely removed from the original, and when the witnesses are men differing greatly from ourselves in language, manners, customs, and associations of

¹ Cf. Krug, Logik, § 177 et seq. – ED. [Snell, Logik, p. ii. § 6 p. 195. Kiesewetter, Logik, p. ii. § 185 et seq.]

Sets are

thought. The solution of the problem, — By what laws are the authenticity or spuriousness, the integrity or

constitutes the Art of Criticism, in its stricter signification (*Critica*); and the solution of the problem, — By what law is the sense

Interpretation. or meaning of writing to be determined, — constitutes the Art of Interpretation or Exposition (*Hermeneutica, Exegetica*). In theory, Criticism ought to precede Interpretation, for the question, — Who has spoken, naturally arises before the question, — How what has been spoken is to be understood. But in practice, criticism and interpretation cannot be separated; for in application they proceed hand in hand."¹

"First, then, of Criticism; and the question that presents itself in

I. Criticism. the threshold is, — What are its Definition and Divisions? Under Criticism is to be understood the complement of logical rules, by which the authenticity or spuriousness, the integrity or interpolation, of a writing is to be

Its problems. Its problems. Judged. The problems which it 'proposes to answer are — 1°, Does a writing really proceed from the author to whom it is ascribed; and, 2°, Is a writing, as we possess it, in all its parts the same as it came from the hands of its author. The system of fundamental rules, which are supposed in judging of the authenticity and integrity of every writing, consti-

Universal Criticism. tutes what is called the *Doctrine of Universal Criticism*; and the system of particular rules, by which the authenticity and integrity of writings of a certain kind are judged, constitutes the doctrine of what is called *Special*

Special Criticism. Universal Criticism alone within the sphere of Logic. *Criticism.* It is manifest, from the nature of Logic, that the doctrine of Universal Criticism is alone within its sphere. Now Universal Criticism is conversant either with the authenticity or spuriousness of a writing considered as

a whole, or with the integrity or interpolation of certain parts. In

Its Divisions.

the former case it is called *Higher*, in the latter, *Lower*, *Criticism*; but these denominations are

inappropriate. The one criticism has also been styled the *Internal*, the other the *External*; but these appellations are, likewise, exceptionable; and, perhaps, it would be preferable to call the former the *Criticism of the Authenticity*, the latter, the *Criticism of the Integrity*, of a work. I shall consider these in particular; and, first, of the Criticism of Authenticity.

"A proof of the authenticity of a writing, more especially of an

LOGIC.

ancient writing, can be rested only upon two grounds, - an Inter-

1. Criticism of Authenticity. nal and an External, — and on these either apart or in combination. By *internal grounds*, we mean those indications of authenticity which

the writing itself affords. By *external grounds*, we denote the testimony borne by other works, of a corresponding antiquity, to the authenticity of the writing in question.

"In regard to the Internal Grounds; - it is evident, without

(a) Internal Grounds. These of themselves not sufficient to establish the authenticity of a writing. entering upon details, that these cannot of themselves, that is, apart from the external grounds, afford evidence capable of establishing beyond a doubt the authenticity of an ancient writing; for we can easily conceive that

an able and learned forger may accommodate his fabrications both to all the general circumstances of time, place, people, and language, under which it is supposed to have been written, and even to all the particular circumstances of the style, habit of thought, personal relations, etc., of the author by whom it professes to have been written, so that everything may militate for, and nothing militate against, its authenticity.

"But if our criticism from the internal grounds alone be, on the

But omnipotent to disprove this. one hand, impotent to establish, it is, on the other, omnipotent to disprove. For it is sufficient to show that a writing is in essential parts,

that is, parts which cannot be separated from the whole, in opposition to the known manners, institutions, usages, etc., of that people with which it would, and must, have been in harmony, were it the product of the writer whose name it bears; that, on the contrary, it bears upon its face indications of another country or of a later age; and, finally, that it is at variance with the personal circumstances, the turn of mind, and the pitch of intellect, of its pretended author. And here it is to be noticed, that these grounds are only relatively internal; for we become aware of them originally only through the testimony of others, that is, through external grounds."¹

In regard to the External Grounds; — they, as I said, consist (b)External Grounds. in the testimony, direct or indirect, given to the authenticity of the writing in question by other works of a competent antiquity. This testimony may be contained either in other and admitted writings of the supposed author himself; or in those of contemporary writers; or in those

of writers approximating in antiquity. This testimony may also be

given either directly, by attribution of the disputed writing by title to the author; or indirectly, by quoting as his certain passages which are to be found in it. On this subject it is needless to go into detail, and it is hardly necessary to observe, that the proof of the authenticity is most complete when it proceeds upon the internal and external grounds together. I, therefore, pass on to the Criticism of Integrity.¹

"When the authenticity of an ancient work has been established

2. Criticism of Integrity. on external grounds, and been confirmed on internal, the integrity of this writing is not therewith proved; for it is very possible, and

in ancient writings indeed very probable, that particular passages are either interpolated or corrupted. The authenticity of particular passages is to be judged of precisely by the same laws which regulate our criticism of the authenticity of the whole work. The proof most pertinent to the authenticity of particular passages is drawn - 1°, From their acknowledgment by the author himself in other, and these unsuspected, works; 2°, From the attribution of them to the author by other writers of competent information; and, 3°, From the evidence of the most ancient MSS. On the other hand, a passage is to be obelized as spurious, - 1°, When found to be repugnant to the general relations of time and place, and to the personal relations of the author; 2°, When wanting in the more ancient codices, and extant only in the more modern. A passage is suspicious, when any motive for its interpolation is manifest, even should we be unable to establish it as spurious. The differences which different copies of a writing exhibit in the particular passages, are called various readings (variæ lectiones or lectiones variantes). Now, as of various readings only one can be the true, while they may all very easily be false, the problem which the criticism of Integrity proposes to solve is, - How is the genuine reading to be made out; and herein consists what is technically called the *Recension*, more properly the *Emendation*, of the text.

"The Emendation of an ancient author may be of two kinds;

Emendation of the text, --- of two kinds, viz., Historical and Conjectural. the one of which may be called *Historical*, the other the *Conjectural*. The former of these founds upon historical data for its proof; the latter, again, proceeds on grounds which lie beyond the sphere of historical fact, and this

for the very reason that historical fact is found incompetent to the restoration of the text to its original integrity. The historical

LOGIC.

emendation necessarily precedes the conjectural, because the object itself of emendation is wholly of an historical character, and because it is not permitted to attempt any other than an emendation on historical grounds, until, from these very grounds themselves, it be shown that the restitution of the text to its original integrity

Historical Emendation of two kiuds, — External and Internal. cannot be historically accomplished. Historical Emendation is again of two kinds, according as its judgment proceeds on external or on internal grounds. It founds upon external grounds, when the reasons for the truth or falsehood of

a reading are derived from testimony; it founds upon internal grounds, when the reasons for the truth or falsehood of a reading are derived from the writing itself. Historical emendation has thus a twofold function to perform (and in its application to practice, these must always be performed in conjunction), viz., it has carefully to seek out and accurately to weigh both the external and internal reasons in support of the reading in dispute. Of external grounds the principal consists in the confirmation afforded by MSS., by printed editions which have immediately emanated from MSS., by ancient translations, and by passages quoted in ancient authors. The internal grounds are all derived either from the form, or from the contents, of the work itself. In reference to the form, - a reading is probable, in proportion as it corresponds to the general character of the language prevalent at the epoch when the work was written, and to the peculiar character of the language by which the author himself was distinguished. In reference to the contents, - a reading is probable, when it harmonizes with the context, that is, when it concurs with the other words of the particular passage in which it stands, in affording a meaning reasonable in itself, and conformable with the author's opinions, reasonings, and general character of thought."1

"It frequently happens, however, that, notwithstanding the uni-

Conjectural Emendation. formity of MSS., and other external subsidia, a reading cannot be recognized as genuine. In this case, it must be scientifically shown from

the rules of criticism itself that this lection is corrupt. If the demonstration thus attempted be satisfactory, and if all external subsidia have been tried in vain, the critic is permitted to consider in what manner the corrupted passage can be restored to its integrity. And here the conjectural or divinatory emendation comes into play; a process in which the power and effi-

1 Esser, Logik, § 163. - ED.

473

ciency of criticism and the genius of the critic are principally manifested."1

So much for Criticism, in its applications both to the Authenticity and to the Integrity of Writings. We have now to consider the general rules by which Interpretation, that is, the scientific process of expounding the Meaning of an author, is regulated.

"By the Art of Interpretation, called likewise technically Her-

II. Interpretation. writing is to be evolved. Hermeneutic is either General or Special General when it contains those laws

General and Special.

cial. General, when it contains those laws which apply to the interpretation of any writ-

ing whatever; Special, when it comprises those laws by which writings of a particular kind are to be expounded. The former of these alone is of logical concernment. The problem proposed for the Art of Interpretation to solve, is, - How are we to proceed in order to discover from the words of a writing that sole meaning which the author intended them to convey? In the interpretation of a work, it is not, therefore, enough to show in what signification its words may be understood; for it is required that we show in what signification they must.) To the execution of this task two conditions are absolutely necessary; 1°, That the interpreter should be thoroughly acquainted with the language itself in general, and with the language of the writer in particular; and, 2°, That the interpreter should be familiar with the subjects of which the writing treats. But these two requisites, though indispensable, are not of themselves sufficient. It is also of importance that the expositor should have a competent acquaintance with the author's personal circumstances and character of thought, and with the history and spirit of the age and country in which he lived. In regard to the interpretation itself, — it is to be again observed, that as a writer could employ expressions only in a single sense, so the result of the exposition ought to be not merely to show what meaning may possibly attach to the doubtful terms, but what meaning necessarily must. When, therefore, it appears that a passage is of doubtful import, the best preparative for a final determination of its meaning is, in the first place, to ascertain in how many different significations it may be construed, and then, by a process of exclusion, to arrive at the one veritable meaning. When, however, the obscurity cannot be removed, in that case it is the duty of the expositor,

¹ Esser, Logik, § 166. – ED. [Parrhasiana, i. 359–365, 2d ed. 1701. Genuensis, Ars Logico-Critica, L. iv. c. vi. et seq.]

LOGIC.

before abandoning his task, to evince that an interpretation of the passage is, without change, absolutely or relatively impossible. "As to the sources from whence the Interpretation is to be

Sources of Interpretation.

drawn, - these are three in all, - viz., 1°, The Tractus literarum, the words themselves, as they appear in MSS.; 2°, The context, that is,

the passage in immediate connection with the doubtful term; 3°, Parallel or analogous passages in the same, or in other writings."1 How the interpretation drawn from these sources is to be applied, I shall not attempt to detail; but pass on to a more generally useful and interesting subject.

So much for Experience or Observation, the first mean of Speculation the Second Means of Knowledge.

scientific discovery, that, viz., by which we apprehend what is presented as contingent phænomena, and by whose process of Induction and Analogy we carry up individual into

general facts. We have now to consider the other mean of scientific discovery, that, viz., by which, from the phænomena presented as contingent, we separate what is really necessary, and thus attain to the knowledge, not of merely generalized facts, This mean may, for distinction's sake, but of universal laws. be called Speculation, and its general nature I comprehend in the following paragraph.

Par. CXI. Speculation, - as a means of Knowledge.

¶ CXI. When the mind does not rest contented with observing and classifying the objects of its experience, but, by a reflective analysis, sunders the concrete wholes presented to its cognition, throws out of account

all that, as contingent, it can think away from, and concentrates its attention exclusively on those elements which, as necessary conditions of its own acts, it cannot but think; - by this process it obtains the knowledge of a certain order of facts, - facts of Self-consciousness, which, as essential to all Experience, are not the result of any; constituting in truth the Laws by which the possibility of our cognitive functions is determined. This process, by which we thus attain to a discriminative knowledge of the Necessary, Native, and, as they are also called, the Noetic, Pure, a priori, or Transcendental, Elements of Thought, may be styled Speculative Analysis, Analytic Speculation, or Specu-

1 Esser, Logik, § 167. - ED. [Cf. Snell, Logik, p. ii. § 6, p. 200.]

lation simply, and is carefully to be distinguished from Induction, with which it is not unusually confounded.

"The empirical knowledge of which we have hitherto been speaking, does not, however varied and exten-Explication. sive it may be, suffice to satisfy the thinking mind as such; for our empirical knowledge itself points at certain higher cognitions from which it may obtain completion, and which are of a very different character from that by which the mere empirical cognitions themselves are distinguished. The cognitions are styled, among other names, by those of noetic, pure, or rational, and they are such as cannot, though manifested in experience, be derived from experience; for, as the conditions under which experience is possible, they must be viewed as necessary constituents of the nature of the thinking principle itself. Philosophers have indeed been found to deny the reality of such cognitions native to the mind; and to confine the whole sphere of human knowledge to the limits of experience. But in this case philosophers have overlooked the important circumstance, that the acts, that is, the apprehension and judgment, of experience, are themselves impossible, except under the supposition of certain potential cognitions previously existent in the thinking subject, and which become actual on occasion of an object being presented to the external or internal sense. As an example of a noetic cognition, the following propositions may suffice : - An object and all its attributes are convertible ; - All that is has its sufficient cause. The principal distinctions of

Principal distinctions of Empirical and Noetic Cognitions. Empirical and Rational Knowledges, or rather Empirical and Noetic Cognitions, are the following : -1° , Empirical cognitions originate exclusively in experience, whereas noetic cognitions are virtually at least before or above

all experience, — all experience being only possible through them. 2°, Empirical cognitions come piecemeal and successively into existence, and may again gradually fade and disappear; whereas noetic cognitions, like Pallas, armed and immortal from the head of Jupiter, spring at once into existence, complete and indestructible. 3°, Empirical cognitions find only an application to those objects from which they were originally abstracted, and, according as things obtain a different form, they also may become differently fashioned; noetic cognitions, on the contrary, bear the character impressed on them of necessity, universality, sameness. Whether a cognition be empirical or noetic, can only be determined by

LOGIC.

considering whether it can or cannot be presented in a sensible perception; — whether it do or do not stand forward clear, distinct, and indestructible, bearing the stamp of necessity and absolute universality. The noetic cognitions can be detected only by a critical analysis of the mental phænomena proposed for the purpose of their discovery;"¹ and this analysis may, as I have said, be styled Speculation, for want of a more appropriate appellation.

1 Esser, Logik, § 171. - ED.

LECTURE XXXV.

MODIFIED. METHODOLOGY.

SECTION I.—OF THE ACQUISITION OF KNOWLEDGE.

III. COMMUNICATION OF KNOWLEDGE. — A. INSTRUCTION — ORAL AND WRITTEN. — B. CONFERENCE — DIALOGUE AND DISPUTATION.

I now go on to the last Mean of Acquiring and Perfecting our knowledge; and commence with the following paragraph :

¶ CXII. An important mean for the Acquisition and Perfecting of Knowledge is the Communication of Thought. Considered in general, the Communication of thought is either of Acquiring and Perfecting Knowledge. The Communication of thought is either One-sided, or Mutual. The former is called Instruction (institutio), the latter, Confer-

ence (collocutio); but these, though in theory distinct, are in practice easily combined. Instruction is again either Oral or Written; and Conference, as it is interlocutory and familiar, or controversial and solemn, may be divided into Dialogue (colloquium, dialogus), and Disputation (disputatio, concertatio). The Communication of thought in all its forms is a means of intellectual improvement, not only to him who receives, but to him who bestows, information; in both relations, therefore, it ought to be considered, and not, as is usually done, in the former only.¹

In illustrating this paragraph, I shall commence with the last Explication. Explicat

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 181 et seq. - ED.

LOGIC.

the communication of others, I shall endeavor to show, that the

The Communication of Thought an important mean towards the perfecting of Knowledge in the mind of the communicator.

Communication of thought is itself an important mean towards the perfecting of knowledge in the mind of the communicator himself. this view, the communication of knowledge is like the attribute of mercy, twice blessed, -"blessed to him that gives and to him that

takes;" in teaching others we in fact teach ourselves.

This view of the reflex effect of the communication of thought on the mind, whether under the form of Instruction or of Conference, is one of high importance, but it is one which has, in modern times, unfortunately been almost wholly overlooked. To illustrate it in all its bearings would require a volume; at present I can only contribute a few hints towards its exposition.

Man is, by an original tendency of his nature, determined to com-

Man naturally determined to communication.

This fact noticed by Plato.

municate to others what occupies his thoughts, and by this communication he obtains a clearer understanding of the subject of his cogitations than he could otherwise have compassed. This fact did not escape the acuteness of Plato. In the Protagoras, - " It has been well," says

Plato (and he has sundry passages to the point), - "It has been well, I think, observed by Homer -

> 'Through mutual intercourse and mutual aid, Great deeds are done and great discoveries made; The wise new wisdom on the wise bestow. Whilst the lone thinker's thoughts come slight and slow.'1

For in company we, all of us, are more alert, in deed and word and thought. And if a man excogitate aught by himself, forthwith he goes about to find some one to whom he may reveal it, and from whom he may obtain encouragement, aye and until his discovery be

Aristotle. Themistius. Lucilius.

completed."² The same doctrine is maintained by Aristotle, and illustrated by the same quotation;³ (to which, indeed, is to be referred the adage, - "Unus homo, nullus homo.") - "We rejoice," says Themistius, "in hunting truth in company, as in hunting game." 4 Lucilius, -"Scire est nescire, nisi id me scire alius scierit; 5 - paraphrased in

1 Altered from Pope's Homer, Book x, 265, 2 Protag., p 348. Compare Lectures on Met-

3 Eth. Nic., viii. 1.

aphysics, p. 261.

⁴ Orat., xxi. Explorator aut Philosophus, Orationes, p. 254, ed. Hardnin, Paris, 1684. - ED. 5 Fragm., 25, in the Bipont edition of Persius and Juvenal, p. 176. - ED.

the compacter, though far inferior, verse of Persius, — "Scire tuum nihil est, nisi te scire hoc sciat alter."¹—Cicero's Persius. Cato testifies to the same truth : — "Non facile

> Cicero. Seneca.

Cato testifies to the same truth : — "Non facile est invenire, qui quod sciat ipse, non tradat alteri."² And Seneca : — "Sic cum hac exceptione detur sapientia, ut illam inclusam teneam

nec enunciem, rejiciam. Nullius boni, sine socio, jucunda possessio est."³

"Condita tabescit, vulgata scientia crescit." 4

"In hoc gaudeo aliquid discere, ut doceam: nec me ulla res delectabit, licet eximia sit et salutaris, quam mihi uni, sciturus sim."⁵ "Ita non solum ad discendum propensi sumus, verum etiam ad docendum."⁶

The modes in which the Communication of thought is conducive

Modes in which Communication is conducive to the Perfecting of Thought are two. to the perfecting of thought itself, are two; for the mind may be determined to more exalted energy by the sympathy of society, and by the stimulus of opposition; or it may be necessitated to more distinct, accurate, and orderly

thinking, as this is the condition of distinct, accurate, and orderly communication. Of these the former requires the presence of others during the act of thought, and is, therefore, only manifested in oral instruction or in conference; whereas the latter is operative both in our oral and in our written communications. Of these in their order.

In the first place, then, the influence of man on man in recipro-

1. By reciprocally determining a higher energy of the faculties.

(a) Through Sympathy. cally determining a higher energy of the faculties, is a phænomenon sufficiently manifest. By nature a social being, man has powers which are relative to, and, consequently, find their development in, the company of his fellows; and this is more particularly shown in the energies

of the cognitive faculties. "As iron sharpeneth iron," says Solomon, "so a man sharpeneth the understanding of his friend."⁷ This, as I have said, is effected both by fellow-feeling and by opposition. We see the effects of fellow-feeling in the necessity of an

3 Seneca, Ep., vi.

Communes, p. 17, Lond. 1583; but the author is not named. - ED.

¹ I. 27. - ED.

² Cato apud Cicero, De Fin., iii. c. 20, § 66.

⁴ Quoted also in *Discussions*, p. 778. This line appears to have been taken from a small volume entitled *Carminum Proverbialium Loci*

⁵ Seneca, Epist., vi. - ED.

⁶ Cicero, De Fin., iii. 20. - ED.

⁷ Proverbs, XXVII. 17. The authorized version is, countenance of his friend. Compare Lectures on Metaphysics, p. 261. – ED.
LOGIC.

audience to call forth the exertions of the orator. Eloquence requires numbers; and oratory has only flourished where the con-

(b) Through Opposition. dition of large audiences has been supplied. But opposition is perhaps still more powerful than mere sympathy in calling out the re-

sources of the intellect.

In the mental as well as in the material world, action and reac-

Plutarch.

tion are ever equal; and Plutarch¹ well observes, that as motion would cease were con-

tention to be taken out of the physical universe, so progress in improvement would cease were contention taken out of the moral; $\pi \delta \lambda \epsilon \mu os \ \Delta \pi \Delta \tau \tau \omega \nu \pi a \tau \eta \rho^2$

"It is maintained," says the subtle Scaliger, "by Vives, that we

Scaliger, J. C. profit more by silent meditation than by dispute. This is not true. For as fire is elicited by the collision of stones, so truth is elicited by the collision of minds. I myself (he adds) frequently meditate by myself long and intently; but in vain; unless I find an antagonist, there is no hope of a successful issue. By a master we are more excited than by a book; but an antagonist, whether by his pertinacity or his wisdom, is to me a double master."³

But, in the second place, the necessity of communicating a piece

2. By imposing the necessity of obtaining a fuller consciousness of knowledge for our-selves.

of knowledge to others, imposes upon us the necessity of obtaining a fuller consciousness of that knowledge for ourselves. This result is to a certain extent secured by the very process of clothing our cogitations in words. For speech

is an analytic process; and to express our thoughts in language, it is requisite to evolve them from the implicit into the explicit, from the confused into the distinct, in order to bestow on each part of the organic totality of a thought its precise and appropriate symbol. But to do this is in fact only to accomplish the first step towards the perfecting of our cognitions or thoughts.

But the communication of thought, in its higher applications, imposes on us far more than this; and in so doing it reacts with a still more beneficial influence on our habits of thinking. Suppose that we are not merely to express our thoughts as they spontaneously arise; suppose that we are not merely extemporaneously to speak, but deliberately to write, and that what we are to communi-

¹ Vita Agesilai, Opera, 1599, vol. i. p. 598.-ED.
2 Heraclitus. Cf. Plutarch, De Is. et Osir., p. iger's remark as regards Vives, see Discus-370. Brandis, Gesch. der Philos., i. p. 158.-ED. sions, p. 773.-ED.]

cate is not a simple and easy, but a complex and difficult, matter.

Influence of Composition and Instruction in perfecting our Knowledge.

Godwin quoted.

In this case, no man will ever fully understand his subject who has not studied it with the view of communication, while the power of communicating a subject is the only competent criterion of his fully understanding it. "When a man," says Godwin, "writes a book of methodical investigation, he does not write because he

understands the subject, but he understands the subject because he has written. He was an uninstructed tyro, exposed to a thousand foolish and miserable mistakes, when he began his work, compared with the degree of proficiency to which he has attained when he has finished it. He who is now an eminent philosopher, or a sublime poet, was formerly neither the one nor the other. Many a man has been overtaken by a premature death, and left nothing behind him but compositions worthy of ridicule and contempt, who, if he had lived, would perhaps have risen to the highest literary eminence. If we could examine the school exercises of men who have afterwards done honor to mankind, we should often find them inferior to those of their ordinary competitors. If we could dive into the portfolios of their early youth, we should meet with abundant matter for laughter at their senseless incongruities, and for contemptuous astonishment."¹

Aristotle. "The one exclusive sign," says Aristotle, "that a man is thoroughly cognizant of anything, is that he is able to teach it;"² and Ovid,³—

"Quodque parum novit nemo docere potest."

In this reactive effect of the communication of knowledge in determining the perfection of the knowledge communicated, originated the scholastic maxim *Doce ut discas*, — a maxim which has unfortunately been too much overlooked in the schemes of modern education. In former ages, *teach that you may learn* always con-

> Plato. Sencca.

stituted one at least of the great means of intellectual cultivation. "To teach," says Plato, "is the way for a man to learn most and best."⁴

"Homines dum docent discunt," says Seneca.⁵ "In teaching," says

 ¹ Enquirer, part i. Essay iv. pp. 23, 24, ed.
 3 Tristia, ii. 348. - ED.

 1797. - ED.
 4 Pseudo-Plato, Epinomis, p. 989.

 2 Metaphys., i. l. Quoted in Discussions, p.
 ED.

 765. - ED.
 5 Epist., 7. - ED.

LOGIC.

Clement of Alexandria,¹ "the instructor often learns more than his pupils." "Disce sed a doctis; indoctos ipse Clement of Alexandoceto," is the precept of Dionysius Cato;² dria. and the two following were maxims of au-Diouysius Cato. thority in the discipline of the middle ages. The first ----"Multa rogare, rogata tenere, retenta docere, Haec tria, discipulum faciunt superare magistrum." 3 The second -"Discere si quaeris doccas; sic ipse doceris; Nam studio tali tibi proficis atque sodali."⁴ This truth is also well enforced by the great Vives. "Doctrina est traditio corum quae quis novit ei qui non novit. Vives. Disciplina est illius traditionis acceptio; nisi quod mens accipientis impletur, dantis vero non exhauritur, --- imo

communicatione augetur eruditio, sicut ignis, motu atque agitatione. Excitatur enim ingenium, et discurrit per ea quae ad præsens negotium pertinent: ita invenit atque excudit multa, et quae in mentem non veniebant cessanti, docenti, aut disserenti occurrunt, calore acuente vigorem ingenii. Ideirco, nihil est ad magnam eruditionem perinde conducens, ut docere."⁵ The celebrated logician, Dr.

Sanderson. Robert Sanderson, used to say: "I learn much from my master, more from my equals, and most of all from my disciples."⁶

But I have occupied perhaps too much time on the influence of

Influence of the communication of Knowledge on those to whom it is addressed. the communication of knowledge on those by whom it is made; and shall now pass on to the consideration of its influence on those to whom it is addressed. And in treating of communication in this respect, I shall, in the first place,

consider it as One-sided, and, in the second, as Reciprocal or Bilateral.

The Unilateral Communication of knowledge, or Instruction, is of two kinds, for it is either Oral or Written; but as both these

1 Stromata, lib. i. p. 275, edition Sylb., Διδάσκων τις μανθάνει πλείον, καl λέγων συνακροαται πολλάκις τοῖς ἐπακούουσιν αὐτοῦ. — ED.

2 IV. 29. - Ed.

³ [Crenius, p. 581.] [Gabrielis Naudæi Syntagma de Studio Liberali. Included in the Consilia et Methodi Aureæ studiorum optime instituendorum, collected by Th. Crenius, Rotterdam, 1692. The lines are quoted as from an anonymous author. — ED.]

⁴ Given without author's name in the Carminum Proverbialum Loci Communes, Lond. 1583, p. 17. See above, p. 480, note 4. – ED.

5 De Anima, p. 89.

⁶ [Reason and Judgment, or Special Remarks of the Life of the Renowned Dr. Sanderson, p. 10. London: 1663.] LOGIC.

species of instruction propose the same end, they are both, to a certain extent, subject to the same laws.

1. Instruction, – Oral and Written. Oral and Written Instruction have each their peculiar advantages.

In the first place, instruction by the living voice has this advan-

Oral instruction, its advantages. (a) More natural, therefore more impressive.

Theophrastus.

tage over that of books, that, as more natural, it is more impressive. Hearing rouses the attention and keeps it alive far more effectually than reading. To this we have the testimony of the most competent observers. "Hearing," says Theophrastus,¹ "is of all the senses the

most pathetic," that is, it is the sense most intimately associated with sentiment and passion. "Multo magis," says the younger

Younger Pliny. Pliny, "multo magis viva vox afficit. Nam, licet acriora sunt quæ legas, altius tamen in animo sedent quæ pronuntiatio, vultus, habitus, gestus etiam dicentis adfigit."²

"Plus prodest," says Valerius Maximus, "docentem audire, quam

Valerius Maximus. in libris studere; quia vehementior fit impressio in mentibus audientium, ex visu doctoris et auditu, quam ex studio et libro."³

And St. Jerome — "Habet nescio quid latentis energiæ viva vox; et in aures discipuli de doctoris ore transfusa, fortius sonat."⁴

A second reason why our Attention (and Memory is always in

(b) Less permanent, therefore more attended to. the ratio of Attention) to things spoken is greater than to things read, is that what is written we regard as a permanent possession to which we can always recur at pleasure;

whereas we are conscious that the "winged words" are lost to us forever, if we do not catch them as they fly. As Pliny hath it: "Legendi semper est occasio; audiendi non semper."⁵

A third cause of the superior efficacy of oral instruction is that man is a social animal. He is thus naturally disposed to find pleasure in society, and in the performance of the actions performed by those with whom he consorts. But reading is a solitary, hearing is

3 [Thomas Hibernicus, p. 330.] [The above passage is quoted as from Valerius, lib. viii., in the Flores of Thomas Hibernicus, and in the Anthologia of Langius, under the article Doctrina. It is not, however, to be found in that author. — ED.]

4 Epist., ciii. Opera, Antv. 1579, tom. iii. p. 337. — ED.

5 Epist. ii. 3. - ED.

¹ Οὐκ ἀν ἀηδῶς δ' οἶμαι σε προσακοῦσαι περὶ τῆς ἀκουστικῆς, αἰσθήσεως, ἡν ὁ Θεόφραστος παθητικωτάτην εἶναι φησὶ πασῶν. Plutarch, De Auditione, sub init. — ED.

² Epist., ii. 3 - ED.

LOGIC.

a social act. In reading, we are not determined to attend by any fellow-feeling with others attending; whereas

(c) llearing a social act.

in hearing, our attention is not only engaged by our sympathy with the speaker, but by our sympathy with the other attentive auditors around us.

Such are the causes which concur in rendering Oral Instruction

more effectual than Written. "M. Varillas," Menage quoted. says Menage (and Varillas was one of the most learned of modern historians, - and Menage one of the most learned of modern scholars), "M. Varillas himself told me one day, that of every ten things he knew, he had learned nine of them in conversation. I myself might say nearly the same thing."1

On the other hand, Reading, though only a substitute for Oral

Reading, - its advantages. (a) More easily accessible. (b) More comprehensive.

(c) More permanent.

Instruction, has likewise advantages peculiar to itself. In the first place, it is more easily accessible. In the second, it is more comprehensive in its sphere of operation. In the third, it is not transitory with the voice, but may again and again be taken up and considered, so that the object of the instruction may thus more

fully be examined and brought to proof. It is thus manifest, that oral and written instruction severally supply and severally support each other; and that, where this is competent, they ought always to be employed in conjunction. Oral instruction is, however, in the earlier stages of education, of principal importance; and written ought, therefore, at first only to be brought in as a subsidiary. A neglect of the oral instruction, and an exclusive employment of the written, - the way in which those who are self-taught (the autodidacti) obtain their education, -- for the most part betravs its one-sided influence by a contracted cultivation of the intellect, with a deficiency in the power of communicating knowledge to others.

Oral instruction necessarily supposes a speaker and a hearer; and written instruction a writer and a reader. In these, the capacity of the speaker and of the writer must equally fulfil certain common requisites. In the first place, they should be fully masters of the subject with which their instruction is conversant; and in the second, they should be able and willing to communicate to others the knowledge which they themselves possess. But in reference to these several species of instruction, there are various special rules that ought to be attended to by those who would reap the advantages they severally afford. I shall commence with Written InLOGIC.

struction, and comprise the rules by which it ought to be regulated, in the following paragraph.

¶ CXIII. In regard to Written Instruction, and its profit-

Psr. CXIII. Written Instruction, and its employment as a means of intellectual improvement. able employment as a means of intellectual improvement, there are certain rules which ought to be observed, and which together constitute the Proper Method of Reading. These may be reduced to three classes, as

they regard, 1°, The Quantity, 2°, The Quality, of what is to be read, or, 3°, The Mode of reading what is to be read.

I. As concerns the Quantity of what is to be read, there is a single rule, — Read much, but not many works (multum non multa).

II. As concerns the Quality of what is to be read, — there may be given five rules. 1°, Select the works of principal importance, estimated by relation to the several sciences themselves, or to your particular aim in reading, or to your individual disposition and wants. 2°, Read not the more detailed works upon a science, until you have obtained a rudimentary knowledge of it in general. 3°, Make yourselves familiar with a science in its actual or present state, before you proceed to study it in its chronological development. 4°, To avoid erroneous and exclusive views, read and compare together the more important works of every sect and party. 5°, To avoid a onesided development of mind, combine with the study of works which cultivate the Understanding, the study of works which cultivate the Taste.

III. As concerns the Mode or Manner of reading itself, there are four principal rules. 1°, Read that you may accurately remember, but still more, that you may fully understand. 2°, Strive to compass the general tenor of a work, before you attempt to judge of it in detail. 3°, Accommodate the intensity of the reading to the importance of the work. Some books are, therefore, to be only dipped into; others are to be run over rapidly; and others to be studied long and sedulously. 4°, Regulate on the same principle the extracts which you make from the works you read.¹

I. In reference to the head of Quantity, the single rule is -

l Cf. Krug, Logik, § 180. -- ED. [Fischaber, der Hodegetik, § 53 p. 196; 1832. Magirus v. Logik, p. 188, ed. 1818. Scheidler, Grundriss Lectio.]

LOGIC.

Read much, but not many works. Though this golden rule has

Explication. I. Quantity to be read.

Rule.

Solomon.

Quintilian. Younger Pliny. Seneca.

Luther quoted.

risen in importance, since the world, by the art of printing, has been overwhelmed by the multitude of books, it was still fully recognized by the great thinkers of antiquity. It is even hinted by Solomon, when he complains that "of making many books there is no end." ¹ By Quintilian, by the younger Pliny, and by Seneca, the maxim, "multum legendum esse, non multa," is laid down as the great rule of study.² "All," says Luther, in his Table Talk,3 "who would

study with advantage in any art whatsoever, ought to betake themselves to the reading of some sure and certain books oftentimes over; for to read many books produceth confusion, rather than learning, like as those who dwell everywhere, are not anywhere at home." He alludes here to the saying of Seneca, "Nusquam est qui ubique est."⁴ "And like as in society, we use not daily the community of all our acquaintances, but of some few selected friends, even so likewise ought we to accustom ourselves to the best books, and to make the same familiar unto us, that is, to have them, as we use to

Sanderson.

say, at our fingers' ends." 'The great logician,

Bishop Sanderson, to whom I formerly referred, as his friend and biographer Isaac Walton informs us, said " that he declined reading many books; but what he did read were well chosen, and read so often that he became very familiar with them. They were principally three, - Aristotle's Rhetoric, Aquinas's Secunda Secundae, and Cicero, particularly his Offices." 5 The great

Lord Burleigh, we are told by his biographer, Lord Burleigh. carried Cicero De Officiis, with Aristotle's Rhetoric, always in his bosom; these being complete pieces, "that

Herder.

would make both a scholar and an honest man." "Our age," says Herder, "is the reading age;"

and he adds, "it would have been better, in my opinion, for the world and for science, if, instead of the multitude of books which now overlay us, we possessed only a few works good and sterling, and which, as few, would, therefore, be more diligently and profoundly studied."⁶ I might quote to you many other testimonies

¹ Eccles. xii. 12. - ED.

² Quintilian, x. 1, 59. Pliny, Ep., vii. 9. Seneca, De Tranquill. Animi, c. 9. Epist., 2, 45. - ED.

³ No. DCCCXLIV. Of Learned Men. -ED.

⁴ Epist., ii. - ED.

⁵ See Walton's Lives of Donne, Wotton, Hooker, Herbert, and Sanderson, vol. ii., p. 287, ed. Zouch, York, 1817. - ED.

⁶ Briefe über das Stud. der Theol. B. xlix., Werke, xiv. 267, ed. 1829. - ED.

LOGIC.

to the same effect; but testimonies are useless in support of so manifest a truth.

For what purpose, --- with what intent, do we read? We read

not for the sake of reading, but we read to the End of Reading. end that we may think. Reading is valuable only as it may supply to us the materials which the mind itself elaborates. As it is not the largest quantity of any kind of food, taken into the stomach, that conduces to health, but such a quantity of such a kind as can be best digested; so it is not the greatest complement of any kind of information that improves the mind, but such a quantity of such a kind as determines the intellect to most vigorous energy. The only profitable reading is that in which we are compelled to think, and think intensely; whereas that reading which serves only to dissipate and divert our thought, is either positively hurtful, or useful only as an occasional relaxation from severe exertion. But the amount of vigorous thinking is usually in the inverse ratio of multifarious reading. Multifarious reading is agreeable; but, as a habit, it is, in its way, as destructive to the mental as dram-drinking is to the bodily health.

II. In reference to the quality of what is to be read, the First of the

II. Quality of what is to be read. First Rule. five rules is — 'Select the works of principal importance, in accommodation either to the several sciences themselves, to your particular aim in reading, or to your individual disposition and

wants.' This rule is too manifestly true to require any illustration of its truth. No one will deny that for the accomplishment of an end you ought to employ the means best calculated for its accomplishment. This is all that the rule inculcates. But while there is no difficulty about the expediency of obeying the rule, there is often considerable difficulty in obeying it. To know what books ought to be read in order to learn a science, is in fact frequently obtained after the science has been already learned. On this point no general advice can be given. We have, on all of the sciences, works which profess to supply the advice which the student here requires. But in general, I must say, they are of small assistance in pointing out what books we should select, however useful they may be in showing us what books exist upon a science. In this respect, the British student also labors under peculiar disadvantages. The libraries in this country are, one and all of them, wretchedly imperfect; and there are few departments of science in which they are not destitute even of the works of primary necessity, -- works which, from their high price, but more frequently from the difficulty of procuring them, are beyond the reach of ordinary readers.

488

Under the head of Quality the Second Rule is - 'Read not the more detailed works upon a science, until you

Second Rule.

have obtained a rudimentary knowledge of it in

general.' The expediency of this rule is sufficiently apparent. It is altogether impossible to read with advantage an extensive work on any branch of knowledge, if we are not previously aware of its general bearing, and of the relations in which its several parts stand to each other. In this case, the mind is overpowered and oppressed by the mass of details presented to it, -- details, the significance and subordination of which it is as yet unable to recognize. A conspectus, - a survey of the science as a whole, ought, therefore, to precede the study of it in its parts; we should be aware of its distribution, before we attend to what is distributed, we should possess the empty frame-work, before we collect the materials with which it is to be filled. Hence the utility of an encyclopædical knowledge of the sciences in general, preliminary to a study of the several sciences in particular; that is, a summary knowledge of their objects, their extent, their connection with each other. By this means the student is enabled to steer his way on the wide ocean of science. By this means he always knows whereabouts he is, and becomes aware of the point towards which his author is leading him.

In entering upon the study of such authors as Plato, Aristotle, Descartes, Spinoza, Leibnitz, Locke, Kant, etc., it is, therefore, proper that we first obtain a preparatory acquaintance with the scope, both of their philosophy in general, and of the particular work on which we are about to enter. In the case of writers of such ability this is not difficult to do, as there are abundance of subsidiary works, affording the preliminary knowledge of which we are in quest. But in the case of treatises where similar assistance is not at hand, we may often, in some degree, prepare ourselves for a regular perusal, by examining the table of contents, and taking a cursory inspection of its several departments. In this respect, and also in others, the following advice of Gibbon to young students is

Gibbon quoted. highly deserving of attention. "After a rapid glance (I translate from the original French) after a rapid glance on the subject and distribution of a new book, I suspend the reading of it, which I only resume after having myself examined the subject in all its relations, — after having called up in my solitary walks all that I have read, thought, or learned in regard to the subject of the whole book, or of some chapter in particular. I thus place myself in a condition to estimate what the author may add to my general stock of knowledge; and I am thus sometimes favorably disposed by the accordance, sometimes armed by the opposition, of our views."1

The Third Rule under the head of Quality is - 'Make yourselves familiar with a science in its present Third Rule. state, before you proceed to study it in its chronological development.' The propriety of this procedure is likewise manifest. Unless we be acquainted with a science in its more advanced state, it is impossible to distinguish between what is more or less important, and, consequently, impossible to determine what is or is not worthy of attention in the doctrines of its earlier cultivators. We shall thus also be overwhelmed by the infinitude of details successively presented to us; all will be confusion and darkness, where all ought to be order and light. It is thus improper to study philosophy historically, or in its past progress, before we have studied it statistically, or in its actual results.

The Fourth Rule under the same head is - 'To avoid erroneous

and exclusive views, read and compare together Fourth Rule. the more important works of every party.' In

proportion as different opinions may be entertained in regard to the objects of a science, the more necessary is it that we should weigh with care and impartiality the reasons on which these different opinions rest. Such a science, in particular, is philosophy, and such sciences, in general, are those which proceed out of philosophy. In the philosophical sciences, we ought, therefore, to be especially on our guard against that partiality which considers only the arguments in favor of particular opinions. It is true that in the writings of one party we find adduced the reasons of the opposite party; but frequently so distorted, so mutilated, so enervated, that their refutation occasions little effort. We must, therefore, study the arguments on both sides, if we would avoid those one-sided and contracted views which are the result of party-spirit. The precept of the Apostle, "Test all things, hold fast by that which is good," is a precept which is applicable equally in philosophy as in theology, but a precept that has not been more frequently neglected in the one study than in the other.

The Fifth Rule under the head of Quality is - 'To avoid a onesided development of mind, combine with the Fifth Rule. study of works which cultivate the Understanding, the study of works which cultivate the Taste.' The propriety

given in English, in Gibbon's Memoirs of my Life and Writings, pp. 54, 55; ed. 1837. The

1 The substance of the above passage is French original is quoted by Scheidler, Hodegetik, § 55, p. 204. - ED.

LOGIC.

of this rule requires no elucidation; I, therefore, pass on to the third head - viz., the Manner of reading itself;

III. Manner of Reading. First Rule.

under which the First Rule is - 'Read that you may accurately remember, but still more that you may fully understand.'

This also requires no comment. Reading should not be a learning by rote, but an act of reflective thinking. Memory is only a subsidiary faculty, - is valuable merely as supplying the materials on which the understanding is to operate. We read, therefore, principally, not to remember facts, but to understand relations. To commit, therefore, to memory what we read, before we elaborate it into an intellectual possession, is not only useless but detrimental; for the habit of laying up in memory what has not been digested by the understanding, is at once the cause and the effect of mental weakness.

The Second Rule under this head is - Strive to compass the

general tenor of a work, before you attempt to Second Rule. judge of it in detail.' Nothing can be more absurd than the attempt to judge a part before comprehending the whole; but unfortunately nothing is more common, especially among professional critics, - reviewers. This proceeding is, however, as frequently the effect of wilful misrepresentation, as of unintentional error.

The Third Rule under this head is - 'Accommodate the inten-

sity of the reading to the importance of the Third Rule. work. Some books are, therefore, to be only dipped into; others are to be run over rapidly; and others to be studied long and sedulously.' All books are not to be read with the same attention; and, accordingly, an ancient distinction was taken of reading into lectio cursoria and lectio stataria. The for-

Lectio cursoria. Lectio stataria.

mer of these we have adopted into English, cursory reading being a familiar and correct translation of lectio cursoria. But lectio stataria cannot be so well rendered by the expression of stationary reading. "Read not," says Bacon, in his Fiftieth Essay - "read not to

Bacon quoted.

contradict and confute, nor to believe and take for granted, nor to find talk and discourse, but

to weigh and consider. Some books are to be tasted, others are to be swallowed, and some few to be chewed and digested; that is, some books are to be read only in parts; others to be read, but not curiously; and some few to be read wholly and with diligence and attention. Some books also may be read by deputy, and extracts made of them by others; but that would be only in the less imporLOGIC.

tant arguments, and the meaner sort of books; else distilled books are, like common distilled waters, fleshy things." "One kind of books," says the great historian, Johann von Müller,¹ "I read with

Johann von Muller. great rapidity, for in these there is much dross to throw aside, and little gold to be found; some, however, there are all gold and diamonds, and he who, for example, in Tacitus can read more than twenty pages in four hours, certainly does not understand him."

Rapidity in reading depends, however, greatly on our acquaintance with the subject of discussion. At first, upon a science we can only read with profit few books, and laboriously. By degrees, however, our knowledge of the matters treated expands, the reasonings appear more manifest, — we advance more easily, until at length we are able, without overlooking anything of importance, to read with a velocity which appears almost incredible for those who are only commencing the study.

The Fourth Rule under this head is - 'Regulate on the same

Fourth Rule. principle the extracts which you make from the works you read.

So much for the Unilateral Communication of thought, as a mean of knowledge. We now proceed to the Mutual Communication of thought, — Conference.

Conference,—of two kinds. This is either mere Conversation,— mere Dialogue, or Formal Dispute, and at present we consider both of these exclusively only as a means of knowledge,— only as a means for the communication of truth.

The employment of Dialogue as such a mean, requires great skill

and dexterity; for presence of mind, confidence, tact, and pliability are necessary for this, and these are only obtained by exercise, independently of natural talent. This was the method which Socrates almost exclusively employed in the communication of knowledge; and he called it his *art of intellectual midwifery*, because in its application truth is not given over by the master to the disciple, but the master, by skilful questioning, only helps the disciple to deliver himself of the truth explicitly, which his mind had before held implicitly. This method is not, however, applicable to all kinds of knowledge, but only to those which the human intellect is able to evolve out of itself, that is, only to the cognitions of Pure Reason. Disputation is of two principal kinds, inasmuch as it is oral or written; and in both cases, the controversy may be conducted either by the rules of striet logical

1 Werke, iv. 177. Cf. xvii. 253. Quoted by Scheidler, Hodegetik, § 55, p. 204. - ED.

LOGIC.

disputation, or left to the freedom of debate. Without entering on

2. Disputation, — Oral and Written. Academical disputation. details, it may be sufficient to state, in regard to Logical Disputation, that it is here essential that the point in question, — the *status controversiæ*, — the thesis, should, in the first place, be accurately determined, in order to prevent all

logomachy, or mere verbal wrangling. This being done, that disputant who denies the thesis, and who is called the opponent, may either call upon the disputant who affirms the thesis, and who is called the *defendant*, to allege an argument in its support, or he may at once himself produce his counter-argument. To avoid, however, all misunderstanding, the opponent should also advance an antithesis, that is, a proposition conflictive with the thesis, and when this has been denied by the defendant the process of argumentation commences. This proceeds in regular syllogisms, and is governed by definite rules, which are all so calculated that the discussion is not allowed to wander from the point at issue, and each disputant is compelled, in reference to every syllogism of his adversary, either to admit, or to deny, or to distinguish.¹ These rules you will find in most of the older systems of Logie; in particular I may refer you to them as detailed in Heerebord's Praxis Logica, to be found at the end of his edition of the Synopsis of Burgersdicius. The practice of disputation was long and justly regarded as the most important of academical exercises; though liable to abuse, the good which it certainly ensures greatly surpasses the evil which it may accidentally occasion.

1 Cf. Krug, Logik, § 186. Anm. 2. Scheidler, Hodegetik, § 45, p. 138. - ED.



I.

THE CHARACTER AND COMPREHENSION OF LOGIC. — A FRAGMENT.

(See page 3.)

In the commencement of a course of academical instruction, there are usually two primary questions which obtrude themselves; and with the answer to these questions I propose to occupy the present Lecture.

The first of these questions is, — What is the character and comprehension of the subject to be taught? The second, — What is the mode of teaching it? In regard to the former of these, the question, — What is to be taught, in the present instance is assuredly not superfluous. The subject of our course is indeed professedly Logic; but as under that rubric it has been too often the practice, in our Scottish Universities, to comprehend almost everything except the science which that name properly denotes, it is evident that the mere intimation of a course of Lectures on Logic does not of itself definitely mark out what the professor is to teach, and what the student may rely on learning.

I shall, therefore, proceed to give you a general notion of what Logic is, and of the relation in which it stands to the other sciences; for Logic — Logic properly so called — is the all-important science in which it is at once my duty and my desire fully and faithfully to instruct you.

The very general — I may call it the very vague — conception which I can at present attempt to shadow out of the scope and nature of Logic, is of course not intended to anticipate what is hereafter to be articulately stated in regard to the peculiar character of this science.

All science, all knowledge, is divided into two great branches; for it is either, 1°, Conversant about Objects Known, or, 2°, Conversant about the Manner of knowing them, in other words, about the laws or conditions under which such objects are cognizable. The former of these is Direct Science, or Science simply; the latter, Reflex Science, — the Science of Science, or the Method of Science.

Now of these categories or great branches of knowledge, Simple Science, or Science directly conversant about Objects, is again divided into two branches; for it is either conversant about the phænomena of the internal world, as revealed to us in consciousness, or about the phænomena of the external world, as made known to us by sense. The former of these constitutes the Science of Mind, the latter the Science of Matter; and each is again divided and subdivided into those numerous branches, which together make up nearly the whole cycle of human knowledge.

The other category - the Science of Science, or the Methodology of Science - falls likewise into two branches, according as the conditions which it considers are the laws which determine the possibility of the mind, or subject of science, knowing, or the laws which determine the possibility of the existence, or object of science, being known; Science, I repeat, considered as reflected upon its own conditions, is twofold, for it either considers the laws under which the human mind can know, or the laws under which what is proposed by the human mind to know, can be known. Of these two sciences of science, the former - that which treats of those conditions of knowledge which lie in the nature of thought itself - is Logic, properly so called; the latter, that which treats of those conditions of knowledge which lie in the nature, not of thought itself, but of that which we think about, - this has as yet obtained no recognized appellation, no name by which it is universally and familiarly known. Various denominations have indeed been given to it in its several parts, or in its special relations; thus it has been called *Heuretic*, in so far as it expounds the rules of Invention or Discovery, Architectonic, in so far as it treats of the method of building up our observations into system; but hitherto it has obtained, as a whole, no adequate and distinctive title. The consequence, or perhaps the cause, of this want of a peculiar name to mark out the second science of science, as distinguished from the first, is that the two have frequently been mixed up together, and that the name of Logic has been stretched so as to comprehend the confused assemblage of their doctrines. Of these two sciences of the conditions of knowledge, the one owes its systematic development principally to Aristotle, the other to Bacon; though neither of these philosophers has precisely marked or rigidly observed the limits which separate them from each other; and from the circumstance, that the latter gave to his great Treatise the name of Organum, -- the name which has in later times been applied to designate the complement of the Logical Treatises of the former, - from this circumstance, I say, it has often been supposed that the aim of Bacon was to build up a Logic of his own upon the ruins of the Aristotelic. Nothing, however, can be more erroneous, either as to Bacon's views, or as to the relation in which the two sciences mutually stand. These are not only not inconsistent, they are in fact, as correlative, each necessary to, each dependent on, the other; and although they constitute two several doctrines, which must be treated in the first instance each by and for itself, they are, however, in the last resort only two phases, - two members, of one great doetrine of method, which considers, in the counter relations of thought to the object, and of the object to thought, the universal conditions by which the possibility of human knowledge is regulated and defined.

But allowing the term *Logic* to be extended so as to denote the genus of which these opposite doctrines of Method are the species, it will, however, be necessary to add a difference by which these special Logics may be distin-

guished from each other, and from the generic science of which they are the constituents. The doctrine, therefore, which expounds the laws by which our scientific procedure should be governed, in so far as these lie in the forms of thought, or in the conditions of the mind itself, which is the subject in which knowledge inheres, — this science may be called *Formal*, or *Subjective*, or *Abstract*, or *Pure Logic*. The science, again, which expounds the laws by which our scientific procedure should be governed, in so far as these lie in the contents, materials, or objects, about which knowledge is conversant, — this science may be called *Material*, or *Concrete*, or *Applied Logic*.

Now it is Logic, taken in its most unexclusive acceptation, which will constitute the object of our consideration in the following course. Of the two branches into which it falls, Formal Logic, or Logic Proper, demands the principal share of our attention, and this for various reasons. In the first place, considered in reference to the quantity of their contents, Formal Logic is a far more comprehensive and complex science than Material. For, to speak first of the latter : - if we abstract from the specialities of particular objects and sciences, and consider only the rules which ought to govern our procedure in reference to the object-matter of the sciences in general, - and this is all that a universal logic can propose, - these rules are few in number, and their applications simple and evident. A Material or Objective Logic, except in special subordination to the circumstances of particular sciences, is, therefore, of very narrow limits, and all that it can tell us is soon told. Of the former, on the other hand, the reverse is true. For though the highest laws of thought be few in number, and though Logic proper be only an articulate exposition of the universal necessity of these, still the steps through which this exposition must be accomplished are both many and multiform.

In the second place, the doctrines of Material Logic are not only far fewer and simpler than those of Formal Logic, they are also less independent; for the principles of the latter once established, those of the other are either implicitly confirmed, or the foundation laid on which they can be easily rested.

In the third place, the study of Formal Logic is a more improving exercise; for, as exclusively conversant with the laws of thought, it necessitates a turning back of the intellect upon itself, which is a less easy, and, therefore, a more invigorating, energy, than the mere contemplation of the objects directly presented to our observation.

In the fourth place, the doctrines of Formal Logic are possessed of an intrinsic and necessary evidence; they shine out by their native light, and do not require any proof or corroboration beyond that which consciousness itself supplies. They do not, therefore, require, as a preliminary condition, any apparatus of acquired knowledge. Formal Logic is, therefore, better fitted than Material for the purposes of academical instruction; for the latter, primarily conversant with the conditions of the external world, is in itself a less invigorating exercise, as determining the mind to a feebler and more ordinary exertion, and, at the same time, cannot adequately be understood without the previous possession of such a complement of information as it would be unreasonable to count upon in the case of those who are only commencing their philosophical studies.

II.

GENUS OF LOGIC.

(See page 7.)

I. - SCIENCE.

A. Affirmative. — Stoici (v. Alexander Aphrod. In Topica, Procen.; Diogenes Laertius, Vita Zenonis, L. vii., § 42). "Plato et Platonici et Academici omnes" (v.Camerarius, Selectæ Disput. Philos. Pars. i., qu. 3, p. 30).

(a) SPECULATIVE SCIENCE.

Toletus, In Un. Arist. Log., De Dial. in Communi, Qu. ii., iv. Suarez, Disp. Metaph., Disp. i. § iv. 26; Disp. xliv. § xiii. 54. "Communiter Thomistæ, ut Capreolus, Sotus, Masius, Flandra, Soncinas, Javellus: Omnes fere Scotistæ cum Scoto, ut Valera, Antonius Andreas, etc." (v. Ildephonsus de Penafiel, Logicæ Disputationes, Disp. i. qu. 4. Cursus, p. 79.) For Aquinas, Durandus, Niphus, Canariensis, see Antonius Ruvio, Com. in Arist. Dialect., Proæm. qu. 5. For Bacehonus, Javellus, Averroes, see Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial. Proæm. Q. iv. art. 5. Lalemandet, Cursus Phil., Logica, Disp. iii. part iii. Derodon, Logica Restit., De Genere, p. 45. Camerarius, Disp. Phil., Pars i., qu. 3, 4. (That Logica docens a true science.) For Pseudo-Augustinus, Avicenna, Alpharabius, see Conimbricenses, Com. in Arist. Dial. Proæm. Qu. iv. art. 3. For Boethius, Mercado, Vera Cruce, Montanesius, see Masius, Com. in Porph. et in Universam Aristotelis Logicam, Seet. i., Proæm. qu. v. et seq. Poncius, De Nat. Log., Disp. ii., concl. 2. For Rapineus, Petronius, Faber, see Camerarius, Sel. Disp. Phil., Pars i., qu. 4, p. 44.

(b) PRACTICAL SCIENCE.

Conimbricenses, In Universam Aristotelis Dialecticam. Proœm. Qu. iv., art.
5. Fonseca, In Metaph. L. ii. c. 3, qu. 1, § 7. For Venetus, Albertus Magnus, Jandunus, see Ruvio, l. c. Schuler, Philosophia nova Methodo Explicata, Pars Prior, L. v. ex. i., p. 306. (1603). D'Abra de Raconis, Summa Totius Philosophia, Log. Præl., c. i. Isendoorn, Cursus Logicus, L. i., c. 2, qu. 7. Biel, In Sentent., L. ii. Prol. Occam, Summa Totius Logicæ, D. xxxix. qu. 6. For Aureolus, Bern. Mirandulanus, see Conimbricenses, l. c. For Mathisius, Mureia, Vasquez, Eckius, see Camerarius, Sel. Disp. Phil. Pars i., qu. 4, p. 44. Ildephonsus de Penafiel, Log. Disp. D. i. qu. 4, sect. 2. Oviedo, Cursus Philosophicus, Log., Contr. Proœm. ii. 5. Arriaga, Cursus Philosophicus, Disp. iii. § 4.

(c) SPECULATIVE AND PRACTICAL.

Hurtado de Mendoza, Log. Disp. D. ii. § 2.

B. Negative. - For almost all the Greek commentators, see Zabarella, Opera

Logica, De Nat. Log., L. i. c. 5, and Smiglecius, Logica, D. ii. qu. 5. See also Ildephonsus de Penafiel, Disp. Log. D. i. qu. 1, § 1, p. 67.

II. - ART.

Scheibler, Opera Logica, Pars. i. c. 1, p. 49. J. C. Sealiger, Exercitationes,
Exerc. i. 3. G. J. Vossius, De Natura Artium, L. iv., c. 2, § 4. Balforeus, In Org. Q. v. § 6, Proæm., p. 31. Burgersdicius, Institutiones Logicæ. Lib. i. c.
1. Pacius, Comm. in Org. p. 1. Sanderson, Log. Artis Compendium, L. i. e. 1, p. 1, Cf. p. 192. Aldrich, Artis Log. Compendium. L. i. c. 1, p. 1. Hildenius, Quastiones et Commentaria in Organon, p. 579 (1585). Goclenius, Problemata Logica et Philosophica. Pars. i. qu. 3. Ramus, Dialectica. L. i. c. 1. Augustinus, De Ordine, ii. c. 15. Cicero, De Claris Oratoribus, c. 41. De Oratore, L. ii., c. 38. Lovanienses, Com. in Arist. Dial. Præf. p. 3. Rodolphus Agricola, De Dialecticæ Inventione, L. ii. p. 255. Monlorius (Bapt.), Comm. in Anal. Pr. Præf. Nunnesius, De Constitut. Dial., p. 43. Downam (Ramist), Comm. in Ram. Dial., L. i. c. 1. p. 3. Paraeus, Ars Logica, p. 1, 1670. For Horatius Cornaehinus, Ant. Bernardus Mirandulanus, Flamminius Nobilius, see Camerarius, Sel. Disp. Phil. Pars. i. q. 3, p. 30.

III. - SCIENCE AND ART.

Lalemandet, Log., Disp. iii. Part iii. el. 4. (Logica utens, an art; Logica docens, a speculative science.) Tartaretus, In P. Hispanum, f. 2 (Practical Science and Art.) P. Hispanus, Copulata Omn. Tractat. Pet. Hisp. Parv. Logical, T. i. f. 10, 1490. Philosophia Vetus et Nova in Regia Burgundia olim Pertractata, Logica, T. I., pp. 58, 59. 4th ed. London, 1685. Tosca, Comp. Phil. Log., Tr. i. l. iv. e. 4, p. 208 (Practical Science and Art). Purchot, Instit. Phil., T. I. Proœm. p. 36. Eugenius, Λογική, pp. 140, 141. Dupleix, Logique, p. 37. Facciolati, Rudimenta Logicæ, p. 5. Schmier, Philosophia Quadripartita (v. Heumannus, Acta Philosoph. iii. p. 67). Aquinas (in Caramuel, Phil. Realis et Rationalis, Disp. ii. p. 3).

IV. - NEITHER SCIENCE NOR ART, BUT INSTRUMENT, ORGAN, OR HABIT, OR INSTRUMENTAL DISCIPLINE.

Philoponus, In An. Prior., initio. For Ammonius (Præf. in Præd.), Alexander (In Topica, i. c. 4; Metaph. ii. t. 15). Simplicius, (Præf. in Præd.), Zabarella (De Natura Logicæ, L. i. c. 10.), Zimara (In Tabula v. Absurdum), Averroes, see Smiglecius, Logica, Disp. ii. qu. 6, p. 89. Aegidius, In An. Post. L. i. qu. 1. For Magnesius, Niger (Petrus), Villalpandeus, see Ruvio, In Arist. Dial., proæm. qu. 2. F. Crellius, Isagoge Logica, L. i. c. 1, p. 5. P. Vallius, Logica, T. I. proæm. c. i. et alibi. Bartholinus, Janitores Logici, II. pp. 25 and 76. Bertius, Logica Peripatetica, pp. 6, 10. Themistius, An. Post. i. c. 24. Aquinas, Opuscula, 70, qu. De Divisione Scientiæ Speculativæ, — sed alibi scientiam vocat. (See Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial., T. I. qu. iv. art. 5, p. 42.) Balduinus, In Quæsito an Logica sit Scientia. Scaynus, Paraphrasis in Organon. Præf. p. 9.

V. - THAT, LOOSELY TAKING THE TERMS, LOGIC IS EITHER ART OR SCIENCE, OR BOTH.

Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Nat. Log., L. i. c. viii. D'Abra de Raconis, Summa Tot. Phil. Præl. Log., L. iii., c. 1, p. 8, ed. Colon. (Practical Science). Balforeus, In Organon, Q. v. §§ 1, 6, pp. 20, 32. (Art). Derodon, Logica Restit. De Proæm. Log., p. 49, (Speculative Science). Crellius, Isagoge, pp. 1, 4. Bertius, Logica Peripatetica, pp. 11, 13. Aldrich, Art. Log. Comp., L. ii. c. 8, T. i. (Art). Sanderson, Log. Art. Comp. Append. Pr., c. 2, page 192. (Art). Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial., T. I., p. 33 (Practical Science). Philosophia Burgundia, T. I. pp. 56, 59. Eustachius, Summa Philosophiæ, Dialectica Quæst. Proæm., i. p. 4. Nunnesius, De Constit. Dial., ff. 43, 68. Scheibler, Opera Logica, pp. 48, 49. Scaynus, Par. in Org., pp. 11, 12. Camerarius, Sel. Disp. Phil., Pars. i. qu. 3, pp. 31, 38 (Speculative Science). B. Pereira, De Commun. Princip. Omn. Rev. Natural, L. i. De Phil. c. 18, p. 60, 1618.

VI. — THAT AT ONCE SCIENCE (PART OF PHILOSOPHY) AND INSTRUMENT OF PHILOSOPHY.

Boethius, Præf. in Porphyr. (a Victorino Transl.) Opera, p. 48. Eustachius, Summa Philosophiæ, p. 8 (Scientia organica et practica). For Simplicius, Alexander, Philoponus, etc., see Camerarius, Sel. Disp. Phil., p. 30. Pacius, Com. in Arist. Org., p. 4.

VII. — THAT QUESTION, WHETHER LOGIC PART OF PHILOSOPHY OR NOT, AN IDLE QUESTION.

Pacius, Com. in Arist. Org., p. 4. Avicenna (in Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial., Qu. iv. art. 4, T. I. p. 38).

VIII. — THAT QUESTION OF WHETHER ART, SCIENCE, ETC., IDLE — ONLY VERBAL.

Buffier, Cours des Sciences, Seconde Logique, § 421, p. 887.

Eugenius, 'Η Λογική, p. 140, has the following:

"From what has been said, therefore, it clearly appears of what character are the diversities of Logic, and what its nature. For one logic is *Natural*, another *Acquired*. And of the *Natural*, there is one sort according to *Faculty*, another according to *Disposition*. And of the Acquired, there is again a kind according to *Art*, and a kind according to *Science*. And the Native Logic, according to Faculty, is the rational faculty itself with which every human individual is endowed, through which all are qualified for the knowledge and discrimination of truth, and which, in proportion as a man employs the less, the less is he removed from irrationality. But the Native Logic, according to Disposition, is the same faculty by which some, when they reason, are wont to exert their cogitations with care and attention, confusedly, indeed, and uncritically, still, however, in pursuit of the truth. The Acquired, according to Art, is the correct and corrected knowledge of the Rules, through which the intellectual energies are, without fault or failure, accomplished. But the Ac-

500

quired, according to Science, is the exact and perfect knowledge both of the energies themselves, and also of the causes through which, and through which exclusively, they are capable of being directed towards the truth."

"And thus Disposition adds to Faculty consuetude and a promptness to energize. Art, again, adds to Disposition a refinement and accuracy of Energy. Finally, Science adds to Art the consciousness of cause, and the power of rendering a reason in the case of all the Rules. And the natural logician may be able, in his random reason, to apprehend that, so to speak, one thing has determined another, although the nature of this determination may be beyond his ken. But he whose disposition is exercised by reflection and imitation, being able casily to connect thought with thought, is cognizant of the several steps of the reasoning process, howbeit this otherwise may be confused and disjointed. But he who is disciplined in the art, knows exactly that, in an act of inference, there are required three terms, and that these also should be thus or thus connected. Finally, the scientific logician understands the reason, — why three terms enter into every syllogism, — why there are neither more nor fewer, and why they behoove to be combined in this, and in no other fashion.

"Wherefore to us the inquiry appears ridiculous, which is frequently, even to nausea, clamorously agitated concerning Logic — Whether it should be regarded as an *Art* or as a *Science*."

III.

DIVISIONS, VARIETIES, AND CONTENTS OF LOGIC. (See p. 49.)

'Adopted in different significations by Timpler, Syst. Log., q. 19, p. 55. (Pars Communis, Genc-Theoph. Gale, Logica, pp. 6, 246, III. Logica, ralis. Pars Propria, Specialis. et seq. (1681). Crellius, Isagoge, P. i. L. i. c. 1, p. 3. Alstedius, Encyclop., pp. 29 and 406. N. B. - Averroes (Pacius, Com. p. 2) has Logica appropriata seu particularis, IV. LOGICA, Applicata. and Logica communis = Universal, Abstract Logic. V. LOGICA, Abstracta, Concreta. Pars Communis. . VI. LOGICA, Pars Pro-pria, Apodictica. Sophistica. Sophistica. v. Timpler, Sys. Log., p. 44. Crellius, Isagoge, pp. 10, 11, and Isendoorn, Effata, Cent. i. Eff. 51. Adopted by Agricola, De Inv. Dial., L. i. ύρετική vel τοπική. VII. LOGICA, Kριτική. p. 35. Melanchthon, Erot. Dial., p. 10. Ramus, Schol. Dialect. L. i. c. i., and L. ii. c. i. p. 351 et seq. Judicium. Spencer, Log., p. 11. Downam, In Dispositio. Rami Dial., L. i. c. 2, p. 14. Perionius, De Dialectica, L. i. p. 6 (1544). Vossius, De Nat. Artium sive Logica, L. iv. c. ix. p. 217. v. Timpler, Syst. Log., p. 49. VIII. LOGICA, Pars de Propositio. Pars de Judicio. v. Timpler, Syst. Log., p. 51. Isen-IX, LOGICA, { Doctrina Dividendi. Doctrina Definiendi. Doctrina Argumentandi. } doorn, Effata, Cent. i. Eff. 57. Boethius, (Augustin, Fonseca, etc.)

X.	Logica,	Simplicis Apprehensions. Judicii. Ratiocinationis. Noëtica (melius Noema- Synthetica. tica). Dianoetica.
XI.	Logica,	1. Ideas (notions). L' Art de Penser, Part i. Clericus, 2. Judgment. Logica, adopts this division, but 3. Reasoning. makes Method third, Reasoning 4. Method. fourth.
XII.	Logica,	 1. Doctrine of Elements. 2. Doctrine of Method. 1st. Called Analytic by Metz, Instit. Log. Twesten, Die Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, p. lii, Esser, Logik. Part i.
X111.	Logicæ partes,	 2d. Called Systematic or Architectonic by Bachmann, Logik, Part ii. Called Synthetic by Esser (who includes under it also Applied Logic), Logik, Part ii. Thematica — de materia operationi Logicæ, subjecta. Organica — de instrumentis sciendi.
		Communis, Generalis. (Communis, Generalis.) (Communis, Generalis. (Communis, Generalis.) (Communis, Generalis. (Communis, Generalis.) (Communis, (Communi
XIV.	Logica	Specialis. Genesis sen Genesis stricta. Burgersdyk) Inventio. Genesis didactica. Principally Analysis. Hermeneutica. L'Art de Penser of Port
		Genetica. Genetica. In ordine ad mentem — Logica stricte dicta. In ordine ad alios — Interpretativa vel Hermeneutica genetica.
		Analytica. Analytica stricta vel in specie.



XXI. LOGICA,	Analytica. <pre> prodromus de Interpretatione. universe de Syllogismo. speciatem de Demonstratione.</pre>
XXII. Logica,	Dialectica. Aristotle, in Laertius v. Vossius, Analytica. De Nat. Art. sive De Logica, L. iv. c. ix. § 11, p. 219.
XXIII. LOGICA de	Rebus quæ significantur. Stoicorum, see Vossius, De Nat. Vocibus quæ significant. Art. sive De Logica, L. iv. c. ix. § 7, p. 218.
XXIV. Logicæ partes dø	Loquendo, Eloquendo. Proloquendo. Proloquioram summa. Varro, vide Vossius, De Nat. Art., L, iv. c. ix. § 8, p. 219.
XXV. Logica,	$ \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \Pi \rho \delta s \ \epsilon \tilde{v} \rho \epsilon \sigma \iota \nu, \\ \Pi \rho \delta s \ \kappa \rho (\sigma \iota \nu, \\ \Pi \rho \delta s \ \chi \rho \tilde{\eta} \sigma \iota \nu, \end{array} \right\} \ \begin{array}{l} \text{Aristotle (?) in Lacrtius, L. v. § 28,} \\ p. 284. \ \text{Alexander Aphrod. in} \\ nota \ \text{Aldobrandini.} \end{array} \right. $
Logica,	Noητική, Apprehensiva. Κρίσιμος vel Κριτική, Judicativa. Διαλεκτική, Argumenta- tiva.
Logicæ partes,	Divisio. Definitio. Argumentatio. v. Crellius, Isagoge, Pars. prior, c. i. p. 10.
Logicæ partes,	Apodictica. Dialectica. Sophistica.v. Crellius, Isagoge, Pars. prior, c. i. p. 10. Isendoorn, Effata, Cent. i. Eff. 54.
Logicæ partes,	{ Analytica. Topica. } Crellius, Isagoge, Pars. prior, c. i. p. 10.

Stoicheiology (pure) should contain the doctrine of Syllogism, without distinction of Deduction or Induction. Deduction, Induction, Definition, Division, from the laws of thought, should come under pure Methodology. All are processes (v. Cæsalpinus, Quæst. Perip. sub init.)

Perhaps, 1°, Formal Logic (from the laws of thought proper) should be distinguished from, 2°, Abstract Logic (material, but of abstract general matter); and then, 3°, A Psychological Logic might be added as a third part, considering how Reasoning, etc., is affected by the constitution of our minds. Applied Logic is properly the several sciences.

Or may not Induction and Deduction come under abstract Material Logic?

IV.

LAWS OF THOUGHT.

(See p. 60.)



C is either Γ or non Γ .

The laws of Identity and Contradiction, each infers the other, but only through the principle of Excluded Middle; and the principle of Excluded Middle only exists through the supposition of the two others. Thus, the principles of Identity and Contradiction cannot move, — cannot be applied, except through supposing the principle of Excluded Middle; and this last cannot be conceived existent, except through the supposition of the two former. They are thus coördinate but inseparable. Begin with any one, the other two follow as corollaries.

I. - PRIMARY LAWS OF THOUGHT, - IN GENERAL.

See the following authors on : — Dreier, Disput. ad Philosophiam Primam, Disp. v. Aristotle, Analyt. Post. i. e. 11, §§ 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7. Schramm, Philosophia Aristotelica, p. 36. Lippius, Metaphysica Magna, L. i. e. i., p. 71 et seq. Stahl, Regulæ Philosophicæ, Tit. i., reg. i. p. 2 et seq., reg. ii. p. 8 et seq., Tit. xix. reg. viii., p. 520 et seq. Chauvin, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Metaphysica. Bisterfeld evolves all out of ens, — ens est. See Philosophia Prima, c. ii. p. 24 et seq. Bobrik, System der Logik, § 70, p. 247 et seq.

506

That they belong to Logic :- Ramus, Schol. Dial., L. ix., p. 549.

Is Affirmation or Negation prior in order of thought? and thus on order and muthal relation of the Laws among themselves, as coördinate or derived; (see separate Laws). Fracastorins, Opera, De Intellectione, L. i. f. 125 b., makes negation an act prior to affirmation; therefore, principle of Contradiction prior to principle of Identity. - Esser, Logik, § 28, p. 57. Sigwart, Handbuch zu Vorlesungen über die Logik, § 38 et seq. Piccolomineus, De Mente Humana, L. iii., c. 4. p. 1301, on question - Is affirmative or negative prior? Schulz, Prüf. der Kant. Krit. der reinen Vernunft, I. p. 78, 2d ed. Weiss, Lehrbuch der Logik, § 81 et seq. pp. 61, 62, 1805. Castillon, Memoires de l'Académie de Berlin (1803) p. 8 (Contradiction and Identity coordinate). A. Andreas, In Arist. Metaph. iv. Qu. 5. p. 21. (Affirmative prior to negative.) Leibnitz, Œuvres Philosophiques, Nouv. Essais, L. iv. ch. 2, § 1, p. 327, ed. Raspe. (Identity prior to Contradiction.) Wolf, Ontologia, §§ 55, 288 - (Contradiction first, Identity second). Derodon, Metaphysica, c. iii., p. 75 et seq. 1669. (Contradiction first, Excluded Middle second, Identity third). Fonseca, In Metaph., 1. 849. Binnde, Psychologie, Vol. I., part ii., § 151, p. 159. (That principle of Contradiction and principle of Reason and Consequent not identical, as Wolf and Reimarus hold.) Nic. Taurellus, Philosophice Triumphus, etc., p. 124. Arnheim, 1617. "Cum simplex aliqua sit affirmatio, negatio non item, hane illam segui concludimns," etc. Chauvin, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Metaphysica.

By whom introduced into Logic: — Eberstein (*Über die Beschaffenheit der Logik und Metaphysik der reinen Peripatetiker*, p. 21, Halle, 1800) says that Darjes, in 1737, was the first to introduce Principle of Contradiction into Logic. That Buffier, and not Reimarus, first introduced principle of Identity into Logic, see Bobrik, *Logik*, § 70, p. 249.

II. - PRIMARY LAWS OF THOUGHT, - IN PARTICULAR.

1. Principle of Identity. "Omne ens est ens." Held good by Antonius Andreas, In Metaph. iv., qu. 5. (apud Fonsecam, In Metaph. I. p. 849; melius apud Suarez, Select. Disp. Metaph. Disp. iii. sect. iii. n. 4.) Derodon, Metaphysica, e. iii., p. 77. J. Sergeant, Method to Science, pp. 133—136 and after. (Splits it absurdly.) Boethius — "Nulla propositio est verior illa in qua idem prædicatur de seipso." (Versor, In P. Hispani Summulas Logicales, Tr. vii., p. 441 (1st ed. 1487); et Buridanus, In Sophism.) "Propositiones illas oportet esse notissimas per se in quibus idem de se ipso prædicatur, ut 'Homo est homo,' vel quarum prædicata in definitionibus subjectarum includuntur, ut 'Homo est animal.'" Aquinas, Contra Gentiles, L. i. e. 10. Opera T. XVIII. p. 7, Venet. 1786. Prior to principle of Contradiction — Leibnitz, Noureaux Essais, p. 377. Buffier, Principes du Raissonnement, II. art. 21, p. 204. Rejected

as identical and nugatory by Fonseca, *loc. cit.* Suarez, *loc. cit.* Wolf, *Ontologia*, §§ 55, 288, calls it Principium Certitudinis, and derives it from Principium Contradictionis.

2. Principle of Contradiction — àξίωμα τη̂s ἀντιφάσεωs.

Aristotle, Metaph., L. iii. 3; x. 5. (Fonseca, In Metaph. T. I., p. 850, L. iv. (iii.) c. iii.) Anal. Post. L. i. c. 11 c. 2, § 13. (On Aristotle and Plato, see Mansel's Prolegomena, pp. 236, 237.) Stahl, Regulæ Philosophicæ, Tit. i. reg. i. Suarez, Select Disp. Phil., Disp. iii. § 3. Timpler, Metaph. L. i., c. 8 qu. 14. Derodon, Metaphysica, p. 75 etc. Lippius, Metaphysica, L. i. c. i., p. 73. Bernardi, Thes. Aristot., vv. Principium, Contradictio. Leibnitz, Euvres Philosophiques, Nouv. Ess., L. iv. c. 2. Ramus, "Axioma Contradictionis," Scholæ Dial. L. ix. c. i., L. iv. c. 2, § 1, p. 548. Gul. Xylander, Institutiones Aphoristicæ Logices Aristot., p. 24 (1577), "Principium principiorum hoc. est, lex Contradictionis." Philoponus, àξίωμα τη̂s ἀντιφάσεωs, v. In Post. An. f. 30 b. et seq. Ammonius, ἀξίωμα τη̂s ἀντιφάσεωs, In De Interpret. f. 94, Ald. 1503; but principium Exclusi Medii, Scheibler, Topica, c. 19. On Definition of Contradictories, v. Scheibler, Ibid. On Two Principles of Contradiction, — Negative and Positive, v. Zabarella, Opera Logica, In An. Post. i. t. 83, p. 807.

Conditions of. — Aristotle, Metaph., L. iv., c. 6. Bernardi, Thesaurus Arist., v. Contrad., p. 300.

Proof attempted by — Clauberg, Ontosophia, § 26 (Degerando, Histoire de Philosophie, T. II. p. 57), through Excluded Middle.

3. Principle of Excluded Middle - àξίωμα διαιρετικόν.

"Αξίωμα διαφετικόν, divisivum, dicitur a Græcis principium contradictionis affirmativum; 'Oportet de omni re affirmare aut negare,'" Goclenius, Lexicon Philosophicum. Lat. p. 136. Zabarella, In An. Post., L. i., text 83, Opera Logica, p. 807. Conimbricenses, In Org., II. 125. Lucian, Opera, II. p. 44 (ed. Hemsterhuis). Aristotle, Metaph., L. iv. (iii.) c. 7; An. Post., L. i. 2; ii. 13 (Mansel's Prolegomena, p. 236). Joannes Philoponus (v. Bernardi, Thes. v. Contrad., p. 300). Piccartus, Isagoge, pp. 290, 291. Javellus, In Metaph., L. iv. qu. 9. Suarez, Disp. Metaph., Disp. iii., sect. 3, § 5. Stahl, Regulæ Philos., Tit. i. reg. 2. Wolf, Ontologia, §§ 27, 29, 56, 71, 498. Fonseca, In Metaph., L. iv. c. iii. qu. 1. et seq., T. I. p. 850. (This principle not first.) Timpler, Metaphysica, L. ii. c. 8, qu. 15. Derodon, Metaph., p. 76. (Secundum principium.) Lippius, Metaphysica, L. i. c. i., pp. 72, 75. Chauvin, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Metaphysica. Scheibler, Topica, c. 19. Hurtado de Mendoza, Disp. Metaph., Disp. iii., § 3 (Caramuel, Rat. et Real. Phil., § 452, p. 68).

Whether identical with Principle of Contradiction.

Affirmative, — Javellus, l. c. Mendoza, Disp. Metaph., D. iii. § 3. Leibnitz, Œuvres Philosophiques, Nouv. Ess., L. iv. c. 2, p. 327.

Negative, — Fonseca, Disp. Met. Disp. iv. c. 3, 9. Suarez, Disp. Metaph., Disp. iii. § 3. Stahl, Reg. Phil. Tit. i. reg. 2.

Whether a valid and legitimate Law.

Fischer, Logik, § 64 et seq. (Negative). — Made first of all principles by Alexander de Ales, Metaph., xiv. text 9: "Conceptus omnes simplices, ut

resolvuntur ad ens, ita omnes conceptus compositi resolvuntur ad hoe principium — De quolibet affirmatio vel negatio." J. Picus Mirandulanus (after Aristotle), Conclusiones, Opera, p. 90. Philoponus, In An. Post. i. f. 9 b, (Brandis, Scholia, p. 199). Tò δ' ἅπαν φάναι ή ἀποφάναι, ή εἰs τὸ ἀδύνατον ἀπόδειξιs λαμβάνει. Aristotle, An. Post. i. c. 11. § 3. ᾿Αντίφασιs δὲ ἀντίδεσιs ἧs οὐκ ἔστι μεταξύ καθ' αὐτήν. An. Post. i. c. 2, § 13. Μεταξὺ ἀντιφάσεως οὐκ ἐνδέχεται οὐδέν. Metaph. L. iii. c. 7. Ἐπεὶ ἀντιφασεας οὐδὲν ἀνὰ μέσον, φανερὸν ὅτι ἐν τοῖs ἐναντίοιs ἔσται τὸ μεταξύ. Physica, L. v. c. 3, § 5. See also Post. An. L. i. c. i. § 4, p. 414; c. 2 § 13, p. 417; c. 11, § 3, p. 440 (vide Scheibler, Topica, c. 19; and Mansel's Prolegomena, p. 236, on Aristotle).

4. Principle of Reason and Consequent.

That can be deduced from Principle of Contradiction.

Wolf, Ontologia, § 70. Baumgarten, Metaphysik, § 18.

Jakob, Grundriss der allgemeinen Logik und Kritische Angfangsgründe der allgemeinen Metaphysik, p. 38, 3d ed., 1794. (See Kiesewetter, l. c.)

That not to be deduced from Principle of Contradiction.

Kiesewetter, Allgemeine Logik; Weitere Auseinandersetzung, P. I. ad §§ 20, 21, p. 57 et seq. Hume, On Human Nature, Book i. part iii. § 8. Schulze, Logik, § 18, 5th ed., 1831.

V.

NEW ANALYTIC OF LOGICAL FORMS – GENERAL RESULTS – FRAGMENTS.

I. — EXTRACT FROM PROSPECTUS OF "ESSAY TOWARDS & NEW ANALYTIC OF LOGICAL FORMS."

(First published in 1846.¹ See pp. 102, 172. - ED.)

"Now, what has been the source of all these evils, I proceed to relate, and shall clearly convince those who have an intellect and a will to attend, — that a trivial slip in the elementary precepts of a Logical Theory becomes the cause of mightiest errors in that Theory itself." — GALEN. (De Temperamentis, 1. i. c. 5.)

"THIS New Analytic is intended to complete and simplify the old; — to place the keystone in the Aristotelic arch. Of Abstract Logic, the theory, in particular of Syllogism (bating some improvements, and some errors of detail), remains where it was left by the genius of the Stagirite; if it have not receded,

1 An extract, corresponding in part with that now given from the Prospectus of "Essay towards a New Analytic of Logical Forms,"

is republished in the Discussions on Philosophy, p. 659. To this extract the Author has prefixed the following notice regarding the date still less has it advanced. It contains the truth; but the truth, partially, and not always correctly, developed, — in complexity, — even in confusion. And why? Because Aristotle, by an oversight, marvellous certainly in him, was prematurely arrested in his analysis; began his synthesis before he had fully sifted the elements to be recomposed; and, thus, the system which, almost spontaneously, would have evolved itself into unity and order, he laboriously, and yet imperfectly, constructed by sheer intellectual force, under a load of limitations and corrections and rules, which, deforming the symmetry, has seriously impeded the usefulness, of the science. This imperfection, as I said, it is the purpose of the New Analytic to supply.

"In the first place, in the Essay there will be shown, that the Syllogism proceeds, not as has hitherto, virtually at least, been taught, in one, but in the *two* correlative and counter *wholes* (Metaphysical) of *Comprehension*, and (Logical) of *Extension*; the major premise in the one whole being the minor premise in the other, etc. — Thus is relieved a radical defect and vital inconsistency in the present logical system.

"In the second place, the self-evident truth, — That we can only rationally deal with what we already understand, determines the simple logical postulate, — To state explicitly what is thought implicitly. From the consistent application of this postulate, on which Logic ever insists, but which Logicians have never fairly obeyed, it follows: — that, logically, we ought to take into account the quantity, always understood in thought, but usually, and for manifest reasons, elided in its expression, not only of the subject, but also of the predicate, of a judgment. This being done, and the necessity of doing it will be proved against Aristotle and his repeaters, we obtain, inter alia, the ensuing results:

"1°. That the *preindesignate terms* of a proposition, whether subject or predicate, are never, on that account, thought as *indefinite* (or indeterminate) in quantity. The only indefinite, is *particular*, as opposed to *definite*, quantity; and this last, as it is either of an extensive *maximum* undivided, or of an extensive *minimum* indivisible, constitutes quantity *universal* (general), and quantity *singular* (individual). In fact, *definite* and *indefinite* are the only quantities of which we ought to hear in Logic; for it is only as indefinite that particular, it is only as definite that individual and general, quantities have any (and the same) logical avail.

"2°. The revocation of the *two Terms of a proposition* to their *true relation*; a proposition being always an *equation* of its subject and its predicate.

"30. The consequent reduction of the *Conversion of Propositions* from three species to *one*, — that of Simple Conversion.

"4°. The reduction of all the General Laws of Categorical Syllogisms to a Single Canon.

of his doctrine of the Quantification of the Predicate: -- "Touching the principle of an explicitly Quantified Predicate, I had, by 1833, become convinced of the necessity to extend and correct the logical doctrine upon this point. In the article on Logic (in the Edinburgh Review) first published in 1823, the theory of Induction there maintained proceeds on

a thorough quantification of the predicate, in affirmative propositions.

"Before 1840, I had, however, become convinced that it was necessary to extend the principle equally to negatives; for I find, by academical documents, that in that year, at latest, I had publicly taught the unexclusive doctrine." — Discussions, p. 650. — ED. "5°. The evolution from that one canon of all the Species and varieties of Syllogism.

"6°. The abrogation of all the Special Laws of Syllogism.

"7°. A demonstration of the exclusive possibility of Three syllogistic Figures; and (on new grounds) the scientific and final abolition of the Fourth.

"8°. A manifestation that Figure is an unessential variation in syllogistic form; and the consequent absurdity of Reducing the syllogisms of the other figures to the first.

"9°. An enouncement of one Organic Principle for each Figure.

"10°. A determination of the true number of the legitimate Moods; with

"11°. Their amplification in number (thirty-six);

"12°. Their numerical equality under all the figures; and,

"13°. Their *relative equivalence*, or virtual identity, throughout every schematic difference.

"14°. That, in the second and third figures, the extremes holding both the same relation to the middle term, there is not, as in the first, an opposition and subordination between a term major and a term minor, mutually containing and contained, in the counter wholes of Extension and Comprehension.

"15°. Consequently, in the second and third figures, there is no determinate major and minor premise, and there are two indifferent conclusions; whereas, in the first the premises are determinate, and there is a single proximate conclusion.

"16°. That the *third*, as the figure in which *Comprehension* is predominant, is more appropriate to *Induction*.

"17°. That the second, as the figure in which *Extension* is predominant, is more appropriate to *Deduction*.

"18°. That the first, as the figure in which Comprehension and Extension are in equilibrium, is common to Induction and Deduction, indifferently.

"In the *third* place, a scheme of Symbolical Notation will be given, wholly different in principle and perfection from those which have been previously proposed; and showing out, in all their old and new applications, the propositional and syllogistic forms, with even a mechanical simplicity.

"This Essay falls naturally into two parts. There will be contained, — in the *first*, a systematic exposition of the new doctrine itself; in the *second*, an historical notice of any occasional anticipations of its several parts which break out in the writings of previous philosophers.

"Thus, on the new theory, many valid *forms* of judgment and reasoning, in ordinary use, but which the ancient logic continued to ignore, are now openly recognized as legitimate; and many *relations*, which heretofore lay hid, now come forward into the light. On the one hand, therefore, Logic certainly becomes more complex. But, on the other, this increased complexity proves only to be a higher development. The developed Syllogism is, in effect, recalled, from multitude and confusion, to order and system. Its laws, erewhile many, are now few, — we might say one alone, — but thoroughgoing. The exceptions, formerly so perplexing, have fallen away; and the once formidable array of limitary rules has vanished. The science now shines out in the true character of beauty, — as One at once and Various. Logic thus accomplishes

its final destination; for as 'Thrice-greatest Hermes,' speaking in the mind of Plato, has expressed it, — 'The end of Philosophy is the intuition of Unity.'"

II. - LOGIC, - ITS POSTULATES.

(November 1848 — See p. 81.)

I. To state explicitly what is thought implicitly. In other words, to determine what is meant before proceeding to deal with the meaning. Thus in the proposition *Men are animals*, we should be allowed to determine whether the term *men* means *all* or *some men*,— whether the term *animals* means *all* or *some animals*; in short, to quantify both the subject and predicate of the proposition. This postulate applies both to Propositions and to Syllogisms.²

II. Throughout the same Proposition, or Immediate (not mediate) Reasoning, to use the same words, and combinations of words, to express the same thought² (that is, in the same Extension and Comprehension), and thus identity to be presumed.

Thus a particular in one (prejacent) proposition of an immediate reasoning, though indefinite, should denote the same part in the other. This postulate applies to inference immediate, e. g. Conversion.

Predesignate in same logical unity (proposition or syllogism), in same sense, both Collective or both Distributive. That one term of a proposition or syllogism should not be used distributively and another collectively.

III. And, *e contra*, throughout the same logical unity (immediate reasoning), to denote and presume denoted the same sense (notion or judgment) by the same term or terms.³

This does not apply to the different propositions of a Mediate Inference.

IV. (or V.) To leave, if necessary, the thought undetermined, as subjectively uncertain, but to deal with it only as far as certain or determinable. Thus a

1 See (quoted by Wallis, Logica, p. 291), Aristotle, An. Prior., L. i, c. 33 (Pacius, c. 32, §§ 2, 3, 4, p. 261), and Ramus (from Downam, In P. Rami Dialect., L. ii., c 9, p. 410): What is understood to be supplied; [Ramus Dial., L. ii., c. 9. "Si qua [de argumentationis consequentia propter crypsin] dubitatio fuerit, explenda quæ desunt; amputanda quæ supersunt; et pars quælibet in locum redigenda situ est."] [Cf. Ploucquet, Elementa Philosophiæ Contemplativæ, § 29, p. 5. Stutgardiæ, 1778. "Secundum sensum logicum cum omni 'termino jungendum est signum quantitatis." --Eb.]

² That words must be used in the same sense. See Aristotle, *Anal. Prior.*, L. i., cc. 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, etc.

³ If these postulates (II. and III.) were not cogent, we could not convert, at least not use

the converted proposition (unless the I. were cogent, the convertenda would be false). All man is (an) animal, is converted into Some animal is (all) man. But if the some animal here were not thought in and limited to the sense of the convertend, it would be false. So in the hypothetical proposition, If the Chinese are Mohammedans, they are (some) infidels; the word infidel, unless thought in a meaning limited to and true of Mohammedans, is inept. But if it be so limited, we can (contrary to the doctrines of the logicians) argue back from the position of the consequent to the position of the antecedent, and from the sublation of the antecedent to the sublation of the consequent, though false. If not granted, Logic is a mere childish play with the vagueness and ambiguities of language. [Cf. Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. xii., § 26. - ED.]

APPENDIX,

whole may be truly predicable, though we know only the truth of it as a part. Therefore, we ought to be able to say *some at least* when we do not know, and cannot, therefore, say determinately, either that *some only* or that *all* is true.

(January 1850.)

III. (or IV.) To be allowed, in an immediate reasoning, to denote, that another part, other, or some, is used in the conclusion, from what was in the antecedent. Inference of Sub-contrariety.

That the *some*, if not otherwise qualified, means *some only*, — this by presumption.

That the Term (Subject, or Predicate) of a Proposition shall be converted with its quantity unchanged, *i. e.* in the same extension. This violated, and violation cause of error and confusion. No *per accidens*, for the real terms compared are the *quantified* terms, and we convert only the terms compared in the prejacent or convertenda.

That the same terms, apart from the quantity, i.e., in the same comprehension, should be converted. As before stated, such terms are new and different. No Contraposition, for contraposition is only true in some cases, and even in these it is true accidentally, not by conversion, but through contradiction; *i. e.*, same Comprehension.

That we may see the truth from the necessary validity of the logical process, and not infer the validity of the logical process from its accidental truth. Conversion *per accidens*, and Contraposition, being thus accidentally true in some cases only, are logically inept as not true in all.

To translate out of the complexity, redundance, deficiency, of common language into logical simplicity, precision, and integrity.¹

(December 1849.)

As Logic considers the form and not the matter, but as the form is only manifested in application to some matter, Logic postulates to employ any matter in its examples.

(January 1850.)

That we may be allowed to translate into logical language the rhetorical expressions of ordinary speech. Thus the Exceptive and Limitative propositions in which the predicate and subject are predesignated, are to be rendered into logical simplicity.

(May 1850.)

As Logic is a formal science, and professes to demonstrate by abstract formulæ, we should know, therefore, nothing of the notions and their relations except ex facie of the propositions. This implies the necessity of overtly quantifying the predicate.

III. — QUANTIFICATION OF PREDICATE, — IMMEDIATE INFERENCE, — CON-VERSION, — OPPOSITION.¹

(See pp. 172, 185.)

We now proceed to what has been usually treated under the relation of Propositions, and previously to the matter of Inference altogether, but which I think it would be more correct to consider as a species of Inference, or Reasoning, or Argumentation, than as merely a preparatory doctrine. For in so far as these relations of Propositions warrant us, one being given, to educe from it another, — this is manifestly an inference or reasoning. Why it has not always been considered in this light is evident. The inference is immediate; that is, the conclusion or second proposition is necessitated, directly and without a medium, by the first. There are only two propositions and two notions in this species of argumentation; and the logicians have in general limited *reasoning* or *inference* to a mediate eduction of one proposition out of the correlation of two others, and have thus always supposed the necessity of three terms or collated notions.

But they have not only been, with few exceptions, unsystematic in their procedure, they have all of them (if I am not myself mistaken) been fundamentally erroneous in their relative doctrine.

There are various Immediate Inferences of one proposition from another. Of these some have been wholly overlooked by the logicians; whilst what they teach in regard to those which they do consider, appears to me at variance with the truth.

I shall make no previous cnumeration of all the possible species of Immediate Inference; but shall take them up in this order: I shall consider, 1° , Those which have been considered by the logicians; and, 2° , Those which have not. And in treating of the first group, I shall preface what I think the true doctrine by a view of that which you will find in logical books.

The first of these is *Conversion*. When, in a categorical proposition (for to this we now limit our consideration), the Subject and Predicate are transposed, that is, the notion which was previously the subject becomes the predicate, and the notion which was previously the predicate becomes the subject, the proposition is said to be converted.² The proposition given, and its product, are together called the *judicia conversa*, or *propositiones conversæ*, which I shall not attempt to render into English. The relation itself in which the two judgments stand, is called *conversion, reciprocation, transposition*, and sometimes *obversion*, (conversio, reciprocatio, transpositio, obversio).

¹ Appendix III., from p. 514 to p. 527, was nsually delivered by the author as a Lecture, supplementary to the doctrine of Conversion as given p. 185. — ED.

² [Definitions of conversion in general. [']Αντιστροφή ἐστιν ἰσοστροφή τις, Philoponus (or Ammonius), In An. Pr. i. c. 2, f. 11 b. So Magentinus, In An. Pr. i. c. 2, f. 3 b. Anonymus, De Syllogismo, f. 42 b. Προτάσεως ἀντιστροφή ἕστι κοινωνία δύο προτασέων κατὰ τοὺς ὅρους ἀνάπαλιν τιθεμένους, μετὰ τοῦ συναληθεύειν. Alexander, In An. Pr. i. c. 4, f. 15 b. See the same in different words, by Philoponus (Ammonius), In An. Pr. i. c. 2, f. 11 b., and copied from him by Magentinus, In An. Pr., f. 3 b. Cf. Boethius, Opera, Introductio ad Syllogismos, p. 574. Wegelin, in Gregorii Aneponymi Phil. Syntag. (circa 1200), L. v., c. 12, p. 621. Nicephorus Blemmidas, Epit. Log., c. 31, p. 221.]

The original or given proposition is called the Converse, or Converted, sometimes the Prajaceno, Judgment (judicium, or propositio, conversum, conversa, prajacens); the other, that into which the first is converted, is called the Converting, and sometimes the Subjacent, Judgment (propositio, or jud. convertens, subjacens). It would be better to call the former the Convertend (pr. convertenda), the latter the Converse (pr. conversa). This language I shall use.¹

Such is the doctrine touching Conversion taught even to the present day. This in my view is beset with errors; but all these errors originate in two, as these two are either the cause or the occasion of every other.

The First cardinal error is, — That the quantities are not converted with the quantified terms. For the real terms compared in the Convertend, and which, of course, ought to reäppear without change, except of place, in the Converse, are not the naked, but the quantified terms. This is evident from the following considerations:

1°, The Terms of a Proposition are only terms as they are terms of relation; and the relation here is the relation of comparison.

2°, As the Propositional Terms are terms of comparison, so they are only compared as Quantities, — quantities relative to each other. An Affirmative Proposition is simply the declaration of an equation, a Negative Proposition is simply the declaration of a non-equation, of its terms. To change, therefore, the quantity of either, or of both Subject and Predicate, is to change their correlation, — the point of comparison; and to exchange their quantities, if different, would be to invert the terminal interdependence; that is, to make the less the greater, and the greater the less.

3°, The Quantity of the Proposition in Conversion remains always the same; that is, the absolute quantity of the Converse must be exactly equal to that of the Convertend. It was only from overlooking the quantity of the predicate

[Names for the two propositions in Conversion.

I. Name for the two correlative propositions - Conversa, Twesten, Logik, § 87, Contraposita, Id. ibid.

II. Original, or Given Proposition.

- a) ή προηγουμένη, τροκειμένη, ἀντιστρεφομένη πρότασιs — Cf. Strigelius In Metanchth. Erot. Dial., L. ii., p. 581.
- 'Αντιστρεφούσαι προτάσεις, Philoponus, (quoted by Wegelin, l. c.)
- b) Conversa (= Convertenda) vulgo. Scotus, Quastiones in An. Prior., i q. 12. Corvinus, Instit. Phil., § 510. Richter, De Conversione, 1740. Halæ Magdeb. Baumgarten, Logica, § 278. Ulrich, Instit. Log. et Met., § 182, p. 188. c) Convertibilis (raro).
- d) Convertens, Micraelius, Lex. Phil. v. Conversio. Twesten, Logik, § 87. Antecedens, Scotus, l. c. Strigelius, l. c.
- e) Præjacens, Scheibler, Opera Logica De Propositionibus, Pars iii. c. x. p. 479.
- f) Exposita, Aldrich, Comp., L. i. c. 2. Whately, Logic, p. 69. Propositio exposita

or exponens, quite different as used by Logicians, v. Schegkius, *In Arist. Org.* 162 (and above, p. 186.)

- g) Convertenda, Corvinus, loc. cit. Richter, loc. cit.
- h) Contraponens, Twesten, Ibid.
- Prior, Boethius, De Syllog. Categ. L. I. Opera, p. 588.
- k) Principium, Darjes, Via ad Veritatem, § 234.
 III. Product of Conversion.
- a) ή ἀντιστρέφουσα. See Strigelius, loc. cit.
- b) Convertens, Subjacens, Scotus, Quastiones, In An. Prior., i. 9, 24, f. 276, et passim. Krug, Logik, § 65, p. 205, and logicians in general.
- c) Conversa, Boethius, Opera, Introd. ad Syll., pp. 575 et seq., 587 et seq.; Melanchthon, Erotemata, L. ii. p. 581, and Strigelius, ad loc. Micraelius, Lex. Phil., v. Conversio. Noldius, Logica Recognita, p. 263, says that the first should more probably be called Convertibilis, or Convertenda, and the second Conversa.
- d) Conversum, Twesten, loc. cit.
- e) Contrapositum, Id. ibid.
- f) Conclusio, Darjes, Via ad Veritatem, § 234

¹ See p. 185. - ED.

(the second error to which we shall immediately advert) that two propositions, exactly equal in quantity, in fact the same proposition, perhaps, transposed, were called the one *universal*, the other *particular*, by exclusive reference to the quantity of the subject.

4°, Yet was it of no consequence, in a logical point of view, which of the notions collated were Subject or Predicate; and their comparison, with the consequent declaration of their mutual inconclusion or exclusion, that is, of affirmation or negation, of no more real difference than the assertions, -London is four hundred miles distant from Edinburgh, -Edinburgh is four hundred miles distant from London. In fact, though logicians have been in use to place the subject first, the predicate last, in their examples of propositions, this is by no means the case in ordinary language, where, indeed, it is frequently even difficult to ascertain which is the determining and which the determined notion. Out of logical books, the predicate is found almost as frequently before as after the subject, and this in all languages. You recollect the first words of the First Olympiad of Pindar, "Apiorov μèν ύδωρ," Best is water;" and the Vulgate (I forget how it is rendered in our English translation) has, "Magna est veritas, et prævalebit."¹ Alluding to the Bible, let us turn up any Concordance under any adjective title, and we shall obtain abundant proof of the fact. As the adjective great, magnus, has last occurred, let us refer to Cruden under that simple title. Here, in glancing it over, I find --- " Great is the wrath of the Lord — Great is the Lord and greatly to be praised — Great is our God — Great are thy works - Great is the Holy One of Israel - Great shall be the peace of thy children - Great is thy faithfulness - Great is Diana of the Ephesians - Great is my boldness - Great is my glorying - Great is the mystery of godliness," etc.

The line of Juvenal,

"Nobilitas sola est atque unica virtus,"

is a good instance of the predicate being placed first.

The Second cardinal error of the logicians is, the not considering that the Predicate has always a quantity in thought, as much as the Subject; although this quantity be frequently not explicitly enounced, as unnecessary in the common employment of language; for the determining notion or predicate being always thought as at least adequate to, or coëxtensive with, the subject or determined notion, it is seldom necessary to express this, and language tends ever to elide what may safely be omitted. But this necessity recurs the moment that, by conversion, the predicate becomes the subject of the proposition; and to omit its formal statement is to degrade Logic from the science of the necessities of thought, to an idle subsidiary of the ambiguities of speech. An unbiassed consideration of the subject will, I am confident, convince you that this view is correct.

1°, That the predicate is as extensive as the subject is easily shown. Take the proposition, — All animal is man, or, All animals are men. This we are

¹ III. Esdras iv. 41: "Magna est veritas et iv. 41), "Great is truth, and mighty above all prævalet." In the English version (I. Esdras things." — ED.
conscious is absurd, though we make the notion man or men as wide as possible; for it does not mend the matter to say, — All animal is all man, or, All animals are all men. We feel it to be equally absurd as if we said, — All man is all animal, or, All men are all animals. Here we are aware that the subject and predicate cannot be made coëxtensive. If we would get rid of the absurdity, we bring the two notions into coëxtension, by restricting the wider. If we say, — Man is animal (Homo est animal), we think, though we do not overtly enounce it, All man is animal. And what do we mean here by animal? We do not think, — All, but Some, animal. And then we can make this indifferently either subject or predicate. We can think, — we can say, Some animal is man, that is, Some or All Man; and, e converso, — Man (some or all) is animal, viz., some animal.

It thus appears that there is a necessity in all cases for thinking the predicate, at least, as extensive as the subject. Whether it be absolutely, that is, out of relation, more extensive, is generally of no consequence; and hence the common reticence of common language, which never expresses more than can be understood, — which always, in fact, for the sake of brevity, strains at ellipsis.

2°, But, in fact, ordinary language quantifies the Predicate so often as this determination becomes of the smallest import. This it does directly, by adding *all*, *some*, or their equivalent predesignations, to the predicate; or it accomplishes the same end indirectly, in an exceptive or limitative form.

a) Directly, — as Peter, John, James, etc., are all the Apostles — Mercury, Venus, etc., are all the planets.

b) But this is more frequently accomplished indirectly, by the equipollent forms of *Limitation* or *Inclusion*, and *Exception*.¹

For example, by the limitative designations, alone or only, we say, — God alone is good, which is equivalent to saying, — God is all good, that is, God is all that is good; Virtue is the only nobility, that is, Virtue is all noble, that is, all that is noble.² The symbols of the Catholic and Protestant divisions of Chris-

1 By the logicians this is called simply Exclusion, and the particles, tantum, etc., particulæ, exclusivæ. This, I think, is inaccurate; for it is inclusion, limited by au exclusion, that is meant.—[See Scheibler, Opera Logica, P. lii. c. vii. tit 3. p. 457 et seq.]

2 (February 1850.) On the Indirect Predesignation of the Predicate by what are called the *Exclusive* and *Exc-ptive particles*.

Names of the particles.

Latin, — unus, unicus, unice; solus, solum, solumnodo, tantum, tantummodo; duntaxat; præcise; adæquate. Nihil præter, — præterquam, — ni nisi non.

English, — one, only, alone, exclusively, precisely, just, sole, solely, nothing but, not except, not be wond.

I. These particles annexed to the Subject predesignate the Predicate universally, or to its whole extent, denying its particularity or indefinitude, and definitely limiting it to the subject alone. As, Man alone philosophizes (though not all do). The dog alone barks, or, dogs alone bark (though some do not). Man only is rational, or, No animal but man is rational. Nothing but rational is risible. Of material things there is nothing living (but) not organized, and nothing organized not living. God alone is to be worshipped. God is the single, — sole object of worship. Some men only are elect.

II. Annexed to the Predicate, they limit the subject to the predicate, but do not define its quantity, or exclude from it other subjects. As, Peter only plays. The sacraments are only two. John drinks only water.

III. Sometimes the particles sole, solely, single, alone, only, etc., are annexed to the Predicate as a predesignation tantamount to all. As, God is the single, — one, — alone, only, — exclusive, — adequate, object of worship. On the relation of Exclusive propositions

tianity may afford us a logical illustration of the point. The Catholies say, — Faith, Hope, and Charity alone justify; that is, the three heavenly virtues together are all justifying, that is, all that justifies; onne justificans, justum faciens. The Protestants say, — Faith alone justifies; that is, Faith, which they hold to comprise the other two virtues, is all justifying, that is, all that justifies; omne justificans. In either case, if we translate the watchwords into logical simplicity, the predicate appears predesignated.

Of animals man alone is rational; that is, Man is all rational animal. What is rational is alone or only risible; that is, All rational is all risible, etc.

I now pass on to the Exceptive Form. To take the motto overhead, — "On earth there is nothing great but man." What does this mean? It means, Man - is — all earthly great. — Homo — est — omne magnum terrestre. And the second clause — "In man there is nothing great but mind"— in like manner gives as its logical equipollent — Mind — is — all humanly great, that is, all that is great in man. (Mens est omne magnum humanum.)¹

to those in which the predicate is predesignated, see Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. vi. §§ 66, 67. Hollman, Philosophia Rationalis, § 475. Kreil, Handbuch der Logik, § 62. Derodon, Logica Restituta, De Enunciatione, c. v. p. 569 et seq. Keckermann, Systema Logica, lib. iii., c. 11. Opera, t. i. p. 763.

The doctrine held by the logicians as to the exclusum pradicatum, exclusum subjectum, and exclusum signum, is erroneous. See Scheibler, Opera Logica, P. iii. c. vii. tit. 3, p. 457 et seq. Jac. Thomasius, Erotem. Log., c. xxx. p. 67 et seq. [Cf. Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. III. c. 23. For a detailed exposition of this doctrine by Scheibler, see below, note 1. - ED.]

¹ Vide Scheibler, *Opera Logica*, P. iii. c. vii. pp. 458, 460, where his examples, with the exposition of the Logicians, may be well contrasted with mine.

[Scheibler, after referring to the Parva Logicalia of the schoolmen, as containing a proposed supplement of the doctrines of Aristotle, proceeds to expound the Propositiones Exponibiles of those treatises. "Exclusiva enunciatio est, quæ habet particulam exclusivam, ut, Solus homo est rationalis. . . . Porro exclusivæ enunciationes sunt duplicis generis. Aliæ sunt exclusivæ prædicati : aliæ exclusivæ subjecti; hoc est, in aliis particula exclusiva excludit a subjecto, in aliis excludit a prædicato, veluti hæc propositio exclusiva est: Deus tantum est immortalis Estque exclusiva a subjecto, hoc sensu, Deus tantum, et non homo vel lapis, etc. . . . Omnes propositiones exclusivæ ambiguæ sunt, si habeant particulam exclusivam, post subjectum propositionis, ante vinculum, ut erat in proposito exemplo. Carent autem propositiones exclusivæ illa ambiguitate, si vel exclusiva particula, ponatur ante subjectum propositionis, vel etiam sequatur copulam. Ibi enim indicatur esse propositio exclusiva subjecti, ut, solus homo discurrit. Hie autem indicatur, esse propositio exclusiva prædicati, ut, Sacramenta Novi Testamenti sunt tantum duo. Prædicamenta tantum decem."

Scheibler then proceeds to give the following general and special rules of Exclusion:

"I. Generaliter tenendum est, quod aliter sint exponendæ exclusivæ a prædicato, et aliter exclusivæ a subjecto.

"11. Exclusiva propositio non excludit concomitantia.

"111. Omnis exclusiva resolvitur in duas simplices, alteram affirmatam, alteram negatam. Atque hoc est quod vulgo dicitur, quod omnis exclusiva sit hy pothetica. Hy pothetica enim propositio est quæ includit duas alias in virtute, vel dispositione sua. Veluti haco, Solus homo est rationalis, equivalet his duabus, Homo est rationalis, et quod non est homo, non est rationale. Et in specie, Bestia non est rationalis. Planta non est rationalis. Atque hæ duæ propositiones vocantur exponentes, sicut propositio exclusiva dicitur exponibilis.

"Speciales autem regulæ explicandi exclusivas sunt octo: sicut et octo sunt genera locutionum exclusivarum.

"I. Propositio exclusiva universalis affirmativa, cujus signum non negatur, ut, Tantum omnis homo currit, exponitur sic, Omnis homo currit, et nihil aliud ab homine currit. Vocari solet hæc expositio PATER, quia prior ejus pars est universalis affirmativa, quod notat A. Et, alteræ pars est universalis negativa, quod indicat in posteriori syllaba litera E.

"II. Propositio particularis, vel indefinita affirmativa, in qua signum non negatur, ut Tantum homo currit, exponitur sic, Homo currit, et

We ought, indeed, as a corollary of the postulate already stated, to require to be allowed to translate into equivalent logical terms the rhetorical enouncement of common speech. We should not do as the logicians have been wont, — introduce and deal with these in their grammatical integrity; for this would be to swell out and deform our science with mere grammatical accidents; and to such fortuitous accrescences the formidable volume, especially of the older Logics, is mainly owing. In fact, a large proportion of the scholastic system is merely grammatical.

3°, The whole doctrine of the non-quantification of the predicate is only another example of the passive sequacity of the logicians. They follow obediently in the footsteps of their great master. We owe this doctrine and its prevalence to the precept and authority of Aristotle. He prohibits once and again the annexation of the universal predesignation to the predicate. For why, he says, such predesignation would render the proposition absurd; giving as his only example and proof of all this, the judgment -All man is all animal. This, however, is only valid as a refutation of the ridiculous doctrine, held by no one, that any predicate may be universally quantified; for, to employ his own example, what absurdity is there in saying that some animal is all man! Yet this nonsense (be it spoken with all reverence of the Stagirite) has imposed the precept on the systems of Logic down to the present day. Nevertheless, it could be shown by a cloud of instances from the Aristotelic writings themselves, that this rule is invalid; nay, Aristotle's own doctrine of Induction, which is far more correct than that usually taught, proceeds upon the silent abolition of the erroneous canon. The doetrine of the logicians is, therefore, founded on a blunder; which is only doubled by the usual averment that the predicate, in what are technically called reciprocal propositions, is taken universally vi materia and not vi formæ.

But, 4°, The non-quantification of the predicate in thought is given up by the logicians themselves, but only in certain cases where they were forced to admit, and to the amount which they could not possibly deny. The predicate,

nihil aliud ab homine currit. Vocatur hæc expositio NISE.

"III. Propositio exclusiva, in qua signum non negatur, universalis negativa, ut, Tantum nullus homo currit, exponitur sic, Nullus homo currit, et quadlibet aliud ab homine currit, vocatur TE-NAX.

"IV. Exclusiva cujus signum non negatur particularis vel indefinita negativa, ut, Tantum homo non currit, expositur sic, Homo non currit, et quodlibet aliud ab homine currit, vocatur STORAX.

"V Exclusiva, in qua signum negatur, affirmativa et universalis, ut, Non tantum omnis homo currit, exponitur sic, Omnis homo currit, et aliquod aliud ab homine currit, vocatur CANOS.

"VI. In qua signum negatur, existens universalis affirmativa, ut, Non tantum nullus homo currit, sic exponitur, Nullus homo currit, et aliquid aliud ab homine non currit, vocatur FECIT.

"VII. Exclusiva, in qua signum negatur, existens particularis affirmativa, ut, Non tantum aliquis homo currit, expositur sie, Aliquis homo currit, aliquid aliud ab homine currit, vocatur P1LOS.

"VIII. Negativa particularis exclusiva propositiones, cujus signum negatur, ut, Non tantum aliquis homo non currit, exponitur sic, Aliquis homo non currit, et aliquid aliud ab homine non currit, vocatur NoBIS.

"Differentia autem propositionis exclusivæ et exceptivæ est evidens. Nempe exclusiva prædicatum vendicat uni subjecto, aut a subjecto excludit alia prædicata, ut, Solus Dens bonus est. Exceptiva autem statuit universale subjectum, indicatque aliquid contineri sub isto universali, de quo non dicatur prædicatum, ut, Omne animal est irrationale, præter hominem." - ED.]

they confess, is quantified by particularity in affirmative, by universality in negative, propositions. But why the quantification, formal quantification, should be thus restricted in thought, they furnish us with no valid reason.

To these two errors I might perhaps add, as a third, the confusion and perplexity arising from the attempt of Aristotle and the logicians to deal with indefinite (or, as I would eall them, *indesignate*) terms, instead of treating them merely as verbal ellipses, to be filled up in the expression before being logically considered; and I might also add, as a fourth, the additional complexity and perplexity introduced into the science by viewing propositions, likewise, as affected by the four or six modalities. But to these I shall not advert.

These are the two principal errors which have involved our systems of Logic in confusion, and prevented their evolution in simplicity, harmony, and completeness; — which have condemned them to bits and fragments of the science, and for these bits and fragments have made a load of rules and exceptions indispensable, to avoid falling into frequent and manifest absurdity. It was in reference to these two errors chiefly that I formerly gave you as a self-evident Postulate of Logic — "Explicitly to state what has been implicitly thought;" in other words, that before dealing logically with a proposition, we are entitled to understand it; that is, to ascertain and to enounce its meaning. This qualification of the predicate of a judgment is, indeed, only the beginning of the application of the Postulate; but we shall find that at every step it enables us to cast away, as useless, a multitude of canons, which at once disgust the student, and, if not the causes, are at least the signs, of imperfection in the science.

I venture, then, to assert that there is only one species of Conversion, and that one thorough-going and self-sufficient. I mean Pure, or Simple Conversion. The other species — all are admitted to be neither thorough-going nor selfsufficient — they are in fact only other logical processes, accidentally combined with a transposition of the subject and predicate. The *conversio per accidens* of Boethius, as an ampliative operation, has no logical existence; it is material and precarious, and has righteously been allowed to drop out of science. It is now merely a historical curiosity. As a Restrictive operation, in which relation alone it still stands in our systems, it is either merely fortuitous, or merely possible through a logical process quite distinct from Conversion; I mean that of Restriction or Subalternation, which will be soon explained. *Conversio per contrapositionem* is a change of terms, — a substitution of new elements, and only holds through contradiction, ¹ being just as good without as

1 [See Aristotle, Topica, L. ii. c. 8. Scotus, Bannes, Mendoza, silently following each other, have held that contraposition is only mediate, infinitation, requiring Constantia, etc. Wholly wrong. See Arriaga. Cursus Philosophicus, D. H. s. 4. p. 18. "Observandum est prædictas consequentias (per contrapositionem) malas esse et instabiles, nisi accesserit alia propositio in antecedenti quæ impartit existentiam subjecti consequentis. Tunc enim firma erit consequentia, e. g. Omnis homo est albus et non album est, ergo omne non album est non. Alioquin si constantiam illam uon posueris in antecedenti, instabitur illi consequentiæ in eventu, in quo nihil sit non album, et omnis homo sit albus." Bannes, Instit. Min. Dial. L. vi. c. 2, p. 530. — ED.]

Rule for Finite Prejacents given.

With the single exception of E n E (A n A), the other seven propositions may be converted by Counterposition under the following rule, -' Let the terms be infinitated and transposed, the predesignations remaining as before '

With the two additional exceptions of the two convertible propositions, A f I, and I f

with conversion. The Contingent Conversion of the lower Greeks¹ is not a conversion, — is not a logical process at all, and has been worthily ignored by the Latin world. But let us now proceed to see that Simple Conversion, as I have asserted, is thorough-going and all-sufficient. Let us try it in all the eight varieties of categorical propositions. But I shall leave this explication to yourselves, and in the examination will call for a statement of the simple conversion, as applied to all the eight propositional forms.

It thus appears that this one method of conversion has every advantage over those of the logicians. 1°, It is Natural; 2°, It is Imperative; 3°, It is Simple; 4°, It is Direct; 5°, It is Precise; 6°, It is thorough-going: Whereas their processes are -1° , Unnatural; 2°, Precarious; 3°, Complex; 4°, Circuitous; 5°, Confused; 6°, Inadequate: breaking down in each and all of their species. The Greek Logicians, subsequent to Aristotle, have well and truly said, $\frac{\partial v \tau_1 \sigma \tau_p o \phi \hat{\eta}}{\partial \sigma \tau_1 \nu} i \sigma \sigma \sigma \tau_p o \phi \hat{\eta} \tau_1 s$, "omnis conversio est æquiversio;"² that is, all conversion is a conversion of equal into equal; and had they attended to this principle, they would have developed conversion in its true unity and simplicity. They would have considered, 1°, That the absolute quantity of

A, the infinitated propositions hold good without the transposition of the terms.

Rule for Infinite Prejacents given.

With the single exception of n I f n I (nE = n = nE being impossible), the other six propositions may be converted by Counterposition under the following rule, - 'Let the terms be uninfinitated and transposed, the predesignations remaining as before.'

Contraposition is not explicitly evolved by Aristotle in *Prior Analytics*, but is evolved from his *Topics*, L. ii. cc. 1, 8, alibi. *De Interpretatione*, c. 14. See Conimbricenses, *In Arist. Dial.*, *An. Prior.*, L. i. q. i. p. 271. Bannes, *Instit. Minoris Dialectice*, L. v. c. 2, p. 532. Burgersdicius, *Instit. Log.* L. i. c. 32.

First explicitly enounced by Averroes, according to Molinaeus (Elementa Logica, L. i. c. 4, p. 54). I cannot find any notice of it in Averroes. He ignores it, name and thing. It is in Anonymus, De Syllogismo, f. 42 b., in Nicephorus Biemmidas, Epit. Log, c. xxxi. p. 222; but long before him Boethius has all the kinds of Conversion, - Simplex, Per Accidens, et Per Oppositionem (Introductio ad Syllogismos, p. 576), what he calls Per Contrapositionem (De Syllogismo Categorico, L. i. 589). Is he the inventor of the name? It seems so. Long before Boethius, Apuleius (in second century) has it as one of the five species of Conversion, but gives it no name - only descriptive; see De Habitud. Doct. Plat., L. iii. p. 33. Alexander, In An. Pr., i. c. 2, f. 10 a, has it as of propositions, not of terms, which is conversion absolutely. Vide Philoponus. In An. Pr., I f. 12 a. By them called αντιστροφή συν αντιθέσει. So Magentinus, In An. Prior., i. 2, f. 3 b.

That Contraposition is not properly Conversion—(this being a species of consequence) — an æquipollence of propositions, not a conversion of their terms.

Noldius, Logica Recognita, c. xii. p. 299. Crakanthorpe, Logica, L. iii. c. 10, p. 180. Bannes, Instit. Min. Dial., L. v. c. 2, p. 530. Eustachius, Summa Philosophiæ, Logica, P. H. tract. i. q. 3, p. 104. Herbart, Lehrbuch der Logik, p. 78. Scotus, Quæstiones, In An. Prior., L. i. q. 15. f. 258 b. Chauvin, v. Conversio. Isendooru, Cursus Logicus, p. 308.

That Contraposition is useless and perplexing. See Chauvin, v. Conversio. Arriaga, Cursus, Philosophicus, p. 18. Titius, Ars Cogitanda, c. viii. § 19 et seq. D'Abra de Raconis, Tot. Páil. Tract., Logica, ii. qu. 4, p. 315. Bannes, Instit. Min. Dial., p. 529.]

1 [Blemmidas.] [Epitome Logica, c. 31, p. 222. The following extract will explain the nature of this conversion. Η δ' έν προτά-σεσι γινομένη ανιστροφή, ή την μεν τάξιν των όρων ψυλάττει, τον αυτόν τηρούσα κατηγορούμενον καί τον αύτον υποκείμενον. μόνην δε την ποιότητα μεταβάλλει, ποιούσα την αποφατικήν πρότεσιν καταφατικήν, και καταφατικήν ἀποφατικήν. Kal λέγεται αύτη ένδεχομένη αντιστροφή, ώς έπι μόνης τής ένδεχομένες ύλης συνισταμένη · οίον, τις άνθρωπος λούεται, τις άνθρωπος ού λούηται αύτη δ' οὐκ ἁν είη κυρίως ἀντιστροφή. This so-called contingent conversion is in fact nothing more than the assertion, repeated by many Latin logicians, that in contingent matter subcontrary propositions are both true. - Ed.1

² See p. 515. — ED.

the proposition, be it convertend or converse, remains always identical; 2°, That the several quantities of the collated notions remain always identical, the whole change being the transposition of the quantified notion, which was in the subject place, into the place of predicate, and *vice versâ*.

Aristotle and the logicians were, therefore, wrong; 1°, In not considering the proposition simply as the complement, that is, as the equation or non-equation, of two compared notions, but, on the contrary, considering it as determined in its quantity by one of these notions more than by the other. 2°, They were wrong in according too great an importance to the notions considered as propositional terms, that is, as subject and predicate, independently of the import of these notions in themselves. 3°, They were wrong in according too preponderant a weight to one of these terms over the other; but differently in different parts of the system. For they were wrong, in the doctrine of Judgment, in allowing the quantity of the proposition to be determined exclusively by the quantity of the subject term; whereas they were wrong, as we shall see, in the doctrine of Reasoning, in considering a syllogism as exclusively relative to the quantity of the predicate (extension). So much for the theory of Conversion. Before concluding, I have, however, to observe, as a correction of the prevalent ambiguity and vacillation, that the two propositions of the process together might be called the convertent or converting (propositiones convertentes); and whilst of these the original proposition is named the convertend (propositio convertenda), its product would obtain the title of converse, converted (propositio conversa).¹

The other species of Immediate Inference will not detain us long. Of these, there are two noticed by the logicians.

The first of these, Equipollence (aquipollentia), or, as I would term it, Double Negation, is deserving of bare mention. It is of mere grammatical relevancy. The negation of a negation is tantamount to an affirmation. B is not not-A, is manifestly only a roundabout way of saying B is A; and, vice versâ, we may express a position, if we perversely choose, by sublating a sublation. The immediate inference of Equipollence is thus merely the grammatical translation of an affirmation into a double negation, or of a double negation into an affirmation. Non-nullus and non-nemo, for example, are merely other grammatical expressions for aliquis or quidam. So Nonnihil, Nonnunquam, Nonnusquam, etc.

The Latin tongue is almost peeuliar among languages for such double negatives to express an affirmative. Of course the few which have found their place in Logic, instead of being despised or relegated to Grammar, have been fondly commented on by the ingenuity of the scholastic logicians. In English, some authors are fond of this indirect and idle way of speaking; they prefer saying ---"I entertain a not unfavorable opinion of such a one," to saying directly, I entertain of him a favorable opinion. Neglecting this, I pass on to

The third species of Immediate Inference, noticed by the logicians. This they call *Subalternation*, but it may be more unambiguously styled *Restriction*. If I have £100 at my credit in the bank, it is evident that I may draw for $\pounds 5$ or $\pounds 10$. In like manner, if I can say unexclusively that all men are animals, I can

say restrictively, that *negroes or any other fraction of mankind are animals*. This restriction is Bilateral, when we restrict both subject and predicate, as:

All Triangle is all trilateral.	All rational is all risible.
:. Some triangle is some trilateral.	

It is Unilateral, by restricting the omnitude or universality either of the Subject or of the Predicate.

Of the Subject-

All man is some animal; ...Some man is some animal.

Of the Predicate, as -

Some animal is all risible; ...Some animal is some risible.

It has not been noticed by the logicians, that there is only an inference by this process, if the some in the inferred proposition means some at least, that is, some not exclusive of all; for if we think by the some, some only, that is, some, not all, so far from there being any competent inference, there is in fact a real opposition. The logicians, therefore, to vindicate their doctrine of the Opposition of Subalternation, ought to have declared that the some was here in the sense of some only; and to vindicate their doctrine of the Inference of Subalternation, they ought, in like manner, to have declared, that the some was here taken in the counter sense of some at least. It could easily be shown that the errors of the logicians in regard to Opposition are not to be attributed to Aristotle.

Before leaving this process, it may be proper to observe that we might well call its two propositions together the *restringent* or *restrictive (propositiones restringentes* vel *restrictivæ)*; the given proposition might be called the *restringend (propositio restringenda)*, and the product the *restrict* or *restricted (propositio restricta)*.

So much for the species of Immediate Inference recognized by the logicians. There is, however, a kind of immediate inference overlooked by logical writers. I have formerly noticed that they enumerate (among the species of Opposition) Subcontrariety (subcontrarietas, unevaributys), to wit, - some is, some is not; but that this is not in fact an opposition at all (as in truth neither is Subalternation in a certain sense). Subcontrariety, in like manner, is with them not an opposition between two partial somes, but between different and different; in fact, no opposition at all. But if they are thus all wrong by commission, they are doubly wrong by omission, for they overlook the immediate inference which the relation of propositions in Subcontrariety affords. This, however, is sufficiently manifest. If I can say, All men are some animals, or Some animals are all men, I am thereby entitled to sav, - All men are not some animals, or Some animals are not some men. Of course here the some in the inferred propositions means some other, as in the original proposition, some only; but the inference is perfectly legitimate, being merely a necessary explication of the thought; for, inasmuch as I think and say that all men are

some animals, I ean think and say that they are some animals only, which implies that they are a certain some, and not any other animals.¹ This inference is thus not only to some others indefinitely, but to all others definitely. It is further either affirmative from a negative antecedent, or negative from an affirmative. Finally, it is not bilateral, as not of subject and predicate at once; but it is unilateral, either of the subject or of the predicate. This inference of Subcontrariety I would call *Integration*, because the mind here tends to determine all the parts of a whole, whereof a part only has been given. The two propositions together might be called the *integral* or *integrant (propositiones integrales vel integrantes)*. The given proposition would be styled the *integrand* (*propositio integranda*); and the product, the *integrate (propositio integrata*).²

I may refer you, for various observations on the Quantification of the Predicate, to the collection published under the title, *Discussions on Philosophy and Literature*.

The grand general or dominant result of the doctrine on which I have already partially touched, but which I will now explain consecutively and more in detail, is as follows : - Touching Propositions, - Subject and Predicate ; touching Syllogisms, - in Categoricals, Major and Minor Terms, Major and Minor Premises, Figures First, Second, Third, Fourth, and even what I call No Figure, are all made convertible with each other, and all conversion reduced to a simple equation; whilst in Hypotheticals, both the species (viz., Conjunctive and Disjunctive reasonings) are shown to be forms not of mediate argumentation at all, but merely complex varieties of the immediate inference of Restriction or Subalternation, and are relieved of a load of perversions, limitations, exceptions, and rules. The differences of Quantity and Quality, etc., thus alone remain; and by these exclusively are Terms, Propositions, and Syllogisms formally distinguished. Quantity and Quality combined constitute the only real discrimination of Syllogistic Mood. Syllogistic Figure vanishes, with its perplexing apparatus of special rules; and even the General Laws of Syllogism proper are reduced to a single compendious canon.

This doctrine is founded on the postulate of Logie: — To state in language what is efficient in thought; in other words, Before proceeding to deal logically with any proposition or syllogism, we must be allowed to determine and express what it means.

First, then, in regard to Propositions: In a proposition, the two terms, the Subject and Predicate, have each their quantity in thought. This quantity is not always expressed in language, for language tends always to abbreviation; but it is always understood. For example, in the proposition, *Men are animals*, what do we mean? We do not mean that *some men*, to the exclusion of others,

1 If we say some animal is all man, and some animal is not any man, — in that case, we must hold some as meaning some only. We may have a mediate syllogism on it, as:

Some animals are all men;

Some animals are not any man;

Therefore, some animals are not some animals.

² Mem. Immediate inference of Contradiction omitted. Also of Relatiou, which would come under Equipollence. [For Tabular Schemes of Propositional Forms, and of their Mutual Relations, see pp. 529, 530. — ED.]

are animals, but we use the abbreviated expression men for the thought all men. Logic, therefore, in virtue of its postulate, warrants, nay requires, us to state this explicitly. Let us, therefore, overtly quantify the subject, and say, All men are animals. So far we have dealt with the proposition, — we have quantified in language the subject, as it was quantified in thought.

But the predicate still remains. We have said — All men are animals. But what do we mean by animals? Do we mean all animals, or some animals? Not the former; for dogs, horses, oxen, etc., are animals, as well as men; and dogs, horses, oxen, etc., are not men. Men, therefore, are animals, but exclusively of dogs, horses, oxen, etc. All men, therefore, are not equivalent to all animals; that is, we cannot say, as we cannot think, that all men are all animals. But we can say, for in thought we do affirm, that all men are some animals.

But if we can say, as we do think, that all men are some animals, we can, on the other hand, likewise say, as we do think, that some animals are all men.

If this be true, it is a matter of indifference, in a logical point of view (whatever it may be in a rhetorical), which of the two terms be made the subject or predicate of the proposition; and whichsoever term is made the subject in the first instance, may, in the second, be converted into the predicate; and whichsoever term is made the predicate in the first instance, may, in the second, be converted into the subject.

From this it follows ---

1°, That a proposition is simply an equation, an identification, a bringing into congruence, of two notions in respect to their Extension. I say, in respect to their Extension, for it is this quantity alone which admits of ampliation or restriction, the Comprehension of a notion remaining always the same, being always taken at its full amount.

2°, The total quantity of the proposition to be converted, and the total quantity of the proposition the product of the conversion, is always one and the same. In this unexclusive point of view, all conversion is merely *simple conversion*; and the distinction of a conversion, as it is called, by accident, arises only from the partial view of the logicians, who have looked merely to the quantity of the subject. They, accordingly, denominated a proposition universal or particular, as its subject merely was quantified by the predesignation some or all; and where a proposition like, All men are animals (in thought, some animals), was converted into the proposition, Some animals are men (in thought, all men), they erroneously supposed that it lost quantity, was restricted, and became a particular proposition.

It can hardly be said that the logicians contemplated the reconversion of such a proposition as the preceding; for they did not (or rarely) give the name of *conversio per accidens* to the case in which the proposition, on their theory, was turned from a particular into a universal, as when we reconvert the proposition, *Some animals are men*, into the proposition, *All men are animals.*¹ They

¹ See above, p. 186. — ED. [A mistake by logicians in general, that partial conversion, $\ell \nu \ \mu \epsilon \rho \epsilon t$, is the mere synonym of *per accidens*, and that the former is so used by Aristotle. See Vallius, *Logica*, t. ii. l. t. q. i. c. 2, p. 32.

For Aristotle uses the terms universal, and partial conversion, simply to express whether the convertents is a universal or particular proposition. See § 4 of the chapter on Conversion (An. Prior., i. 2), where particular af-

.

likewise neglected such affirmative propositions as had in thought both subject and predicate quantified to their whole extent; as, All triangular figure is trilateral, that is, if expressed as understood, All triangular is all trilateral figure, -All rational is risible, that is, if explicitly enounced, All rational is all risible animals. Aristotle, and subsequent logicians, had indeed frequently to do with propositions in which the predicate was taken in its full extension. In these the logicians - but, be it observed, not Aristotle - attempted to remedy the imperfection of the Aristotelic doctrine, which did not allow the quantification of the predicate to be taken logically or formally into account in affirmative propositions, by asserting that in the obnoxious cases the predicate was distributed, that is, fully quantified, in virtue of the matter, and not in virtue of the form (vi materia, non ratione forma). But this is altogether erroneous. For in thought we generally do, nay, often must, fully quantify the predicate. In our logical conversion, in fact, of a proposition like All men are animals, -some animals, we must formally retain in thought, for we cannot formally abolish, the universal quantification of the predicate. We, accordingly, must formally allow the proposition thus obtained, Some animals are all men.

The error of the logicians is further shown by our most naked logical notation; for it is quite as easy and quite as natural to quantify A, B, or C, as predicate, as to quantify A, B, or C, as subject. Thus, All B is some A; Some A is all B.



I may here also animadvert on the counter defect, the counter error, of the logicians, in their doctrine of Negative Propositions. In negative propositions they say the predicate is always distributed, — always taken in its full extension. Now this is altogether untenable. For we always can, and frequently do, think the predicate of negative propositions as only partially excluded from the sphere of the subject. For example, we can think, as our naked diagrams can show, — All men are not some animals, that is, not irrational animals. In point of fact, so often as we think a subject as partially included within the sphere of a predicate, eo ipso we think it as partially, that is, particularly, excluded therefrom. Logicians are, therefore, altogether at fault in their doctrine, that the predicate is always distributed, *i. e.*, always universal, in negative propositions.¹

firmatives are said to be necessarily converted, $\epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \rho \epsilon \iota$.

Conversio per accidens is in two forms differently defined by different logicians. The first by Boethius, by whom the name was originally given, is that in which the quantity of the proposition is contingently changed either from greater to less, or from less to greater, salva verilate, the quality of the terms and propositions remaining always the same. So Ridiger, *De Sensu Veri et Falsi*, p. 202. The second is that of logicians in general, where the quantity of the proposition is diminished, the quality of the propositions and terms remaining the same, salva veritate.]

¹ Melanchthon (Erotemata, L. ii. De Conversione, p. 516), followed by his pupil and commentator Strigelius (In Erotemata, pp.

But, 3° , If the preceding theory be true, — if it be true that subject and predicate are, as quantified, always simply convertible, the proposition being in fact only an enouncement of their equation, it follows (and this also is an adequate test) that we may at will identify the two terms by making them both the subject or both the predicate of the same proposition. And this we can do. For we can not only say — as A is B, so conversely B is A, or as All men are some animals, so, conversely, Some animals are all men; but equally say — A and B are convertible, or, Convertible are B and A; All men and some animals are convertible (that is, some convertible things), or, Convertible (that is, some convertible things), or, Convertible, I mean the same, the identical, the congruent, etc.¹

576, 581), and by Keckermann (Syst. Log. Minus, L. ii. c. 3, Op. p. 222), and others, thinks that "there is a greater force of the particle none (nullus, not any), than of the particle all (omnis). For, in a universal negative, the force of the negation is so spread over the whole proposition, that in its conversion the same sign is retained (as - No star is consumed; therefore, no flame which is consumed is a star): whereas such conversion does not take place in a universal affirmative." This Strigelius compares to the diffusion of a ferment or acute poison; adding that the affirmative particle is limited to the subject, whilst the negative extends to both subject and predicate, in other words, to the whole proposition.

This doctrine is altogether erroneous. It is an erroneous theory devised to explain an erroneous practice. In the first place, we have here a commutation of negation with quantification; and, at the same time, conversion, direct conversion at least, will not be said to change the quality either of a negative or atlimative proposition. In the second place, it cannot be pretended that negation has an exclusive or even greater affinity to universal than to particular quantification. We can equally well say not some, not all, not any; and the reason why one of these forms is preferred lies certainly not in any attraction or affinity to the negative particle.]

¹ [With the doctrine of Conversion taught in the text, compare the following authorities: Laurentius Valla, Dialectica, L. ii. c. 24, f. 37. Titius, Ars Cogitandi (v. Ridiger, De Sensu Veri et Falsi, L. ii. c. i. p. 232). Reusch, Systema Logicam, § 380, p. 413 et seq., ed. 1741. Hollmann, Logica, § 89, p. 172. Plonequet, Fries, Logik, § 33, p. 146. E. Reinhold, Logik, § 117, p. 286. Ancients referred to by Ammonius, In De Interp., c. vii. § 4, f. Panlus Vallus, Logica, t. ii., In An. Prior., L. i. q. ii. c. iv.] [Valla l. c. says: "Non amplius ac latius accipitur prædicatum quam subjectum. Ideoque cum illo converti potest, ut onnis

homo est animal: non utique totum genus animal, sed aliqua pars hujus generis. . . . ergo, Aliqua pars animalis est in omni homine. Item, Quidam homo est animal, scilicet est quædam pars animalis, ergo, Quædam pars animalis est quidam homo, etc." Gottlieb Gerhard Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. vii. § 3 et seq., p. 125. Lipsiæ, 1723 (first ed. 1701). "Nihil autem aliud agit Conversio, quam ut simpliciter prædicatum et subjectum transponat, hinc nec qualitatem nec quantitatem iis largitur, aut cas mutat, sed prout reperit, ita convertit. Ex quo necessario sequitur conversionem esse uniformem ac omnes propositiones eodem plane mode converti. Per exempla, (1), Nullus homo est lapis, ergo, Nullus lapis est homo. (2), Quidam homo non est medicus (omnis), ergo, Medicus non est homo quidam, seu Nullus medicus est homo quidam. (3), Hic Petrus non est doctus (omnis), ergo, Omnis doctus non est hic Petrus. (4), Omnis homo est animal (quoddam), ergo, Quoddam animal est homo. (5), Quidam homo currit (particulariter), ergo, Quidam currens est homo. (6), Hic Paulus est doctus (quidam), ergo, Quidam doctus est hic Paulus. In omnibus his exemplis subjectum cum sua quantitate in locum prædicati, et hoc, eodem modo, in illius sedem transponitur, ut nulla penitus ratio solida appareat. quare conversionem in diversas species divellere debeamus. Vulgo tamen aliter sentiunt quando triplicem conversionem, nempe simplicem, per accidens, ac per contrapositionem, adstruunt. . . . Enimvero conversio per accidens et per contrapositionem gratis asseritur, nam conversio propositionis affirmantis universalis perinde simplex est ac ea qua universalis negans convertitur, licet post eam subjectum sit particulare; conversionis enim hic nulla culpa est, quæ quantitatem, quæ non adest, largiri nec potest nec debet. . . . Error vulgaris doctrinæ, nisi fallor, inde est, quod existimaverint ad eonversionem simplicem requiri, ut prædicatum assumat signum et quantitatem subjecti. Conversionem per contrapositionem quod attinet, facile ostendi The general errors in regard to Conversion, — the errors from which all the rest proceed, are —

1°, The omission to quantify the predicate throughout.

2°, The eoneeit that the quantities did not belong to the terms.

3°, The conceit that the quantities were not to be transposed with their relative terms.

4°, The one-sided view that the proposition was not equally composed of the two terms, but was more dependent on the subject than on the predicate.

5°, The consequent error that the quantity of the subject term determines the quantity of the proposition absolutely.

6°, The consequent error that there was any increase or diminution of the total quantity of the proposition.

7°, That thorough-going conversion could not take place by one, and that the simple, form.

8°, That all called in at least the form of Accidental Conversion; all admitting at the same time that certain moods remain inconvertible.

9°, That the majority of logicians resorted to Contraposition (which is not a conversion at all); some of them, however, as Burgersdyk, admitting that certain moods still remained obstinately inconvertible.

10°, That they thus introduced a form which was at best indirect, vague, and useless, in fact not a conversion at all.

11°, That even admitting that all the moods were convertible by one or other of the three forms, the same mood was convertible by more than one.

12°, That all this mass of error and confusion was from their overlooking the necessity of one simple and direct mode of conversion; missing the one straight road.

We have shown that a judgment (or proposition) is only a comparison resulting in a congruence, an equation, or non-equation of two notions in the quantity of Extension; and that these compared notions may stand to each

potest (1) exempla heic jactari solita, posse converti simpliciter; (2) conversionem per contrapositionem, revera non esse conversionem; interim (3) putativam istam conversionem non in universali affirmante, et particulari negante solum, sed in omnibus potins propositionibus locum habere, . . . e.g., Quoddam animal non est quadrupes, ergo, Nullus quadrupes est animal quoddam." See the criticism of the doctrine of Titius by Ridiger, quoted below, p. 555. Ploucquet, Methodus Calculandi in Logicis, p. 49 (1763). "Intellectio identitatis subjecti et prædicati est affirmatio. . . . Omnis circulus est linea curva. Quæ propositio logice expressa hæc est: --Omnis circulus est quædam linea curva. Quo pacto id, quod intelligitur in prædicato identificatur cum eo quod intelligitur in subjecto. Sive norim, sive non norim præter circulum dari quoque allas curvarum species, verum tamen est quandam lineam curvam sensu

comprehensivo sumtam, esse omnem circulum, seu omnem circulum esse quandam lineam curvam." Vallius, l. c. "Negativæ vero convertuntur et in particulares et in universales negativas; ut si dicamus, Socrates non est lapis, convertens illius erit, Aliquis lapis non est Socrates, et Nullus lapis est Socrates, et idem dicendum erit de omni alia simili propostione." - ED.]

[That Universal Affirmative Propositions may be converted simply, if their predicates are reciprocating, see Corvinus, Instit. Phil. Rat., § 514. Ienæ, 1742. Baumgarten, Logica, § 280, 1765. Scotus, In An. Pr., L. i. qu. 14. Ulrich, Instit. Log. et. Met., § i. 2, 177 (1785). Kreil, Logik, §§ 46, 62 (1789). Isendoorn, Logica Peripatetica, L. iii. c. 8, pp. 430, 431. Wallis, Logica, L. ii. c. 7. Zabarella, In An. Prior. Tabulæ, p. 148. Lambert, De Universaliori Calculi Idea, § 24 et seq.]

other as the one subject and the other predicate, as both the subject, or as both the predicate of the judgment. If this be true, the transposition of the terms of a proposition sinks in a very easy and a very simple process; whilst the whole doctrine of logical Conversion is superseded as operose and imperfect, as useless and erroneous. The systems, new and old, must stand or fall with their doctrines of the Conversion of propositions.

Thus, according to the doctrine of the logicians, conversion applies only to the naked terms themselves: — the subject and predicate of the prejacent interchange places, but the quantity by which each was therein affected is excluded from the movement; remaining to affect its correlative in the subjacent proposition. This is altogether erroneous. In conversion we transpose the compared notions, — the correlated terms. If we do not, *eversion*, not conversion, is the result.

If (as the Logicians suppose) in the *convertens* the subject and predicate took each other's quantity, the proposition would be not the *same relation* of the *same notions*. It makes no difference that the converse only takes place when the subject chances to have an equal amount or a less than the predicate. There must be at any rate a reasoning (concealed indeed) to warrant it: in the former case — that the predicate is entitled to take all the quantity of the subject, being itself of equivalent amount; in the second (a reasoning of subalternation), that it is entitled to take the quantity of the subject, being less than its own. All this is false. Subject and predicate have a right to their own, and only to their own, which they carry with them, when they become each other.

IV.-Application of Doctrine of Quantified Predicate to Propositions.

(a) NEW PROPOSITIONAL FORMS-NOTATION.

Instead of four species of Proposition determined by the Quantity and Quality taken together, the Quantity of the Subject being alone considered, there are double that number, the Quantity of the Predicate being also taken into account.



Affirmative.

- [A f A] C: _____: Γ All Triangle is all Trilateral [fig. 1].
 [ii) [A f I] C: _____, A All Triangle is some Figure (A) [fig. 2].
 [I f A] A , _____: C Some Figure is all Triangle [fig. 2].
- (iv) [I f I] C, _____, B Some Triangle is some Equilateral (I)

67

529

Negative.

- (v) [E n E] C: ----- : D Any Triangle is not any Square (E) [fig. 3].
 (A) (A)
 (6) [E n O] C: -----, B Any Triangle is not some Equilateral
- (b) [F i O] C: , B Any Triangle is not some Equilateral (A) (I) [fig. 4].
- (8) [Un O] U, ____, B Some Triangle is not some Equilateral (I) (I) [fig. 4].¹

(b) QUANTITY OF PROPOSITIONS - DEFINITUDE AND INDEFINITUDE.

Nothing can exceed the ambiguity, vacillation, and uncertainty of logicians concerning the Quantity of Propositions.

I. As regards what are called *indefinite* ($\lambda\delta\iota\delta\rho\iota\sigma\tau\sigma\iota$) more properly *indesignate* or *preindesignate propositions*. The absence of overt quantification applies only to the subject; for the predicate was supposed always in affirmatives to be particular, in negatives to be universal. Referring, therefore, only to the indesignation of the subject:—indefinites were by some logicians (as the Greek commentators on Aristotle (?), Apuleius *apud* Waitz, *In Org.* i. p. 338, but see Wegelin, *In Aneponymi Phil. Syn.*, p. 588) made tantamount to particulars; by others (as Valla, *Dialectica*, L. ii. c. 24, f. 37), made tantamount

1 [In this table the Roman numerals distinguish such propositional forms as are recognized in the Aristotelic or common doctrine, whereas the Arabic ciphers mark those (half of the whole) which I think ought likewise to be recognized. In the literal symbols, I simplify and disintricate the scholastic notation; taking A and I for universal and particular, but, extending them to either quality, marking affirmation by f, negation by n, the two first consonants of the verbs affirmo and nego, - verbs from which I have no doubt that Petrus Hispanus drew, respectively, the two first vowels, to denote his four complications of quantity and quality.] - Discussions, p. 686.

[In the notation employed above, the comma, denotes some; the colon : all; the line — denotes the affirmative copula, and negation is expressed by drawing a line through the affirmative copula -; the thick end of the line denotes the subject, the thin end the predicate, of Extension. In Intension the thin end denotes the subject, the thick end the predicate. Thus: -C:--, A is read, $All \ C$ is some A. C: --; D is read, $NO \ C$ is any D. The Table given in the text is from a copy of an early scheme of the author's new Propositional Forms. For some

time after his discovery of the doctrine of a quantified predicate, Sir W. Hamilton seems to have used the vowels E and O in the formulæ of Negative Propositions; and the full period (.) as the symbol of some (indefinite quantity). In the college session of 1845-46, he had adopted the comma (,) as the symbol of indefinite quantity. As the period appears in the original copy of this Table as the symbol of some, its date cannot be later than 1845. The comma (,) has been substituted by the Editors, to adapt the Table to the Author's latest form of notation. The translation of its symbols into concrete propositions, affords decisive evidence of the meaning which the Author attached to them on the new doctrine. That this, moreover, was the uniform import of Sir W. Hamilton's propositional notation, from the earliest development of the theory of a quantified predicate, is placed beyond doubt by numerous passages in papers (not printed), and by marginal notes on books, written at various periods between 1839-40, and the date of his illness, July 1844, when he was compelled to employ an amanuensis. The letters in round brackets (A) and (I) are the vowels finally adopted by the Author, in place of E and O. See p. 534. – ED.]

to universals. They ought to have been considered as merely elliptical, and to be definitely referable either to particulars or universals.¹

II. A remarkable uncertainty prevails in regard to the meaning of particularity and its signs, — some, etc. Here some may mean some only, — some not all. Here some, though always in a certain degree indefinite, is definite so far as it excludes omnitude, — is used in opposition to all. This I would call its Semi-definite meaning. On the other hand, some may mean some at least, some, perhops all. In this signification some is thoroughly indefinite, as it does not exclude omnitude or totality. This meaning I would call the Indefinite.

Now of these two meanings there is no doubt that Aristotle used particularity only in the second, or thoroughly Indefinite, meaning. For, 1°, IIe does not recognize the incompossibility of the superordinate and subordinate. 2°, He makes all and $o\dot{v} \pi \hat{as}$, or particular negative, to be contradictories; that is, one necessarily true, the other necessarily false. But this is not the case in the Semi-definite meaning. The same holds good in the Universal Negative and Particular Affirmative.

The particularity — the *some* — is held to be a definite *some* when the other term is Definite, as in ii. and 3, in 6 and vii. On the other hand, when both terms are Indefinite and Particular, as in iv. and 8, the *some* of each is left wholly indefinite.

The quantification of definitude or non-particularity (:) may designate ambiguously or indifferently one or other of three concepts. 1°, It may designate explicit omnitude or totality; which, when expressed articulately, may be denoted by (::). Thus — All triangles are all trilaterals. 2°, It may designate a class considered as undivided, though not positively thought as taken in its whole extent; and this may be articulately denoted by (:.). Thus — The triangle is the trilateral; — The dog is the latrant. (Here note the use of the definite article in English, Greek, French, German,² etc.) 3°, It may designate not

1 [That Indefinite propositions are to be referred to universals, see Purchot, Instit. Phil. Logica, 1. § ii. c. 2, pp. 124, 125, 126. Rottenbeccius, Logica Contracta, c. vi. p. 92 (1560). Baumeister, Inst. Phil. Rat., § 213. J. C. Scaliger, Exercitationes, Ex. 212, § 2. Drobisch, Logik, § 39. Neomagus, Ad Trapezuntium, f. 10. To be referred to particular; see Lovanienses, Com. in Arist. Dial. p. 161. Molinæus, Elementa Logica, L. I. c. 2. Alex. Aphrod., In An. Prior., c. ii. p. 19. Denzinger, Logica, § 71. Either universal or particular, Keckermann, Opera, p. 220. Aristotle doubts; see An. Prior., L. I. c. 27, § 7, and De Interp. c. 7. That Indefinitude is no separate species of quantity, see Scheibler, Opera Logica, p. iii. c. 6. p. 443. Græcus Anonymus, De Syllogismo, L i. c. 4, f. 42. Leibnitz, Opera, t. iv. p. iii. p. 123. Fries, System der Logik, § 30, p. 137. Ramns, Schol. Dial., L. vii. c. 2, p. 457. Downam, In Rami Dialect., L. ii. c. 4, p. 350. Facciolati, Rud. Log. p. ii. c. iii., p. 67. Delarivière, Nouvelle Logique Classique, L. ii. s. ii. c. 3, s. 580, p. 334.

That Indefinitude has sometimes a logical import, when we do not know whether all, or some, of the one be to be affirmed or denied of the other: E. Reinhold, Logik, § 88. Anm. 2, pp. 193, 194. Ploucquet, Methodus Calculandi, pp. 48, 53 ed. 1773. Lambert, Neues Organon, I., § 235, p. 143.]

² [On effect of the definite article and its absence in different languages, in reducing the definite to the indefinite, see Delarivière, *Logique*, §§ 580, 581.

On the Greek article, see Ammonius, In De Interp. c. vii. f. 67 b.

On use of the Arabic article in quantifica-

what is merely undivided, though divisible, — a class, but what is indivisible, — an individual; and this may be marked by the small letter or by $(: \cdot)$ — Thus — Socrates is the husband of Xanthippe; — This horse is Bucephalus.

In like manner particularity or indefinitude (,), when we wish to mark it as thoroughly indefinite, may be designated by (',), whereas when we would mark it as definitely indefinite, as excluding *all* or *not any*, may be marked by (").

The indefinites $(\dot{a}\delta\rho_{\mu\sigma\tau a})$ of Aristotle correspond sometimes to the particular, sometimes to one or other, of the two kinds of universals.¹

The designation of *indefinitude* or *particularity*, *some* (, or ,) may mean one or other of two very different things.

1°, It may mean some and some only, being neither all nor none, and in this sense it will be both affirmative and negative (, .).

2°, It may mean, negatively, not all, perhaps none, some at most; affirmatively, not none, perhaps all, — some at least (,,).

Aristotle and the logicians contemplate only the second meaning. The reason of this perhaps is, that this distinction only emerges in the consideration of Opposition and Immediate Inference, which were less elaborated in the former theories of Logic; and does not obtrude itself in the consideration of Mediate Inference, which is there principally developed. On the doctrine of the logicians, there is no opposition of subalternation; and by Aristotle no opposition of subalternation is mentioned. By other logicians it was erroneously introduced. The opposition of Subcontraries is, likewise, improper, being precarious and not between the same things. Aristotle, though he enumerates this opposition, was quite aware of its impropriety, and declares it to be merely verbal, not real.²

tion, see Averroes, *De Interp.*, p. 39, edition 1552:

"Al in the Arabic tongue, and Ha In the Hebrew, and in like manner the articles in other languages, sometimes have the power of universal predesignations, sometimes of particular. If the former, then they have the force of contraries; if the latter, then the force of sub-contraries. For it is true to say, al, that is, ipse homo is white, and al, that is, ipse homo is not white; that is, when the article al or ha, that is, ipse, denotes the designation of particularity. They may, however, be at once false, when the article al or ha has the force of the universal predesignation." (See also p. 52 of the same book.)

In English the definite article always defines, — renders definite, — but sometimes individualizes, and sometimes generalizes. If we would use man generally, we must not prefix the article, as in Greek, German, French, etc.; so wealth, government, etc. But in definition of horse, etc., the reverse, as the dog (he chirn, $\delta \kappa i \omega v$, etc.). A in English is often equivalent to any.] 1 [Logicians who have marked the Quantities by Definite, Indefinite, etc.

Aristotle, An. Pr., c. iv. § 21, and there Alexander, Pacius. Theophrastus (Facciolati, Rud. Log., p. i. c. 4, p. 39). Ammonius, In De Inter., f. 72 b. (Brandis, Scholia, p. 113.) Stoics and Non-peripatetic Logicians in general, see Sext. Empiricus, Adv. Log., § 98 et seq., p. 476, ed. Fabricii; Diog. Laert. Lib. vii. seq. 71, ubi Menagius. Downam, In Rami Dialecticam, L. ii. c. 4, p. 363, notices that a particular proposition "was called by the Stoics indefinite (ἀόριστον); by some Latins, and sometimes by Ramus himself, infinite; because it does not designate some certain species, but leaves it uncertain and indefinite." Hurtado de Mendoza, Disp. Log. et Met., t. i. d. iv. § 2, p. 114. Lovanienses, In Arist. Dial., p. 161. Hollmann, Logica, p. 173. Boethius, Opera, p. 345. Reusch, Syst. Log., p 424. Esser, Logik, § 58. Weiss, Logik, §§ 149, 150. So Kiesewetter, Logik, §§ 102, 103.]

² On both forms of Opposition, see Scheibler, [*Opera Logica*, § lii., *de Propositionibus*, c. xi. p. 487, and above, p. 184. — ED.] By the introduction of the first meaning of *some*, we obtain a veritable opposition in Subalternation; and an inference in Subcontrariety, which I would call *Integration*.

(c) OPPOSITION OF PROPOSITIONS.

Propositions may be considered under two views; according as their particularity, or indefinitude, is supposed to be thoroughly indefinite, unexclusive even of the definite: some, meaning some at least, some, perhaps all, some, perhaps not any; or definite indefinitude, and so exclusive of the definite; some, meaning some at most,—some only,—some not all, etc. The latter thus excludes omnitude or totality, positive or negative; the former does not. The former is the view promulgated as alone contemplated by Aristotle; and has been inherited from him by the Logicians, without thought of increase or of change. The latter is the view which I would introduce; and though it may not supersede, ought, I think, to have been placed alongside of the other.

Causes of the introduction of the Aristotelic system alone :

1°, To allow a harmony of Logic with common language; for language eliding all that is not of immediate interest, and the determination of the subject-notion being generally that alone intended, the predicate is only considered in so far as it is thought to cover the subject; that is, to be at least coëxtensive with it. But if we should convert the terms, the inadequacy would be brought to light.

2°, A great number of notions are used principally, if not exclusively, as attributes, and not as subjects. Men are, consequently, very commonly ignorant of the proportion of the extension between the subjects and predicates, which they are in the habit of combining into propositions.

3°, In regard to negatives, men naturally preferred to attribute positively a part of one notion to another than to deny a part. Hence the unfrequency of negatives with a particular predicate.

On the doctrine of Semi-definite Particularity, I would thus evolve the Opposition or Incompossibility of propositions, neglecting or throwing aside (with Aristotle) those of *Subalternation* and *Sub-contrariety*, but introducing that of *Inconsistency*.

Incompossibility is either of propositions of the same, or of different, quality. Incompossible propositions differing in quality are either Contradictories without a mean, — no third, — that is, if one be true the other must be false, and if one be false the other must be true; or Contraries with a mean, — a third, — that is, both may be false, but both cannot be true. Incompossible propositions of the same quality are Inconsistents, and, like Contraries, they have a mean; that is, both may be false, but both cannot be true.

Contradictories are again either simple or complex. The simple are either, 1°, Of Universals, as undivided wholes; or, 2°, Of Individuals, as indivisible parts.¹

1 General terms, used as individual terms, when opposed to each other, may be contradictories, as *Man is mortal*. *Man is not mortal*. So that there are three kinds of contradictories.

The complex are of universals divided, as 4-5.

Contraries, again, which are only of divided universals, are, 1°, Bilateral, as 1-5; or, 2°, Unilateral, as 1-6, 1-7, 2-5, 3-5; or, 3°, Cross, as 2-7, 3-6.

Inconsistents are either, 1°, Affirmatives; or, 2°, Negatives. Affirmatives, as 1-2, 1-3, 2-3. Negatives, as 5-6, 5-7. The propositions 6-7 are sometimes Inconsistents, sometimes Consistents.

All the other propositional forms, whether of the same or of different qualities, are Compossible, or Unopposed.

The differences in compossibility of the two schemes of Indefinite and Definite particularity lies, 1°, In the whole Inconsistents; 2°, In two Contraries for Contradictories. 1°, According to the former, all affirmative and all negative propositions are consistent, whereas in the latter these are inconsistent, 1—2, 1—3, 2—3; among the affirmatives, and among the negatives, 5—6, 5—7. (As said before, 6—7 is in both schemes sometimes compossible, and sometimes incompossible.) 2°, Two incompossibles, to wit, 2—7, 3—6, which, on the Aristotelic doctrines, are Contradictories, are in mine Contraries.

The propositional form 4 is consistent with all the affirmatives; 8 is not only consistent with all the negatives, but is compossible with every other form in universals. It is useful only to divide a class, and is opposed only by the negation of divisibility.

By adopting exclusively the Indefinite particularity, logicians threw away some important immediate inferences; those, to wit, 1°, From the affirmation of one some to the negation of another, and vice versa; and, 2°, From the affirmation of one inconsistent to the negation of another. 1°, Thus, on our system, but not on theirs, affirming all man to be some animal, we have a right to infer that no man is some (other) animal; affirming that some animal is all man, we have a right to infer that some (other) animal is not any man; affirming some men are some blacks (Negroes), we are entitled to say that (same) some men are not some (other) blacks (Hindoos), and also that (other) some men are not the (same) some blacks. And so backwards from negation to affirmation. This inference I would call that of [Integration].

2°, Affirming all men are some animals, we are entitled to infer the denial of the propositions, all men are all animals, some men are all animals. And so in the negative inconsistents.

AFFIRMATIVES.

1.)	Toto-total	==	$A \mathbf{F} \mathbf{A} = $	All	 is all		
ii.)	Toto-partial	-	$A_{FI} =$	All	 is some		(A)
3.)	Parti-total	_	$I{\rm fa} =$	Some	 is all	—.	
	Dout! montial		T	C			

iv.) Parti-partial = IFI = Some — is some —. (I)

NEGATIVES.

v.)	Toto-total		ANA=	= Any		\mathbf{is}	not	any		(E)
6.)	Toto-partial	_	ANI =	= Any		is	not	some		
vii.)	Parti-total	-	INA =	= Some	—	is	not	any		(0)
8.)	Parti-nartial		INI =	= Some		is	not	some	_	

Aff: Neg 1-0 1-0 1-0 1-0 1-0 1-0 1-0 1-0	Affirmat. 1-ii 1-ii 1-ii 1-ii 1-iv 1	Number and Quality.	Common to in either all Proposition Of thes
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{c} Afa & - Afi\\ Afa & - Ifa\\ Afa & - Ifa\\ Afa & - Ifa\\ Afi & - Ifa\\ Ifa & - Ifa\\ Ifa & - Ini\\ Ifa & - Ini\\ Ana & - Ini \\ Ana & - In$	Value.	o I. and II., of which ns are related. se their
Contrar. bi. Contrar. un. Contrar. un. Contrar. un. Repugn. bi. cr. Kepugn. bi. er. Repugn. bi. dl.	Doubtful, <mark>cr</mark> .	1. Indefinite Defini- lude, (Some at least.)	I INCOMPOSITION WIT
Contrar. bi. Contrar. un. Contrar. un. Contrar. bi. cr. Contrar. bi. cr. Contrar. bi. cr. Contrar. bi. di.	Incons. un. Incons. un. cr. Incons. un. Incons. un. Doubtful, cr.	2: Definite Indefini- tude, (Some at most.)	ssimility hill Proposition, on stem of
18 ii6 ii8 3vii 38 iv6, 6-iv iv6, 6-iv iv8, 8-iv	1ii 1i 13 1iv 3iv 3iv 3iv 98 1iv 98 6-8 vii-8	To wil, from—to.	from Proj
	Restr. un. Restr. un. Restr. bi. Restr. un. Restr. un. Restr. un. Restr. bi. Restr. un.	1. Indefinite Defini- fude. (Some at least.)	II. INFERENCE position to Propositio two Systems.
Res. & Int. bi. Integr. un. Res. & Int. un. Integr. un. Res. & Int. un. Res. & Int. un. Res. & Int. un. Integr. bi.	Restr. bi. Restr. un. Restr. un. Restr. bi. Restr. un. Restr. un.	2. Definite Indefini- tude. (Some at most.)	n, on the

TABLE OF THE MUTUAL RELATIONS OF THE EIGHT PROPOSITIONAL FORMS ON EITHER SYSTEM OF PARTICULARITY. (FOR GENERALS ONLY.)

APPENDIX.

ABRREVIATIONS: - bi. = bilateral; cr. = cross; Contrar. = Contraries; di. = direct; Incons. = Inconsistents; Int. or Integr. = Integration; Repugn. = Repugnants, Contradictories: Res. or Restr. = Restriction, Subalternation; un. = unilateral. Blanks: in I. = Compossibles; in II. = No inference. - (Unilateral, bilateral, cross, direct, refer to the Extremes.)

The preceding Table may not be quite accurate in details.

535

V. - Syllogisms.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE MUTUAL RELATIONS OF SYLLOGISTIC TERMS IN QUAN-TITY AND QUALITY.

General Canon. — What worst relation of subject and predicate subsists between either of two terms and a common third term, with which one, at least, is positively related; that relation subsists between the two terms themselves.

There are only three possible relations of Terms (notions, representations, presentations).

1°, The relation of *Toto-total Coïnclusion* (coïdentity, absolute convertibility or reciprocation) (AfA).

2°, The relation of *Toto-total Coëxclusion* (non-identity, absolute inconvertibility or non-reciprocation) (AnA).

3°, The relation of *Incomplete Coënclusion*, which involves the counter-relation of *Incomplete Coëxclusion* (partial identity and non-identity, relative convertibility and non-convertibility, reciprocation, and non-reciprocation). This is of various orders and degrees.

a) Where the whole of one term and the part of another are coïnclusive or coïdentical (AfI). This I call the relation of *toto-partial coïnclusion*, as, All men are some animals. This necessarily involves the counter-relation of *toto-partial coïxclusion* (AnI), as, Any man is not some animal. But the converse of this affirmative and negative affords the relations of

b) Parti-total Coïnclusion (IfA) and Coëxclusion (InA), as, Some animal is all man, Some animal is not any man.

c) There is still a third double relation under this head, when two terms partially include and partially exclude each other (IfI InI), as, Some women are some authors, and Some women are not some authors. This relation I call that of Parti-partial Coïnclusion and Parti-partial Coïnclusion.

Of these three general relations, the first is [technically styled] the best; the second is the worst; and the third is intermediate.

Former logicians knew only of two worse relations, — a particular, worse than a universal, affirmative, and a negative worse than an affirmative. As to a better and worse in negatives, they knew nothing; for as two negative premises were inadmissible, they had no occasion to determine which of two negatives was the worse or better. But in quantifying the predicate, in connecting positive and negative moods, and in generalizing a one supreme canon of syllogism, we are compelled to look further, to consider the inverse procedures of affirmation and negation, and to show (e. g., in v. a. and vi. b., ix. a. and x. b.) how the latter, by reversing the former, and turning the best quantity of affirmation into the worst of negation, annuls all restriction, and thus apparently varies the quantity of the conclusion. It thus becomes necessary to show the whole order of best and worst quantification throughout the two

qualities, and how affirmation commences with the whole in Inclusion and Negation, with the parts in Exclusion.¹



As the negation always reduces the best to the worst relation, in the intermediate relations determining only a commutation from equal to equal, whilst in both the symbols of quantity, in their inverse signification, remain externally the same; it is evident that the quantification of the conclusion will rarely be apparently different in the negative from what it is in the corresponding positive mood. There are, indeed, only four differences to be found in the negative from the positive conclusions, and these all proceed on the same principle - viz., in v. a. and vi. b., in ix. a. and x. b. Here the particular quantification of the positive conclusions disappears in the negative moods. But this is in obedience to the general canon of syllogism, - "That the worst relation subsisting between either extreme and the middle, should subsist between the extremes themselves." For what was the best relation in the former, becomes the worst in the latter; and as affirmation comes in from the greatest whole, while negation goes out from the least part, so, in point of fact, the some of the one may become the not any of the other. There is here, therefore, manifestly no exception. On the contrary, this affords a striking example of the universal applicability of the canon under every change of circumstances. The canon would, in fact, have been invalidated, had the apparent anomaly not emerged.

I. Terms each totally coïnclusive of a third, are totally coïnclusive of each other.

II. Terms each parti-totally coinclusive of a third, are partially coinclusive of each other.

a) A term totally coëxclusive, and a term totally coinclusive, of a third, are totally coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term totally coïnclusive, and a term totally coëxclusive, of a third, are totally coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term parti-totally coëxclusive, and a term parti-totally coënclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term parti-totally coïnclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

1 See Magentinus (in Brandis, Scholia, p. 113, and there the Platonics).

III. A term totally, and a term parti-totally, coïnclusive of a third, are toto-partially coïnclusive of each other.

IV. A term parti-totally, and a term totally, coïnclusive of a third, are partitotally coinclusive of each other.

V. A term totally, and a term totopartially, coïnclusive of a third, are parti-totally coïnclusive of each other.

VI. A term toto-partially, and a term totally, coinclusive of a third, are toto-partially coïnclusive of each other.

VII. A term parti-totally, and a term partially, coïnclusive of a third, are partially coïnclusive of each other.

VIII. A term partially, and a term parti-totally, coïnclusive of a third, are partially coïnclusive of each other. a) A term totally coëxclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term totally coïnclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term parti-totally coëxclusive, and a term totally coinclusive, of a third, are parti-totally coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term parti-totally coïnclusive, and a term totally coëxclusive, of a third, are parti-totally coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term totally coëxclusive, and a term toto-partially coïnclusive, of a third, are totally coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term totally coïnclusive, and a term toto-partially coëxclusive, of a third, are parti-totally coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term toto-partially coëxclusive, and a term totally coïnclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term toto-partially coïnclusive, and a term totally coëxclusive, of a third, are totally coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term parti-totally coëxclusive, and a term partially coënclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term parti-totally coïnclusive, and a term partially coëxclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term partially coëxclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term partially coïnclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other. IX. A term totally, and a term partially, coinclusive of a third, are partially coinclusive of each other.

X. A term partially, and a term totally, coïnclusive of a third, are partially coïnclusive of each other.

XI. A term parti-totally, and a term toto-partially, coinclusive of a third, are parti-totally coinclusive of each other.

XII. A term toto-partially, and a term parti-totally, coinclusive of a third, are toto-partially coinclusive of each other. a) A term totally coëxclusive, and a term partially coïnclusive, of a third, are totally coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term totally coïnclusive, and a term partially coëxclusive, of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term partially coëxclusive, and a term totally coëxclusive of a third, are partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term partially coïnclusive, and a term totally coëxclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term parti-totally coëxclusive, and a term toto-partially coëxclusive, of a third, are parti-totally coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term parti-totally coënclusive, and a term toto-partially coëxclusive, of a third, are parti-totally coëxclusive of each other.

a) A term toto-partially coëxclusive, and a term toto-partially coinclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

b) A term toto-partially coïnclusive, and a term parti-totally coëxclusive, of a third, are toto-partially coëxclusive of each other.

VI. - Objections to the Doctrine of a Quantified Predicate Considered.

(a) GENERAL.

MATERIAL AND FORMAL. - THEIR DISTINCTION.

But it is requisite, seeing that there are such misconceptions prevalent on the point, to determine precisely what is the *formal* which lies within the jurisdiction of Logie, and which Logie guarantees, and what the *material* which lies without the domain of Logie, and for which Logie is not responsible. This is fortunately easy.

Logic knows — takes cognizance of — certain general relations; and from these it infers certain others. These, and these alone, it knows and guarantees; and these are formal. Of all beyond these forms or general relations it takes no cognizance, affords no assurance; and only hypothetically says. — If the several notions applied to these forms stand to each other in the relation of

these forms, then so and so is the result. But whether these notions are rightly applied, that is, do or do not bear a certain reciprocal dependence, of this Logic, as Logic, knows nothing. Let A B C represent three notions, A containing B, and B containing C; in that case Logic assures us that C is a part of B, and B a part of A; that A contains C; that C is a part of B and A. Now all is formal, the letters being supposed to be mere abstract symbols. But if we apply to them - fill them up by - the three determinate notions, -Animal, - Man, - Negro, we introduce a certain matter, of which Logic is not itself cognizant; Logie, therefore, merely says, - If these notions hold to each other the relations represented by A B C, then the same results will follow; but whether they do mutually hold these relations, - that, as material, is extra-logical. Logic is, therefore, bound to exhibit a scheme of the forms, that is, of the relations in their immediate and mediate results, which are determined by the mere necessities of thinking, - by the laws of thought as thought; but it is bound to nought beyond this. That, as material, is beyond its jurisdiction. However manifest, this has, however, been frequently misunderstood, and the material has been currently passed off in Logic as the formal.

But further, Logic is bound to exhibit this scheme full and unexclusive. To lop or limit this in conformity to any circumstance extrinsic to the bare conditions, the mere form, of thought, is a material, and, consequently, an illegitimate curtailment. To take, for instance, the aberrations of common language as a model, would be at once absurd in itself, and absurd as inconsistent even with its own practice. And yet this double absurdity the Logic now realized actually commits. For while in principle it avows its allegiance to thought alone, and in part it has overtly repudiated the elisions of language; in part it has accommodated itself to the usages of speech, and this also to the extent from which even Grammar has maintained its freedom. Grammar, the science proper, the nomology, of language, has not established ellipsis as a third law beside Concord and Government; nor has it even allowed Concord or Government to be superseded by ellipsis. And why? Because the law, though not externally expressed in language, was still internally operative in thought. Logic, on the contrary, the science proper, the nomology, of thought, has established an imperative ellipsis of its abstract forms in conformity to the precarious ellipses of outward speech; and this, although it professes to look exclusively to the internal process, and to explicate, - to fill up what is implied, but not stated, in the short cuts of ordinary language. Logie has neglected, - withheld, - in fact openly suppressed, one-half of its forms (the quantification of the predicate universally in affirmatives, particularly in negatives), because these forms, though always operative in thought, were usually passed over as superfluous in the matter of expression.

Thus has Logic, the science of the form, been made hitherto the slave of the matter, of thought, both in what it has received and in what it has rejected. And well has it been punished in its servitude. More than half its value has at once been lost, confusion on the one hand, imperfection on the other, its lot; disgust, contempt, comparative neglect, the consequence. To reform Logic, we must, therefore, restore it to freedom; — emancipate the form from the matter; — we must, 1°, Admit nothing material under the name of formal, and, 2°, Reject nothing formal under the name of material. When this is done, Logic, stripped of its accidental deformity, walks forth in native beauty, simple and complete; easy at once and useful.

It now remains to show that the quantities of the Predicate denounced by logicians are true logical forms.

The logicians have taken a distinction, on which they have defended the Aristotelic prohibition of an overt quantification of the predicate; the distinction, to wit, of the *formal*, in opposition to the *material*, — of what proceeds vi formæ, in contrast to what proceeds vi materiæ. It will be requisite to determine explicitly the meaning and application of these expressions; for every logical process is formal, and if the logicians be correct in what they include under the category of material, the whole system which I would propose in supplement and correction of theirs must be at once surrendered as untenable.

In the first place, the distinction is not established, in terms at least, by Aristotle. On the contrary, although the propositional and syllogistic relations which he recognizes in his logical precept be all formal, he, as indeed all others, not unfrequently employs some which are only valid, say the logicians, *vi materice*, and not *ratione forme*, that is, in spite of Logic.

But here it is admitted that a distinction there truly is; it is, consequently, only necessary, in the second place, to ascertain its import. What then is meant by these several principles?

The answer is easy, peremptory, and unambiguous. All that is *formal* is true as consciously necessitated by the laws of thought; all that is *material* is true, not as necessitated by the laws of thought, but as legitimated by the conditions and probabilities discoverable in the objects about which we chance to think. The one is *a priori*, the other *a posteriori*; the one is necessary, the other contingent; the one is known or thought, the other unknown or unthought.

For example : if I think that the notion *triangle* contains the notion *trilateral*, and again that the notion *trilateral* contains the notion *triangle*; in other words, if I think that each of these is inclusively and exclusively applicable to the other; I formally say, and, if I speak as I think, must say — All triangle is all *trilateral*. On the other hand, — if I only think that all triangles are trilateral, but do not think all trilaterals to be triangular, and yet say, — All triangle is all *trilateral*, the proposition, though materially true, is formally false.

Again, if I think, that this, that, and the other iron-attracting stones are some magnets, and yet thereon overtly infer, — All magnets attract iron; the inference is formally false, even though materially not untrue. Whereas, if I think that this, that, and the other iron-attracting stones are all magnets, and thence conclude, — All magnets attract iron; my conclusion is formally true, even should it materially prove false.

To give the former example in an abstract notation : If I note $C : ----- : \Gamma$, I may formally convert the proposition and state $\Gamma : ------ : C$. But if I note $C : ------- : \Gamma$, I cannot formally convert it, for the Γ may mean either : Γ or

, Γ ; and if I do, the product may or may not be true, according as it is accidentally applied to this or that particular matter. As to the latter example:

This syllogism is formally legitimate. But, to take the following antecedent: this, if formally drawn, warrants only, (1), a particular conclusion; and if, (2), a universal be drawn, such is logically null:

This being the distinction of formal and material, — that what is formally true, is true by a subjective or logical law; — that what is materially true, is true on an objective or extra-logical condition; the logicians, with Aristotle at their head, are exposed to a double accusation of the gravest character. For they are charged: — 1°, That they have excluded, as material, much that is purely formal. 2°, That they have included, as formal, much that is purely material. Of these in their order.

1°, I shall treat of this under the heads of Affirmative and of Negative propositions.

Of the four Affirmative relations of concepts, as subject and predicate; to wit-1. The Toto-total; 2. The Toto-partial; 3. The Parti-Total; 4. The Parti-Partial; one half (1, 3) are arbitrarily excluded from logic. These are, however, relations equally necessary, and equally obtrusive in thought, with the others; and, as formal realities, equally demand a logical statement and consideration. Nay, in this partial proceeding, logicians are not even self-consistent. They allow, for example, the toto-partial dependency of notions, and they allow of their conversion. Yet, though the terms, when converted, retain, and must retain, their original relation, that is, their reciprocal quantities; we find the logicians, after Aristotle, declaring that the predicate in affirmative propositions is to be regarded as particular; howbeit, in this instance, where the toto-partial is converted into the parti-total relation, their rule is manifestly false. When I enounce, -All man is animal, I mean, - and the logicians do not gainsay me, -All man is some animal. I then convert this, and am allowed to say, - Some animal is man. But I am not allowed to say, in words, though I say, indeed must say, in thought, - Some animal is all man. And why? Simply because there is an old traditionary rule in Logic which prohibits us in all cases, at least of affirmative propositions, to quantify the predicate universally; and to establish a reason for this exclusion, the principle of materiality has been called in. But if all is formal which is necessitated by thought, and if all that is formal ought to find an expression in Logic, in that case the universal quantification of the notion, when it stands as predicate, may be, ought, indeed, on demand, to be, enounced, no less explicitly than when it stood as

 $\scriptstyle 1$ For an explanation of the notation here employed, in reference to Syllogism, see Appendix XI. - ED.

subject. The quantification is no more material on the one alternative than on the other; it is formal in both.

In like manner, the *toto-total* relation is denounced. But a similar exposition shows that notions, thought as reciprocating or coëqual, are entitled, as predicate, to have a universal quantification, no less than as subject, and this formally, not materially.¹

In regard to the four Negative relations of terms, -1. The *Toto-total*, -2. The *Toto-partial*, -3. The *Parti-total*, -4. The *Parti-partial*; in like manner, one half, but these wholly different classes (3, 4), are capriciously abolished. I say capriciously; for the relations not recognized in Logic are equally real in thought, as those which are exclusively admitted. Why, for example, may I say, as I think, - *Some animal is not any man*; and yet not say, convertibly, as I think, - *Any man is not some animal*? For this no reason, beyond the caprice of logicians, and the elisions of common language, can be assigned. Neither can it be shown, as I may legitimately think, - *Some animal is not some animal* (to take an extreme instance), that I may not formally express the same in the technical language of reasoning.

In these eases, to say nothing of others, the logicians have, therefore, been guilty of extruding from their science much that is purely formal; and this on the untenable plea that what is formal is material.

(b) SPECIAL.

Two objections have been taken to the universal quantification of the predicate. It is said to be -1° , False; 2° , If not false, useless.

I. The first observation may be subdivided into two heads, inasmuch as it may be attempted to establish it, a), on material; b), on formal, grounds. Of these in their order: -

a). This ground seems to be the only one taken by Aristotle, who, on three (perhaps on four) different occasions denounces the universal quantification of the predicate (and he but implicitly limits it to affirmative propositions) as "always untrue."² The only proof of this unexclusive denunciation is, however, one special example which he gives of the falsity emerging in the proposition, —All man is all animal. This must be at once confessed false; but it is only so materially and contingently, — argues, therefore, nothing for the formal and necessary illegitimacy of such a quantification. As extra-logical, this proof is logically incompetent; for it is only because we happen, through an external knowledge, to be aware of the relations of the concepts, man and animal, that the example is of any import. But, because the universal quantification, therefore, always formally illegal? That this is not the case, let us take other material examples. Is it, then, materially false and formally incompetent to think and say, —All human is all rational, —All rational is all risible, —

¹ It is hardly requisite to notice the blundering doctrine of some authors, that the predicate is materially quantified, even when predesignated as universal. It is sufficient to observe that this opinion is explicitly renounced by the acuter logicians, when they have chanced to notice the absurdity. See Fonseca, Instit. Dial. 1. vi. c. 20.

2 See p. 546. - ED.

All risible is all capable of admiration, — All trilateral is all triangular, — All triangular is all figure with its angles equal to two right angles, etc.? Or, employing Aristotle's material example, is it untrue, as he asserts, to say, — Some animal is all man; and this either collectively, — A part of the class animal is the whole of the class man, — or distributively, — Some several animal is every several man?

But the absurdity of such a reasoning is further shown by the fact, that if it were cogent at all, it would equally conclude against the validity of the universal quantification of the subject. For this proposition is equally untrue (employing always Aristotle's own material example), —All animal is man.

After this, it may the less surprise us to find that Aristotle silently abandons his logical canon, and adheres to truth and nature. In fact, he frequently does in practice virtually quantify the predicate, his common reasonings often proceeding on the reciprocation or coëxtension of subject and predicate. Nay, in his logical system, he expressly recognizes this coëxtension; unless, indeed, we overtly supply the quantification of the predicate, his doctrines of Induction and of Demonstration proper have no logical notation; and, unless we covertly suppose it, they are actually arrested. His definitions of the Universal, as severally given in his *Prior* and *Posterior Analytics*, are, in this respect, conflictive. In the former, his universal (known in the schools as the *Universale Prioristicum*) explicitly forbids, whereas the latter (the *Universale Posterioristicum* of the schoolmen) implicitly postulates, the quantification of the predicate.

b). The defect in the polemic of their master was felt by his followers. They, accordingly, in addition to, but with no correction of, Aristotle's doctrine, argue the question on broader ground; and think that they disprove the formal validity of such quantification by the following reasoning. Overlooking the case, where the subject is particularly, the predicate universally, quantified, as in the instance I have just given, they allege the case of what are called *reciprocating propositions*, where both subject and predicate are taken in their utmost extension, vi materiæ, as subsequent logicians¹ say, but not Aristotle. In this case, then, as in the example, All man is all risible, they assert that the overt quantification of the predicate is inept, because, the all as applied to the subject being distributively taken, every individual man, as Socrates, Plato, etc., would be all (that is, the whole class) risible. This objection is only respectable by authority, through the great, the all but unexclusive, number of its allegers; in itself it is futile.

Terms and their quantifications are used either in a distributive, or in a collective, sense. It will not be asserted that any quantification is, *per se*, necessarily collective or necessarily distributive; and it remains to ascertain, by rule and relation, in which signification it is, or may be, employed. Now a general rule or postulate of logic is, — That in the same logical unity (proposition or syllogism), the same term or quantification should not be changed in import.³ If, therefore, we insist, as insist we ought, that the quantification here, *all*, should be used *in the same proposition in the same meaning*, that is, as applied

¹ [See, for example, Pacius, In An. Prior, L. i. c. 5, p. 134. Alexander, In An. Prior, L. i. c. 9, and above, p. 527, note 1, sub. fin.] ² See p. 512. - ED.

to the one term, collectively or distributively, it should be so applied likewise to the other, the objection fails. Thus taken collectively: —All (that is, the whole class) man is all (that is, the whole class) risible, the proposition is valid. Again, taken distributively: —All (that is, every several) man is all (that is, every several) risible, the proposition is, in like manner, legitimate. It is only by violating the postulate, — That in the same logical unity the same sign or word should be used in the same sense, that the objection applies; whereas, if the postulate be obeyed, the objection is seen to be absurd.

It is hardly necessary to say anything in confutation of the general doetrine, that in Reciprocating propositions the predicate is taken in its full extent, vi materice. In the first place, this doctrine was not promulgated by Aristotle; who, frequently allowing, - frequently using, - such propositions, implicitly abandons the rule which he explicitly lays down in regard to the non-predesignation of the predicate by a universal. In the second place, apart from authority, such doctrine is in itself unfounded. For as form is merely the necessity of thought, it is as easy to think two notions as toto-totally coinciding (say, triangle and trilateral), as two notions toto-partially and parti-totally coinciding (say, triangle and figure). Accordingly, we can equally abstractly represent their relations both by geometric quantities (lines or figures), and by purely logical symbols. Taking lines : - the former ; the Taking the symbols, the former C: : Γ ; the latter latter A. . But if the reciprocation were determined by the mere matter, by the object contingently thought about, all abstract representation would be impossible. So much for the first objection, - that the universal quantification of the predicate would, at least in affirmative propositions, be false.

II. As to the second objection, that such quantification would be useless and superfluous, disorderly, nay confusive, this only manifests the limited and onesided view of the objectors, even though Aristotle be at their head.

Is it useless in any case, theoretical or practical, that error be refuted, truth established ? And in this case —

1°, Is it disorderly and confusive that the doctrine of *Exponibles*, as they are ealled, should be brought back from anomaly and pain to ease and order; that propositions Exclusive and Exceptive, now passed over for their difficulty, and heretofore confessedly studied as "opprobria and exeruciations," should be shown to be, not merely reducible by a twofold and threefold tortnosity, through eight genera and eight rules, but simple, though misunderstood, manifestations of the universal quantification of the predicate $?^1$

 2° , Is it useless to demonstrate that every kind of proposition may be converted, and not some only, as maintained by Aristotle and the logicians? And is it disorderly and confusive, in all cases, to abolish the triple (or quadruple) confusion in the triple (or quadruple) processes of Conversion, and to show, that of these processes there is only one legitimate, and that, the one simple of the whole?

3°, Is it disorderly and confusive to abolish the complex confusion of Mood and Figure, with all their array of rules and exceptions, general and special; and thus to recall the science of reasoning to its real unity?

4°, Is it useless and superfluous to restore to the science the many forms of reasoning which had erroneously, ineffectually, and even inconsistently, been proscribed?

5°, Is it useless or superfluous to prove that all judgment, and, consequently, all reasoning, is simply an equation of its terms, and that the difference of subject and predicate is merely arbitrary ?

6°, In fine, and in sum, is it useless or superfluous to vindicate Logic against the one-sided views and errors of logicians, to reconcile the science with truth and nature, and to reëstablish it at once in its amplitude and simplicity?

VII. - HISTORICAL NOTICES OF DOCTRINE OF QUANTIFIED PREDICATE.

(a) ARISTOTLE.

It will be sufficient to make one extract from Aristotle in illustration of his doctrine upon this point, and I select the following passage from his *Categories*, c. v., \S 7.

"Further, the primary substances $[\pi\rho\hat{\omega}\tau\alpha\iota \ o\dot{\upsilon}\sigma(\alpha\iota, --individual existences], -$ because they are subjects to all the others, and as all the others are predicatedof, or exist in, them, --- are, for this reason, called*substances*by preëminence.And as the primary substances stand to all the others, so stands the Species tothe Genus. For genera are predicated of species, but not, conversely, species ofgenera; so that of these two, the species is more a substance than the genus."

Ammonius, who has nothing in his Commentary on the *Categories* relative to the above passage of Aristotle, states, however, the common doctrine, with its reasons, in the following extract from his Commentary on Porphyry's *Introduction* (f. 29, ed. Ald. 1546).

"But confining ourselves to a logical consideration, it behooves us to inquire, — of these, which are subject to, which predicated of, the others; and to be aware that Genera are predicated of Differences and Species, but not conversely. These, as we have said, stand in a certain mutual order, — the genus, the difference, and the species; the genus first, the species last, the difference in the middle. And the superior must be predicated of the inferior; for to predicate the inferior of the superior is not allowable. If, for example, we say, — All man is animal, the proposition is true; but if we convert it, and say,— All animal is man, the enouncement is false.¹ Again, if we say, — All horse is irrational, we are right; but if conversely we say, — All irrational is horse, we are wrong. For it is not allowed us to make a subject of the accidental. Hence it is incompetent to say that Animal is man, as previously stated."

[Categ. ch. ii., § 1.

"When one thing is predicated of another as of its subject, all that is said [truly] of the predicate will be said [truly] also of the subject. Thus man is

I The converse of a true proposition is always true; but the false propositions which are here given, as conversions of the true, are not conversions at all. The true propositions, if explicitly stated, are, $-\mathcal{A}ll$ man is some animal, and, All horse is some irrational. Convert these, — Some animal is all man, and, Some irrational is all horse; the truth remains, but the one-sided doctrine of the logicians is exploded.

37

predicated of this and that man,¹ and animal of man; animal will therefore be predicated of this and that individual, for this and that individual is both man and animal."

De Interpret., c. vii., § 2-4; see also c. x.

⁶ To ensure something of a universal universally, I mean as, All or every man is white, No man is white. To ensure something of universals not universally, I mean as, Man is white, Man is not white; for whilst the term man is universal, it is not used in these ensurements as universal. For all or every $(\pi \hat{a}s)$ does not indicate the universal [itself], but that [it is applied to a subject] universally. Thus, in reference to a universal predicate, to predicate the universal, is not true. For no affirmation is true in which the universal is predicated [of a universal predicate], as, All or every man is all or every animal." (See Ammonius, Boethius, Psellus, Magentinus, etc.)

Prior Analytics, Bk. I. e. 27, § 9. "The consequent [i. e. the predicate] is not to be taken as if it wholly followed [from the antecedent, or subject, exclusively]. I mean, for example, as if all [or every] animal [were consequent] on man, or all [or every] science on music. The consequence simply [is to be assumed], as in our propositions has been done; to do otherwise (as to say that all [or every] man is all [or every] animal, or that justice is all [or every] good), is useless and impossible; but to the antecedent [or subject] the all [or every] is prefixed."

Posterior Analytics, B. I. c. xii., § 10. "The predicate is not called *all*" [or *every*]; [that is, the mark of universality is not annexed except to the subject of a proposition].

In refutation of Aristotle's reasoning against the universal predesignation of the predicate — it will equally disprove the universal predesignation of the subject. For it is absurd and impossible to say, All animal is man; All (every) immortal is the soul; All pleasure is health; All science is music; All motion is pleasure.² But in point of fact such examples disprove nothing; for all universal predesignations are applicable neither to subject nor predicate, nor to both subject and predicate — are thoughts, not things; and so are all predesignations; therefore, etc. It is only marvellous that such examples and such reasoning could satisfy the acutest of intellects; that his authority should have imposed on subsequent logicians is less wonderful.³]

1 [For the τ 's here, as elsewhere, denotes the individuum signatum, not the individuum vagum.]

² Examples from Wegelin, In Greg. Aneponymi Comp. Phil. Synt. L. iv. c. 1, p. 473; L. vi. c. 1, p. 673.

³ And here I may correct an error, as I conceive it to be, which has descended from the oldest to the most recent interpreters of the Organon, and been adopted implicitly by logicians in general. It is found in Alexander and Ammonius, as in Trendelenburg, Saint-Hilaire, and Waitz; nor indeed, as far as I know, has it ever been called in question during the interval. It regards the meaning of the definition elevated into a two-fold axiom, the esse in toto, etc., and dici de omni, etc., toward the conclusion of the first ehapter of the first book of the Prior Analytics. Tò δέ ἐν ὅλφ είναι ἕτερον ἑτέρφ καί τὸ κατὰ παντὸς κατηγορεῖσ∂αι ∂ατέρου ∂άτέρον ταὐτόν ἐστιν. This, with its ambiguity, may be thus literally, however awkwardly, translated :—" But [to say] that one thing is in a whole other, and [to say] that one thing is predicated of all another, are identical." — Now, the question arises, — What does Aristotle here mean by "a whole other?" for it may signify either the class or higher notion under which an inferior concept comes,

Quantification of Predicate --- Aristotle.

- 1. Admits that syllogism mental not oral (An. Post. I. 10). This to be borne in mind.
- 2. That individual is never predicated (*Cat.* c. 2), refuted by reciprocation of singular (*An. Pr.* ii. 23, § 4).
- 3. That affirmative universal not [to] be added to predicate, incompatible with what he says of reciprocation (in An. Pr. ii., ce. 22 and 23 alibi). That his custom to draw universal conclusions in Third Figure and affirmative in Second¹ with allowance of simple conversion in certain universal affirmatives.
- 4. That particular not in negative predicate, absurd in où πas , non omnis.

Aristotle's doctrine of Predesignation. 1°, How can Aristotle, on his doctrine, make universal terms taken indif-

or the inferior concept itself, of which, as of a subject, the higher is predicated. The former is the sense given by all the commentators; the latter, the sense which, I am confident, was intended by Aristotle.

There are only two grounds of interpretation. The rule must be exponded in consistency -1° , With itself; 2° , Must be with the analogy of Aristotelic usage.

1°. On the former ground, the common doctrine seems untenable; for what Aristotle declares to be identical, by that doctrine becomes different, nay, opposed. An interior concept may be in a higher whole or class, either partially or totally; and the definition on the prevalent interpretation virtually runs - "To say that one thing is all or part in the whole of another, and to say that this other is predicated of it unexclusively, are convertible." Had Aristotle, therefore, used the expression in the signification attributed to him, he must, to avoid the contradiction, have said - Τὸ δὲ πῶν ἕτερον ἐν ὅλω εἶναι ἐτέρω. $\kappa. \tau. \lambda$. ("But to say that one thing is all in a whole other," etc.)

2°. On the second ground, it may, however, be answered, that the ambiguity of the word, as it stands, is superseded, its signification being determined by other passages. I join issue; and on this ground am well content to let the question be decided.

In the first place, the meaning I attribute to the expression, "whole other"—that is, whole subject or inferior notion—is, in short, in strict conformity with Aristotle's ordinary language. There are, I admit, sundry passages in his logical writings where the term whole is clearly used as synonymous with class, or higher notion; as, to limit ourselves to the Prior Analytics, in Book I. iv. § 2; and II. i, § 4. But, every single text, in which the term whole appears in this relation, is overruled by more than five others, in which it is no less clearly applied to denote the totality of a lower notion, of which a higher is predicated passages in which the word whole ($\delta \lambda os$) is used convertibly with all ($\pi \hat{a}s$). See for example, An. Pr. II. ii. § 5, § 16 — iii. § 5, § 7 (bis), § 14, § 15 — iv. § 6 (bis.), § 8, § 10, § 12 (bis), § Xxii. § 7, § 8 — xxiii. § 4.

But in the second place (and this is directly subversive of the counter-opinion, even in the principal of the few passages where the term whole is used for class), the lower notion may be in or under the higher, only particularly; and this manifestly shows that Aristotle could not possibly mean, by merely saying that one thing is another, as in a class, that it is so unexclusively, or universally. Compare An. Pr. I iv. §§ 2, 3, 10. On this interpretation, Darii and Ferio would then be annulled; a special result which ought to have startled the logicians into a doubt of the accuracy of the received doctrine in general. (See, instar omnium, Pacins, in his relative Notes and Commentary.)

That doctrine must, therefore, be abandoned, and the rule, reduced to a definition, read in the following signification :- " But to say that one thing is in the whole of another, as in a subject, and to predicate one thing universally of another, are merely various expressions of the same meaning." This, in fact, is just the preliminary explanation of the two ordinary modes of stating a proposition, subsequently used by Aristotle. Here, in both convertibles, he descends from extension to comprehension, from the predicate to the subject; and the ingenious exposition by the commentators, old and new, of the inverse intention of the philosopher in the two clauses, must be regarded as erroneous.

1 See p. 581. - ED

ferently, or without predesignation, be tantamount to particulars? (An. Prior, I. e. 4, § 13; Org. Pacii, p. 135, alibi).

 2° , An. Prior, I. c. 27, § 7. He says, as elsewhere, "A proposition being indefinite [preindesignate], it is not clear whether it be universal; when, however, it is definite [predesignate], that is manifest." Contrast this statement with his doctrine of the *all*.

3°, There are syllogisms in Aristotle which are only valid through the quantity of the predicate.¹

4°, Aristotle requires, though he does not admit, the universal predesignation of the predicate in his syllogism of Induction. (Vide An. Prior, L. ii. c. 23, § 4; Organon Pacii, p. 399. Compare also his doctrine, p. 396.)

(b) ALEXANDER APHRODISIENSIS.

Alexander Aphrodisiensis, in his commentary on the first book of the *Prior Analytics*, in reference to the second passage of Aristotle, states as follows:

"And in the book of *Enouncement* Aristotle explains why he there says: — ' that to predicate the universal of a universal predicate is not true; for there will be no proposition, if in it we predicate the universal of the universal, as, *All man is all animal.*' He repeats the same also here; showing how it is useless to attempt thus to express the consecution [of higher from lower notions]; and adds, that it is not only useless, but impossible. For it is *impossible* that all men should be all animal, as [useless to say ($\check{\alpha}_{\chi\rho\eta\sigma\tau\sigma\nu}$ eineiv must have dropt out)], that all man is all risible. We must not, therefore, apply the all to the subsequent [or predicate], but to that from which it follows [or subject]. For man is to be taken universally, as that from which animal follows, supposing this to be the consequent of all man. Thus shall we obtain a stock of universal propositions. The process is the same in making man the consequent on its proper all; but man is not consequent on all biped, but on all rational.

"The words, 'as we express ourselves,' mean — as we express ourselves in common usage. For we say, that all man is simply animal, and not all animal, and that all pleasure is natural, not all natural; prefixing the all, not to the consequent, but to the subject from which the predicate follows." (Edd. Ald., f. 100 a; Junt., f. 122 a; compare Ald., f. 86 a; Junt., f. 105 a.)

(c) AMMONIUS HERMLÆ.

Ammonius Hermiæ, In de Interp. c. vii. § 2. (Aldine editions, of 1503, sig. C. vii. 59, of 1546, ff. 70, 74.)

"In these words Aristotle inquires, — Whether, as the annexation of the affirmative predesignation ($\pi\rho\nu\sigma\delta\iota\rho\rho\nu\sigma\mu\deltas$) to the subject constitutes one distinct class of propositions, the same annexation to the predicate may not, likewise, constitute another; and he answers, that the supposition is absolutely ground-less. Thus the enouncement — all (or every) man is all (or every) animal ($\pi \delta s \, \lambda \nu \delta \rho \omega \pi \sigma s \, \pi \delta \nu \, \delta \rho \omega \, \delta \sigma \tau i$), asserts that each man is all animal, as horse, ox, etc.

But this proposition is impossible; as is shown by Aristotle in his here omitting the word 'true.' For no affirmation can be true in which the universal is predicated of a universal predicate; that is, in which the universal predesignate is added to a universal predicate; as when we say that man (of whom all, or, as he says, universally, animal is predicated) is not simply animal, but all animal. He, therefore, teaches that such an affirmation, as utterly untrue, is utterly incompetent.

"Neither does Aristotle allow the predesignation some to be annexed to the predicate, that propositions may, thereby, become true always or occasionally. For logicians (as they do not propose to themselves every superfluous variety of enunciation) are prohibited from considering propositions (not only those always true or always false), but those which express no difference in reference to necessary or impossible matter, and afford us absolutely no discrimination of truth from falsehood. Thus, particular propositions, which may be alternatively true and false, ought not to have a predesignated predicate. For in a proposition which has all their power, without any predesignation of its predicate, why should we prefer to the simpler expression that which drags about with it a superfluous additament? Why, for example, instead of — All man is some animal [I read, τi (ior], or, All man is not all animal, should we not say,—All man is not stone; or, what is a simpler and more natural enouncement still,—No man is stone?

"And when we find some of the ancients teaching that the particular affirmative predesignation is to be connected with the predicate, as when Aristotle himself styles the soul a certain (some) entelechy ($i\nu\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\chi\epsilon_i d\nu \tau_i\nu\alpha$), and Plato, rhetoric, a certain (some) experience ($i\mu\pi\epsilon\mu\rho(a\nu \tau_i\nu\dot{\alpha})$; it is to be observed that the some is there added for the sake of showing, that the predicate is not convertible with the subject, but is its genus, and requires the adding on of certain differences in order to render it the subject's definition.

"But, add they, is not the reasoning of Aristotle refuted by fact itself, seeing that we say, All man is capable of all science; thus truly connecting the universal predesignation with the universal predicate? The answer is this: that, in truth, it is not the predicate to which we here annex the all. For what is predicated, is what is said of the subject. But what is here said of man is not that he is science, but that he is capable of science. If, therefore, the all were conjoined with the capable, and the proposition then to remain true, as when we say—all man is all capable of science; in that case the reasoning of Aristotle would be refuted. But this proposition is necessarily false. It, in fact, asserts nothing less than that of men, each individual is all the kind: that Socrates is not Socrates only, but also Plato, Alcibiades, and, in short, every other man. For, if all man is all capable of science; so that Socrates will be Plato, Alcibiades, etc., since they also are capable of science. For if

1 It will be observed that Ammonius does not attempt an equivalent for this proposition. In fact it is impossible on the common

or Aristotelic doctrine; and this impossibility itself ought to have opened his eyes upon the insufficiency of the view he maintained. Socrates be not, at once, Plato, Alcibiades, etc., neither will be be all capable of science.

"Now, that we ought not to prefix the universal affirmative predesignation to the predicate (whether the predicate be more general than the subject, as *All man is all animal*, or whether they be coädequate, as *All man is all risible*), this is manifest from what has been said. Even when the terms are coädequate or reciprocating, the proposition runs into the absurd. For, declaring that *all man is all risible*, it virtually declares that each individual man is identical with all men; that Socrates, in that he is a man, is *all risible*, consequently, *all man*.....

"But why is it that the predicate is intolerant of the predesignation all, though this be akin to the counter-predesignation no or none? Is it because the affirmative predicate, if predicated universally, tends always to contain under it the subject, and this not only when itself coädequate with the subject, but when transcending the subject in extension; while, moreover, through a participation in its proper nature, it is suited to bind up and reduce to unity the multitude of individuals of which the subject is the complement ? For, as Aristotle previously observed - ' the all does not indicate the universal, but that [the universal predicate inheres in, or is attributed to, the subject] universally.' If, therefore, the affirmative predicate thus tend to collect into one what are by nature distracted, in virtue of having been itself previously recognized as simple; in this case, the all [superadded to this universal predicate, in fact] enounces not a unity, but a multitude of several things, - things which it is manifestly unable to complicate into reciprocity. But, on the other hand, since what is negatively predicated of, is absolutely separated from, the subject; we are, consequently, enabled to deny of the subject all under the predicate, as in saving, All man is no stone. We may indeed condense this proposition, and say more simply, All man is not stone; or, more simply still, No man is stone; thus dispensing with the affirmative predesignation in a negative proposition."

(d) BOETHIUS.

Boethius, In Librum de Interpretatione, editio secunda, et in textum laudatum. Opera, p. 348.

"What he says is to this purport: — Every simple proposition consists of two terms. To these there is frequently added a determination either of universality or of particularity; and to which of the two parts these determinations are to be added, he expounds. It appears to Aristotle that the determination ought not to be conjoined to the predicate term; for in this proposition, Man is animal—(Homo est animal), it is inquired whether the determination ought to be coupled with the subject, so that it shall be — (Omnis homo animal est)—All (or every) man is animal; or with the predicate, so that it shall be — (Homo omne animal est)—Man is all (or every) animal; or with both the one and the other, so that it shall be, All (or every) man is all (or every) animal —(Omnis homo omne animal est). But neither of these latter alternatives is competent. For the determination is never joined to the predicate, but exclusively to the subject; seeing that all predication is either greater than the

subject, or equal. Thus in this proposition - All (or every) man is animal (omnis homo animal est), animal [the predicate] is greater than man [the subjeet]; and, again, in the proposition - Man is risible (homo risibilis est), risible [the predicate] is equated to man [the subject]; but that the predicate should be less and narrower than the subject is impossible. Therefore, in those predicates which are greater than the subject, as, for example, where the predication is animal, the proposition is manifestly false, if the determination of universality be added to the predicate term. For if we say, Man is animal (homo est animal), we contract animal, which is greater than man, by this determination to [an identity of extension with] man, the subject, although the predicate. animal, may be applied not only to man, but to many other objects. Moreover, in those [subjects and predicates] which are equal, the same occurs; for if I say, All (or every) man is all (or every) risible (omnis homo omne risibile est), in the first place, in reference to the nature of man itself, it is superfluous to adject the determination; and, again, if it be added to all several men, the proposition becomes false, for when I say, All (or every) man is all (or every) risible, by this I seem to signify that the several men are [each of them] all or every risible, which is absurd. The determination is, therefore, to be placed not to the predicate but to the subject. But the words of Aristotle are thus reduced to the following import : - In those predicates which are universal, to add to them aught universal, so that the universal predicate may be predicated universally, is not true. For this is what he says - "In the case of a universal predicate" (that is, in a proposition which has a universal predicate), "to predicate the universal itself universally, is not true." For in a universal predicate, that is, which is universal and is itself predicated, in this case universally to predicate the predicate which is universal, that is, to adject to it a determination of universality, is not true; for it eannot be that any affirmation should be true in which a universal determination is predicated of a predicate universally distributed; and he illustrates the conception of the matter by the example, "All or every man is all (or every) animal (omnis homo omne animal est), of the incompetency of which we have already spoken."

Boethius, In Librum de Interpretatione, editio prima. Opera, p. 236. (Text so wretchedly printed that the sense must be constituted by the reader.)

[Aristotle, c. vii. § 4]. "'In what is predicated as a universal, to predicate the universal universally is not true.'

"In this sentence he instructs us what is the place to which the determination of universality should be rightly added. For he teaches that the universality, which we call the universal determination, is to be connected with the subject term, never with the predicate. For were we to say — All (or every) man is animal (omnis homo animal est), we should say rightly, annexing the all (or every) to the subject, that is, to the term man. But if we thus speak — Allor every man is all or every animal (omnis homo omne animal est), we should speak falsely. He, therefore, does not say this [in the words] — 'in what is predicated as a universal,' as animal of man; for animal is universal, being predicated of all or every man. [But he says] — To predicate this universal itself, animal, to wit, universally, so that we ensure — All (or every) animal is
man (omne animal esse hominem), is not true; for he allows this to be rightly done neither in these nor in any other affirmation.¹ He adds, therefore: — 'For no affirmation will be true in which a universal predicate shall be universally predicated, as All or every man is all or every animal (omnis homo est omne animal).'

"Why this happens, I will explain in a few words. The predicate is always greater than the subject, or equal to it. Greater, as when I say, Man is animal (homo animal est); here animal is predicated, man is subjected, for animal is predicated of more objects than man. Again, it is equal when we thus speak — Man is risible (homo risibilis est); here man is the subject, risible the predicate. But man and risible are equal; for it is proper to man to be a risible animal. But that the predicate should be found less than the subject, is impossible. Is the predicate the greater? Then, to adject the universal to the predicate, is false, as in the example he himself has given — All (or every) man is all (or every) animal (omnis homo omne animal est). Is it equal? Then, the adjection is superfluous, as if one should say, All every man is all or every risible (omnis homo omne risibile est). Wherefore, to predicate a universal predicate universally is incompetent."

(e) AVERROES.

Averroes, Perihermenias, L. I., c. v.

"Propositions are not divided from the conjunction of the predesignation (clausuræ) with the predicate; because the predesignation, when added to the predicate, constitutes a false or a superfluous proposition: — False, as All or every man is all (or every) animal (omnis homo est omne animal); superfluous, as All (or every) man is some or a certain animal (omnis homo est quoddam animal)." Vide Conimbrieenses, In Arist. Dial. ii. 158.

(f) ALBERTUS MAGNUS.

Albertus Magnus, Periherminias, L. I., Tractatus, v. c. 1 (Op. ed. Lugd. 1651, t. I., p. 261).

["Ly 'omnis' non est universale, sed signum universalitatis. Quare ly 'omnis' et hujusmodi signa distributiva non sunt universalia, secundum Avicennam."] Hoe enim signum distributivum, quod est omnis, non est universale, proprie loquendo; sed est signum per quod stat pro particularibus universaliter universale, cui tale signum est adjunctum. Causa autem, quare non sit universale, est : — quia, quamvis secundum grammaticum sit nomen appellativum, hoe

¹ The Coimbra Jesuits (Sebastianus Contus, 1606) erroneously make Boethius and Averroes oppose Aristotle, "thinking that the sign of universality may be annexed to the predicate of a universal proposition when it is coëxtensive with the subject" (ad locum ii., p. 158). This, a mistake, has been copied by their brother Jesuit, P. Vallius, of Rome, in his mighty Logic (ad locum). With Boethius he joins Levigersonides; — he means the Rabbi Levi Ben Gerson, of Catalonia, who died at Perpignan in 1370, who wrote on Theology, Philosophy, Mathematics, and Logic. See Jöcher v. Levi, from Bartolocci and Wolf. est, multis secundum naturæ suæ aptitudinem conveniens; tamen est, secundum formam, infinitum, nullam enim naturam unam dicit. Propter quod omnis naturæ communis est distributivum. Universale autem est, quod est in multis et de multis, suæ naturæ, suppositis. Ideo omnis, et nullus, et hujusmodi signa universalia esse non possunt; sed sunt signa designantia utrum universale sit acceptum universaliter vel particulariter, secundum sua supposita. Et hæc sunt verba Avicennæ.

["Quare signum universale non sit ponendum a parte prædicati.] In subjecto universali signum distributivum ordinandum : quia per divisionem subjecti, prædicatum partibus attribuitur subjecti, ut divisim participent id per prædicationem, et non in prædicato ponendum : quia quum prædicatum formaliter sit acceptum, non proprie dividitur, nisi alterius, hoc est, subjecti divisione : sed inæqualiter redditur subjecto et partibus ejus. Unde id quod est universale, prædicari potest, ut Omnis homo est animal; sed universale universaliter acceptum non potest prædicari : nulla enin vera affirmatio esse potest, in qua de universali aliquo prædicato predicetur sive prædicatio fiat; quoniam universaliter sic patet, quod falsum est, Omnis homo est omne animal, et si ponatur, quod Nullum animal sit nisi homo. Cum enim homo subjiciatur gratia partium suarum, et prædicata formaliter accipiantur, oportet quod Quilibet homo esset omne animal, quod falsum est."

(g) LEVI BEN GERSON.

Levi Ben Gerson (or Levi Gersonides), a Jewish philosopher, who died in 1370, at Perpignan, wrote commentaries on Averroes' Commentary upon the logical books of Aristotle. The following is what he says on Averroes' doctrine touching the quantification of the predicate, as it is found (f. 39) of the Venice edition, in folio, of 1552,1 of the works of Aristotle and Averroes : - "Although it be not necessary that when the quantitative note is attached to the predicate, this should be false or superfluous, seeing that it may be neither, as when we say, All man is all rational; and the same holds good in all other reciprocating propositions; --- nevertheless, as in certain matters it may so happen. Aristotle has declared that the quantitative note is not to be joined to the predicate in any language. But it may be here objected, that if this be the case, the quantitative note should not be annexed even to the subject, since there too it may be either false or superfluous. Superfluous, - as when we say, Some animal is rational. For the very same follows here, as if we simply say, Animal is rational; the some, therefore, is superfluous. False, - as when we say, All animal is rational. The reason, therefore, assigned by Aristotle why the quantitative note should not be annexed to the predicate, is futile, seeing that for the same reason it should not be connected with the subject. To this we may answer: That the cause why the quantitative note is not usually conjoined with the predicate, is, that there would thus be two quæsita at once, - to wit, whether the predicate were affirmed of the subject, and, moreover, whether it were denied of everything beside. For when we say, All man

is all rational, we judge that all man is rational, and judge, likewise, that rational is denied of all but man. But these are in reality two different quæsita; and therefore it has become usual to state them, not in one, but in two several propositions. And this is self-evident; seeing that a quæsitum, in itself, asks only — Does, or does not, this inhere in that? and not — Does this inhere in that, and, at the same time, inhere in nothing else?"

(h) THE MASTERS OF LOUVAIN.

Facultatis Artium in Academia Lovaniensi Commentaria in Aristotelis Libros de Dialectica (1535), Tr. iii. c. 1, p. 162, ed. 1547.

Speaking of the text in the De Interpretatione, the Masters, inter alia, allege : "But if it be even elegantly said by a poet- 'Nemo est omnis homo,'-'Non omnes omnibus artes' - [proverb, 'Unus homo nullus homo'], why may we not contradict this aptly, howbeit falsely, -- 'Aliquis est omnis homo'? Why (they say) do you determine the predicate by the note of universality, seeing that the quantity of the proposition is not to be sought from the predicate, but from the subject? We answer, because we wish to express a certain meaning in words, which by no others can be done. But if the mark of universality could only be employed in changing the quantity of propositions, it would not be lawful to annex it to the part of the predicate. We have, therefore, thought these few cautions requisite to evince that what is condemned by these erities for its folly, is not incontinently sophistical or foolish babbling. But as to the universal rule which Aristotle enounces, - 'No affirmation will be true,' etc., - it is sufficient if it hold good in the majority of cases; whether the predicate exceed the subject, as, All man is all animal, - be its equal, as, All man is all risible, or its inferior, as, [Some] animal is all man. In a few cases, however, the exception is valid; as, - This sun is every sun, One phanix is all phænix, and some others. Nor are these futile subtleties, since reason herself approves."

(i) TITIUS AND RIDIGER.

The only notice of these speculations of Titius¹ which I have met with in any subsequent philosopher (and I speak from an inspection of several hundred

1 [Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. vi., has the following relative to the quantification of the predicate: $-\frac{i}{2}$ 36: "Licet autem Propositionum quantitas ex Subjecto æstimetur, attamen Prædicatum non penitus negligendum videbatur, ceu vulgo in hoc tractatione fieri solet, nam et hujus quantitatem observasse utile est, et crediderim et disquisitionis hujus neglectu varios errores tam in doctrina Conversionis, quam Syllogistica esse exortos, quos suis locis videbimus. $\frac{i}{2}$ 37: Breviter itaque observandum, in propositionibus affirmativis, licet universalibus, prædicatum plerumque esse particulare, tribulque subjecto secundum totam quidem suam comprehensionem, non vero extensionem. 539: E contrario in propositionibus negativis, licet particularibus, plerumque prædicatum est universale, ac tam secundum comprehensionem quam extensionem suam totam, a subjecto removetur. j 41, Interim non putarem affirmationem vel negationem ipsam diversam illam prædicati quantitatem necessario postulare, sed crediderim potius, id omne a diverso rerum et idearum habitu oriri, affirmationi vero et negationi prædicati quantitatem esse velut indifferentem. j 42: Nam plerumque prædicata subjectis sunt latiora; quodsi igitur illa cum logical systems, principally by Germans), is his friend Ridiger's; who, in his elaborate work, De Sensu Veri et Falsi, first published some eight years subsequently (in 1709, but I have only the second edition of 1722), attempts a formal refutation of the heresy of a quantified predicate. It was only, however, after "the most manifest demonstrations of the falsehood of this novel prejudice had been once and again privately communicated to his very learned friend" (Titius?), that Ridiger became at length tired, as he expresses it, " of washing a brick," and laid the polemic before the public. It was not certainly the cogency of this refutation which ought to have thrown the counter opinion into oblivion; but this refutation, such as it is, though with nothing new, is deserving attention, as presenting the most elaborate discussion of the question to be met with, after Ammonius, and in modern times. But the whole argument supposes certain foundations; and it will be sufficient to show that these are false, to dispose of the whole edifice erected upon them. I ought to mention, that it was Ridiger's criticism which first directed my attention to the original of Titius.

"Origo autem hujus erroris neglectus notissimæ aequivocationis signorum omnis et quidam esse videtur, qua hæc signa, vel collective sumi possunt, vel distributive. Priori modo, quantitas in prædieato concepta sensum quidem infert non penitus absurdum, cæterum propositionem constituit identicam et frustrancam." Ridiger then goes on to a more detailed statement of what he supposes to be the grounds on which the erroneous opinion proceeds.¹

First Case. — "Verbi gratia, Quoddam animal est omnis homo; hoe est, Species quædam animalis, homo nempe omne id, quod homo est: quod alium sensum, habere nullum potest, quam, quod omnis homo sit homo: sie autem collective sumitur et signum subjecti et signum prædicati." This objection is absurd, for it is suieidal; applying equally to the proposition which the objector holds for good, and to that which he assails as bad. All man is (some) animal. Here, is not animal or some animal just a certain species of animal, and is not this species, man, to wit, all that is man, and nothing else? There is, consequently, the same tautology in the one case as in the other; and if we are blamed for only virtually saying, by the former, All man is man, does the objector say a whit more than this by the latter? Ridiger goes on: "Quodsi vel alterum signum, vel utrumque, distributive sumatur, semper absurdus erit propositionis sensus."

his componas, non poterit non prædicatum particulare inde emergere, dum unice ad subjectum restringi nequit, sed ad alia quoque extendi aptum manet. § 43: Ast si prædicatum a subjecto removeas, universale illud erit, cum quicquid in ejus vel comprehensione vel extensione est ab hoc sejungatur, nec imminuit universalitatem, quod idem ab aliis subjectis quoque removeatur, nam si prædicatum aliis etiam conveniat, tum quidem uni subjecto non potest dici universaliter tributum, verum si de multis negetur, potest nihilominus de certo aliquo subjecto universaliter quoque negari. § 44: Quodsi habitus attributi permittat, poterit aliquando propositio affirmativa prædicatum universale, et negativa particulare habere; nihil enim obstat, quo minus aliquando totum alteri jungere, vel partem ab eodem removere queas. § 45: Hæc itaque propositio: — Omnis homo est risibilis, habet prædicatum universale, si visibilitatem pro hominis proprio habeas; sicut hæ, — Nullus Turca est homo (Scil. Christianus), vel Quidam medicus non est homo quidam, prædicatum particulare continent, dum pars solum comprehensionis et extensionis removetur." For the application, by Titius, of the principle of a quantified predicate to the doctrine of Conversion, see above, pp. 528–529; and to the theory of Syllogism, see below, p. 603, and Appendix, X. — ED.]

1 Second Edition, pp. 232, 302.

Second Case.—" Verbi gratia, sumatur utrumque signum distributive, sensus erit, Quoddam individuum animalis (v. g. Petrus), est omne individuum hominis (v. g. Davus, Oedipus)." This is a still higher flight of absurdity; for, to refute the proposition, it is first falsely translated into nonsense. Its true meaning, both quantified terms being taken distributively, is :—All several men are some several animals, or, Every several man is some several animal.

In these two cases, therefore, all is correct, and the objection from the identity or absurdity of a quantified predicate, null.

Third Case. — "Sumatur signum subjecti distributive, signum prædicati collective, sensus erit: Quoddam individuum animalis est universa species hominis."

Fourth Case. — "Sumatur, denique, signum subjecti collective, signum prædieati distributive, sensus erit: Quædam species animalis, ut universale et prædicabile, est omne individuum hominis."

In regard to these last two cases, it is sufficient to refer to what has been already said in answer to Ammonius (p. 549); or simply to recall the postulate, that in the same logical unity (proposition or syllogism) the terms should be supposed in the same sense. If this postulate be obeyed, these two cases are inept, and, consequently, the objections superfluous.

Ridiger then proceeds to treat us with four long "demonstrations *a priori*," and to one elaborate "demonstration *a posteriori*;" but as these are all founded on the blunders now exposed, it would be idle to refute them in detail.

Ridiger, it may well surprise us, howbeit the professed champion of "the old and correct doctrine," is virtually, perhaps unconsciously, a confessor of the truth of "the new and false prejudice;" for I find him propounding four several syllogistic forms, three of which are only valid through the universal quantification of the predicate in affirmatives, and two (including the other one) proceed on a correct, though partial, view, opposed to that of the logicians, touching the conclusion of the Second Figure (L. II. c. iv). I shall insert the quantities, operative but not expressed.

In the First Figure — "At, aut ego nihil video, aut longe naturalior est hie processus: — Quoddam fluidum est [quoddam] leve; quoddam corpus est [omne] fluidum; ergo quoddam corpus est quoddam leve; quam si dicas, etc. (§ 34). — Here the middle term is, and must be, affirmatively distributed as predicate.

$$C, ----, M : ----, \Gamma.$$

In the Second Figure. — "Verbi gratiâ: — Quoddam ens est [omne] animal: omnis homo est [quoddam] animal; ergo, omnis homo est [quoddam] ens. Hæc conclusio verissima," etc. (§ 39.) In like manner the middle is here universally quantified in an affirmative. C, — : M, — : Γ .

The following, Ridiger (p. 330) gives, as "Two new moods, which cannot be dispensed with."—" Quoddam animal est [omnis] homo; nullum brutum est [ullus] homo: ergo, quoddam animal non est [ullum] brutum. Item:— Quoddam animal non est [ullus] homo; omnis civis est [quidam] homo; ergo, quoddam animal non est [ullus] civis." In the first of these, the middle, as predicate, is affirmatively distributed; and in both syllogisms, one conclusion, denied by

the logicians, is asserted by Ridiger, although the other, which involves a predicate, particular and negative, is recognized by neither.



(j) GODFREY PLOUCQUET.

Godfrey Ploucquet, a philosopher of some account, Professor of Logic and Metaphysics in the University of Tübingen, by various writings, from the year 1759, endeavored to advance the science of reasoning; and his failure was perhaps owing more to the inadequacy and limitation of his doctrine, than to its positive error. To say nothing about his attempt to reduce Logic to a species of computation, in which his one-sided views came into confliction with the one-sided views of Lambert, he undoubtedly commenced auspiciously, on the principle of a quantified predicate. This, like a few preceding logicians, he certainly saw afforded a mean of simplifying the conversion of propositions;¹ but he did not see that it could accomplish much more, if properly applied, in the theory of syllogism. On the contrary, in syllogistic, he professedly returns, on mature consideration, to the ordinary point of view, and thinks himself successful in recalling the common doctrine of inference to a single canon. That canon is this : - " The terms in the conclusion are to be taken absolutely in the same extension which they hold in the antecedent."-"In conclusione sint termini plane iidem, qui in præmissis, intuitu quantitatis." (Methodus tam demonstrandi directe omnes syllogismorum species, quam vitia formæ detegendi, ope unius regulæ; - Methodus calculandi in Logicis; passim. Both in 1763.) This rule, as applied to his logical ealculus, he thus enounces: "Arrange the terms in syllogistic order; strike out the middle; and the extremes then afford the conclusion."--- " Deleatur in præmissis medius; id quod restat indicat conclusionem." (Methodus calculandi, passim; Elementa Philosophiæ Contemplativæ, Logica, § 122, 1778.) This rule is simple enough, but, unfortunately, it is both inadequate and false. Inadequate (and this was always sufficiently apparent); for it does not enable us to ascertain (and these the principal questions) how many terms - of what identity - of what quantity and of what quality, can be legitimately placed in the antecedent. But it is not true (though this was never signalized); for its peculiar principle is falsified by eight of the thirty-six moods, to wit, in affirmatives, by ix., x., xi., xii., and in negatives, by ix. b, x. a, xi. b, xii. a.² In all these, the quantity of an extreme in the conclusion is less than its quantity in the antecedent. We can hardly, therefore, wonder that Ploucquet's logical speculations have been neglected or contemned; although their author be an independent and learned thinker, and his works all well worthy of perusal. But, though dismissed by Hegel and other German logicians, not for its falsity, with supreme contempt, Ploucquet's canon has, however, found its admirers in England, where I have lately seen it promulgated as original.

predicate, will be found in Mr. Baynes' *Essay*, p. 128.

² See Table of Moods, Appendix XI. - ED.

¹ An extract from his Fundamenta Philosophiæ Speculativæ, 1759, containing Ploucquet's doctrine touching the quantification of the

(k) ULKICII.

Institutiones Logicæ et Metaphysicæ, § 171, 1785. — "Non tantum subjecto sed et prædicato, ad subjectum relatio, sua constat quantitas, suumque igitur signum quantitatis præfigere licet. Sed hæc prædicati quantitas ex veterum præceptis sæpe justo minor invenitur. In loco de conversione distinctius de eo exponetur." In that place, however, nothing of the kind appears."¹

VI.

CANONS OF SYLLOGISM; GENERAL HISTORICAL NOTICES AND CRITICISM.

A. - HISTORICAL NOTICES.

I. - QUOTATIONS FROM VARIOUS LOGICIANS.

(Collected and Translated Autumn 1844. See p. 213. - ED.)

(a) DAVID DERODON.

David Derodon (who died at Geneva in 1664, and had been previously Professor of Philosophy at Die, Orange and Nismes) was a logician of no little fame among the French Huguenots; the study of his works was (if I recollect aright) even formally recommended to the brethren of their communion by one of the Gallican Synods. "Either the Devil or Doctor Derodon," was long a proverbial expression in France for the authorship of an acute argument; and the "Sepulchre of the Mass" has been translated into the vernacular of every Calvinist country. Derodon has left two systems of Logic;

¹ [That the Extension of Predicate is always reduced to Extension of Subject, i. e., is equivalent to it, see Purchot, Instit. Phil., Logica, i. pp. 123, 125. Tracy, Elémens d' Idéologie, t. iii. Disc. Prel., pp. 99, 100. Crousaz, Logique, t. iii. p. 190. Derodon, Logica Restituta, P. ii. c. v. art. 4, p. 224. Boethius, Opera, p. 348 (see above, p. 551). Sergeant, Method to Science, b. ii., less. i. p. 127. Beneke, Lehrbuch der Logik, § 156, p. 100. Stattler, Logica, § 196.

That the Predicate has quantity, and potential designation of it as well as the Subject, see Hoffbauer, Analytic der Urtheile und Schlüsse, § 31 et seq. Lambert, Deutscher Gelehrter Briefwechsel, Brief vi. vol. i. p. 395. Platner, Philosophische Aphorismen, i. § 546. Corvinus, Instit. Phil. Rat., § 413. Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial., t. ii. pp. 158, 283. Scotus, In An. Prior. L. i. qu. 4, f. 240; qu. 13, ff. 254^b, 255^a; qu. 14, f. 256^b; qu. 23, f. 273^a.

For instances of Aristotle virtually using distributed predicate, see An. Post., i. 6, § 1. Cf. Zabarella, ad loc. Opera Logra, p. 735. The same, In An. Post., I. 2. Opera, p. 827, and De Quarta Figura Syllog. Op., p. 123. The adding mark of universality to predicate is, Aristotle says, "useless and impossible" (An. Prior., i. c. 27, § 9); yet see ii. c. 22, §§ 7, 8; c. 23, §§ 4, 5. On this question, see Bolzano, Logik, § 131, p. 27, (and above, pp. 543, 548, 549.)

That the predesignation of the predicate by all collectively, in fact, reduces the universal to a singular proposition, see Purchot, Instit. Phil., i. p. 124. Cf Logica Contracta Trajectina, P. ii. e. 5. (1707.)] a larger (Logica Restituta, 1659) and a smaller (Logica Contracta, 1664), both published in 4to.¹ I shall quote only from the former.

It is impossible to deny Derodon's subtlety, but his blunders unfortunately outweigh his originality. Leaving Conversion as he found it, after repeating, with approbation, the old rules, - that the predicate is not to be overtly quantified universally (p. 573), but to be taken, in affirmative propositions particularly, as in negative propositions universally (p. 623); we are surprised to find him controverting, in detail, the special rules of syllogism. This polemic, as might be expected, is signally unsuccessful; for it is frequently at variance with all principle, and uniformly in contradiction of his own. It is, indeed, only interesting as a manifestation, that the old logical doctrine was obscurely felt by so original a thinker to be erroneous; for the corrections attempted by Derodon are, themselves, especially on the ground which he adopts, only so many errors. He unhappily starts with a blunder; for he gives, as rectus, an example of syllogism, in which the middle term is, even of necessity, undistributed; and he goes on (pp. 627, 628, 636, 637, 638, 639, 649) either to stumble in the same fashion, or to adduce reasonings, which can only be vindicated as inferential by supplying a universal quantity to the predicate in affirmative propositions, or by reducing it to particularity in negatives; both in the teeth of Derodon's own laws. I have, however, recorded, in my Table of Syllogisms, some of his examples, both the two forms which he has named, and four others which he only enounces; according, by liberal construction, what was requisite to give them sense, and which, without doubt, the author would himself have recognized.

(b) RAPIN.

Rapin, Réflexions sur la Logique, § 4, 1684.

"Before Aristotle there had appeared nothing on logic systematic and established. His genius, so full of reason and intelligence, penetrated to the recesses of the mind of man, and laid open all its secret workings in the accurate analysis which he made of its operations. The depths of human thought had not as yet been fathomed. Aristotle was the first who discovered the new way of attaining to science, by the evidence of demonstration, and of proceeding geometrically to demonstration, by the infallibility of the syllogism, the most accomplished work and mightiest effort of the human mind," etc.

Rapin errs in making Aristotle lay the rule of proportion along with the Dictum de Omni as a principle of Syllogism.

(c) LEIBNITZ.

Leibnitz, De la conformité de la Foi avec la Raison, § 22. Op. t. i., p. 81. "Hence the facility of some writers is too great, in conceding that the doctrine

number in the same binding must have been the synodical recommendation.

¹ Derodon seems wholly unknown to the German logicians, and, I need hardly add, to imported at once, probably in consequence of those of other countries. In Scotland, his works are not of the rarest; a considerable

of the Holy Trinity is repugnant with that great principle which enounces ---What are the same with the same third, are the same with each other; that is, if A be the same with B, and C be the same with B, it is necessary that A and C should also be the same with one another. For this principle flows immediately from the principle of Contradiction, and is the ground and basis of all Logic: if that fail, there is no longer any way of reasoning with certainty."

(d) REUSCH.

Reuseh, Systema Logicum, 1734.

§ 506. "That dictum of the Aristotelians de Omni et Nullo (503) evinces, indeed, a legitimate consequence, but it only regulates one species of syllogisms, at least immediately. By this reason, therefore, logicians have been induced to prove the consequence of the other species by means of the first, to which they are reduced. But, that we may be able to supersede this labor, I have endeavored to give a broader basis to the Dictum de Omni et Nullo, or by whatever name that rule is called, to which, in the construction of syllogisms, the order of thought is conformed.

§ 507. "For the whole business of ordinary reasoning is accomplished by the substitution of ideas in place of the subject or predicate of the fundamental proposition. This some call the equation of thoughts. Now, the fundamental proposition may be either affirmative or negative, and in each the ideas of the terms may be considered either agreeing or diverse, and according to this various relation there obtains a various substitution, which we shall clearly illustrate before engaging with our doctrine of the Dictum de Omni et Nullo." [Having done this at great length, he proceeds.]

§ 510. "From what has been now fully declared, the following Dietum de Omni et Nullo may be formed, which the definition itself of reasoning and syllogism (§ 502) supports, and to which all syllogisms in every figure and mood may be accommodated.

"If two ideas (two terms) have, through a judgment (proposition), received a relation to each other, either affirmative or negative, in that case it is allowable, in place of either of these (that is, the subject or predicate of that judgment or proposition), to substitute another idea (term), according to the rules given of Equipollence or Reciprocation (§ 508, s. 9), of Subordination, of Coördination." (See Waldin, below, p. 565.)

(c) CRUSIUS.

Crusius, Weg zur Gewissheit. Ed. i. 1747; Ed. ii. 1762.

§ 256. "The supreme law of all syllogism is, What we cannot otherwise think than as true, is true, and what we absolutely cannot think at all, or cannot think but as false, is false."1

1 Kant (Über die Evidenz in melaphysischen gard to the supreme rule of all certainty Wissenchaften, 1768, Verm. Schrift. il. 43) has which this celebrated man thought of placing

hereon the following observation : - "In re- as the principle of all knowledge, and, conse-

§ 259. Of necessary judgments, of judgments which we cannot but think, "which are not identical, and which constitute, in the last result, the positive or the kernel in our knowledge; to which we apply the principle of Contradiction, and thereby enrich the understanding with a knowledge of real judgments," such judgments are principally the following: Every power or force is inherent in a subject; All that arises (begins to be), arises in virtue of a sufficient cause; All whose non-existence cannot be thought, has its cause, and has at some time arisen (begun to be); Every substance exists somewhere; All that exists, exists at some time; Two material things cannot exist at the same time, and in precisely the same place. There are also many other propositions, which treat of the determinate qualification of things as present; for example — The same point of a body cannot be at once red and green; A man cannot be in two places at once, and so forth.

§ 261. "All the judgments previously alleged (§ 259) may be comprehended under these two general propositions, — What cannot in thought be separated from each other, cannot be separated from each other in reality; and, What cannot in thought be connected into a notion, cannot in reality be connected; to wit, although no contradiction shows itself between the notions, but we are only conscious of a physical necessity to think the thing so and so, clearly and after a comparison of all the circumstances with each other. For we now speak of propositions which are not identical with the Principle of Contradiction, but of such as primarily afford the matters on which it may be applied. Hence we see that the supreme principle of our knowledge given above (§ 256) has two determinations; inasmuch as the impossibility to think a something arises either because a contradiction would ensue, or because we are positively so compelled by the physical constitution of our thinking faculties.

§ 262. "The highest principle of all syllogism thus resolves itself into the three capital propositions:

1. Nothing can at once be and not be in the same point of view.

2. Things which cannot be thought without each other, without each other cannot exist.

3. What cannot be thought as with and beside each other, cannot exist with and beside each other, on the supposition even that between the notions there is no contradiction.

"The second of these capital propositions I call the Principle of Inseparables (principium inseparabilium); and the third the Principle of Inconjoinables (principium inconjungibilium). They may be also termed the three Principles of Reason."

Ch. VIII. Of the different species of syllogisms, he says (§ 272), "Among

quently, also of the metaphysical, -What Icannot otherwise think than as true, is true, etc.; it is manifest that this proposition can never be a principle of truth for any knowledge whatever. For if it be agreed that no other principle of truth is possible than inasmuch as we are incapable of holding a thing not for true, in this case it is acknowledged that no other principle of truth is competent, and that knowledge is indemonstrable. It is indeed true that there are many indemonstrable knowledges, but the feeling of conviction in regard to them is a confession, but not a ground of proof, that they are true." See also Reid, Intellectual Powers, Essay iv. ch. 4.

the higher principles of syllogisms it is needful only to enumerate the *Principle* of *Contradiction*, and the *Principle of Sufficient Reason*, which is subsumed from the principle of Inseparables (§ 262). We shall state the laws of syllogism in this order, — Consider those which flow, 1°, From the *Principle of Contradiction*; 2°, From the *Principle of Sufficient Reason*; and, 3°, From both together."

(f) FRANCIS HUTCHESON.

[Francisci Huteheson.] Logicæ Compendium. Glasguæ, in ædibus academicis, excudebant Robertus et Andreas Foulis, Academiæ Typographi. 1764.

Part III., Ch. ii., p. 58.

"The whole force of syllogism may be explicated from the following axioms.

" First Axiom. - Things which agree in the same third, agree among themselves.

"Second Axiom.—Things whereof the one agrees, the other does not agree, in one and the same third, these things do not agree among themselves.

"Third Axiom. — Things which agree in no third, do not agree among themselves.

"Fourth Axiom.— Things which disagree in no third, do not disagree among themselves."

" Hence are deduced the general rules of syllogisms.

" Of these the three first regard the Quality [not alone] of Propositions.

"Rule 1. — If one of the premises be negative, the conclusion will be negative (by Ax. 2).

"Rule 2. — If both premises be affirmative, the conclusion will be affirmative (by Ax. 1).

"Rule 3.— If both premises be negative, nothing follows: because, of things mutually agreeing and mutually disagreeing, both may be different from a third thing (by Ax. 3, 4).

"Two Rules regard the Quantity of Terms.

"Rule 4.— Let the middle be once at least distributed, or taken universally; for the common term frequently contains two or more species mutually opposed, of which it may be predicated according to various parts of its extension; these [specific] terms do not, therefore, truly agree in one third, unless one at least of them agrees with the whole middle (by Ax. 3, 4).

"Rule 5. — No term ought to be taken more universally in the conclusion than in the premises: because no consequence is valid from the particular to the universal. [Because we should, in that case, transcend the agreement or disagreement of the two terms in a third, on which, ex hypothesi, we found.]

"[In like manner there are two rules] concerning the Quantity of Propositions.

"Rule 6. — If one of the premises be particular, the conclusion will also be particular.

"For, Case I. — If the conclusion be affirmative, therefore both premises will be affirmative (by Rule 1). But, in a particular proposition, there is no term distributed; the middle is, therefore, to be distributed in one or other of the premises (by Rule 4). It will, therefore, be the subject of a universal affirmative proposition; but the other extreme is also taken particularly, when it is

the predicate of an affirmative proposition, the conclusion will, therefore, be particular (by Rule 5).

"Case II. — Let the conclusion be negative; its predicate is, therefore, distributed: hence, in the premises, the major and the middle terms are to be distributed (by Rules 5 and 4).

"But when one of the premises is negative, the other is affirmative (by Rule 3). If one premise be particular, these two terms only can be distributed; since one premise affirms, whilst the other is particular. The minor extreme, the subject of the conclusion, is not, therefore, distributed in the premises; it cannot, therefore (by Rule 5), be distributed in the conclusion.

"Rule 7. — From two particular premises nothing follows; at least according to the accustomed mode of speaking, where the predicate of a negative proposition is understood to be distributed. For, 1°, If the conclusion affirm, both premises will affirm, and, consequently, no term is distributed in the premises; contrary to Rule 4. 2°, Let the conclusion be negative, its predicate is therefore distributed; but in particular premises there is only distributed the predicate of a negative proposition; there is, therefore, necessarily a vice (either against Rule 4 or Rule 5)."¹

(g) SAVONAROLA.

Savonarola, Compendium Logices, L. iv. p. 115, ed. Venetiis, 1542.—" In whatever syllogism any proposition can be concluded, there may also be concluded every other proposition which follows out from it." On this he remarks: "When any syllogism infers a conclusion flowing from its immediate conclusion, it is not to be called one syllogism, but two. For that other conclusion does not follow simply in virtue of the premises, but in virtue of them there first follows the proper conclusion, and from this conclusion there follows, by another syllogism, the conclusion consequent on it. Hence there are tacitly two syllogisms; otherwise the moods of syllogisms would be almost infinite."

(h) BAUMGARTEN.

Baumgarten, Acroasis Logica. Ed. Töllner. Ed. I. 1765. § 297. "Every reasoning depends on this proposition :- A and B connected

1 "Rules 1 and 7 are thus contracted into one: The conclusion follows the weaker part; that is, the negative or the particular. All these Rules are included in the following verses:

Distribuas medium, nec quartus terminus adsit, Utraque nec præmises negans, nec particularis. Stetelur partem conclusio deteriorem; El non distribual nisi cum præmises, negetve.



In an unusual mode of speaking, a certain negative conclusion may be effected with a non-distributive predicate. As in this example:

(What are within [] are by me). [Written Autunn, 1844. In the latest notation (,) is substituted for (.), and (:) for (:.). See Appendix XI. — ED.]

with a third C, are connected with each other: in affirmation immediately, in negation mediately. This proposition is, therefore, the foundation and principle of all reasoning; which, however, is subordinate to the principle of Contradiction.

§ 324. "Every ordinary syllogism concluding according to the *Dictum*, either *de Omni*, or *de Nullo*. This *Dictum* is thus the foundation of all ordinary syllogisms." (It had been previously announced, §§ 319, 321.)

"Whatever is truly affirmed of a notion universally, is also truly affirmed of all that is contained under it. Whatever is truly denied of a notion universally, is also truly denied of all that is contained under it."

(i) RELMARUS.

Reimarus, Vernunftlehre. 1766.

§ 176. "The fundamental rules of syllogism are, consequently, no other than the rules of Agreement [Identity] and of Contradiction. For what the geometer in regard to magnitudes takes as the rule of equality or inequality, that the reasoner here adopts as the universal rule of all mediate insight: — If two things be identical with a third, they are also in so far identical with each other. But if the one be, and the other be not, identical with the third, then they are not mutually identical, but rather mutually repugnant."

§ 177. Here he notices that the *Dictum de Omni et Nullo* is not properly a rule for all figures, but for the first alone.

(j) WALDIN.

Waldin, Novum Logica Systema. 1766.

§ 335. "Since the syllogism requires essentially nothing but a distinct cognition of the sufficient reason of some proposition, the most universal rule of all syllogisms is, — The sufficient reason of a given proposition is to be distinctly cognized.

§ 364. "The most general rule of all reasonings (§ 335) remains also the rule of all reasonings as well in synthesis as in analysis. But in the synthesis of the ordinary syllogism the middle term in the major proposition is referred to the major term, in the minor proposition to the minor term. (§ 360.) Wherefore, from this relation we must judge whether the middle term be or be not the sufficient reason of the conclusion. Wherefore, the synthesis of the ordinary syllogism is to be cognized from the relation of its ideas. This you may thus express:

"1.) After the true proposition, the relation of whose extremes you distinctly apprehend;

"2.) Add to its subject or predicate another idea different from both, whether agreeing or disagreeing;

"3.) Inquire into the relation of the added idea, to the end that you may know whether the middle term in the given relation infer the conclusion; and this is known by the application of the rules of Reciprocation, Subordination, Coördination, and Opposition. If any one wish to call this the Dictum de Omni et Nullo I have no objections."

"Observation.—This they call the Dictum de Omni et Nullo of the celebrated Reusch. It stands true indeed, but is beset with difficulties, inasmuch as it is rather a complexus of all rules than one only, which as yet is to be referred to the class of *pia desideria*. Logicians have, indeed, taken pains to discover one supreme rule of all ordinary reasonings; but no one has as yet been so happy as to find it out." Then follows a criticism of the attempts by the Port Royal and Syrbius.

(k) STATTLER.

Stattler, Philosophia, P. I. Logica, 1769.

§ 237. "In this comparison of two ideas with a third, six different cases may in all occur: for, either,

1.) "One of the two ideas contains that same third, which again contains the other; or,

2.) "Both of the two are contained in the third; or,

3.) " Each of the two contains the third; or,

4.) "One of the two contains the third, the other being repugnant with it; or,

5.) "One of the two is contained in the third, with which the other is repugnant; or,

6.) " Both of the two are repugnant to the third.

"The former three eases generate an affirmative conclusion, the latter three a negative." In a note Stattler eliminates a seventh case, in which neither may contain, and neither be repugnant to the third.

§ 244. General Law of all Reasonings. "In all reasonings, as often as a consequent is, by legitimate form, inferred from an antecedent, so often is there included in the antecedent what the consequent enounces; either the congruity and reciprocal containment, or the repugnance of A and C; and if such be not included in one or other of the antecedents, whatever is inferred in the consequent is void of legitimate form."

(1) SAUTER.

Sauter, Institutiones Logicæ, 1798.

§ 123. "Foundations of Syllogism. — In every syllogism there are two notions compared with a third, to the end that it may appear whether they are to be conjoined or sejoined. There are, therefore, here, three possible cases. For there agree with the assumed third, either both notions, or one, or neither. In reasoning, our mind, therefore, reposes on these axioms, as on fundamental principles.

1.) "Where two notions agree with the same third, they agree with one another.

2.) "Where one is contained by the third, with which the other is repugnant, they are mutually repugnant.

3.) "When neither notion agrees with the third, there is between them neither agreement nor repugnance."

(m) SUTER.

Suter, Logica.

§ 61. "Quæ eidem tertio conveniunt vel disconveniunt, etiam conveniunt vel disconveniunt inter se."

(n) SEGUY.

Seguy, Philosophia ad Usum Scholarum Accommodata, T. I. Logica. Paris, 1771.

P. 175, ed. 1785. "Concerning the rule of recent philosophers."

Having recited the general rule of the Port Royal Logic, he thus comments on it:

"1°. This is nothing else than the principle of reasoning; therefore, it is improperly adduced as a new discovery, or a rule strictly so called.

"2°, It may be useful, to the rude and inexperienced, to recognize whether a syllogism be legitimate or illicit.

"But the principal fault of this rule is, that it contains no certain method whereby we may know when, and when not, one of the premises contains a conclusion; for the discovery of which we must frequently recur to the general rules."¹

P. 178. Seguy exposes Father Buffier's error in saying, "that, according to Aristotle and the common rules of Logie, the middle term ought absolutely to be the predicate in the first or major proposition;" seeing that the middle term is not the predicate in the first and third Figures. This must be a mistake; for I cannot find such a doctrine in Buffier, who, in this respect, in many places teaches the correct.

(o) HOFFBAUER.

Hoff bauer, Anfangsgründe der Logik, 1794, 1810.

"§ 317. Fundamental Principles.

"I. 1.) An attribute which belongs to all and every of the objects contained under a notion, may also be affirmed of these objects so contained. (Dietum de Omni.)

"2.) An attribute which belongs to none of the objects contained under a notion, must also be denied of these objects so contained. (Dictum de Nullo.)

"II. When, of the objects X and Z, the one contains an attribute which the other does not contain, and they are thus different from each other, then X is not Z, and Z is not X.

"III. 1.) When objects which are contained under a notion a are also contained under another notion b, then this last notion contains under it some at least of the objects which are contained under the first.

"2.) If certain objects which are not contained under a notion a are con-

tained under b, then b contains under it some at least of the objects which are not contained under a.

"IV. 1.) If objects which are contained under a notion a belong to those which are contained under another notion b, then this second notion b contains under it some at least of the objects which are contained under a.

"2.) If all objects which are contained under a notion a belong to those which are not contained under a certain other notion b, then this notion b contains under it no object which is contained under the notion a.

"3.) If all the objects contained under a certain notion a are different from certain other objects contained under b, then b contains under it at least some objects which are not contained under a."

(p) KANT.

Kant, Logik. 1800-6. II. Syllogisms.

" 56. Syllogism in General. — A syllogism is the cognition that a certain proposition is necessary, through the subsumption of its condition under a given general rule.

"§ 57. General principle of all Syllogisms. — The general principle whereon the validity of all inference, through the reason, rests, may be determinately enounced in the following formula:

"What stands under the condition of a rule, that stands also under the rule itself.

"Observation. — The syllogism premises a General Rule, and a Subsumption under its Condition. Hereby we understand the conclusion a priori, not as manifested in things individual, but as universally maintained, and as necessary under a certain condition. And this, that all stands under the universal, and is determinable in universal laws, is the Principle itself of Rationality or of Necessity (principium rationalitatis seu necessitatis).

"§ 58. Essential constituents of the Syllogism. — To every syllogism there belong the three following parts:

"1.) A general rule, styled the Major proposition (propositio major, Obersatz).

"2.) The proposition which subsumes a cognition under the condition of the general rule, called the *Minor proposition (propositio minor, Untersatz)*; and, finally,

"3.) The proposition which affirms or denies the predicate in the rule of the subsumed cognition, — the Concluding proposition, or Conclusion (Conclusio, Schlussatz).

"The two first propositions, taken in connection with each other, are called the Antecedents, or Premises (Vordersätze).

"Observation. — A rule is the assertion of a general condition. The relation of the condition to the assertion, how, to wit, this stands under that, is the *Exponent* of the rule. The cognition, that the condition (somewhere or other) takes place, is the *Subsumption*.

"The nexus of what is subsumed under the condition, with the assertion of the rule, is the *Conclusion*."

Having shown the distribution of syllogisms into *Categorical*, *Hypothetical*, and *Disjunctive*, he proceeds to speak of the first class.

568

"§ 63. Principle of Categorical Syllogisms. — The principle whereon the possibility and validity of Categorical Syllogisms is this, — What pertains to the attribute of a thing, that pertains to the thing itself; and what is repugnant to the attribute of a thing, that is repugnant to the thing itself (Nota nota est nota rei ipsius; Repugnans nota, repugnat rei ipsi).

"Observation. — From this principle, the so-called Dictum de Omni et Nullo is easily deduced, and cannot, therefore, be regarded as the highest principle either of the Syllogism in general, or of the Categorical Syllogism in particular. Generic and Specific Notions are in fact the general notes or attributes of all the things which stand under these notions. Consequently the rule is here valid — What pertains or is repugnant to the genus or species, that also pertains or is repugnant to all the objects which are contained under that genus or species. And this very rule it is which is called the Dictum de Omni et Nullo."

(q) CHRISTIAN WEISS.

Christian Weiss, Logik, 1801.

"§ 216. Principle for all Syllogisms. — The principle of every perfect Syllogism consists in the relation of one of the notions contained in the conclusion to a third notion (terminus medius), to which the other notion of the conclusion belongs. Now the relation which the first of these holds to the middle notion, the same must hold to the second, just because the second coincides with the middle notion to the same extent as the first.

"Remark. — 'Relation to' means only any determinately thought relation expressed in a judgment. . . .

"The older logicians adopt, some of them, the principle Nota note est nota rei ipsius, — quod repugnat note, repugnat ipsi rei; this, however, is only properly applicable to the first figure. The expression of others is preferable, Quacumque conveniunt (vel dissentiunt) in uno tertio, eadem conveniunt (vel dissentiunt) inter se. Others, in fine, among whom is Wolf, give the Dictum de Omni et Nullo (cf. § 233) as the principle of syllogisms in general; compare Philosophical Aphorisms [of Platner], P. i. § 546. All inference takes place according to a universal rule of reason, here only expressed in reference to syllogism, to which, however, some have chosen to give a more mathematical expression: — If two notions be equal to a third, they are also equal to each other.

[Nota bene. — Weiss's mistake (§ 231) in supposing that Aristotle "designated the syllogistic moods with words, like his learned followers."]

"§ 231. Categorical Syllogisms, Figure I. — The first figure concludes by means of a subordination of the minor term in the conclusion under the subject of another judgment.

"§ 233. This takes place under the general principle :

"1.) What pertains to all objects contained under a notion, that pertains also to some and to each individual of their number among them.

"2.) What belongs to none of the objects contained under a notion, that also does not pertain to some or to any individual of their number among them.

"These are the celebrated Dicta de Omni and de Nullo, - Quidquid præ-

569

dicatur de omni, idem etiam de aliquo, and, Quidquid prædicatur de nullo, id nec de aliquo prædicatur."

(r) FRIES.

Fries, System der Logik.

"§ 52. Hitherto we have maintained two views of the Syllogism in connection. The end in view of reasoning is this, - that eases should be subordinated to general rules, and through them become determined. For example, the general law of the mutual attraction of all heavenly bodies has its whole significance, for my knowledge, in this, that there are given individual heavenly bodies, as Sun and Earth, to which I apply it. To enounce these relations, it is, in the first place, necessary that I have a general rule, as Major Proposition (Obersatz); in the second, a Minor Proposition (Untersatz), which subordinates cases to the rule; and, finally, a Concluding Proposition, which determines the eases through the rule. On the other hand, we see that every Conclusion is an analytico-hypothetic judgment, and this always flows from the Dictum de Omni et Nullo, inasmuch as the relation of subordination of particular under universal notions, is the only relation of Reason and Consequent given in the form of thought itself. Now, if the conclusion, as syllogism, combines a plurality of judgments in its premises, in this case the principle of the inference must lie in a connection of the thoughts, - a connection which is determined by the matter of these judgments. In the simplest case, when taking into account only a single syllogism, I thus would recognize in the premises the relation of subordination between two notions by reference to the same third notion, and therethrough perceive in the conclusion the relation of these two notions to each other. I know, for example, that all men are mortal, and that Caius is a man. Consequently, through the relation of the notion of mortality, and of my imagination of Caius, to the notion man, the relation of Caius to mortality is likewise determined : - Caius is mortal. The first of these views is a mere postulate; but in conformity to the second we are enabled immediately to evolve the general form of syllogisms, and from this evolution does it then become manifest that all possible syllogisms satisfy the postulate. We, therefore, in the first instance, attach ourselves to the second view. Through this there is determined as follows:

"1.) Here the determination of one notion is carried over to another, superordinate or subordinate to itself. To every syllogism there belong three notions, called its *terms (termini)*. (We say notions (Begriff), because they are, in general, such, and when individual representations [or images] appear as terms, in that case there is no inter-commutation possible.) A major term, or superior notion (Oberbegriff), P, is given as the logical determination of a middle term or notion (Mittelbegriff), M, and, through this, it is positively or negatively stated as the determination of a minor term or notion (Unterbegriff), S.

"2.) If, then, we regard the propositions in which these relations are enounced, there is, firstly, in the *conclusion* (*Schlussatz*), the minor term, or inferior notion, subordinated to the major term, or superior notion (S is P). Further, in one of the premises, the middle must be connected with the major term or notion (M is P). This is called the *major proposition* (*Obersatz*). In

the other, again, the minor is connected with the major term or notion (S is M); this is called the *minor proposition (Untersatz)*.

" The form of every syllogism is therefore --

Major Proposition,	M is P.
Minor Proposition,	S is M.
Conclusion,	S is P.

"In the example given above, man is the middle term; mortality the major term; and Caius the minor term. The syllogism is —

Major Proposition,	All men are mortal;
Minor Proposition,	Caius is a man;
Conclusion,	Caius is mortal.

"The fundamental relation in all syllogisms is that of the middle term to the major and minor terms; in other words, that of the carrying over of a logical determination from one notion to another, through certain given subordinations. For, howbeit the Dietum de Omni et Nullo, as a common principle of all syllogisms in the formula, -What holds good of the universal, holds also good of the particulars subordinate thereto, and still more in that other, -The attribute of the attribute is also the attribute of the thing itself, - is proximately only applicable to the categorical subordination of a representation [or notion] under a notion; still, however, the law of mental connection is altogether the same in syllogisms determined by the subordination of consequence under a reason [Hypothetic Syllogisms], or of the complement of parts under a logical whole [Disjunctive Syllogisms]. The displayed form is the form of every possible syllogism. In fact, it also coincides with the first requirement that, in the syllogism, a case should always be determined by a rule, inasmuch as every syllogism proposes a universal premise, in order rigorously to infer its conclusion. This will be more definitely shown when we treat of syllogisms in detail. Only the declaration, that the rule is always the major proposition, is sometimes at variance with the declaration, that the major proposition contains the relation of the middle term to the major term. We must, however, in the first place, always follow the determination of the latter. For every syllogism properly contains the three processes: -1). The subordination of a particular under a universal; this is the function of the minor proposition, and the relation between the minor and major terms; 2). Postulate of a logical determination for one of these two; this is the function of the major proposition, and the relation of the middle to the major term; 3). The earrying over this determination to that other; this is the function of the conclusion and the relation of the minor to the major terms.

"§ 53. The subordination of a particular to a universal must, therefore, in every syllogism, be understood wholly in general. Here either a particular may be determined through the superordinated universal, and such an inference from universal to particular we shall call a syllogism in the first figure; or there is a universal known through its subordinated particular, and this inference from the particular to the universal is called a syllogism in the second [third] figure. If, for example, the subordination is given me, — All gold is

metal; I can either transfer an attribute of metal, for instance *fusibility*, to the gold, or enounce an attribute of gold, *ductility*, for instance, of some metal. In the first case, I draw a conclusion in the first figure, from the universal to the particular:

All metal is fusible; All gold is metal; All gold is fusible.

"In the other case, I conclude in the second [third] figure from the particular to the general:

> All gold is ductile; All gold is metal; Some metal is ductile."

Then, after distribution of the Syllogism into Categorical, Hypothetical, and Divisive (Disjunctive), he proceeds with the first class.

(s) KIESEWETTER.

Kiesewetter, Allgemeine Logik, 1801, 1824. I. Theil.

" \$ 228. — All pure Categorical Syllogisms, whose conclusion is an affirmative judgment, rest on the following principle: — What pertains to the attribute of an object, pertains to the object itself. All syllogisms, whose conclusion is a negative judgment, are based upon the principle: — What is repugnant to the attributes of an object, is repugnant to the object itself. Two principles which can be easily deduced, — the first from the principle of Identity, the second from the principle of Contradiction.

"§ 229. — If we take into consideration that the major proposition of every categorical syllogism must be a universal rule, — from this there flow the following rules:

"1. Whatever is universally affirmed of a notion, that is also affirmed of everything contained under it. The *Dictum de Omni*.

"2. What is universally denied of a notion is denied also of everything contained under it. The *Dictum de Nullo*.

"These rules are also thus expressed:

"What pertains to the genus or species, pertains also to whatever is contained under them. What is repugnant to the genus or species, is repugnant also to whatever is contained under them."

See also the Weitere Auseinandersetzung on the paragraphs.

(t) LARROQUE.

Larroque, *Elémens de Philosophie*, Paris, 1830. *Logique*, eh. i., p. 202. "The attribute of an affirmative proposition is taken sometimes particularly, sometimes universally. It is taken particularly when it has a greater extension than the subject; universally, when it has not a greater extension, which occurs in every proposition where the two terms are identical. The reason of

572

this difference is palpable. If the attribute be a term more general than the subject, we aftirm that the subject is a species or individual contained in the extension of the attribute :— Man is mortal; Paul is learned; — that is, man is one, and not the only, species contained in the extension of the term mortal; Paul is an individual, and not every individual, contained in the extension of the term mortal; If, on the contrary, the attribute be not more general than the subject, the attribute is the same thing with the subject, and, consequently, we affirm that the subject is all that is contained in the extension of the attribute:—A circle is a plane surface, which has all the points in [a line called] its circumference at an equal distance from a point called its centre,— that is, a circle is all or every plane surface, etc.

"The attribute of a negative proposition is always taken universally. When we deny an attribute of a subject, we deny of this subject everything that has the nature of that attribute, that is to say, all the species, as all the individuals, contained in its extension: *The soul is not extended*; to wit the *soul is not any* of the species, *not any* of the individuals contained in the extension of the term *extended.*"

Ch. ii., p. 230. "We have supposed, in the demonstration of these rules [the general rules of the Categorical Syllogism], that the attribute of an affirmative premise is always taken particularly. It would, therefore, seem that the calculations on which this demonstration rests are erroneous, whensoever the attribute is not a term more general than the subject, for we have seen that, in these cases, the attribute can be taken universally. But it is to be observed, that when the two terms of a proposition are identical, if the one or the other may be taken universally, they cannot both be so taken at once; and that, if it be the attribute which is taken universally, it ought to be substituted for the subject, which then affords a particular attribute. A triangle is a figure which has three sides and three angles. We cannot say, All triangle is all figure, which, etc.; but we can say, All triangle is some figure, which, etc.; or, All figure which has three sides and three angles is some triangle. Now, in adopting either of these last expressions of the proposition, the attribute is particular."

Ch. ii., p. 231. "We have seen that the Syllogism inferred from its premises a proposition to be proved; now this conclusion cannot be inferred from, unless it be contained in, the premises. From this incontestable observation the author of the Port Royal Logic has endeavored to draw the following pretended rule, by aid of which we may detect the vice of any fallacious reasoning whatsoever: Thus should one of the premises contain the conclusion, and the other show that it is so contained. A great many treatises on Logic call this the single rule of the moderns. This pompous denomination seems to point at some marvellous discovery, of which the ancients had no conception, — at some consummative result of the efforts of the human intellect. It is true, indeed, that a syllogism is invalid if the conclusion be not contained in the premises; but a fine discovery forsooth! This all the world already knew, — Aristotle among the rest; but he justly noted that it is not always easy to see whether the conclusion be contained in the premises, and it is to assure ourselves of this that he laid down his rules. The pretended rule of the Port

Royal is, therefore, not one at all; it enounces only an observation, true but barren."

(u) GALLUPPI.

Galluppi, Lezioni di Logica e di Metafisica. 1832. Lez. xlvii., p. 353, ed. 1841.

"In a reasoning there must be an idea, common to the two premises; and a judgment which affirms the identity, either partial or perfect, of the other two ideas."

In the same Lecture (p. 348) he shows that he is ignorant of the law quoted from the *Philosophia Lugdunensis*, being by the authors of the L' Art de Penser.

(v) BUFFIER.

Buffier, *Première Logique*, about 1725. The following is from the Recapitulation, § 109:

The Syllogism is defined, a tissue of three propositions, so constituted that if the two former be true, it is impossible but that the third should be true also. (\S 63.)

The first Proposition is called the *Major*; the second the *Minor*; the third the *Conclusion*, which last is the essential end in view of the syllogism. $(\S 65.)$

Its art consists in causing a consciousness, that in the conclusion the idea of the *subject* comprises the idea of the *predicate*; and this is done by means of a third idea, called the *Middle Term* (because it is intermediate between the subject and predicate), in such sort that it is comprised in the subject, and comprises the predicate. (§ 67.)

If the first thing comprise a second, in which a third is comprised, the first comprises the third. If a *fluid* comprise *chocolate*, in which *cocoa* is comprised, the *fluid* itself comprises *cocoa*. (§ 68.)

To reach distant conclusions, there is required a plurality of syllogisms. (§ 71.)

Our rule of itself suffices for all syllogisms, even for the negative; for every negative syllogism is equivalent to an affirmative. (§ 77.)

Hypothetical syllogisms consist in the enouncement, by the major premise, that a proposition is true in case there be found a certain condition; and the minor premise shows that this condition is actually found. (§ 79.)

Disjunctive syllogisms, to admit of an easy verification, ought to be reduced to hypotheticals. (§ 81.)

Although the single rule, which is proposed for all syllogisms, be subject to certain changes of expression, it is nevertheless always the most easy; in fact, all logical laws necessarily suppose this condition. (§ 87.)

The employment of Grammar is essential for the practice of Logic. (§ 90.) By means of such practice, which enables us to estimate accurately the value of the terms in every proposition, we shall likewise obtain the rule for the discovery of all sophisms, which consist only of the mere equivocation of words, and of the ambiguity of propositions. (§ 92 et seq.)

574

(w) VICTORIN.

Victorin, Neue natürlichere Darstellung der Logik, Vienna, 1835.

II. Simple Categorical Syllogisms. § 94. The fundamental rule of all such syllogisms :

"In what relation a concept stands to one of two reciprocally subordinate concepts, in the same relation does it stand to the other."

§ 94. First Figure; fundamental rule: — "As a notion determines the higher notion, so does it determine the lower of the same;" or, "In what relation a notion stands to one notion, in the same relation it stands to the lower of the same."

§ 96. Second Figure; fundamental rule: — "When two notions are oppositely determined by a third notion, they are also themselves opposed;" or, "If two notions stand to a third in opposed relations, they also themselves stand in a relation of opposition."

§ 98. Third Figure; fundamental rule: — "As a notion determines the one of two [to it] subordinate notions, so does it determine the other;" or, "In what relation a notion stands to the one of two [to it] subordinate notions, in the same relation stands it also to the other."

§ 100. Fourth Figure; fundamental rule: — "As a notion is determined by the one of two subordinate notions [two notions in the relation to each other of subordination], so does it determine the other;" or, "In what relation one of two subordinated notions [notions reciprocally subordinate or superordinate] stands as to a third, in the same relation stands it also to the other."

II. - FUNDAMENTAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM. - REFERENCES.

(See Galluppi, Lezioni di Logica e di Metafisica, Lez. xlvii., vol. i. p. 345 et seq.; Troxler, Logik, i. p. 33; Bolzano, Wissenschaftslehre, Logik, vol. ii. § 263, p. 543.)

I. Logicians who confound the Nota notæ and the Dictum de Omni, being ignorant of their several significances; making them —

a) Coördinate laws without distinction.

Jäger, Handb. d. Logik, § 68 (1839); Prochazka, Gesetzb., f. d. Denken, § 217 (1842); Calker, Denklehre, § 143 (1822). Troxler, Logik, ii. p. 40.

b) Derivative; the Dictum de Omni, to wit, from the Nota notæ. This supreme or categorical.

Wenzel, Elem. Philos. Log., §§ 253, 256. Canonik, § 64. Kant, Die falsche Spitzf., § 3. Logik, § 63. Krug, Logik, § 70. Bachmann, Logik, § 123. Jakob, Logik, § 262, 4th ed. 1800; 1st ed. 1788.

II. Logicians who enounce the law of Identity (Proportion), in the same third, by the mathematical expression *Equality*.

Reimarus, Vernunfilehre, §176. Mayer, Vernunftschlusse, i. p. 290. Arriaga, In. Sum., D. III. § 3, p. 23.

III. Logicians who make the Dictum de Omni the fundamental rule of syllogisms in general.

Aristot., An. Prior., L. i. c. 1, § 4. Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 353. Scheibler, Op. P. iv. De Syll. c. ii. § 12. Jac. Thomasius, Erot. Log., c. 395. Buttner, Cur-

sus Philos., Log., § 146. Conimbricenses, In Arist. Dial., An. Prior., L. i. c. 2, p. 204.

IV. Logicians who confound or make coördinate the law of Proportion or Analogy, and the Dictum de Omni.

Wyttenbach, Præc. Philos. Log., P. iii. c. 6, § 4. Whately, Logic, Intr., ch. II. p. iii., § 2. Leechman, Logic, P. III. ch. 2. Keckermann, Systema Logicæ Minus, L. iii. c. 2. Syst. Log. Majus., L. iii. c. 5.

V. Logicians who make the Law of Identity the one supreme.

Suter, Logica, § 61, calls this the principle of Identity and Contradiction. Aldrich, Comp., L. i. c. 3, § 3, p. 2. Hutcheson, Log. Comp., P. iii. c. 2. Arriaga, Cur. Phil., In. Sum., D. iii. §§ 16-22, pp. 23, 24. Larroque, Logique, p. 224. Mayer, Vernunftschusse, i. p. 293. Troxler, Logik, ii. pp. 33, 40. Reimarus, Vernunftlehre, § 176. Mendoza, Disp. Log. et Met., I. p. 470. Derodon, Log. Rest., De Log., pp. 639, 644. Darjes, Via., etc., § 271, p. 97. Smiglecius, Logica, D. xiii. p. 517, qu. etc. Fran. Bonæ Spei, Com. Prim. in Log. Arist., D. vii. d. 2, p. 25. Cursus Complut., De Arg., L. iii. e. 4, p. 57. Alstedius, Enc. Logica, § ii. c. 10, p. 435. Havichorst, Inst. Log., § 324. Poncius, Cursus Philos. In An. Prior., D. xx. qu. 5, p. 282.

VI. Logicians who restrict the Dictum de Omni to the First Figure (immediately).

Aldrich, Comp. l. 1, c. 3, § 7. Noldius, Log. Rec., c. xii. p. 290. Grosser, Pharus Intellectus, § iii. p. 1, memb. iii. p. 137.

VII. Logicians who make the Dicta de Omni et Nullo the supreme canons for Universal Syllogisms; the law of Proportion for Singular Syllogisms.

Burgersdicius, Inst. Log., L. ii. c. 8, p. 171. Melanethon, Erot. Dial., De Syll. Expos., L. iii. p. 172, ed. 1586. Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. vi. cc. 21, 24, pp. 363, 373.

VIII. What name given by what logicians to the Law of Proportion, etc.

Law of Proportion, or of Analogy, Keekermann, Syst. Log. L. iii. c. 5, Op., p. 746. Alstedius, Encycl., p. 435, 7d avalor/ias. Dictum de Omni et Nullo Majus, Noldius, Log., p. 288. Of Identity, Zedler's Lex. Pr. convenientiæ. Darjes, Via ad Verit, § 270, p. 96. Law of Proportional Identity and Non-Identity, Self.

IX. Logicians erroneously supposing Aristotle to employ, besides the Dictum de Omni, the rule of Proportion as a fundamental law of syllogism.

Rapin, Réflexions sur la Logique, § 4.

X. Terms under which the law of Proportion has been enounced.

Agree with. Coincide with. The same with. Cohere (Syrbius). Coëxist (bad). Coëdentical with. Equal to (No. ii.). In combination with, Darjes, Via ad Ver., p. 97 (includes negative). Convertible.

III. - ENUNCIATIONS OF THE HIGHER LAWS OF SYLLOGISM.

Law of Proportion.

Aristotle, *Elench*, c. vi. § 8. "Things the same with one and the same, are the same with one another." Compare *Topica*, L. vii. c. 1, § 6. Thus Scotus, *In An. Prior.*, L. i. qu. 9, f. 248.

Some say, "Uni tertio *indivisibili*,"— some others, "Uni tertio indivisibili, indivisibiliter sumpto." Others, in fine, say, "Uni tertio, adequate sumpto." See Irenæus, *Integ. Philos. Log.*, §§ 3, 5. Some express it, "Things that are equal to the same third are equal to each other." See Irenæus, *ib.* So Reimarus, Mayer.

Some express it, "Quæcunque conveniunt (vel dissentiunt) in uno tertio, eadem conveniunt (vel dissentiunt) inter se."

" Quæ duo conveniunt cum uno quodam tertio, eatenus conveniunt inter se; quando autem duorum unum convenit cum tertio, et alterum huic repugnat, repugnant quoque eatenus sibi invicem." Wynpersse, *Inst. Logicæ*, § 272, Lug. Bat. 3d ed. 1806.

Noldius (*Logica*, p. 288) calls these the Dicta de Omni et de Nullo. The former is, "Quœcunque affirmantur in aliquo tertio (singulari identice, universali et identice et complete distributive), affirmantur inter se." The latter, "Quorum unum [totaliter] affirmatur in aliquo tertio, alterum negatur, ea inter se negantur."

Noldius.—" Whatever is affirmed essentially of a subject, is affirmed of all that is inferior or reciprocal to that subject. Whatever is denied of a subject, is denied of all inferior or reciprocal." (See Noldius against the universal application of these Dicta, *Log. Rec.*, p. 290.)

Reusch (Syst. Logicum, ed. i. 1734, § 503) makes the Dicta de Omni et Nullo the rule of ordinary syllogisms, and thus enunciates them: "Si quid prædicatur de omni, illud etiam prædicatur de aliquo: et, Si quid predicatur de nullo, illud etiam non prædicatur de aliquo. Sensus prioris est, Quidquid de genere, vel specie omni prædicari potest, illud etiam prædicatur de quovis sub illo genere, vel sub illa specie, contento; Item, — Cuicunque competit definitio, illi quoque competit definitum." (And so vice versâ of the other.)

Syrbius gives these two rules:

1) "If certain ideas cohere with a one-third, they also cohere in the same manner with each other."

2) "Ideas which do not cohere with the same one-third, these do not cohere with each other." (Given in the original by Waldin, *Systema*, p. 162. See also *Acta Eruditorum*, 1718, p. 333.) Syrbius thinks that the law of Proportion, unless limited, is false.

Darjes, Via ad Veritatem (1755), § 270, p. 96, 2d ed. 1764. "Two [things or notions] in combination with the same third, may be combined together in the same respect (ea ratione) wherein they stood in combination with that third." (See further; shows that other rules are derived from this.)

Dictum de Omni, etc.

Aristotle, Anal. Pr., L. i. c. i. § 11.

"To be predicated, de Omni, universally, is when we can find nothing under the subject of which the other [that is, the predicate] may not be said; and to be predicated de Nullo, in like manner."

Jae. Thomasius, Erotemata Logica, 1670.

"40. What do you call the foundation of syllogism? — The Dictum de Omni et Nullo.

"41. What is the Dictum de Omni?-When nothing can be subsumed

under the subject of the major proposition of which its predicate may not be affirmed.

"42. What is the Dictum de Nullo?—When nothing can be subsumed under the subject of the major proposition of which its predicate is not denied."

Thomasius notices that the first rule applies only to the affirmative moods of the first figure, Barbara and Darii; the second only to the negative moods of the same figure, Celarent and Ferio.

IV. - OBJECTIONS TO THE DICTUM DE OMNI ET NULLO.

I. As a principle of syllogism in general.

II. As a principle of the First Figure, as enounced by Aristotle.

1^b, Only applies to syllogisms in extension.

2°, Does not apply to individual syllogisms; as, Peter is running; but some man is Peter; therefore, some man is running.

(Arriaga, In. Summ., p. 24.)

3°, Does not apply to coëxtensive reasonings; as, All trilateral is (all) triangular; but all triangular has three angles equal to two right angles; ergo, etc. Arriaga, ib.

Dictum de Omni et Nullo does not apply,

1°, To the other Figures than the First.

2°, Not to all the moods of First Figure, for in many of these the higher class is subjected to the lower.

3°, The form of the First Figure does not depend upon the principle of the Dictum de Omni et Nullo. This imperfect; not upon the thorough-going principle, that in this figure one notion is compared to a second, and this second with a third.

V. - GENERAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM IN VERSE.

(1) Partibus ex puris sequitur nil (2) sive negatis.

(3) Si qua præit partis, sequitur conclusio partis.

(4) Si qua negata præit, conclusio sitque negata.

(5) Lex generalis erit, medium concludere nescit.¹

(6) Univocusque; (7) triplex; (8) ac idem terminus esto.²

(1) Distribuas medium; (2) nec quartus terminus adsit.

(3) Utraque nec præmissa negans; (4) nec particularis.

(5) Sectetur partem conclusio deteriorem;

(6) Et non distribuat nisi cum præmissa, (7) negetve.³

1 Petrus Hispanus, Summula. [Tr. iv. c. 3, f. 45 b. - ED.] 2 Campanella, Dialect., p. 384.

³ Hutcheson, Log. Comp. [P. iii. c. 3, p. 53. – ED.]

(1) Terminus esto triplex : medius, majorque, minorque : (2) Latins hunc quam præmissæ, conclusio non vult, (3) Nequaquam medium capiat conclusio oportet. (4) Aut semel aut iterum medium generaliter esto. (5) Nil sequitur geminis ex particularibus unquam. (6) Utraque si præmissa neget, nihil inde sequetur. (7) Ambæ affirmantes nequeunt generare negantem. (8) Est parti similis conclusio deteriori. Pejorem sequitur semper conclusio partem. ((1) Terminus est geminus, mediumque accedit utrique. (2) Præmissis dicat ne finis plura, caveto. (3) Aut semel, aut iterum medium genus omne capessat; (4) Officiique tenax rationem claudere nolit. (1) Terminus est triplex. (2) Medium conclusio vitet. (3)Hoc ex præmissis altera distribuat. (4) Si præmissa simul fuit utraque particularis, Aut utrinque negans, nulla sequela venit. (5)(6) Particulare præit ? sequitur conclusio partis. (7)Ponitur ante negans? Clausula talis erit. (8) Quod non præcessit, conclusio nulla requirit.² Tum re, tum sensu, triplex modo terminus esto. (Argumentari non est ex particulari. Neque negativis recte concludere si vis. (Nunquam complecti medium conclusio debet. Quantum præmissæ, referat conclusio solum. (Ex falsis falsum verumque aliquando sequetur; Ex veris possunt nil nisi vera sequi.³ VI. - Special Laws of Syllogism in Verse.

1. Fig. Sit minor affirmans, nec major particularis.

2. Fig. Una negans esto, major vero generalis.

3. Fig. Sit minor affirmans, conclusio particularis.

4. Fig. a) Major ubi affirmat, generalem sume minorem.

b) Si minor affirmat, conclusio sit specialis.

c) Quando negans modus est, major generalis habetur.*

B. - CRITICISM.

I. - CRITICISM OF THE SPECIAL LAWS OF SYLLOGISM.

The Special Laws of Syllogism, that is, the rules which govern the several Figures of Categorical Reasonings, all emerge on the suspension of the logical

1 Purchot, with variations of Seguy, Ph. Lugd., Galluppi. [Purchot, Inst. Phil., vol. i., Logica, P. iii. c 3. p. 171. - ED.]

² Isendoorn, Logica, L. iii. c 8, p. 427, 8°, (1652). Chauvin and Walch, Lex. v. Syllog. ³ Crakanthorpe, Logica, L. iii. c. 15, p. 210.
⁴ Ubnghs, Logicæ Elementa, § 225. Sancrucius, Dialectica ad Mentem Doct. Subtilis, L. i.
c. 3, p. 103. J ¹ 2⁻⁰

postulate, - To be able to state in language what is operative in thought. They all emerge on the refusal or neglect to give to the predicate that quantity in overt expression which it possesses in the internal operations of mind. The logicians assert, 1°, That in affirmative propositions the predicate must be always presumed particular or indefinite, though in this or that proposition it be known and thought as universal or definite; and, 2°, That in negative propositions this same predicate must be always presumed absolutely (i. e., universally or definitely) excluded from the sphere of the subject, even though in this or that proposition it be known and thought as partially (i. e., particularly or indefinitely) included therein. The moment, however, that the said postulate of Logic is obeyed, and we are allowed to quantify the predicate in language, as the predicate is quantified in thought, the special rules of syllogism disappear, the figures are all equalized and reduced to unessential modifications; and while their moods are multiplied, the doctrine of syllogism itself is carried up to the simplicity of one short canon. Having already shown that the general laws of syllogism are all comprised and expressed in this single canon,¹ it now only remains to point out how, on the exclusive doctrine of the logicians, the special rules became necessary, and how, on the unexclusive doctrine which is now propounded, they became at once superfluous and even erroneous. It is perhaps needless to observe, that the following rules have reference only to the whole of Extension.

The double rule of the First Figure, that is, the figure in which the middle term is subject in the sumption, and predicate in the subsumption, is, — Sit minor affirmans; nec major particularis. Here, in the first place, it is prescribed that the minor premise must be affirmative. The reason is manifest; because, if the minor premise were negative, the major premise behooved to be affirmative. But in this figure, the predicate of the conclusion is the predicate of the major premise; but if affirmative, the predicate of that premise, on the doctrine of the logicians, is presumed particular, and as the conclusion following the minor premise is necessarily negative, a negative proposition thus, contrary to logical law, has a particular predicate. But if we allow a negative proposition to have in language, as it may have in thought, a particular or indefinite predicate, the rule is superseded.

The second rule, or second part of the rule, of this First Figure, is, that the major premise should be universal. The reason of this is equally apparent. For we have seen that, by the previous rule, the minor premise could not be negative, in which case certainly, had it been allowable, the middle term would, as predicate, have been distributed. But whilst it behooved that the middle term should be once at least distributed (or taken universally), and, as being the subject of the major premise, it could only be distributed in a universal proposition, the rule, on the hypothesis of the logicians, was compulsory. But as we have seen that the former rule is, on our broader ground, inept, and that the middle term may be universally quantified, as the predicate either of an affirmative or negative subsumption, it is equally manifest that this rule is, in like manner, redundant, and even false.

In the Second Figure, that is, the figure in which the middle term is predicate

both in sumption and subsumption, the special rule is, — Una negans esto; major vero generalis.

In regard to the first rule, or first half of the rule, — That one or other of the premises should be negative, — the reason is manifest. For, on the doctrine of the logicians, the predicate of an affirmative proposition is always presumed to be particular; consequently, in this figure the middle term can, on their doctrine, only be distributed (as distributed at least once it must be) in a negative judgment. But, on our doctrine, on which the predicate is quantified in language as in thought, this rule is abolished.¹

The second rule, or second moiety of the rule, — That the sumption should be always universal, — the reason of this is equally clear. For the logicians, not considering that both extremes were in equilibrio in the same whole of extension, and, consequently, that neither could claim [in either quantity] the place of major or minor term, and thereby constitute a true major or a true minor premise; — the logicians, I say, arbitrarily drew one instead of two direct conclusions, and gave the name of major term to that extreme which formed the predicate in that one conclusion, and the name of major premise to that antecedent proposition which they chose to enounce first. On their doctrine, therefore, the conclusion and one of the premises being always negative, it behooved the sumption to be always general, otherwise, contrary to their doctrine, a negative proposition might have a particular predicate. On our doctrine, however, this difficulty does not exist, and the rule is, consequently, superseded.

In the Third Figure, that is, the figure in which the middle term is subject of both the extremes, the special rule is, — Sit minor affirmans; conclusio particularis.

Here the first half of the rule, — That the minor must not be negative, is manifestly determined by the common doctrine. For (major and minor terms, major and minor propositions, being in this figure equally arbitrary as in the second) here the sumption behooving to be affirmative, its predicate, constituting the major term or predicate of the conclusion, behooved to be particular also. But the conclusion following the minor premise would necessarily be negative; and it would have — what a negative proposition is not allowed on the common doctrine — an undistributed predicate.

The second half of the rule, — That the conclusion must be particular, is determined by the doctrine of the logicians, that the particular antecedent, which they choose to call the minor term, should be affirmative. For, in this case, the middle term being the subject of both premises, the predicate of the subsumption is the minor extreme; and that, on their doctrine, not being distributed in an affirmative proposition, it consequently forms the undistributed

¹ [For examples from Aristotle of affirmative conclusions in the Second Figure, see De Calo, L. ii. e. 4, § 4, text 23, *ibi* Averroes. *Phys. L. ii. c. 2*, § 12, text 23, *ibi* Averroes; c. 4, § 8, text 33, *ibi* Averroes. *Ib. c.* 7, § 1, text 42, *ibi* Averroes. An. Post, L. i. c. 12, § 12, text 92, *ibi* Averroes et Pacius. Argues himself, like Cancus, from two affirmative propositions in Second Figure, and does not give the reason why the inference is good or bad in such syllogism. Cf. Anmonius and Philoponus ad. loc. An. Prior, L. ii. c. 22, §§ 7, 8. An. Post, L. i. c. 6, § 1, et ibi, Themistius, Pacius, Zabarella. Cf. also Zabarella, De Quarta Fig. Syll., c. x.]

subject of the conclusion. The conclusion, therefore, having a particular subject, is, on the common doctrine, a particular proposition. But as, on our doctrine, the predicate of an affirmative proposition may have a universal quantification, the reason fails.

II. - LAWS OF SECOND FIGURE - ADDITIONAL.¹

By designating the quantity of the predicate, we can have the middle term (which in this figure is always a predicate) distributed in an affirmative proposition. Thus:

> All P is all M; All S is some M; Therefore, all S is some P.

All the things that are organized are all the things that are endowed with life; But all plants are some things endowed with life; Therefore, all plants are some things organized.

This first rule (see above, p. 291) must, therefore, be thus amplified : -- The middle term must be of definite quantity, in one premise at least; that is, it must either, 1°, Be a singular, - individual, - concept, and, therefore, identical in both premises; or, 2°, A universal notion presumptively distributed by negation in a single premise; or, 3°, A universal notion expressly distributed by designation in one or both premises.

But the second rule, which has come down from Aristotle, and is adopted into every system of Logic, with only one exception, an ancient scholiast, is altogether erroneous. For, 1°, There is properly no sumption and subsumption in this figure; for the premises contain quantities which do not stand to each other in any reciprocal relation of greater or less. Each premise may, therefore, stand first. The rule ought to be, " One premise must be definite ;" but such a rule would be idle; for what is here given as a special canon of this figure, was already given as one of the laws of syllogism in general. 2°, The error in the principle is supported by an error in the illustration. In both the syllogisms given,² the conclusion drawn is not that which the premises warrant. Take the first or affirmative example. The conclusion here ought to have been, No S is some P, or, Some P is no S; for there are always two equivalent conclusions in this figure. In the concrete example, the legitimate conclusions, as necessitated by the premises, are, - No horse is some animal, and, Some animal is no horse. This is shown by my mode of explicating the quantity of the predicate, --- combined with my symbolical notation. In like manner, in the second or negative syllogism, the conclusion ought to have been either of the two following: In the abstract formula, - All S are not some P, or, Some P are not all S; - in the concrete example, All topazes are not some min-

written interpolation by the author in Lectures (p. 291), being an application of the principle of a quantified predicate to syllogism.

1 What follows to page 583 was an early The interpolation appears in students' notes of the Lectures of session 1841-42, and was probably given still earlier. - ED.

2 See p. 292. - ED.

erals, i. e., No topazes are some minerals, or, Some minerals are not all topazes, i. e., Some minerals are no topazes.

The moods Cesare and Camestres may be viewed as really one, for they are only the same syllogism, with premises placed first or second, as is always allowable in this [Figure], and one of the two conclusions, which are always legitimately consequential, assigned to each.

A syllogism in the mood Festino admits of either premise being placed first; it ought, therefore, to have had another mood for its pendant, with the affirmative premise first, the negative premise second, if we are to distinguish moods in this figure by the accidental arrangement of the premises. But this was prohibited by the second Law of this Figure, — that the Sumption must always be universal. Let us try this rule in the formula of Festino now stated, reversing the premises.

> Some S are M (i. e., some M); No P is M; No P is some S. Some S are no P. Some actions are praiseworthy;

No vice is praiseworthy; No vice is some action, Some action is no vice.

From what I have now said, it will be seen that the Dictum de Omni et de Nullo cannot afford the principle of the Second Figure.

The same errors of the logicians, on which I have already commented, in supposing that the sumption or major premise in this figure must always be universal, — an error founded on another error, that there is (properly speaking) either sumption or subsumption in this figure at all, — this error, I say, has prevented them recognizing a mood corresponding to Baroco, the first premise being a particular negative, the second a universal affirmative, *i. e.*, Baroco with its premises reversed. That this is competent is seen from the example of Baroco now given. Reversing it we have:

[Some á are not B;	Some animals are not (any) oviparous;
All a are B.	All birds are (some) oviparous.
No a is some á ;	No bird is some animal;
Some á are no a.]	Some animal is no bird.

III. - AUTHOR'S SUPREME CANONS OF CATEGORICAL SYLLOGISMS.

[The supreme Canon or Canons of the Categorical Syllogism, finally adopted by Sir W. Hamilton, are as follows:]

I. "For the Unfigured Syllogism, or that in which the terms compared do not stand to each other in the reciprocal relation of subject and predicate, being, in the same proposition, either both subjects or (possibly) both predicates, - the canon is: - In so far as two notions (notions proper, or individuals) either both agree, or one agreeing, the other does not, with a common third notion; in so far, these notions do or do not agree with each other.

II. "For the Figured Syllogism, in which the terms compared are severally subject and predicate, consequently, in reference to each other, containing and contained in the counter wholes of Intension and Extension, — the canon is: — What worse relation of subject and predicate subsists between either of two terms and a common third term, with which one, at least, is positively related; that relation subsists between the two terms themselves.

"Each Figure has its own Canon.

"First Figure: — What worse relation of determining (predicate) and of determined (subject) is held by either of two notions to a third, with which one at least is positively related; that relation do they immediately (directly) hold to each other, and indirectly (mediately) its converse.

"Second Figure :- What worse relation of determined (subject) is held by either of two notions to a third, with which one at least is positively related; that relation do they hold indifferently to each other.

"Third Figure : — What worse relation of determining (predicate) is held by either of two notions to a third, with which one at least is positively related; that relation do they hold indifferently to each other."¹

IV. -- ULTRA-TOTAL QUANTIFICATION OF MIDDLE TERM.

(a) LAMBERT'S DOCTRINE.

Lambert, Neues Organon.

Dianoiologie, § 193. "If it be indetermined how far A does, or does not, coincide with B, but, on the other hand, we know that A and B, severally, make up *more than half*² the individuals under C, in that case it is manifest that a [linear] notation is possible, and that of the two following kinds:



"For since B and A are each greater than the half of C, A is consequently greater than C less by B; and in this case, it is of necessity that some A are B, and some B are A." We may accordingly so delineate:



seeing that it is indifferent whether we commence with A or with B. I may add, that the case which we have here considered does not frequently occur, inasmuch as the comparative extension of our several notions is a relation

2 It is enough if either A or B exceed the below, p. 588. half; the other need be only half. This, ³ In the ori which Lambert here and hereafter overlooks, graphical errs

I have elsewhere had occasion to show. See below, p. 588.

³ In the original, for A there is, by a typographical erratum, C. See *Ph.* § 208.

¹ Discussions, pp. 654, 655. - ED.

which remains wholly unknown.¹ I, consequently, adduce this only as an example, that a legitimate employment may certainly be made of these relations."

Phänomenologie, § v. Of the probable -

"§ 188. In so far as such propositions are particular, they may, like all other particular propositions, be syllogistically employed; but no farther, unless we look to their degree of particularity, or other proximate determination, some examples of which we have adduced in the *Dianoiologie* (§ 235 *et seq.*). Thus the degree of particularity may render a syllogism valid, which, without this, would be incompetent. For example:

> Three-fourths of A are B; Two-thirds of A are C; Therefore, some C are B.

The inference here follows, because three-fourths added to two-thirds are greater than unity; and, consequently, there must be, at least, five-twelfths of A which are at once B and C.

"§ 204. In the Third Figure we have the middle term, subject in both premises, and the conclusion, particular. If, now, the subjects of the two premises be furnished with fractions [*i. e.*, the middle term on both sides], both premises remain, indeed, particular, and the conclusion, consequently, indetermined. But, inasmuch as, in both premises, the degree of particularity is determined, there are cases where the conclusion may be drawn not only with probability, but with certainty. Such a case we have already adduced (§ 188.) For, it both premises be affirmative, and the sum of the fractions with which their subjects are furnished greater than unity, in that case a conclusion may be drawn. In this sort we infer with certainty :

> Three-fourths of A are B; Two-thirds of A are C; Therefore, some C are B.

"§ 205. If, however, the sum of the two fractions be less than unity, as --

One-fourth of A are B; One-third of A are C,

1 In reference to this statement, see above, Dian. § 179, and below, Ph. § 157, where it is repeated and confirmed. Lambert might have added that, as we rarely can employ this relation of the comparative extension of our notions, it is still more rarely of any import that we should. For in the two abstract, or notional, wholes, — the two wholes correlative and counter to each other, with which Logic is always conversant (the Universal and Formal), — if the extension be not complete, it is of no consequence to note its comparative amount. For Logic and Philosophy tend always to an unexclusive generality; and a general conclusion is invalidated equally by a single adverse instance as by a thousand. It is only in the concrete or real whole, — the whole quantitative or integrate, and, whether continuous or discrete, the whole in which mathematics are exclusively conversant, but Logic and Philosophy little interested, — that this relation is of any avail or significance.

in that case there is no certainty in any affirmative conclusion [indeed in any conclusion at all]. But if we state the premises thus determinately,—

Three-fourths of A are not B; Two-thirds of A are not C;

in that case, a negative conclusion may be drawn. For, from the propositions,

Three-fourths of A are not B; One-third of A are C;

there follows — Some C are not B. And this, again, because the sum of the two fractions (three-fourths added to one-third) is greater than unity." And so on. See the remainder of this section and those following, till \S 211.

(b) AUTHOR'S DOCTRINE.

Aristotle, followed by the logicians, did not introduce into his doctrine of syllogism any quantification between the absolutely universal and the merely particular predesignations, for valid reasons. - 1°, Such quantifications were of no value or application in the one whole (the universal potential, logical), or, as I would amplify it, in the two correlative and counter wholes (the logical and the formal, actual, metaphysical), with which Logic is conversant. For all that is out of classification, - all that has no reference to genus and species, is out of Logic, indeed out of Philosophy; for Philosophy tends always to the universal and necessary. Thus the highest canons of deductive reasoning, the Dicta de Omni et de Nullo, were founded on, and for, the procedure from the universal whole to the subject parts; whilst, conversely, the principle of inductive reasoning was established on, and for, the (real or presumed) collection of all the subject parts as constituting the universal whole. -2° , The integrate or mathematical whole, on the contrary (whether continuous or discrete), the philosophers contemned. For whilst, as Aristotle observes, in mathematics genus and species are of no account, it is, almost exclusively, in the mathematical whole that quantities are compared together, through a middle term, in neither premise, equal to the whole. But this reasoning, in which the middle term is never universal, and the conclusion always particular, is, as vague, partial, and contingent, of little or no value in philosophy. It was accordingly ignored in Logic; and the predesignations more, most, etc., as I have said, referred to universal, or (as was most common) to particular, or to neither, quantity.¹ This discrepancy among logicians long ago attracted my attention; and I saw, at once, that the possibility of inference, considered absolutely, depended exclusively on the quantifications of the middle term, in both premises, being, together, more than its possible totality - its distribution, in any one. At the same time I was impressed - 1°, With the almost utter inutility of

586

¹ [Cf. Corvinus, Instit. Phil. c. v. § 376, p. Syst. Log. § 360. Wallis, Instit. Log. L. ii. c. 123. Ienæ, 1742. Reusch, Wallis.] [Reusch, 4, p. 100. 5th ed. – ED.]

such reasoning, in a philosophical relation; and, 2°, Alarmed with the load of valid moods which its recognition in Logic would introduce. The mere quantification of the predicate, under the two pure quantities of definite and indefinite, and the two qualities of affirmative and negative, gives (abstractly) in each figure thirty-six valid moods; which (if my present calculation be correct) would be multiplied, by the introduction of the two hybrid or ambiguous quantifications of a majority and a half, to the fearful amount of four hundred and eighty valid moods for each figure. Though not, at the time, fully aware of the strength of these objections, they, however, prevented me from breaking down the old limitation; but as my supreme canon of Syllogism proceeds on the mere formal possibility of reasoning, it of course comprehends all the legitimate forms of quantification. It is: - What worst relation of subject and predicate subsists between either of two terms and a common third term, with which one, at least, is positively related; that relation subsists between the two terms themselves: in other words, - In as far as two notions both agree, or, one agreeing, the other disagrees, with a common third notion; in so far those notions agree or disagree with each other. This canon applies, and proximately, to all categorical syllogisms, - in extension and comprehension, - affirmative and negative, - and of any figure. It determines all the varieties of such syllogisms : is developed into all their general, and supersedes all their special, laws. In short, without violating this canon, no categorical reasoning can, formally, be wrong. Now, this canon supposes that the two extremes are compared together through the same common middle; and this cannot but be if the middle, whether subject or predicate, in both its quantifications together, exceed its totality, though not taken in that totality in either premise.

But, as I have stated, I was moved to the reconsideration of this whole matter; and it may have been Mr. De Morgan's syllogism in our correspondence (p. 19) which gave the suggestion. The result was the opinion, that these two quantifications should be taken into account by Logie, as authentic forms, but then relegated, as of little use in practice, and cumbering the science with a superfluous mass of moods.¹

AUTHOR'S DOCTRINE - continued.

No syllogism can be formally wrong in which (1°) , Both premises are not negative; and (2°) , The quantifications of the middle term, whether as subject or predicate, taken together, exceed the quantity of that term taken in its whole extent. In the former case, the extremes are not compared together; in the latter, they are not necessarily compared through the same third. These two simple rules (and they both flow from the one supreme law) being obeyed, no syllogism can be bad, let its extremes stand in any relation to each other as major and minor, or in any relation to the middle term. In other words, its premises may hold any mutual subordination, and may be of any Figure.

On my doctrine, Figure being only an unessential eircumstance, and every proposition being only an equation of its terms, we may discount Figure, etc.,

¹ Extract from A Letter to A. de Morgan, Esq., from Sir W. Hamilton, p. 41. - ED.

altogether; and instead of the symbol (_____) marking subject and predicate, we might use the algebraical sign of equality (=).

The rule of the logicians, that the middle term should be once at least distributed [or indistributable] (i. e., taken universally or singularly = definitely), is untrue. For it is sufficient if, in both the premises together, its quantification be more than its quantity as a whole (Ultratotal). Therefore, a major part (a more or most) in one premise, and a half in the other, are sufficient to make it effective. It is enough, for a valid syllogism, that the two extreme notions should (or should not), of necessity, partially coincide in the third or middle notion; and this is necessarily shown to be the case if the one extreme coineide with the middle to the extent of a half (Dimidiate Quantification); and the other to the extent of aught more than a half (Ultradimidiate Quantification). The first and highest quantification of the middle term (:) is sufficient, not only in combination with itself, but with any of all the three inferior. The second (.,) suffices in combination with the highest, with itself, and with the third, but not with the lowest. The third (.) suffices in combination with either of the higher, but not with itself, far less with the lowest. The fourth and lowest (,) suffices only in combination with the highest. [1. Definite; 2. Indefinito-definite; 3. Semi-definite; 4. Indefinite.7

(1st March, 1847. — Very carefully authenticated.)

There are 4 quantities (, | . | . , | :), affording (4×4) 16 possible double quantifications of the middle term of a syllogism.

Of these 10 are legitimate equivalents $(: \stackrel{1}{M}: |: \stackrel{2}{M}. |: \stackrel{3}{M}. |: \stackrel{1}{M}: |$

: \mathbf{M} , |, \mathbf{M} : |, \mathbf{M} , |, \mathbf

Each of these 16 quantified middle terms affords 64 possible moods; to wit, 16 affirmative, 48 negative; legitimate and illegitimate.

Altogether, these 16 middle terms thus give 256 affirmative and 768 negative moods; which, added together, make up 1024 moods, legitimate and illegitimate, for each figure. For all three figures = 3072.

The 10 legitimate quantifications of the middle term afford, of legitimate moods, 160 affirmative and 320 negative (=480), *i. e.*, each 16 affirmative and 32 negative moods (=48); besides of illegitimate moods, from double negation, 160, *i. e.*, each 16. The 6 illegitimate quantifications afford, of affirmative moods, 96; of simple negative moods, 192; of double negative moods, 96 (= 384). Adding all the illegitimates = 544.

The 1024 moods, in each figure, thus afford, of legitimate, 480 moods (1440 for all 3 Figs.); being of affirmative 160 (480 for 3 Figs.), of negative 320 (960 for 3 Figs.), of illegitimate 544 moods; there being excluded in each, from inadequate distribution alone (), 288 moods (viz., 96 affirmative, 192 negative); from double negation alone (), 160 moods; from inadequate distribution and double negation together (), 96 moods.
(c) MNEMONIC VERSES.
A it affirms of this, these, all— Whilst E denies of any:
I, it affirms, whilst O denies, Of some (or few or many).
Thus A affirms, as E denies, And definitely either:
Thus I affirms, as O denies, And definitely neither.
A half, left semi-definite, Is worthy of its score;
U, then, affirms, as Y denies, This, neither less nor more.
Indefinito-definites, To UI and YO we come:

And that affirms, and this denies, Of more, most (half plus some).

UI and YO may be called Indefinito-definite, either (1°) , Because they approximate to the whole or definite, [forming] more than its moiety, or (2°) , Because they include a half, which, in a certain sense, may be regarded as definite, and something, indefinite, over and above.

VII.

INDUCTION AND EXAMPLE.

(See p. 225.)

I. - QUOTATIONS FROM AUTHORS.

(a) ARISTOTLE.

Aristotle, *Prior Analytics*, B. ii. e. 23. After stating that "we believe all things either through [deductive] Syllogism or from Induction," he goes on to expound the nature of this latter process.

"Now, Induction, and the Syllogism from Induction, is the inferring one extreme [the major] of the middle through the other; if, for instance, B is the middle of A C, and, through C, we show that A inheres in B. Thus do we institute Inductions. In illustration: — Let A be *long-lived*, B, *wanting-bile*, and C, *individual long-lived animals*, as man, horse, mule, etc. A, then, inheres in the whole of C (for all animal without bile is [at least some] long-lived); but

B, wanting bile, also [partially, at least] inheres in all C.¹ If now C reciprocate with B, and do not go beyond that middle [if C and B, subject and predicate, are each all the other], it is of necessity that A [some, at least] should inhere in [all] B. For it has been previously shown,² that if any two [notions] inhere in the same [remote notion], and if the middle³ reciprocate with either [or

1 I have, however, doubts whether the example which now stands in the Organon be that which Aristotle himself proposed. It appears, at least, to have been considerably modified, probably to bring it nearer to what was subsequently supposed to be the truth. This I infer as likely from the Commentary of Ammonius on the Prior Analytics, occasionally interpolated by, and thus erroneously quoted under the name of a posterior critic, - Joannes, surnamed Philoponus, etc. His words are, in reference to Aristotle, as follows: - " He wishes, through an example, to illustrate the Inductive process; it is of this intent. Let A be long-lived; B, wanting bile; C, as crow, and the like. Now, he says, that the crow and the stag, being animals without bile and long-lived, therefore, animal wanting bile is long-lived. Thus, through the last [or minor] do we connect the middle term with the [major] extreme. For I argue thus: -the individual animals wanting bile are [all] long-lived; consequently, [all] animals wanting bile are long-lived." F. 107, a. ed. Ald. Compare also the greatly later Leo Magentinus, on the Prior Analytics, f. 41, a. ed. Ald. On the age of Magentinus, historians (as Saxius and Fabricius) vary, from the seventh century to the fourteenth. He was certainly subsequent to Michael Psellus, junior, whom he quotes, and, therefore, not before the end of the eleventh century; whilst his ignorance of the doctrine of Conversion, introduced by Boethius, may show that he could hardly have been so recent as the fourteenth.

Aristotle, De Part. Animal (L. iv. c. 2), says, "In some animals the gall [bladder] is absolutely wanting, as in the horse, mule, ass, stag, and roe." . . . "It is, therefore, evident that the gall serves no useful purpose, but is a mere excretion. Wherefore those of the ancients say well, who declare that the cause of longevity is the absence of the gall; and this from their observation of the solidungula and deer, for animals of these classes want the gall, and are long-lived." - Hist. An., L. ii c. 11, Schn. 18, Scal. 15 vul. Notices that some animals have, others want, the gall-bladder (χολή, v. Schn. iii. p. 106), at the liver. Of the latter, among viviparous quadrupeds, he notices stag, roe, horse, mule, ass, etc. Of birds who have the gall-bladder apart from the liver and attached to the intestines, he notices the pigeon, crow, etc.

² Aristotle refers to the chapter immediately preceding, which treats of the Reciprocation of Terms, and in that to the fifth rule which he gives, and of the following purport: "Again, when A and B inhere in all C [*i. e.*, all C is A and is B], and when C reciprocates [*i. e.*, is of the same extension and comprehension] with B, it is necessary that A should inhere in all B [*i. e.*, that all B should be A]."

3 For $\delta \kappa \rho \sigma \nu$, 1 read $\mu \epsilon \sigma \sigma \nu$; but perhaps the true lection is $-\pi\rho\delta s$ τοῦτο βάτερον αὐτῶν ἀντιστρέφη τῶν ἄκρων. The necessity of an emendation becomes manifest from the slightest consideration of the context. In fact, the common reading yields only nonsense, and this on sundry grounds. - 1°, There are three things to which $\Im \acute{a} \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu$ is here applicable, and yet it can only apply to two. But if limited, as limited it must be, to the two inherents, two absurdities emerge. 2°, For the middle, or common, notion, in which both the others inhere, that, in fact, here exclusively wanted, is alone excluded. 3°, One, too, of the inherents is made to reciprocate with either; that is, with itself, or other. 4°, Of the two inherents, the minor extreme is that which, on Aristotle's doctrine of Induction, is alone considered as reciprocating with the middle or common term. But, in Aristotle's language, το άκρον, " The Extreme," is (like $\dot{\eta} \pi \rho \dot{\sigma} \tau a \sigma \iota s$, The Proposition in the common language of the logicians) a synonyme for the major, in opposition to, and in exclusion of, the minor, term. In the two short correlative chapters, the present and that which immediately follows, on Induction and on Example, the expression, besides the instance in question, occurs at least seven times; and in all as the major term. - 5°, The emendation is required by the demonstration itself, to which Aristotle refers. It is found in the chapter immediately preceding (§ 5), and is as follows : - " Again, when A and B inhere in all C, and when C reciprocates with B, it necessarily follows that A should [partially, at least] inhere in all B. For whilst A [some, at least] inheres in all C, and [all] C, by reason of their reciprocity, inheres in [all] B; A will also [some, at least] inhere in all B." The mood here given is viii. of our Table. (See Appendix XI.)

with both], then will the other of the predicates [the syllogism being in the third figure] inhere in the co-reciprocating extreme. But it behooves us to conceive C as a complement of the *whole* individuals; for Induction has its inference *through* [as it is of] all.¹

"This kind of syllogism is of the primary and immediate proposition. For the reasoning of things mediate is, through their medium, of things immediate, through Induction. And in a certain sort, Induction is opposed to the [Deductive] Syllogism. For the latter, through the middle term, proves the [major] extreme of the third [or minor]; whereas the former, through the third [or minor term, proves] the [major] extreme of the middle. Thus [absolutely], in nature, the syllogism, through a medium, is the prior and more notorious; but [relatively] to us, that through Induction is the clearer."

An. Pr., L. ii. e. 24. Of Example. — § 1. "Example emerges, when it is shown that the [major] extreme inheres in the middle, by something similar to the third [or minor term]. . . . § 4. Thus it is manifest that the Example does not hold the relation either of a whole to part [Deduction], nor of a part to whole [Induction], but of part to part; when both are contained under the same, and one is more manifest than the other. § 5. And [Example] differs from Induction, in that this, from all the individuals, shows that the [major] extreme inheres in the middle, and does not [like Deduction] hang the syllogism on the major extreme; whereas that both hangs the syllogism [on the major extreme], and does not show from all the individuals [that the major extreme is inherent in the minor.]"

An. Post., L. i. e. 1, \S 3. — "The same holds true in the case of reasonings, whether through [Deductive] Syllogisms or through Induction; for both accomplish the instruction they afford from information foreknown, the former receiving it as it were from the tradition of the intelligent, the latter manifesting the universal through the light of the individual." (Pacii, p. 413. See the rest of the chapter.)

An. Pos., L. i. e. 18, \S 1.—" But it is manifest that, if any sense be wanting, some relative science should be wanting likewise, this it being now impossible for us to apprehend. For we learn everything either by induction or by demonstration. Now, demonstration is from universals, and induction from particulars; but it is impossible to speculate the universal unless through induction, seeing that even the products of abstraction will become known to us by induction."

A. Aristotle's Errors regarding Induction.

Not making Syllogism and its theory superior and common to both Deductive and Inductive reasonings.

A corollary of the preceding is the reduction of the genus Syllogism to its species Deductive Syllogism, and the consequent contortion of Induction to Deduction.

Immediately following, in which he treats the reasoning from Example. See passage quoted on page 590 (§ 5).

¹ This requisite of Logical Induction, that it should be thought as the result of an agreement of all the individuals or parts, is further shown by Aristotle in the chapter

B. Omissions. Omission of negatives. Of both terms reciprocating.

C. Ambiguities.

Confusion of Individuals and Particular. See Scheibler [Opera Logica, P. iii. De Prop., c. vi., tit. 3, 5. - ED.].

Confusion or non-distinction of Major or Minor extremes.

The subsequent observations are intended only to show out Aristotle's authentic opinion, which I hold to be substantially the true doctrine of Induction; to expose the multiform errors of his expositors, and their tenth and ten times tenth repeaters, would be at once a tedious, superfluous, and invidious labor. I shall, first of all, give articulately the correlative syllogisms of Induction and Deduction which Aristotle had in his eye; and shall employ the example which now stands in the Organon, for, though physiologically false, it is, nevertheless (as a supposition), valid, in illustration of the logical process.

ARISTOTLE'S CORRELATIVE SYLLOGISMS.

(b) OF DEDUCTION.

(a) OF INDUCTION. All C (man, horse, mule, etc.) is some A (long- All A (wanting-bile) is some A (long-lived); All C (man, horse, mule, etc.) is all B (wantlived): All C (man, horse, mule, etc.) is all B (wanting-bile); All C (man, horse, mule, etc.) is some A (longing-bile); All B (wanting-bile) is some A (long-lived). lived). A, ____:B:___:C (p,q,r, etc.) A, ____: C (p, q, r, etc.): ____: B

These syllogisms, though of different figures, fall in the same mood; in our table they are of the eighth mood of the third and first Figures. Both unallowed. (See Ramus, quoted below, p. 593.)

The Inductive syllogism in the first figure given by Schegkius, Pacius, the Jesuits of Coimbra, and a host of subsequent repeaters, is altogether incompetent, so far as meant for Aristotle's correlative to his Inductive syllogism in the third. Neither directly nor indirectly does the philosopher refer to any Inductive reasoning in any other figure than the third. And he is right; for the third is the figure in which all the inferences of Induction naturally run. To reduce such reasonings to the first figure, far more to the second, is felt as a contortion, as will be found from the two following instances, the one of which is Aristotle's example of Induction, reduced by Pacius to the first figure, and the other the same example reduced by me to the second. I have taken care also to state articulately what are distinctly thought, - the quantifications of the predicate in this reasoning, ignored by Pacius and logicians in general, and

admitted only on compulsion, among others, by Derodon (below, p. 594), and the Coimbra commentator.¹

ARISTOTLE'S INDUCTIVE SYLLOGISM IN FIGURES.

(c) FIG. I.

(d) FIG. II.

All C (man, horse, mule, etc.) is some A (long- Some A (long-lived) is all C (man, horse, lived); Mll B (wanting-bile) is all C (man, horse, All B (wanting-bile) is all C (man, horse, mule, etc.); mule, etc.);

All B (wanting-bile) is some A (long-lived). All B (wanting-bile) is some A (long-lived).

(b) PACHYMERES.

Pachymeres, Epitome of Aristotle's Logic (Title viii. eh. 3, c. 1280). - " Induction, too, is celebrated as another instrument of philosophy. It is more persuasive than Deductive reasoning, for it proposes to infer the universal from singulars, and, if possible, from all. But as this is frequently impossible, individuals being often in number infinite, there has been found a method through which we may accomplish an Induction, from the observation even of a few. For, after enumerating as many as we can, we are entitled to call on our adversary to state on his part, and to prove, any opposing instances. Should he do this, then [for, 'data instantia, eadit inductio'] he prevails; but should he not, then do we succeed in our Induction. But Induction is brought to bear in the third figure; for in this figure is it originally cast. Should, then, the minor premise be converted, so that the middle be now predicated of all the minor extremes, as that extreme was predicated of all the middle; in that case, the conclusion will be, not of some, but of all. [In induction] the first figure, therefore, arises from conversion, - from conversion of the minor premise, - and this, too, converted into all, and not into some. But [an inductive syllogism] is drawn in the third figure, as follows : - Let it be supposed that we wish to prove, - every animal moves the lower jaw. With that intent, we place as terms: - the major, moves the under jaw; the minor, [all] animal; and, lastly, the middle, all contained under animal, so that these contents reciprocate with all animal. And it is thus perfected [?] in the first figure, as follows: - To more the lower jaw is predicated of all individual animals; these all are predicated of all animal; therefore, moving the lower jaw is predicated of all animal. In such sort induction is accomplished."

(c) RAMUS.

Ramus, *Scholæ Dialecticæ*, L. viii. e. 11. "Quid vero sit inductio perobscure [Aristoteli] declaratur : nec ab interpretibus intelligitur, quo modo syllogismus per medium concludat majus extremum de minore : inductio majus de medio

¹ [In An. Prior, L. ii. p. 403. Cf. Perionius, Dialectica, L. iii. p. 366 (1544). Tosca, Comp. Phil. Logica, t. I. l. iii. c. l, p. 115.]

per minus." Ramus has confirmed his doctrine by his example. For, in his expositions, he himself is not correct.

(d) DERODON.

Derodon, Logica Restituta, 1659, p. 602. Philosophia Contracta, 1664, Logica, p. 91. "Induction is the argumentation in which, from all the particulars, their universal is inferred; as - Fire, air, water, earth, are bodies; therefore, every element is body. It is recalled, however, to syllogism, by assuming all the particulars [including singulars] for the middle term, in this manner : -Fire, air, water, and earth are bodies; but fire, air, water, and earth are every element; therefore, every element is body. Again : - The head, chest, feet, etc., are diseased; but the head, chest, feet, etc., are the whole animal; therefore, the whole animal is diseased. Thus induction is accomplished when, by the enumeration of all the individuals, we conclude of the species what holds of all its individuals; as - Peter, Paul, James, etc., are rational; therefore, all man is rational; or when, by the enumeration of all the species, we conclude of the genus what holds of all its species; as - Man, ass, horse, etc., are sensitive; therefore, all animal is sensitive; or when, by the enumeration of all the parts, we conclude the same of the whole; as - Head, chest, feet, etc., are diseased; therefore, the whole animal is diseased."

(e) THE COLLEGE OF ALCALA.

A curious error in regard to the contrast of the Inductive and the Deductive syllogism stands in the celebrated Cursus Complutensis, - in the Disputations on Aristotle's Dialectic, by the Carmelite College of Alcala, 1624 (L. iii. e. 2). We there find surrendered Aristotle's distinctions as accidental. Induction and Deduction are recognized, each as both ascending and descending, as both from, and to, the whole; the essential difference between the processes being taken, in the existence of a middle term for Deduction, in its non-existence for Induction. The following is given as an example of the descending syllogism of Induction : - All men are animals; therefore, this, and this, and this, etc., man is an animal. An ascending Inductive syllogism is obtained from the preceding, if reversed. Now all this is a mistake. The syllogism here stated is Deductive; the middle, minor, and major terms, the minor premise and the conclusion being confounded together. Expressed as it ought to be, the syllogism is as follows : - All men are (some) animals; this, and this, and this, etc., are (constitute) all men; therefore, this, and this, and this, etc., are (some) animal. Here the middle term and three propositions reappear; whilst the Deductive syllogism in the first figure yields, of course, on its reversal, an Inductive syllogism in the third.

The vulgar errors, those till latterly, at least, prevalent in this country, that Induction is a syllogism in the Mood Barbara of the first figure (with the minor or the major premise usually suppressed); and still more that from a *some* in the antecedent we can logically induce an *all* in the conclusion, these, on their own account, are errors now hardly deserving of notice, and

have been already sufficiently exposed by me, upon another occasion (Edinburgh Review, LVII. p. 224 et seq.). [Discussions, p. 158 et seq. - ED.]

(f) FACCIOLATI.

Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, P. iii. e. 3, defines Induction as "a reasoning without a middle, and concluding the universal by an enumeration of the singulars of which it is made up." His examples show that he took it for an Enthymeme.—"Prudence, Temperance, Fortitude, etc., are good habits [these constitute all virtue]; therefore [all] virtue is a habit."

(g) LAMBERT.

Lambert, Neues Organon, i. § 287. "When, in consequence of finding eertain attribute in all things or cases which pertain to a class or species [genus (?)], we are led to affirm this attribute of the notion of the class or genus; we are said to find the attribute of a class or genus through induction. There is no doubt that this succeeds so soon as the induction is complete, or so soon as we have ascertained that the class or species A contains under it no other cases than C, D, E, F,.....M, and that the attribute B occurs in each of the cases C, D, E, F,.....M. This process now presents a formal syllogism in Caspida. For we thus reason —

> C, as well as D, E, F, M are all B; But A is either C, or D, or E, or F.... or M; Consequently, all A are B.

"The example previously given of the syllogistic mood *Caspida* may here serve for illustration. For, to find whether every syllogism of the Second Figure be negative, we go through its several moods. These are *Cesare*, *Camestres*, *Festino*, *Baroco*. Now both the first conclude in E, both the last in O. But E and O are negative, consequently all the four, and herewith the Second Figure, in general, conclude negatively.¹ As, in most cases, it is very difficult to render the minor proposition, which has the disjunctive predicate for its middle term, complete, there are, therefore, competent very few perfect inductions. The imperfect are [logically] worthless, since it is not in every ease allowable to argue from *some* to all. And even the perfect we eschew, whensoever the conclusion can be deduced immediately from the notion of the genus, for this inference is a shorter and more beautiful."

Strictures on Lambert's doctrine of Induction.

1°, In making the minor proposition disjunctive.

2°, In making it particular.

3°, In making it a minor of the First Figure instead of the Third.

Better a categorical syllogism of the Third Figure, like Aristotle, whom he does not seem to have been aware of. Refuted by his own doctrine in § 230.

"The sylloyisms, as well in Cesare as in Camestres, Festino, and Baroco, are all negative; "Now every spillogism of the Second Figure is either in Cosarc, or Camestres, or Festino, or Favoro; "Consequently every syllogism in the Second Figure is Negative."

¹ It is given in § 285, as follows:

The recent German Logicians,¹ following Lambert (N. Org. i. § 287), make the inductive syllogism a byword. Lambert's example: — "C, as well as D, E, F.....M, all are B; but A is either C, or D, or E, or F, or M; therefore, all A is B." Or, to adapt it to Aristotle's example: — Man, as well as horse, mule, etc., all are long-lived animals; but animal void of gall is either man, or horse, or mule, etc.; therefore, all animal void of gall is long-lived.

This, I find, was an old opinion, and is well invalidated by the commentators of Louvain.²

The only inducement to the disjunctive form is, that the predicate is exhausted without the predesignation of universality, and the First Figure attained. But as these crotchets have been here refuted, therefore, the more natural, etc.

Some logicians, as Oxford Crakanthorpe (Logica, I. iii. c. 20, published 1622, but written long before), hold that induction can only be recalled to a Hypothetical syllogism. As, — If Sophocles be risible, likewise Plato and all other men, then all man is risible; but Socrates is risible, likewise Plato and all other men; therefore all man is risible. Against the Categorical syllogism in one or other figure he argues :— " This is not a universal categorical, because both the premises are singular; nor a singular categorical, because the conclusion is universal." It is sufficient to say, that, though the subjects of the premises be singular (Crakanthorpe does not contemplate their being particular), as supposed to be all the constituents of a species or relatively universal whole, they are equivalent to that species; their universality (though contrary to Aristotle's canon) is, indeed, overtly declared, in one of the premises, by the universal predesignation of the predicate. Our author further adds, that Induction cannot be a categorical syllogism, because it contains four terms; this

1 As Herbart, Lehrbuch der Logik, § 69, Twesten, Drobisch, H. Ritter.

2"I am aware of the opinion of many, that the singulars in the Inductive syllogism should be enumerated by a disjunctive coujunction, in so much that the premises of such a syllogism are commonly wont to be thus cast: Whatsoever is John, or Peter, or Paul, etc., is capable of instruction. But they err, not observing that the previous proposition is manifestly equivalent to the following, --John, and Peter, and Paul, etc., are capable of instruction." (Lovanienses, Com. In An. Pr., L. ii. tr. 3, c. 2, p. 286, ed. 1547; 1st ed., 1555.) This here said of the major is true of Lambert's minor. The Louvain masters refer probably [to Versor, etc.] This doctrine, -that the Inductive syllogism should be drawn in a disjunctive form, - was commonly held, especially by the scholastic commentators on Petrus Hispanus. Thus Versor (to take the books at hand), whose Exposition first appeared in 1487, says -- " In the fourth place. Induction is thus reduced to syllogism, seeing that, in the conclusion of the Induction, there are two terms of which the subject forms the

minor, and the predicate the major, extreme in the syllogism; whilst the singulars, which have no place in the conclusion, constitute the middle term. Thus the Induction — Socrates runs, Plato runs (and so of other men); therefore, all man runs, — is thus reduced: All that is Socrates, or Plato (and so of others), runs; but all man is Socrates, or Plato (and so of others); therefore, all man runs. And these singulars ought to be taken disjunctively, and disjunctively, not computatively, verified of their universal." — (In Hisp. Summul. Tr. v.)

The same doctrine is held in the *Repara*tiones of Arnoldus de Tungeri and the Masters Regent in the Burse (or College) of St. Lawrence, in Cologne, 1496. (Tr. iii. c. ii., Sec. Pri.)

It is also maintained in the *Copulati* of Lambertus de Monte, and the other Regents in the Bursa Montis of Cologne, 1490. They give their reasons, which are, however, not worth stating and refuting.

But Tartaretus, neither in his Commentaries on Hispanus nor on Aristotle, mentions this doctrine.

quaternity being made by the "all men" (in his example) of the premises being considered as different from the "all man" of the conclusion. This is the veriest trifling. The difference is wholly factitious: all man, all men, etc., are virtually the same; and we may indifferently use either or both, in premises and conclusion.

II. - MATERIAL INDUCTION.

Material or Philosophical Induction is not so simple as commonly stated, but consists of two syllogisms, and two deductive syllogisms, and one an Epicheirema. Thus:

I.—What is found true of some constituents of a natural class, is to be presumed true of the whole class (for nature is always uniform); a a' a'' are some constituents of the class A; therefore, what is true of a a' a'' is to be presumed true of A.

II. — What is true of a a' a," is to be presumed true of A; but z is true of a a' a"; therefore, z is true of A.

It will be observed, that all that is here inferred is only a presumption, founded, 1°, On the supposed uniformity of nature; 2°, That A is a natural class; 3°, On the truth of the observation that $a \ a' \ a''$ are really constituents of that class A; and, 4°, That z is an essential quality, and not an accidental. If any be false, the reasoning is nought, and, in regard to the second, $a \ a' \ a''$ (some) cannot represent A (all) if in any instance it is found untrue. "Data instantia cadit inductio." In that case the syllogism has an undistributed middle.

VIII.

HYPOTHETICAL AND DISJUNCTIVE REASONING – IMME-DIATE INFERENCE.

I. - AUTHOR'S DOCTRINE - FRAGMENTS.

(See p. 231.)

All Mediate inference is one; that incorrectly called *Categorical*; for the *Conjunctive* and *Disjunctive* forms of *Hypothetical* reasoning are reducible to immediate inferences.



§ 1. Reasoning is the showing out explicitly that a proposition, not granted or supposed, is implicitly contained in something different, which is granted or supposed.

§ 2. What is granted or supposed is either a single proposition, or more than a single proposition. The Reasoning in the former case is Immediate, in the latter Mediate.

§ 3. The proposition implicitly contained may be stated first or last. The Reasoning in the former case is Analytic, in the latter Synthetic.

Observations. — § 1. "A proposition," not a truth; for the proposition may not, absolutely considered, be true, but, relatively to what is supposed its evolution, is and must be necessary. All Reasoning is thus hypothetical; hypothetically true, though absolutely what contains, and, consequently, what is contained, may be false.²

1 Reprinted from Discussions, p. 656. - ED.

cal, and that Categorical Syllogism is really, and in a higher signification, hypothetical, see Maimon, Versuch einer neuen Logik, § vi. 1.,

² That all logical reasoning is hypotheti-

Observations. — § 2. Examples: Immediate — If A is B, then B is A; Mediate — If A is B, and B is C, then A is C.

Observations. — § 3. Examples: Analytic — B is A, for A is B; A is C, for A is B, and B is C. Synthetic — A is B; therefore, B is A; A is B, and B is C; therefore, A is C.

ON THE NATURE AND DIVISIONS OF INFERENCE OR SYLLOGISM IN GENERAL.

(November, 1848.)

I. Inference, what

II. Inference is of three kinds; what I would call the - 1°, Commutative; 2°, Explicative; and, 3°, Comparative.

1°. In the first, one proposition is given; and required what are its formal commutations?

2°, In the second, two or more connected propositions are given, under certain conditions (therefore, all its species are conditionals); and required what are the formal results into which they may be explicated. Of this genus there are two species, -- the one the Disjunctive Conditional, the other the Conjunctive Conditional. In the Disjunctive (the Disjunctive also of the Logicians), two or more propositions, with identical subjects or predicates, are given, under the disjunctive condition of a counter quality, i. e., that one only shall be affirmative; and it is required what is the result in case of one or other being affirmed, or one or more denied. (Excluded Middle.) In the Conjunctive (the Hypotheticals of the logicians), two or more propositions, convertible or contradictory, with undetermined quality, are given, under the conjunctive condition of a correlative quality, i. e., that the affirmation or negation of one being determined, determines the corresponding affirmation or negation of the others; and it is required what is the result in the various possible cases. (Identity and Contradiction, not Sufficient Reason, which in Logic is null as a separate law.)

 3° , In the third, three terms are given, two or one of which are positively related to the third, and required what are the relations of these two terms to each other $?^{1}$

III. All inference is hypothetical.

IV. It has been a matter of dispute among logicians whether the class which

pp. 82, 88. E. Reinhold, Logik, § 109, p. 253 et seq. Smiglecius, Logica, Disp. xiii, q. 5, p. 495 (1st ed. 1616).

On the nature of the Necessity in Syllogistic Inference; distinction of Formal and Material Necessity, or of necessitas consequentiæ and necessitas consequentis, see Scotns, Quæstiones, Super Elenchos, qu. iv., 227, ed 1639, and that all inference hypothetical, In An. Prior, L. ii. qu. i. p. 331. Apuleius, De Hab. Doct Plat., p. 34. Aristotle, An. Prior, i. 32, § 5. Smiglecius, Logica, loc. cit. Balforeus, In Arist. Org., An. Prior, i. t. 8, p. 454. 1616. [See also Discussions, p. 146, note. - ED.] 1 A better statement of the three different processes of Reasoning.

I. Given a proposition; commutative; what are the inferences which its commutations afford?

II Given two or more propositions; related and conditionally; — what are the inferences which the relative propositions, explicated under these conditions, afford?

III. Given three notions; two related, and at least one positively, to a third; — what are the inferences afforded in the relations to each other, which this comparison of the two notions to the fhird determines?

I call Explicative (viz., the Hypothetical and Disjunctive Syllogisms) be of Mediate or Immediate inference. The immense majority hold them to be mediate; a small minority, of which I recollect only the names of Kant [Fischer, Weiss, Bouterwek, Herbart],¹ hold them to be immediate.

The dispute is solved by a distinction. Categorical Inference is mediate, the medium of conclusion being a term; the Hypothetical and Disjunctive syllogisms are mediate, the medium of conclusion being a proposition, - that which I call the *Explication*. So far they both agree in being mediate, but they differ in four points. The first, that the medium of the Comparative syllogism is a term; of the Explicative, a proposition. The second, that the medium of the Comparative is one; of the Explicative, more than one. The third, that in the Comparative the medium is always the same; in the Explicative, it varies according to the various conclusion. The fourth, that in the Comparative the medium never enters the conclusion; whereas, in the Explicative, the same proposition is reciprocally medium or conclusion.

V. Logicians, in general, have held the Explicative class to be composite syllogisms, as compared with the Categoric; whilst a few have held them to be more simple. This dispute arises from each party taking a partial or one-sided view of the elasses. In one point of view, the Explicative are the more complex, the Comparative the more simple. In another point of view, the reverse holds good.

Our Hypothetical and Disjunctive Syllogisms may be reduced to the class of Explicative or Conditional. The Hypotheticals should be called, as they were by Boethius and others, Conjunctive, in contrast to the coördinate species of Disjunctive. Hypothetical, as a name of the species, ought to be abandoned.

The Conjunctive are conditional, inasmuch as negation or affirmation is not absolutely asserted, but left alternative, and the quality of one proposition is made dependent on another. They are, however, not properly stated. The first proposition, - that containing the condition, - which I would call the Explicand, should be thus enounced: As B, so A; - or, As B is, so is A; or, As C is B, so is B A. Then follows the proposition containing the explication, which I would call the *Explicative*; and, finally, the proposition embodying the result, which I would call the Explicate.

They are called Conjunctives from their conjoining two convertible propositions in a mutual dependence, of which either may be made antecedent or consequent of the other.

Disjunctive syllogisms are conditional, inasmuch as a notion is not absolutely asserted as subject or predicate of another or others, but alternatively conjoined with some part, but only with some part, of a given plurality of notions, the affirmation of it with one part involving the negation of others. The first proposition, containing the condition, I would call the Explicand, and so forth as in the Conjunctives. They are properly called Disjunctives.

[1 Kant, Logik, § 75. Bouterwek, Lehrbuch 137. Weiss, Logik, §§ 210, 251. Herbart,

der philosophischen Vorkenntnisse, § 100, p. 158, Lehrbuch zur Einleitung in die Philosophie, § 64, 2d ed. 1820. Fischer, Logik, c. v. §§ 99, 100, p. p. 87, 1834.]

DISTRIBUTION OF REASONINGS.

(Nov. 1848). — Inference may be thus distributed, and more fully and accurately than I have seen. It is either (1.) Immediate, that is, without a middle term or medium of comparison; or (II.) Mediate, with such a medium.¹

Both the Immediate and the Mediate are subdivided, inasmuch as the reasoning is determined (A) to one, or (B) to one or other, conclusion. (It is manifest that this latter division may constitute the principal, and that *immediate* and *mediate* may constitute subaltern classes.)

All inference, I may observe in the outset, is hypothetic, and what have been called *Hypothetical Syllogisms* are not more hypothetic than others.

I. A — Immediate Peremptory Inference, determined oue conclusion, contains under it the following species $:^2$

I. B — Immediate Alternative Inference contains under it these five species, —

1°, Given one proposition, the alternative of affirmation and negation. As - A either is or is not; but A is; therefore, A is not not. Or, A is or is not B; but A is B; therefore, A is not not-B.

This species is anonymous, having been ignored by the logicians; but it requires to be taken into account to explain the various steps of the process.

2°, Given one proposition, the alternative between different predicates. This is the common Disjunctive Syllogism.

 3° , The previous propositions coujoined, given one proposition, etc. As, A either is or is not either B or C or D; but A is B; therefore, it is not not-B, it is not C, it is not D.

Alias, A is either B or non-B, or C or non-C, or D or non-D; but A is B; therefore it is not non-B, and it is non-C, and it is non-D.

4°, Given two propositions, second dependent on the first, and in the first the alternative of affirmation and negation. This is the Hypothetical Syllogism of

I [Cf. Fonseca, Instit. Dial., L. vi. c. 1., 1st ed. 1564. Eustachius, Summa Philosophiæ Quadripartita, Dialectica, P. iii. tract. i., p. 112. ["Quoniam argumentatio est quædam consequentia (latius enim patet consequentia quam argumentatio), prius de consequentia, quam de argumentatione dicendum est. Consequentia igitur, sive consecutio, est oratio in qua ex aliquo aliquid colligitur; ut, Omnis homo est animal, igitur aliquis homo est animal." - ED] [Whether Immediate Inference really immediate, see, on the affirmative, E. Reinhold, Logik, § 106; on the negative, Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 461. Krug, Logik, § 94. p. 287. Schulze, Logik, §§ 85-90 (§ 80, 5th ed.). Cf. Maimon, Versuch einer neuen Logik, Sect. v. § 2, p. 74 et seq. F. Fischer, Logik, p. 104 et seq. Bachmann, Logik, § 105, p. 154 et seq. Reimarus, Vernunftlehre, § 159 et seq. (1765). Bolzano, Wissenschaftslehre, Logik, vol. ii § 255 et seq. Twesten, Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, § 77, p. 66. Rösliug, Die Lehren der

reinen Logik, § 130, p. 391. Scheibler, Op. Log., De Proposit. Consecutione, p. 492 et seq.]

² [Kinds of Immediate Inference, I Subalternation, II. Conversion, III. Opposition – (a) of Contradiction – (b) of Contrariety – (c) of Subcontrariety, IV. Equipollence, V. Modality, VI. Contraposition, VII. Correlation, VIII, Identity,

Fonseca (IV), (I), (II). Eustachius (I), (IV), (II), (VIII.) Wolf, (IV), (VII), (III), a, b, c, (II). Stattler, (I), (IV), (II). (III). Kant, (I), (III), a, b, c, (II), (VI). E. Reinhold, (I), (II), (VI), (VII). Rösling, (I). (IV), (II), (III), a, b, c, (V). Krug, (IV), (I), (III), a, b, c, (II), (V). G. E. Schulze, (IV), (I), (III), (II). S. Maimon, (I), (II), (II), (V). Bachmann, (IV), (I). (III), a, b, c, (II), (VI), (V). Platner, (I), (II), (II), (IV). F. Fischer, (V), (I), (III), (II), (V). Reimarus, (IV), (I), (III), a, b, (I). Twesten, (I), (V), (III), (IV), (II), (V). See pp. 534, 535.]

the logicians. It is, however, no more hypothetical than any other form of reasoning; the so-called hypothetical conjunction of the two radical propositions being only an elliptical form of stating the alternation in the one, and the dependence on that alternation in the other. For example : If A is B, B is C; this merely states that A either is or is not B, and that B is or is not C, according as A is or is not B. In short — As A is or is not B, so B is or is not C.

(Errors, -1°, This is not a mediate inference.

2°, This is not more composite than the categorical.

3°, The second proposition is not more dependent upon the first than the first upon the second.)

5°, Given two propositions, one alternative of affirmation and negation, and another of various predicates; the Hypothetico-disjunctive or Dilemmatic Syllogism of the logicians.

II. A - Mediate Peremptory Inference. This is the common Categorical Syllogism. Three propositions, three actual terms, one primary conclusion, or two convertible equally and conjunctly valid.

II. B - Mediate Alternative Syllogism. Three propositions, three possible terms, and conclusions varying according . . .

-
- 2°, The Disjunctive Categorical.

.

4°, The Hypothetical Categorical.

5°, Hypothetico-Disjunctive Categorical. .

.

HYPOTHETICAL SYLLOGISM. - CANON.

(Oct. 1848.) - Canon - Two or more propositions thought as indetermined in quality, but as in quality mutually dependent, the determination of quality in the one infers a determination of the corresponding quality in the other.

This canon embodies and simplifies the whole mystery of Hypothetical Syllogisms, which have been strangely implicated, mutilated, and confused by the logicians.

1°, What are called Hypothetical Propositions and Syllogisms are no more hypothetical than others. They are only hypothetical as elliptical. When we say, If A is, then B is, we mean to say the proposition, A is or is not, and the proposition, B is or is not, are mutually dependent, -- that as the one so the other. If here only means taking for the nonce one of the qualities to the exclusion of the other; I, therefore, express in my notation the connection of the antecedent and consequent of a hypothetical proposition, thus :

$$(A \times - x \longrightarrow) = (B \times - x \longrightarrow)$$

2°, The interdependent propositions are erroneously called Antecedent and Consequent. Either is antecedent, either is consequent, as we choose to make them. Neither is absolutely so. This error arose from not expressing overtly the quantity of the subject of the second proposition. For example: If man is, then animal is. In this proposition, as thus stated, the negation of the first does

not infer the negation of the second. For man not existing, animal might be realized as a consequent of dog, horse, etc. But let us consider what we mean; we do not mean all animal, but some only, and that some determined by the attribute of rationality or such other. Now, this same some animal depends on man, and man on it; expressing, therefore, what we mean in the proposition thus: -If all man is, then some animal is, - we then see the mutual dependence and convertibility of the two propositions.¹ For to say that no animal is, is not to explicate but to change the terms.

 3° , The interdependent propositions may be dependent through their counter qualities, and not merely through the same. For example: As our hemisphere is or is not illuminated, so the other is not or is; but the other is not illuminated; therefore ours is. Another: If A is, then B is not; but B is; therefore A is not.

DISJUNCTIVE AND HYPOTHETICAL SYLLOGISMS PROPER.

Aristotle ignores these forms, and he was right.³ His followers, Theophrastus and Eudemus, with the Stoics, introduced them into Logic as coördinate with the regular syllogism; and their views have been followed, with the addition of new errors, up to the present hour. In fact, all that has been said of them has been wrong.

1°, These are not composite by contrast to the regular syllogism, but more simple.

2°, If inferences at all, these are immediate, and not mediate.

 3° , But they are not argumentations, but preparations (explications) for argumentation.³ They do not deal with the quæsitum, — do not settle it; they

1 Cf. Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. xii. § 26. "In specie falsum quoque arbitror, quod Syllogismi Conditionales duas habeant figuras, quæ his muniantur regulis, (1) posito antecedente, ponitur consequens, 101 vero remoto antecedente, removetur consequens, (2) remoto consequente, removetur antecedens, non autem posito consequente, ponitur antecedens, . . . § 28. Videamus specialius; contra primam regulam sic peccatur:

Si Chinenses sunt Mahometani, sunt infideles,

At non sunt Mahometani,

Ergo non sunt infideles,

"nam conclusio hic est absurda! Verum si prædicatum conclusionis sumatur particulariter, nulla est absurditas, si autem generaliter, tum evadunt quatuor termini. § 9. Eodem exemplo secunda regula etiam illustratur, sed assumemus aliud ex Weisio, d. l.

Si miles est doctus, novit libros (nempe sicut eruditi solent).

Sed novit libros (scil. ut alii homines, etiam indocti, nosse solent).

Ergo miles est doctus.

"Hac conclusio itidem pro falsa habetur! Sed jam indicavimus in addita parenthesl veram causam, nempe quatuor terminos, quodsi autem medius terminus eodem sensu accipiatur, ac in syllogismo formaliter proposito queat minor probari, tum conclusio erit verissima, idque virtute præmissarum. § 30. Omnis igitur error exinde habet originem, quod quantitatem prædicati vel non intelligant, vel non observent; si igitur hunc lapsum evites, objecta exempla omnia, qualia etiam Weisius *d. l.* commemorat, facile dilucs.⁵⁷ — ED.

² Cf. Titius, Ars Cogitandi, c. xif. § 7. "Syllogismus Disjunctivus est enthymema sine majore, bis, oratione disjuncta et positiva, propositum, . . . § 17. Conditionalis seu Hypotheticus nihil aliud est quam enthymema vel sine majore, vel minore, bis, prima scil. vice, conditionaliter, secunda, pure, propositum. § 20. Sequitur nullum peculiare concludendi fundamentum vel formam circa Syllogismos Conditionales occurrere, nam argumentationes imperfectas, adeoque materiam syllogismorum regularium illi continent." — ED.

³ This I say, for, notwithstanding what M. St. Hilaire so ably states in refutation of my paradox, I must adhere to it as undisproved. — See his Translation of the Organon, vol. iv. p. 55.

only put the question in the state required for the syllogistic process; this, indeed, they are frequently used to supersede, as placing the matter in a light which makes denial or doubt impossible; and their own process is so evident, that they might, except for the sake of a logical, an articulate, development of all the steps of thought, be safely omitted, as is the case with the quæsitum itself. For example:

1. Hypothetical (so called) Syllogism. Let the quæsitum or problem be, to take the simplest instance, — *Does animal exist*? This question is thus hypothetically prepared — *If man is, animal is.* But [as is conceded] man is; therefore, animal is. But here the question, though prepared, is not solved; for the opponent may deny the consequent, admitting the antecedent. It, therefore, is incumbent to show that the existence of animal follows that of man, which is done by a categorical syllogism.

2. Disjunctive (so called) Syllogism. Problem — Is John mortal? Disjunctive syllogism — John is either mortal or immortal; but he is not immortal; ergo [and this, consequently, is admitted as a necessary alternative] he is mortal. But the [alternative antecedent] may be denied, and the alternative consequent falls to the ground. It is, therefore, necessary to show either that he is not immortal, or — the necessary alternative — that he is mortal, which is done by categorical syllogism.

HYPOTHETICAL INFERENCE.

Inasinuch as a notion is thought, it is thought either as existing or as non-existing; and it cannot be thought as existing unless it be thought to exist in this or that mode of being, which, consequently, affords it a ground, condition, or reason of existence. This is merely the law of Reason and Consequent; and the hypothetical inference is only the limitation of a supposed notion to a certain mode of being, by which, if posited, its existence is affirmed; if sublated, its existence is denied. For example: If A is, it is B; but A is, etc.

Again, we may think the existence of B (consequently of A B) as dependent upon C, and C as dependent upon D, and so forth. We, accordingly, may reason: If A is B, and B is C, and C is D, etc.

DISJUNCTIVE SYLLOGISM PROPER.

(October 1848.) — Inasmuch as a notion is thought, it is thought as determined by one or other, and only by one or other, of any two contradictory attributes; and inasmuch as two notions are thought as contradictory, the one or

the other, and only the one or the other, is thought as a determining attribute of any other notion. This is merely the law of Excluded Middle. The disjunctive inference is the limitation of a subject notion to the one or to the other of two predicates thought as contradictories; the affirmation of the one inferring the negation of the other, and vice versâ. As, A is either B or not B, etc. Though, for the sake of brevity, we say A is either B or C or D, each of these must be conceived as the contradictory of every other; as, B = |C| D, and so on with the others.

HYPOTHETICALS (CONJUNCTIVE AND DISJUNCTIVE SYLLOGISM).

(April 30, 1849.) - These syllogisms appear to be only modifications or corruptions of certain immediate inferences; for they have only two terms, and obtain a third proposition only by placing the general rule of inference (stating, of course, the possible alternatives), disguised, it is true, as the major premise. It is manifest that we might prefix the general rule to every mediate inference; in which case a syllogism would have four propositions; or, at least, both premises merged in one complex proposition, thus:

If A and C be either subject or predicate [of the same term ?], they are both subject or predicate of each other ; But B is the subject of A and predicate of B [C?]; ... A is the predicate of C.I

Thus, also, a common hypothetical should have only two propositions. Let us take the immediate inference, prefixing its rule, and we have, in all essentials, the eognate hypothetical syllogism.

1. - Conjunctive Hypothetical.

All B is (some or all) Λ ;	All men are (some) animals;
Some or all B exists;	(All or some) men exist;
Therefore, some A exists.	Therefore, some animals exist.

Here it is evident that the first proposition merely contains the general rule upon which all immediate inference of inclusion proceeds; to wit, that, the subjective part being, the subjective whole is, etc.

Now, what is this but the Hypothetical Conjunctive?

If B is, A is;	If man is, animal is;
But B is;	But man is;
Therefore, Λ is.	Therefore, animal is.

1 There seems to be an error here in the author's MS. It is obvious that a mediate therefore, C is A. This is apparently what the inference may be expressed in the form of a hypothetical syllogism. Thus: If B is A, and ent form. - ED.

C is B, then C is A; but B is A, and C is B; author means to express in a somewhat differ-

2. - Hypothetical Disjunctive.

B is either A or not A;	Man is either animal or non-animal;
But B is A;	But man is animal;
Therefore, B is not not-A.	Therefore, is not non-animal.

Stating this hypothetically, we may, of course, resolve the formal contradictory into the material contrary. But this is wholly extralogical.

HYPOTHETICAL AND DISJUNCTIVE SYLLOGISMS.

(1848 or 1849.) — The whole antecedent must be granted; and there cannot be two propositions inferred. In Categorical Syllogisms, the antecedent is composed of the major and minor premises, and there is only one simple conclusion (though this may, in the second and third figures, vary). So in Hypothetical and Disjunctive Syllogisms the whole antecedent is the two clauses of the first proposition; and the whole inference is the first and second clauses of the second proposition, erroneously divided into minor proposition and conclusion.

(January 1850.) — The Medium or Explicative may be indefinitely various, according to the complexity of the Explicand; and so may the Explicate. The explicative and the explicate change places in different explications. There is, in fact, no proper medium-explicative or conclusion-explicate.

(January 1850.) — In Disjunctives there is always at least double the number of syllogisms (positive and negative) of the disjunct members; and in all syllogisms where the disjunct members are above two, as there is thus afforded the possibility of disjunctive explicates, there is another half to be added. Thus, if there be two disjunct members, as A - x B C, there are four syllogisms, but all of an absolute conclusion, — explicate. But if there be three disjunct members, as A - x B C D, in that case there are six absolute explicates, three positive and three negative, and, moreover, three disjunctivo-positive conclusions, — explicates, after a negative explicative, and so on.

HYPOTHETICAL SYLLOGISM. - CANONS.

(February 1850.) — I. For *Breadth*, — The extensive whole or class being universally posited or sublated, every subjacent part is posited or sublated; or, for *Depth*, — All the comprehensive wholes being posited or sublated, the comprehended parts are universally posited or sublated.

II. For *Breadth*, — Any subjacent part being posited or sublated, the extensive whole or class is partially posited or sublated; or, for *Depth*, — Any comprehensive whole being posited or sublated, the comprehended parts (or part) are, *pro tanto*, posited or sublated, — Conversion and Restriction.

III. If one contradictory be posited or sublated, the other is sublated or posited, — Contradiction.

IV. If some or a part only of a notion be posited or sublated, all the rest (all other some) is sublated or posited, — Integration.

V. If the same under one correlation be posited or sublated, so under the other, — Equipollence.

VI. Law of Mediate Inference,¹- Syllogism.

Mem. — The *some* in the explicand is (as in the Conversion of propositions) to be taken in the explicative as the *same some*. There is thus an inference equally from consequent to antecedent, as from antecedent to consequent.²

HYPOTHETICALS, OR ALTERNATIVES.

CONJUNCTIVE (HYPOTHETICALS EMPHATICALLY) AND DISJUNCTIVE (ALTERNATIVES EMPHATICALLY.)

(August 1852.)

Quantification, -Any.

Affirmative, — Any (Anything, Aught) contains under it every positive quantification, — All or Every, — Some at least, — Some only, — This, These. (Best.)

Negative, — Not any, None, No (Nothing, Naught), is equivalent to the most exclusive of the negations, All not; All or every not; Not one, and goes beyond the following, which are only partial negations, — Not all; Not some; Some not. (Worst.)

Affirmative, — Any, a highest genus and best; not so Negative — *Not any*, — a lowest species, and worst. Therefore can restrict, — subalternate in the former, not in the latter.

1	2
- Any (all or every, - some).	Some not, or not some, or not all - some only (def.).
Pure affirmative.	Mixed affirmative and negative.
	3
Allor	every not not one not any

All or every not, not one, not any

Pure negative.

If any (every) M be an (some) A, and any (every) A an (some) S, then is any (every) M an S; and, v. v., if no (not any) A be any S, and any M some A, then is no M any S.

: (On one alternative), some M being some A, and all A some S, some M is some S.

(On the other), no A being any S, and every M some A, no M is any S.

If (on any possibility) M is, some A is; or, v. v., if no A is, no M is.

∴ (on one alternative) (in this actuality), some M being, some A is; (on the other), no A being, no M is.

Possible M:, _____, A or A: _____; M. Supposition of universal Possibility. In any case.

Actual M, _____, A or A: _____: A. Assertion of particular Actuality. In this case.

From *Possible*, we can descend to *Actual*; from *Any*, to *Some*; but *Not any* being lowest or worst, we can go [no] lower.

1 See p. 536. - ED.

² See p. 603. - ED.

The *Possible* indifferent to Affirmation or Negation, it contains both implicitly. But when we descend to the *Actual* (and *Potential*?), the two qualities emerge. This explains much in both kinds of Hypotheticals or Alternatives, — the Conjunctives and Disjunctives.

Higher classes, — Possible, Actual — Semper, quandocunque, tunc, nunc — Ubicunque, ubique, ibi, hoc — Any, all, some — In all, every, any case, in this case — Conceivable, real.

RULES OF HYPOTHETICAL SYLLOGISMS.

1. Universal Rule of Restriction. — What is thought of all is thought of some, — what is thought of the whole higher notion (genus) is thought of all and each of the lower notions (special or individual).

2. General Rule of both Hypotheticals. — What is thought (implicitly) of all, the Possible (genus), is thought (explicitly) of all and each, the Actual (species).

3. Special Rule of Conjunctives. — What is thought as consequent on every Possible, is thought as consequent on every Actual, antecedent.

4. Special Rule of Disjunctives. — What is thought as only Possible (alternatively), is thought as only Actual (alternatively).

5.	Most Special	Rule of Conjunctives.	•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•
6.	Most Special	Rule of Disjunctives.					•				•	

HYPOTHETICALS - EXAMPLES UNQUANTIFIED.

(Higher to Lower.)

 AFFIRMATIVE.
 NEGATIVE.

 If the genus is, the species is.
 If the genus is not, the species is not.

 If the stronger can, the weaker can.
 If the stronger cannot, the weaker cannot.

(Lower to Higher.)

If the species is, the genus is.	If the species is not, the genus is not.
If the weaker can, the stronger can.	If the weaker cannot, the stronger cannot.

(Equal to Equal.)

If triangle, so trilateral.

Such poet Homer, such poet Virgil.

- Where (when) the carcass is, there (then) are the flies.
- If Socrates be the son of Sophroniscus, Sophroniscus is the father of Socrates.
- If equals be added to equals, the wholes are equal.
- If A be father of B, B is son of A;
- : A being father of B, B is son of A;
- ... B not being son of A, A is not father of B.
- If the angles be proportional to the sides of $a \Delta;$
- \therefore An equiangular will be an equilateral Δ .
- If wheresoever the carcass is, there will the eagles be gathered together (Matt. xxiv. 28);
- ... If here the carcass is, here, etc.

A.) - CONJUNCTIVE HYPOTHETICALS.

1.) If A be D, it is Δ ; \therefore $\begin{cases}
A, being D, is \Delta; \\
A, not being \Delta, is not D;
\end{cases}$ In other words — A is either D or not Δ D.

Identity and Contradiction.

2.) If B be A, it is not non-A; ... { B, being A, is not non-A; B, being non-A, is not A;
In other words - B is either A or non-A.
Excluded Middle.

3.) If B be not A, it is non-A; ... { B, not being A, is non-A; B, being non-A, is not A;
In other words — B is either not A or not non-A.
Excluded Middle.

4.) If E be not D, it is not ∆; ∴ { E, not being D, is not ∆; E, being ∆, is D;
In other words - E is either not D ∆, or ∆ D. Contradiction and Identity.

B.) - DISJUNCTIVE HYPOTHETICALS.

If B be either A or non-A; ... { B being A, is not non-A; B being non-A, is not A. Excluded Middle.

" If" means suppose that, — in case that, — on the supposition — hypothesis, under the condition, — under the thought that, — it being supposed possible;

: etc., means then, — therefore, — in that case, etc., etc., — in actuality either. Only, properly, in both Conjunctives and Disjunctives, two contradictory alternatives. For contrary alternatives only material, not formal, and, in point of fact, either A or B or C means A or non-A, B or non-B, C or non-C.

The minor premise, on the common doctrine, a mere materiality. Formally, - logically, it is a mere differencing of the conclusion, which is by formal alternative afforded.

1.) In Hypotheticals (Conjunctive and Disjunctive), two or three hypotheses. The first is in the original supposition of possibility. (If B be A, it is not non-A — If B be either A or non-A.) The second (and third) is in the alternative suppositions of actuality (\therefore either if B be A, it is not non-A, or if B be non-A, it is not A. — \therefore If B be A, it is not non-A, or if B be non-A, it is not A). (Possibly, — by possible supposition) If man is, animal is; \therefore (actually) Man being, animal is; (or) animal not being, man is not.

1.) Possibility — a genus indifferent to negative and affirmative. These two species of Possibility, to wit, two Actuals, — an actual yes, and an actual no. The total formal conclusion is, therefore, of two contradictories. This explains

why, in Conjunctive and Disjunctive Hypotheticals, there are two alternative consequents, and only one antecedent.

2.) In Hypotheticals (Conjunctive and Disjunctive) a division of genus in the first supposition into two contradictories, — species. The inference, therefore, one of subalternation or restriction.

3.) In Hypotheticals (Conjunctive and Disjunctive), two alternative contradictory conclusions — the form giving no preference between the two, the matter only determining (other immediate inferences have only one determinate conclusion, and all mediate syllogism has virtually only one). Formally, therefore, we cannot categorically, determinately, assert, and assert exclusively, either alternative, and make a minor separate from the conclusion. This only materially possible; for we know not, by the laws of thought, whether a certain alternative is, knowing only that one of two alternatives must be. Formally, therefore, only an immediate inference, and that alternative double.

4.) Hypothetical (Conjunctive and Disjunctive) reasoning more marking out, — predetermining how a thing is to be proved, than proving it.

5.) Thus, three classes of inference: 1°, Simple Immediate Inference. 2°, Complex Immediate Inference (Hypotheticals Conjunctive and Disjunctive). — 3°, Syllogisms Proper, Mediate Inference.

6.) If we quantify the terms, even the formal inference breaks down.

7.) The only difference between the first proposition and the two latter, is the restriction or subalternation. These last should, therefore, be reduced to one, and made a conclusion or restriction. The genera and species are of the most common and notorious kinds, as *Possible and Actual*, — *Wherever*, *Here*, etc., — *Whenever*, *Now*, — *All* or *Every*, *Some*, *This*, etc. The commonness and notoriety of this subordination is the cause why it has not been signalized ; and if signalized, and overtly expressed, Hypotheticals might be turned into Categoricals. It is better, however, to leave them as immediate inferences. For it would be found awkward and round-about to oppose, for example, the Possible to the Actual, as determining a difference of terms. (See Molinaeus, *Elem. Log.*, L. i. tr. iii. p. 95, and Pacius, *In Org.*, *De Syll. Hyp.*, p. 533.) The example of the *Cadaver* there given shows the approximation to the ordinary Hypotheticals. They may stand, in fact, either for Categoricals or Hypotheticals.

8.) Disjunctives — (Possibly) A is either B or non-B; \therefore (Actually) A is either, etc.

9.) The doctrine in regard to the Universal Quantity, and the Affirmative Quality (see Krug, Logik, §§ 57, 83, 86, pp. 171, 264, 275), of the supposition, proposition, of Conjunctive (?) and Disjunctive Hypotheticals, is solved by my theory of *Possibility*. In it is virtually said (whatever quantity and quality be the clauses), — "on any possible supposition." (On the Quality, v. Krug, Logik, § 57, p. 172. Pacius, In Org., p. 533. Molinæus, Elem. Log., l. c.)

10.) Possibly, — problematically includes as species the actual affirmative and the actual negative. It will thus be superfluous to enounce a negative in opposition to an affirmative alternative; for thus the possible would be brought down to the actual, and the whole syllogism be mere tautological repetition.

11.) The quantified terms, if introduced, must either be made determinate, to suit the Hypotheticals, or must ruin their inference. For example -If all

or some man be some animal, we must be able to say, But some animal is not, therefore man (any or some) is not. But here some animal, except definitized into the same some animal, would not warrant the required inference. And so in regard to other quantifications, which the logicians have found it necessary to annul.

12.) The minor proposition may be either categorical or hypothetical. (See Krug, Logik, § 83, p. 264. Heerebord, Instit. Logicar. Synopsis, L. ii. c. 12, pp. 266, 267.) In my way of stating it: — If man is, animal is, \therefore If man is (or man being), animal is.

13.) Of notions in the relation of sub-and-superordination (as, in opposite ways Depth and Breadth, Containing and Contained), absolutely and relatively, the lower being affirmed, the higher are (partially) affirmed; and the higher being (totally) denied, the lower are (totally) denied. A, E, I, O, U, Y may represent the descending series.

The first proposition is conditional, complex, and alternative; we should expect that the second should be so likewise. But this is only satisfied on my plan; whereas, in the common, there is a second and a third, each categorical, simple, and determinate.

The subalternation is frequently double, or even triple, to wit, 1°, From the Possible to the Actual. 2° (for example), From *Everywhere* to *here*, or *this* p/ace, or the place by name. 3°, From *all* to *some*, etc. — in fact, this inference may be of various kinds.

The $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{\alpha}\lambda\eta\psi\iota$ s of Aristotle may mean the determination, — the subalternation; the $\kappa\alpha\tau\dot{\alpha}$ ποιότητα may refer to the specification of a particular quality or proportion under the generic; and the πρόσληψιs of Theophrastus (for the reading in Aristotle should be corrected) may correspond to the κατὰ ποιότητα.

There is no necessary connection, formally considered, between the antecedent and consequent notions of the Hypothetical major. There is, consequently, no possibility of an abstract notation; their dependence is merely supposed, if not material. Hence the logical rule, — *Propositio conditionalis nihil ponit in esse.* (See Krug, *Logik*, § 57, p. 166.) But on the formal supposition, — on the case thought, what are the rules ?

We should distinguish in Hypotheticals between a propositional antecedent and consequent, and a syllogistic A and C; and each of the latter is one proposition, containing an A and C.

The antecedent in an inference should be that which enables us formally to draw the conclusion. Show in Categoricals and in Immediate Inferences. On this principle, the conclusion in a Hypothetical will contain what is commonly called the minor proposition with the conclusion proper; but it will not be one and determinate, but alternative.

If there were no alternation, the inference would follow immediately from the fundamental proposition; and there being an alternative only makes the conclusion alternatively double, but does not make a mediate inference.

To make one alternative determinate is extralogical; for it is true only as materially proved. 1°, The splitting, therefore, of the conclusive proposition into two — a minor and a conclusion proper — is wholly material and extralogical; so also, 2°, Is the multiplying of one reasoning into two, and the dividing between them of the alternative conclusion.

Errors of logicians, touching Hypothetical and Disjunctive Reasonings:

1°, That [they] did [not] see they were mere immediate inferences.

2°, Most moderns that both Hypothetical.

3°, That both alternative reasonings in one syllogism.

4°, Mistook a part of the alternative conclusion for a minor premise.

5°, Made this a distinct part (minor premise), by introducing material considerations into a theory of form.

6°, Did not see what was the nature of the immediate inference in both, — how they resembled and how they differed.

II. - HISTORICAL NOTICES.

(CONJUNCTIVE AND DISJUNCTIVE.)

(a) ARISTOTLE.

(August 1852.)

Aristotle (Anal. Pr. L. i. c. 32, § 5, p. 262, Pacii) describes the process of the Hypothetic Syllogism (that called by Alexander $\delta i \delta \lambda \omega \nu$), but denies it to be a syllogism. Therefore his syllogisms from Hypothesis are something different. This has not been noticed by Mansel, Waitz,

Thus literally: — "Again, if man existing, it be necessary that animal exist, and if animal, that substance; man existing, it is necessary that substance exist. As yet, there is, however, no syllogistic process; for the propositions do not stand in the relation we have stated. But, in such like cases, we are deceived, by reason of the necessity of something resulting from what has been laid down; whilst, at the same time, the syllogism is of things necessary. But the Necessary is more extensive than the Syllogism; for though all syllogism be indeed necessary, all necessary is not syllogism." Why not? 1°, No middle. 2°, No quality, — affirmation or negation; problem, also not assertory, — hypothetical not syllogistic. 3°, No quantity. Compare, also, An. Pr. L. i. c. 24.

Aristotle (Anal. Post., L. i. c. 2, \S 15, p. 418; c. 10, \$ 8, 9, p. 438) makes Thesis or Position the genus opposed to Axiom, and containing under it, as species, 1°, Hypothesis or Supposition; and, 2°, Definition. Hypothesis is that thesis which assumes one or other alternative of a contradiction. Definition is that thesis which neither affirms nor denies. Hypothetical, in Aristotle's sense, is thus that which affirms or denies one alternative or other, — which is not indifferent to yes or no, — which is not possibly either, and, consequently,

includes both. Hypotheticals, as involving a positive and negative alternative, are thus, in Aristotle's sense, rightly named, if divided; but, in Aristotle's sense, as complete, they are neither propositions nor syllogisms, as not affirming one alternative to the exclusion of the other.¹

(b) AMMONIUS HERMLE.

I. Ammonius Hermiæ, on Aristotle Of Enouncement, Introduction, f. 3, ed. Ald. 1546, f. 1. ed. Ald. 1503. After distinguishing the five species of Speech, according to the Peripatetics, — the Vocative, the Imperative, the Interrogative, the Optative, and the Enunciative or Assertive, — having further stated the corresponding division by the Stoics, and having finally shown that Aristotle, in this book, limited the discussion to the last kind, that alone being recipient of truth and falsehood, he thus proceeds: — "Again, of Assertive speech (àποφαντικοῦ λόγου), there are two species; the one called Categoric [or Predicative], the other Hypothetic [or Suppositive]. The Categorie denotes that something does or does not belong to something: as when we say, Socrates is walking, Socrates is not walking; for we predicate walking of Socrates, sometimes affirmatively, sometimes negatively. The Hypothetic denotes that something being, something [else] is or is not, or something not being, something [else] is not or is: As when we say, If man be, animal also is, — If he be man, he is not stone, — If it be not day, it is night, — If it be not day, the sun has not risen.

"The Categoric is the only species of Assertive speech treated of by Aristotle as that alone perfect in itself, and of utility in demonstration; whereas Hypothetic syllogisms, usurping [usually] without demonstration the [minor] proposition, called the Transumption, or Assumption, and sometimes even a [major premise] Conjunctive or Disjunctive, requiring proof, draw their persuasion from hypotheses, should any one [I read & ris for hris] concede their primary suppositions. If, then, to the establishment of such suppositions we should employ a second hypothetic syllogism, --- in that case, we should require a further establishment for confirmation of the suppositions involved in it; for this third a fourth would again be necessary; and so on to infinity, should we attempt by hypotheses to confirm hypotheses. But to render the demonstration complete and final, it is manifest that there is needed a categoric syllogism to prove the point in question, without any foregone supposition. Hence it is that Categoric [reasonings] are styled Syllogisms absolutely; whereas Hypothetic [reasonings] of every kind are always denominated Syllogisms from hypothesis, and never Syllogisms simply. Add to this, that Hypothetic enounce-

1 [Whether the Syllogisms ex hypothesi of Aristotle are correspondent to the ordinary Hypothetical Syllogism.

For the affirmative, see PacIns, Com. In Org. An. Prior, L i. cc. 23, 29, 44, pp. 153, 177, 194. St Hilaire. Translation of Organon, vol. ii. pp. 107, 139, 178.

For the negative, see Piccartus, In Org. An. Prior, L. i. cc. 40, 41, 42, p. 500. Neldelius, De Usu Org. Arist. P. iii. c. 2, pp. 38, 45 (1607). Keekermann, Opera, pp. 766, 767. Scheibler, Opera Logica Tract. Syll. P. iv. c. x. tit. 2, p. 548.
Bursgersdicius, Instit. Log. L. ii. cc. 12, 14, pp. 263. 270, 275.
Ritter, Gesh. der Phil.
iii. p. 96. (Eng. Tr., p 80.) Ramus, Scholz Dial. L. vii. cc. 12, 13, pp. 492, 503
Molinæus, Elementa Logica, p. 95 et seq. Waitz, Org. i. pp. 427, 433.
Cf. Alexander, In An Prior, ff. 88, 109.
Philoponus, In An. Prior, ff. 60*, 60*, 87*, 88.
Anonymus, De Syllogismo, f. 449.
Magenthus, In An. Prior, f. 17*. Ammonius, In de Interp., 3*.

ments are made up of Categoric. For they express the consequence or opposition (akorousian & Sidoragin) of one Categoric proposition and another, uniting them with each other by either the Conjunctive or Disjunctive particle ($\sigma v\mu$ πλεκτικώ ή δια (ευκτικώ συνδέσμω), in order to show that they constitute together a single enouncement. For these reasons, therefore, Aristotle has only considered, in detail, the Categoric species of Assertive speech."

(c) ANONYMOUS SCHOLION.1

In Hypothetic Syllogisms, the first [1] are those of two terms [a], Conjunctive, or [b] Disjunctive (δροι οί συνημμένοι ή διαλελυμένοι); then follow [11] the two [classes of] syllogisms with three, and these conjunctive terms.

[I. a.] "There are four syllogisms through the Return ($\dot{\eta} \,\epsilon \pi \, \dot{a} \nu o \delta o s$) on the prior ($\delta \pi \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho os$, $\delta \pi \rho \hat{\omega} \tau os$) [or antecedent clause of the hypothetical proposition], and four through it on the posterior (δ δεύτερος, δ έσχατος). For the terms are taken either both affirmatively or both negatively. And the return upon the prior is ponent (κατά θέσιν), upon the posterior tollent (κατά ἀναίρεσιν). For example [the return upon the prior]:

- (1.) If A is, B is; (Return) but A is; (Conclusion, συμπέρασμα) therefore, B is.
- (2.) If A is, B is not; but A is; therefore, B is not.
- (3.) If A is not, B is; but A is not; therefore, B is.
- (4.) If A is not, B is not; but A is not; therefore, B is not.

"The return upon the posterior:

- (1.) If A is, B is; but B is not; therefore, A is not.
- (2.) If A is, B is not; but B is; therefore, A is not.
- (3.) If A is not, B is; but B is not; therefore, A is.
- (4.) If A is not, B is not; but B is; therefore, A too is.

[b.] "Following those of conjunctive, are syllogisms of disjunctive terms. In these, the return is upon either [clause] indifferently. For example: If it must be that either A is or B is [in the one case]; B is not, therefore, A is; or [in the other], A is not, therefore B is.

[II.] " Of three conjunctive terms, there are [in the figures taken together] eight syllogisms, through a return on the prior, and eight [sixteen]² through a return on the posterior [clause]. For the three terms are correlated (ourider- $\tau \alpha i$), either all affirmatively, or some; and here either the third alone, or the third and second, or the second alone, negatively. Again, either all are negatively correlated, or some ; and here the third alone, or the third and second, or the second alone, affirmatively. In this manner the correlation [in each

premise (the minor placed first, according to the common practice of the Greeks, or the in the last sentence, discounts altogether the major prior, in Aristotelic theory) he should accord the designation of first.

¹ In Waitz, Org. i. pp. 9, 10.

² It would seem that the author here, and first figure, puzzled, apparently, to which

figure] is eightfold; taking for exemplification only a single mood [in the several figures]:

This is of the first figure. For the middle collative term ($\delta \sigma \nu \nu \delta \gamma \omega \nu \delta \rho os \mu \epsilon \sigma os$) is twice taken, being the consequent ($\delta \lambda \eta \gamma \omega \nu$) in the former conjunctive [premise] ($\tau \delta \pi \rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu \sigma \nu \tau \eta \mu \mu \epsilon \nu \sigma \nu$), the antecedent ($\delta \eta \gamma \sigma \delta \mu \epsilon \rho os$) in the latter. Wherefore, these syllogisms are indemonstrable, ¹ not requiring reduction ($\eta \delta \nu \delta \lambda \sigma \sigma s$) for demonstration. The other moods of the first figure are, as has been said, similarly circumstanced.

"The second figure is that in which the collative term [or middle] ($\delta \sigma \nu \nu d \gamma \omega \nu$) holds the same relation to each of the collated [or extreme] terms, inasmuch as it stands the antecedent of both the conjunctive [premises], except that in the one it is affirmative, in the other negative. Wherefore, when reduced to the first figure, they demonstrate, as is seen, through the instance of a single mood composed of affirmative collated terms. As —

> If A is, B is; If A is not, C is; If B is not, therefore, C is.

"This is reduced to the first figure in the following manner : —Whether it has the collated terms, both affirmative, or both negative, or both dissimilar to the reciprocally placed collative term, there is taken in the reduction the opposite [and converse] of the prior conjunctive [premise]; and the latter is applied, in order that the opposite of the consequent in the former conjunctive [premise] may find a place in the foresaid mood. As —

> If B is not, A is not; If A is not, C is; If B is not, therefore, C is.

" This it behooved to show.

"The third figure is that in which the collative term holds the same relation to each of the collated terms, being the consequent in either conjunctive [premise] affirmatively and negatively, as in the example of a single mood again consisting of affirmative collated terms. Thus:

> If A is, B is; If C is, B is not; If A is, therefore, C is not.

"The reduction of this to the first figure is thus effected. The opposite [a

1 Vide Apuleius. [De Dogm. Plat. iii. p. 37. Elm. Cf. Discussions, p. 836. - ED.]

converse E] of the second conjunctive [premise] is taken along with the first conjunctive [premise], and the antecedent of the former is applied to the opposite of the latter's consequent; as in the foresaid mood. Thus:

If A is, B is; If B is, C is not; If A is, therefore, C is not.

"All this requires to be shown concretely. As in the first figure [first mood]:

If day is, light is; If light is, visible objects are seen; If day is, therefore, visible objects are seen.

" Second figure, first mood :

If day is, light is; If day is not, the sun is under the earth; If light is not, the sun is [therefore] under the earth.

"Reduction:

If light is not, day is not; If day is not, the sun is under the earth; If light, therefore, is not, the sun is under the earth.

" Third figure, first mood :

If day is, light is ; If things visible are unseen, light is not ; If day, therefore, is, things visible are not unseen.

"There are eight moods of the second figure, and eight of the third; two composed of affirmatives, two of negatives, four of dissimilars, with a similar or dissimilar collative.

" End of Aristotle's Analytics."

Relative to the translation from the Greek interpolator on Hypothetical Syllogisms, in Waitz (*Org.* i. p. 9, 10); and in particular to the beginning of [I1].

Better thus: — In all the Figures: — the quality of the syllogism is either Pure, — and here two, viz., one affirmative and one negative; or Mixed, — and here six, viz., three in which affirmation, and three in which negation, has the preponderance.

616

The following ar	thus arranged:
------------------	----------------

		First Figure.	Second Figure.	Third Figure.
	, All	If A is, B is;	If B is, A is;	If A is, B is;
	(A	If B is, C is;	If B is, C is;	If C is, B is;
ant.		:. If A is, C is.	:. If A is, C is.	If A is, C is.
ders	1			
noc	1, 2,	If A is, B is;	If B is, A is;	If A is, B is;
pre	В	If B is, C is not;	If B is, C is not;	If C is not, B is;
arts)	:. If A is, C is not.	If A is, C is not.	:. If A is, C is not.
f p	$\langle $			
n o	1, 3,	If A is, B is not;	If B is not, A is;	If A is, B is not;
atio	C	If B is not, C is;	If B is not, C is;	If C is, B is not;
lirm		:. If A is, C is.	:. If A is, C is.	If A is, C is.
Αf	/			
	2, 3,	If A is not, B is;	If B is, A is not;	If A is not, B is;
	D	If B is, C is;	If B is, C is;	If C is, B is;
		\therefore If A is not, C is.	:. If A is not, C is.	If A is not, C is.
	1			
	All	If A is not, B is not.	If B is not, A is not;	If A is not, B is not;
	E	If B is not, C is not;	If B is not, C is not;	If C is not, B is not;
11;		If A is not, C is not.	\therefore If B is not, C is not.	If A is not, C is not.
teral	1, 2,	If A is not, B is not;	If B is not, A is not;	If A is not, B is not;
gene	F	If B is not, C is;	If B is not, C is;	If C is, B is not;
prel)	If A is not, C is.	If A is not, C is.	If A is not, C is.
tive	<			
pa ma	1, 3,	If A is not, B is;	If B is, A is not;	If A is not, B is;
affin	G	If B is, C is not;	If B is, C is not;	If C is not, B is;
But	1	:. If A is not, C is not.	\therefore If A is not, C is not.	:. If A is not, C is not.
L S S S S S	2, 3,	If A is, B is not;	If B is not, A is;	If A is, B is not:
	н	If B is not, C is not :	If B is not, C is not :	If C is not, B is not :
		If A is, C is not.	If A is, C is not.	If A is, C is not.

These eight syllogisms are all affirmative, the negation not being attached to the principal copula.¹ If, therefore, the negation be attached to one or other premise, there will be sixteen negative syllogisms, in all twenty-four. The negatives are, however, awkward and useless. (See Lovanienses, p. 301.)

But each of these twenty-four syllogisms can receive twelve different forms of predesignation, corresponding to the twelve moods of the simple categorical; according to which they are arranged and numbered. It is hardly necessary

1 See Lovanienses, In Arist. Dial., Tract. de Hypotheticis Syllogismis, p. 299.

to notice that the order of the premises is in comprehension, after the Greek fashion of the scholiast.

	i.	ii.	iii.	iv.	v.	vi.	vii.	viii.	ix.	х.	xi.	xii.
ГА :		,	,	:	:	, .	:	,	,	: -	,	,
МВ :	:	::	::	::	, :	:,	, :	:,	, :	:,	,:	:,
CC :		,	:	,	:	:	,	:	:	3	,	,

This is exemplified in the Syllogism E of the preceding table, thus:

- If all A is not, all B is not; if all B is not, all C is not; ∴ if all A is not, all B is not.
- If some A is not, all B is not; if all B is not, some C is not; ∴ if some A is not, some C is not.
- If some A is not, all B is not; if all B is not, all C is not; ∴ if some A is not, all C is not.
- 4. If all A is not, all B is not; if all B is not, some C is not; ∴ if all A is not, some C is not;
- If all A is not, some B is not; if all B is not, all C is not; ∴ if all A is not, all C is not.
- If some A is not, all B is not; if some B is not, all C is not; ∴ if some A is not, all C is not.
- If all A is not, some B is not; if all B is not, some C is not; ∴ if all A is not, some C is not.
- If some A is not, all B is not; if some B is not, all C is not; ∴ if some A is not, all C is not.
- If some A is not, some B is not; if all B is not, all C is not; ∴ if some A is not, all C is not.
- 10. If all A is not, all B is not; if some B is not, some C is not; ∴ if all A is not, some C is not.
- 11. If some A is not, some B is not; if all B is not, some C is not; ∴ if some A is not, some C is not.
- If some A is not, all B is not; if some B is not, some C is not; ∴ if some A is not, some C is not.

IX.

SORITES.

(See p. 274.)

(Without order.)

All logicians have overlooked the Sorites of Second and Third Figures.

In Sorites of the Second or Third Figures, every term forms a syllogism with every other, through the one middle term. In Sorites of the First Figure, every Second term at most forms a syllogism with every other, through its relative middle term.

No subordination in Sorites of Second or Third Figure, ergo no one dominant conclusion.

Alias — In First Figure, there being a subordination of notions, there may be a Sorites with different middles (all, however, in a common dependency). In Second and Third Figures, there being no subordination of terms, the only Sorites competent is that by repetition of the same middle. In First Figure there is a new middle term for every new progress of the Sorites; in Second and Third, only one middle term for any number of extremes.

In First Figure, a Syllogism only between every second term of the Sorites, the intermediate term constituting the middle term. In the others, every two propositions of the common middle term form a syllogism.

Alias — There being no subordination in Second and Third Figures between the extremes, there, consequently, are —

1°, No relations between extremes, except through the middle term.

2°, There is only one possible middle term; any number of others.

3°, Every two of the terms, with the middle term, may form a syllogism.

4°, No order.

Before concluding this subject, I would correct and amplify the doctrine in regard to the Sorites.¹

1°, I would state that, by the quantification of the Predicate (of which we are hereafter to treat, in reference to reasoning in general), there are two kinds of Sorites; the one descending from whole to part, — or ascending from part to whole; the other proceeding from whole to whole: of which last it is now alone requisite to speak. It is manifest, that if we can find two notions wholly equal to a third notion, these notions will be wholly equal to each other. Thus, if all trilateral figure be identical with all triangular figure, and all triangular figure with all figure, the sum of whose internal angles is equal to two right angles, then all figure, the sum of whose internal angles is equal to two right angles, and all trilateral figure, will also be identical, reciprocating, or absolutely convertible. We have thus a simple syllogism of absolute equation. On the same principle, if A and B, B and C, C and D, are absolutely equivalent, so also will be A and D. We may thus, in like manner, it is evident,

have a Sorites of absolute equivalents. It is not, indeed, very easy always to find four or more terms or notions thus simply convertible. In geometry, we may carry out the concrete syllogism just stated, by adding the three following propositions : - All figure, the sum of whose internal angles is equal to two right angles, is all figure which can be bisected through only one angle; -All figure which can be bisected through only one angle, is all figure which, bisected through an angle and a side, gives two triangles; and All figure which, thus bisected. gives two triangles, is all figure which, bisected through two sides, gives a triangle and a quadrangle; and so forth. In theology, perhaps, however, these series are more frequently to be found than in the other sciences. The following twelve equivalent concepts constitute at once a good example of such a Sorites, and at the same time exhibit a compendious view of the whole Calvinistic doctrine. These are, -1. Elected; 2. Redeemed; 3. Called; 4. Graced with true repentance; 5. With true faith; 6. With true personal assurance; 7. Pardoned; 8. Justified: 9. Sanctified; 10. Endowed with perseverance; 11. Saved; 12. Glorified. This series could indeed be amplified; but I have purposely restricted it to twelve. Now, as All the elect are all the redeemed, all the redeemed all the called, all the called all the [truly] penitent, all the [truly] penitent all the [truly] believing, all the [truly] believing all the [truly] assured, all the [truly] assured all the pardoned, all the pardoned all the justified, all the justified all the sanctified, all the sanctified all the perseverant, all the perseverant all the saved, all the saved all the glorified, all the glorified all the blest with life eternal; it follows, of necessity, that all the blest with life eternal are all the elect. To turn this affirmative into a negative Sorites, we have only to say, either at the beginning, - None of the reprobate are any of the elect, and, consequently, infer, at the end, that none of the blessed with eternal life are any of the reprobate; or, at the end, -None of the blest with eternal life are any of the punished, and, consequently, infer that none of the punished are any of the elect. Perhaps the best formula for this kind of Sorites is to be found in the letters a, b, c. This will afford us a Sorites of six terms, viz., a, b, c-a, b-b, a, c-b, c, a-e, a, b-c, b, a,-which are all virtually identical in their contents. If there be required a formula for a longer Sorites, we may take the letters a, b, c, d, which will afford us twenty-four terms. Perhaps the best formula for a descending or ascending Sorites is, for example, a, b, c, d, e, f-a, b, c, d, e, -a, b, c, d, -a, b, c,—a, b,—a.



1. - COMPREHENSIVE SORITES - PROGRESSIVE AND REGRESSIVE.



X.

SYLLOGISM.

I. -- ITS ENOUNCEMENT -- ANALYTIC AND SYNTHETIC -- ORDER OF PREMISES.

(See p. 281.)

(a) ENOUNCEMENT OF SYLLOGISM.

(Nov. 1848.) — There are two orders of enouncing the Syllogism, both natural, and the neglect of these, added to the not taking into account the Problem, or Question, has been the ground why the doctrine of syllogism has been attacked as involving a *petitio principii*, or as a mere tautology. Thus, Buffier cites the definition the art of confessing in the conclusion what has been already avowed in the premises.¹ This objection has never been put down.

The foundation of all syllogism is the Problem. But this may be answered either Analytically or Synthetically.

I. Analytically (which has been wholly overlooked) thus, — Problem or quæsitum, Is Γ C? Answer, Γ is C; for Γ is M, and M is C. This is the reasoning of Depth. More explicitly: — Does Γ contain in it C? Γ contains in it C; for Γ contains in it M, and M contains in it C. But it is wholly indifferent whether we cast it in the reasoning of Breadth. For example: — Does C contain under it Γ ? C contains under it Γ ; for C contains under it M, and M contains under it Γ .²

Here all is natural; and there is no hitch, no transition, in the order of progressive statement. The whole reasoning forms an organic unity; all the parts of it being present to the mind at once, there is no before and no after. But it is the condition of a verbal enouncement, that one part should precede and follow another. Here, accordingly, the proposition in which the reasoning is absolved or realized, and which, from the ordinary mode of enouncement, has

1 Seconde Logique, Art. iii. § 126. - ED.

2 Plato, in a letter to Dionysius (*Epist.* 2), reverses the common order of Syllogism, placing the conclusion first (*that he thinks there is some sense in the dead*), then the minor (that good men so think), lastly the major (that the presentiments of divine men are of highest authority). Platonis Opera, Bekker, ix. p. 74. Cf. Melanchthon, Dialectica, L. iii., De Figuratione, p. 93, ed. 1542.

been styled the *Conclusion*, is stated first; and the grounds or reasons on which it rests, which, from the same circumstance, have been called the *Premise* or *Antecedent*, are stated last. This order is Analytic. We proceed from the effect to the eause, — from the principiatum to the principia. And it is evident that this may be done indifferently either in Depth or Breadth; the only difference being that in the counter quantities the grounds or premises naturally change their order.

II. Synthetically, — the only order contemplated by the logicians as natural, but on erroneous grounds. On the contrary, if one order is to be accounted natural at the expense of the other, it is not that which has thus been exclusively considered. For —

1°, It is full of hitches. There is one great hitch in the separation of the conclusion from the question; though this latter is merely the former proposition in an assertive, instead of an interrogative, form. There is also at least one subordinate hitch in the evolution of the reasoning.

2°, The exclusive consideration of this form has been the cause or the occasion of much misconception, idle disputation, and groundless objection.

(On the two Methods; tumultuary observations, to be better arranged, and corrected.)

1°. In the first or analytic order, what is principal in reality and in interest is placed first, that is, the Answer or Assertion, called on the other order the *Conclusion*.

2°, In this order all is natural; there is no hitch, no saltus, no abrupt transition; all slides smoothly from first to last.

a) The question slides into its answer, interrogation demands and receives assertion.

b) Assertion requires a reason, and prepares us to expect it; and this is given immediately in what, from the other order, has been called the *Antecedent* or *Premises*.

c) Then the first term, either in Breadth or Depth, is taken first in the ground or reason, and compared with M; then M is compared with the other. As in Breadth: — Does C contain under it Γ ? C contains Γ ; for C contains under it M, and M contains under it Γ . In Depth — Does Γ contain in it C? Γ contains in it C; for Γ contains in it M, and M contains in it C. This is the first Figure. Second Figure, using common language: — Is ΓC ? Γ is C (and C is Γ); for Γ and C are both the same M. Here the two extremes taken together are compared with M. In the third Figure M is compared with both extremes — Is ΓC ? Γ is C (and M is Γ); for the same M is both Γ and C.

3°, In this order there is nothing pleonastic, nothing anticipated.

4°, Nothing begged.

5°, In this method the process is simple. Thought is one; but to be enounced it must be analyzed into a many. This order gives that necessary analysis, and nothing more.

6°, In this order, when assertive, answer is limited by question; good reason why, in Second and Third Figures, one answer should be given.

7°, This order is the one generally used by the mathematicians. (See Twesten, Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, § 117, p. 105, and below, p. 626. Plato also).

8°, If the Quasitum be stated as it ought to be, this order follows of course; and the neglect of the quasitum has followed from the prevalence of the other. If the quasitum be stated in using the common form, we must almost of course interpolate a yes or a no before proceeding to the premises in the common method; and in that case, the conclusion is only a superfluous recapitulation.

In the Synthetic, or common order, all is contrary. (The numbers correspond.)

1°. In this order, what is first in reality and interest, and in and for the sake of which the whole reasoning exists, comes last; till the conclusion is given we know not (at least we ought not to know) how the question is answered.

 2° , In this order all is unnatural and contorted by hitches and abrupt transitions. There is no connection between the question and what prepares the answer, — the premise. (Show in detail.)

3°, In this order all is pleonastic and anticipative. The premises stated, we already know the conclusion. This, indeed, in books of Logie, is virtually admitted, — the conclusion being commonly expressed by a *therefore*, etc. Ancient doctrine of Enthymeme (Ulpian, etc.), unknown to our modern logicians; among their other blunders on the Enthymeme. On the common doctrine, Logie — Syllogistic — is too truly defined the art of confessing in the conclusion what had been already avowed in the premises.

4°. On this order the objection of *petitio principii* stands hitherto unrefuted, if not unrefutable, against Logic.¹

 5° , In this order the process is complex. The simple thought is first mentally analyzed, if it proceed, as it ought, from the quæsitum; but this analysis is not expressed. Then the elements are recomposed, and this recomposition affords the synthetic announcement of the syllogism, — the syllogism being thus the superfluous regress of a foregone analysis. Aristotle's analytic is thus truly a synthetic; it overtly reconstructs the elements which had been attained by a covert analysis.²

6°, In this method, the problem hanging loose from the syllogism, and, in fact, being usually neglected, it does not determine in the Second and Third Figures one of the two alternative conclusions which, *ex facie syllogismi*, are[•] competent in them. The premises only being, there is no reason why one of the conclusions should be drawn to the preference of the other. *Mem.* Counter-practice old and new. The logicians ought not, however, to have ignored this double conclusion.

7°, See corresponding number.

8°, See corresponding number.³

1 [Stewart (Elements, vol. ii. ch. 3, § 2, Works, vol. iii. p. 202, et alibi) makes this objection. Refuted by Galluppi, Lez. dt Logica e di Metafisica, Lez. i. p. 242, et seq.]

2 [Aristotle's Analytics are in synthetic order; they proceed from the simple to the compound; the elements they commence with are gained by a foregone analysis, which is not expressed. They are as synthetic as a grammar commencing with the letters. The meaning of the term is the doctrine showing how to analyze or reduce reasonings to syllogisms; syllogisms to figure; figure to mood; second and third figures to first; syllogisms to propositions and terms; propositions to terms; for of all these analysis is said. See *Pacci Organon*, An. Prior, i cc. 2, 32, 42, 44, 45, pp. 128, 261, 273, 275, 278, 280.]

3 Compare Discussions, p. 652. - ED.

(b) ORDER OF PREMISES.

Aristotle places the middle term in the first Figure between the extremes, and the major extreme first; — in the second Figure before the extremes, and the major extreme next to it; — in the third Figure, after the extremes, and the minor extreme next to it.

In his mode of enouncement this relative order is naturally kept; for he expresses the predicate first and the subject last, thus: A is in all B, or A is predicated of all B, instead of saying All B is A.

But when logicians came to enounce propositions and syllogisms in conformity to common language, the subject being usually first, they had one or other of two difficulties to encounter, and submit they must to either; for they must either displace the middle term from its intermediate position in the first Figure, to say nothing of reversing its order in the second and third; or, if they kept it in an intermediate position in the first Figure (in the second and third the Aristotelic order could not be kept), it behooved them to enounce the minor premise first.

And this alternative actually determined two opposite procedures, — a difference which, though generally distinguishing the logicians of different ages and countries into two great classes, has been wholly overlooked. All, it must be borne in mind, regard the syllogism in Figure exclusively, and as figured only in Extension.

The former difficulty and its avoidance determined the older order of enouncement, that is, constrained logicians to state the minor premise first in the first Figure; and, to avoid the discrepancy, they of course did the same for uniformity in the second and third. Such is the order.

The latter difficulty and its avoidance determined the more modern order of enouncement, that is, constrained logicians to surrender the position of the middle term as middle, in following the order of the major premise first in all the Figures.

Philoponus on the First Book of the Prior Analytics, c. iv. § 4 (Pacian Division), f. xx. ed. Trincavelli. — "This definition appears to be of the extremes and of the middle term; but is not. It behooves, in addition, to interpolate in thought an 'only;' and thus will it be rightly enounced, as if he had said :---But the extremes are both that which is only in another, and that in which another only is. For if A is [predicated] of all B, and B is [predicated] of all C, it is necessary that A should be predicated of all C. This is the first syllogistic mood. Two universal affirmatives, inferring a universal conclusion. For if B is in all C, consequently C is a part of B; but again B is a part of A; consequently, A is in all C, inasmuch as C is a part of B. But what is here said will appear more clearly from a concrete example - Substance of all animal; animal of all man; (there follows) substance of all man. And backwards (ἀνάπαλιν), All man animal; all animal substance; all man therefore substance. In regard to this figure, it is plain how we ought to take the terms of the first mood. The first [major] is most generic; the second [middle] is a subaltern genus; and the third [minor] is a species more special than the middle. But a conclusion is here always necessary. Thus, following the synthetic order, that is, if we start from the major term, substance begins, beginning also
the conclusion. Substance of all animal (substance stands first); animal of all man; (finally the conclusion commences with substance) — substance of all man. But if [on the analytic order] we depart from the minor term, as from man, in this case the conclusion will, in like manner, begin therewith: All man animal; all animal substance; all man substance."

This is the only philosophic view of the matter. His syllogisms really analytic (= in Depth).

Analytic and Synthetic ambiguous. Better, - order of Breadth and Depth.¹

1 [Instances and authorities for the enouncement of Syllogism, with the Minor Premise stated first:

ANCIENTS.

Greeks : - Gregory of Nyssa, Opera, t. ii. p. 612, in his 12 (not 10) Syllogisms against Manicheans, varies. These very corrupt. Joannes Damascenus (Dialectica, c. 64, Opera, ed. Lequien, Paris, 1712, t. i. pp. 65, 66) gives two Syllogisms, one with minor first. Alcinous, De Doct. Plat. L. i. cc. 5 and 6. Aristotle often places minor first. See Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Quarta Figura, p. 124. Vallius, Logica, t. ii., pp. 72, 76. Aristotle and Alexander not regular in stating major propositions. See in First Figure, An. Pr. i. c. 4. Aristotle used the " whole " ouly of the predicate. See Zabarella, Tabula, In An. Prior, p. 149. (But see above, p. 548.) Boethius, Opera, pp. 562, 583. Aristotle, An. Pr. i. c. 1, sub fine, ubi Alexander, f. 9 a. Philoponus, f. 17 a. f 11 b. Alexander Aph. In An. Pr. i ff. 9 a, 15 b. Philoponus, In An. Pr. i. ff. 11 b, 20 a, explains the practice of Greek Peripatetics in this matter. See also ff. 17 a, 18 a; and 11, 21 a - these in i. Fig. - in ii. Fig. 23 b. The same In Physica, i. c. 1, f. 2. Themistius, In An. Post. ii. c. 4. Anonymus, De Syllogismo, f. 43 a. Gregorius Aneponymus, Compend. Philosophiæ Syntagma, L. v. cc. 1, 6, pp. 58, 70. Georgius Diaconus Pachymerius, Epit. Log. tit. iv. cc. 1-4. Sextus Empiricus, Pyrrh. Hypotypos., L. ii. cc. 13, 14, pp. 103, 110. Clemens Alex. Strom. L. viii. Opera, p. 784 (ed. Sylburgii). Blemmidas, Epitome Logica, c. 31, p. 219. Gregorius Trapezuutius, Dialectica, De Syll. p. 30. "Prima (Figura) est in qua medius terminus subjicitur in majore, et in minore prædicatur : quamvis contra fieri et soleat et possit." A Greek, he wrote in Italy for the Latins; but refers here to the practice of his countrymeu.

Latins: — Cicero, De Fin. iii. 8; iv. 18. Tusc. Disp. iii. 7; v. 15, Opera Phil. pp. 885, 903, 981, 1029, ed. Verburgii. Macrobius, Opera, p. 181, Zeunii. Seneca, Epist. 85, p. 368. Apuleius, De Habit. Doct. Plat. L. Iii. p. 36, ed. Elmenhorst. Isidorus in Gothofr. Auctores, p. 878. Cassiodorus, Dialectica, Opera, p. 556, Genev. 1650, gives alternative, but in Psalm xxxi. v. 16, gives a syllogism with minor first. Martianus Capella, *De Septem Artibus Liberalibus*, allows both forms for first Figure; generally makes the minor first (see below, p. 640). Boethius (origo mali), v. *Opera*, p. 594 *et seq*.

ORIENTALS.

Mohammedans: — Averroes (enouncing as we) in all the Figures, has minor first. (See below, p. 640.)

Jews: -- Rabbi Simeon [truly Maimonides] (in Hebrew), Logica, per S. Munsterum, cc. 6, 7, Basil, 1527.

Modern anticipations of the doctrine that the Minor Premise should precede the Major, Valla, Dialectica, f. 60 b, etc. Opera, pp. 733, 736. Joannes Neomagus, In Trapezuntium, f. 38 b. (only adduces examples). Caramuel, Rat. et Realis Philosophia, Logica, Disp. ix. xvi. Aquinas, Opuse. 47. (Camerarius, Disp. Phil. P. i. qu. 13, p. 117.) Alstedius, Encyclopædia, p. 437. Gassendi, Opera, ii. p. 413; i. p. 107. Camerarius, Disp. Phil. P. i. qu. 13, p. 117. Leibnitz, Opera ii. Pars. i. p. 356, Dissert. de Arte Combinatoria (1666), ed. Dutens, who refers to Ramus, Gassendi, Alcinous, etc. Cf. Nouveaux Essais, L. iv. § 8, p. 454, ed. Raspe; aud Locke's Essay, ibid. Buffier, Logique, § 68. Cæsarius, Dialectica, Tract. v. De Syll. Cat. p. 198 (first ed. 1632). J. C. E. Nova Detecta Veritas, etc., see Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 547, p. 626. Chauvin, Lexicon Philosophicum, v. Figura. Hobbes, Computatio, c. iv., prefixes the minor (see Hallam, Lit. of Europe, vol. iii. c. 3, p 309, ed. 1839). Lambert, Neues Organon, 1. 136, § 225. Bachmann, Logik, § 133, pp. 202, 226. Hollmann, Logica, § 454. Esser, Logik, § 107, p. 210. Krug, Logik, § 114, p. 408. Beneke, System der Logik, c. v. p. 210 et seq. Stapulensis, in Sergeant's Method to Science, p. 127. Facciolati (though he errs himself), Rudimenta Logica, p. 86, P. iii. c. 3, note 4, where Boethius, Sextus Empiricus, Alcinous, etc. Ch. Mayne, Essay on Natural Notions, p. 122 et seq. Lamy, Acta Erud., 1708, p. 67.

Who have erred in this subject, — making our order of enunciation the natural and usual. Vives, Censura Veri. Opera, t. i. p.

II. - FIGURE. - UNFIGURED AND FIGURED SYLLOGISM.

(1853) (a) CONTRAST AND COMPARISON OF THE VARIOUS KINDS OF FORMAL SYLLOGISM — DIFFERENCE OF FIGURE ACCIDENTAL.

A.) Unfigured Syllogism — One form of syllogism : for here there is abolished, 1°, The difference of Breadth and Depth, for the terms are both Subject or both Predicate, and may be either indifferently; 2°, All order of the terms, for these may be enounced from first or second indifferently; 3°, All difference of major or minor term of proposition, all duplicity of syllogism; 4°, All difference of direct and indirect conclusion.

B.) Figured Syllogism — Two forms of syllogism by different orders of terms: First Figure. — Here the two forms of syllogism are possible, each with its major and minor terms, each with its direct or immediate, its indirect or mediate, conclusion. These two various forms of syllogism are essentially one and the same, differing only accidentally in the order of enouncement, inasmuch as they severally depart from one or from the other of the counter, but correlative, quantities of Depth and Breadth, as from the containing whole. But, in fact, we may enounce each order of syllogism [in] either quantity, the one is the more natural.

Second and Third Figures. — In each of these figures there are possible the two varieties of syllogism; but not, as in the first figure, are these different forms variable by a counter quantity, and with a determinate major and minor term; for in each the extremes and the middle term (there opposed) are necessarily in the same quantity, being either always Subject or always Predicate in the jugation. They differ only as the one extreme, or the other (what is indifferent), is arbitrarily made the Subject or Predicate in the conclusion. Indirect or Mediate conclusions in these figures are impossible; for the indirect or mediate conclusion of the one syllogism is in fact the direct conclusion of the other.

Thus difference of Figure accidental.

If rule true, it will follow that it is of no consequence whether ---

1°, The middle one or any other of the three terms be, in any proposition, subject or predicate, if only either. Hence difference of Figure of no account in varying the syllogism. Thus (retaining the subordination of terms), convert major proposition in Extension of first Figure, and you have second Figure;

606. J. G. Vossius, De Nat. Art. Liberal., Logica, c. viii. § 9. J. A. Fabricius, Ad. Sext. Emp. 103. Facciolati, Rudimenta Logicæ, p. 86. Waitz, In Org. Comm., pp. 380, 386.

That Reasoning in Comprehensive Quantity most natural. Wolf, Phil. Rat. § 399, p. 327. Reusch, Systema Logicum, § 547. Schulze, Logik, § 77 of old (1817), § 72 of last (1831) edition, holds that dictum de omni, etc., evolved out of nota nota, for mere subordination syllogisms. Hauschius, in Acta Erud. 1728, p. 470. Lamy (B.) in Acta Erud. 1708, p. 67. Oldfield, Essay on Reason, p. 246. Valla, Dialectica, L. iii. c. 45. Hoffbauer, Analytik der Urtheile und Schlüsse, § 152, p. 198. Mayne's Rational Notions, p. 123 et seq. Mariotte, Logique, Part ii., disc. iii. p. 161. Paris, 1678. Chladenus, Phil. Def. p. 18 (in Wolf, Phil. Rat. § 551). Castillon, Mem. de Ertin, 1802. Hallam, Lit. of Europe, vol. iii. p. 309. Thomson (W.), Outlines of the Laws of Thought, p. 39. In reference to the above, the mathematicians usually begin with what is commonly called the Minor Premise (as A = B, B = C, therefore A = C); and frequently they state the Conclusion first (as A = B, for A = M, and M = B), or, etc., see Wolf, Phil. Rat. § 551, and Twesten, Logik, § 117, p. 105; and Lambert, Neues Org. i. § 225.]

convert minor proposition, and you have third Figure; convert both premises, and you have fourth Figure.

2°, Whether one of the extremes, one or other of the premises, stand first or second, be, in fact, major or minor term of a proposition; all that is required is, that the terms and their quantities should remain the same, and that they should always bear to each other a relation of subject and predicate. Thus, if [in] any of the Figures the major and minor terms and propositions interchange relation of subordination; when, in the first Figure, you convert and transpose; and when [in] the other three Figures (fourth?), you simply transpose the premises.

Indifferent (in first Figure) which premise precedes or follows. For of two one not before the other in nature. But not indifferent in either whole, which term should be subject and predicate of coinclusion.¹

(b) DOUBLE CONCLUSION IN SECOND AND THIRD FIGURES.

My doetrine is as follows:

In the Unfigured Syllogism there is no contrast of terms, the notions compared not being to each other subject and predicate; consequently the conclusion is here necessarily one and only one.

In the Figured Syllogism we must discriminate the Figures.

In the First Figure, where the middle term is subject of the one extreme and predicate of the other, there is of course a determinate major extreme and premise, and a determinate minor extreme and premise; consequently, also, one proximate or direct, and one remote or indirect, conclusion, — the latter by a conversion of the former.

In the Second and Third figures all this is reversed. In these there is no major and minor extreme and premise, both extremes being either subjects or predicates of the middle; consequently, in the inference, as either extreme may be indifferently subject or predicate of the other, there are two indifferent conclusions, that is, conclusions neither of which is more direct or indirect than the other.

This doctrine is opposed to that of Aristotle and the logicians, who recognize in the Second and Third Figures a major and minor extreme and premise, with one determinate conclusion.

The whole question with regard to the duplicity or simplicity of the conclusion in the latter figures depends upon the distinction in them of a major and a minor term; and it must be peremptorily decided in opposition to the universal doctrine, unless it can be shown that, in these figures, this distinction actually subsists. This was felt by the logicians; accordingly they applied themselves with zeal to establish this distinction. But it would appear, from the very multiplicity of their opinions, that none proved satisfactory; and this general presumption is shown to be correct by the examination of these opinions in detail, — an examination which evinees that of these opinions there is no one which ought to satisfy an inquiring mind.

In all, there are five or six different grounds on which it has been attempted

to establish the discrimination of a major and minor term in the Second and Third Figures. All are mutually subversive; each is incompetent. Each following the first is in fact a virtual acknowledgment that the reason on which Aristotle proceeded in this establishment is at once ambiguous and insufficient. I shall enumerate these opinions as nearly as possible in chronological order.

1. That the major is the extreme which lies in the Second Figure nearer to, in the Third Figure farther from, the middle. This is Aristotle's definition (An. Pr., L. i. ec. 5, 6). At best it is ambiguous, and has, accordingly, been taken in different senses by following logicians; and in treating of them it will be seen that in none, except an arbitrary sense, can the one extreme, in these figures, be considered to lie nearer to the middle term than the other. I exclude the supposition that Aristotle spoke in reference to some scheme of mechanical notation.

2. That the major term in the antecedent is that which is predicate in the con-This doctrine dates from a remote antiquity. It is rejected by clusion. Alexander; but, adopted by Ammonius and Philoponus (f. 17 b, 18 a, ed. Trine.), has been generally recognized by subsequent logicians. Its recognition is now almost universal. Yet, critically considered, it explains nothing. Educing the law out of the fact, and not deducing the fact from the law, it does not even attempt to show why one being, either extreme may not be, predicate of the conclusion. It is merely an empirical, - merely an arbitrary, assertion. The Aphrodisian, after refuting the doctrine, when the terms are indefinite (preindesignate), justly says: "Nor is the case different when the terms are definite [predesignate]. For the conclusion shows as predicate the term given as major in the premises; so that the conclusion is not itself demonstrative of the major; on the contrary, the being taken in the premises as major, is the cause why a term is also taken as predicate in the conclusion."- (An. Pr. f. 24 a, ed. Ald.)

3. That the proximity of an extreme to the middle term, in Logic, is to be decided by the relative proximity in nature to the middle notion of the notions compared. This, which is the interpretation of Aristotle by Herminus, is one of the oldest upon record, being detailed and refuted at great length by the Aphrodisian (f. 23 b, 24 a). To determine the natural proximity required is often difficult in affirmative, and always impossible in negative, syllogism; and, besides the objections of Alexander, it is wholly material and extralogical. It is needless to dwell on this opinion, which, obscure in itself, seems altogether unknown to our modern logicians.

4. That the major term in the Syllogism is the predicate of the problem or question. This is the doctrine maintained by Alexander (f. 24 b); but it is doubtful whether at first or second hand. It has been adopted by Averroes, Zabarella, and sundry of the acuter logicians in modern times. It is incompetent, however, to establish the discrimination. Material, it presupposes an intention of the reasoner; does not appear *ex facie syllogismi*; and, at best, only shows which of two possible quæsita — which of two possible conclusions — has been actually carried out. For it assumes, that of the two extremes either might have been major in the antecedent, and predicate in the conclusion. If Alexander had applied the same subtlety in canvassing his own

628

opinion which he did in criticizing those of others, he would not have given the authority of his name to so untenable doctrine.

5. That the major extreme is that contained in the major premise, and the major premise that in the order of enouncement first. This doctrine seems indicated by Scotus (An. Pr., L. i. qu. xxiv. §§ 5, 6); and is held explicitly by certain of his followers. This also is wholly incompetent. For the order of the premises, as the subtle doctor himself observes (Ib, qu. xxiii. §6), is altogether indifferent to the validity of the consequence; and if this external accident be admitted, we should have Greek majors and minors turned, presto, into Latin minors and majors.

6. That the major extreme is that contained in the major premise, and the major premise that itself most general. All opposite practice originates in abuse. This opinion, which coincides with that of Herminus (No. 3), in making the logical relation of terms dependent on the natural relation of notions, I find advanced in 1614, in the Disputationes of an ingenious and independent philosopher, the Spanish Jesuit Petrus Hurtado de Mendoza (Disp. Log. et Met., I., Disp. x. \$ 50–55). It is, however, too singular, and manifestly too untenable, to require refutation. As material, it is illogical; as formal, if allowed, it would at best serve only for the discrimination of certain moods; but it cannot be allowed, for it would only subvert the old without being adequate to the establishment of aught new. It shows, however, how unsatisfactory were the previous theories, when such a doctrine could be proposed, by so acute a reasoner, in substitution. This opinion has remained unnoticed by posterior logicians.

The dominant result from this historical enumeration is, that, in the Second and Third Figures, there is no major or minor term, therefore no major or minor premise, therefore two indifferent conclusions.

This important truth, however natural and even manifest it may seem when fully developed, has but few and obscure vaticinations of its recognition during the progress of the science. Three only have I met with.

The first I find in the Aphrodisian (f. 24 b); for his expressions might seem to indicate that the opinion of there being no major and minor term in the second figure (nor, by analogy, in the third), was a doctrine actually held by some early Greek logicians. It would be curious to know if these were the "ancients," assailed by Ammonius, for maintaining an overt quantification of the predicate. The words of Alexander are :— "Nor, however, can it be said that in the present figure there is no major. For this at least is determinate, that its major must be universal; and, if there be in it any syllogistic combination, that premise is the major which contains the major term" (f. 24 a.). Demurring to this refutation, it is, however, evidence sufficient of the opinion to which it is opposed. This, as it is the oldest, is, indeed, the only authority for any deliberate doctrine on the point.

The second indication dates from the middle of the fifteenth century, and is contained in the *Dialectica* of the celebrated Laurentius Valla (L. iii. c. 8 [51]). Valla abolishes the third figure, and his opinion on the question is limited to his observations on the second. In treating of *Cesare* and *Camestres*, which, after a host of previous logicians, he considers to be a single mood, there is nothing remarkable in his statement: "Neque distinct& sunt pro-

positio et assumptio, ut altera major sit, altera minor, sed quodammodo pares; ideoque sieut neutra vindicat sibi primum aut secundum locum, ita utraque jus habet in utraque conclusione. Verum istis placuit, ut id quod secundo loco poneretur, vendicaret sibi conclusionem : quod verum esset nisi semper gemina esset conclusio. Sed earum dicamus alteram ad id quod primo loco, alteram ad id quod secundo loco positum est referri." We, therefore, await the development of his doctrine by relation to the other moods, Festino and Baroco, which thus anspiciously begins :- "Idem contingit in reliquis duobus: qui tamen sunt magis distincti." We are, however, condemned to disappointment. For, by a common error, excusable enough in this impetuous writer, he has confounded singulars (definites) with particulars (indefinites); and thus the examples which he adduces of these moods are, in fact, only examples of Cesare and Camestres. The same error had also been previously committed (L. iii. c. 4). The whole, therefore, of Valla's doctrine, which is exclusively founded on these examples, must go for nothing; for we cannot presume, on such a ground, that he admits more than the four common moods, identifying, indeed, the two first, by admitting in them of a double conclusion. We cannot, certainly, infer that he ever thought of recognizing a particular, an indefinite, predicate in a negative proposition.

The third and last indication which I can adduce is that from the Method to Science of John Sergeant, who has, in this, as in his other books (too successfully), concealed his name under the initials "J. S." He was a Catholic priest, and, from 1665, an active religious controversialist; whilst, as a philosopher, in his Idea Philosophice Cartesiance, a criticism of Descartes, in his Solid Philosophy, a criticism of Locke,¹ in his Metaphysics, and in the present work, he manifests remarkable eloquence, ingenuity, and independence, mingled, no doubt, with many untenable, not to say ridiculous, paradoxes. His works, however, contain genius more than enough to have saved them, in any other country, from the total oblivion into which they have fallen in this, - where, indeed, they probably never were appreciated. His Method to Science (a treatise on Logic) was published in 1696, with a "Preface, dedicatory to the learned students of both our Universities," extending to sixty-two pages. But, alas! neither this nor any other of his philosophical books is to be found in the Bodleian.

In the third book of his Method, which treats of Discourse, after speaking of the first, or, as he calls it, "only right figure of a syllogism," we have the following observations on the second and third : -- "§ 14. Wherefore the other two figures [he does not recognize the fourth] are unnatural and monstrous. For, since nature has shown us, that what conjoins two notions ought to be placed in the middle between them; it is against nature and reason to place it either above them both, as is done in that they call the second figure, or under them both, as is done in that figure they call the third.

"§ 15. Hence no determinate conclusion can follow, in either of the last

ticipates Kant; and Pope has evidently taken from his brother Catholic the hiut of some of his most celebrated thoughts.

¹ Sergeant is an intelligent antagonist of man Understanding. In certain views he anboth these philosophers, and I have elsewhere had occasion to quote him as the first and one of the ablest critics of the Essay on Hu-

APPENDIX,

figures, from the disposal of the parts in the syllogisms. For since, as appears (§ 13), the extreme which is predicated of the middle term in the *major*, has thence a title to be the predicate in the *conclusion*, because it is above the middle term, which is the *predicate*, or *above* the *other* extreme in the *minor*, it follows, that if the middle term be *twice above* or *twice below* the other two terms in the premises, that reason ceases; and so it is left indifferent which of the other terms is to be subject or predicate in the conclusion; and the indeterminate conclusion follows, not from the artificial *form* of the syllogism, but merely from the *material* identity of all the three terms; or from this, that their notions are found in the same *Ens.* Wherefore, from these premises [in the second figure],

Some laudable thing is [all] virtue, [All] courtesy is a virtue;

or, from these [in the third],

[All] virtue is [some] laudable, Some virtue is [all] courtesy;

the conclusion might either be,

Therefore, [all] courtesy is [some] laudable, Or, Some laudable thing is [all] courtesy.

So that, to argue on that fashion, or to make use of these awkward figures, is not to know certainly the end or conclusion we aim at, but to shoot our bolt at no determinate mark, since no determinate conclusion can in that case follow." (P. 232.)

Extremes, it is said, meet. Sergeant would abolish the second and third figures, as petitory and unnatural, as merely material corruptions of the one formal first. I, on the contrary, regard all the figures as equally necessary, natural, and formal. But we agree in this : both hold that, in the second and third figures, there is a twofold and indifferent conclusion; howbeit, the one makes this a monstrosity of the syllogistic matter, the other, a beauty of the syllogistic form. Therefore, though I view Sergeant as wrong in his premises, and "shooting his bolt at no determinate mark," I must needs allow that he has, by chance, hit the bull's eye. I have inserted, within square brackets, the quantifications required to restore and show out the formality of his examples. On my scheme of notation, they stand as follows :



III. - HISTORICAL NOTICES REGARDING FIGURE OF SYLLOGISM.

(a) ARISTOTLE.

Aristotle; Figures and Terms of Syllogism, Prior Analytics, B. I. ch. iv.

First Figure, ch. iv. — § 2. "When three terms [or notions] hold this mutual relation, — that the last is in the whole middle, whilst the middle is or is not in the whole first, — of these extremes there results of necessity a perfect syllogism.¹

§ 3. "By middle term [B (B)] I mean that which itself is in another and another in it; and which in position also stands intermediate. I call extreme both that which is itself in another [the minor], and that in which another is [the major]. For if A be predicated of all B, and B of all C, A will necessarily be predicated of all C.

§ 10. "I call that the *major* extreme [A (A)] in which the middle is; the *minor* [Γ (C)] that which lies under the middle."

Second Figure, ch. v. - § 1. "When the same [predicate notion] inheres in all of the one and in none of the other, or in all or in none of both [the subject notions], — this I denominate the *Second Figure*.

§ 2. "The *middle* [M (M)] in this figure I call that which is predicated of both [notions]; the *extremes*, the [notions] of which the middle is said. The *major* extreme [N (N)] is that towards the middle; the *minor* $[\Xi$ (O)], that from the middle more remote.

 \S 3. "The middle is placed out [from between] the extremes, the first in position "—

[So,	Μ	 М	٦
	N	 Ν	
	Ħ	 0	J

Third Figure, ch. vi. - § 1. "When in the same [subject notion] one [predicate notion] inheres in all, another in none of it, or when both inhere in all or in none of it, such *figure* I call the *Third*.

§ 2. "In this [figure] I name the *middle*, that of which both [the other terms] are predicated; the *extremes*, the predicates themselves. The *major* extreme $[\Pi (P)]$ is that farther from, the *minor* [P (Q)] that nearer to, the middle.

Aristotle uses the phrase "to be in all or in the whole," both with reference to extension, - for the lower notion B, as contained under the all or whole of the higher notion A; and with reference to comprehension, — for the higher notion A as contained in the all or whole of the lower notion B. In the former sense, which with Aristotle is the more usual, and, in fact, the only one contemplated by the logicians, there is also to be observed a distinction between the inhesion and the predication of the attribute.

¹ Ch. iv. § 2 — This definition of the First Figure (founded on the rules De Omni and de Nullo) applies only tó the universal moods, but, of these, only to those legitimate and useful, — Barbara and Celarent. It, therefore, seems inadequate, but not superfluous.

§ 3. "The *middle* $[\Sigma(\mathbf{R})]$ is placed out [from between] the extremes, the last in position,"



Aristotle, Prior Analytics, B. i. e. 23, § 7.

General Theory of Figure. — " If, then, it be necessary [in reasoning] to take some [term] common [or intermediate] to both [extreme terms]; this is possible in three ways. For we predicate either [the extreme] A of [the middle] C, and [the middle] C of [the extreme] B; or [the middle] C of both [extremes]; or both [extremes] of [the middle] C. These are the [three] Figures of which we have spoken; and it is manifest, that through one or other of the Figures every syllogism must be realized."¹

(b) and (c) - ALEXANDER AND HERMINUS.

Alexander, In An. Pr., f. 23 b.

Second Figure, c. v. Aristotle. — "' The middle extreme is that which lies towards the middle.'

§ 2. "But it is a question, whether in the Second Figure there be by nature any major and minor extreme, and if there be, by what criterion it may be known. For if we can indifferently connect with the middle *term* whichsoever *extreme* we choose, this we may always call the *major*. And as negative conclusions only are drawn in this figure, universal negatives being also mutually convertible, it follows, that in universal negatives the one term has no better title to be styled major than the other, seeing that the major term is what is predicated, whilst both are here indifferently predicable of each other. In universal affirmatives, indeed, the predicate is major, because it has a wider extent; and for this reason, such propositions are not [simply] convertible; so that here there is by nature a major term which is not to be found in universal negatives.

" Herminus is of opinion that, in the Second Figure,

[1°.] "If both the extremes, of which the middle is predicated, be homogeneous [or of the same genus], the major term is that most proximate to the genus common to the two. For example: If the extremes be *bird* and *man*; *bird* lying nearer to the common genus [*animal*] than *man*, as in its first division, *bird* is thus the major extreme; and, in general, of homogeneous terms, that holding such a relation to the common genus is the major.

 $[2^{\circ}.]$ "But if the terms be equally distant from the common genus, as *horse* and *man*, we ought to regard the middle predicated of them, and consider of

1 Aristotle here varies the notation by letters of the three syllogistic terms, making C (Γ) stand for the middle term, A and B for the two extremes. This he did, perhaps, to prevent it being supposed (what his previous

-

notation might appear to indicate) that the middle term was a notion in the First Figure, necessarily intermediate between the two extremes, in the Second superior, in the Third inferior, to them.

633

which [term] it is predicated through [that term] itself, and of which through some other predicate; and compare that through which it is predicated of another with that through which it is predicated of [the term] itself. And if that through which [the middle] is predicated of another (viz. the one extreme) be nearer [than the other extreme] to the common genus, that [extreme] of which [for TouTow ou, I read TouTow ou] the middle is [mediately] predicated, from its closer propinquity to the common genus, rightly obtains the title of major. For example: If the extremes be horse and man, rational being predieated of them, - negatively of horse, affirmatively of man; seeing that rational is not of itself denied of horse, but because horse is irrational, whereas rational is of itself affirmed of man, horse is nearer than man to their common genus animal; horse will, therefore, be the major extreme, though man be no further removed than horse from its proper genus. And this, because that through which the predicate [i. e. the middle] is predicated of this last, as being irrational, is greater; for rational is not denied of horse qua horse, whilst it is affirmed of man qua man.

[3°.] "But if the extremes be not homogeneous, but under different genera, that is to be considered the major term, which of the two holds the nearer of its own genus. For instance: If aught be predicated of *color* and *man*, *color* is the major extreme; for *color* stands closer to *quality* than *man* to *substance*: as *man* is an individual [or most special] species, but not *color*.

[4°.] "Finally, if each be equally remote from its proper genus, we must consider the middle, and inquire of which term it is predicated through [that term] itself, and of which through something else; and if that, through which the middle is predicated of another [*i. e.*, one extreme], be nearer to its proper genus, and if through that the middle be actually predicated of this term, this term is to be deemed the major. For example: If the terms be white and man, the one being an individual species in quality, the other in substance; and if rational be affirmatively predicated of man, negatively of white; the affirmation is made in regard to man as man, whereas the negation is made of white, not as white, but as inanimate. But since inanimate, through which rational is denied of white, is more common, more universal, and more proximate to substance inanimate than man to [substance] animate, on that account, white is the major term in preference to man." [So far Herminus.]

"But to reason thus, and to endeavor to demonstrate a major term by nature, in the Second Figure, is a speculation which may be curious, but is not true. [I read $\pi\rho\delta s \tau \hat{\varphi}$.]

[1°.] "For, in the first place, if we consider the given terms, not in themselves, but in relation to others, in which the predicated term does not inhere; the major term will be always found in the negative proposition. For, in this case, the major is always equal to the middle term; since, whether it be thus or thus taken from the commencement, or be so made by him who denies it, the negative major will still stand in this relation to the middle term. For the middle does not inhere, where it is not supposed to inhere. Wherefore, its repugnant opposite inheres in the subject, but the repugnant opposite of the middle is equal to the middle. And this, either through the middle itself, or through another notion of wider extent; as when *rational* is denied of something through *imanimate*. For there is here an equalization through *irrational*, through which rational is negatively predicated of horse. For either the middle is equal to this of which it is denied, or [I read \hbar for δ] it is less; as when through inanimate, rational is denied of aught. For inanimate is equal to animate, nuder which is rational, a notion greater than that other of which it is affirmed. For since the affirmative predicate is greater than its subject, of which the middle is denied or not affirmed; and since the reason why the middle is denied is equal to or greater than the middle itself, which middle, again, in an affirmative proposition, is greater than its subject; — on these accounts a negative proposition is always greater than an affirmative. Nevertheless, Aristotle himself says that a negation is to be placed in the minor [proposition]; for the second syllogism in this figure [Camestres] has as its minor premise a universal negative.

[2°.] "Further, why in the case of negatives alone should explanation or inquiry be competent, in regard to the reason of the negative predication, seeing that in the case of affirmatives the reason is equally an object of inquiry ? For rational is predicated of man, of itself, indeed, but not primarily, that is, not inasinuch as he is man, but inasmuch as he is rational; so that if rational [be denied] of horse through irrational, still these are both branches of the same division. By this method, assuredly, no major can be ever found. Wherefore, we ought not, in this way, to attempt a discrimination of the major of affirmative syllogisms in the Second Figure. For in this figure affirmation and negation are equally compatible with the major term; so that whatsoever term has by the forementioned method been found major, the same, taken either as major or minor, will effectuate a syllogistic jugation; which being competent, there is no longer any major [or minor] in this figure. For the problem is to find not a major term absolutely, but one of this figure." [So much touching Herminus.]

[3°.] "Nor, on the other hand, as is thought by some, is that unconditionally to be called the major term which stands predicate in the conclusion. For neither is this manifest; if left indefinite [preindesignate], the same term will hold a different relation, though a conversion of the universal negative; so that what is now the major, may be anon the minor. We may, in fact, be said to constitute the same term both major and minor. Naturally there is in negative propositions no major notion, nor, from the conclusion, ought we to make out the major at all. Nor is the case different when the term is defined [predesignate]. For the conclusion shows, as predicate, the term given as major in the premises; so that the conclusion is not itself demonstrative of the major; on the contrary, the being taken in the premises as major is the cause why a term is also taken as predicate in the conclusion.

"Nor, however, can it be said that in this figure there is no major. For this at least is determinate, — that its major must be universal; and, if there be [in it] any syllogistic combination, that premise is the major which contains the major term.

[4°.] "But, in the Second Figure, which of the terms is to be deemed the major? That is to be deemed the major, and to be placed first, which in the problem [question or quæsitum] we intend to demonstrate, and which we regard as predicate. For every one who reasons, first of all determines with himself what it is he would prove; and to this end he applies his stock of

suitable propositions; for no one stumbles by chance on a conclusion. The notion, therefore, proposed as predicate in the problem to be proved, is to be constituted the major term; for although the proposition be converted, and the notion thereby become the subject, still, in what we proposed to prove, it [actually] was, and, therefore [virtually], remains, the predicate. Hence, even if there be drawn another conclusion, we convert it; so that, to us who prove and syllogize and order terms, that always stands as the major. For major and minor are not, in negative syllogisms, regulated by their own nature, but by the intention [of the reasoner] to conclude. Thus it is manifest, that what is the predicate in the problem, is also the predicate in the conclusion."

Alexander on Prior Analytics, L. i. e. vi. f. 30 a. ed. Ald.

(Third Figure.) . . . This is the Third Figure, and holds the last place because nothing universal is inferred in it, and because sophistical syllogisms chiefly affect this figure with their indefinite and particular conclusions. But the sophistical are the last of all syllogisms . . . Add to this, that while both the Second and Third Figures take their origin from the First of the two, the Third is engendered of the inferior premise. For the minor, qua minor, is the inferior premise, and holds reasonably a secondary place [the conversion of the minor proposition of the first figure giving the second figure].

F. 30 b. (Darapti). "The first syzygy in this figure is of two universal affirmatives [Darapti]. But it may be asked - Why, whilst in the second figure there are two syllogistic conjugations, having one of the premises a universal affirmative, the other a universal negative (from having, now their major, now their minor, as a universal negative proposition converted), --- why, in the third figure, there is not, in like manner, two syllogistic combinations of two universal affirmatives, since of these either the major or the minor proposition is convertible? Is it that in the second figure, from the propositions being of diverse form [quality], the commutation of a universal negative into something else by conversion is necessary, this being now the major, now the minor, and it not being in our power to convert which we will? In the third figure, on the other hand, there being two universal affirmatives, the position [relation] of the propositions (for they are similar in character and position) is not the cause of one being now converted, now another; the cause lying in us, not the jugation. Wherefore, the one or other being similarly convertible, inasmuch as the position [relation] of the two propositions is the same; the one which affords the more important probation is selected, and hereby is determined the syllogistic jugation. Moreover, the differences of syllogism [moods] in each figure are effected by the differences among their jugations, not by those among their probations. Thus that the combination of propositions is syllogistic [or valid], is proved by conversion and reductio ad impossibile, also by exposition. But from this circumstance there does not emerge a plurality of syllogisms [moods]. For the different probations [are not valid from such plurality, but] from the unity of the jugation from which they are inferred, so that one jugation of two universal affirmatives may constitute, in the third figure, a single syllogism [mood], howbeit the probations are different; inasmuch as now the one, now the other, of the propositions can be converted."

(d) - PHILOPONUS.

Philoponus (or rather Ammonius) on Aristotle, An. Pr., i. 4, § i. f. 17 a, ed. Trineavelli, 1536.

"The Predicate is always better than the subject, because the predicate is, for the most part, more extensive $(i\pi)\pi\lambda i\sigma v)$ than the subject, and because the subject is analogous to the matter, the predicate to the form; for the matter is the subject of the forms. But when the middle term is predicated of the two extremes, or is the subject of both, in this case it is not properly intermediate. But, howbeit, though in position external to the middle, it is still preferable to be the predicate than to be the subject. On this ground, that is called the first figure, the middle term of which preserves its legitimate order, being subject of the one extreme, and predicate of the other. The second figure is that in which the middle is predicated of both extremes, and in which it occupies the better position of those remaining. Finally, the third figure is that in which the middle term is subjected to the two extremes; here obtaining only the *lowest* position. Wherefore, in the first figure the middle term is delineated on a level with the extremes; whereas in the second it is placed *above*, and in the third *below*, them."¹

Philoponus (or rather Ammonius) on Aristotle, An. Pr., f. 17 a, ed. Trincavelli, 1536.

Syllogistic Figures in general. - "We must premise what is the Major Proposition of the Syllogism, and what the Minor. But to understand this, we must previously be aware what are the Major and Minor Terms. And it is possible to define these, both, in common, as applicable to all the three figures, and, in special, with reference to the first alone. In the latter relation, that is, regarding specially the first figure, the Major Term is that which constitutes the Predicate, the Minor that which constitutes the Subject, of the Middle, so far as limited to the first figure. But since in neither of the other figures do the extremes reciprocally stand in any definite (?) relation to the middle term, it is manifest that this determination is inapplicable to them. We must, therefore, employ a rule common to all the three figures; to wit, that the major term is that predicated, the minor that subjected, in the conclusion. Thus, the Major Proposition is the one containing the Major Term ; the Minor Proposition the one containing the Minor Term. Examples: Of the First Figure, - Man [is] animal; animal, substance; therefore, man, substance. Of the Second, - Animal [is predicated] of all man; animal of no stone; man, there-

¹ Ammonius, or Philoponus, here manifestly refers to the diagrams representing the three figures, and accommodated to Aristotle's three sets of letters, noting the three terms in each of these; thus:



Whether these diagrams ascend higher than Ammonius does not appear; for they are probably not the constructions referred to by Aristotle; and none are given by the Aphrodisian in his original text, though liberally supplied by his Latin translator. The diagrams of Ammonius were long generally employed. By Neomagus, 1533 (In Trapzuntii Dialect., f. 35), they are most erroneously referred to Faber Stapulensis. [See further, Discussions, p. 670. — ED.]

fore, of no stone.... Of the Third, — Some stone is white; all stone is inanimate; consequently, some white is inanimate."

First Figure. — F. 19 b, 59; Aristotle, $l. c. \S 3$. "'But I call that the middle term which itself is in another, and another in it; and which in position lies intermediate.'

"This definition of the middle term is not common to the three figures, but limited to the middle of the first figure only. For, etc. But, if there be a certain difference in species between the middle terms of the three figures, they have likewise something in common; to wit, that the middle term is found twice in the premises, throughout the three figures; which also in position is middle. For Aristotle wishes in the Diagraph ($\ell \nu \ a \delta \tau \hat{\eta} \ \tau \hat{\eta} \ \kappa a \tau a \gamma \rho a \phi \hat{\eta}$) to preserve the order of intermediacy, so that, placing the three terms in a *straight line*, we assign the middle place to the middle term. [?]

Aristotle, *l. c.* § 4. "'But [I call] the *extremes* both that which is in another, and that in which another is. For if A be predicated of all B, and B of all C, it is necessary that A should also be predicated of all C. We have previously said what we mean by the expression [predicated] of all."

" It may seem, perhaps, that this is a [perfect] definition of the extremes and of the middle term. But it is not; for it behooves us to sub-understand, in addition, the word *only*; and thus the definition will rightly run, — But [I call] the extremes, both that which is in another [minor], and that in which another is [major]. For if A be predicated of all B, and B of all C, it is necessary that A be predicated of all C.

"This the first syllogistic mood is of two affirmative universals, collecting an affirmative conclusion. For if B inheres in all C, C is, consequently, a part of B. But B is a part of A; A therefore, also, inheres in all C, C being a part of B. The reasoning will be plainer in material examples — as substance [is predicated] of all animal; animal of all man; and there is inferred substance of all man; and conversely, all man [is] animal; all animal substance; therefore, all man substance.

"But it is manifest how, in this figure, the term of the first mood [Barbara] ought to be taken. The first is the most general, and the second the subaltern, genus; whilst the third is a species more special than the middle. The conclusion ought always to be drawn. Thus, if, proceeding synthetically, we commence by the major term [and proposition], substance begins; wherefore it also leads the way in the conclusion. [There is predicated] substance of all animal (here substance commences); animal of all man; whilst the conclusion again commences with substance, — substance of all man. But if we start from the minor term [and proposition], as from man, with this also the conclusion will commence; all man [is] animal; all animal substance; all man substance.

"Aristotle takes the terms A, B, C; and, from the relation of the letters, he manifests to us the order of the first figure. The major term he calls A, because A stands first in order; the minor term C; and the middle term B; as B, in its order, follows A, and precedes C.

"It is plain that the terms may possibly be condequate [and therefore reciprocating]; as receptive of science — risible — man; for all man is risible; all risible is receptive of science; therefore, all man is receptive of science." F. 23 b, Aristotle, ch. 5, § 2, Second Figure. "'The major extreme is that which lies nearer to the middle; the minor, that which lies farther from the middle.'

"In place of more akin and more proximate to the middle; not in position, but in dignity. For since, of the terms, the middle is twice predicated, while, in the conclusion, the major is once predicated, but the minor not even once predicated; [consequently] that which is once predicated will be the more proximate to that which is twice predicated, that is, to the middle, than that which is not even once predicated. Wherefore, we shall hear him [Aristotle], in the Third Figure, calling the minor the term more proximate to the middle on account of their affinity, for they are both subjects, while he calls the major term the more remote. Perhaps, also, he wishes that in the diagraph $(\tau \hat{y})$ $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \gamma \rho \alpha \phi \hat{\eta}$) the major term should be placed closer to the middle, and the minor farther off. But the major extreme in this figure, the two premises being universal, exists not by nature but by position, for the first of the extremes which you meet with as a subject in the second figure, - this is the minor extreme, the other is the major. So in the example -All man an animal; no plant animal : therefore, no man plant. In like manner, if we take the commencement from *plant*, this becomes the minor term, and man the major; as, no plant animal; all man animal: no plant, therefore, man. Consequently the major and minor terms exist in these examples only by position, not by nature. If, indeed, one or other of the propositions be particular, the major and the minor terms are then determined; for we hold that in this figure the universal is the major."

Aristotle. — § 3. "'The middle is placed external to [not between] the extremes, and first in position."

"The middle term passes out of what is properly the middle position; it is also placed out of or external to the extremes; but either above these or below. But if it be placed above, so as to be predicated of both, it is called first in position; if below, so as to be subjected, it is called second. Wherefore, here, as predicate of both premises, he styles the middle term the first; for if it be placed above, it is first in position, and in being apart from the extremes, it is placed without them."

Aristotle, ch. 6, § 2. Third Figure, f. 27 b. "'The major extreme is that more remote from, the minor is that more proximate to, the middle.'

"The major term in this figure is twice predicated of the middle, and in the conclusion; but the minor once only, and that of the middle, for it is subjected to the major in the conclusion; the middle alone is subjected, never predicated. When he, therefore, says that the major term is more remote from the middle, he means the term always predicate is in affinity more remote from that which is never predicate, but always subject. And that which is never subject is the major and more proximate term; that again, which is now subject, now predicate, is the minor."

(e) MARTIANUS CAPELLA.1

Martianus Capella, De Septem Artibus Liberalibus, L. iv. De Dialectica, in

1 Flourished A. C. 457, Passow; 474, Tennemann.

capite, Quid sit Predicativus Syllogismus, p. 127, ed. Grotii; p. 83, ed. Basil. 1532.

"Hujus generis tres formæ [figuræ] sunt.

"Prima est, in qua declarativa [prædicatum] particula superioris sumpti, sequentis efficitur subjectiva [subjectum]; aut subjectiva superioris, declarativa sequentis. Declarativa superioris fit subjectiva sequentis, ut Omnis voluptas bonum est; omne bonum utile est; omnis igitur voluptas utilis est. Subjectiva superioris fit declarativa sequentis, si hoe modo velis convertere: Omne bonum utile est; omnis voluptas bonum est; omnis igitur voluptas utilis est."

In First Form or Figure, notices the four direct and five indirect moods, — reflexion; and, in the second and third, the usual number of moods.¹

In Second Figure — "Hic reflexione si utaris, alius modus non efficitur, quoniam de utrisque subjectivis fit illatio." He seems to hold that two direct conclusions are competent in Second and Third Figures.

In Second Figure he enounces generally (four times) as thus: — "Omne justum honestum; nullum turpe honestum; nullum igitur justum turpe;" but sometimes (once) thus, — "Nullum igitur turpe justum."

In Third Form or Figure generally (six times) thus, as — "Omne justum honestum; omne justum bonum; quoddam igitur honestum bonum;" but sometimes (once) as — "Quoddam igitur bonum honestum."

(f) ISIDORUS.

Isidorus, Originum, L. i. c. 28. De Syllogismis Dialecticis. Opera, p. 20 (1617); in Gothofred. Auctores, p. 878.

"Formulæ Categoricorum, id est, Prædicativorum Syllogismorum sunt tres. Primæ formulæ modi sunt novem.

"Primus modus est qui conducit, id est, qui colligit ex universalibus dedicativis dedicativum universale directim : ut, Omne justum honestum; omne honestum bonum; ergo omne justum bonum." All in first figure, with minor first; in second and third figures, varies; uses per reflexionem et reflexim indifferently; and through all moods of all figures follows Apuleius. "Has formulas Categoricorum Syllogismorum qui plene nosse desiderat, librum legat qui inscribitur Perihermenias Apuleii, et quæ subtilius sunt tractata cognoscet."

(g) AVERROES.

Averroes, In Anal. Prior, L. i. c. v., on First Figure. — "If, therefore, the middle term be so ordered between the two extremes, that it be predicated of the minor and subjected to the major (as, if we say all C is B, and all B is A); it is plain that this order of syllogism is natural to us; and it is called by Aristotle the First Figure." And thus are stated all the examples in detail.

C. vi., Figure Second. - "And the proposition whose subject is the subject

¹ Cassiodorus, in First Figure, gives both forms, "vel sic;" in Second and Third, though he gives also a "vel sic," they are examples, both in converse, of Capella's general mode of enunciation. See Dialect., Opera,

pp. 538, 556, Genev. 1650, and above, p. 626 (fl 520). Cf. Apuleius, *De Syllogismo Categorico*, *Op.*, p. 35. Elmen. (A. c. 160). Isidorus, of Seville (*Gothofr. Auct.*, p. 878), (A. c. 600; died 636).

of the quæsitum is the minor proposition, but that whose subject is the predicate of the quæsitum is the major. Let us then place first in order of enunciation the minor extreme; let the middle term then follow, and the major come last, to the end that thus the major may be distinguished from the minor; for in this figure the terms are not distinguished, unless by relation to the quæsitum." So all the examples.

C. vii., Third Figure. — "That proposition in which lies the subject of the quæsitum is called the minor proposition, since the subject itself is called the *minor term*; that proposition which contains the predicate of the quæsitum is named the *major*. In the example, let the minor term be C, the middle B, and the major A, and their order be that we first enounce the middle, then the minor, and last of all the major." And so the examples.

(h) MELANCHTHON.

Melanchthon, Erotemata Dialecticæ, L. iii. p. 175.

" Demonstration why there are necessarily three [and only three] Figures.

"Every argumentation which admits the syllogistic form (for of such form Induction and Example are not recipient [?]) proceeds either [1°], From genus to species universally with a universal conclusion; or $[2^\circ]$, From species to genus with a particular conclusion; or $[3^\circ]$, A distraction of two species takes place; or $[4^\circ]$, There is a concatenation of a plurality of causes and effects. Nor are there more modes of argumentation, if we judge with skill.

"The process from genus to species engenders the First Figure. And the consequence is valid from the genus with a universal sign both affirmatively and negatively to the species, — this is naturally manifest. The process from species to genus with a particular conclusion engenders the Third Figure. And it is evident that, the species posited, the genus is posited.

"The distraction of species engenders the Second Figure. And the reason of the consequence is clear, because disparate species are necessarily sundered. These may be judged of by common sense, without any lengthened teaching. Both are manifest, — that the figures are rightly distributed, and that the consequences are indubitably valid."

(i) ARNAULD.

Arnauld, L'Art de Penser (Port Royal Logic), P. iii. ch. 11, p. 235. — General principle of syllogisms : — "That one of the premises should contain the conclusion, and the other show that it does so contain it." [So Purchot, Instit. Phil., Vol. I. P. iii. ch. 1.]

Ch. v., p. 215. - "Foundation of First Figure."

"Principle of affirmative moods: — That what agrees with a notion taken universally, agrees also with all of which this notion is affirmed; in other words, with all that is the subject of this notion, or is composed within its sphere." [Or, more shortly (says Purchot, c. vi.), Whatever is predicated of the superior, is predicated of the inferior.]

"Principle of the negative moods: — What is denied of a notion taken universally, is denied of all whereof this notion is affirmed." [Purchot — What is repugnant to the superior, is repugnant also to the inferior. Ch. vi. p. 217.]

"Foundation of the Second Figure.¹ Principle of the syllogisms in Cesare and Festino: — That what is denied of a universal notion, is denied also of whatever this notion is affirmed, that is to say, of all its subjects.

"Principle of the syllogisms of Camestres, Baroco: — All that is contained under the extension of a universal notion, agrees with none of the subjects whereof that notion has been denied, seeing that the attribute of a negative proposition is taken in its whole extension."

Ch. vii., p. 220. "Foundation of the Third Figure.

"Principle of the affirmative moods: — When two terms may be affirmed of the same thing, they may also be affirmed of each other, taken particularly. [So Purchot nearly.]

"Principle of the negative moods: — When of two terms the one may be denied, and the other affirmed, of the same thing, they may be particularly denied of each other." [So Purchot nearly.]

No foundation or principle given for the Fourth Figure.

(j) GROSSER.

Samuelis Grosseri, *Pharus Intellectus*, 1697, P. iii. S. i. Mem. 3, c. 2 (probably from Weiss, see Pref.).—" The foundation of the first figure is the Dictum de Omni et Nullo; for whatever is universally affirmed or denied of a universal subject, that is also affirmed or denied of all and each contained under that subject.

"The foundation of the second figure is Contrariety; for the predicates of contrary things are contrary.

"The foundation of the third figure is the agreement of the extremes in any third; for what agrees with any third agrees with each other, and may be joined or separated in the same proposition, inasmuch as they are in agreement or confliction in relation to any third thing."

Illustrates the three figures by three triangles, p. 132. In the first, we ascend to the apex on one side, and descend on the other; in the second, we ascend at both sides; in the third, we descend on both sides.

(k) LAMBERT.

Lambert, Neues Organon, Vol. I. § 225. (See Melanchthon, p. 641.)

Relation of Figures. — "We further remark, that the first discoverer of Syllogisms and their Figures was, in his arrangement of their propositions, determined by some arbitrary circumstance; his views and selections at least were not founded on aught natural and necessary (§ 196). He places, to wit, that premise after the other which contains among its terms the subject of the conclusion, probably in order to introduce into all the figures a common law. To that law, however, we do not restrict ourselves either in speech or in writing. The mathematician, who, perhaps, draws the greatest number of formal syllogisms with the fewest paralogisms, commences to take the first figure, for exam-

1 Purchot says this Figure rests upon a sinbut something agrees with the one, which is regle principle — Two things are not the same, pugnant to the other.

ple, not with the major, but with the minor proposition, because not only in this figure is such premise always the more obtrusive, but also because its subject is the proper matter of discourse. Frequently the premise is only quoted, or it is absolutely omitted whensoever it is of itself obvious to the reader, or is easily discoverable from the minor and conclusion. The conclusion inferred is then, in like manner, constituted into the minor proposition of a new syllogism, wherewith a new major is connected. This natural arrangement of the syllogisms of the first figure rests, consequently, altogether on the principle, —*That we can assert of the subject of an affirmative proposition whatever we may know of its predicate; or what may be said of the attribute of a thing is valid of the thing itself. And this is what the syllogisms of the first Figure have peculiar to themselves. It is also so expressed : — What is true of the genus, is true also of each of its species.*

§ 226. "On the other hand, in the second and third Figures there is no talk of species and genera. The second Figure denies the subjects of each other, because they are diverse in their attributes; and every difference of attribute is here effectual. We, consequently, use this figure principally in the case where two things ought not to be intercommuted or confounded. This becomes necessarily impossible, so soon as we discover in the thing A something which does not exist in the thing B. We may, consequently, say that syllogisms of the second figure lead us to distinguish things, and prevent us from confounding notions. And it will be also found that in these cases we always use them.

§ 227. "The third Figure affords Examples and Exceptions; and, in this Figure, we adduce all *exempla in contrarium*. The two formula are as follows: "1. There are B which are C; for M is B and C.

"2. There are B which are not C; for M is B and not C.

"In this manner we draw syllogisms of the Third Figure, for the most part, in the form of copulative propositions (§ 135); because we are not wont twice to repeat the subject, or to make thereof two propositions. Sometimes one proposition is wholly omitted, when, to wit, it is self-manifest.

" In the Fourth Figure, as in the First, species and genera appear only with this difference, that in the moods, *Baralip*, *Dibatis*, *Fesapo*, *Fresison*, the inference is from the species to the genus; whereas, in *Calentes*, there is denied of the species what was denied of the genus. For where the genus is not, neither are there any of its species. This last mood we, therefore, use when we conclude negatively a minori ad majus, seeing that the genus precedes, and is more frequently presented than any of its species.

§ 229. "The syllogisms of the four Figures are thus distinguished in relation to their employment, in the following respects:

"1. The First Figure ascribes to the thing what we know of its attribute. It concludes from the genus to the species.

"2. The Second Figure leads to the discrimination of things, and relieves perplexity in our notions.

"3. The Third Figure affords examples and exceptions in propositions which appear general.

"4. The Fourth Figure finds species in a genus in Baralip and Dibatis; it

shows that the species does not exhaust the genus in *Fesapo*, *Fresison*; and it denies the species of what was denied of the genus in *Calentes*.

§ 230. "This determination of the difference of the Four Figures is, absolutely speaking, only manifested when we employ them after natural fashion, and without any thought of a selection. For, as the syllogisms of every figure admit of being transmuted into those of the first, and partly also into those of any other, if we rightly convert, or interchange, or turn into propositions of equal value, their premises; consequently, in this point of view, no difference subsists between them; but whether we in every case should perform such commutations, in order to bring a syllogism under a different figure, or to assure ourselves of its correctness, - this is a wholly different question. The latter is manifestly futile. For, in the commutation, we must always undertake a conversion of the premises, and a converted proposition is assuredly not always of equal evidence with that which we had to convert, while, at the same time, we are not so well accustomed to it; for example, the proposition, Some stones attract iron, every one will admit, because The magnet is a stone, and attracts iron. This syllogism is in the Third Figure. In the first, by conversion of one of its premises, it would run thus:

> Major, — All magnets attract iron; Minor, — Some stones are magnets; Conclusion, — Some stones attract iron.

Here we are unaccustomed to the minor proposition, while it appears as if we must pass all stones under review, in order to pick out magnets from among them. On the other hand, that *the magnet is a stone*, is a proposition which far more naturally suggests itself, and demands no consideration. In like manner, *A circle is not a square ; for the circle is round, the square not.* This proof [in the third figure] is as follows, when east in the first:

What is not round is no circle; A square is not round; Consequently, etc.

Here the major proposition is converted by means of *terminus infinitus*, and its truth is manifested to us only through the consciousness that *all circles are round*. For, independently of this proposition, should we not hesitate — there being innumerable things which are *not* round — whether the circle were one of those which belonged to this category? We think not; because we are aware.

§ 231. "It is thus apparent that we use every syllogistic figure there, where the propositions, as each figure requires them, are more familiar and more current. The difference of figures rests, therefore, not only on their form, but extends itself, by relation to their employment, also to things themselves, so that we use each figure where its use is more natural: The first for finding out or proving the Attributes of a thing; the second for finding out or proving the Difference of things; the third for finding out and proving Examples and Exceptions; the fourth for finding out and excluding the Species of a Genus.

§ 232. "Further, whether the three last figures are less evident than the first, is a question which has been denied [affirmed (?)] on this account, that the first figure only rests immediately on the Dictum de Omni et Nullo [§ 220]. whilst the others have hitherto, by a circuit, been educed therefrom. We have already remarked [§ 211] that this circuit, through our mode of notation, is wholly superseded. We need, therefore, only translate its principle into the vernacular, and we shall find that the Dictum de Omni et Nullo is on that account applicable to the first figure, because its truth is based on the nature of the proposition. From this principle, therefore, the first figure and its moods admit of an immediate deduction ; it is thus only a question whether the other figures are incapable [capable (?)] of such immediate deduction, or whether it is necessary previously to derive them through the first figure. Our mode of notation shows that the latter is an [unnecessary] circuit, because every variety of syllogism admits for itself a various notation, and because, in that case, the premises are taken for what they actually are. Consequently, every figure, like the first, has its own probation, - a probation drawn exclusively from the natures of the propositions. The whole matter is reduced to this : - Whether a notion, wholly or in part, is, or, wholly or in part, is not, under a second; and whether, again, this second, wholly or in part, is, or, wholly or in part, is not, under a third. All else proceeds only on the interchange of equivalent modes of expression, - the figured, namely, and those which are not figured. And this interchange we may style translating, since the figured modes of expression may be regarded as a special language, serving the purpose of a notation. We have above (§ 220), after all the syllogistic moods were discovered and denoted, adduced the Dictum de Omni et Nullo, but only historically, since our manner of determining the syllogistic moods is immediately founded on the nature of the propositions, from which this Dictum is only a consequence. Moreover, this consequence is special, resting, as it does, on the notions of Species and Genera. Wherefore, its validity only extends so far as propositions can be recalled to these notions; as, for example, in the First Figure. In the Second, the notion of Difference emerges; and in the Third, the notion of Example. If we, therefore, would have special dicta for the several Figures, in that case it would follow, and, at the same time, become manifest that the middle term of a syllogism, considered for itself, expresses, in the First Figure, a principle [of Ascription or Procreation]; in the Second, Difference; in the Third, an Example; and in the Fourth, the principle of Reciprocity.

"1. For the First Figure. *Dictum de Omni et Nullo*. What is true of all A, is true of every A.

"2. For the Second Figure. Dictum de Diverso. Things which are different, are not attributes of each other.

"3. For the Third Figure. Dictum de Exemplo. When we find things A which are B, in that case some A are B.

"4. For the Fourth Figure. *Dictum de Reciproco*. I. If no M is B, then no B is this or that M. II. If C is [or is not] this or that B, in that case some B are [or are not] C."

(l) PLATNER.

Platner, *Philosophische Aphorismen*, 3d ed., 1793. — Part I., § 544, conformed to his *Lchrbuch der Logik und Metaphysik*, 1795, § 227. "The reason why the predicate belongs to the subject is in all possible syllogisms this, — because the subject stands in a relation of subordination with [is either higher or lower than] a third notion to which the predicate belongs. Consequently, all inference proceeds on the following rule: If the subject of the [concluding] judgment stand in a relation of subordination with a third notion, to which a certain predicate pertains; in that case, this predicate also pertains to the same judgment, affirmatively or negatively."

In his note on this Aphorism, Platner (Lehrbuch) admits — "My fundamental rule is only at fault in the second Aristotelic figure, which, however, is no genuine figure; because here, in the premises, the subject and predicate have changed places," etc. In the 2d edition of his Aphorisms (1784) he had adopted the principle of Identity with the same third, as he has it: "In what extension or proportion (Maasse) two notions are like or unlike to a third, in the same extension or proportion are they like or unlike each other." (§ 628.)

Philosophische Aphorismen, Part I., third edition, 1793, § 568, compared with second, 1784, § 672-676. — "Nevertheless, each of these grammatical figures of syllogism has its peculiar adaptation in language for the dialectical application of proofs; and the assertion is without foundation that the first is the most natural. Its use is only more appropriate, when we intend to show — that a predicate pertains [or does not pertain] to a subject in virtue of its class. More naturally than the first do we show, in the second, the difference of things apparently similar; and in the third, the similarity of apparently different things. The fourth figure [it is said in the second edition], on account of the position of its terms, is always unnatural in language."

Philosophische Aphorismen, Part I., last edition, 1793, § 561.—" The principle of the first figure is the Dictum de Omni et Nullo."

§ 564. — "Touching the other figure [the third, for in this edition Platner abolishes, in a logical relation, the second], its special principle is the following rule : — What belongs to the subordinate, that, since the subordinate is a part of the universal, belongs also in part (particularly) to the universal."

In the second edition, 1784, the second figure is recognized, and, with the third, obtains its special law.

§ 659. — "The principle of the second figure is : — If two notions, wholly or in part, are opposite to a third, so are they also, wholly or in part, opposite to each other."

§ 664.—" The principle of the third figure is :— What can be particularly affirmed or denied of a subaltern species, that also, in so far as such subaltern species is part of a genus, may be particularly affirmed or denied of the genus."

Philosophische Aphorismen. Part I., § 546. Note. — "In general, logicians treat the subject as if it were necessarily subordinated to the predicate. It may, however, on the contrary, be the higher notion, and the predicate thus be subordinated to it. This is the case in all particular propositions where the predicate is not an attribute of the genus, but an accident of the subject. For instance, — Some creatures are animals; here the subject is the higher: Some

men are imperfect; here the higher is the predicate. We must not, therefore, in our syllogistic, thus enounce the fundamental rule of reasonings, — If the subject be subordinated to a third notion, but with or in the relation of subordination with a third notion."

(m) - FRIES.

Fries, System der Logik, § 56. — "The species of categorical syllogisms are determined by the variety of relations in which three notions may stand to each other, so that a syllogism may be the result.

"These relations may be thought as three.

"Case I. — Three notations are reciprocally subordinated in gradation, so that the second is subordinated to the first, but superordinated to the third.

" Case II. — Two notions are subordinated to a third.

" Case III. - Two notions are superordinated to a third."

"When, in these cases, is a syllogism possible?

57.—" In all the three cases the syllogisms are equally valid, for they are founded on the general laws of the connection of notions.

"They all follow, to wit, from the relation of a whole sphere to its parts, which lies in the *Dictum de Omni et Nullo*. The principles for the three mentioned cases are thus:

"For the first, — The part (C) of the part (B) lies in the whole (A), and what (A) lies out of the whole (B), lies also out of its parts (C).

"For the second, — What (A or some A) lies out of the whole (B), lies also out of its parts (C).

"For the third, — If a part (B) lies in two wholes (A and C), in that case these have a part in common; and if a part (B) lie in a whole (C), but out of another whole (A), in that case the first (C) has a part out of the other (A).

"The first case alone coincides immediately with the perfect declaration of a syllogism, —that a case is therein determined by a rule. For the third case, therefore, our two declarations of a major premise — that *it is the rule*, and that *it contains the major term* — do not coincide, seeing that here the minor term may be forthcoming in the rule. On this account the arrangement of the first case is said to be the only *regular*, and the *others are reduced to it*. That this reduction is easily possible, we may in general convince ourselves, by reflecting that every syllogism requires a general rule as premise, and that the other cases are only distinguished from the first by a converted arrangement of the propositions. But as all propositions may be either purely converted or purely counterposed, consequently the two last cases oan at most so far deviate from the first that they are connected with the first case only through reversed (gegentheilige) notions.

§ 57 b. — "The doctrine of the several species of categorical syllogisms, as regulated by the forms of their judgments, is at bottom an empty subtlety; for the result of all this circuity is only that, in every categorical syllogism, a case is determined by a rule, and this is already given in the law, that in every reasoning one premise must be universal. The scholastic logic treats of this doctrine only in so far as the species of syllogism are determined by the forms of judgment, and thereby only involves itself in long grammati-

1 [See Jordano Bruno (in Denzinger, Logik, t. ii. p. 259). Stattler, Logica, § 237, p. 163.]

647

cal discussions. Aristotle has been falsely reproached for overlooking the fourth figure, he only having admitted three. For Aristotle proceeds, precisely as I have here done, only on the relation of notions in a syllogism, of which there are possibly only our three cases. His error lies in this, - that he did not lay a general rule at the root of every figure, but, with a prolixity wholly useless, in determining the moods of the several figures, details each, even of the illegitimate, and demonstrates its illegitimacy. This prolixity has been too often imitated by other logicians, in the attempts at an evolution of the moods. Kant goes too far in denouncing this whole doctrine as a mere grammatical subtlety. The distinction of the three cases is, however, a logical distinction; and his assertion that the force of inference in the other two is wholly derived from that of the first case, is likewise not correct. I manifestly, however, conclude as easily in the third case, - 'A part which lies in two wholes is a part common to both,'-- as in the first, -- ' The part of the part lies in the whole.' The third case presents, indeed, the readiest arrangement for reasonings from the particular to the general, i. e., for syllogisms in the second figure according to our terminology.

According to our first case,	MP
	SM
With converted major premise,	РМ
	SM
With converted minor premise,	МР
	MS
Both premises converted,	РМ
	MS
	According to our first case, With converted major premise, With converted minor premise, Both premises converted,

"Should we therefore simply convert both premises in a syllogism of the first figure, we are able to express it in all the figures. Let the notions given be *fireproof*, *lead*, *metal*, there then follows the conclusion — Some metal is not fireproof — from the premises :

In the First Figure — No lead is fireproof; Some metal is lead; In the Second Figure — Nothing fireproof is lead; Some metal is lead; In the Third Figure — No lead is fireproof; All lead is metal; In the Fourth Figure — Nothing fireproof is lead; All lead is metal.

"It is here apparent that the first three figures are our three cases; but the

648

fourth we did not employ, as it contains no peculiar relations or notions, but only under our first case superordinates, and then subordinates a middle term. This manner of enunciating a syllogism is thus only possible where we are competent, through conversions, to transmute the arrangement of the first figure into that of the fourth. Now this happens: 1] If we convert the conclusion S——P into P——S, since then the major and the minor terms, as also the major and minor premises, change names; or, 2] If both premises allow of an immediate conversion, so that the one remains universal; for then the converted propositions contain the same thoughts as those given, and, consequently, establish the same conclusion."

[Objections to Fries' doctrine of figure — 1°, Only applies to affirmatives; 2°, Ouly the arrangement of the results of a successful comparison, and takes no heed of the comparison that may have been fruitless (the illegitimate moods); 3°, Takes account of only one subordination, for, in the second and third cases, in each there is a reciprocal subordination in Extension and Comprehension.]

(n and o) KRUG AND BENEKE-THEIR DOCTRINES OF SYLLOGISM CRITICIZED.

The authority of the two following philosophers, who conclude this series, is rather negative than positive; inasmuch as they both concur in proving that the last attempts at a reformation of the Syllogistic Theory proceed on a wholly different ground from that on which, I think, this alone can be accomplished. These two philosophers are Krug and Beneke; for, beside them, I am aware of no others by whom this has been attempted.

Krug was a disciple of the Kantian school, Kant's immediate successor in his Chair of Logic and Metaphysics at Kœnigsberg, and, subsequently, Professor of Philosophy in the University of Leipsic. He is distinguished not only as a voluminous writer, but as a perspicuous and acute thinker; and his peculiar modification of the Kantian system, through a virtual return to the principle of Common Sense, is known among the German theories by the name of Synthetism. His Logic (the first part of his System of Theoretical Philosophy) was published in 1806, and is one of the best among the many excellent treatises on that science which we owe to the learning and ability of the Germans. (I have before me the fourth edition, that of 1833.) Krug propounded a new theory of syllogistic; but the novelty of his scheme is wholly external, and adds only fresh complication to the old confusion. It has, accordingly, found no favor among subsequent logicians.

Passing over the perverse ingenuity of the principles on which the whole doctrine is founded, it is enough to state that Krug distributes the syllogistie moods into eight classes. Of these, the first (which, with some other logicians, he considers not as a figure at all, but as the pure, regular, and ordinary form of reasoning) corresponds to the First Figure of the Aristotelico-Scholastie distribution. The other seven classes, as so many impure, irregular, and extraordinary forms, constitute (on the analogy of Rhetoric and Grammar) so many *figures*. Of these, the new is only the old *First Figure*, the minor premise, in extension, being stated before the major. Krug, like our other modern logicians, is not aware that this was the order in which the syllogism

was regularly cast, in common language, by the Greeks, by the Arabians, by the Jews, and by the Latins prior to Boethius.¹ The old and new first figures are only a single figure, the syllogism being drawn in the counter orders of breadth and of depth. A mood in these orders, though externally varying, is intrinsically, is schematically, the same. Krug's distinction of his new first figure is, therefore, null. Thus, Barama is Barbara; Caleme is Celarent; Dirami is Darii; Firemo is Ferio. Nor is his discrimination of the other six better founded. His new (the old) Second and his Fifth Figures are also one. The latter is precisely the same with the former; Fimeso is Festino, and Fomaco is Baroco. In one case (under Camestres), Krug adopts, as alone right, the conclusion rejected by the logicians. In this, he and they are, in fact, both wrong, though in opposite ways. Each mood, in the second (as in the third) figure, has two indifferent conclusions; and the special one-sided practice of the former is only useful as gainsaying the general one-sided precept of the latter. The same objection applies to Krug's new (the old) Third, in connection with his Sixth Figure. They are one; Daroco is Bocardo, Fapimo is Felapton, and Fisemo is Ferison. In two cases (under Disamis and Bocardo) Krug has recognized the repudiated conclusion. Krug (§ 109) has, however, committed an error in regard to Bocardo. He gives, as its example, the following syllogism, in which, for brevity, I have filled up the quantifications:

> "Some animals are not [any] viviparous; All animals are [some] organized things; Therefore, some organized things are not [any] viviparous."

In a note, he adds, "The conclusion should here be: — 'Therefore, some things which are not viviparous are (some) organized.' And this is seen also by reduction. We have, however, followed the arbitrary precept of the logicians, that the extreme in the second proposition should stand subject in the conclusion; although it be here indifferent which extreme becomes the subject. The conclusion is only changed into another quality." Only changed into another quality ! Only an affirmative conclusion from a negative premise ! The legitimate inference is :

"Therefore, no viviparous is some organic;" or, "Therefore, any viviparous is not some organic."

Bachmann (Logik, \S 135), another eminent logician, has erred with Krug. A particular predicate in a negative proposition seems indeed one of the last difficulties for reformed logic. Krug's new (the old) Fourth Figure bears a corresponding relation to his Seventh. He is right, certainly, in abolishing all the moods of the fourth figure except Fesapo and Fresiso; and, from his point of view, he is hardly to be blamed for not abolishing these likewise, along with the correlative moods Fapesmo and Frisesmo, and, with them, his seventh figure. Finally, rejecting the scholastic doctrine of Reduction, he adopts, not without sundry perverse additions, Kant's plan of accomplishing the same end; so that Krug's conversive and contrapositive and transpositive interpolations,

650

1 See p. 625. — ED.

by which he brings back to propriety his sevenfold figured aberrations, are merely the substitution of one "false subtlety" for another. He, and Bachmann after him, renounce, however, "the crotehet of the Aristotelians," in making the extreme of the prior premise the predicate, always, of the conclusion, in the first and second figures; and, though both do this partially and from an erroneous point of view, their enunciation, such as it is, is still something.

Professor Beneke, of Berlin, is the last to whom I can refer, and in him we have, on the point in question, the final result of modern speculation. This acute and very original metaphysician stands the uncompromising champion of the philosophy of experience, against the counter doctrine of transcendentalism, in all its forms, now prevalent in Germany; and, among the other departments of mental science, he has cultivated the theory of reasoning with great ability and success. In 1832 appeared his Lehrbuch der Logik, etc.; in 1839, his Syllogismorum Analyticorum Origines et Ordo Naturalis, etc.; and in 1842, his System der Logik, etc., in two volumes. In Logic, Beneke has devoted an especial share of attention to the theory and distribution of Syllogism; but it is precisely on this point, though always admiring the ingenuity of his reasonings, that I am compelled overtly to dissent from his conclusions.

The Syllogistic of Beneke is at once opposed, and correspondent, to that of Krug; there is an external difference, but, without imitation, an internal similarity. Instead of erroneously multiplying the syllogistic figures, like the Leipsic philosopher, the philosopher of Berlin ostensibly supersedes them altogether. Yet, when considered in essence and result, both theories agree in being, and from the same side, severally, the one an amplification, the other an express doubling, of the nineteen scholastic moods. In this, both logicians were unaware that the same had been long ago virtually accomplished in the progress of the science; neither considered that the amplification he proposed was superficial, not to say mistaken; and that, instead of simplicity, it only tended to introduce an additional perplexity into the study. Beneke has the merit of more openly relieving the opposition of Breadth and Depth, in the construction of the syllogism; and Krug, though on erroneous grounds, that of partially renouncing the old error of the logicians in regard to the one syllogistic conclusion, in the second and third figures. But, in his doctrine of moods, Beneke has, I think, gone wrong in two opposite ways : like Krug, in his arbitrary multiplication of these forms; like logicians in general, in their arbitrary limitation.

In regard to the former — the counter quantities of breadth and depth do not discriminate two moods, but merely two ways of stating the same mood. Accordingly, we do not multiply the moods of the first figure, to which alone the principle applies, by casting them in the one dependency and in the other; we only show that, in that figure, every single mood may be enounced in a twofold order, more german, the one to the quantity of extension, the other to the quantity of intension. An adequate notation ought, equally and at once, to indicate both. But in reference to the second and third figures, the case is worse. For in them we have no such dependency at all between the extremes; and to double their moods, on this principle, we must take, divide, and

arbitrarily appropriate, one of the two indifferent conclusions. But, as every single mood of these figures has a double conclusion, this division cannot be made to difference their plurality. If Professor Beneke would look (*instar omnium*) into Apuleius or Isidorus, or, better than either, into Blemmidas, he will find all his new moods (not, of course, those in the fourth figure) stated by these, as by other ancient logicians; who, however, dreamed not that the mere accidental difference of, what they called, an *analytic* and *synthetic* enouncement, determined any multiplication of the moods themselves.

In the latter respect, Dr. Beneke has only followed his predecessors; I, therefore, make no comment on the imperfection. But, in accomplishing what he specially proposes, whilst we do not find any advancement of the science, we find the old confusion and intricacy replaced by another, perhaps worse. To say nothing of his non-abolition of the fourth figure, and of his positive failures in doubling its moods, the whole process is carried on by a series of arbitrary technical operations, to supersede which must be the aim of any one who would reconcile Logic with nature. His new (but which in reality are old) amplifications are brought to bear (I translate his titles) through "Commutations of the Premises, - by Subalternation, - by Conversion, - by Contraposition;" and "of the Major, - of the Minor," - in fact, of both premises (e. g., Fesapo, etc.). And so difficult are these processes, if not so uncertain the author's language, that, after considerable study, I am still in doubt of his meaning on more points than one. I am unable, for example, to reconcile the following statements : - Dr. Beneke repeatedly denies, in conformity with the common doctrine, the universal quantification of the predicate in affirmative propositions; and yet founds four moods upon this very quantification, in the conversion of a universal affirmative. This is one insolubility. But there arises another from these moods themselves (§ 28-31). For, if we employ this quantification, we have moods certainly, but not of the same figure with their nominal correlatives; whereas, if we do not, simply rejecting the permission, all slides smoothly, --- we have the right moods in the right figure. This, again, I am unable to solve. Dr. Beneke's duplication of the moods is also in sundry cases only nominal; as is seen, for example, in Ferio 2, Fesapo 2, and Fresiso 2, which are forms, all, and in all respects, identical. I must protest also against his violence to logical language. Thus, he employs everywhere "non omne," " non omnia," " alle sind nicht," etc., which is only a particular (being a mere denial of omnitude), for the absolute or universal negative, "nullum," "nulla," "kein ist," no, none, not any, etc., in opposition both to principle and to the practice of Aristotle and succeeding logicians.

[(p) TITIUS.

Gottlieb Gerhard Titius, Ars Cogitandi, sive Scientia Cogitationum Cogitantium, Cogitationibus Necessaris Instructa et a Peregrinis Liberata. Leipsiæ, 1723 (first edition, 1701).

Titus has been partially referred to, by Sir W. Hamilton, as having maintained the doctrine of a Quantified Predicate. See above, p. 555. His theory of the Figure and Mood of Syllogism is well deserving of notice, — proceeding, as it does, on the application of that doctrine. This theory is principally contained in the following extracts from his Ars Cogitandi, which show how closely he has approximated, on several fundamental points, to the doctrines of the New Analytic.1

Titius gives two canons of syllogism:

I. Affirmative. "Quæcunque conveniunt in uno tertio, illa etiam, juxta mensuram illius convenientiæ, inter se conveniunt."

II. Negative. "Quæcunque pugnant in certo aliquo tertio, illa, juxta mensuram illius disconvenientiæ, etiam inter se pugnant." C. ix. §§ 30, 27.

The following relates to his doctrine of Figure and Mood, and to the special rules of Syllogism, as commonly accepted :

C. x. § i. " Sic igitur omnium Syllogismorum formalis ratio in genuina medii termini et prædicati ac subjecti Conclusionis collatione consistit; eam si dicere velis formam essentialem aut figuram generalem, vel communem, non valde reluctabor.

§ ii. "Præter eam vero Peripatetici Figuras ex peculiari medii termini situ adstruunt, ea ratione ut Primam figuram dicaut, in qua medius terminus in Majore est subjectum, in Minore Prædicatum, Secundam, ubi idem bis prædicati, et Tertiam, ubi subjecti locum bis subit. Galenus adjecit Quartam primæ contrariam, in qua medius terminus in majore est prædicatum, in minore subjectum, quam pluribus etiam exposuit Autor. Art. Coq. p. 3, c. 8.

§ iii. "Cæterum illæ figuræ tantum sunt accidentales, ab iisque vis concludendi non dependet. Quodsi tamen quis diversum medii termini situm attendendum esse putet, tum nec Quarta figura negligenda esse videtur, licet eam Peripatetici nonnulli haut curandam existiment, vide Ulman. Synops. Log. 1. 3, c. 2, p. 164.

§ iv. "Interim Prima cæteris magis naturalis ex eo videri potest, quod Subjectum et Prædicatum Conclusionis in Præmissis suam retineat qualitatem, cum in secunda et tertia alterum qualitatem suam exuere, in quarta vero utrumque eam deponere debeat.

§ v. " Postea in unaquaque figura, pro ratione quantitatis et qualitatis propositionum, peculiares Modi adstruuntur, ita quidem ut Primæ figuræ Quatuor, totidem Secundæ, Tertiæ sex attribuantur, ex quibus etiam debite variatis Quarta quinque accipiat, prout illa passim cum vocabulis memorialibus recenseri solent, ut illa quidem huc transcribere opus non sit, vide Autor, Art. Cogit., p. 3, c. 5, 6, 7, 8.

§ vi. "Non opus esse istis figuris et modis ad dijudicandam Syllogismorum bonitatem, ex monito § 3, jam intelligi potest. Quomodo tamen sine iis bonitas laudata intelligi queat, id forte non adeo liquidum est.

§ vii. "Non diu hic quærenda sunt remedia: Observetur forma essentialis seu figura communis, ac de veritate Syllogismi recte judicabitur. Applicatio autem hujus moniti non est difficilis, nam primo respiciendum ad conclusionem, deinde ad medium terminum, quo facto etiam judicari potest, an ejus et terminorum conclusionis collatio in præmissis recte sit instituta nec ne. . .

• § ix. "De cætero uti anxie jam non inquiram, an omnis bene concludendi

. .

. . .

1 For Titius' doctrine of a Quantified Pred- Propositions and to the Hypothetical Sylloicate, its application to the Conversion of gism, see above, pp. 555, 527, 603. - ED.

ratio numero modorum denario circumscribatur, quod quidem juxta $d_{\kappa\rho}l\beta_{elav}$ mathematicam demonstrasse videri vult Autor. Art. Cog. p. 3, c. 4, ita id haut admiserim, quod illi modi, quos vulgo laudant, Primæ, Secundæ aut Tertiæ figuræ præcise sint assignandi, licet hoc itidem acumine mathematico se demonstrasse putet dictus Autor. d. l. c. 5 seqq.

§ x. "Cum enim quævis propositio possit converti, modo quantitas prædicati probe observetur, hinc necessario sequitur, quod quivis Syllogismus, adhibita propositionum conversione, in quavis figura possit proponi, ex quo non potest non æqualis modorum numerus in unaquaque figura oriri, licet illi non ejusdem semper sint quantitatis.

§ xi. "Operæ pretium non est prolixe per omnia Syllogismorum singulis figuris adscriptorum exempla ire, sufficiat uno assertionem illustrasse, v. gr. in prima figura, modo *Barbara* hic occurrit Syllogismus apud *d*. Autor. c. 5.

> 0. sapiens subjicitur voluntati Dei, 0. honestus est sapiens, E. 0. honestus subjicitur voluntati Dei.

§ xii. "Hunc in secunda figura ita proponere licet:

Quidam, qui subjicitur voluntati Dei, est omnis sapiens, Omnis honestus est sapiens, E. omnis honestus subjicitur voluntati Dei,

ratio concludendi manet eadem, sapiens enim et is qui subjicitur voluntati Dei, uniuntur in Majore, dein sapiens et honestus in Minore, ergo in conclusione idea sapientis et Ejus qui voluntati Dei subjicitur, quoque conveniunt.

§ xiii. " In tertia figura ita se habebit :

O. sapiens subjicitur voluntati Dei,
Q. sapiens est omnis honestus,
E. O. honestus subjicitur voluntati Dei,

nec in hac concludendi ratione aliquid desiderari potest, nam medius terminus universaliter unitur cum conclusionis prædicato, deinde, quantum sufficit, conjungitur cum ejusdem subjecto, seu *omni honesto*, ergo subjectum et prædicatum se quoque mutuo admittent.

§ xiv. "Cæterorum eadem est ratio, quod facile ostendi posset, nisi tricas illas vel scribere vel legere tædiosum foret. Ex his autem sequitur, quod omnes regulæ speciales, quæ modis vulgaribus attemperatæ vulgo circumferuntur, falsæ sint, quod speciatim ostendere liceat.

§ xv. "In universum triplici modo impingitur, vel enim conclusio creditur absurda, quæ talis non est, vel vitium est in materia, ac altera præmissarum falsa, vel adsunt quatuor termini, adeoque absurditas conclusionis, si aliqua subest, nunquam ab ea causa dependet, quam referunt regulæ.

\$ xvi. "Sed videamus distinctius (1) major in prima figura semper sit universalis.

§ xvii. "Inflectam huc exemplum minus controversum, quod Autor, Art. Cog. p. 3, c. 7, in modo Disamis, tertiæ figuræ, proponit:

> Quidam impii in honore habentur in mundo, Quidam vituperandi sunt omnes impii, E. quidam vituperandi in honore habentur in mundo.

xviii. "Hic habes primam figuram cum majore particulari, optime iterum concludentem, nam licet medius terninus particulariter sumatur in majore, ejus tamen ille est capacitatis, ut in eodem convenientia prædicati et subjecti ostendi queat, et nisi hoc esset, nee in tertia figura rite concluderetur.

§ xix. "Nec valde obsunt, quæ vulgo illustrandæ regulæ adducuntur. Ex sententia Weis. in Log. p. 1, lib. 2, c. 2, § 4, male ita concluditur:

Q. animal volat,O. leo est animal,E. Q. leo volat.

Verum si animal sumitur in minore sicut in majore, tum illa falsa est, si vero alio sensu, tum existunt quatuor termini; his ergo causis, non particularitati Majoris, vitiosa conclusio tribuenda.

§ xx. "Nam alias ita bene concluditur:

Q. animal volat, O. avis est animal (illud quoddam), E. O. avis volat,

nam licet medius terminus particularis sit, tantæ tamen est latitudinis, ut cum utroque Conclusionis termino possit uniri.

§ xxi. "Porro (2) Minor semper sit affirmans. Sed quid desiderari potest in hoc Syllogismo:

> O. homo est animal rationale, Leo non est homo, E. non est animal rationale?

et nonne illa ratio concludendi manifeste bona est, quæ subjectum et prædieatum, quæ in certo tertio non conveniunt, inter se quoque pugnare contendit?

 $\$ xxii. "Sed ais, mutemus paululum Syllogismum et absurditas conclusionis erit manifesta :

O. homo est animal, Leo non est homo, E. leo non est animal!

Verum si terminus animalis in Conclusione perinde sumitur, sicut suppositus fuit in majore, nempe *particulariter*, tum conclusio est verissima; si autem aliter accipiatur, tum evadunt quatuor termini, quibus adeo, non negationi Minoris, absurditas conclusionis est imputanda, quæ observatio in omnibus exemplis quæ hic objici possunt et solent, locum habet.

. .

§ xxviii. "Sed revertamur ad regulas vulgares! Nimirum (3) In secunda figura major sit universalis. Verum cur non ita liceat concludere:

Quidam dives est Saxo, Quidam Germanus est omnis Saxo, E. quidam Germanus est dives?

quod argumentum Weis. l. 2, c. 4, § 2, intuitu tertiæ figuræ proponit.

§ xxix. "Argumenta, quæ fallere videntur, v. gr. quod Weisius l. 2, c. 3, § 8, profert :

Quidam homo est sapiens, Nullus stultus est sapiens, E. nullus stultus est homo,

et similia, responsione, § 22, data eliduntur; nimirum conclusio vel non est absurda, si recte intelligatur, vel adsunt quatuor termini, quibus adeo, non particularitati majoris, vitium est imputandum.

xxx. "Amplius (4) Ex puris affirmativis in secunda figura nihil concluditur, sed mirum foret, si illa concludendi ratio falleret, quæ fundamentum omnium Syllogismorum affirmativorum tam evidenter præ se fert! Hoc argumentum utique formaliter bonum est:

Omnis sapiens sua sorte est contentus, Paulus sua sorte est contentus, E. Paulus est sapiens.

§ xxxi. "Sed fallunt multa argumenta, v. gr. Weisio d. c. 3, § 3, adductum :

Omnis lepus vivit, Tu vivis, E. tu es lepus,

verum non fallunt ob affirmationem præmissarum, sed quia vel minor falsa est, si scil. prædicatum accipiatur eodem sensu, quo in Majore sumtum est, vel quia adsunt quatuor termini, si prædicatum Minoris particulariter et alio sensu accipiatur.

 xxxii. "Non possunt etiam vulgo diffiteri, quin ex puris affirmativis aliquando quid sequatur, verum id non vi *formæ* sed *materiæ* fieri causantur, *vide* Ulman. *Log.* l. 3, c. 3, § 4. Hæc vero est petitio principii, nam quæ conveniunt in uno tertio, illa etiam inter se convenire debent, idque non fortuito, sed virtute unionis laudatæ, seu beneficio formæ.

§ xxxiv. "In tertia figura (5) Minor semper sit affirmans. Ego tamen sic recte concludi posse arbitror:

. .

656

. . .

Quoddam laudandum est omnis virtus, Nullum laudandum est quædam magnificentia, E. quædam magnificentia non est virtus.

 $\$ xxxv. "Nec valde urgent exempla opposita Weisius d. l. 2, c. 4, \S 2, hoc affert:

Omnis homo ambulat, Nullus homo est porcus, E. quidam porcus non ambulat,

nam recurrit responsio § 22 data, quæ vel conclusionem falsam non esse, vel causam falsitatis a quatuor terminis dependere ostendit, quæ etiam locum haberet, licet conclusionem universalem, *Nullus porcus ambulat*, assumas.

§ xxxvi. "Tandem (6) In tertia figura conclusio semper sit particularis. Verum Syllogismum cum conclusione universali, jam exhibui § 13, in Exemplis autem quæ vulgo afferuntur, v. gr.

> Omnis senator est honoratus, Omnis senator est homo (quidam scil.), E. omnis homo est honoratus,

vide Weis. d. l. 2, c. 4, § 3, occurrunt quatuor termini (nam homo, in minore particulariter, in conclusione universaliter sumitur), qui adeo veram absurdæ conclusionis causam, ac simul regulæ vulgaris falsitatem ostendunt.

§ xxxvii. "Illa autem omnia, quæ contra vulgares regulas hactenus disputavimus, non eo pertinent, quasi rationem concludendi rejiciendis regulis hinc inde confectam commendemus, ita ut in demonstrationibus eadem uti, aut valde delectari debeamus. Quin omni potius eo spectant, ut Peripateticos, qui formam Syllogismorum essentialem vel omnino non vel nimis frigide exponunt, in explicandis etiam eorum figuris accidentalibus, falli probarem.

.

§ xxxix. "Atque ex hactenus dictis etiam intelligi potest, quæ nostra de Reductione sit sententia. Nimirum ex nostris hypothesibus illa nihil aliud est, quam Syllogismorum per omnes quatuor figuras accidentales, salva semper conclusione, facta variatio.

§ xl. "Pertinet igitur illa tantum ad *Præmissa*, Syllogismus enim semper ut instrumentum veritatis inquirendæ considerari, adeoque quæstio probanda, quæ semper immobilis sit, nec, prout visum est, varietur, præsupponi debet.

§ xli. "Reductionis unica Lex est, ut simpliciter, juxta figuræ indolem, propositiones convertamus, quod sine ulla difficultate procedit, dummodo quantitatem subjecti et prædicati debite confideremus, ceu ex iis quæ de Conversione diximus satis liquet.

§ xlii. "Finis est, ut per ejusmodi variationem, terminorum unionem vel separationem co accuratius intelligamus, hinc omnis utilitas reductioni non est abjudicanda, si enim recte instituatur, ingenium quantitati propositionum observandæ magis magisque assuescit, ac inde etiam in penitiorem formæ essentialis intelligentiam provehitur. § xliii. "In vulgari Reductione, quæ in libellis logicis passim exponitur, vide Aut. Art. Cog. p. 3, c. 9, quædem exempla reprehendi non debent, quando v. g. Cesare ad Celarent reducitur, nam ibi simplici conversione alieujus propositionis defunguntur, juxta legem, quam § 41, reductioni dedimus.

§ xliv. "Sed si ab illis exemplis abeas, parum vel nihil est, quod in eadem laudari debeat, dum fere ex falsis hypothesibus omnis reductio oritur, nam conversio per contrapositionem præsupponitur, quam tamen valde dubiam esse, supra ostendimus, præterea peculiares modi in singulis figuris adstruuntur, ac omnis reductio ad primam figuram facienda esse existimatur, cum tamen idem Syllogismus per omnes figuras variari queat.

§ xlv. "Ipsa vero reductio nullis legibus adstricta est, convertitur Conelusio, transponuntur Præmissæ, propositiones negativæ mutantur in affirmativas, atque ita quidvis tentatur, modo figura intenta obtineatur. Quo ipso puerilis error, quo Logica, pro arte concinnandi tres lineas, easque in varias formas mutandi habetur satis elucet. Inepta scientia est, quæ in verbis disponendis, circumagendis aut torquendis unice, occupatur.

§ xlvi. "Juxta hæe igitur, vulgari modo reducere, maximam partem nihil aliud est, quam errorem errore tegere, ingenia discentium torquere, ac magno conatu magnas nugas agere, inscitiamque professa opera ostendere."— ED.]

> IV. — Syllogistic Moods. (p. 285.) 1. — direct and indirect moods.

(a) THEIR PRINCIPLE. - FIRST AND FOURTH FIGURE.

(See p. 302.)

Direct and Indirect Moods — principle of. — That the two terms should hold the same relation to each other in the conclusion that they generally hold to the middle term in the premises. This determined by the Question. This constitutes direct, immediate, natural, orderly inference. When reversed, by Conversion, there emerges indirect, mediate, unnatural, irregular inference.

In the two last Figures (Second and Third), the two terms hold the same relation to the middle term in the premises; ergo, no indirect inference, but always two direct conclusions possible.

In the first Figure, as the two terms are subordinated to each other in the premises, one direct conclusion from premises, whether read in Extension or Comprehension, and, consequently, an indirect one also, — the First Figure being first figure in Extensive quantity; the Fourth Figure being first figure in Comprehensive quantity. Direct and indirect moods in each.

1. Blunder about definition of major and minor terms by logicians (for which Aristotle not responsible),¹ cause of fancy of a Fourth Figure, constituted by indirect moods in comprehension.

Caspari Posneri Prof. Pub. Jenæ. 1656, Ad. L. iii. c. viii.].

¹ See Stahl [Notæ et Animadversiones in Compendium Dialecticum D. Conradi Horneii, nunc primum ex Auctoris Autographo editæ cura

2. That predicate could have no prefinition, and, therefore, though they allowed its converse, the direct inference was not suffered. This in Fapesmo, Frisesmo (these alone, by some logicians, admitted in the First Figure), and Fesapo and Fresison in Fourth, or Comprehensive First.¹

3. That major proposition, that which is placed first.

Fourth Figure. — The First Figure, and that alone, is capable of being enounced in two orders, those of Breadth and of Depth. It is exactly the same syllogism in either order; and, while the order of Depth was usually employed by the Greeks, Orientals, and older Latins, that of Breadth has been the common, if not the exclusive, mode of enouncement among the western logicians, since the time of Boethius. In either form there are thus four direct moods, and five indirect — in all nine moods; and if the Figure be held to comprise the moods of either form, it will have eighteen moods, as in fact is allowed by some logicians, and, among others, by Mendoza (*Disp. Log. et Met.* T. I. pp. 515, 516). Martianus Capella (*De Septem Artibus Liberalibus*, L. iv., *De Dialectica*, in cap. *Quid sit Prædicativus Syllogismus* — see p. 639) states and allows either form, but, like his contemporaries, Greek and Latin, he employs in his examples the order of Depth.

Now, mark the caprice of the logicians of the West subsequent to Boethius. Overlooking entirely the four direct moods in the order of Depth, which they did not employ, as the conclusion would, in these cases, have been opposed to their own order; they seized upon the five indirect moods of the order of Depth, as this afforded a conclusion corresponding to their own, and constituted it, thus limited, into a Fourth Figure.

Did not make two forms of First Figure.

An indirect conclusion is in subject and predicate the reverse of a direct; opposed, therefore, to the order of predication marked out by the premises which the direct conclusion exclusively follows. An indirect conclusion (what the logicians have not observed)² is an inference from the direct conclusion, and, therefore, one mediate from the premises.

(b) MOODS OF FOURTH FIGURE REDRESSED.

(Early paper - previous to 1844. Later signs of quantity substituted. - ED.)

I. Bamalip, — only Barbara with transposed premises and converted conelusion.

- (2) All irons are (some) metals;
- (1) All metals are (some) minerals;

All irons are (some) minerals.

1 [That fourth Figure differs from first only by transposition of Premises, — held by Derodon, Logica Restituta, p. 606. Camerarius, Disputationes Philosophice, Disp. i. qu. 13, p. 116. Caramuel, Rat. et Real. Phil., Disp. xii. p. 45. Irenæus, Integ. Phil., Elementa Logices, Sect. iii. § 3, p. 29. Caupanella, Phil. Rat. Dialect., Lib. ii. c. vi. art. xi. p. 391, and art. iv. p. 885 (1635). Ridiger, De Sensu Veri et Falsi, ii. 6, § 36. Crusius, Weg Zur Gewissheit, § 335, p. 606. Platner, Philosophische Aphorismen, i. § 554, p. 267]

² But see Contarenus, De Quarta Figura Syllog., Opera, p. 235. – ED.

(By conversion.) Some minerals are (all) irons.



II. Calemes, - only Celarent with transposed premises and converted conclusion.

- (2) All snails are (some) mollusca;
- No molluscum is any insect;
 No snail is any insect.
 (By conversion.)

No insect is any snail.



III. Dimatis, - only Darii with transposed premises and converted conclusion.

- (2) Some stars are (some or all) planets;
- All planets are some things moving round sun; Some stars are some things moving round sun; (By conversion.)

Some things moving round sun are some stars.


IV. Fesapo [Felapos].¹

- (2) No artery is any vein;
- (1) All veins are (some) bloodvessels;
 - No artery is (some) bloodvessel.

(By conversion.)

Some bloodvessel is no artery.



V. Fresison [Frelilos].

- (2) No muscle is any nerve;
- (1) Some nerves are (some) expansion on hand; No muscle is (some) expansion on hand.

(By conversion.)

Some expansion on hand is no muscle.



(March 1846.) - My universal law of Figured Syllogism excludes the Fourth Figure. - What worse relation of subject and predicate subsists between either of two terms and a common third term with which one, at least, is positively related; that relation subsists between the two terms themselves. What relation, etc.; that relation, etc. Now, in Fourth Figure this is violated; for the predicate and subject notions, relative to the middle term in the premises, are in the conclusion turned severally into their opposites by relation to each other. This cannot, however, in fact be ; and, in reality, there is a silently suppressed conclusion, from which there is only given the converse, but the conversion itself ignored.

Log., L. ii. c. 7, p. 167, reverses premises and ure.

I Zabarella, Opera Logica De Quarta Fig. reduces to Fapesmo an indirect mood of Syll. pp. 118, 119, 125. Burgersdyk, Instit. First; thus violating the rule of that FigFourth Figure. Reasons against.

1°, Could never directly, naturally, reach (a) Conclusion from premise, or (b) Premises from quæsitum.

2°, All other figures conversion of premises of First, but, by conversion of conclusion (as it is), no new figure.

3°, All other figures have one conclusion Fourth a converted one, often different.

(March 1850.) — Fourth Figure. The logicians who attempt to show the perversion in this figure, by speaking of higher and lower notions, are extralogical. Logic knows nothing of higher and lower out of its own terms; and any notion may be subject or predicate of any other by the restriction of its extension. Logic must show the perversion in this Figure *ex facie syllogismi*, or it must stand good. On true reason, why no Fourth Figure, see Aristotle, *Anal. Pr.*, L. i. c. 23, § 8, and Pacius, in *Commentary.*

(March 1850.) — Fesapo and Fresiso (also Fapesmo, Frisesmo) proceed on the immediate inference, unnoticed by logicians, that the quantities, apart from the terms, may, in propositions InA and AnI, be converted.

Averroes on Prior Analytics, B. i. Ch. 8.

"If we ask whether A be in C, and say that A is in C, because A is in B, and B in C; in this case, there is a natural syllogism by general confession; and this in the First Figure.

"In like manner, if we say that A is not in C, because B is in C, and B is not in A; it is plain that we collect that conclusion by natural process; and this is the Second Figure, which is frequently found employed by men in their ordinary discourse.

"In like manner, also, if we say that A is in C, because A and C are in B; that syllogism is also natural to us, and is the Third Figure. But if we say A is in C, because C is in B, and B in A; the reasoning is one which no one would naturally make, for the reason that the quæsitum (that is, C to be in A) does not hence follow — the process being that in which we say A is in C, since A is in B, and B in C; and this is something which thought would not perform, unless in opposition to nature. From this it is manifest that the Fourth Figure, of which Galen makes mention, is not a syllogism on which thought would naturally light" (etc.). Thereafter follows a digression against this figure. See also the same book, Ch. 23d, and the *Epitome*, by Averroes, of the same, Ch. i.

(c) FOURTH FIGURE. - AUTHORITIES FOR AND AGAINST.

Admitted by --

Ildefonsus de Penafiel, Cursus Philosophicus, Disp. Summul. D. iii. p. 39. G. Camerarius, Disput. Philos., P. i. q. xiii. p. 116. Port Royal Logic, p. iii. c. 8, and c. 4. Ridiger, De Sensu Veri et Falsi, L. ii. c. 6, § 36. Hauschius in Acta Erud. p. 470 et seq. Lips. 1728. Noldius, Logica Recognita, c. xii. p. 277. Crakanthorpe, Logica, L. iii. c. xv. p. 194 (omitted, but defended). Lambert, Neues Organon, I. § 237 et seq. Hoffbauer, Analytik der Urtheile und

Schlüsse, § 138. Twesten, Logik, insbesondere die Analytik, § 110. Leibnitz, Opera, ii. 357; v. 405; vi. 216, 217, ed. Dutens. Oddus de Oddis (v. Contarenus, Non Dari Quart. Fig. Syll., Opera Omnia, p. 233, ed. Venet, 1589).

Rejected by --

Averroes, In An. Prior, L. i. e. 8. Zabarella, Opera Logica, De Quarta Fig. Syll., p. 102 et seq. Purchot, Instit. Phil. T. I. Log. P. iii. e. iii. p. 169. Molinæus, Elementa Logica, L. i. e. viii. Facciolati, Rudimenta Logica, P. iii. c. iii. p. 85. Scaynus, Paraphrasis in Organ., p. 574. Timpler, Logicæ Systema, L. iv. e. i. qu. 13, p. 543. Platner, Philosophische Aphorismen, I. p. 267. Burgersdicius, Instit. Log. L. ii. c. vii. p. 165. Derodon, Logica Restituta, p. 606. Wolf, Phil. Rat., § 343 et seq. (Ignored.) Hollmann, Logica, § 453, p. 569. Goelenius, Problemata Logica, P. iv. p. 119. Keckermann, Opera, T. I. Syst. Log. Lib. iii. e. 4, p. 745. Arriaga, Cursus Philosophicus, In Summulas, D. iii. § 5, p. 24. Aristotle, An. Prior, i. e. 23, § 8; c. 30, § 1 (omitted). Jo. Picus Mirandulanus, Conclusiones, Opera, p. 88. Melanchthon, in 1st edition of Dialectic, L. iii., De Figuratione (1520), afterwards (1547) restored (Heumanni, Acta, iii. 753). Cardinalis Caspar Contarenus, Epistola ad Oddum de Oddis, De Quart. Fig. Syll., Opera, p. 233 (1st ed., 1571). Trendelenburg, Elementa Logica, § 28, etc. Herbart, Lehrbuch der Logik, Einleit. 3, § 71. Hegel, Encyclopædie, § 187. Fries, System der Logik, § 57 b. Griepenkerl, Lehrbuch der Logik, § 29 et seg. Drobisch, Logik, § 77, p. 70. Wallis, Institutio Logica, L. iii. e. ix. p. 179.

From	(II. Fig.)		
i.	(Cesare	Reflexim; (1, 2, 5, 8, 9.) ² Cesares.	
ii.	Camestres	Reflexim; (2, 5, 8, 9.) Camestre, Camestres, Faresmo	
		(only subaltern of Camestres); rejected (2), admitted (3, 6.)	
iii.	Festino	Premises reversed; (2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9.) Firesmo, Frigeros.	
iv.	Baroco	Premises reversed; (2, 5, 7, 8, 9.) Bocardo, Moracos, Forameno.	
	(III. Fig.)		
i.	Darapti	Reflexim; (1, 2, 3, 4, 10, 11.)	
ii.	Felapton	Premises transposed; (4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11.) Fapemo,	
		Fapelmos.	
iii.	Disamis	Reflexim; (4, 7, 10, 11.)	
iv.	Datisi	Reflexim: (4, 7, 10, 11.)	
v.	Bocardo	Premises transposed; (4, 7, 9, 11.) Baroco, Macopos,	
		Danorcoc.	
vi.	Ferison	Premises transposed; (4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11.) Frisemo, Fiseros.	

II. - INDIRECT MOODS OF SECOND AND THIRD FIGURES.1

1 The indirect Moods of the First Figure are universally admitted.

² The numbers within brackets refer to the authorities given on following page. - ED.

	(II. Fig.)			
1.	Mart. Capella	Cesare, reflexim.		
2.	Duns Scotus	Cesare and Camestres, conclusions simply converted;		
		Festino and Baroco. Rejects (and rightly) what		
		has since been called Faresmo, as a mere subaltern		
		of Camestres (An. Pr. L. i. qu. 23. See also Conim-		
		bricenses, In Arist. Dial. II. p. 362).		
3.	Lovanienses, (1535)	Faresmo, Firesmo.		
4.	Pacius, (1584)	Firesmo (on An. Pr. L. i. c. 7, and relative place of his		
		Com. Anal.).		
5.	Conimbricenses	Record that indirect moods from Cesare and Cames-		
		tres; and also Friseso, Bocardo were admitted by		
		some "recentiores" (II. p. 362).		
6.	Burgersdicius, (1626)	Faresmo, Firesmo.		
7.	Caramuel, (1642)	Moracos, Frigesos.		
8.	Scheibler, (1653)	Cesares, Camestres, Firesmo, Bocardo.		
9.	Noldius, (1666)	Cesares, Camestre, Firesmo, Forameno (he has for		
		the direct mood Facrono, in place of Baroco).		
	(III Fig.)			
1	A puleins	Daranti, reflexim.		
2.	Cassiodorus	Do.		
3.	Isodorus	Do.		
4.	Duns Scotus	Darapti, Disamis, and Datisi, their conclusions simply		
		converted; Felapton, Bocardo, Ferison (Sup. An.		
		Pr. L. i. qu. 24).		
5.	Lovanienses	Fapemo, Frisemo (ib.).		
6.	Pacius	Fapemo, Frisemo (ib.).		
7.	Conimbricenses	Record that some "recentiores" admit indirect moods		
		from Darapti, Disamis, Datisi; also Fapesmo, Fri-		
		sesmo, and Baroco.		
8.	Burgersdicius	Fapemo, Frisemo.		
9.	Caramuel	Fapelmos, Macopos, Fiseros.		
10.	Scheibler	Admits them from Disamis, Datisi, Darapti, but not		
		from those which conclude particular negations.		
11.	Noldius	Danoreoc (he has for Bocardo Docamroc), Frisemo,		
		Fapemo, and what are converted from Darapti,		
		Disamis, and Datisi without names.		
		Darapti virtually two moods; this maintained by Theo-		
		phrastus.		

Indirect moods are impossible in the Second and Third Figures, for what are called indirect conclusions are only the direct conclusions. *Mem.*, that in the Second Cesare and Camestres are virtually one; while in the Third Figure Darapti is virtually two, as Disamis and Datisi are one.

For the particular quantification of the Predicate, useful illustrations, as in the First from Fapesmo, Frisesmo, or (in the pseudo Fourth) from Fesapo and Fresiso; so in the Second Figure of what have been called the *indirect moods* of Figure II.

	FIGURE II.
1. Bocardo.	A,: B,: C
2. Firesmo.	A , , B : : C

FIGURE III. 1. Baroco. A, ---: B, -+-: C 2. Fapemo. A, ---: B: -+-: C 3. Frisemo. A, ---: B: -+-: C -+-----

(1853.) Blunders of Logicians. — What have been called the Indirect Moods of the Second and Third Figures, arise only from the erroneously supposed transposition of the premises; and the Fourth Figure is made up of the really indirect moods of the First Figure, with the premises transposed.

111. - NEW MOODS - NOTES UPON TABLE OF SYLLOGISMS.¹

Fig. I. vi. — Corvinus (Institutiones Philosophiæ Rationalis, 1742, § 540) says: — "There sometimes appears to be an inference from pure particulars. For example, Some learned are [some] ambitious men; some men are [all the] learned; therefore, some men are ambitious. But the minor proposition, although formally particular, involves, however, a universal, to wit, its converse, — All the learned are [some] men, — which is equipollent." Why not, then, scientifically enounce (as I have done), without conversion, what the thought of the convertend already really and vulgarly involved?

In all Figures. — I have not been undoubtful whether the syllogisms of the class in which the two premises, being the same, are mutually interchangeable, should be regarded as a single or as a double mood. Abstractly considered from all matter, the mood is single; for the two premises, however arranged,

¹ See Appendix XI. – ED. 84

afford only a repetition of the same form. But so soon as the form is applied to any matter, be it even of a symbolical abstraction, the distinction of a double mood emerges, in the possible interchange of the now two distinguished premises. To the logicians this question was only presented in the case of Darapti (III. ii.); and on this they were divided. Aristotle (An. Pr. i. c. 6, § 6) contemplates only one mood; but his successor, Theophrastus, admitted two (Apuleius, De Hab. Doctr. Platonis, L. iii. Op. p. 38, Elm). Aristotle's opinion was overtly preferred by Alexander (ad locum, f. 30, ed. Ald. quoted above, p. 636), and by Apuleius (l. c.); whilst that of Theophrastus was adopted by Porphyry, in his lost commentary on the Prior Analytics, and, though not without hesitation, by Boethius (De Syll. Categ. L. ii., Op. pp. 594, 598, 601, 604). The other Greek and Roman logicians silently follow the master; from whom, in more modern times, Valla (to say nothing of others) only differs, to reduce, on the counter-extreme, Cesare and Camestres (II. ix. a, and x. b), and, he might have added, Disamis and Datisi (III. iv. v.), to a single mood (De Dial., L. ii. c. 51). (For the observations of the Aphrodisian, see above, p. 633 et seq.)

To me it appears, on reflection, right to allow in Darapti only a single mood; because a second, simply arising through a first, and through a transposition, has, therefore, merely a secondary, correlative, and dependent existence. In this respect all is different with Cesare and Camestres, Disamis, and Datisi. The principle here applies in my doctrine to the whole class of syllogisms with balanced middle and extremes.

Fig. II. xii. b. - David Derodon (Log. Rest. De Arg., c. ii. § 51), in canvassing the special rule of the Second Figure, - that the major premise should be universal, - he now approbates, he now reprobates syllogisms of this mood; but wrong on both alternatives, for his admissions and rejections are equally erroneous. "Hic syllogismus non valet : - Aliquod animal est [aliquod] rationale; sed [ullus] asinus non est [ullus] rationalis; ergo [ullus] asinus non est [aliquod] animal." (P. 635.) The syllogism is valid; only it involves a principle which Derodon, with the logicians, would not allow, - that in negatives the predicate could be particular. - (See Log. Rest. De Argument, c. ii. § 28, p. 623.) Yet almost immediately thereafter, in assailing the rule, he says :-- "At multi dantur syllogismi constantes majori particulari, qui tamen sunt recti; ut, - Aliquod animal non est [ullus] lapis; sed [omnis] adamas est [aliquis] lapis; ergo, [ullus] adamas non est [aliquod] animal." (This syllogism is, indeed, II. iii. a; but he goes on:) "Item: Aliquod animal est [aliquod] rationale; sed [ullus] lapis non est [ullus] rationalis; ergo [ullus] lapis non est [aliquod] animal." Now, these two syllogisms are both bad, as inferring what Derodon thinks they do infer, - a negative conclusion, with, of course, a distributed predicate (p. 623); are both good, as inferring what I suppose them to infer, - a negative conclusion with an undistributed predicate.

Fig. III. viii. b. — Derodon (*Ibid.* § 54), in considering the Special Rule of the Third Figure, — that the minor premise should be affirmative, — alleges the following syllogism as "vicious:"—"Omnis homo est [aliquod] animal; sed [ullus] homo non est [ullus] asinus; ergo, [ullus] asinus non est [aliquod]

animal" (p. 638). It is a virtuous syllogism, - with a particular predicate (and not a universal, as one logician imagines) in a negative conclusion. Again (omitting his reasoning, which is inept), he proceeds :- " Hie vero syllogismus non est vitiosus, sed rectus: - [Omnis] homo est [quidam] rationalis, sed [ullus] homo non est [ullus] asinus [or Deus]; ergo, [ullus] asinus [or Deus] non est [quidam] rationalis." This syllogism is indeed correct; but not as Derodon would have it, with a distributed predicate in the conclusion. That his conclusion is only true of the asinus, per accidens, is shown by the substitution of the term Deus; this showing his illation to be formally absurd.

Fig. HI. ii. - Derodon (Ibid.) says : - " Denique, conclusionem in tertia figura debere esse particularem, non universalem, statuunt communiter Philosophi; unde hic syllogismus non valet; - 'Omnis homo est [quidam] rationalis; sed omnis homo est [quoddam] animal; ergo, omne [quoddam] animal est [quoddam] rationale.' Verum, licet conclusio sit universalis, syllogismus erit bonus, modo," etc. (p. 638). The syllogism is, and must remain, vicious, if the subject and predicate of the conclusion be taken universally, whilst both are undistributed in the antecedent. But if taken, as they ought to be, in the conclusion particularly, the syllogism is good. Derodon, in his remarks, partly overlooks, partly mistakes, the vice.

Derodon, criticizing the Special Rule of the First Figure, - that the major premise should be universal, - says, inter alia : - " At multi dantur syllogismi primæ figuræ constantes majori particulari, qui tamen sunt reeti: ut,-'Aliquod animal est [aliquod] rationale; sed homo est [aliquod] animal; ergo, [!!] homo est [aliquis] rationalis': item," etc., etc. (p. 627). This syllogism is vicious; the middle term, animal, being particular in both its quantifications, affords no inference.1

XI.

LOGICAL NOTATION.

(See p. 215.)

I. - LAMBERT'S LINEAR NOTATION.²

This very defective, — indeed, almost as bad as possible. It has accordingly remained unemployed by subsequent logicians; and although I think linear diagrams do afford the best geometrical illustration of logical forms, I have found it necessary to adopt a method opposite to Lambert's, in all that is peculiar to him. I have been unable to adopt, unable to improve, anything.

1°. Indefinite or particular notions can only be represented by the relation

1 See p. 559. - ED.

2 For Lambert's scheme of notation, see his Neues Organon, 1. § 21; and for a criticism of § 7, p. 64 et seq. Berlin, 1794. - ED.

the schemes of Lambert and Euler, see S. Maimon, Versuch einer neuen Logik, Sect. iv.,

of two lines, and in two ways: 1°, One being greater than the other; 2°, One being partially out of relation to the other. Instead of this, Lambert professes to paint particularity by a dotted line, *i. e.*, a line different by an accidental quality, not by an essential relation. But not even to this can he adhere, for the same notion, the same line, in different relations, is at once universal and particular. Accordingly, in Lambert's notation, the relation of particular notions is represented sometimes by a continuous, sometimes by a dotted line, or not represented at all. (See below, 1*, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.)

 2° , The inconsistency is seen at all climax in the case of the predicate in affirmatives, where that term is particular. In Lambert's notation it, however, shows in general as distributed or universal; but in this he has no constancy. (See 1*, 1, 2, 3, 4.) But the case is even more absurd in negative propositions, where the predicate is really taken in its whole extent, and yet is, by the dotted line, determinately marked as particular. (See 4.)

 3° , The relation of negativity, or exclusion, is professedly represented by Lambert in one line beyond, or at the side of, another. This requires room, and is elumsy, but is not positively erroneous: — it does express exclusion. But his affirmative propositions are denoted by two unconnected lines, one below the other. This is positively wrong; for here the notions are equally out of the other, as in the lateral collocation. But even in this he is inconsistent; for he as often expresses the relation of negativity by lines in the relation of higher and lower. (See below, 1, 4.)

4°, He attempts to indicate the essential relation of the lines by the fortuitous annexation of letters, the mystery of which I have never fathomed.

 5° , He has no order in the relation of his lines.

The middle term is not always the middle line, and there is no order between the extremes.

This could not indeed be from his method of notation; and except it be explained by the affixed letters, no one could discover in his lines the three compared notions in a syllogism, or guess at the conclusion inferred. (See 1-5.)

6°, From poverty the same diagram is employed to denote the most different moods in affirmative and negative. (Compare 2 and 3 with 4.)

7°, No order in the terms in the same figure.

8°, Incomplete. Lambert can represent ultra-total, etc., included in affirmative, but not ultra-total excluded in negative. Has the merit of noticing this relation.

9°, Lambert — but it is needless to proceed. What has been already said, shows that Lambert's scheme of linear notation is, in its parts, a failure, being only a corruption of the good, and a blundering and incongruous jumble of the natural and conventional. The only marvel is, how so able a mathematician should have propounded two such worthless mathematical methods. But Lambert's geometrical is worse even than algebraic notation.

To vindicate what I have said, it will be enough to quote his notation of the moods of the Third Figure (I. p. 133), which I shall number for the previous references.

III. FIGURE.

1.* Darapti.	Cc
	M — — m
	B——— b
1. Felapton.	M m C c
	Bb
2. Disamis.	Bb
	M — — — m
	C
3. Datisi.	Cc
	M — — — m
	B
4. Bocardo.	Bb
	M — — — m
	С
5. Ferison.	M——— m C — — c
	B

II. - NOTATION BY MAASS.

Professor Maass, of Halle,¹ discontented, not unreasonably, with the geometrical notations of Lambert and Euler, has himself proposed another, compared with which those of his predecessors show as absolutely perfect. It will be sufficient to despatch this scheme with a very few remarks. To use it is wholly impossible; and even the ingenious author himself has stated it towards the conclusion of his Logic (§§ 495-512), in the course of which it is not (if I recollect aright) honored with a single reference. It is, however, curious, as the only attempt made to illustrate Logic, not by the relations of geometrical quantities, but by the relations of geometrical relations - angles.

1°, It is fundamentally wrong in principle. For example, Maass proposes to represent coinclusive notions - notions, therefore, to be thought as the same - by the angles of a triangle, which cannot possibly be imaged as united; for surely the identity of the concepts, triangle, trilateral, and figure with angles equal to two right angles, is not illumined by awarding each to a separate corner of the figure. On the contrary, coëxclusive notions he represents by angles in similar triangles, and these can easily be conceived as superposed. The same may be said of coördinates. But, waiving the objection that the different angles of a figure, as necessarily thought out of each other, are incapable of typifying, by their coincidence, notions to be thought as coinclusive, - it is further evident that the angles of an equilateral triangle cannot naturally denote reciprocal or

sity imposed on me of speaking in the way I even in Germany.

1 Grundriss der Logik, 1793. I quote from do of Maass' scheme of notation; for his the fourth edition, 1823. I regret the neces- Logic is one of the best compends published

wholly identical notions, in contrast to others partially identical; for every angle of every triangle infers, — necessitates, — contains, if you will, — the whole of every other, equally as do the several angles of an equilateral triangle.

2°, But Maass is not consistent. He gives, for instance, a triangle (Fig. 12) to illustrate the subordination of one notion to another; and yet he represents the lower or contained notion by an obtuser, the higher or containing notion by an acuter, angle.

3°, The scheme is unmanifest, — in fact, nothing can be less obtrusive. It illustrates the obscure by the obscure, or, rather, it obscures the clear. Requiring itself a painful study to comprehend its import (if comprehended it be), instead of informing the understanding through the eye, it at best only addresses the eye through the understanding. Difficult; — we only regret that it had not been impossible.

4°, It is clumsy, operose, complex, and superfluous. For, to represent a notion denoted by a single angle, it is compelled to give the redundance of a whole triangle; and three repugnant notions demand an apparatus of three several figures, and six vacant angles. In fact, the only manifestation to which this scheme of angles can pretend, is borrowed from the scheme of figures which it proposes to supersede.

 5° , It is wholly dependent upon the accidents of foreign aid. To let it work at all, it calls in to its assistance an indefinite plurality of figures, a Greek and Latin alphabet, combinations of letters straight and deflected, and an assortment of lines, thick and thin, plain and dotted. I have counted one diagram of the eighteen, and find that it is brought to bear through three varieties of line, four triangles, and eleven letters.

It is needless to enumerate its other faults, its deficiencies, excesses, ambiguitics, etc.; transeat in pace.

III. - THE AUTHOR'S NOTATION.

NO. I. LINEAR.

The notation previously spoken of ¹ represents every various syllogism in all the accidents of its external form. But as the number of Moods in Syllogisms Analytic and Synthetic, Intensive and Extensive, Unfigured and Figured (and of this in all the figures), are the same ; and as a reasoning, essentially identical, may be carried through the same numerical mood, in every genus and species of syllogism, it seems, as we should wish it, that there must be possible, also, a notation precisely manifesting the modal process, in all its essential differences, but, at the same time, in its internal identity, abstract from every accidental variety of external form. The anticipation and wish are realized, and realized with the utmost clearness and simplicity, in a notation which fulfils, and alone fulfils, these conditions. This notation I have long employed; and the two following are specimens. Herein, four common lines are all the requisites : three (horizontal) to denote the *terms*; one (two? — perpendicular), or the want of it, at the commencement of comparison, to express the *quality* of affirmation or of negation; whilst *quantity* is marked by the relative length of a terminal

1 See Tabular Scheme at the end of the present volume. - ED.

line within, and its indefinite excurrence before, the limit of comparison. This notation can represent equally *total* and *ultra-total* distribution, in simple Syllogism and in Sorites; it shows at a glance the *competence* or *incompetence* of any conclusion; and every one can easily evolve it.



Of these, the former, with its converse, includes Darii, Dabitis, Datisi, Disamis, Dimaris, etc.; whilst the latter, with its converse, includes Celarent, Cesare, Celanes, Camestres, Cameles, etc. But of these, those which are represented by the same diagram are, though in different figures, formally the same mood. For in this scheme, moods of the thirty-six each has its peculiar diagram; whereas, in all the other geometrical schemes hitherto proposed (whether by lines, angles, triangles, squares, parallelograms, or eircles), the same (complex) diagram is necessarily employed to represent an indefinite plurality of moods. These schemes thus tend rather to complicate than to explicate, — rather to darken than to clear up. The principle of this notation may be realized in various forms.¹

The problem, in general, is to manifest, by the differences and relations of geometrical quantities (lines or figures), the differences and relations of logical forms. The comparative excellence of any scheme in solution of this problem will be in proportion as it is, 1°, Easy; 2°, Simple; 3°, Compendious; 4°, All-sufficient; 5°, Consistent; 6°, Manifest; 7°, Precise; 8°, Complete.

In the scheme proposed by me,

1°, I denote terms or notions by straight lines; and, as a syllogism is constituted by three related notions, it will, of course, be represented by three related lines.

2°, I indicate the correlation of notions by the order and parallel coëxtension of lines. (The perpendicular order and horizontal extension, here adopted, is arbitrary.)

3°, Lines, like notions, are only immediately related to those with which they stand in proximity. Hence the intermediate line in our diagram, representing the middle term of a syllogism, is in direct relation with the lines representing the extremes, whereas the latter are only in mutual correlation through it.

4°, The relative quantity of notions is expressed by the comparative length of the related lines. In so far as a line commences (here on the left) before another, it is out of relation with it, — is indefinite and unknown. Where a line terminates under relation (here towards the right), it ceases absolutely to be. A line beginning and ending in relation indicates a whole notion. A line beginning before or ending after its correlative indicates a part of a notion.

¹ Reprinted from *Discussions*, p. 657. For a further explanation of the relations denoted by the diagrams, see p. 134. — Ep.

5°, The kinds of correlation, Affirmation and Negation, are shown by the connection or non-connection of the lines (here from the left). The connection (here a perpendicular line) indicates the identity or coïnclusion of the connected terms; the absence of this denotes the opposite. The lines in positive or affirmative relation are supposed capable of being slid into each other.

This geometric scheme seems to recommend itself by all the virtues of such a representation, and thus stands favorably contrasted with any other. For it is easy, — simple, — compendious, — all-sufficient, — consistent, — manifest, precise, — complete.

1°, Easy. — Linear diagrams are more easily and rapidly drawn than those of figure; and the lines in this scheme require, in fact, no symbols at all to mark the terminal differences, far less the double letterings found necessary by Lambert.

2°, Simple. — Lines denote the quantity and correlation of notions far more simply than do any geometric figures. In those there is nothing redundant; all is significant.

3°, Compendious. — In this respect lines, as is evident, are far preferable to figures; but Lambert's linear scheme requires more than double the space sufficient for that here proposed.

4°, All-sufficient. — Any scheme by figures, and Lambert's scheme by lines, is, in itself, unintelligible, and depends on the annexation of accidental symbols to enable it to mark out the differences and relations of terms. Lambert, likewise, endeavors to supply this exigency by another means, — by the fortuitous quality (his dottings) of certain lines. In our scheme lines, simple lines, and lines alone, are sufficient.

5°, Consistent. — Lambert's linear scheme is a mere jumble of inconsisteneies. Compared with his, those by figures are, in this respect, far preferable. But the present linear scheme is at once thorough-going, unambiguous, and consistent.

6°, Manifest. — In this essential condition, all other geometrical illustrations are lamentably defective. In those by figure, each threefold diagram, typifying an indefinite plurality of moods, requires a painful consideration to extract out of it any pertinent elucidation; this is, in fact, only brought to bear by the foreign aid of contingent symbols. Nor can these schemes properly represent to the eye the relation of the toto-total identity of a plurality of terms; the intention requires to be intimated by the external accident of signs. Lambert's lines sink, in general, even below the figures, in this respect. But as lines are here applied, the sole pertinent inference leaps at once to sense and understanding.

7°, Precise. — Ambiguity, vagueness, vacillation, redundancy, and, withal, inadequacy, prevail in the other schemes. In those by figure, one diagram is illustrative of as many as a dozen moods, positive and negative; and a single mood may fall to be represented by four diagrams, and perhaps in six several ways. Lambert's lines are even worse. In our scheme, on the contrary, every mood has a diagram applicable to itself, and to itself exclusively, whilst every possible variety of its import has a corresponding possible variety of linear difference.

8°, Complete. - In this last and all-important condition, every scheme

hitherto proposed is found to fail. A thorough-going, adequate, and pliant geometric method ought equally and at once to represent the logical moods in the Unfigured and Figured Syllogism, in the Syllogism Synthetic and Analytic, in Extension and Intension, — this, too, in all their mutual convertibilities, and in all their individual varieties. This our scheme performs, but exclusively. So much in general. Again, in particular: — Of the figures, circles and triangles are necessarily inept to represent the ultra-total inclusion or coëxclusion of terms, — in a word, all the relations of proportion, except totality and indefinite partiality; whilst quadrilateral figures are, if not wholly incompetent to this, operose and elumsy. Lambert's linear method is incompetent to it in negatives; and such inability ought to have opened his eyes upon the defects of the whole plan, for this was a scheme which he expressly proposed to accomplish. The present scheme, on the other hand, simply and easily affirms this, in affirmation and negation, and with any minuteness of detail.

AUTHOR'S SCHEME OF NOTATION - UNFIGURED AND FIGURED SYLLOGISM - NO. 11.

(1853.) The following Diagram (see p. 674) affords a condensed view of my other scheme of Syllogistic Notation, fragments of which, in detail, will be found in Mr. Thomson's *Outline of the Laws of Thought*, and in Mr. Baynes' *Essay on the New Analytic of Logical Forms*. The paragraphs appended will supply the necessary explanations.

1.) A Proposition ($\delta i d\sigma \tau \eta \mu a$, intervallum, $\pi \rho \delta \tau a \sigma i s$, literally protensio, the stretching out of a line from point to point) is a mutual relation of two terms ($\delta \rho o i$) or extremes ($\delta \kappa \rho a$). This is therefore well represented, — The two terms, by two letters, and their relation, by a line extended between them.

2.) A Syllogism is a complexus of Three Terms in Three Propositions.—It is, therefore, adequately typified by a Triangle,—by a Figure of three lines or sides.

3.) As upwards and downwards is a procedure arbitrary in the diagram, the diagram indicates that we can, indifferently, either proceed from the Premises (*rationes*) to the Conclusion (*rationatum*), or from the Conclusion to the Premises; the process being only, in different points of view, either Synthetic or Analytic. (An exclusive and one-sided view, be it remembered, has given an inadequate name to what are called Premises and Conclusion.)

4.) Rationally and historically, there is no ground for constituting that Premise into Major which is enounced *first*, or that Premise into Minor which is enounced *last*. (See after, p. 697, etc.) The moods of what is called the Fourth Figure, and the Indirect moods of the First Figure, are thus identified. In the diagram, accordingly, it is shown, that as right or left in the order of position is only accidental, so is first or last in the order of expression.



5.) The diagram truly represents, by its various concentric triangles, the Unfigured Syllogism, as involving the Figured, and, of the latter, the First Figure as involving the two others. (In fact, the whole differences of Figure and Figures are accidental; Moods alone are essential, and in any Figure and in none, these are always the same and the same in number.)

6.) Depth and Breadth, Subject and Predicate, are denoted by the thick and thin ends of the same propositional line.

7.) Depth and Breadth are quantities always coëxistent, always correlative, each being always in the inverse ratio of the other. This is well shown in the connection and contrast of a line gradually diminishing or increasing in thickness from end to end.

8.) But though always coëxistent, and consequently always, to some amount, potentially inferring each other, still we cannot, without the intervention of an actual inference, at once jump from the one quantity to the other, — change, *per saltum*, Predicate into Subject, and Subject into Predicate. We must proceed *gradutim*. We cannot arbitrarily commute the quantities, in passing from the Quasitum to the Premises, or in our transition from the Premises to the Conclusion. When this is apparently done (as in the Indirect moods of the First Figure and in all the moods of the Fourth), the procedure is not only unnatural, but virtually complex and mediate; *the mediacy being concealed by the concealment of the mental inference which really precedes*. Indicated by the line and broken line for the First Figure.

9.) In Syllogism, Figure and the varieties of Figure are determined by the counter relations of Subject and Predicate subsisting between the syllogistic terms, — between the Middle and Extremes. All adequately represented.

10.) Figure and the differences of Figures all depending upon the difference of the mutual contrast of Subject and Predicate between the syllogistic terms; consequently, if this relation be abolished, — if these terms be made all Subjects (or it may be all Predicates), the distinction of Figure will be abolished also. (We do not abolish, be it noted, the Syllogism, but we recall it to one simple form.) — And this is represented in the diagram. For as the opposition of Subject and Predicate, of Depth and Breadth, is shown in the opposition of the thick and thin ends of the same tapering line; so where (as in the outmost triangle) the propositional lines are of uniform breadth, it is hereby shown that all such opposition is sublated.

11.) It is manifest that, as we consider the Predicate or the Subject, the Breadth or the Depth, as principal, will the one premise of the Syllogism or the other be Major or Minor; the Major Premise in the one quantity being Minor Premise in the other. Shown out in the diagram.

12.) But as the First Figure is that alone in which there is such a difference of relation between the Syllogistic Terms, — between the Middle and Extreme, so in it alone is such a distinction between the Syllogistic Propositions realized. By the diagram this is made apparent to the eye.

13.) In the Unfigured Syllogism, and in the Second and Third Figures, there is no difference between the Major and Minor Terms, and, consequently, no distinction (more than one arbitrary and accidental) of Major and Minor Propositions. All conspicuously typified.

14.) All Figured Syllogisms have a Double Conclusion, but in the different figures in a different way. This is well represented.

15.) The Double Conclusions, both equally direct, in the Second and Third Figures, are shown in the crossing of two counter and corresponding lines.

16.) The Direct and Indirect Conclusions in the First Figure are distinctly typified by a common and by a broken line; the broken line is placed immediately under the other, and may thus indicate that it represents only a reflex of, — a consequence through the other ($\kappa \alpha \tau' ~ d \nu d \kappa \lambda \alpha \sigma w$, reflexim, per reflexionem). The diagram, therefore, can show that the Indirect moods of the First Figure, as well as all the moods of the Fourth, ought to be reduced to merely mediate inferences; that is, to conclusions from conclusions of the conjugations or premises of the First Figure.¹

[The following Table affords a view in detail of the Author's Scheme of Syllogistic Notation, and of the valid Syllogistic Moods (in Figure), on his doctrine of a quantified Predicate. In each Figure (three only being allowed) there are 12 Affirmative and 24 Negative moods; in all 36 moods. The Table exhibits in detail the 12 Affirmative Moods of each Figure, and the 24 Negative Moods of the First Figure, with the appropriate notation.

The letters C, Γ , each the third letter in its respective alphabet, denote the extremes; the letter M denotes the middle term of the syllogism. Definite quantity (all, any) is indicated by the sign (:); indefinite quantity (some) by the sign (, or ,). The horizontal tapering line (------) indicates an affirmative relation between the subject and predicate of the proposition. Negation negative syllogisms, in all the Figures, are exactly double the number of the affirmative; for every affirmative affords a double negative, as each of its premises may be marked by a negative. In Extension, the broad end of the line denotes the subject, the pointed end the predicate. In Comprehension this is reversed; the pointed end indicating the subject, the broad end the predicate. By the present scheme of notation, we are thus able to read a syllogism both in Extension and in Comprehension. The line beneath the three terms denotes the relation of the extremes of the conclusion. Predesignation of the conclusion is marked only when its terms obtain a different quantity from what they hold in the premises. Accordingly, when not marked, the quantification of the premises is held repeated in the conclusion. In the Second and Third Figures, - a line is inserted above as well as below the terms of the syllogism, to express the double conclusion in those figures. The symbol ----- shows that when the premises are converted, the syllogism remains in the same mood; shows that the two moods between which it stands are convertible into each other by conversion of their premises. The middle term is said to be Balanced, when it is taken definitely in both premises. The extremes are balanced, when both are taken definitely; unbalanced, when the one is definite, and the other is not.

1 Reprinted from Discussions, pp. 657-661. - ED.

The Table here given exhibits the author's final arrangement of the Syllogistic Moods. The Moods are either A), *Balanced*, or B), *Unbalanced*. In the former class both Terms and Propositions are Balanced, and it contains two moods, -i; ii. In the latter class there are two subdivisions. For either, a), the Terms are Unbalanced, -iii. iv.; or, b), both the Terms and Propositions are Unbalanced, -v, vi.; vii. viii.; ix. x.; xi. xii.

It should be observed that the arrangement of the order of Moods given in the present Table differs from that of the earlier scheme printed above, p. 537 et seq. The following is the correspondence in the order of moods:

Present and Final Table.			Earlier Table.
I.	corresponds	to	I.
II.	46	66	П.
III.	66	66	XI.
IV.	66	46	XII.
V.	66	66	VII.
VI.	66	66	VIII.
VII.	66	66	III.
VIII.	66	66	IV.
IX.	66	66	V.
Х.	66	66	VI.
XI.	66	66	IX.
XII.	66	66	Х.

The order of the earlier Table is that given by Mr. Baynes, in the scheme of notation printed at p. 76 of his *Essay on the New Analytic*. The order of the present Table corresponds with that given by Dr. Thomson in his *Laws of Thought*, p. 244, 3d edition, 1853. - ED.]

SCHEME OF NOTATION -TABLE OF SYLLO. A. AFFIRMATIVE MOODS. FIG. I. FIG. II. i. C: $: M : : : \Gamma$ C: $: M : : : \Gamma$ ii. C, $: M : : : : \Gamma$ C, $: M : : : : \Gamma$ A ііі. С,—___: М, ____:Г С,____: М, ____:Г iv. C:____, M: ____, Γ C:____, M: ____, Γ v. C, ---: M, ---, Γ C, ---: M, ---, Γ vi. C, $M: \longrightarrow \Gamma$ C, $M: \longrightarrow \Gamma$ В vii. C:____: M : ____,Γ C:____: M : ____,Γ >viii. C, \ldots : M : \ldots : Γ C, \ldots : M : \ldots : Γ ix. C:— : М, —: Г C:— : М , —: Г x. C: , M: \cdots ; Γ C: , M: \cdots ; Γ хі. С;— : М, —, Г С;— : М, _, Г xii. C, ____, M : ____: Г C, ____, M : ____: Г -

NOTE. - A. i. and ii. are Balanced. B. The other moods are Unbalanced. Of these,



iii. and iv. are unbalanced in terms only, not in propositions; the rest in both.



INDEX.

ABSTRACT of General Logic, see Logic.

ABSTRACTION or Generalization, what, 88, 104-5; its synonyms, ib.

ACADEMICAL Disputation, 493.

- ACCIDENTS, or Extrinsic Denominations, what, 153.
- Acquisition of Knowledge, Doctrine of, see Logic.
- AFFECTIONS or Passions, as a source of error, see Error, causes of.
- AFRANIUS, quoted on the nature of experience, 444.
- AGUICOLA, Rodolphus, 198.
- ALBERTUS MAGNUS, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; quoted on province of Logic, 20; quoted on quantification of predicate, 553-4.
- ALDRICH, Dean, his Compendium, 21; his abusive employment of the terms hypothetical and conditional, 167; his abuse of the phrase propositio exposita, 185, 249.
- ALEXANDER of Aphrodisias, the oldest commentator on Aristotle, 4; referred to as to his use of the term $\lambda o \gamma \kappa \dot{\eta}$, ib.; has the distinction of Abstract or General and Applied or Special Logic, 38; his illustration of the distinction, 38-9, see Logic; 198, 199; on principle of name of major and minor terms, 207, 215, 240; referred to on quantity of hypothetical syllogisms, 247, 278, 296, 336, 514; quoted on quantification of predicate, 549; his ground of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the second and third Figures, 628-9; certain early Greek logicians mentioned by, who recognized no major or minor term in the second and third Figures, 629-30; (and Herminus), quoted on figure of syllogism, 633-6.
- ALEXANDER DE ALES, or Alepsis, held the law of Contradiction to be the primary principle of knowledge, 66; but, in fact, identified it with that of Excluded Middle, ib.

- ALSTEDIUS, on the principle of Contradiction,63; partially anticipated Lambert in the use of parallel lines as logical notation, 180. ALVANEZ, 326.
- AMMONIUS HERMLE, referred to on genus of Logic, 7, 39; on the principle of Contradiction, 63, 135, 160, 172, 196, 240, 278; referred to on the $\lambda \delta \gamma os \, \delta \epsilon \rho i \langle \delta w \rangle$, or reaper, 331, 333, 336; referred to on Division and its various kinds, 350; referred to on Greek article, 531; quoted on quantification of predicate, 546, 549-51; quoted on Hypothetical (Conjunctive) and Disjunctive Syllogisms, 613-16; (and Philoponus), their ground of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the second and third Figures, 628.
- ANALOGY, what, 450-51, 453-4; founded on the principle of *Philosophical Presumption*, 451; its agreement with and distinction from Induction, *ib.*; has two essential conditions, 454-5; summary of the doctrine of, 455; Induction and Analogy compared together, *ib.*; these do not afford absolute certainty, 455-6; authors referred to on, 456.

ANALYSIS, see Method.

- ANALYTIC, name employed by Aristotle to denote a particular part of Logic, 6.
- ANAXIMENES, of Lampsacus, the treatise Rhetoric to Alexander attributed to, 278.

ANCILLON, Frederic, referred to, 32.

- ANDREAS, Antonius, the first to explicate the law of Identity as a coördinate principle, 65.
- ANSCHAUUNG, expresses what is common to Perception and Imagination, as opposed to Conception, viz., the individuality and immediacy of their objects, 90-1, 129; can be translated into English only by Intuition, but ambignously, 90-1.

ANTHOLOGIA GR.ECA, 280.

'Aπαρίθμησιs, its character and meaning, 351.

APODEICTIC, employed by Aristotle to denote a particular part of Logic, 6.

APOPHANTIC, see Judgments, Doctrine of. 'A $\pi \phi \phi a \nu \sigma \iota s$. its use by Aristotle, 159.

APPLIED Logic, the expression, how employed by Kant, 43; can only with propriety be nsed to denote Special or Concrete Logic, and is improperly employed as a designation of Modified Logic, 43, 44.

APULEIUS, 296.

- AQUINAS, St. Thomas, 42; referred to on classification of the Categories, 141; his definition of truth quoted, 378.
- ARABIAN Schoolmen, viewed Logic as a science, 7.
- 'Aρχη της γνώσεως, distinguished by Aristotle from the $d\rho\chi\eta$ της γενέσεως, 66-7.
- ARGUMENT, properly denotes the middle notion in a reasoning, 196; how defined by the Latin Rhetoricians, *ib.*; often employed as coextensive with argumentation, *ib*.
- ARISTOTELIC questions, An sit, etc., referred to, 445.
- ARISTOTELIANS, ancient Greek, denied Logic to be either science or art, 7; their views on the object-matter of Logic, 19, 20.
- ARISTOTELIANS, modern, many of them maintained Logic to be an art, 7.
- ARISTOTLE, quoted, 4: his employment of the term Dialectic, 6; did not define Logic, 7; his relation to views of the nature and domain of Logic, 19; by far the greater number of his logical writings lost, 19; none of his treatises affords a view of Logic from a central point, ib.; gave no general definition of Logic, ib.; said that medicine begins where the philosophy of nature leaves off, 26; emphatically enounced the law of Contradiction, 62; explicitly enounced the principle of Excluded Middle, 65; recognized the law of Reason and Consequent, 66; distinguished it from the principle of Production, 66-7; said that the doctrine of Syllogisms deals not with the external expression, but with the internal reasoning of the mind itself, 82; see also 277; used vonµara in a sense equivalent to concepts, 85; his first anti-prædicamental rule quoted, 103; this rule translated by the Nota nota est nota rei ipsius, ib.; his Categories, what, 139, see Categories; noticed the difference of Potential and Actual Wholes, 146; referred to on inclusion of Copula in prædicate, 161; called subject and predicate, the terms or extremes of a proposition, ib.; called a proposition an Interval, διάστημα, ib.; allowed only four kinds of modality, 181; described Sub-contrary opposition as merely in language, 184; see also 532; his conversion ev µépei, 186; noticed Conversion per Contrapositionem, under the name

of the inverse consecution from contradictions, ib.; his employment of the term EkSeois, exposition, 185; his expression for Simple Conversion, 186; his Analytics are Synthetic, 195; see also 623; his definition of the terms of a Syllogism, 210; his definition of the middle, as middle by position, not applicable to the mode in which subsequent logicians enounce the syllogism, ib.; but applicable to the reasoning ju comprehension. 211; did not, however, necessarily contemplate the reasoning in comprehension, ib.; enounced the canons both of Extensive and Comprehensive reasoning, 214, 243; his law, - that the whole is necessarily conceived as prior to the part, - criticized by the Anthor, 254-5; only once vaguely alluded to the process of what was after-

- wards called Sorites, 267; his rule translated prædicatum prædicati, etc., contains the principle of Sorites, 268; did not discriminate the vulgar Enthymeme as a distinct species of reasoning, 277; his Enthymeme a syllogism from signs and likelihoods, ib.; Rhetoric to Alexander attributed to, 278; the term $\sigma \chi \hat{\eta} \mu \alpha$, Figure, due to, 285; distinguished the first three figures, 285, 292, 296, 324, 333, 339; his distinction of the two modes of scientific procedure as from, and to, principles, 340, 342; his argument for slavery a petitio principii, 371; referred to and quoted on knowledge and belief, 383; his precept regarding the subjugation of self-love, 406, 430, 479; quoted on ability to teach as a mark of knowledge, 482; first systematically developed Logic proper, 496; referred to on postulates of Logic, 512-13; quoted against quantification of predicate, 546-49; the true meaning of his esse in toto, and dici de omni, 547-8; his doctrine of predesignation, 548-9; syllogisms in his writings which are valid only through quantification of the predicate, 549, 581; his doctrine of Induction and Example, 589-93; ignored the Disjunctive and Hypothetical syllogisms of the logicians, 603; quoted and referred to on Hypothetical syllogism, 612-13; his syllogisms ex hypothesi, - whether correspondent to the ordinary hypothetical syllogism, - authors referred to on, 613; his doctrine of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the second and third Figure, 627-8; quoted on Figure and Terms of syllogisms, 632-3.
- ARNAULD, along with Nicole, author of the Port Royal Logic (*L'Art de Penser*), 50; referred to as holding that men are naturally envious, 408; quoted on figure of Syllogism, 641-2.
- ARNOLDUS DE TUNGERI, his doctrine of Induction, 596.

ARRIAN, referred to on the argument called λόγος κυριεύων, 331.

ARSENIUS, 334.

- ART, ancient and modern, diverse characters of, 426.
- Association, laws of, what, 419-20.
- Association or Suggestion, as a source of Error, see Error, causes of.
- Assumption, name for Minor Premise, 201; but not a suitable term, ib.
- ATTENTION, the act of, how constituted, 88; Prescision, Abstraction, and Attention correlative terms, 88.
- AUGUSTIN, St., his answer to the question what time is, 118.
- AUGUSTIN, Pseudo, referred to on inapplicability of the categories to Deity, 140.
- AUGUSTINUS NIPHUS SUESSANUS, 63.
- AULUS GELLIUS, 331-3.
- AUTHENTICITY, criticism of, see Testimony.
- AVERNOES, quoted on use of the Arabic article in quantification, 531-2; quoted on quantification of predicate, 553; quoted on figure of syllogism, 640-1; quoted on fourth Figure, 662.

AVICENNA, 451, 454.

- AXIOMA, used by Stoics and Ramists as a synonym for proposition, 188.
- Αξίωμα της ἀντιφάσεως,— name applied by Ammonius and Philoponus to principle of Contradiction, 63; see Contradiction, principle of.

AXIOMS, what, 188.

- BACHMANN, referred to on the analogy between Logic and Mathematics, 32, 68, 88, 149, 162, 179, 183, 198, 215, 218, 219, 237, 243, 288; quoted, with brief original interpolations, on the figures and moods of Syllogism, 288-302; his reduction of Baroco, 314; quoted on character of ancient Greek Sophisms, 323-4, 391; quoted on the prejudice of learned authority, 395-6, 414-17, 428, 440, 456.
- BACON, Lord, wholly misconceived the character of Logic in certain respects, 20, 21; at fault in his criticism of Aristotle's doctrine of Induction, 230; called empirical generalizations axioms, 367; his classification of the sources of error, 390; quoted on reading, 491; the aim of his Organon, 496.
- BALFOUR, or Balforeus, referred to on a spurious passage in Aristotle's *Rhetoric*, 6; quoted ou illustration by the Aphrodisian of Abstract and Applied or Special Logic, 3S; on Abstract and Applied or Special Logic, 44.
- Bádos, its meaning in relation to concepts, 100.
- BAUMGARTEN, A. G., the Leibnitlan, the first to use the term principium exclusi medii,

65; called the principle of Identity, principium positionis size identitatis, 66; attempted to demonstrate the law of Sufficient Reason by that of Contradiction, 68, 101; quoted on Canons of Syllogism, 564-5.

- BAYNES, Thomas Spencer, his Essay on the New Analytic of Logical Forms referred to, 31; his translation of the Port Royal Logic noticed, 50, 114; his Essay referred to, 558.
- BEGRIFF, the term in German philosophy for the symbolical notions of the understanding, 129.
- BELIEF, see Truth and Error, doctrine of.
- BEN GERSON, or Gersonides, Levi, quoted on quantification of predicate, 554-5.
- BENEKE, 68; his doctrine of syllogism, 651-2. BERTIUS, 196, 268.

BEZA, 280.

BIEL, Gabriel, his use of conceptus, 30.

BIUNDE, 378.

- BLEMMIDAS, Nicephorus, 85; referred to on origin of distinction of propositions secundi and tertii adjucentis, 161; quoted on import of the term $\sigma \nu \lambda \lambda \sigma \gamma \iota \sigma \mu \delta s$, 197, 274; his Epitome for many centuries the text-book of Logic in the schools of the Greek Church, 308; mentioned as the inventor of the Greek mnemonic verses for mood and figure of syllogism, ib.; but, according to later view, these verses only a translation of the Latin, ib., 514; quoted on Contingent Conversion, 521.
- BOETHIUS, referred to on the application of the term logic, 4, 101, 110; his division of Couversion, 186; the first to give the name Conversio per accidents, ib.; nature of this process as employed by, 186, 193; quoted for use of sumptum and assumptio, 201; referred to on use of terms pomens and tollens, in connection with hypothetical syllogism, 240, 296, 344; quoted on the influence of passion on the mind, 400, 514; quoted on quantification of predicate, 551-8.

BOLZANO, 240, 244, 456.

- BOYLE, Hon. Robert, referred to for distinction of reason in abstracto, and reason in concreto, 43.
- BRANDIS, Ch. A., referred to on the title Organon for the logical treatises of Aristotle, 24, 135.
- BRANISS, Ch. J., 184, 320.
- BREADTH and Depth, names for the extenslon and comprehension of concepts, 100, *et alibi.*

BUCHANAN, George, 280.

- BUFFIER, 112, 344; quoted on canons of syllogism, 574.
- BURGERSDYK, or Burgersdicius, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; his Institutiones Logice noticed and recommended, 51, 493;

referred to on Whole and Part, 143; quoted on Potential and Actual Whole, 146, 296.

BURIDANUS, his sophism of the Ass referred to the head of Sophisma Heterozeteseos, 333.

BURLEIGH, Lord, his practice in reading, 487. BUTLER, Samuel, quoted as to the principal utility of Rhetorle, 35.

CAJETAN, Cardinal, quoted for his use of the terms *intensive* and *extensive* in relation to notions, 101.

CALKER, IO1.

- CAMERARIUS, Gul., referred to on genus of Logic, 7; referred to for scholastic theories ou the object-matter of Logic, 20.
- CAMPBELL, Principal, quoted on indistinctness of terms, 124.
- CAPELLA, Martianus, quoted on figure of syllogism, 640.

CARAMUEL, see Lobkowitz.

- CARLETON, Thomas Compton, referred to on the metaphysical character of the Categories of Aristotle, 141.
- CARO, quoted, 407-8, 414, 435.
- CARTESIANS, majority of, maintained Logic to be an art, 7.

CASSIODORUS, 279, 640.

- CATEGORICAL Proposition, better styled Absolute or Perfect, 165; see Judgments, doctrine of.
- CATEGORICAL, the term, as used by Aristotle, equivalent to affirmative, 165; its application by Theophrastus and Eudemus, in opposition to conditional, 165; this difference of signification not hitherto observed, 166.
- CATEGONIES or Predicaments of Aristotle, what, 139; original meaning of the term *Category*, *ib.*; its employment by Aristotle, 139-40; by Plotinus, 140; by Kant, *ib.*; the Categories of Aristotle metaphysical, 141; criticized as a classification of being, *ib.*; objects not included under, 140; diversity of opinion among logicians regarding their number, 142; various authors referred to regarding, *ib.*
- CERTAINTY, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.

CHAUVIN, 187.

CICERTO, referred to on the use of Logica, 4; probably borrowed his use of that term from the Stoics, *ib.*; quoted on the province of Logic, 25; enounced the principle of Excluded Middle, 65; recognized the principle of Reason and Consequent, 67; his definition of argumentum quoted, 196; applied the term Sorites to an argument like the modern Sorites, but which could also be a Chrysippean, 268; called the sophism Sorites Acertalis, *ib.*; his employment of the term Enthymene, 278; his statement of the Lgnava Ratio, 330, 332-3, 406, 480. CIRCULUS in demonstrando, see Probation.

- CLASSES, names for the different steps in the series of, in physical science, 142.
- CLEARNESS and Obscurity, Distinctness and Indistinctness of Concepts, see Concepts, Quality of.
- CLEMENT of Alexandria, quoted on teaching as a mean of self-improvement in knowledge, 482-3.

CLERC, see Le Clerc.

- COGITATIO (*Thought*), its use by Descartes, 9; see Thought.
- COGNITIVE Faculties, Weakness and Disproportioned Strength of, as a source of error, *see* Error, Causes of.
- COKE, Zachary, his use of the term concept, 30.
- College of Alcala, the, see Cursus Complutensis.
- COMMUNICATION of Knowledge, Doctrine of, see Logic.
- COMPARISON, Faculty of, its products threefold, — Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings, 83; its offices, 87-8.
- COMPREHENSION and Extension of Concepts, see Concepts, Quantity of, and Reasonings.
- CONCEPT, should be used to denote the object conceived, 30; its derivation, *ib.*; many words in English formed on the same analogy, as precept, digest, etc., *ib.*; was in common use in the sense proposed among the older English philosophical writers, *ib.*; and among the old French philosophers, 31; now employed in Freuch in translating the German Begriff, *ib.*; see also Conceptus; what, 54; its synonyms, 55; see Concepts, Doctrine of.
- CONCEPTIO, its meaning, 85-6.
- CONCEPTION, employment of the term by Stewart to denote the simple representation of an object presented in Perception, 29; vacillation in its use by Reid, *ib.*; sense in which employed by the author, 30; its derivation, 30; means both the act of conceiving and the object conceived, *ib.*; should be used to denote exclusively the act of conceiving, and concept applied to the object conceived, *ib.*; Reid quoted on, 78-80; his mistakes regarding, 80-1; usually called by the logicians Simple Apprehension, 85.
- CONCEPTS, Doctrine of, 83-88; of Concepts or Notions, order of discussion, — A. In general, what they are, and how produced, 84 et seq., 93 et seq.; doctrine of Concepts omitted by Whately in his Elements, 84; a. Meaning of the terms Concept or Notion, 85-6; their synonyms, 85; Concept denotes the result of the act of Conception, that is, of comprehending or grasping up into unity the various qualities by which an object is characterized, 85-6; Notion denotes

either the act of apprchending the notes or marks of an object, or the result of that act, 86 ; employment of the terms animo vel mente concipere, aud animi conceptus, ib.; of concipere, conceptus and conceptio, without adjunct, ib.; the term Notion, how employed by the author, ib.; b. Nature of the thing expressed, 87 et seq.; a concept equivalent to the mediate and relative knowledge we have of an object, as comprising qualities or characters common to it with other objects, 87; nature and production of concepts illustrated by reference to the history of our knowledge, 87 et seq.; the results of comparison and abstraction or attention, as operating on objects originally presented in confused and imperfect perceptions, and reducing multitude to unity, 87-8; the reduction of multitude to unity involved in conception explained and illustrated, 89 et seq.; thought one and the same, while its contents are identical, ib.; objects are to us the same when we are unable to distinguish their cognitions, whether as wholes, or in their partial characters, 89; concepts or notions are constituted by the points of similarity discovered in objects, and identified in the unity of consciousness, 90; concepts may themselves become the objects of comparison and abstraction, 90; concepts or notions superfluously styled general, ib.; general characters of concepts, 91 et seq., 96 et seq. ; a. A concept affords only an inadequate knowledge of the thing thought under it, 91 et seq.; b. Affords no absolute object of knowledge, but can be realized only by being applied as a term of relation to one or more of the objects which agree in the point or points of resemblance which it expresses, ib.; this doctrine explains the whole mystery of generalization and general terms, ib.; the generality of a concept is potential, not actual, 92-6; concepts are not, on that account, mere words, 97; c. Their dependence on language, 97 et seq.; language necessary to the perfection of concepts, 99; B. Of concepts or notions in special, 99 et seq.; quantity of concepts, 100 et seq.; what is meant by saying that a concept Is a quantity, 102; this quantity of two opposite kinds, - Intensive or Comprehensive and Extensive, 102-10, see Concepts. Quantity of; quality of Concepts, 111-31, see Concepts, Quality of; Reciprocal Relations of, 132 et seq., see Concepts, Reciprocal Relations of.

CONCEPTS, Quantity of, or Comprehension and Extension of Concepts, what, 100-3; how respectively designated, 100; these quantities opposed to each other, 103; law regulating the mutual relations of, 104; this illustrated, *ib.;* processes by which amplified and resolved, — Determination or Concretion, Abstraction or Generalization, Definition, and Division, 102-4; opposed in an inverse ratio, 105-6; Definition and Division the processes by which the Comprehension and Extension of concepts are respectively resolved, 106-7; diagram representing, with relative illustration, 108-10.

CONCEPTS, Quality of, 111 et seq. ; this determined by their relation to their subject, 111; consists in their logical perfection or imperfection, 111-12; this of two degrees, --Clearness and Distinctness, and Obscurity and Indistinctness, 112; these degrees distinguished, ib.; original application of the expressions, clearness, obscurity, etc., ib.; illustrated by reference to vision and representation, 112-13, 115-16; clearness and obscurity as in coucepts, 113 et seq.; the absolutely clear and the absolutely obscure, 114; distinctness and indistinctness of, ib.; historical notices of this distinction, ib. et seq.; due to Leibnitz, 115; notice of Locke in connection with it, 114-15; difference between a clear and distinct knowledge illustrated, 115 et seq.; the judicial determination of life and death supposes the difference between a clear and distinct knowledge, 116; further illustration from the human countenance, ib.; special conditions of the distinctness of a concept, and of its degrees, 116-17; the distinction between clear and distinct knowledge illustrated by examples, 118; how the distinctness of a concept is affected by the two quantities of a concept, 118 et seq. ; distinctness is Internal and external, 119; relations of Definition and Division to internal and external distinctness, ib.; simple notious admit of an extensive, individual notions of an intensive, distinctness, ib.; the highest point of the distinctness of a concept, 120; imperfection to which concepts are liable, in respect of the thought of which they are the expression, 121; this imperfection illustrated, 122 et seq.; noticed by British philosophers, 123; Stewart quoted on the subject, 123-5; Locke anticipated Hume in remarking the employment of terms without distinct meaning, 125; Locke quoted on this point, 125-6; the distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical knowledge first taken by Leibnitz, 126; this distinction superseded the controversy of Nominalism and Conceptualism in Germany, 126-9; discussed by him in De Cognitione, Veritate, et Ideis, 127; the passage quoted, 128-9; the distinction appreciated by the disciples of Leibnitz, 129; Wolf quoted on, 129-31.

CONCEPTS, Reciprocal Relations of, 132-58;

relation proper of, what, 132; can be compared together with reference only either, 1°, To their Extension, or, 2°, To their Comprehension, ib.; considered, A. As dependent on extension, 132-49; as dependent on extension, concepts stand to each other in the five mutual relations of Exclusion, Coextension, Subordination, Coordination, and Intersection, 132; examples of the five mutual relations of concepts, 132-3; diagrams illustrative of, 134; of these relations, subordination and coordination of principal importance, 133; subordination considered, I33-48; terms expressive of the different modes of the relation of subordination, 133 et seq.; Superior, Inferior, Broader, Narrower Notions, 135; Universal, Particular, ib.; General Notion, Genus, Special Notion, Species, 135-6, see Genus and Species; Coordination, what, 148; the two general laws by which subordination and coordination under extension are regulated, viz., of Homogeneity and Heterogeneity, ib.; their import, ib.; law of lleterogeneity, true only in theory, ib. ; additional law of Logical Affinity promulgated by Kant, but to be rejected, 149; B. As dependent on comprehension, but not in the relations of involution and coordination, 150-8; notions, in relation to each other, are Identical and Different, 150; identical, divided into absolutely and relatively ideutical, ib.; absolutely identical notions impossible, ib. ; relatively identical, called also Similar and Reciprocating or Convertible, ib.; notions are Congruent or Agreeing, and Conflictive, 151; Congruent and Identical notions, and Diverse and Conflictive, distinguished, ib., see Concepts, Opposition of; Intrinsic and Extrinsic, 153; Involution and Coordination in comprehension, 153, 155; these relations of notions neglected by logicians, and hence also neglected reasoning in comprehension, 153 et seq.; the relation of the containing and the contained in comprehension properly called involution, 155; this illustrated, 156; the involving notion the more complex, the involved the more simple, 157; coordination in comprehension, 157-8; notions coordinated in comprehension called Disparate, in extension Disjunct or Discrete, 158.

- CONCEPTS, Opposition of, arises under Compreheusion, 151; constituted by confliction, or the impossibility of being connected in thought, *ib.*; twofold, 1°, Immediate or Contradictory; 2°, Mediate or Contrary, *ib.*; these distinguished and illustrated, 152; their logical significance, 152-3; *see* Opposition, of Propositions.
- CONCEPTUALISM and Nominalism, the whole

controversy originated in the ambiguity of words, 91, 97; how to be reconciled, 92; this question not agitated in Germany, 97.

CONCEPTUS, its use by Biel, Occam, 30; Conceptus, and conceptus animi, its meaning, 86. CONCIPERE, its meaning, 86.

- CONCLUSION, of a syllogism, what, 198; its synonyms, *ib.*; is the problem stated as a decision, *ib*.
- CONCRETE OF Special Logic, see Logic.
- CONDILLAC quoted on influence of Association, 423, 454.
- CONDITIONAL Judgment or Proposition, see Judgments, Doctrine of.
- CONDITIONAL and Hypothetical, variations in regard to the application of the terms, 166-7; Boethius, used conditionalis (conditional) and hypotheticus (hypothetical) as convertible, 167; conditional to be applied to the genus as including hypothetical and disjunctive, ib.
- CONFERENCE, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- CONFUCIUS, his remedy for precipitation, 403.
- CONIMURICENSES, 184; their error regarding the opposition of Boethius and Averroes to Aristotle on quantification of predicate, 553.
- CONSPECIES, what, 148; in so far as they are considered different, but not contradictory, called Discrete or Disjunct Notions, *ib*.
- CONTINGENT Conversion, of the Lower Greeks, what, 521; Blemmidas cited on, ib.
- CONTRADICTION, or Non-Contradiction, principle of, a fundamental law of thought, 57; what, 58; properly the law of Non-Contradiction, 59; how enounced, ib.; the principle of all logical negation and distinction, ib.; differs from the law of Identity only by a negative expression, 59; its history, 62 et seq. ; can be traced back to Plato, 62; emphatically enounced by Aristotle, 62-3; with the Peripatetics and Schoolmen the highest principle of knowledge, ib.: obtained its name from the Greek Aristotelians, ib.; said by Ammonius and Philoponus to be the criterion which divides truth from falsehood throughout the universe of existence, ib.; said by Suarez to hold the same supremacy among the principles of knowledge which the Deity does among the principles of existence, ib.; controversies touching its truth and axiomatic character, 63-4; its truth denied by modern absolutists, 64; how viewed by Schelting and Hegel, ib.; along with that of Identity, regulates the categorical syllogism, 207, 251; authors referred to on, 508; conditious of, ib.; proof of, attempted by Clauberg, ib.; see Fundamental Laws of Thought.

CONTUS, Sebastianus, 553.

- CONVERSION, per accidens, what, 186; CONVERSION, per accidens, what, 186; CONVERSION, $\ell \nu \ \mu \ell \rho \epsilon t$, not the mere synonym of, 525; differently defined by different logicians, 526; by Boethius, ib, ; by logicians in general, ib, ; as ampliative, not logical, 520; as restrictive, fortuitous, or not a conversion, ib.
- CONVERSION, of Judgments or Propositions. 185-8; what, 185; see also 514-15; terms employed to denote the original and converted proposition, 185; the original proposition ought to be called the Convertend or Convertible, the product of the conversion the Converted or Converse, 184-5; see also 514-15, 521-2; species of conversion distinguished by logicians, 186; (1), Simple or Pure, ib.; (2), Conversio per Accidens, ib.; this name first given by Boethins, ib.; (3), Conversio per Contrapositionem, ib.; divisions of, by Boethius, ib ; mnemonic verses for conversion, 186-7; definitions of, in general, 514-15; a case of immediate inference, ib.; names for the proposition given in, and its product, 515; best names for these together, Convertent or Converting, and for each apart, Convertend and Converse, ib., 522; errors of the common logical doctrine of, two - first, That the quantities are not converted with the quantified terms, 515-16, 529; this wrong shown, 1°, Because the terms of a proposition are only terms of relation, 515; 2°, Only compared as quantities, ib.; 3°, Quantity of proposition in conversion remains always the same, 515-16, 525; 4°, Of no consequence logically whether subject or predicate placed first, 516; second error - The not considering that the predicate has always a quantity in thought as well as the subject, 516-20; see also 525-7, 529; only one species of, and that thorough-going and self-sufficient, 520; conversio per accidens, as ampliative, not logical, and as restrictive, merely fortuitons, ib.; see also 525-6, see Conversion per accidens; Conversio per contrapositionem only holds through contradiction, and is independent of conversion, 520, see Conversion per contrapositionem; the Contingent Conversion of the lower Greeks, not a conversion, 521, see Contingent Conversion; advantages of the author's own method over those of the logicians, 521-2; the character of, as given by Greek logicians subsequent to Aristotle correct, 521; errors of Aristotle and the logicians regarding, 522, 528-9; authorities referred to on, 527-8.
- CONVERSION per contrapositionem, only holds through contradiction, and is not properly a conversion, 520-21, 528; held by some to be mediate, 520; this erroneous, *ib.*; rules for, 520-1; historical notices of, and authors referred to on, *ib.*

- CONVERSION $\epsilon \nu \mu \epsilon \rho \epsilon \iota$, its meaning in Aristotle, 525-6.
- COÖRDINATION of concepts, see Concepts, Relations of.
- COPULA, the logical, what, 161-2; included in the predicate by Aristotle, *ib.*; styled the Appredicate, προσκατηγορούμενον, 161; that negation does not belong to, held by some logicians, 177; the opposite doctrine maintained by the author, *ib.*; true import of, 177-8; origin of the controversy regarding the place of negation, 178; its meaning in Comprehensive and Extensive propositions, 198.
- CORAX and Tisias, case of, referred to, 334. COROLLARIES, what, 188.
- CORVINUS, quoted on inference from pure particulars, 665.
- COUSIN, Victor, his contradictions on the cognition of the Absolute, 64.
- CRAKANTHORPE, 162; referred to on names of propositions in conversion, 185, 229, 261; his doctrine of Induction, 596.
- CRELLIUS, 38, 230, 243, 342.
- CRENIUS, 402, 483.
- CRITICISM, Art of, see Testimony.
- CROUSAZ, 399; quoted in illustration of precipitancy, 402-3; quoted on sloth as a source of error, 404, 430, 435.
- CRUSIUS, Christian August, 411; quoted on canons of syllogism, 561-3.
- CURSUS Complutensis, referred to on induction of Aristotle, 594.
- CUSTOM. power of, as a source of error, see Error, Causes of.
- D'ABRA DE RACONIS, referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20.
- DAMASCENUS, Joannes, 5; referred to on method in Logic, 341.
- DAMIRON, his Logique, 50.
- DAVID, the Armenian, referred to on the categories, 142.
- DARJES, or Daries, 25; referred to on principle of Sufficient Reason, 68.
- DE MORGAN, A., Letter of Sir W. Hamilton to, 587.
- DEFINITE and Indefinite Propositions, as understood by the author, 171-2, 175, see Judgments, Propositions.
- DEFINITION, or Declaration, the analysis of the comprehension of a concept, 104-6; doctrine of, 341-2; what, *ib.:* the terms declaration and definition express the same process in different aspects, *ib.*; definition in its stricter sense, 342; this explicated, *ib et seq.*; various names of — Declaration, Explication, Exposition, Description, Definition Proper, *ib.*; Nominal, Real, and Genetic, what, 442-3; rules of, 341; these explained, *ib. et*

seq.; first rule, 344-5; second rule, 345-6; third rule, 346; circular definition, 346-9; fourth rule, 346-7; fifth rule, 347-8; Definitiou, in its looser sense, 348; Dilucidations or Explications, *ib.*; Descriptions, 348-9.

DEGERANDO, Baron, 68, 123, 366.

- DELARIVIÈRE, his Logique, 50; referred to on definite article in relation to quantification, 581.
- DENZINGER, Ignatius, referred to on Categories, 142, 184, 187; quoted on modes of fallacia sensus compositi et divisi, 323-7, 333.
- DERODON, David, referred to on Whole and Part, 143, 215; quoted on quantity of disjunctive and hypothetical propositions, 237, 244, 247; held syllogism and enthymeme to be the same species of reasoning, 276, 289, 291. 311; his method of reducing Camestres to Barbara, 314; notice of, 559; his polemic against the special rules of syllogism. 500; quoted on Induction, 594; his criticism of the special rules of the figures reviewed, 666-7.
- DESCARTES, quoted regarding the extension of the term *Thought* (cogitatio), 9; quoted on the means of avoiding error, 388; his doubt, 398; his precept to doubt all, 398-9; conditions which modify its application, 399.
- DETERMINATION, or Concretion, what, 104-5; its synonyms, *ib*.
- DIALECTIC, ancient name (with certain limitations) for Logic, 5; its use by Plato, *ib.*; its origin, *ib.*; its use by Hegel, 6; by Aristotle,—the logic of probable matter, 6; mistakes regarding the use of the term by Aristotle, *ib.*; employed in a vacillating manner by the Stoics, 6.
- Διαλεκτική χωρls πραγμάτων, equal to Abstract or General Logic, 38, see Logic.
- Διαλεκτική έν χρήσει και γυμνασία πραγμάτων, equal to Special or Applied Logic, 38, see Logic.
- DICTA de Omni et de Nullo, the canons of deductive categorical syllogisms in extension, 214; how expressed, ib.; logicians who confound the Dictum de Omni with the Nota Notæ, etc., 575; who make the Dictum the fundamental rule of syllogism in general, 575-6, see Syllogism; who confound or make coordinate the law of Proportion or Analogy with, 576; who restrict the Dictum to the first figure (immediately), ib.; who make the Dicta the supreme canons for universal syllogisms, ib.; who erroneously suppose Aristotle to employ, besides the Dictum, the rule of Proportion as a fundamental law of syllogism, ib. ; how enounced by Noldius, 577; by Reusch, ib.; by Aristotle, ib.; by Jac. Thomasius, ib.; objections to, 578.

DIDEROT, quoted on memory, 418.

- DILEMMA, see Hypothetico-disjunctive syllogism.
- DILEMMATIC judgment or proposition, see Judgments.
- DIOGENES LAERTIUS, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; attributed the invention of Sophism Sories to Eubulides, 268, 324, 331-3; referred to on the Platonic definition of man, 347, 369.
- DIAGRAMS of Ammonius, 637; erroneously referred to Faber Stapulensis, *ib*.
- DIALOGUE, 492, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- DIONYSIUS of Halicamassus, his employment of the term *enthymeme*, 278.
- DIONYSIUS CATO, on teaching as a means of self-improvement in knowledge, 483.
- DISCUSSIONS on Philosophy, Author's, referred to for scholastic theories on object matter of Logic, 20; on the character of Dr. Whately's Elements, 21, 22; referred to for a later development of the author's doctrine on the Logical Laws, 70, 75, 196, 207; referred to on history of Latin and Greek mnemonic verses for Mood and Figure of Syllogism, 308.
- DISJUNCTIVE Reasoning or Syllogism, first class of Conditional Syllogisms, and second class afforded by Internal Form of Syllogism, 231; a reasoning whose form is determined by the law of Excluded Middle, and whose sumption is accordingly a disjunctive proposition, either of Contradiction or of Contrariety, ib.; either affirmative, constituting the Modus Ponens, or Modus ponendo tollens, or negative, constituting the Modus Tollens, or Modus tollendo ponens, ib.; mnemonic verses for these modes of, ib.; its definition explicated, ib. et seq ; a syllogism with disjunctive major premise is not necessarily a disjunctive reasoning, 231-2; general view of, 232 et seq.; formula for a syllogism, a. With two disjunct members, ib.; b. With more than two disjunct members, 233-4; the principle of, 234; the several parts of, 235; the rules of, 235-6; these explicated, 236 et seq.; first rule of, 236; second rule of, 237; third rule of, 237-8; the disjunctive syllogism of comprehension and extension, ib.; though specially regulated by the law of Excluded Middle, still the other logical laws operative in, 252; may be drawn in all the four figures, 319; this illustrated, 319-20; its character according to author's latest view, 604-5, 612-13, 614, see Hypothetical Reasoning or Syllogism.
- DISPUTATION, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- DIVISION, the analysis of the Extension of a

concept, 105-7; doctrine of, 350-9; division in general, what, 350-1; of two species, Partition and Logical Division, 351; partition either Real or Ideal, 351-2; examples of these two kinds of, 351; logical division, what, 352-3; its rules, 353; its character and rules explicated, ib. et seq. ; the end of, is Distinctness, which involves Completeness of thinking, 354; as many kinds of possible as there are characters affording a principle of division, ib.; a universal notion the only object of, ib.; general problem of, 354-5; rules of, 356 et seq.; these classified, 356; those springing, i.), from the principle of division, - first, second, and third rules, 356-7; ii.), from the relations of the dividing members to the divided wholes, - fourth and fifth rules, 358; iii), from the relations of the several dividing members to each other, - sixth rule, ib.; iv.), from the relations of the divisions to the subdivision, - seventh rnle, 359.

- DOUNT or doubting, the art of doubting well difficult to teach and to learn, 303, see Error, Causes of, Descartes.
- DOWNAM, 336; referred to on Aristotle and Plato's views of method, 340.
- DROBISCH, 88; referred to on opposition of concepts, 151; on coördination of notions in comprehension, 155, 158, 179, 219, 320, 351.
- DUNCAN, William, of Aberdeen, his Logic, 50.
- DUNCAN, Mark, 240, 244, 261, 311; reduced Camestres to Celarent, and Baroco to Ferio by counterposition, 314.

ENCYCLOPÆDIA Britannica, 81 et alibi.

ENNOEMATIC, see Concepts, Doctrine of.

"Εννοια, έννόημα, νόημα, unibiguous, 85.

ENTHYMEME, a syllogism defective in external form, 275; the common doctrine of logicians regarding, ib.; this doctrine futile, and erroneously attributed to Aristotle, 276 et seq.; 1°, Not a special form of reasoning, 276; 2°, Distinction of, as a special form of reasoning, not made by Aristotle, 277 et seq.; the enthymeme of Aristotle, what, ib.; various applications of the term, by Dionyslus of Halicarnassus, author of Rhetoric to Alexander, Sopater Apameensis, Aulus Gellius, Cicero, Quintilian, 278; denoted, with some of the ancients, a syllogism with some suppressed part, as the Aphrodisian, Ammonius, Philoponus, Pachymeres, Quintilian, Ulpian, Scholiast on Hermogenes, ib.; 3°, Admitting the validity of the discrimination of the Enthymeme, it cannot be restricted to a syllogism of one suppressed premise, 279; examples of, of the first, second, and third order, ib.; eplgrammatic examples of, with suppressed conclusion, 280-1.

- EPICHEIREMA or Reason-Rendering Syllogism, the first variety of complex syllogism, what, 259; authors referred to ou variations in the application of the name, 200; in Aristotle the term is used for a dialectic syllogism, *ib.*; as a polysyllogism comparatively simple, 274; may be drawn in any figure, 320.
- EPICTETUS, 332; fallacles mentioned by, *ib*. ERASMUS, his advice to a young man on the conduct of his studies, 402.

ERIZZO, Sebastiano, 25.

Ernesti, 435.

- ERROR, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- ERROR, Causes, Occasions, and Remedies of, 390; Bacon's classification of the sources of, 390; its causes and oceasions comprehended in one or other of four classes, -1°, In the general circumstances which modify the intellectual character of the Individual; 2º, In the Constitution, Habits, and Relations of his powers of Cognition, Feeling, and Desire; 3°, In Language as an Instrument of Thought and Medium of Communication; or, 4°, In the nature of the objects about which his knowledge is conversant, 390-1; these considered in detail, 391 et seq.; I. General circumstances which modify the intellectual character of the individual, ib. et seq.; these of two kinds, - I°, The particular degrees of cultivation to which his nation has attained ; 2°, The stricter associations, as schools, sects, etc., 391; these illustrated, 391-400; man by nature social, and influenced by the opinion of his fellows, 391-2; Pascal quoted on the power of Custom, 392; an ingenious philosopher quoted on the same subject, 392-3; the art of doubting well difficult to learn and to teach, 393-4; two general forms of the influence of example, 394, - (1) Prejudice in favor of the Old, 394-5; (2) Prejudice in favor of the New, 395; Prejudice of Learned Authority, 395-6; means by which the influence of Society as a source of Error may be counteracted, 398 et seq.; necessary to institute a critical examination of the contents of our knowledge, ib.; the precept of Descartes on this point, ib. et seq.; conditions which modify its application, 399; a gradual and progressive abrogation of prejudices all that can be required of the student of philosophy, ib. II. The Constitution, Habits, and Reciprocal Relations of the Powers of Cognition, Feeling, and Desire, 400; of two kinds, - i. The undue preponderance of the Affective Elements of Mind, 400 et seq.; influence of passion on the mind, ib.; Boethius quoted on

this influence, ib.; the possibility of error limited to Prohable Reasoning, 401; the Passions as sources of error reduced to four, 401-2; 1 Precipitancy, 402 et seq.; Seneca quoted on, ib. ; Erasmus quoted on, ib. ; illustrations of, from Seneca, Montaigne, 402-3; precipitate dogmatism and skepticism phases of the same disposition, 403; remedy for precipitation, ib.; 2. Sloth, ib.; Seneca quoted on, 404; its remedy, ib.; 3. Hope and Fear, ib.; how these passions operate unfavorably on the Understanding, 405; 4. Self-love, including Vanity, Pride, etc., 406 et seq.; Aristotle's precept regarding this passion, ib.; illustrations of the influence of Self-Love on our opinions, 406-7; Self-Love leads us to regard with favor the opinions of those to whom we are in any way attached, 406; Malebranche adduced to this effect, 406-7; this shown especially when the passion changes, 408; Arnauld holds that man is naturally envious, ib.; the love of Disputation, ib.; the affections now mentioned the immediate causes of all error, 409; preliminary conditions requisite for the efficiency of precepts against the sources of error, 409-10; rules against errors from the Affections, 410. Weakness and Disproportioned Strength of the Faculties of Knowledge, 411-31; neglect of the limited nature of the Human Intellect a source of error, 411 et seq.; (1) Philosophy of the Absolute, 411-12; (2) A one-sided view of the finitude of the mind, 412 et seq.; this illustrated by reference to the two contradictories, - the absolute commencement and the infinite non-commencement of time, 412; the same principle exemplified in the case of the necessitarian argument against the freedom of the human will, 413; and in the case of the libertarian argument in behalf of free-will, ib.; weakness and disproportioned strength of the several Cognitive Faculties, as a source of error, 414 et seq.; these faculties of two classes - a Lower and a Higher, ib.; A. The Lower Class, ib. et seq.; (1) The Presentative Faculty, of two kinds, ib.; a. External Perception, as a source of error, ib. et seq.; conditions of its adequate activity, 415; precautions with a view to detecting illusions of the Senses, and obviating the errors to which they lead, 415-16; b. Self-Consciousness, as a source of error, 416 et seq.; this power varies in intensity according to time, state of health, and object, ib.; (2) Memory, as a source of error, 417 et seq. ; as feeble, 417; as too strong, 417-18; remedies for these opposite extremes, 418; (3) The Reproductive Faculty, of two kinds, 419; a. Reminiscence, as a source of error,

ib.; its undue activity, ib.; its inactivity, ib.; b. Suggestion or Association, as a source of error, 419 et seq. ; influence of Association in matters of Taste, 421; Stewart quoted on this influence, 421-3; Condillac quoted on the same, 423: 'S Gravesande, Herodotus, and Justin, referred to on the same, 423-4; only remedy for the influence of Association is the Philosophy of the Human Mind, 424-5; (4) Imagination, as a source of error, 426 et seq ; its necessity in scientific pursuits, 426; defect in the art of modern times as compared with that of ancient, arising from imperfect culture of imagination, 426-7; errors arising from the disproportion between imagination and judgment, 427 et seq.; those arising from the weakness of imagination, 427; from its disproportionate vivacity, ib.; remedies for these defects, ib.; B. Higher faculties, 428 et seq.; (5) Elaborative Faculty as a source of Error, ib. et seq. ; error does not lie In the conditions of our higher faculties, but is possible in the application of the laws of those faculties to determinate cases, 428-9; defective action of the understanding may arise from one of three causes; a. Natural feebleness, b. Want of necessary experience, c. Incompetency of attention, 429; (6) Regulative Faculty not properly a source of error, 430; remote sources of error in the different habits determined by sex, age, bodily constitution, education, etc., ib.; selected examples of these, -a one-sided cultivation of the intellectual powers, ib.; this exemplified in three different phases, - in exclusive cultivation, 1. Of the powers of observation, 2. Of metaphysics, 3. Of mathematics, 431; Stewart referred to on the two latter errors, ib.; III. Language as a source of error, 432-9; its general character considered with a view to show how it becomes the occasion of error, 432-4; in what sense language is natural to man, 432-3; difficulty as to the origin of language, 433; language has a general and a special character, 434; no language is a perfect instrument of thought. ib.; languages, from their multitude, difficulty of their acquisition, inadequacy, ambignity of words, are sources of error, ib.; this illustrated, 435 et seq.; signs necessary for the internal operation of thought, 435; and for its communication, ib.; intonations of the voice the only adequate sensible symbols of thought and its communication, ib.; these inarticulate and articulate, 436; the latter constitute Language Proper, ib.; how this is a source of error, ib.; the ambiguity of words the principal source of error originating in, ib. ; two circumstances under this head which mutually affect each other, 43%-7; the vocabulary of every language necessarily finite, and the consequences of this, 437; words are merely hints to the mind, 437-8; remedy for error arising from language, 438-9; IV. The Objects of our knowledge a source of error, 430; rules touching the causes and remedies of our false judgments, 439-40.

- Essence, Essentials, or Internal Denominations, what, 153.
- ESSER, quoted on the distinction of the matter and form of thought, 11; on the latter as the object of Logic to the exclusion of the former, 11-12; on the laws of thought as thought as strictly the object of Logic, 12-13; quoted on the distinction of logical and metaphysical truth, 76-7; referred to on relation of concepts to their origin as direct or indirect, 100-1; quoted on the clearness and obscurity of concepts, 113-14; quoted on the special conditions of the distinctness of a concept, 117-18, 119; quoted on the highest point of the distinctness of a concept, 120; quoted on the impossibility of notions absolutely identical, 151; quoted on the agreement and difference of concepts and judgments, 162-3, 174; quoted on certain ultra-logical distinctions of propositions, 187-8; quoted on the act of reasouing, 189-90; quoted on the general conditions of syllogism, 197; quoted on the form of syllogism as a ground of its division into species, 203-4; on the laws regulating the various kinds of syllogisms, 204, 215; quoted on positive and contrary opposition in a disjunctive reasoning, 233; on the principle of the disjunctive syllogism, 234-5; on the several parts of the disjunctive syllogism, 234-5; quoted on the peculiar principle of the hypothetical syllogism, 241-2; quoted on the first rule of hypothetical syllogisms, 245-6; on the ground on which the hypothetical syllogism has been regarded as having only two terms and two propositions, 246-7; quoted on relation of syllogisms to each other, 258; quoted on Epicheirema and Sorites, 258-9, 323; quoted on division in general, 350-2; on logical division, 354-5; quoted on the rules of division, 356-9; quoted on rules of division springing from relations of dividing members to the divided wholes, 358; on the relation of the several dividing members to each other, 359; on the rule of division, - Divisio ne fiat per saltum, 359-60; quoted on the differences of probations, 364-6; on pure and empirical probations, 366; quoted on distinctions of probations from their internal form, 367-8; on probations, under the internal form, as synthetic and analytic,

369-70, 380, 385, 442; quoted on experience and observation, 444-9; quoted on induction and analogy, 451, 452, 453; quoted on sum of doctrine of induction, 453; quoted on induction and analogy as not affording absolute certainty, 455-6; quoted on testimony, 458-9, 460; quoted on credibility of testimony in general, 460-4; on testimony in special, 464-7; quoted on criticism and interpretation, 469-75; quoted on speculation as a means of knowledge, 476-7.

- EUDEMUS, referred to on use of the term categorical, 165; his nomenclature of the parts of the hypothetical syllogism, 241.
- EUGENIOS, or Eugenius, 85, 101, 142; referred to on the distinction of Potential and Actual in relation to notions, 145-6; quoted on import of the term συλλογισμός, 197, 198, 220.
- EULER, employed circular diagrams as logical notation, 180; but not the first, *ib*.
- EUSTACHIUS, referred to on Method in Logic, 341.
- EUSTRATIUS, 336.
- EXAMPLE, Aristotle quoted on, 591.
- EXCLUDED Middle, or Third, principle of, a fundamental law of thought, 57; what, 59; its logical significance, 59-60; the principle of disjunctive judgments, 60; its history, 62 et seq.; can be traced back to Plato, 62, 65; explicitly enounced by Aristotle, 65; enounced by Cicero, ib.; received the appellation by which it is now known at a comparatively modern date, probably from Baumgarten, 65; regulates in conjunction with that of Reason and Consequent Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogisms, 204-5; determines the form of the Disjunctive Syllogism, 231, 252; authors referred to on, 508; whether identical with law of Contradiction, ib.; whether a valid and legitimate law, 508-9; see Fundamental Laws of Thought.
- EXCLUSIVE and Exceptive Particles, what, and their effect as indirectly predesignating the predicate, 517; authorities referred to on, 518; see Propositiones Exponibiles.
- EXPERIENCE, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- EXPERIENTIAL or Experimental Propositions, what, 188.
- FACCIOLATI, 135, 139; quoted on the meaning and distinction of categoricum, vagum, and transcondens, 140; referred to on Categories, 142; referred to on Whole and Part, 143, 160, 198, 219, 200, 261, 268, 330, 331, 369; quoted on Induction, 595.
- FALLACIES, what, 321; of two kinds, Paralogisms and Sophisms, *ib.*; this distinction not of strictly logical import, 323; but

not without logical value, ib. ; divided into Formal, Material, and those at once Formal and Material, ib.; Material, lie beyond the jurisdiction of Logic, ib ; Ancient Greek Sophisms, their character, 323-4; considered in detail in as far as they lie within a single syllogism, 325 et seq. ; I. Formal Fallacies, Categorical, 325-7; first subordinate class, - those consisting in quaternione terminorum, 325; under this genus are comprised three species, 1°, Fallacia sensus compositi et divisi, 325-6; modes of this fallacy, 326; 2°, Fallacio a dicto secundum quid ad dictum simpliciter, ib.; 3°, Fallacia figuræ dictionis, 327; II. Material, 327-34; of two kinds, -1.) Of an Unreal Universality, 327-8; 2.) Of Unreal Middle or Reason, 328; these kinds of, coïncide, 328-9; this fallacy as dangerous in its negative as in its positive form, 329; species of this fallacy, -1°, Sophisma cum hoc, vel post hoc, ergo propter hoc, 329-30; 2°, Ignava Ratio, 330-1; the history of this fallacy, 331; its vice, 331-2; 3°, Sophisma polyzeteseos, 332; its various designations, ib. ; 4°, Sophisma heterozeteseos, ib.; its various names, 333; its character, ib.; the Litigiosus, ib.; illustrated in the case of Protagoras and Euathlus, 333-4; and in the parallel case of Corax and Tisias, 334; see Probation, Doctrine of.

FEAR, see Error, Causes of.

- FEUERLIN, referred to on principle of Sufficient Reason, 68.
- FIGHTE, placed the law of Identity as the primary principle of all knowledge, 66.
- FIGURE, of Syllogism, constituted by the place which the middle term holds in premises, 281-2, 285; the Four Figures arise from the relative positions of the middle term, 282; formulæ of the Figures in Comprehension and Extension, ib.; mnemonic verses for these in Comprehension and Extension, ib.; the name $\sigma \chi \hat{\eta} \mu \alpha$, figure, given by Aristotle, 285; the first, on the prevalent doctrine, not properly a figure, ib.; three figures distinguished by Aristotle, ib.; fourth attributed to Galen, but on slender authority, 285, 423; first notice of Fourth Figure by Averroes, 285; complex modification of Figure by the Quantity and* Quality of the propositions, or the Mood, of a reasoning, 286, see Mood of Syllogism; doctrine of the Figures according to the logicians, and in Extension alone, 288-302; symbol by letters of the First Figure, 288; rules of First Figure, 288-9; legitimate moods of First Figure, with circular diagrams illustrative of, 289-90; Second Figure, its symbols, 291; its rules, 291-2; its legitimate moods, with diagrams, 292-3; Third Figure, - its symbol, 294; its rules,

294-5; its legitimate moods, with diagrams. 295-8; Fourth Figure, -- its symbol, 299; its rules, 299-300; its legitimate moods, with diagrams, 300-2; whatever figure is valid and regular in Extension is also valid and regular in Comprehension, 302; criticism of the foregoing doctrine of Figure, ib. et seq ; the Fourth Figure, - repudiated by the great majority of the rigid Aristotelians, 302; logicians not in possession of the grounds on which this figure may be set aside, 303; grounds on which the Fourth Figure ought to be disallowed, ib. et seq.; a cross inference possible from Extension to Comprehension, and vice versa, 303; this the nature of the inference in the Fourth Figure, 304; this proved and illustrated, 304-5; this hybrid inference is, - 1°, Unnatural; 2°, Useless; 3°, Logically invalid, 305; general character of the Second, Third, and Fourth Figures, 307; the last three figures only the mutilated expressions of a complex mental process, and virtually identical with the first, 308-9 et seq.; this shown in detail, 310-11, but see Mood of Syllogism; Figure in relation to Hypothetical, Disjunctive, and Hypothetico-Disjunctive Syllogisms, 318-20; of no account in varying the Syllogism, 626-7; double conclusion, in Second and Third Figures, 627-31; grounds on which it has been attempted to establish the discrimination of a major and minor term in the Second and Third Figures, 627 et seq.; Aristotle, 628; Ammonius and Philoponus, ib ; Herminus, ib.; Alexander Aphrodisiensis, 628-9; Scotus, 629; Mendoza, ib.; anticipatory recognitions of the truth that there is no major or minor term in the second and third figures, 629-31; by certain early Greek logicians, 629; by Valla, 629-30; by John Sergeant, 630-31; historical notices regarding figure of syllogism, 632; Aristotle, 632-3; Alexander and Herminus, 633-6; Philoponus (or Ammonius), 637-9; Martianus Capella, 639-40; Isidorus, 640; Averroes, 640-1; Melanchthon, 641; Arnauld, 641-2; Grosser, 642; Lambert, 643; Platner, 646-7; Fries, 647-9; Krug and Beneke, 649-52; Titius, 652-8; direct and indirect moods in first and fourth figure, 658; but not in second and third, ib.; fourth figure, - its character, 659; authors by whom held that fourth figure differs from first only by transposition of premises, ib.; moods of fourth figure redressed, 659-61; criticism of fourth figure, 662; authorities for and against this figure, 662-3.

FIRST Figure, see Figure.

FISCHER, 186; referred to on coordination of notions in Comprehension, 155-8.

FISCHABER, 486.

FONTAINE, La, quoted, 390.

- FONSECA, P., 184, 207, 216, 289, 292, 825; referred to as against the doctrine of a material quantification of the predicate in reciprocating propositions, 543.
- FORMAL Induction, see Induction.
- FORMAL Truth, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- FORMAL and Material, their distinction, 539-42.

FOURTH Figure, see Figure.

- FRIES, 43; on principle of Double Negation, 68, 149, 203, 215, 243, 249, 261, 364, 380, 385, 428, 435, 456; quoted on Canons of Syllogism, 570-2; quoted on Figure of Syllogism, 647-9.
- FUNDAMENTAL Laws of Thought, order of their consideration, 57; these four in number,-1. Identity, 2 Contradiction or Non-Contradiction, 3. Excluded Middle, 4. Reason and Consequent, or Sufficient Reason, 57 et seq. (but see 61); their history, 62-8, see these Laws; general observations in relation to, 69 et seq.; these fall into two classes, the first class consisting of the three principles of Identity, Contradiction, and Excluded Middle, the second of the principle of Reason and Consequent alone, ib.; this classification founded, 1°, On the difference of connection between the laws themselves, 70; 2°, On the difference of the ends which the two classes severally accomplish, ib.; two counter opinions regarding the limits of objective possibility, 71; the respective spheres of the two classes of the laws of thought defined and illustrated, 71 et seq.; to deny the universal application of the first three laws is to subvert the reality of thought, 71; but this is not involved in the denial of the universal appli cation of the law of Reason and Consequent, 72 et seq.; this law shown in general not to be the measure of objective possibility, 72-5; by reference to Extension, 1°, As a whole, 72-3; distinction of positive and negative thought, 73; this law not the criterion of objective possibility shown by reference to Extension; 2°, As a part, 74; 3°, By reference to the law of Reason and Consequent itself, 74-5; this law reducible to a higher principle, 75; summary statement of the spheres of these laws, 75; the general influence which the foregoing laws exert on the operations of thinking, 75-7; the highest criterion of non-reality, but no criterion of reality, 76; erroneously held to be the positive standard of truth, ib ; the absolutists proceed on their subversion, 77; the whole of these laws operative in each form of syllogism, although certain of them more prominently regulate each various form,

251-2; their relations, 506; authors on, in general, ib.; of two kinds, — the laws of the Thinkable, and the laws of Thinking, 507; that they belong to Logic, ib.; on order and mutual relation of, ib.; by whom introduced into Logic, ib.; in particular, authors on, 507; see Identity, Contradiction, Excluded Middle.

GALE, Theophilus, 326.

- GALEN, the fourth figure of syllogism attributed to, but on slender authority, 285, 302; new logical treatise of, 285.
- GALILEO, his rebuke of the Professor of Padua, 406.
- GALLUPPI, quoted on canon of syllogism, 574.
- GASSENDI, 330, 332, 338; referred to, on Method in Logic, 341.

GELLIUS, see Aulus Gellius.

- GENERAL or Abstract Logic, see Logic.
- GENERALIZATION, what, 90; its whole mystery explained, 91, see Concepts, Doctrine of.
- GENERIC and Specific Difference, see Genus and Species.
- GENERIFICATION and Specification, limited expressions for the processes of Abstraction and Determination, considered in a particular relation, 135-8; depend on the two laws of 110mogeneity and Heterogeneity, 148; see Genus and Species.

GENETIC Definition, see Definition.

- GENOVESI, or Genuensis, referred to on one science being the instrument of another, 25; his Latin Logic noticed, 51, 474.
- GENUENSIS, see Genovesi.
- GENUS and Species, or General and Special notion, what and how designated, 135-6; the distinction of, merely relative, 136-7; the abstraction which carries up species into genera, called Generification or Generalization, 136-7; the determination which divides a genus into its species, called Specification, 137-8; gradations of genera and species, and their designations, 138; Supreme or Most General genus, what, ib.; Subaltern or Intermediate genus, what, ib.; Lowest or Most Special species, what. ib.; Subaltern or Intermediate species, what, ib. ; these distinctions taken from Porphyry's Introduction to the Categories, 139; a genus as containing under it species, or a species as containing under it individuals, is called a Logical, Universal, Subject, Subjective, or Potential whole, 142; an individual as containing in it species, or a species as containing in it genera, is called a Metaphysical, Formal, or Actual whole, 142-3; these distinctions illustrated, 143 et seq., see Whole; Generic and Specific Difference, 146-7; as contradistinguished from

Individual Difference, 147; Conspecies, what, 148; the classification of things by genera and species governed by two laws --viz., of Homogeneity and of Heterogeneity, 148; a third law alleged by Kantviz., of Logical Affinity or continuity, but rejected, 149; Genus and Difference, the elements of Definition Proper, 342-3.

GEOROE of Trebisond, or Georgius Trapezuntius, described the process of Sorites, but gave it no appropriate name, 269. GERLACH, 58.

GIBNON, his practice in reading, 489-90.

GLEIG, Dr., mistook Reid's view of Conception, 81.

GOCLENIUS, Rodolphus, discovered and signalized the Regressive Comprehensive Sorites, 273; but before him this given by Pacius, 344.

GODWIN, quoted on composition as a means ot intellectual improvement, 482.

GOETHE, his estimate of mathematics, 425.

GREAT BRITAIN, the country in which Logic has been most generally and completely misunderstood, 20.

GREEK Sophisms, ancient, their character, 323-4.

GROSSER, or Grosserus, 25; quoted on figure of syllogism, 642.

GUNDLING, 25.

GUNNER, ib.

HARVEY, Gideon, his use of Concept, 30.

HEEREBORD, his Praxis Logica referred to, 493.

HEGEL, his employment of the term *Dialectic*, 6; repudiated the principles of Contradiction and Excluded Middle in relation to the absolute, 64; rejected the principle of Identity as applicable only to the finite, 66; a dying deliverance of, 281.

HERACLITUS, quoted, 481.

HERBART, referred to for a complicated theory of Sorites in different figures, 320.

HERDER, quoted on tendency of the age to over-reading, 487.

HERMANN, Gottfried, 280.

HERMINUS, his ground of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the second and third figures, 628; quoted on figure of syllogism, 533-4

HERMOGENES, 333, 351.

- HERODOTUS, case cited from, illustrating the power of Association, 424.
- HETEROGENEITY, Law of, what, 148-9, see Genus and Species.
- HIBERNICUS, Thomas, 484.

HILAIRE, St., 603

HINDS, Dr., his encomium of the Elements of Logic of Dr. Whately, 21.

HISPANUS, Petrus, Pope John xx., or xxi.,

or xxii., 187; anthor of the Latin mnemonic verses for Mood and Figure of Syllogism, 308; notice of, *ib.*; his Summular, for many centuries the text-book of Logic in the schools of the Latin Church, *ib.*

HOBBES, maintained all thought to be at bottom a calculation, 197; quoted on the influence of authority on opinion, 401.

Höcker, 85.

HOFFBAUER, 43, 59, 174, 215, 338; quoted on canons of syllogism, 456.

HOLLMANN, 289, 291, 294, 456.

HOMOGENEITY, law of, what, 148, see Genus. HOPE and Fear, see Error, Causes of.

- HOSPINIAN, John, erroneously attributed the invention of the Fourth Figure to Scotus, 303.
- HUMAN Mind, limited nature of, as a source of error, see Error, Causes of.
- HUME, David, 84; quoted on indistinctness of terms, 123-4; quoted on belief as the root of knowledge, 384.
- HUTCHESON, Francis, quoted on canons of syllogism, 563-4.
- HYPOLEMMA, name for minor premise or subsumption of a syllogism, 199.
- HYPOTHESIS, what, 188, 449-50; its place and end in science, 450.
- HYPOTHETICAL Judgment, or Proposition, *see* Judgments, Doctrine of.
- HYPOTHETICAL Reasoning or Syllogism, the second class of Conditional Syllogisms, and third class afforded by Internal Form of Syllogism, 239; its general character - a reasoning whose form is determined by the Law of Reason and Consequent, and whose sumption is thus necessarily an hypothetical proposition, 239-40; of two forms, Affirmative or Constructive - modus ponens, and Negative or Destructive - modus tollens, 239; authors referred to on use of terms ponens and tollens, 240; mnemonic verses for these forms, ib.; authors on, in general, referred to, ib.; its general character explicated, 240 et seq.; contains three propositions, ib.; the modus ponens and modus tollens illustrated, 241; nomenclature of Theophrastus, Eudemus, etc., regarding, ib.; its peculiar principle - the Law of Reason and Consequent, 241 et seq.; this principle, how variously enounced, 242; why we cannot conclude from the trnth of the consequent to the truth of the antecedent, and from the falsehood of the antecedent to the falsehood of the consequent, ib.; conversion of to categorical syllogisms is, 1°, Unnecessary, 243; 2°, Not always possible, 243-4; authors on the conversion of, referred to, 243; those of one form easily convertible into another, 244; special rules of, 245; these explicated - first rule, 245 et

seq.; regulates the general form of, 245; ground on which it has been regarded as having only two terms and two propositions, 246; this view erroneous, ib.; - second rule, 247; that the sumption is always definite, to be understood in a qualified sense, ib.; that the sumption is always affirmative, ib.; the subsumption of, 248; third rule, ib., see 602-6; though prominently regulated by the law of Reason and Consequent, still the other logical laws operative in, 252; difficulty in connection with, in regard to the doctrine that all reasoning is either from whole to part or from the parts to the whole, stated and obviated, ib. et seq. ; antecedent and consequent of, equal to condition and conditioned, 252-3; hence the reason or condition must contain the consequent, 253; whole and parts respectively may be viewed in thought either as the conditioning or as the conditioned, 254; application of this doctrine to the solution of the previous difficulty, 255; not liable to the affection of figure, 318; author's later doctrine of Hypothetical (or Conjunctive and Disjunctive) Reasonings, 598-618; these reducible to immediate inferences, 598-9, 599-600, 601-2, 603-4, 605; referred to the class of Explicatives or Conditionals, 599-600; not composite by contrast to the regular syllogism, but more simple, 603; only preparations for argumentation, 603-4, 609-10; canons of Hypothetical syllogism, 602, 606; theory of, regarded as alternatives, 607-12; errors of logicians regarding, 612; historical notices of, 612-18; Aristotle, 612-13; Ammonius Hermiæ, 613-14; Anonymous Scholion, and matter relative to, 614-18.

- HYPOTHETICAL Proposition, application of the doctrine of a quantified predicate to, and its result, 512, see Hypothetical Syllogism.
- HYPOTHETICO-DISJUNCTIVE or Dilemmatic Judgment, see Judgments, Doctrine of.
- HYPOTHETICO-DISJUNCTIVE Syllogism, Dilemmatic or Dilemma, third class of Conditional Syllogism and fourth class afforded by Internal Form of Syllogism, 205, 249; regulated by the laws of Excluded Middle and of Reason and Consequent in conjunction, 205; what, 248-9; held by Wallis to be a negative induction, 249; its character explicated, *ib.*; designations of — ceratinus, cornutus, sc., syllogismus, etc., 249-50; rules for sifting a proposed dilemma, 250.
- IDEA, the term, reason why not regularly employed, and sense in which it is occasionly used by the author, 90.

IDENTITY, principle of, a fundamental law of

thought, 57; what, ib. ; variously enounced, ib.; its logical importance - the principle of all logical affirmation and definition, 58; its history, 62 et seq.; developed last in the order of time, 62, 65; first explicated as a coordinate principle, by Antonius Andreas, at the end of the 13th century, 65; maintained by Andreas against Aristotle to be the one absolutely first principle, 65, 66; controversy regarding the relative priority of the laws of Identity and Contradiction, 66; called by Wolf principium certitudinis, ib.; by Baumgarten principium positionis sive identitatis, ib.; placed by Fichte and Schelling as the primary principle of all knowledge, ib.; rejected by Hegel, ib.; along with that of Contradiction, regulates the categorical syllogism, 207, 251; formally the same with that of Reason and Consequent, 251; authors referred to on, 507-8; see Fundamental Laws of Thought, Proportion, law of.

- IMAGINATION, what, 425-6; its necessity in scientific pursuits, 426; as a source of error, *ib., see* Error, Causes of.
- IMMEDIATE Inference, what, 514; cases of, recognized by logicians, 514 et seq.; 1. Conversion, ib., see Conversion, 515; 2. Equipollence, or, better, Double Negation, - merely grammatical, 522; 3. Subalternation, better Restriction, ib.; this Bilateral and Unilateral, 523; not noticed by logicians that in subalternation the some means some at least, ib.; the two propositions in subalternation should be called Restringent or Restrictive, the given proposition the Restringend, and the product the Restrict or Restricted, 523; logicians have overlooked the immediate inference of Subcontrariety, 523-4, 534; this called by the author Integration, 524, 534; the two propositions in integration called the Integral or Integrant, the given proposition the Integrand, and the product the Integrate, ib.; tabular scheme of, 535; Eustachius quoted on, 601; authors referred to on, ib.; kinds of, ib.; authors by whom adopted, ib.; Immediate Peremptory, and Immediate Alternative Inference, 601-2; the latter contains five species, embracing among these the Disjunctive, Hypothetical, and Hypothetico-Disjunctive syllogisms of the logicians, ib.; logicians who refer Hypothetical and Disjunctive Syllogisms to, 600.
- IMPEDIMENTS to thinking, Doctrine of, see Logic.
- INDEFINABLE, the, what, 105, 107.
- INDEFINITE, the, how distinguished from the Infinite, 74.
- INDEFINITE Propositions, 171, see Judgments, Propositions.

INDETERMINED, the, what, 55, 56.

- INDIVIDUAL or Singular Difference, what, 146-7, see Genus and Species.
- INDIVIDUAL Propositions, 171, see Judgments, Propositions.
- INDIVIDUUM signatum and Individuum vagum, 547.
- INDIVISIBLE, the, what, 105-7.
- INDUCTION, of two kinds, Logical or Formal, and Philosophical, Real, or Material, 226, 589-90, 597; the views of logicians regarding the nature of Logical Induction erroneous, 225; the characters of Logical and of Real Induction, 226-7; canon of Inductive Syllogism, 227; this equally formal with that of Deductive Syllogism, ib.; a material induction, how expressed as a formal, ib.; objection obviated, 228; formulæ for Inductive Syllogisms in Comprehension and Extension, 228-9; Whately and others erroneously make the inductive syllogism deductive, 229; this done before Whately by Schramm and Wolf, ib.; doctrine of the older logicians regarding, correct as far as it goes, 229-30; doctrine of Imperfect Induction, 230; Bacon at fault in his criticism of Aristotle's doctrine of, ib.; authors referred to on, in general, ib.; Real or Material, founded on the principle of Philosophical Presumption, 450; its agreement with and distinction from Analogy, 450-1; of two kinds, - Individual and Special, 452; but in the last result all Induction is individual, 452; two conditions of legitimate, 452-3; summary of the doctrine of, 453; Induction and Analogy compared together, 455; these do not afford absolute certainty, 455-6; authors referred to on, 456; authors quoted and referred to on, 589-97; Aristotle, 589-93; example of, given in the Organon of Aristotle, probably not that proposed by the author himself, 590; Aristotle's doctrine of the correct, 592-3; Pachymeres, 593; Ramus, 593-4; Derodon, 594; the college of Alcala - their error noticed, 594; certain vulgar errors on, referred to. 594-5; Facciolati, 595; Lambert, ib.; strictures on Lambert's doctrine, 595; his doctrine adopted by certain subsequent German logicians, 596; his doctrine old, and well invalidated by the commentators of Louvain, ib.; a similar doctrine to that of Lambert held by Versor, Arnoldus de Tungeri, and Lambertus de Monte, ib. ; Crakanthorpe held that Induction can only be recalled to a hypothetical syllogism, 596-7; Material, its character, 597.
- INFERENCE, meaning of the term, 196; distribution of, 598-600; its two grand classes, - Mediate and Immediate, 598; all infer-

ence hypothetic, 598-9; authors by whom this maintained, 598-9; the distinction of as Commutative, Explicative, and Comparative, 599-600; Mediate Peremptory, and Mediate Alternative Inference, 602.

- INFINITE, its name and notion, 73-4; expressed by negative terms, 74; how distinguished from the Indefinite, *ib*.
- INSTRUCTION, its end, 1; methods of written and oral instruction different, *ib.*, *see* Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- INTEGRITY, Criticism of, see Testimony.
- INTERPRETATION, or Excegesis, Art of, see Testimony.
- INTUITION, the term, its meaning, 90; ambiguously translates the German Anschauung, *ib.*; what, 385, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- INTUITIVE and Symbolical Knowledge, see Concepts, Quality of.
- INTUITIVE, the term, sense in which used by Leibnitz and the continental philosophers, 121.
- INVOLUTION of Concepts, see Concepts, Relations of.
- ISENDOORN, Gisbert ab, 37-8, 230.
- ISIDORUS, quoted on Figure of Syllogism, 640.

JAKOB, 456.

- JEROME, St., quoted on the superior effect of the living voice, 484.
- JUDGMENTS, Doctrine of, 159-88; a Judgment, what, 159-60; how distinguished from a Proposition, ib.; what is implied in judgment, 160; condition under which notions are judged congruent, 160-1; a judgment must contain three notions - viz, of Subject, Predicate, Copula, 161; these constituents illustrated, 162; propositions of the Third Adjacent, and of the Second Adjacent, ib.; concepts and judgments, how far they coïncide and differ, 162-3; judgments, how divided, 163; I. From the relation of subject and predicate as reciprocally whole and part, judgments are divided into Comprehensive and Extensive, ib.; this distinction founded on the comprehension and extension of concepts, 163-4; II. From the difference in the relation of determination between subject and predicate, divided into Categorical, and Conditional, including Hypothetical, Disjunctive, and Dilemmatic, 165; categorical judgment explained, ib. et seq.; the term categorical used by Aristotle in the sense of affirmative, ib.; in its second signification, as opposed to conditional, probably first applied by Theophrastus, ib. ; in this employment the terms absolute and perfect better expressions, 165; nature of
a calegorical judgment, 166; conditional judgments, 166-71; these complise three species, 166; 1. Hypothetical, ib. et seq ; variations in regard to the application of the terms conditional and hypothetical, 166-7; a hypothetical judgment, what, 167; appellations of its constituent elements, 168; not composite, ib.; not convertible into a categorical, ib.; 2. Disjunctive, 169 et seq.; not in reality composite, and not convertible into a categorical, 169-70; 3. Dilemmatic, or Hypothetico-Disjunctive, 170 et seq.; indivisible, and not reducible to a plurality of categorical judgments, 170; these various kinds of judgments may be considered in reference to Quantity, Quality, and Relation, 171; a. In relation to Quantity, ib. et seq.; the common doctrine of the division of judgments according to their quantity, 171; the doctrine of the author on this point, 171-2; all judgments are, according to the author, either Definite or Indefinite, 171; Definite includes Universal and Individual judgments, 171-2; Indefinite includes Particular judgments, 172; propositions are either Predesignate or Preindesignate, ib.; common doctrine errs by taking into account only the quantity of the subject, ib.; these doctrines explicated, 173 et seq.; Universal judgments, what, ib ; Singular or Individual judgments, what, ib ; Particular judgments, what, ib.; words which serve to mark out quantity in universal, individual, and particular propositions, ib.; distinction of universal and individual from particular judgments, 173-4; categorical judgments alone, according to the logicians, admit of all the forms of quantity, 174; this doctrine erroneous, ib.; b. In relation to Quality, judgments are divided into Affirmative and Negative, 176; generality of the definition of predication and of affirmation and negation, as given by the author, 176; affirmative and negative propositions, 176-7; that negation does not belong to the copula held by some logicians, 177; the opposite doctrine maintained by the author, 177-8; origin of the controversy regarding the place of negation, 178; the possibility of enunciating negative propositions in an affirmative, and affirmative propositions in a negative, form, the occasion of much perverse refinement among logicians, 178-9; negative terms, how designated by Aristotle, 178; by Boethius, ib.; by the Schoolmen, ib.; propositiones infinitæ of the Schoolmen, ib.; Kant's division of judgments into Affirmative, Negative, and Limitative unfounded, 179; judgments divided according to their quantity and quality taken together, into Universal Affirmative, Universal Negative, Particular Affirmative, Particular Negative, ib.; these, how symbolized, ab.; circular diagrams illustrative of, 180; division of propositions into Pure and Modal, 180-81; this distinction futile, 181; division of Modal propositions by logicians as Necessary, Impossible, Contingent, and Possible, extralogical, 181-2; Whately quoted on this distinction, and criticized, 182-3; the terms Assertory, Problematic, Apodeictic, or Demonstrative in relation to propositions, explained, 183; c. By Relation to each other, judgments divided into Identical, Different, Relatively Identical, Disparate, Disjunct, Subalternant, Subalternate, 183-4; out of Relation arises the Opposition of judgments, 184; opposition either of contradiction or of contrariety, ib.; Congruent Judgments, ib.; Sub-contrary opposition, what, ib.; not a real opposition, ib., see Opposition; conversion of, 185-6, see Conversion; certain distinctions of, not strictly logical, explained - viz., Theoretical and Practical, Indemonstrable and Demonstrable, Axioms and Postulates, Theorems and Problems, Corollaries, Experimental Propositions, Hypotheses, Lemmata, Scholia, 187-8; see Propositions.

- JUSTIN, case cited from, illustrating the power of Association, 424.
- Kaκοῦ κόρaκος κακόν ώόν, the proverb, its origin, 334.
- KANT, 42; his Applied Logic identical with the Author's Modified Logic, 43; his employment of the phrase censured, 44, 58, 59, 88, 112; his employment of the term category, 140, 170; his threefold division of propositions as Affirmative, Negative, and Limitative, groundless, 179-83; rejected Sub-contrariety as a species of opposition, 184, 242; his doctrine of Figure borrowed by the Author, 307; his speculation founded on the general relations of distance between the planets, 367; his argument from the law of duty for human liberty, and the existence of a Moral Governor, valid, 372, 456; quoted on Crusius's supreme canon of Syllogism, 561; quoted on Canons of Syllogism, 568-9.

KECKERMANN, 216, 230, 243, 250, 342, 351, 527. KIESEWETTER, 174, 243, 469; quoted on can-

ons of syllogism, 572

KIRWAN, Dr. Richard, 435.

KNOWLEDGE, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of, 441, 493; the means of perfecting knowledge are, in general, two, - the Acquisition and the Communication of knowledge, 441; the first mean, - the Acquisition of knowledge, - considered,

441 et seq.; this must be viewed in relation to the different kinds of knowledge, which are two, as of contingent and of necessary matter, 441-2; consists of two parts - acquisition through Experience, and through Intelligence, 442; in what sense all knowledge may be called acquired, ib.; I. The doctrine of Experience, 442 et seq.; experience of two kinds, 442; 1. Personal, 442-3; this in general, what, 443; explicated, ib. et seq.; common and scientific, 444; Observation, what, ib.; of two kinds - Observation proper and Experiment, ib.; præcognita of, 445 et seq ; First, The object of observation, 445-7; this fourfold, 445; 1°, What the phænomena are in their individual peculiarities and contrasts, and as under determinate genera and species, ib.; 2°, What the conditions of their reality, 446; 3°, What their causes, 446-7; 4°, What the order of their consecution; Second, The manner of observation, 447-8; 1°, Proper state of the observing mind, 447; 2°, Conditions of the question to be determined by observation, 447-8; Third, The means by which the data of observation are to be reduced to system - viz., Hypothesis, Induction, and Analogy, 449-56, see those words; 2. Foreign experience, 457 et seq.; this realized through testimony, ib.; testimony, what, ib.; oral and recorded, 457-75, see Testimony; 11. Speculation - the second means of acquiring and perfecting knowledge, 475-6; principal distinctions of empirical and noetic cognitions, 476; III. Communication - the last mean of acquiring and perfecting knowledge, 478-93; this an important mean of perfecting knowledge in the mind of the communicator, 479; man naturally determined to communication, and his knowledge of the object of his thought is thereby rendered clearer, ib.; this fact noticed by Plato, ib.; by Aristotle, Themistius, Lucilius, Persius, Cicero, Seneca, 479-80; the modes in which communication is conducive to the perfecting of knowledge are two, 480; 1. By reciprocally determining a higher energy of the faculties, a. Through sympathy, b. Through opposition, 480-81; Plutarch, and J. C. Scaliger, quoted on the benefits of opposition and dispute, 481; 2. By imposing the necessity of obtaining a fuller consciousness of knowledge for ourselves, 481; infinence of composition and instruction in perfecting our knowledge, 481-2; Godwin quoted to this effect, 482; and Aristotle, Plato, Seneca, Clement of Alexandria, Dionysins, Cato, Scholastic Maxims, Vives, Sanderson, 482-3; influence of the communication of knowledge on those to whom it is ad-

dressed, 483 et seq.; A. Unilateral Communication or Instruction Oral and Written, 483-92; Oral, its advantages, 481-5; a. More natural, therefore more impressive, 484; Theophrastus, the younger Pliny, Valerius Maximus (?), St. Jerome, cited to this effect, ib.; b. Less permanent, therefore more attended to, ib.; c. Hearing a social act, 484-5; testimony of Menage and Varillas to the advantages of conversation, 485; reading, a substitute for oral instruction, its advantages, a. More easily accessible, b. More comprehensive, c. More permanent, 485; its disadvantages as an exclusive means of acquiring knowledge, 485-6; Written Instruction, and its employment as a means of perfecting knowledge, rules for, 486; 1. Quantity to be read - rule, Read much, but not many works, 487; testimonies to this rule by Solomon, Quintilian, the younger Pliny, Seneca, Luther, Sanderson, Lord Burleigh, Herder, ib.; end of reading, 488; 2. Quality of what is to be read - first rule, Read by selection, ib. ; - second rule, Begin with the general, 489; Gibbon quoted to effect of second rule, ib. ; - third rule, Study a science as it is, before proceeding to its chronological development, 490; - fourth rule, Read different works on the same subject, ib.; - fifth rule, Study works which cultivate the understanding, and also those which cultivate the taste, 490; 3. Manner of reading, 491 et seq.; - first rule, Read that you may remember, but especially that you may understand, 491; - second rule, Seek to compass the general tenor of a work, before judging of it in detail, ib.; third rule, Accommodate the intensity of the reading to the importance of the work, ib.; Lectio cursoria, and Lectio stataria, ib.; Bacon quoted on this distinction, ib.; Johann Von Müller quoted on the same, 492; - fourth rule, Regulate, on the same principle, the extracts from the works you read, ib.; B. Mutual communication, or conference, 492-3; of two kinds - Dialogue and Formal Dispute, 492; (1), Dialogue, ib.; (2), Disputation - oral and written, 492-3; Academical, 493.

KÖPPEN, 252.

- $K\rho$ ίσιs and $K\rho$ ίνειν, rarely used by the Greeks, and never by Aristotle, as technical terms of Logic or of Psychology, 159.
- KRUG, W. T., referred to on the form of thought as the exclusive object of Logic, 12; on the laws of thought as thought, 13; referred to for definitions of Logic, 25; referred to and quoted as to Logic being merely a formal instrument of the sciences, 26-7; quoted as to the sense in which Logic can be styled the Medicine of the Mind, 26,

32-3; quoted on the utility of Logic as serving to guard against error, 34. 36, 38; not aware of the original distinction of Logica docens and Logica utens, 42, 43, 56, 57, 59, 60; quoted on the distinction of Reason and Consequent, and Cause and Effect, 61-2; referred to as to Conception and Reasoning, involving Judgment, 84, 88, 101, 104, 112, 118, 119, 120, 132, 135, 136, 147; quoted on Individual and Singular Difference, 147, 149, 151; quoted on the Opposition of Concepts, 152-3, 160; quoted on the Copula, 162; quoted on Hypothetical Judgments, 168-9; quoted on Disjunctive Judgments, 169-70; quoted on quantity of Hypothetical and Disjunctive Judgments, 174, 179, 184, 188, 203, 214, 215; quoted on the first rule of Deductive Extensive Categorical Syllogism, 216; quoted on Quaternio terminorum, 216-17, 218, 219; quoted on third rule of Deductive Extensive Categorical syllogisms, 219-20, 227; quoted on the first rule of the Disjunctive Syllogism, 236; quoted on Hypothetical Syllogism in gencral, 241, 242; quoted on the application of the principle of Reason and Consequent to the Hypothetical Syllogism, 242; quoted on Reduction of Hypotheticals, 243-4; on Conversion of Hypotheticals from one form to another, 244-5; quoted on the third rule of Hypothetical Syllogisms, 248; quoted on the designations of the Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogism, 249-50; on the rules for sifting a proposed dilemma, 250; quoted on classes and designations of related syllogisms, 258, 284, 311, 320, 321; quoted on a categorical syllogism with four capital notions, 326, 327; quoted ou fallacies of an Unreal Universality, 327-8; quoted on the Ignava Ratio, 330; quoted on vice of Ignava Ratio, 331; quoted on Sophisma polyzeteseos, 332; quoted on character of the Sophisma heterozeteseos, 333, 338, 341; quoted on the constituents of Logical Methodology, 341, 343; quoted on Nominal, Real, and Genetic definitions, 343, 344, 345; quoted on tautological definition, 346-7; quoted on the rule of definition which requires it to be precise, 347; quoted on the necessity for a definition being perspicuous, 347-8; on definition in the looser sense, 348-9, 351; quoted against complexity of division, 357-8, 364, 366, 370; quoted on the circle in probation, 372 373; quoted on the Mutatio Elenchi, 374, 375; quoted on conditions of the adequate activity of External Perception, 414-15; on precautions against errors of the Senses, 415-16, 417, 418; quoted on the Laws of Association, 420, 427, 428; quoted on error as lying not in the conditions themselves of the higher faculties, but in their applications, 428-30, 436; quoted on remedy for error arising from language, 438-30, 440, 451, 452, 454, 455; quoted on Induction and Analogy, 455, 458, 459, 409, 478, 486, 493; his doctrine of Syllogism, 649-51.

- LAMBERT, 43; employed parallel lines as logical notation, 180, 230, 456; his doctrine of the ultra-total quantification of the middle term, 584-6; quoted on Induction, 595; strictures on his doctrine of, *ib.*; quoted on Figure of Syllogism, 642-5.
- LAMBERTUS DE MONTE, his doctrine of Induction, 596.

LANGE, 25.

- LANGIUS, 484.
- LANGUAGE, its relation to thought, and the influence which it exerts on our mental operations, 98 et seq.; unnecessary in certain mental operations, ib.; indispensable in certain other mental operations, and its relation to these, 98-9; has man invented it ? - ambiguity of the question, 432; in what sense natural to man, 432-3; was the first language actually spoken the invention of man, or the inspiration of the Deity ? 433; the latter hypothesis considered, ib.; difficulty of the question, ib.; Rousseau cited on, ib.; language has a general and a special character, 434; no fanguage is a perfect instrument of thought, 434; signs necessary for the internal operation of thought, 435; and for its communication, ib.; intonations of the voice, the ouly adequate symbols of thought and of its communication, ib.; these inarticulate and articulate, 436; the latter constitute Language Proper, ib.; the vocabulary of any language necessarily finite, 437; words are merely hints to the mind, 437-8; Language as a source of Error, 436, see Error, Causes of.
- LARROQUE, quoted on canons of syllogism, 572-4.
- L'ART DE PENSER (*Port-Royal Logic*), 25; its study recommended, 50, 408; authors of very nearly took the distinction between notions as Clear and Obscure, Distinct and Indistinct, 114.
- LATIN Schoolmen, viewed Logic as a science, 7; their views as to the object-matter of Logic, 19-20.
- LAUREMBERGIUS, P., 25.
- LAWS of Thought, see Fundamental Laws of Thought.
- LE CLERC, 71.
- LECTIO CURSORIA and Lectio Stataria, 491, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- LEIBNITZ, on the principles of Identity and Contradiction, 64; did not always distin-

guish the principles of Identity and Contradiction, 66; called attention to law of Sufficient Reason, 67; founded his philosophy on the principles of Sufficient Reason and Contradiction (including Identity), ib.; did not sufficiently discriminate the law of Causality from the law of Sufficient Reason, ib.; gave various names to the principle of Sufficient Reason, ib.; controversy between and Clarke, on province of Sufficient Reason, ib; his distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical Knowledge, noticed, 87; to him is owing the distinction of Concepts into Clear and Distinct, 112-14; the first to take the distinction of Intuitive and Symbolical knowledge, 126; unacquaintance of the philosophers of this country with the doctrines of, 127; manner in which he gave his writings to the world, ib.: his paper De Cognitione, Veritate, et Ideis, quoted from on Intuitive and Symbolical Knowledge, 121, 456; quoted on canon of Syllogism, 560-1; referred to on simplicity of sorites, 274.

- LEIDENFROST, maintained all thought to be at bottom a calculation, 197.
- LEMMA, name for the major Premise or Sumption of a Syllogism, 200.
- LEMMATA, what, 188.
- LEX Contradictoriarum, principium Contradicentium, its extension in the schools, 65.
- LOBKOWITZ, Joannes Caramuel, 184; referred to on various kinds of wholes, 351.
- LOCKE, John, totally misapprehended the nature of Logic, 21; on the principle of Contradiction, 64; his real merits in relation to the distinctions of Ideas, the doctrine of Definition, etc., 115; anticipated Hume in remarking the employment of terms without distinct meaning, 125; quoted on this point, 125-6.
- LOGIC, the first seven lectures of the Author's Metaphysical Course delivered as a general introduction to the course of, I; mode in which its consideration ought to be conducted, ib.; system of, consists of two parts, viz .: - Introduction to the Science, and Body of Doctrine constituting the science itself, 3; questions to be answered in the Introduction to Logic, 3 et seq.; I. Definition of, 3-24, see also 496-7; the Science of the Laws of Thought as Thought, 3 et seq.; this definition explained in detail, ib.; (1) The word Logic, a. Its history, 3 et seq.; the term $(\lambda o \gamma \kappa \eta)$ as marking a particular science not so old as the science itself, ib.; not used in this sense by Aristotle, 3, 4; according to Boethius, first applied to the science by the ancient Peripatetics, 4; used in the wide sense by Alexander of Aphrodisias, ib.; but previously to Alexander a

common designation of the science, as anpears from Cicero, 4; b. Its derivation and meaning, from $\lambda \delta \gamma os$, signifying both thought and its expression, 4; this ambiguity favored the rise of two counter-opinions regarding the object-matter of, 5, 23; this twofold meaning, how contradistinguished in expression by Aristotle, 5; by others, ib.; appellations of the science afterwards called Logie, ib.; vacillation in the application of the term by the Stoics, Epicureans, and other ancient schools of philosophy, 6; (2) The Genns of Logic, - whether science or art, 7 et seq., see also 498-501; a science according to Plato and the Platonists, but Dialectic with them equivalent to the Logic and Metaphysics of the Peripateties, 7; denied to be either science or art by the Greek Aristotelians and many philosophers since the revival of letters, ib.; a science according to the Stoies, ib.; and according to the Arabian and Latin schoolmen, ib.; maintained to be an art in more modern times by many Aristotelians, the Ramists, and a majority of the Cartesians, ib.; both science and art, according to others, ib.; in Germany, since Leibnitz, regarded as a science, ib.; the question futile, 7; errors of Whately on this point, 7, 8; what is implied in defining Logic as a science, 8, 9; held by some to be a science, 498; and either Speculative science, ib.; or Practical, ib.; or both Speculative and Practical, ib.; an art, 449; science and art, ib.; neither science nor art, but instrument, organ, habit, or instrumental discipline, ib.; that, loosely taking the terms, is either art, or science, or both, 500; that at once science (part of philosophy) and instrument of philosophy, ib.; that question, whether part of philosophy or not, an idle question, ib.; that question, whether art, science, etc., only verbal, 500-1; Eugenius quoted to this effect, ib.; (3) Its Object-matter, 9 et seq. ; a. Thought, what, ib. et seq.; in its wider meaning, thought denotes every Cognitive act, and even every mental modification of which we are conscious, ib. ; in the more limited meaning, Thought (Thought proper) denotes only the acts of the understanding, Faculty of Comparison, Elaborative, or Discursive Faculty, 9-10; in the more limited meaning, Thought is the object-matter of Logic, 9; objects that lie beyond the sphere of Logic, ib.; b. Thought as thought, what, 10 et seq.; Matter and Form of Thought, distinguished, 11; Logic properly conversant only with the Form of Thought, 11 et seq.; this shown by a consideration of the nature and conditions of the thing itself, 11-12; c. Laws of Thought as Thought, 12

et seq.; these the proper object of Logic, 12-13, see also 14-17; how distinguished from Empirical or Historical Psychology, 17; as the seience of the Laws of Thought as Thought, is the science of the necessary Forms of Thought, 17, 182-3; necessary form of thought implies four conditions -1. Determined by the nature of the thinking subject itself; 2. Original; 3. Universal; 4. A Law, 17-18; hence the object-matter of Logic explicitly enounced, in saying that Logic is the science of the Laws of Thought as Thought, or of the Formal Laws of Thought, or of the Laws of the Form of Thought, 18, see also 28-9; hence analogy between and Mathematics as both formal sciences, 31-2; general historical retrospect of views in regard to the object and domain of, 18 et seq.; merit of the author's view of, ib.; Aristotle's relation to views of the nature and domain of, 19; views of Greek Aristotelians and Latin schoolmen regarding, in general correct, 19-20; views of the object-matter of, in the Leibnitio-Wolfian and Kantian schools, 20; its nature most completely and generally misunderstood in Great Britain, ib.; in certain respects wholly misconceived by Bacon, 20-21; totally misapprehended by Locke, 21; general character of Whately's Elements of, ib.; his view of the object-matter and domain of, stated and criticized, 21-23, see Whately; II. Utility of, 24 et seq ; Utilities falsely attributed to, ib. et seq. ; supposed to be an instrument of scientific discovery, 24; hence called an Instrument, or Instrumental Philosophy, etc., 24-5; supposed to be the infallible corrector of our intellectual vices, 25; its designations on this supposition, ib., 348; in what respect an instrument of the sciences, 25-6, 32; not properly an art of discovery, 26, 32; in what sense to be styled the medicine of the mind, 26, 32; the laws of, the negative conditiou of truth, ib.; its utility that of a formal instrument, or mean by which knowledge, already acquired, may be methodized into the form accommodated to the conditions of the understanding, 33; useful as giving us, to a certain extent, dominion over our thoughts, 83-4; as supplying, in part, the criterion of Truth from Error, 34; as invigorating the understanding, ib. ; as affording a scientific nomenclature of the laws by which thinking is governed, and of the violation of these laws, 35-6 - III. Its Divisions, 37 et seq., see also 496-7; divisiou of into Natural and Artificial inept, 36; its Kinds, or Species, and Parts, ib. et seq. ; 1º, By relation to the mind, is Objective and Subjective, - Systematica and Habitualis, 37; both of

these to be proposed as the end of instruction in, ib.; 2°, By relation to objects, is Abstract or General, and Concrete or Special, 38, see also 497; these kinds of, how designated by the Greek Aristotelians, and by the Arabian and Latin schoolmen, 38; this division of remounts to Alexander the Aphrodisian, ib.; his illustration of the distinction, ib.; other illustrations of this division of, 39; General Logie is alone one, Special Logic is manifold, and part of the science in which it is applied, 39-40; the distinction of Logica docens and Logica utens mistaken by some modern authors, 42; 3°, By reference to the circumstances under which it can come into exercise by us, is divided into Pure and Modified, 42 et seq.; Pure Logic, what, 43; Modified Logie, what, ib.; nomenclature of Modified Logic, 43-4; this identical with the Applied Logic of Kant and others, 43; not properly an essential part of, 44-5; Conspectus of the present course of, 45; Formal and Material Logic contrasted, 497; division, varieties, and contents of, in detail. 501-6 .--IV. History of, postponed, 48 .- V. Bibliography of, ib.; this shortly noticed, 49-51; first great division of, - Pure Logic, considered, 52-375; Part I., Stoicheiology, 52-334; Section I., Noetic, or of the Fundamental Laws of Thought, 52-82; in what aspect Thought is viewed by, 52-3; the true relations of Logic overlooked on two sides, 76 et seq. - I. Erroneously held to afford the positive standard of truth, 76-2. Repudiated as affording no criterion of truth in relation to the absolute by some philosophers, 77; its Postulates, 81, see also 512-13; of these only one signalized, - To be allowed to state explicitly in language all that is implicitly contained in thought, SI, see also 510; this cannot be refused, 81; is implied in what Aristotle states of the doctrine of Syllogism, 82; Section II. - Of the Products of Thought, 83-334; i. Ennoematic,- Of Coucepts or Notions, 83-158, see Concepts, Doctrine of; ii. Apophantic, or the Doetrine of Judgments, 159-88, see Judgments, Doctrine of; on the supposition that Logic takes cognizance of the modality of objects, the science can have no existence, 182; iii. Doctrine of Reasonings, 189-334, see Reasonings, Doctrine of; Part II. Methodology, Section i. Method in general, Section ii. Logical Methodology, 335-375; Logical Methodology, what, 335-6. 340-41; consists of three parts, -1°, The Doctrine of Definition, 2°, Of Division, 3°, Of Pro-

bation, 341; historical notices of Logical

Methodology, ib.; 1°, Doctrine of Definition, 841-9, see Definition, Doctrine of; 2°, Of

Doctrine of Division, 350-59, see Division, Doctrine of; 3°, Doctrine of Probation, 360-75, see Probation, Doctrine of ; second great division of, - Modified Logic, 376-493; its object, - the conditions to which thought is subject, arising from the empirical circumstances, external and internal, under which man's faculty of thinking is manifested, 376; its problems three, 1°, What is Truth, and its contradictory opposite, Error? 2°, What are the causes of Error and the impediments to Truth, and what are the means of their Removal? 3°, What are the Subsidiaries by which Human Thought may be strengthened aud guided in the exercise of its functions ? ib.; the first two questions belong to the Stoicheiology of Modified Logic, the third to its Methodology, 377; Part I. Modified Stoicheiology, 376-440; Section i. Doctrine of Truth and Error, 376-96; Section ii. Error, its Causes and Remedies, 397-440, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of; Modified Methodology, Section i. Of the Means by which our Knowledge obtains the character of Perfection, - the Acquisition and Communication of Knowledge, 441-93, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.

- LOGICA Docens, equal to Abstract or General Logic, see Logic.
- LOGICA Habitualis, see Logic.
- LOGICA Systematica, see Logic.
- LOGICA Utens, equal to Concrete or Special Logic, see Logic.
- LOGICAL Division, see Division.
- LOGICAL Induction, see Induction.
- LOGICAL Laws, see Fundamental Laws of Thought.
- LOGICAL Methodology, see Logic.
- LOGICAL Perfection and Imperfection of Concepts, see Concepts, Quality of.
- LOGICAL Truth, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- LOGICAL Affinity or Continuity, Law of, alleged by Kant, but rejected by the Author, 149.
- LOGICAL Notation, that by circular diagrams as illustrating propositions, 180; the first employment of these improperly ascribed to Euler, *ib.*; to be found in Weise, *ib.*; that by parallel lines of different lengths (Lambert's), partially anticipated by Alstedius, *ib.*; circular diagrams illustrative of reasoning, 191; circular and linear, for Syllogisms in Extension and Comprehension, 214-15; objection to notation by circles, 214; diagrams, circular and linear, illustrative of the Sorites, 261; the Author's, for propositions, 529; circular for the same, *ib.*; Lambert's linear scheme of, criticized,

667-9; Maass's scheme of, criticized, 669-70; the Author's scheme of, — No. I. Linear, 670-3; Author's scheme of, — No. II. Unfigured and Figured syllogism, 673; No. III. Figured syllogism, — table of Syllogistic Moods, in each figure 12 affirmative and 24 negative, in all 36, 678-9.

- LOGICAL (and Dialectical) Reasoning, its meaning in Aristotle, 4.
- LOGICAL terms, chiefly borrowed from Mathematics, 196, 209-10.
- Λογικός λογική, how employed by Aristotle, 3, 4; by Alexander of Aphrodisias, 4; by the subsequent Aristotelians, ib.
- $\Lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$, its twofold meaning, thought and its expression, equivalent to the rake and oratio of the Latins, 4, 5; these meanings how contradistinguished by Aristotle, 5; by others, *ib.*; $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s$ $\pi \rho \sigma \phi \sigma \rho \mu \kappa \delta s$, and $\lambda \delta \gamma \sigma s \ell v \delta d \delta \epsilon \tau \sigma s$, probably originated with the Stoics, *ib*.
- LOVANIENSES, or Masters of Louvain, 289, 291, 294; quoted on quantification of predicate, 555; quoted on error regarding Induction, 596, 617.
- LUCIAN, 331, 333.
- LUCILIUS, 479.
- LUTHER, quoted on Knowledge and Belief, 383; quoted on reading, 487.
- MAASS, Professor, of Halle, his edition of the *Procepta* of Wyttenbach noticed and censured, 50; in his edition of the *Procepta* of Wyttenbach reversed the author's meaning on analysis and synthesis, 338.
- MAGENTINUS, 240, 514; variation of historians as to the age in which he lived, 590.
- MAGIRUS, 486.
- MAIMON, S., referred to on schemes of logical notation, 667.
- MAJOR proposition, see Premise.
- MAKO DE KEREK-GEDE, Paulus, 42.
- MALEBRANCHE, quoted on the influence of Self-Love, 407-8.
- MANILIUS, quoted, 389, 428; quoted on the nature of experience, 443-4.
- MARIOTTE, referred to for correct doctrine of the Aristotelic enthymeme, 278.
- MASTERS of Louvain, the, see Lovanienses.
- MASTERS Regent in the College of St. Laurence in Cologne, their doctrine of Induction, 596.
- MATERIAL Induction, see Induction.
- MATHEMATICAL Truth, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- MAURITIUS, refers to St. Augustin as authority for quotation as to Logic being the Ars artium and Scientia scientiarum, 25.
- MAZURE, quoted on the office of the natural sciences, 390.
- MEINERS, 392.

- MELANCHTHON, 261; his doctrine that there is a greater force in the negative particle none, not any, than in the affirmative all, 527; this doctrine shown to be erroneous, *ib.*, 621; quoted ou Figure of Syllogism, 641.
- MENAGE, 330. 332, 333; quoted on the benefit of Conversation as a mean of Knowledge, 485.
- MENDOZA, Hurtado de, quoted on proximate and remote matter of Syllogism, 202, 207; his ground of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the Second and Third Figures, 629.
- Mετάληψιs, of Aristotle, its probable meaning, 611.
- METAPHYSICS, the Author's Course of Lectures on, the first seven were delivered by the author as a General Introduction to the course of Logic proper, I; referred to, 88 et alibi.
- METAPHYSICAL Truth, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- METHOD, in general, what, 335-6; authors referred to on, 336; in reference to science, what, 336-7; considered in its integrity is twofold - Analytic and Synthetic, what, 336-7; the Analytic, what, 337; the Synthetic, what, ib.; confusion in regard to the application of the terms Analysis and Synthesis, 337-8; authors referred to ou this confusion, 338; these counter processes as applied to the counter wholes of comprehension and extension correspond with each other, 338; the Synthetic method has been called the Progressive, and the Analytic the Regressive, 339; these designations wholly arbitrary and of various application, 339-40; in general, Synthesis has been designated the Progressive, and Analysis the Regressive, process, 340.
- METHODOLOGY, see Logic, Method.

METZ, 456.

- MICRÆLIUS, 85.
- MINOR Proposition, see Premise.
- MIRANDULANUS, Jo. Picus, 142.
- MIRANDULANUS, J. F. Picus, 230.
- MNEMONIC Verses, those embracing the different kinds of propositions in reference to quantity and quality combined, "Asserit A," etc., 179, 287; anthor's English metrical version of these, 287; previous English metrical versions of the same, *ib.*, *see also* 589; for Conversion, 186-7; for Disjunctive Syllogisms, 231; for Hypothetical Syllogisms, 240; for Figure of Syllogism, 282.
- MODIFIED Logic, see Logic.
- MOLINÆUS, quoted on meaning of the Lex Contradictoriarum, 65, 230, 243, 336, 338.
- MONHODDO, Lord, quoted on the distinction of potential and actual in relation to notions, 145-6; his error on this point, 146.
- MONTAIGNE, quoted on illustration of Pre-

cipitancy, 402-3; quoted on precipitate dogmatism and skeptleism as phases of the same disposition, 403.

- MOOD of Syllogism, doctrine of, according to logicians, 286 et seq.; name for the arrangement of the three propositions of a syllogism, with designation of quantity and quality of each, 286; the Greek logicians, looking merely to the two premises in combination, called these Syzygies, ib.; in all sixty-four moods, 287-8; but only eleven valid, 288; of the six in each figure, in all twenty-four, ouly niueteen useful, ib.; these, according to doctrine of author, may be still further simplified, ib.; the doctrine of, explicated, 287 et seq. ; the possible combinations of premises tested as to their validity by the general laws of the Categorical Syllogism, 287-8; these laws give eight possible moods of a legitimate syllogism, 288; these eight moods being further tested by the special rules of the First Figure, leave only four legitimate moods in that figure - viz., Barbara, Celarent, Darii, Ferio, 288-9; examples with diagrams of the legitimate moods of the First Figure, 290-91; in the Second Figure there are four legitimate moods - viz., Cesare, Camestres, Festino, Baroco, 291-3; examples of these with diagrams, 292-3; in the Third Figure there are six legitimate moods-viz., Darapti, Felapton, Disamis, Datisi, Bocardo, Ferison, 294-5; examples of these with diagrams, 295-8; some ancient logicians made two moods of Darapti, 295-6; in the Fourth Figure there are five legitimate moodsviz., Bramantip, Camenes, Dimaris, Fesapo, Fresison, 299-300; examples of these with diagrams, 300-1; what is true of mood in Extension holds also of it in Comprehension, 302; Latin and Greek mnemonic verses for moods - historical notice of, 307-8; the Latin due to Petrus Ilispanus, 308; the Greek less ingenious than the Latin, and, according to author's latest view, probably copied from the latter, ib.; reduction of the moods of the Second, Third, and Fourth Figures to those of the First, 309-18; direct and indirect moods, their principle, 658-9; direct and indirect moods in First and Fourth Figures, 658; indirect moods of logicians of Second and Third Figures, 663-4; these impossible, 664; new moods, 665-7; Author's table of moods, 678-9.
- MORE, most, etc., the predesignations, variously referred to universal, particular, or to neither quantity, 586; authors referred to on, *ib.*; Corvinus, *ib.*
- Müller, Johann von, his practice in reading, 492.

704

MURETUS, referred to on a spurious passage ORGANON, name bestowed on the collection of Aristotle's Rhetoric, 6. we possess of the logical treatises of Aristotle, 24; but not by Aristotle himself, ib.; MURMELLIUS, mnemonic verses of, comprising the Ten Categories, 139; his mnemonic as thus applied, contributed to the erroneous supposition that Logic is an instrument verses, quoted of objects not included under the Ten Categories, 140. of discovery. ib. MUTATIO ELENCHI, see Probation. OVID, quoted, 482. PACHYMERES, or Pachymerius, Georgius, NECESSITAS Consequentiæ et Necessitas Con-278; quoted on Induction, 593. sequentis, authors referred to on distinction PACIUS, Julius, 37, 196, 243, 268; gave the of, 599. NEGATION, controversy regarding the place Regressive Comprehensive Sorites before of, 178; negative terms, how designated by Goclenius, 273; referred to, oh Figure, 285; Aristotle, Boethius, the Schoolmen, ib.; quoted on error of phrase petitio principii, particula infinitans, what, ib.; propositiones 369. PARALOGISM, see Fallacies. infinitæ, what, ib. NEW Analytic of Logical Forms, proposed PART, see Whole. Essay by the author on, 509; extract from PARTICULAR Propositions, 171, see Judg-Prospectus of, 509-12. ments, Propositions. NOETIC, see Logic. PARTITION, see Division. NOLDIUS, 185; referred to, on History of PASCAL, quoted on the dignity of man as Fourth Figure, 303; his reduction of Baconsisting in thought, 34; quoted on the power of custom, 392. roco, 314-17; called the mood Bocardo PASSION, as a source of Error, see Error, Docamroe. Causes of. NOMENCLATURE, scientific, importance of, 35. PAUL, St., quoted, 399. NOMINAL Definition, see Definition. $\Pi \epsilon \rho_{10} \chi \dot{\eta}$, not used by Aristotle, but the verb $\pi \epsilon \rho i \epsilon \chi \epsilon i \nu$, in relation to notions, 100. NON-CONTRADICTION, principle of, see Con-PERIPATETICS, their nomenclature of the tradiction. parts of the Hypothetical Syllogism, 241. Non ens logicum, what, 55. NOTION, see Concept. PERSIUS, quoted on Chrysippus, as inventor NUNNESIUS, 336, 451. of the Sophism Sorites, 268; quoted, 272, 479. PETERSEN, referred to on history of Catego-OBJECTIVE Logic, see Logic. OBSERVATION, see Knowledge, Doctrine of ries in antiquity, 142. PETITIO Principii, what, 369; error of the the Acquisition and Perfecting of. phrase, ib., see Probation. OCCAM, William, his use of Conceptus, 30. OLBERS, his speculation founded on the PETRUS A CORNIBUS, satirized by Buchanan, general relations of distance between the Beza, and Rabelais, 280. planets, 367. PHILO, 5. OPINION, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of. PHILOPONUS, or Grammaticus, Joannes, 39; OPPOSITION, or Incompossibility, of Judgon the principle of Contradiction, 63, 196, ments or Propositions, what, 184; either of 207, 240, 241, 278, 296, 336; referred to on Contradiction or of Contrariety, ib.; Subanalysis of Geometry, 339; (or Ammonius), his definition of conversion, 514; quoted, contrary opposition, what, ib.; not a real opposition, ib. ; this described by Aristotle on order of Premises, 624-5; quoted on as an opposition in language, not in real-Figure of Syllogism, 637-9. PHILOSOPHICAL or Logical Presumption, ity, ib.; distinction between Indefinitude and Semi-definitude or Definite indefiniprinciple of, 450; the foundation of Inductude, 533; the author's doctrine of, evolved tion and Analogy, ib. out of this distinction, ib.; Subalternation PHILOSOPHY of Common Sense, the, what, and Subcontrariety as forms of, rejected, 383; well stated by Aristotle, ib. ib.; Inconsistency introduced, ib.; Contra-PHOCYLIDES, Greek epigram by, 280. dictory and Contrary opposition among PICCARTUS, 196. propositions of different quality, what, 533-4;

Inconsistency among propositions of the

same quality, 533; subdivisions of Contra-

diction, Contrariety, and Inconsistency,

533-4; differences in Compossibility of the

two schemes of Indefinite and Definite Par-

ticularity, 534; tabular scheme of, 535.

- PLATINA, referred to on death of Petrus Hispanus, 308.
- PLATNER, Ernst, referred to, on Logic being a formal instrument of the sciences, 26, 249, 456; quoted on Figure of Syllogism, 646-7.
- PLATO, his use of the term *Dialectic*, 5. 6; (and the Platonists) considered Dialectic (i. e.,

Logic and Metaphysics) as a science, 7; frequently employed the laws of Excluded Middle and of Contradiction, 62-6; his (alleged) Second Alcibiades spurious, 65; recognized the law of Reason and Consequent or Sufficient Reason, 66; employed, in reference to this principle, the ambiguous term alria, 66, 340; guilty of the vice of circulus in demonstrando, in his proof of the immortality of the sonl, 372; quoted to the effect that man is naturally determined to communication, 479.

- PLATO, Pseudo, quoted on teaching as a mean of self-improvement, 482.
- PLATONISTS, the, referred to on knowledge and belief, 384.
- Πλάτσς, its meaning in relation to concepts, 100.
- PLAUTUS, quoted on the superiority of immediate to mediate testimony, 459.
- PLINY, the younger, quoted on the greater tendency of hearing to rouse the attention, 484; his maxim regarding quantity to be read, 487.
- PLOTINUS. his employment of the term category, 140; referred to on Categories, 142; referred to on analysis of Geometry, 339.
- PLOUCQUET, Godfrey, 43; referred to on Postulate of Logic, 512; quoted on Conversion, 528; referred to on quantification of predicate, 558; his general cauon of Syllogism, 558.
- PLUTARCH, 5, 331; cited on the benefits of opposition, 481.
- PONCIUS, referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20.
- POPE, Alexander, has borrowed from Sergeant, 630.
- PORPHYRY, 101, 104; quoted on the relation between the Breadth and Depth of notions, 104, 139; made two moods of Darapti, 296.
- PORSON, Richard, his imitation of an epigram of Phocydides as applied to Hermann, 280
- PORT Royal Logic, see L'Art de Penser.
- POSTULATES Of Logic, see Logic.

POSTULATES, what, 188.

PRÆDICATUM prædicati est etiam prædicatum subjecti, the canon of Deductive Categorical Syllogisms in Comprehension, 214; how otherwise expressed, ib.

PRECIPITANCY, see Error, Causes of.

- PREDESIGNATE and Preindesignate Propositions, what, 172, see Judgmeuts, Propositions.
- PREDICATE, of a judgment, what, 161; in Aristotle the predicate includes the copula, ib.; called the *term* or *extreme* of a proposition, ib.: Quantification of, date of its discovery by author, 510; its results specified, 510-11, 524-7; considered in detail, 516-20; estab-

lished, 1°, That the predicate is as extensive as the subject, 516-17; 2°, That ordinary lauguage quantifies the predicate so often as this determination is of importance, 517; this doue either directly, or by Limitation or Exception, 517-19; 3°, The doctrine of the non-quantification of, only an example of the passive sequacity of the logicians, 519; 4°, The non-quantification of, given up by logicians themselves, in certain cases, 519-20; logicians (but not Aristotle) asserted that in affirmative propositions in which subject and predicate are quantified to their full extent, the predicate is distributed in virtue of its matter, 526; logicians wrong in their doctrine that in negative propositions the predicate is always distributed, ib.; objections to the doctrine of the quantification of, considered, 539 et seq ; I. General, - objections founded on the distinction of Formal and Material considered, 539-43; II. Special, - 1°, That it is false, 543-5; 2°, Useless, 545-6; historical notices regarding quantification of, 546-559; Aristotle, 546-9; Alexander Aphrodisiensis, 549; Ammonius Ilermiæ, 546, 549-51; Boethius, 551-3; Averroes, 553; Albertus Magnus, 553-4; Levi Ben Gerson, 554-5; Masters of Louvain, 555; Titius and Ridiger, ib.; Godfrey Ploucquet, 558; Ulrich, 559; authors referred to on the doctrine that the extension of predicate is always reduced to extension of subject, 559; authors referred to on the doctrine that predicate has quantity as well as subject, ib.; references to Aristotle for use of distributed predicate, ib.

PREJUDICE, authors referred to on, 394, see

- PRELECTION, Author's Method of, 2; same as that prevalent in Germany and Holland, *ib.*
- PREMISE, Premises, of Syllogism, what, 198, 199, 207; Major and Minor Premise or Proposition, *ib.*; objections to these terms as denominations of the propositions of a syllogism, 200; their designations, *ib.*; best names for are Sumption and Subsumption, 199-201; order of 624; Philoponus quoted on, 624-5; instances and authorities for the enouncement of syllogism with the minor premise stated first, 625-6.

PRESCISION, what, 88.

PRESENTATIVE Faculty, as a source of Error, see Error, Causes of.

PREVOST, 456.

- PRIMARY Laws of Thought, see Fundamental Laws of Thought.
- PRIMUM Cognitum, controversy regarding, 156.
- PRINCIPIUM Contradicentium, see Lex Contradictoriarum.

PROBATION, Doctrine of, 360-75; its character and elements, 360; these explicated, 361 et seq.; terms employed for Probation, -Argumentation, Argument, Demonstration, Leading of Proof, 361; in general, what, ib.; how distinguished from Syllogism, ib.; whereon depends the logical value of, 861-2; ground of Proof either absolute or relative, 362; distinctions of propositions in respect of the general form of a system of, 364-5: divisions of Probations, 365; the differences of probations depend partly on their matter and partly on their form, ib.; (1) In respect of their Matter, they are Pure and Empirical, 364-6; this distinction of Probations not taken into account by Logic, 367; (2) In respect of their Form this is Internal and External, 365-6; Probations are, in respect of Internal Form, a. Direct and Indirect, 366-7; principle of indirect proof, 367-8; differences of Indirect or Apagogical Probations, 368; b. Deductive and Inductive, 365-8; c. Synthetic and Analytic, 365, 369; in respect of External form, they are, 1°, Simple and Composite, 2°, Perfect and Imperfect, 3°, Regular and Irregular, 365-6; (3) In respect of their Degree of Cogency, they are, 1°, Apodeictic or Demonstrative and Probable, 366: 2°, Universally and Particularly Valid, ib. ; the formal legitimacy of, determined according to the logicians by five rules, 369-70; these rules reduced to two, 370; the five rules explicated, 370 et seq. ; first rule, Nothing is to be begged, borrowed, or stolen, 369-71; its violation affords the Petitio Principii, 369; limitation under which this rule is to be understood, 371; second rule, That no proposition is to be employed as a principle of proof, the truth of which is only to be evinced as a consequence of the proposition which it is employed to prove, 369-72; its violation affords the vice of $\forall \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho o \nu$ $\pi\rho \delta \tau \epsilon \rho \sigma \nu$, 369; third rule, That no circular probation is to be made, 369-72; its violation affords the vice of Circulus in demonstrando, 369; regressive and progressive proofs not to be confounded with the tautological circle, 373; fourth rule, That no leap, no hiatus must be made, 370-73; its violation affords the vice of Saltus in demonstrando, 870, 373; fifth rule, The scope of the probation is not to be changed, 370-4; this rule admits of three degrees, 374; (1) Mutatio Elenchi, 374; (2) Proving too little, ib.; (3) Proving too much, 375.

PROBLEM, the, what, 198.

PROBLEMS, what, 188.

- PROCLUS, referred to on Knowledge and Belief, 384.
- PROGRESSIVE Method, see Method.

PROOF, see Probation.

- PROPORTION, Analogy or Identity, law of, as a fundamental rule of syllogisms, 575; made by some logicians the one supreme canon of syllogism, *ib.*; logicians by whom this law is confounded, or made coördinate with the Dictum de Omni, *ib.*; names given by logicians to, *ib.*; erroneously supposed to be employed by Aristotle as a fundamental rule of syllogism, 576; terms under which enounced, 575-8; Syrbius thought that this law, unless limited, is false, 577, see Syllogism.
- PROPOSITIO Conditionalis nihil ponit in esse, the rule, its origin, 169.
- PROPOSITION, The, name for major premise, 200; but ambiguous, 200-I.
- PROPOSITION, what, 159; its synonyms, 159-60; called by Aristotle an interval, διάστημα, 161; how divided by the logicians, in respect of quantity, 171; propositions distinguished by the author into Predesignate (Definite), and Preindesignate (Indefinite), according as their quantity is or is not marked out by a verbal sign, 172, see Judgments; distinctions of, in respect of the general form of a system of proof, 362-3, see also 187 et seq.; terms of, only terms as terms of a relation, 515; these only compared as quantities, ib.; of no consequence logically whether subject or predicate of be placed first, 516, 527; in common language predicate often placed first, 516; simply an equation of two notions in respect of their extension, 525, 526-7, 528-9; new propositional forms resulting from the doctrine of a quantified predicate, 529 et seq., see also 537; these, with the old, in all eight, 529-30, 534-6; their literal symbols, 529-30; their notation, ib. ; quantity of, 530 et seq. ; Indefinite propositions (of the logicians), better Indesignate or Preindesignate, ib.; various opinions as to their classification, ib.; authors referred to on this subject, 530-31; prevalent uncertainty in regard to Particularity and its signs, 531; two meanings of some, either Semi-definite, and equivalent to some only, or Indefinite, and equivalent to some at least, ib.; how these may be symbolized, 532; Aristotle and logicians recognized only the latter of these meanings, 531-2; reasons of this, 532-3; Definitude or Non-particularity of three kinds, 531-2; how these forms may be symbolized, ib.; effect of the definite article and its absence in different languages in reducing the definite to the indefinite, 531; to what the Indefinites of Aristotle correspond, 532; logicians who have marked the quantities by definite and indefinite, 532; the three possible relations of the terms of, I. Toto-total

coïnclusion, 2. Toto-total coëxclusion, 3. Incomplete coinclusion, involving Incomplete coexclusion, 536; the whole order of best and worst quantification of the terms of, throughout the two qualities of Affirmation and Negation, 537-39, see Judgments, Doctrine of.

- PROPOSITIONES tertii adjacentis, or tertii adjeeti, what, 162; how designated by the Greeks after Aristotle, 161-2; secundi adjacentis, what, 162.
- PROPOSITIONES Exponibiles, the doctrine of, as given by logicians, 518-19, see Exclusive and Exceptive Particles.
- Πρόσληψις, of Theophrastus, its probable meaning, 611.
- Πρότασις, its use by Aristotle, 159.
- PROTAGORAS and Eulthlus, the case of, quoted, 334.
- PROVERBS, The Book of, cited, 480.
- PSELLUS, Michael, the Synopsis of the Organon attributed to, in all probability a translation from Hispanus, 308.
- Psychology, Empirical or Historical, how distinguished from Logic, 17, 22.
- PURCHOT, referred to on Categories, 142; mnemonic verse for Disjunctive Syllogism, from, 231; his formula for the Figure of Syllogism (in Extension), 252; referred to on the predesignation of the predicate by all collectively, 559.
- PURE and Applied, as usually employed in opposition in German philosophy, not properly relative and correlative to each other, 44; pure and mized, applied and unapplied, properly correlative, ib.
- PURE and Modal Propositions, 180-81, see Judgments.

PURE Logic, see Logic.

- QUALITIES, or Modes, what, 55; their synonyms, 55.
- QUINTILIAN, 260; bis employment of the term *Enthymeme*, 278, 332; his maxim regarding quantity to be read, 487.

RABELAIS, 280.

- RAMISTS, maintain logic to be an art, 7.
- RAMUS, referred to on genus of Logic, 7, 142; his illustration of the distinction between Abstract or General, and Concrete or Special Logic, 39; referred to on Method in Logic, 341; referred to on postulate of Logic, 512; quoted on Induction of Aristotle, 593-4.
- RAPIN, referred to on canon of syllogism, 560.
- READING, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- REAL Definition, see Definition.
- REAL Induction, see Induction.

REAL Truth, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of. REASON and Consequent, Law of, see Sufficient Reason.

- REASONING, see Reasonings, Doctrine of, Syllogism.
- REASONINGS, Doctrine of, 189-334; the act of Reasoning, what, 189-90; this illustrated by an example, 190; the example given is a reasoning in the whole of Extension, and may be represented by three circles, 191; the reasoning of Extension may be exhibited in Comprehension, 191-3; the copula in extension and comprehension of a counter meaning, 193; definition of the process of Reasoning with the principal denominations of process and product, 193-4; these explicated and illustrated, 194 et seq.; 1. The Act of Reasoning, - a reasoning is one organic whole, ib.; errors of logicians on this point, 195; utility of the process of reasoning, ib.; 2. Terms by which the process of reasoning is denominated, - Reasoning, Ratiocination, Discourse, Argumentation, Argument, Inference, To conclude, Conclusion, To syllogize, Collectio, Colligere, 195-7; general conditions of Reasoning or Syllogism, 197, see Syllogism; reasoning may proceed in the quantity of Extension, and in that of Comprehension, 207 et seq.; reasonings in these opposite quantities explicitly compared and contrasted, 209 et seq.; logicians have overlooked reasoning in Comprehension, and have thus given narrow and erroneous definitions of the major, middle, and minor terms, 209-10, see also 153 et seg. ; difficulty in regard to the doctrine that all reasoning is either from the whole to the part, or from the parts to the whole, stated and obviated, 252, see Inference, Syllogism.
- RECIPROCATING Propositions, common doctrine of logicians that predicate in these quantified vi materia, 526, 542, 544; this incorrect, 544; authors referred to who hold that they may be simply converted, 528; Pacius, Alexander Aphrodisiensis referred to on, ib.; Fonseca cited against their quantification vi materia, 543.
- REDI, his anecdotes of two Peripatetics, 407. REDUCTION of Syllogisms, the whole of the rules given by logicians for, unphilosophical, 308; these superseded, 309-18; reductio ad impossibile applied to Baroce and Bocardo, but awkward and perplexing, 312, 314. REGRESSIVE Method, see Method.
- REID quoted on Conception, 78-80; his mistakes regarding, 80, 81; not, however, open to Dr. Gleig's censure on this point, 81.
- REIMARUS, H. S., anecdotes cited from, of the influence of passion on opinion, 407; quoted on canons of Syllogism, 565.

REINHOLD, 370.

REMINISCENCE, as a source of Error, see Error, Causes of.

REPRESENTATION (representatio), the term, sense in which it has been used on the Continent since the time of Leibnitz, 90; want in English of a term to express what is thus (improperly) denoted by representation, ib.; sense in which used by the author, ib.

- REPUGNANCE, of Notions, equivalent to Contradictory Opposition, 152.
- **REUSCH**, or Reuschius, 101, 243, 259, 311; his reduction of Baroco, 314, 315, 317, 343, 451, 456; quoted on canons of Syllogism, 561.
- RHETORIC to Alexander, author of, his employment of the term enthymeme, 278.

RICHTER, Heinrich, referred to, as to Logic not being properly an art of Discovery, 26; quoted on the dominion which Logic gives us over our thoughts, 33-4, 45, 183, 342, 360.

RIDIGER, 186; noticed the error of those who make Sorites only of comprehensive whole, 270; erroneously attributed introduction of Fourth Figure to Galen and Scotus, 303; quoted and criticized on quantification of predicate, 555-8; syllogistic forms propounded by, 557-8.

ROMAGNOSI, 51.

RÖSLING, 56.

- ROUSSEAU, cited on the difficulty as to the origin of Language, 433.
- RUIZ. Didacus, referred to, on history of distinction of Sensus Compositi et Divisi, 326, 378, 337.
- SALTUS in demonstrando, what, 370-3; only a special case of the Petitio Principii, 373, see Probation.
- SANDERSON, Bishop, quoted on objects not included under the ten categories, 140; referred to on names of propositions in conversion, 185, 227; quoted on importance of teaching as a meau of self-improvement, 4×3; his practice in reading, 487.
- SAUTER, 42; quoted on canons of Syllogism, 566.
- SAVONAROLA, quoted on canon of Syllogism, 564.
- SCALIGER, J. C., quoted on the benefits of discussion, 481.
- SCHEIBLER, 184, 210, 216; quoted on what constitutes a Disjunctive Reasoning, 232, 240; referred to on Aristotle and Plato's views of Method, 340; referred to on Method in Logic, 341, 342, 458; quoted on Propositiones Exponibiles, 518-19; referred to on opposition of Subalternation and of Subcontrariety, 532.

SCHEIDLER, 425, 486, 490, 492, 493.

SCHELLING, repudiated the principles of Con-

tradiction and Excluded Middle in relation to the Absolute, 64; respect in which his treatment of the principle of Contradiction differed from that of Hegel, *ib.*; placed the law of Identity as the primary principle of all knowledge, 66.

SCHMÖLDERS, 451, 454.

- SCHOLIA, what, 188.
- SCHOLIAST on Hermogenes, his doctrine of the Enthymeme, 279, 334.

SCHOTTUS, Andreas, 334.

- SCHRAMM, made the Inductive Syllogism deductive, 229.
- SCHULER, referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20.
- SCHULZE, G. E., 56, 57, 59, 60, 88, 104, 162, 174, 179, 183, 196, 215, 219.
- SCHWEIGHÆUSER, 260; referred to on true reading of Epictetus, 332.
- SCIENCE, definition of, 335-6; its perfection of two kinds - Formal and Material, 337; distinguished as Real and Formal, 380; under the Real Sciences are included the Mental and Material, 380-81; divided into two great branches, according as it is conversant, 1°, About objects known, or, 2°, About the manner of knowing them, 495-6; these branches called respectively Direct Science or Science Simply, and Reflex Science, the Science of Science, the Method of Science, 495; the latter falls into two great branches as it is conversant, 1°, About the laws under which the human mind can know, or, 2°, The laws under which what is proposed by the human mind to know, can be known, 496; the former is Logic properly so called, the latter not named, ib.; but in its parts, called Heuretic, Architectonic, ib. ; these sciences, respectively developed by Aristotle, and by Bacon, ib. ; not inconsistent, but correlative and dependent, ib.
- SCOTUS, John Duns, referred to as to genus of Logic, 7; referred to for scholastic theories on the object-matter of Logic, 20; (or St. Augustin) quoted as to Logic being the Ars artium and Scientia scientiarum, 25, 42, 227, 291; alleged as defending the Fourth Figure, 303; this erroneous, *ib.;* held Ferison, Bocardo, and Felapton as useless, because concluding indirectly, 318; his ground of the discrimination of major and minor terms in the Second and Third Figures, 629.

SECOND Figure, see Figure.

SEQUY, quoted on canons of Syllogism, 567. SELF-LOVE, see Error, Causes of.

SENECA, example of Sorites from, 272, 327; quoted on Division, 357; quoted on evil influence of precipitancy, 402; quoted on the hope of dying old, as an illustration of

708

precipitate judgment, 402; quoted on sloth as a source of error, 404, 480; quoted on teaching as a mean of self-improvement in knowledge, 482; his maxim regarding the quantity to be read, 487.

SERGEANT, John, notice of, 630; his doctrine of the Second and Third Figures, 630-31.

SEXTUS EMPIRICUS, 5, 198, 369.

- 'S GRAVESANDE, cited on influence of Association, 424.
- SIGWART, referred to on what truly constitutes a Disjunctive Reasoning, 232, 334, 344, 375, 390.
- SIMPLICIUS, 5; referred to on genus of Logic, 7, 65.

SLOTH, see Error, Causes of.

- SMIGLECIUS, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20, 42.
- SMITH, Adam, quoted on influence of Association, 422-3.

SNELL, 469, 475.

SOCIETY, influence of, as a source of Error, see Error, Causes of.

SOCRATES, his saying regarding the extent of his knowledge, 393-4.

SOLOMON, 487.

SOPATER APAMEENSIS, 211.

SOPHISM, see Fallacies.

SORITES, or Chain Syllogism, 257-74; the second variety of Complex Syllogism, 260; what, ib.; its formulæ in Comprehensiou and Extension, ib.; Progressive and Regressive, 260-1; authors on, in general, referred to, 261: diagrams, circular and linear, illustrative of, ib.; concrete examples of, 261-3; the formal inference equally necessary in, as in simple syllogism, 263; resolvable into simple syllogisms, ib.; this illustrated, 263-4; equally natural as simple syllogism, 264; may be either Categorical or Hypothetical, ib.; laws of these forms of, 264-5; formula of Hypothetical Sorites, 265; resolution of Hypothetical Sorites, progressive and regressive, into simple syllogisms, 265-6; a Disjunctive Sorites possible after a sort, 266-7; but complex and unserviceable, 267; hlstorical notice of the logical doctrine of, ib. et seq. ; neither name nor doctrine found iu Aristotle, ib.; but the principle of given in Aristotle's first antipredicamental rule, 268; the term sorites never applied by any ancient writer to designate a certain form of reasoning, ib.; with them denoted a particular kind of sophism, ib.; first used in its present acceptation by Laurentius Valla, 269; the process of, described in the Dialectic of George of Trebisond, the contemporary of Valla, ib.; the doctrine of logicians regarding, illustrates their one-sided view of the nature of reasoning in general, ib.;

the Sorites of extension overlooked, and that of comprehension, the progressive, alone contemplated by logicians, 270; difference between the two forms of, ib. ; probable reason why logicians overlooked, in the case of Sorites, the reasoning in extension, 271-2; examples of, iu comprehension and extension, 272-3; the Goclenian, or Regressive Comprehensive Sorites, 273; names given to, 273-4; before Valla, called vaguely complex syllogism, 274; as a polysyllogism, comparatively simple, ib.; may be drawm in any figure, 320; observations on, 619; correction and amplification of the common doctrine of, 619-21; diagrams illustrative of, 620-21.

- SOUTTES, the sophism, its derivation and meaning, 203; its uature, *ib.;* said to have been invented by the Stoic Chrysippus, *ib.;* by Eubulides, *ib.;* called φαλακρδs, calvus, *ib.;* called acervalis by Cieero, *ib.;* its character, 332; its various designations, *ib.;* well defined by Ulpian, *ib.;* exemplified, 332-3.
- SPACE, or Extension, as absolutely bounded, unthinkable, 73; as unlimited, inconceivable, because coutradictory, *ib.*; as an absolute minimum, or as infinitely divided, inconceivable, 74.

SPECIAL Logic, see Logic.

SPECIAL or Concrete Logic, see Logic.

SPECIES, see Genus.

- SPECULATION as a means of knowledge, see Knowledge, Doctrine of the Acquisition and Perfecting of.
- STATTLER, 42; quoted on canons of syllogism, 566.
- STEPHANUS, H., 85; his imitation of an epigram of Phocylides, 280.
- STEWART, Dugald, quoted on the liability of notions to vagueness and ambiguity, 123-5; refers to Hume and Campbell, ib.; his unfavorable strictures on the alleged modern origin of certain technical logical language, groundless, 146, 197, 418; quoted on influence of association, 421-3, 430, 431.
- STOICHEIOLOGY, or Doctrine of Elements, see Logic.
- STOICS, viewed Logic as a science, 7; their nomenclature of the parts of the Hypothetical Syllogism, 241; the excogitation of the sophism *Ignava Ratio* attributed to, 330; but this doubtful, 331.

STRABO, 280.

- STRIGELIUS, 526.
- SUAREZ, on the principle of Contradiction, 63, 66; referred to on classification of the categories, 141.
- SUBJECT, of a Judgment or Proposition, what, 161; called *term* or *extreme*, *ib.*, *see* Judgments, Proposition.

SUBJECTIVE Logic, see Logic.

- SUBSIDIARIES or Aids of thinking, Doctrine of, see Logic.
- SUBORDINATION of Concepts, see Concepts, Relations of.
- SUFFICIENT Reason, or Reason and Consequent, principle of, a fundamental law of thought, 57 (but see 61); what and how expressed, 60; relations between Reason and Consequent, 60-1; logical significance of, 61; discriminated from the principle of Cause and Effect, ib.; logical and metaphysical reason and consequent, ib.; these both included under the terms condition and conditioned, ib.; this law should be excluded from Logic, ib.; recognized by Plato, 66; by Aristotle, ib.; by both under the ambiguous term airia, airiov (cause), ib.; but the principle of Knowledge discriminated by Aristotle from the principle of Production. 66-7; comprehended by Cicero, and by the schoolmen, under the formula nihil sine causa, 67; but under that discriminated, ib.; in modern times attention called to it by Leibnitz, ib.; but not adequately discriminated by him, ib.; controversy between Leibnitz and Dr. Samuel Clarke on this law, among other points, ib.; assumed by Leibnitz as the foundation of Natural Philosophy, ib.; the form of the Hypothetical Syllogism determined by, 239; how enounced by Wolf, 67; discussion regarding the Leibnitian principle of, 68; law of, regulates, in conjunction with that of excluded middle, Il ypothetico-disjunctive syllogisms, 204-5; only another expression of Aristotle's law, that the whole is necessarily conceived as prior to the part, 253-4; authors referred to on, 509; that can be deduced from law of Contradiction, ib. ; that cannot be so deduced, ib., see Fundamental Laws of Thought.

SUIDAS, 334.

SUMPTION and Subsumption, best names for the premises of a syllogism, 199; their employment vindicated, 199-200; not constituted by the mere order of enunciation, 218; what truly constitutes these, 219.

SUTER, quoted on canon of Syllogism, 567.

SYLLOGISM, original meaning of the term, 196; borrowed from Mathematics, *ib.*; Eugenios, Blemmidas, and Zabarella quoted on import of, 197, 198, et seq.; general conditions of, 197; the parts of which composed, and their denominations, 197-8; these explicated, 198, et seq.; Premises, major and minor, 199; Sumption, Subsumption, Conclusion, best names for the three propositions of, *ib.*; Lemma, Hypolemma, *ib.*; Assumption, 200; objections to the denominations of the propositions of, in

ordinary use, ib.; the use of Sumption and Subsumption sanctioned by precedent, 201; Divisions of, ib. et seq.; first division of Syllogisms, comprehending all the others, into Extensive and Comprehensive, 201-2: matter and form of, 202-3; proximate and remote matter of, 202; the form affords the next grand distinction of, 203; the form of, twofold-Internal and External, ib.; I. According to Internal or Essential Form, Syllogisms are divided into four classes, as regulated by the laws - 1°, Of Identity and Contradiction, 2°, Of Excluded Middle, 3°, Of Reason and Consequent, and, 4°, Of Excluded Middle and of Reason and Consequent, viz., Categorical, Disjunctive, Hypothetical, and Hypothetico-di-junctive, or Dilemmatic, 205-6 (but see 598-600, and Inference); these four classes comprised in two genera, Simple and Conditional, 206, see Categorical, Hypothetical, Disjunctive and Hypothetico-disjunctive Syllogism; Categorical Syllogism, the one class under the genus Simple Syllogism, 206; its general nature, 206-7; may proceed in the quantity of Extension, and in that of Comprehension, 207-8; examples of the Extensive, and of the Intensive or Comprehensive Categorical Syllogism, 208; these reasonings or syllogisms explicitly compared and contrasted, 209 et seq.; logicians looking only to the reasoning in Extension have given narrow and erroneous definitions of the Major, Middle, and Minor terms, 209-10; Aristotle's definition of these will apply to both quantities, 210-11, see also 154-5, see Terms of Syllogism; most convenient mode of stating a syllogism in an abstract form by the letters S, P, M, 211-12 (but see 674, 676, 678); divided into special classes according to the application of the laws of Identity and Contradiction, under the relation of whole and part, 212 et seq.; this relation may be regarded in two points of view, and thus affords two classes of Reasonings, viz., Deductive and Inductive, 212-13; I. Deductive Categorical Syllogism, character of the process in, 213 et seq. ; its canons, in Intension and in Extension, 213-14; connection of the propositions and terms of, illustrated by sensible symbols, 214-15; proximate rules of, 1. Extensive -Three Rules, 215; first rule of, illustrated, 216-17; second rule of, illustrated, 217-19; misconception in regard to definition of Sumption in second rule obviated, 218-19; third rule, 219-20; 2. Intensive, three rules, 222 et sea. ; first rule illustrated, 223; second rule illustrated, 223-4; grounds of the rules regarding Sumption and Subsumption in Extensive and Comprehensive Syllogisms,

224; third rule illustrated, 224-5; II. Inductive Categorical Syllogism, what, 225; views of logicians regarding the nature of this reasoning erroneous, 225 et seq., see Induction ; canons of the Deductive and Inductive Syllogisms equally formal, 227; these reasonings illustrated, 227-8; objection obviated, 228; formulæ for Inductive Syllogisms in Comprehension and Extension, 228-9; Whately and others erroncously make the inductive syllogism deductive, 229; doctrine of the older logicians different, and correct as far as it goes, 229-30; though the Categorical Syllogism is specially regulated by the laws of Identity and Contradiction, still the other logical laws also operative in, 251; Divisions of according - II. To External Form, 257-320; A. Complex, - Epicheirema, and Sorites, 257-74; relation of syllogisms to each other, 258; classes and designations of related syllogisms, ib.; Monosyllogism, what, ib.; Polysyllogism, what, ib.; this Analytic and Synthetic, ib.; Prosyllogism, ib.; Episyllogism, ib, see Epicheirema, Sorites; probable reason why logicians, in the case of simple syllogisms, overlooked the reasoning of Comprehension, 270-71; divisions of, according to External Form, B. Defective, - Enthymeme, 275-81, see Enthymeme; C. Regular and Irregular, 281-320, see Figure, Mood, Reduction of Syllogisms; irregular by relation, 1º, To the transposed order of its Propositions; 2°, Of its Terms; 3°, Of both its Propositions and Terms, 281-2; doctrine of logicians regarding the regularity and irregularity of, in respect of the order of its propositions, 281; this one-sided and erroneous, 282; in respect of its lerms, a syllogism is regular or irregular, according to the place which the Middle Term holds in the premises, ib.; regular and irregular order of, in Comprehension and Extension. 282; the relative position of the Middle Term in a syllogism constitutes its Figure, ib.; the Four Figures of, ib.; mnemonic verses for Figures, ib., see Figure of Syllogism; regularity and irregularity of, explicated, 283 et seq.; irregularity in external form of, arising from transposition of the Propositious, 283-5; can be perspicuously expressed by any of the five irregular consecutions of its propositions, 283-4; true doctrine of consecution of syllogism, which is either Synthetic, the premises being placed first, the conclusion last, or Analytic, the conclusion preceding, the premises following, 284-5; second ground of regularity and irregularity of, - the natural and transposed order of the Syllogistic Terms, 285 et seq., see Figure of Syllogism; all the varieties of, divided into classes, according to their Validity, viz., into Correct or True, and Incorrect or False, 321; the meaning of these terms as applied to syllogisms determined, 322; incorrect, divided into Paralogisms and Sophisms, 321-3; this distinction not of directly logical import, 323; but not altogether without logical value, ib.; incorrect, vicious, either in respect of their form, or of their matter, or in respect of both form and matter, 322-3; syllogisms incorrect in respect of their matter lie beyond the jurisdiction of Logic, 323; syllogisms formally incorrect, to be judged by an application of the rules of syllogism, ib., see Fallacies; how distingnished from Probation, 361; on the mutual relations of the terms of, in quantity and quality, through the application of the doctrine of a quantified predicate, 536-9; general canon of, 536; the three possible relations of terms, - 1. Toto-total Coïnclusion; 2. Toto-total Coexclusion; 3. Incomplete Counclusion, involving Incomplete Coëxclusion, ib.; the first is the best, the second the worst, the third intermediate. ib.; the whole order of best and worst quantification throughout the two qualities, 537; application of this doctrine in special cases of the general canon of, in the 12 affirmative and 24 negative moods, 537-9; Canons of, general historical notices regarding, 559-79; quotations from various logicians on, 559-75; Derodon referred to in, 559-60; Rapin, 560; Leibnitz, 560-61; Reusch, 561; Crusins, 561-3; Hutcheson, 563-4; Savonarola, 564; Alex. G. Baumgarten, 564-5; Reimarus, 565; Waldin, 565-6; Stattler, 566; Sauter, ib.; Suter, 567; Seguy, 567; Hoffbauer, 567-8; Kant, 568-9; Christian Weiss, 569; Fries, 570-2; Kiesewetter, 572; Larroque, 572-4; Galluppi, 574; Buffier, ib.; Victorin, 575; references to authors on fundamental laws of, 575-6; enunciations of, 576-8; Dictum de omni et nullo, criticized, 578; general laws of, in verse, 578-9; criticism by the author of the special laws of, 579-83; the author's supreme canons of, 583-4; doctrine of, attacked, as involving a petitio principii, 621; how this objection is to be met, 621, 613; this objection made by Stewart and refuted by Galluppi, 623; its enouncement - Analytic and Synthetic, 621-2; these methods of enouncement compared, 622, 623; Unfigured and Figured, 626; difference of Figure of, of no account, 626-7.

- SYMBOLICAL and Intuitive Knowledge, see Concepts, Quality of.
- SYNTHESIS, 338, see Method.

TACITUS, quoted, 427.

TARTARETUS, Petrus, commentator on Hispanus, 187, 596.

TENNEMANN, 142.

TERMS of a Proposition, see Proposition.

- TERMS of Syllogism, Major, Minor, and Middle, what, 207; borrowed from Mathematics, 210; their synonyms, ib.; in Extension the predicate of the conclusion the greatest whole, and, therefore, the major term, the subject the smallest part, and, therefore, the minor term, 207; in Comprehension, the subject of the conclusion is the greatest whole, and, therefore, the major term, the predicate the smallest part, and, therefore, the minor term, ib.; narrow and erroneous definitions by logicians of, 209-10; Aristotle's definition of, 210; his definition of the middle term as middle by position not applicable to the mode in which subsequent logicians enounce the syllogism, ib.; but applicable to the reasoning in Comprehension, 211; possible to state a reasoning in Extension in which the major term shall stand first, the middle second, and the minor last, ib.; what is properly to be regarded as a term of syllogism, 216.
- TESTIMONY, what, 457; explicated, 458 et seq ; its proper object, 458-9; the object of, called the Fact, 459; the validity of, called Historical Credibility, ib.; either immediate or mediate, ib.; an immediate witness styled an eye-witness, ib ; a mediate an ear-witness, ib.; the guarantee, what, ib.; testimony may be Partial, Complete, Consistent, Contradictory, ib.; division of the subject:-I. Credibility of Testimony in general, ib. et seq.; 1°, The object of the testimony - its absolute possibility, 460; physical and metaphysical possibility, 460-61; its relative possibility, 461; 2°, The subject of, or personal trustworthiness of the witness, ib.; this consists of two elements, a. Honesty or veracity, 461-2; the presumption of the honesty of a witness enhanced by certain circumstances, 462; b. Competency of a witness, ib.; circumstances by which the presumption of competency is enhanced, ib.; the credibility of Testimony not invalidated because the fact testified is one out of the ordinary course of experience, 463; summary regarding the credibility of testimony in general, 463-4; II. Testimony in special, as immediate and mediate, 464 et seq.; 1°, Immediate, ib.; conditions of its credibility, ib.; whether all these conditions are fulfilled in the case of any immediate testimony, cannot be directly ascertained, 464-5; when testimony attains the highest degree of probability, 465; negative

and positive discrepancy, 465-6; 2°, Mediate, 466 et seq.; mediate witnesses are either proximate or remote, and either independent or dependent, 466-7; Rumor, Tradition, ib.; Recorded Testimony, 468 et seq.; Criticism and Interpretation, what, 468-9; these explicated, 469 et seq.; the examination of a testimony twofold - of its Autheuticity and Integrity, and of its Meaning, ib.; the former the problem of Criticism (Critica), the latter of Interpretation or exposition (Hermeneutica, Exegetica), 470; I. Criticism considered in detail, 470-74; its problems, 470; Universal and Special Criticism, ib.; Universal Criticism alone within the sphere of Logic, ib.; this divided into Iligher and Lower Criticism, or the Criticism of Authenticity and the Criticism of Integrity, ib.; (1) Criticism of Authenticity, 470-71; a. Internal Grounds, these of themselves not sufficient to establish the authenticity of a writing, 471; but omnipotent to disprove an alleged anthenticity, ib.; b. External Grounds, ib.; (2) Criticism of Integrity, 472-4; emendation of the text of two kinds - viz., Historical and Conjectural, 472; historical, of two kinds, External and Internal, 473; Conjectural, ib.; II. Interpretation, 474-5; General and Special, 474; sources of interpretation, 475.

- TEXT-BOOK, its use in a systematic course of Lectures, 2.
- THEMISTIUS, referred to on genus of Logic, 7, 479.
- THEOPHRASTUS, referred to on use of the term categorical, 165, 172; his nomenclature of the parts of the Hypothetical Syllogism, 241; quoted on hearing, 484; made two moods of Darapti, 666; this opinion adopted by Porphyry, *ib.*; and by Boethius, *ib.*; but opposed by the author, *ib.*
- THEOREMS, what, 188.
- THIRD Figure, see Figure.
- THOMASIUS, Jacobus, holds that simple apprehension is impossible without judgment, 84.
- THOUGHT, the Products of, see Concepts, Judgments, Reasoning.
- THOUGHT, what, 9 et seq.; in its wlder meaning, equivalent to every cognitive act, or even to every conscious mental modification, 9; in its narrower meaning as thought proper, denotes the acts of the Understanding proper, 9-10; in the latter sense, the object-matter of Logic, 9; Matter and Form of, distinguished, 11; phenomena of formal, of two kinds, contingent and necessary, 17; necessary form of, implies four conditions, -(1) Determined by the nature of the thinking subject itself, (2) Original, (3) Universal, (4) A Law, 17, 18; its subject,

form, and matter discriminated, 53; as the object respectively of Psychology and of Logic, ib.; a mediate and complex cognition, 54-5; the various terms by which the modes of thought, or cogitable existence, are designated, 55-6; what is involved in thinking an object, 55; the attribution implied in, regulated by laws, 56, see Fundamental Laws of Thought; distinction of Positive and Negative, 73; its products are of three kinds, - Concepts, Judgments, and Reasonings, 83 et alibi; these are all produets of comparison and all modifications of Judgment, 83-4, see Concepts, Judgments, Reasonings; its formal or logical perfection consists of three virtues, - Clearness, Distinctness, and Harmony, 335, 340.

- TIMPLER, 37, 138; referred to on whole and part, 143, 146, 336, 339.
- TITIUS, Gottlieb Gerhard, referred to on application of quantification of predicate to the Hypothetical Froposition, 512; his doctrine of Conversion proceeds on the doctrine of a quantified predicate, 527; quoted on quantification of predicate, 556; his doctrine of Hypothetical Syllogism as proceeding on the application of the principle of a quantified predicate, 603; his doctrine of Disjunctive Syllogism, *ib.*; held both forms merely to be the matter of regular syllogism, *ib.*; his doctrine of the Figure and Mood of Syllogism, 652-8.

TITTEL, 435.

TOPIC, employed by Aristotle to denote a particular part of Logic, 6.

TOUSSAINT, 435.

- TRANSCENDENT and Transcendental, their original application, and use by Kant, 140.
- TRENDELENBURG, F. A., referred to on the title Organon for the logical treatises of Aristotle, 24; referred to for the doctrines of the Platonists and Stoics on the Categories, 142, 186, 200, 338.

TROXLER, 36, 249, 338.

- TRUTH, its division into Logical and Metaphysical, criticized, 76; what, *ib.*; logical discriminated from absolute, 322, see Truth and Error, Doctrine of.
- TRUTH and Error, Doetrine of, 376-90; Truth and Certainty, what, 377; Truth is defined the correspondence or agreement of a cognition with its object, 377, 378; this definition due to the schoolnen, 378; Aquinas quoted to this effect, *ib.*; philosophers agreed as to the definition of truth, *ib.*; questions in debate regarding, --whether truth be attainable, and whether we possess any criterion by which we can be assured of its attainment, *ib.*; for man only two kinds of, --Formal and Real, 379; 1. Formal Truth, the harmony of Thought with

the form of Thought, ib.; Formal Truth of two kinds, - Logical and Mathematical, 379-80; II. Real Truth, - the harmony between a thought and its matter, 380; Real and Formal Sciences, 380-81; How can we know that there is a correspondence between our thought and its object? 381; subdivisions of Real Truth, - Metaphysical, Psychological, Physical, 381-2; various applications of the term truth, 382; the criterion of, - the necessity determined by the laws which govern our faculties of knowledge, 377-82; Certainty, the consciousness of this necessity, 382; truth considered in relation to the degree and kind of certainty is distinguished as Knowledge, Belief, and Opinion, 377-83; Knowledge and Belief, their difference, 383; that the certainty of all knowledge is ultimately resolvable into a certainty of belief maintained by Luther, ib.; by Aristotle, 383-4; by the Platonists, 384; by David Hume, ib.; the manifestation of Belief involves knowledge, 385; Intuition, what, ib.; the question as to the relation of belief and knowledge properly metaphysical, ib.; Pure and Empirical Truth, distinguished, 385-6; Error, its character and sources, 387; this explicated, ib. et seq.; as the opposite of truth, consists in a want of agreement between a thought and its object, 387; distinguished as Material, 388; as Formal, ib.; when closely scrutinized is found to arise from the want of adequate activity of the cognitive faculties, ib.; discriminated from Ignorance, 389; from Illusion, ib., see Error, Causes of.

TSCHIRNHAUSEN, 25.

- TWESTEN, 237, 377, 387; quoted on the nature of Error, 387-9; quoted on Ignorance, Illusion, etc., 389-90.
- ULPIAN, his doctrine of the Enthymeme, 279; his definition of the Sorites, 332.
- ULRICH, 184,289; quoted on quantification of predicate, 559.
- ULTRA-TOTAL Quantification of Middle Term, Lambert's doctrine of, 384-6; this doctrine criticized, 584-5; author's doctrine of, 586-8.

UNIVERSAL Propositions, 171, see Judgments. "Υστερον πρότερον, see Probation.

- VALLA, Laurentius, 142, 261; first to use the term Sorites in its present application, 269; quoted on Conversion, 527; his doctrine of the Second and Third Figures, 629-30.
- VALERIUS MAXIMUS (?), quoted, 484.
- VALLIUS, Paulus, quoted on Conversion, 528, 553.

VARILLAS, 485.

90

VERSOR, his doctrine of Induction, 596.

VICTORIN, 338, 344; quoted on canons of Syllogism, 575.

VICTORINUS, his doctrine of Enthymeme, 279. VITIUM Subreptionis, what, 427.

- VIVES, Ludovicus, 198; his opinion regarding silent meditation as a means of intellectual improvement combated by Scaliger, 481; quoted on importance of teaching as a mean of self-improvement, 483.
- VOET, or Voetius, Gisbert, his conduct cited as an instance of the influence of passion on opinion, 406.
- Vossius, Gerard John, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20, 37.
- WAITZ, quoted regarding λογική ἀπορία, 4, 85, 160, 186, 196, 240.

WALCH, 261.

- WALDIN, quoted on canons of Syllogism, 565-6.
- WALLIS, Dr. John, his Institutio Logicæ, 21; referred to on names of propositions in Conversion, 185; referred to on character of Hypothetico-Disjunctive Syllogism, 249; his English version of the Latin mnemonies for the four kinds of propositions, 287. WALZ, 333.
- WATTS, Dr. Isaac, 25; his Logic, 50.

WEGELIN, 514, 547.

- WEISE, Christian, employed (before Euler) circular diagrams as logical notation, 180.
- WEISS, Christian, 169; quoted on canons of Syllogism, 569.
- WERENFELSIUS, his De Logomachiis Eruditorum referred to, 438.
- WHATELY, Dr., his definition of Logic quoted and criticized, 7-9; general character of his Elements of Logic, 21; his view of the object-matter and domain of Logic, stated and criticized, 21-3; proposes to Logic different and contradictory object-matter, 22 et seq.; the operation of Reasoning not the object-matter of Logic, as affirmed by, ib.; erroneously and contradictorily makes Language the object-matter of Logic, 22-3; the true nature of Logic more correctly understood by the scholastic logicians than by, 23; his Elements of Logic, 50; omits the doctrine of Concepts from his Elements of Logic, 84; abusively employs the terms Extension and Comprehension as convertible, 85, 184; follows Aldrich in his abusive employment of the phrase propositio exposita, 185-6; his abusive employment of the terms hypothetical and conditional, 167; quoted on the modality of propositions, 182; his doctrine criticized, ib.; his reduction of the rules of Categorical Syllogism to six, 215, 454.
- WHOLE and Part, what, 143; whole per se,

and whole per accidens, ib.; whole per se divided into, 1°, Logical or Potential, 2°, Mctaphysical or Actual, 3°, Physical, 4°, Mathematical, 5°, Collective, 143-4; the terms subject and subjective as applied to the Logical Whole and Parts 144: the term potential as applied to denote the Logical Whole, 145; Lord Monboddo quoted on potential, 145-6; Stewart's strictures on the passage from Monboddo rebutted, 146; Monboddo wrong in ascribing the authorship and application of the term potential to Eugenius, 146; both term and application to be found, with few exceptions, in all the older systems of Logic, ib.; Burgersdyk quoted as an example, ib.; the difference of the Potential and Actual Whole noticed by Aristotle, ib.; all reasoning under the relation of, 191, 212; this relation may be regarded in two points of view, and thus affords two classes of Reasonings, --Deductive and Inductive, 212-13; difficulty in connection with Hypothetical Syllogisms in regard to the doctrine that all reasoning is either from the whole to part or from the parts to the whole, - considered and obviated, 252 et seq.; Antecedent and Consequent in Hypotheticals equal to Condition and Conditioned, 253; hence the reason or condition must contain the consequent, ib.; the law of Reason and Consequent only another expression of Aristotle's law, That the whole is necessarily conceived as prior to the part, 253-4; Aristotle's law criticized, 254; Whole and Parts respectively may be viewed in thought either as the conditioning or as the conditioned, 254; application of this doctrine to the solution of the difficulty previously stated, 255.

- WILSON, his English metrical version of the Latin mnemonics for the four kinds of Propositions, 287.
- WOLF, Christian, misapplied the terms Logica docens and Logica utens, 42; his division of Logic into Theoretical and Practical, ib.; used the phrase exclusio medii inter contradictoria, 65; called the principle of Identity principium certitudinis, 66; did not sufficiently discriminate the principles of Identity and Contradiction, ib.; his formula for the law of Sufficient Reason, 67; blamed the schoolmen for not distinguishing reason (ratio) and cause (causa), ib.; attempted to demonstrate the law of Sufficient Reason by that of Contradiction, 68; quoted on Intuitive and Symbolical Knowledge, 129-31, 178, 227; made the inductive syllogism deductive, 229, 240, 243, 261; his reduction of Baroco, 341, 343, 451, 456.

WOLFIANS, some, distinguished judgments as

Limitative, 179; followed by Kant, 178; the distinction groundless, 179.

WORDS, see Language.

- WYTTENBACH, Daniel, 5; hls Logic recommended, 50, 332; referred to on Analysis and Synthesis, 435.
- ZABARELLA, Jacobus, referred to on genus of Logic, 7; referred to for scholastic theories of the object-matter of Logic, 20;

quoted on import of the term $\sigma v\lambda\lambda o\gamma i\sigma\mu \delta s$, 197, 230, 296; held Cesare and Camestres to be the same syllogism, 310, see also 296, 336, 338, 451.

ZEDLER, 456.

ZENO, the Stoic, said by Laertius to have purchased the knowledge of seven species of the argument $\lambda \delta \gamma os \, \Im \epsilon \rho i \zeta \omega \nu$ for two hundred minæ, 331.

THE END.



VALUABLE

LITERARY AND SCIENTIFIC WORKS,

PUBLISHED BY

GOULD AND LINCOLN,

59 WASHINGTON STREET, BOSTON.

ANNUAL OF SCIENTIFIC DISCOVERY FOR 1859; or, Year-Book of Facts in Science and Art, exhibiting the most important Discoveries and Improvements in Mechanics, Useful Arts, Natural Philosophy, Chemistry, Astronomy, Meteorology, Zoology, Botany, Mineralogy, Geolgzy, Geography, Antiquities, &c., together with a list of recent Scientific Publications; a classified list of Patents; Obituaries of eminent Scientific Men; an Index of Important Papers in Scientific Journals, Reports, &c. Edited by DAVD A. WELLS, A. M. With a Portrait of Prof. O. M. Mitchell. 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.

VOLUMES OF THE SAME WORK for years 1850 to 1858 inclusive. With Portraits of Professors Agassiz, Silliman, Henry, Bache, Maury, Hitchcock, Richard M. Hoe, Profs. Jeffries Wyman, and H. D. Rogers. Nine volumes, 12mo, cloth, \$1.25 per vol.

This work, issued annually, contains all important facts discovered or announced during the year.

Each volume is distinct in itself, and contains entirely new matter.

- INFLUENCE OF THE HISTORY OF SCIENCE UPON IN-TELLECTUAL EDUCATION. By WILLIAM WHEWELL, D. D., of Trinity College, Eng., and the alleged author of "Plurality of Worlds." 12mo, cloth, 25 cts.
- THE NATURAL HISTORY OF THE HUMAN SPECIES; Its Typical Forms and Primeval Distribution. By CHARLES HAMILTON SXITH. With an Introduction containing an Abstract of the views of Blumeubach, Prichard, Bachman, Agassiz, and other writers of repute. By SAMUEL KNEELAND, Jr., M. D. With elegant Illustrations. 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.

"The marks of practical good sense, careful observation, and deep research, are displayed in every page. The introductory easay of some seventy or eighty pages forms a valuable addition to the work. It comprises an abstract of the opinions advocated by the most eminent writers on this subject. The statements are made with strict impariality, and, without a comment, left to the judgment of the reader." - Sartain's Magazine.

KNOWLEDGE IS POWER. A View of the Productive Forces of Modern Society, and the Results of Labor, Capital, and Skill. By CHARLES KNGET. With numerous Illustrations. American Edition. Revised, with Additions, by DAVID A. WSLLS, Editor of the "Annual of Scientific Discovery." 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.

This is emphatically a book for the people. It contains an immense amount of important information, which everybody ought to be in possession of ; and the volume should be placed in every family, and in every School and Public Library in the land. The facts and illustrations are drawn from almost every branch of skilful industry, and it is a work which the mechanic and artisan of every description will be sure to read with a RELISU. (25)

VALUABLE TEXT-BOOKS.

THE LECTURES OF SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON, BART., late Professor of Logic and Metaphysics, University of Edinburgh; embracing the METAPHYSI. CAL and LOGICAL COURSES; with Notes, from Original Materials, and an Appendix, containing the Author's Latest Development of his New Logical Theory. Edited by Rev. HENRY LONGUEVILLE MANSEL, B. D., Prof. of Moral and Metaphysical Philosophy in Magdalen College, Oxford, and JOHN VEITCH, M. A., of Edinburgh. In two royal octave volumes, viz.,

I. METAPHYSICAL LECTURES (now ready). Royal octavo, cloth.

II. LOGICAL LECTURES (in preparation).

DF G. & L., by a special arrangement with the family of the late Sir William Hamilton, are the Authorized American Publishers of this distinguished author's matchless LECTURES on MET-APHYSICS AND LOOIC, and they are permitted to print the same from advance sheets furnished them by the English publishers.

MENTAL PHILOSOPHY; Including the Intellect, the Sensibilities, and the Will. By JOSEPH HAVEN, Prof. of Intellectual and Moral Philosophy, Amherst College. Royal 12mo, cloth, embossed, \$1.50.

It is believed this work will be found pre-eminently distinguished.

1. The COMPLETENESS with which it presents the whole subject. Text-books generally treat of only one class of faculties; this work includes the whole. 2. It is strictly and thoroughly SCI-ENTIFIC. 3. It presents a careful analysis of the mind, as a whole. 4. The history and literature of each topic. 5. The latest results of the science. 6. The chaste, yet attractive style. 7. The remarkable condensation of thought.

Prof. PARK, of Andover, says: "It is DISTINGUISHED for its clearness of style, perspicuity of method, candor of spirit, acumen and comprehensiveness of thought."

The work, though so recently published, has met with most remarkable success; having been already introduced into a large number of the leading colleges and schools in various parts of the cousty, and bids fair to take the place of every other work on the subject now before the public.

THESAURUS OF ENGLISH WORDS AND PHRASES, so classlfied and arranged as to facilitate the expression of ideas, and assist in literary composition. New and Improved Edition. By PETER MARK ROEF, late Secretary of the Royal Society, London, &c. Revised and edited, with a List of Foreign Words defined in English, and other additions, by BARNAS SEARS, D. D., President of Brown University. A NEW AMERICAN Edition, with ADDITIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS. 12mo, cloth, \$1.50.

This edition is based on the London edition, recently issued. The first American Edition havhap been prepared by Dr. Sears for strictly educational purposes, those words and phrases properly termed "vulgar," incorporated in the original work, were omitted. These expurgated portions have, In the present edition, been restored, but by such an arrangement of the matter as not to interfer with the educational purposes of the American editor. Besides this, it contains important additions of words and phrases not in the English edition, making it in all respects more full and perfect than the author's edition. The work has already become one of standard authority, both in this country and in Great Britain.

PALEY'S NATURAL THEOLOGY. Illustrated by forty Plates, with Selections from the Notes of Dr. Paxton, and Additional Notes, Original and Selected, with a Vocabulary of Scientific Terms. Edited by JOHN WARS, M. D. Improved edition, with elegant newly engrared plates. 12mo, cloth, embossed, \$1.25.

This work is very generally introduced into our best Schools and Colleges throughout the country. An entirely new and beautiful set of Illustrations has recently been procured, which, with other improvements, render it the best and most complete work of the kind extant.

(32)

VALUABLE TEXT-BOOKS.

PRINCIPLES OF ZOÖLOGY; Touching the Structure, Development, Distribution, and Natural Arrangement, of the RACES OF ANIMALS, living and extinct, with numerous Illustrations. For the use of Schools and Colleges. Part J. COM-PARATIVE PHYSIOLOGY. By LOUIS AGASSIZ and AUGUSTUS A. GOULD. Revised edition, 12mo, cloth, \$1.00.

"It is not a mere book, but a work - a real work in the form of a book. Zoölogy is an Interesting telence, and here is treated with a masterly hand. It is a work adapted to colleges and schools, and no young man should be without it." - Scientific American.

"This work places us in possession of information half a century in advance of all our elementary works on this subject. . No work of the same dimensions has ever appeared in the English langauge containing so much new and valuable information." - PROF. JAMES HALL, Albany. "The best book of the kind in our language." - Christian Examiner.

PRINCIPLES OF ZOÖLOGY, PART II. Systematic Zoölogy. In preparation.

THE ELEMENTS OF GEOLOGY; adapted to Schools and Colleges. With numerous Illustrations. By J. R. Looms, President of Lewisburg University, Pa. 12mo, cloth, 75 cts.

"It is surpassed by no work before the American public." - M. B. Anderson, LL. D., President Rochester University.

"This is just such a work as is needed for our schools. We see no reason why it should not take its place as a text-book in all the schools in the land." -N. Y. Observer.

"Admirably adapted for use as a text-book in common schools and academies." - Congregationglist, Boston.

ELEMENTS OF MORAL SCIENCE. By FRANCIS WAYLAND, D. D., late President of Brown University. 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.

MORAL SCIENCE ABRIDGED, and adapted to the use of Schools and Academies, by the Author. Half morocco, 50 cts.

The same, CHEAP SCHOOL EDITION, boards, 25 cts.

This work is used in the Boston Schools, and is exceedingly popular as a text-book wherever it has been adopted.

ELEMENTS OF POLITICAL ECONOMY. By FRANCIS WAYLAND, D. D. 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.

POLITICAL ECONOMY ABRIDGED, and adapted to the use of Schools and Academies, by the Author. Half morocco, 50 cts.

"It deserves to be introduced into every private family, and to he studied by every man who has an interest in the wealth and prosperity of his country. It is a subject little understood, even practically, by thousands, and still less understood theoretically. It is to be hoped this will form a class book, and be faithfully studied in our academies, and that it will find its way into every family library : not there to be shut up unread, but to afford rich material for thought and discussion in the family circle." - Puritan Recorder.

All the above Works by Dr. Wayland are used as text-books in most of the colleges and higher schools throughout the Union, and are highly approved.

GOULD AND LINGOLN,

59 WASHINGTON STREET, BOSTON,

Would call particular attention to the following valuable works described in their Catalogue of Publications, viz.:

Hugh Miller's Works.

Bayne's Works. Walker's Works. Miall's Works. Bungener's Work. Annnal of Scientific Discovery. Knight's Knowledge is Power. Krummacher's Suffering Saviour,

Banvard's American Histories. The Aimwell Stories. Newcomb's Works. Tweedie's Works. Chambers's Works. Harris' Works.

Kitto's Cyclopædia of Biblical Literature. Mrs. Knight's Life of Montgomery. Kitto's History of Palestine. Whewell's Work. Wayland's Works. Agassiz's Works.



Williams' Works. Guyot's Works. Thompson's Better Land. Kimball's Heaven. Valuable Works on Missions. Haven's Mental Philosophy. Buchanan's Modern Atheism. Cruden's Condensed Concordance. Eadie's Analytical Concordance, The Psalmist: a Collection of Hymns. Valuable School Books. Works for Sabbath Schools. Memoir of Amos Lawrence. Poetical Works of Milton, Cowper, Scott. Elegant Miniature Volumes. Arvine's Cyclopædia of Anecdotes. Ripley's Notes on Gospels, Acts, and Romans. Sprague's European Celebrities. Marsh's Camel and the Hallig. Roget's Thesaurus of English Words. Hackett's Notes on Acts. M'Whorter's Yahveh Christ. Siebold and Stannius's Comparative Anatomy. Marcou's Geological Map. U.S. Beligious and Miscellaneous Works. Works in the various Departments of Literature, Science and Art.







